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Drummond County Railway Inquiry.

SPECIAL COMMITTEE

RE

DRUMMOND COUNTY RAILWAY.

ORDER OF REFERENCE.

HOUSE OF COMMONS,
TUESDAY, February 15th, 1898.

Reso!ved,-That-a special Committee composed of Messrs.

Lister, H aggart,
Carroll, Borden (Halifax), and
McIsaac, Powell,
Morrison,

be appointed to inquire into the expenditure of the subsidies granted in aid of the
Drunmond County Railway, and into all negotiations and transactions between the
Government of Canada and any member or otdicer thereof, or any person in its behalf,
and the Drummond County Railway Company, or any director, officer or person in the
Company's behalf, relating to the acquiring of the said railway by the Government; with
power to send for papers, persons and records, and to report the evidence to this House,
together with the opinion of the said Committee thereupon.

Attest,
J. G. BOURINOT,

Clerk of the House.

MONDAY, March 7th, 1898.

Ordered, That the said Conmittee have leave to employ shorthand writers, to
take down such evidence as the Committee may deem necessary.

Ordered, That all the proceedings of, and the evidence taken before, the said
Committee, be printed from day to day, for the use of the members of the Comnittee,
and that Rule 94 be suspended in relation thereto.

Attest,
J. G. BOURINOT,

C(erk of the House.





Drummond County Railway Inquiry.

REPORTS

OF THE

SPECIAL COMMITTEE re DRUMMOND COUNTY RAILWAY.

FIRST REPORT.

MONDAY, March 7th, 1898.

The Special Committee appointed to inquire into the expenditure of the subsidies
granted in aid of the Drummond County Railway, &c., &c., beg leave to present the
following as their First Report:

Your Committee recommend that the House einpower them to employ the services
of a shorthand writer to take down such evidence as they may deem necessary.

Your Committee further recommend that they be given leave to have all the
evidence taken before your Committee, as well as all their proceedings, printed from
day to day, for the use of the niembers of your Cominittee, and that Rule 94 be
suspended in relation thereto.

All which is respectfully submitted.
JAMES F. LISTER,

Chaitman.

SECOND REPORT.

A
TUESDAY, May 3lst, 1898.

The Special Committee appointed under an Order of Reference made on the
15th day of February last, past, to inquiîe into the expenditure of subsidies granted
in aid of the Drummond County Raitway, and into all tiegotiations and transactions
betwèen the Government of Canada or any member or officer thereof, or any person
in its behalf and the Drummond County Railway Company or any director, officer
or person in the company's behalf, relating to the acquiring of the said railway by
the Government, beg leave to present the following as their second and final
report:

Your Committee have made the inquiry directed by the said Order of
Reference; that in so doing the testimony of sixteen witnesses has been taken and a
large number of documents have been received and examined. That no evidence
whatever was given or offered which affected in the least degree the honour or
integrity of any member of the Government in connection with the acquiring of the
said railway fiom the said company. At the close of the evidence Mr. Haggart and
Mr. Powell (the two Conservative members of the committee present at the said
sitting) in answer to the chairman stated respectively as follows:-Mr. Haggart,
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"We never made any charges of corruption." Mr. Powell, "Candidly, I never
heard anything in the House about corruption" (see page 158 of the evidence).
That as far back as 1894, Mr. Haggart, late Minister of Railways, on account of
the difficulties in making connection with the Grand Trunk Railway, and trouble
with the Canadian Pacifie Company, thought it would be in the interest of the country,
that the Intercolonial Railway should be extended into the city of Montreal. (See
page 150 of the evidence).

From the evidence given and statements made by Conservative members of the
committee, it is clear that there is no difference of opinion as to the wisdom of the
policy of the Government in extending the Intercolonial into Montreal. The only
difference between parties being the price to be paid for such extension.

The Drunmond County Railway, as it exists, consists of a completed line from
Ste. Rosalie to Chaudière, a distance of one hundred and fifteen and one half miles,
and the branch kiiown as the "Nicolet Branch," extending from St. Leonard to
Nicolet on Lake St. Peter, a distance of seventeen miles, making a total milgage of
one hundred and thirty-two and one-half miles.

That in order to connect the Intercolonial with the city of Montreal, it was
necessary thatthe said road should be extended from Moose Park Station to Chaudière
Junction, a distance of about forty-two and one half-miles. That bas been donc by
the owners of the road and the road now bas a total inileage, including the Nicolet
branch, of one hundred and thirty-two and one-half miles, as before stated, and has
actually cost in its construction upwards of two million one hundred thousand dol-
lars. (Sec evidence of S. Newton, p. 46.)

In the year 1894 negotiations of an informal character were begun with the
then Minister of Railways with a view to the sale by the Company to the Govern-
ment, of the road, the expectation of the owners being that they would receive two
million five hundred thousand dollars cash, or one hundred thousand dollars a year
rental; and under instructions of the said Minister a valuation of the road on the
hasis of its extension to Chaudière Junction was made by Mr. Schreiber, Deputy
Minister of Railways, who estimated the value of the same at $1,535,500, but it must
not be overlooked that this valuation was made on the reports of others and not on
the personal knowledge of Mr. Schreiber, who admitted that ho had never seen the
road. It should also be remembered that this valuation was based upon the
assumption that the forty-two and one-half miles to be completed, would be of
the same description as the then finished poi tion of the road, whereas in fact it is
iow of a standard equal to if not higher than the Intercolonial.

To your Committee it seems almost incredible that a great railway such as the
Intercolonial which bas cost Canada between $40,000 and $50,000 per mile and on
the whole over $55,000,000, should for so long a time have had its terminus at Lévis,
instead of a great commercial city such as Montreal, where it would be in a
position to compete upon equal terms or nearly so, with the other great railways
of the Dominion, and in al] probability thereby cease to be such a heavy burden
upon the taxpayers of Canada, and in the opinion of your Committee no action
on the part of the government could be more likely to make it self-sustaining than
this extension, and it seems reasonably clear, from the evidence, that this was the
opinion of the late government.

The Drummond County Railway is the most direct, cheapest and best route by
which to bring the Intercolonial Railway into the city of Montreal.

The said Railway Company have received as subsidies from the Government of
Canada the sum of $287,936, all of which appears to have been expended on
construetion.

That portion of the new road between Moose Park Station and Chaudière is
constructed up to, and in some respects superior to the standard of the Intercolonial
whichis admittedly a very high standard. The rails on such new portion being seventy
pounds to the yard as against fifty-six and sixty-seven pounds on the Intercolonial.

Evidence bas been given by Mr. Wainwright that other railways in the Province
of Quebec, no botter than the Drummond County Railway, have cost from $17,000
to $19,000 per mile. Taking the lower figure, namely, $17,000 per mile, the Drum-
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Drummond County Railway Inquiry

mond County Railway would cost for the construction of itsone hundred and thirty-
two and one-half miles the sum of $2,252,500, a littie more than it bas been sworn
the road actually cost.

That prior to.the fifteenth day of May, 1897, the Minister of Railways appre-
ciating the urgent necessity in the interests of the country of extending the Inter-
colonial to a business centre opened negotiations with the said Drummond Railway
Company, with a view of acquiring control of their road for the purpose of such
extension, and an agreement was entered into between the Company and Her
Majesty, whereby the Company agreed to lease the said road to be completed as in
said agreement specified, for a term of ninety-nine years, at a net annual rental
of sixty-four thousand dollars, being four per cent on $1,600,000, at the expiration
of which time the said railway was to become the absolute property of Canada ; this
iesult would require the Company to apply a sufficient portion of its aceruing
rental to the creation of a sinking fund, which would ultimately amount to enough
to extinguish the principal money. No doubt if the Company could have borrowed
the $1,600,000 at an equally low rate as the Government, viz., a fraction over three
per cent (which was the best Government rate up to that date), the annual rental
would have produced more than enough to repay the $1,600,000, but even with a
straight Government guarantee of the Company's bonds, the Company could not
have made their loan at so low a rate as the Government.

In consequence of the first agreement not being ratified by Parliament on the
25th day of February, 1898, a furither agreement, being in the nature of a temporary
lease from year to year, was entered into between the Company and Her Majesty,
but containing a stipulation that the Government should have the right or option to
purchase the whole property for the sum of $1,600,000 cash.

The resuit of the investigation clearly shows that in the event of the purchase of
the Drummond County Railway line being completed, the road will cost the country
only about $12,000 per mile,-a good dea less than its actual cost to the Company,-
even if you add to the price to be paid under the existing option, the amount of sub-
sidy received from the Federal Government, as the cost of construction, as sworn to,
is over $2,100,000.

The estimate by the Government Chief Engineer, Mr. Schreiber, made when the
question of acquiring this road was under consideration by the hite Minister of
Railways and Canals, and confirmed and verified by his estimate to the present
Minister, of the probable cost of the road completed from Ste. Rosalie to Chaudière
of the character and description of that portion of the Drummond County line then
constructed was $1,535,500. The price, therefore, to be paid under the option only
exceeds the cost estimated by Mr. Schreiber by $64,500, and this sum, in all proba-
bility, would be more than absorbed if we are to judge by the experience in the
construction of Government works in the past, had the Government, instead of
acquiring this road, undertaken to construct another of the same description and
character. More ver, it is to be observed that the rond, as now finished by the
Drummond County Railway Company, under the contract with the present Govern-
ment, is of its last 43 miles, a very much better road than the other part of the
road,-heavier rails-improved standard,-and must have cost more than enough to
make up the difference between the estimated and the option price.

Information a4 to the present workings of the new road since the 1st of March
have only been forthcoming for one tronth. These show that the earnings foir that
month are encouraging, and it is fair to assume that as the Intercolonial Railway
extension to Montreal becomes established and business arrangements in connection
therewith are completed there will be a material and satisfactory increase in the
earnings attributable to such extension.

It appears to your Committee that the arrangement between the Government
and the Company is so manifestly in the public interest that such legislation as
may be necessary to sanction the same should be passed at an early date.

J. F. LTSTER,
Chairman.
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SPECIAL COMM1TTEE

RE

DRUMMOND COUNTY RAILWAY.

MINUTES OF PROCEEIDINGS.

SATURDAY, March 5th, 1898.

The Committee met at Il o'clock, a.m.

PRESENT:

Jfessrs. Lister, ilessrs. Haggart,
Carroll, Borden (Halifax), and
McIsaac, Powell.-7.
Morrison,

The Committee having been called to order, it was
Moved by Mr. Mclsaac, that Mr. Lister be chosen as chairman of the Committee.

Motion agreed to.
Mr. Lister, having taken the chair, read the Order of Reference.
Mr. Morrison moved that leave of the House be obtained for the Committee to

employ the services of a shorthand writer to take such evidence as they may deem
necessary. Motion agreed to.

Moved by Mr. McIsaac, that leave of the House be obtained to have the evidence
taken before the Committee, and all its proceedings, printed from day to day, for the
use of the members of the Committee. Motion agreed to.

On motion of Mr. Morrison it was
Resolved, That the Deputy Minister of Finance, and the Deputy Minister of

Railways and Canals, be summoned to attend before the Committee at its next meeting,
and to bring with them and produce before the Committee, all books, papers, vouchers
and documents in, or under the control of, their respective departments, in any way
relating to the matters under inquiry by the Committee.

The Conmittee then adjourned until Tuesday next at 11 o'clock, a.m.

Attest,
WALTER TODD,

Clerk of the Committee.
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TUESDAY, 8th March, 1898.

The Committee met at Il o'clock, a.m.

PRESENT:

Mr. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Borden (Halifax), Jfessrs. Mclsaac,
Carroll, Morrison,
Haggart, Powell.-7.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

The Honourable A. G. Blair, Minister of Railways and Canals, asked permission
to appear before the Committee at its next meeting and make a statement under oath,
and the question being put by the Chairman it was

Resolved, That the Honourable A. G. Blair be heard before the Committee at its
next meeting.

The Chairman informed the Committee that leave of the House had been obtained
to employ the services of a shorthand writer, and to have the proceedings of the Com-
mittee and such evidence as may be taken, printed from day to day for the use of
members of the Committee.

Mr. Mclsaac moved that Mr. A. J. Magurn be appointed as the shorthand writer
for the Committee. Carried.

Mr. Carroll moved that a summons, duces tecum, be issued to J. N. Greenshields,
Esquire, President of the Drummond County Railway Company, to attend at the next
meeting of the Conmittee, and to produce, and leave with the clerk of the Committee,
all the books and other papers of the Drummond County Railway Company, and all
vouchers for money paid by the Company, and all other books and papers relating to
the matters under investigation by this Committee. Motion agreed to.

Mr. Morrison moved that a summons, duces.tecum, be issued to Mr. H. T. Machin,
Assistant Treasurer of the province of Quebec, to appear at the next meeting of the
Committee and to bring with him and leave in the custody of the clerk of the Com-
mittee, a statement showing the amount of subsidies voted and paid in aid of the
Drunmond County Railwav by the province of Quebec, and also all books, papers,
vouchers, &c., under his control which in any way relate to the matters under investi-
gation by the Committee. Motion agreed to.

Mr. Collingwood Schreiber, IDeputy Minister of Railways and Canals, was
sworn and examined.

A. 1898



Drummond County Railway Inquiry.

He produced a statement dated July 7th, 1894, showing the mileage and esti-
mated cost of the Drummond County Railway from Ste. Rosalie to Chaudière, which
was filed and marked as Exhibit 'No. 1.

Mr. Schreiber's examination was discontinued pro ten.

Mr. J. M. Courtney, Deputy Minister of Finance, was sworn and examined.
He produced 11 cheques for amounts of subsidies paid by Dominion Government in

aid of the Drummond County Railway, which were filed and marked as Exhibits 2 to
12, both inclusive, also a statement of the foregoing cheques which was filed and inarked
as Exhibit No. 13.

The Committee then adjourned until Tuesday next, 15th March, at 11 o'clock a.m.

Attest,

WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Committee.
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TUESDAY, 15th March, 1898.

The Comnittee met at 11 o'clock a. m.

PRESENT:

Mr. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Borden (Halifax), Messrs. Mclsaac,
Carroll, Morrison,
Haggart, Powell.-7.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

A letter from Mr. HI. T. Machin, Assistant Provincial Treasurer of Quebec,
explaining his inability to attend before the Committee in obedience to the summons
sont him, and inclosing a statement of the subsidies voted by the Provincial Legis-
lature in aid of the Drummond County Railway, was read.

Messrs. A. J. Magurn, George Simpson, and R. J. Hartley were sworn as
stenographers to the Commitiee.

Hon. A. G. Blair, Minister of Railways and Canals, was sworn and made a state-
ment in regard to the negotiations that took place between himself and Mr. Green-
shields as to the acquisition of the Drummond County Railway by the Government;
and with the Grand Trunk Railway Co. in regard to the use of their approaches
into, and terminais at, Montreal, &c.

He submitted certain papers which were filed and marked as follows:-
Exhibit No. 14. Private memo. dated 18th Feby., 1897, submitting a proposi-

tion from Grand Trunk Railway Co. as to terms on which the Government could
have the use of their railway from St. Hyacinthe, the Victoria Bridge and terminais
at Point St. Charles and Bonaventure Station.

Exhibit No. 15. Estimate of Mr. Schreiber of amount to be paid to Grand Trunk
Railway Co. for use of terminais at Point St. Charles and Bonaventure Station.

Exhibit No. 16. Estimate of Mr. Schreiber of amount of rental to be paid for
use of Victoria Bridge.

Exhibit No. 17. Copy of lease of Drnmmond County Railway from Ste. Rosalie
to Moose Park and from Moose Park to Chaudière, to the Government

Exhibit No. 18. Second estimate of Mr. Schreiber (dated 11th March, 1897) as
to mileage and cost of Drummond County Railway from Ste. Rosalie to Chaudière,
including the Nicolet Branch.

Exhibit No. 19. Reports on Drummond County Railway, 1897.
Mr. Blair was then examined and discharged from further attendance.

The examination of Mr. Collingwood Schreiber was resumed an after
being continued for some time was again postponed until the iext meeting of the
Committee.
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Drummond County Railway Inqu iry.

Mr. J. N. Greenshields, President of the Drummond County Railway Company,
was sworn and made a statement in regard to bis dealings with Mr. Tarte in connec-
tion with the purchase of La Patrie newspaper by Mr. Tarte's sons, and also a state-
ment in regard to his negotiations with the Honourable Mr. Blair iii connection with
the proposed acquisition of the Drummond County Railway by the Government of'
Canada.

Mi. Greenshields's examination was postponed till the next meeting of the
Committee.

Ordered, That Mr. Courtney, Deputy Minister of Finance, and Mr. Samuel
Newton, Secretary of the Drummond County Railway Company, Drummondville,
P.Q., be summoned to appear and give evidence at the next meeting of the
Committee.

Moved by Mr. Mclsaac, that theGClerk of this Committee communicate forth-
with with the Clerk of the Senate Committee re Drummond County Railway,
requesting that any evidence or information in possession of that Committee, be
transmitted to the Chairman of this Committee, with the view of calling any person
or persons able to give information, for the purpose of being examined before this
Committee, which was agreed to.

The Committee then adjourned until Friday next, 15th instant, at 11 o'clock a.m.

Attest,

WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Committee.
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FaDAY, 18th March, 1898.

The Committee met at il o'clock a.n.

PRESENT:

Mr. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Borden (Halifax), Messrs. McIsaac,
Carroll, Morrison,
Haggart, Powell.-7.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirnied.

Mr. J. N. Gieenshields was examined and cross-examined.
He produced a copy of an agreement between the shareholders of the Drun-

mond County Railway Company and Mr. William Farwell, of Sherbrooke, P.Q., by
which the latter was given a thirty days' option for the purchase of the railway,
which was filed and marked as Exhibit No. 20.

Mr. Greenshields was then discharged from further attendance.

Mr. Sanuel Newton, Secretary of the Drummond County Railway Company,
vas sworn and examined in part.

At 1 o'clock p.m. the examination of Mr. Newton was discontinued till the
next meeting of the Committee.

Ordered, That the following persons be summoned to give evidence at the next
meeting of the Committee, viz.: Mr. William Wainwright, General Assistant
Grand Trunk Railway, Montreal; Mr. P. S. Archibald, Moncton, N.B., and Mr.
Henry A. F. MacLeod, C.E., Ottawa.

The Committee then adjourned until Tuesday next, 22nd instant, at 11 o'clock
a.m.

Attest,

WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Committee.

Xvi
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Drummond County Railway Inqiiry.

TUESDAY, 22nd March, 1898.

The meeting called for this day was cancelled by the Chairman with the consent
of the other members of the Committee.

FRIDAY, 25th March, 1898.

The Committee met at 11 o'clock a. m.

PRESENT.

Mfr. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Borden (Halifax), Messrs. McIsaac,
Carroll, Morrison,
Haggart, Powell.-7î.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

The Chairman read a telegram from Mr. Samuel Newton and a letter from Mir.
William Farwell, severally expressing their regret at.their inability to be present.

Moved by Mr. Morrison that the Chairman of this Committee krequest
Rufus Pope, Esquire, a member of the Hlouse of Commons, to appear before this
Comnittee at its next meeting to give evidence re Drummond County Railway.
Motion agreed to.

Mr. William Wainwright, General Absistant, Grand Trunk Railway Company,
was sworn and examined. Ie produced:

Exhibit No. 21.-Plan showing area of station grounds, trackage, &C., from
Bonaventure Station, Montreal, to St. Lambert Station.

Exhibit No. 22.-Plan showing area of station grounds, &c., from St. Hubert
Station to Ste. Rosalie Station.

Exhibit No. 23.-Copy of an agreement of the 17th July, 1879, between the
Government of Canada and the Grand Trunk Railway Company for the purchase by
the former of that part of the company's line which lies between Rivière du Loup
and Lévis.

Mr. Wainwright's examimation was then discontinued until the next meeting- of
the Committee.

Mr. P. S. Archibald, of Moncton, N.B., was sworn and examineid in part, his
examiration to be continued at the next meeting of the Committee.

The examinationof Mr. Collingwood Schreiber was then resumed. He submitted
the following, whieb were filed and marked as exhi bits :-

Exhibit No. 24.-Ten annual returns to Railway Department on Drummond
County Railway from 1888 to 1897.

xvn
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Exhibit No. 25.-Report of Mr. H. A. F. MacLeod, C.E., of 18th January, 1898,
being an estimate of work required to be done on the Drummond County Railway
betw°een Moose Park and Chaudière, so as to bring it up to standard of Intercolonial
Railway.

Exhibit No. 26.-Six subsidy agreements between the Government and the
Drummond County Railway Company for years 1887, 1889, 1890, 1891, 1894 and
1897.

Exhibit No. 27.-Order in Council amending subsidy agreement of 1887.

Ordered, That the following persons be notified to be in attendance at the next
meeting of the Committee :-Mr. Rufus Pope, M.P.; Mr. Schreiber ; Mr. MeLeod
Mr. Wainwright, and Mr. Archibald.

The Committee then adjourned until Monday next, at 11 o'clock a.m.

Attest,

WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Committee.
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MONDAY, 28th March, 1898.

The Committee met at Il o'clock a.m.

PRESENT:

fr. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Borden (Halifax), Messrs. Morrison,
McIsaac, I Powell.-5.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmod.

A letter addressed by the Clerk of the Committee to the Clerk of the Senate, in
accordance with the resolution of the l5th instant, requesting the transmission of
evidence and names of witnesses, &c.; and the letter of the Clerk of the Senate
Committee on the Drummond County Railway in reply thereto, were read.

The examination of Mr. Collingwood Schreiber was resumed:
The following letters and papers were filed and marked as
Exhibit No. 28.-Letter of 4th January, 1898, from Mr. Schreiber to Mr.

Mitchell, General Manager, Drummond County Railway, respecting the inspecting
of the railway by Mr. MacLeod.

Exhibit No. 29.-Letter of 4th January, 1898, from Mr. Schreiber to Mr.
MacLeod, inclosing copy of Subsidy Agreement with Drummond County Railway
Company.

Exhibit No. 30.--Reports, &c. (Jane l4th to October 28th, 1897), of' Mr.
William Kingsford, on his inspection of the Drummond County Railway.

Exhibit No. 31.-Reports, &c. (November 19tb, 1897, to January 3rd, 1898), of
Mr. MacLeod, on inspection of Drummond County Railway.

Exhibit No. 32.-Report (June 15th, 1897) of Mr. Ridout, on his inspection of
the Drummond County Railway.

Exhibit No. 33.-Report (June 15th, 1897) of Mr. Johnston, on his inspection
of the Drummond County Railway.

Exhibit No. 34.-Copy of agreement of lst February, 1898, with Grand Trunk
Railway Company, for temporary lease by the government of the Company's line
from Ste. Rosalie Io St. Lambert, and use of Victoria Bridge and terminals in
Montreal.

Mr. Schreiber's examination was discontinued until the next meeting of the
Committee.

Mr. P. S. Archibald's examination was then resumed and concluded, and he was
discharged from further attendance.

Ordered, That the following persons be notified to be in attendance at the next
meeting of the Committee, viz.: Messrs. MacLeod, Newton, Wainwright, Green-
shields and Schreiber.

The Committee then adjourned until Friday next, April lst, at 10 o'clock a.m.

Attest,
WALTER TODD,

Clerk of the Committee.
1- 13
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FRIDAY, 1st April, 1898.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock a.m.

PRESENT:

Mr. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Borden (Halifax),
Carroll,
Haggart,

Messrs. McIsaac,
Morrison,
Powell.-7.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

The examination of Mr. Sanuel Newton was resumed. He produced the trans-
fer book of the Drummond Couity Railway Company, which was filed and marked
as Exhibit No. 35.

Mr. Newtoi's examination was then concluded and he was discharged from
further attendance.

Mr. Henry A. F. MacLeod, C.E., of Ottawa, was sworn and examined, and
discharged from further attendance.

The Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair, the inquiry then to pro-
ceed from day to day until concluded.

Attest,

WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Committee.
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TFuRsUAY, April 21st, 1898.

The Committee met at Il o'clock a.m.

PRESENT:

Mr. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Carroll. Melsaac, Morrison.-4.

The minutes of the last meeting were read, amended by leaving out the words
"inquiry then to proceed from day to day until concluded," in the last line, and
confirmed as amended.

Mr. Morrison nioved that in the absence of the Conservative members it is not
advisable to proceed with the taking of evidence, and that the Committee do now
adjourn, which was agreed to.

The Committee then adjourned to the call of the Chair.

Attest

WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Conmittee.
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THURSDAY, 28th April, 1898.

The Committee met at 11 o'clock a.m.

PRESENT:

Mr. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Borden (Halifax),
Carroll,
McIsaac,

lessrs. Morrison,
Powell.-6.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

The Chairman read a letter from Mr. Greenshields and a telegram from Mr.
Farwell, regretting their inability to be present.

Hon. J. I. Tarte, Minister of Public Works, was, on motion of Mr. Morrison,
sworn and examined; and after cross-examination by Mr. Borden, he was discharged
from further attendance.

The examination of Mr. Wainwright was resumed; he subinitted the following:
Exhibit No. 36, Memo. containing heads of agreement and statement by the

General Manager of Grand Trunk Railway to the Board in London re acquisition of
the Drummond County iRailway.

Exhibit No. 37, Copies of agreements (with Grand Trunk -Railway Company)
in connection with the Montreat extension of the Intercolonial Railway.

Mr. Wainwright was then discharged.

The Committee adjourned until Friday, 6th May, at 10 o'clock.

Attest,

WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Committee.
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FRIDAY, 6th May, 1898.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock a.m.

PRESENT:

-Mr. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Borden,
Haggart,
McIsaac,

-Messrs. Morrison,
Powell.-G.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

Mr. J. N. Greenshields was re-called and further examined and discharged from
further attendance.

Mr. William Far'well, of Sherbrooke, was sworn, examined and cross-examined
and discharged from further attendance.

Ordered, That the following persons be notified to be in attendance at the next
meeting of the Committee, viz. :-Messrs. Hugh Ryan, Toronto; Wm. Fitzgerald,
Asst. Deputy Minister of Finance, Ottawa; Wm. Wainwright. Montreal; Colling-
wood Schreiber, Deputy Minister of Railways and Canals, and R. Hl. Pope, M.P.

The Committee then adjourned until Friday next, l3th May, at 10.30 o'clock a.m.

Attest,

WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Committee.
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FRIDAY, 13th May, 1898.

The Committee met at 10.30 o'clock, a.m.

PRESENT:

Mr. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Borden (Halifax),
Carroll,
laggart.

Messrs. Morrison,
Powell.-6.

Nir. Sebreiber was recalled and further examined. le submitted a statement
of traffle receipts on Drummond County Railway for March, 1898, which was filed
and marked Exhibit No. 38.

Sir Charles Tupper, Bart., at his own request, was sworn, and made a statement
in regard to a letter purporting to have been written by him to Mr. Rufus Pope,
M.P., respecting the purchase of the Drummond County Railway by the late
Government.

Mr. Rufus Pope, M>.P., was sworn and examined, and discharged from furiher
attendance.

Mr. Hugh Ryan, Contractor, Toronto, was sworn, examined and discharged
from further attendance.

Mr. William Wainwright was recalled and further examined. -He submitted a
letter from the auditor of the Grand Trunk Railway Co., showing amounts of Inter-
colonial Railway proportion of traffBc interchanged with the Grand Trunk Railway
during the year 1897, which was filed and marked as Exhibit No. 39.

Mr. William Fitzgerald. Assistant Deputy Minister of Finance, was sworn and
submitted a statement showing the capitalized value of an annuity of $64,000 for 99
years, with interest at 27 per cent.

Hon. J. G. Haggart, M.P., was sworn and made a statement as to his connection, as
the then Minister of Railways, with a proposition made in 1894 to sell the Drum-
mond County Railway to the Government.

The Committee then adjourned until Wednesday 18th instant, at 10.30 o'clock
a.m.

A ttest.

WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Committee.
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WEDNE-SDAY, lSti May, 1898.

The Cominittee met at 10.30 o'clock a.m.

PRESENT:

Mr. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Morrison. McIs aac, Powell.--4.

MIr. Schrieber was recalled and further examined, he produced a letter from
Mr. Pottinger to the effect that no charges on materials for construction were
included in statement of Drummond County Railway earnings for March last, which
was filed and marked as Exhibit No. 41.

Mr. Phelps Johnson, Manager Dominion Bridge Co., Montreal, was sworn and
examined:-He produced a statement showing cost of superstructure of all bridges
built by this company for the Drummond County Railway, marked Exhibit No. 42;
and

Supplernental statement to the foregoing which was marked as Exhibit No. 43.

The Committee then adjourned until Friday, iMay 20th at 10.30 o'clock a.m.

Att est,

WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Conittee.
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FRIDAY, 20th May, 1898.

The Committee met at 10.30 o'clock a.m.

PRESENT:

-Ur. Lister, Chairman.

Messrs. Haggart, McIsaae, Powell.-4.

A letter was read from Mr. Wainwright regretting his inability to be present,
and inclosing a letter from the general car accountant of the Grand Trunk Railway
respecting the number of freight cars moved in and out of Montreal with Intercolonial
Railway freight, for the year 1897.

On motion of Mr. Powell it was
Ordered, That the Clerk do request Mir. Wainwright to furnish a statement

showing: 1st. What is the proportionate user of terminal facilities at Montreal of the
Intercolonial Railway as against all other roads, Grand Trunk Railway included.
2nd. What is the proportionate user of the line from Ste. Rosalie to Bonaventure Sta-
tion, of the Intercolonial Railway as against ali other roads, Grand Trunk Railway
included.

The Chairman having asked whether there were any more witnesses to be called,
and no names being handed in, he declared the evidence to be closed.

The Committee then adjourned to the call of the chair.

Attest.

WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Comnittee.
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TUESDAY, 31st May, 1898.

The Committee met at 10.30 a.m.

PRESENT:

Mr. Lister, Chairman.

-Messrs. Borden (Halifax), Messrs. McIsaac,
Carroll, Morrison,
Haggart, Powell.-7.

The Minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

Mr. McIsaac moved that the following Draft Report (marked A) be adopted as
the Report of the Committee:

(For this Draft Report sec SECOND REPORT of the Committee, page vii.)

Mr. Powell moved in amendment that the following Draft Report (marked B)
be adopted as the Report of the Committee in lieu of the foregoing, viz.:

B
DRAFT REPORT OF SPECIAL COMMITTEE APPOINTED TO INQUIRE

INTO CERTAIN MATTERS CONNECTED WITII THE DRUM-
MOND COUNTY RAILWAY.

TUESDAY, 31st May, 1898.

The Special Committee appointed to inquire into the expenditure of the sub-
sidies granted in aid of the Drummond County Railway, and into all negotiations
and transactions between the Government of Canada or any member or officer
thereof, or any person in its behalf, and the Drummond County Railway Company,
or any director, officer or person in the company's behalf, relating to the acquiring
of the said railway by the Government, beg leave to report that under the order of
the House bearing date the fifteenth day of February, 1898, they have inquired into
the matters referred to them, and in so doing they have received and examined a
large number of documents and have heard the testimony of a number of witnesses.

During the giving of evidence by the Minister of Railways and Canals before
the committee, it appeared desirable that the inquiry should take a somewhat wider
range than the strict terms of the reference would demand, and embrace the nego-
tiations between the Government and the Grand Trunk Railway Company relative
to the extension of the Intercolonial Railway to the City of Montreal, these nego-
tiations being incidentally and necessarily connected with the subject matter of the
inquiry.

The Drummond County Railway may be considered as consisting of two por-
tions; the first (hereafter referred to as the old portion) being ninety and one-half
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miles in length, and comprising the main line from Ste. Rosalie to Moose Park, and
the branch from Drummondville to Nicolet ; the other portion (hereafter referred
to as the new part) being forty-three and one-quarter miles in length, and extend-
ing from Moose Park to the junction with the Grand Trunk Railway at Chaudière.

The following subsidies have been received by the Drummond County Railway
Company in aid of the construction of the old portion up to the thirtieth day of
June, 1897:-

(a.) From the Dominion of of Canada,............ $287,936 00
(b.) From the Province of Quebec..... ............. 347,420 00
(c.) From M unicipalities.. .................. .............. 15,000 00

$ 650,356 00

In aid of the construction of the new portion a subsidy of $3,200.00 per mile
for forty-two and one-balf miles bas been granted by the Parliament of Canada
(60-61 Vie., Cap. 4), but bas not yet been received by the company.

Ir 1893 the Brummond County Railway Company unsuceessfullv endeavoured
to dispose of their railway to the Grand Trunk Railway Company. On July 1,
1894, the indebtedness of the former company amounted to $178,213.65. the greater
portion of which was owing to the Eastern Townships Biank, of whieh Mr. William
Farwell was manager; the larger part of this indebtedness bore interest at 7 per
cent, and a portion at 8 per cent. At that time 82-81 miles of the old portion had
been completed, the remaining 7-72 miles of the old portion were then under con-
struction and were completed before the Ist July, 1895.

Under these circumstances and with a view of effecting a sale of the road, the
shareholders of the company, on the 16th of July, 1894, gave to Mr. Farweli the
following option:-

"For and in consideration of the sum of one dollar to each of us in band paid
"by William Farwel1, of Sherbrooke, P.Q.:--

" We, and each of us hereby givo to said William Farwell, a thirty days' option
"in which he may pay to us the round sum of $500,000.00 for which sum if paid
" witbin thirty days we agree to sell, transfer and deliver to him, or his assigns, the
"Drummond County Railway, both main line, branches, sidings, rights of way,
"stations, rolling stock, tools, franchises, charters, bonuses, subsidies and appurten-
"ances whatsoever exactly as the whole property stands and is.

" We undertake to transfer to him the whole capital stock, both issued and
"unissued. also the whole of the bonds, both issued and unissued, after cancellation,
"and to deliver the property to hirm free from ail debts, liens, mortgages and
"encumbrances whatsoever, and to defend him from ail claims that may thereafter
"be preferred arising prior to the transfer.

" We declare that the right of way bas been paid for and deeded to the Com-
"pany on the whole line fiom Ste. Rosalie to Ball's Wharf and from St. Leonard as
" ar as the track is laid towards Chaudière Junetion, with the exception of certain
"small pieces which we undertake to pay for and cause to be deeded to the Company,
" the whole for and in consideration of the sum of five hundred thousand dollars.

"The whole capital stock authorized is sixty-five hundred (6500) shares of one
" hundred dollars each.

" The total capital stock issued and delivered by the Company is four thousand
" (4000) shares of one hundred dollars each.

" The total bond issue authorized is one million ($1,000,000) dollars and the
"bonds issued and outstanding amount to one million dollars, which is held by the
"Eastern Townships Bank as security foi' an advance of one hundred and seventy-
"five thousand dollars ($175,000) or thereabouts.

" The right of way which we will tr'ansfer is sixty-six feet over the whole road,
"with the exception of certain sections whieh are only forty fect, say in al] about
"two miles, and also a portion of' the right of way is ninety-nine feet, say from six
" to eight miles.
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" Witness our hands in the City of Montreal, this sixteenth day of July, A.D.
"1894.

"(Signed)
" C. Church..................... ......................... ............. 601
"G. H . Church, per C. C......... .................................... 100
"J. E. Church, per C. C................ ........ ....... 100
" W illiam M itchell............ .... ...................... 80
"James M itchell.........................

" David M itchell ................ ............... ...... ............... 9.
Thomas P. Fee.. .................................. ............ 800

" J. N. Greenshields................. .. .. ..... ........ 500
"'Samuel Newton ....... ................. 9
1 W. Watts .......... .............................. 23
" W illiam Farw ell................... ................ .................. 500

4,000
"Witness:

J. G. GLEN.

I bereby assign and transfer ail my rights to above option of' purchase of
" Drunimond Conty Railway, &c., to Hugh Ryan, Contractor, Toronto, Ont.

(Signed). WM. FARWELL.
LI Witness:

" WILLIAM MITCHELL."

This option was either extended from time to time, oi there was an understand-
ing that it might be acted uion at any time, until the end of the year 1894; but as
it did not result in the sale of the rond a second option in similar terms was subse-
quently given by the shareholders to Mr. Farwell at the price of $400,000.

Options were also given to other peisons by the company, but without any
result.

The object of granting the first mentioned option was to induce Mr. Hlugh Ryan,
a contractor, to undeitake the task of completing the road and atterwards selling it
on the best terms possible. From the amourit which he would receive there was to
be deducted, in the first place, the amount of the option, 8500,000, then the cost
incuHred by Mr. Ryan in completing the 1oad, and the balance, if any, was to be
divided, aecording to Mr. Farwell, between him and bis associates, who were to
receive one-third thereof, and Mr. Ryan, who was to receive two-thirds thereof,
Mr. Ryan, however, does not remember this féatare, but -says that he was offered
the road for $500,000.

In consequence of the unsatisfactory service afforded by the Grand Trunk lail-
way between Lévis and Montreal, Mr. Haggart, at that time Minister of Railways
and Canals, turned bis attention in 1894 to the question of extending the Inter-
colonial -Railway to the latter city. -He caused an estimate to be made of the cost
of constructing such a railway as the Drummond IRailway would be when con-
pleted, according to the requirements for subsidy and made inquiry as to the cost
of running rights over the Grand Trunk Railway from Ste. Rosalie to Montreal and
of terminal facilities at that city. At a later stage Mr. Ryan opened negotiations
with Mr. Haggart for the sale of the Drunmond County Railway, but the latter
after making some investigatior of the matter declined to recommend the purchase
of the road, and no further negotiations appear to have taken place between the com-
pany and any member of the Government until the year 1897.

In 1897 the present Minister of Rlailways and Canals entered into negotiations
with Mr. J. N. Greenshields, the President of the Drummond County Railway Com-
pany, for the acquisition of the road by the Government of Canada. These negoti-
ations were principally carried on between Mr. Greenshields and Honourable Mr.
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Blair, but Mr. Greenshields and his associate, Mr. Mitchell, had interviews also upon
the subject with the Honourable Mr. Tarte, Minister of Public Works.

Mr. Greenshields had been for many years a very active Liberal worker and
organizer, and was one of the legal advisers of the Liberal party in Montreal. He
was also the legal adviser of the Hon. Mr. Tarte. During the progress of the nego-
tiations which resulted in the agreement of May, 1897, botween the Drummond
County Railway Company and the Government, Hon. Mr. Tarte purchased foi his
sons (that is for a company the stock of which except a very few shares is owned
by his sons) La Patrie newspaper published in Montreal. Mr. Greenshields acted
as solicitor for the Ilon. Mr. Tarte and his sons, or for the Liberal party, in connec-
tion with the purchase, and gave his own cheque for $20,000 for a portion of the
purchase money. The evidence is that this cheque was covered to the extent of
$5,000 on the same day by a cash payment from Hon. Mr. Tarte to Mr. Greenshields,
and on the following day by a further payment by Mr. Tarte or his sons to Mr.
Greenshields of $5,000 in cash and $ 10,000 in a cheque or cheques. The price to be
paid for the newspaper was $30,000. The balance of $10,000 was not then paid, but
was secured to the vendor by promissory notes made by Mr. Tarte's sons and endorsed
by Mr. Tarte and Mr. Greenshields. These notes were subsequently paid by Mr. Tarte
or his sons.

The moneys which paid for the purchase of this newspaper were according to
the evidence of Mr. Tarte, contributed by his political friends whose n-mes he
declined to give; but he says that no person connected with the Drummond County
Railway paid any portion of it.

The result ofthe negotiations between Mr. Gr-eenshields and the Government is
embodied in the agreement submitted to Parliament in the Session of 1897. These
negotiations were carried on, and the agreement entered into, before any actual
examination of the road with a view to purchase was made on behalf of the Govern-
ment. Mr. Schreiber's previous report was as to the cost of constructing such a road
when completed for subsidy purposes. le never saw the road and his report had
no reference to the road as it then was.

The terms of purchase contained in the agreement of 1897 were briefly as
follows:-

The company undertook to extend its line from Moose Park to the western side
of the Chaudière River, and to construct huch extension to the satisfaction of the
government engineer, with a maximum grade of 52·80 feet to the mile, and also to
reduce the grades on the old portion of the road, namely, at Carmel Hill and St.
Francis River, to a maximum grade of 52-80 feet to the mile. The company also
covenanted to pay off all existing encumbrances. Her Majesty agreed to pay to
the company the yearly sum of $70,000, in half-yearly instalments of $35,000,
for a period of ninety-nine years, and at the expiration ot that period the road was
to become the property of the government. Of this yearly sum of $70,000,
$6,000 represented the yearly rental paid by the Drummond County Railway
Company to the Grand Trunk Railway Company for the use of the latter company's
road from Chaudière to Lévis, and the balance of $64,000 per year for ninety-nine
years represented the purchase price of the Drummond County Railway.

The rolling stock worth fron $60,000 to $70,000 and the railway supplies
and equipment were not covered by this payment, but were to be paid for by the
government at a valuation to be agreed upon between the company and the minister.

An annual rental of $64,000 for a period of ninety-nine years, on the basis of
semi-annual payments, is equiva'ent to a present cash payment of $2,094,192, if
capitalized at the rate of 2j per cent, the rate of interest which the Dominion pays
for the money raised by its latest loan.

Mr. Schreiber's estimate of the cost of the road if built fully up to the plans
and specifications of the subsidy agreement is the sum of $1,535,000. Assuming
that the road was built up to that standard, it must be remembered that $650.356
of this amount was received in subsidies, and that the balance of $884,644 represents
all the money which the company put into the road. The price of $2,094,192 which
would have been realized by the Company under the agreement of 1897 would have
given to the Company on this basis a profit of $1,209,548.
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The above agreement was subject to confirmation by Act of Parliament. Such
confirmation was refused, and on the 25th day of February, 1898, a further agree-
ment was entered into between the Government and the Company which contained
the following important modifications of the agreement of 1897-

(a) That it should be optionail with ler Majesty to purchase the entire line
(not including rolling stock) absolutely and free from all encumbrances, for the sum
of $1,600,000, from which sum was to bc deducted all amounts paid, or entitled to be
paid, under the Subsidy Act, 60-61 Victoria, Chapter 4, and all amounts remaining
unexpended cr unpaid by the Company in improving the railway as in the agree-
ment provided.

(b) That the Company should immediately expend not less than $100,000 upon
such portions of the railway, and in sucb manner as should be indicated by the
Minister, and in default thereof that the Minister might so expend that sum, or any
portion thereof, and deduet the amount from the purchase price.

Of this sum of $100,000 it appears from the evidence of 3r. William McLeod,
the Government Engineer in charge, that the suin of $65,795 at lcast, is in addition
to any expenditure required to be made by the Company under the agreement of
1897.

These molifications which have been effected in consequence of the refusal of
Parliament to confirm the agreement of 1897, partially illustrate the improvidence
of that agreement.

As above explained the present value of the annuity
or rental for 99 years, provided for by the
agrement of 1897, is the sum of....... .......... 2,094,192 00

Under the agreement of 1898 the Gov-
ernment bas the right of purchase
for the sum of..................... 8 1,600,000 00

From the latter sum is to be deducted,
as above mentioned, the addi-
tional expenditure on the Drum-
mond County Railway provided
for by the agreement of 1898, and
which is estimated by Mr. Wm.
McLeod at the sum of....,.........$ 65,795 00

$1,534,205 00

Leaving a difference of.............................. ...... $ 559,987 00

Upon the basis of Mr. Schreiber's estimate already referred to, the Company
having expended of their own moneys only the sum of $884,644 and receiving
under this modified agreement the net price of $1,500,000 in addition to the price
of the rolling stock, &c., would make a net profit of between $650,000 and $700,000.

The sum of $2,094,192, the present cash equivalent of the annuity to bc paid
for the completed road, is startling when compared with the valuation of the road
on the basis of the option to Mr. Farwell in July, 1894. At that time, as has
already be pointed out, al[ of the 90-53 miles of the old portion were completed
witli the exception of 7·82 miles which were then under construction. This option
was for the sum of $500,000, and included not only the road but also the rolling
stock and equipment worth upwards of $80,000. According to the sworn returns
and the evidence of Mr. Newton and Me. McLeod, the expenditures made after the
expiration of this option, and those still to bc made to meet the requirements of the
contract of Mav, 1897, are less than $685,000. The value of the road when com-
pleted in accordance with that contract would, therefore, on the basis of this option
to Mr. Farwell, be less than $1,115,000.

On the basis of the second option to Mr. Farwell the value would be $100,000
less, or the sum of $1,015,000 which is less than one-half of the cash purchase price
under the agreement of 1897.
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Still more startling is the comparison of the price under the agreement of
1897 with the value placed upon the undertaking by the shareholders immediately
before the negotiations of 1897. A large proportion of the capital stock of the
Company was then purchased by Mr. Greenshields at par subject to the indebtedness
of the Company thon existing. The total stock of the Company was $400,000, all
of which was paid up stock, adding ail necessary allowances for indebtedness interest,
subsequent cost of construction, &c., the valuation of the completed road would on
the basis of this sale be under $ 1,090,000.

Mr. Greenshields's actual purchase of $137,600 of the stock at par was not made
until after the agreement of 1897 had been entered into. Previously to that he had
secured options upon this stock but these were not exercised until after the Govern-
ment had agreed to purchase.

At a previous date, or before the present Government came into power, Mr.
Greenshields had acquired $80,000 worth of stock for the sum of $24,000, and
$50,000 worth of stock for which he gave no consideration beyond his professional
assistance and his advice and influence as a financier, in furthering the interests of
the Company. Thus, for $130,000 worth of stock, or nearly one-third of the Com-
pany's stock, Mr. Greenshields gave no noney consideration beyond the sum of
$24,000. Upon the basis of the agreement of 1897, Mr. Greenshields would have
received from this investment of $24,000 a net profit of more than $400,000. Even
upon the basis of the agreement of 1898 his net profit on this investment of $24,000
would be $240,000.

Assuming that the persons who now hold the stock of the Company either paid
it in full in the first instance, or acquired it at par, the cash equivalent of the
annuity under the Agreement of 1897 would afford a profit of not less than
$1,000,000.

The best test of the value of the road is its earning power.
Its average net earnings for the three years ending the 30th of June, 1897,

which are the largest annual earnings of the road were $33,124.28. This would
represent at 6 per cent a valuation of $552,071.33. The amounts expendod in the
maintenance ofthe line and buildings, and in the general operating expenses ofthe
railway, have been abnormally small. Were they up to the average per mile of any
of the many well maintained railroads of the Dominion, there would have been a
large annual deficit in the workng of the line, even if the " working and repairs of
engines " and " working and repairs of cars," which vary according to traffic, were
maintained at the present small amounts. The chief source of revenue for the rail-
road has been the lumber tiaffic, which has been increasing, and until the forests are
eut away will afford a good source of income. Outside of this the freight traffic and
the passenger traffic as well have for the last six years been substantially stationary,
according to the evidence of iMr. Newton and the sworn returns made to the Depart-
ment of Railways.

A fairly good idea of the insignificance of the passenger traffic may be got from
the fact that for the ninety and a-half miles of railway, which have been in oper-
ation du ring the last three or four years, one first class car and one second class car
have been found ample.

This small carrying power ançl the discouraging prospects for the future per-
haps account for the fact that Mr. Greenshields got one-fifth of the total stock of the
Company for $24,000, and one-eighth of the total stock of the Company for bis pro-
fessional assistance and his advice and influence as a financier.

Considerable evidence has been given respecting the amount required to
construct the road. This evidence was chiefly in form of estimates made by Mr.
Schreiber and others, and summaries of the construction account of the Company.
Mr. Schreiber's estimate as bas been stated is not of the road as constructed, but as
it should be constructed and is $558,692 less than the present cash value of the pay-
ments to be made for it under the agreement of 1897, but even this estimate, which
was made without any personal inspection of the road, your Committee regard as
excessive. The other estimates were mere conjectures and so widely divergent and
so contradictory in results that they are of little value. No details of the construct-

xxxii



Drummond County Railway Inquiry.

ion account previous to 1890 were submitted. lu fact the officers of the Company
in their return made under oath to the Department of Railways, state that they
cannot give dotails of construction. Up to 189) the construction was carried on
without any contract with the Company, by Messrs. Church, Mitchell & Fee, the
real owners of the road. The returns made by the Company to the Department of
Railways in connection with evidence of Mr. Newton and others, show conclusively
that these summaries, whatever purpose they were intended to serve, are no reliable
guide, to say the least, in solving the question of cost. While your Committee are
not enabled to state exactly the cost of the road, they feel satisfied that the esti-
mates as to such cost submitted to t'e Conmittee are excessive.

Evidence was also given before the Committee respecting the agreement
between the Government and the Grand Trunk Railway Company for running
powers over thirty-five miles of the Company's road between Ste. Rosalie and Mont-
real and over the Victoria Bridge, and for terminal facilities at Montreal. The
original agreement bears date the 15th day of May, 1897, and was made subject to
confirmation thereof by Parliament and by the shareholdeis of the Company. Par-
liament failed to confirm the agreement, and new agreements were entered into on
the first day of February, 1898, between the Company and Her Majesty.

By the thirty-fifth clause of the original agreement the Government agreed to
pay five per cent upon one-half of the actual cost to the Company of the construction
of double tracks between Ste. Rosalie and St. Lambert, for the making of more
extensive yard improvements at Point St. Charles, or intermediate points between
that point and Bonaventure Station, and for the laying of additional tracks between
such points, in case the Government should determine to use any of such works or
improvements. By the thirty-fifth clause of the agreement of 1898 the Government
pay interest at the rate of four per cent only; and not upon one-half of such irn-
provements, but only upon the proportion which the combined engine and car
mileage of the Intercolonial Railway for the preceding year over such portion of
the Company's lines upon which such improvements have been made bears to the
total combined engine and car mileage upon such portion. In addition to this Her
Majesty has the option of paying in cash the share or proportion of the cost so
ascertained.

Having regard to the probability of such improvements, and to the probable
necessity of user thereof by the Intercolonial Railway and to the present low rate of
interest, the importance of this modification will be readily recognized, as the com-
bined engine and car mileage of the Intercolonial Railway would be only a very
small proportion of that of the Grand Trunk Railway.

Another very important modification effected by the agreement of 1898, is that
with respect to all traffic originating throughout the Company's system of connec-
tions west of Montreal, and offered for shipment to any point on the Iintercolonial
Railway or reached by its connections, Montreal shall be the junction point, and the
Company undertakes to route all traffic destined to points on the Intercolonial Rail-
way and its connections. via Montreal and the Intercolonial Railway. In other
words, by the terms of the agreement of 1898 the Government has the-right to have
all such traffic from the west handed to the Intercolonial Railway by the Grand
Trunk Railway at Montreal, instead of being conveyed by the Grand Trunk Railway
to Lévis.

Under both agreements with the Grand Trunk Railway Company, the Govern-
ment agreed to pay to the Company an annual rental of $110,000 for the rights
granted to the Government by the agreements, of which sum $62,500 represents
the annual rental for the use of the terminal facilities at Montreal, $40,000 represents
the annual rental for the use of the Victoria Bridge, and $37,500 represents the
annual rental for an undivided half interest in the line from Ste. Rosalie to the Vic-
toria Bridge.

Evidence was given by Mr. Schreiber as to the rental received by the Govern-
ment froin the Dominion Atlantic Railway Company for a lease of thirty-four miles
of the Intercolonial Railway from Windsor to Windsor Junction, and for running
powers over fourteen miles of the Intercolonial Railway from Windsor Jurction to
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Halifax, and for the terminal facilities at Halifax. The Intercolonial Railway bears
the cost of maintenance and receives one-third of the company's gross earnings over
this line. The average net rental received by the Intercolonial Railway during the
past eight years for the forty-six miles of road and for the use of the terminal facili-
ties at Halifax which are very extensive, is the sum of $16,682.50. The Dominion
Atlantic Railway has a very heavy freight traffic into Halifax over this portion of
the Intercolonial Railway. It runs six passenger trains daily over the Intercolonial
Railway between Windsor and Halifax, while the Intercolonial runs only four pas-
senger trains daily over the Grand Trunk Railway between St. Hyacinthe and Mon-
treal.

Your Committee endeavoured to obtain such information as would enable an
estimate to be made of a reasonable rental for the rights granted by the Grand
Trunk Railway Company to Her Majesty under the Agreement of 1897, if calculated
upon an ordinary wheelage basis, but were unable to procure sufficient wheelage
statistics.

Mr. Schreiber's report as to the proposed rental seems of little value, as under
his instructions he estimated the rental on the basis of equal user by the Grand
Trunk Railway and by the Intercolonial Railway of such portions of the terminal
facilities as would be required by the Intercolonial Railway; while the user by the
Grand Trunk Railway of such portion is many times greater than the user of the
Intercolonial Railway.

The published time tables show a daily use of the terminal facilities by one
hundred passenger trains of the Grand Trunk Railway and by four passenger trains
of the Intercolonial Railway.

The total number of cars of each railway in and out of the yard at Point St.
Charles during the past two months (March and April) is as follows:-

Grand Trunk Railway. Intercolonial Railway.

March . ... ....... 53,940 2,171 -

April....... ............................... 45,167 2,210

Total .... ....... . .......... 99,107 4,381

The total number of passenger trains of each railway crossing the Victoria
bridge daily is as follows:

Grand Trunk Railway. .............. ..... .. ......... .............. 46
Intercolonial Railway......... ........ ..... .......................... 4

The total number of freight cars of each railway passing over the Victoria
bridge and the railway from Victoria bridge to Ste. Rosalie is as follows:-

Grand Trunk Railway. Intercolonial Railway.

March......... ........ .................... 17,084 2,388
April...... ....... ........................ 10,491 2,867

Your Co.mmittee are satisfied that the rental payable to the Grand Trunk Rail-
way Company under the agreement of 1897 and 1898 is exorbitant; that the rental
as weil as the payments for betterments and maintenance should all be fixed on the
basis of user; and that the payments provided for in those agreements are enormously
in excess of what they would be if calculated upon such a basis.

Al of which is respectfully submitted.

And the question being put on the proposed amendment it was passed in the
negative.

And the question being put on the main question it was agreed to on division.

Resolved, that the said Draft Report (marked A) be the report of the Committee,
and that the same be presented to the flouse with the minutes of proceedings and
evidence attached thereto.

(Attest) WALTER TODD,
Clerk of the Committee.
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DRUMMOND COUNTY RAILWAY INQUIRY.
SYNOPSIS OF EXHIBITS.

Date. Subject.

1 .July 7, 1894.... ... .Mr. Schreiber's first estinate of mileage and cost of construetion of Druiiiiiond
Couinty Railway froin Ste. Rosalie to Chaudire Juinction. (Printed on
page 3 of the evidence.)

2 Feb. 22, 1888..

,Jan. 11, 1889.

Aug. 9, 1889.

April 1, 1890

Aug. 27, 1890.

Feb. 7, 1891.

do 13, 1891

Sept. 15, 1891.

Marci 14, 1893...

Feb. 4, 1895.

g 16, 1895. .

.. Subsidy cheque for $15,057 on Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, made payable to
The Druinunond County Ralway Co." and endorsed bv Wim. Mitchell,

General Manager, and came througli Eastern T owsis Bank, Richiond.
(See page 6 of the evidence.)

Subsidv cheque for 813,815 on Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, payable to " The
Drummnîond Counity Railwav Co." and endorsed iy W111. Niitell, General
Manager, and caine througi La Banque Jacqes Cartier, uI)rnnnondville.
(See page 6 of the evidence.)

.. Subsidy cheque for 85,500 on Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, payable to " The
Drummnond County Railway Co." and endorsed by S. Newton. Secretary,
and canie through La Banque Jacques Cartier, Drummnondville. (See
page 6 of the evidence.)

. Subsidy (heque for 86,928 on Banîk of Montreal, Ottawa, payable to " The
Drunnnond County Railhav Co." and endorsed by Win. Mitchell, Trea-
surer, and C. Chuirch, President, and carne through Doininion Bridge Co.
(See page 6 of the evidence.)

. Subsidy cheque for $53,200 on Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, payable to " The
Drumond County Railway Co.," endorsed by C. Ciurch, President, and
came through Eastern Townships Bank, Sherbrooke. (See page 6 o>f the
evidence.)

Subsidy cheque for $11,000 on Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, payable to " The
Drummnond County Railway Co.," endorsed over to Eastern Townships
Bank at Richmond, by C. Church, President, and S. Newton, Secretary.
(See page 6 of the evidence.)

. Subsidy cheque for $71,800 on Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, payable to " The
Drummond County Railway Co.," endorsed by C. Church. President, and
S. Newton, Secretary, and came through Eastern Townships Bank, Rich-
mond. (See page 6 of the evidence.)

Subsidy cheque for 85,105 on Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, payable to " The
Drummînond County Railway Co.," endorsed by C. Church, President, and
came through Eastern Townships Bank, Richmond. (Sec page 6 of the
evidence.)

Subsidy cheque for 813,435 on Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, payable to ' Tie
Drummond County Railway Co.," endorsed by C. Church, President, and
S. Newton, Secretary, and came througi Eastern Townships Bank, Sher-
brooke. (See page 6 of the evidence.)

Subsidy cheque for 84,160 on Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, payable to " The
Drumnond County Railway Co.," endorsed by S. Newton, Secretary, and
Wn. Mitchell, General Manager, to Wn. Farwell, Manager Eastern
Townships Bank, Sherbrooke. (See page 7 of the evidence.)

.ISubsidy cheque for $87,936 on Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, payable to the
Eastern Townships Bank, Sherbrooke, attorney for the Drummnîond County
Railway Co. and endorsed Eastern Townships Bank, Sherbrooe, attorney
for Drummond County Railway Co., per San. Morey, pro manager.
(See page 7 of the evidence.)
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SYNOPSIS OF ExHIITS-Continued.

_z E Date. Subject.

13. ........ . Stateiment showing date, nuiber of certifieates and cheques and amount of
each of the above enmerated cheques. (See page 7 of the evidence.)

14 Feb. 18, 1897.. .... Private nmemno. from Mr. Wainwright as to ternis on which the Government
eould have the use of Grand Trunk track from St. 1vacinthe to St. Lambert,
of Victoria Bridge and of terminals at Point St. Charles and Bonaventure
Station, Montreal. (Priited on page 10 of the evideice.)

15 do 10. 1897....... Estiniate of Mr. Sehreiber as to anmount to be paid Grand Trunk Railw ay Co.
for use of terminals at Point St. Charles and Bonaventure Station, Mon-
treal. (Printed on page Il of the evidence.)

16 do 10, 1897 . . . Estimate of Mr. Schreiher as to the aiiount to be paid to Grand Trunk Rail-
way Co. for the use of Victoria Bridge. (Printed on page 13 of the
evidenee.)

17 do 25, 1898 .... Order in Coiieil (copy) aiitlioriziig Minister of Railways to enter into an
agreemient with the Drummnond Couinity Railway Co. for the teiporary
leasing fromii the said company of its line of railway from Ste. Rosalie to
Chaudière ; also copy of agreement annexed, leasing foregoing line to Rer
Majesty fromn lst March, 1898, to 30thi dune, 1898, inclusive, at the rate of
570,000 per animai. (Printed, in part, on page 19 of the evidence.)

18 March 11, 1897.. Second estimate of Mr. Sehreiher of nileage anu of cost of construction of
Drumrioil Coinity Railway froma Ste. Rosalie to Chaudière including
Nicolet Branch. (Printed on page 21 of the evidence.)

1................ Reports on )rniinnioid Couinty Railway, "1897 " (Blue Book.)

July 16, 1894 ...... Agreement (colpv) entered into between tHo sharelholders of the Drunnunond
County Railway Co. and Wm. Farwell giving the latter a thirty days'
option in whicb lie may pay the former S500,000 for main line and
branches of the said railway. (Printed on page 31 of the evidence.)

21................. Plan showing area of station grounds, trackage, &c., froi Bonaventure Sta-
tion, Montreal, to St. Lambert Station, Grand Trunk Railway. (Referred
to on page 49 of the evidence.)

22................. Planî showing area of station grounds, trackage, &c.. froin St. Hubert Station
to Ste. Rosalie Station, Grand Trunk Railway Co. (Referred to on page
49 of the evidence.)

923 .nly 17, 1879. Agreement (copy) between Her Majesty and the Grand Trunk Railway Co.
for the purchase by the former of that part of the company's line which
lies between Rivière du Loup and Lévis. (Referred to on page 55 of the
evidence.)

... ... Annual Returns (10) to the Department of Railways on Drummond County
Railway from 1888-1897. (See page 65 of the evidence.)

Janî. 18, 1898... Report of H. A. F. MacLeod, C.E., being an estimate of work to be done on
the Drunnmond County Railway between Moose Park and Chaudière so
as to bring the road up to the standard of the Intercolonial Railway.
(Referred to on page 67 of the evidence.)

ee 13, 1897. Subsidy agreenents (6) between Her Majesty and the Drumminond County
Railway Co. for years 1887, 1889, 1890, 1891, 1894 and 1897. (Referred to
on page 67 of the evidence.)

lay 8, 1888........ Order in Council (certified copy) amending subsidy agreement of 1887 by
authorizing change in gradient from 63 feet per mile to 80 feet per mile for
a distance of 1,700 feet from south end St. Francis River Bridge to a point
in the villaga of Drunmmondville. (Referred to on page 68of the evidence.)

28 Jan. 4, 1898 ....... Letter (copy) from Deputy Minister of Railways to Wm. Mitchell, General
Manager 1). C. Ry. Co., informing latter that H. A. F. MacLeod, C.E.
has been instructed to inspect the Druamond County Railway for subsidy
purposes. (Referred to on page 69 of the evidence.)
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SYNOPSiS oF ExHiIrTs -Con clitded.

Subj ect.

29 Janx. 4, 1898. ....... Letter <() from ep ulty m iniste f Railways to Il. A. F. MacLeox d, C.E,
inelosin)g copy of subsidy agreeenuit with I rmumixxîndxîxx Coiity Railhay
Co. for their line from Mx se Park to Chaudire Ri xver. (R.eferred tu o
Iae 69 of the e peuce.)

June 14 to Oct. 28, Reports of W. Kiingsford, 0.E., mn his inspection tf track, iasoiry, super-
1897. structure, trestle woxrk, &c., Drunnd Colnity Railway. (Referred to

on puge 81 of the evidxen.)

31 Nov. 17, 1897, to Jan, R-epoxrts of il. A. F. MacLe, C. E., on his inspection of DI)rummoxîcxnd Coiity
3, 1898. Railway. (Referred to on page SI of the exidence.)

32 Junie 15, 1897 . . xx. . of Thos. Ridout, C. E., xn Ilils inspection of the J)ruiimioxxxnd Conty
Railway. (Referred to un pxage 81 xf the eVi dnce.)

33 do 14, 1897 . Report of E. V. .1 ohnxstoi xix hois inspection of D)rinin< nd Couty Railway for
a distance of abouxrxt 70 mxxiles froii Ste. Rosalie. (Refered tx xM [age 81 of
the evidence.)

34 Feb. 1, 1898

35 ....

36 Feb. 16, 1893. .

37 ........ 1898.

38 May 11, 1898..

39 do 11, 1898.

40 ....... . 1898.

...... Agreement (cop) entxed into with the Grand Trunk Ralway (. for the
temporary lease by the (xovermnent of the company',s lie from St.
Rousalie to St. Lainhrt and uxse of V ietoria Bridge and teriiiiials in Mon-
treal from ]st March tx 30th June, 1898, at the rate of 8140,000 per auiiiiii.
(Referred t on page 81 of the teince.)

Transfer book of the iunuoinl (ouity iailway (. (Referied to xi page
101 of the evidece.)

. .. xMmo. xicontaining heads xf agreueent and statxeeit 1by the General Manager
of Grand Trunk C'ilxx Co. to the Board in Lxdon rr acquisition of the

)rxîxxunondxl Couinty Railway. (Referred t on page 122 of the evidenue.)

Agreements (ecopies) wib Grand Trun k Raihvay Co. in coniiection wxith the
Moutreal extensiion of the Intereoloial Railway. (Referred te xn page
125 of the -vidence.)

Stateiment of tratic receipts xxii IDrxiiiixioil Couity Railway for Mari, 1898.
(Printed on page 137 of the exidence.

Stateimeit showing the aioiuits of nîterclonild Railhvay pro rtion of traflic
iiterchanged xitli the Grand Trunk Raihay o. dIu iig tht year 1897.
(Referrud to on page 148 of the teidece,)

Stateimlent shxowing the capitalized valie of au annuity of 864,000 for 99 years
ut 21 i-r cent interest. (Se page 149 of the evidence.)

41 lay 13, 1898. . . . Lettxrs (copies) froi u 1. Pttinger stating that in; charges on iaterils fo
construction xer included iti Druiuinond County Railway earnings for

March last. (Prinfted on page 154 of the evidence.)

42 do 17, 1898. ....... Statement solixwiiig cost of superstructure of all bridges built by DoIminion
Bridge Co for the Drun ond Couity Railway Co. (Printed on page 155
of the evidence.)

43 do 17, 1898. . Supplmental statemîxent to the foregoing. (Priinted on page 156 of the evidence.)
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EVIDENCE.

HousE OF COMMONS,

TUESDAY, Sth March, 1898.

inquiry into expenditure of subsidies granted in aid of the Drummond County
Railway, and into the negotiations and transactions in relation to) the acquiring of
the said railway by the Government of Canada.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, being sworn, gave evidence as follows:

By the Chairman:

Q. What is your position ?-A. I amn Deputy Minister and Chief Engineer of the
Department of Railways and Canals.

Q. How long have ycu held that position ?-A. Since 1892.
Q. Are you familiar with the history of the Drummond County Railway ?-A. In

so far as the subsidies are concerned, yes.
Q. Do you know under what Act the company was incorporated ?-A. I do not

renember.
Q. Was the Act a Dominion or Provincial Act ?-A. I think it was a Provincial

Act.
Q. Will you state to the Committee what, if any, subsidies were granted to that

railway company and the year they were authorized by Act of Parliament ?-A. I do
not remember the Acts.

Q. Can you tell us the amounts ?-A. I can tell the amounts from the blue book.
They are to be found at page 19 of the report of the Department for 1897. The first
was under 50-51 Vic,, chap. 24, aid was granted to the Drummorid County Railway
Company for 13 miles of their railway from Drummondville towards Nicolet, the whole
not to exceed $96,000.

By fr. Powell:

Q. Is that a resolution or actual payment ?-A. It is the statutory authority. The
next subsidy was in the year 1889 under 52 Vic., chap. 3, for 4 miles from Drummond-
ville to Ball's Wharf on the River St. Lawrence, to the extent of $14,400. The next
was in 1890, 53 Vie., chap. 2, when a subsidy was given for 24 miles of the railway from
Drummondville to Ste. Rosalie, $76,800. The next subsidy was in 1892, 55-56 Vie.,
chap. 5, for a little over 4 miles from Ball's Wharf to Ste. Rosalie Junction, the whole
not exceeding $14,720. The next was in 1894, 57-58 Vie., chap. 4, for 30 miles from St.
Leonard to Chaudière Junction, $96,000. The whole would be $297,920. Last session
there was a further vote under 60-61 Vie., chap. 4, 1897, from Moose Park to the Chau-
dière River for 42i miles, providing that the amount of the subsidy shall be refunded
to the Government in the event of the railway from Ste. Rosalie to Chaudière River
being purchased or leased for a term of years. It does not say how much, but it was so
much a mile, and it may be more according to cost.

Mr. SciiREIBER.
1-1
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By the Chairman :

Q. Has that been paid ?-A. Not to my knowledge.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. You do not know the distance to be finished ?-A. 42½ miles.

By the Chairman:

Q. What amount has actually been paid to the company ?-A. 8287,936.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. Is there any claim for any of those subsidies still before the department ?-A.
Yes, they made application for the inspection of 42J miles and it was inspected, and I
reported it not finished, and it has not been paid.

By the Chairnan:

Q. Between what points ?-A. Between Moose Park and Chaudière, 42h miles.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. What is the date of your report ?-A. I should say about a fortnight or three
weeks ago.

By the Chairman:

Q. Then the tota.l amount of the subsidies received f rom the Dominion Government
amounted to $287,936 ?-A. Yes.

Q. Have you anything in the department showing to whom that money was paid?
-A. Yes; I have it here. The first payment was one of $15,057 to C. R. Church. I
will give you the other payments to Mr. Church together. They were $13,815,
$5,500, $6,928, $53,200, $11,000, $71,800, $2,625, S2,480, 813,435, and $4,160; and
then to the Eastern Townships Bank $87,936. TLat is all.

Q. How was the money paid ?-A. By cheque.
Q. Of your department ?-A. No; from the Finance Department.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. Who was Mr. Church ?-A. The president of the road.
Q. I suppose the Eastern Townships Bank had a power of attorney to receive that

money ?-A. Yes.
Q. It is filed ?-A. Yes.

By the Chairman:

Q. Are the vouchers in your office ?-A. No ; they are in the Finance Department.
Q. Where would the power of attorney be ?-A. In the Finance Department also.

By Mr. Borden.:

Q. The vouchers would show the dates of the claims ?-A. Yes; they are all in the
Finance Department,

By the Chairnan:

Q. iNow, before the present Government came into office, was there any negotiation
at all, within your knowledge, as to the purchase by the Government of the Drummond
County Railway ?-A. Mr. Haggart asked me to make an estimate of the cost of the
road, which I understood was in connection with that. That I made and it is in the
department.

Mr. SCHREIBER.
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Q. How long would that be before the dissolution of the House ?-A. It was in
July, 1894.

Q. And that estimate is in the department, you say ?-A. It is in my pocket.
Here is a copy of it.

Q. Read it please.--A. This is my report:

(Exhibit No. 1).

MONTREAL TO CHAUDIÈRE JUNCTION.
Miles.

Grand Trunk Railway-Montreal to St. Hyacinthe... . . . .... 35
Drummond County Railway-Ste. Rosalie to St. Leonard .... 45J
St. Leonard to Chaudière station on Grand Trunk Railwav.... 70

T otal m iles............................ 151

STEEPEsT GRADES AND SIIARPEST CURVES.
Miles.

Steepest between Ste. Rosalie and Drummond ville ...... ... 26ý
53 feet per mile; 1 degree curve.

Between Drummondville and St. Leonard ................... 19
Steepest grade, 63 feet per mile, and sharpest curve 7 degrees

10".
St. Leonard to Chaudière Junction. .... .............. 70

Steepest grade, 53 feet ; sharpest curve 5 degrees.

ESTIMATED COST OF CoNSTRUCTIoN.

Ste. Rosalie to St. Leonard, 45½ miles at .13,000...... .$595,000
St. Leonard to Chaudière, 70 miles at $11,000 .... .... . 770,000

$1,365,000
(Sgd.) C. S.

Ottawa, 7th July, 1894.

Q. Would that estimate show the construction of the road into Montreal ?-A.
No; it would not. It only shows it to Ste. Rosalie.

Q. That estimate shows the cost of the road to Ste. Rosalie ?-A. Yes; from
Chaudière to Ste. Rosalie.

By Mr. Carroll:

Q. What is the distance froin Ste. Rosalie to Montreal ?-A. Thirty-five and a lalf
miles, I see it is down here. I believe it is 39 miles.

By the Chairnan:

Q. Was the road, as estimated on by you, completed ?-A. No; the road was not
running at the tinie I made that estimate to Chaudière. It was only recently built to
Jhaudière.

Q. Was that an estimate of the road as*built at that date '--A. Yes.
Q. Then how far was it f rom Montreal at that time ?-A. I do not know.
Q. Well, estimate it ?-A. The papers will show by the subsidies paid. It seenis

to have been built to Drummondville at that time in 1894, and subsequently in 1895 it
was extended further.

Q. This estimate is up to what point in 1894?--A. That is an approximate esti-
mate of the cost of the road up to Chaudière, including the part not then built as well
as that built.

Q. And how far was that from Montreal ?-A. Thirty-five and a half miles.

1-1) Mr. SCHIREIBER.
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By Mr. Powell:

Q. That was, I suppose, an estimate of the whole distance ?-A. I stated that it
covered the part then built and also covered the part not then built to Chaudière.

By Mr. Carroll:

Q. To make it clear, that estimate represents the railway from Ste. Rosalie to
Chaudière Junction ?-A. That is right.

By the Chairman ;

Q. Have you a map of the road ?-A. Yes, I will produce it.
Q. Then I understand from your evidence that Ste. Rosalie would be about 35

miles from Montreal ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Carroll:

Q. What is the distance from St. Hyacinthe to Ste. Rosalie, because I understand

your estimate of 35ý miles from Montreal is to St. Hyacinthe ?-A. I do not know.

By Mr. Morrison :

Q. It is 35 miles from Montreal to St. Hyacinthe ?-A. Yes. I believe St.
Hyacinthe and Ste. Rosalie are within a mile and a half of each other.

Q. 1 thought they were about 5 miles apart ?-A. No.

By the Chairman :

Q. That estimate brought the road within 35 miles of Montreal ?-A. Yes ; the
distance from Ste. Rosalie to Montreal.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Or as he gets it there, but lie thinks it is 39 miles ?-A. I see I use 351 miles
there.

By the Chairman:

Q. The estimate for a completed road from Ste. Rosalie to Chaudière is $1,365,000.
-A. Yes.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. That is the road as completed and the amount required to finish it ?-A. The
road as it is completed and the amount required to complete it to Chaudière Junction.

By the Chairman :

Q. That is to within 354 miles of Montreal ?-A. Yes,
Q. You gave this estimate to the Minister ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Carroll:

Q. What is the distance from Chaudière Junction to Lévis ?-A. I think it~is 6 or
7 miles.

Mr. SCHREIBER.
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By the Chairman :

Q, And it did not include that 2-A. No.
Q. So that there were 46 miles of the road as it now is not included in that esti-

mate ?-A. Yes, we owned that part of the road; we bought it froni the Grand Trunk.

By Mr. Morrison:

Q. If this is an element in the matter we should have it definitely stated. I think
we are talking very lightly of 5 or 6 miles that cost $13,000 a mile ?-A. We have
owned that 6 miles for years and it does not enter into the question. It was bought in
1879. It runs to Pointe Lévis, South Quebec-not Lévis.

By Mr. Carroll :

Q. From Chaudière Junction to Lévis ?-A. To South Quebec, to Pointe Lévis.
Q. Is the Government the proprietor of the line of the Grand Trunk f rom Chaudière

Junction to Lévis, South Quebec ?-A. From Chaudière Junction to Hadlow the
Government absolutely own it and the Grand Trunk have running riits over it. I
can show you the agreement.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. Have you the agreement here 2-A. No ; but it is in print.

By the Chairmïan :

Q. How much of the railway was conteinplated by this estiniate ? The portion
unbuilt between Ste. Rosalie and Montreal was not coiitemplated ?-A. No, that is right.

Q. Do you or do you not know why you were asked to prepare this estimate 2-A.
Yes, I think I do.

Q. What was the reason ?-A. It was with the view of acquiring the Druiimond
County road.

By Mr. Morrison

Q. That was not a matter of surmise of your own was it ?-A. No, I think not.
Q. You are quite definite about that ?-A. Yes.

By the Chairman :

Q. Was anything further done ?-A. I heard nothing further I made after that
estimate.

Q. Did you hear anything prior to the time you were asked to prepare this
estimate ?-A. Nothing further than that I understood it was with the view of acquir-
ing the road.

Q. And nothing came before you from the time you prepared that estimate up to
the time the present government acquired ià as to its purchase or lease ?-A. No.

Q. Do you know whether application was made by any person and if so by whom
to the Government to buy or lease it ?-A. No.

Q. Do you know of any negotiations at all ?-A. I do not.
Q. Nothing ?-A. That is all I know of it.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. Have you got this estimate in detail ?-A. No.
Q. You could not give any information to the Committee of the amount of work

required to be done on the road from the state it was in, in 1894, to finish it from
Quebec to Ste. Rosalie ?-A. No; I have nothing in regard to that.

Q. Who was the officer you employed to make the estimate? --A. I made it myself.
Mr. SCHREIBER.
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Q. Do you recall what you allowed the value of the old road to be and the amount
to be finished ?-A. I have nothing further than what you see there; I do not remember
anything further than that.

Q. Have you made an estimate since for the department ?-A. I have,
Q. Have you got it ?-A. I think it is amongst the papers.
Q. I would like to see it ?-A. I will have to hunt through the papers to find it.

Mr. Chairman directed the witness to produce it at the next meetingof the Committee.

Mr. J. M. COURTNEY, being sworn, gave evidence as follows:-

By tte Chairman

Q. You are the Deputy Minister of Finance ?-A. Yes.
Q. Is it part of your duty to pay subsidies granted by Parliament for railways ?-

A. Yes.
Q. Referring to the Drummond County Railway, can you state what subsidies have

been paid ?-A. The first was $15,057, dated 22nd February, 1888, payable to the
Drummond County Railway Company and endorsed by latter Company " William
Mitchell, General Manager." It came afterwards through Eastern Townships Bank at
Richmond. The endorsement reads : " Pay to the Bank of Montreal or Order, for
account of Eastern Townships Bank," signed by General Manager, H. F. Williams,
for Manager. (Exhibit No. 2.

The next paymentwas madeon the 1lthJanuary, 1889, for $13,815. That alsowas
payable to the Drummond County Railway Company and endorsed by General Manager
Mitchell, and came through the Banque Jacques Cartier at Drummondville. (Exhibit
No. 3.)

The next payment was made on the 9th August, 1889, for $5,500. That was
endorsed by the Drummond County Railway Company, Secretary, Samuel Newton and
also came from the Jacques Cartier Bank at Drummondville. (Exhibit No. 4.)

The next is dated the lst of April, 1890, for $6,928. The cheque is made payable to
the Drummond County Railway Company endorsed by the Treasurer and by C. Church,
President, and come through the Dominion Bridge Company. William Mitchell,
Treasurer, and C. Church, President, endorsed to the Bridge Company, and the cheque
was by them endorsed over to the bank. (Exhibit No. 5.)

The next is dated 27th August, 1890, for $53,200, payable to the Drummond
County Railway Company, endorsed by the President of the Railway Company, and
came through the Eastern Townships Bank at Sherbrooke. (Exhibit No. 6).

The next is dated February 7, 1891, and is for $11.000. The cheque is endorsed
by the President and Secretary of the Company, and came through the Eastern Town-
ships Bank at Richmond. (Exhibit No. 7.)

The next is dated February 13, 1891, for $71,800, and is endorsed by the President
and Secretary of the Company, and also came through the Eastern Townships Bank at
Richmond. (Exhibit No. 8.)

The next was for $5,105 on the 15th September, 1891, and is endorsed by the
President of the Company, and also came through the Eastern Townships Bank at
Richmond. That is made payable in two amounts of $2,625 and $2,480. They are
both included in the one cheque. (Exhibit No. 9.)

The next is for $813,435, and is dated on the 14th March, 1893. It is also endorsed
by the President and Secretary, and the cheque came through the Eastern Townships
Bank at Sherbrooke. The endorsation reads: C. Church, President, and Samuel New-
ton, Secretary. (Exhibit No. 10.)

Mr. COURTNEY.
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The next is for $4,160, dated February 4, 1895, endorsed by the Secretary and
General Manager, and came through the Eastern Townships Bank at Sherbrooke.
Endorsation of cheque reads as follows: " Pay to the order of William Farwell, Manager
of the Eastern Townships Bank, Sherbrooke, Drummond County Railway Company,
Samuel Newton, Secretary." William Mitchell, General Manager. (Exhibit No. 11.)

The next is dated August 16, 1895, and is for $87,936, made payable to the
Eastern Townships Bank as attorneys for the Drummond County Railway Company,
and endorsed by them as attorneys. The endorsation reads : "Eastern Townships
Bank, Attorneys for Drummond County Railway Company,"' signed "Samuel Morey," I
think it is. (Exhibit No. 12.)

Q. Is that all?-A. Yes.
THE CHAIRMAN : Exhibit No. 13 will be a list of the cheques just produced.
Q. Have you the power to make that cheque payable to the Eastern Townships Bank

-a power of attorney ?-A. I have no doubt I have. I will hunt that up and bring it.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. These amounts were paid on certificates, I suppose ?--A. Yes ; certificates of the
Auditor General.

Q. le would issue it on what ?-A. On a requisition from the Railway Department.
Q. From the Minister of Railways -2-A. Yes.

The Committee adjourned until Tuesday, March 15, at 11 a.im.

Mr. COURTNEY.
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HoUSE OF CoMMONS,
TUESDAY, 15th March, 1898.

The Committee met at il o'clock a.m.

Inquiiy into expenditure of subsidies granted in aid of the Drurnmond County
Railway and into the negotiations and transactions in relation to the acquiring
of the said railway by the Government of Canada resumed.

Honourable ANDREW G. BLAIR, Minister of Railways and Canals, being sworn
gave evidence as follows:

Shortly after the Session of Parliament in 1896-that is the first session of the
new parliament-I began to turn my attention to the subject of the extension of the
Intercolonial Railway to Montreal. I may say that I did this of my own motion.
I was not invited to do so nor was it suggested to me by any gentleman connected
with or interested in any way with the Grand Trunk Railway or the Drummond
County Railway. I thought it would be in the interests of the Intercolonial Railway
if it could secure a terminal at Montreal. My first purpose, rather my first object,
in the matter was to ascertain how such a policy would commend itself to my col-
leagues, and I found that they were well disposed towards it, providing that arrange-
ments could be made on satisfactory terms. Without being able to speak at all
positively as to the dates between the time that parliament closed and the middle or
latter part of November I put myself in communication with Mr. Wainwright of
the Grand Trunk Railway Company. I told Mr. Wainwright what was passing in
my mind, that if we could make satisfactory arrangements it would be to our
advantage to get into Montreal, and I asked him whether he was in a position to
say that the Grand Trunk would be open to nogotiations on the subject. He told
me he thought they would, but that he would confer with the general manager and
lot me know later, which he did. Later on he told me that Mr. Hayes, the general
manager of the Grand Trunk, would be open to a discussion of the subject and, if
my memory serves me, that was about ail the progress made before I left for the
Pacifie coast about the middle of last November. I did not return until the first
week of January, and on my return 1 resumed by interviews with Mr. Wainwright.
Up to this date I did not-I think up to this date-at all events until after I had
been some littie time in communication with Mr. Wainwright and the Grand Trunk
]Railway Company-I did not know who was interested in the Drummond County
Railway.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. That was in January, 1897 ?-A. Yes; when I returned from the Pacific
coast. I am not positive, I might have known it before I wont away. as to who
were the owners of the Drummond County Railway. I' did not know it before I
had spoken with Mr. Wainwright. I am quite sure about that, and I think it was
on my suggestion that Mir. Wainwright spoke to the Drummond Countypeople and
I learned for the first time that Mr. Greenshields was largely inserested in that
company and road. Nothing of a very definite character transpired until. after I
returned from the Pacifie coast. I had several conversations with my deputy and

Mr. BLAIR.
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with the General Manager of tha Government Roads at Moncton, Mr. Pottinger, and
gathered from both of them, I think, certainly from Mr. Schroiber, that this policy
had been under consideration by the late Minister of Railways and Canais and Gov-
ernmont for some time, and he stated to me that their view was that the connection
should be made over the Drummond County line, connecting with the Grand Trunk
Railway at Ste. Rosalie. That was their view, and in accordance with that view he
had prepared for the Minister an estimate of the cost of this Drummond County
Railway. He showed me a memo., and I understand that memo. has been produced
here the other day. At all events, I saw his figures as to the cost of the Drummond
County Railway, and his estimate of the cost of the extension of the road from
Moose Park through to Chaudière. There were only 73 miles of Drummond County
road, main line, constructed at this time from Ste. Rosalie to Moose Park, with 17
miles of an important branch to Nicolet. His estimale did not include the cost of
the branch to Nicolet, because the figures were given, I assume, to the late Govern-
ment; certainly tie figures given by Mr. Schreiber to me were given more with a
view of giving me an idea of'what it would cost to build the road, as to what we
ought to pay for what was already built and for the extension. In considering this
question of the extension to Montreal, I looked with some carefulness into the whole
question of possible routes. Tbere were these three routes already spoken of in Parlia-
ment and in the newspaper press. First, there was the route over the piesent Grand
Trunk Railway, and instead of deflecting from the Grand Trunk at Ste. Rosalie it
was open to us, if we chose, to arrange with the Grand Trunk to continue to Rich-
mond on the main Portland line, and further take their Chaudière branch, or line,
or whatever you would eall it. That lino is longer, as I think I could show you,
and as I think I ascertuined, some miles longer than the Drummond County Rail-
way, and it had not the same desirable grades. They were more frequent and
heavier, and on the whole the line would not be as desirable aline as the Drummond
County Railway. Moreover, I remember saying to Mr. Wainwright: " Mr.
Wainwright, supposing we concluded to consider this, what would your people
want for your line ? " " Well ," he said " we talked about two and a-half millions-
between two and two and a-half millions-for that piece of line from Richmond to
Chaudière." Then we would have had to lease or acquire rights from the Grand
Trunk from Richmond to Ste. Rosalie. We could not have acquired that part of the
road, for that is part of their trunk line. This is in the neighbourhood of 35, per-
haps a little over 38-miles-and we would have had to pay them rental on that
and then to acquire from them about 60-a little over 60-miles, I think, from Rich-
mond to Chaudière. That phase of the question did not strike me very favourably
I confess, and I turned ny attention to the subject of the South Shore Railway.
That line had been built to Sorel and there remained considerable mileage yet to be
constructed, and from all the information I could get it would be longer, and more-
over a much more expensive line. The line would necessarily cost for bridging a
very much larger sum than the ]Drummond County Railway. On the whole, it
appeared to me, if we could arrange upon suitable terms to acquire the Drummond
County Railway, that that was the best route of the three, and I communicated my
tentative view on this subject to Mr. Wainwright. I think it was Mr'. Wain-
wright the first time I met Mr. Greenshields who brought Mr. Greenshields to me.
In the meanwhile the Grand Trunk were preparing a memo. of the terms upon which
they would let us have the use of their bridge and of their terminals. 1 received
this memorandum either in the latter part of February or March.

Q. This is necessarily incidental to the Drummond matter ?-A. Oh, unques-
tionably.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. Mr. Powell probably means that the inquiry is confined to the Drummond
County Railway, but this may be incidentally connected with it?-A. I would not

Mr. BLAIR.
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like to say that it is necessarily part of the Drummond County Railway matter,
because there are two distinct contracts. I think it would be fairly counected with
it because the bona fides of the government in the purchase of the Drummond
County Railway are involved in that. I received this paper on the 18th February,
1897. It is marked "Private Memo."; and is to the following effect:-

(ExiiIBIT No. 14.)

(Private Memo.) February 18, 1897.

Intercolonial 1Railway Extension to Montreal.

In view of the proposition to extend the Intercolonial Railway to Montreal by
means of the Drummond County line to St. Hyacinthe, the Grand Trunk Company
would be prepared to enter into the following arrangement with the government
for the use of its line, as well as the Victoria Bridge and terminais at Point St.
Charles and Bonaventure Station, viz.:-

Line: St. Hyacinthe (Drummond County Connection) -
To St. Lambert, 30 miles, cost.....................$ 1,500,000
To pay interest on half, say on .... ... ................ 750,000

Cost of maintenance, according to wheelage-
For use of Victoria Bridge and approaches.............. 50,000
For terminais at Point St. Charles, Bonaventure, and

use of railways...... .............. .................... 62,500
For use of Chaudière Bridge and necessary occupation

of line east ..................................... 6,000

This is as agreed with Drummond County Railway. The government to pay
their proportion of maintenance and operation according to wheelage.

By Mr. liaggart :

Q. "This is as agreed with the Drummond County Railway," that is, the
Chaudière section ?-A. The Drummond County and Grand Trunk had au agreement
whereby the Drummond County was to pay the Grand Trunk $6,000 for these
terminais. Here is a recapitulation, in continuation of the memorandum:-

(ExHIBIT No. 14a).

RECAPITULATION.

Per annuim.
Interest on line, St. Hyacinthe to St. Lambert, one-

half $750.000 at 5 per cent....... .................... $ 37,500
Use of Victoria Bridge ............. ........ ............... 50,000
Use of track to Bonaventure (4 miles) with ter-

minais, yards and passenger station, including
round houses, &c ........ .............................. 62,500

Use of Chaudière Bridge across river and tracks east,
as agreed with Drummond County Railway,..... 6,000

Total............... ............................. $ 156,000

Government to pay interest at 5 per cent on one.half of any expenditure
necessary for improved facilities, such as double track between St. Hyacinthe and
St. Lambert, yard improvements at Pointe St. Charles or at St. Henri, additional

Mr. BLAIR.
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tracks that may be necessary from St. Henri to Bonaventure Station, or other
expenditure required for proper and efficient conduct of the business.

Such work, in all cases, to be matter for consultation and agreement.

Q. Is that in reply to a written or an oral communication ?-A. An oral com-
munication. I asked Mr. Wainwright to furnish me with a memorandum in writing
as to what terms they would be willing to negotiate upon.

By Mr. Borden :

Q. Did it bear any date ?-A. February 18th, 1897. Wbile that was going on,
on the lth February, seven days previously, I had asked Mr. Schreiber to give me
an idea of what ho thought we ought to pay for the use of the terminals and the
bridge more particularly-the otber, I supposed, would be governed by the general
rule, but the bridge was a special thing and the terminais a special thing-and ho
did so. I have got copies of this memorandum here, handed me on the lOth
February, before I received this memorandum from the Grand Trunk. It is as
follows:-

(ExHiBIT No. 15).

Terminals at St. Charles and Bonaventure, including the use of tracks, &c.

Four miles of railway, including land at $80,000 per
mile........... .................. ...... $ 320,000

One-balf above.......... ............ ................... . .. 160,000
Ten acres of land (485,100 >q. ft.) for terminals at $2

per superficial feet ............ 871,200
Passenger station, say $ 100,000, say one-half. 50,000
Other tracks, 4 miles at $4,500 per mile................18,000
Freight shed, say 500 feet by 50 feet of brick.......... 30,000
E ngine house ......... ..... .............................. ... 30,000
Proportion of workshops....... ....... ........... . 30,000
Sundries ....... ...... ......... ........ .... .. ............. 50,000

This is an approximate estimate only.. $ 1,239,200
Five per cent on $1,239,200 per annum ............ 61,960

The Grand Trunk Railway property at Point St. Charles and Montreal must be
worth several million dollars, but we shall only use a small proportion.

OTTAWA, 10th February, 1897. (Sgd.) COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER.

The Committee will observe that Mr. Schreibei's estimate of what would be a
fair rental is $61,960, which tallied remarkably closely with the figure of the Grand
Trunk who asked $62,500.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. This is for half, or simply the share that the Intercolonial would require of
these terminal facilities ?-A. That would be on the basis of one-half the value at
five per cent of such portions of these terminais as he thought he would require to
use.

Q. Whether we only required one-tenth or not that estimate was based on one-
half ?-A. This estimate was based on one-half.

Mr. BLAIR.
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By the Chairman :

Q. Such portion as you would require to use of the whole ?-A. Such as we
would require to use. Mr. Schreiber states in his memorandum that the line from
Point St. Charles to Montreal is worth several millions of dollars, but that as we
would only use a small proportion he makes the value on that proportion.

By Mr. Borden .

Q. Is there anything apparent on the document as to what proportion Mr.
&hreiber thought we would require ?-A. Well no; there is nothing there appa-
rent. You can see that he allows us four miles of track, he allows us the freight
sheds, he allows us the engine sheds, he allows us a proportion of the workshops,
he allows us the passenger station and a proportion of the terminals, which would
be laid on ten acres of land.

Q. It seems to me it would depend on the proportionate use each party would
make of that ?-A. What would depend ?

Q. The rental you should pay.-A. The rental would depend on the figures at
which the Grand Trunk would agree to lease them, provided they were not, in our
opinion, excessive.

Q. Mr. Schreiber makes an estimate of the amount you should pay. Into that
enquiry was there anything as to the proportionate amount and the proportion of
the user each company would make of these facilities ?-A. There is always to be
taken into account in addition to the fixed rental the allowance we would have to
make in proportion to our wheelage on these different portions of the road.

By 1r. llaggart:

Q. Let me understand clearly. These places mentioned: freight sheds, englne
houses, etc., is it the user Mr. Schreiber has valued or is it half the value ?-A. He
has given you there his estimate of what would be balf the value of such portion of
the terminals at Montreal, St. Henri and Point St. Charles as we would be likely to
use.

By Mr. Powell

Q. Did you take any pains to find out what proportion it would be of the Inter-
colonial's use of these facilities ?-A. I cannot say it wçuld have been very possible
to come to a very clear conclusion in regard to that. It would depend altogether on
how business turned ont.

Q. Did you take any pains to find out what the Intercolonial's proportion would
be ?-A. We took every pains to ascertain as to what were the best terms we could
get the use of these facilities for, the lowest price at which we could secure them
from the Grand Trunk.

Q. That is hardly what [ asked. I ask if you took any pains to find out the
proportion of the user of the Intercolonial Railway ?-A. The element of user has
two phases. The amount of user of two companies relatively would affect the con-
tribution which each would make to the cost of maintenance, but il would not affect,
nor, in my view, should it properly affect, the question of' rental. If the Grand
Trunk were willing to rent to us all their property at a rate of interest on the
whole cost, governed by our proportion of the use of the line to theirs, it would
have been all right to make an arrangement of that kind, possibly; but they were
not so disposed.

Q. It is not whether you have inquired into the proportions, but simply
whether the Railway Department, or you as its head, took the precaution to have

.an estimate of the proportionate user ?-A. There was no estimate of the propor-
tionate user at all. It would be very hard to ascertain that.

Mr. BLAIR.
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By Mr. faggart:

Q. Well, Mr. Blair, I may mistake your answer, but I want to get it clear.
These places mentioned, freight sheds, etc., that were estimated by Mr. Schreiber,
is his estimate for the user by the Intercolonial or for the half value?-A. I have
said already, but I repeat it, that Mr. Schreiber bas estinated on a basis of half of
the cost of such portions of the terminal facilities as we may reasonably be expected
to use.

By Mr. Borden.:

Q. And that estimate was made irrespective whether the user of the Grand
Trunk was very much greater than the user of the Intercolonial ?-A. Quite so,
because that question of user would govern the amount we would have to contribute
to maintenance. The Grand Trunk would not negotiate with us on any other basis.

Q. Then there were two things: the negotiations with the Grand Trunk and
the estimate of your engineer?-A. No; because my negotiations with the Grand
Trunk were communicated to Mr. Schreiber, and he knew the Grand Trunk would
not ask a fixed rental for ail these things. They would not rent or lease to us upon
a basis of the proportion of our use of the bridge and terminais, and he prepared
his estimate as I have read it here, from that point of view, at my instance and
request.

Q. He did not estimate from the standpoint of proportionate user, but from the
stand point of equal user ?-A. Of equal user of such portions of the terminais as we
would require to use.

Q. Is there any report as to the distinct proportions you would require ?-A. I
have no doubt that Messrs. Schreiber and Pottinger's judgment would be sound on
that question, and they would form a fair idea.

Q. But there is nothing apparent in the report ?-A. Nothing further than I
have read to you, that he has given me in this memorandum, now before the Com-
mittee, in which he allows us four miles of track, passenger station, freight sheds,
engine house, portion of workshops, and so forth. At ail events, that was the data
Mr. Schreiber furnished me, and I found it corresponding very closely with the
figures which the Grand Trunk later banded in. Then on the subject of the bridge,
Mr. Schreiber gave me the cost of construction, which was, in bis own language, " I
think ten million dollars, though it would probably now be completed for six million
dollars. For the use of this bridge by the Intercolonial Railway a fair rental would
appear to be $60,000." The tolls over the Niagara River bridge, very small in com-
parison, would probably show a result of $77,467 a year, and the Niagara River
bridge, I presume, is a bridge very little more than a quarter of the length of the
Victoria bridge, and perhaps very much less in cost. Mr. Schreiber has furnished
me with a memorandum.

(EXUIBIT No. 16.)

MEMORANDUM.

Grand Trunk Railwiy Company's Victoria Bridge over the St. Lawrence River at
Montreal.

The const of the construction of this bridge was, I think, $10,000,000. It could
probably now be completed for $6,000,000.

For the use of this bridge by the Intercolonial Railway, a fair rental would
appear to be about $60,000 per annum.

Mr. BLara.



Cl Victoria. Appendix (No. 1.) A. 1898

Tolls over the Niagara River Brilge, which is a very small affair compared to
the Victoria Bridge, are:-

For each passenger.. ..................................... .......... $0 10
do freight car, loaded ........ ..... ....................... 1 00
do do light . .... ......... ........... ........ ...... 0 50
do locomotive ................. ... .................. 7 50
do passenger car ........... .... ................. 2 50
do new freight car. .............................. 1 50
do conductor's van ................. ...... 1 00

PER DAY.

No. passengers, average, say 100 at $0 '10 ........... ....... $ 10 00
Loaded freight cars...... 170 " 00..... ......... . 170 00
Light do 30" 0 50..................... 15 00
Locomotives.......2 " 7 50..................... 15 00

do . ............. .15 " 2 50..................... 37 50

$247 50
313

74250
24750

74250

$77,467 50

(Sgd.) COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER.
OTTAWA, 10th February, 1897.

By iMr. Powell:

Q. When you speak of tolls over the Niagara bridge that means the total
revenue from all sources ?-A. No, but for the same number of trains and cars
which we would be likely to haul over the Victoria bridge, on that same scale.

Q. Please give us the number of cars and trains in that estimate ? (Exhibit No.
16)-A. It averages 100 passengers a day both ways. le estimates 170 cars each
day, loaded or partly loaded. He estimates 30 light cars.

Q. Thirty light each way ?-A. No, I am giving you the total both ways. le
-estimates two locomotives at 87.50 and 15 locomotives at $2.50. The result would
be $77,467.

By Mr. Jlaggart:

Q. What is the total for the bridge-877,000 ?-A. $77,467 for the year or
$247.50 per day.

By -Mr. Powell:

Q. Over the Niagara bridge is it one of the conditions, as it was in this, that
parties having the user are to pay one half of the cost of maintenance as well ?-A.
My impression is not. Their toils cover everything,

Q. That would make a material difference, would it not? A. That would make
a difference if your business would remain stationary. If you look forward for a
material increase in the business, as my officers did, a fixed rental at a sum less
than their present rates would produce, would seem to be a very satisfactory figure.

Mr. BLAIR.



Drummond Countv Rai ilway Inquiry.

At all events that is the view entertained by myself and by the Government in the
matter. Let me go on to say that these three routes uider consideration were
ascertained in length to be : the Drummond County Railway, 146-73 miles; the
Grand Trunk Railway, 157-37 miles ; the South Shore, 159·39 miles.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. Is that to a point in Montreal ?-A. Yes, to St. Lambert.

By Mr. Carroll :

Q. That is from Chaudière?-A. Yes, from St. Lambert to Chaudière by these
several routes. I had an estimate, it was made byMr. Kingsford, not after a careful
survey nor was it made with a full knowledge doubtless of all the details which a
person would like before making an accurate survey; it was an approximate survey
and he states that in his view that it would cost $23,000 per mile to build the South
Shore line as compared with $16,000 for the Drummond County Railway.

Q. Who made that estimate ?-A. Mr. Kingsford.

By Mr. lIa gqart:

Q. Is it verbal or written ?-A. He gave it to me in the report which ho made.
1e went over the road very carefully, and gave me information and details in regard
to grades and all, and as he had instructions to make an estimate of probable cost of
these three routes, he stated that, without being able to mako an accurate or close
calculation, or without having material before him to do so, ho would say, in an
approximate way, that it would cost about $23,000 owing to the large amount of
expensive bridging which would necessarily have to be constructed on the South
Shore line-a gr'eat many rivers crossing the route, it would naturally be very
expensive.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. What was the date of the report ?-A. Last fall, Mr. Kingsford was on the
Drummond County work as representing the government during the construction of
the extension from Moose Park to Chaudière bridge. le was there some months,
and ho had instructions before ho went to make a very careful report on these lines,
and he did so. It is very voluminous, and could be put in if desired by the
committee.

Q. As to the policy of the South Shore route ?-A. That is only a small part.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. As I understand you this is the report of the gentleman superintending the
extension of the Drummond County Rai lway ?-A. Yes, ho was there as engineer
for the Government during the whole summer.

By the Chairman :

Q. That is Mr. Kingsford ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. Have you the contract for the extension of this Drummond County Railway
from Moose Park ?-A. They entered into a contract with the Government under
the usual sub>idy form.
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Q. You have not the usual subsidy form with you ?-A. No, but it can be pro-
duced. The arrangementwith the Grand Trunk Railway Company was as you know
closed on the basis of4$140,000, and that contract was not approved by Parliaiment. The
arrangement was made with the Drummond County Railway Company on the basis of
$70,000 a year rental. We estimated that the road completed as we would require
it to Chaudière would be worth $1,600,000 at least. Interest on that at 4 per cent
would be equal to $64,000 and the $6,000 at the Chaudière end made the $70,000.
The contract we made with the Drummond County Railway Company, as the papers
wilI show (the papers have been before Parliament; I can produce another copy if
you wish it) was to build and complete from Mooie Park to Chaudière, in round
figures - distance of 43 miles, up to the standard of the Intercolonial Railway.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. What is the length ?-A. 42-60 or '70 miles, or in round figures 43 miles.
We required them to lay that portion of the line with rails weighing not le>s than
70 lbs. to the lineal yard. And we required that they should reduce certain grades
and make certain improvements on the old partof the line. All that was stipulated
in their contract. A vote was passed authorizing a subsidy to be given to the
Drummond County Railway in aid of these 43 miles. They entered into a contract
with the Government under the subsidy Act and went on to construct their line
and it was during that construction that Mr. Kingsford was superintending or in-
specting on behalf of the Government. They prosecuted the work quite vigorouslV,
but thev were unable to complete it to our satisfaction ; in fact they had not yet
completed it entirely, up to the date when we took the road into our hands or over
from them temporarily and began to run it on the lst of March. The work which
they were required to do was heavy, I presume; at ail events although they worked
very vigorously and energetically at it, time did not permit of their completing it
entirely to oui satisfaction. They did not complete, as I say, the new part, and
they had not completed fully the old part. We made an arrangement with them
under a temporary lease for the use of the road until the 30th of June next in
accordance with the authority of parliament and contracted that they would allow
us to renew the lease for a further period from time to time on our being authorized
to do so by parliament.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. I do not want to interrupt the hon. gentleman, but if you will excuse me I
would like to ask: Does the contract under the Subsidy Act requ ire a standard equal
to the Intercolonial ?-A. No, but we required, if they accepted, before we took it
off their hands that they should complete the road up to the standard of the Inter-
colonial and it was because they had not completed the road up to the standard of
the Intercolonial that those delays occurred in our taking the road over. Our
engineer who examined the road was mnstructed to require that the work should be
done up to that standard.

Q. Then the contract they had with the Government under the Subsidy Act
was entirely different in its requirements from what you required of them before
taking over the road ?-A. Yes. They were not required to enter into any different
contract to earn the subsidy from what they would have been required to do if there
were no arrangement between us and them or no expectation of an arrangement,
but seeing that we were intending to rent the road from them they were required
and have been required to give us a road up to the standard of the Intercolonial.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. That is as regards the 43 miles ?-A. Yes, and with some exceptions they
have.done so. Provision has been made, as I am confident from information.
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and reports of our engineers, to put the road in good shape and bring it up to the
standard. We entered into a temporary agreement with them, as I have told you
for the leasing of their line.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. Have they earned their subsidy under the contract ?-A. No, sir.
Q. Then they have not built the road up to the standard required by the Sub.

sidy Act?-A. They have built it far beyond that, but there are some trifling things
which probably would not cost over $2,000 or $3,000 or $4,000, maybe not so much
as any of the sums I have named in order to satisfy the terms of the contract, in
order that our engineers could report that the contract had been fully performed.
As a consequence they have not received their local subsidy yet; but they have
built their road, as I am advised, far and away in excess of the requirements of the
contract, in the main and substantially.

By the Chairman :

Q. Is the whole road up to the standard of the Intercolonial or only the portion
that was constructed-the 43 miles ?-A. The whole road cannot bc said to be up
to the standard of the Intercolonial to-day, but before we leased the road from them
or entered into an arrangement which may be of a permanent character, we required
that they should contract to put it in that shape and that we should be secured in
their contract. And here let me say that before we entered into the contract our
engineer reported to us that it would take $35,000.

By Mr. Borden;

Q. You are speaking of the original agreement?-A. Before the original agree-
ment was entered into, our engineer reported to us that it would take $35,000 in
round figures in order to bring that road fully up to the standard of the Intercolonial.

By Mr. llagqart:

Q. That is 7'2 miles of the completed road?-A. No, no. I am speaking now of
the new section of 43 miles. Hie 1eported that it would take $35,000'and he gave us
details of it which we have. That would be laying the 70 pound rail and equipping
it in every particular right up to the first standard. 11e reported to us also that it
would require an expenditure to reduce these other grades and put the road in really
satisfactory shape and perhaps beyond what they would be required to do under
their contraut with us. In consequence of the reports which we received from our
engineer, we stipulated with the Drummond County Railway before we took the
road from them, that they should lay out $100,000, of which $35,000 was to be ex-
pended in completing the 43 mile section and $65,000 in completing the other por-
tion of the road.

Q. The seventy-two miles ?-A. Yes. We stipulated that they should either
lay that out under the instructions of our engineer or furnish us with the money
to do so and that we should apply the rent to it. We have a covenant of that kind
in our temporary lease.

Q. You say that this is above the requirements that the railway would have to
perform to carry out their agreement?-A. Rather above them.

Q. To what extent ?-A. We did not provide in our original contract for that;
we only stipulated for the reduction of the grades, but we have required of them
some other things-clauses which they thought we were unreasonable in asking,
but seeing that we were in the position to exact they submitted, and these were

Mr. BLAIR.
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embodied in the contract. I have got here a copy of the temporary leasing which
was entered into with the Drummond County Railway.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Before you pass on to that, Mr. Blair, as I understand it the standard of the
road now is that the 43 miles are substantially up to the grade of the Intercolonial?
-A. Not substantially, but absolutely, and above in the matter of rails, because we
have not a 70-pound rail on our line at all.

Q. That is about one-tenth more?-A. On a portion of our line we only have
56-pound rails.

Q. Coming to the other portion of 73 miles, that is not up to the standard of
the Intercolonial, is it ?-A. Well no; it cannot be said to be up to the standard of
the Intercolonial, because the Intercolonial has a high standard. For instance the
embankments may not be as high.

By the Chairman :
Q. How about the rails ?-A. They are 56-pound rails.

By Mr. Carroll:
Q. On the whole 73 miles?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. That rail you are taking up on the leading portions of the Intercolonial and
replacing with a higher rail ?-A. We have 56 pound rails and are putting down
67-pound.

Q. So this rail is inadequate to the purposes of the Intercolonial ?-A. It is not as
durable, but trains run as quickly and safely and as long as it lasts it will carry as
large a traffic. The weight of the rails is a question largely of economy.

By 11r. Haggart :
Q. What is the difference between the amount that they are absolutely required

to do under the contract and what you require on the 73 miles ?-A. They have
taken ont part of these objectionable grades and straightened the line on the old line.

Q. It is not the details I want but the amount ?-A. Speaking generally, and
without wanting to be held too close, the figure wo have required of them is about
double the amount of expenditure that they would be, under their original agree-
ment, called upon to make. I think about thirty to thirty-five thousand dollars
would cover what they would require to do under the original agreement. We
exact $60,000.

By fr. Borden:
Q. Do I understand that the thirty-five thousand dollars which they are to

expend upon the 43 miles will make it fully equivalent to the standard of the Inter-
colonial Railway ?-A. I have no doubt ot it.

Q. In respect to the $65,000 on the 73 miles portion, will this make it equivalent
to the Intercolonial ?-A. Well, I would not like to say that. We have not in our
arrangements stipulated, and have not stipulated now, that they should bring that
portion of the line up to the Intercolonial standard. They said, " Weil, here is the
road, take it or leave it, just as it is." I induced them to contract to reduce certain
of their grades and they have done that with the exception of one grade at one
point, which I have told you would about fall even all through, and not cost more
than thirty thousand dollars to thirty-two thousand dollars.

Q. Has the Department anything to show what the 43 miles cost ?-A. jNo, I
am not aware that we have any statement of what they have cost, but I presume it
is quite possible to ascertain what they cost.

Mr. BLAIR.
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By Mr. llaggart:

Q. You have ail the quantities under the contract in the Department. They
are filed in the Department, I suppose. and Mr. Kingford's report ?-A. Well, I
think it is likely we have ail that, but I do not know whether it would convey an
accurate idea of the actual cost. In connection with this temporary contract with
the Drummond County Railway, and before entering into it, we came to an arrange-
ment with the Drummond County whereby we have the option from them, when-
ever Parliament should so authorize us, to purchase for cash the Drutmmond County
Line for its entire length from Ste. Rosalie to Chaudière at the valuation which we
originally put upon it and the cost at which it is calculated by the railway, $1,600,-
000. A good deal has been said about our having made an arrangement for a rental
which was excessive, and which, capitalized, represented two or three millions of
money. We knew well the Drummond County could not negotiate their lino on any
such basis as the country could borrow money, and we took for granted that it
represented to them one million six hundred tbousand dollars. We figured on that
expectation and basis, and, therefore, in order to remove the possibility of an objec-
tion on the ground that we were really giving more than we purported to give, we
proposed to the Drum mond Couoty that they should give us an option, either to
lease the road or to purchase it by cash on a basis of $1,600,000. That is in the tem-
porary arrangement we made with them, a copy of which I will leave with the Com-
mittee. I will read two or three clauses giving the two conditions. The temporary
contract reads:-

(ExHIBIT No. 17.)

"These presents are made upon and subject to provisos, covenants, conditions
and agreements hereinafter expressed and contained for the due perfbrmance and
observance of all of which on the part of each of them, Her Majesty and the Com-
pany bind themselves and each of them respectively, their successors and assigns,
that is to say:

" First-That ler Majesty shall and will ask Her Parliament of Canada, at the
present session thereof, for an appropriation sufficient to enable Her Majesty to con-
tinue this lease for a year from the thirtieth day of June next, upon the same terms,
provisos and conditions as are herein contained.

" Second-That it is agreed by the said Company that it shall be optional with
Her Majesty, Her successors or assigns, subject to the ratification of Parliament, at
any time during the term hereby granted, or any renewal or continuation thereof,
to purchase the said line and branch lines and the said other rights, interests and
property (not including rolling stock) absolutely and free from ail encumbrances at
and for the price and sum of one million six hundred thousand dollars ($1,600,000),
from which sum is to be deducted ail amounts paid or entitled to be paid under the
Subsidy Act, 60-61 Victoria, Chap. 4, and all amounts renaining unexpended or
unpaid by the Company in improving the said railway upon the works hereafter
specified."

The third clause states :-" That the Company shall and will immediately, or as
soon hereafter as the season will admit thereof, lay out and expend a sun of money
amounting to not less than one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) upon such por-
tions of the said line of railway and upon such works thereon and in such manner
as may be indicated by the Minister of Railways, or in case the works or any part
thereof are not proceeded with as rapidly as the Minister may require, then the
Government may performn and carry out ail or r.ny part of such works on the said
railway, expending the amount aforesaid, and shall then have the right to deduct
the amount so expended from the rental payablo hereunder as fast as the same
accrues until the said sum of $100,000, or such portions of the said amount as has
been laid out and expended by the Govern ment on said railway has been fully repaid
Her Majesty."

Mr. BLAIa.
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By Mr. Carroll:
Q. Wbat is the date of that document (Exhibit No. 17) ?-A. February 25,1898.

You will observe, gentlemen, that this will show clearly at ail events what some of
the Drummond County people imagined they were getting, supposing they were
offering it in a capital sum instead of the lease contract they made with us. The
$1,600,000, you will observe, includes the original cost of the line to the Company
of the 73 miles, includes the cost of construction of the 43 miles which they have
made, and includes $100,000 in addition whieh is to be expended under our direction.
I may be permitted Io say that it will be somewhat difficult to find that we bought
a road and paid $1,000,000 more than it was worth in the face of such figures as
those. With the exception of one statement that is all I have to say. That state-
ment is this : A good deal bas been stated in the public press and something more
or less hinted in Parliament, in regard to fraudulent and corrupt transactions carried
on with reference to the negotiations over this Drummond County Railway. I want
to say that I negotiated the transaction from beginning to end myself. I negotiated
it with Mr. Greenshields. know of nobody else, with the exception of a tew min-
utes conversation in myoffice. in thepresence of Mr. Greenshieids, with Mr. Mitchell,
I think. The whole negotiations from the beginning to the end, the conversa-
tions and the negotiations in the transaction, took place with Mr. Greenshields. I
do not know of any other member of the Government having had any part in the
negotiations. I had of conurse, from tine to time, repeatedly, in the course of these
negotiations, communicated with ny colleagnes in the Government and conferred
with them upon the various phases. The Drummond County Railway Company
wanted to be paid $100,000 a year rental. They bad reasons. They claimed that
when they bad completed the new 43 miles, the road would cost them over
$2,000,000. I never saw their books, but they brought figures from their books
which Mr. Greenshields stated were correctly transcribed from their books, estima-
ting that the extension would cost in the neighbourbood of $600,000 or $700,000,
showing that their outlay would be ail of $2,000,000, if not in excess of $2,000,000.
These negotiationis from beginning to end took place between Mr. Greensbields and
myself, and at no time, and under no circumstances, from the moment when the
Drummond County Railway was first spoken of down to the present time, did Mr.
Greenshields say to me, or did I say to him, or to any person else in his presence,
one syllable having reference to any contribution for elections, or of any other kind
in any shape or form. I do not know, I have no reason to suppose, that anything
of the kind took place between Mr. Greenshields or any other member of the Govern-
ment; but I can say what took place between Mr. Greenshields and myself.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. What is the length of the little branch of the Drummond County Railway ?-
A. Seventeen miles.

Q. That is included in the lease ?-A. Yes.

By Mr Carroll :
Q. Did I understand you to say that the estimate by Mr. Schreiber in 1894 did

not include that branch ?-A. He bas stated that it did not, and it did not on its
face.

By Mr. Borden:
Q. The details you have spoken of, as to the cost of the road to the company

being equal to or in excess of $2,000,000, were they in writing ?-A. My impression
is he brought me a memo. showing what was expended on the road up to the time
it was taken over by the present owners as appearing from the books. He showed
me what the bridges cost down to that time-just a statement in gross.

Q. Have you the details of it here ?-A. No, and I do not know that I have
preserved that, but the amount can be got, that I am satisfied of, because their
books are here.

Mr. BLAIR.
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Q. Did it include the subsidy ?-A. It unquestionably did. He stated what the
cost of the road was. Subsidies would not enter into that because they would rely
upon them for the payment of the road.

Q. The subsidies are not included ?-A. It would not be accurate to say that
the $2,000,000 included anything except what the company paid or became liable to
pay from whatever sources their means extended to.

Q. And that included federal, provincial and municipal subsidies ?-A. I have
no doubt.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. That was the total expenditure ?-A. I understood the total expenditure on
the road.

By Mr. llaggart:

Q. You have sworn returns in your department of the amount of the actual
expenditure; that would be evidencewould it not ?-A. Yes. I remember to have seen
that while this was going on. I think it would show more than the sum I have
named. We can have that. Ilere is a memo., a little plan which Mr. Schreiber
prepared for me at the time and it shows Mr. Chairman that the Nicolet Branch was
independent of the other calculations. The whole cost is estimated at $1,535,000
including the Nicolet Brancb. I asked Mi.Schrei ber " what about the land damages ?"

And he said " I have made an estimate of the land damages, but I would be very
sorry to answer for the estimate being sufficiert." He mentioned to me that on the
St. Charles Branch, which is a road built since he has been in the department, land
damages which they had supposed would amount to $100,000 ran up to $900,000
more than the actual cost of the road itself. The estimate is as follows:-

(EXHIBIT No. 18.)

DRUMMOND COUNTY RAILWAY.

Table of Distances, showing the Mileage.
Miles.

Ste. Rosalie to Drummondville ...................... 26-50
Drummondville to St. Leonard........,.......... ......... 19-00
St. Leonard to Moose Park.................. ...... ......... ...... 27 -48
Moose Park to Chaudière Bridge ................. ............... 42-52
N icolet Branch......... ................ ........... ................. 17-00

Total mileage ........ ................. 132 -50

Estimated Cash.

Ste. Rosalie to Drummondville ..................-. $ 291,500
1Drummondville to St. Leonard............. .. ,........ 304,000
St. Leonard to Chaudière Bridge........ ..................... 770,000
N icolet Branch................... .... ........................... 170,000

Total............... ................. $ 1,535,500

(Sgd.) COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER.
OTTAWA, 1lth March, 1897.
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By the Chairman:

Q. The total cost excluding the land damages was estimated there to be how
much, $1,535,500 ?-A. Yes. That would not be on the basis of the seventy
pound rail.

By Mr. laggart:

Q. What is the value of the seventeen miles of road to Nicolet ?-A. The esti-
mate of Mr. Schreiber puts it at $ 170,000.

By Mr. McIsaac :
Q. Is this included in the estimate (Exhibit No. 1) presenited the other day?

-A. No.

By Mr. Raggart:

Q. You are positive that Mr. Schreiber did not include that branch ?-A. Yes,
I am positive because his figures show that he estimated the cost at $1,535,000
inclusive of the branch.

Q. That estimate (Exhibit No. 1) did not include the branch and this one
(Exhibit No. 18) does ?-A. Yes.

Q. If Mr. Schreiber's estimate of $1,365,000 for the finishing of the road in 1894
was correct and you get $170,000 with that for the branch road extra, that should
be deducted from the $1,365,000 ?-A. I do not take that view of it.

By the Chairman:

Q. This 17 miles is additional ?-A. You will understand Mr. Haggart, that
Mr. Schreiber was making an estimate which I presume he thought would be a
guide to us in the event of our undertaking to construct or considering whether
we would construet another line from Chaudière to Ste. Rosalie, as well as some
assistance in forming a judgment as to what we ought to pay for the line already
built if we could buy or acquire it. Under these circumstances he would not
include the Nicolet branch in his estimate. But, of course, we could not buy the
road without buying the branch and the branch is a valuable one, quite a little
business being done upon it. In the estimate which he made for us, of what the
company's whole line would be worth he necessarily included these 17 milem.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Mr. Schreiber's estimate is an estimate of what it would cost to construct
the Une over the same route.-A. I take it that it would be practically over the
same route.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. To get this esti mate you wou Id have to ded uct $ 170,000 fron the $1,535,000 ?-
A. Yes, if you wanted to leave out the Nicolet branch. I suppose that no person
would contend that the estimate of wbat a railway would actually cost the Govern-
ment has ever been found in governmental experieuce to be very close to the
result.

Q. Youhave no information, I suppose, of the expenditure upon the road from
July, 1894, till it was handed over to you ut the end of 1896 ?-A. I understood from
the railway people themselves that thev applied their net earnings every year
towards the improvement of the road and their net earnings are shown to have
amounted to a very respectable sum. ln the last two years they were earning
between $30,000 $35,000 over operating expenses. They told me that but I do not
know of my own knowledge how far that is correct.

Mr. BLAIR.
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Q. That would be for a year and a half. From July, 1894, to the end of 1896.
-A. That would be two and a half years. It was in the winter of 1896, that these
estimates were made or practically at the close of railway work. You will have
the Drummond County people here Mr. Haggart and they will be able to tell you
how far this statement is correct.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. I suppose you have no information that will enable you to say when the
Nicolet branch was built.-A. No, I could not say accurately.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. Have you any information in the department of an offer made to me in
reference to this road or any copy of an offer made to me ?-A. I never heard of
any as being in the office. Anything I have heard on this subject I have heard
outside of the office.

Q. You are not aware that I received an offer for the road ?-A. No, sir, I
never heard of it. I never heard of any offer except the statement which was
made in the House on this subject. I think you stated, at alil vents somebody
stated, that an offer had been made of $400,000 or $500,000. I had not known of
this before and any information that I have of it, I have received since and it ie
hearsay.

MR. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER (recalled)

By the Chairman:

Q. You are already sworn ?-A. Yes.
Q. Will you say whether Exhibit No. 1, purporting to be an estimate of the

Drummond County Railway includes the Nicolet branch ?-A. No; it does not.
Q. Have you valued the Nicolet branch ?-A. Yes.
Q. At what sum ?-A. At $170,000.
Q. Did that estimate inclide the rental the Drummond County have to pay to

the Grand Trunk for the Chaudière Biidge?-A. No.
Q. Did the estimate contemplate the 70 pound rail instead of the 56 pound rail ?-

A. No.
Q. Was it a 56 pound rail ?-A. It was.
Q. Then upon the basis of a 70 pound rail, the Nicolet branch, and the

Chaudière lease or rental of $6,000, what difference would it make in your estimate ?
-A. The rails would be $23.00 a ton.

Q. Well, in round figures ?- A. There would be $176,000 for the Nicolet branch
and the Chaudière Bridge, and the value of the rails would be, on about 30 tous-J
will make up the figures and let you have them.

By Mr. laggart :

Q. Have you got the detafls of the amount of rails ?-A. No.
Q. On what do you find it ?-A. On the general character of the country.
Q. Have you any information in the office ?-A. We had profiles of considerable

part of it at that time from the company-I am spcaking of 1894.

By Mr. Carroll :

Q. Who prepared the last time table on the Intercolonial ?-A. Some officer in
Montreal-I think Mr. Edwards.

Q. It had your assent ?-A. It was sent up here after being printed and was
approved.

Mr. SCHREIBER.
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By Mir. Raggart :
Q. Your estimate is one million five hundred and thirty-five thousand five

hundred dollars? That includes the $170,000 for the branch ?-A. Yes.
Q. Your estimates are practically the same?-A. Practically.
Q. Well, when that 73 miles is completed do you know how much has been

expended in bringing it up to the standard ?-A, I do not.
Q. Has your officer made a report ?-A. Not as to what has been expended.
Q. Well, as to quantities ?-A. No; but he bas made an estimate of the quanti-

ties yet to be done.
Q. Have you got that ?-A. If not I can produce it. Mr. McLeod made that.
Q. Do you know the amount ?-A. No; but the documents will speak for

themselves.
Q. Well, after ail this is done, what would it require to bring that 73 miles of

road up to the standard of the Intercolonial ?-A. it would cost considerable, but
the 43 miles will be up to the standard.

Q. You have no idea then what the 73 miles would cost ?-A. No.
Q. You have no idea what the 43 miles cost?-A. Not beyond the estimate.
Q. Surely Mr. Kingsford gave the quantities and amounts. Is it no', in the

department ?-A. No; I will produce all bis reports.

By Mr. Borden :
Q. He gave no data ?-A. No ; he isjust there to see it is done.

By Mr. Haggart :
Q. What are bis instructions to see it is done up to what ?-A. Up to the

standard of the Intercolonial.
Q. What standard is that ?-A. As it exists at the present time.
Q. Does the engineer know what that is ? Has he no specific instructions as to

grades, curvatures, etc. ?-A. Yes.
Q. Was this estimate of one million three hundred and sixty-five thousand

($1,365,000) furnished me, oir that of $1,535,000 to bring it to the standard of the
Intercolonial ?-A. I do not think so.

Q. Are you sure ?-A. My estimate was not based on that.
Q. Under the contract with the Government at pi esent is it to be up to the

standard of the Intercolonial ?-A. Only the 42 miles.
Q. The rest of it is not ?-A. No.
Q. Was this 42 miles in this estimate up to the standard ?-A. No.
Q. What would the difference be in cost ?-A. I could not say.
Q. You can give us no information ?-A. Well I might prepare it.

By Mr. Powell :
Q. Was not your object in preparing this estimate for the then minister to see

what it would cost to build a road that would be part of the Government system of
the country ?-A. Yes.

Q. And your idea would not be to have a road that was less practical in efficiency
than the Government system of the countrv ?--A. I estimated it according to the
way it was to have been eonstructed under the subsidy.

By Mr. Haggart :
Q. Now, Mr. Schreiber, was the 72 miles completed on that road up to the sub-

sidy ?-A. I think it was.
Q. Did your estimate not include a reduction of the gradients of that road ?-

A. I do not think so.
Q. Where the gradients greater than those given here (Exhibit No. 1) ?-A.

No, I think not.
Mr. SCHREIBER,
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Q. Did I not ask you what was the expenditure to be put on the 72 miles ? I
sec here that between Drummondville and St. Leonard the steepest grade was 63
feet to the mile according to this statement (Exhibit No. 1). Was there not steeper
gradients ?-A. No ; after it is finished there will not be over 52 feet gradients.

Q. What will there be on the bridge crossing the road there ?-A. I should
have said 63 feet. That estimate was on 63 feet grade ; there is no doubt about
that.

Q. You did not estimate at all then for deducting out the steepGst grade ?-A.
No, not on that.

Q. Where is St. Leonard ?-A. At the junction with the Nicolet branch.
Q. The distance fron St. Leonard to Chaudière is 70 miles ?-A. Thereabouts.
Q. Was there not a steeper gradient than 63 feet on that when the road was

completed under the subsidy ?-A. Well, I do not remember that thero was.

By Mr. Borden :
Q. The annual report gives as the steepest gradient 69 feet?-A. At all events

this is the basis of that estimate.

By Mr. Riaggar( :
Q. I am endeavouring to show that between St. Leonard and Chaudière there

was a gradient of over 70 feet, and that you are calculating on 50 ?-A. Iam calcu-
lating what is there.

Q. That is different from the subsidies paid ?-A. I am calculating on this.
Q. If there was a steeper gradient than 60 or 69 feet between St. Leonard and

Chaudière, you are not calculating on a road on which a subsidy was paid ?-A. I
am not calculating it as steep as that.

By the Chairman:
Q. That is not the road the (Tovernment has to-day ?-A. No.

By Mr. liaggart:
Q. Then if there is a steeper grade than 53 feet between St. Leonard and

Chaudière, it is not a road upon which the subsidy was paid ?-A. That would not
be if there is such a grade, because it is based on the grade shown there.

Q. Then this estimate is calculated on this gradient, not on the grade the sub-
sidies were paid on ?-A.-I do not remember any greater grade than is based on
what you see there.

Q. Do you remember a conversation I had with you in reference to a bridge
crossing a river near the terminus of this road?-A. No; what is the name of the
bridge? I remember two bridges-one at Drummondville and another; these are
the only two I remember.

Q. Near the terminus of the road ?-A. I have never been on the road.
Q. The statement has been made to me that the gradient going up to a bridge

was about 90 feet, and required to be reduced ?-A. I do not remember the conver-
sation, but I think you wrote a letter to some one, stating that the subsidies could
not be paid until some grade was reduced. If there is such a letter, we can produce
it. I do not remember any conversation, but I think I remember a letteryou wrote
to the company to that effect.

Q. There have been reductions of the gradients of the road on the 72 miles ?-
A. Yes, there have been.

Q. Was one of them the heightening or the lowering of the bridge ?-A. I
think it was the heightening of the bridge.

Q. Do you know where that is ?-A. No, I could not remember now.
Q. Have you seen the gradient ?-A. No, I have not seen the place. I think I

could produce a letter from you to somebody, saying that the subsidy would not be
paid until some gradient was lessened; I do not remember any conversation.

Mr. SCHREIBER.
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Q. Now as to the details in that estimate of $1,535,500 (Exhibit 18,) how
much of the road was completed in this estimate ?-A. seventy-two miles were
completed.

Q. In this estimate, how much was required to complete the 72 miles which
were included ?-A. Well, but this estimate is for a road assuming that nothing
has been done. That is not for the completion of the road. It is the cost of the
road-to complete it.

Q. I a-ked you the last time you were here if you had made an estimate of the
72 miles as completed and the amount required to complete it between the 72 mile
point and Chaudière ?-A. Is it not there ? No, this is 27 miles short of the end of
the road. Moose Park is where the 42 miles end.

Q. Furnish the infoîrmation next time. I want to know what the value of the
72 miles is of the road that ie completed ?-A. You want it from Ste. Rosalie to the
St. Leonard end of the 42 miles?

Q. Then I want the amount of money required to bring it up to the contract
with the Intercolonial Railway or with the Government.-A. These 42 miles ?

Q. The 72 miles-what it would cost to complete it; then I want the amount
it would cost to complete the road under the contract with the Government from the
terminals to Chaudière Junction. Was there any officer in your department who
made an estimate and went over the road and reported as to the standard and
requirements to bring it up to the Intercolonial-to bring the 42 miles up to the
standard of the contract ?-A, Yes. Mr. MacL-eod and Mr. Kingsford.

Q. Did Mr. Pottinger go over it ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did Mr. Archibald go over it ?-A. I do not think so.
Q. Did he not go over it at my request or your request ?-A. I do not think it.
Q. Did Mr. Archibald make an estinate of it ?-A. I do not think so. 1 never

heard of any. 1 do not tbink he has been over it even.

Mr. J. N. GREENsIELDs being sworn gave evidence as follows:-

B.y the Chairman :

Q. Will you state the facts connected with the negotiations between you and
the Government and the charge which bas been made in the House or the insinua-
tions which have been made that you had advanced money to Mr. Tarte in connention
with La Patrie ?-A. In regard to the Patrie statement I may premise by stating
that in no instance was one single dollar either directly or indirectly of the Drum-
mond County Railway Company or of my own given to Mir. Tarte himself or to his
sons or to the Patrie or to anybody else. Mir. Tarte had discussed, in fact we had
for two years discussed the advisability of getting a French Liberal journal in the
city of Montreal. le telephoned me one day from Ottawa ihat he had started to
negotiate-I was acting at that time as bis solicitor in connection with the Grenier
trial and a libel suit that Richard White of the Gazette was interested in.

By Mr. Borden :
Q. I did not hear what you said Mr. Greenshields ?-A. I was acting at that

time as solicitor for Mr. Tarte, and he telephoned from Ottawa stating that negotia-
tions had been opened with Mr. Beaugrand for the acquiring of the Patrie newspaper,
and askAd me to represent bis sons as their lawyer and continue the negotiations
with Beaugrand. I saw Mr. Beaugrand, and the price at which Mr. Tarte wished
to secure the paper was not that at which Mr. Beaugrand was prepared to sell. Mr.
Tarte came down to Montreal a couple of days after he telephoned me. Mr.
Beaugrand was pressing for an answer, stating that ho had to go south for lis
health. Mr. Tar'te came to Montreal and to my office, and asked me to accompany

Mr. GREENSHIELDS.
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him to Mr. Beaugrand's house, he being sick, to continue the negotations for the
purchase of La Patrie, we being accompanied by his two sons. On the way Mr.
Tarte said to me: " Now I want you to be particular regarding this matter, if we
come to terms as to price, and see that things are done legally and that there is a
proper transter of the capital stock." We went to Mr. Beaugrand's, but could not
see him just then, and went back in the afternoon. Mr. Beaugrand wanted one
price and naturally they wanted to pay a lower price. About 5 in the afternoon
they agreed to a price. The books were brought and Mr. Beaugrand's brother, who
was secretary of the Company, came up and the transfer of the stock was made.
The sum of $210,000 required to be paid before making the transfer. Mr. Tarte, at
that minute, it being after banking hours, asked me to give my cheque instead of
his son's, saying " Mr. Beaugrand might refuse my son's cheque, as I cannot get it
marked now, and I will see you are covered for this $20,000 in the morning." I
gave him muy cheque for $20,000 on the Canadian Bank of Commerce and it was
covered part that afternoor and the rest next morning. It was depo>ited by me in
a special account in the Bank of Commerce, and the cheque presented through the
Clearing House. It was paid, not from me or the Drummond County Railway, but
handed to me by Mr. Tarte's sons, and I do not know wherc they got it. Mr. Tarte
gave me $5,000 that afternoon and his sons gave me the other $15,000) next m orning
in $5,000 casb and $10,000 in their cheque on the Hochelaga Bank, which can be
verified. This is the whole story of La Patrie, of which we have heard so much.

lI answer to the second part of your question, referring to negotiations with
the Government for the purchase of the road, Mr. Wainwright asked me to go to
Ottawa. I think the first official interview I had for the sale of this road with the
present Government or any-because I had no interview with the other Government
-was one time when Mr. Hays, Mr. Wainwright and I came to Ottawa, after the
return of Mr. Blair from the coast. I conducted the negotiation for the leasing of
this road with Mr. Biair alone. I did not discuss the terms of the matter with any
other Minister of the Crown. It has been stated that Mr. Tarte had to do with it.
le had nothing to do with it. No part in these negotiations were between Mr.
Tarte and myself. They were entirely with the Minister of Railways, and at no
time did he, or any other Minister, suggest that the Drummond County Railway
Company should contribute one cent to an election fund or for other purposes
whatever, and as a' matter of fact the Drummond County Railway Company did
not contribute one dollar. The Drummond County Railway Company, since the
Liberal party got into power, has not received a cent, not even a postage stamp,
from the Dominion Government, except perhaps the subsidy for carrying the
mail, received from the last Government. Mir. Blair never suggested an election
fund and I never promised anything, directly or indirectly. No minister of the
crown, no member of parliament, either Liberal or Conservative, has one dollar of
interest in the road. The stock is owned by William Mitchell, William Farwell
and myself. A portion of the dtock, although it is ail in our threc naines, now,
about $50,000, is owned by Mr. Mitchell's relatives, a brother and other parties;
but as for any publie man, no one, Liberal or Conservative, owns a dollar of interest,
directly or indirectly, in the road, and never did, to my knowledge.

By the Chairman:

Q. Will you proceed with the negotiations with Mr. Blair?-A. We entered
into a discussion as to the terms upon which the road'could be acquired. I started
out by offering to complete the road.

Q. Your agreement shows the results?-A. Yes, with this exception thatj
wanted to get more money than the government paid and we first asked $100,000
rental. This was gradually reduced by Mr. Blair until he made the best bargain lie
could for the acquisition of the road. I came to Ottawa a number of times and
discussed it alone with Mr. Blair and the results are to be found in the first contract
laid before Parliament.
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Q. What has been the cost of the road up to the present time ?-A. Well, I
cannot tell you from memory the total cost. I bave sent all the books, and the
construction account will show exactly what the road cost. I had the figures from
the secretary up to November 30 last, 1897. The construction account up to 30th
November, 1897, shows the cost of the road at $1,885,184.54, but there is to be added
to that a sum of from $200,000 to $250,000 paid out in December and January on
account of construction of the new portion of the line, 42 miles; so that in round
figures the construction aCcount, so far as I can get at it now, when we have paid
the cost of the 42 miles and with the $100,000 we are pledged to spend under the
temporary lease will put the cost of' the road at from $2,100,000 to $2,250,000. I
cannot tell you the exact figures to a dollar, but the secretary will come here and
tell you the exact amount.

Q. What is the Secretary's name?-A. Samuel Newton. We are prepared to
put before the Committee every document or book that has ever been used by the
Drummond County Railway Company.

By Mr. Powell ;

Q. When was the Nicolet branch built ?-A. I think it was the first portion of
the road built. If not the first portion it was one of the earliest. You will under-
stand that I was not in the Company when the Nicolet branch was built.

The Committee adjoui ned until Friday, March 18, at 11 o'clock, a.m.

Ylr. GREENSHIELDS.
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HOUSE OF COMMONS,
FRinaY, 1sth March, 189S.

The Committee met at Il a.m.

Inquiry into expenditure of subsidies granted in aid of the Drummond County
Railway and into the negotiations and transactions in relation to the acquiring
of the said railway by the Government of Canada resumed.

The examination of Mr. J. N. Greenshields was resumed.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. You have spoken of the present ownership of the stock of the Drumimond
County Railway Company?-A. Yes, sir.

Q. What amount of stock do you own ?-A. About $230,000 of stoek. There
may be five shares one way or the other. The total stock is $400,000.

Q. When did you acquire your stock ?-A. At varions times sinees 1893.
Q. Do you remember from whom you acquired it ?-A. Well, the transfer book

will show. I acquired it from a dozen people.
Q. The transfer books will show ?-A. Yes, certainly. Mr. Newton has the

books.
Q. Will tbey also indicate the date ?-A. Yes.
Q. At what price did you acquire your stock ?-A. At various prices.
Q. Will you1 please give us in detail the different prices ?-A. Well, I don't

know that it is a matter ofinterest to this Committec what price I gave. I paid
par for some and for others less than par.

Q, Of course I put the question; you will have to use your discretion in
answering, subject to the judgment of the Committee. I would like to know what
the total cost of the $230,000 bas been to you ?-A. Well, I bougbt the largest
proportion of it at par. Some of it I paid for at less than par.

Q. Do you mean that you paid cash ?-A. I mean that I paid cash at par.
Q. For how much ?-A. For $100,000, I guess probably $120,000 of it.
Q. Would you have any objection to say whom you paid cash to ?-A. I do not

know that it bas any bearing on the matter before this Committee. It was paid to
the shareholders of the Company.

Q. I repeat the question as to the name of any person to whom you paid cash
for this stock at par ?-A. Well, there was stock bought from Mr. Fee at par.

Q. How much ?-A. $80,000 of it.
Q. Was that paid for in cash at par ?-A. It was arranged for so far as he was

concerned.
Q. I would like to have that explained ?-A. Well, I raised the money and he

was credited with it.
Q. When did that transaction take place ?-A. The transfer book will show.
Q. Did you pay the cash to him ?-A. Certainly, we assumed certain liabilities

he had and paid him.
Q. Then it was not a payment in cash ?-A. Well, if you owed the bank and

your liability to the bank was assumed would that not be paying you ?
Mr. GREENSHIELDS.



61 Victoria. Appendix (No. 1.) A. 1898

Q. Then you assumed liability for the amount of $80,000 ?-A. No, he did not
owe $80,000. We paid his liability and the balance he got.

Q. How much did you pay ?-A. I said $80,000.
Q. I understood you to say that you paid him the $80,000 ?-A. No, I said that

we assumed $80,000 ; a portion of it was an assumption of his liability.
Q. How much ?-A. About $40,000.
Q. I do not quite understand it. You purchased $80,000 of stock from Mr.

Fee, and you paid for that partly by an assumption of liabilities and partly by
cash-is that right ?-A. Yes.

Q. How much did you pay by an assumption of liability ?-A. $30,000, or
$40,000.

Q. And the balance was paid in cash ?-A. I don't know if all the balance was
paid in cash. I think we owe him a portion of it yet. He got a portion in cash
and he is absolutely disinterested.

Q. How much of it was paid in cash ?
MR. CARROLL :-I think we are going a little too far.

By M1fr. Borden :

Q. Could you say what portion of it was paid in cash ?-A. I could not exactly
at the moment ; I could get the figures if you want it.

Q. You could not say ?-A. No.
Q. That accounts for $80,000 ; the remaining $150,000 which you own was

acquired at what price ?-A. Well now, I am not going into the details of it; suffice
for me to say that every share of that stock I or my associates got in this railway
we have paid for at one price or the other and no one has any interest in it
except as I have explained here.

Q. I was merely asking for information as to the remaining $150,000 ?-A. I
think you might as well ask me what I paid for my groceries as what I paid for
stock, so far as this investigation is concerned.

Q. Well, you gave me information as to some of the stock that was bought at
par ; could you not give me information about the rest of it ?-A. Well, 1 do not
think so.

Q. Then we are not to have any information about the other $150,000 of stock ?
The CHAIRMAN :-He declires to answer.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. As I understand you to say the transfer books will show in every instance
the persons from whon your stock was acquired?-A. Yes.

Q. As for these persons you do not care to say who they were ?-A. I do not
object, but the transfer book is here.

Q. Now, Mr. Greenshields, would you be good enough to tell me who the other
proprietors of stock in tiis railway are at the present time ?-A. I think I said when
last befere the Committee they were William Farwell, William Mitchell and mysélf;
that we had in our names the entire capital stock of the Company, but of that entire
capital stock $50,000 of it belongs to some of Mr. Mitchell's relatives. I won't be
sure of the exact amount but it is in that vicinity.

Q. So far as the balance of the $230,000 you hold is concerned is that all held
in your own right ?-A. No. That $230,000 of stock and what Mr. Mitchell holds
and the stock Mr. Farwell holdsis held on joint account for us all,with the exception
of the odd $50,000 that belongs to M.r. Mitchell's brother and some relatives. In
other words $350,000 is held by three of us.

Q. And are you interested in equal proportions ?-A. Yes. May be there is
$10,000 more to Mr. Mitchell's credit, but practically it is in equal proportions.

Q. Do yon remember to what extent you were interested in 1894; were you
interested in the same way as now ?-A. No.

Q. Your interest was somewhat less at that time ?-A. Yes.
Q. I think you held $50,000 at one time in 1894 ?-A. Yes.

Mir. GREENSHIEL Ds.
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Q. Was a gentleman by the name of C. Church interested at that time ?-A.
Yes, sir.

Q. And G. H. Church ?-A. Well yes, [ think that is Charles Church's son.
Q. And J. E. Church ?-A. Well, now, I cannot tell you. Church was president

then and held, to my recollection, $30,000 of stock; whether ail in his name or a
portion in his son's name I do not know.

Q. G. H. Church and J. E. Church were probably sons ?-A. Yes, I have no
doubt.

Q. Mr. Mitchell was interested then ?-A. Yes.
Q. In the same measure?-A. Yes, exactly.
Q. And James Mitchell ?-A. Well, he is the one interested in the $50,000 as a

relative of William Mitchell.
Q. The same I presume was true of David Mitchell ?-A. The same.
Q. Thomas E. Fee was interested ?-A. Yes.
Q. And Samuel Newton ?-A. Yes.
Q. And W. Watts?-A. Yes.
Q. And William Farewell?-A. He was.
Q. Were any others interested in 1894 besides these'?-A. I could not tell you.
Q. You don't remember ?-A. No; the stock ledger will show that.
Q. Do you remember in 1894 executing a power of attorney or so called option

for the sale of this road, about the 16th July, 1894?-A. Have you a copy of it
here ?

Q. I have.-A. Do you intend to file this, Mr. Borden?
Q. I do propose to file it.-A. AIl right, I want to have it marked so that I cau

identify it.
Q. Will you read it ?-A. I will certainly. It is as follows:

(EXHIBIT No. 20.)

For and in consideration of the sum of one dollar to each of us in hand paid by
William Farwell of Sherbrooke, P.Q.:-

We, and each of us hereby give to said William Farwell, a thirty days' option in
which he may pay to us the round sui of $500,000 for which sum if paid within 30
days we agree to sell, transfer and deliver to him or his assigns the Drummond
County Railway both main line. branches, sidings, rights of way, stations, other
buildings, rolling stock, tools, franchises, charters, bonuses, subsidies, and appurte-
nances whatsoever exactly as the whole property stands and is.

We undertake to transfer to him the whole capital stock, both issued and un-
issued, also the whole of the bonds, both issued and unissued, after cancellation, and
to deliver the property to him free from ail debts, liens, mortgages, and encum-
brances whatsoever, and to defend him from ail claims that may thereafter be pre-
ferred arising prior to the transfer.

We declare that the right of way has been paid for and deeded to the company
on the whole line from Ste. Rosalie to Ball's Wharf and from St. Leonard as far as
the track is laid towards Chaudière Junction, with the exception of certain small
pieces which we undertake to pay for and cause to be deeded to the company, the
whole for and in consideration of the sum of five hundred thousand dollars.

The total capital stock authorized is sixty-five hundred (6,500) shares of one
hundred dollars each.

The total capital stock issued and delivered by the company is four thousand
(4,000) shares of one hundred dollars each.

The total bond issue authorized is one million ($1,000,000) dollars and the bonds
issued and outstanding amount to one million dollars which is held by the Eastern
Townships Bank as security for an advance ofone hundred and seventy-five thousand
dollars ($175,000) or thereabouts.
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The right of way which we will transfer is 66 feet over the whole road with the
exception of certain sections which is only 40 feet, say in ail about two miles, and
also a portion of the right of way is 99 feet, say from six to eight miles.

Witness our hands in the city of Montreal, this 16th day of July, A.D. 1894.

Shares.

(Signed) C. CHURCH . . . . . . ........................... 601
(. H. CHURCH, per C. C ........... 100
J. E. CHURCH, per C. C............... ...... 100
WILLIAM MITCHELL ,........ ............... 800
JAMES MITCHELL......... ............ 92
DAVID MITCHELL ............................ 92
THOMAS D. FEE ...... ........... 800
J. N. GREENSIIELDS.. - ................. 500
SAMUEL REWTON........ ............... 93
W. WATTS..................... ....... 322
WILLIAM FARwELL. .................. 500

Witness 4,000
J. G. GLEN.

I hereby assign and transfer ail my rights to above option of purchase of Drum-
mond County Railway, etc., to Hugh Ryan, Contractor, Toronto, Ont.

(Signed) WM. FARWELL.
Witness:

WILLIAM MITCHELL.

This is only a copy. Mr. Farwell called a meeting of the shareholders of the
Drummond County Railway Company about the time that this document was
signed. Hie said to us that be was then negotiating or was about to open negotia-
tions through Mr. Hugh Ryan, with the Conservative Government for the purchase
of the Drummond County Railway and that the negotiations were conducted on the
basis of the leasing of the road for $100,000 per annum to be completed through to
Chaudière or the payment to the company after completion at the rate of $17,500
a mile. He said: "I must have a complete assignment of the stock of the road so
that it will be entirely controlled by me. This assignment I propose to give to Mr.
Rlugh Ryan who is to conduct the negotiations." A subsequent agreement vas
made by which if the road was leased for $100,000 rental or sold for $17,500 a mile
after it was completed through to Chaudière, the cost of the completion was to be
deducted out of the difference between $500,000 and the price received and the total
amount remaining was to be divided into three portions, one portion to go to Mr.
Farwell and two-thirds of the difference to Mr. Hugh Ryan and his friends, and the
one third going to Mr. Farwell was to be added to the $500,000 which was to re-
present the real purchase price of the road to the shareholders.

By the Chairman:

Q. Was that agreement drawn concurrently with the option ?-A. Yes,
about the same time.

By Mr. Borden.:
Q. Was that agreement in writing ?-A. Yes, this agreement is in writing

with Mu. Farwell. Mr. Farwell has copies on the lines which I have just indicated.
In other words if the arrangement had been carried through on the basis of $500,-
000 and of the division as I have said the shareholders of the Drummond County
Railway would have received infinitely more for the. road than they now propose to
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receive under the present arrangement with this Government, because the road was
not completed through to Moose Park in 1894. We had only begun the construction
and there were some 28 miles of the road to Moose Park and 42 beyond that making
about 70 miles more to complete at the time the option was given than there is
now.

Q. The document which you have stated was drawn concurrently with thia
is with Mr. Farwell?-A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do I understand that the shareholders were to receive nothing more than
$500,000 ?-A. Certainly, the shareholders were to receive the difference. For
instance to illustrate if the road were sold on a cash basis for $2,500,000 which it
would bring if you calculate it at $17,500 per mile, out of that $2,500,000 was to be
deducted the cost of the construction to complete the road through to Chaudière;
and they were to get subsidies from the Conservative Government at Ottawa on the
road to Chaudière which were to be added to the purchase price. From that
was to be deducted the cost of construction and the difference divided into three
pieces, one-third to go to the shareholders in addition to the purchase price of
$500,000.

By the Chairman:

Q. And the other two-thirds ?-A. Mr. lHugh Ryan was to get them.
Q. They were to go into the fand ?-A. I do not know where they were to go.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. How many miles of the road had been completed at this time ?-A. We had
then I think only built to St. Leonard. Towards the end ofJuly we had begun the
extension of the road to Moose Park, but there could have been but very little built
at the time this option was given.

Q. Could you give a general idea as to how many miles had been built on the
16th July, 1894 ?-A. I could not. I think the construction of the 28 miles was
begun in the spring of 1894.

Q. Twenty-eight miles from where?-A. From Moose Park up.
Q. Had the road been constructed to Moose Park at that time ?-A. No, sir,

Moose Park was the lower end of the road and the 28 miles, I think, ran from St.
Leonard, down.

Q. How was the road commenced from Drummondville to St. Leonard and then
to Nicolet?-A. Yes.

Q. Which portion was built next?-A. The St. Hyacinthe end was built next
towards Ste. Rosalie.

Q. From Drummondville towards Ste. Rosalie ?-A. Yes.
Q. Had the road from Ste. Rosalie to St. Leonard and thence to Nicolet been

completed ?-A. I think it had, I am not sure about one 28 miles. Mr. Newton is
here and perhaps he can say. Under the construction of 1894 tbe road was built
from Ste. Rosalie to Drummondville and from St. Leonard to Nicolet and we began
the construction in 1894 of the additional 28 miles to Moose Park. At the time this
document was written we had commenced the construction of the 28 miles.

Q. Do you know how much of the 28 miles had been constructed ?-A. No, I
could not tell you; they may have been working all over the line.

Q. Was this $500,000 intended to represent the road as completed to any par-
ticular place ?-A. It was intended to represent the road, plus the third which we
would get out of the deal when completed, as it would exist at the end of the thirty
days for which the contract was made.

Q. Between 1894 and 1897, did you have any negotiations for the sale of the
road ?-A. Oh yes; Mr. Farwell continued the negotiations with the Government
up to the spring of 1896.

Q. Did you have any other negotiations with any other person or corporation
other than the Government ?-A. Not that I know of.

Mr. GREENSHIELDS.
33

1-3



61 Victoria. Appendix (No. 1.) A. 1898

Q. There was no option given to any other railway company ?-A. Not in 1894.
We had negotiations with the Grand Trunk Railway Company, but that was
previous to 1894.

Q. Were those negotiations in writing or oral ?-A. I think they were in
writing.

Q. What part of the road was completed then ?-A. The Nicolet and Drum-
mondville, I think.

Q. The negotiations with the Grand Trunk were not carried through ?-A. No.
Q. You say they were in writing?-A. Yes.
Q. Are they in your possession or that of the secretary of the company, or are

they in existence ?-A. I do not know. I think the Grand Trunk Company probably
have a copy of the arrangement. I do not think that we have it. I will look and see.

Q. I suppose you do not remember the purport of them ?-A. 1 could give
them briefly. I am not sure about the figures. The arrangement with the Grand
Trunk Railway Company was that we would lease the road to the Grand Trunk,
they to operate the road; and they guaranteed the interest on the first mortgage
bonds to the extent of four or five hundred thousand dollars. They then gave us a
certain percentage of the gross earnings of the road to be applied towards the pay-
ment of interest on second mortgage bonds, and I think the total bond issue was to
be $1,000,000, but I am not sure about that, for this was a number of years ago,
previous to 1893, and I have riot seen the contract since; I am not sure, but the
first mortgage bonds were considered by us to be perfectly good and as to the
second mortgage bonds the gross revenues were pledged towards the payment of
them and we considered them worth a certain amount of money.

Q. Did you consider the Grand Trunk offer ?-A. We not only considered it,
but an agreement signed by Mr. Sergeant for the Grand Trunk Railway Company
and by our company was executed and sent over to the London Board for ratifica-
tion, butjust at that time Sir Henry Tyler had bis difficulties with the board and
the thing did not go through, but it was actually completed and signed by the
board here.

Q. If it went as far as that you must have documents ?-A. I am sure, and if
not then the Grand Trunk people will have them.

Q. Your bonded debt at the present time is how much ?-A. $1,000,000.
Q. Held by whom ?-A. By the Eastern Townships Bank as security for sums

advanced to us.
Q. For what amount ?-A. I decline to say, because I do not think that it is of

any interest to the public to know what our private company's relations with the
bank or with any other creditor because we owe other people.

Q. Yop- would have no objection to stating the floating debt of the company
outside of the bonded debt ?-A. The returns would show that, I suppose. I do
not know what the last return was. The floatingdebt is not outside the bonded debt.

Q. The bonds are hypothecated to secure that ?-A. Yes.
Q. The floating debt would include the amount due to the bank ?-A. In the

returns to the Government it includes the entire debt of the road.
Q. The bonds are pledged to secure the floating debt? A. There is only one

bond.
Q. Secured by a mortgage on the undertaking, I suppose ?-A. Exactly.
Q. Besides the negotiations for the sale or lease of the Drummond County

Railway to the Grand Trunk Company had you negotiations at any time with any
other railway company or person for the sale ot the road ?-A. Oh well, we had
negotiations with several people who, I think, called and asked us about buying
the road.

Q. Did you give any powers of attorney or options to any other person or
corporation ?-A. Not that I recollect at the moment ; we may have.

Q. Do you remember who were the persons or corporations with whom you
had these negotiations ?-A. Well, the United Counties Railway people. Mr.
Maze was over in the old country and cabled to me about selling the road.

Mr. GREENSHIELDS.
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Q. What date was that ?-A. I am not sure. It was before the extension.
Q. Did you give him any written option ?-A. [ do not know ; I exchanged

cables with him. H1e wanted to bring about an amalgamation of the United
Counties and the Drummond County Roads and float some bonds in England, and
he wanted to know at what price we would let our road go in.

Q. Did you state any price ?-A. I think I said that if we entered into an
amalgamation of'the two roads it would only be on a cash basis. I think we after-
wards cabled him that for $700,000 we would transfer the road to him.

Q. What year was that in ?-A. I think in 1893; at ail events it was before we
had begun these 28 miles of construction. The road is completed from Ste. Rosalie
to Nicolet, and, it was not in the condition it was in now. We had spent on con-
struction a considerable amount of money, and he was to pay the amount we had
expended.

Q. Could you produce copies of the cables ?-A. I do not think I could.
Q. Where does Mr. Maze reside ?-A. In Montreal.
Q. Do you not keep letter books ?-A. if I have the cables I will look them up.
Q. I suppose you have no objection ?-A. Not the slightest in the world.
Q. You will look them up and let us have them ?-A. Yes.
Q. What was the date ?-A. It was in 1893 or 1894.
Q. You do not renember what season of the year it was ?-A. No.
Q. Besides these particular transactions do you remember any other ?-A. No.
Q. Do you say there was no other ?-A. So far as I know there was no other.
Q. Do you say there was no other ? -A. So far as I know there was no other.
Q. Up to the-30th June, 1894, do you know the actual cost of the road ?-A. I

do not; the books will show exactly. The accounts are made up to the 30th June
in each year and you will get it right.

Q. Was this option that has been put in evidence extended ?-A. Yes.
Q. For what period in al ?-A. It was extended right up to 1896 from time to

time There may have been modifications of it afterwards.
Q. Was it extended in writing ?-A. I think so.
Q. Have you copies of the extension of the option ?-A. Mr. Farwell will have

them. Mr. Farwell was conducting entirely the negotiations and I don't know what
he did, who he saw or what was donc, except in the outline I have-given you.

By AMr. Powell:

Q. Just a question as a matter of explanation. The total stock was 6,500
shares?-A. No, the total issue was 6,500 shares, but 2,500 had never been taken
up and was cancelled.

Q. I see the authorized issue is $400,000 ?-A. Yes; at the inception the author-
ized issue was 6,500 shares, 2,500 not being subscribed and not having been taken
up were cancelled, so that the total issue was only $400,000.

Q. Then, instead of 400 shares it is 4,000 ? Well, I meant that; it was a slip of
the tongue to say 400.

Q. Did you participate in making returns in any way to the Government ?-A.
I have nothing to do with them.

Q. I see by the returns for 1894 that up to June, 1894, the total mileage is
given at 82-81 miles, and the total mileage at the end of the 30th June following
was 90 miles. So, instead of there being 28 miles to construct, if the returns were
correct, there were only seven ?-A. If the returns are correct, yes. They had
completed then a certain portion from St. Leonard on, but I didn't go over the
road. You can get that exactly from the books.

Q. The returns were given under oath ?-A. I suppose so.
Q. And on the 30th of June there were only seven miles to complete ?-A. I

suppose so. Have you the return there ?
Q. Yes, I have. fere it is if you would like to look at it.-A. Yes, but I would

like to see when the returns were put in. That return might have been put in in
July, August or September, after the road was completed. For instance, this vear
Our returns were put in late.
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Q. That is dated the 30th of June ?-A. That is an extract from our return. But
if put in in September, after the road is completed, it would show the full mileage.

By Mr. Borden:
Q. But would not the return relate to the year ending June 30th ?-A. I could

answer that better if we had the return before us, as I didn't make it.
Q. What was the latest date on which you acquired a transfer of any stock for

yourself?-A. I could verify that in two minutes, the transfer book is here. It
was last spring, since the 1st of January.

Q. Since the 1st of January when?-A. Since the 1st January, 1897. But
remember, I had an option on that stock for a considerable time before that.

Q. But this stock you have acquired since January lst was stock bought at
par ?-A. Yes.

Q. When you state you paid par you state that as the outside limit ?-,A. Well
I bought stock as cheap as i could.

Q. You bought none above par ?-A. I do not know.
Q. You would not be such a fool as that?-A. Well I cannot say. A man

might want to buy stock to get a controlling interest or for some other purpobe.

By Hon. Mr. Blair :
Q. Mr. Chairman, I would ask the privilege of putting a few questions to the

witness. Mr. Greenshields, you have said that these negotiations under the option
referred to, or the renewal of it, continued until the spring of 1896 ?-A. Yes, sir.

Q. Can you recall, or do you know, whether any other person was interme-
diary between the Government and the company except Mr. Farwell ?-A. I think
Mr. Rufus Pope was,

Q. When did Mr. Pope come into the business ?-A. Well now Mr. Blair, I
cannot tell you that, because Mr. Farwell is the principal one that we had to deal
with.

Q. Well how long did Mr. -Hugh Ryan continue 'to be the go-between ?-A. I
think Mr. Ryan continued to be go-between the Government and company till
some time in th.e spring of 1896. fHe continued from time to time, but I may
say this, Mr. Blair, that at no time was this road ever offered for sale to the Govern-
ment at $500.000 or anything like it.

Q. There was always the collateral understanding about the division of the
difference between the figure obtained and this sum ?-A. Certainly.

Q. You can offer us an explanation why nominally $500,000 was put in?-A.
Understand that it was Mr. Farwell who came to us and said: " I have got to show
something that I have absolute control of this road, and for that purpose I must
have the signature of all the shareholders so that no question can be asked beyond
me, " and we considered that there was no question that it would facilitate the divi-
sion of the profits if a fixed price was agreed upon ?

Q. Between Mr. Farwell and the shareholders?-A. le said it was absolutely
necessary to have a fixed price as a basis in the event of a sale.

Q. Then the $500,000 was first to come out of the profits of the sale to the
Government ?-A. The arrangement was this, that if the road was sold by lease to
the government and the lease realized on, that to that should be added-

Q. To what ?-A. To the price of sale.
Q. That is the $500,000 ?-A. The net price at which the road was sold to the

Goverrnment. Suppose it was sold for $2,500,000, then to that was to be added the
subsidies that would be received on the extension of the line and from that was to
be deducted the cost of the construction of the line to Chaudière, and the difference
between that and $500,000, the ainount of this option, was to be divided in thirds,
one-third to go to Mr. Farwell to be added to the 6500,000 and divided among the
shareholders.

Q. And the balance ?-A. Well, I suppose Hugh Ryan was to get it.
Mr». GREENSHIELDs.
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Q. Now do I understand you to say, Mr. Greensbields, that the resuit, if the
negotiations had closed with the government, would have been financially a better
one for the Drummond County Railway than the arrangements you have made with
the Government to-day ?-A. Undoubtedly it would have been.
'icQ. Now do you recollect was there anything in the option or understanding
between the Government or whoever was representing them, Mr. Rvan or Mr. Pope,
and Mr. Farwell with regard to the option dropping in the event of the election
going against the Conservative party ? Do you recail anything ?--A. Well, I think
that they said that in that event-at the time of the last option in the spring of
1896, I don't remember the date, it was said that they should surrender the option
not later than the 1st of September following. But they must have a copy of that.

Q. I would like to ask you whether there was anything whieh you recollect in
writing ?-A. I think there was a provision in the option that in the event of the
Conservative party being defeated at the polis they would surrender the option.

By Mr. Morrison

Q. Is the Mr. Rufus Pope you mentioned the member of Parliament ?-A. Yes.
Q. Who is Hngh Ryan ?-A. He is a contractor in Toronto, I believe.
Q. Do you know anything about his political leanings ? Is hea Conservative ?

-A. I do not know as a matter of fact ; I think he is a Conservative but Mr.
Haggart will probably know.

By -Mr. Borden:
Q. In view of the cross-examination which Mr. Blair has made I would like to

know whether you have made any statements of these facts to Mr. Blair or any one
else before coming here ?-A. I do not think i made any statements. I think Mr.
Blair may have seen Mr. Farwell about the thing.

Q. You made no statement ?-A. No. You see I was not a party to this
negotiation at al]. I saw these conditions of course at the time I signed them. I
know what Mr. Farwell told me; I do not know whether he everhad personallyany
negotiations with the Government except what he says.

Q. In regard to this dropping of the proposal as Mr. Blairsuggested ?-A. That
is in the option itself.

Q. In regard to the Conservative party being defeated, is that in the option ?-
A. Yes, in the copies of this one which Mr. Farwell has.

Q. And which you are going to produce ?-A. I am not going to produce any-
thing; you may have him here and examine him.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. Have you no copy of it ?-A. I have no copy of it, but Mr. Farwell should
have a copy of it.

By 31r. Borden:
Q. Did you have any personial negotiations under it ?-A. No.
Q. With Mr. Ryan ?-A. I never saw him about it. Anything I know is what

was stated and the representations made to us at the lime we signed this option.
We had confidence in Mr. Farwell; we knew that he would carry ont what be said
and knew that a one-third interest of the three-thirds would go to the shareholders
to supplement the purchase price.

Q. Were the facts outside of the written option so communicated by Mi. Far-
well ?-A. Yes.

Q. Did you have any personal negotiations with the Government ?-A. None
whatever. They would not have discussed this matter with me at the time.

Q. Am I correct in understanding that your negotiations were altogether with
Mr. Farwell ?-A. I had no negotiations with Mr. Farwell other than merely giving
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the option on the basis I have explained to you. Mr. Farwell was the person through
whom the company acted in the'r negotiations with the Government if they had any
negotiations with the Government.

By Mr. Baggart:

Q. Did Mr. Farwell state 10 you that he had any negotiations with the Govern-
ment or any member of the Government ?-A. Mr. Farwell said that he had trans-
ferred the option to Mr. Ryan and that any negotiations with the Governnent were
to be carried on through Mr. Ryan. I do not think _Mr. Farwell personally told me
that he had seen any members of the Government. That is my recollection of it at
the time.

By Mr. McIsaac:

Q. What is Mr. Farwell's politics ?-A. Mi. Farwell is the organizer of the
Conservative party in the Eastern Townships.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. You are a Liberal, Mr. Greenshields ?-A. I have been all my life.
Q. And a pretty warm worker?-A. I have done what little I could for the

good old party, you know.
Q. Do you think that it is oniy a little that you have been able to accomplish ?

-A. My modesty would probably prevent me from putting any other construction
on it.

Q. Coming down a little further, as L understand, you made the purchase of La
Patrie newspaper for Mr. Tarte or for Mr. Tarte's sons ?-A. I did not say so.

Q. Would you say for whom you made it ?-A. I did not make it for anybody.
Q. For whom were you acting as solicitor ?-A. For Mr. Tarte's sons and for

Mr. Tarte. I had been acting for him in other cases.
Q. Whom do you understand were the purchasers of La Patrie ?-A. Mr.

Tarte's sons.
Q. You gave your own cheque, I think you said ?-A. Yes.
Q. On what bank ?-A. I stated it there, the Bank of' Commerce.
Q. The transaction was closed that afternoon ?-A. Yes.
Q. You were covered for part of it the same day ?-A. Yes.
Q. By $5,000 received from Mr. Tarte ?-A. Yes.
Q. Was that received in cash ?-A. I think it was.
Q. Have you any doubt about that?-A. I have no doubt about that,
Q. I do not not want to inquire into your persona! affairs but were you in funds

in the Bank of Commerce to that amount at that time ?--A. No. I was not; that
is why I told you that I gave my cheque. I said to Mr. Tarte " You must cover
this cheque before it goes through the clearing house in the morning."

Q. Is the Bank of Commerce your regular bank ?-A. I have several, but that
is one.

Q. You were covered for the balance of the amount next day ?-A. I was covered
for the balance of the amount before the cheque went through the clearing house
at twelve o'clock the next morning. I was covered by cash. I got a cheque on the
Hochelaga Bank foi' $10,000 drawn by Le Cultivateur a paper run by Mr. Tarte's
sons and $5,000 in bills. I said " on the Hochelaga Bank " but Mi. Tarte corrects
me and says the Banque Nationale. My impression was that the cheque was on the
-Hochelaga Bank.

Q. Next day you were cover ed as to the balance of $15,000 by $5,000 in bills
and the cheque of Le Cultivateur-A. Yes of the newspaper-I think so.

Q. Was the cheque on the Banque Nationale or the Banque de Hochelaga ?-All
said the Hochelaga Bank; I think is was the Hochelaga Bank that it was on, but
Mr. Tarte says it was on the Banque Nationale. Perhaps it was; I do not remember.
It is sufficient for me to know tbat I was covered anyway.
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Q. That is all you had to do with the payment of the price of that newspaper ?-
A. That is all.

Q. I want to read this statement, Mr. Greenshields:-" Mr. Greenshields had a
cheque in his hand, not of his own money, but of the money of the party and ho
paid that cheque." Is thata correct statementof this transaction ?-A. Whose state-
ment is that ?

Q. That is Mr. Tarte's statement?-A. I suppose what Mr. Tarte intended to
say was that I was ont of funds to pay for the paper. I had not to pay for the
purchase of the paper.

Q. I direct your attention to it again : I understand this to mean that you
had at that time money of the Liberal party to the extent of $20,000. Do you
understand that?-A. Knowing the transaction as I know it, I could not put any
sncb construction upon it because the evident dominant idea in Mr. Tarte's mind
at the time he made that statement to Parliament was that this money was not
supplied by me. Whether he gave me the money an hour before I drew the choque
or whether he or his sons gave it to me two or three hours after I had given my
choque it is so far as he is concerned of little importance, because the fLacts remains that
I was put in possession offunds with which to pay the cheque and it seems to me that
this is the neaning which the speaker had in his mind vhen he made that statement.

Q. To any person not familiar with the facts as you are, would not Mr. Tarte's
statement bear the meaning I have suggested ?-A. I am not here to give opinions;
you cannot get three men to read the Bible and put the same interpretation on it.

Q. Had you any money of the Liberal party in your hands at that time ?-A.
Well, I am not going to tell you that.

Q. You say that you had not this money in the bank at the time ?-A. You
asked me if 1 had S20,000 of my own money in the Bank of Commerce at that time
and you put the question in such a nice way that I told you that I had not $20,000
of my own money.

Q. Did you use any of the party's money to make this purchase ?-A. You
cannot get an answer in that indirect way, because I told you I did not have 820,000
of my own money at the time.

Q. Was the purchase price of this newspaper paid out of the money of the
party in your hands or not ?-A. The purchase price was paid in the way I have
indicated. I bave told you that at the time of giving the cheque, at the moment of
giving the cheque, I had not the money to pay it and that it was covered by money
given to me subsequently, and consequently it could not be paid out of the money of
the Liberal party.

Q. That means that it was not paid by the Liberal party?-A. It means that I
was put in funds to pay it. I did not ask where the money came from. Mr. Tarte
is better able to answer where the money came from.

Q. Did you supply any portion of the cheque given to cover yourself-did any
money pass out of your hands for that purpose ?-A. Not a cent.

Q. To your knowledge did any money of the Liberal party go towards the
purehase of that paper ?-A. I do not know. I got the money in the way I told
you. They will be able to tell you where they got it if they want to.

Q. Were you acting for the party or for Mr. Tarte's sons at the time ?-A. I
never yet received a retainer from the Liberal party and was acting ut that time for
Mr. Tarte's sons.

Q. Thon it is not correct that you were acting as solicitor for the Liberal
party?-A. I was the lawyer for Mir. Tarte and Mr. Tarte's sons.

Q. They are a part ofit ?-A. They are an element in it, and a considerable
element, the same as you are in the Conservative party.

Q. In the purchase of that paper' did you understand that Mr. Tarte's sons were
purchasing for thenselves or for the party ?-A. I understood nothing.

Q. Have you any idea ?-A. I did not ask any questions.
Q. Was it suggested to you that the purchase was for the Liberal party and

not for Mr. Tarte's sons ?-A. Well. the transaction was put through very quickly
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and we knew the paper would be Liberal. I knew the paper was not purchased to
promote the interest of the Conservative party.

Q. What date did this purchase take place ?-A. In the early part of February,
1897.

Q. At wbat time did you commence to negotiate for the puirchase of the
Drummond County Railway ? A. Some time after Mr. Blair got back from the coast;
the first interview may have been along the first week, in January, 1897.

Q. On what date were the negotiations completed ?-A. Not until March. The
contract was made in May. The serious negotiations looking to the sale of the
Drummond County Railway to the Gevernment were not had until along in March.
We had a talk in a general way, but there was nothing of a definite character until
March and the contrct was not signed until May.

Q. The first interview was in January ?-A. Yes, but only in a general way.
Q. Did the negotiations continue through February ?-A. I may have seen Mr.

Blair in February. I saw him very often.
Q. About this matter ?-A. Certainly. The Order in Council bears date, I

think, 13th March, I am not sure, but the matter was not closed until May.
Q. The general piniciple was first arrived at ?-A. Merely the general prin-

ciple.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. The matter was sufficiently far advanced to be announced in the Governor
General's speech ?-A. Yes.

Q. Which is something more than a shadow ?-A. I looked at it as more than
a sbadow, but we cannot always tell what will happen.

Q. The speech from the throne referrcd to the negotiations as completed ?-
A. The speech will speak for itself.

Q. That is your recollection ?-A. Well, I think it said the negotiations were
completed. I did not prepare the speech, and I am not responsible for what
was in it.

By Mr. liaggart:

Q. Had you any negotiations with the C.P.R. ?-A. I never saw them or dis-
cussed it with them. I do not think we ever had negotiations with the C.P.R.

Q. Did you ever give a power of attorney or an option, or was there one to
your knowledge to Rufus Pope with reference to the sale of the road ?-A. Well, I
do not know. If so he and Mr. Farwell were working together in it and whether
there was one or not, I do iot know.

Q. If there was one, it would be for the same sum ?-A. I could not tell you.

By Mr. Carroll:

Q. The option produced tbis morning was the result of Mi. Farwell's represent-
ations to you and to the other shareholders ?-A. Exactly.

Q. And explained to you ?-A. As I have explained them exactly.

By the Chairman:
Q. Was the other agreement that you referred to respecting the appro-

priation <f whatever purchase money might be obtained from the Government
made at the time this agrcement was made or subsequently ?-A. I think probably
subsequently, but I am not sure. I think it would be made between Mr. Farwell
and the others. We were not parties to it. We took Mr. Farwell's statement to us
that he was making arrangements by which one-third of the profits was to be added
to the price.

Q. So this assignment of the stock was made to him ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then there was an agreement between Mr. Farwell and Mr. Ryan ?-A. Yes.
Mr. GREENSHIELDS.
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Q. Mr. Farwell acting of course for the stockholders ?-A. Acting for the
shareholders.

By Mr. Haggart:
Q. Why did not the stockholders embody that in the agreement without having

the other agreement ? Why not add so much to the price ?.-A. I think Mr. Far-
well will be far better able to answer that question.

Q. Don't you think that in the interests of the shareholders it would have been
the better plan ?-A. I will tell you the reason why we did that. It was because
Mr.Farwoll wanted to have absolite control of the road to make such arrangements as
he thought fit and have no inquiries as to the exact nature of them, and we took his
word that ho would pay over to us one-third of any profit made, but lie did not
want Mr. Mitchell or myself to have any particular knowledge of the exact way the
transaction was carried out.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Of this one-third he was trustee for all the shareholders?--A. Certainly.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. With regard to the operating of the road thesecretary can give us details ?-
A. Yes, ho can give you details of the cost, net earnings, and construction of the
road.

Q. I supiose the option of June, 1896, was practically a renewal of the old
one?-A. Well, the details may have been varied some, but I haven't it before me.
These options were received from time to time, and Mr. Farwell continued his
negotiations.

Q. Did all the shareholders sign the list ?-A. I don't know, but 1 think so.

The witness was discharged.

Mr. SAMUEL NEWTON. being sworn, gave evidence as follows:-

By Mr. Powell:
Q. You are secretary of this company ?-A. Yes.
Q. How long have you been secretary?-A. Since the inception of the road.
Q. What time was the company organized ?-A. In 1886.
Q. Can you tell us who were the original shareholders?-A. Charles Church,

Thomas E. Fee and William Mitchell.
Q. I suppose they would have others as dummies; not meaning that offensively ?

-A. No; they were the three original shareholders.
Q. Have you the stock book?-A. Yes, here it is.
Q. Please give us the shareholders on the lst July, 1894 ?-A. Charles Church,

William Mitchell, Thomas E. Fee, William Farwell, James N. Greenshields, William
J. Watts, Samuel Newton, David Mitchell, James Mitchell, G. H. Church, James
E. Church. That is all.

Q. Now, please give the shareholders on the 1st June, 1896 ?-A. They were
all the same.

Q. And on the 1st July, 1896 ?-A. All the same, sir.
Q. Now would you please tell us who disappeared from the lst July, 1896, from

the list of shareholders, and the dates?-A. Charles Church, on January 7, 1896.
Q. Now we must understand each other. I asked for those froin the 1st July,

1896 ?-A. Cha-les Church was not a shareholder on the 1st June and lst July; I
Mr. NEWTON.
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made a slight mistake there. But all the others were the same in June and July.
Thomas E. Fee disappears on May 19, 1897.

Q. Who did he sell out to?-A. J. N. Greenshields.
Q. How many shares ?-A. 800 shares.
Q. Next ?-A. W. J. Watts disappears on January 13, 1897.
Q. How many shares ?-A. 323.
Q. Sold to whom ?--A. J. N. Greenshields.
Q. Next ?-A. Samuel Newton, May 17, 1897, 124 shares. The next one is

David Mitchell on May 17, 1897, 124 shares. James Mitchell, May 17, 1897, 146
shares. G. H. Church, May 19, 50 shares; James E. Church-no he- disappears the
same time that bis father did, January 7, 1896.

Q. low many shares had he ?-A. He had 100 shares.
Q. How many had Charles Church, his father ?-A. 601 shares.
Q. When Samuel Newton assigned on May 17, 1897, to whom did he transfer?

-A. To J. N. Greenshields.
Q. To whom did David Mitchell assign?-A. To J. N. Greenshields.
Q. To whom did James Mitchell assign ?-A. To J. N. Greenshields.
Q. To whom did G. H. Church assign ?-A. To J. N. Greenshields.
Q. Mr. Blair thinks it important to ask about Charles Church, to whom did he

transfer ?-A. To Mr. William Mitchell.

By Hon. Mr. Blair:

Q. And the other Churches ?-A. George and James Church also.

By Mr. Powell:
Q. Are they the relatives that we were speaking about ?-A. They are sons of

Mir. Charles Church.
Q. Are they relatives of Mr. Mitchell? Mr. Mitchell held 500 shares in trust?

-A. No, sir; no connection.
Q. Have you these assignments and transfers here ?-A. Yes.
Q. You have given us the date of the register and not the transfer.-A. I have

given the date of the register and the transfer at the same time.

By -Mr. Borden:

Q. Where the dates are different do you distinguish them?-A. There is no
difference.,

By Mr. Powell:
Q. Please let us see the transfers ?-A. The transfers are all here.
Q. Where are the original certificates ?-A. The shareholders will have them.
Q. Yes, but when the transfer is made is the original certificate not surrendered

to the company ?-A. Yes.
Q. Have you the certificates surrended ?-A. I have not got them here.
Q. Have you an abstract of the contents of the certificates ?-A. No.
Q. There is no marginal memorandum ?-A. No these are merely the transfers.
Q Where are these transfers, Mr. Newton ?-A. They are at Drummondville.
Q. Have you got them bere ?-A. No, the surrendered certificates I have not

got.
Q. You are personally acquainted with these gentlemen whose names I have

mentioned as surrenderers of stock ?-A. Yes.
Q. How about David Mitchell, what is his political complexion, Conservative

or Liberal ?-A. I do not think he is a Conservative.
Q. How about Mr. Church ?-A. He is a Conservative.
Q. Give us the shareholders in the company at the present time ?-A. William

Mitchell, 1001 shares, William Farwell, 700 shares, J. N. Greenshields, 2,299 shares.

..)lr. .N EWTON.
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Q. This makes the $400,000 of stock ?-A. Yes.
Q. When was the construction of the road commenced ?-A. In 1886.
Q. When was the first catl made on stock, if any, before any construction was

undertaken. Have you the date ?-A. No, sir.
Q. Have you any books that will inform you of that ?-A. Yes, I have at Drum-

mondville.
Q. It is very important to have them here ?-A. I was not aware of that. I

could have brought them as well as not. I have the construction account. On
August 7, 1887, the first payment was made on stock.

Q. Have you it there ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Can you give us all the payments made on account of stock ?-A. Yes.
Q. Before you proceed to enumerate, were these calls paid in cash ?-A. In cash

and material.
Q. How much in cash ?-A. The first payment, there was $40,000 in cash,

before construction commenced.
Q. By whom was this paid ?-A. Charles Church on August 7,1886,81,340, and on

July 28, 1887, $11,993.34. William Mitchell paid on August 7, 1886, $1,340 and on
July 28, 1887, he paid $11,993.33. Thomas E. Fee on August 11, 1886, paid $1,340
and on July 28, 1887, $11,993.33.

Q. That was in cash too ?-A. Yes.
Q. What was the total cash paid in altogether on account of stock ?-A. $40,000;

the other was in material.
Q. Who had the contract for the construction of the road-was there a contract

let?-A. No contract was let. The company carried on the construction itself.
Q. Have you got a construction account there, Mr. Newton ?-A. The construc-

tion account and all work at that time was done by the firm of Church, Mitchell and
Fee and all went through their books and the construction account is among their
books, up to 1890.

Q. Let me understand that. Is there an account in your books with this firm
of Church & Fee ?-A. No sir, merely an account taken from the construction book
when these books were open in 1890.

Q. Then as a matter of fact the company bas no record of the cost of construc-
tion ?-A. We have it here taken from the construction book.

Q. But you have no details?-A. Not previous to 1890.
Q. Since 1890 you have full details ?-A. Yes.
Q. Give us the amount this firm passed to you as the amount of construction at

that time?--A. "The amount paid out to date for building the line and received
from the foregoing, as per construction book on June 30, 1890, was $729,314.52."

Q. And you never saw the details of that account ?-A. Yes, I kept them myself.
Q. You were the book-keeper for the firm at that time ?-A. Yes.
Q. And are still ?-A. No, not for the firm.
Q. We will go into the receipts from the Government and from the municipal

sources. What was th1e amount you received in subsidies from the Dominion ?-A.
$287,936.

Q. From the Dominion ?-A. Yes.
Q. What vas the amount ofactual cash received from Quebec ?-A. $347,480.54.
Q. Actually received ?-A. Yes.
Q. Part of that was in commutation of a land grant ?-A. A conversion, yes.
Q. How much was the cash subsidy in the first instance, and how much was in

lieu of the land grant of this $347,000 ?-A. We had $4,000 a mile from iDrummond-
ville to Nicolet ; the rest was a land subsidy.

Q. For the land subsidy you took how much in money ?-A. Part of it at 35
cents an acre.

Q. Do you retain any land yet ?-A. No.
Q. You say part, what about the balance ?-A. The balance vas at 17½ cents.
Mr. GREENSHIELDs.-The Provincial Government gave 17 cents an acre and

redeemed part at 35 cents. The session before last they passed a law redeeming the
other 5,000 acres at 17½ cents.

Mr. NEWTON.
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By Mr. Powell;

Q. Have you received subsidies from any other quarter than Dominion or local
Legislatures ?-A. Yes, we bave received some from municipal sources.

Q, What were they ?-A. One from the town of St. Leonard of $5,000, and one
from Nicolet of $10,000.

Q. That is $15,000 in ail ?-A. Yes.
Q. Give us the balance due on the Dominion and local legislatures when the

road was completed ?-A. The local subsily is all paid.
Q. How much is due froin the Dominion ?-A. Merely these 42 miles. The

rest was all paid up to Moose Park.
Q. You are sure about that ? Because I understood there was a balance on the

other portion ?-A. I am sure.
Q. The only claim you have was on the 42 miles ?-A. Yes.
Q. Into whose hands did these subsidies come ?-A. They were paid in cheques

I suppose to the officers of the company.
Q. But who received the subsidies ?-A. The subsidies were mostly paid to the

president.
Q. After being received by the President what was done with them ?-A. Put

in the bank.
Q. Who ultimately got it ?-A. The bank. It went to the credit of the Drum-

mond County Railway.
Q. To pay overdrafts ?-A. To pay overdrafts or be endorsed on notes of the

Drumnond County.
Q. At what bank was your business donc ?-A. At the Eastern Townships Bank.
Q. Have you a statement of your bank account ?-A. No, I have merely the

ledger account.
Q. Do you know anything about these options that were given ?-A. Nothing

more than merely signing them as a shareholder.
Q. Was there an option signed to any person after the lst of September, 1896?

-A. I cannot remember excepting Mr. Greenshields's only.
Q. Have you a copy of that as secretary ?-A. I think I have.
Q. Will you let us see it ?-A. I havn't it here.
Q. Where is it ?-A. In Drummondville.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. Do you mean he had an option for the purchase of all the stock ?-A. From
all the shareholders except Mr. Farwell and Mr. David Mitchell.

Q. The amount of stock footed up to $400,000 ?-A. Yes.
Q. And there were paid-up certificates for the whole of that ?-A. For $400,000.
Q. Are you sufficiently intimate with the affairs of the company to know what

the promotion expenses were ?-A. I do not know anything about that.
Q. Did you prepare the returns submitted to the Department of Railways and

Canais ?-A. I d id.
Q. Were they submitted under oath ?-A. Yes.
Q. Who attested them ?-A. I did and Mir. Mitchell before a magistrate, and

Mr. Church did during the time he was prosident.
Q. Have you a copy of these returns ?-A. No, they are all in the department.

By -How. Blair:

Q. Mr. Newton, just turn up your books showing the construction account. I
understand you tö say to us that you transcribed into this book the total cost of the
construction ofthe road up to that date, 30th June, 1890 ?-A. Yes.

Q. As made by you, you keeping the accounts up to that time?-A. Up to that
time.

Q. The total of these accounts were correctly transcribed ?-A. Yes.
Mr. NEWTON.
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Q. And you kept the accounts correctIy ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do these accounts show item by item what it actually cost in connection

with that road ?-A. They do.
Q. Who were these gentlemen who were building this road ?-A. Church,

Mitchell and Fee.
Q. Were they the owners of the stock ?-A. They were.
Q. Of the whole stock ?-A. Yes.
Q. Would it be to their interest or not that the cost of construction should

be kept down as close as possible ?-A. It was to their interest to make it as cheap
as possible, because they were the sole owners and it was for their sole use.

Q. Now, then, these items which youspeak of as making a total of $729,000 show
the outlays which have beeni made in conneotion with that road up to the 30th June,
1890 ?-A. Yes.

Q. Could you tell us from memory how many miles, and what portion, had
been built ?-A. From Drummondville to Ball's Wharf on the Nicolet Railway.

Q. How many miles ?-A. Thirty-five and a half or a little over.
Q. Does it take in the Nicolet branch ?-A. Yes, and passes on to a point on

the river side.
Q. There was one terminus on the river ?-A. At Ball's Wharf.
Q. And the other at Drummondville ?-A. Yes.
Q. Passing through St. Leonard ; how far in all ?-A. Thirty-five and a half

miles.
Q. Have you before you or in your possession a statement of what bridge work

alone there was on that une ?-A. It will be in that old construction book.
Q. You can state what rivers and bridges there were ?-A. Well, there was a

bridge over the St. Francis River at Drummondville, 402 feet long, on piers standing
26 feet high, solid masonry. Then on Rivière du Sault, there was a small girder
bridge. One on the south-east branch of the Nicolet, 1(4 feet long, on abutments
32 feet high. One at St. Leonard, 710 feet long and 79 feet from the bed of the
river.

Q. These are the main ones? Are there other smaller bridges ?-A. Not
between Drummondville and Nicolet.

Q. When did you commenco any additional construction ?-A. On the lst
July, 1890.

Q. What piece of the road did you commence?-A. From Drummondville
to Ste. Rosalie,

Q. How many miles ?-A. Twenty-seven and a half miles.
Q. How long were you constructing that?-A. We built it and had it running

in November.

By M1r. Borden:

Q. What year ?-A. 1890.

By Hon. Mr. Blair .-

Q. Can you tell us by reference to your books what that piece of road cost ?-
A. $268,965.16.

Q. Tell me how much it cost from St. Leonard to Moose Park. I am speaking
of the first cost of construction; I am not speaking of what has been paid but of
*earnings from time to time in bringing up the whole road ?-A. That is all included.

Q. What has been the total expenditure to date from Ste. Rosalie to Moose
Park including Nicolet ?-A. $1,263,436.19.

Q. What has been the expenditure made by the company up to date on the
extension from Moose Park to Chaudière?-A. I have only the entries made up to
December 31 and in these I have not got the voucher entries.

Q. What do you mean by that ?-A. I have been away for the last two months
taking stock of the railroad and one thing and another and the entries are not

Mr. NEWTON.
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made up to date. But to November 30 I can give you the amount. I gave it to
Mr. Greenshields.

Q. How soon can you have the information as to the whole outlay?-A. I think
we have all the vouchers now. We do not get them until about six weeks after-
wards from the Grand Trunk. They refer to car hire, engine hire and such things
as that.

Q. You have been using engmnes and cars of other roads in the construction ?-
A. Yes.

Q. These accounts are yet to come in?-A. Yes.
Q. Not including these unsettled accounte yet to come in what amonnt has been

expended ?-A. Approximately, $2,000,000.
Q. That is over the whole ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then on the whole road. as far as you have received your accounts which

are not yet all in, the compauy has expended $2,000,000 ?-A. When they will all
be in, $2,000,000 ; somewhere in the vicinity of that sum.

Q. Will the $2,000,000 include the $100,000 which the Governmpent required
the company to expend to bring the road up to standard ?-A. No, sir.

Q. Then the $2,000,000 is exclusive of the $100,000 expenditure yet to be made
under contract with the Government ?-A. I should think it would be about that.

Q. You cai get an accurate statement ?-A. Yes sir, in a few days.
Q. With all the vouchers?-A. Yes.
Q. Now you are prepared with vouchers to show the whole outlay since 30th

June, 1894, as a railway?-A. Yes, sir. They were not in voucher form before
J893. Sirice then we have the voucher form, the system of book-keeping having
been changed.

Q. You have the items and can personally verify them ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. And can you verify the correctness of the items included in the $729,000 ?-

A. Yes.
Q. That is up to the 30th June, 1890 ?-A. Yes.
Q. Could you say approximately, may be a little more or less, that $2,000,000

will represent the outlay of this conpany on this line outside the $100,000 the
Government requires to be expended ?-A. Somewhere about $2,000,000, more or less.

By Mr. Haggart:
Q. What is the total amount of the indebtedness of the company to the Eastern

Townships Bank ?
MIr. GREENSIIIELDS objected.
iM1r. BLAi.-I have already said, and the company does not object, that they

will show the bank account for your personal inspection.
Mr. HAGGART.-There can be no objection to stating the total amount of the

indebtedness of the company-what is that ?-A. About $640,000.

By Hon. Mr. Blair:
Q. Does that include everything; have you all the accounts in it ?-A. No; it

will be $658,000 or thereabouts.

By Mr. Haggart :
Q. Mr. Blair asked you a question and you stated the owners of this road and

the construction company were the same parties ?-A. Yes.
Q. We asked you the question whether it was in the interests of the construct-

ing parties, considering these circumstances, to build the road as cheaply as possible.
You think so, do you ?-A. I do.

Q. The building company are the same parties who owned the road as I under-
stand ?-A. Yes.

Q. Every stockholder and bondholder had an interest in the construction ?-
A. There were no bondholders.

Mr. NEWTON.



Drummond County Railway Inquiry.

Q. Then every stockholder had an interest in it ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then can you give me the reason why parties owning the road would build

it as cheaply as they could ?-A. They were lumbermen and the railway was built
chiefly for their interests.

Q. But as an arrangement between the building company and the owners why
should they build it cheaply ?-A. There was no building company.

Q. Well the construction company ?-A. There was no contract with any onc
by the shareholders.

Q. The parties building were the owners. Why should the parties who were
o sners, in the bargain between themselves, have an interest in building it cheaply?
-A. It was a natural sequence.

Q. Was it the actual expenditure that was made in cash that the railway com-
pany paid to the construction company or the parties who built the road ?-A. Not
altogether in cash.

Q. Then if they had a contract what was the arrangement ?-A. There was no
contract. The lumber people supplied the railwaywith ties, timber and everything
they required, and it was charged to the railway at current rates, and tie railway
constructed the road.

Q. Then the railway company only paid out on construction the actual cash
required to pay men and materials ?-A. Exactly.

Q. And it cost no more than that ?-A. It cost no more.

The Committee adjourned until Tuesday, the 22nd March, at 11 a.m.

Mr. NEWTON.
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HOUSE OF COMMONS,
FRIDAY, 25th March, 1898.

The Committee met at 11 o'clock a.m.

Inquiry into expenditure of subsidies granted in aid of the iDrummond County Rail-
way and into the negotiations and transactions in relation to the acquiring of
the said railway by the Government of Canada, resumed.

Mr. WILLIAM WAINWRIGHT being sworn, gave evidence as follows

By Mr. Mclsaac:

Q. What position do you occupy ?-A. General Assistant on the Grand Trunk
system of railway.

Q. How long have you held that position ?-A. I have held that position two
years; prior to that I was Assistant General Manager of the road.

Q. Are you familiar with the cost of construction of roads in Quebec ?-A. I
have sonie knowledge.

Q. What would you say the Drummond County Railway was worth per mile,
as it stands to-day ?-A. Well, I can answer that question with regard to the con-
struction of roads in the province of Quebec best by giving you the figures of what
we have expended on the construction of lines. To give an opinion on the Drum-
mond County Railway, I should require to make some examination of it and know
something about the details. I might say to you that there are three railways in
Quebec constructed under my own supervision, namely, the Beauharnois Junction
Railway, which was built in accordance with a subsidy contract, with a light rail of
56 lbs., running from the county of Beauharnois, cost the Grand Trunk Railway
Company about $17,000 a mile; the Champlain Junction -Railway, with a 65-lb.
rail, and built in the same manner, cost the company between $18,000 and $19,000
per mile; the Jacques Cartier Railway, which èonnects the Grand Trunk with the
Canadian Pacifie Railway in Jacques Cartier, with a 56-lb. rail only, cost the Grand
Trunk $19,000 a mile; a little over. I have been over the Drummond County Rail-
way and vill say this much, that the 43 miles recently built is, in my opinion, far
superior in construction to the construction of any of these roads I have named.
The other portion of it, of course, is not so good., because it carries a lighter rail;
therefore it is not so expensively constructed.

By Mr. Blair :
Q. How does that compare with the other roads your speak of?-A. The old

end of the road, Mr. Blair ?
Q. As it is to-day ?-A. Well, it compares very favourably. The only question

with regard to cost would be the question of land damages whicb I do not know
anything about.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. What are the names of roads you have given us ?-A. The Beauharnois June-
tion, the Champlain Junction, and the Jacques Cartier Railway. These are three
roads I know something about in regard to construction.

Mr. WAINWRIGHT.
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By Mr. Morrison:

Q. What rights have the Intercolonial Railway in the terminals at Montreal ?-
A. They have rights in common with the Grand Trunk Railway. I thought this
matter might corne up and to show the extent of our terminals I have here plans
showing all the terminals west of the bridge to Jacques Cartier Junction.

Q. Is this not to be left ?-A. Well, I could leave it for a few days. 'Exhibit
No. 21.) This is prepared to be attached to the agreement; this is a copy I have
made, .nd this other will show you the terminai fadlities which, under the agree-
ment, the Intercolonial have in common with the Grand Trunk Railway. In addi-
tion to the main line over which they run there are the sidings next the bridge to
which they have access in common which the Grand Trunk, equal to ao ,t 40 miles
of railway. This (Exhibit No. 21) shows the line from Ste. Roalie to Montreal,
and the other (Exhibit No. 22) shows the terminal facilities.

By the Chairman :

Q. What are the value of these terminals ?-A. Mr». Chairman, they are invalu-
able; I do not think you can give them a money value. We have in Point St.
Charles about 150 acres af land which to-day I do not think could be bought ; well,
I cannot give you any figures. We consider our terminals in Montreal worth many
millions of dollars, but it is very difficult to name a cash value. Point St. Charlos
is now a very thickly populated district, and here the shops and freight sheds are
situated and are invaluable.

Q. And you say that the Intercolonial Railway has a right to use these in
common with the Grand Trunk ?-A. Yes.

Q. Freight sheds, round houses, tracks, and so forth ?-A. Yes, all the sidings;
also the right to run to Jacques Cartier Junction to connect with the Canadian
Pacifie. That was a point we did not like to give, but it was demanded by the
Minister and means running over 15 miles of railway to reach that point and repre-
sents nothing to us but a proportionate payment, and it means in addition to these
sidings 15 miles of railway. That is all shown on the plan.

By Mr. Blair;

Q. Recurring to the subject of the Drummond County Railway, something was
said the other day by Mr. Greenshields of there having been negotiations between
your company and the Drummond County Railway Company for the acquisition of
the Drummond County line: Do you recall such negotiations ?-A. Yes sir.

Q. Can you tell me when they took place ?-A. Well, not exactly.
Q. Approximately ?-A. Well, some three, four, probably five years ago.
Q. Do you recollect how much of the Drummond County line as at present

constructed, was then built ?-A. I think it was built, the old portion was all built;
I fancy so.

Q. Would it be built to Moose Park ?-A. I think so, up to the point where
the new portion commences.

Q. Built from Ste Rosalie to Nicolet anyway?-A. Yes, and to Drummondville.
Q. Can you tell us what the arrangements were at this end, on this side of the

water, which were concluded between the Drummond County Company and the
Grand Trunk ?

Mr. BoRDEN.-If the arrangement was reduced to writing would it not be
botter to have that ?

By Mr. Blair:

Q. Have you that ?-A. We have that.
Q. Will you produce it ?-A. Yes, sir.

Mr. WAINWRIGHT.
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Q. In the meantime state, as far as yon recollect, what were the terms of the
agreement ?-A. Under that agreement we were to lease the road under traffie
arrangement by which we would give to the Drummond County Railway Company so
much of the gross receipts, I th ink 30 per cent. In other words, we were to charge them
70 per cent for operating the road and if that was not enough to give them interest
on the bonds, we would allow them a further sum out of the interchange of traffic.
It was what we call a John Bell agreement. We made a similar agreement when
we acquired the North Shore Railway to Quebec.

Q. Had you a favourable opinion of the road and the possibilities of traffic ?-A.
Yes, sir. Mr. Church originally undertook the construction of the road in full touch
with the Grand Trunk Railway Company, and the idea at that time was entertained
by the late Sir Joseph Hickson, that the Grand Trunk would acquire it. We
expected we should be able to secure quite a good traffic off the lino and that was
our reason for desiring to obtain possession of it.

Q. Have you any reason from your recent experience and knowledge of the
business upon that road to alter your opinion in that regard ?-A. No.

Q. Would you kindly state what your view would be in regard to the relative
merits now of that road with others that have been spoken of as through lines for
the Intercolonial in reaching Montreal ?-A. Well as regards the connection of the
Intercolonial with Montreal the Drunmond County Railway, as far as I know
from the engineer's reports, is the shortest lino and the easiest line to St. Lambert
that could be acquired. The distances have already been given, I think in your
evidence Mr. Blair, and these figures are correct according to my report.

Q. How about the grades ?-A. Of course the Grand Trunk Railway bas some
longer and bas some heavier grades. The South Shore road is a little longer according
to the engineer's reports and would have a good deal of heavy bridging, therefore
would be very costly and, under the circumstances, I presume, that the Drummond
County is about the easiest method of extending the road to Montreal.

Q. The rate at which we acquired it is the cheapest, is it not ?-A. I should
think so. I think the price agreed upon represents as far as I remember about
$12,000 a mile, which is certainly a very low price for the railway.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. Bow much per mile ?-A. I think about $12,000 a mile is the price that is
stated. It is a very low figure for a railway of any pretensions.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. Of the three roads, therefore, which would you consider the cheapest and
best road for the Government to acquire, taking it al] together, for this purpose ?-
A. Well as 1 would like the Government to have taken the Grand Trunk Railway
through to Lévis it is rather-I would of course have to admit after we were out of
the race that the Drummond County Railway with its shorter mileage and lighter
grades necessarily would be worked more economically and probably make better
time for the service. I am bound to admit that.

Q. Do you remember when I spoke to you in regard to the probability of the
Grand Tru]nk Railway Company's selling if we wanted to buy the Grand Trunk line,
what yon stated to me ?-A. I think 1 told you we could not sell.

Q. Do you remember stating that you could not possibly sell the line between
Ste. Rosalie and Richmond as that was part of your through lino ?-A. Oh yes.

Q. Do you remember naming a sum between $2,000,000 and $2,500,000 ?-A.
Yes, I think we put the value of the lino between Lévis and Richmond at $2,000,000
and thon there would have been an arrangement to have been made between Ste.
Rosalie and Richnond.

Q. Then we would either have had to arquire a half ownership or lease ?-A.
Yes, I think that was the conversation.

Mr. WAINWRIGHT.
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Q. Don't you remember making this remark, -Mr. Wainright: That it would
not exceed $2,500,000 or would not be less then $2,000,000 ?-A. I think my con-
versation with Mr. Hays was that it might probably be between $2,000,000 and
$2,500,000 for the branch road between Richmond and Lévis.

By the Chairman :

Q. How many miles is that ?-A. About 88 miles, may be 90 miles.
Mr. BLAIR.-About 88-50 miles I think.

By the Chairman :

Q. That was on the portion from Richmond to Ste. Rosalie ?-A. No, sir ; that
is a portion of our main line to Portland.

Q. You would have to deal with it on the same basis as you dealt with the line
from Ste. Rosalie to St. Lambert ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. When was the 817,000 per mile paid for the Beauharnois Railway ?-A. It
was paid as the work was done.

Q. When was the road constructed ?-A. I could not tell you the year; about
10 years ago, I suppose.

Q. Who built the line ?-A. The Grand Trunk Railway Company under the
charter of the Beauharnois Junction Railway Company.

Q. That was built about 10 years ago ?-A. About 10 years ago.
Q. Was it built by contract ?-A. Yes.
Q. When you say $17,000 a mile are you giving us the exact figures ?-A. Well,

no; but perhaps within $100 or $200. It is a little over $17.000 a mile.
Q. How long was it?-A. Nineteen and a half miles.
Q. In what kind of country ?-A. Very nice country.
Q. Any bridges ?-A. Only one important bridge.
Q. What was the cost of that ?-A. $50,000.
Q. The rail was 56 lbs. ?-A. Yes.
Q. Does that $17,000 include anything such as rolling stock ?-A. No, sir, it is

the cost of the road.
Q. The permanent work on the road?-A. Just the permanent work on the

road.

By Mr. llaggart:

Q. Was that Beauharnois Junction Railway built by the Grand Trunk ?-A.
Yes; I had the co-nstruction of it in my own hands.

Q. You say it cost $17,000 a mile?-A. $17,000 a mile is given to me by the
general auditor from his books.

- Q. The statement here as returned is that the total capital subscribed is $241,-
473 and that the road was afterwards amalgamated with the Grand Trunk ?-A.
Yes, because it was a separate concern called the Beauharnois Junction Railway
Company, got up under a separate charter and was subsidised by the Dominion
Government and the Quebec Government, but it was built really by the Grand
Trunk Railway Company.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. It appears now that you have no personal knowledge of what it cost. You
are depending on what your auditor tells you ?-A. I took it from the auditor's
books.

Mr. WAINWRIGHT.
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Q. You have no personal knowledge ?-A. No, I simply asked him. In regard
to the other two lines I can give you his letter.

MR. BORDEN.-He should come himself.

By the Chairman:

Q. Who is the auditor ?-A. Mr. H. W. Walker.
Q. If he comes here it will involve bringing a lot of accounts books?-A. I do

not know; he wili have a report of the figures.
Mr. HAGGART.-From the report here the total capital subscribed on these 19ý

miles is $241,473 and afterwards the road was amalgamated with the Grand Trunk
Railway.

By the Chairman:

Q. Does the capital indicate the cost of the road at all ?-A. No, it does not.
It was an inside company and the Grand Trunk financed it and built it.

By Mr. Baggart :

Q. Is that the actual amount expended on construction or the amount for which
the road was taken over by the Grand Trunk?-A. No, that was the amount given me
as the cost of construction.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Part ofthat night be paid as a bonus in the purchase of the franchise from
the old Company ?-A. No, there was no old company to purchase. The charter
was obtained by the Grand Trunk in the name of the Beauharnois Junction Railway.

By Mr. Borden :

Q. Did you have the right of way granted by the county or did you pay for it?
-A. We pa'id for it.

Q. Do you know how rruch ?-A. I could not give the figures.
Q. The auditor can give them ?-A. Yes.

By .Mr. Powell :
Q. How wide was the right of way?-A. I think it was 66 feet.
Q. Do you know how wide the Drummond County right of way is ?-A. No, I

could not say.

By Mr. Borden:
Q. With regard to the Champlain Junction Railway, what is the length of

that ?-A. Sixty-two miles.
Q. When was it built ?-A. Well, that was built some time before, but I cannot

give you the year.
Q. Well approximately ?-A. It was a great many years ago.
Q. Has the cost of railway construction varied at all since that road was

built ?-A. Not to any extent, but rails are somewhat cheaper than in those days.
Q. This road is in Canada ?-A. Yes, it runs to Massena Springs in the state of

New York, but I am speaking of the line through Canada as far as Fort Covington.

By Mr. Powell :
Q. Was it built before Confederation ?-A. It was started, I believe. It was

built and laid frorm time to time before the road was built through. Charters were
applied for and we were compelled to make some show of building.
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Q. Practically the Canadian portion was built before Confederation ?-A. Not
all built.

Q. Then partly ?-A. A little of it.

By Mr. Borden :
Q. When was it completed ?-A. I cannot tell you immediately.

By Mr. Powell ;
Q. And railway construction has since fallen off in cost about 50 per cent ?-

A. That is a long time ago.
Q. That would be though ?-A. It has cbeapened, but I could not tell you the

percentage. It has cheapened in the price of rails.
Q. And methods of construction ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Blair :

Q. But land damages bave gone up ?-A. Yes, in some cases.

By Mr. Borden :

Q. Does this $17,000 or $18,000 include the cost of land ?-A. Yes, it includes
everything, building and land damages and all.

Q. Were you connected with the Grand Trunk when the Champlain Junction
Railway was built ?--A. Yes.

Q. Were you in this country then ?-A. I have been in this country for thirty-
six years.

Q. Have you the same knowledge of this road as of the Beauharnois Junction
Railway ?-A. The same, I simply obtained the information from our books through
the auditor. I have a letter from him but it does not include the Beauharnois
Junction figures-I had that information before myself.

Mr. Walker says :-" Montreal and Champlain Junetion Railway, 62 miles, cost
$1.173,902.20, equal to $18,933 per mile. Of course I give you the round figures."

Q. What is the date ?-A. March 17th. le continues " the Jacques Cartier
Junction railway, 6 miles, cost $123,896.48, equal to $19,060 per mile. Both the
above are exclusive of rolling stock."

Q. What is the length of the Jacques Cartier Junction Railway ?-A. He says
here 61 miles.

Q. When was that built ?-A. That was built, it must have been 1883 or 1884,
I won't be sure, but it was about the time that the Grand Trunk road acquired the
North Shore Railway to Quebec and they wanted to make connection between our
main line and that road.

Q. And this includes the cost of right of way ?-A. Yes.
Q. You don't know in auy case the cost of right of wayv?-A. No.
Q. Were there any bridges on the Champlain Junction Railway ?-A. Yes,

some bridges.
Q. How many?-A. Several. Not perhaps very large, but several.
Q. Do you know their total cost?-A. No.
Q. Are there any bridges on the Jacques Cartier Rail way ?-A. No.
Q. Is that on Montreal island ?-A. Yes.
Q. The right of way was more expensive there ?-A. It was.
Q. Your auditor no doubt can give us the figures ?-A. Yes, if ho is prepared

for that. I could have done so to-day if I had known.
Q. I suppose the Grand Trunk has built a great many other small roads during

the past twenty or twenty five years ?-A. We have built some in Ontario, but these
I think are the only three in Quebec.

Q. Does the cost of railway construction differ materially in Ontario from
Quebec ?-A. No. It might differ in cost of right of way but not otherwise.
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Q. Perhaps your auditor could give us the cost of all the roads built in the last
ton or fifteen years?-A. Yes, he could.

By Mr. Haggart:
Q. Who was manager of the Grand Trunk in 1884 ?-A. Mr. L. J. Seargeant.
Q. Who was manager immediately preceding the one you bave now ?-A.

Mr. Seargeant.
Q. Did you ever have a conversation with him in reference to the probability

of the late government acquiring running rigbts into Montreal for the Intercolonial
railway ?-A. Yes, sir, on one occasion.

Mr. HAGGART.-I do not know whether this conversation would be admissible.
The CHAIRMAN.-We are admitting a good deal which is not strictly evidence.

By Mr. RHaggart:
Q. I suppose this conversation was after the visit I had with Mr. Seargeant ?-

A. I don't know anything about your negotiations with Mr. Seargeant. My
interview with Mr. Scargeant was in connection with the visit of a conservative
member of Parliament to Montreal to see me in connection with the extension of
the Intercolonial railway, and I understood he came in connection with the railway
department, of which at that time you wpre minister, as to whether we would be
willing to make an arrangement to allow the Intercolonial Railway running rights
to Montreal over our road.

Q. Was that Mr. Schreiber ?-A. No, it was a member of Parliament.
Q. You are aware I had a conversation with Mr. Seargeant myself on the

subject ?-A. I understood so.
Q. You were there?-A. I don't think I was present at the interview.
Q. Oh no, you were not, I think. You had no conversation with Mr. Seargeant ?

-A. Not with regard to your visit.

By the Chairman :
Q. Who was the Conservative member of Parliament who called on you ?-A.

Mr. Rufus Pope.

By Mr. Blair:
Q. You were saying about the value of railways at the present time as compared

with years ago, do you carry in your mind the value that was agreed upon between
the Government and your Company for a bare roadbed between Rivière du Loup and
Lévis, without a rail, without ties, and without the usual equipment ?-A. Do I
understand you to refer to the purchase of the Rivière du Loup line ?

Q. Yes, 1 suppose that would be involved in it. Do you recollect the price paid
at that time ?-A. Do you mean the amounit that was paid ?

Q. Yes, if you like ?-A. It would be a million and a half of dollars.
Q. How many miles was that ?-A. Mr. Schroiber will know the distance; I

think it was 126 miles-about 126 miles.
Q. That was bought by the Government from the Grand Trunk in what year?

-A. In the year 1879, I think.
Q. That was simply the roadbed in the shape it was then in, without rails,

sleepers, or any equipment ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. How much was paid ?-A. $1,500,000. I think was the price paid. The
agreement shows.

Q. There was no other conside.ation than that given for it ?-A. Given by the
Grand Trunk to the Government?

Q. Yes ?-A. I do not remember what t was.
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Q. Was one of the considerations not the building of a piece of road between
the town of Windsor and Chicago ?-A. The consideration was that this money
could be applied for an extension of the road to Chicago.

Q. Was there no other consideration ? Was not the doubling of the line from
Toronto a consideration ?-A. I do not think that was a consideration. I think we
were called upon to reserve a certain amount of money ont of that, at the request of
the Hon. Peter Mitchell, who made a strong point of that, that we should reserve
a certain amount for double tracking.

Q. Is the agreement in writing ?-A. Here it is (Exhibit No. 23).
Q. And in the debate in the House it was stated what the advantages were ?-

A. I remember it exceedingly well, and the desire of the Grand Trunk was to reach
out to Chicago, and the negotiations with the Government were in connection with
that in getting the money by selling this Rivière du Loup road, but this was not a
consideration; we were anxious to build.

By MIr. Blair :
Q. You were anxious to build to Chicago yourselves ?-A. Yes, and we applied

to the Government to take this road off onr harids, as we were not in funds.
Q. And in this way you sold this road at that amount ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Carroll:

Q. You spoke of a portion of your lino from Lévis to Richmond, you estimated
that portion at what price ?-A. About two million dollars; between two millions
and two and a half millions.

Q. That is about 80 miles, is it not ?-A. More than that. Nearly 90. We
figured it out at $20,000 or $25,000 a mile.

Q. If I remember the otber portion from Richmond to St. Lambert is more
valuable than that portion from Lévis to Richmond ?-A. Well, it is a portion of
our main line, and therefore, very much more valuable.

By the Chairman :
Q. You stated in answer to one question that a conservative member of Parlia-

ment visited you with reference to running rights over the Grand Trunk, when was
that visit made ?-A. Well, it was during Mr. Seargeant's management, since 1890;
but I cannot tell you the year, speaking frorm memory.

Q. Why were running rights wanted ?-A. The idea was to extend the Inter-
colonial Railway to Montreal, and the rights ho talked- of'were to give them powers
over Dur line.

Q. To give the Government running powers over your line ?-A. Yes.
Q. For whom was ho negotiating?-A. Well, I did not know that ho had

authority to negotiate. I only concludedfrom his remarks to me that he was acting
for the Department or was in touch with the Department on the subject, because he
said that it was advisable to bring the Intercolonial Railway to Montreal, and not
being connected with the Intercolonial, I presumed that ho was informed on the
matter; but I did not question him.

Q. Did be ask what you would take for those running rights?-A. At that
time, our policy was different fron what it is to-day. We were tenacious in holding
on to our property. He wanted to know whether the Board would be willing to
entertain such a proposai. I placed it before the general manager, and it was sub-
mitted to the Board in London. Subsequent to that the Minister of Railways, Mr.
Haggart, had an interview with our General Manager, but I do not know what took
place.

By Mr. Borden:
Q. With respect to the Drummond County Line, are you an engineer?-A. No;

I am not.
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Q. Have you made any special inspection of the line for the purpose of estimat-
ing its cost?-A. No; I have been over it, but not for that purpose.

Q. What is the total mileage of the Grand Trunk Railway system ?-A. Taking
the whole system it is a little over 4,000 miles; something over 4,000.

Q. The terminals you speak of at Montreal are connected with all that mileage
or used for the purpose of that mileage ?-A. Certainly, for anything coming into
Montreal; but we have a great deal of service between other points that do not
reach Montreal, such as Toronto, Hamilton, London and Niagara Falls, which does
not come to Montreal.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. Which does not come near Montreal ?-A. No; not at all.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. But all your business between west and east would come to Montreal ?-
A. Yes.

Q. And all these terminals are for the purpose of that business ?-A. Certainly.
Q. Your use of these terminals would be very much larger than anything the

Interéolonial cou Id make ?-A. Certainly.
Q. What proportion ?-A. That would depend upon the business they do. The

position is this: the agreement provides that we have the use of those terminals in
common. I have shown in this plan that it involves the use of 40 miles of sidings,
freight sheds, round houses and all appurtenances. It is very much like going to a
man who owns a palace, with my wife, having married, and asking him to give me
his whole house. Of course, I can only use one room, but in a few years there may
be a large family. I do not know what proportion will be our use and what will
be theirs.

Q. How long do you think it will take this Intercolonial to have a family large
enough to occupy this palace of the terminals ?-A. I think it will not take them
long, and I think the proposition to extend the road to Montreal is one ot those
things that will add materially to the traffic.

Q. You have something of an idea of the business that came over the Interco-
lonial before they connected with Montreal ?-A. Yes.

Q. You have an idea of the relative proportion which your business at Montreal
bears to that business ?-A. Well, it is very large, of course, in comparison.

Q. Could you give any idea of the proportion ?-A. No, because it varies
materially.

By Mr. Haggart,:
Q. is it a 100th ?-A. I would not like to make a positive statement. While

they have in common the use of these facilities they only'pay according to wheelage.
Q. Are there any other ioads that have the use of your terminals in Montreal

beside the Intercolonial ?-A. The roads that are running into Montreal, of course
with cars-

Q. You understand my question is: Are there any other roads that use the
terminais of the Grand Trunk in Montreal ?-A. Not on this basis, not with a
common use of our terminals.

Q. Is there an agreement you have with any other road as to the use of your
terminals in Montreal ?-A. Not for the use of our terminals. We simply bring
in from different points-Central Vermont and Delaware and Hudson-trains on
which we collect ourt share of the traffic, our proportion according in the mileage
of these cars running into Montreal the same as to any other portion of the country.

Q. Have you an arrangement with the Delaware and Hudson Co. ?-A. Yes.
Q. What do they pay you per car for the use of your terminal facilities on the

mileage basis ?-A. I could not give you the figures now.
Mr. WAINWRIGHT.
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Q. Will you get them ?-A. Yes.
Q. And all the other lines that have the use of them what they pay. Will you

be kind enough to have it at the next meeting ?-A. I will sir.
Q. And the agreements too. There is the Canada Atlantic, the Delaware,

Ifudson and New York and several others, have they ail agreements as to their use
of your lines ?-A. It is an equalization of car mileage, nothing else-no other
agreements.

Q. Never mind-we want the agreement showing the amount they pay ?-
A. We equalize the car mileage; we charge so much for the use of our cars and we
pay them so much for the use of their cars.

Q. Has the Intercolonial half as much trafl as the Canada Atlantic and the
Delaware and Hudson coming into Montreal ?-A. I should think so, probably
more.

Q. More than half?-A. I should think so.
Q. Would you furnish information the next time you come here as to the

haulage of the Intercolonial into Montr-eal ?--A. What it has been ?
Q. Ye.-A. Yes.

By the Chairnan:

Q. You cannot say what it is going to be ?-A. No sir.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. Or what these others are going to be ?-A. No.
Q. You spoke of the probable amount of business which the Drummond County

Railway would do from your former opinion ?-A. Yes.
Q. Have you investigated the returns of the business of that road ?-A. The

interchange ?
Q. No, have you investigated the returns in respect to the business of that road

during the past nine years ?-A. No, I have not, I could give you the interchange
traffic with that i-oad and the Grand Trunk at St. Hyacinthe.

Q. You have not investigated the business of that road as a whole?-A. No.
Q. Did you anticipate that the business of the road would probably increase

the more in passengers or in freight ?-A. In freight.
Q. Of what character ?-A. Lumber business, we were looking forat that time.

Of course it was not our intention to extend the road to Lévis.
Q. Understand that I am speaking of the probability of the Drummond County

Railway doing a profitable business in the future. You say your view in regard to
it was that the business would increase in lumber ?-A Yes.

Q. And that is what you probably depended on in forming that opinion ?-
A. Yes.

By Mr. Raggart:
Q. You promised to give us the agreement submitted to your board in the old

country?-A. Yes.
Q. Which you did not carry out ?-A. Yes.
Q. You will have that next time ? -A. Yes.

By Mr. Blair :

Q. It was not ratified ?-A. It was not ratified.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. Do you remember the reasons on account of which your negotiation for the
use or lease of the Drummond County Railway fell through ?-A, Yes. At the time
it was submitted and recommended ot the management, our board in London were
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being very much censured for making extensions and acquiring new lines, and the
president, Sir Henry Tyler, at that time was loth to put anything before the Board
and he did not do so.

Q. What year was that ?-A. It was in 1891 or 1892.
Q. The matter was never taken up afterwards ?-A. No, sir, it was dropped.
Q. I suppose you have made extensions since?-A. No, there bas been nothing

done since.
Q. 1 mean any extensions in any direction ?-A. No.

By Mr. Haggart :
Q. Your memory of the agreement was that it provided for the payment of 30

per cent of the gross earnings of the road ?-A. 30 or 40 per cent: I think 30. I
think it was 70 and 30 per cent.

By Mr. Borden :
Q. You will produce the agreement ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Powell:
Q. Can you conveniently give us the amount of through traffic, passenger and

freight, as relates to the Grand Trunk and Intercolonial ?-A. Yes, we can give you
that.

Q. It would not involve much work, would it ?-A. Yes, there would be a good
deal of clerical work about it.

Q. I would like to have a statement of it during your last financial year. An-
other matter I do not understand quite, Mr. Wainwright, is about the 15 miles
extension to enable the Intercolonial to connect with the Canadian Pacific Railway.
-A. We gave them the right, to run from Montreal, although it is a piece of rail-
way and not a siding. The department made such a point of making such a con-
nection with the Canadian Pacific Railway that although it was a disputed point, I
admitted it, and Mr. Hays gave way upon it that they should have the right. It
gave them about 15 miles of railway.

Q. That privilege was not included in the contract that was submitted to par-
liament last year ?-A. Oh, yes, was it not?

Mr. BLAIR.-Yes, certainly.
Mr. PowELL.-What section is it ?
Mr. BLAIR.-Connection with the Canadian Pacifie Railway.
The WITNEss.-It spoke of the Canadian Pacifie conneetion. That is the nearest

connection we have, except around by the wharf, and that, of course, we cannot
make in winter.

By Mr. Blair:
Q. Did the negotiations between us not come very near splitting on that point ?

-A. Yes, because we considered that we were giving 15'miles of railway without
payment, except the wheelage arrangement.

Q. And was there not another point that we came nearly dropping the whole
business upon, and that was in regard to our right of ownership ofsuch traffic as
we would have on the Grand Trunk Railway between Montreal and Ste. Rosalie ?-A.
Yes. It would have come to an end if I had had to deal with it. We divided once
or twice on that question. We have made a great many trackage arrangements-
this between the Grand Trunk and the government is not the only one-but it is
not usual when a railway grants another running powers over its line, either in
England or in this country, to allow it to pick up local traffic. We have trackage
arrangements with the Canadian Pacific between Hamilton and Toronto, and to
North Bay, and with the Canada Atlantic between Lacolle and Rouse's Point, but
they get no local traffic. The minister insisted upon it, and it was a considerable
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time before our general manager would allow it. and he 'gave way on that point
which he has not done in any other case. They bave the right now to secure local
traffie between Montreal and St. Hyacinthe.

Mr. BORDEN.-Mr. Blair, we have the present lease between the Drummond
County railway and the Intercolonial, but not the present lease between the Govern-
ment and the Grand Trunk Railway. I think we should bave it.

Mr. BLAIR.-I will bring that in.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. Mr. Wainwright, now these roads having terminal facilities or rights of
coming in, how are they cbarged ? Is there a wheelage and a bridge rate ?-A. They
have no terminal rights. The cars are simply brought in and taken ont. They put
in so many cars and we put in so many cars and if they over run then car mileage
is put in.

Q. How do you charge, on wheelage or on wheelage and bridge ?-A. We charge
wheelage for cars and collect our proportion of the rate over our lines whether
passengter cr freight.

Q. Do you have a separate charge for bridge and for terminals ?-A. If we have
certain cars running over the bridge we have a bridge toll, but if the arrangement
is for running cars in on an equalization arrangement we collect wheelage.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. Take the case of, say, the Delaware and Hudson Railway, do they haul your
cars to New York over their line ?-A. They take them to the end of their line.

Q. And you take their cars to Montreal ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you make up your accounts on that basis ?-A. Yes. It is not a ques-

tion of ownership of terminal facilities.
Q. They have no right to fix the time of trains ?-A. No.
Q. They have no right to local traffic ?-A. That is so.
Q. This arrangement with the Government is not unusual ?-A. No.
Q. You have made others of the same sort?-A. Yes, I have named the Cana-

dian Pacific and the Canada Atlantic,with whom we have traffic arrangements, they
having a right over the track and the right of the terminals.

Q. What is the arrangement with the Canadian Pacific between Toronto and
Hamilton ?-A. They have the use of the line, for which they pay a rental, and
maintenance on wheelage basis.

Q. But they have no right to local business?-A. No.
Q. And this contract with the government is exceptional in that?-A. This

was exceptional and would not have been made if you had not held out.

By Mr. Raggart:

Q. You say this is not unusual ?-A. I am speaking of trackage arrangements.
The right to local traffic is exceptional in this case.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. You gave the CanÀadian Pacific contract as one similar to ours ?-A. Yes.
Wehave just closed one with the Wabash railway beginning from the first of March.

Q. What is the nature of that?-A. It is similar to that made with the Cana-
dian Pacific and the Government; a trackage arrangement and wheelage on mainte-
nance.

Q. They use your terminals ?-A. Yes.
Q. And pay rental ?-A. They pay rental for the use of the International

bridge and pay us a further sim to cover the rights of the track and terminals, but
they get no local business.
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Q. How many miles do they use ?-A. About 200.
Q. But the arrangement is the same as that with the Government ?-A. Yes,

the clauses are almost identical in regard to running powers.

By the Chairman :

Q. They have the right of running over your road and using your terminals,
but not to local business ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. But they pay a fixed rental and pay for maintenance in proportion to wheel-
age ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. Will you bring these agreements?-A. I will if the general manager will
allow it to be made public. I don't think he will have any objection.

Mr. BoRDEN.-We should have the agreement if you are going into that
question.

Mr. BLAIR.-Why should I allow you to go to the Delaware and Hudson
arrangement and not go into this?

By the Chairman:

Q. I think the Canadian t>acific applied to Parliament to have their agreement
put in the Statute ?-A. It is in the Act.

By Mr. Borden :

Q. Can you tell me from your recollection whether there is any difference
between the present temporary arrangement between the Grand Trunk and the
Government and the proposed permanent arrangement submitted to Parliament
last vear ?-A. Yes, there are some few changes.

Mr. BORDEN.-It would assist us if you could conveniently do so, if you could
state the effect of the changes.

Mr. BLAIR.-I propose tO bring it in.
MR. BORDEN.-I know, but it would be of use if Mr. Wainwright could state the

changes.
MR. WAINwRIGHT.-Some of the traffic arrangements are somewhat altered.

One change is in regard to any betterments that may be made by agreement between
the Government and the Grand Trunk Company, necessitated by increased traffic,
that the Government can pay their proportion in cash or at the rate of interest of 4
per cent. In the old agreement it is said they should pay 5 per cent.

By Mr. Borden :

Q. Without any option ?-A. Yes. That was a point we had no hesitation in
agreeing to.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. The amount was capitalised at what rate ?-A. Four per cent.

By the Chairman :

Q. On betterments ?-A. Yes.
Mr. WAINWRIGHT.
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By Mr. Borden :

Q. The arrangement now is that the Government shall pay their portion at 4 per
cent or have the option in paying in cash ?-A. I think so, according to wheelage;
in other words, only for the use they made.

By Mr. Baggart ;

Q. Do I understand clearly that the Wabash and Delaware and Hudson arrange-
ments made with the Grand Trunk are similar to that with the Government; that
is in this respect, they pay a rental and only pay wheelage rate for management or
betterment ?-A. They pay a rentai and pay wheelage-that is the Wabash-
according to wheelage for maintenance.

Q. Only for maintenance ?-A. For maintenance.

By Mr. Blair :

Q. But they pay a fixed rental for general use ?-A. Yes.
Q. You are not speaking of the Delaware and Hudson Ry. ?-A. I am speak-

ing of the Wabash. The Delaware and Hudson have no arrangements for trackage
rate. Their arrangements are simply to have freight cars hauled in and out; that
is we haul coming from the west, in and out, and cars lying empty are sent back.

Q. No wheelage arrangements ?-A. No.
Q. The Wabash arrangement is entirely different ?-A. The Wabash have

other rights such as at Niagara Falls and between the Detroit River and Niagara.
Q. Where are the terminal facilities ?-A. At Black Rock, near Buffalo, and

near Suspension Bridge.
Q. 1- understand they pay a rental ?-A. Yes; a fixed rental.
Q. And the wheelage rental is it only for the betterments ?-A. No ; for the

maintenance and betterments of the road according to wheelage.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. I do not know whether you got quite through with the changes between the
present agreement with the Government and that of last year. was there anything
else ?-A. There is that one, that instead of one-half they pay according to wheelage.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. Has the Grand Trunk Railway Company an arrangement with any other
road like that, except the Wabash ?-A. I consider the Pacifie between Toronto and
Hamilton the same. They pay us a rental, and pay according to wheelage for
maintenance. I consider it is on the same footing.

Q. What is the rental between Toronto and Hamilton ?-A. $40,000 a year,
about 28 miles.

Q. Besides maintenance ?-A. Besides maintenance; that is, for the road.
Q. I mean for the terminal facilities ?-A. The Canadian Pacific own half the

station.
Q. Then they pay nothing for that ?-A. Nothing, but they pay $40,000 a year

simply for trackage.
Q. There is no similarity there?-A. They pay their share for the cost of the

station.
Q. I am asking for the use of tracks and for a comparaison with the use given

to the Intercolonial in Montreal. You said they were similar, and now you say
that the Canadian Pacifie own one-half?-A. The trackage arrangement is similar,
the same thing. It is simply for trackage.

Mr. WAINWRIGIIT.
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By Mr. Blair:

Q. You get from the Government a fixed rentai for the use of your tracks, of
the bridge, and of the terminals ?-A. Yes.

Q. Between Toronto and Hamilton you get a fixed rental for the use of the
track, acd the station has been built between the two of you ?-A. Between us.

Q. iNot to be paid for, or interest to be paid on it, by each of you according to
the amount of use made of it?-A. No.

Q. You each paid the half irrespective of the use?-A. Yes; it is a union
station.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. How is it maintained ?-A. They pay their share and we pay ours according
to the business done.

Q. Who does the most business there ?-A. Oh ! we do.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. What would be the proportion of business done?-A. It would be impossible
for me to say.

Br Mr. Blair:

Q. If you wanted to build a station at the same time as we wanted to get to
Montreal you would have joined us in a union station, would you not ?-A. Yes.
We wanted to join the Canadian Pacifie there some years ago in a union station.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. Could you give us the proportion of business so far as the use of that 38
miles of track is concerned ?-A. I could get it for you.

Q. Beside the change you have already mentioned as a difference between the
agreement of this year and that of last year, is there any other ?-A. There is some
difference with regard to traffic.

Q. Could you briefly state what it is ?-A. The principal one I think I could
tell you; there are other minor changes. The principal one is this: The Grand
Trunk held that if our line between Levis and Richmond was to be destroyed, that
we could not be expected to offer the traffic to the Government atMontreal, and the
agreement did not allow for that. We proposed to use our line to Levis whenever
we had the opportunity, but the Government insisted on having the traffie from the
west handed to them at Montreal. In other words, that we should abandon and
take away our Chaudière rates, and that is most important.

Q. They insisted upon having the western business given to them at Montreal
to the exclusion of your line ?-A, Yes.

Q. Besides that there are some minor changes in the agreements ?-A. Yes.
Q. These are the two principal ones?-A. Yes.
Q. That is embodied in the agreement now made ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you regard these changes as important ?-A. Yes I regard the change

of handing over the traffic at Montreal and shutting up our line to Levis as a great
concession to the Government.

By Mr. Hfaggart :

Q. That entered as part of the consideration into the bargain ?-A. We did not
think it did. We did not have that idea at the time when we agreed to it.

Mr. WAINWRIGIT.
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By iMr. Blair:

Q. We claimed that was the true and proper interpretation. Did I not claim
that was what the language was intended to mean ?-A. You certainly clained that.

Q. With regard to the question of interest, was that not a subject of a good deal
of debate and discussion between us a year ago ?-A. Yes.

Q. And did you not argue and point out that your five per cent bonds in
England were only selling in the markeu at 85, and did you bring me a newspaper
showing that they were selling for only 85 ?-A. I told you we could not borrow at
less than 5 per cent and that our 4 per cent bonds were selling at 85.

Q. And did you say that if we consented to going on you would have to put
these betterments in at a lower costthan you actuallyincurred ?-A. We could only
get 85.

Q. And when we made the temporary arrangement, did I not point out that
your bonds had gone up and that you could borrow at a less rate of interest?- A.
Yes, we recognized that they had gone up and that we could borrow at 3 per cent.

Q. Did 1 say we could not pay in cash and that with large encumbrances on
your property we could not put the capital of the Government on the line ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. We were talking about an interview you had with Mr. Rufus Pope ?-A.
Yes.

Q. Did you learn from him that he had an option on the line ?-A. No.
Q. 1e never led you to believe that he bad an option ?-A. On the Drummond

County road or on the Grand Trunk ?
Q. On the Drummond County line.-A. I do not think the Drummond County

line was ever referred to. He was talking about the Grand Trunk. This conversa-
tion with me had no connection with the Drummond County line.

By the Chairman :
Q. It was not the Drummond County at all events ?-A. No it was a question

as to whether we would give running rights over our own road.

Mr. PETER S. ARCHIBALD, being sworn, gave evidence as follows:-

By Mr. Haggart:
Q. Did you ever go over the Drummond County Railway ?.-A. No, I did not

except in the train coming here the other day.
Q. Did you ever examine part of it at any time ?-A. No, not more than a mile

or so of it.
Q. You were never requested by Mr. Schreiber to make an examination of it?

-A. No, I was not.
Q. Were you by any one else ?-A. No.
Q. You went over the road, did you, the other day ?-A. Yes.
Q. What is your opinion of the road. How does it compare with the Inter-

colonial ?
Mr. BLAIR.-Do you say you examined it?
Mr. HAGGART.-He said he came over the road the other day. I want to know

if he can pass an opinion on it from passing over the road.
The WITNEss.-I stood on the tail end of the train for the first 40 miles west

of Chaudière. I saw a good deal of it; the snow had pretty well disappeared. I
would not call it a road up to the standard of the Intercolonial in its present state.

Mr. ARCHIBALD.
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By Mr. Morrison:
Q. You were a passenger on the train ?-A. Yes.

By the Chairman :

Q. This 40 miles is the western portion next to Montreal ?-A. No the other
part, the new part.

By Mr. Haggart:
Q. Is it nearly finished ?-A. There is a great deal to do to bring it up to the

standard of the Intercolonial.
Q. Were they working at it ?-A. No. there vas nothing doing at it.
Q. What about the part of it next to Montieal ?-A. I did not see very much of

it. I am not in a position to give any opinion just now. I noticed the right of way
was very narrow.

Q. Did you notice the road bed ?-A. It is crooked in places.
Q. Not a road at ail up to the standard of the Intercolonial ?-A. No, I should

not think so in its present condition.
Q. You know nothing as to the details of the road as you did not examine it ?

I understood you examined it ?-A. No. I did not.

By the Chairnian :
Q. How much are your fees to come here ?-A. I do not know.
Q. How far did you come ?-A. About 800 miles.

By Mr. Blair:
Q. You have volunteered the statement that this 43 miles of road are not up to

the standard of the Intercolonial ?-A. I did not volunteer it; I was asked the ques-
tion.

Q. Willyou swear that you were asked the question by anybody here in thîs
examination ?-A. I was asked, I think, what kind of a road it was.

Q. Will you swear that you were asked what kind of a road it was ?-A. I will
not swear ; it is down in evidence.

Q. Will you swear thatyou did not volunteer the statement ?-A. It is a very
simple matter to look up the question.

Q. Will you swear ?-A. You can tell by looking it up.
Q. What do you say ?-A. I swear I did not volunteer the statement.
Q. You say you stood on the back of the rear car of the train ?-A. Yes.
Q. llow long did you stand there ?-A. Until I got to Moose Park.
Q. How long ?-A. About an hour and a half.
Q. You say the snow had disappeared along the track?-A. Yes, all but the

drifts.
Q. Do you know Mr. H. A. F. MacLeod ?-A. Yes.
Q. If Mr. McLeod should go on the stand to verify a report made to the govern-

ment, that witb certain expenditures, which he included in his report and which
was reserved by the gorvernment for the purpose, the road would be brought up Io
the standard of the Intercolonial; would you venture to contradiet him ?-A. I might,
because I know more about the standard of the Intercolonial than he does.

Q. And from standing on the platform for an hour and a half you would under-
take to contradict an engineer of his experience ?-A. If I saw fit. If I saw sand
ballast on the road I would know, as an engineer of 20 years experience on the Inter-
colonial Railway, that it would have to be i emoved or covered up.

Q. Is there any sand ballast on the Intercolonial Railway ?-A. No.
Q. Is there not miles on which there is nothing but sand ballast ?-A. Yes, but

not hundreds ot miles.
Mr. ARCHIBALD.



Drummnond County Railway Inquiry.

Q. I didn't ask you about 50 miles or hundreds of miles but is there not
miles ?-A. No.

Q. Do you say there are 50 miles of sand ballast on the Drummond County?-
A. i say there are 20 miles.

By Mr. McLsaac :

Q. Mr. Archibald, were you in the employ of the Intercolonial Railway ?-Yes.
Q. Up to what time?--A. Last year.
Q. Are you now in the employ of a Company of which Sir Charles Tupper is

president ?-A. -No.
Q. Have you had any offer from them ?-A. I cannot say I have.

By the Chairnan :

. Are you going west ?-A. No.

By Mr. 3fc Isaac:

Q. A re you going there now ?-A. No.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER recalied, put in Exhibit No. 24, Annual Returns,
Drummond County Railway, 1888 to 1897.

By M1r. Powell.-

Q. Mr. Schreiber, please tell us what you mean by a road being up to the
standard of the Intercolonial ?-A. The road should have a certain width of embank-
ments, a certain width of cuts, the bridges should be all steel and the abutments and
piers of good strong massive masonry, that the rails shall weigh not less thian
57 lbs. to the yard-I think it is 67-and that there shall be 2,600 ties to the mile,
and that it shall be well ballasted, equal to the Intercolonial Railway of Canada.

Q. Is there anything about gradients ?-A. And that gradients shall not be over
52-80 to the mile.

Q. I scarcely urderstand you; are there not steeper grades ?-A. There are
grades, near Windsor Junction, which is 70 feet to the mile.

Q. How about Cobequid mountains?-A. I think it is 65 feet to the mile.
Q. How about Dorchester grade ?-A. It is 56 feet.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. Do you say the standard is 52-80 feet or 70 feet ?-A. It is 52-80 feet.

By Mr. Powell :

C. How do you arrive at that ? I do not understand that is the standard when
there are higher grades ?-A. Well it makes it fully up to it; more than up to it in
the sense of grades.

Q. But 60 feet grades are more than 52 feet ?-A. Yes, an-d therefore 52 feet is
preferable to 60, and in that respect more than equal to the Intercolonial.

Q. But then you say the standard is 52 feet on the Intercolonial ?-A. J did'nt
say that the standard was 52 feet.

Q. I understood you to say so. If I ask you what the standard on the Interco-
lonial is in respect to grades, what is your answer ?-A. I could not answer. I would
have to say that the maximum grade would be 70 feet.

Mr. SCHREIBER.
1-5



61 Victoria. Appendix (No. 1.)

Q. Then if a railway had not a maximum greater than the Intercolonial it
would be up to it ?-A. Unless a large proportion of it was greater. If a large por-
tion was it would not be, I think.

Q. " Being up to the grade of the Intercolonial Railway "; would that include
the width of the right ofway ?-A. No. The width of the right of way on parts of
the Intercolonial is very wide, but the narrowest is 99 feet.

Q. That would not be a consideration in determining the standar d ?-A. I don't
think so.

Q. Now last year, when this contract was before Parliament, the only objection,
I think, that was made to the Drummond County in respect to taking it off the
hands of the Drumnond County Railway, as respected the finished portion, was that
the gradient at one or two places was a little high ?-A. Yes, there were heavier
grades than 52 feet.

Q. Do you know what were reduced ?-A. I don't think they have all been
reduced yet, some are reduced but not all.

Q. You say the highest was reduced to 63 feet?-A. Well 52.80 or 53 feet in
round numbers they were to be reduced to.

Q. And that was the understanding last year ?-A. That was the understanding
last year.

Q. Now you have handed us in all the reports from the Drummond County
Railway ?-A. Yes.

Q. And these are the original reports put in to you under oath by some officer ?
-A. They aie.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. Have you made an estimate of the cost that would be between 52.80 feet and
the estimate that you fîirnished the Minister ?-A. I 'ave made nothing at all
beyond what I put in. Whatever is on that is what it is based on.

Q. That is the Intercolonial Railway standard ?-A. It appears in what I put
in.

Q. Then what is the difference ?-A. I think Mr. McLeod bas made an estimate.
Q. As 1 understand you the estimate you made for me was on the line of a

subsidized road ?-A. Yes.
Q. Why did you make an estimate for me on the line of a subsidized road when

you knew it was to be used for the Intercolonial ?-A. Well, as to that I could
not tell you, and if I had not found that document I could not have told you any-
thing about it.

Q. Do you remember writing me a note ?-A. No, 1 do not remember. I have
notbing in the office. I have no recollection of it.

Q. You have no plans or profiles or the basis upon which you formed the
estimate ?-A. For part of the road, I think.

Q. Have you got them?-A. I have them all tied in a bundie.

By Mr. Blair :

Q. Do you mean of the part that was built ?-A. Yes. The dates will be on all
plans whenever they were sent in.

MR. IAGGART,-I would like to see them.
THE WITNEss,-I have them ready.
Q. The estimate you made to me was on the basis of 63 feet to the mile ?-

A. Whatever is dpon that document. If I had not happened to have found that
document, I say I would not have remembered about it.

Q. Do you remember speaking to me about the offer made to the Drummond
County Road ?-A. No.

Q. Do your remember any conversation with regard to the offer ?-A. Noth-
ing beyond what is there. I do not remember anything about it.

Mr. SCHRLEIBER.
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Q. Have you an estimate in your Department of what would be required to
complete the road from the estimate last year and the amount necessary to be
expended in order to reach Lévis ?-A. Mr. MacLeod has ail that.

Q. You did not go into it yourself ?-A. No.

By zMr. Blair :

Q. I received a report from Mr. MacLeod, which is in the office somewhere
you never saw the report ?-A. I have a copy of it. (Copy put in Exhibit No. 25).

By Mr. Pou-ell

Q. You say this estimate was made upon a basis or gradients and other require-
ments to enable the road to get the subsidy. Well, I see that the subsidy would
have to be paid for by the Railway Department on a higher gradient-a steeper
grade-than you have estimated on, how could that be ?-A. Yes, I think so. When
I was here the other day I did not remember it. 1 have looked at the contract and
I find that passing through the town of Drummondville it out down some streets
with a grade of 65 feet to the mile and an Order in Couneil was passed allowing an
80 foot grade.

Q. And that is the only place ?-A. Yes, the village of Drummondville.
Q. From June 30th, 1889, down to June 30th, 1896-in fact to June 30th, 1897

-there is no return with a maximun gradient less thant 66 feet ?-A. There is an
80 foot gradient there now not taken down yet.

Q. You did not quite understand my question. If up to 1895 the Company had
received the sum total of subsidy granted by the Federal authorities, what would be
the object of your making an estimate to earn the subsidies when the subsidies were
actually earned and paid for at a higher gradient than 63 feet, which you estimate ?

Mr. BLAIR.-That question as you put it is hardly fair.

By -Mr. Powell ;

Q. Mr. Schreiber has stated ho made this estimate which he handed to -Mr.
Haggart on the basis of the requirements of the Subsidy Act ?-A. Not the subsidy
Act but upon the subsidy contract. It is ail stated in the document what thegrades
and curves were but I do not remember what they are.

Q. If you did not make your estimate on the basis of requirements necessaryto
earn the subsidy on what basis did you make it?-A. I think that is the basis I did
make it on.

Q. How could it have been made on that basis when at that very time your
department or yourself had actually paid over the subsidies, thereby acknowl-
edging that the subsidies had been properly earned and the requirements of the
contract fulfilled ?-A. So I think they were. I am quite sure they were properly
fulfilled before the money was paid.

Q. It is represented in the officiai return, that the gradients on which the
subsidy was paid on June 30, 1889, and which is sworn to are 63, but on June 30,
1890, there is a statement that there is a gradient of 80 and the subsidy was paid
over on that ?--A. Would you allow me ? I have said that the Drummond County
contract was modified for reasons which I have stated ?

Q. I am not asking you how it came about that the 80 gradient was allowed
but the subsidy was paid for that 80 gradient there ?-A. Certainly.

Q. And there were other gradients on other portions of the road of 66 and some
of 69 ?-A. Sixty something.

Q. And the subsidy was ail paid over with these high gradients? How did it
come that you took a basis of 63 when the basis was 63 up to 80 ?-A. Because I
took it under the contract.

Q. Have you the contract here ?-A. Yes.
Q.. Let us see it ? (Exhibit No. 26 put in).

Mr. SCHREIBER.
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By Mr. llaggart:

Q. Was this subsidy agreement amended by Order in Council?-A. It was.
Q. Have you the amendment ?-A. I fancy the order is here. (Exhibit No. 27.)
Q. Was there only one amendment ?-A. No, I think there were two. I think

there was an amendment about some culverts.
Q. There is an amendment from 63 feet, and the first must have been one to

amend it to 63 feet ?-A. I don't think so; I think it is in the contract.
Mr. BLAIR.-Yes, the contract says 69 feet.

By Mr. Borden :

Q. Would you be good enough to bring at our next meeting all reports made to
the Department of Railways or to the government by any engineer or officer in 1896
or 1897 with regard to the condition or value of the Drummond County Railway ?-
A. They are all here.

The Committee adjourned until Monday, 28th instant, at 11 o'clock a.m.

Mr. SCHREIBER.
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HoUSE OF COMIONs,
MO-NAY, 2Sth March, 1S9S.

Inquiry into expenditure of subsidies granted to the Drummond County Railway and
into the negotiations and transactions in relation to the acquiring of the said
railway by the Government of Canada, resumed.

The Committee met at 11 o'clock a.m.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHRIEBER, recalled, gave evidence as follows:-

By Mr. Powell :

Q. Mr. Schreiber you made this estimate of the cost of construction, where did
vou get your data ?-A. To what estimate do you refer ?

Q. That is the estimate you submitted to Mr. Blair for the Drummond County
Railway ?-A. From the plans and profiles.

Q. That is plans and profiles that were on file in the office ?-A. Yes.
Q. Who made the inspection of the forty-three miles of the road, Mr. MacLeod ?

-A. Mr. Macleod.
Q. Did you give him instructions in respect to the inspection ?-A. Yes.
Q. Were these in writing ?-A. I think so ; yes.
Q. Have you a copy of them ?-A. I think so.
Q. Are they here ?-A. I presume they are. I will look. Those two letters

meet the case, I think (Exhibits Nos. 28 and 29).
Q. Was there a contract entered into between the Drummond County Railway

Company and the government with respect to this last subsidy ?-A. The 42I miles;
yes, I put it in on Saturday.

Q. Did this contract call for a higher grade of railway than the contract with
respect to the former subsidies ?-A. I think not. I think it was the same so far as
the subsidy part of the contract was concerned.

Q. And the inspection was made by Mr. MacLeod vas in respect to the require-
ments of this subsidy ?-A. Yes, so far as that inspection is concerned.

Q. Did be make another inspection ?-A. He made other inspections.
Q. Has he made any inspection with respect to this road as regards the stan-

dard of the Intercolonil ?-A. He has ;1 think I put in bis report on Friday.
Q. He had instructions from the department to make this latter inspection had

he not ?-A. He had instructions to make a general inspection with regard to seeing
that the work is put through according to agreement.

Q. With regard to having it up to the standard of the Intereolonial Railway ?
-A. I think he saw the minister about it.

Q. Now, when Mr. LMacLeod got his instructions to make this inspection with
respect to bringing it up to the standard of the [ntereolonial Railway, had he not
instructions from the department ?-A. Nothing further than to see that it was up
to the standard.

Q. There were no instructions given him with respect to the standard of the
Intercolonial Railway ?-A. No. When he entered on the duties of inspecting, I
gave him some papers with respect to the standard of the Intercolonial Railway.

Mi. SCHREIBER.
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Q. The Intercolonial Railway is a road raised up pretty high for drainage and
winter purposes, is it not ?-A. Yes, it is a good road throughout.

Q. Have you been over the Drummond County Railway yourself ?-A. No, I
never saw it.

Q. And you cannot say whether the roadbed is as high as the roadbed of the
Intercolonial ?-A. With respect to the section east of Ste. Flavie the road is entire-
ly different. You can draw no comparison except with the section between Chaud-
ière Junction and Rivière du Loup and through to Isle Verte. It is a very flat coun-
try through from Chaudière Junction to Rivière du Loup, and it is a similar country
from Chaudière Junction over the greater part of the line towards Ste. Rosalie.

Q. Especially so towards Moose Park, would it not ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is, it is very low and level ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then there would be the greater necessity for raising the road in this low

country ?-A. It is always well to keep it well above the surface of the ground.
Q. There would be a greater necessity for having it high than for having the

ordinary portions of the Intercolonial high, would there not ?-A. Not than in the
sections 1 mentioned. But it would than down in the Nova Scotia section.

Q. You are not prepared to say from personal knowledge that the road bed from
Chaudière to Moose Park is as high as the Intercolonial from Chaudière to Rivière
du Loup ?-A. I do not think there is a very great difference, but I have not seen
this road.

Q. You cannot say fiom personal knowledge whether there is or not ?-A. I
have not been on the road.

Q. On the Intercolonial Railway, generally there is a large quantity of ballast;
it is a well ballasted road; especially between St. John and Halifax there is ballast
to the deptb of' feet ?-A. I think not.

Q. How much is there ?-A. About a foot under the ties.
Q. That is about 18 inches altogether ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you know whether that quantity is to be found on this new piece of

Drummond County road ?-A. I have not seen the road.
Q. And there is no information in your office to enable you to speak ?-A. I

could not say. According to Mr. MacLeod's report, the ballasting is not
finished.

Q. Coming to the old portion of the Drummond County line, there were two
grades mentioied in the contract submitted to parliament last year, one at St.
Francis River and the other at Carmel Hill ?-A. There is one at Drummondville,
80 feet te the mile, is that the one you refer to ?

Q. I do not know, but it is mentioned in the contract as at these two places ?-
A. Those grades will be reduced; some of them have been reduced and some of
them are to be. f have never been on the ground.

Q. Did you make any estimate, Mr. Schreiber, as to the probable cost of reduc-
ing these grades to the standard that you had fixed of 52-8 ?-A. Mr. MacLeod has;
I have not.

Q. You yourself do not know anything about it ?-A. No; you will flnd it all
in detail in his estimate.

Q. Do you know whether any work has been done on the old portion of the
road since the session of parliament, in 1897, to the present time other than the re-
duction of these two grades ?-A. On the old portion of the road ?

Q. Yes.-A. I think there has been ballasting done.
Mr. BLAIR.-They straightened out one part of the line.
THE WITNEss.-Some of the bridges have been strengthened to meet the require-

ments of the heavy rolling stock.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. And as the Minister has suggested the curvature has been lessened in one
place ?-A. The curves were upon these grades and in reducing the grades the
curves were improved.

Mr. SCiiREIBER.
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Q. Has anything been done in the way of widening the road bed ?-A. Mr.
MacLeod can speak as to that better than I can.

Q. It is useless to ask you questions if you have no pcrsonal knowledge of it?
-A. No; i bave no personal knowledge of it.

Q. What is the standard, Mir. Schreiber, of the Intercolonial Railway in respect
to sleepers?-A. Eight feet long, eight inches face and six inches thick.

Q. I do not wish to rmake a positive statement, if von do not recollect distinctly,
but is it not 9 feet long ?-A. It used to be 9 feet ; it was reduced to S fiet, but it may
possi bly have been again increased to 9 feet; I am not speaking of my own knowledge.

Q. Have you ever inspected the rolling stock of the Drunnond County Rail-
way ?-A. I have never seen it nor inspected it.

Q. You caused to be prepared a statement which was subnitted to the Senate
last year and has reference to the probable increase of traffic and the increase of
working expenses in connection with this lino being taken over as part of the new
system? Have you a copy of that with you ?-A. I do not think I have it bere but
I cari get it. You say it was a return made to the Senate ?

Q. Yes; I have it here from the Senate Hansard. Probably you can look at
that and see whether it is the same.-A. Yes; I have no doubt it is correct.

Q. That is the estimate you made ?-A. No doubt.
Q. Who prepared that ?-A. Mr. Pottinger and I did it together.
Q. Or did you prepare it separate and apait from Mr. Pottinger ?-A. No; I

think we were together, but I am not sure.
Q. You are not positive whether you prepared it together ?-A. I cannot re-

member, but I sec his name there and his name would not be there unless we pre-
pared it together.

Q. Might not Mr. Pottinger have prepared it and submitted it to you for signa-
ture?-A. I do not think so.

Q. Look at the working expenses. You provide for an increase in working ex-
penses owing to the connection with this new railway of $353,000. Now, on what
basis do you make this estimate ? On the basis of the Intercolonial?-A. On the
basis of the Intercolonial, but that does not apply to this section of the road only;
it applies to what we considered would be the increased business on the road gener-
ally. It would increase the expenses all through and not on this road alone.

Q. Would'nt the working expenses on this road be approximately proportion-
ate to the mileage of this road and of the Intercolonial ?-A. I think so.

Q. That would be a fair way of estimating it ?-A. Yes, on the basis cf what
we were expending in the past.

Q. What it is at the present time ?-A. No, what it would be with Ie in
creased business if we were correct in calculating that there would be an increase
of business which we thought there would be.

Q. You made no estimate of the amount of additional rolling stock that would
be required, did you, owing to taking over of this road ?-A. I did not; I think
there have been estimates made.

Q. Do you know Mr. Harris the traffic and passenger manager of the Inter-
colonial ?-A. Yes.

Q. You know he has given to the public statements that the rolling stock of the
Intercolonial was insufficient for its present purposes let alone any increase ?-A.
Yes, I bave heard bim say so.

Q. And he submitted that to the Miiiister in a letter which was afterwards
made public, did he not ?

MR. BLAIR.-I do not think so.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Do you recollect?
THE WITNES.-I do not remember having heard him say so.
Q. Then if the rolling stock is insufficient for the present purposes of the

Intercolonial there would be a considerable addition to the rolling stock required if
Mi. SCHREIBER.
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this road were taken over ?-A. Yes, if there was more business, more rolling stock
would be required.

Q. And the rolling stock approximately would be proportionate to the increase
in the mileage of the road ?-A. Not necessarily; it might be more than that. If
the business increased as we antieipated there would be a greater increase of rolling
stock than that.

Q. I would be putting it at the minimum when I say that the increase in the
rolling stock would be proportionate to the increase in mileage ?-A. I think so.

Q. Have you any data at hand in respect to tne rolling stock of the Iter-
colonial at present ?-A. We have the railway statisties which show it.

Q. We will get at the present mileage of the Intercolonial and the increased
mileage. The present mileage is about 1,150 miles?-A. Thereabouts.

MR. BLAIR.-1,142 miles.

By Mr. Powell:
Q. And the contemplated increase by taking over this line is what ?
The WITNEs.-153 miles, I think.
Q. Is it not more than that ?-A. Running into Montreal would add 36 miles, I

think.
Q. 153 miles is your estimate ?-A. I think that is rigbt.
Q. low manv engines have you at present on the Intercolonial ?-A. I do not

remember at the present moment, but it is on record.
Q. I think there are 212 ?-A. Somewhere about that; it is on record.
Q. On that basis they would require about 30 new engines ?-A. It is a simple

calculation ; it can be calculated very casily.
Q. if it is not too much bother, I would like you to give us an approximate

estinate ?-A. I can give it to you on paper. I would prefer to submit it afterwards
if it is not necessary to put it In just now.

Q. I will give you Ihe itemîs I require ?-the minimum, not the maximum
additions according to mileage of engines, box cars, flat cars, mail cars, first class
cars, second class cars, baggage cars, snow ploughs, flangers, sleeping cars, and I
believe it is contemplated to put on some dining cars.

Mr. BLAIR.-I think the figures are that for every six miles you vill require
another engine.

Mr. POwELL.-Or for every five miles.
Mr. BLAIR.-No, for every six miles.

By Mr. Powell:
Q. I would lilçe to ask if your contemplated estimate of the increased expense

made allowance for the increased tiaffie over the line generally ?-A. Yes.
Q. Now I will cal vour attention to Ihis particularly. Look at your state-

ment made 10 the Senate aid say whether or not, taking the mileage of the Inter-
colonial at present and tle increased mileage, would you say the inerease of working
expenses there contemplated an increased traffie on the Intercolonial gencrally ?-
A. That is my recollection. of course.

Q. Yes, but tliat was made over a year ago ?-A. Yes, that is my recollection.
Q. Now by the sworn returns that are made to your department, Mr. Sehreiber,

you are supposed to bave at least a fair and exact statement of the road in respect
to the different details that are mentioned ihere. You regard these reports as
reliable ?-A. They are sworn to.

Q. What tmount do you consider to be a fair allowance or fair cost for six
engines ?-A. It would depend on their size very much. They vary by power and
weight.

Q. Take a fair standard engine ?-A. Well, about $10,000 to $13,000 a piece.
Q. 88,000 would be a cheap valuation ?-A. I think it would.
Q. The second class cars, what would be a fair cost ?-A. They also vary on

different roads. On ours they are, I think, about $3,500.
Q. 8750 would be a very low estimate ?-A. A piece ?
Mr. SCIREIBER.
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Q. Yes ?-A. Weil I should think it would.
Ma. BLAIR.--That would be a second-hand car as well as a second-class car.
Q. What about first-class cars?-A. They also vary very mucli. Ours cost

about $6,000, and on sone smaller roads they cost $4,000.
Q. $4,000 would be a fair valuation ?-A. That is what tney cost on small roads.
Q. What is a fair valuation for boK cars ?-A. About five hundred dollars; for

large cars six hundred.
Q. Five hundred dollars would be low ?-A. Yes.
Q. Take baggage cars, what would be a fair valuation for them ?-A. $2,500

I should think.
Q. If we put it at $600 it would be low ?--A. I should think so.
Q. What cost would you put on flat cars?-A. They generally cost $120 less

than box cars.
Q. That is $375. To place the cost of 20 flats at $7,500 would be a fair estimate,

would it not?-A. I think so.
Q. What is the cost of a flanger?-A. 1 really forget now.
Q. Is $700 an extravagant estimate of the cost?-A. I do not think so.
Q. You would regard it as fair ?-A. I think so.
Q. A snow plough, what is the cost of it?-A. I really would not like to say

just now. I could tell better by referring to the records.
Q. I won't tic you to one or two hundred dollars, or three or four- for that

matter, give us what you regard as the mininiim ?-A. I cau not say.
Q. Would $1,200 be a low estimate ?-A. It would be very cheap.
Q. Then the two snow ploughs at $2,400 would be a very low estimate of their

cost ?-A. I think it would.
Q. Now, have you got the railway statements of 1897 there ?-A. On what ?
Q. On the Dru mmond County railway ?-A. No, you have them.
Q. Look at page 30, No. 23. Now, if you will just look over that and sec if I

have these figures right-two snow ploughs, they are right in the margin under the
head of remarks-one flanger, nine box cars, 20 flats, one baggage car, one first-elass
car, two second class tais, six engines. That would be the total amount of rolling
stock that is returned to the railway department as being owned, I do not say pos
sessed by the Drummond County railway ?-A. Yes.

Q. And according to the estimate that vou have given to me they total up
865,20?-A. I have no doubt these figures are correct.

Q. Now this auneut of $65,200, Mr. Schreiber, would be includled in the returns
of the Company for the total cost of construction of their railway, would it not ?-
A. I should think so. I think there is no doubt about it.

Q. Then when they make representations of the total cost it ineludes $65,0o
for rolling stock ?-A. It includes that, no doubt.

Q. And as I remember the terms of the contract before Parliament last session
this rolling stock was not included in the sale ?-A. No, it was not.

Q. We will go into this statement a little further-your ehtimate of increased
earnings; I suppose Mr. Schreiber that it was not contemplated in taking over this
Drumnond County road to generate any freight, but to capture it ?-A. To do
what ?

Q. It was not hoped to generate any traffie but to capture it ?-A. To capture it.
Q. You did not suppose that by the construction of this road there would be an

additional barrel of flour or a ton of freight that would be required by the Maritime
Provinces ?-A. No.

Q. It was simply by the construction of this road you hoped to deflect from
existing means of transportation the traffic to this line ?-A. Yes. You are now
speaking of local traffic when you say an additional barrel of flour.

Q. Let us understand our terms. By local traffie you would mean traffie
destined from Montreal or the West to points on the G-overnment railway system, or
from points on the Government railway system to Montreal or some point West of
Montreal ?-A. That is correct.

Mr. SCHREIBER.



631 Victoria. Appendix (No. 1.) A. 1898

Q. And by through traffic, you would mean traffic from the west for exporta-
tion from Atlantic sea ports ?-A. Yes.

Q. Then, Mr. Schreiber, it was not contemplated by you in making up this esti-
mate that there would be created one ton or one pound of additional traffl ?-A. No,
not by reason of acquiring this road ; that is to say we expected to divert traffic
from other routes.

Q. That means to capture traffic ?-A. Yes, capture it.
Q. Then the only diversions would be from the Canadian Pacific Railway or the

Grand Trunk Railway ?-A. And from the boats.
Q. That would be in the summer time "-A. Yes.
Q. Thon so far as the Grand Trunk and Canadian Pacific Railway are concerned

all the traffic you would hope to get appears in some way or other in the present
returns of the Intercolonial Railway, either as through traffic via St. John or via
Chaudière?-. No, I do not think so. I think we expected to capture traffic
going by Portland and other ports.

Q. I am not speaking of oceanic traffic ?-A. Are you not.
Q. Thon every pound of freight shipped from a point on the Intercolonial

to-day to points west of St. John or Chaudière whieh you could hope to capture
appears in the freight statistics of the Intercolonial Railway in some way ?-A. No,
I do not think so. They do not cover steamboats running to the maritime provinces.

Q. With that exception it does ?-A. Yes.
Q. When you made up your estignates of increased traffic had you before you

the statistics of freight transportation by water courses to the maritime provinces
from the St. Lawrence ?-A. I do not think so.

Q. It was better to go it blind ?-A. Not necessarily so.
Q. Do you know to-day, sir, what amount of freight is shipped to the maritime

provinces via the St. Lawrence water courses, via Montreal or Quebec or other
points, the traffic from which could be diverted for the Intercolonial ?-A. No,
but we would endeavour to divert as much as possible.

Q. That is a general question ; had you statistics of what you could divert or
hoped to divert ?-A. No, we had not.

Q. Then this estimate is developed from a trained imagination ?-A. No, we
had information before us at the time.

Q. You don't appear to have had any information as to the St. Lawrence route ?
-A. Yes, we had.

Q. You told me a moment ago that you had not ?-A. We had some statisties,
but I do not know what we made use of at the time.

Q, You told me you had them before you at the time?-A. No, I did not.
Q. Then you have no idea of the amount of that traffic ?-A. No, I do not

remember at all.
Q. And you were in a position to successfully compete with the steamers going

to the Maritime Provinces ?-A. We would make an effort to socure all the business
we possibly could.

Q. As a man of lengthy experience in railway matters is the hope of capturing
that traffie not almost visionary ?--A. We have in the past captured traffic that has
gone down by boats.

Q. And what you captured you held ?-A. For sometime, and after a time we
might lose it.

Q. Now. under the circumstances of this contract as submitted to parliament had
you not as abundant facilities to capture that traffic from Quebec and all points east
of that as you would have to-day if this contract was carried out to Montreal ?-A.
We did not think so, or we would not have been in favour of extending it to Montreal?

Q. I say from the City of Quebec or points east, take Chaudière or Lévis; from
Lévis and points east on the St. Lawrence were you not in as good a position, with
the facilities you had, to capture that traffic at the time this contract was sub-
mitted to parliament as you would be if the railway was extended to Montreal ?-
A. I think so.

Mr. SCHREIBER.
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Q. Then all the portion of the marine transportation you would hope to capture
would be from Montreal and from points between Montreal and Lévis ?-A. Yes,
west of Quebee.

Q. Had you any hope when you submitted ibis estimate to parliament of cap-
turing the traffie by water from points west of Montreal ?-A. We should make u
great effort to do so.

Q. Would you not regard it as a hopeless effort ?-A. No, I have no doubt we
should capture some.

Q. Would you not be in as precisely as good a position to capture that water
freight which originated west of Montreal-would you not have as good a chance
for that at Lévis as at Montreal ?-A. We did not think so.

Q. Wotuld you not?-A. We did not think so. We thought we would be more
likely to get it in the city of Montreal than at Lévis.

Q. Just please describe the condition of atlairs that would lead you to make
such an assertion as that ?-A. I believe it would be a great advantage to have our
trains running freight into a big mercantile city like Montreal, and that we would
be more likely to capture traffic there than we would at Lévis.

Q. I am talking about traffle originating west of' Montreal on vater lines;
would yon be in any better position to compete for that at Montreal than at Lévis ?
-A. Well,

Q. Don't you know you would not, Mr. Schreiber ?-A. That is a difficult ques-
tion to answer.

Q. And the answer will be so difficult that you would not feel like basing very
much of a scientific calculation upon imaginary data?-A. I think we would be in a
better position to capture it in Montreal than at Lévis.

Q. The maritime steamers or the steamers that go to the maritime provinces
start from Montreal ?-A. Yes.

Q. Have you any figures at all as to the freight they carry from Montreal ?-A.
I do not remember now how much they carry.

Q. We have been speaking of the local freight; now we come to the foreign
freight. You hoped also to capture part of the freight imported into and exported
from Canada ?-A. We hoped to do so.

Q. And that entered into the computation you made ?-A. Yes.
Q. Where did you contemplate the shipment and delivery of this freight ?-A.

Both at St. John and Halifax-the greater portion of it at Halifax.
Q. And your competing lines for that would be the Grand Trunk and the Cana-

dian Pacifie Railway.-A. Yes, I think so.
Q. The Grand Trunk for the receipt and shipment at Portland and the Canadian

Pacifie Railway, for the receipt and shipment at St. John? Against what;odds would
you have to contend in respect to mileage ?--A. I think we woulk have 90 miles
against us at Halifax and about 250 at St. John.

Q. And how much at Portland ?-A. Portland and Rivière du Loup are about the
same distance from Montreal.

Q. What would be the mileage ?-A. I forget what the distance is from Halifax
to Rivière du Loup.

Mr. BORDEN.-From Montreal to St. John it is 487 miles, from Montreal to
Portland 297 miles, and from Montreal to Halifax 841 miles.

Mr. BLAIR.-The difference would be between 500 and 600 miles.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. In order to compete with the Canadian Pacific Railway suecessfully you
would have to deliver freight at Halifax at precisely, or at all events, very nearly
the same rates as the Canadian Pacifie Railway, or at as low rates as the Canadian
Pacifie Railway would deliver freight at St. John ?-A. Somewhere in the same
neighbourhood.

Q. That is, you would have to carry for the same rates freight 254 miles further ?
-A. Yes.

Mr. SCHREIBER.
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Q. In other words, if the Canadian Pacifie Railway had a fair business rate on
freight from Montreal to St. John you would have to carry, in order to compel e with
them, freight 254 miles for nothing ?-A. Well, if the rates were the same we would.

Q. You could not charge higher rates, could you ?-A. Not much higher.
Q. And as against Portland you would have to carry it 544 miles for nothing ?

-A. Between 500 and 600 miles, the difference between Portland and Halifax.
Q. Now, Mr. Schreiber, if the Grand Trunk Railway delivered freight at fair

business rates at Portland from Montreal and points west, you would, in order to
compete with them, have to deliver freight at Halifax at a loss, would you not ?-A.
I do not think we would make much.

Q. Candidly, in order Io compete with them, sir, would you not have to deliver
freight at a loss ?-A. I think we would if we carried it at the same rate.

Q. Now, sir, we come again to oceanie rates; do you know if freights are cheaper
at Portland than at St. John or Halifax ?-A. I do not know what the rates are at
the present time. I do not know what the winter rates are at these ports.

Q. You do not know that ?-A. No, I do not know that of my own personal
knowledge.

Q. The Canadian Pacifie Railway, so far as stragetic position is concerned, is in
as good a position to capture this ocean traffic as you could hope to be by the exten-
sion of the line into Montreal ?-A. I think they are.

Q. Can you tell me what portion of oceanic freight has been carried by the Can-
adian Pacifie Railway during the year ended 30th June, 1897 ?-A. No, I do not
remember.

Q. It is published in the railway report here, I think, if I can put my finger on
it, for tbis last year ?-A. You mean over the Intercolonial.

Q. Yes; just give us how many tons of ocean freight came up by way of the
Canadian Pacifie Railway and the Intercolonial during the year ended 30th June,
1897 ?-A. Over the Intercolonial via Chaudière, I think 2,654 tons; by St. John
263 tons; local 17,239 tons.

Q. We are not speaking of local, but simply through freight. Ail you could
have hoped to capture by the extension of the line into Montreal last year of oceanie
freight was 263 tons ?-1 don't see that at ail.

Q. Weil, just look at the statement.-A. I know that is ail that went in that
direction, but probably we would have captured a good deal that went to Portland.

Q. You are in hopes of capturing it?-A. Yes.
Q. Even by carrying freight for nothing 544 miles ?-A. I could not say what

we would carry it for.
Q. Now as a practical man, Mr. Schrieber, don't you know that the geographical

position is too much against the Intercolonial railway to ever hope to compete with
the Grand Trunk ?-A. I think geography is against us.

Q. And don't you think that it is absolutely idle to hope to ever capture that
trade, candidly ?-A. It would be difficult to capture it, no doubt.

Q. But as a business man, looking to gain, taking that as an element into con-
sideration, is it not so ?-A. Well, trade will take the cheapest route.

Q. And you regard the cheapest route as by way of Portland ?-A. It has been,
so far.

Q. And don't you regard it, sir, as likely to be in future ?-A. I think if a fast
hne of steamers were put on, to Halifax, we would capture a good deal of business.

Q. You might then hope to capture some ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is, provided freights were such as to enable you, owing to subsidies,

to give shippers some corresponding advantage in ocean freights?-A. Yes.
Q. But that would require that there should be some corresponding reduction

in ocean freights ?-A. There should be some advantage.
Q. And an advantage only to be got by subsidizing ocean steamers to enable it

to be done ?-A. I don't know that.
Q. I would call your attention to the fact that heretofore there was a subsily

to steamers calling ai Halifax ?-A. Yes.
Mr. SCHREIBER.



Drunmond Couty Railway Inquiry.

Q. And since the Canadian Pacific Railway began to run their line to St. John
also?-A. Yes.

Q. And you had several years' trial otthis?-A. Yes.
Q. You had eight or ten years' trial at least ?-A. No, the Canadian Pacific

ine to St. John was only opened in 1890.
Q. Well, at least you had seven years' trial. Now during these seven years as

an experiment did you succeed in diverting to the Intereolonial Raiihvay from Port-
land more traffiu than now?-A. I had given the figures.

Q. And has it not been continually dwindling ?-A. It has of recent years.
Q. And neither yourself nor the Canadian Pacific Railway could hold it ?-

A.
Mr. BLAIR.-These statements show that the traffic nearly doubled this year

over last, and doubled thon over the year before, by the Canadian Pacific Railway to
St. John, and though Portland is so much shorte!' and cheaper, and trade is sure to
follow the cheapest route it tis strange this happened at St. John.

Mr. PowELL.-Yes, by subsidies to the Beaver line.
Q. Now, so far as passengers are concerned we will look at that. Do you

remember what -was to be the increased traffle in passengers ?-A. I do not.
Q. What you said of freight would be largely true of passenger traffie, would it

not ?-A. Well, I do not know. I think we are carrying a good many immigrants
yearly after navigation in the St. Lawrence closes.

By Mr. McIsaac ;

Q. Assuming that what Mr. Powell says is correct, that the extension of the
road from Lévis to Montreal would not gain the road additional freight, then it
would follow that the extension from River dru Loup to Lévis was a mistake F-A.
Well, if it does not increase our traffie.

Q, The conditions would be the same ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Borden :

Q. Halifax has considerable advantage over Portland so fat as being an ocean
port ?-A. Yes.

Q. I understand from steamship men iii Halifax that four or five years ago
they were able to send by way of Halifax all the freight they could get. I am
speaking of Messrs. Pickford & Black ?-A. You are now speaking of four or five
years ago?

Q. Yes.-A. Well, there were times when we could not get sufficient steamers.
Q. What I want to understand is why, if that was so one year, it should not be

continued. What was the exceptional circumstances that year that made it so ?-
A. I do not remember, though I know it was so.

Q. If I understand it rightly it was because they were able to get that year
through rates over the Grand Trunk to points west of Montreal ?-A. I do not
rem.ember the reason but I remember the circumstances.

By Mr. Blair :

Q. Under the traffic agreement with the Grand Trunk we have a mileage basis
with them, have we not, for western traffie ?-A. We now have.

Q. Fixed and immovable, I may say, by contract?-A. Yes, I think we have an
agreement to that effect.

Q. Now, then, you rely somewhat for an inereased traffie over the Intercolonial
Railway upon an active and progressive policy, do you not, on the part of the man-
agement ?-A. It must be so or we will not get the traffie.

Q. And you do not despair ut all but that Halifax inay ultimately, under the
Intercolonial Railway, become a port of some importance for through traffic?-A. If
fast steamers are put on better traffic is certain.

Mr. SCHREIBER.
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Q. The proposition which Mr. Powell bas presented to you and the conclusions
he bas made, if generally applied, would go to show that no railway can compete
with any other railway, would it not ?-A. It would go to show that the railway
with the longer distance would not be able to compete with the shorter line.

Q. And the railways might lay down, so to speak, and give up the ghost; and
no one would enter on railway ventures, if such were the case ?-A. Yes.

Mr. PowELL.-When you go 400 odd miles further around to cut across.
Q. Now do you see any reason why it would not be possible for us, with traffie

arrangements with the Parry Sound Railway, they having a large arnount offfreight,
to secure a portion of that traffic for the Intercolonial Railway ?-A. We expect to.
get some of that. That is a matter which has been discussed.

Q. Discussed with the Parry Sound people and which we will further consider?
-A. Yes.

Q. And are trying to make arrangements accordingly ?-A. That is the idea.
That is the Canada Atlantic and Parry Sound I am referring to.

Q. Mr. Powell bas pointed out to you that the traffic over the Intercolonial last
year was so much, and that you could not hope to get any additional business with-
out you took sone portion of that traffie out of that total; was that the way be
presented it?-A. What I understood him to ask was whether I depended on
capturing traffic or expected increased traffic. It was really to capture traffic; any
we secured from the Canada Atlantic would be captured traffic.

Q. You made an estimate here, in conference with Mr. Pottinger, of probable
increased amount of traffic after the extension should be in full working order ?-
A. Yes.

Q. You counted in that upon a substantial increase of the business ofthe coun-
try ?--A. Well, I do not remember as regards that.

Q. Do you know how immense has been the increased tonnage carried over ou
railways this year as compared with others ?-A. I believe it bas been considerable.

Q. And last year as compared with the year before?-A. 1 do not remember.
Q But you know that last year's has been very considerable ?-A. Yes.
Q. Speaking from rocollection, you cannot tell me just what the figures are?-

A. No.
Q. In speaking of the comparison of probable rates on the carriage of freight

from Montreal to St. John compared with rates from Montreal to Halifax there is
something to be taken into account for the shorter ocean voyage from Halifax, is
there not?-A. Yes.

Q. Do you happen to know in a general way, what is the advantage to Halifax
over St. John in ocean freights for tbe ocean portion ?-A. No, I do not.

Q. But whatever difference there would be it would be allowed to the railway
carriage for the additional mileage ? A. Yes.-Whatever the difference is, but I do
not know what that difference is.

Q. In carrying freights by either the Canadian Pacifie Railway or the Grand
Trunk, both of these railways would be under the necessity of realizing, in addition
to actual cost of carriage, a sum sufficient to pay a dividend upon their capital, and
interest an their bonded debt, would they not ?-A. That is what they are doing,
paying dividends, and they must carn it, I suppose.

Q. In operating the Intercolonial we have no capital stock to pay dividend on
and no bonded indebtedness on which to pay interest ?-A. I am afraid we have not
paid any.

Q. So we could probably t-iko that into account as another element in compet-
ing with them over a national highway, could we not ?-A. That would be an
advantage, at any rate.

Q. Could we run on a smaller margin of profit ?-A. If you do not propose to
pay interest on capital you could.

Q. We never have, have we ?-A. No.
Q. lb bas never been considered imperative to pay interest on the bonded debt

of the Intercolonial ?-A. We have done our best to make the road pay.
Mr. SCHREIBER.
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Q. Your best to make both ends meet?-A. Yes.
Q. You have not anticipated the possibility of paying interest on the amount

the road cost? A. I have not considered that matter.

By .Mr. Powell:

Q. In the past experience of the road, while you have never endeavoured to pay
interest on the bonds of Canada for indebtedness incurred in the construction of that
road, have you ever eut rates below the rates of the Grand Trunk and Canadian
Pacifie Railway which do business on business principles ?-A. Well, our general
tariff is lower than either of those roads.

Q. On through traffie?-A. On through traffic we have carried lower than
those roads.

Q. Lower per mile ?-A. Yes.
Q. But as to the total carriage between St. John or Halifax and Lévis is that

less than theirs?-A. i do not think so.
Q. And has never been up to theirs ?-A. Not per mile, but in the aggregate.
Q. And the rates on the Intercolonial have been generally as much as the

country would stand?-A. Well, if we raise them a little there is always a good
deal of trouble about it.

Q. But as a matter of fact they have been fair- business rates, have they not ?-
A. I think it costs just as much to carry the traffic of the Intercolonial as it does to
carry the traffic on the Grand Trunk Railway or the Canadian Pacifie Railway.

Q. And while you have not made much out of the line, you have charged fair
business rates in your tariffs?-A. I do not think the Grand Trunk or Canadian
Pacifin Railway are too high.

Q. And wherever you enter into competition you have practically the same
rates as they have ?-A. Sometimes we aro lower per mile.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. With regard to your estimate (Exhibit No. 15) that is an estimate of what
you should pay for terminals to the Grand Trunk at Montreal, I see you include
$30,000 for proportionate workshops ?-A. Yes.

Q. I do not think the contract last year gave you the right to use the work-
shops?-A. I think it did.

Q. You think it did ?-A. Yes; at any rate I included it in my estimate. There
is no doubt about that.

Q. It is not included in clause 4 of the agreement last year; I do not say it is
very important ?-A. There is no doubt it was intended to be included.

Mr. BLAiR.-They give us the right to put our machinery, engines and loco-
motives in to be repaired, and we are only required to pay the actual cost of
material the same as they.

Mr. BORDEN.-That is dealt with in another paragraph.
Mr. BLAIR.-The 21st and 22nd clauses are probably what you refer to.
The WITNEss.-These include the terminals and other facilities at Pointe St.

Charles.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. I do not think that would include it, for so many things are distinctly
specified, such as engine-house, car-house and sheds?-A. That is what I understood
it to mean.

Q. Look at Exhibit No. 15. I observe that you take half the cost of 4 miles of
railway, $320,000; namely, $160,000, and you take half the cost of the passenger
station, while you take the whole cost of all the other portions. Explain why th is
is ?-A. I do not remember the reason just now, but I considered our present traffic
would require the use of what I have covered by my estimate.

Mr. SCHREIBER.
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Q. The proportion of user by the Intercolonial would of course be much smaller
than the proportion of user by the Grand Trunk ?-A. Very much.

Q. Can you give us any figures as to that ?-A. I could not just now. It would
be a very much smaller proportion.

Q. Coming to clause 35 in that agreement before you, which deals with the case
of betterments and additional works, what was the reason for arranging to pay 5
per cent of half the cost rather than a proportion of the cost based on user or
wheelage ?-A. My recollection of that is this, that if the company chose to make
any improvements or enlargement of their works in any way which was not called
for by the government we would not have to pay for any portion ofit. It was only
such improvements as the minister approved of.

Mr. BLAIR.-And in writing declared necessary.

By Mr. Borden :

Q. Assuming that that is true, it is undoubtedly true that the Grand Trunk
would use thern a great deal more than you would ?-A. They might not necessarily
do so; we might use them exclusively; it might so bappen.

Q. But the extreme probability is that they would use them more than you
would ?-A. They might do so, their business is greater than ours.

Q. lI the 3rd, 7th and 19th clauses you will sec that the cost of maintenance
and some other things are based on wheelage or user ?-A. Yes.

Q. What I want to get at is the reason why that principle was not applied to
clause 35 ?-A. I cannot tell vou.

Q. You have it that way in the temporary agreement ?-A change has been
made in that respect ?-A. I think it is according to wheelage now.

Q. That is in the temporary agreement ?-A. I think so.
Q. There is another clause that I would like you to look at for the purpose of

directing your attention to it. It seems to me a little dangerous in the old agree-
ment; I do not know whether it is changed or not in the new agreement. Clause
8:- That cach of the parties hereto shall be responsible for accidents or casualties
upon or to its own trains, or for damages that may occur Io live stock or to persons
walking on the track if there be any liability therefor, and which shall result by
reason of or on account of any imperfection of track or misplacement of switches."
The Grand Trunk Railway, as I understand, are to maintain the track ?-A. Yes,
they are to maintain it.

Q. And they are to have charge of the switches ?-A. Yes, they are to have
charge of the switches. It would not do for two district authorities to have charge
of the switches.

Q. The difficulty which I have to suggest is that if any switches are misplaced,
by reason of the neglect of the Grand Trunk, you would be responsible for any
damages to your own trains ?-A. They would be responsible to us for any damage
on their own track.

Q. Do you regard the arrangemerts respecting freight west of Montreal, as to
which there is a change in the present temporary agreement, as of any advantage
to the govern ment ?-A. Do you mean the change made in the temporary agreement ?

Q. Yes.-A. That was objected to, it was considered important.
Q. Do you consider that an advantage of great i mportance or of any considerable

importance ?-A. i think it is of some importance.
Q. Can you give us any idea as to what practical advantage it would be in dollars

and cents ?-A. No, I could not.
Q. You could not give us that ?-A. No, I could not.
Q. Respecting the estimate you made and as to which Mr. Powell asked you

some questions, as to the local business over the line from 3Montreal to Ste. Rosalie,
do you regard that as of much importance to the Intercolonial ?-A. Well, we shall
get considerable passenger traffic, I think.

Q. You think you will ?-A. Yes, 1 think so.
Q. How many Grand Trunk trains run over that line ?-A. I do not know.
Q. They would run over it more than you would ?-A. I think so.
Mr. SCHREIBER.



Driummond Countv Railway Inquiry.

Q. Speaking of the gerneral estimate here, how much of the increased revenue
would you estimate to come from what you call through business, and what from
local ?-A. I could not tell .you now.

Q. Can you give me an idea approximately ?-A. No.
Q. Did you work this estimate out from any written data ?-A. I do not think so.
Q. And you could not give me any idea whatever as to the relative increase in

through and local traffic ?-A. No, I could not.
Q Would you think the increase in through traffic would be greater or less

than the local business?-A. I think the increase in through traffi would be
greater.

Q. On both passenger and freight, or on freight only ?-A. On freight.
Q. How about passengers ?-A. If fast steamers were to rua to Halifax and

make that their terminus I think passenger traffie would increase largely.
Q. As to the expected increase in revenue, it will to a considerable extent depeni

on the establishment of a fast line from Halifax ?-A. Yes.
Q. To a very considerable extent ?-A. To some extent.
Q. I think we asked you on Friday to bring reports, and you said yoa had them

the last reports made in 1896 and 18:ý7 on the Drummond County Railway ?-A.
There are Mr. Kingsford's reports, there are Mr. MacLeod's, and there are Mr.
Ridout's reports (Exhibits Nos, 30, 31 and 32 respectivelv).

Q. I suppose these reports show the dates at which the examinations and
inspections were made ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Powell:
Q. Mr. Schreiber, did you take any steps to determine the probable amount of

user of the terminal facilities of the Grand Trunk Railway by the Grand Trunk, by
the Intercolonial Railway and bv other roas using the sane ? Did you look into
that matter at all?-A. Yes, we discussed the matter, but I do not remember as to
the figures.

Q. Did you go into the flgures?-A. We looked into the tine tables, bat f do not
think we went into anything so far as trains.

Q. Now under that agreement subnitted to Parliament, do you remnember what
was the arrangement with respect to local passenger traffic between Montreal and
Ste. Rosalie ?-A. I do not remember now.

Q. There was no understanding with the Intercolonial to put on local trains?-
A. No, but 1 think it was supposed that we were able to do it ander the agreement.
I do not recollect what the clause of the agreement was.

Mr. BLAIR.-We have no right to run trains short of Ste. Rosalie under our
contract.

Q. To revive your recollection, Mr. Schreiber, if you look at sections 15 andl6
in the contract does that give you the right to run local trains ?-A. No, but we
would have the right to run trains to our line at Ste. Ilosalie, and return to Montrea
but we could not run them half way, and return.

Q. Trains nust run to Ste. Rosalie ?-A. Yes.
Q. What you terra a ihrough train, it must run to Ste. Rosalie ?-A. Yes.
The witness put in a copy ofthe temporary agreement between the governmen

and the Grand Trunk Railway. (Exhibit No. 34.)

Mr. PETER S. ARCHIBALD recalled

By Mr. Borden:

Q. Mr. Archibald you were for some years chief engineer of the Intercolonial
Railway ?-A. Yes, for about twenty years.

Q. Are you familiar with the general standard of the Intercolonial ?-A. Yes.
Mr. ARCHIBALD.1-6
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Q. Would you tell us about the standard of embankments on the Intercolonial?
-A. Well, eighteen feet wide.

Q. And what is to be said about the slope ?-A. The slope is one and a half to
one.

Q. Is that usual ?-A. Yes, but in many places it is a great deal more than that
now.

Q. What about the cuttings and slopes of cuttings ?-A. The slopes of cuttings
are one and one-half to one.

Q. What do you know about the drainage of the Intercolonial ?-A. It is very
efficient. Embankments and cuttings are well drained.

Q. The ditching ?-A. Yes, the side ditches and the connecting water ditches
are all in very good shape.

Q. What about the height of the road, the raising of the road so as to be clearof
water ?-A. The road-bed is well elevated above the road. As we say it is not
soaked and does not heave to the same extent as a road not so well elevated.

Q. What about the ballast on the Intercolonial ?-A. The ballast is now very
good, nearly throughout its whole length. It has been verygreatly improved during
the past 15 years.

Q. In what way ?--A. Gravel ballast bas been employed to cover up the sand
and to cover up also defeclive ballast.

Q. Was there any sand ballast on the Intercolonial at one time ?-A. Therewere
nearly 50 miles.

Q. Was that a difficulty ?-A. Yes, it made the road d usty and cut the machin-
ery, the rolling stock.

Q. How would it do that ?-A. Well the sand flies in dry weather, gets into the
machine parts of the locomotive, and makes a greater friction.

Q. What was done about it ?-A. The road was raised and the sand covered up
with ashes and in most cases with gravel.

Q. Is there any particular dupth of ballast which you require on the Inter-
colonial ?-A. About what Mr. Schreiber gives, about a foot under the ties, but I
think it is a little more than that by standard ; but there is a standard section in
print where it can be seen exactly.

Q. What is the standard as to sleepers-ties ?-A. For the last 15 years they
have been nine feet ties, and six by eight inches square ; they are rectangular in shape.

Q. Is tbere any advantage in having them square ?-A. We always considered
there was.

Q. What advantage is there ?-A. The frost comes out more unifor-mly in the
road-bed with ties of uniform size than where the ties are of a different size.

Q. Is there any ndvantage in having them nine feet in length rather than seven
or eight feet ?-A. [ consider there is. The weight is distributed over a greater
surface, and as rolling stock is increasing still more, it is important to bave them
long.

Q. What about the rails ?-A. The standard rail on the Intercolonial is 67 lbs.
1o the yard, or was when I left.

Q. Tbe difference between that and 70 Ibs. would be?-A. Fourtons to the mile.
Q. And the rails cost how much ?-A. The lowest cost was $20 delivered at St.

John or- IIalifax.
Q. A little more than foui tons ?-A. Between four and five tons.
Q. What is the difference in cost between eight foot and nýine foot ties ?-A.

Eight foot flatted such as Mr. Schreiber described ?
Q. Yes.- A. There bas been an average difference of about four cents.
Q. low nany are there to the mile ?-A. 2,640.
Q. What about the station buildings on the Intercolonial and their foundations ?

-A. The standard calls for stone foundations under all station buildings.
Q. You made some observation on a portion of the Drummond County line ?-

A. Yes.
Q. You told us that it was the new portion from Chaudière to Moose Park ?-

4. Yes.
Mr. ARCHIBALD.
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Q. From the observation you made could you tell us anything about the parti-
culars you have mentioned here; the embankments, for instance ?-A. Well, the
embankments are very low and they are soaked full of water. The water is not kept
away from them. The ditches are entirely too, near the track. The enbankments
are too narrow, and the ballast I consider not up to the standard of the In utercolonial.
One strip of it is ballasted with fine sand, which should be covered up, I think.

Q. To bring that up to the standard of the Intercolonial would they have to
have a better ballast?-A. Yes, it would be very disagreeable to passengers, not to
say anything of the wear and tear of the rolling stock.

Q. Did you observe the ditching?-A. Yes.
Q. What do you say about that ?-A. 1 say a good deal of ditching sbould be

donc to bring it up to the standard of the Intercolonial.
Q. And the elevation of the road ?-A. The elevation of the road is generally

too low. lit the winter time it is very difficult to maintain and keep it clear of
snow, it is so low down.

Q. Why does the elevation of the road assist in regard to keeping it clear of
snow ?-A. There is generally wind with snow, and with embankments well up the
snow is carried over and leaves the traek clear; when it is low down it is not carried
over. It is well illustrated on the North Shore road as conpared with the Drum-
mond County roal, which is set well up with enbankments.

Q. That is the Canadian Pacific Railway between Montreal and Quebec ?-A.
Yes.

Q. You have been .ver that ?-A. Yes.
Q. Anid the elevation a- compared with the Drummond County road ?-A. Is

very murch higher.
Q. What about the sleepers on the Drumnmond County line ; can youi tell us any-

thing about thai ?-A. They are about what Mr. Schreiber described. I would not
swear to the length. It appeaire to me they are about 7 feet on the old portion of
the road from Moose Park this way, and I think they were 8 feet below that.

Q. Could you tell whether thev were square ?-A. They were flatted.
Q. What is the difference between flatted and square ?-A. The sleeper is flatted

on two sides; that is what we call flatted, and a square sleeper is hown on the four
sides.

Q. You mean that the flatted sleeper is flatted on the upper and lower sides and
not on the outside; that is on the sides which are perpendicular ?-A. No.

Q. The difference in that is when the frost comes out ?-A. Yes, that is the
chief difficulty.

Q. What about station buildings on the part of the road you observed ?-A.
They are a very cheap class of buidings.

Q, How as to foundations ?-A. I think there are no foundations under any of
them; I did iot observe any; I observed posts under a considerable number.

Q. What kind of foundations are there on the Intercolonial ?-A. Stone founda-
tions.

Q. These are posts instead of stone foundations?-A. Generally.
Q. Could you speak as to culverts and bridges from your examination ?-A. No,

I could not. The bridges, as far as I cou ld see, are substantial.
Q. What about the culverts ?-A. They did not look very substantial, but I

would require to make a further examination to speak of them.
Q. What about the fencing?-A. There was no fencing for a long distance-for

some 20 muiles.
Q. That would be required, would it not ?-A. I should think so.
Q. What would be the cost of feneing ?-A. About $2 a rod.
Q How mueh would that bo per mile ?-A. $2 a roci on both sides is $1 a rod

on each side-I suppose about $40 a mile.
Q. Could you give us any idea what it would cost to raise and ballast that por-

tion of the line between Chaudière and Moose Park?-A. I could give you some
idea, but it would not be very valuable, perhaps. I should judge, from my experi-

Mr1. ARcHIBALD.
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ence in doing similar work on the Intercolonial, that $1,500 a mile would be a
reasonable amount.

Q. To raise and ballast it ?-A. Yes.
Q. These 42 miles froin Chaudière to Moose Park, or any line ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. What rate per mile did you come along that road, thirty or forty miles
an hour ?-A. Twenty-five or thirty miles an hour.

Q. Was it not over thirty miles an hour ?-A. I did not time it.
Q. And you have ventured to give these opinions here, having only gone over

the road once and gone over it at the rate of between thirty and forty miles an hour?
-A. Yes.

Q. I suppose, Mr. Arcbibald, vou have not been anxious to make the condition
of the road any worse than it is?-A. No.

Q. You have been anxious to give us an impartial, caln judicial statement of
your examination?-A. I have been anxious to tell the truth.

Q. After this lightning flight through the country then, you say the Intercol-
onial -Railway standard tie is 9 feet long and 6 x 8 ?-A. I said it was the standard
at the time I left.

Q. Don't you know that a year before you left you put down many thousands
of 8-foot ties on the Intereolonial?-A. Not on the main line.

Q. What portion did yon put them down on ?-A. From Halifax to Quebec I
call the main line.

Q. Where did you put those 8-foot sleepers in ?-A. In Cape Breton, where 8-
foot sleepers bad already been put in.

Q. And you think that they do not require on the Cape Breton end of the line
between Syndey and Mulgrave the saine quality of sleeper that they do on the
other road ? A. No, I did not say that.

Q. It has been customary for- the Intercolonial to buy 8-foot sleepers all these
years ?-A. No, it has not.

Q. To use some and get 9-feet ties when you can ?-A. No, it bas not. I think
the practice bas been very opposite.

Q. Within the last five years that you were in the employ of the Intercolonial
was there any one year in which the Intercolonial Railway did not purchase 8-foot
sleepers.-A. Yes.

Q. What year was that during the last five years, I want you to say ?-A. For
main line pu-poses?

Q. For Intercolonial Railway purposes.-A. You can use tics of that kind on
sidings.

Q. No, but as you bave used them in Cape Breton ?-A. Not on the main line.
Q. Not on the main line between Halifax and Quebec ?-A. And not on the

main Une of Cape Breton, not on any portion of the line. Our general manager has
been protesting against it under any consideration.

Q. I ask whether yo did not every year during the five years preceding your
retirement fromi the position you occupied on the Intercolonial Railway, buy 8-foot
sleepers and put them in on other than sidings ?-A. No, I do not think so.

Q. Can you say now that there was no one year of these five years in which
ties were not purchased of that size and put down ?-A. I would not swear to one
or two hundred ties or something of that kind, but I would swear generally that
there were not. About two years ago prices were very low and a cheap lot of that
kind was offered in Cape Breton. Tbey were so cbeap and were offered at such a
favourable price that I recommended the purchase of them.

Q. You recommended them very strongly ?-A. Yes.
Q. You did not think that they were so objectionable ?-A. At that price and

putting them in amongst 8-foot ties already in the track.
Q. It is a question of price ?-A. They coul4 not have been laid with standard.

ties; I never recommended that.
Mr. ARCIBALD.
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Q. How could that possibly alter the case?-A. Because it does not look well
to have 8-foot ties scattered among 9-foot ties. It makes a bad road altoget her.

Q. Then the sentimental idea would be the chief consideration ?-A. No.
Q. It would not be a question of durability or safety but of looks ?-A. No, it

would be a question of efficiency. With flatted ties put in between square ties the
action of the frost would be very decided.

Q. Are you speaking of flatted ties now?-A. I an speakingr of both.
Q. I was asking about 8-foot ties. Ail desirable ties are not flatted tie.?-A.

I never heard of any 8-foot ties being made square. They are not brouglit out for
the Intercolonîial.

Q. You never heard ofany ?-A. Not in our part of the country.
Q. You have never heard of any anywhere ?-A. No.
Q. Then ail 8-foot ties are flatted ?-A. Yes, so fair as my experience goes.
Q. You think it would be unfavourable from the point of loolks ?-A. Yes, and

from that of efficiency as well.
Q. To have 8-foot ties interspersed anongst 9-foot ties. You have said that

there was no fencing on a portion of this line when vou carne up here. Was that
not through the foiest ?-A. Yes.

Q. Speaking about the quantity of ballast which you say is required on the
Drummond County Railway to bring it u) to what is described as the standard of
the Intercol)onial, could vou tell that without a close inspection of the road from
point to point ?-A. Yes. I could very easiIv.

Q. You cou Id tell from a flight over the cou ntry at the rate of 10 miles an hour
what quantity there was of ballast and what depth there was of that ballast ?-A.
Yes I could tell very fairly. 1 stoppod at the tanks and stations and got off here
and there at each opportunity and exainined it.

Q. You examined it did you ?-A. Yes.
Q. At what points ?-A. I could not tell you exactly. I do not remember the

nanes of the stations, but I stopped at the tanks.
Q. When you stopped at the tanks vou got out ?-A. In one or two places.
Q. And did you dig into the ground ?-A. No, I did not.
Q. Did you find the ground hard or was it ut ail soft ?-A. The snow was ail

off it.
Q. But was the ground firn ?-A. Ibe ground was soaked with water in a

great many p where, if' the r'oad-bed stood up, it would be in a much botter
condition.

Q. Then at these tanks you made a close inspection ?-A. Not there, but
generally. It is not difficult for an experienced man to tell generally.

Q. Then you did not relv on the inspection at tanks but generally ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you pionounce against the effeciency of the ballast and give us an

approximate estimate of what it would take to improve it ?-A. Yes, just approxi-
mately, as Mr. Scbreiber gives his statements approxinately.

Q. By approximatelv you mean ranging- al] the way from $500 to $1,500 ?-A.
No, it might range from $1,000 to $2,000.

Q. iHow much ballast did you deterrmine, in this hasty observation, had been
placed on the track ?-A. I did not make any observation.

Q. I see, but you estinate how much it would take to raise it ?-A. I did not
take op quantities, but from similar experience on the Intercolonial, I thought
$1,500 a mile would be a fair eost.

Q. What will that do ?-A. It will put down from 3,000 to 4.000 yards of ballast.
Q. Three thousand to 4,000 yards per mile ?-A. Yes.
Q. And in your estimate of that a great deal would depend on how far you had

to haul your ballast ?-A. Yes.
Q. And if in one place the ballast was handy you would be able to put on twice

as much as in another place ?-A. Yes, we might have to haut it a long way. At
some points on the Intercolonial sand pits and ballast pits are miles away from the
track.

Mi. ARCHIBALD.
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Q. But in a rough way you are speaking ; would you conclude it would take-
woukt you like to say it would take-$500 a mile ?-A. Ilt would not do it, in my
opinion.

Q. It would not do it, in your opinion, that amount of money ?-A. No.
Q. Wherein does this portion of the line differ from the present portion of the

Intercolonial which has nothing but sand ballast?-A. The Intercolonial. has very
few spots on it now with sand ballast. I cannot call to mind a single mile of sand
ballast.

Q. But it bas some considerable mileage of sand ballast ?-A. Not continuously.
There are spots here and there not altogether covei ed up yet. The work has been
continually carried on from year to year and is nearly ail done now.

Q, That is partly between Rivière du Loup and Lévis ?-A. There is a streteh of
25 to 30 miles near Chaudière done, and another stretch of 100 miles in New Bruns-
wick.

Q. And you are beginning to get pretty well covered ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you have been able to survive on the Intereolonial Railway and get on

pretty weIl and run trains ail these years ?-A. Yes.
Q. And there have been no lives lost ?-A. None.
Q. Were yon in the Intercolonial Railway at the time the roatd was taken over

from Rivière du Loup to Lévis ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did you make any close inspection of it ?-A. Not at the time of the

purchase.
Q. Well, before the purchase ?-A. No.
Q. They did not go through the form of having it looked over by an engineer ?

-A. I think Mr. Schreiber went over it.
Q. You did not go over it ?-A. No.
Q. But you knew about its condition at the time ?-A. No, my jurisdiction did

not extend beyond Rivière du Loup.
Q. But you knew about ils condition shortly after ?-A. Yes.
Q. Is there anything there that you objected to ?-A. There was a good road

bed, but the track was useless and the culverts very poor.
Q. Would you call it a good road ?-A. It is good, compared with the Drum-

mond County, but the general character of the work was anvthing but, good. ;
Q. Then you don't agree with the government of that day that the road was in

good shape ?-A. Not as to embankments and cuttings.
Q. Still you have been working along, struggling against sand ballast for many

miles which were not well ballasted ?-A. To the best of my recollection.
Q. You have not taken the trouble, I suppose, to ascertain before giving your

statement on this subject, what Mr. MacLeod's estimate was of the amount that
would be required to ballast this line ?-A. No ; Mr». MacLeod has had no experience
in the maintenance of a railway.

Q. It would not bave influenced your opinion if you had consulted it ?-A. No.
Q. Mr. MacLeod bas bad no experience, you think ?-A. Not of maintenance.
Q. Is he not able to judge of the rond when completed ?-A. Not as well as

myself that has spent 20 vearb in the building up a road. bed.

By Mr. McIsaac :
Q. M'r. Ar'chibald, you have spoken of a lot of ties purchased in Cape Breton

which were 8 feet long and stated you recommended these to be purchased by the
department because you could obtain them cheap. What was the price ?-A. I
think it was from 13 to 15 cents, depending upon quality. To the best of my
remembrance it was 13 cents for spruce, 14 cents for hemlock, and 15 cents for
tamarae: I am not absolutely certain, but I think Mr. Schreiber can say as to that.

Q. What have you been paying in Cape Breton for standard size ?-A. From
18 to 20 cents.

Q. But you have also got then for much lower ?-A. I don't think so; no
standard ties were pur'chased for less than 18 to 20 cents.

Q. You are sure ?-A. In Antigonish we have paid 21 cents and 20 cents.
Mr. ARCHIBAL».

A. 1898



Drunmond County Railw-ay Inquiry.

Q. 1 understand that you always get them two to three cents cheapet in Cape
Breton ?-A. Wegenerally get them somewhat cheaper than on the eastern division.

Q. In Antigonish you pay 21 cents, and they are two and three cents cheaper
in Cape Breton ?-A. Yes.

Q. If the price is 14 or 15 cents for standard ties and these were 13 and 15
cents that is only a difference of 1 or 2 cents between the 8 and 9-foot ties, in Cape
Breton, but you told u- before that the difference between 8 and 9-foot ties was four
cents ?-A. There are no 8 foot flatted ties.

Q. You said the difference was four cents?-A. Between 8-foot flatted and 9 foot
square ties.

Q. You said before that the station buildings along the Intercolonial Railway
were standard. What do you mean by that ?-A. I did not say anything of the kind.

Q. Mr. Borden asked you about the condition of the buildings and you said they
were with stone foundations. Is that the condition of the station buildings from
New Glasgow to the Strait of Canso ?-A. No; I refer to the main hle.

Q. That is what you bad reference to in making a comparison of standard, that
portion of ihe Intercolonial Railway fron Halifax to Levis ?-A. Yes, that is what
we cail the main lino, and this road will become a portion of the main line.

Q. And that does not apply to the portion fron Truro east to Sydney?-A.
No, as to the standard 1 do not think so.

Q. If I understand you, there are two standards, one from ilalifax to Lévis and
one froin Truro to Sydney. That is what I understand fron vour statements to-day?
-A. What did you ask me ?

Q. I say from your statements I understand that you considor the Intercolonial
standard divided into two portions, one from Halifax to Lévis and then that portion
from Truro east to Sydney you consider as of inferior standard ?-A. No, I would
not say that; but that when Mr. Blair calls for Intereolonial standard he means the
standard of the main line, and that is what I supposed you referred to whei you
asked me what standard muant.

Q. You mean by that that on the portion between llaifax and Lévis the station
builiings are standard because ultey are all with stone foundations, and frorn New
Glasgow to Mulgrave they aie all different, and I want you to make an explana-
tion ?-A. That was the line acquired from a company and these buildings were
not put on stoie foundations, but when it is necessary to renew them they will be
put on stone foundations.

Q. That road-bed from New Glasgow to the Strait of Canso is iot up to the
standara of the Intercolonial ?-A. No, it is not up to the main line.

Q. How do.you compare the road from the Strait ofCanso to Sydney with the
standard of the Intercolonial from Halifax to Lévis ?-A. WeIl, it is pretty weil up
to the standard of the main line other than the ties we have been speaking about
and the ballast. It has been irperfectly ballasted. The ballast turned out to be
inferior and a great deal of money was spent on it to bring it up to what we call
standard.

Q. Is the road from New Glasgow to Mulgrave inferior to the other portion
from Canso to Sydney ?-A. I do not think so. The curves are sharper and the
embankments are narrower and the drainage is worse, and altogether the Cape
Breton part is very much superior.

Q. The road-bed on this side is superior, is it not ?-A. If you mean the bare
track, it is in fine shape and better than in Cape Breton.

By Mr. Blair :
Q. Speaking of the standard of the Intercolonial in the matter of the station

bouses, let me ask you are there not several station houses between Rivière du Loup
and Lévis not upon stone foundations ?-A. Yes.

Q. Are there not also several station buildings between Rivière du Loup and
Campbellton not on stone foundation ?-A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Are there any between Campbellton and Moncton that are not, too ?-A. I
think there are small stations.

Mr. ARCHIBALD.
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Q. In fact, over the whole line from one end to the other, are there not small
sized stations such as you saw on the Drummond County line which are not on stone
foundations ?-A. There are a few here and there.

Q. AIl over the whole line ?-A. No,
Q. Will vou say that where there are not sorne of the newer buildings that are

not with stone foundations ?-A. The station buildings ?
Q. Yes ?-A. Not that I know of.
Q. Some of the smaller stations ?-A. Not that I know of.
Q. Are there not some smaller stations on the Intercolonial, the newer build-

ings without sone fouindations ?-A. I will not state positively that there are not.
But when you talk about the standard--

Q. Never mind about tle standard, just answer the questions ?-A. That is
ealled tlie standa d specifieation on the Intereolonial. If you are asked to put up a
building ytou will not be asked Io put it up witbout stone foundations; there is no
quesIioi about thbat. That is w-hat I mean by standard.

You do not nean to ý-ay that the Intercolonial bas any uniform rule on that
subject ?-A. Not ab>olutely -o.

Q. What you would mean by standard is what you may choose for the moment
to interpret. These stations are ail small on the Drummond County ?-A. Yes.

Q. You told uts a while ago about the quantity of this sand ballast whieh the
low ground which wotld have and the water, and you observed as you were going
along the track ihat the trost had gone oit and that the water had begun to soak
into the track ?-A. Yes.

Q. Is it mne ditieulty of this sort of ballasting that the t ack becomes rougîh
and unsteady and jolting, and not even and smooth in running ?-A. Yes it is very
apt to ch-ut rtn op with tbat file ballast.

Q. Let me asi you Mr. Archibald, you came over the Drummond County
Railway the other day. Did you not find that road as smooth and level as any part
of the Întereolonial Iailway ?-A. No. I do not think so, though I found it ini very
fair condition.

. Did vou not find it as smooti and level as any part of the Inîtercolonial
Railway ?-A. No. I do not think, so.

Q. Wa: it not remarked by everybody what a splendid smooth running road it
is ?-A. That is not any indication of the eharacter of the road-bed. That does not
indicate that -ou have a valuable road bed.

Q. I an not asking you what etect it has on the road-bed. I am simply
asking von the question and other people can draw their own conclusions: Did'nt
youz fin(i il a matter of nommon remark that the road was smooth and level, and did
not eveh-viodv commenzd it?-A. No, I did not hear anybody commend it. I was
on the tail end ut the train myself most of the way and had not any conversation
with anybody.

Q. Will vou sav that Ihe road was not as smooth and level as any portion of
the Iulreoli Railway ?- A. No, it was not.

Q. It was iot that day ?-A. It was not that day. It was in very fair riding
condition.

Q. Wltat portion of the Intercoloriial would you say was smoother and steadier
that vou rode over coming from Moneton ?-A. The road from Moncton to
Campbellton and Neweastle. I vas asleep after leaving Newcastle and it might
have been rough without tnv knowing it.

Q. On the wav up you had a good many questions to ask the conductor, had
you not, Mr. Aiehibald ? A. I do not think so.

Q. Did vou know who the conductor was ?-A. The train conductor ?
Q. Yes, the train conductor ?-A. No, I do not recollect speaking to him.
Q. Therefore, vou wil! not say that you had a great many questions to ask him

regarding the road, what was being done, and who was working on it ?-A. No I
do not recollect who it was, and I did not ask any questions.

The witness w.as diseharged.
The Committee adjourned until Friday, Bt April, at ten o'clock a.m.
MIr. ARCHIBALD.
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HoUsE oF Com10oNs,
FRIDAY, April 1st, 1S98.

Inquiry into expenditure of Fubsidies granted to the Drummond County Rail-
war and into the negotiations and transactions in relation to the acquiring of the
said railway by the Government of Canada, resumed.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock t.m.

Mr. SAMUEL NEWTON recalled, was examined by the Chairman, as follows

Q. Just state to the Committee what the co>st of the Dr ummond Countv Railwav
has been up to the present time ?-A. Up to the 28th February, $1,908.271.33.

By Mr. HUaggart :

Q. You were to furnish us with the amount of the expenditure on the road up
to the 1st July, 1894, have vou got that ?-A. The anount up to the 30th J une,
1894, was $1,163,970.60.

By the Chairman:

Q. Was that the cash expenditure up to that tine ?-A. Yes.
Q. Had everything been paid for ?-A. Lilely not; everything was charged to

construction though.
Q. I see that one of those cheques from the Dominion (overniment was end>rsed

byyou for $5,500,the only one of the lot; did you have the hîandling of tihe money or
did you just endorse the cheques as secretary in a perfunctory inanner-A. .Just as
secretary.

Q. You had nothing to do with the paying out of the money ?-A. The cheques
were sent to the president or to the manager and sent by theni to the bank.

Q. Sent to the manager cr president of the company ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the money was paid out by one or the other of these officers ?-A. It

was deposited in the bank.
Q. And chequed out by whom ?-A. Generally it was placed to the credit of

the endorsations-endorsed on the back of the note that we owed to the bank.
Q. Well, would it not go into the aecount of the Drummond County Iailway

Company, credited to that account and payments out by clieque Y-A. By lrum-
mond County chequep, certainly.

Q. And those cheques would be signed by whom ?-A. By myself and Mr.
Church and Mr. Mitchell.

Q. The three of you ?-A. Yes.
Q. All cheques?-A. Yes, up to a certain amount, I had the sole right to signî.
Q. How much ?-A. $500.
Q. And exceeding that amount they bad to be signed by three officers of the

company ?-A. By the president, general manager and myself.
Q. Do you know anything of the payment out of moneys other than for debts and

construction?-A. No, sir.
Q. Nothing at all ?-A. No.

Mr. NEWTON.
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Q. At the time you signed the cheques would you, of your own knowledge
know for what purposes the cheques were given ?-A. Certainly.

Q. Always ?-A. Always.
Q. Mr. Farwell was the president of the company ?-A. At one time.
Q. Do you know whether he ever signed cheques of the company himself with-

out your joining ?-A. No, sir.
You do not know that ?-A. No.

Q. Was there any paper executed making it necessary that cheques drawn on
the Drtummond County Railway Company's account should be signed by you and
the president ?-A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was that ?-A. A resolution of the board.
Q. And you cannot say of your own knowledge whether cheques had been

drawn in defiance of that resolution signed only by one of the authorized parties ?
-A. I cannot.

Q. Are all the cheques issued on account of the Drummond County Railway in
your possession ?-A. Not all of them.

Q. Why ?-A. I have all except those on the Eastern Townships Bank at
Sherbrooke; they never returned our cheques.

Q. Mr. Farwell, I believe, is manager of that bank ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. And you had a deposit in that bank ?-A. Yes.
Q. And cheques were drawn against that deposit ?-A. They were.
Q. Signed by you?-A. By myself, Mr. Mitchell or Mr. Church, according to

the amount.
Q. Mr. Church occupied what position ?-A. President.
Q. Who was Mr. Mitchell ?-A. Mr. Mitchell was the general manager.
Q. You were the secretary ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. And these cheques were never returned ?--A. They were from the Eastern

Townships Bank at St. Hyacinthe, but not from Sherbrooke.
Q: Why ?-A. We never asked for it.
Q. 1s it not custonary for banks to return cheques ?-A. Not from the Sher-

brooke bank; it was in St. Hyacinthe.
Q. J)id they ever ask foi them?-A. No, sir.
Q. Do you know how much the account in the Eastern Township's Bank at

Sherbrooke was ?-A. At what time?
Q. At the tine these cheques were drawn ?-A. They were drawn right along;

it was a running account all the time.
Q. Have vou the bank book ?-A. No. sir.
Q. Where is that ?-A. It is at Drummondville.
Q. With your papers ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Then that book would show the state of the account from time to time in

the Eastern Township's Bank ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you know when that account was closed ?-A. Yes, it was closed in

Septemnber, 1895.
Q. HIow was it closed ?-A. By transferring it to the Estern Township's Bank

at St. Hlyacinthe.
Q. How nch was transferred ?-A. 810,057.75.
Q. Whose cheque transferred it ?-A. It was my own cheque, and Mr. Mitchell

I think sinIled it too.
Q. Was that cheque ever returned ?-A. No, sir.
Q. The bank book you say is in your possession there ?-A. Yes, sir.Q. I suppose your book here shows the state of account ?-A. Yes.Q. Will you allow me to look at it ?-A. Certainly.
Q. The cheques i suppose as you stated are in the possession of the Eastern

Township's Batik ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. What amount did you say has been expended up to July, 1894, on account of

the construction of this road ?-A. $1,163.970 up to 30th June, 1894.
Q. When was the valuation made by Mr. Sehreiber ?-A. I could not tell you

that.
IMr. NEwTON.
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By the Chairman :

Q. What was Mr. Schreiber's valuation ? A. I do not know anything about
that valuation.

By Mr. laggart;

Q. Would you be kind enough to give us the amount expended in each of the
different years froum 1894 down to July, 1897. Is July the end of your vear ?-A.
June 30 is the end of our fiscal year. Up to June 30, 1895, the total cost was
$1,258,076.30 and in that year we expended on capital account $93,316.95.

Q. I.suppose the returns to the Government are correct ?-A. Yes.
Q. The returns give the cost up to 1896 as $1,366,485.60 and up to 1897, as

$1,527,437.50.-A. That is right, sir.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Just a question or two on the matter of construction. You have a steam
shovel in connection with the plant ?-A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the iompany own it ?-A. Yes.
Q. What was the cost of that approximately ?-A. Six thousand one hundred

or two hundred dollars.
Q. Say $6,100. The St. Francis Bridge I think you told us is between Drum-

monaville and Mitchell ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. And that was the most expensive bridge on the line ?-A. Not by any means.
Q. What was the most expensive bridge ?-A. That at St. Leonard.
Q. What division of the line is that on ?-A. It is between )rumamondville and

Nicolet.
Q. What bridge do you call it ?-A. It is the north-east bridge on the liver

Nicolet.
Q. What did that bridge cost ?-A. I could not tell you from nemory. It is a

very expensive bridge-7 10 feet long and 80 feet above the water level.
Q. With stone piers ?-A. Yes, and with steel superstructure.
Q. Have youi no means of telling what it cost ?-A. I could not tell you.
Q. What about the cost of the St. Francis bridge.-A. I could not tell you that

either, sir. That was in Church, Mitchell & Fee's business and Church, Mitchell &
Fee bought these bridges from the Dominion Bridge Company themselves and paid
for them.

Q. Have vou in the books of the company an aceount with the Bridge Com-
pany ?-A. No, sir.

Q. For the bridge across this north-east braniu ?-A. Not before 1890, since
1890 I have.

Q. Well, now just look at the papers before you ihere, Mr. Newton. The con-
struction of the road, I think, was commeneed some tirme in 1887?-A. In the fali
of 1886.

Q. I think the tirst published return to the government brings the constructirn
up to the 30th June, 1888 ?-A. I could not tell.

Q. Have you not got that with you ?-A. No, I have not got this here.
Mr. POWELL.-Mr. Todd, please hand these Returns (Exhibit No. 24) t- Mr.

Newton.
The WITNESS.-Yes, the first return is in 1888.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. You had twelve and a half miles done at that time ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the cost of that twelve and a half miles amounted to what ?-A. It is

given as $131,321.36.
Q. That included the St. Francis bridge and the other bridge?-A. Yes.

Mr. NEwToN.
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Q. And during the same time, Mi. Newton, you had under construction some
portion of the balance of the lino to Nicolet ?-A. Yes. We had a piece of grading
in that year ; I could not tell you that for certain but it was very likely though. I
am Speaking from memorv and I could not be sure.

Q. But that is your impression ?-A. Yes.
Q. This arnount of $131,321.26 would include the completed portion and what

work was done on the other part ?-A. It would include all the money spent.
Q. All the construction on the road completed as well as on the other portion?

-A. All the noney spent.
Q. Not only the money spent but al] expenditure on that account?-A. There

may be things cliarged that would not appear in that amount. That is when we
paid and we put in the cash account and afterwards when accounts came in for
inaterial they were charged up.

Q. I don't understand that. Your returns made under oath charged all the
money spent, not only money but everything ?-A. I will not be sure, but I can say
positively that the books mhow everything taken from the construction books as it
appearedl there.

Q. To convince you that it must have included something more than mere cash
-you only had iwo sources of getting money, either borrowing or collecting on
stock; you had no subsidies then ?-A. No.

Q. Il vou look at the amount of capital stock paid in it was $40,000.-A. That
is right.

Q. And that you have borrowed $31,602 ?-A. It does not show on my state-
ment here.

Q. 1 think so.-A. Oh, yes.
Q. And you bad subsidies come in at that time amounting to $15,057 ?-A. Yes.
Q. So that all the cash which you had, cither borrowed or of your own, at that

time was about $86,000 ?-A. Yes.
Q. So that you see the 8131,000-since I bring these facts to your notice-must

have nclucided at least $1i0,000 material as well as cash that was paid ?-A. Certainly.
Q. Don't you think now that was the total cost up to the 30th June ?-A. As it

appeared in the construction book it was certainly.
Q. You have not that bore ?-A. No.
Q. Now pass to the next year, June 30thl, 1889, and look at it. The total cost

at that time was 8183,943.76 ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. And you had completed two more .miles of road ?-A. 13 miles are given

here in this r 1 port.
Q. Well, they vary. One gives 13 and one 14L, but we will take 13.-A. That

is on the same division.
Q. We will explain that little discrepaney in a moment. You had a branch to

Mitchell's Mills that is not included here ?-A. No.
Q. But the total cost did include it ?-A. Yes.
Q. So including that braneh to Mitchell's Mill the total cost of construction was

$18 ),943.76 ?-A. That is correct, yes.
Q. You had Igot subsidies by that time to the amount of what ?-A. 878,792.
Q. And capital paid in to the amount of what ?-A. $40,000.
Q. And your tloating debt was what ?-A. $65,151.76.
Q. And the total cost of construction includes these three items ?-A. Exactly.
Q. Now we come to 1890; how much road had you constructed at June 30th,

1890 ?-A. It appears here as 35-30 miles.
Q. So including the little branch to Mitchell's Mills you had a mileage of 36-30?

-A. Yes.
Q. And the total cost of construction to that date was what ?-A. $729,314.52.
Q. How is this made up ?-A. It was made up of the paid up stock of Charles

Church, $133,400; of William Mitchell, $133,300; of Thomas Fee, $133,300. We
reccived from the local government at that time $135,6G2.42, from the federai gov-
erument $41,300, from earnings 819,765.54.

Q. You had botter give us the net earnings ?-A. That is net.
Mr. NEWTON.
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Q. For what year ?-A. The net earnings up to that time. We owed Harris &
Company balance of account on cars, which we charged on that account of $2,077.89.

Q. You have the total floating debt, you can give it to us without the details.
It is $ 132,596.56 is it not ?-A. That is right, sir.

Q. Now I will just ask you to look back at the statement and say if flic earn-
ings for three years come to $19,000 ?-A. I do not think the total earnings are in
this return; oh, yes, here they are. In 188S they were $1,719.19.

Q. Take the next year, what were the net earnings in that year ?-A. $5,838.15.
Q. What is the next year, 1890 ?-A. $5,290.12.
Q. Just add those three amounts together and see what they give ?-A. $12,-

847.46.
Q. There is a discrepancy there of seven or eight thousand dollars ?-A. I

cannot explain it to you without the books; if I had the books I could explain it to
you.

Q. It is of course too far back for you to remember ?-A. Yes.
Q. Apart from that I would call your attention to this: Between the 30th June,

1889, and the 30th June, 1890, 22 miles of that road wcre constructed ?-A. Not 22
miles constructed.

Q. Well, according to the sworn returns ?-A. In 188) we built from Nicolet
(Ball's Wharf) to St. Leonard, but grading was all done between St. Leonard and
Mitchell.

Q. The previous year ?-A. The previous year. W e did not blild it all that
year ; we built 17 miles complete.

Q. Then the cost of construction that year frot Jane 30, 1889, to June 30, 1890,
included the construction from St. LeonarJ to Nicolet in full and the filishing of
seven miles fron Mitchell to St. Leonard had been credited ?-A. And building two
bridges.

Q. What were those ?-A. One over the South-west Branch of the Nicolet, River
and the other over tbe North-east Branch.

Q. They are on the lino ?-A. Yes.
Q. What was the cost of these?-A. I could not say.
Q. Can you give us an idea ?-A. No.
Q. Approximately ?-A. No, 1 could not. I had at that time nothing to do

with the etimates.
Q. The one over the North-western Branch was larger than the St. Francis

Bridge ?-A. Double.
Q. I mean the other.-A. The other was 164 feet long.
Q. You have no data from which you can give us the cost of those bridges or

the items of construction account for that year ?-A. No.
Q. I thought you were going to supply us with that ?-A. I think I told the

Committee that the construction book is with Ch urch an-d Fee.
Q. What is the length of the St. Francis bridge ?-A. 450 feet.
Q. And the North-west Branch of the Nicolet?-A. Is 710 feet.
Q. That is the North-east?-A. Yes, the North-east is 710 feet.
Q. And the South-west ?-A. 164 feet.
Q. You have been bookkeeper or secretary, do you know what it cost to cut

down the St. Frarcis grade ?-A. It has not been cnt down.
Q. The other grade required by the contract with the Government ilast year, is

that cut down ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you know the cost ?-A. It was not kept separately.
Q. You have no idea ?-A. No.
Q. How many feet were eut down ?-A. It was changed altogether. It was

taken at the foot of the hill instead of going over the top of it.
Q. You mean that the line was changed ?-A. Yes ; about 3 miles of rew line

were built.
Q. Constructed entirely ?-A. Yes.

Mr. NrTON.
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By Mr. Borden :

Q. Were Church, Mitchell & Fee carrying on business as co-partners at the
time of the construction of the railway ?-A. Yes, sir.

Q. I think you toid us that they ow ned all the stock at the time the road was
being built?-A. Yes.

JýIy Mr. lHaggart:

Q. Payments were made of $113,000 aci, in what forn wero these made ?-A.
$40,000 was paid in cash and the balance in material and work on the road, on the
Nicolet Division between Drummondville and Nicolet.

Q. Have vou those accounts here ?-A. No, sir.
Q. I thought it was for the purpose of getting these up to 1890 that you went

away ?-A. No, I
The CHAIRMAN.-He was to get the total cost of the road.
Mr. IAOGART.-I thought I asked him for the construction account, as the

minutes will show.

By the Clhairman:

Q. The total expenditure up to 30th June, 1890 was ?-A. $729,314.52.
Q. And the total expenditure up to February of this year ?-A. 81,908,261.33.

By Mr. ifaggart :

Q. If I remember rightly I asked the witness what was the total anount of the
expenditure uip to the lst July, 1894? -He gave it to me. Thein I asked him for
the details. He stated that up to 1890, if I remember rightly, that he had not the
details in his book, but iat they were entered in bulk ?-A. Exactly.

Q. 1 asked if you cou ld get the details and you said you thought you could ?-
A. I said the books beloired to Chur ch, Mitchell & Fee and that the details would be
aimongst their books. We hav'nt them in the railway books.

By the Chaîrmani :

Q. You just took the limp snm into your books ?-A. Yes.

By MiEr. laggart :
Q. I understood vou to say that vou could get them. Are there no means of

getting thein at all ?-A. Only from Church, Mitchell & Fee.

Bu the Chairmîan:

Q. It is somebody else's book ?-A. Yes, all the books went to the firm. The
business was divided in 1890, and Church, Mitchell & Fee took their books and a new
set of books was started for the railway.

By .Mr. iag/art :

Q. Were any of these cash payments on stock made since 1890 ?-A. No, sir.
Q. And vou have no ineans of telling whether any cash was paid for that?-A.

$40,000 was paid in cash.
Q. Ilow do you know ?-A. Because they had to pay $40,000 belore they could

commence coIstruciîon.
Q. HIow does it appiear on the books ?-A. As being paid in cash.
Q. At what time ?-A. 1 gave vou the date I will give you it again.
Q. Was it before 1890 ?-A. It was in 1SS6 and 1887.
Q. Paid in cash, where ?-A. In Drummondville. To the Drummond County

Railway.
MIr. NEWTON.
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Q. In what form was it paid ? Was it a credit in the bank ?-A. It was paid
out of Church, Mitchell & Fee's business in cash direct to the railway for construc-
tion work.

Q. I do not understand how it was paid out of their business in cash. Was it a
credit or paid in cash ?-A. Paid in cash. It may not have been paid aIl at one
time, but from time to time.

Q. Give us the different times ?-A. I cannot, it is in that construction book. I
could tell you the dates which are entered here.

Q. Can you give us the details of the payments of the different amounts between
$40,000 and $113 000, how they were paid and at what time ?-A. I eau merely give
you these items here, sir.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. You can only give us what is transferred from this account; you do not
know anything of the details or whether the money was actually paid or not ?-A.
I do not know anything but what I see in this book.

By 3Mr. Raggart :
Q. You do not know if it was paid in cash ?-A. I know that $40,000 had to be

paid in cash according to law and our lawyer made a strong point of that, befiore the
company could commence construction.

Q. Do you know of your own knowiedge that it was paid ? A. I know i, was
paid, certainly.

Q. ln one lmp sum ?-A. No, sir. In two payments: August 7, 188G, $1,348
were paid each and on July 8th, $11,993.33 were paid each.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Then as a matter of fact you do not know whether this eapital stock was
paid up to the amount of $400,000 or not ? As a matter of fact all you know is that
it was transferred to construction account in these books in 1890.-A. It is as I said
before. These amounts are taken from the construction accounts and the.se accounts
I consider are correct. I made ail the entries in the otier books. I do not think
that thero is anything charged in this account that I have taken that is not for con-
struction.

Q. That may be a matter of opinion but what we want are the fàcts. Do you
know as a matter of fact how this $400,000 was paid out ?-A. In buying material
and labour.

Q. As far as you recollect ?-A. It was so.
Q. Do you know whether that labour included the promotion expenses and

allowances to the directors or not ?-A. I do not know anything about promotion
expenses.

By Mir. lHaggart:
Q. You kept the books ofboth of them ?-A. I d id.
Q. And why don't you know ?-A. Because there was no promotion account

given in to me and I know nothing about them.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Now do you pretend to u, MIr. Newton, you knew of the actual outlay for
ail this construction account ?-A. I know there were bills brought in from individ-
ual members of Church, Mitchell & Fee for material that had been put into the road,
and these bills charged up at the times I have given.

;Q. And you are prepared to say thatthis whole $729,314.52 represents bills put in
by Church, Mitchell & Fee.-A. Oh, no, I don't say that. $40,000 was paid in cash
by each one for the material put into the road according as it went in and they sent
bills into the railway for this amount. We got from the Federal Government
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Q. I'm no asking You about that. I am asking, do you know personally all
the items of the construction account to enable you to swear this was all for work
and material ?-A. Not from memory.

By the Chairman:

Q. You are booklkeeper of the firm ?-A. Yes.
Q. The firm undertook to build the road and owned it ? A. Yes.
Q. And up to 1890 all the cost of construction was put into the books of the

firm and not of the railway company ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is to say there were no separate accounts ?-A. No.
Q. You were bookkeeper ?-A. Yes.
Q. And in the ordinary course of business entered into the books of the firm

whatever they claimed should be charged against the railwav?-A. To construction
account.

Q. And that account was correctly transferred when you opened books for the
Drummond County Railway ?-A. Yes.

Q. Well now, was their office on or near the works ?-A. Their office w-as a
litte dry-goods box S by 12 feet.

Q. Where ?-A. In Drummondville.
Q. Spcaking generally as boolkeeper vould you say the accounts charged to

construction werle proper accounts ?-A. I think so.
Q. These accounts you say belong to the firm?-A. To Church, Mitchell & Fee's

own business.
Q. And these accounts are with the papers of the firm?-A. They are with

Church's business altogether.
Q. And vou bave no control over them ?-A. No.
Q. If it is thougbt desirable to have these accounts produced before the com-

mittee who would be the proper person to subpæna?-A. The business was sold last
fail to Charles Church and his two sons. George Church is carrying it on and he is
the proper person to apply to.

By Mr. Borden ;

Q. Your profossion i, bookkceper ?-A. Yes.
Q. Have vou any knowleoge of railway construction ?-A. Not a great deal.
Q. You iade the entries in your books from bills sent in to you ?--A. Yes.
Q. If, as a matter of fact, these bills sent in were larger than the amount of

material used or work actually put in would you have any personal knowledge of
it ?-A. None.

Q. When you told the chairman these accounts were correct to the best ofyour
knowledge?-A. I know the entries were made correctly.

Q. But you don't undertake to say that the bills represented the work put in ?
-A. Yes.

Q. How do you know that ?-A. Because the bills wei e sent in.
Q. Do you thinîk that justifies you in saying the work was put into the road ?-

A. 1 think so, when the bills were sent in to me.
Q. As I understand you, as a matter of faet you correctly transcribed these bills

into the books ?-A. Yes.
Mr. BLAIR-I apprehend he only put in the totals.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. He correctly entered the bills, either totals or items, no doubt; which was
it?-A. Totals.

Q. But so far as saying that the materials or otber things set forth in these bills
were actually put into the road yo don't know anything about that ?-A. No.

Q. You don't pretend to know ?-A. Oh, no.
Mr. NEWTON.
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By Mr. Jaggart :

Q. If I understand you rightly the total amount of cost up to 30th June, 1889,
was 8183.943 ?-A. In 1889.

Q. In 1889 ?-A. $183,943.76.
Q. In 1890 it was $729,314.52 ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. In the meantime, according to your evidence if I understood you rightly,

you had completed 15 miles and made partial èxpenditure on 7 miles ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did it never strike you that was an extraordinary expenditure for that ?-

A. No, we had two very large bridges in that 22 miles.
Q. But you have no idea what the bridges cost ?-A. No.

By Mr. Powell :

Q If vou will look at your returns, according to your evidence so far, up to
the 30th June, 1889, the arnount of 8183,943.76 was paid for the total construction
of 14½ miles and partial construction, that is grading, 7 miles you are righ t on that?
-A. Yes.

Q. Now )up to 30th June, 1890, the amount spent was $729,314.52, you have told
us that, and the difference would be 8545.370.76, would it not ?-A. Yes.

Q. Now that represents the cost of eonstructing the 15 miles of the Niceolet
branch and tiniishing the grading of 7 miles from Mitchell to St. Leonard ?-A. And
building the bridges.

Q. We put that in. We are right in that $545,000 represents building 15 miles,
that is constructing 15 miles, from beginning to finish, and 7 miles grading ?-A.
Yes, and laying the steel.

Q. And in that there is not included the extension to Ball's Wharf ?-A. It is
ineluded in that, but not to Burrow's Mill.

Q. In the cost for this 17 miles that would include the whole, Burrow's Mills
and everything, and Mr. Schreiber has made an estimato that it would cost $170,-
000 ?-A. That does not include the bridge.

Q. It includes everything ?-A. Oh, no, only from St. Leonard's Junetion down
to Nicolet, 17 miles, built through an easy country.

Q. Well that's what we have been talking about.-A. No; the bridges are on
the main line, this mide of that.

Q. They are not on the Nicolet Branch ?-A. No, sir.
Q. That would give us as the cost of these 7 miles $375,370.76 fron Mitchell's

Mills to St. Leonard ?-A. And completing the rest of the road. There was a great
deal of work do.:e after we got the subsidies on that road, such as ballasting. It
was ballasted twice after we got subsidies and it came in with construction ; also
there was rolling stock bought which was charged in that construction.

Q. Do you remember what iolling stock vas purchased at that time ?-A. Not
from menory-60,000 or $70,000 perhaps.

Q. Then this 8729,000 includes about $60,000 or $70,000 of money paid out for
rolling stock ?-A. I would not be sure about it, but speaking from memory.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. You have no means of providing those books in 1890 ?-A. No, I could ask
Mr. Church for them.

Q. Where does Mr. Church live ?-A. He lives at Mitchell.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. Let me understand where those two bridges are ?-A. Between Mitchell
Station and St. Leonard Station, within 6 miles of each other.

Q. Dowu to 1897, the 30th June, 1897, the construction account was hquared by
the following items, was it not: Dominion Subsidy, $287,196 ?-A. Yes.

Q. How much was the local subsidy, the Quebec subsidy ?-A. 8347,420.54.
97
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Q. And what was the municipal subsidy ?-A. $15,000.
Q. The earnings of the road ?-A. Do you mean the net earnings ?
Q. Yes, the net earnings that entered into construction account ?-A.

$178.684.22.
Q. And in addition to that whatever was paid in on the capital account ?-A.

And what we owed.
Q. In addition to that then what you owed at that date was $297,326, is tiat

it ? I mean on the 30th June, 1897?-A. $342,780.95, I make it here according to
this return.

Q. On the 30th June ?-A. On the 30th June.
Q. There must be a mistake somewhere?--A. Yes, )ou are right, I got the

amounts of the bills, but I did not get the bills, on the other side. The amount is
$295,005.S4.

Q. Have you the sworn returns there; look at the last return for 1897 ?-A.
Il is $298,396.28. I have it here $295,000, but the official return will be correct.

Q. Then at that date, outside of capital account,-we are not speaking about
that, but outside of capital-the company had in tbis line of their own means,
borrowed capital it would be, $298,396.28?-A. It is that ainount with what money
lins been put in from earnings, outside of capital.

Q. Outside of capital and subsidies all the company had in there of their own
money was this floating indebtedness of $298,000 ?-A. And the earnings.

Q. That is correct, is it not ?-A. And the $178,684.22 of earnings which went
into construction.

Q. Al the money actually put in and for which the owners of the road
pledged themselves, the total amount would be $298,396.28 ?-A. No, sir, that is
what they owed on that date, but the railway owed the stockholders $178,000 at
that date.

Q. Outside of the stock have the company taken out of their own pockets any
more than $298,396.28?-A. Yes, sir, they have out $178,213.65.

Q. That is earnings ?-A. Yes, that should have belonged to and gone into the
shareholders' pockets.

Q. Outside of the earnings and outside of the subsidy ?-A. That is what they
owed at that date.

Q. Then, ail that they put of their own money into the road, leaving out the
subsidies and earnings and leaving capital account out up to the 30th June, 1897,
was $297,: 96.28 ?-A. That is wha t they owed at that date.

Q. And that is outside of these items that they paid into it ?-A. That is what
they owed at that date.

Q. And they themselves did not pay that in. It is charged for construction to
the company ?-A. Exactly.

Q. There is no personal obligation for it ?-A. It belongs to the railway.

By Mfr. Baggart :

Q. The total amount of your floating indebtedness on the 1st July, 1894, was
$178,313.65 ?-A. Yes.

Q. To whom did you owe that ?-A. In 1894 that must have been to the banks
and outside.

Q. Perhaps one large sum for the banks ?-A. No; there may have been )utside
accounts also.

Q. Do you know the amount that you owed the Eastern Townships Bank ?-A.
On that date ?

Q. Yes.-A. It was $156,415.96.

date.Q. That includes interest and all ?-A. That includes everything up to that

By Mr. Blair:

Q. I sec, Mr. Newton, that you are inclined to the opinion that if the company
had not got credit or got cash somewhere, the probabilities are the road would not
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have been built ?-A. I do not think so. We are not like the Great Eastern; we
cannot build for nothing. We have to pay.

By Mr. Hagqart:
Q. Can you tell me the amount you spent for keeping the road in repair per

mile ?-A. I could give you the operating expenses for each year from the antnual
returns.

Q. What is that per mile ?-A. We have that figured out in the audit office. I
have not got it bere, but it should be figuied out in the statemient (Exhibit No. 24.)
by the engineer.

Q. It is in the returns but I just want to verify it. I want separately the
amounts that are paid to the workmen for the maintenance of the right of way ?
-A. That is given here.

Q. I want you to give it in evidence from 1894 to 1897. Give the total mile-
age, the total amount paid to section-men and the rest of it.-A. The maintenance of
the line cost $10,622.36.

Q. That is repairs, maintenance and everything ?-A. That is maintenance of
line, payment of section-men, etc.

Q. Section-men, repairs to bridges, putting in new bridges along the line-the
ordinary expenditure ?--A. Section-men, telegraph lnes and ail that kind of thing,
repairs to bridges, cuiverts, stations and buildings. tools, clearing snow and the rest
of it. For working and repairs to engines it cost $15,736.94.

Q. For how many miles?-A. 82 and I miles.
Q. That is for what year?-A. 1894.
Q. $48,000 did you say ?-A. The total cost of operating the railway is

$48,551.91.
Q. It is the cost of maintenance I want. What does that maintenance include ?

A. It includes superintendence, wages of sectionmen, telegraph repairs, rails, fasten-
ers, ties, repairs to bridges, culverts fences, croýsings, stations and buildings, repairs
to fences, snow fences and sheds, tools, etc., other supplies, extra labour ballasting,
extra labour clearing snow and ice.

Q. That includes everything I want. Give it for the different years from 1894
to 1897.-A. In 1895, there were 90-53 miles and the amount was $13,166.10. In
1896, the saine mileage and the amount was $16,885.36. In 1897, the mileage was
the same and the expenses $16,717.74. Do yoi want the ten months of this year?

Q. Now without details give me for one year, say 1896, the amount of section-
men 10 the mile on the whole road ?-A. We paid in 1896, wages and labour em-
ploved on the track, including sidings, $10,905.56.

Q. That is for section-men alone ?-A. Yes.
Q. For how many miles ?-A. For 90·53 miles.
Q. You don't know how many section-men ?-A. We bave sometimes two to a

section, sometimes three.
Q. Sections are how long ?-A. Some seven miles, some eight, some nine. They

are pretty long sections.

By the Chairman:
Q. What day in February was the last account for construction made up to ?-

A. The last day of the month.
Q. And the amount then expended was $1,908,261 ?-A. Yes.
Q. How much of that was owing ?-A. $656,075.89, about.

By M1r. ffaggart :
Q. Is the work that is being done on the railway now being done under con-

tract ?-A. We have nothing to do with it; since the first of March the Inter-
colonial are running it.

Q. I mean the construction account, putting it into a state required by the
Government, up to the lst March; was it by contract?-A. No, it is aIl done by
day work.
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Q. Is it done by a schedule of prices?-A. No, we pay the men S1.25 a day.
Q. Have you got the quantities here ?-A. No.
Q. Was there an engineer's report as to the quantities required ?-A. No, sir,

there was not. Two engineers were on the work all the timo to see it was up to the
needed requirements.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. Who were they ?-A J. IL Tessier and Mr. Beaudin.

By Mfr. Haggart:

Q. You have no estimate of quantities ?-A. No.

By the Chairman :

Q. I suppose the Government required a certain standard ?-A. Yes.
Q. And ihe engineeirs were there in the interests of the company and the Govern-

ment ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you did the work and paid for it as done ?-A. Yes.
Q. It was done directly through the company and not by con tractors ?- A. Yes.

By M. liaggart:

Q. How did you do for rails ; did you contract ?-A. We bought them; we did
not ask for tenders.

Q. Not for lies ?-A. No.
Q. Nor for bridge timber ?-A, Nor for bridge timber.
Q. Nor for iron ? You bought it all by private sale ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you had no estimate as to the cost before you commenced the work ?-

A. No, sir ; there was no estimate made out.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Mr. Newton, from your returns can you give us the receipts for passenger
traffie, take it back since 1892, on the line annually ?-A. The number of passengers
carried ?

Q. No; the receipts ?--A. Not very large.
Q. And have not incieased very nuch ?-A. Much about the same since we

opened it to Nicelet.
Q. In 1892 it was $13,370 ?-A. Yes.
Q. And in 1897. 814,018.46 ?-A. Exactly.
Q. That is it ?-A. Yes.
Q. Now we will attract your attention to the freight traffie; that is largely pro-

ducts of the forest, lumber and bark ?-A. Yes, the inajority of it.
Q. Is it not all of it ?-No, we ship a great deal of hay.
Q. Have vou any way of telling us what you do ship outside of products of the

forest ?-A. There is flour carried, grain, live stock, and then the returns show
"lumber and manufactured articles " and " all other articles."

Q. Well, ail the freight outside of lumber and products of the forests generally
is about stationary ?-A. I never noticed, but we can see from the returns. Yes, it
was about the same.

Q. The increase in freight is substantially due to the increase of products of
the forest, tan bark ?-A. Yes, and sawn lumber.

By Mr. Raggart:

Q. As I understand you know nothing about these options ?-A. Nothing more
than signing my own option.

Q. Did you hear Mr. Greenshields's evidence the other day ?-A. Yes.
Mr. NEWTON.
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Q. Mr. Greenshields, if I remember rightly, said there was a subsidiary agree-
ment signed by the parties connected with the road, Mr. Farwell, of the Eastern
Townships Bank, and Mr. Hugh Ryan, in which there was to be a division of a
further amount than that mentioned in the option in a certain percentage between
the parties. Do you know anything of that ?-A. No.

Q. You are not a party to that ?-A. No.
Q. Did you ever hear of that agreement before ?-A. No, sir.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Another question or two about the rolling stock. For all the passenger
traffic you have you own one first-class passenger car ?-A. Yes, and a mail and
combination car.

Q. But one passenger car ?-A. Yes.
Q. And for these 90 miles of road the pasenger traffic has been accommodated

by one second-class car ?-A. You mean down to Moose Park. From St. Leonard
to Moose Park is the only part of the road accommodated.

Q. I mean for the 90½ miles.-A. That is only 28 miles. The passenger train
runs from St. Hyacinthe to Nicolet and another from St. Leonard to Moose Park,
which is 28½ miles.

Q. Then there are 62 miles of road over which you run passenger trains ?-A.
Yes.

Q. It would not be profitable to run the remainder to Moose Park ?-A. When
it was not through ? Certainly not.

Q. There was nothing to be picked up on that portion ?-A. Nothing to speak
of.

Q. From the time of the opening of this roud to Nicolet, from 1891 to the pre-
sent date, you have found one first-classpassenger car ample ?-A. Yes; sometimes
it was very crowded.

Q. And one second-class car was ample for that 62- miles of' road ?-A. From
St. Leonard

Q. I am directing your attention to that portion ?-A. Yes, but it is only 28
miles.

Q. Is it not 62½ý miles from Ste. Rosalie to Nicolet?-A. Yes.
Q. You profess to carry passengers over that 62½ miles ?-A. Yes.
Q. And all the passenger traffic could be accommodated by one first-class car

und one second-class car ?-A. And a baggage or accommodation car.
Q. I did not understand you about running the first-class car only over a por-

tion of the road?-A. It runs from Nicolet to St. Hyacinthe only ; we do not carry
to Moose Park.

Q. And the second-class car is run over the same portion ?-A. Yes.
Q. And your traffic demanded only nine box cars?-A. We got our cars from

the Grand Trunk and Canadian Pacifie Railway.
Q. You got your cars from them ?-A. Yes.
Q. You sold your shares to Mr. Greensbields ?-A. Yes.
Q. What did you get ?-A. Par.
Q. They were paid for at par ?-A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Borden :

Q. When was that?-A. I think on the 13th May. 1897.
Q. Have you the stock transfer book here?-A. Yes.
Q. Perhaps you will be good enough to produce it?

(Book produced and marked " Exhibit No. 35.")

Q. Was there an option on before that ?-A. Since the previou- May.
Q. How long did the option extend ?-A. I forget.
Q. About how long?
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Mr. GREENsIIIELD.-It was about 8 months.
The WITNESS.-It was given in January.
Q. About January?-A. I would not be quite sure.
Q. You say you were paid in cash ?-A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. What is the date of that transfer ?-A. May, 1897.
Q. And you iad an option before then, but you cannot say, speaking from

memory, how long ?-A. Two or three months before that; I could not tell.

MI. HENRY A. F. MAcLEOD, sworn, was examined by Mr. Blair as follows:-

Q. You are a Civil Engineer?-A. Yes.
Q. Of considerable experience ?-A. Since 1851.
Q. You have done work as a railway engineer for the G-overnment for many

years, off and on, have you ?-A. Since 1867.
Q. Have you been continuously in Government employ since that period, or off

and on ?-A. No, off and on. I was in the employ of the Government during the
whole of the construction of the Intercolonial and Canadian Pacific Railway, and
was in some work connected with arbitration up to 1891 and since then I have been
employed by the Government occasionally.

Q. Do you remember when I sent for you in connection with the Drummond
County line?-A. Yes.

Q. What time was that?-A. On the 9th November. I heard of it on the Sth
and got my instructions on the 9th.

Q. You saw me personally, did you not ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did I eall your attention to the agreement made with the Drummond County

Railway Company ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. And pointed out that the Drurnmond County Railway Company were com-

pleting 42 or 43 miles of a new line, an extension of their existing line ?-A. Yes,
sir.

Q. What did I say to you that we required to have done as to the 43 miles?-
A. That it was to be made up to the standard of the Intercolonial Railway.

Q. Was I very explicit with regard to that ?-A. Yes.
Q. I wanted it thoroughly done, did I not ?-A. Thoroughly up.
Q. And instructed you to go over the linecarefully and see that it was brought

up to that standard ?-A. Yes, to be on the line the whole time.
Q. Did I point out to vou what had been agreed upon with regard to that por-

tion of the line ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. And show you what the company had been required to do under the contract,

show you hIe eontraet?-A. Yes.
Q. Were there two different grades mentioned ?-A. Yes, one at St. Francis

River and the other at Carmel.
Q. There was a good deal of delay beyond what we anticipated in taking the

road over ? It was later than we supposed ?-A. Yes, it was later.
Q. Would you know what that delav was mainly due to ?-A. They were work-

ing on the road until the frost stopped tlem.
Q. Then in addition to that there were some other things which were required

to be done on the old portion of the line to satisfy us, were there not ?-A. Yes.
Q. Some ofthe bridges required to be strengthened ?-A. Yes, one of the bridges.
Q. You had instructions from me had you not, Mr. MacLeod to make a specific

report of what amount would be required to complete the new part of the line up to
the required standard and you made a 1eport to me upon that subject, did you not?
-A. Yes, sir.

Mr. MAcLEOD.
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By the Chairman:

Q. Did you go over the road.
Mr. BLAIR.-He was on the road all the time.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. I have the report here (Exhibit No. 25) which I produced the other day as
having come fromi you, Mr. MacLeod. Would you look and sec whether this is
the report you referred to.-A. Yes, sir.

Q. " Estimate of work to be done on the portion of the line between Moose Park
and Chaudière Junction to bring it up to the standing of the Intercolonial Railway
834,206." Is that your estimate?-A. Yes sir.

Q. I am speaking of the 42½ miles-A. Yes, that is the subsidy length.

By M1fr. Haggart

Q. What is the real length ?-A. 431 miles I think.

Bg .Mr. Blair:

Q. Then you made a report in regard to the line between Moose Park and Ste.
Rosalie, 73 railes.-A. Yes sir.

Q. That is to put the road in gooc conditlon ?-A, Yes, sir.
Q. " Verv good condition " vou say here. You ostimate that work at $65,000?

-A. Yes, sir.
Q. That will be something in addition to what was required according to the

written contract which you had in vour hands ?-A. Yes, sir.
Mr. HAGGART.-I do not understand your question when you say that is some-

thing in addition to the written eontract.
Mr. BLAIR.-It was in addition to what was requirel in the written contract.

I stated the other day that it would take about $32,000 to actually comply with
that contract. When we took the road over we wanted to have it so that it would
be in good running condition and something in addition to that contract was
required.

Mr. HAGGART.-That is to bring it up to the conditions of that contract.
Mr. BLAIR.-NO, beyond that.

By 3r. Blair :

Q. The St. Francis grade would be within the written contract, would it not?-
A. Yes, sir.

Q. And your estimate of that would he in the neighbourhood of $30,000 ?-A.
About $30,000.

By the Chairman:

Q. That would be between Moose Park and Ste. Rosalie ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Blair :

Q. According to Mr. MacLeod's report to me of the line from Moose Park to
Ste. Rosalie the items tote up to S65,000. Is that correct?-A. Yes.

Q. $65,000 and $34,000 make the $100,000 that we required they should expend
or put in funds to spend or which, if we spent, we should doduct from the rental?-
A. Yes, sir.

Q. I suppose, Mr. MacLeod, you have frequently been over that portion of the
road from Moose Park to Ste. Rosalie?-A. Yes, over and over again. I have been
over it on the hand car and walked over a part of it.

Mr. MAcLEOD.
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Q. And do you consider that that road particularly when this additional expen-
diture is made upon it will be a first-class ioad ?-A. Yes, I think it will be a tirst-
class road when that money has been expended upon it.

Q. That includes switch lamps, signais, interlocking switches, widening, cut-
tings and ballasting ?-A. Yes.

Q. Have you been over it, Mr. MacLeod, since the cars have been running
regularly?-A. No, sir, I Lave not.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. You say, Mr. MacLeod, that ihere was some contract with respect to the con-
dition of the road between Ste. Rosalie and Moose Park that was put into your
hand ?-A. Yes, there was an agreement.

Mr. BORDEN.-Can you refer me, Mr. Blair, to the clause of thatagreement that
bas reference to grades ?

Mr. BLAIR.-It required the reduction of two grades ; one of them has been made
in fact more than made.

Mr. BoRDEN.-You refer to this clause " will reduce the grades at Carmel Hill
and St. Francis River to a maximum of 52-80 feet per mile."

Mr. BLAIR.-And the ninth clause: "to be ready for use and occupation for the
purposes ofthe Intercolonial Railway," and in interpretation of that I asked Mr.
MacLeod what was necesmary to put it in condition for our "use and occupation,"
and he estimated this at $33 000.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. I understood you to say there was some estimate made amounting to
$32,000 which was necessary to put the old line, that is from Ste. Rosalie to Moose
Park, in good running condition ?-A. Yes, that is to improve it; it is in good run-
mîng condition now.

Q. Did that refer to the reduction of the grades at Carmel and St. Francis?-
A. Carmel Hill is done or nearly done.

Q. Did that $32,000 refer to the reduction of this grade alone or something
else ?-A. It referred alone to the St. Francis grade.

Q. And this $33,000 is required to put it in what you (all good running con-
dition ?-A. Yes.

Q. That is an estimate you made yourself from actual inspection ?-A. Yes.
Q. Will vou tell me whether you made any estimate as to what sum beyond

$65,000 would be necessary to put the line from Ste. Rosalie to Moose Park in the
same condition as the line from Moose Park to Chaudière ?-A. I was not asked to
make any estimate. I made some estimate though, but I was not required to do it,
and it is not before the department.

Q. Could you give us an idea of what it would cost ?-A. What do you propose
to do?

Q. As I understand with a certain expenditure, which is either being put or
has been put on the road, it will be equal to the standard on the Intercolonial Rail-
way according o your opinion ?-A. Yes.

Q. Ilow much would it take to bring the remaining 72 miles to Moose Park up
to the same?-A. It will take in all probably about $195,000, that is including the
grading.

Q. I uniderstand, Mr. MacLeod, that in vour opinion it would cost $195,000 to
place the line fiom Ste. Rosalie to Moose Park in the same condition to bring it up
to the standard of the Intercolonial, that is what you have told me?-A. Yes.Q. Now I desire Io know whether you include in that $195,000, the $32,000 and
$33,000 that you have already mentioned, or either of them ?-A. It includes the
grade at St. Francis Hill, but it does not include the line from Moose Park to
Chaudière.

Mr. MAcLEOD
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By Mr. Blaggart :

Q. Thero is a certain amount expended already on the road, that is improving
between these two places up to Moose Park ?

Mr. BLAIR.-That is not included in this estimate at all.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. From Ste, Rosalie to Moose Park a certain amount bas been expended already
in repairs ?-A. There is a little, a small amount done last autunn.

Q. Your $195,000 does not include that small amount ?-A. iNo, sir.
Q. It includes the amount you estimated for the Minister to bring the road up

to the standard of his requirements ?-A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. I think a short way of getting at it is this: You know the condition of the
road between Ste. Rosalie and Moose Park or its condition at your last examination ?
-A. Yes.

Q. When was your last examination ?-A. In Decem ber.
Q. At that time bow much additional expenditure was required to bring that

line from Ste. RosUie to Moose Park up to a line of the standard of the Inter-
colonial ?-A. $195,000.

Q. And that includes the $35,000 ?
Mr. BLAIR.-It includes the $65,000.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. Then it means that $130,000 is needed in addition to $65,000 ?-A. That
is it.

Q. That is the impression I got ?-A. That is right. sir.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. When did you make the estimate ?-A. I made it in Drummondville last
December.

Q. What was required then to bring the road up to the standard of the I iter-
colonial ; that is the west part from Moose Park to Ste. Rosalie ?-A. $195,000.

Q. Did that include the amount expended before that time ?-A. It had nothing
to do with anything expended before that.

Q. Weil, what is to be expended between Ste. Rosalie and Moose Park now to
bring it up to the standard of the Intercolonial ?-A. $195,000.

Q. No, but what is the amount after the $195,000 ?-A. Nothing.
Mr. BLAIR.-None of it has been spent yet.
Mir. BORDEN.-I was under the impression part of it had been spent.
Mr. BLAIR.-NO, you could not spend it in the winter.

By Mr. Hagqart:

Q. That $65,000 is not required to bring it up to the standard of the Interco-
lonial ?-A. It is part of that $195,000.

Q. The road from Moose Park to Ste. Rosalie is not to be brought up to the
standard of the Intercolonial ?-A. No.

Q. This $195,000 is to be spent to do that ?-A. Not above $65,000.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. What you mean is that it would cost altogether $195,000 to bring it up to
the standard of the Intercolonial Railway, of which sum you purpose to expend
$65,000 ?-No answer.

Mr. MAcLEOD.
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Q. Will you be good enough to tell me about this $130,000 ; that is the $195,000
less the 865,000, what that expenditure would consist of?-A. It would consist of
mason ry.

Q. Where ?-A. At all the culverts.
Q. Hlow much would that amount to ? Have you any written statement of that

estimate of $195,000 ?-A. -No, I have not.
Q. With respect to the culverts, can you give me a statement of what it would

cost for masonry and culverts, that is one item ?-A. About $50,000.
Q. What else ?-A. Reducing some grades and straightening the line at St.

Francis.
Q. What grades ?-A. Some whieh exceed one per hundred.
Q. How much would that cost ?-A. About $14,000.
Q. That would make $64,000, now as to the remaining $66,000 ?-A. The rest

would be to widen the embankments and cuttings.
Q. What width are they ?-A. Fifteen feet generally.
Q. To what would you widen them ?-A. About 18 feet.
Q. What is the condition of the cuttings ?-A. Some are 20 and some are 22

feet.
Q. To what would you widen them ?-A. To 22 feet.
Q. What would the work on the embankments and cuttings cost ?-A. I can-

not remember.
Q. What other details can you recall ?-A. No other large amount. An

estimate was made for improving the telegraph lines, for repairs, fencing and
finishing piering.

Q. Nothing in the way of ballasting that portion of the line ?-A. Perhaps
there would be a further sum beyond my estimate for ballasting, say $10,000.

Q. How much is included in the 865,000 for ballasting?-A. For ballasting
20,000 cubic yards. There are 10,000 yards for ballasting, and 10,000 more for
station yards, making 20,000 altogether. That would come to $6,000.

Q. You expended a further sum of $10,000 ?-A. Yes.
Q. These are about all the details you can remember at present of the

$130,000 ?-A. Yes.

By Mfr. Haggart:

Q. You have not got your instructions as to what standard these 72 miles were
to be built up to ?-No, sir.

Q. Hiow do you know that they built them up to the standard or not ?-A. I
considered that would put the line in very good order.

Q. Not up to the standard of the Intereolonial ?-A. No.
Q. Do you know the quantity of work performed on these 72 miles with better-

ments ?-A. I cannot speak as to quantity or price.
Q. Did you ever make an estimate for your own information ?-A. As to what

had been done?
Q. Yes.-A. No, sir.
Q. Have you no idea ?-A. No.
Q. Have you any idea of the cost of the 42½ miles from Moose Park to.

Chaudière ?-A. I made an estimate for my own information.
Q. What is that ?

By ir. Blair:

Q. Including the bridges ?-A. Yes. I say it cost about $15,000 a mile.

By Mfr. Eaggart :

Q. What is the total amount?-A. The total amount for the whole line is
$1,700,000.

Mr. MAcLEOD.
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Q. The total amount for these 429 miles ?-A. You multiply 43 by $15,000.
Q. Is that after it had been brought to the standard of the Intercolonial Rail-

way ?-A. That is merely a rough estimate.
Q. For bringing it up to the standard of the intercolonial Railwav ?-A. Yes, sir.

By the Chairnian :

Q. It is up to the standard now, in your judgment ?-A. No; there is an
expenditure to be made on it to bring it up to the standard.

Q. With the expenditure of $35,00Ô it will be up to the standard ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the whole line you estimate to be worth how much ?-A. $1,700,000.

By M1fr. Haggart :

Q. That is bringing the whole of it up to the standard of the Intercolonial
Railway ?-A. -No.

By the Chairman:

Q. Bringing the 42 miles up to the standard ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. Do you include the proposed expenditure of $65,000 in tbat ?-A. No.

By Mfr. Blair :

Q. Have you deducted froin the $1,700,000 the amount of subsidies given ?-A.

By M1fr. Haggart :

Q. Read the details, please ?-A. It is a rough estimate of one mile. I estimate
for clearing, four acres to the mile, 8200; I estimate for grading 13,000 cubic
yards, $2,600; beam culverts, three to the mile, 8360; these are wooden culverts.

Q. Are these over the whole line ?-A. This is just for a mile, sir-taking a
mile of the line. The reference would be for the western part of the line.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. From Ste. Rosalie to Moose Park ?-A. Yes, sir. Cattle guards and crossings,
$100 ; ballasting, $800 per mile; ties, $700 per mile ; rails, $3,000; spikes and joints,
$450 ; track-laying, $300 ; fencing, about half way, $500 ; sidings, $600 ; righ t-of-way,
$360; engineering and other expenses, $1,000. Then the large bridges on the
western portion would cost about $3,200 a mile and buildings and station houses
$370 a mile, which makes altogether about $15,000 a mile.

By the Chairmnan:

Q. Not including rolling stock ?-A. Not including rolling stock.

By Mr. Powell:
Q. I do not understand about the allowance for bridges. Does that cover the

whole line ?-A. This covers the western portion of the line from Ste. Rosalie to
Moo-e Park.

Q. $3,200 a mile, I think, would be ample for that ?-A. Yes, $3,200 a mile.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. This is the road as at present built; you calculate that this is the value ?-
A. Yes, sir.

Mr. MAcLEoD.
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Q. Give us your estimate from Moose Park to Chaudière ?-A. The cost per
mile is the same as above, $10,970, but that ought to be increased because there are
a number of masonry culverts which I have not included, and then add to that for
bridges $2,200 a mile and for buildings and station houses $300 a mile, which brings
it up to about the same sum, $15,000. The bridges are not nearly so large as on
the western part.

By Mi. Blair;

Q. Then you add something for the greater number of small bridges and
masonry culverts ?-A. Yes.

Q. They are ail masonry culverts ?-A. Yes ; there are few beam culverts.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. What is the standard for gradients and curvatures on the Intercolonial ?
What gradients do you allow on the line between Moose Park and Chaudière ?-A.
I think that they do not exceed one per hundred feet.

Q. None of these grades on that portion of the line between Moose Park and
Chaudière exceed one per 100 ?-A. No.

Q. That is how much a mile ?-A. 52-80.
Q. Do you allow the same gradients both ways ? On the Canadian Pacific

Railway the gradient one way is 26½ and the other way 52 per mile. You allow
them both ways at 52 ?-A. Both ways.

Q. What is the curvature ?-A. The curvature on the Intercolonial Railway, I
think, goes to four degrees. The greatest curve on this road-3 degrees-was one
close to the station at Moose Park.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. What is that expressed in radius ?-A. My book would show.
Mr. POwELL.-Never mind.

By Mr. lHaggart:

Q. You say $3,000 a mile foi rails ? How many pounds is that per yard ?
What kind of rails were you calculating ?-A. For the western portion ?

Q. Yes.-A. 57 pounds per yard. That is 90 tons to the mile.
Q. How much per ton ?-A. $35.

Byi fr Blair:

Q. That is the cost delivered on the line ?-A. Yes, distributed on the line.
Q. It will cost vou $20 at the mill and then the duty, freight and cost of distri-

bution would bring it up to $35 would it not ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Powell

Q. That includes distribution over the line ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. IHaggart:

Q. What weight of rail did you calculate upon for the other portion of the
road ?-A. The rail for the other portion was 70 pounds to the yard.

Q. What duty did you pay ?
M r. BLAIR.-The Drummond County had to pay duty.
Mr. GREENSHIELDs.-NO.
Mr'. MAcLEOD.
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By Mr. Baggart:

Q. What is the value of a steel rail 70 pountds to the yard delivered in
Montreal ?-A. I could not say exactly.

Q. In that you calculated at 835 per ton.

By Mr. Pôwell :

Q. The standard of the Intercolonial Railway is 67 poulnds to the yard and
upwards is it not ?--A. I do not know, sir.

Q. There are a few rails 56 lbs. and a few 67 but the standardl is 67 ?-A. I
could not tell you.

By Air. llaggart:
Q. What are the new rails from Moose Park to Chaudière per yard ?-A. 70 Ibs.

By 4fr. Powell :

Q. Taking 67 pounds as the standard on the Intercolonial Railway, and they
are changing all their light rails to 67, what difference would that make on this 72
miles. We can calculate it very quickly. The difference would be 11 pounds to the
yard of rail, or 22 pounds to the yard of track. There are 1,760 yards to the mile;
multiply that by. 22 pounds to the y&rd of track, which would give 38,720 pounde.
That would be 19-36 tons, equal to 20 tons at $35, or $700 per mile difference. The
difference between 56 and 67 pounds is Il pounds, I should say. This is for one
yard of tract, and for two yards of track it would be 22 pounds; and if there are
1,760 yards in a mile, that would give you 38,000 pounds, which would make 20
tons, or $700 per mile difference ? -A. The difference between a 57-pouind and a 70-
pound rail is $850 a mile, the difference between $3,000 and $3,850.

Q. Now, it will only take you a momrfent to tell us the difference per mile
between a 56-pound and a 67-pound rail. That is Il pounds a yard, or 22 pou nds
per yard of tr ack for 1,760 yards, would make a total of 38,720 pounds, or 19-36
tons. And estimate that at $35 per mile ?-A. In purchasing steel rails the long
ton is used. The difference would be 8595 per mile.

Q. Now, if there are 73 miles of road with 56-pounîd rails, what is the difference
putting in the 67-pound rails ?-A. $43,435.

Q. Now, Mr. MacLeod, the cost of taking up the old rails and putting down new
ones. alignment and all, would cost how much ?-A. Leaving the ties as they are?

Q. Yes, supposing the ties to be all right; you say the road bed is in good
order, so we wili Icave it ?-A. From $50 to $100 a mile.

Q. Well, taking it at $100, that is $7,300 more. Now give us the cost of fish-
plates, bolts, spikes, etc., for the new rails per mile ?-A. It would take some time
to make the calculation.

Q. Give us a fair estimate.-A. About $400 a mile.
Q. That would be $29,200 more on 73 miles ?-A. Yes.
Q. Now, another question I have to ask; may be you are not familiar with

this: What will be the value of the old rails per ton ?-A. [ could not tell you.
Mr. BLAIR.-It is according to quality. I can tell you what we sell ours for;

it is $10 to $12. That is when they are taken by railway companies. We get a
little more out of them, perhaps $14, on subsidy account.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. Then, Mr. MacLeod, it would take $79,935 more than your estimate to bring
the ironing of the road up to the standard of the Intercolonial ?-A. Yes.

Q. And in addition to that, there will be the loss on old rails; that would be the
difference between $12 and $22 or $35 a ton ?-A. That would be a deduction on the
cost at vhich sold.

Mr. M-AcLEOD.
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Q. But you cannot deduct the amount received as I have calculated the new
ones, so there would be a loss on weight of $23 a ton as a loss on old rails-for we
have turneci the new rails in at their face. Now, what would that corne to, taking
17 tons per mile-it would be $411 a mile ?

Mr. BLAIR.-Aslk Mr. Macbeod whether he included that in bis estimate.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Did you include new railing in your estimate ?-A. No; the railsarein good
o rder.

Q. But you included the cost of putting them down at the present weight ?-A.
Certainly.

Q. Could you estimate the value of the rails as down there ?-A. Yes.
Q. That would come to $411 per mile, or $'30,000 loss in connection with the old

rails; that is $30,000 loss on the old rails to bring it up to the standard of the Inter-
colonial Railway, recovering the value of the old rails at $12 per ton, and counting
the cost ofthe new rails distributed along the line at 835 a ton, what would it cost
the government to bring the road up to the standard of the Intercolonial Railway,
as respects the ironing of the road ?-A. At the rate of 67 pounds to the yard ?

Q. Yes, and the old ones are 56.
The witness was asked to figure out the reply and give it later.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. Have you plans, location and survey, and everything else in the department
with reference to the extension of the road from Moose Park to Chaudière ?-A. Yes.

Q. Have you taken out the quantities on those plans ?-A. No.
Q. Have you them here ?-A. i hava the plans here.
Q. Location, and survey, plans, and everything else ?-A. Yes.
Q. Are these the plans and profiles they are working up to now ?-A. Yes.
Q. Have you a little memo. book-an engineer's book-in which whole sections

are marked down as completed or what is to complete on them ?-A. No.
Q. You do not keep that ?-A. No.
Q. low do you know they are finished up to the plans and specifications ?-A.

By going over the road slowly on a hand car, with the plans and specifications in
my hand.

Q. Are the plans and specifications of the contract up to the standard of the
Intercolonial ?-A. I consider the new portion will be.

Q. Have plans and specifications been filed up to the standard of the Intercolonial
Railway ?

Mr. BLAIR.-No specifications have been filed except for subsidy purposes.
Mr. HAGGART.-HO says he went slowly over the line with the plans. These

plans and specifications are not according to contract with the Government but for
snbsidy purposes.

Mr. BLAIR-That is my impression about it.
Mr. HAGGART.-YOU say these plans and specifications filed are on the contract

for subsidy purposes ?
Mr. BLAIR.-That is all, so far as I know.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. How do you know, then, that this portion of the road is built up to the
standard of the Intercolonial when the plans and specifications filed are only for
subsidy purposes ?-A. Because I consider them quite good enough for the standard
of the Intercolonial.

Q. Then these are quite equal to the standard of the Intercolonial ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then these are the plans and specifications you are requiring from the

Drummond County Railway to finish it up to the standard of the Intercolonial ?-
A. Yes, with the understanding the cuttings should be widened.

Mr. MAcLEOD.
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Q. Then these plans you are filing are not up to the standard of the Inter-
colonial ?-A. The plans are but not the specifications.

Q. Surely the plans show the width of the embankment ?-A. No.
Q. They do not show it at all, only the specificatious ?-A. Only the specifica-

tions.

By the Chairman:

Q. Your valuation of the road when completed under contract with the (-overn-
ment, what do you estimate its value per mile?-A. It ought to be more than 815,000
for the portion from Moose Park.

Q. How much is it worth from Moose Park to the Chaudière per mile ?-A. It
would cost about $16,000 to $17,000 a mile.

Q. That is the new part ?-A. Yes. The new part from Moose Park to Chaud ière.
Q. Then the value of the rest of' the road from Moose Park to Ste. Rosalie, I

think, you said was $15,000 a mile; do you still adhere to that ?-A. With the
improvements it would probably cost about $16,000 a mile.

Q. And the other about $17,000 a mile.-A. Yes.
Q. And the total can be figured upon that?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. It is only a few minutes ago that you made an estimate of what you put the
value of the road at ?--A. That was without these additions that I propose to make.

Q. Read them over again ?-A. $17.000 a mile was the estimate I first gave.
Q. Divide it into two sections; now-from Moose Park to Chaudière, how much

was that ?
Mr. BLAIR.-He told you in addition that for mason railway you ouglit to add

$1,000 a mile more.

By -Mr, Haggart:

Q. How much was it froma Moose Park to Chaudière ?-A. I think it was $17,000
a mile.

Q. And how much from Ste. Rosalie to Moose Park ?-A. $15,000 a mile.
Q. That is as I understood you before which standard was that up to ?-A. That

is the road as it was built-the estimate of the expenditure as the road is.
Q. The road was not built from Moose Park to Chaudière so that that could not

be an estimate of the expenditure ?-A. The road is built from Moose Park to
Chaudière.

Q. This is an estimate of the expenditure made on the road ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is $15,000 a mile from Ste. Rosalie to Moose Park including the better-

ments to be made in it?-A. No, sir.

By the Chairman:

Q. Then from Moose Park to Ste. Rosalie would be $16,000 a mile.
Mr. BLAIR.-More than tbat because there is $100,000 to be spent on the 72

miles.

By the Chairman:

Q. From Moose Park to Ste. Rosalie is the old part ?-A. Yes.
Q. When completed what will in your judgment be the worth per mile or the

cost per mile?-A. According to the estimate I have made of $65,000 heing expended
upon it that will bring it up to about $16,000 a mile.

Q. Then from Moose Park these 42 miles to Chaudière you say are equal to the
standard of the Intercolonial Railway.-A. With these additions.

Q. What will that be worth ?-A. About $17,000 per mile.
Mr. MAcLEOD.
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By Mr. Laggart :

Q. How would it be worth $17,000 a mile ? You estimate that it will require
$34,000 io finish it ?-A. Yes.

Q. The expenditure already you have ealculated at $15,000 a mile.
Mr. BLAIR.-He made this calculation independent of the improvement but the

expenditure was $15,000 to the mile. He said this $15,000 a mile ought to have
acided to it the additional sum of $1,000 a mile because there were stone culverts to
be constructed and additional work to be done.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. You have said that there is one grade on the old line which exceeds some-
what the 52-80 per mile ?-A. There are two or three but they are short grades.

Q. You advised me that the grades were so short that they would not interfere
with the good efficient and satisfactory working of the road in any way ?-A. Yes.

Q. That the grades being so short it was not a material fact?-A. Just so.
Q. Of course that does not refer to the St. Francis grade ?-A. No.
Q. Which has yet to be done ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you have' allowed for that in these figures ?-A. Yes.
Q. But these other grades, if at any future time it is thought desirable to reduce

them, can they be reduced for about $14,000 ?-A. Yes, and straighten out the few
curves which are included.

Q. That new piece of line from Moose Park to Chaudière is a remarkably
straight line ?-A. Yes, a very straight line.

Q. Over a very large portion it is tangent ?-A. Yes.
Q. For miles at a stretch ?-A. Ye-, miles and miles.
Q. For how lon, is it tangent ?--A. The tangents are 12, 15 and perhaps more

miles in length.
Q. There are very few curves?-A. Yes, you can see that by the plan.
Q. If you were asked to say whether or not the price of $12,000 a mile, which

was agreed to bu paid by the Government for this line, on the basis of $1,600,000 for
the whole line, vas a fair price what would your judigment be on that on your oath ?
-A. I do not understand your question.

Q. If you were asked to state whether the price of $12,000 per mile which the
Government agreed to pay for this line to the Drunmond Railway Company was a
reasonable price or not what would you say ?-A. I would say it is a very reason-
able price.

Q. Would you say if the Govern ment needed the road that it was a good pur-
ehase at that figure ?-A. I should say so.

Q. Could any reasonable exception be taken by any reasonable man to the pur-
chase price?-A. No.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. The total length is 72 miles plus 43 miles ?-A. Yeb, about 116 miles iniail.
Q. How much is the Nicolet branch ?-A. 17 miles.
Q. That is a total of 133 miles ?-A. Yes.

By .Mr. Haggart:

Q. I suppose, Mr. MacLeod, you have no idea ofthe length from Ste. Rosalie to
Chaudière over the Grand Trunk ?-A. I understand it is some 16 miles longer.

By the Chairman:

Q. Can you tell us the distances, Mr. MacLeod ?-A. I could tell them from time
tables if I had them.

Mr. MIAcLEoD.
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By Mr. Powell:

Q. What depth of ballast is there on the finished portion of the 43 miles?-A.
Generally a foot of ballast under the ties. I dug down in several places to ascertain
this.

Q. It was good gravel ballast ?-A. Yes, but in some places there is a little
sand showing up. My estimate includes covering that by ballast.

Q. I have made the statement of the new ironing and it will take $227,687 to
bring the road up to the standard of the ironing of the Intercolonial ?-A. i bave
not made up the figures.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. In your estimate to me you have no estimate for re-ironing?-A. No.
Q. You thought the present rail in quality and efficiency was a good one ?-A.

The rails are in good order.
Q. And as an engineer you saw no reason why the road should not be safely

and efficiently run so long as the rails last?-A. Yes.
Q. It is a question of durability ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Ha ggart:

Q. Did you read the contract with the Governmaent?--A. That is the agree-
ment; I read it.

Q. Did you read the new temporary agreement presented the other day ?-A.
No.

Mr. MacLeod was discharged.

The Committee adjourned to meet at the call of the Chair.
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HoUSE OF COMMONS,
THUILSDAY, April 21, 1898.

The Committec met at Il a.m.

INQuIRY into the expenditure of subsidies granted in aid of the Dr-ummond County
Railway and into the negotiations and transactions in relation to the acquiring
of the said railway by the Government of Canada resumed.

The following witnesses responded to their names:--Messrs. Greenshields and
Wainwrigh t.

Mr. (GRlEENSIELDs, called, said :-Mr. Chairman, I see that other Members of
the Committee, Messrs. Powell, Borden and Haggart, are not present. I would ask
on behalf of the road, as we desire as complete an investigation as possible, that this
Conimitiee do not proceed in the absence of those gentlemen. Under- the circum-
stances I prefer that those gentlemen should be here. They cross-examined me
before and they should have an opportunity now. I presume the Committee is
regularly called and it seems to me in the interests of a full investigation into this
road that the idea should not be given to the public that this is a partisan Committee.
I would ask therefore that you do not examine me to-day, as I desire that the
gentlemen who are absent should have the fullest opportunity of examining me.

Mr. MoRRiSoN--Under the circumstances, I think the best thing to do is to
adjourn. It is a matter of great regret that these other gentlemen are not bere, and
as Mr. Greonshields has saia the Committee is sittin; here for the purpose of having
the fullest and freest investigation, and I am pleased that Mr. Greenshields bas
expressed himselt as he lias. In my opinion it is not advisable in the absence of the
other gentlemen to sit to-day even if we vere urged to go on. I think we should
pos pone firther deli berations untiil there are at least one or two gentlemen on the
ollier side to watch the proceedings. I therefore inove that the Committee adjourn.

THE CHAIRMAN-I know that when Mr. Borden left here he expected to be back
by tiis time. Probably his business engagements at Halifax have detained him
longer than he expected. I know that lie expected to attend the Committee for the
purpose of elieiting the facts as far is he could. I do not know anytbing about
what lias kept Mr. Haggart away. Mi-. Powell, I believe, has been called home on
important business. I think we can fairly assume that the Conservative members,
when they eonsented to be members of this Committee, intended to attend and
discharge tlheir dutv. I ihink it would be unfortunate in) the interest of every one
concerned to have even the appearance of an ex-parte investigation. It is desirabie
that at least one of the Opposition members should be here for the purpose ofeross-
examination. Taking all things into consideration, I think it is better not to go on
to-day with the investigation, and if the Committee are of that opinion we shall
adjourn b the call ot the Chair, and I shall try to have another meeting at the
earliest moment next week. Is it the wish of the Committee to adjourn on the
ground that the Conservative members of the Committee are not prese'nt?-Carried.

Mr. GREENSHIELDS.
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HoUsE oF CoMMoNs,
FRDAY, April 28th. 1898.

The Committee met at Il o'clock a.m.

INQUIRY into the expenditure of subsidies granted in aid of the Drummond County
Railway and into the negotiations and transactions in relation to the acquiring
of the said railway by the (overnment of Canada, resumed.

The Honourable JOSEPH ISRAEL TARTE, Minister of Public Works, being
sworn, was examined by Mr. Lister, the Chairman, as follows:-

Q. Had you anything to do with the negotiations for the purchase or for the
lease of the Drummond County Railway for the purposes of the extension of the
Intercolonial Railway to Montreal ?-A. I had something to do as a Minister.

Q. In the initiatory portion of it or the closing ?-A. Not the initiatory ; I
heard that negotiations were going on when they were pretty far advanced.

Q. Had you any negotiations with the Company yourself directly or was it
simply information received as a Minister from your colleagues ?-A. No, 1 receivel
information from my colleagues with whom I discussed the matter, and I may say
I met Mr. G-reenshields and also Mr. Mitchell, once or twice, perhaps iliree or four
times.

Q. You are aware you have been charged lui the press and in the Ilouse with
dishonourable conduct in connection with the purchase or lease of that road ?-
A. I know that.

Q. Is there any truth in it ?-A. There ils no truth in it.
Q. Will you state to the Committee what are the fiacts ?-A. I have no facts to

state except that 1 took part in negotiations, as I said, as a Minister, and did the
best I could in the interects of the country. I thought the route adopted was the
most valuable for the purpose we had in view, that is to say to connect the East
with the West.

Q. It has been hinted that the purchase of the iewspaper La Patrie, was
brought about by Mr. (reenshields and that in fact the monev was advaned by him
for the purchase of that paper. Is there any truth in) that?-A. What happened
about La Patrie is this: We had no strong Liberal organ in Quebec Province and
Mr. Beaugrand was ready to sell La Patrie. 1 had tried before to buy the paper
and had not succeeded, as Mr. Beaugrand was asking more than we were ready to
give. On this occasion Mr. Beaugrand wired to me that he was anxious to sce me.
I thought it was about the sale of La Patrie, as he had spoken several times to me
and to Sir Wilfrid about.it, and I wrote or wired, I do not remember which, to Mr.
Greenshields about it, to go and see Mr. Beaugrand and try and arrange the terms of a
sale. A day or two after I got the news, either from my sons or from Mr. Green-
shields, that there was a chance of coming to a conclusion and I went down to
Montreal and went to Mr. Greenshields's office and asked him what he had done, and
we proceeded together to Mr. Beaugrand's house. The terms were agreed upon and
I think that when the whole thing was over it was about 4 o'elock. Parliament
was sitting an i 1 was anxious to come up the same evening and as there was no
cheque accepted in my sons' hands and as I was afraid that perhaps Mr. Beaugrand,
who did not know my sons very well, might have refused an unaccepted cheque,

Mr. TARTE.
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Mr. Greenshields who is a well known man in Montreal, gave his cheque. I told
him that I would give him immediately $5,000 and that my sons wonld cover the
balance the next day, and I gave him this $5,000 immediatoly befor'o starting for
Otlawa and he received the balance next day, partly through a cheque on either the
Hochelaga or Banque Nationale and $5,000 in cash from my son.

Q. What was the purchase price of the paper ?-A. $30,000.
Q. You say you paid $5,000 that night and $10,000 next morning ?-A. Yes,

by cheque.
Q. That was a cash payment ?-A. Yes, and $5,000 in money to make the

$20,000. I gave myself $5,000 the evening before and 815,000 was paid the day
after, the next morning, so that Mr. Greenshields might be covered without any
delay.

By Mr. Powell:
Q. Let me understand. The purchase price altogether was 830,000.-A. Yes,

that was the purchase price.
Q. And you paid $5,000 down and 315,000 next day-what about the other

$10,000 ?-A. It was in promissory notes.

By -Mr. Lister :

Q. Was any of Mr. Gr'eenshields's own money or of the Drummond County Rail-
way money put into that purchase ?-A. Not a dollar at any time. I did what all
politicai men do, I went to my political and personal friends, Liberal politicians,
and I did what Sir John Macdonald did, to my own personal knowledge. I asked
them to help us establish a strong Liberal organ. I have done what my former
political friends have done many times, and for niuch larger amounts, and there
was no offence in it.

Q. What I want to know is whether any of Mr. Greenshields's money or the
money of the Drummond County Railway went into that paper ?-A. Not one dollar
at any time. The Drummond County Railway never got any money from the Gov-
ernment; there were only negotiations.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. Who owns the paper now ?-A. It is a company.
Q. Are you interested in the company?-A. Not one dollar; I have no shares

in it.
Q. I noticed in receiving a copy of the paper that your name was on it, and

I thought you might be connected with it ?-A. Well you know how it is, my sons
are very devoted to me and they simply printed my name on it.

Q. Your sons are interested in the company ?-A. Yes, they are undoubtedly
the largest shareholders.

Q. Anybody else ?-A. Yes.
Q. They control the majority of the stock ?-A. Yes.
Q. This $15,000 was paid by cheque the following day ?-A. No, $10,000 of it

was by cheque.
Q. And $5,000 in cash ?-A. Yes, through me.
Q. The balance in notes ?-A. The balance in notes.
Q. Was any portion of this money advanced by Mr. Greenshields ?-A. Not a

dollar.
Q. Did Mr. Greenshields at the time have any funds of the Liberal party in his

hands ?-A. About that I do not know. I do not think he had any at that time.
If he had, it was not to my knowledge.

Q. Was Mr. Greenshields one of the Liberal friends to whom you went for
help ?-A. No.

Q. Did he endorse any notes for you about that time ?-A. No, he did not
endorse any notes for me.

Mi. TARTE.
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Q. For your sons or for any one?-A. I think Mr. Greenshields endorsed the
notes that we gave, although I cannot swear to it, because it was only a matter of
form. The negotiations ended with me when the price was agreed on, and the
money was paid.

Q. The sum of $20,000 was paid ?-A. Yes.
Q. What I want to know is whether for the purpose of raising that $20,000 in

cash, Mr. Greenshields, according to your knowledge or information, endorsed any
notes ?-A. No, not one cent ; I am sure of that.

Q. Did any one endorse any notes ?-A. No; I do not remember of any one. No
person connected with the Drummond County iailway endorsed any notes.

Q. About that time ?-A. No.
Q. Did Mr. Greenshields in any way assist you to raise the money?-A. No.
Q. Or your sons?-A. No.
Q. Not by becoming a party to negotiable paper or otherwise ?-A. No.
Q. What was the meaning of your statement in the House ofCommons which

I will read to you. (Hansard, 1897, page 5302.)
" I arranged that Mr. Greenshields, who was my lawyer in many other cases,

should act as the purchaser of 'La Patrie' as the lawyer of the party."-A. What I
meant to say is just what I bave said here, that not havinig the time to conduct
these negotiations myself, I asked Mr. Greenshields, who was, as you know, a
Liberal lawyer in Montreal, to act as negotiator and so ho did.

Q. You say that he was acting as the lawyer of the party ?-A. What I mueant
to say and what is true, is that Mr. Greenshields has been the adviser of the Liberal
party as you advise your own party on many occasions.

Q. I am not talking about any other occasion but this occasion. I want to
know whether on this occasion, Mr. Greenshields was acting as your solicitor or the
solicitor of the party ?-A. Mr. Grecnshields being one of the legal advisers of the
Liberal party in Montreal, and being my own legal adviser, in rny suits, was asked
by me to act as purchaser of " La Patrie" in the way 1 have pointed out.

Q. You must have understood in one way or the other about that, and il is a
simple question whether Mr. (!reeuisbields was actinr as your solicitor or the
solicitor of the party on this occasion ?-A. Mr. Greenshields was acting in the
way I have pointed out, and which I think is very clear.

Q. I do not understaid it yet very well ?-A. I will try to make you under-
stand better.

Q. I want to understand from you, if I can, whether Mr. Greenshields was
acting as solicitor for yourself or for vour sons or for the party on this occasion ?
-A. Mr. Greenshields being one of the advisers of the Liberal party in Montreal,
was asked by me to act as purchaser of " La Patrie, " not for himself, but for mîîy
sons.

Q. Who paid him for his services ?-A. le was not paid sir, any more, I ama
sure, than you are paid for many things that you are doing every day.

Q. He never sent you a btil ?-A. No.
Q. You never paid him anything, nor did any of your sous, as far as you are

aware ?-A. No.
Q.' The paper belongs to this company ?--A. Yes.
Q. When was that company organized ?-A. The company was orgarnized

years ago befbre we acquired it. We simply acquired the shares in the ordinary
way-my sons acquired the shares, and some of the shareholders remai ned.

Q. When did they acquire the shares ?-A. On the day of the sale.
Q. The purchase was a purchase of the controlling portion of the shares ?-A.

Quite so.
Q. What proportion ?-A. They hold nearly the whole thing.
Q. What do you mean by " nearly the whole thing ?"-A. There are only a

few shares which are owned by others.
Q. Which you propose to buy up ?-A. No.
Q. No occasion for that ?-A. No.

Mr. TARTE.
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Q. I suppose your sons own nine-tenths of the amount, that they own nearly
the whole thing ?-A. We took the stock as it was. Mr. Beaugrand was the owner
of nearly the whole stock, and my sons bought bis stock.

Q. They have bought no other stock since ?-A. No.
Q. You go on to say in this speech as follows :-

They speak of a cheque which Mr. Greenshields gave. There is no secret
about it. Mr. Greenshields had a cheque in his hands, not of bis own money, but
of the mioney of the party, and lie paid that cheque." Is that statement correct ?-
A. It is perfectly correct. At the time I did not feel any necessity to go into the
details, but what I have said is perfectly true. Mr. Greenshields paid it by cheque.
It was not his own cash. le gave bis cheque, which was simply a natter of
accommodation; it was not bis money. I simply said that in a vague way, because
I knew right well if I said more, I would be aceused of having said what was not
true, not by you. but by soie of the Tory pressmen. I am just giving the reason
why 1 did not say more at the time. I said what was perfectly true, and it was that
Mr. Greenshields gave his cheque which was not bis money, and I said that it was
not bis money.

Q. You :aid that Mr. Greenlshields had a cheque in bis bands, not of his own
money, but of the money of the party. To what period were you referring when
makiing thiat statenent ?-A. To the day of the purchase.

Q. When vou were there ?-A. Yes.
Q. Was the cheque to be made an individual charge ?-A. Oh, well I havejust

explained; il is no use playing, with words. You won't make me sav what is not
true. It is no use. What happened is what I have stated. I have sali in the House
that Mr. Grveenshields paid that cheque, but that it was not his money. That is
perfeetly true. He gave a eaue, as Many a lawyer bas done over and over again
1 an >ure von have doue that over and over again.

Q. I do not quite understand you. I wiil read the sentence here again
- Mr. Gi reenshields had a cheque in bis hands, not ot his own money, but of the

imorey of' the party, and he paid that cheque." I understand you to-day to tell me
that that stateient refers to the day when you were in Moitreal ?-A. Quite so.

Q. What cheque of' the party had he in his bands at that time ?-A. I have just
expIained.

Q. I did not understand ?-A. I an very sorry, I have stated the whole truth
I cannot say more.

Q. You say that what Mr. Greenshields did was to give a cheque on bis own
bank for tie accommodation of the purchasers of the paper. That is what you have
told us ibis norning. In this speech as I understand it your statemeut is not quite
consistent with that. You say that Mr. Greenshields had a eheque in bis bands, not
that lie gave vou an accommodation cheque, but that he had a cheque in his hauds,
not of his own imoney, but of the money of the party ?-A. My answer is that I did
not thilk it proper to say everytbing in the Hlouse, then, because Parliament was
just closing and 1 knew right well that if I had said that Mr. GTreenshields bad given
bis own cheque and it was paid the next day that the Tory press would have lied
just as much as they would have been able to do. I said what was true, but I did
not give out the vh)le thing. It is perfectly true that he loaned his cheque, that he
paid that cheque and that it was not his money. It was his cheque but it was not
bis monev.

Q. Do vou mean that you were not quite frank in this statement because vou
were afraid the Tory press would lie ?-A. Yes, they have lied so much about me-
not the whole of them, some of' them are decent.

Q. Then the fact that you were not quite frank prevented the Tory press from
lying?-A. No, lot to the full effect, I am afraid.

Q. lad it any etteet ?-A. Well, it may have bad an etfect of their not Iying so.
much as they wonld otherwise do. I do not allude to the whole of the Tory press.

Mr. TARTE.
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By Mr. Powell:

Q. That is, you did not tell the truth to prevent then lying ?-A. I did not say
that. I did not divulge all the truth because there was no necessity of ny inaking
that statement to the House.

By Mr. Borden :

Q. What I am referr-ing to is this: As I uderstand the imatter., Mr. Green-
shields gave a cheque payable out of his own money, and his own lbank and g-ave it
fo- the accommodation of yourself and sons. Your statement to the ilouse of
Commos seens to indicate a different state of thin.gs, that the chequne of Mir. reen-
shields was not out of his own money but the cheque of the partyoit of which lie
paid a cheque for the purcihase of that paper ?-A. Mr. Greenshields never said be
had paid a dollar out of his own money. Qui te the reverse, ald it woild iot be
true, because he never paid a dollar of his mnoney. le did just what I have ex-
plained over and over agaiin. le gave his cheque. ile said hiinself heire lie had no
money in the bank.

Q. Have you finished that an-wer?-A. Yes.
1Q. am speaking of what yoit said in this speech nd agai n point out to yoi

that whereas you now say Mr. G(reensields gave a eheque payable on his own bank
and out of his monevs toi the accommodation of Vourself anl sons, you thon stated
something which seems to mie different, nanely, that Mr. t reenshields luni a cheque
in his hands nîot of his ovi money but the mnoney of the party and that lie paid that
cheque to assist in the purchase of that paper, and i I a nskiig if yo ca reci ile
these two staienents ?-A. I have no doubt thati what I have said reczniles those
two statements.

Q. Do you regard thema as consistent?-A. I do not regzar<d them, in view of
what i have said, as iicoisistent. I did noi sav eierything in the Ilouse; I saV
everything nîow.

Q. Do youz regaid an ac(ommiroda Ltion cheqlie paid out of his oiwi money on his
own bank as the samne thinzg as tle mniiey of tle prty thezn in lis hand?-A. What
is the use of yon, sir, saying that ho gave a cheque of his nvzi iiomiey wtezi you
know it is not the case ? What is the use of askinug ne that wlien it is niot the Case?
Mr. Greensbields told yon lie bad no mnev in the bank, whicl is, I haive o d) olibt
true. I tell voi I gave S51000 the day lie tgave hi s ehequze and thait S15(000 ere
given to him the day after to cover bis cheque, loi wi ich he liad no money.

By the Cha[rnan:

Q. I understand it this way: Mr. Gieeishiebis ha signed a eheque ?-A. Yes.
Q. And that chequie was to be paid outi of one f riislied bv political friens?

-A. Yes, that is it. That is all about it.
Q. The paper is a party paper ?-A. Certainly.

Bv 1Mr. Borden :

Q. That may be it, but I do not consider that is quite what you said in the
House?--A. I arm very sorry that you do not understand things as I do. I stated
the facts as they aie.

Q. Have you any objection to stating the niames of the political friends who
advanced the money? A. Tbat is my business, just as in the past ail of vou have
given notes and endorsed notes in political business, just as Si- Charles Tupper is
doing to-day in Montreal. You know what it is. Since I par-ted with vou 1 have
declined to give any names of those who had dealings with you, and I shall not give
names at the pi-esent time. There is not one of my political fr-ienids to-day who can
say i ever said a word about what passed in the past about similar thirgs, although
there was no crime in it. You would not say, I am sure, what you do every day,
though there is no crime in it.

Mr. TARTF.
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Q. You decline to give as information about that?-A. Yes, most decidedly I
do. I say again, under oath, that no one connected with the Drummond County
Railway contributed one dollar.

Q. Do you know who the persons were who contributed? A. Certainly I do.
Q. Were the arrangements in writing or were they oral?-A. That is my own

business.
Q. You have no information to give us about that ?-A.. No.
Q. I)id you personally arrange those matters? A. That is my own business.
Q. I have a right to ask. A. You have no right when I swear that no one

connnected with the Drummond County Railway contributed a dollar.
Q. I merely want to know whether you personally arranged it ? -A. Yes, I did.
Q. Therefore you have personal knowledge ?-A. Yes.
Q. You say that Mr. Greenshields did not in any way contribute?-A. No, not

one dollar.
Q. le did not become responsible on any paper?-A. Yes, I think f told you

Le endorsed the notes.
Q. HIow much did they amount to?-A. $10,000. H1e did not pay a dollar of

this, however.
Q. They are paid ?-A. Yes.
Q. In the same way, out of party contributions?-A. Well, my son paid part

of then.
Q. I am speaking of the whole of it?-A. Neither Mr. Greensbields nor anvbody

else connected with the Drummond County Railway paid a dollar of that. I cannot
speak positively, even. that Mr. Greenshields endorsed these notes for my sons.
As a matter of faet I supposed another Minister would be down with me to
Montreal. It was a party arrangement. I was in a hurry. Mr. Greenshields
condueted the negotiations in the way 1 have pointed out. I do not think he
endorsed the notes when I was there, but I was told he did after I left. I am sure
he bas not paid a dollar of that, because I know where the money came from. I
endorsed the notes, and I am told that after I left Mr. Greenshields endorsed them
also.

Q. Then the facts about the notes are: Your sons as makers, yourself as first
endorser, and Mr. Greenshields as second endorser ?-A. Yes.

Q. And the amount of the notes altogether was $10,000 ?-A. Yes.
Q. What date did this take place?-A. The same day as the purchase. Some

date in February, I think; I do not remember. The contract speaks for itself.
Q. You do not remember?-A. No; I did not keep note of the date.
Q. You had some three or four interviews with Mr. Greenshields and Mr.

Mit ehell ?-A. Mr. Mitchell bas seen me occasionally.
Q. Were your negotiations in regard to the details of the contract ?-A. No,

the negotiations that I have had with Mr. Greenshields and Mr. Mitchell were of
the nature of those that are taking place every day between Ministers and people
dealing with the government. These negotiations did not belong to my department
but I was of course one of the Ministers representing the province of Quebec.

Q. I have never been in the government, and I do not know what kind of
negotiations you mean.-A. You will be there some day and then you will see the fun
we are having every day.

Q. About what time did these negotiations take place between yourself, M-r.
Mitchell and Mr. Greenshields.-A. Really I cannot say.

Q. Could you give us an idea of the period.-A. No; I can nlot. I never paid
any special attention to it.

Q. Did they come to you before they negotiated with the Minister of Railways
and Canals ?-A. No, no.

Q. It was after.-A. This is a matter which came before Council.
Q. In what were you assisting ?-A. Assisting ?
Q. You had these negotiations with them I suppose for the purpose of assisting.

A. I did not say " negotiations." Thev came to me in the ordinary way that people
Mr. TARTE.
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dealing with the Government come to the Ministers, especially of their own province.
I did not conduct any nogotiations.

Q. For what purpose were these interviews ?-A. Oh, well, I do not rememnber
exactly; they might have asked me to do this or that; I do not remember the
details. There was nothing special. I know they were complaining as all con-
tractors do, that we were too hard on them.

Q, It was for the purpose of getting some modification in the terns ?-A. [ do
not remember exactly; nothing special.

Q. Have you no recollection whatover as to the purpose of these interviews ?-
A. No, no. Please do not forget that the matters did not belong to rny Department.
Mr. Blair had the whole of the negotiations in bis hands.

Q. I suppose they took place before the details were completely settled ?-A.
I suppose so; they must have seen me before they were settled altogether as they
have seen many other Ministers, I suppose.

Q. It would follow i suppose that it must have been before the last session
opened. Did these interviews take place belore the last session opened ?-A. I
cannot remember. I cannot fix the date in any way; I do not think it was though,
but I am not sure. I cannot fix the date at all.

Q. I think the details were settled before the session opened ?-A. i do not
remember that.

By lte Chairman:

Q. Will you say whether they saw you simply as constituents see their mem ber
and as people from a province see the Ministers from that province ?-A. They saw
me as contractors, and people who are dealing with the Government see Ministers.
They never saw me in any particular way.

By Mr. Borden :

Q. Did Mr. Greenshields, at any time during 1897, to your knowledge, assist in
raising funds for party purposes ?-A. Do you nean before these negotiations ?

Q. I mean any time during 1897.-A. Before the federal elections ?
MR. CHAIRMAN-That was in 1896.
THE WITNEsS-In 1890, yes. Before the fedcral elections we hau not a dollar,

and we were obliged Io endorse notes. I think that Mr. Greenshields became
responsible for $1,000, if you want to know the extent to which lie lias beei respol-
sible, and he bas not paid that money.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. Do you say that this is the only contribution, that you know of, given by
Mi. Greenshields ?-A. He may have given more, but not to my personal knowledge.

Q. Do you know of bis having become a party-either maker or endorser-to
a much larger note than that ?-A. I do not know that.

Q. Not to your knowledge ?-A. No.
Q. Do you know, Mi. Tarte, about bis making any contribution or assisting in

any way with the Champlain election?-A. I do not.
Q. Did you have anything to do with providing funds for tbat election ?-A.

Oh, that is my own affair. I never got a dollar from Mi'. Greenshields; i never got
a dollar from anybody connected with the Drummond County Railway Company,
and as to the Champlain election, that is my own affair. I have helped to the best
of my ability, and I have been defeated, I am sorry to say; but if I had been able
to go there myself, I think I would have carried the day. I will do it the next
time, though.

Mr. TARTE.
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Mi. WILLIAM WAINWRIGHT, General Assistant, Grand Trunk Railway Company,
examined:-

THE CIIAIRMAN-Q. Tou are already sworn ?-A. les, sir.
Q. You were asked to inform yourself as to the cost of railways in the province

of Quebec constructed or acquired by the Grand Trunk Railway, have vou done so ?
-A. I think I gave that in my last evidence, Mr. Chairman, in regard to the pro-
vince of Que bec.

Q. There was sornething about our getting the accounts was there not ?-A. The
desire of the Cornnittee was to examine the General Auditor of the Grand Trunk
because it did not appear satisfactory as I did not produce the books showing the
evidence, and I thiiik vou will find that M\tr. H. W. Walker, the General Auditor,
was to be examined. Mv statenent vas made upon figures furnished by the Gene-
ral A uditor and taken from the books of the company.

Q. Are you able to give any further information on that point ?-A. No.
Q. What can vou say ?-A I was asked to bring an agreement with the G rand

Trunk whiWh was submited to the Board in London, the heads of the agreement,
and which was nover carried through, though recommended b>y our then General
Manager. I have hanied in the meno. (Exhibit No. 36, memo. containing heads
of agieemeit and statement by the G ýeieral Manager to the Board in tLndon.)

Q. That was never eonfirmed ?-A. No.
Q. N ever approved of?-A. No.
Q. It never went before the Government ?-A. No; it had nothing to do with

the (overnment. It was piopose(d to take over the road and work it as it existed
at that time.

Q. W by was it not approved ?-A. Our people were not putting through any
furtlier extensions. It was jusýt at the time of the change of management.

Q. You told us in a former examination that Mi. Rufus Pope opened negotia-
tions with the Grand Trunk Company ?-A. Yes, he had an interview with me on
the subj1ect ot extending the Intercolonial Railway to Montreal.

Q. Via tie Grand Trun k ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did he state then for whom Ne was acting ?-A. No.
Q. Nothnog Ne said indicated that he was in any way acting for the Govern-

ment ?-A. Not that he had authority to do so. I presumed of course that not being
connected with the Departient cf Railways and being a member of Parliament that
it vas a inatter under discussion, but he gave me no information on that score.

Q. You knew Ne was not negotiatingr for himself?-A. I did not presume so.
Mr. Pope's proposition was to extend the Intercolonial to Montreal via Lévis and
the Gi-and Trtink iailwav.

Q. And thils agreenent (Exhibit No. 36) was one the Grand Trunk might have
acepted from the Druimmond County ?-A. Yes.

Q. Who tailked with vou, negotiated with vou, about taking over the Drummond
County Railway? How vas it you decided on these terms ?-A. The terms in that
stateiment ?

Q. Yes ?-A. The negotiations were between Mr. Greenshields and Mi-. Farwell
and Mi. Sargeant, the General Manager of the Grand Trunk. I was simply acting
for hinin the matter.

Q. Iow manv interviews did you have with Mr. Pope ?-A. Only one.
Q. Where was that ?-A. li Montreal.
Q. Nothing further was done about that at ali?-A. Mr. Haggart had ai inter-

view later with the General Manager. I was not present.
Q. What year would that be in ?-A. I think in 1890.
Q. Who was your General Manager?-A. L. J. Sergeant.
Q. Were you present ?-A. Not at Mr. Haggart's interview.
Q. H ave you knowledge at all that any negotiations took place more than the

interview ?-A. I do not think it went any further than that interview.
Mr. WA1xwRoîT.
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By M1r. Powell:

Q. I have here a copy of your tirme tables. First, I want to detei mine the
exact distance fron Montreal to Levis by the Grand Trunk ?-A. 172 miles aecord-
ing to this guide, 96 and 76, or 172 miles.

Q. Now there is the Governîment Railway Svstem tine table. Loolk at that
and give us the exact length there, so we will get the differenee between the two
routes ?-A. 162 miles it is shown here.

Q. Is it 16z or 163 ?-A. Ah, 163 to Levis.
Q. That is a difference of 9 miles ?-A. Yes.
Q. I think it vas represented in the HIouse to be 24 inilcs difference ; if it waIs

that would be 15 miles difference ?-A. Yes, it would, certainly.
Q. Leaving that out, you have a time table in your hands, please give us the

number of passenger trains that daily leave your Bonaventure station, and arrive
there ?-A. Between Montreal and Levis?

Q. That come in and go out. I vant to get the general passenige trattie. Do
not misunderstand me. I do not ,wish to ontine mvselft to Montreal and Levis. I
want the total passenger traffic at the station from all quarters ?-A. It would take
me some time. I could not glean it from this very well. I migiht if i had time. I
could get a little statement out that would be accurate and put it in ofileially.

Q. I want to get the user of the terminal facilities and the number o ail pas-
senger* trains in and out of Montreal ?-A. I will give vou that. sir.

Q. In addition te t hat I would like the nurrber of treigt t cars in and onut of
Montreal by the Grand Trunk and also bv the (Governrment Railway ?-A. Yes, I
can give that. We will take it for a week, for instance. It varies consierably

ccording to the traffic.
Q. I want to get the relative user both as respects passenger ai freight

traffic ?-A. I understand, I will get you that.
Q. Have you any arrangement with these roa(ds that use your terriinal

facilities at Montreal for the paynent of rentaIls or do you get simply ileage for
freight and passengers ?-A. We get simply our proportion of' the traflic.

Q. Ai there is no extra charge for terminal facilities ?-A. No. With regard
to terminal tcilities, they tIo not possess any. The cars are ,implly run ta as we
run them all over the continent. If a car is reeeived by theT Grand Trunk ut, a
frontier point and is not heavily loaded we can tranship and send the loal in our
own cars. They have no terminal rights.

Q. They have terminal facilities licenses ?-A. Cars corne in and go eut over
our rails and they pay mileage.

Q. You afford them yard roorn ?-A. Yes, because they bring as traffle and we
get our proportion of it.

Q. Now we come to the Intercolonial and the Grand lrukll. Yo have given
me a statement here of your interchange passenger and freight traflic, of what you
have received from the Governmenit railway systen in the past and aIse what you
gave them and giving your reeeipts in both cases ?-A. Yes.

Q. These earnings would include all the earnings on threugh freigh t or freight
for a distance carried over the Grand Trunk to a destination ?-A. Yes.

Q. Whether it be Toronto, Winidsor, Montreal or any other parLticular point?-
A. Yes, that is our proportion.

Q. But it does not show what the proportion would be for the distance from
Montreal, we will say to Chaudière ?-A. No, that is in the whole interchantge.

Q. And under this arrangement that you had with the Initerolonial you got
considerably more than your proportion on the basis of mileage alone ?-A. No, not
if the mileage is equal. But in the case where the preponderating mileage is in
excess the percentage divisions provide for that. The whole matter is based on
percentage division:, in regard to mileage, so that it works both ways, by which
the companies received a like benefit in that respect.

Mr. WAINWRIGHT.
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Q. You bad rather the advantage under the Intercolonial arrangement ?-
A. That is a matter I cannot answer just now as I did not make the divisions.

Q. We will come to another matter. They had the use of your lines from the
lst March, had they ?-A. Yes.

Q. Are the returns in for the month of March ?-A. The returns of the Grand
Trunk interchange for the month of March.

Q. No, they have to make monthly returns of the wheelage. Have you that ?-
A. I presume so; it ought to be in. I do not know whether the figures are made
out or not.

Q. Could you give us any information as to that?-A. I could not to-day.
Q. Can you give me a statement, if it is not too much trouble, of the Interco-

lonial porportion as well as your own of this traffie ?-A. I can only give you that
of the eastbound and you can get the westbound from the Railway Department.

Q. I mean what it was in the past ?-A. Yes, I understand. We can give you
the eastbound proportion because we know what it is ; we know that the total
amount is, and we can give you that. But I could not give you the proportion
of the Intercolonial. That you can get from the Railway Department.

Q. Your accounts would probably show that because you have the divided
total amount ?-A. If we can get it I shall be glad to give it to you.

Q. The other day that you were here there was some mention made of local
traffic. 't was agreed that the Intercolonial should have the privilege of putting
on what you may call a local train from Ste. Rosalie to Montreal ?-A. It has power
to pick up local business.

Q. Look at your time table and tell us whether the Intercolonial have any local
train from Ste. Rosalie to Montreal ?-A. No, they have not put one on.

Q. But you have ?-A. We have our St. Hyacinthe train.
Q. You say they can pick up local passengers. Just look at their time table

and see if they have any stoppages at all between Ste. Rosalie and Point St. Charles ?
-A. They run from St. Lambert with their express to St. Hyacinthe but their
accommodation stops at all stations according to tbis time table. 0f course their
express would not necessarily sto) at these little local points; they could Dot make
the time. We do not do it either.

Q. You were speaking about the betterments of the road. Do you remember
the Government railway engines that came to Montreal to be shipped down over
your line last winter ?-A. You aie referring to one engine I presume.

Q. Yes. a large engine ?-A. I do not think it came to Montreal; I think it
was in the United States. There was some proposition to ship an engine that they
had puichased over our line. I remember something of that.

Q. Do you know the reason why it did not go over your line ?-A. Yes.
Q. Whiat was that ?-A. Because we did not believe that it was in our interest

to carry a locomotive of that weight, that it would fnot pay us to do so. We were
strengthening some of our bridges and we did not want to take it.

Q. You eonsidered the engine was too beavy for your bridges?-A. Yes, at
that time there were some of oui bridges under repairs and we did not want to take
it. That only referred to one engine.

Q. And these bridges will have to be strengthened will they not ?-A. That has
been done. The bridge at Belleisle bas been rebuilt. We are rebuilding Victoria
Bridge and strengthening the St. Anne's Bridge. These matters have all been
attended to since that time.

By the Chairman :

Q. One word about the terminal facilities of railways exchanging with you,
their cars come into your yard ?-A. We get our proportion of the rates.

Q. And your cars go into theirs ?-A. Yes.
Q. Suppose there was an independent road entering Montreal not exchanging

with you, would you give thern terminal facilities for nothing ?-A. Certainly not.
Mr. WAINwRIGH1T.
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Only a few days ago the Canada Atlantic Railway Company obbained a bill here to
parallel us from Coteau and they are running their cars into Montreal, but they
cannot get our terminal facilities in Montreal without making arrangements to
pay for them.

Q. Wbere ?-A. Anywhere over another railway.

By Mr. Borden:

Q. I wish to ask a question relating to the agreement between the Government
and the Grand Trunk and I thought we had the agreement here but I do not see it?
-A. The new agreement is before the House. I saw it in print and got a copy of
it. You can easily get it. Copy procured and filed as Exhibit No. 37.

The Committee adjourned until Friday, May 6th.

Mr. WAINWRIGHT.
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HOUSE Or COMMONS,
FRIDAY, 6th May, 1898.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

INQUIRY into expenditure of subsidie> granted in aid of the Drummond County
R'ailway, and into the negotiations and transactions in relation to the aequiring
of the said railway by the Government of Canada, resumed.

Mr. J. N. GREENSIIELDS, being recalled, testified as follows

By 11r. Powell

Q. You are somewhat of an expert mathematician ; would vou tel] us just what
it would cost, reckoning the rails laid at $35 per ton, to lay the old portion of the
Drumrnond County line with 67 pound rails?-A. Figuring it on the basis of 70
pound rails, it takes 110 tons to the mile and this at $35 per ton would make 83,850.
Well then, deducting fioni that for the reduced weight of the rail it would leave
the cost of the rail $3,685. That is approximately the price ; I think it is exactly
right.

Q. Suppose the object is to bring the road up to the 67 pound rail standard of
the Intercolonial, if we deduet from that the value of the old rails, which the Min-
ister put at 812 a ton, what would that give the net cost per mile ?-A. Valuing
the 56-pound rails, whieh require 88 tons to the mile, at $12 per ton, would give
$1,056 per mile as the value of the released iails.

Q. So that the net cost would be what ?-A. $2,629.
Q. low many miles were there of the old portion of this road laid with tbese

56-pound rails ?-A. There were, approximately, 70 miles.
Q. So that the additional net cost to make the change would be what ?-A.

$185,000, or to give you the exact figures, $184,030, that is on the assumption of
the figures vou gave me of $35 and $12, for which I am not responsible.

Q. Let us sum the matter up; if Mr. MacLeod's estimate is right, of $35 per ton
laid and Mr. Blair's estimate is right, of $12 for the old rails, it would cost the
country over and above w,,hat it gets for the old rails, 8185,000 to make that change
in the rails ?-A. Yes, not only for the rails alone, but for relaying the old rails with
70-pound rails.

By the Chairman

Q. That includes the cost of ielaying?-A. Not only the cost of rails, but of
relaying the road with 70-pound rails.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. And that inciudes ties ?-A. Ties and everything.
Q. I mean by that fish plates, &c.-A. Yes, and bolts and nuts and everything.
Q. Now, Mr. Greenshields, there is a matter you were asked about on a former

occasion respecting the amounts you have paid for the stock that you had receiv ed.
MI. GREENSHIELDS.
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I only asked you on that occasion as to stock you had received about the time of
the negotiations that were being carried on with the Giovernment, or a short time
previously. You were not asked about stock acquired earlier. Tell us vour first
connection with the road ?-A. On that occasion 1 raised an objection to answering
that question. I did not think it had any reference to what the Committee were
investigating, or that they had any right to ask me what I paid for stock. I am
still of that opinion, stili think it is beyond the limits of the Committee. I do not
think it has any r eference or relation to the question of the value of the rond, as
the value of a road is not affected by what an individual lias paid for his stock. I
do not want to depart from the legal stand I took then ; I do not think I should
have been asked the question, but I have no objection to answer.

Q. I would differ from you there, as 1 think it is a fair estimate of the value
by taking the value the owners put on the stock ?-A. Well, Mr. Powell, that is a
matter of argument and I do not suppose it is necessary for us to argue. The value of
the Canadian Pacific stock fluctuates from one to forty per cent in the course of the
year, and i do not think the value of the road rises and fails according to the fluctua-
tion of stock on 'he market. What a man will sell stock for on the market depends
on the neeessitv of the moment. So far as the history of my holding of Drummond
County Railway stock and the first stock is briefly this : This road, of whieb Church,
Mitchell, and Fee were the ovners, at that time only went as far as St. Leonard.
This company had been trying to get an extension of ther charter through to Lévis
from the provincial legislature. They had applied for this extension several times
and had been defeated before the railway coinittee. They came to see me and
asked me if 1 would take an interest in the road, help them to obtain an extension
of the charter, asist t hem in financing the construction iof the road tiroughi to
Lévis, and they said if I would do so they would give me an interest with themselves
in the road.

By the Minister of Public WVorks:

Q. What year vas that ?-A. In 19 or 1893, tive or six years ago. I stated
then, after coisidering the matter, that I would and they gave me $50,000 of the
stock, that is a one-eighth interest in the rond.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. For your professional and political influence ?-A. Well, 1 had no political
influence, because this House and the other House were controlled by your friends
and I was a mere outsider.

By Mr. Eagyart:

Q. You were not on our side theni ?-A. i never vas and never intend to be.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. As manipulator then, politically and financially ?-A. No. My professionial
skill and financial strer.gth possibly had something to do with iL.

Q. Then to corne to bard facts, you gave no money and the only quid pro quo
was this assistance ?-A. Time, assistance, financial aid, and adviee to the Company,
and I spent a great deal of money.

Q. What do you mean by financial aid ?-A. Negotiating loans.
Q. You did not advance any yourself ?-A. No.
Q. Nor lend anything?-A. No, not then, but I was ready te do so. It was

principally for my services.
Q. Coming to later allotments, you said some were below and some above par?

-A. I dealt with the stock before that we had paid par for. Now there remains
simply one more block of stock held by Church, that we bought at 30 cents on the
dollar.

Mr. GREENSHIELDS.
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Q. A block of $80,000 ?-A. Yes.
Q. 1 understand this $80,000 was one-fifth of the total paid-up capital stock ?-

A. Exactly.
Q. And it represeuted then virtually one-fifth of the road ?-A. My dear Mr.

Powell, the stock does not represent one-fifth of the road. If a road bas a capital
stock of $50,000 and is worth $2,000,000, $10,000 would not reprosent one-fifth of
the value of the road.

Q. But it would be one-fifth of the stock ?-A. Yes, but that is not a basis of
the value of the road.

Q. Suppose that there is 8400,000 of paid-up capital stock in a road, and that is
ail that can be issued, and you own one-fifth of it, you virtually own one-fifth of the
road ?-A. No, because the bondholders might hold. The road might owe two
millions.

Q. But you own subject to lien ?-A. Yes, certainly, that is right. The argu-
ment you were trying to make was that one-fifth of the stock bought for $24,000
represents one-fifth of the value of the road.

Q. Up to a later time any bonds of the railway were a mortgage, in fact were
hypothecated ?-A. Yes.

Q. And hypothecated to cover the floating indebtedness of the company ?-A.
Yes.

Q. The sum you gave for $80,000 of stock is $24,000 ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then the total amount of money you paid for $130,000 of that stock, which

is almost one-third of the total capital stock, would be $24,000 ?-A. That is right.

By the Minister of Public TVorks :

Q. In what year did you buy that ?-A. The Church stock was bought in 1895,
I think, Mr. Tarte.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. If I understood you right at one time-and I want to emphasise it-you
made a statement that there was another agreement other than that option in writing
of whicb you were aware for the division ?-A. Not that I was a party to.

Q. Who were the parties to that agreement ?-A. I understood that there was a
separate agreement.

Q. I thought you said you knew it ?-A. I was told that by Mr. Farwell. I
think I did see the agreement, Mr. Hlaggart.

By the Chairman:

Q. And you paid par for how much of your stock again ?-A. About $130,000.

By Mr. Powell.:

Q. Could you be more exact as to the time you got this allotment of $50,000
paid up capital stock ?-A. I do not remember, but it was the year that we got the
extension of the charter to Lévis. It was about a year before that. I think it was in
1894, but you can fix the date by the Act passed here extending the charter through
to Lévis.

By Mfr. Tarte;

Q. There were only 70 miles built then ?-A. Then, yes ; the road was only
built through to Nicolet. We were then 70 miles from Lévis. We built 30 miles
since then.

Q. The scheme was in its infancy ?-A. Very much in its infancy.
Mr. GREENSHIELDS.
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.By Mr. Powell:

Q. Before you commit yourself to that I wish you woald be particular. In 1894
there was 89-91 miles completed and some under construction. In 1893 there was
62-81 completed and a considerable quantity under construction ?-A. We built, after
the charter granting the extension was given, some 23 or 24 miles towards Lévis,
because we had not the right to bauild before that. Whatever the mileage then was the
mileage from Ste. Rosalie to Nicolet, less the line of road we built after the extension
of the charter through to Lévis.

Q. From Ste. Rosalie to Nicolet that line was completed. It is the extension
towards Moose Park you mean ?-A. No, that was built under the charter from the
Dominion Parliament extending the right to go through to Lévis.

Q. That was in 1893, was it not ?-A. You see the section here, Statutes of
Canada. cap. 46, sect. 4, " In addition to the powers conferred by the said two Acts
of the Legislature of the Province of Quebec, the company may lay out, construct
and operate an extension of its line of railway from the village of Leonard, in the
county of Nicolet, to a point on the Intercolonial Railway in the county of Lévis."
There was no construction from St. Leonard down to Lévis, so that the road was
built to St. Leonard and to Nicolet.

Q. Just another question or two, the first one I shall not apologize for, but the
second I do not wish to press unless you choose to answer it. Did you pay for this
other stock in professional services and influence the saine as the first instalment ?-
A. No.

Q. The $80,000 was a bona fide purchase ?-A. Certainly.
Q. I do not care about inquiring into private matters and so I do not wish this

to go to the country or to the reporters as being objected to by you, because I will
not urge it. Have you any objection to saying how that was paid ftor ?-A. I have
no objection to telling the members of the committee.

Q. It was a bona fide quid pro quo to the full extent, $20,000 ?-A. To the last
cent.

Q. No reduction. It was money or its equivalent ?-A. Yes, money or its
equivalent.

Witness discharged.

Mr. Wm. FARWELL being sworn, gave evidence as follows:-

By the Chairman;

Q. Where do you live ?--A. Sherbrooke.
Q. What is your business ?-A. I am a bank manager.
Q. You have had some connection with the Drummond County Railway ?-A.

I have.
Q. As a stock holder ?-A. Yes.
Q. And as promoting the enterprise ?-A. Yes.
Q. An agreement or copy of un option was produced here by Mr. Haggart

marked Exhibit No. 20. Have you the original ?-A. No, I have not. 1 have not
the original, I have looked for it but have been unable to find it.

Q. Do you recognize tbat as a copy there from your recollection of the
original ?-A. I think it is a copy. Yes, I have no doubt it is.

Q. At the time or subsequent to the time ofthe execution of this was there
another instrument signed ?-A. In connection with this matter.

Q. In connection with this railway and this agreement ?-A. I do not think so.
Anything in conneetion with this was a verbal agreement between Mr. Ryan and
myself.

1-9
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Q. Between Mr. Ryan and you ?-A. Between Mr. Ryan and myself.
Q. What were the terms of the verbal agreement ?-A. The understanding was

that he was to undertake to construct-first of all he was to undertake to effect an
agreement for a lease of the road to the Government for a hundred thousand dollars
a year or a sale for two and a half million dollars. I will not say he undertook to
do it, but that was the condition on which he had this agreement and on which I
signed this option to him. Ie was then to construct, to furnish the money to con-
struct the road through to Chaudière, and after deducting the expense of that the
shareholders were to bc paid the anount stipulated in this agreement, and one-third
of the profits on the transaction after that was to come to me.

Q. In that arrangement, at least as connected with that interest of one-third,
were Mr. Greenshields and Mr. Mitchell associated with you ?-A. We were aeting
together in this thing. After each being paid the full amount of bis share we were
to share jointly in one-third of the profits arising from the sale.

Q. And who was to get the other two-thirds ?-A. Mr. Ryan I suppose.
Q. Before Ryan went to sec you, had you been spoken to by any person in con-

nection with this proposition which assurned that shape-by any Member of Parlia-
ment ?-A. I do not remember. I think I had discussed the matter generally with
Mr. Pope and Mr. Ives, but nothing in connection with this that I remember. I do
-not remernmber.

Q. Then you undertake to swear, Mr. Farwell, that there was no memo. made
at al! of the understanding, as you call it, between you and Mr. Ryan ?-A. I do not
think there was. I have no recollection of any written arrangement. Anything in
connection with it is verbal.

Q. Did you make a memo. of it ?-A. I do not think I did. This option was to
run only for 30 days, and so far as deciding whether he would go on with it or not
this expired in 30 days.

Q Well, that was renewed ?-A. I do not think it was.
Q. Was it not renewed until September?-A. I do not think it was. It might

have been. It was not withdrawn. If it was not renewed it was understood that it
could have been closed at any time on this basis.

Q. Up to what time ?-A. Up to the end of the year.
Q. Were not negotiations pending up to the close of 1896 ?-A. Well, not with

Mr. Ryan altogether I think he decided, afier considering the matter for some
lime that he could not go on with it.

Q. low did Mr. Ryan come to appear on the scene; did you go to him or did
he corne to you?-A. I think I went to him. I have known him for a good many
years as a prominent contractor and wealthy man, and I thoulght be would be as
good a man as could undertake it.

Q. Whero did you first mcet him ?-A. It might have been in Montreal.
Q. Was the meeting at your suggestion ?-A. 1 do not think it was any fixed

meeting. Of course I amn speaking altogether from recollection, I do not think
there was any fixed meeting. I met him accidently and broached the matter to
him.

Q. Did any one suggest that you should meet him?-A. No; I do not think
they did.

Q. It was of your own motion ?-Yes.
Q. You say that Mr. Pope and Mr. Ives had been speaking with you about it ?-

A. I was speaking to them.
Q. Did you understand that they had any communication with the Govern-

ment ?-A. Not at that time.
Q. At any time ?-A. Well, nothing formal.
Q. What do you mean by nothing formal?-A. I mean that the matter was

never brought up before them. It might have been discussed by them with the
Government; I do not know that.

Q. Did they give you to understand that they had discussed the matter with the
Government, or with any member of the Government ?-A. I would not swear to
that. I think I understood they had talked with other members of Parliament in

Mr. FARWELL.
130



Drummond County Railway Inqu!ry.

connection with the matter. I nay say I had spoken to Mr. Cleveland, who was
a mernber of Parliament at the time.

Q. Did they give you to understand they had spoken with any member of the
Government ?-A. I think so. but I do not know. J think they did.

Q. Well now, the object of giving that refusal or option was to soli or lease the
road to the government, was it not ?-A. Yes.

Q. Did Mr. Ryan represent to you that there was a probability of effecting a
sale to the government ?-A. No, he did not.

Q. Did anybody?-A. No, I think it was my own idea. I thought that it was
a piece of road the governmeit ought to have, that it was a good roid to extend
the Intercolonial Railway to Montreal and that it was as direct a route as they
could get.

Q. The expectation was that if the government bought the road they would
pay $2,500,000 for it ?-A. Yes, that was what I stipulated.

Q. Or $100,000 a year rental ?-A. Yes.
Q. How were these negotiations continued fron 1894 to 1896 ?-A. I cannot

say there vere negotiations, except in a way. Of course ive were disposed to seli the
road or lease it, and naturally would use every endeavour to do so.

Q. Would you ever sec, during that time, anv member of the goveriment
about it ?-A. No. I cannot say I did.

Q. Did you have anybody see any member of the governmet?-A. (No
answer.)

Q. You were an xious to sel1 ?-A. Well, yes.
Q. Mr. Ives was a mcmber of the government. did you sec him ?-A. Yes.
Q. Had you spoken to Mr. Pope?-A. Yes, I had spoken to him.
Q. Was he to see the government ?-A. I do not think he undertook that.

Whether ho did or not I do not know.
Q. The negotiations were off; Mr. Ryan did not go on after Augrust, 1894 ?-A.

I do not remember the time. They were not gone on with.
Q. Well, who wenit on with the negotiations ?-A. I do not know that aniybody

but myself went on with the negotiations.
Q. Who did you negotiate with ?-A. As a matter of fact 1 did not carry on

very effective negotiations. I was always expecting that somo arrangements wouild
have been made to take the road over for the extension of the Intercolonial rail-
way.

Q. What reason had you for expecting that ?-Because it was in a direct line
and seemed essential.

Q. What reason had you, apart from the geographical position of the road, to
believe that the government would take it over ?-A. I do not know that I had any.

Q. You were in hopes of selling the road between 1894 and 1896?-A. I was in
the hopes at all times to sell the road.

Q. Well, that being the condition of your mind is it not reasonable to suppose
that you took some steps to carry it out ?-A. I cannot say I did take any steps,
except to wait.

Q. You saw Mr. Ives?-A. Yes, and Mr. Cleveland and Mr. Pope, not officiallv
but in discussing the question of the extension; and I think Mr. Pope felt that it
was almost a nocessary thing for the government to do. He was very strongly of
the opinion that it was a good thing for the government to do, to extend the Inter-
colonial Railway to Montreai.

Q. What did Mr. Ives think about it ?-A. He folt the same way. I think that
I saw in the report of Mr. Foster's speech at the last session of Parliament that
nobody could question the advisability of extending the road to Montreal. I think
I have the clipping in my pocket.

Q. Would you produce it. We want to hear all that Mr. Foster says ?-A. It
was a newspaper report and it may not have been correct. This is part of his
speech: --

" Mr. Foster, continuing, said there was the superannuation bill about which
they had heard so much, but did not abolish. This however was a bill which the
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Government might fairly put through. and wbich the opposition would be disposed
to assist in the perfecting of, if it was possible, on the basis they advanced. There
was also a measure for the extension of the Intercolonial Railway, which they boped
to see some of these days. No one could object to such a measure."

Q. Before the election took place in 1896 was there any sort of promise made
by any member of the Goverurnent that in case the conse7rvatives were successful in
the elections the road would be taken over ?-A. I never heard such a promise.

Q. Did you ever see such a letter ?-A. I have an impression that there was such
a letter, but I am not prepared to swear that there was.

Q. Who was the writer ?-A. I would not be prepared to say.
Q. To the best of your recollection ?-A. I am not prepared to say that it was

so; consequently it is only an impression.
Q. The other would be an impression also ?-A. I do not think I could.
Q. It is only an impression of course ?-A. I would rather not mention the

name when it is only an impression.
Q. The Committee wants you to mention it ?-A. I cannot, because it is only

an impression.
Q. What is your impression ?-A. I would not swear that there was such a

letter.
Q. You have told us that. Whom do you think it is from ?-A. Is it right to

give your impression ?
Q. Yes Sir; we are trying to find out the facts ?-A. I don't think I can

answer that question.
Q. Do you swear you cannot answer it ?-A. Weil, I swear that I had an

impression.
Q. That is all I want ?-A. IU is not evidence.
Q. No matter; this is not evidence here entirely ; we are searching ?-A. I do

not know whom such a letter was from.
Q. I did not ask you whether you knew it or not. You told me that you have

an impression. I ask you now to let us know what that impression is?-A. 1 did
not have any such letter.

Q. You have told us that ?-A. I never had such letter.
Q. Your impression is that you saw a letter. I want to know what is your

impression as to whom the writer was ?-A. Very well I have an impression that it
was Sir Charles Tupper. I did not have any such letter from him and I may be
wrong.

Q. You may be, I understand that perfectly, but your impression is that you
saw a letter written by Sir Charles Tupper ?-A. Yes.

Q. What is your impression as to whom that letter was addressed to ?-A. I
have an impression that it was addressed to Mr. Pope.

Q. What is your impression as to the contents of that letter ?-A. Well in a
general way that the Government would be favourable to some arrangement to take
over the road.

Q. To take over the road if?-A. There was no "if" about it.
Q. If they succeeded at the election ?-A. No " if" about it.
Q. How long betore the election was that ?-A. I cannot say.
Q. Was it in 1896 ?-A. Yes, in the spring of 1896.
Q. And taking over the road, in your mind, meant $2,500,000 or $100,000 a

year ?-A. That is what I asked for.
Q. And that is what you expected if it were taken over ?-A. Yes, but I should

bave taken less if I could not have got that.
Q. But you would have taken that ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is what you expected ?-A. That is what I hoped for.
Q. Can you be more definite as to date ?-A. No.
Q. In the spring of 1896 ?-A. I think so.
Q. The eieetions were in June ?-A. Yes, I think so, but I am not much of a

politician. I am not a political organizer as was stated ?
Mr. FARWELL.
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Q. Your memory is not good ?-A. I had nothing special to fix the exact time?
Q. Where did you see this letter?-A. It was in Montreal.
Q. At the hotel ?-A. Yes. I think it was in Montreal.
Q. Was anybody present besides you two ?-A. No, 1 do not think so.
Q. What hotel was it?-A. The Windsor.
Q. Did you communicate the fact that you had seen that let ter to anybody else ?

-A. I do not know that I did, unless it might have been to my partners in the
railway transaction.

Q. I suppose that stimulated you a little politically?-A. I mean Mr. Mitchell
and Mr. Greenshields, if to anybody. I do not know whether it stimulated them or
not.

Q. Did you ever have any communication with Mr. Hugh Ryan between the
time of giving up that option and the time you saw this letter?-A. No, I do not
think so.

Q. Then any effort that you made in the interval to sell the road to the Govern-
ment was made through Mr. Pope and Mr. Ives ?-A. Well, yes, although they were
not active measures. As I say we were forced to adopt a waiting policy.

Q. Till they got into a critical place ?-A. No, until their good judgmentwould
convince them that it was a good thing to extend the road to Montreal.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Mr. Farwell, the company had this railway on their hands and you thought
the strategic advantage commercially was very great ?-A. Decidedly.

Q. And you thought ultirnately the government would take it over to afford a
connection to the government railway at Montreal ?-A. That was my expectation.

Q. And that expectation, as I understand it, was based entirely on the geo-
graphical features of the road ?-A. Yes.

Q. And you had great faith in the geographical features of the road and con-
tinued the construction towards Chaudière from the time yotu first began ?-A. Yes.

Q. That was your ultimate goal?-A. Yes.
Q. And the idea of that was?-A. To make it a through line.
Q. That was the motive that prompted you, and with that object in view you

had donc considerable of the work of construction from Moose Park to Chaudière ?
-A. Yes, we had done general construction on the section from St. Leonard to
Moose Park, in the expectation that we would get a subsidy, of course, from the
Federal (overnment, and also that we could avail ourselves of a subsidy granted by
the Quebec Government from Carmel, a point on our line, to Arthabaska, of 230,000
acres of land. We expected to be able to avail ourselves of that, which we have
not up to the present time.

Q. There were two strings to you bow, you thought the Grand Trunk might
take it or the government ?-A. Yes.

Q. And yon entered into negotiations with the G.T.R. ?-A. That was beforo the
road was extended.

Q. Now, sir, with respect to the government, you never had any direct com-
munication with the government about the sale of the road to them ?-A. No.

Q. And you gave this option to Mr. Hugh Ryan ?-A. Yes.
Q. These were never successful; if Mr. Ryan carried on communication with

the government he did not do it successfully?-A. No.
Q. Up to the time of the negotiations with the late government the expectation

was that the chance of an agreement to extend was not over -A. No.
Q. They held entirely aloof from it ?-A. They did not take it.
Q. And you like any other business man would get al] you could for the line ?

-A. Yes.
Q. And $2,500.000 was all your conscience would allow you to take ?-A. I

mentioned the road to-day as worth $2,500,000. Our earnings on a piece of the road
for the last three years were $35,000 net per annum and the capacity of the road
for local earnings is equal to the amount we were to receive under such agreement
for the road.

Mr. FARWELT.
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Q. But you were willing to take considerably less for it ?-A. Our necessities
compelled us to do it.

Q. The anxiety to realize to liquidate the floating indebtedness ?-A. Yes, and
have money in our pocket.

Q. Speaking of this option to Mr. Eyan, on its face limited to 30 days, but as
you told the chairman time was not of the essence of the contract-it was supposed
to continue?-A. Well, it would not. I would have felt sale at any time with my
co-shareholders to carry that out, although it was for 30 days.

Q. Do you know the polities of Mr. Mitchell ?--A. le is a Liberal.
Q. And Mr. Greenshields is a Liberal ?-A. I think he is a Liberal.
Q. Now, Mr. Lister asked you if you had noticed any particular stimulation of

your political zeal about the last election; did you notice any particular stimulation
of zeal on the part of Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Greenshields?-A. I think about the
fa me.

Q. In expectation of this big haul they did not incline to the Tory party ?-A.
I am sorry to say they did not. I do not like the expression " big haul," because
they were only getting the value of the road.

Q. Your position was this: we may call the shareholders three partiesyou and
Mr. Greenshields and Mr. Mitchell and ail the shareholders were all one party?-A.
Yes.

Q. Then there was a second party, yourself and Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Green-
shield, they constituted another party ?-A. Yes.

Q. And then the third party was Mr. Hugh Ryan ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the first party was to get the amount of that option ?-A. They were to

get for their shares, par and 25 per cent premium.
Q. That made $500,000 ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then you three as the second party were to get one-third of the net gain in

the transaction ?-A. Yes.
Q. And Mr. Ryan was to get two-thirds ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did it never strike you that if $2,500,000 was got for the road, Mr. Ryan

was getting a fat thing ?-A. Yes. but at the same lime we would be doing a good
thing ourselves, and you undertstand that in the tirst place he would have to spend
his time and his money to construet the road, and a man's experience in such work
is valuable. At any rate, if we could have made better arrangements, we would
have done it.

Q. And in all these negotiations, or before the iegotiations, Metsbrs. Greenshields
and Mitchell were conversant they were in the inner ciicle with you ?-A. Yes.

Q. Then, as respects this letter from Sir Charles Tupper, Sir Charles mentioned
in conversation he was prepared to enter into negotiations ?-A. I understood it so.
I cannot say it vas in the letter, but my impression was that that was what the
letter eonveyed.

Q. There was nothing conditional on the result of the clections, but only that
the Government was prepared to enter into negotiations for the purchase of the road ?
-A. Yes.

By the Chairman:

Q. Do you undertake to say the proviso was not in the letter, " if they succeeded
at the elections ? "-A. No, it was not in the letter. There vas nothingof that kind;
that is, what little I recollect of it, because I do not recolleet that I had the letter in
my hands.

Q. It was a letter that would not be let out of the hands of the holder very
read iy ?-A. I do not know.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. There were no stated amounts in the letter, or anything of that kind ?-A.
I cannot recollect.

Mr. FARWELL.
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By the Chairman:

Q. The Grand Trunk negotiations, I understand, commenced away back in
1891 ?-A. It was in 1891 or 1892.

Q. They fell through; nothing came of them at all ?-A. No.
Q. And then you turned your attention to selling to the Government ?-A. Yes,

all we couild. We turned our attention to see if we could get a road through to
Levis. We have had difficulty about getting any subsidies and help to get the road
through. As a matter of faci, we have met with tremendous opposition agaînst our
getting through, by competing roads.

Q. And it was after the Grand Trunk negotiations lad fallen through that you
thought of selling to the Government ?-A. Yes.

Q. Of course what Mr. Green-hields and Mr. Mitchell knew they did not get
from Mr. Pope or Mr. Ives; it was from you 2-A. Yes.

Q. Mr. Ives communicated with you. and you with the others ?-A. I cannot
say he communicated with me; I communicated with him. He is a personal friend
of mine.

Q. Be it as you like, wliatever information they had they got from you ?-A.
Yes.

Q. Now, about the arrangement that you have made with the present Govern-
ment. Can you say whether that arrangement is a better or a worse arrangement
than the one you made with Mr. Ryan, if it had been carried out ?-A. A worse
arrangement for us.

Q. It is a better arrangement for the Government ?-A. It is a worse arrange-
ment for us, a great deal, and better for the Government.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. Your talk with Mr. Pope and Mr. Ives was simply, on your part, endeavour-
ing to convince them or to urge this along ?-A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you remeriber an option which was given to Mr. Maze ?-A. That was
in connection with Mr. Greenshields. I do not know about that at all.

By 1r. Haggart:

Q. There were no other options given in connection with this road ?-A. I may
have had another, but it was simply to me.

Q. I suppose for a similar amount to this ?--A. I do not remember. I was
under the impression that this was for 8400,000, but it is put in here at $500,000.

Q. What do you think the other option would be for ?-A. The other would be
for $100,000, but I do not know if this is an exact copy. It was not less than
$400,000.

Bu Mr. Powell

Q. How about the second option after this ?-A. I cannot say.

By the Chairman :

Q. It was for the same purpose, to sell to the Goverinment ?-A. Yes. We
never offered to sell to anybody for any less than that.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. That was for $400,000 ?-A. For $100,000 rental or two and a-half millions,
until this last lease came up. Mr. FARwELL.
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By the Chairmar:

Q. Was there ever any authority given to anybody to sell for $400,000 ?-A.
iNe ver.

Q. You would not have taken it, I presume?-A. Never.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Along during this time there was quite an indebtedness to the bank of which
you were manager. The bank was rather pressing for the payment of this, were
they not ?-A. Well, I cannot say that. It was never so much that we felt we
could not got along without the money.

Q. You were rather anxious that the debt should be liquidated ?-A. I do not
know, we liked the interest on it.

Q. To come back to the main point, weren't vou rather anxious that the debt
should be liquidated ? I am not going into the account between you at all.-A. I
do not think there is anything special in it.

By the Chairman :

Q. They paid a good rate of interest ?-A. Yes, a satisfactory rate. More than
the others wanted to pay.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. As bigh as seven or eight per cent sometimes ?-A. No, never more than
seven per cent.

Witness discharged.
Mr. J. M. Courtney, Deputy Minister of Finance, was recalled to produce an

actuarial statement, and, it not being ready, made a memo. of what was required,
and promised to have Mr. Fitzgerald, the Inspector of Insurance, prepare it.

The Committee then adjourned until Friday next, 13th inst., at 10.30 o'clock a.m.

Mr. FARWEL L.
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HoUSE OF CoIMoNs,
FRIDAY, 13th May 1898.

Inquiry into the expenditure of subsidies granted in aid of the Drummond County
Railway and into the negotiations and transactions in relation to the acquir-
ing of the said railway by the Government of Canada, resumed.

The Committee met at 10.30 o'clock, a.m.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, Deputy Minister of Railways, recalled, was
examined as follows:-

By Mr. Haggart:
Q. This is a statement of the amount of traffic on the IDrummond County Rail-

way from lst to 31st March, 1898, both inclusive:-

(Exhibit No. 38).

Through freight..... ..... ,..................................... $ 18,867 39
Local freight..... ............................... 11,963 36
Through passenger......... .................. . 7,371 83
Local passenger........ .......................... 6,513 46

$ 44,716 04

That is the statement you produced ?-A. Yes.
Q. You have not got the working expenses ?-A. No, I have not.
Q. How do you apportion the anount of the Drummond County Railway

through rates ?-A. That is determined on a mileage basis, I think.
Q. The same as for passengeis ?-A. It must be so, it is the onily way to do it.

By MUr. Powell :

Q. You have an arrangement with the Dominion Atlantic Railway Company
over a portion of the Government line from Windsor to Windsor Junction ?-A. Yes,
the Dominion Atlantic operate on the Windsor branch from Windsor to Windsor
Junction. Theyireceivetwo-thirds of the gross earnings and the Government receive
one-third for maintaining it.

Q. Let us get the full arrangement. For the one-third of the gross receipts the
Dominion maintains the line trom Windsor to Windsor Junction and gives the Do-
minion Atlantic running facilities over the Intercolonial Railway to Halifax, together
with terminal facilities at Halifax, is that it ?-A. Yes, they have running powers to
Halifax, but the Government receives one-third on that also of the amount of traffic
that comes off that road, but receive nothing for the use of the terminals.

Q. What does the Dominion Atlantic receive from the Government; do they
receive the use of the rond from Windsor to Windsor Junetion and the use to Halifax
and terminal facilities at Halifax, and for all that they give one-third of what is
earned by the Dominion Atlantic Railway?-A. One-third of the total receipts.

Q. And the Dominion Atlantic Company have nothing to do with maintaining
the roadbeds, or anything of that kind ?-A. No.

Q. All that is thrown on the Government ?-A. Yes.
Q. What is the length of this road from Windsor to Windsor Junetion ?-A. It

is thirty-two miles.
Mr. SCHREIBER.
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Q. And what is the distance from Windsor Junction to Halifax station ?-A.
Fourteen miles.

Q. And the terminal facilities at lalifax are very extensive ?-A. They are
very considerable.

Q. Can you give us from memory what net rental is receivtd by the Govern-
ment ?-A. You mean the difference between the cost of operating theroad and the
one-third ?

Q. Yes ?-A. I could not tell you from rnemory. There is a profit each year.
It will be found in the report of the Department. Here it is. The last year the
profit was $29,782.19.

Q. Just give the Committee please the figures from 1890 of what the net rental
was ?-A. The figures, leaving out the cents, are as follows:-

1890.............. .............................. $11100
1891 ........... ... .... ............... . ... . ......... 1,304
1892 ..... ...................... . ....... 13995
1893 ...... ........ ...... .......... 17,426
1894........ .... ........ ............................... .... 15,330
1895. ............................................ ,438
1896................ .................... ......... 20,085
1897 .......................... '......... ................. 2')9,7 82

Q. And under that agreement of wbich vou speak ai] the betterments requisite
for the trafie of the Dominion Atlantic Railway, that is s0 far as tbis portion of the
road is coîîccrned, have to be met by the Government at their own expense ?-A.
That is a debatable question, whether they pay for them or not.

Q. As a mritter of l'net they were met by the Governmeiit ini 1891 ?-A. Such
betterments as have been made have been paid by the Government and are charged
in that aceounit.

Q. That would be a longer strcîch of road than you. aie renting trom the Grand
Trujk ?-A. -No.

Q. Adding the fourteen m-iles io il ?-A. Yes, if you take from Hlalifax to
Windsor it -would be forty-six miles.

Q. Altogether thc Dominion Atlantic have the use of foi-ly-six miles ?-A. Yes.
Q. As against what lengih of the Grand Trunk ?-A. 1 think it is thýrty-six

miles. I may say this, it is much the sa-me thing, for the fourteen miles they have
not. the sole and only use.

Q. Then for the fourteen miles they have the use in common with the Govern-
ment, anti for the tbirty-two miles they have the exclusive use ?-A. Yes.

Q. The Domninion Atlantic Company have a very heavy freight traffec mbt Hali-
fax, bas il not ?-A. yes.

Q. -lcavier thun you have over the Grand Trunk at Montreal ?-A. I could flot
say bow that would be. I s.hould think noti. Certainly 1 .should suppose not.

Q. Take the northerui portion of the liitercolonial from Chaudière to iRivière
du Loup, don't you know that the frcight truffec over the Dominion Atlantic Rail-
way is very largely in exeess of what passes over that portion of the Intercolonial
Railway?9-A. I should îiot suppose s0.

Q. You have xîever iooked into it?-A. No.

By 31r. Hiaggart :
Q.Do you know anything of the details of the local traffle, what amonit, of

that local truffie went to construction accouaI, or, on account of the Drummond
County Railway itself ?-A. No.

Q. 1 would like to have that, and to have ai the riext meeting the account for
month of April ?-A. Very well.

By the Chairmian :
Q.I understand you 10 say that Exhibit No. 38 shows the amount of traffie the

.Drummond County IRailway is entitled to credit for ?-Â. Yes.
.Mr. SC1HRE113ER.
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Q. For one month ?-A. For one nonth.
Q. You only commenced to operate the road on the 1st of March ?-A. Yes.
Q. The Dominion Atlantic Railway I understand you to say is thirty-two miles

to Windsor Junction and fourteen miles from Windsor Junction to Halifax, making
forty-six miles in aill owned by that rond ?-A. No, owned by the Government.

Q. Ilow much of the road is owned by the Dominion Atlantic Company ?-A.
None of that portion.

Q. That is a portion belonging to the iovernment over which it runs ?-A. Yes.
Q. For the user of that road they pay oie-third of the gross receipts?-A. They

pay us one-third of the gross earnings lor maintaining the road and retain two-thirds
for operating the road. They operate the road and we maintain it.

Q. You say it is questionable whether under the agreement the Govern ment is
bound to maintain the road ?-A. No, I did not refer to maintenance but to the cost
of betterments. Onur contention is that it is the road as it was when the lease was
made that we have to maintain.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. The Intercolonial Railway time-tables will give the number of trains passing
over the road from Windsor to Windsor Junction, I suppose?-A. Yes.

Q. Freight trains, are they given ?-A. No.
Mr. Schreiber retired.

Sir- CHARLES TUPPER, being sworn, gave evidence as follows:-

By Mr. Powell :

Q. Sir Charles, you wish to make a statement I understand respecting some
evidence that bas been given here ?-A. Yes.

Q. I will just read the evidence given and then you can makze your statement on
it. On page 132 of the evidence of Friday, May 6th, Mr. Farwell was being examin-
ed, and the questions and answers were as follows:-

Q. Before the election took place in 1896 was there any ort of promise mad by* alv imeinber of the
Governient that in case the Conservative-s were siuccesful in th lections the road would h» takein over?
-- A. I never heard such a promise.

Q. Did you ever see suchi a letter -A. I hiave an impression that theie was suich a lutter. but I an not
prepared to swear that there was.

Q. Who was the writer 7-A. I woild not .e prepared to >av.
Q. To the best of vour recollection -A. I ain not prepared to say that it was 'o; ccuseqjxîuiently it is

only an inpression.
Q. The other wxould be an impression also A. I do not think I could.
Q. It is only an impression of course r-A. I would rather not mention the nlame wlien it is onily an

impression.
Q. The Conmnîittee want, vou to imintion it ?-A. I cannot, lecause it is onlv an impression.
Q. \lat is vour impression ?-A. I would not xwar thiat theire was such a letter.
Q. You have told us that. Wlon do vou think it is from ?-A. Is it right to give your impressi
Q. Yes, Sir we are trving so find out the fact. ?-A. I don't think I can aniswer that question.
Q. Do you swear you cannot answer it A. Well, i swear that I had aunpression.
Q. That is all I want ?-A. It i not ïxvidence.
Q. No matter; this is not evidence here entirely; we are searching ?-A. I do not know whoi such a

letter was fromi.
Q. I did not ask vou wlhether you knew; it or not. You told mie that you have an imîpression. I ask

you now to let us know- what that imîupression is i-A. I did not have any such lttti.
Q. You have told us that ?-A. I never had such letter.
Q. Your impression is that you saw a lutter. I want to knov whiat is your impression as to whom the

writer is -A. Yery well I have an impression that it is Sir Charles Tupper. I did not have any siuch
letter fromn him and I may be wrong.

Q. You iiay be, I understand that perfectly, but your impression is that youi saw a letter written by
Sir Charles Tupper el-A. Yes.

Q. What is vour impression as to whoi that letter swas addresd to' -A. I have an impression that
it was addressed to Mr. Pope.

Q. What is vour impression as to the contents of that letter?-A. Well, in a general way, that the
Governmirent would be favourable to sone arrangement to take over the road.

Sir CHARLES TUPPER.



61 Victoria. Appendix (No. 1.), A. 1898

Q. To take over the road if ?-A. There was no " if " about it.
Q. If they succeeded at the election ?-A. No "if " about it.
Q. How long before the election was that ?-A. I cannot say.
Q. Was it in 1896 ?-A. Yes, in the spring of 1896.
Q. And taking over the road, in your mind, mieant 82,500,00 or 8100,000 a year ? -A. That is what I

asked for.
Q. And that is what you expected if it were taken over?-A. I should have taken less if I could not

have got that.
Q. But you would have taken that?-A. Yes.
Q. That is what you expected 7-A. That is what I hoped for.
Q. Canl you be more definite as to date ?- A. No.
Q. Iu the spring of 18%?-A. I think so.
Q. The elections were in June 7-Yes, I think so, but I aum not inuch of a politician. I an not a polit-

ical organizer as was stated.

That is all that relates to the matter, Sir Charles. Have you any statement to
make.

By the Chairman:

Q. Do you want to make any statement ?-A. I shall make a statement if you
wish it. I may say that Mr. Farwell is entirely wrong in bis impression. I never
wrote any such letter to any person whatever in regard to this matter, and I think
it is just to myself to maike that statement. The first intimation that I had of ibis
proposed purchase of the road by the late government, and with which proposai
the name of Mr. Ryan was connected, the first intimation I ever bad of that was
when I read it in the Montreal Berald since this session began. I did not know
that Mr. Ryan ever had any communication with the parties. I know that no
proposal to purchase the road had ever been before any government of which I was
a member, while I was a member of it. From the time I joined Sir Mackenzie
Bowell's Governmet the matter never was before it; it never was before my
Govornment. The only paper ceonnected with this subject that I bave ever seen
was a paper which Mr. Hnggart showed me after this session commenced, a copy, as
he said, of a proposal to sell the Drummond Coutnty Railway for a certain sum of
money. That was shown to me since the session commenced by Mr. Haggart; I did
not know it existed before then. I had never heard of any propoal before the
Government coming from Mr. Ryan or anyone else, and Mr. Farwell is therefore
entirely mistaken in supposing that he saw a letter with my name to it, because I
bave never written sueh a letter. That is in briet the position.

Q. Then I understand you to say that no member of your Government ever
mentioned to you anything about negotiating either for the purchase or otherwise
of the Drummond County Railway.-A. No.

Q. Mr. Ives was a member of the Cabinet.-A. Mr. Ives was a member of the
Cabinet. I may bave heard Mr. Ives make a remark that the Drummond County
Railway might be obtained, but I never heard anything further. I never beard of a
proposal of any kind whatever, and I am not able to say that I ever heard Mr. Ives
say that. But i do not say that on >ome occasion be might not have said so. I
may say that from what I knew of the Intercolonial Railway, I always regarded
with disfavour any large expenditure in connection with bringing it into Montreal.
Therefore I suppose that accounts for no person baving communicated with me on
the subject.

Q. Are you cognizant of any negotiations at any time to purchase the Grand
Trunk Railway as a ceonneetîing link ?-A. No, I cannot say that I am. During the
period when I was Minister of Railways we purchased the Grand Trunk line from
Rivière du Loup to Quebec, but I am not able to remember all the circumstances. I
may say this however that one of the strongest reasons why I would not bave
entertained, if it had been brought before me a proposal to take the Dirummond
Country Railway was that the Grand Trunk Railway would be a railway in compe-
tition with the Intercolonial, in that ca3e, and if the two questions had come before
me I should of course have very muc!h preferred ,etting into Montreal by the Grand
Trunk Railway than by the other way, as I have already stated in the House.

Sir CIARLEs TUPPER.
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By Mr. Powell:

Q. Did you as a member of the Government personally consider any proposal
to purchase the Drummond County Railway ?-A. No.

Q. No proposal to purchase it was ever made ?-A. No, I never saw a paper or
a proposal except the one which I have referred to which Mr. Haggart showed me
since this session opened, and that was said to be a copy of a proposal to sell the
road for a certain sum.

M1r. RUFUS POPE, M.P., being sworn, gave evidence as follows:-

By the Chairman:

Q. How long have you been a member of the House of Commons ?-A. I think
since 1889.

Q. You have been a member continuously from that time down to the present?
-A. Yes, sir.

Q. You know the Drummond County Railway ?-A. I have been over it.
Q. More than once ?-A. Twice.
Q. Have you been over it sufficiently to form an opinion as to the character of

the road ? A. To satisfy myself. I do not pretend to be a railway expert.
Q. You went over the road for the purpose of satisfying yourself?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. What is your judgment as to the character of the road ?-A. I think it is a

good road.
Q What do you say as to the probable traffic ?-A. It bas a fair local traffic.

It all depends upon the arrangements made by the Government as to the through
traffic.

Q. Has it traffic of its own, in addition to what the Government may be able to
give it ?-A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were you at any time during the past five years directly or indirectly inter-
ested in selling the road ?-A. " Directly or» indirectly." Do you mean by a pecun-
iary interest ?

Q. No, no, I do not suppose you had any pecuniary interest Did you take any
part, direct or indirect, in trying to effect the sale of the road to the Government ?-
A. I was always favourable to the extension of the Intercolonial to Montreal, and,
my friends being interested in the Drummond County, and believing it to be as good
an extension as could be got, I was allways at the disposal of the Drummond County
Railway people, in any way that I p)ssessed any influence, to assist them in the
disposai of that road.

Q. Did you on more than one occasion meet the president and directors or the
president alone with regard to the sale of it to the Governnent ?-A. I never met
the president and directors together officially. I knew the president very well and
had met him on many occasions, in the way of business, and we very often ronversed
about the miatter.

Q. Had you any conversation at any time with nembers of the Government
respecting the purchase of the road-the late Government ?-A. I spoke to a great
many members of the House; I think I may have mentioned it to Mr. Haggart, that
is for the extension of the Intercolonial to Montreal, saying, " It is possible to
acquire this road." Not further thau that.

Q. Have you any recollection at all of having mentioned it to a.y other mem-
bers of't he Government ?-A. No, sir.

Q To Mr. Ives ?-A. He knew as much about it as I did.
Q. He was a member of the Government at the time ?-A. I believe he was.

Mr. POPE.
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Q. With the exception of Mr. Ives who knew as mnuch of the matter as you, did
you n ention it to any other member of the Government ?-A. I cannot remember
ever having mentioned it to any other member.

Q. You (o remember having mentioned it to members of Parliament ?-A. Yes,
the general p inciple of the extension of the Intercolonial to Montreal.

Q. And the extension of the Intercolonial to Montreal meant the acquisition of
the Drumnond County Railway ?-A. iNot necessarily.

Q. W hat other proposition was there to bring it into Montreal?-A. It might
have come over the Grand Trunk.

Q. It was coming over the Grand Trunk as a matter of fact ?-A. Not by any
arrangement bv which they received any particular benefit from comiing over that
road.

Q. Did it inean in your mind the aecquisition of the Grand Trunk ?-A. Yes, if it
were made a permanent thing.

Q. Did you ever take any steps at ail to open up negotiations with the Grand
Trunk Railway Company for the acquisition of the Grana Trunk ?-A. No, sir.

Q. You say that the Drummond County Railway was not in your mind's eye
exclusively, but that you talked to members of Parliament and others about getting
entry into ihe city of Montreal?-A. Well, it may have been in my mind's eye, but
it was not in that sense that I presented the principle of the extension of the Inter-
colonial to Montreal.

Q. You presented it upon the principle that it would be advantageous to the
country generally to get an entrance into Montreal ?-A. That is right.

Q. laving behind that of course this line as being the most likely means of
getting into Montreal ?-A. Yes.

Q. And you think that stili ?-A. Yes.
Q. In your judgment it is in the interest of the country that the Intercolonial

should get into Montreal ?-A. Yes.
Q. And I understand vou to say that in your judgment this is the proper way

of getting into Montreal ?-A. Yes.
Q. It is the best way ?-A. Yes.
Q. Have you any opinion to give this Committee as to the cost of the road ?-

A. I bave not.
Q. You are not able to forn an opinion ?-A. No, I have never taken trouble

enough.
Q. Did you speak to others than members of Parliament-leading business mon

-for the purpose of having influence brought to bear upon the late Government
about the acquisition of the road by that Government ?-A. For the purpose of
having influence brought to bear upon the Government ? No.

Q. You have no recollection of speaking to any member of the Government ?-
A. Except what I have stated ; I think I had a conversation with Mr. Haggart.

Q. Do you remember what the conversation was ?-A. No, I could not swear
what the conversation was.

Q. Not in the exact terms, but the effect ?-A. No, I could not swear what the
effect was.

Q. Do you know or have you any recollection at all as to about the time that
that conversation took place; that is to say, would it be in 1896, 1895, 1894 or in
1893 ?-A. It would be previous to 1896, but I could not say ut what time it was.

Q. On the 16th July, 1894, an option (Exhibit No. 20) was given by Mr. Wm.
Farwell to Mr. Hugh Ryan for the purchase of the stock of this conpany at $500,-
000. Did you ever see the option of which that purports to be a copy (handing
witness Exhibit No. 20) ?-A. I never remember seeing an option of this character.

Q. Were you cognizant of the fact that an option had been given to Mr. Ryan ?
-A. I had so understood.

Q. From whom?-A. Mr. Farwell.
Q. You had never seen the option ?-A. I never remember seeing an option of

this character.
Mr. POPE.
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Q. What sort of an option did you see ?-A. It is so long ago I could not say.
Q. You did see an option though ?-A. Yes.
Q. Well, try and remember if you can, generally.-A. Oh! it would be impos-

sible, I could not remem ber.
Q. Was there any agreement entered into about that time whereby the Com-

pany, or the individuals composing the company, were to get $500,000, plus any
money expended in bringing the road up to the proper standard, and a division of
the balance between the owners and Mr. Ryan in the proportion of one-third to the
owners, or some of them, and two-tbirds to Mr. Ryan ?-A. I could not swear, I
have an impression that it was something of that character.

Q. This option to Mr. Ryan was never carried out?-A. Well, I fancy not.
Q. Did you see Mr. Ryan about it ?-A. I think I was in Ottawa with Mr.

Farwell and saw Mr. Ryan. Mr. Farwell wa, doing the business; it was his parti-
cular business, of course, and I was not paying attention.

Q. Was that the time the option was drawn up?-A. I do not know.
Q. Had you anything to do with bringing Mr. Ryan and Mr. Farwell together?

-A. Well, they bave known each other for years, and I cannot say whether I did
or did not.

Q. Well, I do not suppose Mr. Ryan would have known tbat the Drummond
County Railway people wanted to sell unless he had a communication from them
or from some one else to that effect ?-A. I do not remember, I may have (one so;
Mr. Ryan is here himself.

Q. Well, from 1894 to 1890 had you made any further efforts to effect a sale ?-
A. I do not think so. I do not remember any more than I continued to discuss the
question with anybody and everybody of the extension of the Intercolonial Railway,
but nothing definite.

Q. You believed it would be a good political move ?-A. Yes.
Q. You thought the party was dry-rotting and wanted something of a policy to

go on ?-A. That is it exactly, and I thought you people would fight it.
Q. And you think so still?-A. Yes.
Q. Now, just before the elections, or in the year 189G, I suppose you saw Mr.

Farwell about this ratter?-A. I do fnot know if I saw him speciaully.
Q. Did you ever get any letter which you showed Mr. Farwell about the pur-

chase of this road ?-A. From whom ?
Q. From any member of the Government; have you never received any letter

from any member of the Government ?-A. Offering te purchase this road ?
Q. No, not offering to purchase this road; pertaining to the road ?-A. No, I

do not think so.
Q. You never showed a letter to Mr. Farwell that if you were successful at the

elections the road might be taken over or anything to that effect ?-A. I do not
think I ever had such a letter to show. As a political organizer I would not like to
swear what impression I left on Mr. Farwell's mind.

Q. But you would not read a letter you never had ?-A. Well, I would not say.
Q. Then, Mr. Pope, that being the case, did you read him a letter that he

understood came from1 some member of the Government ?-A. I do not remember
having done so. I see in his evidence he says he is under that impression

Q. Well, will you swear that you did not?-A. Swear that I did not read him
a letter ?

Q. Yes, which he thought came from some member of the Government?-A.
Well, I cannot swear about bis thoughts.

Q. But will you swear you did not read him a Jetter which he thought came
from a member of' the Government ?-A. I woulc swear I never read him a letter
coming from the Government.

Q. But did you rend a letter which, as you said, came from a member of the
Government?-A. Weil, I would not gainsay that as a political machine on that
occasion that if I had thought it would have done the Conservative party any good
to have read him a letter I would have read one.

Mr. PoPE.
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Q. You won't undertake to say you did not read him one, thinking it no good?
-A. No, I won't.

Q. You were the organizer of the party in the Eastern Townships ?-A. Inter-
ested very materially.

Q. Do you remember telling him that if your party succoeded at the polis that
the Government would take ovor the road at $2,500,000?-A. No.

Q. Or any sum ?-A. No, 1 was not in a position to say that the Government
would take over the road.

Q. Weil, if you read a letter that did not come from the Government you might
say almost anything ?-A. I don't know.

By Mr. McIsaac:

Q. In Mr. Farwell's evidence in respect to that ho said he had an impression
you showed him a letter?-A. I read it over carefully, but I could not measure up
on the matter of impressions.

Q. You will not undortake to contradict what he states?-A. No.
The Chairman.-He says ho will not contradict; ho might have read a letter

from himself? The Witness.-No, I will not swear I did not. If I did I would do
it in a minute if i thought it would streigthen tho Conservative party.

By Mr Morrison :

Q. You are not personally aware that such negotiations were pending for the
sale on a cash basis at a sum of $2.500,000 ?-A. I swear I did not know; I only
know tho Drummond County people were anxious to bring that about. I never
heard any member of the Government in any way say they were prepared to accept
that.

Q. Well, do you know the proposition was made to them ?-A. No.
Q. It was not made through you ?-A. No.
Q. In your efforts on behalf of' the Drummond County interests to have it sold

would you make such a proposition, or lead the Drummond County people to sup-
pose ro ?-A. They were perfectly aware of what I was doing; I did not lead them io
suppose anything.

Q. You had no particular instructions from them?-A. No, and no power of
attorney to act.

Q. .Did you act of your own volition, voluntarily, in those negotiations with the
Government or after conference with those interested in the Drummond County
Railway ?-A. I connot say I acted with the Government in any sense.

Q. But you were an intermediary with theGovernment.
(Mr. Haggart objects to the question.)
The witness-A. Never.
Q. You were an intermediary between the Government and the Drummond

County Railway interests to some extent?-A. On behalf of the Government?
Q. 1 did not ask in that way.-A. I answer that way.
Q. I ask were you an intermediary between the Drummond County Railway

and the Government ?-A. I was friendly with the Drummond County Railway and
promoting its interests in any way I could.

Q. Well, you were friendly with the Government at that time, were you not ?-
A. Some members of it.

Q. And you did what you could to secure if possible these terms which were
mentioned by Mr. Greenshields in his evidence that an attempt was made to get
the late Governmeut to acquire the road on a cash batis of $2,500,000 ?-A. I never
attempted to get any terms.

Q. No terms at aIl ?-A. My desire was to have the Government consider a
price of some sort, leaving it to the Government to say this, that, or the other.

Q. You deny under oaih that there were any particular terms on which the
Government were to take the road over if they accepted the proposition ?-A. I do
not deny at all.

Mu. POPE.
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Q. Did you know as a matter of fact that any particular terms were ientioned ?
-A. I bave heard Mr. Farwell often speak of getting certain terms.

Q. What were they ?-A. $2,500,000-in the vicinity of that.
Q. And you were willing to support his claim on that basis ?-A. That is

another matter. I would not be willing to say.
Q. Did you as a natter of fact ?-A. Not as a matter of fact.
Q. You were quite indifferent as to what those terms would be so long as they

got the roud sold-am I right in assuming that ?-A. No, you are not right in
assuming that. I was willing that they should get a proper price for the road. but
not being the seller or the purchaser it was not my business.

Q. You were in favour of the general principle of the extension of the Inter-
colonial Railway to Montreal; you wanted the Governnent to do exactly what the
present Government did except that you had nothing to do with the terms ?-A.
Quite so.

Q. In regard to Mr. Farwell, you know him well ?-A. Yes.
Q. Is he a nan whom you would think from your knowledge of him would state

deliberately what what was not truc, on oath, if that is a fair question to ask ?-A.
I should not suppose he would.

Q. So, taking the evidence of Mr. Farwell, may I ask you the question if it is
reasonable to suppo-e that Mr. Farwell told us, under oath, the truth when he said
that Sir Charles Tupper in his opinion had written a letter regarding this ?

(Mr. Powell objected to this question. After some discussion between members
of the committee :)

The WITNEss-A. I should certainly believe Mr. Farwell under oath ; I should
believe he was swearing to what he believed to be truc.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. These people you say were friendly to you and you were friendly to the n,
the Drummond County Railway people, and you were desirous that the road should
form part of the communication with the maritime provinces ?-A. Yes.

Q. But the terms of that you did not enter into, leaving the late Government
and the Company to fight it out, not caring about the identical terms, and you lad
nothing to do with it?-A. Yes.

By the Chairman:

Q. There was no secret about it. They wanted $2,500,000 of a capital sum or
$100,000 a year?-A. Yes.

The witness retired.

Mr. HUGH RYAN, Contiactor, being sworn gave evidenec as follows:-

By the Chairman :

Q. Mr. Ryan, you at one time acquired an option for the purchase of the Drum-
mond County Railway?-A. I never had a written option.

Q. You never had a written option ?-A. No.
Q. Well, what was the arrangement made between you and the Company?-

A. I had no arrangement with the Company.
Q. Did you never see a document of tbat kind (handing witness Exhibit No.

20) ?-A. I do not think so.
Q. It is assigned to you ?-A. That might be possible and I might never bave

seen it.
1-10 Mr. RyAN.
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Q. Do yo say you had no arrangement with Mr. Farwell or any member of
-the Drummond County Railway Comt pany ?-A. I had a conversation with Mr.
Farwell. I <iid not know ho was in anyway connected with that Company.

Q. Was it not about this Company ?-A. It was about that railway, yes.
Q. In what regard ?-A. Weil, Mr. Farwell wanted me to take an option to

purcha-e that road then and complete a portion of it to where it was built and the
railway ut the junction of the Grand Trunk, to put the old portion of the road in
such condition as would como up to such a specification as could be appr-oved of by
the Government Engineer, to satisfy them, and take an agreement with them, or
fron them, for which they were to sell the road ut a certain price. I was to furnish
all the money that would be required. Then if the road would be sold to the
Government I was to pay them the price of that road. If it could not be sold to the
Government-well, I suppo>e they would have the road.

Q. Who would have the road ?-A. The Company.
Q. Where did that conversation take place?-A. Down at the Russell House, I

think.
Q. Who was present ?-A. None other than Mr. Farwell.
Q. What was the price they were to sell the road for ?-A. The price they

talked about was this $500,000, but I had never seen the road and never was over it.
Q. Did you ever go ove r it ?-A. No. -

Q. Did you offer to do anything at all towards carrying out the sale to the
Governnent ?-A. No.

Q. Did you ever see any member of the Goverurnent about it ?-A. Yes.
Q. Who ?-A. Mr. Haggart.
Q. When ?-A. Sometime during the summer.
Q. What summer ?-A. The summer of 1894.
Q. Did yo ever see him about it afterwards ?-A. Never except once, after I

had heard from Mr. Farwell what their proposition was.
Q. Their proposition was $2,500.000 ?-A. To whom ?
Q. To the Governiment if sold ?-A. I do not know anything about that.
Q. Is what Mr. Greenshields says correct, that they were to get a certain price

out of which was to be deducted the cost of completion and bringing it up to the
standard. and the difference was to be divided in the proportion of one-third to them
and two thirds to you ?-A. There was no differonce. I could not tell what that
road would ceost to put in condition and if there was I had no guarantee that the
Government would buy it and consequently I would remain with that railway on my
hands.

Q. You would do nothing unless you first got a bargain with the Government ?
A. I would not do anything until I was assured that the Government would purchase
the road.

Q. Then you only had one conversation with any member of the Government ?
-A. I think that is all. I may have mentioned it more than once, but I do not
recolleet that I did.

By Mr. Baggart:

Q. What was the result of the conversation between vou and me ?-A. I do not
thinîk there was anything further done about it.

Q. What was my statement to you about it ?-A. I do not know what you mean
exactly.

Q. Did I entertain the proposition or refuse it ? What was my answer ?-A.
I think the object of my conversation with you was to ascertain whether you as
Minister of Railways, or the Government were favourable to the purchase of the
road.

Q. That was all?-A. I thinkthere was no promise as fur as I know of, but I
understood you to say that you did not know whether the Government wotild see fit
to accede to the purebase.

Mr. RYAN.
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By -1r. Morrison:
Q. When was that?-A. In 1894.
Q. lad you any conversation in the spring of 1896 ?-A. No.

Witness discharged.

Mr. WILLIAM WAINWRIGT, recalled, gave evidence as follows:-

By Mr. liaggart:

Q. What are the several roads that enjoy terminal facilities over the Grand
Trank in Montreal ?-A. There are no roads that have terminal facilities in Mon-
treal.

Q. Perhaps I am not right in using the term terminal facilities. Are there any
roads that have the right to go into Montreal on your tracks on any terms whatever ?
-A. Simply the interchange of cars on which we get a proportion of the traffic
c harges. There are no running rights over our tracks similar to the proposed Inter-
colonial Railway arrangement.

Q. What ronds come in wi th the i nterchange of car arrangement?-A. Cars are
interchanged with the Canada Atlantic, Delaware and -Hudson, Central Vermont and
South Shore and other lines of railway. Cars are carried through to Bonaventure
Station and Point St. Charles and out again in the ordinary exchange way.

Q. What is the arrangement with the Canada Atlantic and Delaware & Hudson,
for instance ?-A. They run into the station and out again, putting in the portion of
the cars and engines, and we get our proportion of receipts from the point where they
strike our line.

Q. Is it on a mileage condition ?-A. In some cases; in others it is simply made
up between the traffic departments, just as we do anywhore elee-Toronto, Chicago,
or elsewhere.

Q. With which of them have you an arrangement under a mileage condition on
the rate of a mileage user, on a rate per mile ?-A. They are ait on the same basis
with regard to the interchange of traffic. We get our rate for the distance run over
our road.

By Mr. Lister:

Q. Butyou have just thesame arrangements on other roads?-A. Just the same
wherever their cars are run from one point on our lino to another. You asked me,
Mr. Powell, for a statement of the Intercolonial proportion of traffic. Then I did
not know that I could furnish it, but it has been supplied to me by our general audit
officer. I gave the Grand Trunk proportion, you remember, for 1897, but this is the
Intercolonial.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. The March returns, you say, are not completed ?-A. No, sir.
Q. You have not the passenger traffic?-A. No; I did not get the passenger

earnings, which are separate and take 3ome time to get out.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. You would not be able to give us the car mileage of the Intercolonial ?-A.
I can get that, but it is a long job. I am getting it now. 1 can give it for the same
year, but I brought that return up as it was ready. The mileage document was not
ready.

Mrt. WAINWRIGHIT.1-10½
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By Mr. Powell:

Q. Did you get me the amount of mileage for the Government railroads ?--
A. No, I cannot give you that.

Q. This, of course. would all be delivered to you ut Chaudière ?-A. Yes, sir
that is in 1897, you see. They have the advantage betweýen Chaudière and Montreal
now which would make a difference. That amount would be added to their pro-
portion.

By M[r. Lister:

Q. This memo. (Exhibit No. 39) reads: " The Tntercoloniail Railway proportion
offreight trafflc handed to them by us for the year 1897 was $420,7 13.2. Their pro-
portion of charges on freight delivered to us for the same period was 8201,591.59."

By Mr. Haggart;
Q. I understocd this differently; but that is the amount that you were paid by

them for traffie both ways ?-That I put in before.
Q. Now if you canjust give us the facts in brief which bear on mileage. You were

charging them on the mileage basis. The material going into Montreal was charged
on a car mileage. How much was that on both the material you delivered to them
and the material they delivered to you ?-A. I can giveyou mileagb of Intercolonial
cars, but we received our percentage divisions of the receipts over our main line
previously.

By Mr. Powell:
Q. I suppose you are familiar enough with these things to give us this state-

ment from memory. Do you mnow what the distance from Lévis to St. John, from
Chaudière to St. John and to Halifax was taken ut in the proportion on through
traffle under the old agreement.-A. I cannot tell you from memory. It would be
most likely that the mileage would be taken on the short mileage, thut is to say,
the mileage being longer over the Intercolonial by Moncton to St. John, the short
mileage over the Canadian Pacific would rule; but I cannot tell you exactly.

Q. Do you know the present arrangements that are made between Mr. Hays
and Mr. Harris?-A. You mean Mr. Harris and Mr. Reeve. There is an agree-
ment, I think, between them.

Q. Do you know what it is ?-I have read it. It is a traffic agreement.
Q. lIn that agreement, as I understand it, Mr. Wainwright, the division of

through freight is calculated on a mileage of 375 from Montreal to St. John and
425 from Mon treal to Halifax.-A. Well, it may be; I do not know.

Q. It is here. I will lot you see it. Ido not want to tie you down to too much
detail, but I want to get the general statement ?-A. Of course I know that these
arrangements are all based on certain principles of mileage or percentage divisions.

By Mr. Haggart:
Q. You have not got the pinciples on which they are formulated. I mean

your arrangements as to short and long hauls ?-A. No.
Q. I know there is an arrangement and would like very much to get it ?-A.

The principle is that rates are based on the short mileage.
Q. But you have not got the principles on whieh they are formulated ?-No, I

have not got them.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. The division is calculated on through freight. The point about which I want
to ask you is this, generally, whether the arrangement was more favourable to the
Intercolonial or less favourable ?-A. The present arrangement is more favourable.

Q. Much more so ?-A. Yes, a good deal more so.
Mr. WAINWRIGHT.
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Q. As a railway expert what on ordinary freight is the charge per ton per mile
that would pay exponses?-A. That is a very difficult thing to aunwer as itdepends
a good deal upon the description of freight, the quantity you can carry and the dis-
tance of haul. In carrying coal, for instance, we do not calculate on a rate per ton
per mile; we calculate what we can carry a trainload at. It is carried in trainloads
and we can afford to carry it very much cheaper per ton per mile than in the case
of other classes of freight.

Q. Take hauls of 400, 500 or 1,000 miles, for instance, what would you regard
as a satisfactory charge ?-A. We look upon half a cent to five-eigh ths of a cent per
ton per mile as satisfactory.

Q. That is a satisfactory rate ?-A. It is a covering rate, if carried fbr some dis-
tance in trainloads.

Q. And there is a fair profit in that?
Mr. HAGGART.-It is according to the distance altogether ?
The WITNESS.-YeS, entirely.

By Mr. Powell :
Q. I an asking about long distance train loads. As a supplementary question,

let me ask you what proportion would be profit and what proportion expense?
-A. That goes into the question entirely of working.

Q. Well, ordinarily; there nust be some recognized figure on long hauls ?-A.
The working of the railway may be expensive or it nay be economical.

Q. I understand all that. Take a fairly economically managed road, take the
Intercolonial, for instance, what do you think would be the cost per ton per mile
over that for long hauls, under favourable conditions?-A. I could not tell you as
to the Intercolonial. On our own road at a halfa cent per ton per mile, under most
favourable conditions, we should not make more than one-tenth of a cent per ton per
mile.

Q. Railway experis have informed me iat, on these long hauls, the cost ordin-
arily would be three-tenths of a-cent per ton per mile. I should like to ask you if
that would be a fair esti mate of the cost of the transportation of freight ?

Mr. Morrison objected to ihe question on the ground that it was going beyond
the scope of the investigation.

Question allowed.
A. It would depend upon the construction of the railway and the grades. One

road can be worked very much cheaper than another.
Q. I recognize all those things, but would that be a fair rate on a perfectly level

road without any drawbacks at ali ?-A. That is about the mark, everything being
favourable.

Mr. WILLIAM FITZoERALD, gave evidence as fbllows:-

By Mr. liaggart:
Q. Did you make out a calculation ?-A. I have been asked to make a calcula

tion, and here it is (Exhibit No. 40.)

By Mr. Powell :
Q. You have prepared that ?-A. Yes.
Q. An annuitvof $64,000 for 99 years is worth what, computed at 2¾ per cent

annually ?-A. it is worth $2,091,541.
Q. Computing it on the basis of a semi-annual payment of interest what would

it be ?-A. $2,94,192.
Mr. FITZGERALD.
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Q. If we purchase a road by paying $64,000 a year for it for 99 years and
Canada's borrowing powers are 2Îper cent payable half-yearly, that would be equiva-
lent to paying how much?-A. 82,094,192.

By the Chairman :
Q. Have you been sworn ?-A. No, sir.

Witness sworn.

By Xr Powell:

Q. What you bave stated is correct?-A. That is correct.

The HON. JoHNI HAGGART. M.P., sworn, testified as follows:-

In refèrence to this matter the first that I remember about it is a conversation
that I think I bad with Mr. Ives in 1894-the result of a little conversation we had
between ourselves in reference to the extension of the Intercolonial Railway to
Montreal. He was a colleague of mine. I entertained favourably at that time an
opinion of the extension of the road for a good many reasons. We had trouble
making connection with the Trand Trunk Railway, we had a great deal of trouble
with the Canadian Pacifie Railway, and I thought it was in the interest of the
country that the road should be extended to Montreal. That was my personal idea
at the time. Mr. Ives proposed to me, then, the acquisition of the Drummond
County Railway. He told me-or at lcast I do not know if ho told me-I made
inquiries about it, and I found that the railway could be very cheaply obtained. If
I remember rightly the principal indebtedness of the railway at that time was, as I
understood it, in the neighbourhood of $170,000, to the Eastern Townships Bank.
They had floating liabilities of from $25,00 to $30,000 more. I heard that they were
anxious to realize, and for a sum, I do not know how much about that, that the railway
might be obtained. How to get in from the terminus of the railway to Montreal
was another matter for consideration. I went down and I think I saw the then
President of the Grand Trunk Railway. I had a conversation with him upon the
subject, and although ho could not speak authoritatively upon it without consiting
bis Board, I understood from him that there would be no difficulty in making an
arrangement to get into Montreal and for the user of their terminal facilities there on
the same terms f.s he allowed other railways or on a mileage basis. There was not
much furtherdone inthe matier, though Mr. Ryan and I had a conversation on the sub-
ject. In conversation with Mr. Ryan he stated to me he had spoken to M1r. Farwell upon
the subject and asked me if I was ready to consider a proposition from him. I told
him that I would have nothing to do with it and advired him to bave nothing to do
with it. I may state that I never submitted a proposition to Council-any proposi-
tion to Council-but I had a conversation with the Premier, I tbink it was Sir John
Thompson, with reference to the matter', and I think with the Finance Minister, Mr.
Foster; but the matter never took any form and never was considered mn Council.
If I remember rightly Mr. Ryan spoke to me something in the direction of which
ho stated to-day, something about bis finishing the road or making some arrange-
monts with them for finishing the road. I never heard of any proposition for a
higher price to be charged for the road than the one named in the option of $500,000,
and from information which I bad at the time, correctly or not, 1 understood tihat
other parties had options for the road for a less amount. I ur'derstood that they
had been negotiating for the sale of the road both to the Brapnd Trunk and Canadian
Pacific Railways. This was in July, 1894, I think. However, the time could be
fixed at the time of Mr. Ives's departure for England, I think in July, 1894. I never

Mr. HAeGART.
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had any communication with any one of the company, or otherwise, after that date
with reference to the rond.

By the Chairnan:

Q You had a valuation of the road made ?-.A. Yes, by Mr. Sehreiber.
Q. Was that after Mr. Ryan had spoken to you ?-A. I do not remember. lt

must have been somewhere near the time. The proposition was made by Mr. Ryau,
I think, in July, 1894, and the date of the valuation will show whether it was before
that time or not. 1 think it was before the proposition was made by Mr. Ryai.

Q. The valuation was made before the proposition ?-A. I think so.
Q. If it was not made in consequence of anything Mr. Ryan said to you, tlen

why was the valuation of the Drummond County made ?-A. Because Mr. Ives ho
a conversation with me in reference to the acquisition of the road and I nàaur
inquiry with reference to the value of it and the probable cost to reach Montreai.

Q. How long was it between the tirme Mr. Ryan spoke to you and the time
when Mr. Ives had that conversation ?-A. I wish Mr. Ryan had tixed that. I
I think it was July or August, 1894, when I had the conversation with Mr. Ryan. It
must have been prior to that when I had a conversation with Mr. Ives, because, if I
remember rightly, he went away to the old country, and when going away t had
some communication with him.

Q. D.d Mr. Ives give you any information as to what the road could be bought
for ?- A. It was just general information.

Q. Do you undertake to swear that he gave you to understand the road could be •
bought for $500,000 ?-A. Oh, I do not think so. He told me the state of the
finances of the road and said that the Eastern Townships Bank was very anxious to
realize; then in the case of a sale to the government, the road to be put into the state
it iow is. He never went into details.

Q. You do not know how mach of the road was cornpleted at that time ?-A No.
All I know is I must have had the option long before niy ceonversatioi with Mr.
Ryan. Mr. Farwell had the idea that Mr. Ryan sent me the option. I think itwas
in conversation with Mr. Ives.

Q. Then in consequence of what Mt. Ives told you, you had Mr. Schreiber go
over the road ?-A. Yes.

Q. Did Mr. Ives represent the value of it?-A. I do not remember.
Q. After M1r. Schreiber went over the road and gave his valuation to you as

Minister of Railways. did you have a conver.,ation with Mr. Ives ?-A. No.
Q. Never spoke to him ?-A. No. He went away to the old country.
Q. Then you spoke to Sir John Thormpson and also to Mr. Foster ?-A. I think so.
Q. Was that atter the valuation ?-A. It was before.
Q. Then in getting the road valued did you act on their advice or suggestion ?

-A. No. I do not think I did.
Q. bid they approve of the scheme?-A. As to Sir John Thompson I do not

know whether he did or not. The Finance Minister objected to it. He was not
objecting to the scheme but to the expenditure of any money.

Q. At that time ?-A. At that particular time.
Q. You do not remember the opinion of'Sir John Thompson ?-A. No.
Q. Did I understand you to say that Mr. Ryan spoke to you before or after this?

-A. After this.
Q. Did he give you to understand what the company would expect for the road ?

-A. What he did was this. He spoke to me generally on the subject and said
these parties were anrious to put the rond in order and enter into negotiations with
the governtment. He entered into no details. I told him I would not entertain the
proposition at all.

Q. Were you spoken to afterwards by any member of the Government ?-A. No.
Q. Mr. Ives did not speak to you again ?-A. No.
Q. Nor Mr. Pope, nor any member of Parliament ?-A. No.

Mr. HAGGART.
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Q. You never informed Mr. Ives or Mr. Pope that you would not purchase or
have anything to do with it; vou simply told Mr. iRyan ?-A. I told him, and I am
not certain whether I informed Mr. Ives. I am not certain.

Q. You had some idea of purchasing the Grand Trunk ?-A. I considered two
or three schemes, one whether to utilize the Grand Trunk, one whether to utilize a
direct road running up the shore, or this particular route.

Q. These were the Grand Trunk, the Canada and Lake Superior and the Drum-
mond County Railways?-A. I think they call it the South Shore Road, which is
not completed yer.

Q. So you thought that an entry into Montreal for the Intercolonial might be
obtained by one of these routes ?-A. Yes.

Q. You tried to buy the Grand Trunk ?-A. No.
Q. Never negotiated ?-A. No.
Q. And you thought the Intercolonial Railway should get into Montreal ?-

A. That was my opinion.
Q. And you think still that the Intercolonial should get into Montreal ?-A.

Yes.
Q. In order to make it a success it should get into a business centre like Mont-

real ?-A. Yes, that was ny idea.
Q. So it comes down to a question whether the Government paid too much for

the extension to Montical ?-A. Yes.
Q. So far as policy is concerned you and the present government agree on this

question ?-A. Yes. Mind you, that is my own individual opinion, not the opini9n
of the late Government.

Q. It iever came before the late Government?-A. No.
Q. That is your opinion as Minister of Railways ?-A. Yes.
Q. And as a citizen of the country ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. With reference to the Grand Trunk, there were difficulties in the forwarding
of freight and passengers, were there not ?-A. I will tell you. The Grand Trunk
was very badly managed at the time. We could not make connections and could
not run through freight punctually from Montreal. For the assistance of the Inter-
colonial it was necessary that we should have a long haul. The Canadian Pacifie
agents were more active in every part of New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince
Edward Island than the Grand Trunk, and they were diverting traffie around by the
short haul, and you could not waken the other fellows up, and the Canadian Pacific
agents were using their influence against us on the Intercolonial, and I thought the
solution of the whole difficulty was to have our terminus in Montreal.

Q. At that time don't you remember that the normal condition of things on the
Intercolonial was to be hours and hours bebind time in reaching the maritime ter-
minals with their passenger trains ?-A. Yes.

Q. Was not that the fault of the Grand Trunk ?-A. Not only the fault of the
Grand Trunk but of their connections. The principal reason for the anxiety of the
staff of the Intercolonial railway for a connection in Montreal was the bad con-
nection with the Grand Trunk at Levis and the impossibility of urging them up to
the effective management of their road between there and Montreal.

Q. In view of this difficulty you looked into the question of the extension of tho
road to Montreal ?-A. I looked into the question of extending the road to Montreal.

Q. And by the different routes ?-A. Yes.
Q. You had some information from Mr. Ives that the Drummond County people

were willing to sell ?-A. Mr. Ives perhaps heard that and suggested the purchase
of this road.

Q. But no figures were suggested by Mr. Ives ?-A. No.
Q. And you sent an engiaeer to make an estimate as to the cost of the road

when completed ?-A. Yes.
Mr. HAGGART.
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Q. The estimate Mr. Schreiber gave you was not for the Nicolet branch which
you did not want ?-A. No.

Q. Tell me what you instructed Mr. Schreiber to do and what that estimate was?
-A. I instructed him to find the cost of building a connection botween Lévis and
this road at Ste. Rosalie, and putting it into the same shape as the Intercolonial.

Q. What figures did he give you ?-A. That statement there (Exhibit No. 1).
Q. That is eqclusive of a branch to Nicolet ?-A. Yes.
Q. In connection with that you say you also saw the Grand Trunk authorities

at Montreal ?-A. Yes.
Q. You got your engineer to find out the cost of the line from Ste. Rosalie down

completed ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did you get from the Grand Trunk authorities a statement of what it would

cost to get into Montreal and bave terminal facilities there ?-A. No. It was first
of all suggested that we might have the right of using the bridge and the terminal
facilities and build a line paralleling the road from Ste. Rosalie to the bridge.

Q. Was there any statement as to what they would charge ?-A. No, but in con-
versation with the president of the Grand Trunk I came to the conclusion, and he
said, they would allow our traffic into the station on the usual mileage basis or
charge to other roads.

Q. What would that amount to per year ?-A. I do not know because I do not
know the amount of traffic, but I can tell you this, that M r. Schreiber estimated it
would cost $300,000 or $400,000 to build the road. I understood I had an option for
that part whieh is complete as stated for $500,000, far less than his estimate and I
enquired whether they had rolling stock on the Intercolonial to carry on trafflc to
Montreal, and I found that they had plenty; and I made a calculation that for
$1,400,000 we could have got the road extended in connection with the Grand Trunk.

Q. At this particular time, when Mr. Ryan was negotiating with you, you bad
had this option, not to yourself, but a copy of this option ?-A. I had the option a,
month, perhaps months, before.

Q. And knew they were willing to sell out for $500,000?-A. Yes, and I said
that I knew they had given other options for less, for $100,000 less, and were
negotiating with the Grand Trunk and other companies, and I would have nothing
more to do with them.

Q. And Mr. Ryan did not ask you more than this ?-A. No.

By the Chairman:

Q. This is the estimate of Mr. Schreiber, including the Nicolet branch, amount-
ing to $1,535,500 (Exhibit No. 18); did you expect the Government to purchase a
road which was valued at that by an officer of your department for $500,000 ?-A.
But that is the road completed; I am talking of the road uncompleted. It is the one
as to which the option was given.

The Committee adjourned until Wednesday, 18th instant, at 10.30 a.m.

Mr. RAGGART.
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HOUsE oF COMMONS,
WEDNESDAY, 18th May, 1898.

INQUIRY into expenditure of subsidies granted to the Drummond County Railway and
into the negotiations and transactions in relation to the acquiring of the said
railway by the Government of Canada, resumed.

The Committee met at 10:30 o'clock a.m.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, Deputy Minister, Departrnent of Railways and
Canais, recalled, produced a copy of a telegram from D. Pottinger as follows:-

(ExH1BIT No. 41.)

MONCTON, N.B., 13th May, 1898.
C. SCHREIBER, Esq.,

Ottawa.

No freight charge on material for Drurnmond County Railway construction or
equipment entered into the earnings of Montreal extension for March as per state-
ment sent you. It covered earnings from freight for the public only.

(Sgd.) D. POTTINGER.

MONCTON, N.B., 13th May, 1898.
C. SCHREIBER, Esq.,

Ottawa,

Information respecting April traffic over Montreal extension cannot be given
until the 2nd or 3rd June, after the April accounts have been made up. Material
carried for the railway does not enter into earnings.

(Sgd.) D. POTTINGER.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Taking the ordinary mason work for piers on bridges of the size of those on
this line they are substantially of the same size, that is the piers, are they not ?-
A. I do not know that they are substantially the same size. It depends on the height
from the ground.

Q. What is the difference ?-A. We know that the walls would be higher.
Q. Did you make an estimate of the probable cost of this masonry ?-A. I have

never seen the road.

By the Chairman:

Q. You sent a man over the road before making that estimate ?-A. Yes, Mr.
MacLeod.

Q. And on his report you made an estimate ?-A. Yes.
Mr. SCHREIBER.
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By Mr. Powell :
Q. You never saw the road ?-A. No.

The witness retired.

Mr». PHELPS JoHNSoN, aworn, gave evidence as folloWS:-

By .Mr. Powell:
Q. You are the secretary of the Dominion Bridge Comn1y -A. I n the

manager.
Q. And your conpany built the iron work for the bridges on the Di-uminiId

County Railway?-A. So far as I know we furnished the superstructure of ail the
bridges on the road.

Q. And you have the original contracts ?-A. Yes.
Q. From that have you prepared the list I hold in my hand ?-A. Yes, and I

have checked it by the books in our office.
Q. And the>e prices have been actually paid ?-A. Yes.

(ExuIBIT No. 42.)

BRIDGE SUPERSTRUCTURES built by Dominion Bridge Company (Iîimited) for
Drummond County Railway.

Contract
No.

Date
Cfharged.

Loc t in.
t"ntraict

i 'rice.

138-139 April, 1887. . St. Francis River. .. . . . . . ..... 17,50) 0)
364 May, 1889. S.W. Branch Nicolet Riverv..e r.. 8,860 0W)

406-409 April, 1890.. N.W. Branch Nicolet River ................... .......... 33,720 00
477 Aug., 1890.. Riviere des Saults ......... . .............. . .... 700 00
494 Sept., 1890.. Black R iver.................. ............... . . ... i . 1,875 0)
509 Nov., 1890.. 28-foot span, location unknown.. ....................... 365 0MI

707 -708 July, 1393.. 26-foot and 30-foot spans, location unknown.................. .. 672 0M
760 Dec., 1893.. 33-foot span, location unknown ...... . ........ . .. ...... 410 0M

1053 Feb., 1897.. Maddington Falls............. ......... .......... ..... .. 15,00 0)
1083 'Oct., 1897. . 5 20-foot spans, naies unknown .......... ............. ..... 1,000 00
1084 , 1897 . Bras d'Enond Rivière... ................ ..... ....... .... 490 00
1085 1897. Vicontent River,. .................... .... . ...... ... ... . 850 0
1086 1897.. Dechene River.. ... ......... ............................ 1,025 00
1087 1897.. Duchene River,................. ................. 1,870 00
1088 e 1897.. Henri River. ..... .............. .... 4,100 00

Total bridge superstructure contracts.. ...... ..... 88,4:37 00

NorE.-Fooring timn>er for al] of above except C. 1053 furnished by raihvay company, value say
$7,000. C. 509, 707, 708 and 760 erected by railway conpanv, cost probably $250. Two turntables fur-
nished the Drunnnond County Railway Company, price.s $1,400 and $1,350.

(Signed) DOMINION BRIDGE COMPANY (Linited),

LACHINE LOCKE, P.<,., l7th -May, 1898,
1RHELPS JOHINSON, lrenafr.

By the Chairnan :
Q. Are the amounts mentioned in the notes at the foot included ?-A No.
Q. In the addition is flooring timber-for ail of the abo-ve included, or is this only

the steel superstructure ?-A. Our contract for ali those, except one, required us to
.Mr. JoHNsoN.
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complete tue superstructure, but the timber was to be furtiihed by the road with-
out charge. That was my estimate of the cost of the superstructure altogether.

Q. Your contracts aggregated $88,437.00 ?-A. For the bridgework, yes.
Q. For the steel superstructure ?-A. Yes, of the bridges.
Q. Of course that does not include the foundation piers necessary to put the

superstructure on ?-A. It includes none of the substructure.
Q. li addition to what you charged for there would be the flooring you estimate

here at $7,250, and two turntables $1,400 and $1,350 ?-A, Yes, we furnished two
turntables to the-road at those prices.

Q. So $10,000 is to be added to your charge for the superstructure ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. This schedule (Exhibit No. 43) is one showing the lengths of the spans in
the different bridges mentioned in the memo. you put in ?-A. It does, with the
exception of nine short spans which are mentioned there as location unknown.

(EXIBIT No. 43.)

St. Francis River Bridge-2 spans 150 feet each, 1 of 100 feet.
South-west Branch Nicolet River-1 ,pan 164 feet 3 inches.
North-west do -3 spains 110 feet, 1 of 160 feet, 11 of 30 feet.
Rivière des Saults-1 span 33 feet.
Black River-I span 59 feet.
Maddington Falis-1 span 103 feet, 1 of 102 feet 4 inches, 1 of 100 feetS inches,

1 of' 98 feet 4 inches.
Bras d'Emond River-1 span 33 feet.
Vicontent River-1 span 45 feet.
Decheno River-1 span 50 feet.
Duchene River-1 span 75 feet.
Hen ri River-1 span 105 feet.

Q. The heavy bridge appears to have been the north-west branch of the Nicolet
River ?-A. Yes, that was the largest contract.

Q. Will you just describe that to us ?-A. The bridge is at St. Leonaird where
the grade, of the railway is, I should say fron memory, 80 or 85 feet above the
water, with low banks on each side. Above the water are thiee spans of 110 feet
each, which are immediately supported on steel towers, perhaps 6u feet in height,
and these in turn rest on piers 20 or 25 feet in height. On each end of thebe 300
feet spans are a number of shorter ones over the dry land supported on steel towers
varying from 15 to 60 feet in height, and these in turn rest on masonry pedestals on
the bank.

Q. Then there are no stone piers coming up to the level of the bridge ?-A. No,
there are simply pedestals on which steel towers rest und two piers in the river. I
do not remember whether the masonry at the edges of the river are in the form of
piers or pedestals.

Q. This was part of your contract ?-A. Yes, they are covered in the contract.
Q. As a general thing bridges of this character run between what limits, we will

say, as to price ?-A. To-day they will be $20 to $50 per lineal foot. At the
time of building they were worth nearly twice what they are now.

Q. The prices you ha%.e given, except those built in 1897, are a good deal higher
than now ?-Oh, yes.

Q. About what are they in excess of what they would be now ?-A. At least 70
per cent higher, taking the earlier bridges from 1887 to 1892.

Q. Would that include the bridges of 1893 supplied under the contract of 1892 ?
-A. Yes, it would take in 1893 at about the same price.

Q. There was not much in 1893 ?-A. Practically nothing.
Mr. JouNsoN.



Drummond County Railway Inquiry.

Q. Then fron the first bridge down to the last in 1893 they would be supplied
to-day at what pereentage of these prices ?-A. Oh, 40 or 50 per cent, so far as the
metal work goer. It would be a proportion of about three and two-thirds to four and
three-quarter cents a pound.

Q. But give usyour ideaof the work as constructed ?-A. That is as constructed.
It would be as three and two-thirds is to four and three-quarter cents petr pound
when finished.

Q. We will see what that comes to. That is you would take roughly about one-
fifth or 20 per cent off the price when finished ?-A. Yes.

Q From those priees then on the bridges open by 1893 inclusive you would
take 20 per cent off the prices mentioned in the memorandum that we have had pro-
duced here ?-A. Yes.

Q. Thena word or twoon Exhibit No.42. The dates under the title "date eliarged"
would mean the dates at which the bridges were completed and handed over to the
railway ?-A. It would, except that the bridges that are charged on 30th April or
1st May, might have been charged in advance of their actual eonpletion. Our
financial year ends on the Ist of May and if the work has beei shipped and has been
erected we often make on allowance for the completion of it, charge it Io the bridge
and figure it on the business of the expired year.

Q. But these would be approximately the dates?-A. Yes.
Q. Another question ; all those charged up between February, 1897 inclusive,

and October, 1897 inclusive, would be on the new piece of line between Moose Park
and Chaudière Junetion ?-A. They are on the new line.

Q. That would be tfhose mentioned as Maddington Falis, Bras d'Emond Rivière,
Vicontent River, Dechene River, Duchene River and Henri River, together with tive
small spans built over waters that were unkown to you. These were all in the year
1897 ?-A. Yes, these were all in the year 1897.

Q. And all on the portion of the road betveen Moose Park and Chaudière
Junction ?-A. Yes.

Q. Where is this Black River. Are you familiar with the country there ?-A.
Not enough to tell you that.

Q. You know where the Rivière des Saults is ?-A. I do not know that. I
visited all the larger bridges on the older portion of the lino but I do not know about
these smaller ones.

Q. Exhibit No. 43 gives us particulars as respects a number of spans an(d the
length of the spans which are not given in Exhibit No. 42 ?-A. Yes, with the
exception of those not given there.

By the Chairman :

Q. Some of the spans are given in Exhibit No. 42?-A. Only those of which I
did not give the locations. If I knew the name I put it down.

Q. Exhibit No. 43 fills it up?-A. It fills it up.
Q. Have you any idea as to the cost of the stone work in these large piers ?-A.

No, I never knew that and I could not give you an intelligent estimate without look-
ing it over.

Q. It would be expensive work on that large bridge you would say?-A. Yes,
quite expensive.

Witness discharged.

The Committee then adjourned until Friday 20th instant at 10.30 o'clock, A.M.

Mr. JOHNSON.
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HOUSE OF COMMoNS,
FRIDAY, 2Oth May, 1898.

Inquiry into expenditure ofsubsidies granted in aid of the Drummond County Rail-
way, and into the negotiations and transactions in relation to the acquiring of
the said railway by the (-overnment of Canada, resurned.

The Cornnittee met at 10.30 o'clock a.m.

M1r. Wainwright's name boing called, the Clerk subinitted a letter reccived from
him this morning stating that he was unable to be present, after which-

The Chairman spoke as follows: " I wish to say that I have caused to be brought
before the Comnittee every person who might throw any light on the transaction,
and before we close the evidencel would ask members of the Committee who are here
to say whether there is anyfurther evidence which they desire to have brought before
the Committee. Of course you are aware that in the press and in the House it was
charged that the Government collectively as well as certain individual members of
the Government were guilty of corruption in connection with the purchase of this
rond. So far as I have been able to see, no evidence of corruption bas been
adduced, and if my friends on the opposite side of the Committee, the Conservative
members of the Committee, have any evidence at all showing corruption I ask them
no-w to give the names of these witnesses, and we will have them brought here and
examined. If, as Mr. Haggart says, it is a mere matter of policy with which he
agrees, the poiicy of bringing the road into Montreal then the only difference is as
to the price paid and of course the question of corruption does not arise at all.

Mr. Baggart.-That was my point of view. We never made any charges of
corruption.

The Chairman.--I suppose you read what was said in the press.
Mr. Powell.-Candidly, I never heard anything in the flouse about corruption.
Mir. Baggart.-Sir Louis Davies made a statement in a speech in Toronto that

there would bc an inquiry into the circumstances of the Drummond County Railway
and I think ho said that it would be found after investigation that some of bis
oppononts would be up to the neck in the mire.

The Chairman.-Certainly the press of the country charged the Government
with corruption

Mr. àaggart.-We are not inquiring into newspaper statements; we are con-
fined by the order of the House to the inquiry referred to us.

The Clhairan.-Then, that closes the evidence and we will adjourn till Wednes-
day next the 25th instant, to consider our draft report.

A. 1898
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APPENDIX No. 2.

COMMITTEE RooM, HOUSE OF COMMONS,
WEDNESDAY, 18th May, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts beg leave to present the fol-
lowing as their Fourth Report:-

Your Committee have had under consideration the accounts and vouchers in con-
nection with payments to certain commissioners of investigation employed by the Depart-
ment of Railways and Canals and the Department of Marine and Fisheries, set forth on
pages K-52, 122, 134 and R-136, 166 and 279, of the Report of the Auditor General
for the year ended 30th June, 1897 ; and in connection therewith have exarnined wit-
nesses under oath, and for the information of the House report herewith the evidence
given by such witnesses and the exhibits filed during the said examination ; and your
Co-rmittee recommend that the said evidence and exhibits be printed.

All which is respectfully submitted.

JAS. McMULLEN,
(ha irman.
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EVIDENCE

COMMISSIONERS OF INVESTIGATION, DEPARTMENTS OF RAILWAYS
AND MARINE.

HOUsE OF COMIONs,
TUESDAY, 26th April., 1898.

The Public Accounts Coinmittee met, Mr. McMullen in the chair.

Mr. LEONARD SHANNON, Accountant in the Department of Riailways and Canals,
being duly sworn, testified as follows:

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Here are a number of accounts, not very voluminous, however: William Wilson,
for investigations carried out under his commission under the authority of the Depart-
ment of Railways and Canals into the conduct of offensive partizans, and the like of
that. Are you the person who has certified to this account ?-A. No, sir; I am not.
That would be dealt with by Mr. Pottinger, and paid by him at Moncton in connection
with the Intercolonial Railway.

Q. Who is the deputy head of the department ?-A. Mr. Schreiber.
Q. Is he here to-day 1 -A. He is in the Railway Comrittee.
Q. Then he will probably be the proper person ?-A. He will know about the

matter better than I would.

The committee adjourned.

HOUSE oF COMMONS, 10th May, 1898.

The Committee on Public Accounts met this morning, _Mr. McMullen, chairinan,
presiding.

COMMISSIONERS' EXPENSES.

Mr. A. W. OWEN, being sworn, testified as follows:-

By Mr. Fosfer:

Q. What is your position in the Marine and Fisheries Department ?-A. I an
accountant, sir.

Q. What had you to do with the accounts presented by those commissioiiers, Mr.
Palmer, Mr. McAlpine, and so on ?-A. I had to examine them.

Q. You examined them?-A. Yes.
Q. The accounts were sent into the department and came first into your hands ?-

A. Yes, sir.
2-1½
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Q. What was your duty in reference to them ?-A. I saw what the authority was
for the expenditure, and, after I ascertained that, I had the accounts paid.

Q. You received an account from Mr. E. H. McAlpine?-A. Yes.
Q. Is that the account (Exhibit No. 1)?-A. That is a copy of it. The original

went to the Auditor General.
Q. Then this is a copy of the original account ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Were there any other details given than what are found simply in this account ?

-A. There were no other details, with the exception of the affidavit attached. There
were no details, and I refused to pay it until I got the details.

Q. What was the reason you did not get the details ?-A. Mr. McAlpine said that
when he started out upon his work lie did not understand that the Auditor General
required him to make a detailed statement of his accounts, and he did not keep an
account. I refused to pay the account. I went over to see the Auditor General about
it. Then an Order in Council was passed to allow Mr. McAlpine $3.50 a day for bis
travelling and incidental expenses.

Q. After you had refused to pay the account 3-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was there any Order in Council for Mr. McAlpine's daily pay ?-A. Yes, sir,

,S10 a day.
Q. Had that been passed previously to the rendering of the account ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. It is usual, is it not, when these accounts are given in to have a detailed state-

ment sent ?- A. Always.
Q. What certification is necessary when the accounts come in ?-A. A certificate

of the expenditure incurred on government business.
Q. By whomn nust that certificate be given ?-A. By the party who did the travel-

ling on government business.
Q. The details are handed in with this certification along with the account ?-A.

There was no certificate with this account until this affidavit was sent which we did not
acknowledge at all.

Q. How came you to pay it at last ?-A. We got authority from the Minister
through an Order in Council and we paid it. Half of that account you must remember
was paid by the Customs Department.

Q. However, it vas paid by the governnent and this is the sole certificate ?-A.
Yes, except for the Order in Council.

Q. Do you know anything about the , ork of Mr. McAlpine ?-A. No, it did not
come within my notice at all.

Q. Do you know fron your examination of other accounts whether details were
given ?-A. Yes.

Q. You have details in other accounts?
Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER.-Mr. Foster means the accounts of other coni-

missioners.
The WITNESS.-Yes.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. When was Mr. McAlpine appointed ?-A. On the 27th November, 1896, I think,
an Order in Council was passed appointing him as conmmissioner.

Q. What is the date of the Order in Council allowing him a lump sum for expenses
per day ?-A. That was passed in the last of December I think, if I mistake not.

Q. It was after the account was sent in ?-A. Yes, the Minister sent a report to
Council authorizing him to pay it and thev got an Order in Council.

Q. This is the item:-" Expenses S437.90 " ?-A. It does not exactly amount to
S3.50 a day ; it is a little under that.

Q. No, it is two dollars less. Did you understand that that was to pay for witness
fees, counsel fees and everything ?-A. Yes, all expenses connected with bis investiga-
tion.

Q. In the case of the other commissioners appointed, as Mr. McAlpine was for like
purposes, did you receive detailed accounts ?-A. Yes, Mr. Douglas sent in all the details

A. 1898
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of his account and Mr. Sheppard also. Mr. Palmer I think sent in a detailed account
but we allowed him $3 a day for his expenses.

Q. He is an officer of the departnent ?-A. No, sir.
Q. Was this the only account of a commissioner appointed by the lirnister of

Marine and Fisheries for which no details were sent in ?--A. This was the only one.
Q. And all that you have is simply the affidavit of Mr. McAlpine that the moneys

were expended on government business ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did you examine this account of M'r. Palmer' ?-A. Yes.

B'y fr. Powell:

Q. Do.you know if an investigation was held in the case of Charles Harper of
Westmoreland county ?-A. I had nothing to do with the investigations.

Q. W as any account put in for that service ?-A. I had no account for that; there
are no details in the account at all.

By 1fr. Foster :

Q. Have you a copy of the Order in Council 2-A. I can give you a copy of the
Order in Council.

Q. You have one order there, have you not ?-A. Oh, no, I have jusi ot the date.

By Sir Charles libbert Tupper:

Q. What is the order for?-A. So much for travelling expenses aid s nmuch for
incidental expenses.

Q. That was the authority for paying the account ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Did you get an account for the days he sat or was employed ?-A. Jie was
employed between 27th December, 1896, and 30th June, 1897.

Q. Where did you get that information?-A. I got it in the departnent.
Q. From what ?-A. From the reports lie sent in, from the investigations lie heid.
Q. Where are those ?-A. They are in the oftice. I think by an Order of the

House that they have been sent to the House.
Q. Do you mean that he was sitting every day between these dates ?-A. Oh, no,

127 days sitting.
Q. But is that shown ?-A. There are no details.
Q. Have you the details of the 127 days ?-A. He did not give the dates.
Q. How was it made up, the $3.50 a day ?-A. By affidavit that lie was that time

employed.
Q. Without the dates ?-A. Without the dates.
Q. Is this the aflidavit "That I aim a commissioner to irivestigate charges of

partisanship preferred against government officials in the province of New Brunswick;
that in the investigation into charges against officials of the Marine Departnent and
the Customs Department my expenses amounted altogether to 8437.90 "-is that the
affidavit vou refer to ?-A. Yes.

Q. That says nothing about the number of days ?-A. No.
Q. Where did you get the number of days ?-A. There must be a certificate oin

the account sent to the Auditor General.
Q. Whose certificate ?-A. Mr. McAlpine's.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You have nothing in the department to show what days he was employed on
government business ?-A. Only Mr. McAlpine's reports sent in.

Q. Have you verified those to see whether there were 127 days 2-A. No.
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Q. Has any one done it ?-A. No, I do not think so. They took the affidavit of
iMr. McAlpine that he was employed 127 days.

Q. Can vou send for that Order in Council ?-A. I will go and get it myself for
you.

Q. You might as well bring over any statements referring to the accounts. You
refer to records in your evidence. Bring the papers you examined in order to pass
that account ?-A. There was an Order of the House I think for the papers, and they
came over.

(MR. PALMER's AccouNT.)

By fr. Foster :

Q. Did you examine the accounts of H. P. Palmer 2-A. Yes.
Q. Is that the account ?-A. Yes, I think that is a copy of it.
Q. In that account I observe the details are given with the dates for days' work,

fees of witnesses, constables, etc. ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did you find any fault with that account, as to the manner in which it was

drawn up ?-A. I thought it was a very good account.
Q. And that is the system in which accounts are presented to your department?

-A. These accounts are new.
Q. But so far as details are concerned ?-A. Oh, I think so.
Q. How much was Mr. Palmer paid per day ?-A. Ten dollars.
Q. I see that he charges $13?-A. Three dollars are for travelling and for inci-

dental expenses.
Q. How was this paid : what was your authority ?-A. I asked authority for it and

the report went to Council to have it verified. A report signed by the Minister went
to Council authorizing the 83.

Q. Was the ,10 payment authorized by Order in Council ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. That was the regular daily pay ?- A. Yes.
Q. And the $3 was for travelling expenses ?-A. Yes.
Q. You have not received the Order in Council ?-A. No.
Q. The report has gone ?-A. Yes.

(MR. SHEPPARD'S ACCOUNT.)

Q. You examined also this account froin Mr. Sheppard ; is it made out in regular
itemized form ?-A. I think so. He gives all the witness fees.

Q. And constable fees ?-A. And constable fees.
Q. What was Mr. Sheppard paid ?-A. He was a salaried officer of the depart-

ment.
Q. Did he receive any pay outside of the department ?-A. No.
Q. Mr. Sheppard received nothing additional except travelling expenses and fees

of constables and witnesses ?-A. That is all.

(MR. MCALPINE'S ACCOUNT.)

Q. Will you look up and see if there are other papers in connection with Mr.
McAlpine's case ?-A. I will.

Q. We want the Order in Council on which you paid this and any other papers
there are ?-A. Yes, sir.

The AUDITOR GENERAL.-The Committee should understand, so far as this account
of Mr. McAlpine's is concerned, a large account was sent over merely for voucher for
$38.50, in addition to the 8500 advanced from the Marine Department, and the account
itself has not been examined at all by the audit office, because it applies to this year.
Of course, the saine points that struck the members of the Committee we would naturally
ask. If a man charges a number of days we would inquire into that.

A. 1898



Public Accounts Committee,

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER being sworn, testified as follows

By -1r. Foster :

Q. You are Deputy Minister of Railways and Canals, Mr. Schreiber ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you know anything of this account of Mr. William Wilson (Exhibit No. 2)?

-A. Yes, I have seen it, I think. Yes.
Q. That is a bill rendered by Mr. William Wilson for an investigation which he is

said to have conducted in connection with the Departrnent of Railways and Canals. I
find a cheque here for $726.05, issued by whom?-A. By the department, signed by D.
Pottinger and George Williams.

Q. It is issued at Moncton, New Brunswick ?-A. Yes.
Q. By whom was the bill approved -A. By the Minister.
Q. For payment -A. Yes, at S726.
Q. The bill is as follows:-

Dominion Government to Wm. Wilson, Dr.

May 7, 1897--To 36 days' inquiry under commission to ex-
amine into and report upon cases of partisanship
against officials of the Intercolonial Railway at Monc-
ton, at S20 per day........... ............... 720 00

Expenses at hotel, Moncton ....... ... ............. ... 55 05
Railway fare to and from St. John, 6 trips at $3 ...... . 18 00
One fare to Moncton and return ........ ........... 4 00
Coaching..... ................................. 3 50
Hotel expenses in St. John . 50
Drawing two reports, $50 each ... ... ..... 100 00

$ 906 05

Was that bill paid-the whole amount ?-A. No, $726 was paid ; I think it was $726.
$720 and something was paid.

Q. What was taken off?-A. I do not know. The Minister took it off.
Q. The Minister took it off ?-A. Yes.
Q. I notice pencil on it " $5 per day off, A. G. B.". what does that mean ?-A. As

the charge was $20 a day and he took off $5, that would make him to be paid at $15.
Q. Under what authority was that paid ?-A. There was an Order in Council

appointing a commissioner at a sum not exceeding $25 a day and expenses.
Q. That Order in Council was a general order such as you describe. Have you it?

-A. I have not it here, I got no notice to be here until just now.
Q. You know of it -A. Yes. I have it in my room.
Q. Did you have any itemized bill of account such as to show where these 36 days

were spent -A. No, that is the only account. That is the only account for that
service.

Q. There was no bill of items 3-A. No.
Q. Did you have any way of finding whether or not he had spent 36 days ?-A. I

had not, for I knew nothing about it.
Q. Did any one ?-A. I presume Mr. Pottinger did. If he did I suppose his certi-

ticate would be attached.
Q. But it is not here. The only thing is a certificate in your writing and " A.G.B." ?

-A. The " A. G. B.' was put on before I certified.
Q. Do you certify in blank that way 4-A. If he puts his initials on, it indicates

that the account should be paid.
Q. I find here a bill for hotel expenses at Moncton, 855.05. Had you any voucher

for this -A. Nothing but what is down.
Q. There is a charge re fare from St. John, 6 trips $18 ; was there any voucher for

that ?-A. No.
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Q. Do you know of your own personal knowledge whether he had a pass or not ?-
A. I do not know: I did not issue one.

Q. You would issue one if any were issued ?-A. Mr. Pottinger might, but I do not
think lie did. I issued none. He had to pay a fare no doubt.

Q. Will you find out for the committee whether be had a pass or not ?-A. I will.
Q. There is a fare to Moncton and return, $4. Will that come under the same

category ?-A. I presume so.
Q. There is an item for coaching, $3.50. Any voucher for that ?-A. No.
Q. Hotel expenses at St. John, $5.50, any voucher ?-A. No.
Q. Then after all his work is completed, he puts in a bill at $50 each for two reports,

$100 in all, that is making his return to the department, and the whole of it must have
been paid on the signature of A.G.B. You have not that Order in Council with vou ?-
A. No.

Q. Would you consider an Order in Council authorizing his appointment would be
sufficient for the department as to rate of pay -A. The rate of pay is mnentioned not
to exceed $25 and expenses.

Q. Would you think that sufficient if a Minister fixed it within that maximum ?-A.
Certainly.

Q. Hax e you an Order in Council fixing the exact rate of pay ?-A. No.
Q. This account was audited here, I think ?-A. Yes, in Mr. Blair's office.

By 3fr. .Bergeron :

Q. Do you remember against whom that investigation was carried on! by Mr.
Wilson ?-A. No.

Q. Isn't that in the report ?-A. I have not seen the report.

By 3r. Fostr r:

Q. What is the general rate of pay given to these commissioners? You would not
c all them high class commissioners ?-A. Well, they are lawyers, some of them.

Q. Have you hai any other commissioners appointed for a similar purpose in the
R ailways and Canals Department ?-A. Oh, yes.

Q. Who for instance ?-A. Mr. Bedard.
Q. Mr. Bedard ?-A. I can give you all the naines; I have them in my office.

Mr. J. LOiNE MCDOUGALL, Auditor Gen:eral, recalled.

By Fr. Foster:

Q. Have vou passed the account we have been speaking about, Mr. Wilson's ?-A.
No. I think I mentioned at a former meeting that this was one of the vouchers not in.
I had to notice that in my report because the account was not paid. This is paid fron
a credit given to Messrs. Pottinger and Williams under which the bulk of their pay-
ments are made.

Q. And payments are made before you know of them ?-A. Yes, and I get the
vouchers before my report is made out for Parlianient, but in this particular case the
vouchers were not in.
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HOUSE OF CONDIONs,

Coiimmittee met. Mr. McMullen in the chair.

COMMISSIONERS' EXPENSES.

Mr. COILINWOOD SCHREIBER, recalled, testified as follows

By M Foster :

Q. In connection with the Wilson bill, Mr. Schreiber- A. I wish to correct
something I said the other day. I said no pass had been given to Mr. Wilson; find
Mr. Wilson had a pass.

Q. Was it a trip pass ?-A. No, periodical.
Q. How do you mean ?-A. For certain dates between certain stations. Here is a

statemEnt.
Q. Froni this it appears that Mr. Wilson had pass No. 129, good between the 1st

and 31st December, 1896, good between St. John an-d Amherst. Then in January,
1897, he had pass No. 40, good betN een St. John and Amherst. Froni the 16th
February to the 16th May, 1897-that was a good long one-he had pass No. 57, good
hetween the same stations ?-A. That is correct

By Mr. Powell :

Q. That would enable himi to go as often as lie liked between these stations ?-A.
Yes.

By lr. oster:

Q. Were these passes given to Mr. Wilson bv yourself ?-A. By mny office here.
Q. This covers all the passes that had been given to Mr. Wilson ?-A. Yes, I

think so.
Q. Might I ask you in connection with the other commissioners doing work on the

Intercolonial Railway whether passes were given to them in the sane way ?-A. Yes, I
think so.

Q. Then it appears that when the item of account is given by lr. Wilson, that is
"Fare from St. John, six trips at S3, -18 ; fare to Moncton and 'return, $4 " making
822 in all, that is for fares during that tine ; these were ccvered by these passes ?-A.
I imagine so.

Q. That would be your certificate on 'Mr. Wilson's bill ?-A. But the Minister's
taxation.

Q. It appears that on the Minister's certificate Mr. Wilson was paid for his railway
fares at the same tine that he held a pass from your department covering the same
ground ?-A. I am not able to say that.

Q. Was he paid the amount here ?-A. I am unable to say that. The Minister
took off something, he may have taken that off. He took off S180, 1 think.

Q. He takes off $5 per day from his charge for services. What would be your
opinion about that ?-A. If it makes the $180 it would make the amount.

Q. You might just take the account, Mr. Schreiber. Do you find there an account
for what travelling expenses and between what points ?-A. Yes, I find "travelling
expenses $18, six trips from St. John," but I would not like to say that that was east of
St. John.

Q. What is the date of that bill and where is it dated ? Where is it put in ?-A.
It does not give the date, and it does not say where it is from. I am not sure, but I
think Wilson lived in Fredericton. This may have been west of St. John.
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Q. What are the items ?-A. "I Railway fare to and from St. John, six trips at $3,"
then it says in another case, " one fare to Moncton and return $4."

Q. That would be between what points ?-A. That would be, I should judge,
between St. John and Moncton, I presume that, but I really could not tell you.

Q. So that that is an item for which Wilson received pay ?-A. For these two
items that I have spoken of.

Q. And the second item, do you think it was covered by the pass ?-A. It was not
from -t. John to Moncton, it may have been between St. John and Amherst.

Q. And the second says, " to Moncton "?-A. It says, " one fare to Moncton and
return," but it does not say where from.

Q. What is the fare ?-A. I cannot tell vou.
Q. Do you tind an item for Mr. Wilson's board bill -A. I do.
Q. How much ?-A. One, expenses at hotel, Moncton, $55.05 ; another, hotel

expenses at St. John, $5.50.
Q. Was Mr. Wilson paid these accounts ?-A. I presume so.
Q. Is these any voucher from the hotels that they had received the payment ?-A.

I have not seen any.
Q. You would not be able to say then that the hotelkeepers were paid 2-A. I

could not say that.
Q. If I were to say that he had not paid his bill at Moncton, but was sued in court

and a judgment obtained could you deny it ?-A. No.
Q. Could you affirm it ?-A. No.
Q. But there was no voucher attached ?-A. No, this is the only voucher, that one

of Mr. Wilson's.

By Mfr. Powell:

Q. I do not wish to ask you a question, but to save further investigation I might
state that the fare fromn St. John to Moncton and return was S3, and this was over
another railway, over the Canadian Pacific Railway and would not be covered by this
pass ?-A. It is possible if this is from St. John to Moncton, and he might have paid
that or he might not have had his pass with himi. I always pay my fare if I have not
my pass with me.

By Mir. oster:

Q. You have had other commissioners appointed carrying on other investigations
along the Intercolonial Railway ?-A. We have.

Q. Was Harvey Atkinson one of these ?-A. He was.
Q. Did you have anything to do with the passing of the account of Mr. Atkinson

-A. I did not inasmuch as it went to the IDepartment of Justice. It was taxed by
the Justice Department.

Q. What do vou say ?-A. It was taxed by the Justice Department.
Q. You cai look at the account ?-A. There is a letter, that is all I can see.
Q. That letter reads, "I am directed to inclose to you herewith Mr. Harvey

Atkinson's accourit for investigating certain charges against officials of the Intercolonial
Railway taxed by the Department of Justice at $208.66 ? Will you please have the
cheque issued at once chargeable to the appropriation of 1896-97 ? I am also directed to
draw your attention to tLe fact that the appropriation for 1896-97 lapses on Saturday
the 31st, instant, after which no further payments can be made.

i am, sir, your obedient servant,
L. K. JONES,

D. POTTINGER, Esq., Secretary.
General Manager Government Railways,

Moncton, N.B.

I cannot see what this name is ?-A. It may be Powers of the Justice Departuient.
10
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- Q. Yes I guess it is, at any rate it is the Department of Justice somewhere. Tbis
then is your authority for the payment to Mr. Atkinson ?-A. Yes.

Q. With reference to Mr. Atkinson's bill was it given in a lump sum or in detail?
-A. I think in detail.

Q. You have seen bis account ?-A. I think so. I think this is it.
Q. With reference to that account do you know how much Atkinson was paid per

day -- A. I do not remember, something under $25.
Q. He seems to have charged $15 and five of that was taxed off. At that rate

his pay would be $10 per day and expenses ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. I want you to look over these bills, and see if these bills are entered in itemized

form or not ?-A. There is nothing more than what is on this. There are no details
attached. That is all there was.

Q. And it is an itemized statement of cost with the dates of the incurring of the
costs ?-A. Yes, apparently so.

Q. Just examine this account after that and say whether the sane principle is
carried through them all ?-A. Well, the item "engrossing and making a report," tlie
date is not given for that, I seeni to have taxed off one-half, and on the others it seemls
to be itemized.

Q. Then after Mr. Atkinson's you will find an account f rom Mr. Bedard ?-A. Yes.
Q. In what shape does Mr. Bedard's account appear, in a lump sum or itemized

A. That seems to be itemized.
Q. What amount was paid to Mr. Bedard ?-A. According to this there was

$463. 72.
Q. What was the whole amount of his bill -A. ',099.3. My recollection of

that was that he would not accept that in full, and my impression is he was paid soile-
thing more.

Q. That $1,099.35, were they personal charges for personal services ?-A. No, not
altogether ; no.

Q. What did he include besides personal services -- A. Well, I see he has charged
" Mr. Benjamin Michaud, secretary and shorthand writer, $220."

Q. Do you find any charges for travelling expenses ?- A. J do not see any.
Q. I found his travelling expenses amounted to 86. 24, if I remember rightly ?-

A. Is it in one lump?
Q. No, I do not think so; just find any items if you can there for travelling

expenses ?-A. Here is one " Re Alex. Lebel, going to St. Pascal a nd holding investi-
gations " no, that would not be it.

Q. No, just Mr. Bedard's ?-A. I cannot find any travelling expenses, sir.
Q. Do you find any bill for travelling expenses? -A. I do not see it here.
Q. Mr. Bedard is a lawyer, is he not ?-A. Yes.
Q. He seems to have conducted this investigation as a lawyer, charging for all

letters?-A. Yes.
Q. We find here, " for writing a letter to the Minister," " writing Mr. Pouliot,"

"holding an investigation at Fraserville," " writing Mr. Schreiber, 81.33 ;" " writing to
Mr. Blair, $1.33 ;" "studying the case, going over the evidence, analyzing evidence and
drawing report., four days, $100;" "letter to Mr. Blair and forwarding report to Ottawa,
$1.33," and so on, the whole amount being for persona] expenses, $l,099.35, from which
there was deducted $635.63, as shown by this, leaving S463.72 ?-A. That is so.

Q. Now, when you come to the other accounts, here is ".re L. P. Jean, going to St.
Charles, disbursements, 95 cents," and so on. " Going to St. Pascal ;" St. Pascal, is
that on the Intercolonial Railway ?-A. Yes.

Q. " A. Lebel, going to St.. Pascal, travelling expenses, 82.15; "re Jean and Lebel,
going to St. Charles, travelling expenses, $1.75;" where does Lebel live ?--A. Quebec,
I think.

Q. " Travelling expenses of A rthur Lgare, stenographer, $2.50 ;" "holding
investigation at Fraserville, four davs, disbursements for himself and clerk, $13.25."
The total for travelling expenses of S86.24; did Mr. Bedard have a pass on the Inter-
colonial ?- A. I think lie lad.
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Q. Any expense then he would charge for going over the Intercolonial Railway for
fares would be covered by pass during these dates ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Chîarles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. But then the amount charged for fares cover ed by a pass is allowed ?-A. I do
not say these are covered by pass.

By Mr. Forter :

Q. I notice this endorsement on the account: "I certify that the within account,
amounting to $86.24, is correct." Signed by someone I cannot make out-Thomas
Evans, I an informed-and approved by Mr. Pottinger ?-A. Yes.

Q. In looking over that account, does it strike you that these expenses were
incurred, in part at least, over the ]ntercolonial Railway ?-A. If these are for fares,
they are covered by the pass.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. They might be hotel expenses ?-A. They inight be, of course.
Q. Then 1 find an account of 8423 and odd for witness fees.- A. For what?
Q. Witness fees. Here is an item then :

Two days' assistance as solicitor for Mr. A. R. McDonald and
advice at the inquiry held by Commissioner J. E. Bedard
at Fraserville, the 23rd and 24th February. 1897, at 820
per day .............. ..... .... ..... ........... 4. CG

-A. That is a charge by Mr. L. B. Dionne.
Q. Mr. Dionne is not a commissioner is he ?-A. I do not think so. No I think

not. He was with Mr. Bedard.
Q. Mr. Dionne then was a solicitor who was engaged as stated here on behalf of

Mr. A. R. McDonald, this is for payment of that account. Who was Mr. A. R.
McDonald ?-A. He was the superintendent.

Q. How does he come to be mixed up here ? Was there a charge against himi ?-A.
Yes, it was investigated.

Q. Here is another account, Charles Langelier, which reads:

Six days' assistance as solicitor for Mr. A. R. McDonald and
ad ,ice at the inquiry held by Commissioner J. E.
Bedard at Fraserville, Lévis and Quebec, at 820 a
day.............. ... ....... ...... .... .$ 120 00

Copy of the evidence...... ... .... ..... .......... 55 20

$ 172 20

Does that appear to have been paid ?-A. Yes.
Q. And Mr. Charles Langelier was solicitor for Mr. McDonald ?-A. My impres-

sion is that he was acting for him.
Q. Has it been usual in these investigations to employ solicitors for the accused î

-A. Well I really cannot*tell you anything about it. I have nothing to do with the
investigations.

Q. Some one must have to do with them ?-A. I suppose it is the commissioners.
I think a solicitor has been employed in some cases

Q. Do you know of any other cases where solicitors have been employed except
these two?-A. I reniember none.

Q. But here are two items, one for '172 and one of $40 which appear to have been
paid to solicitors for Mr. A. R. McDonald ?-A. They appear to have been paid.-

Q. Do you know the result of the investigation in the case of Mr. A. R. McDonald ?
-A. I think I have heard that notbing was proved against hini.
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Q. Here is a bill from Mr. Ross who also appears to have been employed, and the
total charge comes to 81,016.79, of which 8239.50 have been taxed off by the Minister
of Justice, and the remaining 8770.29 seems to have been paid. Does this bill appear
in itemized form with dates attached ?-A. No, only at the oui set, January, 1897. It
only gives the month.

Q. Only the different months of the different items and the charges for each ?-
A. Yes.

Q. Al these went to the different departments and were taxed ?-A. Yes.
Q. And were paid after taxation by the Justice department ?-A. Yes.
Q. Now, here is a bill by Mr. Charies A. Lebel certiWed. I think by yourself isn't

it ?-A. Yes.
Q. Is that an itemized bill detailing the different services?-A. Yes.
Q. By whom certified ?-A. Approved for payment by me.
Q. There is no other certificate except yours. That certificate for paymient isn't it

yours 1-A. Yes.
Q. And the bill is in itemized forn ?-A. Yes.
Q. low much was Mr. Lebel paid per day? Does lie appear to have received a

daily amount ?-A. $10 per day.
Q. Is he a lawyer ?-A. Yes.
Q. Here is another bill fron Mr. Wilfrid Mercier. Will you look over this bill and

see whether it is in itemized form and by whom taxed A. It is taxed by the Justice
department.

Q. And is in itemized form.-A. In itemized form.
Q. Has the bill been paid ?-Yes, I think so ; it must have been paid.
Q. How mîuch did Mr. Mercier receive by the day for his services ?-A. He appears

to have received 810 per day. 810 per day, that appears on the arcount.
Q. I find in Mr. Mercier's account that three days were charged for in the Daoust

investigation, in which a bill is put in for the same time for the Crevier investigation;
was that allowed ?-A. No: it seemns to have been taxed off.

Q. That is, charged for in one investigation and taxed off in the other ?-A. Yes.
Q. Here is an account from H. James Palmer; will you look over that and say

whether it is itemized and certified to?-A. It is itemized and taxed by t hie Justice
Department.

Q. And how much did Mr. Palmer receive per day; lie charged 813, I think you
will see here ?--A. Yes, S13.

Q. And was he paid 813 ?-A. No, he was paid 810 per day.
Q. He put in an itemized account which was taxed hy the Justice Department and

thereon was paid ?-A. Yes.

By 1r. Taylor :

Q. What was the total amount ?-A. 817.64.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Now, Mr. Schreiber, from what we have gone over, what was the general rule
in these commission expenses; has it been the general rule or not that they have put in
itemized accounts and these taken over by the Justice Department or the proper officer
and paid on that bill of taxation ?-A. Yes. The majority of them have been taxed by
the Justice Department, some by me-one by me, I think, and one by the Minister.

Q. And an itemized bill was put in ?-A. Yes.
Q. And paid on that taxation ?-A. Yes.
Q. Why was not the same rule followed in the case of Mr. Wilson ?-A. Well, I

do not know ; that is the one the Minister taxed.
Q. It is the one the Minister approved. Then this forms the single exception in

these commissioners' accounts, so far as we have gone over them ?-A. I think that is
the only one.
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Q. In the case of Mr. Wilson, instead of being an itemized account from day to
day it is put in in a lump sum for services, a lump sum for hotel expenses ?-A. Not
exactly in a lump sum; so many days at so much, amounting to such a sum, and then
for hotel expenses so many days at so much.

Q. But no word of the number of days, no taxation by any officer of the depart-
ment, and no taxation by the Justice Department, but paid on the approval of the
Minister?-A. Yes.

Q. And what did Mr. Wilson receive per day ?-A. S15 per day.
Q. In the case of these other gentlemen, they received how much ?-A. Some

received $10. Mr. Bedard. I think, received 810, but refused to take it in full.
Q. And is his claim still under consideration ?-A. It is settled, I think, and he

gets $20 per day.
Q. Are you certain of that ?-A. I think so.
Q. Then at a recent date, 28th April, 1898, Mr. Bedard was allowed $20 per day ?

-A. Yes.
Q. Is that by Order in Council ?-A. No, I think the maximum was $2.5 by Order

in Council.
Q. It was substantially that as you gave it in your evidence before ?-A. Yes. I

might read the Order in Council.
Q. I have them here and will read them. This Order in Council is dated 19th

November, 1896. " On a mem>randum dated 18th November, 1896, from the Minister
of Railways and Canals, representing that charges of active partizanship in the last
general elections for the Dominion Parliament have been preferred against many officials
and persons in the employ of the government upon the canals of the Dominion, and
statutory declarations have in many cases been received by the Minister of Railways
and Canals affirming and supporting such charges. The Minister, deeming it expedient
that one or more commissioners, in his discretion, should be appointed under chapter
115 of the Revised Statutes of Canada, to investigate and report on such charges so far
as the same relates to their conduct in office, reconimends that he be authorized as
Minister of Railways and Canals to appoint one or more persons commissioners under
the said Act, with all the powers and authorities by the said Act conferred, to investi-
gate and report upon all such charges which have been or may be preferred against per-
sons employed on the various canals in the Dominion, one commissioner or more than
one to be assigned to any one or more of the divisions of the canals of the Dominion to
hold such investigation, and each of such commissioners to be paid, in addition to his
necessary travelling expenses, such per diem allowance for each day in which he shall
be employed a suni not exceeding twenty-five dollars per day"; that is as to canals?
-A. Yes.

Q. And this is as to railways, dated 1st March, 1897: "On a report dated February
23, 1897, from the Minister of Railways and Canals stating that charges had been sub-
mitted to him of general misconduct, malappropriation of the property of the Inter-
colonial Railway, wasteful destruction and waste of supplies, material and cars, and
other articles of value belonging to the Intercolonial Railway at Moncton, and in
connection with the works there, on the part of the employees generally, or of many of
the employees in the railway service. The naines of the persons alleged to have com-
mitted these offences have not been furnished, the parties declining to so furnish them
but alleging that in the event of an investigation being held under oath the above
alleged fact s will lie disclosed. The minister considers, as the matters referred to are
connected with the good government of Canada that it would be in the public interest
that a full and careful investigation should be made into the conduct of the emplovees in
the service and at the workshops within the yards of Moncton aforesaid. The Minister
therefore recommends that a commissioner be appointed under Chapter 114 of the
Revised Statutes of Canada to hold such inquiries and investigation and report thereupon,
and that William Wilson, of Fredericton, in the county of York, province of New
Brunswick, barrister-at-law, be such commissioner, and that he be empowered to exercise
all the authorities conferred or wiich may be conferred upon a commissioner under the
authority of the said Chapter 114." Nothing is said there as to salary ?-A. No.
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Q. Then there is an Order in Council of 10th December, 1896 is this a general
order ?-A. No, this is Mr. Atkinson's.

Q. Yes, so it is. " The Minister accordingly recommends that lie be autlhorized as
Minister of Railways and Canals to appoint Mr. Harvey Atkinson, barrister-at-aw, of
Moncton, in the province of New Brunswick, a commissioner under the said Chapter 115
of the Revised Statutes, with all the powers and authorities by the said Act conferred, to
investigate and report on the conduct of the several persons in the service of the gov-
ernment railways within the division between Campbellton and Moncton, in the province
of New Brunswick, but not including Moncton, against whom such charges have been
preferred, and further that such commissioner be paid, in addition to his necessarv
travelling expenses, a per diem allowance for each full day in which lie shall be em)-
ploved as such commissioner not exceeding twenty-tive dollars a day." Was there one
in the case of Mr. Wilson of similar import ?-A. No.

Q. Then in Mr. Wilson's Order in Council nothing is said as to pay ?--A. No.
Q. Nothing as to Mr. Wilson's pay is fixed by Order in Council ?-A. No.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. Was there one for the rest? A. There must have been one ; I have not it here.

By fr. Foster :

Q. Did they get passes? A.-I do not know, I will look and see.
Q. I think you told me that you had no vouchers for the payient of Mr. Wilson's

board bill in Moncton ?-A. No, sir.

Hon. ANDREW G. BLAIR, being sworn, testified as follows

I understandthat some question has been raised with regard to Mr. Wilson's bill.
This bill was before me and I examined it and I had some communication witi Mr.
Wilson, I have forgotten now whether verbal or written, but before directing that the
account should be settled, I looked it over and quite satisfied imtyself as to the correct-
ness of the account, subject to such reduction as I made here. In his account the charge
was $20 per day. I had discretion under the Order in Council to allow $25 a day. I
thought under the circumstances that $15 per day would be sufficient and struck off $5
per day. The expenses at the Hotel Moncton $55, I thought reasonable and I an under
the impression that Mr. Wilson gave me a statement of the board bill, but I do not see
it here, and cannot find that it is in the department, but I was satisfied that the account
was reasonable and allowed it on that account.

Bu Mr. Foster :

Q. Do you see any voucher for the payment ?-A. No, I see no voucher for the
payment.

Q. Do you know that the bill was ever paid ?-A. I never inquired, though I can-
not say it was in my mind even that the hotelkeeper would have any claini against the
governmnent.

Q. But did you allow a bill you didn't see in detail and did not know that it was
receipted ?-A. I do not think I did. I cannot recollect if I saw the bill or if It was
receipted.

Q. Do you know he was sued and judgment rendered ?-A. No, I do not.
Q. You would not either affirm or deny it ?-A. No. I suppose you were not

under the impression that that would affect the government. The question is asked
solely for the purposes of reflecting upon Mr. Wilson and it is not fair.

15
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By Sir Charles UIibbert Tupper :

Q. Do you think it is fair to say on oath that a question is asked with such a
motive ?--A. I think it is. The question is asked me as a sneer upon a gentleman who
is not present, so it is fair for me to make such a statement.

Q. And you state 'ositively under oath that the statement is made solely to reflect
upon Mr. Wilson ?-A. You may take it as you like but the object is perfectly cleàr.

The next item is railway fare to and from St. John. He was not allowed anything
for railway fares from St. John to Moncton. He had to pay his fare there from Monc-
ton to St. John and return, and $3 is the usual ticket price.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. I would like to ask you if you would approve of your offBcers passing bills with-
out vouchers ?-A. I think it would be better that a Minister, if he has any doubt about
the correctness of a bill, should ask for vouchers.

Q. What is your system of supervision in regard to the taxation of bis ?-A. I
had not had very much. experience in the matter of taxing bills, that was one of the
very earliest that came in.

Q. You think it is a loose systen ?-A. You can form your own views.
Q. You decline to say ?--A. I do not think I would be under any obligation to say.
Q. I want to know whether you approve of that system ?-A. I am not under

examination as to systems, only as to facts.
Q. Only to say what you wish ?-A. As to facts.
Q. That is your ansm or -?A. Yes.
Q. Did you tax any other bills for commissioners ?-A. I will finish this one tirst.

I procured no pass for Mr. Wilson f rom Moncton to St. John and return. Wilson paid
one fare himself ; I am not sure now speaking from memory whether it was before he
got his pass or between some days when he had no pass, but he satisfied me he paid
one fare from St. John to Moncton and return, which I allowed him.

By Jfr. Foster:

Q. That is the $4 ?-A. S4. I was satisfied of that.

By Mr. Bergeron:

Q. About these vouchers? Do you not think it right that no account should be
paid to employees, either engineers or superintendents or any one employed in the
department without getting vouchers ?-A. I think so, and if I had been asked I would
have been satisfied he had a voucher.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Did you tax any other bills for commissioners ?-A. I do not remember.
Q. This is the oniy one ?-A. No, I do not say that. I do not recollect at the

moment. I think very likely I had a good deal to do in taxing them all. I gave my
views to the Justice Department as to what I thought should be proper in the other
cases as well as in this.

Q. Will you object to saying what views you gave to the Justice Department with
regard to taxing these so far as you remember ?-A. I do not think they were general.
I think they were with regard to specific payments as they came up.

Q. Can you mention a sample of these ?-A. I cannot give you particular
instances or cases. I cannot name the particular cases in which they were given.

Q. Can you remember the instructions ?-A. I was of the opinion that less
amounts should be taxed in some cases than in others. J thought that '1O -would be
sufficient, and in others I thought that S15 should be paid. The standing of the
commissioner or the importance of the case would have a good deal to do with it. In
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J. E. Bedard's case 1 thought he was a proninent lawyer and could not be expected
to give his services at the same price.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. How much did you allow Mr. Atkinson ?-A. I cannot remuemnber; J think $10.
Q. It is $10 per day in the papers. Would you consider Mr. Wilson to be worth

more than Mr. Atkinson as a lawyer ?-A. Yes; I will tell you why. Mr. Wilson is a
man who bas had a large practice and a good deal of experience in the courts. I think
a larger experience in the courts than Mr. Atkinson. Mr. Wilson is a mati who has a
very good standing at the bar, very good, indeed.

Q. You think Mr. Wilson's standing as good at the bar ?-A. I do.
Q. Do you think his practice is larger ?--A. Well, I cannot tell you as to that,

which realized the best financial returns.
Q. But you had some idea when you thought Mr. Wilson was worth 815 per day2

-A. Well, I thought Mr. Wilson, having more practice, more cases before the courts,
was entitled to more.

Q. Is it the practice of ministers in departments to tax bills, or does that belong to
special oflicers ; what is the rule ?-A. I do not know what the rule is.

Q. Has it been your practice to tax bills since you came into the departmuent ?-A.
I never had any experience except as to tlis. The ordinary bills that corne into the
department are not submitted to me, nor even in exceptional cases, they coie up before
the officers in the department.

Q. But, as a matter of fact, this is the only bill of a commînissioner that appears to
be certified by you; do you recollect certifying others! -A. I recollect seeing others.

Q. Do you recollect certifving others ?-A. I catinot recollect then. I do not wish
to suggest there were not others, there nay have been.

Q. There were no others. Still, you would not give an opinion. Wben you ask
the Justice Department to tax an account, would you consider it part of your duty to
give an opinion as to what they should tax ?-A. As to other items?

Q. No, professional fees ?-A. Only professional fees. It comes to mny mind that
Mr. Atkinson only asked S15.

Q. In this case you approved items of hotel expenses, travelling, and preparation
of two reports at $50 each or $100-that might be called professional, but tbe rest is
clearly current expense, and you would not advise the Justice Department as to what
should be taxed for this ?-A. No, outside of professional expenses I would not.

Q. But you did certify, in fact, to the hotel bill?-A. I do not think I certified to
it further than I approved of it as a whole. I tok off $5 and I indicated as to the rest
I had no objection.

Q. In emploving Mr. Wilson was the idea that Mr. Wilson should first have a pro-
fessional fee and then have expenses? While vou gave S15 a day that left actual
expenses; would you consider it rigbt to pay Mr. Wilson for ioneys which lie did not
disburse ?-A. Not by any ineans. If under the head of disbursements there was a
charge for disbursements which I did not consider right, 1 would certainly object to that.

Q. In certifying to the board bill had you any receipt f rom Mr. Wilson that the
hotel had received this $55.05 ?-A. I do not remember, but I do not know that I would
say now, speaking from memory, there was a receipted bill, or any bill, but my imrpres-
sion was that there was.

Q. But there is none that you know of ?-A. I would not go so far as to say that.
Q. You have made a statement, and I wish to make one now. My contention is

that when you pay a man for professional services and for current expenses nothing
should be paid to him which he has not paid out. You approve of that. Then why
should this be paid when, as my information goes, Mr. Wilson was sued for this hotel
bill, judgment was got against him, and so far as I know that judgnent has not yet
been satisfied ?-A. Do you think yourself justified in making a statement of that kind 7

Q. It was a matter of public notoriety.-A. Where did you get your information?
Q. From the newspapers.-A. I think you will want better evidence. I once saw

in the paper a letter signed by " Onlooker " stating that Mr. Sifton and I were boodlers
17
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in connection with the Yukon Railway. I do not think the person who made that
statement lad the slightest ground for the statenent made in the newspaper.

By Mfr. Bergeron :

Q. It struck me a moment ago in speaking about the different fees paid to lawyers
that you are doing it on a scale according to the efficiency or practice or knowledge of
the lawyer; did I understand well ?-A. Yes, I think they have been.

Q. By what we hear, Mr. Wilson got $15 and Mr. A tkinson $10 ?-A. I think
you will find that if you have any experience that a lawyer vill get more for trying
a case.

Q. But you have acted on a different scale, they were not all paid the same ?-
A. No.

Q. Could you find out how much was paid to Mr. Wilfrid Mercier, a lawyer of
Montreal, making investigations at Ste. Ann's Lock ?-A. I could find out.

Mr. FoSTER.-Me got -1l0 a day.

By Mr. Bergeron:

Q. Now, as a matter of fact, Mr. Blair, do you look upon any lawyer at all who
will accept a position like that as a good practical lawyer; will a good lawyer leave his
office to go as commissioner ?-A. I think he would if he was asked by persons whose
wishes le would like to meet. 1 do not know that any gentleman would like the busi-
ness particularly. It is not a business any one would covet.

Q. I would like to see Mr. Mercier's bill ?-A. Here is a communication from the
Deputy Minister of Railways, forwarding to the Justice Department Mr. Mercier's bill.

Q. Do you think it right that any officer of your department having a pass should
charge for a fare? Is it the custom to give the officers of the department the ad-
vantage of these passes ?-A. I cannot say that I have considered the question, but
I think that if a man has a pass he will use it, and I think it would be presumption
that le would find it ditficult to rebut. If Le returned the pass unused, I would think
it very extraordinary, but I do not think I would be justified in refusing to pay his bill.

By Sir Chares Hibbert Tupper:

Q. I am not referring to passes on the Canadian Pacific or Canada Atlantic but
passes over your own system ?-A. I think that would be a matter on which I am not
prepared to give an off-Land opinion.

By MYr. Bergeron:

Q. I find in the account of Mr. Mercier here you have struck off $82.20, at least
I see it las been struck off?-A. I cannot give you any explanation about that, it was
done in the Justice Department.

By 3fr. Powell:

Q. Mr. Blair, will you please explain why it is that Mr. McDonald was allowed a
a counsel and the government paid $20 a day in his case? They allowed a counsel and
then the government paid, whereas they would not allow Mr. Archibald any counsel?
A. The explanation comes to this. He had charges preferred against him and a very
lengthy examination took place. It was likely to take a good deal of time, we knew.
There were a great many witnesses and a good deal of feeling on both sides. A good
many members seemed to be interested in the matter and it was felt by us ail, for I
conferred with the other members of council on the subject that it would be an
extremely harsh thing if, under the circumstances, Mr. McDonald was obliged to pay his
own counsel fees, especially when the case resulted as it did.

A. 1898
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Q. That would be ex postjacto ?--A. Yes, there was no intimation to him in the
first instance at all that he would be allowed counsel fees for his own counsel, or that
they would be paid. The matter did not cone up until after the investigation.

By fr. Foster;

Q. Besides Mr. Dionne, Mr. Langelier was also for hiimî was lie not ?-A. I do not
think so.

Q. It appears in the account that $172 was paid to him for six days '-A. 1 will
.have to look into that.

By Mfr. Powell:

Q. Mr. McDonald was superintendent was lie not ?-A. lie was superintendent in
the first instance. H-e was suspended at the tiie of this investigation.

Q. Is he reinstated now ?-A. He is not yet reinstated.
Q. Is his salary going on ?-A. No it is not. At least that is not mîy instructions.

By Mr. Bergeron:

Q. These marks here on the side, this is not froni your departmuent is it ?-A. No, I
do not think that is in my writing. These figures (o not look like mine and I lave no
recollection of naking then. They -will probably be froi the Justice Departnent.

Q. They would be fromn Mr. Newcombe ?--A. Very likely.
Q. They are not from you ?-A. No, I think not.

EXH1BIT No. 1.

CANADA.

DEPARTMENT OF MARINE AND FisHERIES ANI) CUSToMS,

To E. H. McALPINE, Comnissioner.

To 127 days investigating charges of partizanship at
$10.00 , ...................... .. ......... 1,270 (0

To expenses ......... ........... 437 90

81,707 90
Cr.-By cash on account. . ..................... . 1,000 00

Balance due.................... -.$707 90

ST. JOHN, N.B., 26th July, 1897.

1, Edwin H. McAlpine, of the City and County of St. John, and Province of New
Brunswick, do solemnly declare as follows:

That I am Commissioner to investigate charges of partizanship preferred against
government officials in the province of New Brunswick.

That in the investigation of charges against officials in the Marine and Fisheries
and Customs Departments my expenses amounted altogether to four hundred and thirty
seven dollars and ninety cents (S437.90).
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And I make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the same to be true,
and by virtue of the Act respecting Voluntary and Extra-Judicial Oaths.

EDWIN H. McALPINE.
Taken and declared before me at St. John, ]

this 27th day of July, 1897.
WM. J. M. BAXTER,

J. P. for the City and County of St.
John and Notary Public in and for
the Province of New Brunswick. J

EXHIBIT No. 2.

W. Wilson, Comnissioner Rys. and Canals Dept., $726.05, A. G.'s Report, page
R1-166.

Voucher not included in previous answer to Public Accounts Com. of April 1.
Item 5.

1896-7.
INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY.

$726.05 MONCTON, N.B., 30th June, 1897.

To the Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, Ontario.

Pay to the order of Wm. Wilson, Barrister, Fredericton, the sun of Seven Hun-
dred and Twenty-six Dollars and Five Cents for Ser. and Exps. in connection with
Comm. Voucher No. 8609.

D. POTTINGER,
General Manager. G. WILLIAMS,

Chief Accountant and Treasurer.

M. B. of H. (Bank of Montreal. JFredericton N. B. PAID.
C. 1976.

DomINIoN GOVERNMENT TO W. WILSON, DR.

1897.
May 7.-To 36 days' inquiry under commission to examine

into and report upon cases of partizanship against
officials of the Intercolonial Railway at Moncton, at
,20 perday........................ .......... 8 720 00

Expenses at hotel, Moncton. ......................... 55 05
Railway fares to and from St. John, 6 trips at $3 ......... 18 00
One fare to Moncton and return....................... 4 00
Coaching... .. . ... . . .... ..... ........... ........ 3 50
Hotel expenses in St. John............ ............. 5 50
Drawing two reports, 850 each............ .......... .... 100 00

$ 906 05Off $5.00 per day 180 00
SA. G. B. j

$ 726 05
17 July, 1897.
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INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY OF CANADA,

OFFICP OP THE GENERAL MANAGER,
MONCToN, N. B., April 5th, 1898.

SiR,-I n response to vour telegraph message to-day, I seinid you herewith thie
account fromn Mr. William Wilson, anu>utititn g to $90(.05 and wich was taxed at
$726.05.

A cheque for the S726.05 was forwarded to Mr. Wilson, accompanied by a voucher,
in duplicate for his receipt, but the Treasurer states the voucher lias iot yet been
returned to Iiti.

I an, sir, your obedient servant,

D. POTTINGER,
General Manager,

Per T. E.
L. K. JONES,

Secretary,
Department of Railways and Canals,

Ottawa, Ont.
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APPENDIX No. 2a.

CoMMITTEE looM,
OTTAWA, Monday, 30th May, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts beg leave to present the fol-
lowing as their Fifth Report.

The Committee have had under consideration the accounts, vouchers, and other
papers relating to the payment of S350 to A. E. Killan, IMoncton, as set forth on page
R-166 of the Report of the Auditor General for the year ended 30th June, 1897 ; and
in connection therewith have examined witnesses under oath, and for the information of
the House report herewith the evidence given by such witnesses, and the exhibits filed
during the said examination ; and your Committee recommend that the said evidence
and exhibits be printed.

Al which is respectfully submitted.
.J. McMULLEN,

Chairman.

2-la
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EVIDENCE

RE PAYMENT OF -350 TO A. E. KILLAM, MONCTON, FOR CATTLE
KILLED.

COMITTEE PoOM 50., HOUsE OF Co.%inoNs,
18thMa,19

The committee met, Mr. MeMullen in the chair.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, being called, testified as follows

By Mr. P>o wel:

Q. You had some correspondence with Mr. Killam and the officials at Moncton in
connection with the destruction of some cattle ?-A. Yes.

Q. Did you pay for these cattle ?-A. There was a compromise iade ; the full
claim was not paid.

Q. Just look at these papers. How nuch was paid him ?-A. $350.
Q. When? On what date ?-A. On the 20th March, 1897.
Q. And what is the claim that was paid ?-A. It reads as follows:-

"To compensation and in full payment of claim for two Jersey
cows killed and three injured by bridge over the railway
falling on the 14th July, 1894...... ............. 3

Q. Just detail to us as briefly as possible how these cattle camie to be killej ?-A.
As far as my recollection goes, these cattle were crossing over this bridge, and the
bridge went down with them.

Q. You are acquainted with the bridge, are you not ?-A. I am.
Q. It is a farm crossing, an overhead crossing ?-A. Yes.
Q. Over what is named or used to be known as the Chandler farm i-A. Yes.
Q. When was it put there ?-A. Before the construction of the Intercolonial Rail-

way during the construction of the European and North American Railway by the
New Brunswick government.

Q. Was there any arrangement with Chandler as to the maintenance of this
bridge ?-A. I think in Mr. Brydges' time he was paid a sun of money on condition of
his maintaining the bridge.

Q. Mr. Chandler was paid ?-A. Yes.
Q. I see here you say you have a very distinct recollection of that?-A. I think I

had at that time.
Q. The first occupant was Mr. Chandler ?-A. Yes.
Q. About 1875 he sold to Mr. Killai ?-A. I do not remember.
Q. That appears by the record. Was the bridge that was there at the time the

Intercolonial Railway was taken over by the Canadian government replaced by
another bridge at a later period, do you know ?-A. 1 do not remember.

Q. You cannot speak fromn memory ?-A. No, I cannot.
Q. We will draw your attention to the letters. These are copies, where are the

original documents, are they in the railway office ?-A. I suppose the original documents
will be in the press books.

Q. They come from the department so I presume it is correct ?-A. I have no
doubt about these being correct copies.

Q. What is the date of this letter (Exhibit No. 3)?-A. 13th April, 1891.
Q. Would you read it?-A.

2a-1i
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"INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY OF CANADA,
"OFFICE OF THE CHIEF ENGýINEER,

"MONCTON, N.B., 13th April, 1891.

D. Pottinger, Eqq.,
"I G eneral Superintendent, Moncton.

"SiR,-The overhead bridge erected by Mr. A. E. Killam at the rear of his place
is in a dangerous condition and I think some repairs should be made to it.

"This crossing I always understood was purchased f rom the late Edward Chandler
about two years ago and the bridge was taken down by the Railway Department. I
am not able to find any agreement or any record of it on file and Mr. Killam evidently
admitted there was such an agreement in existence before building the overhead
bridge in question at his own expense. I believe that he now states that we should
maintain this bridge. Will you instruct me as to to what action shall be taken ?

"Yours truly,

" P. S. ARCHIBALD."

Q. It refers there to no paper having been found, do you know if the paper was
afterwards found ?-A. I do not remember.

Q. Do you know of any action being taken upon that letter ?-A. I do not; we
declined to repair it.

Q. Here is another letter from Mr. Pottinger to Mr. Schreiber:

( -Exhibit Vo. 4.)

"INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY OF CANADA,
"OFFICE OF THE CIHEF SUPERINTENDFNT,

"MONCTON, N.B., 19th June, 1891.

" COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, Eq.,
" Chief Engineer and General Manager Government Railways,

"Ottawa.

"S1R,-The overhead bridge at Killam's farm, over Killams cutting, near Monc-
ton, is in such a state of decay that it will have to be rebuilt. It has always been
stated that E. B. Chandler was paid for this crossing and that we did not need to
niaintain this bridge. Mr. Killam tells Mr. Archibald that Mr. Chandler was paid
S250 in Mr. Carvell's time in 1873 or 1874 to buy out the crossing, but we have had
ail the papers looked up both in connection with the construction and the maintenance
since that time and no record whatever of the payment can be found. Perhaps you
remeinber. However it is not all likely that it is in any of the books in Ottawa as
they will only refer to the construction north of Moncton. Please give me any informa-
tion there is and also let me know what your decision is in regard to this bridge and
whether we are to rebuild it or permit Killam to rebuild it or what.

"Your obedient servant,

" D. POTTINGER."

Q. And after that you made an inquirv ?-A. I think so.
Q. Aind on that inquirv you determined that Mr. Killam had to keep the -bridge

in repair didn't you 9-A. That was our view of it.
Q. And you so instructed the officers at Moncton 7-A. Yes, I think so.
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Q. Do you know whether N r. Killam acquiesced in this or not ?-A. I scarcely
think he did, but I cannot remember.

Q. Did not he undertake to keep it in repair ?-A. I do not remember. N r.
Chandler did, I think, but I do not renieniber 'Mr. Killam doing so.

Q. Just look at this letter from -Mr. Killan to Mr. Archibald (Er/oib/ 50. 8) ?-A.
Yes.

Q. What is the date ?-A. 9th September, 1891.
Q. Will you look previously to that and see if there is a letter f rom \lr. Archibald

to him ?-A. Yes, on the 9th September, 1891, the saine day, (ErhiM/ No. 7).
Q. Well, just read the two of these ?-A. This is from Mr. Ai chibald to 31r.Killam:

CIIIEF ENGINEER's OFFICE,
"Sep-temb)ler 9th, 1891.

"A. E. ILLAM, Esq.,
" Moncton, IN.R

DEAR SIR.-I am irstructed to call upon you to renew or put 1i proper repair the
overhead bridge now used by you as a fara crossing. The departnent claii to have
purchased this crossing about the year 1874. If the bridge is not kept in proper repair
I am instructed to have it torn down.

Yours truly.
"P. S.ARH AL.

Then Mr. Killam on the same day writes Mr. Archibald -

" MONTON, 9th September, 1891.

"1P. S. ARCHIBALD, Esq., C.E.,
Engineer, I.C.R1.

DEAR SIR,-I am in receipt of your favour of this date in respect to the overhead
bridge on, mv farni, and in reply, beg to state that under the understanding I had with
the railway department and with the late Sir A. J. Sinith (then Minister of Marine and
Fisheries) in 1875, that is, the railway department arrangyed with the late E. B. Chand-
1er, jr., to rebuild a bridge for himself when he owned tihis farma prior to 1875 ; that I
was considered bound bv the agreement made by and with Mr. Chandler to build the
bridge during the lifetime of a wooden bridge sueli as had rotted down, that had
been built when the railway had been first built ; therefore did not contend furtber
but rebuilt the bridge for the use of the farni and now under that understanding had
then made such repairs as is necessarv to maintain the bridge in safety until a new
bridge is necessary.

"Yours truly,
" A. E. KILLAM.

Further examination postponed.

CoMMITTEE Rootm, Wednesday, 25th May, 199.

The committee met, Mr. MeMullen in the chair.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, being recalled, testified as follows:

By Mr. Powell :

Q. By the papers here it appears that in April, 1891, this overhead bridge vou
spoke of before was rather out of repair and somewliat dangerous?-A. Yes, it was.

Q. Mr. Deboo was one of your track masters, was lie not ?-A. Yes.
5
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Q. And be so reported ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is a copy of the letter, is it not (E-hiit No. 1) ?-A. Yes.
Q. On the 10th April Mr. Ovid Lockhart, also a section foreman, teported the

same ?-A. N r. Lockhart was section foreman under Mr. Deboo.
Q. That is a copy of the letter ( iNo. _) ?-A. Yes.
Q. He also reported the bridge to be out of repair on the same date ?-A. Yes.
Q. On the l3th April Mr. Archibald, Chief Engineer of the Intercolonial, reported

it out of repair and in a dangerous condition ?-A. Yes.
Q. This report he nade was in a letter addressed to Mr. Pottinger (Exhibit No. 3)

-A. Yes.
Q. In reply to that which we find in the records of the department is a letter

to yourself from Mr. Pottinger, on the 19th June, 1891, just look at that, please, a
a moment (Exhibit No. 4)?-A. Yes ;I remember that,

Q. Just read that letter please ?-A. The letter reads:

"INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY oF CANADA,
"OFFICE OF THE CHIEF SUPERINTENDENT,

"MONCTON, N.B., 19th June, 1891.
C. SIIREIBER, ESq.,

"Chief Engineer and General -Manager, Government Railways,
Ottawa.

DEAR SiR,-The overhead bridge at Killam's farrr, over Kiliam's Cutting, near
Moncton, is in such a state of decay that it will have to be rebuilt. It lias always
been stated that E. B. Chandler was paid for this crossing and that we do not need to
maintain this bridge. Mr. Killam tells Mr. Archibald thîat Chandler was paid $250 in
Mr. Carvell's time in 1873 or 1874, to buy out the crossing, but we have had all the
papers looked up both in conneetion with construction and maintenance since that time
and no record of the payment can be found. Perhaps you renerniber something about
the matter. I suppose, however, it is not at all likely that it is in any of the books in
Ottawa, as they will only refer to the construction north of Moncton. Please give me
any information there is, and also let me know what vour decision is in regard to this
bridge and whether we are to rebuild it, or permit Killam to rebuild it, or what.

Your obedient servant,
"I D. POTTINGEIR.'

Q. Thus at this particular time it appears there was an understanding between
Mr. Killam and the departient as to who was to maintain this bridge ?-A. Yes.

Q. The department contended that the prior occupant and owner of the farm had
been paid full damages for the bridge, and that the department was free from expenses,
and on the other hand Killam maintained that the department was bound to maintain
the bridge ?-A. That was our contention.

Q. I see here under date July 17th, a letter from Mr. Killam to Mr. Carvell. Mr.
Carvell had been a prior manager of the Intercolonial, was he not ?-A. Piior to Mr.
Brydges.

Q. And Mr. Killam applied to Mr. Carvell?-A. Yes.
Q. Just read that letter (Exhibit -o. ;).

"MONCTON, N.B., July 17th, 1891.
LEWIS CARVELL.

" DEAR S1R,-There is a inatter that I an interested in and I think you will remem-
ber something of it, whicli is the bridge across the I. C. R. on my farm over what is
known as the Chandler hill cut just east of Irishtown Road. If you remember, the
bridge got bad and needed a new one along about 1872 or 3, and after some time you
made an agreement with Chandler to rebuild the bridge for himself for about the sum



Public Accounts Committee.

of S250 or perhaps 24.5, which sum I understood you paid him, and lie to build wien
had a mind to and he to do without the bridge till he did build, without calling on the
Railway. In 1875, some time in Februay or March, I bouglt the faru of Chandler
and moved on the place the 5th of April, 1875. 1, along in the latter part of the year,
askled to have the bridge rebuilt ; the answer was, Chandler had been arranged with to
build a bridge for hinself, and if I wanted a bridge I would have to build one for nvseIf.
I did build one which has stood till now, but wants rebuilding. Now I asked late Sir
A. J. Smith to pay me for the bridge and his reply was Chandler had been paid for the
bridge and I could get nothing while this bridge iasted. Some time ago 1 asked to have
the bridge rebuilt, and I was astonished to get the reply thiat the railway had bought
out the right of the crossing. This I told Mr. Archibald was not so. I told himi ail
the circun.stances, bow I had been consulted by Chandler as to what the bridge w-as
worth to rebuild before he agred on an amount, and further thiat the fairm w;as so situ-
ated that I would not take S1,000 and Io without the bridge, and that I knew that
Chandler would never consent to lose the crossing, so Mr. Archibal) proinised nie to
hunt up Mr. Chandler's agreement. And vesterday lie told nie that ihiere vas n> trace
of any agreement nor where the railway had ever paid Chandler anything. Of course
Chandler is dead and can't be consulted. Of course mv interest in the farmi vas sdd,
but I hope to be able before long to buy it back. I told Arcliibald that 1 would write
vou and see what you could remem ber about it. And it imay be possible that Chandler
did not get anything, as he did not build the bridge. As 1 said before, Mr. Arcliîbald
savs there is nothing to show that he got any'thing. You wvill excuse me writig at
such length, but I wanted to give you some of Ihe particulais : peradvaintire it iimight
refresh your memory. I know Chandler contracted for sone of the tiiber with Aaron
Wilson and he got part of this timber.

Yours truly,
"A. E. KILLA M.

Then there are some memoranda bere

\Memo. The facts as herein stated, previous to 1875, are here correctly stated
by Mr. Killam, early in IS75. I don't rememnber the anounit paid to Mr. Chandler,
but the records will show. I know nothinmg of what took place after IL 74. Th'e papers
shiould show the terms upon which the inoney was paid to Chandler.

"L. CA ItVELL."

" 3st July, 18S91.

"1, of course know nothing about what was done after 1874.
" L. C."

"31 st J uly, 18 91.

"I remember Mr. Killam speaking to me about the affair after I had left the
railway service. "L. C."

lP. S.-Al I know about this matter I have stated on the first page of this letter.
It seems to me that unless the papers signed by Mr. Chandler, which mnust be on file in
the office, explicitly state that the money paid him was danages for doing away with
for all time the bridge, the bridge when worn out would have to be rebuilt bv the
rail way. "L. C."

" 31st J uly, 1891.

Q. The new bridge would be built after 1S74, so about that Mr. Chandler knew
nothing ?-A. No, he knew nothing of that.

Q. At this time the papers between the railway and Mr. Chandler could not he
found ?-A. No.

Q. Then appears a letter from Deboo to Mr. Archibald, dated July 31st, 1891
The statement in that is that Killam up to that time had not repaired the bridge ?-A.
No, evidently not.
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Q. The railway departnent, it seems, took action on the matter and orders were
given to Mr. Archibald to have the bridge eut out, as appears from that letter I have
put in your hands.-A. Yes, do you want it read ?

Q. Yes, what date is it ?-A. September 9th, 1891. It reads as follows

( Exhibit No. 7.)

"CHIEF ENGINEER'S OFFICE, September 9th, 1S91
"A. E. Killam, Esq.

" Moncton, N. B.

SIR,-I am instructed to call upOn you to renew or put in proper repair the over-
head bridge now used by you as a farm crossing. The department claims to have pur-
chased this crossing about the year 1874. If the bridge is not kept in proper repair I
am instructed to have it torn down.

"Yours truly,
", P. ARCHIBALD."

Q. This was the decision arrived at by the railway departmnent ?-A. Yes.
Q. Was an arrangement arrived at by which the bridge was not eut out ?-A. Yes,

there seems to be an understanding about it.
Q. The bridge was not eut out ?---A. No.
Q. And not eut out on the undertaking of Mr. Killam to keep it in repair ?-A.

As appears by this letter Mr. Killam to iMr. Archibald.
Q. That was put into evidence the other day ; please read it.-A. He says:

{(Erhibit o. 8.)

" MONCTON, September 9th, 1891.
"P. S. Archibald, Esq., C. E.

" Engineer I. C. Ry.

S1a,--I am in receipt of your favour of this date in respect to the overhead bridge
on rny farm and in reply beg to state that under the understanding I had with the rail-
way departinent and with the late Sir A. J. Smith (then Minister of Marine and
Fisheries) in 1875, that, as the railway department had arranged with the late E. B.
Chandler, junior, to rebuild the bridge for himself, when lie owned the farm, prior to 1875,
that I was considered bound by the agreement made by and with Mr. Chandler to build
the bridge during the lifetime of a wooden bridge, sueh as had rotted down, that had
been built when the railway had been irst built ; therefore did not contend further, but
rebuilt the bridge for the use of the farm, and now, under that understanding, had then,
will inake such repairs as is necessary to maintain the bridge in safety, until a new bridge
is necessary.

"Yours truly,
" A. E. KILLAM."

Q. The matter in the meantime had been referred to the Department of Justice by
the Department of Railways as appears by a letter to yourself. (E.rh ibit No. 9.)-A.
Yes, it must have been by the secretary of the department.

Q. Well, that would be under your orders ?-A. Yes.
Q. And Mr. Sedgewick, then Deputy Minister of Justice, gave his opinion ?-A.

Yes.
Q. On what date ?-A. 27th September, 1891: "It appears that a certain over-

head bridge on Killam's farm, over Killam's cutting, on the line of the Intercolonial
Railway, near Moncton, N.B., erected by one E. B. Chandler, the original owner of the
property, is in such a state of decay that it must be either renoved or renewed. It is
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helieved that the right to an overhead bridge at this point was bought out by the
government some years ago from Mr. Chandler for the sum of .250, and it seems that
no evidence of this can be procured. No receipt for the monev or a lease of the right
to a bridge can be found, and Mr. Schreiber states that his epartmenit is smply re
of the facts from having heard Mr. Brydges and Mr. Chandler both inake the statenient.
The point as to which advice is required seens to be : Is the governnent liable to
maintain the bridge in question ? Under the circunstances above stated it is inaterial
to a. consideration of this point that the facts by reason of lib it is assumed that
such a lability still exists previous to the supposed release from Chandler should be
known. If it is admitted that until released the government was biound to maintain
a bridge and that no evidence of the release can be procured, the liability of the

government practically exists still, but it may be worth while iriquiring whether there
are sufficient grounds for the assumption that any such obligation was ever undertaiken
by or imposed upon the government. I should be glad to hear what Mr. Slhreiber bas
to say as to this aspect of the case." Will you look in his opinion where your recol-
lection is given to thbe Department of Justice at the time that by an arrangement with
iMr. Chandler the railway was free from any responsibility for the maintenance of the
bridge ?-A. That was my view.

Q. You will see that vour recollection was so stated to the Departmenit of Jus-
tice ?-A. Yes.

Q. And that would be a correct statement of your recollection at the time ?-A.
Well, this is what Mr. Sedgewick says: "Mr. Schreiber states that lus department is
simply aware of the fact fron having heard Mr. Brvdges and Mr. Chandler both mnake
the statement."

Q. That was your statement in writing ?-A. Yes.
Q. Now, Mr. Killanm did not immediately prepare to repair the bridge, and Deboo

wrote another letter on 18th December, 1891, and here is your letter to the Secretary
of the department of the 5th October, 1891, in which I think you repeat your state-
ment as to what you had heard Chandler say ?-A. That is just giving the statemîent
of my views of the case.

" OTTA wA, 5th October, 1891.

SiR,-Referring to the Deputy Minister of Justice's letter of 27th ultiml)o upon
the subject of keeping up of the overhead bridge on Killani's farn. I may explain that
as I understand the Intercolonial Railway is bound to give each property it severs a
private crossing over the railway property, either at rail level, by an overhead bridge,
or by an under crossing. When the old European and North American Railway
between St. John and Point Du Chene was built, in or about 185f6, an overbead bridge
crossing was made and naintained by the railway until about 1874, wheni it was in a
dilapidated condition, and it is sd that Mr. E. B. Chandler sold out whate'er right
he had acquired for an overhead crossing for $250, but no record cani be found of any
such transaction in the form of correspondence, voucher or otherwise, but Mr. Killamlî,
the present owner of the farm, fron Mr. Archibald's statement, appears to be aware of
the trans-iction, and I distinctly renember both Mr. Brydges and Mr. Chandler speak-
ing of it to me. Unfortunately both these gentlemen are dead, and appear to have left
no written word of the business behind then. This farn is abutted on one side by a
public highway, which crosses the railway, giving access from one part of the property
to the other, and therefore possibly we could abandon the overhead bridge which lias
since 1874 been erected by Mlr. Chandler and maintained by him, until he sold the
property to Mr. Killam, since which Killam bas given it such repairs as it has received.

"I have the honour to be,
" Your obedient servant,

"COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER.
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Q. Deboo's letter of December 18, 1891, shows that Killam had not up to that
date made the repairs ?-A. No, nothing was done up to that time.

Q. What is the date of the next communication ?-A. 5th February, 1892.
Q. You caused an inspection to be made by Taylor ?-A. Yes, Ezekiel Taylor.
Q. Then on March 11, 1892, appears a letter from Deboo to Archibald which I

pass to you and ask you to read.-A. Yes. This is da.ted March 11, 1892, from
roadmaster Deboo to P. S. Archibald

(Exhibit No. 11.)

"MONCTON, March 1lth, 1892.
"P. S. ARCHIiBALD, Esq.

"Chief Engineer Intercolonial Railway.

"SiR,-I herewith return you letters 44550 referring to Mr. Kiliam's overhead bridge
near Moncton. I notice in Mr. Taylor's letter he says a sudden change of weather
might move the sills and cause the fall of bridge. I think he should make some tempo-
rary repairs at once until he can properly repair it. I was by there to-day and do not
notice any change in the sills but of course the frost is not out yet. I was speaking to
Mr. Killam to-day about the bridge and he says he intends to fix it as soon as the
frost goes out.

" Yours truly,

" J. DEBOO.'

Q. That is another undertaking that Killam should repair it. In the meantime, as
appears by these documents, the i eceipt, which had been a matter of a great deal of
search and correspondence, is found, that is a copy of it is it not ? (Ehibit No. 1,2)-A.
Yes.

Q. That had been found during the tinie this matter was in dispute ?-A. Yes.
Q. Will you read that please ?-A. The letter reads

1869 27th August, 1869.

EUROPEAN ANID Ž'ORTH AMERICAN RAILWAY,

Dr. to E. B. CHANDLER,

August 27.-To this amount allowed for rebuilding bridge on Farm
crossing at "'Chandler's Cutting," near Moncton, in full of all claims $150 00
past, present and future.

Approved,
L. CARVELL.

27th day of August, 1869.

Received of the European and North American Railway in full of the above
account the sui of one hundred and fifty dollars.

E. B. CHANDLER.

27th August, 1869.

The above is a correct copy of voucher 106 E. and N. A. R.

T. WILLIAMS,

Chief Act. & Treasurer Intercolonial Railway.
10
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Q. Now that S150.00 was given in full of ail payments past, present and future
and the Chandler therein mentioned was the prior owner and occupant of this farin -
A. Prior to Mr. Killami.

Q. The next is a letter from Mr-. Killam to Mr. Josiah Wood who was an M.P. at
the time. Here is the letter-(Lehibit -o. 1,) What is the date of that A. 17th
July, 1894.

Q. Here is a letter (Ehibit -Vo. 1-) from Mr. Killai to 3r. Pottiiiger with a
clipping annexed?-A. The letter is dated Moncton, N.B., lth -July 1894. It is from
Mr. Killam to Mr. Pottinger, as follows

I beg to notify you that my herd of Jersey cows were killed and destroyed while
crossing the farm road bridge that crosses the Intercolonial Railway fron muy buildings
to the back part of the farm. Five cows and a voung bull went down with the bridge.
The cows were killed and destroyed but the bull was not hurt. The height of the bridge
above the track was about 24 feet. I claim from the Intereolonial Iailway fi'e lun-
dred dollars in damages, and this would not fully compensate me foi the loss sustained.
Taking the cows by the number that their milk was tested last week at the Fox Creek
cheese factory viz., 1 to 6 : Nos. 2 and 4 were killed instantly : No. 1 lias lier shoulder
badly broken and a rupture in her belly six or eiglt inches long su as to nake a bust on
her about twenty inches over, so that this cow is utterly worthless, and I don't think
she can live any time. Cow No. 3 bas her iip bone broken and otherwise injured in so
inany places that she is worthless. Cow No. 3 bas ber tail bone broken where it unites
with the back bone and so badly injured it inany other places thbat she is of little or no
value. This cow, being only three vears (ld, mnay recover so as to be of some value
another vear. They al! fell about twentv-four feet, as the flooring of this bridge was
about that distance above the railway track. The bridge was built in Septeimber, 1875,
therefore is nineteen years old and bas never hlad a dollar's worth of repairs during that
tinie. I hope you will lose no time in paying tue for the destruction of muy property.

Yours trulv,

"A. E. KILLAM."

Q. The accident to the cattle had occurred on the previous 153th, a few days
previous to the writing of the letter ?-A. It (loes not state whein that I can see.

Q. But it was a few days previous as a matter of fact A. It was previous to
that any way.

Q. This claim was not entertained by the Railway Departnent ?-A. Not at this
time.

Q. Here is a copy of a letter from Mr. Killai, on the 30th August, 1S94, if you
will please look at that-(Erhibit Xo. 1> A. That is dated the 30th August, 1894,
from Mr. Balderson to Mr. Killam, informing hii that his claini catriot be entertained.

Q. Here is another letter to Mr. Pottinger, fron Mr. Archibald, just look at
that ?-A. Yes, this is Mr. Archibald giving a report of it. 1e says :

"Referring to vour letter of the 27th ultimo, in regard to the claim of Mr. A. E.
Killam, for a number of cattle killed by the breaking down of an over-liead bridge near
Moncton on the 15th, ultimo, I enclose herewith all correspondence in connection with
this structure. It seens to me that it is a mtatter altogether for the Justice Departmuent
to deal with.

The question of the maintenance of this bridge was up in 1891, and I was
mlstructed, per your menmo. on Mr. Schreiber's letter of the 27th of August, 1891, to
call upon Mr. Killam to renew the bridge, and if he refused to do it to tear it down.
I accordingly notifier him on the 9th of September, 1891 (as per copy of letter here-
with attached.) He acknowledged his responsibility for the maintenance of the preserit
structure during its life time, as per his letter of the 9th of September, 1891, herewith
attached, and made such repairs as we then considered necessary to make it safe. 'I ie
trackmaster was instructed to watch it carefully and have it renoved, or neeessary
repairs made to keep it safe. About two years ago Mr. Killam had a gate put across-
the centre of it, lad we understood it was not to be used except for foot passengers.
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" I am satisfied the intention and expectation of the department was that this
.crossing had been purchased outright when the S150.00 was paid to Mr. E. B. Chand-
ler, in 1869, although the wording of the receipt is not as clear as it iight have been.
The old bridge remained in service some years after its purchase in 1869, and I believe
was taken down about the time Mr. Killam purchased the property in 1875.

"Mr. Killam, was aware of the sale of the bridge or crossing or both to the govern-
ment, and proceeded to erect an over bridge for his own private purposes making no
demands of any kind on the departnent to the best of my knowledge.

I think it would be well to have the question of the responsibility of the new bridge
settled at the earliest possible date, as if left for any length of time, and it should be
decided that the bridge should be erected and maintained by the department, Mr.
Killam might mnake up a very considerable claim for damages on account of being
deprived of the use of the bridge."

Q. Now, after this, Mr. Schreiber, you decided that the matter was entirely a legal
question and determined to leave it to the Department of Justice ?-A. I cannot sav
from memory.

Q. Just look at these letters, then. This first letter (EXhibit No. 17), is dated the
4th of September, 1894, just look at that ?-A. Yes.

Q. You so instructed the Secretary of the Railway Department ?-A. Yes.
Q. Look at the next letter attached to that, dated the 1 7th Septermber, 1894. Mr.

Balderson, Secretary of the Department refers the matter to the Department of
Justice ?-A. Yes.

Q. And does the Department of Justice report upon the matter a second time ?-
A. On the 26th of November, 1894, the Departmnent of Justice report on the claim.

Q. Just please give us the report. Do they report adversely or favourably ?-A.
Adversely to the claim.

Q. Will you just read the letter ?--A. The letter reads:

"OTTAWA, 26th November, 1894.

"The Secretary, Department of Railways and Canals,
" Ottawa.

"SIR,-Referring to your letter of the 17th September last, and previous correspond-
ence relating to the overhead bridge on R illam's farm, I have the honour ta state that,
so far as I am aware, there is no legal obligation upon the government (aside from con-
tract, and it is not suggested that there was any contract here), to maintain or provide
crossings for proprietors of land adjoining governmnent railways, although it would
appear to be the practice to furnish such crossings. See the case of Falconer vs. The
Queen, 1 Exch. C. R. 82.

" In the present case, if claim were made for the loss of Mr. Killam's cattle, and the
matter came before the courts, it could probably be established that any right which
there mav have been to have a bridge provided and maintained was abandoned for
valuable consideration, and no longer exists, but even if this were not shown, and it
were shown that, by contract or otherwise, the government was bound to provide and
maintain a bridge, there would, in my opinion, be no liability on its part to compensate
Mr. Killam for the cattle lost by hii under circumstances detailed in the correspondence.

"Papers returned herewith.

"I am, sir,
"Your obedient servant,

"E. L. NEWCOMBE,
"Deputy M inister of Justice."

Q. So that the opinion of the Department of Justice was that whetlher the govern-
ment under the circumstances of the case were under any obligation t9 maintain the

12
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bridge or not Mr. Killan had no claim against the railway ?-A. That is on the state
ment placed before the department.

Q. That is the last report you have had fron the Department of Justice on this
matter ?-A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Was the matter ever considered by the department after that, so far as you are
aware ?-A. I think the Minister of BRailways lad the matter up afterwards. He and
Mr. Pottinger had soine conversation as appears from this letter.

Q. What date is that letter ?-A. The 17th March, 1897.
Q. Fromi Mr. Pottenger to Mr. Blair ?-A. To Mr. Pottinger fron 3r. Blair.
Q. Will you please read it ?-A. " Dear Mr. Pottinger,-Pethaps you have forgotten

about the Killam matter. I ientioned to you awhile ago that I thought it desirable a
settlement should be made with hint for the cattle killed at the bridge, and you might
kindly give the subject your attention.

"Yours faithfully,
"AND>REW <G. RLAIRl."

Q. Was any one appointed to investigate as to the value of tese cattle ? Was it
referred to any officer of your department, or any emplovee of the railway to report upon
it in any way ?-A. J really cannot say. Alr. Blair was in New Brunswick at the timte
this matter was brought to a conclusion.

Q. But there is no record in your department of this ?-A. No, nothing.
Q. Merely a cheque was passed to Mr. Killan ?-A. Ye,, under instructions.
Q. For 8350.00 was it not -- A. Yes, S350.00 I think it was.
Q. This is the cheque and the voucher attached (Erhi/it 3o. 1).
Q. The check is dated when?-A. 1Sth March, 1897.
Q. How much was paid in that matter ?-A. There was paid by cheque $350.00, the

cheques signed by Mr. Pottinger and Mr. Williaiis, the ciief accountant and treasurer.

Mr. J. LORNE MCDOUGALL, Auditor General, being called testified as follows

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Mr. McDougall, you have been in the room and have heard this matter gone
into 2-A. Yes.

Q. Had vou at the time this claim and the papers were laid before you any report

before you from the Department of Justice ?-A. No.
Q. Were you aware that this matter had ever been referred to the Department of

Justice ?-A. No.
Q. And as a sequence you were not aware that it had been adversely reported

on ?-A. No.
Q. Had it been adversely reported on you wouki not have agreed to the pay-

ment?-A. No. Of course you understand the payments at Moncton are made under
credits. The payments would be made without my knowing anything about them.

Q. But you, as Auditor General, would not pass this if you had known it was
adversely reported on by the Minister of Justice ?-A. I could not.

Q. Then this matter was not revealed to you 2-A. No.
Q. [ see that you objected to paying the claim as it was ?-A. Well. as I recollect

it struck me that it was strange it was so old, but there is my letter there.

By JIr. Montague :

Q. Yes, you asked the reason why it was held so long ?--A. Yes.
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By Mr. Powell:

Q. You thought it was rather stale ?-A. An old claim always gives notice to
make further examination.

Q. And you intimated this objection to whom, in a letter of what date ?-A. To
Mr. Pottinger on the 8th October, 1897.

( Exhibi't Ko. 20. )

"AUDITOR GENERALS OEFICE,
"Sth October, 1897.

4 D. POTTINGER, Esq,
"Chief Supt., I. C. Ry.

"Moncton, N.B.

"SIR,-In the expenditure for working expenses of Intercolonial Railwav for 1896-
1897, I notice the following payment to Mr. A. E. Killam, of Moncton, N.B., under
date of 17th March, 1897 :-

Compensation and in full payment of claim for two Jersey
cows killed and three injured by bridge over railway fall-
ing on the 4th July, 1894 ......................... .$350 00

please give fuller description of the accident and the reasons why payment was deferred
for nearly three years. A claim of such age should have been submitted to tie Governor
in Council. In cases of this kind the voucher should always include a certificate from
some valuator with practical knowledge.

I have the honour to be, sir,
"Your obedient servant,

"J. L. McDOUGALL,
" A uditor General.'

Q. The general custom is to abide by the opinion of the Department of Justice as
to paying a claim ?-A. Yes, the departments do. Sometimes the Department of Justice
thinks a claim ought to be paid when I still object, but that is the rule with the
departments.

Q. But you never have an opinion of the Department of Justice overruled when
that opinion is adverse ?-A. No.

Q. And in respect to old claims is it not usual to have them paid in pursuance of
an Order in Council or the Order of the House ?-A. I have in my time thought it right
to have the government pass on old claims.

Q. Then vou have no objection to say that payment of this claim was unjustifiable?
-A. Well, according to what I have heard read.

By the Minister of Finance:

Q. You have had no communication with Mr. Blair on the subject and do not know
the other side, if there was another side ?-A. Well, I probably had a reply to my letter.

Q. The money was paid of course before it came to your notice and you made no
examination into the other side -- A. I wrote again for a reply to my letter giving a
description of the accident and so on and finally got one.

By 1fr. Powell:

Q. What date is that letter ?-A. It is a letter of the 12th January last.
14
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Q. Do vou rember, Mr. Auditor, whether tlat letter came to you f rom Moncton or
came through the circuitous route of the Railway Department ?-A. No. I do not.

Q. Look at this letter, dated 12th January, 1898, from Mr. Pottinger' to Mr.
Schreiber ?-A. Yes, this is what he says :

( Erh Iibit Ko. 21.)

MONCTON, 1 2thl January, I898.
"C. SCHIREMER, Esq., C.M.G.,

" Ottawa.

"DEAR SIR,-Herewith I send you all the papers in connection with the claim of
A. E. Killam for cattle killed. This claim was paid by the wish of the minister after
he had, I presume, looked into the matter, as 1 referred himu the papers. You will see
that the Auditor General is inquiring with reference to it. I got the paper's baek fromn
the secretary of the departmuent so as to enable me to reply to the Auditor Generals
letter. I now return you these papers, No. 71195 and 52177, and I also send you the
two letters of the Aditor General dated October 8th and November l3th, asking foi an
explanation. I inclose to you a letter that I have written ni answer to those letters of
the Auditor General and I will be obliged if vou look it over and, if vou consider it all
right, if you put it in the mail for the Auditor Genieral. You will know whether the
minister will care to see what is being done in regard to this matter now.

"Your obedient servant,

" D. POTTINGER."

The letter to mue which lie refers to is as follows:-

"MONCTON, 12tlh January, 18'98

"J. L. McDoUGALL, EsQ., C.M.G.,
" Auditor General,

" Ottawa.

SIR,--In answer to your letter dated Sth October, inquiring witl reference to the
payment made to Mr. A. E. Killim on the l7th day of March for Jersey cows killed
by the falling of a bridge and asking for a fuller description of the accident, I nay
explain that the main line of the I. C. R. froi Moncton to Halifax passes through a
farm which was occupied by Mr. Kiliam in 1894. The railway passes through a deep
cutting right across this farm and across this cutting and over the railway track there
is a wooden bridge to connect the two parts of the farm separated by the railway. Oni
the 14th July, 1894, this bridge fell down on the track while a herd of Jersey cattle
belonging to Mr. Killam were being driven over it into pasture. The cattle, six in
number, fell a distance of about 24 feet Two cows were killed and three badly wounded.
Mr. Killam claimed at the time $500 as compensation for bis loss. The claim was
under inquiry for somte ime and at first liability was not admitted bv the railway
because there was a difference of opinion between the claimant and the departmuent as
to which of these parties was responsible for the maintenance of the bridge. After full
consideration, however, the department decided to pay the claimant a reduced amnount,
which was accordingly done by the voucher referred to, and which amount was accepted
by the claimant in full settlement of his claim. I note what you say with reference to
the submission of such claims to the Governor in Council and with reference to the valu-
ation in such cases.

"I am, sir,
"Your obedient servant,

"D. POTTINGER."
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Q. Mr. Pottinger evidently did not want to put his foot in the matter ; ordinarily
the letters vou write to Mr. Pottinger would not r- quire any endorsation of the Depart-
ment of Railways that were simply inquiries as to facts ?-A. Yes. Of course I do not
know but Mr. Pottinger might consider it advisable to get Mr. Schreibers endorsation
to some things.

By the Minister of Finance

Q. -Mr. Powell's use of the word "urijustifiable" was Mr. Powell's rather than yours;
do you think in this matter that the paynent was not justified ?-A. Well I said it
hurriedly from what I have heard read ; I do not say as to anything that may have
happened since ; I just say as to the evidence given here.

Q. But there may be other facts ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Montague :

Q. You asked for other facts and did not get them ?-A. That is so.
Q. In your letter you asked : " Please give a fuller description of the accident and

the reasons why payment was deferred for nearly three years," and got no reply. Then
you say :-" In cases of this kind the vouchers should always include a certificate from
some valuator with practical knowledge," and no information was given as regards that ?
-A. No.

Q. So, in the absence of information as regards these two questions, would you regard
the payment as unjustified ?-A. Yes.

By the Minister of Finance :

Q. Did you make a demand for information ?-A. That was understood to be a
demand. When I am replying to Mir. Powell I am replying to a more serious thing, a
thing I did not suspect, that there was no real liability.

By M1r. Powell:

Q. The question I asked as to the utterly unjustifiable nature of the claim was that
there had been a prior rejection of the claim in the letter from the Justice Department.
-A. Of course, I think Mr. Pottinger should have said that in his letter to me.

Q. In justice to you you feel that this should have been brought to your notice ?
-A. That is my opinion.

Q. And there is virtually a conceaiment from you of these facts ?-A. I do not
know, but suppose that there was. I did not know that there were these objections to
its being wholly legal.

By .1ir. Fielding :

Q. You onlv asked for a fuller description of the facts; that they did give you
from their point of view ?-A. Yes. It ippears to me that on the face of it an objection
so serious should have been stated to me whether I asked it or not.

By Mir. Wood (Hamilton):

Q. There may be another side to this that may perfectly justify the payment ?-A.
Oh yes, I am only speaking in reference to the papers now read and of the view I can
take of them from the reading.

Witness retired.
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AMAsA E. KILLAM being sworn testified as follows:

By Mr Blair :

Q. You are the A E. Killam who had the claini against the railway departmnent
in connection with the loss of some cattle, are you not ?-A. Yes.

Q. You might state what this claim of yours arose out of ?-A. It arose out of the
bridge falling down across the farm crossing across the railway.

Q. What farm ?-A. The farm I lived on, the farma known as the Chandler farin
which I bought in 1875.

Q. That is right handy to Moncton ?-A. Right handy to Moncton.
Q. What loss did you sustain ?-A. I lost two heads of cattle instantly, and three

other cows that I would consider better killed than maimed and destroyed the wav they
were.

Q. That is tive altogether ?-A. Five altogether. These were on the bridge when
it fell.

Q. What description of cattle were thev ?--A. Jersey cows, a herd that I was soime
13 years in producing from a breed known as the Eddington, sired fron an aniial that
they paid 82,000 for in the States.

Q. Valuable cattle were they ?-A. Yes ; if any person had coie and offered Ie
8400 for them the morning of the accident I would not have taken it. I niay say that
three days before the accident I had all these cows tested at the Fox Creek Cheese Fac-
tory and they ran from 5-60 per cent to 7-40 per cent. I have here a clippng fromin a
newspaper which gives the results of the test as follows :-" No. 1 eow, 7 per cent of
butter fat ; No. 2 cow, 5·60 per cent : No. 3 cow, 7 per cent ; No. 4 cow, 7-40 per cent ;
No. 5 cow, 6-20 per cent No. 6 a heifer, 5-40 per cent ; average 6 and 8 points. As a
good average by this test is 4 per cent, Mr. Killain appears to be possessed of a valuable
herd. " That is 5·40 degrees of butter fat under the Babcock tester.

By M r. illeMullen :

Q. That is .5-40 degrees of butter fat 2-A. Yes. Each cow is nilked separately
and a certain quantity taken and tested with the Babcock tester. These two that were
killed instantly were the two that tested the highest.

By Mfr. Blair :

Q. How long had this bridge been standing, Mr. Killam ' This was a cnt was it
not through this fari ?-A. Yes, I made a little diagran of it and of the place which I
can show to the committee (Krhibit No. ?).

Q. This bridge crosses the cut which runs through vour farim ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is on the Intercolonial and this little drawing which you have here

(Elhibit No. 22) shows the section ?-A. Yes. There is a sligh t error in it, it is put at 25
feet but it seems that it is 24 feet.

Q. Did you know anything about this bridge before you occupied the fari ?-A.
Yes.

Q. It was standing was it, the saine bridge that went down ?-A. If I remeniber
rightly it was in 1872 that Mr. Chandler got me to go and make an estimate of the cost
of rebuilding the bridge, saying that he was discussing the matter with the government
of building the bridge, taking so much money and building a bridge for himself. I
went and made an examination and measurements and made an estimrate.

Q. And our estimate was 8250 ?-A. I think it was a larger amount than that.
Q. Then the bridge was not safe to cross at that tinie - A. It was fairly safe, a

person could cross it on foot, but no cattle or teams could cross it safely. Afterwards M r.
Chandler told me that he had made a contract with Aaron Wilson. Mr. Wilson also
told me that he would rebuild the bridge for 8250.

2a-2
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Q. It was rebuilt ?-A. No in 1875 I bought the farm and then I found that the
bridge was not built. I did not visit the farm when I was buying it. I then went to
Sir Albert Smith, the then Minister of Marine and Fisheries, and asked to bave the
bridge rebuilt. That was in 1875 sometime early in the season. He stated that the
railway had agreed with Chandler that he should build the bridge himself and that they
had paid him for doing this.

Q. That he, Chandler, should build the bridge ?-A. Yes and they gave him a certain
sum of money for doing it. They said that he was to have the bridge rebuilt and keep
it in repair and at the expiration of the lifetime of the bridge the railway would take
charge of it. I said then, as I say now, that I would not take a thousand dollars and do
without that bridge.

Q. Have vou any recollection of the sun to be paid ?-A. -ir. Chandler told me
$250.

Q. This was in 1875, was it ?-A. In the summer, probably in July. Before the
haying came on I built the bridge or rather I hired the men to do it, and the stone
abutments of the original bridge were there yet. I think it was a 35 foot span and I
increased it to 50 feet, and put two bents behind it and did not use the old stone foun-
dations under the bridge. The railway afterwards hauled that stone away. I did not
take any charge of them. I nay say there was some conservation between Mr.
Archibald and nie as to who really owned the stone and it was left that way; I would
not commit myself either way. Now, there is a question as to the inspection which I
wish to place before the committee, and the unsafety of this bridge. When the water-
works were built in Moncton, and it will be verified by the railway authorities, they
allowed the city authorities to lay their pipes through this cutting to get over to the
city of Moncton. They had to go under the bents and this cutting is through a clay
bank which the frost has great action on. When they put it in I told the waterworks
authorities I had great doubts as to the solidity of the work and they got cedar posts
and put the bents on that. The first year they slid a little and the next year more, but
these sills had been bolted down with one inch bolts. but it appeared as if the bridge
would fall in and this was all that caused the complaints of the railway men. I went
to the waterworks people and told them they must repair the bents and they removed
them about two feet back.

Q. When was that ?-A. About two years after the waterworks were put in ; and
the beats were put in and the next year it moved a little more. I went and examined
it and found these bents were bolted in and what little it had moved could not make
the bridge collapse.

By M1r. Montague:

Q. So in the end the waterworks did not injure the bridge ?-A. That is what
caused these reports.

Q. But the reports were unfounded ?-A. Not unfounded, because they were not
bridge men and did not understand how these were put into the bank. But it had to
be put back and they did it, but I may say that was not the cause of the final collapse.

Q. What was that due to ?-A. The life of the bridge had been outlived. One of
the top chords was tender and I at once told my men and ail about that this bridge
must not be used for heavy trafflc-they had a big team-and I put a lock on the bridge
to stop all tratlic about two days before it fell.

Q. When was that, do you remember ?-A. That would be in 1894, some timue
in June.

By lIr. Powell

Q. On July 15th 2-A. It fell on a Sunday, and on Thursday I closed it up.
It
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By the Minister oj Railways and Canais:

Q. What do you say the falling of the bridge was due to ?-A. The top clord was
old and wanted to be renewed.

By Mr. Cochrane.:

Q. How did the cows corne to be on the bridge ?--A. The cows got on the bridge
by some one getting the key unknown to me and driving the cows over.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. You kept the key ?-A. Yes, in the house.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. It was your- own man ?-A. It was a young mari I had, a young Frenchiman,
his name was Melancthon.

By the Mfinister of» Railways and ('anals

Q. Well, the bridge had lived out its age?-A. Yes, it had lived out its age, there
was no doubt about that, it had lived 19 vears.

Q. It was a wooden bridge and the two abutments wer-e stone ?-A. The two
abutments were cedar. Cedar beans bolted down in the bank, but the waterworks Iad
undermined these bents.

Q. But the bridge as originally built in 1874 or 1875 was approved by the railway
people, was satisfactory to them ?-A. Oh yes, satisfactory to them.

Q. And it lasted all right till by reason of age it becamne unsafe ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert 'upper:

Q. How long before the accident had you noticed the unsafe condition of the
bridge ? -A. It was only two days before the accident that I really fouid out the con-
dition of the bridge.

Q. And you gave instructions to your men not to use it ?-A. Yes.
Q. You told this man ?-A, Melancthon, yes.
Q. That was on Tuesday ;-A. No, Thursday ; it fell on Sunday.
Q. What did you tell him ?-A. They came in and told me that Melancthon had

got the keys to the bridge, and I said " What for ?" and I started and ran out to see
what he was going to do, and I just got in sight of the bridge when I saw it going down.

Q. But what did you tell him previously ?-A. Not to cross the bridge more than
for foot passengers.

Q. Did you tell him how to take the cows ?-A. Around the road.
Q. How far will that be ?-A. A quarter of a mile.
Q. He could have gone around a safe place a quarter of a mile around ?-A. Yes.

By the Minister of Rai/ways and Canals:

Q. Up to the time you closed the bridge and found on examination, it was unsafe,
it was a convenient and safe way to get from your farm to the pasture ?-A. Yes, it
was the proper way to get there. We had to go around through another man's land
otherwise

By Mr. Cochrane

Q. From whom Lad the water-works had that authority to put the pipes through
the cutting ?-A. From the railway, not from me.

19
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BJy Mr. Montage:

Q. But I understand that had nothing to do with the final falling of the bridge?
-A. Yes. But it had given rise to these reports.

By the MIinister of JRailways and Canals :

Q. These reports were founded on misapprehension ?-A. Yes, the beams and the
tops of the bents being closer than the bottoms, that is what the men said ; I discussed
it with them, I talked with all the men besides the engineer.

Q. Well, now, the department was aware, was it not, of your view and claim as to
your liability to maintain the bridge or to rebuild the bridge: that is to put up the
new one ?-A. This they knew fully.

Q. What did you state to them of your position in the matter ?--A. My state-
ment was that when I built the bridge in the first place it was distinctly understood
that I took Mr. Chandler's place to put up the bridge, and at the expiration of the
lifetime of the bridge they were to rebuild it.

Q. Wliat did that mean, the lifetime of the bridge ?-A. When the bridge gave
out. There had been little repairing done to it; there were no repairs except to the
flooring and a few of the joists.

Q. There is a letter here produced purporting to bear your signature ?-A. I
saw it.

Q. What do you say with regard to that letter ?-A. That was written at the
time that I went to the water-works and got them to put these bents back in position,
because in discussing it with these men thev stated that it was going to slide in.

Q. There was nothing that you wrote to the department acknowledging your liabi-
lity to maintain the bridge ?-A. I had no thought of such a thing.

Q. Nothing in your letter or communications of the prior owner looking to this
liabilitv to inaintain the bridge ?-A. He claimed that the railway had to rebuild the
bridge, and that is why J went and gave him an estimate and plan, it was a plan on a
cheaper scale than the original bridge had been. It was for S250, the original would
cost a great deal more. But this would be just as-durable.

Q. Here is a copy of a document from Chandler (E3hibit No. 12). What do you
say as to that ?-A. I understood from Mr. Chandler that he had a claim for damages
in connection with the floor of this bridge in 1869, the flooring was bad. He told me
that he had a claim, I did not know how much he expected them to help him pay for it

By Mr. Hayyart :

Q. Do you think that applies to it ?-A. Yes.
Q. How do you make out these words " To this amount allowed for rebuilding

bridge on farm crossing at Chandler's cutting near iMoncton in full of all claims past,
present and future , ?-A. I only remember the conversation he had with me, that is
all in reference to this bridge.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. You observe that is in full of all claims it might be for cattle killed or
anything ?-A. Yes.

Q. In full of all claims past, present and future, the claims are not particularly
identified ?-A. I distinctly remember the state of the platform of that bridge at the
time I made the examination and no team nor animal nor vehicle-nothing could cross
it except a foot passenger.

Q, You have already stated that you know that the repair of the bridge was
believed to lie with you both by Sir Albert Smith and by Mr. Chandler. Was not the
repair to include only the lifetime of the bridge ?-A. Only the lifetime. There was
no written document between Sir Albert Smith and me in reference to the matter. I

20
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had two conversations with him in reference to the matter, and that is the final con-
clusion he came to. The first time he would not give me a satisfactory answer, but the
second time he said he had looked into the matter and that I would have to maintain
the bridge during its lifetime or it would not be rebuilt by the railway.

Q. That is the claim you presented to my consideration ?-A. Yes.
Q. On that basis it was also adjusted between us ?-A. Mv claim was more than

that, but I finally said that I would take 8350 instead of the larger amount.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. Were there any papers ?-A. This was a verbal arrangement.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. You agreed that you would take $350 in settlement ? Was it not pointed out
that there was no satisfactory evidence to show that the railway was bound to repair or
to rebuild the bridge ?-A. No.

Q. That question remained open ?-A. Entirely open.
Q. And you disputed the right of the governmient to insist on the rebuilding of the

bridge by the owner of the property ?-A. Most strenuously. And in conversation with
Mr. Archibald he told me that if he could get an order be would put up a stone abut-
ment and iron spans the same as on other farms.

By _fr. Haggart :

Q. You discussed this then with other persons ?-A. With the railway people,
Mr. Archibald the chief engineer who was the main man that I discussed it with. I
.do not remember that I had any conversation with Mr. Pottinger.

Q. Did you write any letters as regards your claii A. Nothing further than
what is here. I bad very little corresponding about it.

Q. You put the strongest case you could in vour letter ?-A. I put it just as I
thought it was.

Q. But it was the strongest in truth ?-A. I put it as I thought it was.
Q. Is there any statement or record of vour conversation with Sir Albert Smith ?-

A. There is not.

By Mir. Blair:

Q. The conversation took place ail the same, did it not ?-A. Yes, there were two
meetings in his office in Dorchester.

By M1r. Haggart:

Q. This letter (Exhibit Ko. -); vour statement is that vou discussed that with Sir
Albert Smith, you said you thought the railway would build the bridge and lie said you
vould have to build the bridge once, and that after the lifetiie of that bridge the rail-
vay vould construct it and maintain it.---A. That is what I understood.

Q. In your letter vou state " I along in the latter part of the vear asked to have
the bridge rebuilt, the answer -was Chandler had been arranged with to build a bridge
for himself and if I wanted a bridge I would have to build one for myself. I did build
one which has stood till now, but wants rebuilding. Now I asked late Sir A. J. Snith
to pay me for the bridge and his reply was, Chandler lad been paid for the bridge and
I could get nothing while this bridge lasted. Some time ago I asked to have the bridge
rebuilt and I was astonished to get trhe reply that the railway had bought out the right
of the crossing " ?-A. Well, that is true, but did not go into the whole details.

Q. So that these details were not presented to the departient ?-A. They were
lot presented, but the details were discussed between Sir Albert Smnith and the engineer
and me.
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By the Minister of Railways and Canais :

Q. But all these details were discussed between us ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you remember speaking to me about it more than once ?-A. I only remem-

ber once, though I rnay have spoken more than once. I might have written you once,
maybe. It appears to me I did speak to you twice; it just occurs to me now that I did.

By Mr. Mlontague:

Q. You made no repairs to the bridge during its lifetime ?-A. I say I did make
some small repairs, planking and floor joists.

Q. How much ?-A. I did not keep an account of it ; I just put the plank on.
Q. Well, make a guess.-A. About $30 or 840.
Q. The reason I ask you if the bridge was repaired is that you say in one of your

letters that the bridge never had a dollar's worth of repair.-A. I meant the Railway
Department, of course : they never put any repairs on. I did not leave it clear between
Sir Albert Smith and I whether I would repair it or not, and that was discussed
between Mr. Archibald and I and who would repair it. It was a disputed point.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tuppr :

Q. What was disputed ?-A. As to who should repair the floor, whether the railway
or I should.

Q. Did Mr. Archibald deny the railway's right to repair it ?-A. Oh, no.
Q. He took the position that they would not repair it ?-A. No.
Q. He didn't say anything ?-A. He did not know whether they were bound to do

it or not, and I did not wish to contend about it, as it was a small affair to fix the
floors.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. How could he justify the action of the depariment if it became dilapidated ?-
A. I considered the government should rebuild it.

By Sir-Ch arles Hibbert Tupper

Q. When did you first represent to any officer of the government or any Minister
of the Crown the arrangement you had with Sir Albert Smith ?-A. Well, I could not
remember ; it was when some of these complaints came up in reference to the state of
the bridge.

Q. When was that ?-A. Three or four years before the bridge w ent down.
Q. Can vou fix it ?-A. About 1890.
Q. That was the first time you mentioned to any officer of the government the

arrangement you had with Sir Albert Smith in 1375 ?-A. That was the first time.

By Mr. Rosamond:

Q. Is there any record of that agreement ?-A. It was a verbal agreement; we
have no record.

By Mr. Powell:

Q. Sir Albert Smith died in the year 1883 ?-A. I suppose that is the time.
Q. And the E. B. Chandler referred to in this receipt for 8150 has been dead ten

or fifteen years also ?-A. I do not remember ; it is ten vears anyvay.
Q. And Sir Albert Smith had nothing to do with the Railway Department; he

was the Minister of Marine and Fisheries ?-A. But he was our representative.
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Q. And you never took any steps to have any record of the agreement in the
Railway Department ?-A. No.

Q. And the first time it bobbed up was when ?-A. When it came to tle surface,
when necessity required it to be brought to the surface.

Q. After that long time, some nine years after the death of Sir Albert Smith 1-
A. Yes.

Q. In your letter to the former superintendent, Mr. Carvell, vou stated the case
to him, did you not ?-A. Yes.

Q. Coming back to the state of the bridge, did you give it as Vour opinion tlhat
this $150 was in lieu of some damages Mr. Chandler had previousyiv suffered ?-A. I
supposed so from my conversations with Mr. Chandler.

Q. Now you say in your judgment it would have taken $255 to repair the bridge ?
A. That was my belief.

Q. Now how did you think that for $150 Mr. Chandler was to buidl a bridge to
cost -255 ?-A. I had my doubts whether that $150 had reference to the bridge
matter at all.

Q. But at all events whatever it had reference to would yo liave believe<d
Chandler was to build that bridge to cost $255 in consideration of the payment of
$150 ?-A. I cannot explain Mi. Chandler's position nor you.

Q. How long was it since that road across your faim was built A. I think
before vou or I was born.

Q. Mr. Chandler never rebuilt the bridge ; this crossing was made in 1 ?i9--A.
Yes.

Q. Mr. Chandler never rebuilt the bridge ?--A. No.
Q. He continued to use the roundabout way till he gave up the farm in I5 ?-

A. Yes.
Q. When you took the farn you agreed to reconstruct the bridge ?-A. I tried to

get the railway to do it, but when they wouldn't I did.
Q. From the time Mr. Chandler received the payment of 150 lie, Chandler, bad

abandoned the bridge and used a rioundabout way ?-A. Around the publie road.
Q. Don't you think Mr. Chandler got $150 for the bridge and for- having to use

the public road ?-A. My opinion positively is that he did not take it in lieu of that
bridge.

Q. In the correspondence reference is made to the floor. You never did any other
repairs on that bridge ?-A. Only to the flooring and the floor joists, tlhat was all that
was necessary.

Q. You knew within two days of the accident that the bridge was net safe A. I
considered it not safe.

Q. Didn'*t you know that a considerable time before ?-A. No ; I did not.
Q. When it first came to your knowledge that the bridge was unsafe, you Put a

gate across it ?-A. The gate had been across it always.
Q. But you locked the gate ?-A. Yes.
Q. And instructed vour men not to drive across it?-A. Yes.
Q. And these were your servants ?-A. Yes.
Q. And they took your key ?-A. Yes.
Q. And unlocked the gate ?-A. Yes.
Q. And drove across that bridge ?-A. Yes.
Q. And under these circumstances these cattle were killed --A. Yes.
Q. And in this time, although you had taken over the bridge, you lad never told

the company about the lifetime of the bridge having run ?-A. What do ou n mean?

Q. From the time in 1891 that you had undertaken to keep the bridge in repair,
you had never notified the company that the bridge had run its time ?-A. Not by
letter but by conversation I had, and Mr. Archibald had said that if lie could get an
order he would put up an iron span.

Q. That was in 1890 or 18912-A. That was in 1892 I think.
Q. In 1892 it appears by letter from Deboo that vou undertook te fix that bridge?

--A. I have already described that.
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Q. That would refer to the covering ?-A. No; to the bank sliding.
Q. Did you make any arrangements in pursuance of your conversation ?-A. I

went to the waterworks people and forced them to move the bent that had slid out.
Q. And from that time until your cattle were killed, you never put any expense

on the bridge except on the flooring?-A. That was all that was necssary.

By Mfr. Foster :

Q. When did you first approach Mr. Blair in reference to the payment of this
claim ?-A. In the winter of 1897, some time in February I think.

Q. At what time were you appointed on the railway ?-A. On the 1st May, 1897.
Q. Your communication in March with Mr. Blair occupied what length of time ?-

A. I spoke to him twice I think, once I can say.
Q. Did he refer you to any officers ?-A. He did not. I told him the papers were

all in the department and he could see them there.
Q. Did you have any conversation with Mr. Pottinger from that time until the

payment of the amount ?-A. None that I remember. I think I might have spoken to
Mr. Blair twice, once anyway.

Q. Was any officer of the department detailed to make any estimate of the value
of the cows?-A. None that I know of.

Q. They just took your claim ?-A. Yes.

Mr. CoLLINGWooD SCHREIBER being recalled testified as follows:

By Mr. Foster :

Q. From the time that the department refused this claim having the opinion of
the Departnent of Justice adverse to it, was it brought to your notice from that time
up to the time of the paynent of the claim ?-A. Ne I think not.

Q. Did you in 1896 or 1897 have or direct any correspondence between vour
department and Mr. Killam, or any person in his behalf in reference to it ?-A. I do
not think so; all the correspondence is here.

Q. You feel certain that no letters were written by your department or at your
order ?-A. There were no letters but what are here.

Q. The matter was adjusted and negotiations leading to its payment were all car-
ried on by Mr. Pottinger ?-A. Yes, I think so.

By Mr. Haggart:

Q. When the matter was submitted to the Justice Department was all the infor-
mation in the possession of your department placed at your disposal ?-A. Yes.

By fr. Foster.:

Q. Who occupies the farn at the present time ?-A. I really cannot tell you.
Q. Do you know what is the arrangement with reference to the maintenance of

the bridge at the present time ?-A. I cannot sav; I do fnot know.
Q. Does Mr. Killai occupy the farm ?-A. 1 cannot tell you.

By 3fr. Powel/ :

Q. Is it not owned by young Jones ?-A. I do not know I have no idea.

Mr. AMASA E. KILLiM recalled.

1By 3fr. Foster:

Q. Do vou occupy the farm ?-A. No ; it is occupied by Mr. Gurney Jones, Mr.
Oliver Jones's son.
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Q. How long has he occupied the farm ?-A. Two years.
Q. That is commencing when?-A. He commenced in 1897. This is the second

year.
Q. What occupation has lie of the farm, is lie the sole occupant A. Yes, lie

beught the whole thing from me.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER recalled:

By Mr. Foister:

Q. Has there been any correspondence at all with Mr. lones, who it seems owns the
farm, for these last two years ?-A. Not that I am aware of.

Q. No correspondence of anv kinîd ?-A. No.
Q. Can you as chief superintendent tell me what is the present arrangement? You

know that you have been mulcted in $350, what is the arrangement nlow for the keeping
of the bridge? Was Jones to do it or the departnment ?-A. I cannot speak as to that.

Q. Who would know ?-A. The Minister.

Mr. AMAsA E. KILLx recalled made the following statement

I may say that the two bents, the foundations and the two stringers are there now
just as when the bridge fell and evervthing I say can be verified I going there and
examining it.

By Mr Blair:

Q. There is no bridge ?-A. No.
The witness was discharged.

The Hon. A. G. BLAIR made the following stateient to the comimittee:

Having reference to this matter I would first iake a statement with regard to the

present situation I have had several interviews with Mr. Jones, seiiior, wLo repre
sented hîimself to me as owning the property. I did not kniow it was not himself who
occupied it. Every time that I have been in Moncton I have bad the pleasue of a call
from Mr. Jones with reference to this subject and lie bas claimed tiat it is the duty
of the department to restore the bridge and give him a crossing and lie lias
appealed to me to come and iiake a personal inspection of it, because lie is
satisfied that on looking the ground over mvself, and seeing the situation that
I would be better able to understand the case and would be more likely to recog-
nize without diflicultv or trouble the claim that lie should have this crossing put up.
I have always been very busy on the occasions that I have beei there, and although I
intended to go I have not been able to, go and the miatter reiains open one way or the
other until I get an opportunity to go with hini and visit the site of the bridge. He
has expressed himself to me as desiring to have the matter disposed of amicably, but in
some way raising the question, as he contends that the department is liable to tainitairi
the structure, and if the inatter is not arranged to his likiing to have it arranged by
some judicial proceeding. I told hinî I was willing to have the matter looked into, aid
so far as the question now is concerned it remains open. Some time in the fall (f 1097,
as far as my recollection serves me, Mr. -Killam brought this subject up. I think Le
spoke to me more than once. I think he spoke to nie on two or three occasion, about
the claim, and in consequence of what he said I spoke to Mr. Pottinger. and I wrote
that I was being pressed for consideration of this claim by Killan aind I was anîxious
to have it disposed of. M r. Killam put his case about as lie put it iere, thtat he had
met with this loss, and I think very likely, as he says, lie told me the papers lin the-
office would show just how the matter stood. I recollect having the papers biefore tme
though I do not recollect having the letter Mr. Killam wrote before mie, and I caie to

this conclusion, that the Department of Justice was in doubt whether the goverfinent
25
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was not in duty bound to maintain that structure ; at all events if not to maintain the
present one to keep the crossing there, and if the present structure became unfit for use
to replace it ; that that was the custom and usage of the railway department in regard
to these crossings. I gathered that from conversation with Mr. Pottinger and Mr.
Schreiber, and the doubt that arose as to wvhether or not Mr. Chandler had in his
arrangement with the department sold out, as it were, his right to this crossing. In
looking over the papers I could not find that he had. This document went, it seemed
to me, to look towards the erection of the then existing structure, but that did not
amount, between the government on the one hand and the owner of the property on
th.e other, to any disposal of their right to have the then structure maintained ; and
with this doubt I dealt with this claim of Mr. Killam's as I was advised by the officers
of t he department that it was the custom to deal that where there was reasonable
doubt it was always better to compromise matters. When it goes to law we never fail
to lose; if there is any possibility of litigation going against the government it is always
sure to go, even where there is no jury to intervene, and we have to pay all claims right
up to the handle. That I have always dlone ; for instance, if a fire occurs along the
track and there is doubt whether the fire was caused by the locomotive, and it is not
clear whether we are at fault, I have, after consultation with the officers of the depart-
ment, acted on this principle t hat it is better to compromise. Of course if there is no
case it is another matter.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Just here I would interrupt to ask if you have pursued that where specific
reference bas been made to the Justice Department, and the decision comes back that
it is not good in law ?-A. Yes, I have. I have never paid any of then in full. I
have paid them and shall continue to pay them so long as I have the present view.
There are many questions that come up in running railways where the strict legal view
will not hold, and where you may be absolutely sure that when it comes to a court and
jury you will be muleted ; and I do not think it is in the public interest that litigation
should be encouraged.

Q. But should vou not pursue the course of referring all such matters to the
Justice Department ?-A. You may often avail yourself of that ; when you are satisfied
in your owni mind there is no equity, nothing to appeal to the conscience of the tribunal,
you can fall back on the Departnent of Justice, and it is a justification for vou to say
that the Department of Justice advises that we cannot pay the claim.

B'y Mr. Powell:

Q. In this case the Department of Justice said there was no claim ?-A. I do not
understand it so. I think an examination into the correspondence will show that My
inference is correct, that there was an element of doubt about it, that there was no
evidence in the departuient that Chandler sold his right to that crossing; permanently
surrendered it to the department.

Q. In the course of your administration of the Railway Department in the case of
claims referred to the Justice Department, has it been the rule that vou have taken the
opinion of the Justice Departnent ?-A. That is the general rule.

Q. Has the rule been infringed ?-A. In this case.
Q. I do not nmean this case ?-A. I cannot recollect others at the moment.
Q. Cannot vou recolleet the imost frequent case of loss arising from tires and loss

f rom other causes ?-A. Yes, I think so. I think I remember one, the matter of Wise,
near Moncton, where the bouse and barns were burnt down.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Was that not a case -x here the department advised a settlement ?-A. I do not
hink so
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By Mr. Powell:

Q. That is in the last few months or years ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you know that it is the exterience of the department that where it is not

clear that the department is absolutely free from all possibility of claim, unless it is
clear in the case of fires that the fires could not have been due to the railway, that it is
better to settle in these matters on a compromise basis .- A. There may have been
some cases, I can tel better by referring to the documents.

Q. If you will kindly rub up your recollection?-A. I will.

By Sir Chares Hilbert Tupper,:

Q. Can you recollect a single case where the department paid, after a report of tho
Justice Department that the Railway Department was not liable for a single dollar ?-A.
I would prefer to look up the documents.

By M/r. Foster:

Q. Can vou recollect where something like this occurs ; where the justice depart-
ment says that in their opinion there is no case and then refers ià to the discretion of
the Minister ?-A. I think in the matter of cattle killed this lias been so.

EXHIRITS

referred to in the Fifth Report of the Public Accounts Coîmmittee.

t'iii No 1.)

INTER COLONIAL I1AILWAY,
MNlofiToN >S'ATIOiN, April 10th, 1 1.

P. S. ARCiBA,ýLD, Esq.,
Chief Engineer, I. C. R.

DEAR SIR,-I inclose you Foreman Ovid Lockhart's report referrinig to M r. Killam's
overhead bridge near the Irish Town road, East of Moncton, I told Foreman to see Mr.
Killam, with reference to the bridge as I had been looking at it and find the bents, that
hold the bridge up very much out of plumb and should have something done with therm
with reference to straightening them up. Will I tell Mr. Killai to straighten them up
or will we have to do it ?

Yours truly,
.J. DEBOt>.

( Exhiii Vo. ?.)

INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY,
MONCTON STATION, April lOth, 191.

By Telegram,
To M.. DEBOO.

DEAR SIR-Mr. Killam, looked at the bridge crossing the railway near Iri-.htown
road and thinks it is safe, but, as the bents are canted considerable now, I amn afraid
thatwhen the frost goes out they will fall over and the bridge will come down on the
track.

Yours,
OVID LOCKHART,

Section Foremuan, Sec. .8, Moncton.
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(Exhibit No. 3.)

INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY OF CANADA,
OFFICE OF THE CHIEF ENGINEER,

MONCTON, N.B., April 13th, 1891.
D. POTTINGER, Esq.,

Chief Superintendent,
Moncton.

DEAR SIR,-The overhead bridge erected by Mr. A. E. Killam, at the rear of his
place is in a dangerous condition, and I think some repairs should be made to it.

This crossing I always understood was purchased from the late Edward Chandler,
about 20 years ago, and the old bridge was taken down by the Railway Department. I
am not able to find any agreement in regard to it on file, and Mr. Killam, evidently
admitted there was such an agreement in existence before building the overhead bridge
in question at his own expense. I believe that he now states that we should maintain
this bridge. Will you instruct me as to what action shall be taken ?

Yours truly,
P. S. ARICH]BALD.

(ExYhibit No. 4.)

INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY OF CANADA,
OFFICE OF THE CHIEF SUPERINTENDENT,

MONCTON, N.B., 19th June, 1891.
C. SCHIEIBER, Esq.,

Chief Engineer and General Manager Government Railways,
Ottawa.

SiR,-The overbead bridge on Killam's farm, over Killam's cutting, near Moncton,
is in such a state of decay that it will have to be rebuilt. It has always been stated
that E. B. Chandler was paid for this crossing, and that we do not need to maintain
this bridge. Mr. Killam tells Mr. Archibald that Chandler was paid $250 in Mr.
Carvell's time, in 1873 or 1874-, to buy out the crossing, but we have had all the papers
looked up, both in connection with construction and maintenance, since that time, and
no record whatever of the payment can be found. Perhaps you remember something
about the matter. I suppose, however, it is not at alil likely that it is in any of the
books in Ottawa, as they will only refer to the construction north of Moncton. Please
give me any information there is, and also let me know what your decision is in regard
to this bridge, and whether we are to rebuild it, or permit Killan to rebuild it, or what.

Your obedient servant,
D. POTTINGER.

(F Khbit No. 5.)

LIONCTON, N.B., 17th July, 1891.
LEWIS CAIINELL, Esq.

SiR,-Ther'e is a matter that I an interested in, and I think you will reinember
something of it. which is the bridge across the Intercolonial Railway on my farm, over
over what is known as the Chandler Hill eut just east of Irishtown road. If you
remember, the bridge got bad and needed a new one along about 1872 or 3, and after
some time vou made an agreement with Chandler to rebuild the bridge for himself for
about the sum of S250 or perhaps S245, which sum I understood you paid him, and he
to build when he had a mind to, and he to do without the bridge till he did build with
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out calling on the railway. In 1875, some time in Februarv or Marci, I bought the
farm of Chandler and moved on the place the 5th of April, 1875. I, along in the latter
part of the year, asked to have the bridge rebuilt. The answer was Chandler had been
arranged with to build a bridge fo.r himself, and if I wanted a bridge I wouId bave to
build one for myself. I did build one, which has stood till now, but wants rebuilding.
Now, I asked late Sir A. J. Smith to pay me for the bridge, and bis reply was,
Chandler had been paid for the bridge, and I could get nothing while this bridge last.ed.
Some time ago I asked to have the bridge rebuilt, and I was astonished to get
the reply that the railway had bought out the right of t'he crossing. This I told
Mr. Archibald was not so. I told him al] the circumstances-how 1 hiad been
consulted by Chandler as to what the bridge wsas worth to rebuild before lie agreed
on an amount, and further that the farm was so situated thîat. I would not take 81,000
and do without the bridge, and that I knew that Chandier would never consent to lose
the crossing, so Mr. Archibald pronised me to hunt up Ciandler's agreement: and
yesterday lie toid me that there wvas no trace of any agreement nor where the railway
had ever paid Chandler anything. Of course Chandler is dead and can't b consulted.
Of course my interest in the farni was sold, but I hope to lie able before long to buy il
back. I told Archibald that I would write vou and see wliat you could remiember
about it. And it mav be possible that Chandier did not get anvthing as he did not
build the bridge. As I said before, Mr. Archibald says there is nîolhing te show that,
he got anything. You will excuse me writing at sucli lergth, but I wanted to gi-ve you
some of the particulars peradventure it might refresh your memory. I know Chandler
contracted for some of the tinber witi Aaron Wilson, and lie got part of tlhis tillîber.

Yours truly,

A. E. KILLAM.

MEmo.-The facts as herein stated, previous to 1875, are here correctly stated by
Mr. Killam. Early in 1875-I do not remember the ainount paid to iMr. Cliandier, but
the records will show--I know nothing of wliat took place after 1874. The papers
should show the terms upon which the money was paid to Chandler.

L. CARVELL
31st July, 1891.

i, of course know nothing about what was done after 1874.

L. C.

31st July, 1891.

I remember Mr. Killam speaking to me about the affair after I had left the railway
service.

31st July, 1891.

P.S.-All I know about this matter I have stated on the first page of this letter-
It seems to me that unless the papers signed by Mr. Chandler, which musti be on fyle in
the office, explicitely states that the money paid hini was daniages for doing away with
for ail time the bridge. The bridge when wore out would have to be rebuilt by the
railway.

L. C.

31st July 1891.
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(Exhibit No. 6.)

INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY,
MONCTON STATION, 31st JulV 1891.

P. S. ARCHIBALD, Esq.,
Chief Engineer, I. C. R.

DEAR SIR,-In reply to yours of the 13th of April last, referring to Mr. Killam's
overhead bridge, J would say I have spoken to him several times with reference to this
matter, and he says he thinks he has nothing to do with repairing it, waiting your reply.

Yours truly,

J. DEBOO.
(Exhibit No. 7.)

CHIEF ENGINEER'S OFFICE,
9th September, 1891.

DEAR SiR,-I am instructed to call upon you to renew or put in proper repair the
overhead bridge now used by you as a farn crossing.

The departinent claim to have purchased this crossing about the year 1874.
If the bridge is not kept in proper repair, I am instructed to have it torn down.

Yours truly,

P. S. ARCHIBALD.
A. E. KILLAM, Esq.,

Moncton, N.B.

(Exhibit No. S.)

3MONCTON, .9th September, 1891.
P. S. ARCHIBALD, Esq., C.E.,

Engineer, I.C.R.

DEAR SIR,-I am in receipt of your favour of this date in respect to the overhead
bridge on my farm, and in reply beg to state, that under the understanding I had with
the Railway Departnent-and with the late Sir A. J. Smith (then Minister of Marine
and Fisheries), in 1875, that as the Railway Department had arranged with the late
E. B. Chandler, jr., to rebuild the bridge for himself when he owned the farm prior to
1875, that I was considered bound by the agreement made by and with Mr. Chandler
to build the bridge during the life time of a wooden bridge, such as had rotted down,-
that had been built when the railway had been first built,-therefore did not contend
further, but built the bridge for the use of the farm, and now under that understanding
had then, will make such repairs as is necessary to maintain the bridge in safety until
a new bridge is necessary.

Yours truly,
A. E. KILLAM.

(E.rhibit No. 9.)

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,
OTTAWA, 27th September, 1891.

Secretary of the Department of Railways and Canals, Ottawa.

Sir,-Referring to your letter of 30th July last, No. 40837, I have the honour to
return herewith file No. 61089, of the Department of Railways and Canals, which 4 as
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inclosed therewith, and with respect to the matter as to which the advice of this Depart-
ment is desired am to state as follows :-

It appears that a certain overhead bridge on Killam's farm over Killam's Cutting,
on the line of the Intercolonial Railway near Moncton, N.B., erected by one E. B.
Chandler, the original owner of the property, is in such a state of decay t hat it mlrust be
either removed or renewed. It is believed that the right to an overheaI bridcge at this point
was bought out by the government some years ago fromr Mr. Chandler, for the sui of
$250, and it seens that no evidence of this can be procured. No receipt for the muoney or
release of the right to a bridge can be fountd, and Mr. Schreiber states that his depart-
ment is simply aware of the fact fron having heard Mr. Brydges and Mr. Chandler
both make the statement.

The point as to which advice is required seemls to be : Is the governmnent liable to
mainttain the bridge in quetion ?

Under the circumstances above stated it is inaterial to a consideration of this point
that the facts by reason of which it is assured that suci a liability did exist previous tO
the supposed release from Chandler should be known. If it is admritted that, until
released, the government was bound to maintain a bridge, and if nO evideuce of the
release can be procured, the liability of the governuent practically exists still, but it
may be worth while inquiring whether there are sufficient grounds for the assunption
that any such obligation was ever underta,-en by, or imposed upon the government. I
should be glad to hear what Mr. Schreiber has to say as to this aspect of the case.

Query.-Whether the evidence of Mr. Chandler as to the purchase of his rights is
available ?

I have the honour to be, sir,
Your obedient servant,

11OBT. SED-)GEWICKN,

D)eputy iin ister of ,Justice.

(Edhibit S(). 10.)

CANADIAN (OVERNMENT IIAILWAYS,
OFFICE OF THE CHIEF ENGINEER ANI GENERAL MANAGER,

OTTAWA, 5th October, 1891.

A. P. BRADLEY, Esq.,
Secy. Dept. Rys. and Canals,

Ottawa.

SIR,-Referring to the Deputy Minister of Justice's letter of the 27th ultimio, upon.
the subject of the keeping up of the overhead bridge on Killam's farm, I uay explain
that as I understand the Intercolonial Railway is bound to give each property it severs
a private crossing over the railway property either at rail level, by an overhead bridge
or by an under crossing. When the old European and North Anierican Railway between
St. John and Point du Chêne was built in or about 1856, an overiead bridge crossinrg
was made, and maintained by the railway until about 1874, when it was in a dilapi-
dated condition, and it is said that Mr. E. B. Chandler sold out whatever right he had
acquired for an overhead crossing for $250, but no record can be found of any such
transaction in the form of correspondence, voucher or otherwise, but Mr. Killamîr, the

present owner of the farm, from Mr. Archibald's statement appears to be aware of the
transaction and I distinctly remember both Mr. Brydges and Mr. Chandier speaking of
it to me, unfortunately both these gentlemen are dead, and appear to have left no

written word of the business behind theni. This farm is abutted on one side by a

public highway which crosses the railway giving access from one part of the property
to the other and therefore possibly we could abandon the overhead bridge, which ias
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since 1874 been erected by Mr. Chandler and maintained by him until he sold the pro-
perty to Mr. Killam, since which Killan has given it such repairs as it has received.

I have the honour to be
Your obedient servant,

COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER.

( Exhibit No. 11.)

INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY OF CANADA,
MONCTON STATION, 1lth March, 1892.

P. S. ARCHIBALD, Esq.,
Chief Engineer Intercolonial Railway.

SIR,-I herewith return you letters 44550 referring to Mr. Killam's overhead
bridge near Moncton. I notice in Mr. Taylor's letter he says a sudden change of
weather might move the sills and cause a fall of the bridge, I think he should make
sone temporary repairs at once until he can properly repair it. I was by there to-day
and do not notice any change in sills, but of course the frost is not out yet, I was
speaking to Mr. Killain to-day about bridge and lie says he intends to fix it as soon as
frost goes out.

Yours truly,
'J. DEBOO.

( Exhibit No. 12.)

EUROPEAN AND NORTH AMERICAN RAILWAY,
Dr. to E. B. CHANDLER.

1869i.

Aug. 27. To this amount allowed for rebuilding bridge on farm crossing
at " Chandler's Cutting," near Moncton, in full of all claims past,
present and future ............ ....... . .. .................. . $150.00

27th Aug., 1869.

Approved.

L. CARVELL.

Received of the European and North American Railway in full of the above
account, the sum of one hundred and fifty dollars, 27th day of August, 1869.

E. B. CHANDLER.

The above is a correct copy of voucher 106 E. & N. A. R. W.

27th August, 1869.

T. WILLIAMS,

Chief Accou ntant and Treasurer, IC.R.

( Exhibit No. 1.3.)

RAILWAYS AND CANALS.

Received July 20th, 1894.

SECRETARY'S OFFICE, MONCTON, N.B., July 17th, 1894.

JosIAH WOoD, Esq., M.P.,
Ottawa, Ont.

SIR,-You have doubtless heard of the Farm Bridge across the I. C. R. on my

farm breaking down last Sunday morning at 6.10, just after the express had passed on
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to Halifax, and my herd of Jersey cows, five of them in numîber anid a bull (, I urt),
went down twenty-four feet with the falling bridge. Two cows were killed in-tantly,
and the remaining three so badly injured that they were utterly worthless, in fact so far
as the profit is concerned it would have been better had they all been killed, as aniy
person would say upon seeing them. I have filed a claim here witlh M r. Pottinger, aild
herewith send you a copy of saine to submit to the Minister of Railways aId ask him
for a settlement of the claim. I have been thirteen years in gettinig this herd togetier,
and they were all first-class cows, as I have been very careful in selecting themiu. 1 sup-
pose you saw a report of the test of the milk made last week at the iiew cheese factory
at Fox Creek. You will see in last Friday's Times and Saturday's Truî r/e a report
of the test above mentioned. You will kindly see that the proper authtorities take im-
mediate steps to have the bridge rebuilt. I suppose you will soon be homne.

Yours truly,

A. E. KILLAM.

(Exhibit No. 14.)

"TRANsCRIPT," July 14th, 1894.

"A FINE IlERD.

"The St. Anselne factory, Fox Creek, is supplied with a inbcock test er. M r. A.
E. Killam, M.P.P., had the mnilk of his herd of Jerseys tested, the resuh lt binî as fol
lows :-No. 1 cow, 7 per cent of butter fat ; No. 2 cow, 5-60 Per cenit ; Not. 3 cow, 7
per cent ; No. 4 cow, 7-40 per cent ; No. a eow, 6-20 lier (ceit No. (, a hleifer, 5-40 per
cent. Average, 61 and 8 points. As a good average by this test iS 1 per cent, Mr.
Killam appears to be possessed of a valuable ierd."

M ONCToN, N. B., 1I th J uly, 1æ)4.

D. POTTINGER, Esq.,
Chief Superintendent of the Intercolonial tailway.

I beg to notify you that my herd of Jersey cows were killed and destroyedl while
crossing the farm road bridge that crosses the Intercolonial Iailway from ily buill-
ings to the back part of the farm. Five cows and a younîg bull went dowi witlh the
bridge. The cows were killed and destroyed but the bull was not huirt. 'Tlie
height of the bridge above the track was about twenty four feet. I elaii fromt the
Intercolonial Railway five hundred dollars in daiage, and this would n1ot fully coeu
pensate me for the loss sustained. Taking the cows by the numiber that their mnilk was
tested last week at the Fox Creek cheese factory, viz., oIe to siz. Nos. 2 and 4 were
killed instantly, No. i bas ber shoulder badly broken and a rupture ili her belly six or
eight inches long, so as to make a bust on lier about twenty ilches ovr, so that tlis
cow is utterly worthless, and I do not think sie can live any timte. Cow No. :) lia' lr
hip bone broken and otherwise injured in so many places thiat shie is wortiless. Cow
No. 5 has ber tail bone broken where it unites with the back-bone, arid so badly iunjured
in many other places that she is of little or no value. This xow being only liree years
old may recover so as to be of some value another year. They all fell about twenty
four feet, as the flooring of this bridge was about that distance above the railway track.
The bridge was built in September, 1875, therefore is nineteeni years old, aid lias never
had a dollar's worth of repairs during that time. I hope you will 1ose. no time in pay-
ing mne for the destruction of my property.

Yours truly,
A. E. KILLAM.
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(Exhibit No. 15.)

DEPARTMENT OF RAILWAYS AND CANALS,
OTTAWA, 30th August, 1894.

A. E. KILLAM, Esq.,
Moncton.

SIR,-With reference to your claim against this department for compensation for
cows killed and injuries by the collapse of the overhead bridge across the Intercolonial
Railway on your farm at Moncton, which claim has been presented by Mr. J. Wood,
M.P., I am directed to inform you that the claim cannot be entertained.

I am, sir,
Your obedient servant,

JNO. Hl. BALDERSON,
Secretary.

(Exrhibit No. 16.)

MONCTON, N. B., 1st August, 1894.
D. PoTTIINGER, Esq.,

General Manager,
Moncton.

DEAlM SIR,leferring to your letter of the 27thl ultimo in regard to the claim of
0 r. A. E. Killain for a number of cattle killed bv the breaking down of an over-head

bridge near Moncton on the 15th ultimo, I inclose herewith all the correspondence in
connection with this structure. It seems to me that it is a matter altogether for the
Justice Departinent to deal with.

The question of the maintenance of this bridge was up in 1891, and J was
instructed per your meio. on Mr. Schreiber's letter of the 27th of August, 1891, to call
upon Mr. Killam to renew the bridge, and if he refused to do it to tear it down. J
accordingly notified hini on the 9th of September, 1891, (as per copy of letter herewith
attached). le acknowledged his responsibility for the maintenance of the present
structure during its lifetimue, as per his letter of the 9th of September, 1891, herewith
attaehed, and made such repairs as we then considered necessary to make it safe. The
trackmaster was instructed to watch it carefully and have it removed, or necessary
repairs made to keep it safe. About two years ago Mr. Killam had a gate put across
the centre of it, and we understood it was not to be used except for foot passengers.

I am satisfied the intention and expectation of the department was that this
crossing had been purchased outright when the $150.00 was paid to Mr. E. B.
Chandler in 1869, although the wording of the receipt is not as clear %s it might have
been. The old bridge remained in service some years after the purchase in 1869, and I
believe was taken down about the time that Mr. Killam purcbased the property in
1875.

Mr. Killam was aware of the sale of the bridge or crossing, or both, to the govern-
ment, and proceeded to erect an overbridge for his own private purposes, making no
demands of any kind on the department to the best of my knowledge.

I think it would be well to have the question of the responsibility for the new
bridge settled at the earliest possible date, as if left for any length of time, and it
should be decided that the bridge should be erected and maintained by the department,
Mr. K illai might make up a very considerable claim for damages on account of
being deprived of the use of the bridge.

Yours truly,
P. S. ARCHIBALD.
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( Eh7ibit Ko. 17. )

OFFICE OF THE CHIEF ENINFE OF RAILWAVS ANi CAvNAL.S.

J. H. BALDERSON, Esq.,
Secretary Rys. and Canais.

Ottawa.

SIR,-I send you herewith copies of papers wit]h refereniee t4o the claiii of M r. A E.
Killam for cattle alleged to have been killed by tlie breaking diwn iif ihe verhead
bridge on the Intercolonial Railway near Moneton. Tiis appears mo me to be altogkether
a legal question. T return you nunbers 61953 and Gl 920.

I am, sir,
Your obedient servant,

COLLTNWOOI SCl llEIm,

Clé ief Eg r

L. N. J1

DEPARTMENT OF RAILWAYs ANi (CANALs.
>TTAwllA, Septembl er 1 7thi, 1894,

E. L. NEWCOMBE, Esq.,
Deputy M inister,

Dept. of Justice.

SîR,-I have the honour, by direction, to forward lerewitli papers relative to the
claim of Mr. A. E. Killam for compensation (8500) for eattl aleged to liave been killed
by the breaking down of an overhead bridge on the I. C. R. iear MniuTctoi1.

From these papers you will see that the question lias already arisel as tg) Ilie
liability of the government to maintain the overliead bridge in question, aid tlie matter
was referred to the then Deputy MINinister of Justice, in July and Oetober, 1891, for
advice, but this department does not appear to have received any dlefinite opinion on the
subject.

Mr. Killam now asks that he be now cornpensated for the alleged loss of his cattle,
and this question seems to hinge on the first question raised, viz., as to the liability oîf
the Crown to maintain the bridge.

I have the honour to be, sir,
Your obedient servant.,

JOIN Hl. BALDERSON,
-Scretary.

OTTAWA, 26th November, 1891.

The Secretary Department of Railways and Canals, Ottawa.

SIR,-Referring to your letter of the 17th September last, and previous corres

pondence relating to the overhead bridge on Killam's farn, I have the honour to state

that, so far as ara aware, there is no legal obligation upon the government (aside froi

contract, and it is not suggested that there was any contract here,) to maintain or pro-
vide crossings for proprietors of lands adjoining government railways, although it would
appear to be the practice to furnish such crossings. See the case of Falconer vs. The
Queen, 1- Exch. C. R., 82.

In the present case, if claini were made for the loss of Mr. Xillanis cattle, and tie
matter came before the courts, it could probably be established that any rîght that there
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may have been to have a bridge provided and maintained was abandoned for valuable
co>nsideration, and no longer exists, but even if this were not shown and it were not
shown that, by contract or otberwise, the government was bound to provide and main-
tain a bridge, there would in ny opinion be no liability on its part to compensate Mr.
Killam for the cattle lost by him under the circumstances detailed in the correspondence.

Papers returned herewith.
I an, sir,

Your obedient servant,

E. L. NEWCOMBE,
Deputy Minister ofJustice.

DEPARTMENT oF RAILWAYS AND CANALS,
OTTAWA, November 29th, 1894.

(eneral Manager Government Railways, Moncton, N.B.

SR,--Referring to your claim of Mr.A. E. Killam for compensation for cattle alleged
to have been killed by the breaking down of the overhead bridge on the 1. C. R. near
Moncton, I have to inforn you that all the papers having reference to the claini were for-
warded for the opinion of the Minister of Justice as to the liability of the Crown in
this niatter, and that a report (copy of which is inclosed herewith) has been received
froin that departinent, dated the 26th inst., setting forth that under al] the circum-
stances of the case no liability attaches to the Crown to compensate Mr. Killam for his
alleged loss.

I am, sir,
Your obedient servant,

JNO. H. BALDERSON,
Secretary.

(Evhibit No. 18.)

MINISTER'S OFFICE.
OTTAWA, 17th March, 1897.

D. POTTINGER, Esq.,
General Manager, Governmient Railways, Moncton, N.B.

DEAR Mi. PoTTINGER,-Perhaps you have forgotten about the Killam matter. I
mentioned to you awhile ago that I thought it desirable a settlement should be made
with him for the cattle killed at the bridge, and you might kindly give the subject your
attention.

Yours faithfully,

ANDREW G. BLAIR.

(Exhibit No. 19-Cheque.)

Intercolonial Railway, $350.00
MoNCToN, N.B., 18th March, 1897.

To the Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, Ont

Pay to the order of A. E. Killan, Moncton, the sum of three hundred and fifty
dollars, for chrs. foi cows killed and injured. Voucher No. 5602.

F. WILLIAMS,
Chief Accountant and Treasurer.

D. POTTINGER,
Gleneral Manager.
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INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY.
Date of rendering Account, 189

Dr. to A. E. KILLAM,
P. O. Address, Moncton, N B.

Date of Service. Order No. Particulars. Amount.

March 17. To compensation and in full payment of claim for two Jersey
cows killed and three injured by bridge over the Railway
falling, on the 14th July, 1894..................... .... $350 00

W. N. R.

(Signed in duplicate.) 5602

Received of the Intercolonial Railway, in full of the above account, the sum of
three hundred and fifty dollars, 20th day of March, 1897.

A. E. KILLAM.

(Erhibit No. 20.)

AUDITOR GENERAL'S OFFICE, CANADA,
OTTAWA, October Sth, 1897.

D. POTTINGER, Esq.,
Chief Supt. I. C. R., Moncton, N.B.

SiR,-In the expenditure for working expenses of Intercolonial Railway for 189G-
97, J notice the following payment to Mr. A. E. Killam, of Mloncton, N.B., under the
date of March l7th, 1897 -

Compensation and in full payment of claim for two Jersey cows killed
and three injured by bridge over the railway falling, on the 4th
July, 1894.............................. .... .... $350

Please give a full description of the accident, and the reasons whiy payment was
deferred for nearly three years.

A claim of such age should have been submitted to the Governor in Council.
In cases of this kind, the voucher should always include a certificate from some

valuator with practical knowledge.

I have the honour to be, sir,
Your obedient servant,

J. L. McDOUGALL,
A uditor Generai.

(Exhibit No. 21.)

INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY OF CANADA.
OFFICE OF THE GENERAL MANAGER,

MONCTON, N.B., 12th January, 1898.

C. SCHREIBER, Esq., C.M.G.,

Deputy Minister and Chief Engineer, Railways and Canals, Ottawa.

DEAR SIR,-Herewith I send you all the papers in connection with the claims of
A. E. Killam for cattle killed.
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This claim was paid by the wish of the Minister, after he had, I presume, looked
into the matter, as J referred him to the papers.

You will see that the Auditor General is inquiring with reference to it. I got the
papers back f rom the secretary of the department, so as to enable me to reply to the
Auditor General's letter. I now return you these papers. No. 71195 and 52177, and I
also send you the two letters of the Auditor General dated October 8th and Noveimber
13th, asking for an explanation.

I inclose to you the letter that I have written in answer to these letters of the
Auditor General, and I will be obliged if you will look over it, and if you consider it all
right if you will put it in the mail for the Auditor General.

You will know whether the Minister will care to see what is being done in regard
to this matter now.

Your obedient servant,
D. POTTINGER.

Answer and send letter to Auditor General.

( Exhibit No. 22.)

Sketch of overhead bridge at Killam's cutting.
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APPENDIX No. 21.

CoMMITTsf RooI,
()rrAWA, Mny,30th 3May, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts beg leave to present the fol-
lowing as their Sixth Report.

Your Committee have had under consideration the accounts, vouchers and other
papers in connection with certain paynents made to the Baie (les Chaleurs Railway
Company as set forth on pages R-4, 281, 282, >30, 3:1 and 344 of the Report of the
Auditor General for the year ended 30th June, 1897 ; and li conriection therewith have
examined the Deputy Minister of the Departnent of Railways and Canals umder ùath,
and for the information of the House report here-with the evidence given by him aind
the exhibits filed during his examination; and vour Comimnittee recommend that the
said evidence and exhibits be printed.

AIl which is respectfully submitted.
J. McMULLEN,

Chairman.

21 1
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EVIJDENCE

RE PAYMENTS TO BAIE )ES CHALEURS RAILWAY C OIPANY.

CoMMITTEL RooM, Wednesday, 18t M3ay, I88

The Committee met at Il a.m., Mr. James McMullen, in the chair.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, being called and sworn, testitie(d as follws:

L'y Mr. Foster:

Q. Mr. Schreiber, are you acquainted with the circumsî.tances ii connectionii with
the operation of the Baie des Chaleurs Railway, so called, by the government ?-A.
Not in detail.

Q. But you have a general knowledge of it ?-A. Yes.
Q. What time was that railway operated by the 1)epartment of Railways and

Canals?-A. From the 31st December, 1896, until June, 1S97.
Q. A period of five months ?-A. Yes.
Q. Was there any Order in Council passed with reference to the government utider-

taking the operation of that road ?-A. Yes.
Q. Have you the Order in Council with vou ?-A. i have, (Produced and filed as

Exhibit No. 1.)
Q. This is an Order in Council dated 19tlh November, 1896, which is the authority

under which you operated the road ?-A. It is.
Q. It reads as follows:-

EXTRACT jrom a Report of the Commzittee oj the Honourable tte Priry Concil
approved by Uis Excellency on the 1 9th KVovember, 1896.

" On a report dated 17th November, 1896, from the Minister of Railways and
Canals, stating that the Atlantic and Lake Superior Railway Company have made appli-
cation for a re-vote of the subsidies granted to the Great Eastern Railway Company to-
wards the construction of a railway from Sorel to Chaudière Junction, and also for the
subsidy of $3,200 per mile for the extension of the Baie des Chaleurs Railway fromi
Paspediac to the Gaspé Basin, and have prayed that the amount of the several bonuses
given by Dominion government and the municipalities and provincial government
may be taken and held by the government of Canada as a fund out of which to
guarantee and pay interest on the company's issue of bonds as authorized by their
charter, and in accordance with the scheme outlined in the company's proposals.

"The minister observes that in promoting the application the company have
pointed out that the Baie des Chaleurs Railway is at present in the hands of seques-
trators under proceedings pending in the courts of the province of Quebec, and is there-
fore not in running operation, greatly to the injury of the section of the country
through which the road passes, and it is represented by the president, directors and
other persons who have been heard by the sub-committee of the Privy Council in support
of the application of the Atlantic and Lake Superior Company that the operating of
the said railway during the winter will be of immense benefit to the locality through
which it runs and it will be a valuable feeOhr to the Intercolonial IRailway, and they

2b-1½
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add that arrangements are practicable and could be made, if approved by your Excel-
lency in Council, between the courts having the sequestration proceedings before them
and the department of Railways and Canals.

"The minister has to add that, in proposing that the government should take over
and operate the Baie des Chaleurs Railway for the coming winter, it was strongly repre-
sented to the sub-committee of the Privy Council that the road was in good safe work-
ing condition and was provided with sufficient rolling stock in good serviceable condi-
tion and should be operated for the winter season by the Department of Railways and
Canals as a branch or feeder to the Intercolonial Railway, not only without loss to the
governnent but so as to produce a balance over working expenses.

" The minister, in view of the above representations as to the condition of the said
railway and as to its earning capacity if operated during the coming winter season, and
in view of the other representations made to the sub-committee on the hearing of the
application of the Atlantic and Lake Superior Railway Company, recommends that it
be ordered that an exanination of the Baie des Chaleurs Railway be caused to be made,
with a view to ascertaining whether the saine is in good safe working condition without
requiring any present considerable outlay, and whether there is available a sufticient
supply of suitable roling stock for the purposes of the railway, and that upon its being
so ascertained the Minister of Railwavs and Canals be empowered to enter into an
agreement with the proper officers or person having authority in the premises to take
over the said railway for such period as may be agreed upon, not exceeding six months
from the date of such agreement, and upon such agreement being entered into to take
over and operate the said railway, and to retain to the sole uses of the Department of
Railways and Canals all receipts derived from the said railway, and to make such
usual and necessary outlays in the running of the said railway as may be incident there-
to, and so far as the Parliamentary Appropriation Act may allow, and that the Atlan-
tic and Lake Superior Railway Company and all other persons interested therein are to
take notice that neither the said agreement, if entered into, nor this minute of Council,
nor the taking over and operating of the said railway are to be understood as commit-
ting the government or the Department of Railways and Canals to any further accept-
ance of the said company's general proposal now under submission to the government,
than is hereby expressly approved, or to any parts thereof, nor as implying any engage-
ment on the part of the government to renew or continue beyond the term aforesaid
the arrangement respecting the operating of the said railway."

Was there any other Order in Council besides this operating as authority for your
taking over the railway ?-A. No.

Q. Now, it is recommended in this by the minister that it is represented by the
company in short, " that the road was in good safe working condition and was provided
with suflicient rolling stock in good serviceable condition and could be operated for the
winter season by the Department of Railways and Canals as a branch or feeder to the
Intercolonial Railway, not only without loss to the government but so as to produce a
balance over working expenses." The minister suggests an investigation as to these
allegations, was any official appointed to do so ?-A. Yes.

Q. Who ?-A. Mr. Ridout.
Q. And did Mr. Ridout visit the road ?-A. He did.
Q. At what time ?-A. The early part of December.
Q. And made a report thereon ?-A. Yes.
Q. What is the substance of Mr. -Ridout's report thereon ?-A. Here it is (produced

and filed as Exhibit No. 2).
Q. You are familiar with it, what does it say ?-A. I find there were two officers

appointed, Messrs Thomas Ridout and H. Beauchemin.
Q. What was the date ?-A. 4th December, 1896.
Q. And what is the purport of their report ?-A. They state that there were

certain repairs necessary before the road-would be in a safe condition to operate.
Q. And that it was not in a safe condition to operate ?-A. Yes.
Q. What repairs did they say were necessary ?-A. The widening of banks and

ditches, culverts to be built, ballasting to be done, also fencing, some public road
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crossings to be finished, engine house to be finished, and various works of that kind
They say :-" We have personally inspected the railway fron Mletapedia-junction with
Intercolonial Railway-to Nev Richmond, sixty-eig ht miles. From New Ri'h mond to
end of track-eightieth mile-we have fou(1 it practically impossible to ispect, owing
to a greater quantity of snow on the track, and to the unsafe condit ion of the trestles
over one of the branches of the little Cascapedia River being damnaged by ire. This last
part of the railway was built in 1893 and is in good condition, but from information-
reliable sources-requires snow fencing as per estimate attacled. Tiere is sone riglt
of way remaining unsettled, the amount of whieh we are unable to state vithout con-
sulting the books of the company. As a whole, we have found the road bed in a
thoroughly good condition though most of it built- an somnewhat negleted-since
186U-87. this being practically due to the fact that the formation 15 isio-t ly gravel. In
order to facilitate matters we have divided up the line in tennile sectiois, givimig
details of repairs required to be clone, tog-ether with estimates of cost for eali secit.
Then follow the details of their inspection.

Q. Did you have any report as to rolling stock ?-A. M v rolleetion i. that
Mr. Brown, the mechanical superintendent of the Intercolonial, as regtards the rolling
stock examined it, but these gentlemen only went into itatters outsid( of rolling st

Q. Did thev give in any estimate of cost ?-A. They ve il all in detail here.
Q. What is the total cost of putting the road in safe workig order 1A.-(,804.
Q. Tlat is, they report that in order to put tis road iito a good safe working

condition there was the necessity of an outlav of "86,804 ?-A. Iu appears su.

Q. As chief engineer, what would be your opinion of tle al legation >f the company,
as the minister says it was made, contained in these words, " tait he road was in good
safe working condition and vas provided with sutficient rollinig tok in good serviceable
condition and could be operated in th- w inter seasoti by the 1 )epartmeiit of ,ailways and
Canals as a branch or feeder to the Intereolonial Railha.v Cortpanv, not onlv witîhout
loss to the government but so as to produce a balance over wor'king expenses ? Is it
your opinion that in the nev light of tlhat report of the eigineers that t bis stateieit
was warranted ?-A. That it was in good condition ? No, it was not.

Q. That as a matter of fact it required .6,S04 to put it in good condition ?

A. Yes.
Q. \Vith reference to the rolling stock have vou Mr. rown's r'eport tiere 7-

A. Yes. There it is ; I have it here. (Exbibit No. 3.)
Q. And what is the purport now of Mr. Browns report as regards rolling stock ?-

A. That it would cost 6,700 to put it in a safe and serviceable conlition.
Q. Then, in brief, the report of the engineer's department \vas that it wotild c-ost

8S6,00 to put the road into safe wvorking condition and 4;,000 tdd to make the rollintg
stock adequate to the work ? I, that a correct statement Mr. >Schreiber A No. I read
from the endorsement on the back. It does not seen to be so. I see ii the body of
the report is says : " Sumnmary of estimate of repairs required to put such part of the
rolling stock ofthe Baie des Chaleur Railway as can be aecepted into thorouih good
repair and up to Intercolonial standard.

Repairs to one locomotive ............ ........ 2,700 00

Repairs to passenger cars ................... 3,77 201
Repairs to box cars .... ..... ......... ...... .. ],G47 0o
Repairs to platform cars ... . ............. ..... . 9,316 00()

Repairs to snow ploughs and flangers .............. 550 00

Making a total of ....... .... .. 'l 7,991 20

That is to bring it up to the standard of the Intercolonial.

By Mr. Dobe!l

Q. What is the date of that ?-A. The 1st of December, 1896.
Q. And what is the date of Mr. Ridout's report ?-A. The 4tL of D-eember,

1896.
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By Atr. Foster :

Q. That estimate is seventeen thousand nine hundred and what ?-A. 817,991.20.
Then it appears to have been referred back to him.

Q. To Mr. Ridout ?-A. To Mir. Brown, and that is how the $6.700 comes, I see.
Q. I will read this letter to you on the subject. " Referring to your telegram of

the 9th."-then after that report was received there was a telegram between the
minister and 'Mr. Brown ?-A. It must have been from nie I think. That was it.

Q. I read this. " Referring to your telegram of the 9th asking what it would
cost to put the rolling stock on Baie des Chaleurs Railway in safe and serviceable con-
dition, confirming my telegram of date, one locomotive only is fit for service, ordinary
repairs to it without Westinghouse air brakes and modern improvements will cost
twelve hundred dollars (sI,200) and will take six weeks to do them. To make the
passenger stock of four coaches fit for service, excluding painting, steel tired wheels,
Westinghouse air brakes and steam beating will cost six hundred dollars (-S600).

To put six box cars and thirty one platform cars, one danger, and one snow plough
into running order, -without painting, Westinghouse air brakes, or vertical couplers,
will cost forty nine hundred dollars (84,900). Total cost six thousand seven hundred
dollars (-6,700).

Yours truly,
FRANCIS R. G. BROWN.

Mechanical Superintendent.

Now, what would this 80,700 do to the rolling stock ?--A. It would put the rolling
stock I referred to here into good working order.

By Mr. Dobell :

Q. Was that in addition to the 817,000 ?-A. No, in addition to the other.

By _1r. Foste, :

Q. The s17,000 was his estimate of what it would cost to bring the road up to
-what it should be ?-A. Up to the standard of the Intercolonial Railway of Canada.

Q. After these reports were received was there any Order in Council passed. Were
you asked to make anv report to the minister?-A. 'No.

Q. And no report was made by vou to the minister ?-A. No.
Q. And no Order in Council that you have any knowledge of was passed after-

wards, after the receipt of that information ?-A. No.
Q. On that Order in Council then, you were, I suppose, instructed to arrange for the

operation of the road ?-A. I see there were some letters passed between the department
here and Mr. Pottinger in relation to it. (Exhibit No. 4.)

Q. What were these ?-A. On the 23rd December, 1896, I wired to 'Mr. Pottinger
"Commence running regular trains one each way daily on the Baie des Chaleurs Rail-
way with one engine, one passenger car, and two or three freight cars. Have it run as
part of the -Moncton and St. Flavie Division keeping separate accounts.

COLLINGýWOOD SCHREIBER.

Then on the 24th I addressed Mr. Pottinger. (Exhibit No. 5.)

To D. POTTINGER, Esq., -Moncton, N.B.

MIY DEAR SIR,-I wired vou yesterday to arrange at once to operate the Baie des
Chaleurs Railway as part of the Moncton and Ste. Flavie District. This letter is merely
to confirm those instructions.

The accounts for the maintenance and operation of this road are to be kept distinct
from the Intercolonial Railway accounts but no extra cierical service is to be employed
in doing it.
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The road is to be operated in the nost econonical manner and witi the least pos-
sible outlay.

The instructions are to work it until April next and iio longer unless further
directed to do so.

There is to be a mixed train daily each way and no more.
The Intercolonial Railway is to provide the rolling stock as follows, viz.:
One locomotive, one passenger car, two box cars, two platformn cars. one snow plougl

and one flanger : for through business in freight of course Intercolonial Railway cars will
be employed as on other branch roads or roads connecting w ith the Intercolonial
Railway. It is thought that the stations could be occupied by section nenr upon samre
condîtîons as upon Intercolonial R1ailway. Some section mn wil of course he requlired,
but as there will be only one slow train a day, it is thouglht vou will consider a srall
number sufficient ; they will be under M r. Rannie, Road MLaster of Iterceolonial
Railway. If any further information is necessary, please to ask mne for It.

I am, vours t ruly,

COLLIN(WOV D SCHEIUDER.

Q. Were there any other letters of instruction A. Not at t]hat time. Then on
the 12th February, 1897, there was this to Mr. Pottinger froi Nr. John H. Baklerson,
Secretar,y of the departnent. Evienitly' a letter hiad coire froil NI ·. Pottinger whicl
drew this out, I imagine, probably on some mratters in regard to the road-bed, the ins-
pection of the road-bed. The letter reads (Exhibit No. 6).

Sa,-I ai directeI to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of te tth instant,
covering a report fron Mr. Archibald, dated the th ieruary on soie iatters in
regard to the road-bed and structures of the Baie des Chaleurs Rlail ay-. In repl 1 am
to state that the department is of opinion that the operation of the roai shihl not,
have been undertaken until all was safe. The goverinient only iinidertake to operat e
it until April, and only such repairs should be imade as are rnecessary to keep it in a safe
condition to that date.

Q. Have you Mr. Archibald's report ?-A. 1 lo not know. 1 do not appear te
have it. There must be such report.

Q. Will vou be good enoughr to send that report to the clerk of the iorunittee
A. I will. Then I see on the 29th Mav the actirg secretary of the departient, M r.
L. K. Jones, addressed' Mr. Pottinger. He says ( Exhibit No. 7).

Bv direction I have to informn vou tiat intimation lias been received from the
Atlanitic and Lake Superior Railway Company of their intenrtion to resu1rire, on the Ist
-June next, the working of the Baie des Chaleurs Rail wa y.

I am to instruet you accordingly to liand over the said section to the company on
the night of the 3lst inst., first renoving al governmrrenît property that nay be
thereon.

Q. That evidently closes the case as far as instructions are corcerned ?-A. Yes.

Q. Then, Mr. S chreiber, what is vour answer to this question : was the Baie (les

Chaleur-, Railway, at the tine it was taken over or just before wherr niegortiations were

going on, in proper condition for working as regards track and rolling stock ?-A. So
far as we were aware up here it was, but from that report of MN. Arcibald's I presur-
there must have been sonething wanting.

Q. But according to the report of Messrs. Ridout and Beauchermin, made in
December, what would be your opinion ?-A. Oh ! According to thei il was lot in

good safe working condition.
Q. I am putting you a question as to the statement of the company to the minister

and mentioned in the Order in Council:-" The road was in good safe working condition

and was provided with sufficient rolling stock in good serviceale condition and couid

be operated during the winte2r season by the Department of Railways and Canais as a

lranch or feeder to the Intercolonial Railway, not only without loss to the government

but so as to produce a balance over working expenses."Nw, in view of all threse
reports what is your opinion ?-A. At that time it was not.
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Q. And in order to put it in good working condition what, in brief, was done ?-
A. Well, a large amount of work was done by the company, not the government.

Q. On the track ?-A. Yes.
Q. All done by the company and paid for by them ?-A. Yes.
Q. With reference to rolling stock what was done ?-A. I think there was an

engine, passenger car, and a couple of box cars lent by the Intercolonial Railway.
Q. In addition to theirs ?-A. Yes.
Q. And was this stock repaired as inentioned by Mr. Ridout ?-A. I do not think

much of it was done.
Q. Practically the road was run with the Intercolonial Railway rolling stock

A. Yes.
Q. Was any agreement entered into between the governtient or the Departnent

of Railways and Canals and the company who owned the Baie des Chaleurs Railway
for its operation ?-A. No.

Q. No agreement made ?-A. No.
Q. o contract made ?-A. No.
Q. Then you did not carry out the Order in Council ?-A. Not in that respect.
Q. The Order in Council recites :-" The minister recommends that it be ordered

that an examination of the Baie des Chaleurs Railway be caused to be made, with a
view to ascertain whether the sane is in good safe working condition without requiring
any present considerable outlay, and whether there is available a sufficient supply of
suitable rolling stock for the purposes of the railway, and that upon its being so ascer-
tained the Minister of Iailwavs and Canals be empowered to enter into an agreement
with the pioper officers or person having authority in the premises to take over the said
railway for such period as may be agreed upon, not exceeding six months fron the date
of such agreement.' No such agreement was made?-A. No.

Q. No contract was made ?--A. No.
Q. No further authority of council was got by Order in Council ?-A. No.
Q. Do vou consider that the Baie des Chaleurs Railway was in any way, shape,

or forim part of the Intercolonial Railway ?-A. No. We merely operated it as part
of the Intercolonial Railway.

Q. But antecedent to that was it part and parcel of the Intercolonial Railway ?-
A. No.

Q. Was it any more part of the Intercolonial Railway than the Grand Trunk is?
-A. No.

Q. Or the Canadian Pacific ?-A. No.
Q. What vote had you for the operation of a completely alien railway company,

alien in the sense that it was not part of Intercolonial ?-A. I forget whether we had a
vote for the operation of that. I could tell by the supply bill of that year.

Q. As a matter of fact there was no vote, but I want your statement ?-A. I will
look it up for next meeting.

Q. Would you have supposed that you had a right to take an appropriation made
for the Intercolonial Railway and divert part of it to the operation, say, of a portion of
the Grand Trunk Railwav ?-A. No.

Q. Do you think then that you would have had the right to take a vote devoted
to the Intercolonial Railway and divert part of it to the operation of the Baie des
Chaleurs Railwav ?-A. I suppose we did we did not suppose we were doing wrong.

Q. But you had no vote ?-A. No.
Q. You did not consider the vote for the Intercolonial could be used for an alien

railway ?-A. J did not think when the vote was taken there was anything like that
in view.

Q. What made you divert a portion of the money to operating this road ?-A. I
must have had instructions.

Q. From whon ?-A. From the Minister.
Q. Have vou these instructions in writing ?-A. No.
Q. They were verbal ?-A. Yes.
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Q. You were simply told by the minister to eo on and operate it, and pay for it
out of the Intercoloinial Railwar vote ?-A. I cannot sav so from nmenr bu i wou Id
not have done so without instructions.

Q. That is your impression ?-A. Yes.
Q. How many inonths was this road operated A. Fron the end of )ei'einber to

the 1st of June.
Q. How much money was expended in the operation A. )h ' there num 1 have

been an appropriation for this, I think, What inakes me sy.v so i tihai liere now I see
a memorandum of mine on a paper. (Exhibit No. 8).

(Q. That was after the appropriation was made A My mnenorandum is
" approved for payment in so far as the appropriation of .il8,5 uii permit.-

Q. I an speaking as to the tine wien you conrnenced A. Oh ' thre wa none
then.

Q. Your are clear on that ?-A. Yes, 1 an clear on tiai.
Q. How much monev did vou spend on the operatio of the road in these tive

moenths. ?-A. 8r18,679.97.
Q. To what appropriation vas that clarged ?-A. I see imy ertificate on i :

Approv-ed for payment in so far as the appropriation of 18,500 wil permit
Q. Of what date ?-A. 26th July, 1897.
Q. That was after the appropriation, but the road was optrated fromi tctmb'r

to J une ;I suppose the eiployees were paid ?-A. I1n tre meantiim' il 'a> charged to
the Inter'colonial Railway.

Q. It was charged to the Intercolonial Railway vote A. Yes.
Q. What was the revenue that you reeeived from th road durig le' tmtntlis

-A. -6,72~>.08.
Q. What 'was done with that nonev ?-A. It was paid into thIe crdit of the

Receiver General.
Q. And when vou made up the accounts how did you keep the i 't rolonial

Raiiway free ?-A. By transfer of accorint.
Q. Paving it out of the appropriation got in Jtlv, 197 -- A. Yes.
Q. Was that appropriation sufficient to pry tie whole of it ? A. Not quite.
Q. What wvas tire balance ?-A. -179.97.
Q. Still unpaid ?--A. I suppose so.
Q. Well, in the iight of having to get a special appropriation ?- A. Thenr it wo tuld

be unpaid till they could get a vote.
Q. Then it would be debited to the lrItercolonial Railway ?- A. I supposei so.
Q. What length of road was operated t-A. Sixty miles I think it wa-.
Q. Sixty miles of road ?-A. I think so.
Q. The total receipts were as you say S6,725.08 t-A. Yes.
Q. Thus it didn't pay its way by some S12,000?-A. Sl1,954.87.

Q. It didn't provide its own rolling stock ?-A. Not aIl of it at anry rate.
Q. Now with reference to its being a valuable feeder for the Intercolonial what

statement have you to ma-e ?-A. It did not prove to be so.
Q. Can you tell me the tonnage and passengers carried ?-A. I cantrot, io.
Q. But you will state that it did not prove to be a valuable feeder for the Inter-

colonial railway ?-A. No it did not.
Q. Nor for the government funds ?-A. That would be for the Intercolonial rail1 way.
Q. As the receipts were so s-mall one Cau argue that the trade caniot have beenr

very large ?-A. It was in the winter season when the trade would naturally be at the
lowest.

Q. Wlat was the difference between the rates charged on the road and throse charged
on the Intercolonial?-A. I think the Intercolonial rates 'were charged.

Q. Did you understand that there was any agreement that the company should
reimburse the governiment if there happened to be a loss t Was there arry intimation
that such a thing would take place, any expectation in tire department ?-A. I do not
think there was nruch expectation.



61 Victoria. Appendix (No. 2B.) A. 1898

Q. But was there an understanding that it would be done ?-A. I do not remember
that there was. It would be in writing.

Q. I want you to think ?--A. I do not remember.
Q. You cannot say ?-A. If there was anything it would be in writing.
Q. But you have none ?-A. Not unless you have it there.
Q. And you have already said that there was no agreement or contract ?--A. No.
Q. So you had no means of enforcing any claim upon the company so far as writing

or agreement is concerned ?-A. No.

By Mfr. Wood (Brockri/le) :

Q. The Order in Council provides that certain repairs were to be made before it
was taken over, or that an examination was to be held. After the examination there
was a report made upon it and it was found out that a certain amount of money would
have to be expended. You say that there was not very much done in the way of
repairs ?-A. Yes.

Q. To what extent ?-A. I really do not remenber just now. But the engineer of
the coimpany, I forget his name, lad charge of doing these repairs under the direction
of the engineer of the Intercolonial.

Q. Was any report made that the road was in a satisfactory state for running ?-
A. That would be made to the engineer down in Moncton.

Q. Was it made ?-A. I cannot tell you but lie must have understood it was in a
safe condition or under hi- instructions he would not have taken it and run it.

By Mr. Foter :

Q. Will you bring with you to the committee _Mr. Archibalds report and any
reports of Mr. Pottinger, Mr. Archibald or any one else that you find there

By fr. Blair :

Q. Mr. Schreiber do you remember being present on any of the numerous occasions
when the members of parliament and gentlemen connected with this ceompany waited
upon nembers of the government in connection vith the Chaleurs line ?-A. With you,
yes.

Q. You were present when they waited on me -A. Yes.
Q. Have vou now before you any of the papers, representations and statements

whiclh thev laid before nie ?-A. I see nothing here, nothing that was before you, no.
Q. The company, these people, represented strongly, did they not, that they had

been given by the late governnent soe guarantee with regard to their undertaking-
A. I think they told you that there had been negotiations in connection with it.

Q. Yes, and that they had had an engagement from the government that the
interest for iany millions would be guaranteed on their bonds and securities, did they
not ?-A. Yes, I recollect that.

Q. Have you got among your papers anything that bears the fac simile of the
ex-Minister of Finance in writing in connection with that guarantee ?-A. I do not
think so.

Q. Have vou got it in your ofiice ?-A. 1 do not see it among these papers; they
were supposed to give me everything.

Q. You might make a note of that and look it up, as to the guarantees ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do von remember a document we had containing this fac simile. Wa, it on a

fac simile of their bonds ?-A. I do not remember; I only remember the subject coming
up and their stating it had been guaranteed.

Q. And this guarantee had been given under the signature of the ex-Minister of
Finance ?-A. The statement was that Mr. Foster had given the guarantee.

Q. How manv millions do vou remember it was ?-A. No, I do not.
Q. Eight vas it not ?-A. I do not remember.

10
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Q. If the document is in the department you ca n produce it. They were to deposit
a certain substantial proportion of the amount of the loans tlhey world rai'e on this
guarantee to cover the interest ?-A. Yes.

Q. That was the scheme ?-A. Yes.
Q. And they made strong representations that tliey hai been deceived by the action

which the previous government had taken ?A. I do not know that they put it that
way. They said that it lad never been carried out and that the governnîît refused
to do so.

Q. After having agreed to do so. Then tley jressedl upon tle goverînient that w
should carry out the arrangement which the Lite government, as they said, had enîgaged
to do, did they not ?-A. I understood that was tieir ol)jeut in seein_- youVn upon that
occasion.

Q. Do you recollect only one occasion when ther came to see e f-A. Thai is all
I remember on that subject.

Q. Were you present on any occasion wlen thtey mnet a Commnitteel' of Couincil
A. No, I was not.

Q. You say that no agreement was entered into following tlis ( )rder in Council.
You mean bv that that tbere was no written conttract drawn outA N written
contract.

Q. There was an agreement, a verbal agreenent between us f-A. Verbal, yos.
Q. But no written one ?--A. No.
Q. Following this order, you do recollect thtat the enoiner of the itercoloiial, lo

of them, was instructed to make an examination and report upoi tie conidition 4)f the
road in conjunction with the engineer of the comîpanv .A. No, I do noit tlhink, thlat.
J think it was Mr. Ridout and some engineer engaged : I titinlik lie lived up tiere ai
Three Rivers or the place opposite it. His naine was Ieauchemin. Tihese wre tlie
two tiat examined it.

Q. And after such an examnination was made vou say yii cannot state whetheVr
vou have the report in the office or not ?-A. ( )h yes, it is hre. liere waîs a full
report with all the details of what was to be done.

Q. Were these instructions in writing to tie engineer A. Yes, I think so.
Q. Have you got a copy of themn -A. No, I have not got a copy of t hem hee.
Q. The road was at that time in the courts, rea lly, was it not A. Yes.
Q. Do you remertiber what the nature of the control by the courts was -A.

Well, it was in the hands of Mr. Macdonald, tie sequestrator or receiver.
Q. Do you know what. if any, negotiations or discussions took place with a %'i(w

to liaving some written arrangements witli thte officers of the court '?-A. There was
some correspondence in connection with it• I do not remember exatly what tle iatuie
of that was, but I remember there was some correspondene and M r. 3lacdonald at
first declined to give up possession of the road to operate it.

Q. That was Mr. A. R. Macdonald f-A. Yes.
Q. Later he consented to do so ?-A. Yes.
Q. Now, in connection with that, w-hat was done was done under tie authority

of the Order in Council in connection with taking over the road ?-A. Yes.
Q. And running it presumably as part in connection with the Inte.trcolonial

Railway-what was done was done on the strength of thie Order in Counicil, whatever
its value may have been ?-A. Yes.

Q. And relying on parliarment ratifying it and mîaking the appropriation at the
next succeeding session that was the understanding in the department f-A. I canrot
remember, but I think so, because wxe charged it to the Intercolonial Iailwav in the
meantime.

Q. And an estimate was sent forward and submitted to parlianent ?-.A. At the
first session after we took possession.

Q. But it did not happen that the appropriation was passed in tiie for the close'
of the then fiscal vear ?-A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Do Vou remember when that session opened ?-A. No, I do not, but I think it
was about 23rd March.
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Q. Could you tell from memory, or have 'you anv data here to enable you to state,
what the amount of rolling stock was that was required to be used, belonging to the
Intercolonial Railway ?--A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Did it state what service there was to be, how many trains ?-A. One train
each way per day.

Q. And how many miles ?-A. Sixty miles it was.

By Mfr. Foster :

Q. The Minister of Railways bas asked you with reference to the rolling stock ?-
A. Yes.

Q. The evidence you gave us was as to what was represented ?-A. It was.
Q. What was represented by the parties who interviewed the minister, it was

simply represented by the parties -A. Yes.
Q. You say the agreement was verbal for running the road, can you give us the

substance of it ?-A. I think it was agreed that there was to be one train each way
daily.

Q. Is that all ?-A. I think that was about all.

By Mr. Blair :

Q. You remember it w\as agreed, was it not, Mr. Shicreiber, that we should not le
under any obligation to run it longer than six months ?-A. At first it was agreed that
w-e shonld only run it to the lst of April, but subsequently you authorized us to run it
to the 1st of June, and we ceased running it on the 31st May.

Q. The time the road was being run, being the winter season, was not as favour-
able to a test ?-A. It was the most unfavourable season of the vear for us.

Q. But we continued the test until the 1st of June ?-A. Yes.
Q. We had one month at all events of spring business to judge by ?-A. Yes.
Q. Have you got data there showing what the receipts were for the month of May

and the disbursements ?-A. I do not think so. No, I think not.
Q. I think you have it here. I would like to have it given.-A. It should be here.
Mr. FOSTER.--The figures are: in January, $1,113.31 in February, 81,201.42 ; in

March, 81,388.77 : in April, S763.70 ; in May, S1,057.88.

By Mr. Blair:

Q. These facts, Mr. Schreiber, which have been stated here were brought out and
stated by me last year when the estimates were brought up ?-A. You gave a general
statement then.

Q. I gave a statement of w-hat had been done with the road in connection with the
Order in Council ?-A. I think so, but the Hansard will show it better than I could
give it.

Q. The whole thing was then explained ; there is nothing startling or new so far
a, the present disclosures are concerned ?-A. Not so far as I am aware of.



Public Accounts Coimnittee.

CoIMITTEE Roomî. FinIîy. 27th 3Mav, 1898.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD >CHREIBER, being recalled, testiied as folhìws

By 3fr. Foster:

Q. In these papers there is a report by Mr. Archibald on the duie des Chaleur,
Railway ?-A. Yes.

Q. Then have you any other report fron any eigineer betsides 3Mr. R idient and NIr.
Beauchemin ?-A. That report that I handed in yesterday is the only report I could
find.

Q. This document (a copy of Exhibit No. 2) is the report of 3Messrs. Ridout antd
Beauchemin -- A. Yes.

Q. This paper, I think, is a report of the freight and assenger rates established on
the Baie des Chaleurs Railway under which the operation of the road went on A.
That is a report.

Q. And what is this paper, Mr. Schreiber ?--A. That is a copy of a covering lutter
I sent the other day merely stating that the rates we have charged while we operated

the road were not the rates of the Intercolonial Railway.
Q. Then that will go as a coverinîg paper to tiis report on the rates. Then we

have another letter here ?-A. Yes, that is mny instruction to Mir. lidotiut as regards the

inspection of the Baie des Chaleurs Railway.
Q. Then that will go as a covering paper to his report. Then you s;y thlitre is niW

other report ?-A. No, I have none.

EXHIBITS REFERRED TO IN SIXTH REPR >T OF TH E PU'BLIC ACC<>VNTS
COAD>IITTEE.-EXJH IBIT No. 1.

EXTRACT of a Report ot t/e Hon. the Pricy Cootivil a;t 1 ,rwnd> Iis E)jeettc on 'l
19th NovMnber, 1S9&.

On a report dated 17th Novenber, 1896, fron the Mlinister of iail ways and
Canals, stating that the Atlantic and Lake Stperior R 1ailway (oiipatiy have mtiade
application for a re vote of the subsidies granted to the GCreat Eastern Railway Company
towards the construction of a railway froi Sorel to Chaudihre Junction, andj alo for a
subsidy of 83,200 per mile for the extension of the Baie des Chaleurs Railway fitnt
Paspebiac to the Gaspé Basin, and have prayed that the anounts of the several bonses
given by the Dominion government, and the municipalities and provincial gtvernment,
may be taken and held by the government of Canada as a fund out of which to guar-
antee and pay interest on the company's issue of bonds as authorized by their charter,
and in accordance with the schenie outlined in the company's proposals.

The minister observes that in promoting their application the company have pointed
out that the Baie des Chaleurs Railway is at present in the hands of sequestrators,
under proceedings pending in the courts of the province of Quebec, and is not there-
fore in running operation, greatly to the injury of the section of the country through
which the road passes, and it is represented by the president, directors and other per-
sons who have been heard by the sub-committee of the Privy Council, in support of t he

supplication of the Atlantic and Lake Superior Railway Company, that the operating
of the said railway during the winter would be of immense benefit to the locality

through which it runs, and would be a valuable feeder to the Intercolonial Bailray,
and they add that arrangements are practical and could be made if approved by Your
Excelleney in Council, between the courts having the sequestration proceedings before

them and the Department of Railways and Canals
The minister has to add that in proposing that the government should take over

and operate the Baie des Chaleurs Railway for the coming winter, it was strongly
13
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represented to the sub-committee of the Privy Council that the road was in good safe
working condition and was provided with sufficient rolling stock in good serviceable
condition, and could be operated for the winter season by the Department of Railways
and Canals as a branch or feeder to the Intercolonial Railway, not only without loss to
the government, but so as to produce a balance over working expenses. The minister,
in view of the above representations as to the condition of the said railway and as to
the earning capacity if operated during the coming winter season, and in view of the
other representations made to the sub-committee on the hearing of the application of
the Atlantic and Lake Superior Railway Company, recommends that it be ordered that
an examination of the Baie des Chaleurs be caused to be made, with a view to ascer-
taining whether the saine is in good safe working condition without requiring any
present considerable outlay, and whether there is available a sufficient supply of suit-
able rolling stock for the purposes of the railway, and that upon its being so ascertained,
the iMinister of Railways and Canals be empowered to enter into an agreement with
the proper officers or persons having authority in the premises to take over the said
railway for such period as may be agreed upon, not exceeding six months from the date
of such agreement, and upon such agreement being entered inro, to take over and oper-
ate the said railway, and to retain to the sole uses of the Department of Railways and
Canals all receipts derived from the said railway, and to make such usual and necessary
outlays in the running of the said railway as may be incident thereto, and so far as the
Parliamentary Appropriation Act may allow, and that the Atlantic and Lake Superior
Railway Company, and all other persons interested therein, are to take notice that
neither the said agreement, if entered into, nor this Minute of Council, nor the taking
over and operating of the said railway are to be understood as committing the govern-
ment or the Department of Railways and Canals to any further acceptance of the said
company's general proposal, now under submission to the government, than is hereby
expressly approved, or to any parts thereof, nor as implying any engagement on the
part of the government to renew or continue beyond the teri aforesaid the arrange-
ment respecting the operating of the said railway.

The Committee submit the above recominendation for Your Excellency's approval.

JOHN J. McGEE,
Clerk of the Priry Council.

EXHIBIT No, 2.

OFFICE OF THE CHIEF ENGINEER OF RAILWAYS AND CANALS,

OTTAWA, 189.

BAIE DES CHALEURS RAILWAY-REPAIRS TO ROLLING STOCK.

1 Locomotive........... ... .................... . $1,200
4 Passenger Cars.... ... . ................. ........... 600
6 BoxCars.............. ...... . ................
31 Platform Cars................................. .. 4,9001 Flanger........................ .............. {
1 Snow plough..................................

T otal............. ............... ......... $6,700

C. S.
OTTAWA, 10th December, 1896.

N.B.-The estimate of $6,700 is for temporary repairs for operating the road for
six months.



Public Accounts Coninnlittee.

20th iNovemnber, 18,96.
THoMAs RIDOUT, Esq.,

Ottawa.

MY DEAR SIR,-I am to instruct you to inake a careful inspection of the Baie des
Chaleurs Railway, sufficient to enable vou to report in detail as to the approimate
cost of placing it in safe condition to operate during the next six nonths without any
considerable cost in maintenance, also to examine the rolling stockc, enumerating it and
reporting what portion, if any, is in efficient wvorking condition and also the condition
of it generally.

Yours truly,

COLLINGWOOD SC[R EIlE,

N.B.-For your guidance I attach hereto copy of (.C.

MONTREAL, 4th December, 1P96.
To The Honourable A. G. BLAIR,

Minister of Railways and Canal.,,
Ottawa.

HONoURABLE S1R,-Acting on the instructions received fron your departmiîent with
respect to the Inspection of the Baie des Chaleurs Railway, we beg to submjit the reports
for permanent and temporary repairs, together with estimates of eost for saime.

The inspection was made under rather unfavourable circuistanices, there being
some six inches of snow on the grouud giving us additional trouble to arrive ai accurate
conclusion.

We remain, honourable sir, yours very respectfully,

T. RIDOVT,
H. REAUCHEMIN,

Insj'ectors

BAIE DES CHALEURS RAILWAY.

REPORT OF PERMANENT REPAIRS.

We have personally inspected the railway from Metapedia-junction with Inter-
colonial Railway-to New Richmond, 68 miles.

From New Richmond to end of track-80th mile-we have found it practically
impossible to inspect, owing to a greater quantity of snow on the track, and to the
unsafe condition of the trestle over one of the branches of the Little Cascapedia River
-being damaged by ice.

This last part of the railway was built in 1893 and in good condition, but from
information-reliable sources-requires snow fencing as per estimate attached.

There is some right of way remaining unsettled, the amount of which we are unable
to state without consulting the books of the company.

As a whole, we have found the road-bed in a fairly good condition though muost of
it built-and somewhat neglected-since 1886-87.

This being practically due to the fact that the formation is mostly gravel.
In order to facilitate matters we have divided up the line in ten mile sections,

giving details of repairs required to be done together with estimates of cost for each
section.
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PERMANENT REPAIRS.

FIRST TO TENTH MILE.

General notes :

1st mile. Engine house requires: 1 pit, 2 smokestacks, new roof, repairs to doors
and windows.

2nd do Widening of side hill cuts, repairing cribwork protection.
3rd do Construction pile trestle 75 ft. long.
6th do do 6 ft. beam cedar culvert.

10th do Narrow cut and ditching. Lift of ballast throughout the ten miles.

ESTDIATE.

FIRsT TO TENTH 'MILE.

Quantity. Rate. Amouit.

ets. S ets.
Cleaing, bru h ... .............................. ... 2 acrfes... 10 o0 o i 00
Wideing of bankls.... ..... .................... . 1,00 e. yds. .. 0 25 400 0

do and ditching of cnts to be used in widening em-
hankments........................... ....... 1,000 Io .. . .. .........

Culverts, cedar............. . ............ ............. 4,000 ft. B. M ...... 2.0.
do pine............. ....... ....... 600 do .... 35 00 112 (W)

B allast.. ............. .................. .......... ... 12,0CO c. yds .... >. (0 30 3,6 00 0
Bridges, (). K. ........... ...... ....... .............. .................................
Trestle, 1 pile trestle 75 ft. long......... ............. ............ ..... 600 0
T ies.... ....... ....... ....... ..................... ....... 00 28 1,904 0
Fencing, each side................. ............ "0mles 75 00 750 0>
Snow fenees... ....... ... ...................................
Public cross1ngs ........... ............. ... . .... ... ...... 25 00 75 00
Farim do ........ ..... ....... ...... 27............ .... 10 >0 270 00
Turntable. .. ..... ............ .... ..................... ,............... 21 00
Engine house....................... ................ ......................... .... 500 >0
Swithes......................... ............. ..................... ........... .25 (0
Water tank........................ ........... .......... .................
tGates................. ......... ... .............. 23. ................ 1 50 34 0
Spikes and bolts............... . ... . . ............ 10 miles...... .... 4 00 400 0
Cribwork protection.. . ........................ ... .... ....... . . ....... ... . .... 1,0 >)

8,810 40

0TI TO 20TH MILE.

13thi. 6 ft. culvert requires posts and struts.
14th. Reconstruction of cedar culvert.
14th. A culvert requires posts and struts.
1 5th. Sth culvert-New stringers and ties.
15th. Narrow eut.
16th. Oak Bay, station house repairs to platform.
l6th. Culvert-1 3 new ties.
l6th. Trestle-Riprap for 4 bents and 200 new ties.
19ith. Water Tank-Repairs to dam.
19th. Widening of cut.
19th. General lift of ballast.
1 9th. Snow fencing.



Public Accounts Connittee.

ESTIMATE.

Clearing brush .. .... .
Widening of banks.. . .

do and ditching of cuts to be used Iin uubxjg ewt
bankmïent .

Culverts, cedar..
do pine .

Balatt.... ..
Bridges, O.K..
Trestlest..
Ties ... .
Fegc ..
Snow fencing..
Publie crossings.......................
Farn do
Switches, O.K...........................
Stations and platforims....... .....................
Water tank ........... ............ ......
Gates........ ...... ................... .............
Spikes and bolits................................ ..

15 acres...
3,254 c. y

1,900 e. yd,
4.(04 ft.
9.4<4) c. ft

12,(4444 c.yd

21,700 ft.

10 1mils

10
1(4 miei

S et,.. S ets.

10 00 150 004>
025 512 400

35 m0
44 28

0 25
25 4044
10 400

403 0
,61 M 00

660 00

40)
1 .5440 4<

1504 00>

1544 24 4<>
.4 444 4(m) lm)

9,129 0)

20Tu T 30r T -3 ns.

21st. Box drain required in eut.
21 st. 17 ft. beam culvert ; 2 extra stringers 14 x 16 and new ties.

raised 2 ft. along with bank.

21st. Embankment, raised 2 ft. for 800 ft.

22nd. Narrow bank and ditching.

23rd. 12 ft. culvert ; 5 sets of posts and struts and 6 new ties.
24th. 2,000 ft. of snow fencing.

24th. Masonry culverts ; new ties and 2 extra stringers 14 x 16.

29th. 2,000 ft. snow fencing.

Lift of ballast throughout.

ESTIMAT E.

4 ~tiaxîtity.

Culu'rt to be

Rat..

$ ets. ets.

Clearing brush.. ............ . ....................
Widening banks.................. ... ..................

do and ditching cuts .. . ................. .. .
Culverts.. .. ....................... ....................
Ballast....... . . .... ......... ..... ..... . ......
Bridges, O. K.....................................
Trestles, nil...................................
Ties..........................
Fencing ...... ............... ...................
Snow fencing. ................ .................
Public crossings....................... .............
Farm do .......... . ......... ........
Station and platforms, Escuimiinac ..... ......... .
G a tes ........ .... ........ ....... .... ...... ..... ... ...
Spikes and bolts...... ......... ..... - .-.........

1,900 e. yds.
1,200 C. yds.
7,400 ft. .. ....
12,0040 c. yds...

5,0<00...........
10 niules....
4,000ft.. .......

22 ... ............

0

100

25>
10)

15 ........... 150
10 miles .... ... - - 40 00>

17

2b-2

A (munt.

( 25 475 )0

259 (H)
3,00 04)

1,4004 4004

I 440) 4>41,4000 004

150 004
220 0<)
15 00
2200

400 0(4

8,46 00)

Quantity. 
late.

10 -5 acres .......... 10 ()0m 15 00



61 Victoria. Appendix (No. 2B.)

30TH To 40TH MILE.

33rd. Embankment to be raised 2 feet for 1,200 ft.
35th. New station at Nouvelle ; replace one burnt.
35th. 15 ft. culvert; 3 sets of posts and struts.
37th. 500 ft. of snow fencing.

17 ft. culverts : 2 extra stringers of 14 x 16.
38th. Culvert ; 3 new ties.
39th. do 4 do
40th. 1,000 ft. of snow fencing.
40th. Trestle; 50 new ties, riprap 3 bents and repairs.
Half a lift of ballast throughout.

ESTIMATE.

Quanltitv. Rate. Amount.

ets. S ets.

Clearing bru-h.. .... . .... .... ... ..... ............. 25aeres .......
W idening bank g.. . .... . ... ...... ...... ........ c.

do ditchling cuts.. . . . . . . ..
Cul velrt.............. . ......... .............. ..... 2,600 ft.........
Ballast..... ..... .... ..... . ................. .... 6,0 0 c. yds......
Bridges, 0.K ........ .................. .........
Tresties, rip rap and timber. .. ........ ...... .... ..... 3,200 ft.... ...
Ties.. ......... .,..................................500 ft.... ......
Fencing. . . ..... , ..... .. .......... 10miles........
Snow fencing ... ........... ......... 5O0 ft.......
Publie crossings ........ ................ G
Farm cossis... . .......... .. . 87
Station and platformn, Nouvelle...........................I
Gates....... .................... 40
Spikes aned bolts.... .......... . . ............ ........ 10 imiles . .....

10 0H i >5JI0 0

<) 25

35 00
0 30

35 00
O 28

75 <JO
0 25

25 00
10 00

1 50
3o 00

550 00

%1 0J
1,800 W0

117 lm
980 0o
750 00
125 00
154) 00
870 00
600 0)
60 00

300 (0

",418 0J

40T To 50Tii MILE.

41st. 12 ft. culvert: 7 new ties and 2 guard rails.
42nd. Charleton Capes: side hills to be widened, and gravel to the extent of 30,000

c. yds. to be taken out for ballasting 15 miles each side of Capes.
12,000 c. yds. to ballast 15 miles west, and 18,000 c. yds. to ballast 15 miles

east.
The embaikmient to be raised fron 3 to 4 feet throughout the Capes.
Slope wall for 2,000 ft. on top of present embankment for protection to slope

of ballast and new enbankment.
Present emnbankment and cribwork to be further protected. Riprap, 10 to

12 ft. high, with slope 1 to 1, for 2,500 ft.
43rd. Cattle guard : 2 new stringers, 12 x 14.

22 ft. culvert: 8 new ties.
45th. Culvert: 3 by 4 feet required.

Snow fencing, 3,500 ft.
46th. Culvert: 3 sets posts and struts.
47th. Snow tence, 600 ft.
48th. Culvert: new stringers, 2 of 12 x 14 and 2 of 6 x 14.

Cattle guard: 2 new stringers, 12 x 14.
800 ft. of snow shed.
500 ft. of snow fencing.

49th. 1,000 ft. of snow fencing.
3 culvert pipes, 18-inch.
600 ft. snow fence.

50th. 700 ft. snow fence.

A. 1898
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ESTIMATE.

Cla-tring brush.... ................... ... ............
Widening and raising of bank.s .... ...... ............

do ditcling of eut, ..................
Culv>ert................ ........ ..............
Ballast............... ..... .......... .............
Ties........................ ... . .............
Fencing. ....... ... ...... ......... .............
Snow fencing........................ .............
Piublic crossings............ .... .. .......... .......
F arn i do ........... .... . ...... ....
Stations and latfornis........... ... ... .......
Gates.... ...................... .................... ...
Spikes and bolts ... ............... .. ,. ... ... ....
Riprap-Charleton Capes ... .................... .....
Slupe wall do ...... .... .. . . . .. .
Pipes-18 inche.............. .......................
Snow shed..... ........................ ..... ...
Water tank and drain pipe............................

sncre,
2, 10 e. y ....
3,:4 0 d
2,3)e0 ft

12,1>40 ec. vl

13 4 , ... .... .

14............ ...

c4. Yd- .

P ; ft .. . .
8O0 ft . . .

.............. ..

s - s1. -X8 t:.

l37 oi 80 04)
n 30 : (;1)1) 4>
4. 2s tIsf '>4

31ý' 00 3. 0 1 )
S2> 1,;75 (<

25 l(H) 24X) (Me
10> >4 )> 40 e4

1 50 1(; (44
40 (>e 400> (0)
2 4>4 12,8>4 4>4

2 23 2.250 44
2 44 1:2 4>

0 604 ,00 4>
4....... 4 > 4

2 lm,851 0

slst.
51 Ist.
52nd.
53rd.
54th.
ö5th.
56th.
57th.
59th.
60th.

5>0-ru 'ro 0GTIr MILE.

Two box drains across highwav.
Snow fencing, 2,000 ft.; Maria station platforn repair
600 ft. snow fence.
600 ft. snow fence.
3,000 ft. snow fence ; eulvert, 2 new stringers, 12 x 14.
16 ft. culvert; 2 extra stringers 14 x 1 6.
11 ft. culvert ; 2 extra stringers 12 x 16.
700 ft. snow fence ; trestle, change stringers to 14 x 16.
Culvert, 2 new stringers 12 x 14.
Settlement, one bent in trestle.

ESTIMATK

Suantity.

Clearing brush........... 2 acres. 25 4)
Widening of banks..... ...... ............. ..... ...... 0) c. Vols > 25 4>44> >44

do and ditching cuits............... ......... 7,50 c. yd............ ............
Culv erts ...... ...... .. ........ ....... 5,2(00 ft 1) ? 44> 182 >4)
Ballast................................... .......... 12,000 c. vds () 34) 3(0 ) Ille
Bridges, O. K..........................................................................
Trestles . ........................... . ... 5,300 ft .......... 2
Ties....... ............................................. 3,500 ft. 28 0 0
Fencing............................. ... ................ 1» m iles ...... 350 (9)
Snow fencing.................. ........ ........ . . 6 0 ft...... (e 25 1,725 (>0
Public crosings .... .................................... 1» 25 Oie 25004
Farna do ........................ . .......... ....77. 10 >) 77(> >Xe
Stations and platforms............. ............. ..................................
Gates.................................................. 27 1 0
Spikes and bults............................. ........... 10 miles. 34 (y) 34>0 o>
Switches. .................... .......................................................
Pi pe , 18 ches ......................................... 21 2 () 42( t

8,944 <4X)

19

( tuantit. Rate. Ániount.

Rate. 1Ani>unt.
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60TH To 70TH MIJLE.

62rid. Ditching required.
62nd. Embankment to be raised 2 f t. for 1,200 ft. a]ong with 15 ft. culvert.

Two box drains required 12 x 12 in.
64th. 5-ft. beam cedar culvert required.
65th. 13.ft. culvert-2 extra 14 x 16 stringers.
66th. 15-ft. culvert--2 extra 14 x 16 stringers.
66th. 1.5-ft. culvert-2 extra 14 x 16 stringers.
6Cth. Masonry culvert-4 extra 12 x 12 stringers.
66th. Ditching in rock eut.
68th. Trestles on braich of Little Cascapedia River and embankment to be raised

5 feet.
Reconstruction of one 125 feet pile trestle.

ESTIM ATE.

(Quantity.

Raising of banks ..... . ........ . .................... 6,400 c. yds. ..
Ditchiig of rock cut.. ......... ................ ... .... .200 yd.
Culverts, cedar................... ....... .......... ..... 4,0»> ft ....

do pine....... ...................... ........... 3,900 ft ........
Ballast .. ...... ... .. ............. . ..... ... 2,500 C. yds
Trestles-Raising 475 ft. of trestle ft. and reconstruction of

125 ft .......... .. ........ .............. ...... .. .. .............
Spikes and bolts . .................. ........... ....... 10 miles. ....
T ies.............. .. ......... .... .... ... .......... 1,000 ...........

70th.
70th.
72nd.
73rd.
75th.
76th.
Sth.

. 70TH TO SOTH MILE.

From information received.

1,000-ft. snow fence.
500-ft. snow shed.
800-ft. snow fence.
800-ft. do
1,500-ft. do
800-ft. do
New turntable.

Rate. Amount.

S- Cts. -S ets.
0 20 1,280 00
1 25 250 00

22 00
35 00 250 00

0 30 750 00
. . .. .. . . . . .

. ....... 1,250 00
20 00 200 >00
0 28 280 00

4,260 00

ESTIMATE.

Quaiitity. Rate. Amount.

8 ets. $ ots.
Ballast................ ........... . .............. 1,500 c. yds .. 0 30 454) 0
Trestle, repairs. ... ..... ......... . ............... ........... 100 0
Public crossings.............. ........... . ........ .... 7. . .. ....... 10 00 70 00
Farm do. ..... ............. ... .............. 60....... 5 00 300 0
Turntable, new one, 60 ft.............................. ............................. 1,250 00
Engine shed, repairs..... .................... ....... .. 100 00
W ater tank.......................... . ....... .. ....... . ....... .... 200 0
Spikes and bolts...... ....... ............... ......... . .. ......... .. ...... 200 00
Snow fence ... . ................ ............... . .... 3,900.... ..... o 25 975 00

do shed... .. ......... ., ......................... 500.....,.... 2 00 1,00000

4,645 00

20

A. 1898
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ESTIMATE.

TOOLS, TooLI-HoUSE, &C.

11 sections.-Of these eight hand cars and ten
porary repairs estimate.

11 tool sheds, 10 x 14, at S40..........
11 sets of tools at S20.. . .
10 new hand cars at 855..............

sets of tools are inîcludedl ini tem-

.,* 4140
. . .. . . . . . ....

S U MM AR Y.

lst to l0th mile . ......... ........................ 8,810 0
10th to 20th mile .................................
20th to 30th mile. . . .........................
30th to 40th m ile . . . .... .......................
40th to 50th mile ................. ..... . .......
50th to 60th mile ............ . . . . . . . . ...........
60th to 70th mile...... ........................
70th to 80th mile ............. .................
Tools, tool-houses and hand-cars........ ..
Engineering and contingencies, 10 pet cent..

9, I29
8,64 6
6,418

2>6,851
S, 944
4,260
4,845

7,891 00

S8,804 00
R espectfully submitted,

TIIOMAS R>< IDOUT,
H. BEAUCHEMIN,

Inspetors.

BAIE DES CHALEURS RAILWAY RIEPoR>IT.

TEMPoRARYt REPAIES FOR IMMEMIATE OPERATION.

The work of placing the line iii a safe condition for immediate operation fron
Metapedia to New Richmond, 68 miles, will be to a certain extent of a teiporary
nature.

From Keu- Richmtond to nd ot track-801h Mile.

It will require the reconstruction of a 1i25-ft. pile trestle and other permanent
repairs, which would take some time. The work consists of-

Widening of cuttings wlhere slips have taken place, over and above that done for
inspection train, to admit of the passage of the snow plough during winter. Thiese cuts
being in particular those at lst mile, 10th, 42nd (Charleton Capes) and 66th.

Removal of planks, poles or gravel along inner side of the rail at ail farm and pub-
lic crossings and earth in the slips in the cuts.

Blocking up of the track at ail washouts-5th mile, 42n1d, 49th, 5lst, 62nd, 64ti
and 67th.

This to be done with the companv's ties- some 1,200 on hand on cars at Metapedia.
Further blocking of temporary trestle at 3rd mile, partly constructed by inspection

train.
Ditching in cuts-to prevent overflowing of tracks in mild weather-10th mile

(south ditch) 51st, 62nd, 64th and 66th.

S1,210 00
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The whole of the work to be done by 10 well organized "section gangs " supplied
with necessary tools and composed of 5 men and 1 foreman to each gang, working 4
days.

At the Charleton Capes an extra gang of 20 men and 1 foreman working 5 days.

ESTIMATE OF COST.

50 section men, 4 days at 1.10.................... .
10 foremen, 4 days at S1.75 ......... ..............
20 men at Charleton Capes, 5 days at 51.10 . . . . . . . .
1 foreman, 5 days at SI.75 .......................

TOOLS.

10 complete sets of section tools at 20 . . . ... ... . . . . .$
8 new handcars at $55.............................
2 doz. picks and 1 doz. shovels.. . . ......... .....
Superintendence and contingencies.................. ;

$ 1,300 00

Respectfully submitted,
T. RIDOUT,
11. BEAUCHEMIN,

Inspectors.
MONTREAL, 4th December, 1896.

BAIE DES CHALEURS RAILWAY.

Re temporary repairs for immediate operation.

Add-for extra stringers
21 inch, 17 beam, 2
48 " 17 " 2
55 " 16 " 2
59 " 16 " 2
59 " 13 " 2
65 15 " 2
66 " 15 " 2
66 " 15 " 2
66 15 " 2
66 " 15 " 2

on beam culverts.
extra stringers . . ... ...... 14x 16

12 x 14
12 x 16
12 x 14
12 x 14
12 x 16
12 x 16
12 x 16
12 x 16

... .. ..... . 12 x 16

Total cost, say...........................S 200 00
Also repairing the turn-table at New Richmond ........ . 500 00

700 00
Making temporary repairs and immediate amount to... 2,000 00

THOS. RIDOUT.

A. 1898

220
70

110
8

200
440

40
211
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EXHIBIT No. 3.

MOCIN N , Ist 1)eceînl)cî, IS9('.
THos. RIDOUT, Esq.,

Department of Railways and Canals,
Ottawa, Ont.

DEAR SIR,--As per our conversation at Metapedia on the 20i, uilt., r, rolling
stock owned by the Baie des Chaleurs Railway.

1st. I would call vour attention to the list of rolling stock which you handed me,
and I copied, which is dated 28th July, 1893, since that tine i find there has been an
addition of two locomotives, and there have been some slight alterationîs to the passenger
and freight rolling stock. These alterations are of no importance, but it is as well to
mention them, as accounting for any difference which there nay be between this report
and the list.

LOCOMOTIVES.

No. 1.-This engine was built by the Canadian Locomotive and Enigine Company,
Kingston, Ont. It is Canadian Pacific standard built to miy lesigns of 1883, and con-
sequently is somewhat behind the type of to-day. The -ylinders are 17-in. x 24-in. and
the driving wheels 62 in. in diameter. The engine is badly rii down, but with a
thorough repair, and with some renewals, it could be brougdit up t(o the IntercoloniaI
Railway standard.

It would require the addition of Westinghouse air brake comiplete, and extension
smoke-box and straight stack, new boiler tubes, two new injectors, with copper pipes
and valves complete, new crank pins, and side rods, new head lanp, new brass boiler
mountings, new asbestos laggings, and a new pilot.

No. 2.-This is an old engine, and in bad condition, and I consider fit foi- nothing
but scrap so far as the Intercolonial Railway is concerned.

No. 3.-Thiis is an old engine and has been very oadly treated. It is in mny opinion
not worth any expenditure whatever for repairs, and 1 consider it fit for notling but
scrap so far as the Intercolonial R ailway is concerne 1 .

No. 4.-Is an old engine and has been very badly neglected, and is in ny opinion
of no further use, and fit for nothing but scrap as far as the Intercolonial Railway is
concerned.

No. 5.-This engine has received bad treatmnent, and is in my mind not worth
any expenditure whatever for repairs, and is tit for nothing but scrap so far as the
Intercolonial Railway is concerned.

No 8.-This is an old engine, which has been badly treated, and in my opinion is
not worth any repairs, and is fit for nothing but scrap so far as the Intercolonial Rail-
way is con::erned.

PASSENGER CARS.

These four passenger cars at the time they were built, were supposed to conformn
to Canadian Pacific standard of about 1880, and consequently in weight and strength,
are consi4ered behind modern coaches as designed for the same class of service.

lst Class Coach 31.-This coach requires general repairs and painting, steel tired

wheels, new axies, Westinghouse air brake complete, steam heating conplete, Victoria

burning lamps, and the estimated cost of these repairs is, $1,064.75.
Qnd Class Car 51.-This car requires general repairs and painting, steel tired

wheels and axles, Westinghouse air brake complete, steam heating complete, and new
lamps, and the estimated cost of these repairs is, $948.15.

_2nd Class and Baggage 61.-This car has been altered, by putting up temporary
partitions and pigeon holes, into a second class and mail. It requires general repairs
and painting, steel tired wheels and axles, Westinghouse air brake complete, and
lamps, and the estimated cost of these repairs is S882.15.

23
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Baggage Mail and Express 71.-This car requires general repairs, and painting,
steel tired wheels and axles, Westinghouse air brake complete, steam heating complete
and lamps and the estimated cost of these repairs is, $882.15.

Making a total of $3,777.20 to put the passenger equipment into good condition,
and u) to Intercolonial standard.

FREIGHT CARS &C.

Six Box Cars.-These require general repairs and painting, chilled wheels, Westing-
bouse air brakes complete, vertical plane couplers, at an estimated cost of $1,407.

Thkirty-one Platform Cars.-These require general repairs and painting, chilled
wheels, Westinghouse air brake complete, and vertical plane couplers. The cost of
which repairs to bring the cars up to Intercolonial standard will be S8,416.90. In
addition to these repairs, seven new trucks are required, one for box car, and six for
flats, at a cost of $150 each, making a total of $1,050.

One Combination Flanger & Wing Plough.-The necessary repairs to which is
estimated at $385.

One Stackhouse Snou- Plog1h.-Estimated cost of repairs, $165. The balance of the
box and fiat cars on the list, namely three box cars as flats, and boxed used as boarding
cars, seven second hand flats, and three second hand fiats, said to have been in bad
condition in 1893 are all condemned as unfit for service on the Intercolonial Railway.

SUMMARY.

Estimate of repairs required to put such part of the rolling stock of the Baie des
Chaleurs Rail way as can be accepted in the thorough good repair and up to Intercolonial
standard.

Repairs to one locomotive ........................ .2,700 00
Repairs to passenger cars......................... 3,777 20
Repairs to box cars..... ............ ........ . I....1,647 00
Repairs to platform cars......................... 9,316 90
Repairs to snow ploughs and flangers ................ 550 00

Making a total of. .S............. . 17,991 10

Yours truly,

FRANCIS R. F. BROWN,
Mechanical Superintendent.

INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY OF CANADA.

OFFICE OF THE MECHANICAL SUPERINTENDENT,

MlONCTON, N.B., 10th December, 1896.
COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, Esq.,

Deputy Minister and Chief Engineer,
Railways and Canals,

Ottawa, Ont.

DEAR SIR,-Referring to your telegram of the 9th, asking what it would cost to
put the rolling stock on Baie des Chaleurs Railway in safe and serviceable condition.
Confirming my telegram of date, one locomotive only is fit for service, ordinary repairs
to 17, without Westinghouse air brake and modern improvements will cost twelve
hundred dollars, ($1,200) and will take six weeks to do them. To make the passen-
ger stock of four coaches fit for service excluding painting, steel tired wheels, Westing-
bouse air brake, and steam heating, will cost six hundred dollars, (S600). To put
six box cars, and thirty one platform cars, one flanger, and one snow plough into running
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order, without painting, Westinghouse air brake, or vertical plane couplers, will cost
forty-nine hundred dollars ($4,900). Total cost, six thousand seven hundred dollars
($6,700>.

Yours truly,

FRANCIS R. F. BROWN,
JcAielia , v/pcintedent.>~

EXHIBIT No. 4.

23rd I>eceiber, 1896.
D. POTTINGER, Esq.,

I. C. R., Moncton, N.B.

Commence running regular trains ene each wav, daily, on the Baie des Chaleurs
Railway, with one engine, one passenger car, and two or three freight cars have it runi
as part of the Moncton and Ste. Flavie Division, keeping separate accounts.

COLLING WOO) SCHREIBEJ.

EXHIBIT No. 5.

OFFICE, OF THE I)EPUTY MINISTEI AN) CiiiEF ENGINEEî,
OTTAWA, 24th Decernber, 189X.

D. POTTINGER, Esq.,
Moncton, -N.B.

My DEAR SIR,-I wired you yesterday to arrange at once to operate the Baie des
Chaleurs Railway as part of the Moncton and Ste. Flavie Division, this letter is
nerely to confirm those instructions.

The accounts for the maintenance and operation of this road, are to be kept dis-
tinct from the Intercolonial Railway account, but no extra clerical service is to be
employed in doing it. The road is to be operated in the most economical imlanner at
the very least possible outlay.

The instructions are to work it until April next, and no longer, unless further
directed to do so.

There is to be a mixed train each way daily and no more. The Intercolonial
Railway is to provide the rolling stock as follows: viz.:-1 locomotive, 1 passenger car,
2 box cars, 2 platform cars. I snow plough and 1 flanger; for through business in freight,
of course, Intercolonial Railway cars will be employed as on other branch roads, or
roads connecting with the Intercolonial Railway. It is thought that the stations
could be occupied by section men upon same conditions as upon Intercolonial Railway.
Some section men will, of course, be required, but as there will only be one slow train
a day, it is thought you will consider a small number sufficient; they will be under
Mr. Rannie, roadmaster, of the Intercolonial Railway. If any further information is
necessary, please to ask me for it.

I am, yours truly,

COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER.
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EXHIBIT No. 6.

DEPARTMENT oF RAILWAYS AND CANALS,
OTTAWA, 12th February, 1897.

The General iManager of the Government Railways,
Moneton, N. B.

SIR,-I am directed to acknowledge the receipt of your letter (D-19624) of the
6th instant, covering a report from Mr. Archibald, dated the 4th February, on sone
matters in regard to the road-bed and structures of the Baie des Chaleurs Railwav,
In reply, I am to state that the department is of opinion that the operation of the road
should not have been undertaken until all was safe. The government only undertake to
operate it until April, and only such repairs should be made as are necessary to keep it
in a safe condition to that date.

I am, sir, your obedient servant,

JNO. H. BALDERSON,
Secretary,

EXHIBIT No. 7.

DEPARTMENT OF RAILWAYS AND CANALS,
OTTAWA, 29th May, 1897.

D. PorTINrER, Esq.,
General Manager, Government Railways,

Moncton, N.B.

SIR,-By direction, I have to inform you that intimation has been received fron
the Atlantic and Lake Superior Railway Company of their intention to resume, on the
lst of June next, the working of the Baie des Chaleurs section of their railway.

I am to instruet you, accordingly, to hand over the said section to the company on
the night of the 31st instant, first removing all government property that may be
thereon.

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
L. K. JONES,

Acting Secretary.

EXHIBIT No. 8.

INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY OF CANADA.

OFFICE OF THE GENERAL MANAGER,
MONCTON, N.B., 21st July, 1897.

C. SCHREIBER, Esq., C.M.G.,
Deputy Minister and Chief Engineer, Railways and Canals,

Ottawa, Ont.

DEAR SIR,-Herewith I send you on duplicate accounts in connection with the
operating of the Baie des Chaleurs Railway, and a letter from Mr. Williams, dated 21st
July. asking that a cheque be sent to pay the Intercolonial Railway this amount which
is now outstanding in the open accounts.

Your obedient servant,

D. POTTINGER.
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MEMORANDUM.

FRoNI TREASURER'S OFFICE, INTERCOLONIAL 1AILWAY,
MONCTON, N.B, 2lst July, 1897,

To D. POTTINGER, Esq.,
General Manager.

Herewith please find classified statements of expenses and receipts from operating
Baie des Chaleurs Railway, to 31st May last.

Incorporated into maintenance of way is the $1,351.52 .originally charged to Mr.
Perron or Baie des Chaleurs Railway Company, for expenditure incurred in putting
track in shape to be operated.

T. WILLIAMS.

MEMORANDUM.

FRO3M TREASURER'S OFFICE, INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY,
MONCTON, N.B., 21st July, 1897.

To D. POTTINGER, Esq.,
General Manager.

Attached please find account (in duplicate) for loss on operating and maintaining
Baie des Chaleurs Railway to 31st May, 1897, chargeable to vote in Departnent of
Railwavs and Canals, " Baie des Chaleurs Railway, operating and maintaining,
$18,500." (See Supply Bill page 13.)

T. WILLIAMS.

As the Intercolonial Railway accounts for July will have to be kept open to take
in above amount, it is desirable that cheque should be sent by department as soon as
possible. T. W.

TREASURER'S OFFICE, INTERCOLONIAL RAItwAY,
MONCTON, 21st July, 1897.

Department of Railways and Canals, Ottawa,
To the Intercolonial Railway, Dr.

1897.-30th June. To loss on operating Baie des Chaleurs Railway to 31st May,
1897.

Working Expenses-
Locomotive power ............ .S............6,198 00
Car expenses ......... . . ................... 2,503 28
Maintenance way and works ................ .9,149 21
Station expenses................. . ...... .. .792 25
General charges ................. 37 23

--- $18,679 97
LEss- Revenue Accrued-

Passenger trafflic....... ............. ..... .$3,079 91
Freight traffic...... ... ..... .. .. ......... 3,617 87
Mails and sundries ......... ............ 27 30

- 6,725 08

811,954 89
T. WILLIAMS,

Chief Acet. and Treas.

Approved for payment in as far as the appropriation of $18,500 will permit.
Ottawa, 26 July, 1897.

C. SCHREIBER.
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BAIE DES CHALEURS RAILWAY.

STATEMENT of Operating Expenses and Receipts to 31st May, 1897.

WORKING EXPENSE,. REVENUE.

MONrIIS. Main- E
Lo-Car Ex ,taiiianceeiTtl Freight

ti e arngrinanceTotal. .engr Total.
Po er. es of- Traffie.Power. W c.

s cts. s ets. 8 ets. ets. ' cts. 8 ets. ets s ets. et.

Novemiber, 189; . . . . . ......... 338 94 ..... ...... 338 94 ...........
December, 1896. . 57 . 432 67 430 67
Jaruary, 1897.... 1,141 205 52 2,470 17 125 28 ...... 4 244 17 524 1l 783 20 6 0) 1,313 31
February, 1897, .1,139 54 467 76 851 941244 17 2,703 41 671 35, 527 07 3 00 1,201 42
March, 1897.... 1,629 36 580 98 1,781 02173 01 .... 4, 164 37 68099 70 7 7 8

i. ... 1,388 77
April. 1897 ...... 1,142 03 474 83 1,601 00:148 50 . .. 3,3» 36 735 39 1,028 311. 1,763 70
May, 1897... . 1,145 87 472 19 1,673 47,101 2 9 37 23 3,430 05 468 07 571 51 18 30 1,057 88

Totals. ... 6,198 00 2,503 28 9,149 21 792 25 37 23 18,679 970 3,079 91 3,617 87' 27 30 6,725 08

TREASURER'S OFFICE,
INTERCOLONIAL R AILWAY,

21st July, 1897.
T. WILLIAMS,

Chief Accountant and Treasurer.

EXHIBIT No. 9.

INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY OF CANADA.

OFFICE OF THE GENERAL MANAGER,
MONCTON, N.B., l9th May, 1898.

C. SCIIREIBEE, Esq., C...G.,
Deputy Minister and Chief Engineer,

Railways and Canals,
Ottawa, Ont.

DEAR SI,-In response to your telegraph message to-day, I beg to send herewith
copies of the freight and passenger tarifs of the Atlantic and Lake Superior Railway
in effect when the Baie des Chaleurs lRailway was taken over to be operated by the
government, and which tariffs were used during the time the railway was operated by
the government. The freight tariff vou will notice is entitled "Through Freight Tariff,"
but the local rates are shown on page No. 2, and the through rates to Quebec, Point
Lévis, and Montreal, Halifax, and St. John, are shown on page No. 3.

Your obedient servant,

D. POTTINGER,
per T. E.
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(Copy of Telegram.)

MONCTON, N.B., 1sth May, 1898.
C. SCHRE1BEJR, Ottawa.

The rates charged on the Baie (les Chaleurs Railway whven it was operated by the
government were not the same as charged on the Intercolonial Railway. The rates
charged on the Baie des Chaleurs Railway during the time it was operated by the
government were according to the tariffs of the Atlantic and Lake Superior Railway
Company, at the timie the governnent took the railway over to operate it.

D). PO TTING4ER.

(Copy ot Telegram.)

MONCTON, 24th May, 1898.
ID. POTTINGER, Ottawa.

The passenger tariff of the Atlantic and Lake Superior Railway sent to Mr.
Schreiber in letter of the 19th of May is higher than the Intercolonial Railway passen-
ger tarif. The freight tariffs of the Atlantic and Lake Superior Railway sent to Mr.
Schreiber at the saine time is in some instances higher and in somne instances lower
than the Intercolonial Railway. Freight rates that are higher and those that are lower
show about ten per cent of the Intercolonial Railway rates to be lower.

T. EVANS.
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NO. 2.-ATLANTIC AND LAKE SUPERIOR RAILWAY
FRE[GHT TARIFF BET\WEEN METAPEDIA AND ALL
STATIONS.-IN EFFECT 15TH DECEMBER, 1897.

THROUGH
A. & L. S. R.

This tarif s-1perc'des al] other freiglit ttriff.t, exo>pt mt.ximum general freight taritf. Governed by
Canadian joint freight classification, and subject to change with or without notice.

This tariff to be use ini connetion with freight to andi from paints on I. C. R., &c., and not for locaI
shipmients. Bill on Metapedia and show destination beyond.

NOTE.-NO single shi pment wiill be taken at less than 100 pounds first-class rate. Minimunn charge, 35 cents.

Bletween
MIe.tap edita andI

* iopel.....
Cross Point .... ... .
Oak Bav . ..........
*Escunminae. ..
*Nouvelle West .....

Nouvelle .. . .......
Carleton . .........
-G iroux ... .......
Maria ..
Cascapedia ....
New Richmnond... ..
Black Capes...
Caplin River..........
C>aplii...............
Bonaventure ...... ..
New Carlisle ...... ...

Classes in Cents per 100 Pouinds.

6

10

119

i3
14
14
15 I
17
18
19
19
21
23

4 3634

5 .5 55 5 5
6; 5t 51

7
7 f; t1!

9 7 7
.0 8 8
0 8 8>.'
1 9 9'
3 11 10>
4 12 11.1
5 13 12>
5 13 12>
7 15 14«>
9 17 1,5

9 10

31 2

4 3
4 3
5 4,

6 5',
7 6>

7 7
7 7
8 71
9 8
9 9

10 9
10 9
12 i1
13 il

Flag stations. No agent. "Freight mnust be prepaid.

These rates are exclusive of cartage at B. C. R. stations. Bulk freight. such as grain, potatoes, coal,
sand, gravel, lime, &c., will not be taken in less than car load lots, unless done np in boxes, bags or barrels.
Freight taking tif th to tenth.class rates (inclusive) will be loaded and unloaded by shippers or consignee.
Dynamite, dualine, gun cotton, giant powder or other explosives, will be accepted for transportation by
special contract only.

To arrive at througb rates to Quebec, Point Lévis, Lévis, Halifax, St. John, add arbitrators as shown
in scale below.

Quebec, Point Lévis and Lévis.

Montreal.

Halifax.

St. John, N. B.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

33 29 21 15 14 14 122 13 13 121

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

50 39 29 26 24 23 20 21 22 18

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

37 32 24 19 18 1 13.' 14 14 131

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

33 28 20 15 14 14 121 12j 14 12

J. ROBINSON,
Manager.

C. N. ARMSTRONG,
Managing Director.

J. H. CASSIDY,
F. & P. 4qent.

A. 1898
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3 9

31 93> 9
4 11
4 12
5 12
5 13
5> 15

5> 15
6 16
6 16-
6 18
7 i
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APPENDIX No. 2C

COMMITTEE ROoM,
OTTAWA, Tuesday, 31st May, Is98.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts beg leave to present the follow
ing as their Seventh Report:-

Your committee have had under cunsideration the accounts, vouchers and other
papers in counection with the expenses of the engineering staif of the Soulanges Canal,
as set forth on pages R-13 and 14 of the report of the Auditor General for the vear
ended 3Oth June, I897, and in connection therewith have examined witnesses under
1 atih, and for the information of the House report herewith the evidence given by such
witnehsses and the exhibits filed in relation thereto : and vour committee recommend
that the said evidence and exhibts be printed.

AIl which is respectfully submitted.

JAS. \lc.IULLEN,
Chairman.
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Public Accounts Committee.

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE.

COMMITTEE Room, Tuesday, 17th May, 1898.

Committee met, ,Mr. McMullen in the chair.

Mr. THOMAS MONRO was called, sworn and examined:-

By Mr. Taylor:

Q. What is your occupation ?-A. I an a civil engineer.
Q. Are you superintending engineer of the Soulanges Canal ?-A. Yes.
Q. Where are your headquarters ?-A. At Coteau Landing.
Q. Are you engaged there now ?-A. Yes.
Q. I find in the Public Accounts presented before this coinrnittee the following

account:

COTEAU LANDING, 2nd June, 1897.

The Department of Public Works to Thos. Monro, C.E., Dr.
1897. s ets.

May 6.. . Montreal and return, railroad fare, ineals, &c. .................. .. 5 5 0
do 7 £.Montreal and return, 83: Windsor Hotel, 86. .............. . . .. . 9 00
do 10. .Montreal and return, $3 : meals, 83 ........... .................... 6 00
do 12. .Coteau-Ottawa and cab, $3.50; 12th, 13th, R ussell, 86 .............. 9 50
do 13. . Ottawa-Coteau and cab, $3.50 ................................. 3 50
do 19.. Coteau-Ottawa, and cab, S3.50; meals, Ottawa and Montreal, S3..... .6 50
do 19. . Ottawa-Montreal, 84.50 ............ ................. ........ 4 50
do 20 . Montreal-Coteau, 81.50; 28th, trip to Montreal and return, 85.50 .. .. 7 00
do 30. .Fare, Coteau-Belleville, and sleeper, $8 ; meals, &c., 83 .............. 11-00
do 31. .Railroad fare Crookston-Belleville, 75c. ; fare Belleville-Montreal and

P ullm an, $9 ..... ............................. .......... 9 75
June 1.. Meals at lontreal, $3 ; fare Montreal to Vaudreuil, 81.25 and Pullman. 4 25

876 50
Certified correct, wholly incurred on public service.

THos. MoNRo.

Received payment,

THOS. MONRO.

Q. That account is correct in every particular ?-A. Yes, it is correct.
Q. Will you please tell me what the fare to Montreal and return from Coteau is?

-A. I cannot say.
Q. You have been paying it here all along. Don't you know what the regular fare

from Montreal to Coteau is 7-A. From Coteau to Montreal is $1.25.
Q. For a single ticket ?-A. Yes.
Q. What is it for a return ticket ?-A. I do not know.
Q. You always bought a single ticket when you had to go down ; you got a single

ticket each way and charged it in the account ?-A. Yes.
Q. What is the fare from Coteau to Ottawa 7-A. It is $2.55.
Q. And the same from Ottawa to Coteau 7-A. Yes.
Q. What is the return fare ?-A. I cannot tell you.

2c-li
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Q. You are coning and going every day and you bought single tickets each way
-A. I was not coming and going every day.

Q. It looks like it from the account. You bought a single ticket each wav. That
is your practice ?-A. Yes.

Q. Who is Mr. Grant ?-A. He is one of my assistants here.
Q. I find in his account that he bought a return ticket every trip lie made while

you charged full fare each way ? Did you have a pass on the Canada Atlantic Railway
in June, 1897 ?-A. Yes.

Q. And you travelled on it all the time ?-A. I did not travel on it at that time.
While I have that pass I have paid my fare.

Q. Had you a pass on the Grand Trunk ?-A. I had a pass only for part of the
year. I did not get a pass until some months had elapsed. I suppose vou are examin-
ing upon 1897.

Q. From June, 1896 to June, 1897. When did you get your pass froni the
Grand Trunk ?-A. I do not recollect. It was sometime two or three months after the
beginning of the year. They don't give passes on account of My position ; this was
simply a comiplinentary pass.

Q. When did you receive your pass from the Grand Trunk ?-A. I -annot say. I
do not recollect exactly when I received it.

Q. Have you any way of finding out ?-A. I suppose so, yes.
Q. Then did you have a pass over the Grand Trunk in June, 1897 '-A. Yes, I

think so.
Q. H ad you one over the Grand Trunk in May,1897 ?--A. I cannot saylthink I had.
Q. Had you one also on the Canada Atlantic ?-A. Yes.
Q. Now, then, you swear that in May and June, 1897, having a pass to travel over

both of these roads vou bought single tickets ?-A. I have bought tickets, I will not
say single tickets, but I have paid my fare while I had the pass in my possession.

Q. On every trip you iade?-A. I will not say on every trip.
Q. You will not say that ?--A. No, I will not say that.

By Sir Charl+s Hibbert Tupper :

Q. On the 6th of May did you actually pay that money out ?-A. I cannot say.
Q. You may have travelled on your pass ?-A. I will not say that ; I cannot swear.
Q. But vou must say one or the other ?-A. It is possible.
Q. And you certified this account as correct ?-A. Yes.
Q. Will you make the same remark as to each other charge in this account -- A.

No, there is just a possibility as to my being mistaken on one occasion or the other.
Q. On the 7th and 8th of May is there a possibility of your being mistaken ?-A.

No I will not say I will just give the evidence I have given, there is just a possibility
that I may have made a mistake in my account, and having a pass I may have paid
noney for my fare.

Q. On the 7th and Sth you charged fare to Montreal and return -83; will you
undertake to say that you paid that anount out of pocket?-A. I will not undertake
to say.

Q. On 10th May, Montreal S3 ; will you undertake to say that you paid that out?
-A. I will not.

Q. On 11 th May, Coteau to Ottawa and cab; will you undertake to say as to that?
-A. Do you mean the railway fare ?

Q. Yes.-A. I make a general statement that I cannot say that.
Q. You say that this is correct ?-A. No, I cannot say.
Q. Can you say that any one of these is correct ?---A. I believe so.
Q. Can you sav ?-A. I cannot, but that is what I believe.
Q. Why did you certify that they are correct ?-A. Because that was my belief at

the time.

By Mr. Lister:

Q. Is it your belief now ?-A. Yes.

A. 1898
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B'y Sir Charles Hibbert TuPper:

Q. I an asking you whether vou are in the habit of charging raila fares ou do
not pay for ?--A. No, I am not in the habit.

Q. You say there is a possibility of vour having done so ?-A. Yes, certainlv.
Q. But it is an exception? A. Yes.
Q. But you have done such a thing ?--A. Yes.

IBy fr. Lister:

Q. Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper asked you to say to-day iii the face of tihese accounts
whether you can swear you paid or not. You say you cannot ?-A. No.

Q. I understood you to say that you understood that to be correct '-A. Yes.

By Mr. Wood, (Brokrill )

Q. You say you cannot swear as to one single dollar of these fares being correct
A. Oh, ves, I ean.

Q. Tell us of one case. Are you in the habit of travelling on a pass; !-A Wel],
yes, I am.

Q. You only pay your fare on those roads wiere you have no pass A. I have
paid mv fare on those roads wlhere I have a pass.

Q. Will vou state one case in vour own personal experience where you did so A.
I can state a good many.

Q. Give me one ?-A. I cannot recollect the date.

By -Mr. Taylor :

Q. You came up on 6th May from Coteau to Ottawa ; have you a mttemttorandum
book ?-A. No.

Q. How long did vou remain in the city that day ?-A. T cannot tell you. On the
6th May of what year ?

Q. 1897 ?-A. I cannot tell yon.
Q. Did you pay the Russell House 83 for your hotel bill -- A. Not that day, but I

paid my bill when they sent it in. I always paid my bill at the Iussell.
Q. You say you paid it but I see no voucher ?-A. I always sent the vouchers.
Q. On the 7th and Sth of May then vou went to Monitreal. You have charged

Montreal and return S3. How long did you remtain there on the 7th and 8th ?--A. I
probably went there in the afternoon and came back next morning.

Q. Next morning ?-A. It might be in the niorning, it might be in the day ; I
cannot recollect.

Q. As near as you recollect, now, vou went down in the afternoon, and caine back
the next morning ?-A. I do not remember.

By Sir Charles Hibbert T?,ppe r:

Q. Did you keep an account of these items '-A. No ; I did not.
Q. So that you made up from memory this account ?-A. Perhaps fronm tN mîemnory:

I might have a few notes.
Q. Is that your general practice ?-A. With my personal accounts, yes.

By 3fr. Taylor :

Q. Can you remember if vou were more than a day in \Jontreal on the 7th and
8th of May ?-A. I cannot tell you.
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Q. Did you pay the Windsor Hotel $6 ?-A. Oh, certainly ; whatever the account
says I paid.

Q. There is no voucher, and we will find on the ledger account of the Windsor
Hotel S6 paid on that day ?-A. I presume so.

Q. You invariably bought single tickets each way ?-A. I have answered that
already.

Q. Did you not know that you could buy a return ticket at a reduced rate '-A. I
might have known, but I did not pay very much attention that way.

Q. I want you to tell me if you can give on which of these days that I have read
from this bill that you paid there 2-A. I cannot say that ; I cannot reply to that
question.

Q. Did vou pay your fare, or use a pass, on the 6th of May ?-A. I cannot answer
that question.

Q. Then you night have used your pass that day --A. Well, I do not see that I
am obliged to answer that question.

The CHAIRMAN (Mi. McMullen): Oh, yes, you are ; you are a public servant.

Jy fr. Taylor :

Q. I want to know whether you charged these fares and used your pass I-A. I
cannot answer that question.

Q. I)o you know who was the conductor on the train that day ?-A. No.
Q. The same conductors are there probably all the time. The sarne men travel

over that line, or are they changed ?-A. I cannot say that.
Q. Now, then, you say you have paid a fare between Coteau and Ottawa, having a

pass in your pocket at the same time ?-A Yes.
Q. Give us the dates on which you paid and travelled on your pass ?-A. I have

already said that I have paid.
Q. Did you in May, 1.897, buy a ticket ?-A. I cannot say.
Q. You cannot say whether in the month of May you paid for a ticket either way

-A. I cannot say.
Q. You may then have travelled on a pass during the entire month ?-A. I do not

think so.
Q. Might you have done so ?-A. I do not think so.
Q. Did you pay on any one occasion during that nonth ?-A. I cannot say.

By 1r. Haggart:

Q. I see an item here in the Auditor General's Report(R.-54) "-Thorold hydraulie
cenent in 12,107 jute bags of 130 lbs equal to barrels of 240 lbs net, 6,053½ barrels,
$7,02 2.06, do you know anything about that cement ?-A. What do you nean?

Q. That has been furnished to the Soulanges Canal -A. Of course I do.
Q. Where is it ?-A. In the sheds, principally.
Q. Did you ever try any of that cement ?-A. Yes.
Q. What sort is it ?-A. It is very poor.
Q. Is it fit to use at all on the canal ?-A. Well, I should think not.
Q. You have not allowed anv of it to go into the work have vou ?-A. Sone of it,

a small anount.
Q. About how much of it is down there ?-A. About 20,000 barrels.
Q. Did you ever make a report to me on the subject of Thorold cenent ?--A. Yes,

I think I have.
Q. To what effect ?-A. To the efiect that it was good cement. I told you it was

good cement. I recollect giving a written opinion to that effect. That was a cement
we used when I was engineer on the Welland Canal. It was undoubtedly good cement
of this kind, that is to say, native cenent.

A. 1898
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Q. Is it fit at all for the work on the Soulanges Canal.-A. Jly opinion is that it
is not fit.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. When was it bought ?-A. It began to be bought in April, 1897.
Q. And there is 20,000 barrels of it there ?-A. Yes.

By Ir. Wood:

Q. Where has it been used ?-A. Partly in the foundation for the entrance walls
at Coteau Landing.

Q. How nuch ?-A. I could not say, not a very large amount.
Q. Surely you nust have an approximate idea ?-A. I cannot say. A very small

amount.

By Mfr. Wallace :

Q. One hundred barrels 2-A. I should think so.

By Mr. Wod:

Q. Is it good cement ?-A. No.
Q. Is it fit for that purpose ?--A. No.

By Mfr. Mfacdonell :

Q. It is not the same cenent as used on the Welland Canal ?-A. No.
Q. It is inferior quality ?-A. Yes; so far as my experience goes.

B>y Mr. Bergeroi:

Q. Do you remember froin whon it was bought ?-A. James Battle, Tliorold.

By 3fr. Flint:

Q. Why did they stop using this cement on this canal ?-A. I have nothing to do
with that.

By Mr. Jfacdonell:

Q. Was that cement purchased by the govenrmeit or by the contractors ?-A. Al
cement used on the Soulanges Canal is purchased by the government.

By _1r. Foster:

Q. On whose report ?-A. I cannot say.
Q. Were you asked to report on it ?-A. No ;not previous to the contract

being let.
Q. Do you know what engineer was ?-A. I do not.

By 3fr. Macdonel:

Q. Are you in charge of that work ?-A. Yes.
Q. Naturally you would have authority to prevent the, use of that cement 3-A. I

would have power to object.
Q. Have you objected ?-A. Oh, yes.
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By Mr-. Taylor :

Q. You charge in your account railway fare from Coteau to Belleville, May 30,
and sleeper $8 did you pay your fare that day on the Grand Trunk to Belleville or
did you use your pass ?-A. I could not say ; of course the sleeper would be a separate
charge.

Q. But the fare on the G(rank Trunk ?-A. I could not tell, really.
Q. You charge in your account on the 31st May, fare from Belleville to Montreal

and Pullman, S9.75 ; did vou huy your ticket that day or did you use your pass ?-A.
I could not say.

Q. You niay have used your pass on both these occasions?-A. I will not deny
the possibility.

BJy Mfr. ~Somercille :

Q. low long have you been in the service of the governînent ?-A. For 38 vears.
Q. And have you been in the habit of charging railway fare when travelling on

passes before this ?-A. No.
Q. How long have you had a pass ?-A. I do not recollect.
Q. How long have you had a pass on the Canada Atlantic Railway ?-A. I

cannot say.
Q. Well, you can say pretty nearly ?-A. I cannot say pretty nearly.
Q. Have you had one for five years ?-A. I do not think so.
Q. For four years ?--A. I do not know, I am sure I cannot say.
Q. How long have you had a pass on the Grand Trunk ; had you a pass before

the present government came into power ?-A. I think I had.
Q. On the Grand Trunk ?-A. Yes.
Q. On the Canada Atlantic ?-A. Yes.
Q. And did you follow the same course in regard to paying fares f-A. I refuse to

answer that question. I cannot say.

By Ir. Beryeron :

Q. Mr. Monro, you are asked if you paid your fare on parlour cars ; you had no pass
on parlour cars ?-A. No.

Liy Ir. Macdonell, (Selkirk)

Q. The question is whether Mr. Monro got his pass as an officer of the government
or privately ?-A. I can assure you in both these cases I got my passes not as a public
officer. It was purely a personal thing. I have nothing to do as a canal engineer with
railways at all.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You do not claim to be entitled to more for travelling purposes than you are
out of pocket; vou do not claim the per diem rate ?-A. No, that is a question J am
not going to discuss.

By Sir Louis Daries

Q. Are you supposed to be allowed a mileage fee or just your actual disburse-
ments ?-A. The rule has just been that when you go fromN Montreal to any other place
you charge the fare to that place.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

,Q. Whether you pay it or not ?-A. That would be an entirely different question.
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Q. I understand you to say awhile ago, and that would e veot only excuse, what-
e. er it was worth, you might have put this in and you could not remnenmber whether
you spent it or not ?_-A. I do not recollect.

By Mi». Taylr:

Q. Here is your account for April. There are first two trips to Montreal and
return, 'th and 9th, at S5.50, which makes 1 1. Il th. " Coteau, Ottawa and enb, 23
Russell House, Ilth, 12th and 13th, two and a half days at 84, $10. 1:3ti, R ailw ay
fare, Ottawa to Coteau, S3.05. l9th, Coteau to Montreial, ;2.50 ;abs, 50 cents ;
meals, 83. 21st and 22nd, fare Coteau to Ottawa, '3.,5 ; Russell, S4 return, S3.05.
31st, fare Coteau to Ottawa, $3.05. 31st and lst April, Russeli, 88. 2nd April
Ottawa to Coteau and cabs, 3.50." Making in all, 57 .95. Did vOu disbuse that
month 85795 for the government ?-A. I cannot say, I cannot answ er that question.

Q. You narked the account " certified correct, all expenditure ineurred on govern
ment service ?'--A. I believed that at the tine.

Q. Do you believe it to-day.--A. Well, I Io.
Q. You will swear you disbursed all that mioney ?-A. No, but I will swear I made

mv accounts out to the best of imy ability. I will swear pretty l vely thiat I never ii;de
any money travelling ;I have always been out of pocket. It Nas never a source of
profit to me to travel at the public expense. I care nothing about mîoney. 1 liaxu
been in the service for thirty-eight vears, and no one can say I was guilty of a dision
ourable action. While I was on the Welland Canal twelve or thirteen millions of
dollars passed through my hands luring the whole time I was there, eiglteen years, and
there wvas no question about a cent of it ; but it has been reserved to this day that I
aim called before this committee for the Iurpose of incriminating myslf.

Q. We had a right to call you here, and the accounts are here ?-A. I will not
reflect on any one or be disrespectful.

Q. I want to ask you if you paid the Russell House $4 a day on the 1Itlh, i2tlh
and 13th ?-A. I believe I did mnost of the time.

Q. There is no voucher for it I do not think the Russell charge is $4 a day -- A.
Isn't it ?

Q. On the -th and 9th April did you pay railway fares aimeounting to 11 ?-A. I
cannot say. I wish to simply reiterate that answet to the same questions, that is to say,
that I cannot say.

Q. Then this account for 8.57.95, you cannot say whether you paid that money to
the railway companies or not ?-A. I cannot say.

By Sir Louis Davies :

Q. I want to ask one question arising out of what Mr. Somerville asked the wvit-
ness. Have you made any change in your mode of renclering accounts to the present
government from the mode in which you rendered vour accounts to the late govern-
ment ?-A. Not any.

Q. You have made the same charges to the late governinent as to the present gov-
ernient ?-A. Precisely the same.

By Sir Char!es Hilbert Tunpr:

Q. On what principle have you made them as to travelling expenses?-A. The
saine immature and inperfect principle that I have tried to des.cribe to you.

Q. Explain it again -- A. I an the most unbusinesslike of men ?
Q. What I mean to ask is on what principle are you going in regard to the ques-

tions being put to you. Are you going on the assumeption that yo have the right to
charge the allowance for accounts on the principle of cash paid out. On wlat have vou

gone for thirty years ?-A. If you ask my opinion about it--
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Q. I only want to know on what principle you make out your accounts, whether it
is on the prinÀple for'which some contend that you were entitled to charge something
at the rate of a fair allowance, or do you go on the principle that you are entitled to be
paid simply what you have paid out?-A. I cannot say.

Q. Would you say on your oath that you cannot say on what principle you have
gone ?-A. I have no principle about it.

By Mfr. Foster

Q. Did you ever hear of this Order in Council as governing the matter of payments
and consequently charges for travelling expenses, namelv, an Order in Council of Feb-
ruary 6th, 1893, page 26

" That all the previous Orders in Council relating to expenses and allowances for
travelling and living expenses to officers and employees, when travelling on the public
service be repealed, and that it be ordered that from the date of the passing of the order
founded hereon, there be paid to all officers (with the exception of the Lieutenant Gov-
ernor of the North-west Territories and the Major General commanding, the militia, and
the judges, who are otherwise provided for) travelling on public service for the govern-
ment of Canada, their actual, reasonable and living expenses ; that all advances made
to sucli officers for travelling expenses shall be accounted for within one imonth from the
conclusion of the trip ; that the officers shall render to the Department of Finance a
detailed statement of such expenses, and that a certificate be attached to all accQunts
for travelling as follows; signed in each case by the officer who bas incurred the expenses

The whole of the expenditure was incurred on government business.'

Q. Did you ever hear of that Order in Council as regulating the charges and pay-
ments for travelling expenses ?-A. I did not.

By Sir Louis Daries :

Q. That Order in Council was never comnmunicated to you from 1893 up to now
A. I do not think so.

By Mr. Somerv ille

Q. You are engaged on the Soulanges Canal ?-A. Yes.
Q. When you go to Montreal on business what have you to do there in regard to

canals. Do you go to make pu-chases or not ?--A. I go there for a good many reasons.
The cement is delivered there and we have some work in Montreal at times.

Q. What kind of work ?-A. We have been doing bridge work at Lachine, and we
have been getting very large castings, ten feet in diameter, at Ives' foundry.

Q. Have vou to superintend the castings ?-A. Mr. Chairman, I most respectfully
submit that any criticisn of this kind, after having my account examined by the chief
engineer seems to be rather extraordinary. I have conformed to the rules of the depart-
nient ; if J had not I suppose my accounts would have been returned to me.

Q. This comnmittee lias a right to get all the information they choose from you.
You are an officer of the government and we are here for the purpose of getting infor-
mation in regard to your accounts. You must not get on your high horse here because
that will not do ?- A. 1 never do that anyway, sir.

Q. When you go to Montreal as superintendent what is your business there ?-A.
I have business in connection with the department.

Q. In regard to castings ?- A. Yes.
Q. The castings I suppose were made at the foundry and they have to be accepted

by you as engineer ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you go there for the purpose of examining them ?-A. Yes, and for other

purposes.
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Q. What other purposes ?-A. My duties in connection with ny position as the
engyineer superintending the canal.

Q. What are they 9-A. There is the purchase of cement. The agents of the
cement companies are at Montreal.

Q. Well, this cement, I understand, is ordered to be delivered A. We have now
contracts for 127,000 barrels of Portland cement and all the agents are at Montreal. I
have to see these agents in regard to the delivery and other things.

Q. Do you test the cement when you buy it ; is it delivered at the works and
tested there ?-A. At what works ?

Q. Where vou are working at the canal ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is where you test it?-A. Yes. We do not test it at 3'1ontreal.

By Mlr. Huyhes :

Q. Don't vou test it by sample before you buy it ?-A. No ; we buy it under a
specification, and if it is not up to the specification it can be rejected.

By 1r. Somervle :

Q. As I understand, the cement is tested on the work ?-A. Yes.
Q. So you do not go to Montreal to test the cemient -A. I go there to give orlers

to the agents.

By JIfr. Clarke:

Q. Is the cenent tested at Montreal ?-A. No; it is tested on the vorks. 1 go
there to give orders and say how it is to be distributed on the canal.

By Mr. Somerville :

Q. You do not buy the cement ?-A. No ; the government buys it.
Q. But does the government buy it through you ?-A, No ; the governiment buys

it through these people who are the agents for Belgian, German and other cenents.

B'y 11r. Clarke:

Q. Are they buving any Canadian cement ?-A. No, there is no Canadian cenent
contracted for nov.

Q. Cement is being made near Owen Sound. Have you purchased any of that
A. No ; it is very good cement, though.

By 11r. Clancy :

Q. You say you kept no nenorandun book of your expenses A. No.
Q. How then do you make out these accounts ?-A. I make them out at the end of

every month.
Q. And send thern to the department? A. Yes.
Q. On what do you base vour accounts at the end of the month, since you keep no

memorandum book ?-A. I base therm on my movenents. They are known to my staff
who recollect every month.

Q. Have you a comparatively good memory ?-No ; I have a poor memory.
Q. A bad menory ?-A. Not a bad menory, but a rather poor memory.
Q. Can you trust to your menory to say whether you went to Montreal on the 6tli

May ?-A. Now.
Q. No, but that vou have gone ?-A. Certainly.
Q. It was clear in vour mind that at the time you made that up you went to

Montreal on the 6th Mav ?-A. Yes.
Q. Was it perfectly clear whether you paid your fare or used your pass on that

occasion ?--A. I could not say.
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B'y 1/r. Clarkie:

Q. Don't vou think it would be a business proposition in the future when you are
taking a trip to Montreal and return to buy a returin ticket ?-A. Yes.

Witness discharged.

COMMITTEE BOOM, 20th MaV, 1898.

Committee met ; Mlr. McIullen in the chair.

Mr. A. R. G. HEWARD was called, sworn and examined.

By the Minister of Marine and Fisheries

Q. You are a clerk in the Canadian Pacifie Railway A. Yes, sir.
Q. And you have charge of and knowledge of passes issued by that companv to

differpnt persons in Ottawa ?-A. I countersign all annual passes.
Q. Can you state to the committee what passes were issued by the Canadian

Pacific Railway for the past two or three years to any member of the Civil Service of
Canada r-A. i have brought up the statement with me of the passes issued.

Q. Produce it.-A. That is the statement ; that covers just the current year, and
is practically on the same lines as previous years.

B)y M. Taylor:

Q. Have you also a statenent of passes to members of the public service not inem-
bers of the Civil Service ?-A. That was not called for. The letter cails for me to give
evidence with respect to those officials of the Civil Service of Canada who have passes.

By the Minisfer of Marinw (nd Fisheries:

Q. Do you know any distinction between an engineer of a canal and a member of
the Civil Service !-A. I would consider him one ; it is made up on that basis.

By Mfr. Wood (Brock'rille) :

Q. I see you have customs officiais here '-A. Railway, customs and post office
passes are exchange.

By the Ministr of Ilariie and Fisheries

Q. This is for the current year ?-A. Yes.
Q. Was it the same in previous years?-A. Yes.
Q. How many years has this practice prevailed ?-A. With regard to private sec-

retaries of Ministers ?
Q. No, with regard to the public officials ?-A. Well, ever since I have had any-

thing to do with the business, it has.
Q. How long is that ?-A. Nine vears.
Q. Then, since, the practice has been to issue passes to the persons named in these

lists, or practically the same persons ?-A. Practically the same persons. But you will
notice that nearly the first two pages of the two and a half pages are taken up with
post office and Canadian Government Railways and a few customs officials ; well, these
are in the nature of exchange.

Q. The first eleven of the first page are to customs officials, and the rest to post
office officials, a page and a half.-A. The railways are given these in the samie way as
we would give them to the Grand Trunk officials; it is an exchange to railway officials.

Q. These you look on in the nature of exchange ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Wallace :

Q. Does that apply te mail clerks ?-A. Mail clerks do not, but the post office
department have passes for inspectors ; for other officials like mail clerks, they travel in
their cars, and have no passes.
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Q. And when not on duty they pay their fares like any one else ?-A. Yes.

Ly the Minister of' M1arine and Fisheriec

Q. You will leave this statement with us '-A. Yes.

By Ifr. Foster r

Q. Has there been any change of late iii the mnatter of giving passes Vo private
secretaries ?-A. I think in 1897 it became more general to give to the private secretaries
of ministers limited passes.

Q. What dlo you mean by that ?-A. They do not cover the whole systen.

BJy Zr. W7ood (Brockrile):

Q. Did any of thei get such passes before ?-A. Some of then did always Ihe
secretary of the Minister of Railways hu d one, but that cones under the head of rail-
wav exchange.

By 3fr. Foster:

Q. And no other secretaries 1-A. I wont sav that a few got them-those who
travelled more than others, but the policy n1ow is to give Iiiisters' secretaries passes

By 3fr. Tay/or:

Q. That is the policy now ?-A. Yes.
Q. Does the name of Mr. Thos. Monro, engineer of the Soulanges Canal, appear

on that list ?-A. Mr. Monro's naine does not appear.

By 1fr. Macdooei :
Q. Does this include your whole systei ?-A. I issue ail the passes of this kiid.

i issue them inyself at the instance of the president.
Q. Does this include the passes all over the entire system ?-A. Yes vou wii

notice in the last colunn the territory that these passes are for is given. Easternl
lines" means east of Fort William.

B'y fr. Foster:

Q. Are these passes given as a matter of course at the beginning of the year or
are they applied for ?-A. The customs passes are applied for by the controller of
custons, and the postai passes by the deputy head of the post office, and the railway
passes are applied for by Mr. Schreiber.

Q. And with reference to the others ?-A. With regard to the iimînigrationî passes,
and you will notice a great many of these, they are given also through the deputy head
of thé department ; application comes fron the deputy head of the department.

Q. And with reference to the others ?-A. Of course there are a few sundry passes
in the list given in exchange really for courtesies received by our officials-Judge
Clark, Ir. Drinkwater and various others froin the officers of the government who very
frequently after hours put themselves to a great deal of trouble and show us a great
deal of courtesy. By way of recipocrating we grant thei these limited passes in order
that they may travel on their holidays, etc.

By Mr. Vood (Brockville) :

Q. That is for favours received ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Louis Davies :

Q. That last observation of yours may be taken to apply generally here, and it
uuay do great injustice to a large number of men. There is a large number there who
cannot be taken to give services to officials of your company.-A. How do you inean, sir'?
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By Mr. Foster:

Q. What'is that last pass on the list? B 1280, John Sheridan ?-A. Live stock
commissioner.

Q. And Hon. is for Hon. or Honorary ?-A. lonorary ; live stock commissioner.

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q. You do not mean that remark of yours to apply for instance to any of these
passes issued to officials in the post office department ?-A. My last remark applies only
with regard to the last few names on the list.

Q. I would rather you would single out who these are rather than make a general
observation like that ?-A. As I have said, the post office, customs and railway passes
are given in a general exchange and the immigration passes, they are issued at the appli-
cation of the deputy for immigration business, and then of course you have also got my
answers with regard to the secretaries to ministers, and I said that those on the last
page, practically those on the last page, there were a few passes that were given to officers
who had put themselves out in one way or another after business hours, etc., and had
extended courtesies to Judge Clarke, Mr. Drinkwater and others.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. Do you know who Mr. John Sheridan is ?-A. I find him described here as live
stock commissioner.

By kr. Foster:

Q. Do you know who applied for him ?-A. I presume our freight department;
probably he has to do with the examination of freight cars for stock going through to
the old country, in quarantine, etc.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper

Q. It is a late appointment, is it not '-A. It is a recently issued pass, so I presume
it 18.

Witness discharged.

Mr. F. H. CHRYSLER being called, made the following statement to the
committee

Mr. Fleck was obliged to leave town and he gave me a list of passes issued and
asked me to attend the committee.

Being sworn he testified as follows:-

By Sir Louis Davies :

Q. Will you kindly state to the committee why you are present ?-A. The secretary
of the company in answer to the suminons said there was no official having special
charge of the subject of passes ; that is the request in the summons, and he prepared a
list of those to whom passes are given, in accordance with the summons, and he asked
me to bring it up and lay it before the committee.

Q. Will you produce it?
The witness produced statement.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. These are all passes used now in the civil service ?-A. In the civil service.
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By Mr. Macdonell:

Q. What do you understand civil service to iean !-A. All employees of the gov-
ernment.

By 3fr. Fielding:

Q. You do not mean it to be restricted in accordance with the terns of the act, but
to apply to all government officials ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper

Q. Does that list apply to three years ago !--A. I think it applies to the present
year.

By 3r. Talor:

Q. This is the Canada Atlantic ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper ;

Q. Are you able to say I do not suppose you are ; but would like to know for cer-
tain on what principles these are given. You heard the last vitness state the practice
followed on the C.P.R. ?-A. No, I cannot say that.

Q. These are not on the ground of application by the deputy head ?-A. These are
the only passes, I think.

Mr. WILLIAM WAINWIRIGHT, being called and sworn, testified as follows:

By the iinister of Marine and Fisheries:

Q. Mr. Wainwright, will you produce a list of the passes granted by the Grand Trunk
to the officials of the government over the Grand Trunk Railway ?-A. I will produce
a list of passes handed to me by the General Manager's assistant of passes issued offici-
ally, called for, to the government officials.

Q. 1 see this list purports to divide the nanies into departments. First, there is the
Post Office Department, and at the head it states "requested by R. M. Coulter," so 1
presume they were granted on his request ?-A. Yes.

Q. Then there is the Customs Departinent " requested by J. McDougald, Coi-
missioner " ; those were issued at his request -- A. Yes.

Q. Next is the Interior Department-one granted on the application of Mr. Smart
and the others at the request of the assistant secretary, Mr. Pereira ; Department of
Agriculture, requested by Mr. Scarth and Mr. Robertson ?-A. Yes.

By MIr. Taylor :

Q. That list I presume is for the current year ?-A. Yes.

By the Minister of Marine and Fisheries :

Q. Passes for the Departinent of Railway are requested by Mr. Schreiber and one
by Mr. Pottinger ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Mr. Monro said he had been in the habit of receiving one on the Canada Atlantic
and one on the Grand Trunk, that is not on the list ?-A. That was granted to him
privately, not as an official. Hearing that the question was as to his receiving a pass I
looked it up and found out that he had a pass.
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By Ir. Taylor:

Q. But he has a pass ?-A. I believe so, personally.

By thte ilinister oJfcMrine and Fisheries :

There are other passes existent which were not granted at the request of depart-
mental heads or deputies not int his list ?-A. That is the list given me. I believe there
are other complimentary passes. We did not understand the request of the committee
to refer to any passes issued as complimentary.

Q. Where sent on the request of the heads of departments they are here, but where
sent as personal they are not here c-A. That is so.

Q. You have ino objection to produce a list such as the Canada Atlantic and Can-
adian Pacifie have done, embracing complimentary passes ?-A. I could not say that
without consultation with my general manager. I do not know that passes issued as a
niatter of courtesy or personally are officiai. Of course, if the committee has a right to
deniand this, we shall have to do it. We did as requested by Mr. Robidoux's letter, but
there are others. I found out that Mr. Monro had a pass granted to him by the courtesy
of a brother engineer.

Q. I would ask you, Mr. Wainwright, to send a full list ?-A. Of course we looked
on that as referring to oticial requests, not personal passes. I made inquiries about Mr.
Monro and I fournd it was obtained for him bv a brother engineer on the road and was
not officia] in any respect.

Q. Then I take it you will produce a list of all passes granted on personal solicita-
tion -A. or without solicitation at ail, because there have been such issued.

jy Mr. Taylor :

Q. I see one naine on here requested by the Hon. J. I. Tarte, "George W. W.
Dawson, General Agent ' is he in the Public Works Department do you know !-A I do
not know him, I do not know who he is.

Witness discharged.

Ml. JonV CA\IPHELL, being cadied and sworn, testified as follows:-

]y Afr. Taylor:

Q. What is vour occupation A. Conductor.
Q. Where ?-A. On the Canada Atlantic Railway.
Q. Where do you reside ?-A. Ottawa.
Q. What train do you run i-A. No. 1 and No. 4.
Q. That is from Ottawa to Coteau and return A. Yes.
Q. How long have you been running this train ?-A. For the last seven or eight

vars.
Q. Are you acquainted with Mr. Monro, superintending engineer of the Soulanges

Canal -A. Yes. sir.
Q. During the months of April, May and J une of 1897, do you rernember Mr.

Monro travelling over the road frequently 9-A. I was not in the train service those
months.

Q. I thought you said you were on the train for seven or eight years.-A. For
seven nonths last vear 1 was in the city.

Q. Who was in charge of the train h-A. Conductor Whitman.
Q. Were vou there in August, 1896?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do vou renember Mr. Monro travelling on the road during the month of

August, 1896 ?-A. I could not say.
Q. You do not remember ?- A. No.
Q. Do you remember in 1896 and 1897 of his travelling over the road ?-A. He

has been on the train, but I do not remember how often.
Q. On what did he travel, a ticket or pass ?-A. As a rule, on a pass

1 f6
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Q. Were there exceptions?-A. Not that I remember of.
Q. Invariably on a pass ?-A. I think so.
Q. You do not reinember himu ever travelling on a ticket tiat year ?A. No, sir;

not that I have any recollection of.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tuipper:

Q. Where vas lie in the habit of going on the traii ?-A. Well, soretinies he
would cone to the city here ;he was genirally up and dowi between liere and Coteau.

Q. You knew his business ?-A. Oi, yes, engineer of the canals.
Q. Coming from work and going back ?-A. Yes.

By Mfr. Taylor:

Q. Who was in charge of the train while you were off?-A. Fron January 1st,
1897, to August, Whitman was.

Q. Where cioes Whitman reside ?-A. In Ottawa.

By Sir Charles libbert iupper:

Q. What is his full naine ?-A. Harry Whitman ?

By Mr. Taylor.:

Q. Then front June, 1896, to January, 1897, you were in charge ? A. Yes, sir.
Q. And during tiese ionths you remember MNr. Monro having travelled frequently

over the road ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. During these mnontis, fron June, 1896, to Januarv lst, 1897, vou never knew

Mr. Monro to present a ticket, but he always travelled on a pass?-A. No, sir ; not
that J remember of.

Q. What is the single fare fron Ottawa to Coteau ?- A. $2.55.
Q. And what is the return?-A. Tiese are sold at stations.

By M1r. Macdonell (Selkirk):

Q. The fare is ten cents more on the train A. Yes.
The committee adjourned.

HOUSE OF COMNMONS,
CoMInTrrEE RooM 19, 25th M aV, 1898.

TRAVELLING EXPENSES OF THIOS. M>ONRO, C.E.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock a.n., Mr. McMullen, chairian, presiding.

Mr. J. H. WHITMAN, being called and sworn, testified as follows

By Mfr. Taylor:

Q. What is your name ?--A. Joseph Henry Whitman.
Q. What is your occupation?- A. Conductor.
Q. On what road ?-A. Well, J amn on the Parry Sound just now, but it is the

Canada Atlantic and Parry Sound.
Q. On what road were you during the months of April, May and June, 1897?-A.

I was on the Canada Atlantic.
Q. Running from here to where ?-A. Montreal.
Q. Are you acquainted with Thomas Monro, engineer of the Soulanges Canal ?-

A. Yes.
Q. Did he have a pass over your road in these months A. Yes,

17
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Q. Did he travel with you several times during these months ?-A. Yes ; he came
up once or twice a week.

Q. Did he ever use a ticket ?-A. Not that I know.
Q. He always used a pass ?-A. Yes.
The witness was discharged.
The committee adjourned.

HOUSE OF CoMMoNs, Friday, May 27th, 1898.

The committee met at 10 o'clock a.m., Mr. MeMullen, chairnan, presiding.
Mr. F. X ST. JACQUES, sworn, was examined as follows

By -Mr. Taylor:

Q. You are the proprietor of the Russell Hotel, are you ?-A. Yes.
Q. The account you furnished to the committee marked "J ," is the account of

Thomas Monro, superintending engineer of the Soulanges Canal during the period from
July lst, 1896, until June 30th, 1897 ; is that a correct copy of charges made in your
books '.--A. It is correct.

Q. That covers the full period ?--A. Yes. May I take the liberty of drawing the
attention of the committee to a certain thing. [n charging Mr. Monro $1.75, it was
not correct any more than be paid so much a month with the understanding that he
occupied a room at the hotel, and I charged Mrs. MLonro probably in excess of what I
would have charged otherwise. I could not tell what the proportion is any more than
that she paid so much a day, and when be came it made it so much less because be
occupied the same room.

The witness was discharged.

THoNmAs MONRO, recalled.

THE CHAIRMAN-Mr. Monro, there bas been some more evidence in reference to
the subject on which you were examined before the committee. For instance, Mr. St.
Jacques bas handed in a document whicb he bas sworn to as the charges written up in
his books from day to day against you, and there is some other evidence. We will hear
anything you have to say now, or you can look over the bill and see the evidence, and
wait until Monday to make your statement.

Mr. MONRo-I think I should prefer to wait until Monday.
The committee adjourned.

HOUSE OF CoM-MONS, 31st May, 1898.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock a.m., Mr. McMullen, chairman, presiding.

Mr. F. X. ST. JACQUES, being sworn, testified as follows:-

By Mr. Cowan :

Q. I believe you made a statement the other day concerning some moneys paid you
for lodging or board by Mr. Monro. Did that include all the moneys paid !-A. I
simply charge him for his board there, but he is paying for his room right along. Mr.
Monro is charged for his board for the time he is there, but lie is paying for his room.

Q. So the figures given by you were for board only, exclusive of room I-A. Yes.
Q. And other accommodations ?-A. And other accommodations.
Q. Would $4 a day be a reasonable charge for the accommodations received hy

Mr. Monro ?-A. I often charge $4 a day for such a room as he occupied with baths
and everything in it.

Q. What would you say as to $4 a day being the actual expense of Mr. Monro
while stopping at the Russell House ?-A. For a room such as Mr. Monro very often
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occupies on the first floor, with a bath and such things, I would charge $4 a day for any
transient guest.

Q. So that you think a charge for expenses of $4 a day was actually spent by Mr.
Monro ?-A. Well, he spent more than that there.

By Mr. Taylor :

Q. Mrs. Monro was occupying a room, was she, at the hotel ?--A. Most of the
time she does.

Q. The room was rented for Mrs. Mlonro ?-A. Yes; lie occupies a room there
with her.

Q. You stated here the other day that "14-k days' board, Mrs. Munro, $36.25,"
included room ?-A. Yes.

Q. That both of them occupied ?-A. No, they do not always occupy the same room.
Q. When she is there ?--A. Yes, when she is there.
Witness discharged.

Mr. THOMAS MUNRO, sworn, testified as follows:-

By Mr. Cowan :

Q. I understand that Mr. Munro simply wants to make a statement to the coin-
mittee ?-A. AIl i want to (o is to state most enphatically that in regard to any sums
charged by me for living expenses in connection with my duties as a public otieer, I
am not fully paid for my expenses; I am always a little out. Further it appears to me
that the sum of $4 a day is a reasonable sum for an officer in my position, being as I
understand it not any more than is allowed to commercial travellers travelling for large
Montreal houses in the interests of their concerns, I must simply say to the connittee
that J am in a very awkward position. For 38 years J have been an ohicer of the
Department of Public Works and afterwards of the Department of Railways and Canails
and in that time I have had important trusts and a large amount of public money lias
passed through my hands,-millions of dollars-and this is now the first time that any
attempt has been made to find fault with my character. I cannot imagine how the
gentleman who bas undertaken this investigation can be actuated by any principle
except what, I suppose, be conceives to be a public duty, in conducting this investigation
against me because I have not the honour of his acquaintance. J have never had any
relations with him until I met him at this committee. With tliese remarks I would
throw myself as an officer of long standing upon the good feeling and sen-e of justice of
this committee.

By Mfr. Foster:

Q. I hope Mr. Munro will not think any of these investigations are carried on
against individuals. A member of the committee goes over the accounts; he sees what
he thinks are irregularities and it is his duty to inquire about them ?- A. No, sir, I am
not making any charge of that kind at all.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. There is no member of this committee who bas any desire to persecute you in
any way or to single you out. However, when the accounts were brought before this
committee it was the duty of the comnittee to investigate them thoroughly. I for one
believe that $4 a day is too much ; I do not think that there is any comparison to be
made between your position and that of a commercial traveller representing a large
wholesale house in Montreal, because it is expressly understood between a commercial
traveller and his employer that he is to spend a good deal of money in entertaining his
custoniers. You are not. I sometimes stop at the Windsor, at Montreal, and I find it
all I can do to pay $4 a day, in fact J cannot afford it, and it seems to me that $4 a day
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is a pretty large sun. It was admitted that your wife was with you, that her account
is included and that the country paid for her ?-A. That is not the case. I wish to
deny that iminediately.

Q. That was the impression obtained from the evidence ?-A. I think there is no
ground for such an impression as that, because I can distinctly state that for the month of
February I paid for board at the Russell House, $200 ; for March, $150 for April,
$150 ; and my bill for May is not yet made out, but J expect, as my wife is about to
leave, that it will perhaps he another $200.

The witness retired.

Exnn3ITs REFERRED TO IN SEVENTH REPORT OF THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE.

(Exhibit A.)

COTEAU LANDING, 2nd June, 1897.
The Department of Public Works

To Thomas Monro, C.E., Dr.
1897.

May 6-Montreal and return, railroad fare, meals, &c. . $ 5 50
*May 7, 8-Montreal and return, $3 ; Windsor Hotel, $6. . 9 00
* (o 10-Montreal and return, ,3 ; meals, $3 ......... . 6 00

(o 12-Coteau to Ottawa, and cabs (12-13). . . ., .. .. 3 50
do 12- do ; meals at Russell . . . ..... 6 00
do 13-Ottawa to Coteau, and cabs ..... ........... 3 50
(o 19-Coteau to Ottawa, and cabs, $3 50 ; meals Ot-

tawa and Montreal, $3 ................... 6 50
do 19-Ottawa to Montreal ...................... 4 50
do 20-Montreal-to Coteau, $1.50 ; (28th) trip to Mon-

treal and return, $5.50. . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . .. 7 00
( do 30-Fare Coteau to Belleville, and sleeper. . . . .... 8 00

t (10 30- Meals ............. . 3 00
† do 31-Railroad fare Crookston to Belleville .... .... 7;

do 31-Belleville to Montreal, and Pullman ..... ... 9 00
June 1-Meals at Montreai, $3 ; fare Montreal to Vaud-

reuil, $1 ................ . ........... 4 25

$76 50

Certified correct ; wholly iiicurred on public service.-TîoMAs MoNîRo, C.E.

Received payment.-THoMAs MONRO.

(Exhibit B.)

ENGINEER S OFFICE,

COTEAU LANDINO, P.Q., 3rd May, 1897.
The Departinent Railways and Canals

To Thomas Monro, C. E., Dr.
1897.

April 2-Railway fare Coteau to Ottawa, and Cabs. $ 3 55
do 2, 3-Russell House (voucher) .......... ......... . 6 00

* Anent Mr. Keefer, G. T. question. t Examination Crookston quarries.
20
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April 3-Ottawa to Montreal, fare, etc., $4.50 ; meals,
M ontreal, .83.00 ......................... 7 50

do 3-M ontreal to Coteau , ........... ............ 1 50
do 8-Coteau to Montreal and return, one trip .... .. Il)5 50
do 8-Coteau to Ottawa, $3.05 ; cabs, 50c............3 55
do 11-13-Russell House (voucher).................. 8 00
(o 13--Ottawa to Montreal, $4.50; Montreal to Coteau,

$1.50 ... ... ............. .... .... (00
do 13- do Meals............ 2 00
do 23-Coteau to Montreal and return, one trip, meals,&c. 5 50

$49 10
Certified correct ; the whole incurred on Government business.

THOMAS MONRo, CE.
Received payment.-THoMAs MONRO.

( Voucher.)

THE RUSSELL.

(F.-YX St. Jacques, Prop.)

OTTAWA, 5thi May, 1898.
Mr. Thomas Monro

To F. X. St. Jacques, Dr.

1897.

April 2, 3- For board ....... ....... .............. $ G 00
do 11-13-Btoard ................................. 8 00

$14 00
Received payment for F. X. St. Jacques.

H. H. P.

(Echibit C.)

COTEAU LANDING, 2nd April, 1897.
Department of Railways and Canals,

To T. Monro, C.E., Dr.
1897.

March-Two trips,Montreal and return,(5th and 9th)at$5.50 $111 00
1Il-Coteau-Ottawa and cabs..................... 3 25
do-Russell House (1 1th, 12th and 13th) 21; days at $4.00 10 00
13--Railway fare, Ottawa and Coteau....... ........... 3 05

21, 22-Fare, Coteau-Ottawa, $3.05; Russell, $4, return $305 10 10
31-Fare, Coteau-Ottawa, $3.05 .................... 3 05
31 and April 1- Russell House....................... 8 00

April 2-Ottawa-Coteau and cabs ...... ............. 3 S0

$57 95
Certified correct ; all expenditure incurred on government service.

TIIoMAs MONRo, C.F.
Received paynent-THOMAs MONRO.
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THE RUSSELL,
OTTAWA, 9th April, 1897.

Mr. Thos. Monro, to F. X. St. Jacques, Dr.

1897.

March-For board, 11th, 12th and 13th, two and a half days. $ 10 00
do do 21st and 22nd, one day .......... .. 4 00
do do 31st and April 2nd, two days. ........ 8 00

$22 00
Received paynent for F. X. ST. JACQUES.

(AExhibit D.)

COTEAU LANDING, 1st March, 1897.

The Department of Railways and Canals,
To Thomas Monro, C.E., Dr.

1897.

Feb. 15, 16-Ottawa and return, railrord fare $6.10, cabs,
50c. ; Russell House, meals, $4.00 ........ .$ 10 60

do 11, 19, 25-Montreal and return, three trips at $5.50. 16 50

$27 10

I certify the above account correct in every particular and incurred on govern-
ment business-TrioýiAs MUNRO.

Received payment-TnOMAS MUNRO, C.E.

( Exhîibit E.>)

SOULANGES CANAL,
ENGINEERS OFFICE,

COTEAU LANDING, P.Q., 2nd Oct., 1896.

DEPARITMENT OF RAILWAYS AND CANALS,
To TuOMAS MONRo, C.E., Dr.

1896.

Sept. 4. To Montreal and return, $2.50 ; cab, 50 ets.; meals, $3. .$ 6 00
7-8. do $2.50 ; meals, $4 ............ 6 50
12. Montreal and return, $5.50 ; do., 16th, $5.50 ;I9th, $5.50 16 50
22. do $2.50; meals, $3 ; cab, 50 ets ..... .6 00
23. Ottawa and return, $6.10; meals, $3 .. ... .......... .9 10
25. Montreal and return, $2.50; meals, $3; 29th, do., $5.50. Il 00
30. Oct. 1. Ottawa return, $6.10; cab, 50 cts.; meals, $4 .... 10 60

$65.70

I certifv that the above account for travelling expenses is correct in all partieulars
and that the whole expenditure was incurred on Government business.

THomAs MoNRo, C.E.

Received payment-TnomAs MONRo, CE.
22
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( Exhibit F.>

COTEAU LANDIN., Ist Nov., 1896.

THE DEPARTMENT OF RAILWAYS AND CANALS,

To THOMAs MONIO, C.E., Dr.

Oct. 3rd. Railway fare, Montreal and return, $2.50; meals, $3:
cab, 25 c....................... .............. S 75

17th. do, $5.75 ; 22rid, do, $5.50; 27th, do, 5.50 ........... 16 75
20th and 21st. Railway fare to Ottawa, $3.05; hotel, 84;

return, $3.05; cab, $1 ........................... .Il 10

$33 60

I certify that the above account for travelling expenses is correct in ail particulars
and that the whole expenditure was incurred on Government business.

THOMAS MONRO.
Received paymient-THoMAs M ONRO, G.E.

(OTTAwA, Oct. 2lst, 1896.
Mr. THOMAS NI ONRO,

To F. X. ST. JACQUES, lR

For Room and Board, Oct. 2Oth and 21 st.............. 81 00

$4 00
Received payment for F. X. St. Jacques,

F. X. ST. J., per B.

(Exhibit G.)

ENGINEER's OFFICE,

COTEAU LANDING, P.Q., Nov. 30tlh, 1896.

DEPARTMENT OF RAILWAYS AND CANALS,

To THoMAs MONRO, C.E., Pr.
1896.

Nov. 3. Railway fare to Montreal and teturn $2.50, Cabs,
50 ets , meals $3.00.. . . .. . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 6 00

10-11 Montreal and return (Mr. Shanly) $2.50, Cabs,
50 ets. Meals, $4.00. ................... .... 7 00

14 M eals, $5.50 ............ ...... .. . ....... 5 50
16 0 ttawa and return and Cab $6.50, meals at Ilussell,

$3.00. ..................... ......... ..... 9 50
20-24-27 Three trips to Montreal, $5.50 .......... ...... 16 50

$ 44 50

Received payment.-THOMAs MONRO, C.E.

I certify that the above account for travelling expenses is correct in all particulars
and that the whole expenditure was incurred on government business.

THOMAS MONRO, C.E.
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(Exhibit 1l.)

ENGINEERs OFFICE.

COTEAU LANDING, P.Q., August lst, 1896.
The Department of Railways and Canals.

To THOMAS .MONRO, C.E., Di.,
1896.

J uly 2. Railway fare and sleeper, Coteau, Belleville to
examine Macdonald's quarry ............... ... $ 7 00
Hotel, &c., at Belleville ......... . ......... .. 2 50

3. Belleville, Montreal, and parlour car $7.00 meals
$3.00 ................. ................... .. 10 00

4. Montreal-Coteau ...... ........... .. .. .. .. .. 1 50
8-11. Two trips Montreal and return, meals and cabs. . il 00

21-28. do do 11 00
31. Fare Coteau-Montreal $1 .50, meals $3.00 . ...... 4 50

$ 47 50

Certified correct. Received payment.
THOMAS MONRo, C.E. THOMLAS MONRO.

( Exhibit I.)
OTTAWA, 25th May, 1898.

THOMAS MoNRo, Esq.,
In account with F. X. ST. JACQUES.

1896.
Aug. 12. Luneh, 50c: wine, 75c...... ........... ....................... .. . 1 25

7.00 Sept. 23. Lunch and diiner, $1 ; wine, 75c........ ................... .... . 1 75
4.00 "Oct. 1. Onie day's board, 81.75 ; wine, $1.50 ...... .................. ...... 3 25
3.00 1 'UNov. 16. Lunch and dinner ........ ........ .................... . 1 O

Nov. 18. Lunch, 54c wine, 75... .................... ............. . 1 25
Dec. 26. Wine, $3.60; ex. ineals, 50c; tel., 25c; wash, 55 ..... .... ........ 4 90
do 26. Two days' hoard, self....... ....... ....................... 3 50
do 31. 14 do Mrs. Monro.................................... 36 25

1897.
Jan. 18. Wine, $5.90; wash, $1.05....,............ .... .............. 95
do 2. One day's board, self ............... .................... ... 1 75
do 12. , do do ........................ ..... ....... ..... 1 30
do 18. L unch, self ..... . .................. ........................ 0 50
do 18. 1S days'bhard, Mrs. Munru.......................... .. 45 00

Feb. 28. Vine, *450; hag., 25c. wash, ex. ineals, 75c. ; exp., 55e 6 40
4.00 [', d o 16. One day's huard, self......................................... 75

do 28. -6 a Mrs. Munro............................. 65 50
Mar. 31. Wins $14.35 w sh, 25c. exp., 25c. ex. meah., 5

0
c . 35

du 1 . 1, day' bouard, self-................................... ........ 265
do 15. 3ldavs du.............................................50

22.00 Ma- 23 1" day s huard, self................................. ........ 31
" ar. 2. 1î31Mlar. 28. 2 days huard, self .......... .................... ........ ...... 3 150

du 31. 31 days' board, Mrs. Monro... .. ....................... 77 50
Aril 22. Wine, $1.55 ; ex. 2cals, $1; cach, 60c. ; cash, 70c. tel., 25c 18 10

du 5. 3 days board, self .......... .................................... 5 25
du 13. I days do ............... .............. ............ 310

April 19. y d's s' board, self. ..... .. .................. 4 85
$14,0 3 April 22. 21 days' ardo Mrs. MuNru................................. 52 50

May 22. Wiine, 8.3.05; hag.. 25c. ; ex. meals, 81.75.. ...................... 5 O5
$6. 00 ý du 1l. Il day's board, self ............................................. 2 40
3.» MPa:'* i\ýy 19. Il du........... 1............... ........ »..... ......... O 85

--- 1 'May 2-12. -é days' board, Mrs. Monr ....................................... 17 50

. .0. 45_0

$400 50
1896.

c. 9. By cheque.......... ......... ........................ . . .00 6
1897.
Mar. 14. d........................... ..................... 100 OU
April 17. do....... ............. ..... .... ......... ......... 100 OU
May 14. do.......................... ... .................. 75 00

.- 37500

$ 25 50



Appendix (No. 2D.)

APPEN DIX No. 2d

COMMITTEE RooM,
OITAwA, FRIDAY, 3rd June, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts beg leave to present the
following as their Eighth Report

Your Committee have had under consideration the accounts, vouchers and other
papers relating to the payment of $300 to Col. Domville, for J. Milton Barnes, set out
on pages L-77 and 78, of the Report of the Auditor General, for the year ended 30th,
June, 1897, and in connection therewith have examined witnesses under oath, and for
the information of the House, report herewith the evidence given by such witnesses and
the exhibits filed during the said examination, and your Committee recommend that the
said evidence and exhibits be printed.

Al which is respectfully submitted.
JAS. McMULLEN,

Chairman.

61 Victoria. A. 1898





Public Accounts Committee.

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

REFERRED TO IN THE EIGHTH REPORT OF THE PUBLIC
ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE.

COMMITTEE RooM,
TUESDAY, 26th April, 1898.

Conmittee met, Mr. McMullen in the chair.

Col. PANET, Deputy Minister of Militia and Defence, was called, sworn and
examined by Mr. Foster.

Q. You are the Deputy Minister of the Militia Departmnent ?-A. I am.
Q. You have looked over these accounts (Exhibit No 1) ?-A. I have.
Q. Are you cognizant of them ?-A. Yes.
Q. There is here "Cheque No. 244 'A' of 2nd June, 1897, paid Lieut.-Col.

Domville, for J. Milton Barnes, Hampton, New Brunswick, $300, being for rent
of armoury for 8th Hussars, fron March, 1892, to March, 1897, and charge same to this
department." That is signed by yourself ?-A. It is, sir.

Q. This is charged to the rental of armoury fron March, 1892, to March, 1897.
Were there previously any bills sent to the department for this indebtedness, and, if so,
why were they not paid ?-A. I am not aware that we received any bills before the
matter came up, as it is shown in these papers.

Q. That is so far as bills are concerned. Do you know of your own personal
knowledge that any demand was made on the department for this rent before this time ?
-A. I do not.

Q. You would know if any were made ?-A. Very likely.
Q. I suppose that no formal demands were made?-A. I do not know.
Q. We may conclude that no demand was made for this to the Militia Departaent

up to this time ?-A. Very naturally.
Q. When was the bill for that 9300 handed to your departnent ?-A. It was

shortly, I believe, before it was paid. I canuiot recollect.
Q. You have noticed this bill that is here ?-A. I have, sir.
Q. It is dated " Hampton, King's County, May 31, 1887." I find nothing on it to

indicate the date of service, but I find it marked ".J une 2nd, 1897." There is no mark
on it to say when it was received ?-A. There is nothing to show on what date it
reached the department?

Q. But as the bill came in with the date of May 31st, 1897, and the cheque was
issued on June 2nd, it must have got to the department either on May 31st or June lst?
-A. About that time.

Q. Either one or the other or on June 2nd. It could not have got into the depart-
ment from Hampton, King's County, on the 31st of May, could it 7-A. Well, sir, I arm
sure I could not say that.

Q. Are you not in a position to say whether it could have or not? Hampton is in
King's County, and it is a day and a half's journey at least ?-A. I suppose it would
take a little more time.

Q. The trains, as they run, come up this way some time in the afternoon, leaving
St. John about four o'clock and Hampton about 3.30, and if this bill were made out in
Hampton on the 31st of May it could not have got into your department on the 31st of
May ?-A. No.

2d-1½
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Q. About what time would it take to come from the proper hands into your hands?
-A. I dare say it would take three or four days.

Q. That would be quick business, would it not ?-A. Yes.
Q. This bill which was made out at Hampton on the 31st of May for which no pre-

ceding accounts had been rendered and no preceding demand made so far as your
department was concerned, reaches your department sometime between the 31st of May
and the 2nd of June ?-A. Yes.

Q. And on the 2nd of June you issue a cheque for it ?-A. Yes.
Q. To whom did you issue the cheque ?-A. The cheque is issued " pay Col. Domville

for Milton Barnes."
Q. When a bill comes into your department from any person for services rendered,

is it usual without an order to make out a cheque to a third party in paying --A. No,
sir, it is not.

Q. Did you have any order from J. Milton Barnes ?-A. No, sir. If you will allow
me to explain

Q. You may explain in a moment; so, in the first place you received a bill f rom
J. Milton Barnes, who performed the service ; you ordered the payment of it and issued
a cheque to Lt.-Col. Domville for J. Milton Barnes; is that the course ?-A. Yes, that is
the course.

Q, Now, you may make any explanation you wish ?-A. This is a special case. The
invariable rule in the department is to issue cheques to persons who are entitled to
receive the money. In this case it was not done. I must confess that I felt the influence
of a Member of Parliament and at his solicitation issued the cheque in his name for
Barnes. I confess that it should not have been done.

Q. What was the nature of this influence you felt ?-A. I felt the influence that I
would feel if you came to me and asked for a cheque for paynient of any account.

Q. If that is all that is required from a Member of Parliament to issue him a cheque
I will come over ?-A. I do not say that I will do it again.

Q. You never did it before ?-A. I never did it before.
Q. And you will not do it again ?-A. It is not likely.
Q. Was there any other influence beside Col. Dormville's ?-A. Not that I am

aware of.
Q. You have no superior officer in your department ?-A. I have my chief.
Q. Outside of your minister ?-A. No.
Q. You will not say that your minister ordered it to be paid ?-I cannot say that.
Q. Will you say the minister did not order it to be paid ?-A. I cannot say that.
Q. You cannot say that he did or did not ?-A. That is the whole matter and I

believe I am responsible for it.
Q. Now, Colonel Panet, this had never been done by you before ?--A. I do not

remernber any case.
Q. You knew it was altogether irregular ?--A. I did.
Q. Now, will you say, knowing that it never occurred before, knowing it was

irregular, that you had not an intimation f rom an authority higher than you might be ?
-A. I will say, sir, that I do not remember anything of the kind, and if I had received
such intimation I would say so.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Did you have any discussion with your Minister ?-A. I cannot recollect that.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Was a cheque issued ?-A. Yes.
Q. Having issued that cheque, payable to a third party, did you say to the person

to whom you issued it that it should have the endorsement of the third person as well
as his own?-A. What I wanted was the receipt of that third person as well as his, and
I got it.

Q. When did you get it ?-A. It is there.
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Q. The difficulty is this, that you were giving a cheque to one person for another,
and had no order from the other, and had no receipt f rom the other ; at the time you
handed over the cheque did it occur to you that the cheque should be sent to Mr.
Barnes to get his endorsement ?-A. I took it for granted the cheque would be endorsed
by both parties.

Q. Was it ?-A. You can see there.
Q. I see one endorsement, that of James Domville ?-A. I think the banks should

have had two endorsernents, but perhaps they felt the influence, too.
Q. I don't think you can put any responsibility on the bank; vou know it is a

heavy load for you?-A. I am ready to bear it.
Q. Well, that was on June 2nd; paid instantly, cashed next day-the grass does

not grow under the feet of the gentleman who went for the noney and got the cheque
in his hands-and then on 24th August, or about that time, it reached the Auditor
General, and the Auditor General wrote you a letter on 24th August, and called your
attention to the fact that this cheque had been issued and that you had sent no state-
ment of reason for not paying the amount as it accrued ; that you had no certificates by
the proper officer that the building was used as an armoury; that the cheque was drawn
by James Domville, in favour of Barnes, and cashed by the former at Ottawa on 3rd
June, on his sole endorsation ; and that it does not bear any evidence that Mr. Barnes
got the money, and asks you several questions: now, that was on 24th August, and
payient was already made, and then it was that you began to look for the receipt;
when did you get it ?-A. Well, sir, I called on the accountant at once, and I assume
he must have written because the receipt came.

Q. That receipt is dated 3rd November, 1897 ?-A. Yes.
Q. And it reads in this form: "Received from F. V. Wedderburn the sum of

three hundred dollars, payment in full for rent of hall at Hamptan, N. B., for use as an
armoury, from 1st June, 1892, to 31st May, 1897. J. M. Barnes." Can you say that is
a receipt for the $300 on the cheque which you gave Col. Domville or not ?-A. Well,
sir, I do not think I should be called on to swear to that; the receipt speaks for itself.

Q. And you cannot swear ?-A. Well, I don't think it right I should be asked.
Q. Well, I can ask you whether, reading that over, you would be inclined-to say

that this was the money for which you gave the cheque ?-A. I am satisfied that that
is the receipt for that money.

Q. What satisfied you ?-A. The receipt.
Q. But the receipt is not from Col. Domville ?-A. But it is froin the man entitled

to receive the money.
Q. It is the receipt of Mr. Barnes who is entitled to receive the money, but the

money was given by F. V. Wedderburn, as you will see f rom this receipt: "I Received
from F. V. Wedderburn the sum of three hundred dollars payment in full for rent of
hall at Hampton, N.B., for use as an armoury, from June lst, 1892, to May 31st, 1897.
J. M. Barnes."?-A. Well, it was to pay a claim of the department for rent.

Q. But the point I wish to make is whether you can be sure this is the receipt for
the identical money for which you gave a cheque to Col. Domville ?-A. Well, it could
not be for something else.

Mr. FROST.-The rent mentioned in that receipt was from June 1, 1892, to May
31, 1897, and is for the same place.

Mr. FoSTER.-These facts are evident, but what I want to know, what I want to
bring out and Col. Panet says he cannot swear to, is whether this covers the sane money

By Mr. Foster :

Q. I notice you have another communication from the district officer commanding as
to the building ; do you know if there is another building used as an arnoury at Hampton ?
-A. I cannot tell, but Col. Maunsell is here and will be able to answer whether there is
another armoury there or whether this money would have gone to pay something else.

Q. Then I have vour answer ; you cannot swear ?-A. Oh, I don't say that.
Q. Well, can you swear ?-A. I would swear I was satisfied that the claim was paid

with the money given to Col. Domville.
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Q. You can swear that 7-A. Yes, and as far as my responsibility is concerned
that is a good receipt.

Q. Then you can swear that this receipt from J. M. Barnes to Mr. Wedderburn was
a receipt for that money paid to Col. Domville.-A. Yes, I am satisfied that that claim
was paid.

Q. Now, the 8th Hussars have had an allowance for the care of arms for a certain
number of vears ?-A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have these been kept by the captains or in the armoury 7-A. Col. Maunsell
will be better able to tell you that. Those who get the allowance are supposed to care
for the arms, and arms are sometimes stored in a public building that is rented and
paid for by the government, but the allowance is only paid where there is no caretaker
paid by the department.

Q. In that case there is no allowance 7-A. No, sir.
Q. To whom would an application for this rent be made, naturally ?-A. To the

department; it would come to the department to the officer commanding the district.
Q. That would be Col. Maunsell ?-A. Yes.
Q. At the present time would it be through him ?-A. Yes.
Q. He is still the officer commanding ?-A. Yes, though he is working up here now.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. In June, 1897, when this was paid in Ottawa, was your present minister there
or was there an acting minister in charge of the department 7-A. In June, 1897 ?

Q. Yes. I understand your minister was away in June.

By Mr. Fielding :

Q. It was just the time the jubilee contingent was going away ?-A. I believe my
minister was ill at that time.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Who was acting minister ?-A. Sir Louis Davies.
Q. Was it not Sir Richard Cartwright ?-A. Oh, yes; it was Sir Richard Cartwright.
Q. Did you have any conversation with him on the subject ?-A. Well, I am not

sure. I cannot remember anything that passed between the acting minister or my
minister and myself with regard to that, and I must say that I am generally prudent
enough to see my minister whenever anything arises about which I have any doubts.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. That is your usual course ?-A. Oh, yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. But you cannot tell now whether you spoke to anybody ?-A. No; I cannot.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. Did you have any knowiedge as to whether the account of J. Milton Barnes was
made out in his own handwriting or not ?-A. I cannot say that, sir.

Q. Well, you can if you look at this. You will see that it is made out in type-
writing ?-A. I do not know where that comes from.

Q. It was certainly not made out in his handwriting ?-A. That is Sir Richard
Cartwright's own signature.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Read what is on the account for the benefit of the committee.-A. Sir Richard's
initials are on the account, but it does not refresh my memory. I know I got him to
sign this in order to relieve myself of the responsibility.
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By Mr. Foster :

Q. What is the date ?-A. There is no date.

By Mr. Fielding :

Q. What is under Sir Richard's initials ?.-A. Nothing. "Correct " is above it.
Q. That means to pay ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Wallace :

Q. Would you tell the committee what is the usual course with an account that
comes before you from a company ?-A. That comes before me, sir?

Q. Yes. Where has it to go ?-A. If it comes to me with the proper certificates
from the officers of the district

Q. Has it the signature of the colonel commanding ?-A. Yes. And if it is fair
and reasonable, I pay it.

Q. Has it any other certificate ?-A. Yes ; the officer commanding the district. It
goes first to the colonel, then to the officer commanding the district. That is the proper
course. If it is an account against a regiment, the certificate of the officer commanding
the regiment is put on it, then it goes to the officer commranding the district. His duty
is to inquire as to whether the details are fair and reasonable as to price, and then it is
sent up to me. When the account is covered with these, I pay it according to the rules.

Q. It was not done with this account ?-A. That is the reason I went to the minister.
Q. It had not the signature of the colonel ?-A. No; this is a special account.

This is for rent.
Q. I am asking the question. It had not the certificate of the colonel of the

regiment or of the officer commanding the district ?-A. No; no.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Is it not an unusual thing for a minister or acting minister to certify accounts?
-A. That is not a certificated account.

Q. Well, he initialled the account ?-A. Weil, when I go to a minister and ask hin
whether to pay an account he generally initials it.

Q. But this is only with special accounts ?-A. Oh, yes, it is with special accounts.
I do not like to bother the minister when I can help it.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. When you took this bill, as you evidently did, made out not in the handwriting
of Mr. Barnes to Sir Richard Cartwright he did not write on it " pay " but he wrote on
it " correct "?-A. I am not sure that he wrote that " correct."

Q. But his signature is practically under it ?-A. I am not sure whether that
"correct " is written by him.

Q. His signature is put under the word "correct " and you know that that has no
meaning unless it is that it is correct ?-A. It simply means that it is to be paid.

Q. Taking into account the routine of your department, do you think it possible
that this account could have been made out in Hampton on the 31st of May and gone
through the routine and the cheque have been issued on the 2nd of June ?- A. No ; no.

Q. Then you presume that this must have been made out in Ottawa ?-A. Yes.
Q. Whose writing is this 7-A. That of the late accountant of the department, I

believe.

By Mr. Fielding:

Q. You stated that when you have occasion to take an account to the minister and
ask his opinion, and he says it is correct, you ask him to initial it ?-A. Yes.

Q. And in this case you followed the usual practice ?-A. Yes.
7
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Q. Many accounts you do not have to take to the minister at all ?-A. Oh, yes,
nine-tenths of the accounts never have to go to him.

Q. But you had occasion to take some to him and ask him to initial them and in
that case you followed the usual course ?-A. The usual course.

Q. This " correct R. J. C." signing this as correct would simply be to certify that
the money is to be paid; it would not indicate to whom it was to be paid. You would
not have an order to pay to Col. Domville but to the person who should receive it ?-A.
Oh, no, no. I do not remember that I was told to pay it Col. Domville or not, but I do
not believe I was; in fact, I do not remember.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. Was there any other evidence put in at all with reference to that account at
that time ; had you any other evidence other than simply the bill being handed into you
which afterwards was marked " correct" ?-A. I believe there are other papers.

Q. Are there other papers ? I called for all the papers ?-A. I am surprised if you
called for all the papers. These are not all the papers; I think there are others. Col.
Maunsell states to me now that there are no other papers.

Q. I want all the papers ?--A. I will look it up.
Q. Do you remember any specific reason for taking that account to Sir Richard.-

A. I do not, sir.

By Mr. Flint :

Q. Do you remember any note from Mr. Barnes asking you to pay it Col. Domville.
-A. I do not.

By Mr. Foster

Q. Who handed you that account ?-A. I cannot state that positively under oath.
Q. Who do you think did so ?-I think Col. Domville.

GEORGE J. MAUNSELL, lieutenant-colonel, was called, sworn and examined as
follows -

By Mr. Foster

Q. What is your position ?-A. District officer commanding District No. 8,
Fredericton, N.B.

Q. And as such, the accounts in your district would first come to you in the
natural course of affairs ?-A. As a rule.

Q. Did this account corne to you ?-A. No.
Q. Not until after it was paid --A. No.
Q. So it did not come to you in the usual way ?-(No answer.)
Q. You are acquainted with the 8th Hussars and their methods of taking care of

their arms ?-A. Yes.
Q. Formerly the 8th Hussars had their arms kept by the different captains, had

they not ?-A. Yes.
Q. What is the rule in such cases ?-A. The rule is that the captains of companies,

troops or squadrons should keep the arms themselves in their own private armouries and
get pay themselves for the care of the arms, but in this case, at the time of General
Luard, he authorized-I suppose it came through the minister-he gave instructions to
me to have them all concentrated at Hampton.

Q. What time was that?- &. I forget the actual date, but I have his actual authority.
Q. Was it in 1892 ?--A. About that tine.

8



Public Accounts Comnittee.

Q. Where were they put when collected from the captains ?-A. They were placed
in this armoury at Hampton.

Q. What is the modus operandi, then ?-A The pay is S60 per troop.
Q. low many troops?-A. Eight troops. They have been increased froin six to eight.
Q. So you would have from 1892 to tbe present time, six or eight troops for which

payment was made at the rate of $60 a troop-between S360 and S480, and that was
paid to the caretaker 7-A. Yes.

Q. Who was the caretaker ?-A. F. B. Wedderburn. It was formerly F. V.
Wedderburn, his brother, and since his death it has been F. B. Wedderburn.

Q. Then this amount of $360 or $480 was for an allowance for the care of arns in
the armoury and was paid to the caretaker, either F. V. Wedderburn, the former care-
taker, or to the present one, F. B. Wedderburn ?-A. Yes.

Q. And he received the whole of that money ?-A. He received the whole.
Q. Did he provide the armoury, or what was the custoni ?-A. It was more for the

actual service rendered in cleaning the arns and providing the material for cleaning, but
this amount, it seems, was paid for the storage of arms and providing the building.

Q. Who appoints that caretaker ?-A. He was recommended by Colonel Domville
and approved by the Department of Militia.

Q. And F. B. Wedderburn was appointed by Colonel Domville and approved by
the department ?-A. Yes.

Q. So since 1892 to the present time there was a caretaker and is still ?-A. Yes.
Q. And they receive money for taking care of the arms of the troops. Now, is it the

custom in country districts where such a system is carried on that payment is made for
rent or for a place to take the arms, or is it the caretaker who keeps the emoluients,
providing a suitable place ?-A. He provides the hall and has the care of the arns.

Q. Which includes a place to keep them ?-A. Yes.
Q. When the captains had the arms they provided a place ?-A. Yes.
Q. And when that was done away with these perquisites went to the caretaker,

who provided a place ?-A. Yes.
Q. That there may be no misapprehension about this let us make this point clear so

we will understand it. In 1892 the system was adopted of taking the arns fron the
captains and having them taken care of in a separate place ?-A. Yes.

Q. Mr. Wedderburn was appointed caretaker?-A. Yes.
Q. And he received the perquisites which formerly went to the captains ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the usual rule is that as the captains found a place for the arms, so this

caretaker finds a place for the arms ?-A. Yes, that is the rule.
Q. So it was not usual that an extra appropriation should be made over and above

that for rent of the room in which the caretaker keeps the arms ?-A. No, not the rule.
Q. The arms were stored somewhere, do you know where ?-A. At Barnes' Hall,

Hampton.
Q. That is the hall of this J. Milton Barnes ?-A. Yes, quite so.
Q. If you were to read over that receipt received from Mr. Wedderburn for the

rent from 1892 to 1897 at $60 a year, or $300 in all, the conclusion you would corne to
is that that would be part of the perquisites Wedderburn had to pay Barnes for a place
to store the arms ?-A. No, sir.

Q. Wediderburn had no place to store the arms, and made an arrangement with
Barnes to store the arms in his hall ?-A. Yes.

Q. It is not likely that he would give him that for nothing ?-A. That is true.
Q. Would it not be something like this : Barnes would likely say to Wedderburn,

if you get my place in which to store the arms I inust charge $60 a year ?-A. Yes.
Q. And that receipt might likely be money for the account made from Wedderburn

to Barnes ?--A. No, I think not; there is, in addition to the labour of taking care of
the arms, the accoutrements, clothing in the case of a squadron of cavalry ; also the
providing of cleaning material for all these, and this may be in addition to and outside
of the ordinary care of the arms.

Q. The caretaker must provide a place ?-A. As a rule.
Q. And there was no authority otherwise in this case ?-A. Not that I know of.
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Q. The first you heard of this matter was when it was brought before you on this
account ?-A. Yes.

Q. What do you say about the statement in Colonel Domville's letter as follows:
"1 I have applied for the rental on several occasions, but have not up to date received
payment " ?-A. I am not aware of any application to myself.

Q. So Colonel Doinville must be mistaken ?-A. It did not come to me.

By Mr. Wallace :

Q. Did this account ever come before you ?-A. Not previous to paym3nt, sir.
Q. You have seen it since ?-A. Since I was called upon to report.
Q. When did you see it since ?-A. T forget the actual date; I think it is given

in my report.
Q. How did it come before you after the payaient was made ?-A. I was called

upon for a certificate. I could read the certificate. It is dated the 3rd September,
1897, and is as follows : "I hereby certify that the building in question rented by Lt.-
Col. Domville, commanding the 8th Hussars, has been used for the purposes of a public
armoury. George J. Maunsell, Lt.-Col., D.O.C."

By Mr. Hughes :

Q. Did Lt.-Col. Doinville own the building ?-A. He rented it only.
Q. Where was this building situated ?-A. In the village of Hampton, King's

County.
Q. Are the headquarters not in Sussex ?-A. No; Sussex is the headquarters now

really, but the troops are centered about this place.
Q. Were all the accoutrements stored there ?-A. Yes.
Q. What are the buildings in Sussex used for? Were the accoutrements not

stored there ?-A. There are no storehouses at Sussex ; there are only barns that have
not been adapted for storage purposes.

Q. In the ordinary camp the horses stand out in the open yard, but at Sussex the
horses are stabled ?-A. Yes, but it is merely temporary stabling that is provided at
Sussex.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. This certificate reads in this way: "I hereby certify that the building in question
rented by Lt.-Col. Domville, commanding the Sth Hussars, has been used for the purposes
of a public armoury." This is the same building about which we have been talkingî
-A. Yes.

Q. You implv here, in fact you say, that this building was rented by Lt.-Col. Dom-
ville ?-A. Yes.

Q. Any arrangements made by the department by which it was to be used for any
specific purpose ?-A. No, sir.

Q. Do you know whether there was any agreement between Lt.-Col. Domville and
Barnes in reference to the renting of this building ?-A. No.

Q. No documents or papers in reference to it ?-A. No.
Q. I understand you to say that the duties of the caretaker appointed to take care

of the arms and accoutrements included the storage and care of arms and accoutre-
ments ?-A. That is supposed to be the rule.

By M1r. Sproule :

Q. How would it be Col. Dornville's duty to rent the building for that purpose ; he
was not the caretaker ?-A. He in the first place rented the building, leased it or got it
from the owner, but I suppose he handed it over to Major Wedderburn, who was the
caretaker, for the purposes of storing the arms and accoutrements.

Q. Had he any instructions to rent it for this purpose ?--A. I do not know.
Q. Would it be his duty to rent it without instructions <-A. He must have had

the building, otherwise he could not have recived the payment.
10
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Q. Would it be his duty to rent it without instructions ?-A. Oh, yes, as colonel of
the regiment.

Q. Without being authorized -- A. Oh, certainly.

By Mr. Hughes:

Q. You would have to inspect it in order to accept it --A. Yes.
Q. I understand you had nothing to do with the rental ?-A. No.
Q. Is there ever an allowance made for fitting up the armoury ?-A. An allowance

for a warehouse.
Q. Is there ever an extra allowance made ?-A. I am not aware of an extra allow-

ance in any case. Col. Panet would know better than I would about that. I an aware
of no case in my own district.

HousE OF COMMONS,
FRIDAY, ;tl _May, 1898.

The Committee met, Mr. McMullen in the chair.

Lieut.-Colonel MAUNSELL, District Officer commanding, was re-called and further
examined :

By Mr. Foster

Q. Before the new arrangement made for the care of the arms of the troops
of the 8th Hussars, please detail briefly what the old system was ?-A. Each officer com-
manding a troop provided his own accommodation for the arms and accoutrements and
clothing, and received, personally, $60 per troop, each captain receiving $60 for the
troop.

Q. For what services ?-A. For the care of the arms and accoutrements and clothing.
Q. And the storage of arms ?-A. And the storage of arms, and, as I stated when

before the committee the other day, during General Luard's term as Commander-in-
Chief he obtained authority from the minister to concentrate all the stores, and they
were from time to time from that date concentrated at Hampton.

Q. Do you recollect what year that was ?-A. I think it was about 1892.
Q. Then, what was, precisely, the change from the old to the new system ?-A. It

was that the caretaker took the whole control of the arms, accoutrements, clothing and
saddlery, and received the $60 that used to go to the captain, received it himself through
the commanding officer, and his duties were the care of these accoutrements and clothing.

Q. Including the storage ?-A. Including the storage. Since I was here giving
evidence before I have recollected that Colonel Domville found $60 insufficient to cover
all expenses and sought for authority for an increase, but I am not aware that he
received it.

Q. For what did be seek, exactly?-A. His application was to receive an amount
per annum, about $60 per annum, for paying the rent generally of the storehouse, and
that the other $60 per troop should go merely towards the cleaning and general care of
the arms, accoutrements and clothing ; that is, that the first $60, not per troop but on
the whole, should go towards the care of the arms, accoutrements and clothing. He
sought for that but I am not aware that he received it.

Q. Have you any papers received in the usual course showing what steps he took in
that respect ?-A. I think Major Wedderburn has those papers.

Q. The point I want to make is, there was no departmental order authorizing the
payment of anything extra as rent for the armoury ?-A. No, sir, not that I am aware of.

Q. Who was the first caretaker ?-A. Colonel Otty.
1.1
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Q. How long did; he act as caretaker ?-A. I think it was from 1892 to the date
of his death.

Q. What did he receive ?-A. The same as Major Wedderburn, $60 per troop.
Q. Did he provide a place for the storage of the arms ?-A. Yes.
Q. Have you had personal knowledge of this ?-A. Yes.
Q. Where did Colonel Otty keep the arms when he was acting as caretaker ?-A.

In a building adjoining his own house.

By Mfr. Hughes:

Q. Did he get an allowance for that building ?-A. No, sir,

By Mr. Foster:

Q. He kept them there, cleaned them, and provided a building at his own expense ?
-A. Yes.

Q. Did Colonel Otty make any demand on the department for extra expense ?-A.
No, I do not recollect that he did.

Q. Your recollection does not serve you in that respect ?-A. No.
Q. How many troops were there in the regiment during the last six years ?-A.

There are eight now; there were six; I should say, rather, there were seven, and the
number was increased to eight.

Q. So that the allowance for caretaker would not be less than $420 per year and up
to $480 ?-A. Add $60 to that for the additional troop.

Q. Were the arms properly cared for by Major Otty ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Satisfactory to the authorities ?-A. He was an excellent caretaker.

By Mr. Hughes:

Q. Did Major Otty get paid for this ?-A. For each troop.
Q. Was Major Otty in care of the arms when there were eight squadrons ?-A.

No, since then the eighth squadron was added on, but then there were seven.
Q. Who succeeded Major Otty ?-A. Major Wedderburn, but J think in between

Captain L. Wedderburn had charge of them for a short time.
Q. And he was succeeded by ?-A. Major Wedderburn.
Q. And you have examined the arns since then each year, and they are satisfac-

tory?-A. Yes.
Q. Where are they stored now ?-A. They are stored in Barnes' building at

Hampton.
Q. Rented for that purpose ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. It is the rule in the Militia Department to have arms cared for by a caretaker
appointed by the regiment, is it not ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Hughes:

Q. Appointed by the commanding officer ?-A. Yes, appointed by the regiment
through and in fact by the commanding officer, who is responsible.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Is it usual that in all such cases the troop allowance covers all cost of care,
storage and cleaning ?-A. I am not sure.

By 1fr. Hughes:

Q. How far is Hampton from Sussex I-A. Twenty miles.
Q. And do the squadrons take saddlery and accoutrements home from camp ?-A.

No, they are taken from them in camp and conveyed to the regimental storehouse.
12
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Q. Do you know any instance where officers commanding squadrons have received
an allowance to keep the arms in addition to this ?-A. I do in the case of artillery.
Field artillery receives a very handsome sum.

Q. But not for cavalry ?-A. There should be special authority, but there is none
in my district.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. One other question that occurs to me before you go, Col. Maunsell: you had
knowledge of the care of the arms by the captains of troops before the change was made?
-A. Yes.

Q. Was the service satisfactory by the different captains ?-A. Not altogether.
Q. In what respects not ?-A. In some cases they were not so well cared for as by

the regimental system. In consequence Major General Luard recommended to the Min-
ister that they should be concentrated.

Q. Do you know what steps took place about that time looking towards a change?
-A. No; there was from time to time correspondence about the care of arms between
the colonels and captains. I several times found fault with captains for not fulfilling
the duties to my entire satisfaction; there was a want of cleanliness. But it was not
my idea, that of concentration, it was Major General Luard's idea.

Q. Was the care given by the captains in this case up to the usual 7-A. Yes, but
owing to the fact that cavalry have more accoutrements than infantry, as everyone
knows, there was more to be done, more detail required in the care of bridles, saddles,
bits, stirrups, etc., which require constant attendance or there would be rust.

By Mfr. Hughes :

Q. From the time stores and accoutrements were al] kept in one place'to whom is
every regimental cheque made payable ?-A. I cannot say, but Major Wedderburn can
tell you all ; but I think it was to the regimental caretaker personally. I think that
was the course persued, but I am not sure of it.

Lt.-Col. PANET was recalled and further examined

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Col. Panet, can you remember the year in which the change took place f rom the
captain system, as we may call it, to the central system or armoury system in the case of
the 8th Hussars ?-A. No, but I could get it.

Q. And you do not remember the time of Major Otty's death ?-A. No, but I can
get it for you soon.

Q. Do you know any case in the Department of Militia, over which you have pre-
sided for a number of years, where the armoury system is adopted and arins handed to the
caretaker appointed by the regiment that the department pays extra for the storage ?-
A, There may be special cases,

Q. Do you know of any ?-A. No, I do not know of any, but I will inquire.
Q. But it is not the rule of the department ?-A. No.
Q. The rule is the other way ?-A. Yes.

Mr. J. MILTON BARNES, was called, sworn and examined

By Mr. Foster :

Q. Mr. Barnes, your full name is J. Milton ?-A. Yes.
Q. Where do you live ?-St. John.
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Q. What is your occupation 7-A Telegraph operator.
Q. Where did you formerly live 7-A. Hampton.
Q. What connection have you with the hall at Hampton commonly known as

Barnes' Hall ?-A. I am the owner.
Q. Do you remember when Mr. Otty was caretaker of arms there ?-A. Yes.
Q. And did Mr. Otty rent from you a place for the care of arms ?-A. No.
Q. You had no business relations with him in that respect ?-A. No.
Q. Have you, since Mr. Otty's death, rented the hall for the arms of the 8th Hus-

sars ?-A. Yes.
Q. In what year ?-A. In 1892.
Q. What time in 1892 did the rent commence ?--A. March lst.
Q. To whom did you rent it ?-A. Major Wedderburn.
Q. Major F. V. ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. For what purpose ?-A. The storing of arms.
Q. At what rate ?-A. $60 a year.
Q. To be paid at what times ?-A. Quarterly.
Q. Did you make any formal agreenent with Major Wedderburn ?-A. I have a

lease with him. (Lease marked as exhibit No. 2.)
Q. Have you the lease with you ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Kindly let me see it after you have read it ?-A. " This indenture, made this

first day of March, in the year of our Lord 1892, between J. Milton Barnes of the city
of St. John, in the city and county of St. John and province of New Brunswick, tele-
graph operator, of the one part, and Frederick Vernon Wedderburn, of the parish of
Hampton, in the county of Kings, in the province aforesaid, barrister at law, of the
other part, witnesseth that the said J. Milton Barnes, for and in consideration of the
rents, covenants, provisoes and agreements hereinafter reserved and contained on the
part of the said Frederick Vernon Wedderburn, his executors, administrators and
assigns, to be paid, done, observed, performed and kept, hath demised and leased, and
by these presents doth demise and lease unto the said Frederick Vernon Wedderburn,
his executors, administrators and assigns, all that certain lot, piece or parcel of land and
premises situate, lying and being in the parish of Hampton, in the county of Kings, and
bounded and described as follows: 'commencing at a point sixty (60) feet more or less
east of the south-westerly corner of the lot of land formerly owned by the late George
Barnes, Esquire, and thence running in a north-easterly direction 70 feet more or less,
or until it intersects the side line on the lot owned by James W. Smith, thence along
said side line 35 feet more or less, thence in a south-westerly direction 70 feet more or
less to the public highway, and thence along said highway 35 feet more or less to the
place of beginning, being the lot of land and premises known as Barnes' Hall.'

"To have and to hold the said lot of land and premises hereby demised or intended
so to be, with the appurtenances, unto the said Frederick Vernon Wedderburn, his
executors, administrators and assigns, from the first day of March instant, for, during
and unto the full end and term of two years from thence next ensuing, and fully to be
complete and ended, yielding and paying therefor unto the said J. Milton Barnes, his
heirs or assigns, the yearly rent or sum of $60 of lawful money of Canada, the same to
be paid in four equal quarterly payments on the first days of June, September, December
and March in each and every year during the said term.

"And the said Frederick Vernon Wedderburn, for himself, his executors, adminis..
trators and assigns, doth hereby covenant, promise and agree to and with the said J.
Milton Barnes, his heirs and assigns, in manner following, that is to say: that he, the
said Frederick Vernon Wedderburn, his executors, administrators and assigns, shall
and will well and truly pay or cause to be paid to the said J. Milton Barnes, his
executors, administrators and assigns, the said yearly rent hereby reserved at the times
and in the manner hereinbefore mentioned for the payment thereof.

" And the said Frederick Vernon Wedderburn, for himself, his executors, adminis-
trators and assigns doth hereby covenant, promise and agree to and with the said J.
Milton Barnes, his heirs and assigns, in manner following, that is to say: that the said
Frederick Vernon Wedderburn, his executors, administrators or assigns will not make

14
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or cause to be made any permanent improvements, additions nor alterations to or upon
the land and premises hereby demised without the consent thereto of the said J. Milton
Barnes, his heirs or assigns first obtained.

"And the said J. Milton Barnes, for himself, his heirs and assigns, doth hereby
covenant, promise and agree to and with the said Frederick Vernon Wedderburn, his
executors, administrators and assigns, in manner following, that is to say: that he the
said Frederick Vernon Wedderburn, his executors, administrators and assigns and his
or their agents, employees or servants shall have a free right of way over and upon the
road on the upper or eastern side of the herein demised premises and leading to the
door on the said upper or eastern side of said land and premises for themselves, their
horses, teams, wagons, sleds or other vehicles ; and the said J. Milton Barnes for himself,
his heirs and assigns doth hereby covenant, promiseand agreeto and with the said Frederick
Vernon Wedderburn, his executors, administrators and assigns, in inanner following, that
is to say : that he the said J. Milton Barnes, his heirs and assigns will renew this lease at
the expiration of the above term of two years upon the terms, rents, covenants and con-
ditions herein contained, including a covenant for a further renewal for a further terni
of two years if it is so desired by the said Frederick Vernon Wedderburn, his executors,
administrators or assigns.

" Provided always and these presents are upon the express condition that if the
said yearly rent or sum of $60 or any part thereof should be in arrear and unpaid for
the space of 60 days next after any of the days or times whereupon the same ought to
be paid as aforesaid, or in case of any breach or non-performance of any of the covenants
or agreements in this indenture contained by or on the part or behalf of the said Fred-
erick Vernon Wedderburn, bis executors, administrators or assigns to be kept done and
performed, then and in either of these cases from thenceforth and at all times thereafter
shall be lawful for the said J. Milton Barnes, his heirs or assigns, without any legal or
formal demand for payment of said rent being first made unto and upon the premises
hereby demised or any part thereof in the name of the whole to re-enter and the same
to have again retain, repossess and enjoy as in his just and former estate as if these
presents had not been made, and the said Frederick Vernon Wedderburn, his executors,
adniinistrators and assigns and all other occupiers of the said demised premises thereout
and thence utterly to put out, expel and remove anything herein contained to the con-
trary notwithstanding and to have, possess and enjoy the said demised premises abso-
lutely.

" In witness whereof the said parties to these presents have hereunto set their
hands and seals the day and year first above written."

Q. You entered into this lease with Mlr. F. V. Wedderburn for the rent of the hall
at the rate of $60, the rent to be paid to you quarterly. Was your understanding at
that time that you were to look to Mr. Wedderburn, and to Mr. Wedderburn alone, for
the rent ?-A. Yes.

Q. No other party was considered or named in the matter ?-A. There may have
been some mention of the Government but I had no contract with the Government.

Q. Have you received this rental as mentioned in the lease quarterly 7-A. Not
every quarter, but all up to date at different times.

Q. Can you give me a memorandum of the dates at which you received the money l
-A. Well, not all of them.

Q. Well, say some of them. Take March lst, 1892, then on Ist July you should
have received a quarter's rent ?-A. I have nothing back of July 7, 1895.

Q. Well, tell the committee what sums you received and the date 7-A. On January
7, 1895, I received $30; August 24, same year, $30 more. In 1896, May 12, 840; in
1897, April 20, $65. On April 29, 1898, $60.

Q. That is what you have received since January, 1895 7-A. Yes, si.
Q. From March, 1892, to January, 1895, have you received the rent 7-A. Yes,

although I have not receipts for it here.
Q. You say on March lst, 1897, how much if anything was due to you as arrears

of rent or were you all paid up to that date 7-A. No, sir, J had $45 owing.
Q. Have you since received that ; is that part of the $60 7-A. That is part of $40

on May 6th.
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Q. Who paid you this rent from time to time ?-A. Major Wedderburn.
Q. In money or cheque ?-A. Sometimes by cheque and sometimes in cash.
Q. When it was paid by cheque was it his cheque ?-A. Yes.
Q. So you received the rent f rom the man to whom you leased the hall ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the rent is paid up ?-A. Yes, to March lst of this year.
Q. Did you ever see this bill, (with Exhibit No. 1) Mr. Barnes ?-No, sir.
Q. You did not make this out ?-A. No.
Q. Did you ever authorize any one to make it out ?-A. Not in that shape.
Q. Did you authorize any one to make out a bill-did you, say from lst January,

1897, to May 31st, 1897, authorize any person to make out a bill for the Department of
Militia and Defence for the rent of the armoury ?-A. No, sir.

Q. You have made arrangements with Major Wedderburn, received your pay from
Major Wedderburn, and did not authorize any one to make out a bill of rent ?-A. No,
sir.

Q. So that you knew nothing of this until you saw it now ?- A. I never saw this
before.

Q. lad you heard of it ?-A. I heard them saying that they were going to do
somnething of that nature.

Q. Will you detail to the committee what was said about that by Mr. Wedderburn
with reference to it ?-A. There were just one or two occasions when he said that he
wanted to get what he was paying for the rental back from the Government and he
asked me on several occasions for a total of the amount.

Q. Your position was that you had made the arrangement with him, had received
pay from him and so far as you were concerned it was ended there ?-A. Yes.

Q. So you did not make out this bill and had not sent it up to this time --A. Yes.
Q. Have you given receipts to Mr. Wedderburn at the time of these several pay-

ments ?-A. I think I did.
Q. Thus when you received payment for any rent you gave him a receipt for it?

-A. I think so, perhaps not in every case.
Q. But that is the rule ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you are certain you gave receipts in some cases ?-A. Yes.
Q. Is that your signature to this receipt (with Exhibit No. 1) ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. You signed that receipt, did you ?-A. Yes.
Q. This receipt is dated St. John, November 3rd, 1897, and it was about that time

or on that date that you signed it ?-A. Yes.
Q. You didn't draw up the receipt yourself. The body is not in your writing, is it

-A. It is all my writing, sir.
Q. Well, now, Mr. Barnes, just tell the committee how you came, after receiving

all your money from time to time during these different years and as you say giving
receipts for it, to sign this wholesale receipt, so to speak ?-A. I have a letter here from
Mr. Alf. Markham to me in which he says:-

(Letter marked as Exhibit No. 3.)
ST. JOHN, N.B., November lst, 1897.

J. Milton Barnes, Esq.,
Hampton, N.B.

DEAR SIR,-I am asked by the Militia Department to send you receipt for $300.00
which has been paid to you for rent of armoury for five years-from March, 1892, to
March, 1897.

Please be good enough to send this to me by return mail, and much oblge.

Yours very truly,
ALE. MARKHAM,

Lieut.-Col. 8th Hussars.

Q. This letter is dated lst November, 1897, from the Lieut. Colonel commanding
the 8th Hussars. "I am asked by the Militia Department to send you receipt for
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$300.00 which has been paid to you for rent of armoury for tive years-fron March,
1892, to March, 1897." You understood that to be that vou should make out the
receipt for the total amount and send it in ?-A. The total amount f rom March lst.

Q. That is the date mentioned here ?-A. Yes.
Q. You knew at the time that you had given receipts-received the money and

given receipts from time to time for the rent?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. What was your view of the matter? With reference to this what did vou

think of it? Was it not rather strange to ask you to give the total receipt ?-A. I
suppose they wanted to get their money back. I did not know anything about it.

Q. He merely asked you to send your receipt for 8300 A. That is it you have
there, what you have shown me.

Q. In accordance with that you signed and sent your receipt down ?--A. I made
out the receipt and sent it.

Lieut.-Col. MAUNSELL was again recalled and further examined

By fr. Foster :

Q. I have a letter here to J. Milton Barnes (Exlhilbit No. 3):
" I am asked by the Militia Department to send you receipt for S300.00 which lias

been paid tco you for rent of armoury for five years-fron March, 1892, to March, 1897.
"Please be good enough to send this to me by return mail, and much oblige.

"Yours very truly,

"ALF. MARKHAM,
" LÉ.-Col. 81t Hussars."

Now, have you any knowledge about this request being made ?-A. None whatever.
Q. Can you conceive of any reason why the Militia Department should ask for the

receipt of Mr. Barnes who rented the hall to the regimental caretaker? You have his
receipts and can you think of any reason why the Militia Department would ask after
a lapse of tive or six years for a receipt, or would it not be for Wedderburn to forward
the receipts for what he had paid ?-A. I have no knowledge wvhatever.

Q. It mîight be some occult reason moving the Militia Department which you could
not understand ?-A. I have no knowledge whatever.

Mr. BARNEs was recalled and further examined

By 1r. Foster :

Q. You received this letter and believing it to be a military order proceeded to
obey ?-A. Yes.

Q. You gave the receipt although the receipt would purport that you received it on
the day it is dated. Am I right in assuming that your view in signing this was to
comply with the request of Lt.-Col. Markham, and with that idea that you were thereby
conforming to orders that you gave the receipt as he commanded ?-A. I was merely
complying with that request.

Q. Was it with the idea of leading them to believe that you received it on that
day ?-A. There was a note of explanation going with that, that some S15 which was
still due to me and I told Col. Markham that I had no idea I would receive the whole
amount.
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Q. Then, in your opinion, this merely covered the receipts you lad already given and
the $15 you expected to receive ?-A. Yes.

Q. No money passed between you and Mr. Wedderburn at that time ?-A. Nothing.

Ly Mfr. Hughes:

Q. Are you in the regiment ?-A. No, sir.
Q. Have you ever been ?-A. No, sir.

By fr. Fielding:

Q. You stated that you supposed the object was to get the money froni the Govern-
ment, what did you mean by that ?-A. Mi. Wedderburn had spoken to me on two or
three occasions and said he expected to get the nioney from the Government.

By Mfr. Fraser (Guysborough/):

Q. The money he was paying you?-A. The money he was paving me he expected
to get back from the Government again.

By Mr. Fielding:

Q. You then signed this receipt supposing they wanted to get the money from the
Government ?-A. Yes, sir.

By Mfr. Frost;

Q. Did you ever make out a statement of account and send it to the late Govern-
ment 7-A. No, all my dealings were with Mr. Wedderburn.

Q. You didn't send it in through Mr. Wedderburn ?--A. No, sir.
Q. Did vou ever have any letter from Major Wedderburn asking you to make out

any account -A. Yes, sir.
Q. Have you got that letter ?-A. I have one; yes, sir.
Q. You might produce that and read it?-A. (Exhibit No. 4) "l aimpton. Dear

Milton,-Will you please make out another bill of rent of armoury from the first up to
date."

By 1Mr. Foster

Q. What was the date ?-A. There is none on the letter, but the envelope is
marked November 4, 1896. " Will you please make out another bill of rent of armoury
from the first up to date. Kindly make it: Lt.-Col. Donville to J. M. Barries, debtor.
To rent of hall at Hampton for use of Sth Hussars f rom , 18 , to 1896, years,
two copies and send them to Col. Doinville, St. John, as soon as possible. The C.0.
leaves for Ottawa Thursday on the C.P.R. and would like to take the bills with him.
Yours sincerely, Fred. V. Wedderburn."

Q. Did you follow that up by sending accounts 2-A. Yes, I gave him the accounts.
Q. Who did you send it to ?-A. I left it in Col. Domville's office.
Q. What amount would that be ?-A. I am not quite certain.

By fr. Wood (Hamilton):

Q. Was it a duplicate of that bill (Exhibit 5)?-A. Not quite.

By Mr. Fraser (Guysborough) :

Q. That was before the receipt ?-A. YEs.
Q. Previous to that you say Major Wedderburn had been speaking about eetting

back his money ?-A. From the beginning of the lease up to that time he had been
speaking to nie.
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Q. Up to that time did he say lie expected to get it back ?-A. Yes, le said lie
would like to.

By Mlfr. Taylor:

Q. When did he first speak to you about it ?-A. I cannot recolleet : it was at
different tines and I have no memorandum.

Q. At different tiies last year ?--A. No, previous years.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. In answer to this letter from Major Wedderburn you did make up a bill ?-
A. Yes.

Q. Aid did you make out that bill making the Government debtor ?-A. No, sir,
Col. Domville, as he savs there.

Q. " Kindly inake it Lt.-Col. Donville to J. Milton Barnes." And so in accordance
with that you did make out a bill charging Col. Domville with the rent for the years
alreadv past and you gave it to Col. Domville ?-A. I left it in Col. Doinville's office.

Q. That was in November, 1896 ?-A. Yes, that was in November, 1896.

By MVr. Frost :

Q. You speak of the previous bill ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you remeiber the amount ?-A. No.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. This was the second request ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Flint :

Q. Who was the former account made to ?-A. Col. Domville or Major Wedder-
burn. I do not know which.

Q. It would not be made to the department ?-A. No.

By Mr. Fielding :

Q. You understood froin time to time that it was the intention of Major Wedder-
burn to claim repayment from the Goverament of these suins; he had discussed that
with you ?-A. Yes.

Q. And -- hen you made out the bill it was with the knowledge that it was to be
used in the clain ?-A. 1 suppose so.

By Mr. Hughes:

Q. Did you receive any of this?--A. No; I then had received $285.
Q. Had you a promise of any extra emolu ment if this $300 was obtained ?-A. No.

By Mr. Wood (Hamilton> :

Q. iDid you form any opinion when you got this letter ?-A. Well, no, I had none,
except that I just thought thev had been asking the Government for it.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. Were you willing to help them to get the account ?-A. I was.

By fr. Taylor:

Q. You did not know the Governmient had paid it out ?-A. I do not know any-
thing about the dealings of the Government.

19
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Mr. FRED V. WEDDERBUR-N was called, sworn and examined:-

BJy M1r. Foster:

Q. Will you give your fuli name, Major Wedderburn ?-A. Frederick Vernon
Wedderburn.

Q. Your residence ?-A. Hampton; that is, I an there inost of ny time.
Q. And your occupation 2-A. Lawyer, barrister-at-law.
Q. Are you the Wedderburn mentioned in these papers as F. V. Wedderburn ?-

A. Yes, sir.
Q. When did you undertake the care of the arms at Hampton ?-A. May I bring

some books I have?
Q. Certainly.-A. This is the regimental order book, in which I can find the date

I was appointed. It may take me a little time.
Q. Well, take your own time ?-A. These have been out of my hands for some

time, and I am not as familiar as I used to be.

By Mr. Hughes:

Q. What was that question again 2-A. It was when I was appointed to take
charge of the stores. It would be about 1892, I think.

Q. You were appointed major then ?-A. No, I was appointed to the stores. It is
here in this regimental order book. If you will excuse me, I will hunt it up. I only
got this book from Col. Markham yesterday and haven't had an opportunity to look it
over, but I know there is such an order in the book.

Mr. FOSTER.-JUSt take your time.
Mr. FRASER.-Perhaps he could tell about the time and then perhaps look it up,

aftervards.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Can you tell us about the year ?-A. About 1891. There was a short period
that we were unable to procure an armoury and during that time we had to secure an
armoury and the accoutrements, &c., during that time were at my house.

Q. For a little time before you got the armoury they were kept at your house ?-A.
And the barn.

Q. You were appointed caretaker by whom ?-A. By a regimental order issued by
Col. Domville.

Q. You had no communication with the department other than through the com-
manding officer ?-A. No, sir.

Q. Your position is a regimental one?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, vour letter of instructions is what I particularly want ?-A. If you will

just excuse me, I will look it up.
Q. See if it is not about August, 1891 ?-A. The 29th August, 1891.
Q. The 29th, is it ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Will you kindly read it?

Regimental orders by Lieut.-Col. Domville, commanding Sth Princess Louise, New
Brunswick, Regiment of Cavalrv -

"ROTHSAY, 29th August, 1891.

1. Captain Wedderburn, Adjutant, is hereby appointed regimental storekeeper,
Ue Major R. W. Otty, storekeeper, deceased; such appointment is to be temporary,

pending the appointment of a permanent officer. He will at once take over in charge
the arms, accoutrements and equipment of A, B, C, D, E, F, G troops (7) and provide
a safe and proper place for keeping them. Attention is called to paragraphs 298, 299,
300, 305, 306, R. & O., 1897.

" 2. A board of officers to be composed of Captain Wedderburn, Adjutant and
acting storekeeper, Lieut. J. W. Domville, 'G' troop is hereby appointed. They will
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take an inventory of the arms, accoutrements, equipment and stores of the regiment and
report in writing on the condition of the saine ; they will examine the store ledger and
note any deficiencies, naming the troop.

"3. The acting regimental storekeeper, Captain F. Wedderburn, will issue stores to
A, E, F and G troops for the camp to be held at Sussex, 22nd Septenber, 1891, in
terms of regimental order dated 28th August, 1891.

"By order.

"F. V. WEDDERBURN,
" Ctttaii and A a oat.

Q. That is what vou consider the warrant of vour authority ?-A. The warrant is
issued by me as adjutant.

By Mr. Hugles:

Q. By order of the commanding otiicer ?-A. Yes ; he sent me a inemo. to issue an
order to that effect.

Q. You have not the memo. ?-A. No.
Q. This stands for the official instructions ?-A. Yes.
Q. Under that you were to take charge of the armis, &c., of the seven troops -

A. Yes.
Q. What did you consider to be your duties ?-A. Under the regulation orders,

"to take care of the arms, accoutrements and clothing of the different troops," according
to the R. & O. That is the regulations and orders.

Q. Do you take charge of the clothing also 7-A. Yes, sir.
Q. How do they get it back and forward there ? By the regimental storekeeper,

or how ?-A. It depended on how far they were from headquarters.
Q. I notice it is stated here to be a teinporary appointment, pending the appoint-

ment of a permanent official. Has there been any change since ?-A. No, sir.
Q. You have just been in charge under that order ?--A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you understand that under that order you were to take charge of the arms,

inen's clothing, &c., clean thei and supply a proper place for their keeping ?-A. I did
not understand that I was to supply a place to keep themi.

Q. How did you understand this order, "I e will at once take over and provide a

place for keeping thein " ?-A. I thought it vas as adjutant 1 was to take them.
Q. What do you understand by the order to keep these arms, "he shall have then

in possession and take them to camp and receive thei into store '2 The first require-
moent would be a place to keep theni ?-A. Certainly.

Q. What were vour duties as to that ?-A. You asked me about a tenporary
appointment. I hesitated about accepting the appointinent, and at last Col. Donville
wrote a peremptory order to take the arins in charge at once. After Col. Otty's death
they remained in his house, and there did not seem to be any person who would assume
the charge of them, so I assented to act temporarily and it has been continued f rom year
to year.

Q. It is under Col. Domville, I believe ?-A. Yes.
Q. What was your first step with reference to the storage of these arms and accoutre-

ments ?-A. I tried in several places in Hampton and Sussex to get a storehouse but
could not. At first Barnes did not care to rent his hall, but afterwards I rented it
from him.

Q. You have heard the lease read. That was entered into biy you and Mr. Barnes?
-A. Yes, sir.

Q. In which you undertook to pay $15 a quarter for the rental of the hall as an
armoury ?-A. Yes, sir.

Q. A place where these arms could be stored ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. And you have paid the rent quarterly or from time to tine up to the present ?-

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. How much did you receive each year during the time for the grant to the
armoury ?-A. Sixty dollars a troop. I cannot say when the increase for the increased
number of troops took place.

Q. You commenced with seven ?-A. Yes. sir.
Q. And then another was added making eight troops at 560 a troop ?-A. Yes.
Q. So you received a sum of money each year of $420 and in late years of 8480

regularly ?-A. Yes.
Q. How do you receive that, by a cheque from the district paymaster ?-A. Yes.
Q. At what date ?-A. In June, sometimes a little later.
Q. Who is the district paymaster ?-A. Major Armstrong.
Q. And you have actually received each year about that period a cheque from

Major Armstrong, district paymaster, for the amount at $60 a troop ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. And then you paid to Mr. Barnes, who owns the hall, at the rate of $I5

quarterly or $60 a year ?-A. You say "then."
Q. Well, in the meantime and along you paid it ?-A. Yes.
Q. Major Wedderburn, tell us frankly did you from the first suppose that when

vou received the office, and have you since supposed, that you were to supply the storage
at the amount paid you ?-A. No.

Q. You supposed that over and above the $420 or $480 you would receive the rent
of the hall ?-A. Yes.

Q. Why did you think that ?-A. I think that in the Auditor General's report
there were cases where it was paid. I talked over with Col. Dom ville about the pay-
ment. He said he did not care to beconie responsible for a large amount, or something
to that effect, but he told me to get the arms properly stored and lie said " you will be
paid this amount," or some words of that kind, but I do not know whether it was to be
from the Government.

Q. You won't be positive it was the Government ?-A. No.
Q. But you had a conviction that this $60 would be paid you over and above the

other ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you have been working along that assumption ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Hughes :

Q. Do you know any corps that has received this Government allowance ?--A. I
cannot be positive, but my recollection of looking over the Auditor Generals report is
that there are several.

By Ir. Fosier:

Q. That is your impression ?-A. Yes.
Q. You could not point to that ?--A. No.
Q. And you do not know that other corps had received it ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you have received it from Col. Dom ville ?-A. Not from Col. Domville.
Q. Could you get it in any way from the regiment 7-A. No.
Q. You got the regimental allowance of 860 per troop, and if not from the regiment

what was the source ?-A. In the first place the account was made out by Mr. Barnes
from the copy that I sent him ; that was made out previous to this letter in 1896 under
the Conservative Government. The application was sent forward, but I cannot say the
amount or date.

Q. Sent to whom ?-A. I gave it to Col. Domville, lie forwarded it to Col. Maunsell,
and then it went on to the department.

Q. You gave it to Col. Domville ?-A. Yes.
Q. You do not know that it went further ?-A. I know that one did.
Q. Went where 7-A. To headquarters.
Q. You know Col. Maunsell said lie did not see any account ?-A. But Col. Maunsell

forgot another point.

A. 1898
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By fr. Hutqhes:

Q. Col. Maunsell would only forward it ?-A. Yes, it would go through his bands.
Q. You think in one instance at least it went further than the commanding officer?

-A. Yes, I am positive.
Q. Why positive ?-A. I have a letter-press copy, showing the receipt of this account

both by Col. Maunsell and headquarters.

By Mr. Fielding :

Q. Have you got that ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Foster

Q. About what time was that sent in ?-A. In 1S96.
Q. But up to that time you had paid the renit ?--A. Yes, but J had sent in accounts

previous to that of which I have no record.
Q. To whom?-A. The lieutenant-colonel.
Q. Every year ?-A. No, but possibly one in two years.
Q. Did you make it to the department ?-A. I sent a copy to Barnes how I wanted

it made out to the department.
Q. Did you make it to the department of your initiative or was it suggested to

you ?-A. As a militia officer I would make it to the department, but whether on sugges-
tion or ny own initiative I do not recollect.

Q. Mr. Bar nes has said that the rent bas been paid up and he lias shown in what
manner; that is correct as far as you know ?-A. Yes.

Q. Now, Major Wedderburn, I want to ask you if you have seen that bill ? (filed
with Exhibit No. 1)-A. Yes, sir.

Q. You have seen that bill ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Where ?-A. Weli, that m as made out, I think, in mv brother-in-law's office,

Wallace & Fraser.
Q. Where ?-A. In St. John.
Q. In St. John ?-A. 1 think so.
Q. 0f that date and in typewriting ?--A. I think so. I recognize it by the peculiar

paper, a tinted paper.
Q. But was that identical bill made in Wallace & Fraser's office ?-A. Yes.
Q. By whom ?-A. The typewriter.
Q. On whose instructions ?-A. On mine.
Q. Had Barnes asked you to make out the bill ?-A. I had got the information

from Barnes.
Q How do you mean ?r-A. If you mean instructions I may say that once when I

went to see Barnes he asked me, -why don't you niake them out yourself, because you
know the amounts." As you will see from the letter, I asked him to make out the
accounts because I did not know the dates. _'My impression is that I have a telegram
froni Col. Domville.

Q. You have not that ?-A. No. I went to the Western Union and Canadian
Pacific offices but they only keep them for six months.

Q. But you are positive the telegram was from Col. Domville ?-Yes.
Q. You knew J. Milton Barnes had been paid everything due him ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then you were held responsible for his rent, and had actually paid his rent f roi

time to time ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Were you advised then to make out a bill in the name of J. Milton Barnes as

against the department for what he had received, although le had not authorized you
to make out a bill ?-A. He so far authorized me as to give the facts on which to make
it out, and I had a typewriter available and made it out. lie had previously made this
out, and after that, I made it out myself. H1e was aware that we had sent the accounts
in in his name.

Q. You did this in. Fraser & Wallace's office in St. John. Under your instructions,
then, you made it out the department owed Barnes $300 ?-A. Yes.
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Q. Was it made out on that day ?-A. I think it was. There was another account
a short time before that.

Q. Account of what ?-A. The same as this. I think this was made out on this
date, but I would not be positive.

Q. What time of day was that made out, do you recollect ?-A. I do not recollect.
Q. You cannot recollect ?-A. No, sir.
Q. Was it in the forenoon or the afternoon ?-A. I have no recollection of the time.

I would nct be positive to the date. There is another reason. I have a copy of this
bill here with the date 31st May on the top of it. It is a copy of the bill with 31st May
on it in lead pencil.

Q. Can you recollect whether you were in the office in the morning, afternoon or
night ?-A. I was there all day. I continued there a long time.

Q. After you made it out, what happened ; that is, so far as you know ?-A. I
think I mailed it, but I am not at all sure. A telegram or a letter-I think a telegrani
came in and I sent it.

Q. The telegram was urgent, and vou sent it ?-It was " Send the account at once,"
or, " Send to Ottawa," or something of that kind.

Q. To the best of your knowledge this was on the 31st May, and you forwarded it
to whom ?-A. If I recollect, to Col. Domnville.

Q. You say on 31st May you forwarded it to Col. Domville ?-A. To the best of
my knowledge.

Q. To the best of your knowledge ?-A. Yes.
Q. Will you look at these papers ?-A. That is just to say, I sent another account

forward. I put it into the post office there on the 31st May.
Q. It is in your writing, is it ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you are quite sure you put that in the date you sent that to Col. Donville ?

-A. I would not swear positively, but I think it was.
Q. Will you positively say or not whether you received any instructions as to that

date, the 31st May, from any person else as to personal advantage in regard to the
former bill ?-A. J will say positively I did not.

Q. And to the best of your knowledge, it is just as you have said ?-A. Yes.
Q. It appears from these accounts of the department that a claim was put in, this

claim, to wit, on the 2nd of June to the Militia Department here for the amount of the
bill, and a cheque was issued to Col. Domville for Mr. J. Milton Barnes on the 2nd day
of June, and that cheque was endorsed by Col. Doiville alone, and was paid to hini on
the 3rd June. Did you receive that 8300, or any part of it, fron Col. Domville?-A. No, sir.

Q. None of it ?-A. No, sir.
Q. You didn't receive any communication from Col. Domville transmitting either

the cheque or the proceeds of the cheque to J. M. Barnes ?-A. No, sir.
Q. When did vou first hear of the cheque for $300 having been issued in considera

tion of the bill ?-A. First, positively, from Col. Domville.
Q. When was that ?-A. The first time I saw hin. It may have been the first

day or possibly the second day. H1e was in England for some time and when he returned
I was in England. When he was up here in preparation for the Jubilee I was not in
funds. I told him that if he could get that $300 he was quite at liberty to use it. I
asked him first to get it for me and then afterwards in discussing it with him he spoke
of finances and I said to him, " use that if you wish it." I had borrowed money from
him and he froin nie previous to that.

Q. And did you leave it in that liberal fashion ?-A. Yes.
Q. Without taking any note ?-A. No note whatever.
Q. Without any promise that it would be repaid ?-A. No, sir, I did not think it

necessary, and the first time I saw him afterwards he said, "I have got that money for
you.",

Q When was it that you got the knowledge that he had received that money ?-
A. When lie returned from the Yukon. I came back from England just before Christ-
mas ; lie returned not until after the new year.

Q. When did you go to England?-A. About the first of November.
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Q. You left home for England about November 1st ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. You didn't meet him there ?-A. No.
Q. What time did you get back froin England ?-A. I arrived two days before

Christmas.
Q. And about when did you see Col. Domville?-A. I cannot tell positively-I

think sometime after the new year. He was away from home at Christmas and I
think the new year also.

Q. After new year's?-A. I think sometime after new year.
Q. And it was then that he told you that he had been successful in getting 8300

for J. Milton Barnes ?-A. Not for J. M. Barnes but for me.
Q. What did he say ?-A. He said " that claim has been paid " or something like

that.
Q. Has he paid you that money since ?-A. No, sir.
Q. Have you any note of Col. Domville's ?-A. No, sir.

By Mr. Wood (Hamilton) :

Q. Are you quite satisfied that he will pay you the money ?-A. Quite.

By 3r. Foster:

Q. You are not so satisfied as to when ?-A. I never thought much as to that.
Q. Are you a man of sufficient means that you can let this go on without a note?

-A. I thought I could. He is the colonel of my regiment and J thought I eould allow
it. We have a way of lending to one another.

Q. You were the appointee, J suppose, of the lieutenant-colonel ?-A. Yes, sir,
temporarily.

Q. A temporary appointment, kept on from time to time ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. But at the instance of the lieutenant-colonel could be eut off?-A. Yes, sir.

In fact I have asked repeatedly that I be relieved from the duty, and I expect to be,
shortly.

Q. In this receipt (with Exhibit No. 1): " St. John, N.B., 3rd November, 1897.
Received from F. V. Wedderburn, the sum of 8300, payment in full for rent of hall at
Hampton, N.B., for use as an armoury, from 1st June, 1892, to 3 1st May, 1S97, .1. M.
Barnes." Did vou know anything of this until you came back ?-A. I did not kniow.

Q. You left about lst November ?-A. I think I left St. John on the 1st and sailed
from Montreal on the 4th.

Q. Do you do the work of attending to the arns yourself ?-A. Yes, sir, with some
assistance.

Q. You supervise it ?-A. Yes, I attend to the correspondence and other clerical
work, and the rest I get done.

Q. For several years occasionally you and Col. Domville have spoken together with
reference to the getting of this fron the Government ?-A. Yes.

Q. And have you always understood that Col. Domville would, if he could, get it
from the Government ?-A. Yes.

Q. And was your understanding with Col. )omville that he would get it and give
it to you ?-A. Yes.

Q. Positively ?-A. Yes.
Q. There was no understanding implied or otherwise that part only should coie to

you i-A. No.

By Mr. Hughes:

Q. Why didn't you keep the stores in St. John ?-A. Thev are regimental stores
and we had no right to use that; it is a district store.

By Mr. Frost:

Q. Where are they now ?-A. At Barries' Hall in Hampton.
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Q. And is the rent being continued ?-A. Yes.
Q. Is there any place in Sussex ?-A. I think there is a company of infantry

which have a place there.
Q. Do you know anything of the Government renting a place ?-A. Yes, but there

is no building fit to store arms.
Q. What is the allowance ?-A. For infantry 840, and for cavalry $60 per troop,

on account of having more stores.
Q. Do they get this whether the Government has an armoury and drill shed ?-A.

No, I think not, but I can't say positively. I thiuk the Government, where they pro-
vided storekeepers, do not pay it.

By Mlr. Foster:

Q. From the 31st May, the date at which you think you made out the bill, after
that and up to the time you met Col. Domville at new year's had you seen him ?-A.
No.

Q. It was previous to this you had spoken of how you would finance the Jubilee ?-
A. Before that,

Q. And he suggested this plan?-A. No, I suggested it.
Q. So in kindness of heart, he being your commanding officer, you suggested that if

he could get this money he could have the use of it ?-A. I was pressing several times to
have it paid, and as he was going away and likely to be away some time I spoke of his
collecting the amount while up here, and I think it was in the same conversation I told
him he might use it.

By Mr. Wood (Hamilton):

Q. This claim is due by the Government to you ?-A. It was money I had paid out
for the rent of the hall.

Q. And due by the Government to you ?-A. I consider it was due by the Govern-
ment to me.

Q. Then, as a matter of fact, it was a matter between Col. Domville and yourself ?
-A. That is so.

By Mr. 'raser (Guysborough)

Q. You said you had sent in an account to the department previous to the one of
November, 1896 ?-A. Yes.

Q. Do you know the date?-A. No.
Q. Will you produce the book to show that you had a knowledge that the depart-

ment got one of them ?-A. This is it (producing regimental letter-book).
Q. Will you please read it ?-A. Here it is at page 162. The first is dated Ottawa,

8th March, 1896, from the A. A. G. to the D. A. G. at Fredericton, N.B., as follows:
" Attached claim for rent of armoury at Hampton from lst March, 1892, to 29th Febru-
arv, 1896, is returned for the authority upon which it is based. By order, M. Aylmer,
Lt.-Col., Asst. Adj Gen." That is the bill sent through the proper channels and re-
turned for the ground of claim. There is then this note:

"To 0. C. 8th Hussars.
" Please forward the authority required. I hold the claim in the meantime.

"10-3-96. " GEO. J. MAUNSELL, Lt.-Col., D.A.G."

Then at the bottom there is a memno. signed by Lt. Col. Domville to the D.A.G.,
M. D. No. 8, Fredericton, N.B.:

"The regimental armoury was authorized several years ago as the best system of
maintaining saddlery, etc., in proper order. Before that each troop C. O. had its stores,
and it resulted in unnecessary losses and improper care. On the authority (which I
cannot lay my hand on), the stores were all ordered to be handed over to Major Otty,
and it was carried out, with the exception of D troop, whose C. O. refused to obey.
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Under written instructions from General Herbert, then G.O.C., an oflicer was sent from
the Royal Military School at Fredericton to seize th'em, whicli he did, and handed them
over to Major Otty. Until an arnoury can be built, Major Otty stored them in his
bouse. He died suddenly four years ago, and it then became necessary to reniove them
and procure an arlioury. A temporary building was obtained, and, as instructed by
Major-General Herbert, I obtained plans and estimates "-I think it is ; this letter-book
is in camp every year and the moisture affects it-" for an armnoury to be erected by the
Government (vide correspondence and plans at headquarters), which I did. At the time
I secured a tenporary arnoury I sent the bills for fitting it up and putting it in prolper
order to Ottawa, and the same was duly paid by the authorities. As ail correspondence
bas marked on it 'to be read and returned,' I bave difficulty at times tracing out mat-
ters, and I ain in that position at the moment "-that he cannot return the papers.
This is signed " James Donville, Lieut. Col., commanding 8th Hussars," and is dated
from "lReginental headquarters, Rothesay, N.B., 11-3-96."

L'y fr. Foster:

Q. There was no answer to that letter was there ? There were no other accounts
sent forward except the memo. ?- A. No, not that I know of.

Q. Was there any subsequent action ?-A. No.
Q. You said in answer to a question a little while ago that the Government owed

you this $300 and that it was a matter simply between Col. Domville and yourself as to
the disposal of the money after it was paid ?--A. Yes.

Q. That is your view of it, is it ?- A. Yes, I had paid the money out and con-
sidered it was due to me.

Q. Why did you not make the bill out te yourself, instead of to J.. Milton Barnes,
you certainly knew that the Government did not owe him anything ?--A. We had rented
the hall from him.

Q. But he had received his payment ?-A. Yes.

By Mfr. JWod (Hamilton):

Q. The Government had not paid him the money ?-A. No.

By fr. Foster :

Q. Would it not seeni that in your view of things it would have been better to
have made out the bill that the department was indebted te you ?-A. I suppose it wvas
a matter of judgment. It is a question which way would have been Letter. In (ne
instance it was made out to Col. Domville.

Q And in this instance ?-A. It was not.
Q. I notice Col. Donville's letter asking for payment is dated Ottawa. That bill

you say is dated May 31st, and on lst June, lie writes: "I have the honour to ask
payment of Mr. J. Milton Barnes' account for rent of arnouries, 8300." The first remark
I wànt te niake is this : (I want you to remember as keenly as you can) for a bill made
out on the 31st May in St. John to get into the possession of a person here on 1st June,
is pretty quick work A. Yes.

Q. What I want especially to call your attention to is that Col. Domville did not
ask payment of a claim by you against the Government at all but of a claini due to J.
M. Barnes for $300 and you had paid it. I am afraid they paid it as to -J. M. Barnes,
who had been paid before ?-A. That may have been an error of judgment.

Q. -Have you any recollection as to who or if any one suggested to you that it-
should be made out in the name of J. Milton Barnes 2-A. I do not know. The first
claim was made out some years ago and we did it in the same way. The first claim was
made out " the Department of Militia and Defence to J. M. Barnes." That was sent
up some time before the change of government and I think it would be on record
here.
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By Mr. Fraser :

Q. Would that be the account to which this is the answer (account marked Exhibit
5) ?-A. No, it is another. It is the second account. I do not think it refers to the
first one.

Q. And you do not remember to whom the account to which this is an answer was
made out ?-A. I do not remember.

Q. And you say there was one certainly, perhaps two accounts previous to that of
March, 1896 ?-A. Yes.

Q. Did you receive any reply ?-A. Well, nothing of any moment; I may have
received a memorandum but nothing to amount to anything.

Q. Can you give any idea of what date that would be? The date of the previous
accounts ?-A. No, 1 have searched through all my papers and tried in many ways to
refresh my memory but I cannot be positive. I have a faint recollection that the first
account was for $180.

Q. For $180, how oni ago would that be ?-A. About three years.
Q. About 1894 ?-A. I cannot be very clear on that, I have no data.
Q. From the first you had the impression in your own mind that the Government

would owe you that money and that you would be paid for it; it was not an after
thought ?-A. No, sir.

Q. And you had expressed that opinion to Barnes ?-A. Yes.
Q. He knew actually that what you paid him you were going to get back ?-A.

Yes, sir.
Q. There is a letter on file (Exhibit No. 3) from Col. Markham; be is the colonel

commanding the Sth Hussars. How does he come into this ?-A. He is the senior
major of the regiment with the brevet rank of Lt.-Col. of the sane regiment.

Q. Had you any communication with him 2-A. At one time he asked me if I had
received the noney for rent of armouries. He asked me that question and I told hini I
had not.

Q. Do vou remember when than was?-A. I think it was after my return from
England, but I do not remember. 1 did not attach much importance to it and do not
remember.

Q. These books you say were in Colonel Markham's possession ?-A. Yes, and the
other regimental books.

Q, Subject to his control and inspection ?-A. Yes.
Q. You think it was after your return that you had that conversation with him ?

-A. I think it was, but I cannot place it definitely.
Q. But you feel pretty certain that it was after your return ?-A. Yes.
Q. This letter is dated November 31st, 1897. Have you seen it ?-A. No, sir.
Q. It is dated St. John, N.B., and is to J. Milton Barnes, Esq. It says : " Dear

Sir-I ani asked by the Militia Department to send your receipt for $300 which has been
paid to you for rent of armoury for five years from March, 1892, to March, 1897. Please
be good enough to send this to me bv return mail and much oblige, yours very truly,
Alf. Markham, Lt.-Col. 8th Hussars." Do you think it was after that that you had the
conversation ?-A. I think it was after the date of that letter that Col. Markham asked
me if I had received this amount.

Q. Now, you said, Mr. Wedderburn, and I sympathize with it because I have been
in the same position myself, you said that this lending to each other was common in the
regiment ?- A. Yes, there has been more or less of it.

Q. And the e was no such thing as the usual formality of bonds and notes and all
the rest of it ?-A. I never had it.

Q. You have lent and borrowed, and as between yourself and Col. Domville there
are no formalities of that kind ? You always made the payments when you saw fit, and
there was no receipt of any kind ?-A. Yes.

Q. I suppose Col. Domville, in discussing the matter, said that be would like to
go to England, but that there were financial difficulties ?-A. We had discussed it
several times. I was anxious to go myself, either on the contingent or in a private
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capacity, but when Col. Doniville had the chance that settled anyonie else. We had
many talks about the cost, etc.

Q. And on this occasion you told him that if he could get the claim he was weleome
to the use of the money ?-A. I told him he could have it.

Q. And the first time you saw him he told you he had it ?-A. I would not be sure.
Q. It is not paid yet, but of course it is due you ?-A. Yes.
Q. Was there before then or since then the least collusion between Vou and Col.

Domville that it was to be shared between you or he was to get any ?-A. No, sir,
none whatever. I think he once suggested that I might open a bottle of wnie.

Q. On the question of imaking up the account, you thought that the best way to
make the money, that the bill going in in that way would perhaps be the best way -
A. I do not know ,just why. I supposed the question of my having paid l'arnes did not
have any effect on the obligation of the Goverarnent to pay the rent and ' put it in in
his name.

Q. And as you had paid noney that should be paid by the Government you thought
it still due to Barnes by the Government ?-A. Something like that.

3y Mr. Foster:

Q. Now, Major Wedderburn, you are a lawyer and a business man ?-A. Yes.
Q. I want you to answer nie this : was there any contract or agreement between

Mr. Barnes and the Government in any way, shape or form i A. Not that I know of.
Q. Was not the agreement with hin simply and solely witli you as to the rental of

the hall ?-A. Yes, it was an agreement between us.
Q. Did not you pay the rent as stated froi time to time ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then did not you know that the Government was not indebted to J. Milton

Barnes?-A. Legally, I think not.
Q. Then why did you make out a bill afirming the Government was indebted to

Mr. Barnes, or suggested it to Mr. Barnes, after that telegrama fron Col. Doiville, and
forwarded to him here; why did you do that ?-A. Well, as I say, I do not know
exactly except as to the facts that I had paid J. Milton Barnes ; it was a iatter
between us, and the Government still owe the rent to me.

Q. But the lease was between you and J. Milton Barnes ?-A. i felt ail along that
I was acting as the agent of the regiment and the Government in renting that hall.
One reason why we did that was that Barnes preferred his rent quarterly instead of at
the end of the year; I told him that accounts were paid yearly by the department.

Q. Do not you, aside from this, know that nothing is owing to Barnes 9-A. Barnes
can collect nothing from the Government.

Q. Col. Domville in that telegram told you to make it out in J. Milton Barnes'
name ?-A. I made it out.

Q. Without authorization?-A. Barnes had asked me previously why I did not
make out accounts without going to him.

Q. But you had no direct authorization ?-A. No.

By Mr. Taylor :

Q. You know accounts were sent in before 3-A. Yes.
Q. In J. Milton Barnes' name ?-A. In every instance.
Q. Where are they ? -A. I do not know.
Q. More than that, I want you to explain this. Here is a letter dated 17th Nov-

ember, from the Auditor General, in which he states this : "I an in receipt of your
letter of 13th instant forwarding voucher dated November 3rd, 1897, fron J. M. Barnes,
acknowledging the receipt of S300 from F. V. Wedderburn for rent of hall for armoury
from June 1st, 1892, to May 31st, 1897. You have overlooked the request in my letter
for a statement why payment was not made by your department directly to the creditor,
as well as an explanation why the rent was not paid as it accrued. The usual certifi-
cate by the district officer if the building was used for the purposes of a public armoury,
should be furnished. As pointed out to you before, the 8th Hussars had received their
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allowance and the care of armis for the period covered by this claim. Is it not contrarv
to the Regulations and Orders to pay this allowance where there is a public armoury
The voucher forwarded appears to be a receipt by Mr. Barnes of an outlay by Major
Wedderburn for rent, out of the annual grant of $60 per troop received by him for the
8th Cavalry as the care of arms allowance. There is nothing to connect this with the
$300 cheque to which this correspondence refers." That is signed by the Auditor General
and directed to the Deputy Minister of Militia and Defence. The Miniister of Militia
and Defence in answernr it says, under date of January 24, 1898: "In reply to your
letter of the 17th November last, in which you ask for further information respecting
the armoury of the 8th Hussars, I beg to state that the cheque was made payable to
Lieut.-Col. Domville for J. M. Barnes. This was done at the request of Lieut.-Col.
Domville and the receipt of Mr. Barnes was sent to the department. This was an
exceptional case, as it is always the rule to make cheques payable to the person entitled
to receive the money. The rent was not paid as it accrued because no accounts reached
the department as rent accrued. The certificate that you ask for from the district
offi2er that the building was used for the purposes of an armoury is herewith attached.
It is not contrary to regulations to pay allowances for care of arms where there is a
public armoury, provided there is no paid caretaker attached to said armoury." Now,
Mr. Panet says that no account ever reached the department in reference to this claim ?
-A. But there is a letter directlv signed by headquarters.

Lt.-Col. PANET-Let me explain ; sometimes accounts do not reach the Minister,
accounts are sent in with no authority whatever.

Mr. FOSTER-We might have Col. Panet back on that question.

Lt.-Col. PANET was again recalled and further examined.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Col. Panet, what have you to say as to accounts being sent in, and your state-
ment that as far as you knew the department did not receive any account; how might
that occur ?-A. It might occur in this way : that an account might have been sent in
and very likely returned if on the face of it you could not see the certificate of the
oflicer commanding the district or the paymaster. If they could not show that they
would be sent back as no use.

Q. Now, with reference to the three points of information I wantedfrom you ?-A.
Yes, sir You wish to know the date when these different armouries were concentrated.
Well, we have nothing to establish that in the department, except that some accounts
were sent in that were not authorized. and the consequence was they were not paid and
I presume on seeing these accounts or hearing of them that these armouries had been
concentrated without any authority.

Q. From whom ?-A. From the Minister. Of course, the chief officer commanding
may sometimes take upon himself to order things, but without the linister ; but I
cannot settle dates. In regard to the Sth Hussars, I find there was authority given on
the 6th October, 1896, and I have had my clerks to look back to see if there was any-
thing anterior to that date but have not been able yet to find anything. The other
question you asked me was, if I knew any similar cases. This of course would take a
little time to get, but on looking over the books I find that there was one case-that is
the cavalry armouries at London, Ont., which I believe is a parallel case to this, there is
a lease there on stores and armouries for which we pay $720.

By Mfr. Hughes:

Q. Stores or store rooms ?-A. Stores and store rooms as well.

By fr. Fraser (Guysborough) :

Q. Over and above the other ?-A. No, sir; this is paid $720 per annum and the
lussars have their arms, &c., in there, but there is no paid caretaker. Still they draw

the allowance.
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Q. Besides the S720 ?-A. Yes.

By Mfr. Foster :

Q. There is a caretaker at the armourv ?-A. Ye..

By Mr. 'raser:

Q. And is he paid by the year ?-A. I mean there is a caretaker of the whole
armourv.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. And so the captains of the troops draw their monev ?-A. Ye,

By Mr. I'raser :

Q. They got their $60, the captains of companies ?-A. Yes.

Bu Mr. Foster

Q. Of which companies ?-A. Of the different troops,

By Mhr. Fraser.:

Q. By this, then, the Government pays S720 for rent i-A. Yes.

By Mr. Hughes:

Q. And also for the arms and accoutrements ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then what is the $720 ?-A. That is for rent of the arinouries and the rent of

the storage building.
Q. For this one corps alone ?-A. No. For the whole of the district, in the sanie

building.
Q. The cavalry regiment makes it their district storehouse A. Yes.
Q. Then thev are free from rent?-A. Yes.
Q. Now, take a corps where there is an allowance made, where the arrns are stored

at one headquarters and the allowance taken from the captains and given to the regi-
mental furd, what is the custom there ?-A. That the caretaker, who is generally
appointed by the officers, is paid by the department.

Q. As far as the allowance goes ?-A. Yes.
6. Paid in a lump sum to the regiment ?-A. No, sir, it is not paid.
Q. Take for example the Queen's Own Rifles in Toronto. The Government pays

for a very expensive armoury there, they paid large sums towards building the armouries,
the corps pays no rent for that building, do they ?-A. No, I do not think they do.

Q. Who pays that? What is the allowance ?-A. Forty dollars.
Q. And that is paid to the regimental fund 7-A. They can settle that as they

please.
Q. When the arms are stored in an armoury belonging to the Government that bas

a paid caretaker the allowance is not paid -A. No, sir.
Q. Not paid to anybody ?-A. No.
Q. I think it has been ?-A. If you are positively stating that there was an excep-

tion made I will look into it.

By Mr. Fraser:

Q. When did that rental begin in the city of London ?-A. I cannot tell you.
Q. Do you know how many years ?-A. It must have been built about five or six

years ago, but I an not positive about that.
Q. But there is no doubt about the case of London, that each company gets its

allowance ?-A. Yes, they get 860.
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Q. Have you a caretaker in London ?-A. In London we have.
Q. And do you pay him ?-A. Yes, he is paid, but he cares for the buildings and

stores.
Q. And looks after the arms ?-A. No, he does not look after the arms, they are

there thev are allowed storage, but the captains of the companies that get the 860 are
responsible for them, and when our inspector finds any fault he has nothing to say to the
caretaker. He goes to the oficers.

Q. Referring to your other note, when does the text show that the change was
made ?-A. That is just what I cannot state, sir. Col. Domville appears to have had
that building for a long time before he was authorized to have it. By our books I find
on October 6th, 1896, he asked for the authority of the Minister to allow him to draw
the money. I find there was an authority given then, but as I see it appeared from this
that he was in there before but I have not been able to find any authority for his
doing so.

Q. The question of rent was not mentioned ?-A. No.
Q. There is one question about the payment to the caretaker of the building ?

By Mr. Foster:

Q. About what?

By Mr. Fraser :

Q. The payment of the caretaker. I asked you when Col. Otty cane in ?-A. He
was not appointed by the department. He is a regimental officer.

Q. Now, here is a letter from Col. Markham (Exhibit No. 3) in which he says:-

ST. JOHN, N.B., November lst, 1897.
J. MILToN BARNEs, Esq.,

Hampton, N.B.

DEAR S1R,-I am asked by the Militia Department to send your receipt for S300
which lias been paid to you for five years from March, 1892, to March, 1897. Please
be good enougli to send this to me by return mail and much oblige."
Do you know anything about this request from the Militia Department to Col. Mark-
ham ?-A. That must have been made by order very likely because I did not receive
from Col. Domville the receipt which had been promised, and naturally I was very
anxious to get that receipt and I gave instructions to hurry the thing through and very
likely that was in response to an order sent to the officer commanding the district to see
that this receipt reached the department with as much expedition as possible. •

Q. That was after the demand of the Auditor General for the receipt 2-A. Very
likely it was. I do not remember.

Q. That is, you had made payment of the money ?-A. I had.
Q. There was no voucher in the form of a receipt from J. Milton Barnes ?-A. No.
Q. And you were anxious, at the request of the Auditor General, to get that ?-A.

Yes.
Q. And you sent this request to the comnianding officer, Col. Markham, in the

absence of Col. Donville ?-Yes.

By Mfr. Hughes :

Q. Who is in command to day ?-A. Lieut.-Col. Domville.
Q. Is lie not out ?-No.

By Mr. Fraser (Guysborough):

Q. If you can find, Col. Panet, any other case where the payment was made you
will -- A. Yes. With regard to the papers the committee required f rom me I under-
stood the other day that it was such papers only as related to this cheque, but there may
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be some papers from the Major General to the Minister recommending that Col. Domville
might keep his arms altogether. Am I to understand you w'ant these ?

Mr. FosTER-We want all the papers froin the beginning.

Mr. WEDDERBURN was recalled and further examined.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. We have had what necessary evidence we need from you, Major Wedderburi,
but I w ant to ask a few questions by way of summary. You were appointed by a
regimental order of August 29th, 1891, as caretaker of armis and accoutrements ?-A.
Yes.

Q. You then rented the hall from J. Milton Barnes ?-A. Yes.
Q. And entered into a lease with him for which you were to pay ,6O a year .- A.

Yes, sir.
Q. That you paid this rent from time to time ?-A. Yes.
Q. And satisfied all J. Milton Barnes' requirements ?-A. Yes.
Q. In the meantime you had a general idea that in some way or other you would

get the rent back again?--A. Yes.
Q. That Col. Doniville in some way or other would get the rent for you ?-Yes.
Q. On that assumption you frequently talked over how that could be done ?-Yes.

The first claim I put in under the Conservative Government. Then, probably when
Lieut.-Col. Domville was a member of Parliament J relied on him more than at first.

Q. This was not before 1896; the first claim ?-Oh, ves.
Q. Well, Col. Domville was not a member before 1896 1-A. I say, after he became

a member I relied on his advice.
Q. So you say that two or three bills were sent in ?-A. I think they will tind thiem

in looking for the papers.
Q. And this one was sent back from headquarters 2-A. For the authority.
Q. And you, knowing J. Milton Barnes' claims had been paid, made a bill in the

name of J. Milton Barnes to the department ?-Yes.
Q. You did that at Col. Domville's telegraphic request ?-A. His telegram did not

say how, that is my recollection. It may be possible to get that telegram perhaps here,
but I could not get it in St. John.

Q. And you made that bill out on the 31st May without direct authority from J.
Milton Barnes ?-A. Yes.

Q. And sent it to Col. Domville ?-A. Yes.
Q. You know now that Col. Domville got that cheque ?-A. Yes.
Q. You have not got anything of it ?-A. No.
Q. And it is now lent to Col. Domville as a loan ?-A. Yes.
Q. And as a matter of fact you know Barnes is not owed anything by the Govern-

ment ?-A. If you consider my payments to Barnes as payments for the Government, no.
Q. But J. Milton Barnes entered into a lease with you, not with the Governmnent ?-

A. We went on the ground that it was an obligation, a claim paid by the Governmient
to J. Milton Barnes. The arms and stores were in my father's house partly, and partly
in the barn, occupying room, and I had to get them out. Barnes preferred to have the
lease of the hall drawn in my naine and the rent paid quarterly.

Q. But that was between you and J. Milton Barnes ?-A. Yes.
Q. You have not received any part of that 8300 ?-A. No.
Q And you said there is no arrangement as to when the money is to be returned ?

-A. I understood he told me he had got it and would return it.

33
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Lt.-Col. PANET again recalled and again further examined:-

By Mr. Fraser (Guysborough):

Q. I see in the Auditor General's report, page L-9, "lst Hussars, London, drill
instruction, care of arms, etc., $480," that is exactly the same as this ?-A. Yes.

Q. They are parallel cases ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then on page L-28 I see, "John Christie, rent of premises for artillery,

cavalry, and storehouse departments, 15 months to July 3, 1897, at $60," and so and
so; he was paid that ?-A. Yes.

Q. For the same number of companies ?-A. Yes.
Q. The cavalry regiment there got S400 ?-A. Yes.
Q. It is a parallel case ?-A. Yes.

By MUr. Hugles :

Q. The building vas also used for cavalry stores?-A. Yes.

By fr. Foster:

Q. It is a district store ?-A. When I say a parallel case it is a similar case.

Mr. WEDDERBURN was again recalled and further examined:-

By Mr. Foster:

Q. You are storekeeper ?-A. Yes.
Q. You received $420 for seven troops and $480 for ei.ght troops ?-A. Yes.

Lt.-Col. PANET recalled:

By Mr. Fraser (Guysborougi):

Q. How long has this been done in London ?-A. Five or six years.

Messrs. Barnes and Wedderburn discharged from further attendance.

HoUsE OF COMMONS,
COMMITTEE ROOM,

FRIDAY, 13th May, 1898.
Committee met.-Mr. McMullen in the Chair.

Lieut.-Col. PANET, being recalled, testified as follows:-

By Mr. Foster:

Q. These papers (Exhibit 6), I suppose, are in answer to the request for all the
papers connected with the case ?--A. Yes, sir; these are all the papers we could collect
in the department.

Q. So far as the department is concerned, that is a complete case ?-A. Yes.
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Q. I just want to ask you two or three questions: what is the usual course an
account runs, say, f rom an officer, an under officer, of a regiment it goes first to who?
-A. The officer commanding the regiment.

Q. The first step will be then f rom an under olticer of, say, the 8th Hussars to the
colonel commanding ?-A. Yes.

Q Froni himn to whom would it pass ?-A. It would go to the ofiicer comianding
the district.

Q. After the officer commanding the district lias passed upon it to whom does it go?
-A. To headquarters.

Q. That is the Quarter Master General ?-A. No, it goes through the general officer
conmanding.

Q. A bill for rent of the armoury for the 8th Hussars in King's County, made out
by the gentleman who owned the hall, and to whom the rent was due, would pass in
successive stages through whose hands in order ; first ?-A. The otlicer connnanding the
battalion.

Q. Second ?-A. The officer commanding the district.
Q. Third i-A. It is sent to headquarters, with the proper recommendation.
Q. leadquarters means the general officer commanding?--A. Yes, it goes through

hiC.
Q. From him it goes to the Minister ?-A. Or to his deputy.
Q. And if everything is found all right payment then ensues ?-A. Yes.
Q. Was that course followed in reference to this bill ?-A. No.
Q. Does it appear from the papers that any previous application had been made to

the Government foi an allowance for rent for this armoury which regularly came before
the deparument and was passed upon, either affirmatively or negatively ?-A. No, sir,
there does not appear to have been any.

Q. Colonel Panet, did you know if there was an armoury at Hamnpton for the 8th
Hussars ?-A. I knew by the correspondence in the department; I must have known ;
I do not remember exactly, but from the correspondence I know the arms were all
collected in this case.

Q. And stored in Hampton?--A. Yes, I knew that.
Q. Did you know this was a regimental matter and that the regimenG had appoint-

ed a caretaker?-A. I knew that it was a regimental matter.
Q. And that there was a caretaker?-A. No, I did not know anything about that.
Q. Do you know now there was a caretaker ?-A. Yes, it appears so from the

papers.
Q. That being so, what is the rule in the case of a regimental armoury where a regi-

mental caretaker is appointed and gets the regimental allowance, $60 per troop; what
is the rule with reference to a place for the storage of the arms ?-A. When the arms
are stored in a Government building, or in a place leased by the Government, generally
the allowance is withheld, provided there is a caretaker paid by the Government.

Q. Now, that is aside entirely from the question I asked, which is this: In a case
such as that of the Sth Hussars, where the regiment has established an armoury, appointed
a caretaker, and he gets, under instructions, his orders and gets the $60 per troop for
his services, what is the general rule as to the providing of the place for the regimental
arms; is anv extra allowance made by the department at Ottawa in such case or is it
the general 'rule that the care of the arms includes a place for the keeping of the arms ?
-A. Generally when the allowance is paid it does not include the payment of a place
to store the arms, but there are exceptions ; and besides that, in cities and towns,
although the departnent furnishes a place to store the arms in, still the allowance is
paid when the caretaker is not paid by the department.

Q. As in the cae of London ?-A. Yes.
Q. Where are these general rules laid down ?-A. We have them in this little red

Q. Would you consider that an expression of opinion or a statement by the general
Officer commanding with reference to this would be fairly good authority as to the rule?

A. If approved by the Minister I would.
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Q. If not approved by the Minister ?-A. If not approved by the Minister, why of
course it would only amount to a recommendation.

Q. That is when the general quotes from a rule, say from Regulations and Orders,
1887, and says that means so and so, you must first get authorization ?-A. Oh, no.

Q. That is what I want to get at. If the general quotes a rule and lays down its
meaning, that is binding ?-A. Unless of course the Minister chooses to express a
different opinion.

Q. So that in this case, Col. Panet, you ordered the issue of a cheque to Lt.-Col.
Domville for paynent of the hall belonging to J. Milton Barnes at Hampton without
the regular course being followed ?-A. Yes.

Q. Without any regular authorization following upon such a course ?-A. There
was authority to pay, sir, on the face of the bill.

Q. Don't you see what I am after ; was there any general authorization by the
Minister, following from the claim made, which passed through the oflicer commanding,
the district officer commanding and the general officer commanding, and had their
recommendations ?-A. The Minister can

Q. I am not asking what the Minister can do ?--A. You must refer to the bill.
Q. Wait till I put my question. Was there any general authorization by the

Minister for payment in this case based upon the following regular course, by which
this bill went through the hands of the oflicer commanding the battalion, the district
officer commanding, and the general officer commanding ?-A. No general one but a
special one.

Q. Was there any special order made based upon special recommendations by these
officers ?-A. I look upon the bill as presented to me as an order to pay it.

Q. I will ask you that afterwards. With reference to this bill, was there any
authorization by the Minister or by any one else, such authorization being based on
examination of the bill and certificates in course from these officers or any one of them ?
-A. I presume the Minister who ordered the bill to be paid must have been satisfied.

Q. Was this bill authorized by the Minister ?-A. Certainly, sir, it appears on the
face of the bill.

Q. Say yes or no ?-A. It was.
Q. Was that authorization of the Minister based upon certificates from those

otlicers ?-A. All I can say is as to the signature, I cannot say what prompted the
Minister.

Q. I am not asking you that, I am asking you whether, looking at that bill, the
Minister's authorization is accompanied by any report fron the officr commanding the
district, the officer commanding, or the general officer commanding, recommending the
paynient ?-A. That may have been, but it does not appear on the paper.

Q. What authorization then had you for paying the bill ?-A. The signature of the
Minister.

Q. It was paid on that and on nothing else so far as you are concerned. Now, on
page 7 and 8 of your evidence, as I have it here, you made a statement which I will
give you an opportunity to revise. With reference to the receipt, I asked " whether
reading that over you would be inclined to say that this was the money for which you
gave the cheque." You answered, " I am satisfied that is the receipt for that money."
The evidence goes on:

" Q. What satisfied you ?-A. The receipt.
"Q. But the receipt is not from Col. Domville ?-A. But it is from the man

entitled to receive the money.
" Q. It is the receipt of Mr. Barnes who is entitled to receive the money, but the

money was given by F. V. Wedderburn as you will see from this receipt: 'Received
from F. V. Wedderburn the sum of three hundred dollars payment in full for rent of
hall at Hampton, N.B., for use as an armoury from June lst, 1892, to May 31st, 189ï.
J. M. Barnes. '-A. Well, it was to pay a claim of the department for rent.

" Q. But the point I wish to make is whether you can be sure this is the receipt
for the identical money for which you gave a cheque to Col. Domville ?-A. Well, it
could not be for something else."
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Then on page 8, I asked:
"Q. Well, can you swear ?-A. I would swear I was satisfied tlhat the claim was

paid with the money given to Col. Domville.
" Q. You can swear that ?-A. Yes, and as far as my responsibility is concerned

that is a good receipt.
"Q. Then you can swear that this receipt from J. M. Barnes to Alr. Wedderburn

was a receipt for that monev paid to Col. Domville ?-A. Yes, I am satisfied that that
claim was paid."

Q. Now, under the knowledge you have to-day do vou wish to revise that state-
ment ?-A. Well, I cannot say otherwise than that at that time I was satisfied that was a
receipt, and a receipt that it was my duty to procure, but I must admit now that a
good many facts have come to my knowledge which I ignored at the time.

Q. Or which vou did not know ?-A. The whole thing f rom the heginning is not
very regular I admit, but still I adhere to my first answer and I think I was perfectly
justified in saying that 1 looked upon this receipt as what I required to show that we
had paid the rent for this armoury.

Q. But you went further in assuming that the money paid to Mr. Barnes was that
money ?-A. Well, you see it is the fact of rnoney being put into the hands of one man
for another and the fact of that other man not getting it froi that man but from a
third, and that that man got the money is to the credit of the department.

Q. But I want you to revise vour statement after hearing the evidence since, are
you still willing to swear that J. M. Barnes received that identical ,300 ?-A. No, I do
not think he did. He may have received that noney.

Q. Under your present knowledge did he receive a dollar of that ?-A. I do not
know.

Q. Are you prepared to swear he did ?-A. No, certainly not.
Q. You did not hear Mr. Barnes' evidence?-A. No.
Q. Have you heard evidence enough to make it clear that Mr. Barnes was paid

before this cheque was issued, and that be received none of this $300 ?-A. I do not
see what difference that would make, provided the department had to pay it.

Q. I want you to say whether you row can swear that any of that 8100 you gave
to Lt.-Col. Domville was paid to J. M. Barnes for rent of his hall ?-A. It was the
money intended for Barnes.

Q. Intended by whom ?-A. By the department.
Q. I am not asking what was intended; I am assuming you would not have issued

the cheque unless the money was owing to Barnes, but after what has transpired do you
still believe that money went to Barnes ?-A. Well, if he was paid already it May have
gone to the person who paid him.

Q. You have not then sufficient knowledge gleaned from the evidence and from
what you at present know to enable you to say that in your belief that $300 did not go
to J. M. Barnes?-A. I cannot say, sir, I cannot swear at all one way or the other.

Q. There is amongst these later papers a letter written by you to the Auditor
General on the 24th January last, and one sentence of that reads as follows

" The rent was not paid as it accrued, because no accounts reached the department
as rent accrued ;" that was the reason you gave the Auditor General for not having the
rent paid fron 1892 up to the time of his objection ?--A. Yes.

Q. Do you still adhere to that statement to the Auditor General that the rent was
not paid as it accrued because no accounts reached the department as rent accrued ?-
A. I think so, sir, the fact was this. Had there been an account sent up it would have
been examined and if found proper and correct would have been paid, but I do not
know that any claim was made.

Q. You do not know that the rent was paid to J. M. Barnes from time to time,
from 1892 to 1897 ?-A. No.

Q. You have no knowledge of it ?-A. No.
Q. Not from the evidence ?-A. I have not seen the evidence, and I did not hear

it. As soon as I got away J would go back to the office.
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Q. Had Barnes any agreement with the Government for the payment of that
rent ?-A. I do not think so, sir.

Q. Did he have any claim on the Goveirnent based on an agreement ?-A. I do
not think so.

Q. As regimental caretaker of the Hussars, under the Regulations and Orders had
he any claim on the department at all ?--A. No, unless the Minister consented to the
rent being paid.

Q. And had the Minister consented to the rent being paid previous to the time this
bill was put in ?-A. No.

Q. Do you know that the rent was paid fron time to time ?-A. No.
Q. Have you read the evidence? The evidence goes to show both from Mr. Barnes

and Mr. Wedderburn that the rent was paid fromn time to time ?-A. I do not know.
Q. Is it your belief that he received any part of the rent in question ?-A. I would

not like to swear.
Q. Have you yet any receipts showing that Lieut.-Col. Domville paid the noney

to Barnes ?-A. The only one I have is that which was sent to the Auditor General.
Q. Do you know if the money was paid to Barnes ?-A. It shows that the noney

was paid to someone.
Q. When vou received this bill f rom Col. Domville, was it your impression that the

rent was due to Barnes ?-A. When I received that bill from Col. Domville I refused
to pay it.

Q. When you received a bill fron Col. Domville for 8300 to J. M. Barnes, was it
your impression that this was owing to J. M. Barnes ?-A. I do not believe I took the
trouble to ascertain whether or not it was due to him, because I refused to pay it. I
thought that it should come in in another way. I believe, but this is only from recollee-
tion, I only paid this when I had the signature of the 31inister.

Q. You refused to pay?- A. Yes.
Q. And took it to the Minister ?-A. No.
Q. Who did you take it to ? How did he get it ?-A. I do not know.
Q. You refused to pay it ?-A. Yes.
Q. Who asked you to pay it ?-A. Col. Domville.
Q. Then who was it that influenced the Minister to sign it f-A. It came from the

Minister and I paid it.
Q. Do you know who induced him to sign it f-A. No.
Q. You refused to pay it f--A. I know that when the bill was presented to me I

did not find that it was properly certified and refused to pay it.
Q. What was the representation in the bill that this aiount was due to J. M.

Barnes ?-A. I cannot say. I just looked at the bill. It speaks for itself.
Q. Will you just look at the bill and sav what it was ? Every bill is put in

on some representation ?-A. Yeî, I believe this is a true copy of the bill, sir. This is for
five years' rent.

Q. That bill, then, to your mind would represent that J. M. Barnes was owing
that aniount of money for rent ?-A. Where is the original bill?

Q. There, your hand is on it now.-A. Yes, this is the account to the department
owing to J. M. Barnes for one, two, three, four, five years' rent, ý300.

Q. The representation in that bill then is that the department owes, or it is claimed
it does, S300 to Barnes for rent ?-A. Yes.

Q. Presented to you by whom ?-A. By Col. Domville.
Q. Did he follow it with some representation that he wished to collect that value

because it was due to J. M. Barnes ?-A. I cannot say, sir.
Q. Well, I find here in the Auditor General's report (L.-78)

" HoUSE OF CoMMoNs, OTTAwA, June 1, 1897.
"SIR,-I have the honour to ask payment of the claim of J. Milton Barnes, of

Hampton, N.B., for rent of armoury for the Sth Hussars from March, 1892, to March,
1897, $300."
That is a sentence in the letter sent by Col. Domville, Lieut.-Colonel commanding the

A. 1898
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8th Hussars, to the Honourable the Acting Minister of Militia, Ottawa. Col. Donville
presented you that bill. On what account did he urge payment ?-A. I ( not remember.

Q. You do not remember that he urged paynent on the ground that this was due
J. iMilton Barnes ?-A. I cannot say that. I cannot say what passed between Col.
Domville and myself. The only thing I can recollect is that I told him i could not pay
the bill.

Q. Then you cannot recollect really ?-A. No, sir.
Q. I do not want to make any strictures, Col. Panet, but it seeins to me when you

pay an account of this kind your memory ought to be pretty clear about it. When you
received that bill back with the Acting Minister's signature upon it as being correct,
which you took as your authority to pay in issuing that cheque, was it your view that
the noney was to go to J. Milton Barnes '?-A. Yes, that is the reason the cheque was
made out to Barnes.

Q. If you had thought the money was not going to J. Milton Barnes would you
have issued the cheque ?-A. I never thought of anything of the sort.

Q. Will you say whether in the light of the evidence that has transpired tiat imoney
was due to Barnes ?-A. J cannot answer that.

Q. Can you answer as to whether this $300 was ultimately paid to Barnes ?-A. It
is so much mixed up and I did not hear the evidence. I have always been under the
impression that he got the money.

Q. Do you say that yet ?-A. I am pretty much in doubt now.
Q. If you were to read the evidence and to see Barnes' evidence distinct and clear

that he had received all the moneys due to himu from Wedderburni previous to this time
would you vet be under the impression that this 8300 was paid to Barnes or would you
have doubts about it ?--A. I would have tliought that the money was to indemnmify Col.
Domville who had paid it to Barnes.

Q. Did Col. Domville represent that lie had paid the moniey to Barnes ?-A. No.
Q. What right had you to suppose this would be an indeniity to Col. Domville ?

-A. Because the arns were stored in that place and I think there would be a caim
against the department.

Q. But you have told us tiat under the general regulations and orders there would
be no claim ?-A. Not under the general rule, but under a special order there would be.

Q. Do you knov if there was anîy special authority previous to this ?-A. There
was an authority on that bill.

Q. But previous to that, was there any authority ?-A. No the question did not
arise. No bill came in.

By Sir Louis Davies

Q. Clains came in in previous vears ?-A. No.
Q. Did you hear Major Wedderburn's evidence ?-A. I heard part of it.
Q Did you hear him say that there iad been correspondence with the departnent

making this claim for years previously ?-A. There may have been correspondence.
Q. I an not asking you that ; did vou hear him say that ?-A. I arm not quite sure,

sir. There may have been correspondence, and it would never reach me. There may
have been correspondence between Lieut.-Col. Domville and the general, and it may not
have been transferred to the Minister of Militia.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. I heard you the other day and I have heard you to-day. You said this morning
that you would never have paid that bill unless authorized by your Acting Minister?
A. Yes, sir.

Q. As I understood you, it was a surprise to you at your first examination that the
Acting Minister had given any authority at all ?-A. I did not say that. Have you got
that down that I was surprised ?

Q. I will show you what I mean. I understood you to say that you took the entire
responsibility ; that you were impressed with Lieut.-Col. Domville's appearance at the

39
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office because of his being a member of Parliament and presenting this bill, and that you
were very sorry that you had paid it ?-A. No, sir; that only referred to my making the
bill payable to Lieut.-Col. Domville.

Q. Let me read what you are reported to have said.-A. What I confessed was my
mistake in not making the bill payable to Barnes, who, at that time, I think, was the man
entitled to receive the money, because it is invariably the regulation with us to pay to
the party who is entitled to receive the money.

Q. You are reported in your evidence as follows
" Q. Was there any other influence besides Col. Domville's ?-A. Not that I am

aware of.
"Q. You have no superior officer in your department ?-A. I have my chief.
"Q. Outside of vour Minister ?-A. No.
"Q. You will not say that your Minister ordered it to be paid ?-A. I cannot say that.
"Q. Will you say the Minister did not order it to be paid ?-A. I cannot say that.
"Q. You cannot say that he did or did not ?-A. That is the whole matter, and I

believe I am responsible for it."
That is your evidence ?-A. Yes ; but that is in regard to making the cheque payable
to Lieut.-Col. Domville for J. Milton Barnes. I was influenced by Lieut.-Col. Domville
as being a member of Parliament ; only on that one point.

Q. But the statements are conflicting ?-A. I did not mean that.

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q. As a matter of fact, arms were stored in the building of J. Milton Barnes ?-A.
I believe so from what I saw in the papers

Q. Was this the first tine that a claim had been made for payment, or had claims
been made through correspondence in previous years for payment for the storage of these
arms ?-A. No claim ever reached me ; it may have reached the general. There may
have been correspondence between Lieut.-Col. Dom ville and the headquarters staff.

Q. Or between Lieut.-Col. Dom ville and Lieut.-Col. Maunsell ?-A. It never came
to the Minister or to the Deputy Minister, to my knowledge.

Q. You stated the general rule to be that where a certain allowance is made per
troop no allowance is made for a caretaker?-A. In certain cases.

Q. That is the general rule ?-A. The general rule is this, that an allowance is paid
to the officers commanding the companies of so much a year for the care of the arms,
and they are supposed to care for the arms if they are in the armoury.

Q. There are exceptions to the rule ?-A. Yes, and this is one of them.
Q. For instance I see in the Auditor General's report for 1896-97, page L-9,

at London, Ont., allowance is made for the troops ?-A. Yes.
Q. So much per troop ?-A. Yes.
Q. " Allowances : Military District No. 1. Ist Hussars, London. Care of arms,

$480."-A. Yes, sir.
Q. Eight troops ?-A. Yes.
Q. At page L-28, of the Auditor General's report, I find that John Christie is

paid " rent of premises for artillery, cavalry and storehouse departments, 15 months to
3rd Julv, 1897, at $60 per month."-A. Yes, that is a paral-lel case to this.

Q. So that this does not stand alone ?-A. No.
Q. How long bas that continued in London ?-A. I coull not say, sir; it bas been

going on a good while I think.
Q. Is there a drill shed in London ?-A. There is.
Q. And notwithstanding that, you paid for this extra care of arms, and that had

been going on for a long time ?-A. I would have to look in the departinent to see if
there lias been a change. I do not think there has.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tuper :

Q. How do these accounts come to you ; in what shape, and through whose hands
do they come ?-A. They come to me and when I find that they are properly certified
to, I send them to the accountant with authority to pay.



Public Accounts Committee.

By fr. Foster :

Q. Do you think that London is a parallel case ?-A. I think it is.
Q. The military at London has a storehouse and arnioury, has it not ?-A. I think

there is storage as well as an armoury.
Q. Is it a regimental storehouse or a district storehouse and arnoury ?-A. It is a

district armoury, i think, sir.
Q. And these cavalry companies make use of that district armoury ?-A. I think

so.
Q. Have these cavalry troopers any caretaker regimentally ?-A. They have.
Q. In the case of these cavalry troops who are held responsible for the care of the

arns ? The captains of the troops or the caretaker ?-A. If the caretakers are paid
Q. I am not saying that they are paid in this London case ; that is the point. ie

careful what you say because you swore the other day that they had not any caretaker,
that when the inspector inspected the arms lie had no caretaker to go to and lie went
to the captains ?-A. These captains get an allowance and are responsible for the arns
and the care of the arms, but they have the privilege of storing then in the district
armoury.

Q. Do they pay their own caretakers ?-A. If they have caretakers they are sup-
posed to.

Q. You swore the other day that they had not ?-A. They had not caretakers paid
by the department.

Q. Who, the troops ?-A. The troops.
Q. Paid by the department ?-A. By the departnent.
Q. They have a regimental caretaker in the armoury there ?-A. T presuie soà.
Q. In your evidence this was said

" By Mr. Hughes :

"Q. Store or storerooms ?-A. Stores and storeroons as well.

".By Mr. Fraser (Gurtysborough) :

"Q. Over and above the other ?-A. No, sir, this is paid 8720 per annum and the
Hussars have their arms, etc., in there but there is no paid caretaker. Still they draw
the allowance."

A. Yes sir, that is correct.
Q. There is no paid caretaker for what ?--A. There is no paid caretaker by the

department. If there had been they would not have been entitled to their allowance,
but they draw their allowance and inake their own arrangements regimentally. They
have caretakers w hom they pay out of this allowance.

Q. I asked you :
"Q. There is a caretaker at the armoury ?-A. Yes.

" By Mr. Fraser:

"Q. And is he paid by the year ?-A. I mean there is a caretaker of the whole
arnoury.

" By Mr. Foster:

"Q. And so the captains of the troops draw their money ?-A. Yes.

" By Mr. Fraser :

"Q. They got their $60, the captains of the companies ?-A. Yes.

" By Mr. Foster :

"Q. Of which companies ?-A. Of the different troops."
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A. Well, now, that caretaker -who is mentioned there is the caretaker of the build-
ing ; he has nothing to do with the arms.

Q. And then these troops nay have a caretaker of their own ?-A. Yes, they may
have two or three if they like.

Q. They get their $60 and arrange for their own caretaker ?-A. Yes.

GEORGE J. MAUNSELL, Lt.-Col., was recalled and further testified as follows

By M1fr. Foster :

Q. Col. Maunsell, in your evidence the other day you were asked " low did it
come before you after the payment was made ?" and you answered "I was called upon
for a certificate ; I could read the certificate. It is dated the 3rd September, 1897, and
is as follows :-I hereby certify that the building in question rented by Lt.-Col. Dom
ville, commanding Sth Hussars, bas been used for the purposes of a public armoury.
George J. Maunseil, Lt.-Col. D.O.C." There you make the statement in your certificate
that the building is rented by Col. Domville ?--A. Yes.

Q. Would you explain what you mean by that?-A. I mean it is a regimental
affair rented by him ; he is responsible to the Government for the care of the arms and
he rents the building.

Q. But you do not mean to say that personally the lease was entered into by
Lt.-Col. Donville ?-A. Yes, he is responsible for it.

Q, But Mr. Barnes could not sue him for the rent, for there is the indenture ?-A.
Though it May be in the name of the departnent the channel is through the comniand-
ing officer.

Q. But that is not a lease with the departnient, that is between Major Wedderburn
and Mr. Barnes, by which the latter agrees to lease the building for use as an armoury
at $60 a year, payable quarterly ?-A. Well, of course he is acting for the commanding
officer, so practically I am right.

Q. But you do not mean that Col. Domville entered into any obligation ?-A. No.
Q. You would not consider that Major Wedderburn had any claim against the

department ?-A. I am practically correct in my statement that the commanding officer
is the officer to whom I look as the proper officer to rent the building.

Q. The regimental orders issue for a certain person to take care of the arms, to take
care of the arms, store them, and provide a suitable place. Now Major Wedderburn as
such storekeeper enters into a lease with J. Milton Barnes for the renting of a hall at
HIampton for that purpose, for which he agrees to pay $60 a year payable quarterly.
You would not say that Col. Domville was liable for the rent ?-A. I am not aware of
the transactions between the commanding officer and his adjutant, I am only aware of
the actions of tlie conmmanding officer personally ; I go to him and not his officers and I
am not in the least aware of his transactions with his sub-officers.

Q. You do not consider Lt.-Col. Domville rented the hall ?-A. I consider my
certificate was practically correct, that the building was leased by the commanding
officer of the 8th Hussars and I hold hin responsible.

Q. This bill of J. Milton Barnes, dated the 31st May, 1897, did not corne before
you ?-A. No. As I stated in my last evidence, and I might again repeat, that appli-
cation had been made for the authority through the proper channel and that I am not
aware of any authority being granted, but application had been made more than once.

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q. In what vears have these applications been made ?-A. They were made in
previous years.

Q. And came through you ?-A. Yes.

A. 1898
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Q. The reason I ask is that Col. Donville in his letter states that he has made
application on several occasions ?-A. Yes, that is right.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. Is there any proof that more than one application reached headquarter's -A.
I think Major Wedderburn said there were two.

Q. fie said one had reached headquarters but that two were mnailed ?-A. He did
not show a copy of the dates.

Q. If this bill had come before you would you have passed it for pavment ?-A. J
cannot give any statement of that sort.

Q. Would it in regular course have come before you ?-A. Oh, yes.
Q. Do you agree with the general oflicer commanding that the Regulat ions and

Orders do not authorize the payment of rent in these cases? J find here a conmliunica-
tion from General Gascoigne dated December 3rd, 1897, as follows:-"Major
Wedderburn is the officer placed in charge of the armoury in question by Lt.-Col.
Domville as the responsible officer to the officer commanding 8th N. B. Hussars. This
fact appears to me to be sufficient to connect Mi. Barnes' receipt with the cheque to
which this correspondence refers. I enclose the required certificate as to the building
in question having been used as an armoury. The queries raised by the remainder of
the Auditor General's letter appear to be for you to answer." This is to the Deputy
Minister of Militia.-" Where an officer draws the annual allowance for care of arms
the arrangements for a building are left entirely to his responsibility, provided always
that the accommodation is found suitable by the proper officer. In this case I shlould
not have recommended the issue of the cheque iii question, as it would have appeared to
me to be precluded under the Regulations and Orders." Do you agree with that ?-A.
That is the general's own opinion and he is alw-ays prepared to speak for hiiself.

Q. As a niatter of fact it is not authorized specially ?-A. I amn not aware of any
authority.

Sir Louis DAIES.-Here is Lt.-Col. Donville's letter asking for payinenît
of the account, written froin the House of Commons on June lst, 1897. He
says: "I have the honour to ask payment of the claim of J. Milton B'arnîes, of
Hampton, NB., for rent of arinoury for the 8th Hussars, from March, 1892, to Mlarcb,
1897, $300. The late storekeeper, Major Otty, was found dead in his barn an(d the
stores were all removed to a hired temporary building for safe keeping and the depart-
ment ordered me to have the building fitted up, which was done and the bill sent to
them as requested and they paid it. By direction of General Herbert, then commandiiig,
I had plans prepared for a suitable building to be erected by the department and he
informed me he would have an armnoury erected but which bas not yet been done. I
have applied for the rental on several occasions but have nlot up to date received pay-
ment. I shall be obliged if you will kindly have this account settled."

By Sir Richard Cartwright:

Q. Just read that letter and say if you remember ever having hiad any conversa-
tion with Major-General Herbert on the subject, or any further correspondence ?-A. I
am quite aware there was some cori espondence, partly verbal, partly in writing, but lie
and Col. Domville spoke about the proper fitting up of cavalry armouries in general and
his in particular, and I think this armoury was fitted up in accordance with the genleral's
ideas as to the arrangement of saddles, clothing, arms and accoutrements.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. But there was no special authority ?-A. I am not aware of any actual lo;af/de
authority, that is in writing, from the department.
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MAJOR GENERAL GASCOIGNE, General Officer commanding the militia in Canada,
was called, sworn and examined as follows:

By Mr. Foster:

Q. You are the general officer commanding ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you know if there is an armoury at Hampton for the Sth Hussars ?-A. Well,

since I came in I have been refreshing my memory looking through the papers. I do
not know what I came for; I do not even know for what I was sent for.

Q. What we want to know from you, general, is this, were you aware that there
was an armoury at Hampton used by the 8th Hussars ?-A. Yes, I think I was aware
of that.

Q. Is that a, regimental armoury ?-A. I think so.
Q. Has it a caretaker ?-A. That I cannot tell you at this moment.
Q. And not knowing whether there was a caretaker or not you would not know

whether the caretaker had paid the rent ?-A. AIl matters of account I have absolutely
nothing to do with.

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q. That is the civil branch ?-A. The civil branch entirely.

By fr. Foster :

Q. Now, with reference to the arinoury itself, what is the general rule as to the
providing of places for the storage of arms ?-A. The general rule-well, I am afraid in
some places there are not proper armouries for regiments. We endeavour as far as
possible to give them that, but the officer commanding, whether of a regiment or a
company, is the man we hold responsible that the arms should be properly cared for and
the uniforms. If it is a single troop, of course, it will be the oftìcer in command of that
troop, but if a battalion then the oflicer commanding the battalion.

By Sir Louis Daries:

Q. In this case Lt.-Col. Domville ?-A. Col. Domville, yes.

By Mr. Foster :

Q He being colonel of the 8th Hussars ?-A. Yes.
Q. As a matter of fact this regiment had an armoury ?-A. Yes.
Q. And had a caretaker, as we find by the evidence ?- A. A paid one by the

Government ?
Q. It is a regimental affair.-A. Then, of course, we could not know that, beyond

holding the colonel responsible that the arms are properly cared for.
Q. Then I want to know the general rule in armouries of that kind ; are the care-

takers to provide a place for the storage of the arms at their own expense ?-A. I should
say that a caretaker, as a rule, is what I understand as a servant employed-an old non-
commissioned officer-to look after the arms generally. That I understand by the
word as a rule.

Q. In this case Major Wedderburn was appointed te take care of the arms ?-A.
By whom?

Q. By Col. Doinville, the commanding officer, his order is in the evidence here:

"RoTHsAY, 29th August, 1891.
"1. Captain Wedderburn, adjutant, is hereby appointed regimental storekeeper,

vice Major R. W. Otty, storekeeper, deceased, such appointment is to be temporary,
pending the appointment of a permanent officer. He will at once take over in charge
the arms, accoutrements and equipment of A, B, C, D, E, F, G troops (seven) and
provide a safe and proper place for keeping thein. Attention is called to paragraphs
298, 299, 300, 305 and 306, R. and O., 1887.
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"2. A board of officrs to be composed of Captain Wedderburn. adjutant and
acting storekeeper, Lt. J. W. Doniville, G troop, is hereby appointed. Thev will take
an inventory of the armis, accoutrements, equipient and stores of the reginent and
report in writing on the condition of the same, they will examine the store ledger and
note any deficiencies, naming the troop.

"3. The acting regimental storekeeper, Captain F. Wedderburn, will issue militia
stores to A, E, F and G troops for the camp to be held at Sussex, 22nd Septem ber, 1891,
in the terms of regimental order dated 28th August, 1891. By order. F. V. Wedderburn,
captain and adjutant."

A. Yes, that is an order of the commanding oflicer to his adjutant, of whicli we
know nothing.

Q. Under that order it becomes a reguinental matter ?-A. Entirely.
Q. And S60 per troop goes to the storekeeper ?-A. I suppose by a private arrange-

ment like that it would.
Q. Then under the general Regulations and Orders would a storekeeper he obliged

to find his place of storage ?-A. Yes. Of course we only hold the oflicer comnanding
responsible. The district oflicer commanding would satisfy himself that the place was
a proper one, and if it was not he would report to me, and then it woull be for the
general officer commanding to take steps, but so long as it is not brough t officially to our
notice as being a bad building we have no cognizance of the existence of suich arrangement.

Q. Did you have anything to do with this matter, was it referred to you?-A. I
do not know what the matter is. I have seen nothing. I know of nothing bevond
wbat I wrote myself. I should like to look at it again. (Document imarked :,-12-97
in Exhibit No. 6, handed to witness.)

Q. What is the date?-A. It is the month of December, 4-12-97.

By Sir Richard Cartwright:

Q. It was in reply to some question raised by the Auditor Genera1, I should judge'?
A. It was evidently sent to us. Hfere is the Auditor General's letter to the Deputy

Minister. Frequently the military branch get these questions sent to us by the civil
branch to give perhaps our opinion. When we consider that we have nothing to do
with it I think we answer them as I have answered this, as follows:

" Major Wedderburn is the oflicer placed in charge of the armoury in question by
Lieut.-Col. Domville as the responsible officer to the oficer conmanding 8th N.B.
Hussars. This fact appears to me to be sufficient to connect Mr. Barnes' receipt with
the cheque to which this correspondence refers. I enclose the required certificate as to
the building in question having been used as an armoury. The queries raised by the
remainder of the Auditor General's letter appear to be for you to answer. Where an
officer draws the annual allowance for care of arms the arrangements for a building are
left entirely to his responsibility, provided always that the accommodation is found
suitable by the proper officer. In this case, I should not have recommended the issue
of the cheque in question, as it would have appeared to me to be precluded under the
Regulations and Orders.

W. J. G4ASCOIGNE,
M. General.

Q. That is signed by yourself ?-A. Yes, and speaking from memory I have for-
gotten what made me say I would not have recommended it.

Q. But you adhere to that opinion ?-A. Most unquestionably. That is only an
expression of opinion, and I gave it.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. I find a letter here (Exhibit No. 6) from Colonel Domnville to the Adjutant
General, dated September 22, 1896, in. which I find the following :-" I have the
honour to ask that my command for all purposes of administration of allowances be
placed on the same basis as a city corps. I beg to state that I have for several years
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carried out the regimental system, and that all my arms, accoutrements, clothing,
saddlery and stores are handled regimentally in a regimental stores, paid for at private
expense so far, and the instruction is carried out on the same principle." That would
go to prove that up to that time the storekeeper had taken charge of the stores at his
own private expense ?-A. What is the date of that please? (Exhibit No. 6 handed to
witness.) I see that letter is marked "Sent to the D. O. C. for report," and he says:-
" The application of 0. C., 8th Hussars, that his command, for all purposes of adminis-
tration of allowances, be placed on the same basis as a city corps, submitted and
recommended for the following reasons, viz., as stated by the C. O. (1) Payment of
allowance for care of arms of troops, has already been authorized to the regimental
caretaker of Government property. (2) Promotion by seniority as in a city corps has
also been authorized. It only remains that the allowance for drill instruction of each
troop be paid to the O. C. of the regiment." That is according to the report of Lieut.-
Col. Maunsell. I see that I approved this and say that as it is a question of money I
submit it, and suggest that it be put in general orders to take effect from the 1st of
January when the proposed new order of things would commence. The Minister
approves the general order covering this case to be prepared and explained to the
Minister when submitted to him f>r approval.

Q. What was the purport of that general order? ?-A. Making it a town corps, a
complete corps, instead of a number of troops.

Q. It states there as regards the regimental storekeeper that had been already
authorized ?-A. It states it. I am not aware of it.

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q. You have read a memo. of your opinion. The way you would attach that would
depend upon the facts you had before you -. A. Yes.

Q. You were not the general in charge to whom Col. Domville refers in his letter
which you have heard read ?-A. No.

Q. And you have no knowledge of what took place between Col. Donville and
Gen. Herbert on this particuler point ?-A. Not in the least.

Q. You give your opinion f rom the regulation itself --A. Quite so.
Q. And your opinion was in answer to Col. Domville's letter asking that his regi-

ment be placed on the same footing as a city corps ?-A. I thought he had made out a
case.

Q. Exactly, and in the case of a city corps if you were asked to make that allowance
for an armoury that might apply in the discretion of the Minister to Col. Domville's corps
as a city corps ?-A. Most unquestionably.

Q. As in the case of London, which was cited ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. What about the application in this case and Col. Maunsell's report on it, which
says that the application is submitted and recommendei for the following reasons :
"first, payaient of allowance for care of arms of troops has already been authorized to
the regimental caretaker of Government property"; was not the matter, so far as the
care of arms is concerned, was that not already settled, according to that?-A. It looks
like it.

Q. So the issue of a general order would not affect that ?-A. No, it looks like that.

By Sir Louis Davies :

Q. In making this allowance of $60 for each of the troops in cases of cavalry regi-
ments such as these, do you think it reasonable to make an allowance, as appears to be
made in London and in Col. Domville's case, for taking care of the arms ?-A. I think
it may be perfectly reasonable. Circunstances alter casez. If a man makes out a good
case the usual procedure is that his application comes through the D.O.C. to myself and
then Col. Lake, who is really the very able head who manages these things, looks into the
thing on its merits and if the circumstances require it grants an extra allowance.
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By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. In the ordinary course, if any arrangement was made between Colonel Domville
and your predecessor would there be a record of it in your departient ?-A. Most
unquestionably, I think.

Q. And you found none ?-A. I found noue. There were one or two cases we have
found where documents are miss.ing, there was something destroyed in the fire, but there
are few cases I have known where the whole thing did not run consecutivelv.

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q, In this case Colonel Domville reports that be would have an armoury erected ?
-A. What I say will not be misunderstood. General Herbert was a very able mian and
had a free hand given to him by the Minister, and went on the principle that le could
do a great deal, perhaps, off his own bat. I took the other view and in every case I
have gone hand in hand with the Minister. Therefore General Ierbert might have
gone to Colonel Domville and said: I think this is a good thing, make out the plans,
and I will carry it through. There might have been an interval until it was carried
through. Since I carne nothing like that would go through without going to the
Minister regularly. It is possible that there was a promise of that kind to Colonel
Domville by General Herbert.

EXHIBITS REFERRED TO IN THE EIGHTH REPORT OF THE PUBLIC
ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE.

{ Exhibit Ko. 1.)

Papers and vouchers re payment of $300 to Lt.-Col. D)omville for J. Milton Barnes.
Auditor General's Report, page L-77.

Public Accounts Com. Coll. of April 19th, 1898. Item 13.

Credit Account.
DEPARTMENT OF MILITIA ANDi DEFENCE,

No. 244a. OTTAWA, 2nd June, 1897.

OFFICIAL CHEQUE, CANADA.

8300.00.

Pay to Lt.-Col. Domville, for J. Milton Barnes, Hampton, N.B., or order, the sum
of three hundred dollars, being for rent of armoury for 8th Hussars from March,
1892, to March, 1897, and charge the same to this Department.

C. EUG. PANET, Col.,
C. HERBERT O'MEARA, Deputy Jlinister Militia and Df#ee.

Accountant.

To the Bank of Montreal, Ottawa.
M. & D. Credit Cheque No. 244a.
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GENERAL ABSTRACT of claims received at the Department of Militia and Defence, and
paid on the 2nd June, 1897.

Nane. Militia Vote and Head of Service. Amount.

J. Milton Barnes, Hampton, King's
Co., N.B................... Milita:y properties .. . ... . .. . . . .... 300.00

Militia and Defence,
Paid, June 2, 1897,

Canada.

Approved for payment.
Copy.

C. HERBERT O'Y\EARA,
Accountant.

OTTAWA, 2-6-97.

C244a.

The Department of Militia and Defence,
Canada.

¡C. EUG. PANET, Col.,
D. M. X. D.

HAMPTON, K1NG'S Co., 31st May, 1897.

To J. Milton Barnes, Dr.

March, 1893.-To one year's rent of hall for arinoury ...... 860 00
" 1894 " " " 60 00
" 189.5 ". 60 00

1896 " 60 00
1897 " 60 00

Correct,
R. J. C.,

Rent of Armoury.
"Military Properties."

$300.

$300 00

Militia & Defence,
Paid June 2,, 1897.

Canada.

Certificate No. 244a.

Received from the Department of Militia and Defence the sum of three hundred
dollars, being the amount due for rent of armoury for 8th Hussars, from March, '92, to
March, '97, (5 years), as per accounts hereunto annexed.

Dated at Ottawa this 2nd day of June, 1897.

JAMES DOMVILLE, Lt.-Col.,
Commanding 8th Hussars.

AUDITOR GENERAL'S OFFICE, CANADA,
OrrAWA, 24th August, 1897.

The Deputy Minister Militia and Defence.

SiR,-I have to call your attention to cheque No. 244a, charged to Military Pro-
perties, Works and Buildings, 1896-97.
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The account on which payment was made is as follows:-
3lst May, 1897.

Department of Militia and Defence, Dr. to J. "Milton Barnes, lamŽpton, N. B.
March, 1893.-To one year's renit of hall for armoury. . . . . $60 00

1894 " " " ...... 60 00
1895 ...... 60 00
1896 ...... 60 00
1897 60 00

$300 00

Please send me a statement of the reasons for not paying the renit as it accrued, as
well as a certificate by the proper official that the building was used for the purpose of
an armoury.

The cheque by which payment was made was drawn on 2nd June in favour of
Lieut.-Col. Domville for J. MIilton Barnes, and cashed by the former at Ottawa on 3rd
June, on his sole endorsation, and ià does not bear any evidence tiat Mr. Bariies
received the nmoney claimed to be due him. Why was not payment imade by your
department to the actual creditor?

In this connection, I might point out that the 8th ilussars have received the annual
care of arms allowances for the period of time that the claini of Mr. Barries for relit
covers.

I au), sir, your obedient servant,
J. L. McDOUGALL, A. G.

HousE OF CoMMONS,
(TTAWA, 1st Junie, 18;97.

To the Hon. the Acting Minister of Militia,
Ottawa.

SIR,-I have the honour to ask payment of the claim of J. Milton Barnes, of
Hampton, N.B., for rent of arnoury for the ti Hussars from March, 1892, to March,
1897, $300.

The late storekeeper, Major Otty, was found dead in his barn and the stores were
all removed to a hired temnporary building for safe keeping, and the departient ordered
me to have the building fitted up, which was done, and the bill sent to tlen, as request-
ed, and they paid it.

By direction of General Herbert, then conimanding. I hiad plans prepared for a
suitable building to be erected by the department, and he inforned me he would have
an armoury erected, but which lias not yet been done.

I have applied for the rental on several occasions, but have not up to date received
payment. I shall be obliged if you will kindly have this account settled.

Yours faithfully,
JAMES DOMVILLE, Lt.-Col.,

Conmanding 8th HIussars.

DEPARTMENT OF MILITIA AND DEFENCE,
OTTAWA, 13th Noveiber, 1897.

The Auditor General.

SIR,-Inî reply to your letter of the 24tlh August last, I have the hionour to enclose
herewith J. M. Barnes' receipt for $300 for rent of armoury f romi lst June, 1892, to
31st May, 1897.

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
C. EUG. PANET,

D. M. of M. & D
49
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ST. JOHN, N.B., 3rd November, 1897.

Received from F. V. Wedderburn the sum of $300, payment in full for rent of hall
at Hampton, N.B., for use as an armoury, from lst June, 1892, to 31st May, 1897.

J. M. BARNES.

AUDITOR GENERAL'S OFFICE, CANADA,
OTTAWA, 17th November, 1897.

The Deputy Minister Militia and Defence.

SIR,--I am in receipt of your letter of the 13th instant, forwarding voucher dated
November 3rd, 1897, from J. M. Barnes, acknowledging the receipt of $300 from
F. V. Wedderburn for rent of hall for armoury, from June lst, 1892, to May 31st, 1897.
You have overlooked the request in my letter for a statement why payment was not
made by your department directly to the creditor, as well as an explanation why the
rent was not paid as it accrued. The usual certificate by the district officer, that the
building was used for the purpose of a public armoury, should be furnished.

As pointed out to you before, the Sth Hussars have received their allowance for
care of arms for the period covered by this claim. Is it not contrary to the Regulations
and Orders to pay this allowance where there is a public armoury i The voucher for-
warded appears to be a receipt by Mr. Barnes of an outlay by Major Wedderburn for
rent out of the annual grant of $60 per troop received by him for the 8th Cavalry as
a care of arms allowance. There is nothing to connect this with the $300 cheque to
which this correspondence refers. Please reply without delay as my report with this
discussion must be in the printer's hands shortly.

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
J. L. McDOUGALL, A. G.

DEPARTMENT OF MILITIA AND DEFENCE,
OTTAWA, 24th January, 1898.

The Auditor General.

SIR,-In reply to your letter of the 1 7th November last, in which you ask for
further information respecting the armoury of the 8th Hussars, I beg to state that the
cheque was made payable to Lieut.-Col. Domville for J. M. Barnes. This was done at
the request of Lieut.-Col. Domville, and the receipt of Mr. Barnes was sent to the
department. This was an exceptional case, as it is always the rule to make cheques
payable to the persons entitled to receive the money.

The rent was not paid as it accrued because no accounts reacled the department
as rent accrued.

The certificate that you ask for from the district officer that the building was used
for the purpose of an armoury is herewith attached.

It is not contrary to regulation to pay allowances for care of arms where there is a
public armoury, provided there is no paid caretaker attached to said armoury.

I have the honour to be, sir, your obedient servant,
C. EUG. PANET, Col.,

D. M. oj M. and D.

No. 683677. OTTAWA, December 3, 1897.
From D. O. C., M. D. No. 8.

To the Q. M. G., Headquarters.

I hereby certify that the building in question, rented by Lieut.-Colonel Domville,
commanding 8th Hussars, has been used for the purposes of a public armoury.

GEO. D, MAUNSELL, Lt.-Col., D. 0. Ç.
50
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(Exhibit No. 2.)

(Lease of " Barues' Hall " to Major Wedderburn is printed on page 14 of the
Minutes of Evidence)

(Exhibit No. 3.)

ST. JOHN, N.B., lst November, 1897.
J. MILTON BARNES, Esq.,

Hampton, N.B.

DEAR SIR,-I am asked by the Militia Department to send your receipt for $300,
which has been paid to you for rent of armoury for five years-from March, 1892, tQ
March, 1897.

Please be good enough to send this to me by return mail and much oblige.

Yours very truly,
ALF. MARKHAM,

Lt.-Col., 8th Hussars.

(Exhibit No. 4.)
Stamp.

J. MILToN BARNEs, Esq., S
C. P. R. Telegraph, C. P.

St. John, N.B. 3c.

HAMPTON.

DEARi MILTON,-Will you please make out another bill of rent of armoury f rom the
first up to date. Kindly make it-

Lieut.-Col. Domville,
To J. M. Barnes, Dr.

To rent of hall at Hampton for use of 8th Hussars from 18 to 1896, years
two copies and send them to Col. Domville, St. John, as soon as possible.

The C. O. leaves for Ottawa Thursday on the C.P.R. and would like to take the
bills with him.

Yours sincerely,
F. V. WEDDERBURN.

(Exhibit No. 5.)

In Duplicate.
HAMPTON, KING'S Co., 1st March, 1897.

31st May.

The Department of Militia and Defence, Canada,
To J. Milton Barnes, Dr.

March, 1893.-To one year's rent of hall for armoury ...... $60 00
" 1894 1 60 00
" 1895 ...... 60 00
" 1896 60 00
" 1897 60 00

51
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(Exhibit No. 6.)
16094.

Schedule of papers sent to Secretary of Public Accounts Committee:-
24- 8-97-Memo. from Accountant of M. & D
24- 8-97-Letter from Auditor General to Dep. M. & D.
27- 8-97-Q. M. G. to 1). O. C. No. 8.
6-11-97-Lt.-Col. Markham to D. O. C. No. 8.

13-11-97-Letter from Depy. M. M. & D. to Auditor General.
17-11-97-Auditor General to Depy. M. M. & D.
3-12-97-G. O. C. to Depy. M. M. & D.
3-12-97-P. O. C. No. 8 to Q. M. G.

24- 1-98-Depy. Min. M. & D. to Auditor General.
30- 3-98-Pte. Secretary to M. M. & D. to Colonel Aylmer.
25- 9-96-D. O. C. No. 8 to A. G.
22- 9-96-Lt.-Col. Doinville to Adjutant General.

The payment of $300 to Lt.-Col. Domville made by cheque No. 244a, of 2nd June,
1897, rent of armoury at Hampton, N.B., due J. Milton Barnes, was made to order of
Lt.-Col. Domville by instructions received from Colonel Panet, Dep. M. of M. & 1).

Lt.-Col. Domville should be ordered to produce a receipt from Mr. Barnes for the
$300, showing he had been paid the amount.

M. & D., 24th Aug., '97.

AUDITOR GENERAL'S OFFICE,
OTTAWA, 24th Aug., 1897.

The Deputy Minister,
Departient of Militia and Defence.

Sm,-I have to call your attention to cheque No. 244a, charged to Military
Properties, Works and Buildings, 1896-97. The account on which payment was made
is as follows

31st May, 1897.
Department of Militia and Defence

Dr.
To J. Milton Barnes, Hampton, N.B.

$300 paid by March, 1893-To one year's rent of hall for armoury . . $ 60 00
M.&). " 1894 .... 600C. 244a,
2nd June, '97. " 1895" .... 60 00
Vote Military " 1896 . . . . 60 00
1 roperties 1897 . . .. 60 00
attached .

C.H.M. Acet. $ 300 00
M. & 1). S__00_(A

24th Aug., '97

Please send me a statement of the reasons for not paying the rent as it accrued, as
well as a certificate by the proper official that the building was used for the purposes of
an armoury.

The cheque by which payment was made was drawn on 2nd June, in favour of Lt.-
Col. Domville for J. Milton Barnes and cashed by the former at Ottawa, on 3rd June,
on bis sole endorsement, and it does not bear any evidence that Mr. Barnes received the
money claimed to be due him. Why was not payment made by > our department to the
actual creditor ? In this connection, I might point out that the Sth Hussars have
received the annual care of arms allowances for the period of time that the claim of
Mr. Barnes for rent covers.

I have the honour to be, sir,
Your obedient servant,

E. D. SUTHERLAND,
For Auditor General.
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OTTAWA, 27th Aug., 1897.
From the Q.M.G. to the D.O.C. No. 8.

No. 1.

Please see inclosed, and request Lt.-Jol. Donville to forward the necessary receipt
and information required by the Deputy Minister.

W. Hl. COTTON, D.O.C.,
For Q.M.G.

To the Q.M.G.

Receipt of Mr. Barnes subrnitted herewith with statement of acting O. C. of 8th
Hussars as to rent being paid from 18tli J une, 1892, to 31st May, 1897, except $15
which Mr, Barnes is satisfied Major Wedderburn will pay him.

GEO. MAUNSELL.
9-11-97.

D.M.M.D.

Fowarded. With reference to the last part of the Auditor General's letter, the
application upon which the cheque in question, for rent of the armoury for five years
w'as granted to the O. C. Sth Russars did not pass through my hands.

PERCY LAKE, Col., Q.M.G.,
For G.O.G.

11-11-97.

ST. JOHN, N.B., 6th November, 1897.
From Lt.-Col. MARKHIAM,

Comnanding 8th Hussars,
To D. O. C. M. D. No. 8, Fredericton, N.B.

Si,--Replying to your officia], 3240, dated 2nd October, 1897, regarding rent of
armoury, $300, paid to J. Milton Barnes, Hampton, I have the honour to inclose iere-
with J. M. Barnes' receipt, $300 for rent of armoury from 1st June, 1892, to 31st May,
1897.

Mr. Barnes inforins me that this amount has been paid to him except $15, the last
quarter's renit, which he is satisfi d that Major Wedderburn will pay him.

I have the honour to be, sir,
Your obedient servant,

ALF. MARKHAM, Major and Brevet,
Lt.-Col. Comnanding 8th Iussars.

13th November, 1897.
The Auditor General, Ottawa.

SIR,-In reply to your letter of the 24th August last, I have the honour to inclose
herewith J. M. Barnes' receipt for $300 for rent of armoury from Ist June, 1892, to
31st May, 1897.

I have the honour to be, sir,
Your obedient servant,

C. EUG. PANET, Colonel,
Deputy Minister M. and D.
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AUDITOR GENERAL'S OFFICE, CANADA,
OTTAWA, 17th November, 1897.

The Deputy Minister, Department of Militia,

SIR,--I am in receipt of your letter of the 13th inst., forwarding voucher dated
3rd Novenber, 1897, from J. M. Barnes, acknowledging receipt of $300 from F. V.
Wedderburn for rent of hall for armoury from 1st June, 1892, to 3lst May, 1897. You
have overlooked the request in my letter for a statement why payment was not made
by your department directly to the creditor, as well as an explanation why the rent was
not paid as it accrued. The usual certificate by the district officer that the building
was used for the purposes of a public armoury should be furnished.

As pointed out to you before, the 8th Hussars have received their allowance for
care of arms for the period covered by this claim. Is it not contrary to the Regulations
and Orders to pay this allowance where there is a public armoury ? The voucher for-
warded appears to be a receipt by Mr. Barnes of an outlay by Major Wedderburn for
rent out of the annual grant of $60 per troop received by him for the 8th Cavalry as a
care of arms allowance. There is nothing to connect this with the $300 cheque to which
this correspondence refers. Please reply without delay as my report with this discussion
must be in the printer's hands shortly.

I have the honour to be, sir,
Your obedient servant,

J. L. McDOUGALL,
.uditor General.

OTTAWA, 12th ,1897.
From G.O.C. to O.M.M.D.

Major Wedderburn is the officer placed in charge of the armoury in question by
Lt.-Col. Domville as the responsible officer to the officer commanding che 8th N.B.
Ilussars. This fact appears to me to be sufficient to connect iMr. Barnes' receipt with
the cheque to which this coriespondence refers.

Inclosed the required certificate as to the building in question having been used as
an armoury.

The queries raised by the remainder of the Auditor General's letter appear to be
for you to answer. Where an officer draws the annual allowance far care of arms the
arrangements for a building are left entirely to his responsibility, provided always that
the accommodation is found suitable by the proper officer.

In this case I should not have recommended the issue of this cheque in question,
as it would have appeared to me to be precluded under the Regulations and Orders.

W. J. GASCOIGNE,
Major-General.

A.G.O. 68367.
OTTAWA, 3rd December, 1897.

From D.O.C. M.D. No. 8 to Q M.G., Headquarters.

I hereby certify that the building in question, rented by Lt.-Col. Doinville, com-
manding the 8th Hussars, has been used for the purposes of a public armoury.

GEO. S. MAUNSELL, Lt..Col.,
D.O.C.
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16094. 24th January, 1898.

The Auditor General.

SIR,-In reply to your letter of the 17th Novemlîber last, in which you ask for
further information respecting the armoury of the Sth Hussars, I beg to state that the
cheque was made payable to Lt.-Col. Domville-this was done at the request of Lt.-Col.
Domville-and the receipt of Mr. Barnes was sent to the department. This was an
exceptional case, as it is always the rule to miake cheques payable to the person entitled
to receive the money.

The rent was not paid as it accrued because no accounts reached the departnent as
rent accrued.

The certificate that you ask for froin the district ofticer that the building was used
for the purposes of an armoury, is herewith attached.

It is not contrary to regulations to pay allowances for care of arns where there is
a public armoury, provided there is no paid caretaker attached to said armoury.

I enclose to you, herewith, vouchers (four documents) respecting the paynent of
$300 rent to J. Milton Baries in connection with the sane matter, and I ami to request
that you will be good enough to return these vouchers to me after perusal.

I have the honour to be, sir,
Your obedient servant,

C. EUG. PAN ET, Colonel,
Deputy Minister of Militia and Defence.

MINISTER'S OFFICE, OTTAWA.

DEAR COL. AYLMER,-Col. Dom ville handed this slip to the minister and stated
that this G. O. was wrong. I don't uniderstand in what particular, except, perhaps, that
para. 391, R. & 0., 1898, does not apparently authorize the above mentioned paymnent
as the G. O. states.

H. W. BROWN, P.S.

30-3-98.
31st March, 1S98.

MY DEAR BRoWN,-Kindly read the enclosed papers; they speak for themselves.

Yours sincerely,
M. AYLMER.

FREDERICTON, 25th September, 1896.
From D. 0. C. M. D. No. 8,

To A.G.

The application of 0. C. 8th Hussars, that his coimand for all purposes of admin-
istration of allowances be placed on the sanie basis as a city corps, submitted and recon-
mended for the following reasons, viz., as stated by the C.O. :-

1. Payment of allowances for care of arns of troops has already been authorized to
the regimental caretaker of Government property.

2. Promotion by seniority, as in a city corps, bas also been authorized.
It only remains that the allowances for drill instruction of each troop be paid to

the 0. C. of the regiment under para. 391, R. & O., 1887, relating to city corps.

W. D. MAUNSELL, D.O.C.
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DEP. MINISTER,-I approve of this. Ist. as it is a question of money (though I
made it in favour of the treasury), I subnit it. I suggest that it be put in G. O. ()., to
take effect from the 1st January, when the proposed new order of things would
commence.

W. J. GASCOIGNE.

The D. O. C. approved the G. O. covering this case. Could be prepared, and
explained to the minister when the general orders are submitted to him for approval.

C. EUG. PANET.

6-10-96.
OTTAWA, 22nd August, 1896.

Front LTr.-CoL. DOMVILLE,
Comdg, 8th Hussars,

To the Adjutant General, Ottawa.

Sin,-I have the honour to ask that my couinand for all purposes of administration
of allowances, be placed on the same basis as the city corps.

1 beg to state that I have for several years carried out the regimental systein and
that all my arms, accoutrements, clothing, saddlery and stores are handled regimentally
in a regimental store, paid for at private expense so far, and the instruction is carried
out on the samte principle.

I have the honour, further, to state that as camp is so close at hand, there is no
time to forward this application through the local channel in M. D. No. 8. la any
further state the step is necessary, in consequence of the troop's visit being superseded
by the squadron,

I have the honour to be, sir, your obedient servant,

JAMES DOMVILLE,
Lt.-Col., Comdg. Sth IHussars.

To D. O. C. No. 8, for report.

M. AYLMER, Col., A.G.
23-9-96.
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APPENDIX No. 2c.

COMMITTEE RooM,
OTTAWA, Friday, 3rd June, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts beg leave to present the fol-
lowing as their Ninth Report :-

The Committee have had under consideration an item of .10,964.41 to Archibald &
Howell, J. D. Cameron and W. E. Perdue for legal services and expenses in connection
with prosecutions for election frauds in Manitoba (including 84,000 transferred from
Unforeseen Expenses), as set forth under the heading " Miscellaneous Justice-North-
West Territories," on page 1-7 of the Report of the Auditor General for the year ended
30th June, 1897 ; and in connection therewith have examined witnesses under oath,
and for the information of the House report herewith the evidence given by such witnesses
and the exhibits filed during the said examination, so that the inquiry may be dealt
with and continued at the first available opportunity at the next Session of Parliament
and vour Committee recommend that the said evidence and exhibits be printed.

All which is respectfully submitted.

J. McMULLEN,
Chairman.

2e--1
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Public Accounts Committee.

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

REFERRED TO IN THE NINTH REPORT OF THE PUBLIC ACCOUJNTS
COMMITTEE.

COMMITTEE Room,
TUESDAY, 10th May, 1898.

Committee met.-Mr. McMullen in the chair.

Mr. E. L. NEWCOMBE being called, testifiel as follows: -

By Sir Charles Hilibert Tupper:

Q. You are Deputy Minister of Justice ?-A. I am.
Q. What is the practice in connection with that item in the supply bill of

" iniscellaneous justice " as regards expenditure? Which department supervises and is
responsible for the expenditure of that item as a rule ?-A. You mean the ordinary
item ?

Q. Yes ?-A. That is expended by the Justice Department.
Q. Who is the specal officer in your department that taxes the bills incurred under

that item ?-A. Usually Mr. Chisholm, because it is devoted principally to the North-west
Territories and he had charge of the correspondence in that territory.

Q. Is your recollection clear as to the larger part of it being devoted to the terri-
tories 7-A. Yes, there is no doubt about that.

Q. The amount of it is down at $30,000 ?-A. I cannot say.
Q. You cannot renember ?-A. No, it is always the sanie, it is a standing vote.
Q. Do you recollect anything about these prosecutions in Manitoba in connection

with the so-called ballot stuffing frauds at the last general election 7-A. Well, I recol-
lect about receiving the accounts.

Q. You recollect receiving the accounts at the Department of Justice ?-A.
They were handed to me.

Q. Have you any recollection in regard to the instructions under which these
accounts were incurred?-A. No, I know nothing about that.

Q. You know that they were paid out of the miscellaneous justice vote ?-A. J
believe thev were partly paid out of that vote. There was a special vote taken in the
supplementary estimates of $7,000 which 1 understand was applied to that purpose.

Q. What was the heading of the vote, what was the item called ?-A. I think it
was " additional armount required for miscellaneous justice."

Q. So it was put under the original and supplementary miscellaneous justice item ?
-A. I suppose so, but that item of $7,000 was regarded as a special item and it was
not disbursed in the ordinary wav through the accountant of our department.

Q. Well, when do vou recollect anything about this first coming up in the Depart-
ment of Justice ? -A. When the accounts were handed to me.

Q. You have no recollection of instructions preceding that ?-A. No.
Q. Did you personally deal with the subject as Deputy Minister of Justice before

the accounts were handed in ?-A. No, sir, not at all.
Q. Do you happen to know what departnent took charge of this matter prior to

the accounts being sent to your department ?-A. I have no knowledge.
Q. You have no knowledge. Do you recollect this particular account ? Did it

come before you as Deputy Minister ?-A. There were a number of accounts, a large
roll of accounts handed to nie to tax.

Q. To tax; well, did you examine it ?-A, I did.
2e--1 ý 3
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Q. In the light of what information did you examine it -- A. In the light of the
papers that were handed to me. There were the accounts and the report from Mr.
Howell.

Q. Was that report addressed to your department do you recollect ?-A. I do not
think it was.

Q. From what place or department did you get the papers handed in to you in con-
nection with the taxation of the accounts ?--A. I ani not exactly sure. I got them, I
think, from one of three sources, and I do not remember which.

Q. I will hand you the document you referred to. See if you identify it. Is this
the report (exhibit " A ") to which you refer that accompanied the accounts ; a letter
from Mr. H. M. Howell, Q.C., Winnipeg, Manitoba, dated 27th March, 1897 ?-A.
Well, this looks like it, I should think this was it.

Q. That is one of the papers,-at any rate, that came to you?--A. Well, I would
not be positive whether it was the paper or a copy of it.

Q. Tben look at this paper (exhibit "B ") " Report of Cases tried at the Assizes,"
signed by at any rate did that come to you with the accounts ?-A. Well, I do not
believe it did.

Q. You have no recollection of it ?-A. I have no recollection of such a long docu-
ment as this.

Q. Will you look at the back of it, there may be something on the back to remind
you ?-A. It is not signed by anybody, it is not referred to in that letter as far as I can
see, and I do not think this paper was submitted to me.

Q. Is this the account you received (exhibit " C ") ?-A. Well, this account does
not seem to be complete, there is no beginning to it here.

Q. I think it begins early enough, June, 1S96 ?-A. No, but it does not say who
it is rendered by. I should think that this is probably MIr. Howell's account, but the
first part of it is wanting.

Q. There were more items than that, were there ?--A. Yes. I know this is one of ihe
accounts submitted, because I see Mr. Hod2ins' writing.

Q. And whose are the figures ?-A. Mr. Hodgins'.
Q. Nir. Hodgins is probably the officer wbo taxed the account ?-A He did, be-

cause these papers relate to Manitoba and be has charge of the correspondence relating
to Manitoba.

Q. And you think these figures in the margin are his ?-A. Yes. Mr. Howell's
account was handed in without the account being carried out, and there is a charge of

.5,000 for the whole service, but I think there is a page of this account missing.
Q. What date does it begin ?-A. 26th June, 1896.
Q. You think there were earlier items than June, 1896 ?-A. Well I mean to say

from the look of that account a page is gone, because there is no beginning or date to it.
Q. I will read a letter to you dated 7th December, 1897 (exhibit " D "). This is

from the Department of Justice, signed by you, to the Auditor General: Re Manitoba
Election cases : I bave examined the accounts and memo. of expenses (herewith returned)
in connection with the above matter, submitted for examination and approval. The
following are the solicitors' fees, with the amounts whici I consider reasonable for the
services herein stated:

Firns. Rendered at Allowed at

8 cts. S cts.

Arehibald& Howell..... ... ................... ..... ... ......... 5,000 00 2,000 00
F. C. Wade...... ........ ,.................................. 1,270 60 690 60
O H. Clark. ... ........ ..................... ............. .......... 1,660 85 1,178 35
T. L. M etcalfe ..... ... .... . . ......... .,........ ....... ........ ... 823 75 823 75
Richards & Bradshaw.... ........................ ..... ... ... ....... 1,029 22 754 22
W. E. Perdue...,.......................... ......................... 541 15 313 15

10,325 57 5,760 07
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In reference to that statement that I have just read of these items, these are all
-counsel fees, are they not ; Archibald and Howell, Wade, Clark, Metcalfe, Richards and
Bradshaw, and Perdue ?--A. Yes. I understand so.

Q. Are they resident in Winnipeg, do you know ?-A. Well, I know Archibald
and Howell and Wade are.

Q, Clark is in Winnipeg ?-A. I could not say.
0. T. L. Metcalfe, do you know where he lives ?-A. No. They are all Manitoba

lawyers, but I do not know where they live. Archibald and Howeil and Wade I know
live in Winnipeg.

Q. The letter continues "With reference to the meino. of disbursements submitted
I bave examined them as far as possible with the accounts and vouchers which have
been produced. Most of then are certified as correct by Mr. H. M. Howell, whose
certificate I have no doubt is entitled to every credence. In some few cases the disburse-
ments have been reduced in amount, and I submit the list of accounts of disbursements
with the amount which I find to have been paid for the purposes mentioned.

Anoiunts paid to lendered at Allowed at

S ets. S cts.

Constables, bailiff. and livery account.... ....... ..... .. ...... ... ... 1,230 35 1,23 35
Witneses, ineluding railway fares. ....... . .... .... .............. ... ... ,445 4,4045 60
Rent of hall for courts. .... ....................... ......... .. . !4 60 50 6
M agistrates and clerks.. ...... ......... . .......... . .. .......... . 902 00) 781 25
Solicitor*s agency fees and printing.. ........ .... . . ........... ..... 43 ', -!0 83
Counsel fees on account to W ade and Clark ............... ....... .. ... 440 01) 449> (M>
Mr. Howell's expenses .. .............. ....... ......... ........... .... 164 36 164 36
Discounts on drafts..... ....... ...... ...... ..... ...................... 28 15 28 15
Balance froin 1896 ................... ............ ........... ......... 5 19 5 19

7,315 OS 7.14f; 33

I am of opinion, therefore, that for these services and disbursenents reason-
able payment would be as follows

Solicitors' accounts... ............. .............. $ 5,760 07
Disbursements .......... .. . ..... ........... .. 7,146 33

S 12,906 40
Of which as shown by the accounts there ha' been

paid............ ... . ................. .. 1,000 00

Leaving still......................$ 11,906 40

" E. L. NEWCOMBE, D.M.J.

"N.B.-In certifving these costs as above I have allowed the same fees as wouldC
have been allowed had the work been done by agents of the Minister of Justice.

"E. L. N."

Q. Then these were not agents of the Minister of Justice in the ordinary sense, Mr.
Newcombe ?-A. No.

Q. Can you remember enough to explain the item :-"Discounts on drafts,
,28.50 ?"-A. [ do not think I have any explanation of that except as an iiiference to be
drawn from the papers. It was charged there.

Q. Is it usual for the agents of the Department of Justice to draw on the depart-
ment for the payment of their costs ?-A. No, not at all.

Q. The reverse is the practice. They render their bills in the ordinary course ?-
A. They do.
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Q. At any rate that practice was not followed so far as the Department of J ustice
was concerned ; in this case there were no drafts on the department ?-A. There were
no drafts on the department. I do not think we issued any cheque in the department.

Q. No, I think the papers show that it all went to Mr. Sifton personally. I sup-
pose you remember this report to Council which comes down in the papers. I will
read it

(Exhibit " E.")

30th June, 1897.
To His Excellency the Governor General in Council.

The undersigned has the honour to recommend that in connection with the recent
prosecutions for election frauds in Manitoba an advance of 86,964.41 be made to the
Honourable the Minister of the Interior, to enable him to make advances on account to
the several agents pending the taxation of their bills wbich amount in the aggregate to
a very much larger amount; such advance to be charged to the vote for Miscellaneous
Justice and to be accounted for.

Respectfully submitted,
O. MOWAT, Min.ter ojJustice.

Q. Are you as Deputy Minister of Justice aware of any reason for this extraordinary
course of placing an amount that is voted for miscellaneous justice to the credit of the
Minister of the Interior ?-A. I do not know of any reason except what appears frorn
these papers.

Q. You know of no reason except what may appear f rom these papers ? 1s it a
usual thing to do to take an amount of any vote in your department and place it to the
credit of any particular minister in Ottawa ?-A. No, it is not the practice.

Q. Can you mention a case at the present moment where it bas been done outside
of the present case ?-A. No, I do not think there is any case.

Q. According to that account which I handed to you a moment ago, dated 30th
June 1897, (Exhibit C"), can you state how much of that account would have been
incurred at that time ? It began in June, 1896, according to the dates ?-A. The last
date is the 24th March, 1897.

Q. Did the cheques of Mr. Sifton in connection with that credit on your depart-
ment corne to your attention at all or are these the papers that went to the Auditor
General ?-A. The cheques did not pass through my hands, if my recoUection is correct.
First of all I gave this certificate and directed it to be sent to the Auditor General. It
was sent to him and I had no information as to what was done afterwards.

Q. Can vou tell me whether any Order in Council was passcd in connection with
this matter other than the one founded on the report of the 30th of June, 1897 ?-A. I
do not know anything about any Order in Council.

Q. You are not aware, then--I think you already told me-whether there was an
Order in Council or a special authority of any kind given for the incurring of this
expense at the start ?-A. No, I am not aware that there was any.

Q. Can you, from any papers I have handed you, or from your recollection, explain
upon what basis your departnent would tax these accounts if you had not placed in
your hands the special authority under which they were incurred ?-A. I taxed them by
direction of the Minister.

Q. The personal direction of the Minister ?-A. Yes.
Q. The oral or the written direction ?-A. I do not know whether he gave me a

memorandum or spoke to me about it ; probably he spoke to me about it, asking me to
consider these accounts and state how much I considered would be reasonable to allow.

Q. Were you aware that the gover-nment of Manitoba had something to do with
these expenses and the control of the prosecntions ?-A. No.

Q. Except so far as you gathered from the accounts ?-A. I had no instructions to
that effect.

Q. Was the subject sufliciently explained to you to know whether the arrangements
had been made with the Manitoba governiment to co-operate in the prosecution for theseb
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offences in Manitoba ?-A. I do not think that was mentioned. I have no recollection
of it.

Q. So that you simply taxed these accounts, as I understand you, on the supposition
that these people were acting as agents of your department, and you taxed them as if
they had acted under instructions from your department ?-A. Well, no, not exactly. I
taxed them as I stated here :-That "the following are the solicitors' fees with the
amounts which I consider reasonable for the services therein stated." I was handed
certain accounts which showed that certain work had b-en done and that certain charges
were made. Therefore I consider that, assuming that the work had been done, it would
be fair to pay the accounts which I certified for. The question of liability for payment
J did not consider at all, nor did J certify to it.

Q. The bill was considerably cut down ?-A. Apparently.
Q. I want to read a letter here in order to ask you if you have knowledge of the

letter that is referred to. This is a letter marked " private," and returned with the
papers brought down, from Mr. Howell to Mr. Sifton. It is as follows

(Privaté.) (Exhibit " F.")

-Re Ballot Box Cases.

" WINNIPEG, MAN., 18th May, 189-.
" The Hon. CLIFFORD SIFToN,

"Minister of the Interior, Ottawa.

"MY DEAR MR. SIFTON,--I was surprised to get your letter of the l2th inclosing
a letter from Sir Oliver Mowat complaining of Richards & Bradshaw's bill and also of
ours. The former is made out on exactly the saine rates as all the other bills, namely
Clarke, Wade and Perdue, and in conformity with a consultation of all. They charge
exactly the rates which the Dominion Government allow for thuir cases here, exactly
the rates charged by Martin & Mather. If Richards & Bradshaw's bills are excessive
then all the others are the same. With regard to our bill I was compelled to make a
lump charge, as work was done of which no record really could be kept. I merely sent
down a sort of history of what I did in this matter.

"I do pose here as a leading counsel (perhaps undeservedly), and I charge and obtain
fees as a leader, and always get far more than $40 per day. The Government pay me
when employed S75 per day, and I will venture to say that Sir Oliver Mowat pays
more than that to leaders.

"Believe me, yours sincerely,
" H. M. HOWELL.

P.S.-I do not quite like to write to Sir Oliver in this matter as lie has not invited
remarks from me."

Q. Have you any knowledge of Sir Oliver's protest against the amount of the
charges in this bill ; did that become a departmental matter ? This letter refers to a
letter from Sir Oliver Mowat to Mr. Sifton, apparently complaining of these bills ; so
far as you are aware, was that a matter discussed officially in the departmnent, or do vou
know ?-A. You mean to sav that Mr. Howell had protested against the cutting down?

Q. No; that Sir Oliver, before the bill was cut down and before it was taxed,
before 18th May, had complained of the amount of the bill?-A. Well, he gave them
to me to tax and we discussed the matter afterwards on my memo., and he was satisfied
with the taxations.

Q. This was anterior to the rendering of the bills ? Were you aware of depart-
mental action being taken to protest the amount of these bills ?-A. No, except so far
as the taxation went.

Q. Were these bills, as Mr. Howell says, in conformity with the rates allowed to
your agents ?-A. As allowed.



61 Victoria. Appendix (No. 2E.) A. 1898

Q. As rendered ?-A. No, they were not. Possibly one or two were, as they
varied in amount. For instance, Mr. Metcalfe's bill was allowed to the full amount;
therefore, I presume, it was in accordance with our tariff.

Q. But taking it generally, what do you say about Mr. Howell's statement that the
charges were in conformity with the rates allowed your agent ?-A. Taking it generally,
it is not correct.

Q. You cut them down how much ?-A. Nearly cut it in two.

BJy Sir Louis Davies:

Q. What do you allow leading counsel per day for the prosecution of a criminal
case ?-A. We have no criminal prosecutions, except in the North-west Territories.

Q. When a suit is instituted and you have it sent to you to prosecute and you
employ leading counsel, what do you allow them ?-A. It depends.

Q. What would you allow a leading counsel in Nova Scotia on a criminal prosecu-
tion ?-A. We would allow him probably from $30 to S50 a day, according to the
nature of the case, and the length of the case.

Q. And in Ontario or Quebec, would they be higher ?-A. In Ontario, as to one or
two counsel, they would be higher.

Q. How much would you allow these ?-A. We always have to pay $100 a day.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Did you enter into the question at all as to whether the number of counsel was
a reasonable number or, under your instructions. did you simply ignore that feature ?-
A. Well, I understood from the bills that these were not counsel all engaged on the
same case, but working contemporaneously on different cases.

Q. Under the instructions you were given could you at that time, after the work
was done, would you have felt at liberty to disallow any counsel's or solicitor's bill on
the ground that an extraordinary number had been engaged, a number not warranted ?-
A. Well, I did not consider that aspect of it. I considered they were acting in
separate cases, except as to Mr. Howell, who was probably acting with the others.

Q. The first item in this account (exhibit "C ") is dated June 26th, 1896- that was
shortly after the general elections, was it not, three days ?-A. Yes.

Q. The item is "Attending Mr. Sifton two hours, going fully into irregularities
of deputy returning officers and others as to the balloting in the last election and
received instructions from him to investigate the various acts of the various returning
oficers "-$5 appears in pencil to be allowed for that ?-A I do not know. These are
tentative and I do not imagine the account was settled on that basis.

Q. At any rate that is the first item, and $5 appears opposite ?-A. Yes.
Q. Mr. Sifton was at that time Attorney General of Manitoba, was he not ?-A.

I suppose he was.
Q. And the present Government had not come into office at Ottawa ?-A. No, not

as I understand it.
Q.. Weil, on what principle would an item like that be considered in connection

with this account ; outside of an agreement or Order in Council reciting some agreement
between Manitoba and the Dominion to jointly bear these expenses or for the Dominion
Government to bear them, on what principle would this item be considered by the
Federal Government ?-A. I cannot say on what principle it would be considered by
the Government, but so far as I an concerned it was considered on the principle that I
was asked to say how much would be a reasonable allowance for the work shown there
to be done.

Q. I take it that there must have been sone intimation to you, that you were not
to consider the irregularity or illegality of these charges altogether, but considering that
the work was sanctioned you were to say what value was to be placed on it ?-A. That
is the principle upon which I considered it.

Q. From this bill have you any doubt that the Manitoba government and not the
Federal Government began these proceedings and retained Mr. Howell ?-A. Weil, Lt
would seem from that statement that Mr. Sifton had given the first instructions.
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Q. I will read a few of these items:-
June 27. Letter to Pinkerton, Chicago, for three men.
July 3. Attending Shoemaker, going over whole field with him and laying plan of

action, two hours.
July 4. Attending Shoemaker with Cooper, going over irregularities in the Winnipeg

ballot, three hours.
July 7th. Attending Mr. Sifton and Mr. Greenway in their rooms, discussing the

matter, one hour, S2.50.
July 8th. All day going over evidence with Shoemaker (I presume that is one of

Pinkerton's men) and his assistants, and laying down plan of action and sifting the
evidence already brought in, S25.

July 9th. Attending the Attorney General (Attorney General of NIanitoba 1
presume? The Witness-Yes.) with Shoeuaker and Cooper, one and a half hours, 3. 75.

July 10th. One hour with Shoemaker, $2.50.
July 1lth. Attending the Attornev General, Watson and Burroughs, one and a

half hours. S3.75. (Watson undoubtedly a member of the local government.)
Now, in that connection from your experience in the D-partment of Justice, fron

these bills and so on, is it not clear that these proceedings were taken under direction
of the Manitoba government?

Sir Louis DAVIES objected to thiis question on the ground that it was an inference
which could as easily be drawn by the examiner as by the witness.

Q. Do you, as Deputy Minister of Justice, know of any other instructions for the
ineurring of this account and these charges referred to in that item of June 26th, 189G
--A. No, I do not know of any instructions except such as appear in these papers.

Q. Are you able to say now, Mr. Newcombe, whether in your departiment or the
records of your department, you can furnish any instructions whatever, or copies of any
instructions whatever, for the ineurring of these charges ?-A. No.

Q. Can you not say positively that in the year 1896 your department gave no
instructions as official instructions to incur these items ?-A. Well, that is my belief.
Of course, at that time I was in England.

Q. In June, 1896 ?-A. Yes, in June, i896.
Q. Will vou be good enough to ascertain whether there are any instructions,

official instructions, in connection with these accounts, and bring them to the com-
mittee ?-A. I will.

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q. You cannot say as to any instructions given by Sir Oliver Mowat ?-A. Of
course Sir Oliver was not there at that timne. You may assume that there are no
instructions in June, 1896, with regard to this.

By Sir Charles Iiljbert Tupper:

Q. Ail I ask you is that you will look and ascertain certainly wlhether tiere were
any instructions given in regard to this by your department ?-A. I shall do so.

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q. Between these times you do not know what instructions Sir Oliver Mowat gave?
-A. There were none that went through my hands.

Q. I know that, but about what lie may have done outside î-A. What hie iay
have done outside I do not know.

By Sir C/harles Hibbert Tupper

Q. In the legislature of Manitobt on the 22nd of April this year these answers were

given, I am quoting from Free Prees, Winnipeg, of Saturday, April 23, 1898. Mr.
McFadden, on Thurbday, asked these questions it seems and the Attorney General gave
the following answers
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" Were the criminal prosecutions in connection with the late Dominion elections
instituted by the government under the advice of Mr. H. M. Howell ?"

The Attorney General of Manitoba answered "no."
"Q. Was Mr. Howell retained by the government as counsel in said cases, and if

so, what fees have been paid him or promised to him for his services ?-A. Mr. Howell
was retained by the governient of Manitoba in said cases with the sanction of the
Dominion Government. 1e has not been paid any fees in connection with said cases by
the government of Manitoba, nor has he been promised any fees."

I call your attention to this in connection with the request to look up that sanction
and see whether there is any sanction for the payment of such moneys.

By Mr. Fielding :

Q. The absence of any such paper would not prove that there had not been such
authority ?-A. No, only through the department.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. The next question asked was : " What other counsel, if anV, have been retained
by the government in connection with those prosecutions, and what fees have been paid
or promised them, respectively ?-A. Messrs. Perdue, Wade, Bradshaw, Clark and
Metcalfe were retained to act with Mr. Howell. No counsel had been paid or promised
any fees in connection therewith by the government of Manitoba, except as hereinafter
mentioned in the case of Queen vs. Anderson tried at Winnipeg.

"Q. In what cases have Mr. Howell and the other coutnsel, if any, been retained ?
-In the various cases hereinafter mentioned.

" Q. Against whom were information laid in connection with the above offences ?-
A. Prosecutions were instituted against the following persons : Russell Herriman, Charles
Brooks, Moses Finkelstein, James Waller, Thomas Anderson, William Clark, Henry
Waller, Fred W. Brown, George Saunders, William Renwick, W. J. Hamilton, Moses
McFadden, William Mawhinny, Malcolm Orr, James McDole, Robert Roberts, Abram
Denison, W. J. Parker, N. Scammell.

"Q. In what cases, if any, did the magistrates dismiss the charges ?-A. Queen vs.
Herriman, Queen vs. Fred W. Brown, Queen vs. Robert Roberts, Queen vs. Moses Mc-
Fadden, Queen vs. Abram Denison, Queen vs. W. J. Parker, Queen vs. James Waller.
In the case of Queen vs. Scammell the accused confessed his guilt.

" Q. In what cases, if any, did the magistrates commit the accused for trial?-A. In
all the cases set out in the answer to question five, except those mentioned in the answer
to question six.

" Q. In what cases, if any, did the Crown proceed against those committed at the
assizes ?-A. Cases were selected as representative of what hai been done throughout
the electoral division of Macdonald, viz., Queen vs. Saunders, Queen vs. William Clark,
Queen vs. Henry Waller, Queen vs. William Mawhinny and Queen vs. Thomas Ander-
son.

" Q. In what cases, if any, did the grand jury bring in true bills ?-A. Queen vs.
Saunders, Queen vs. Clark, Queen vs. Mawhinny, Queen vs. Thos. Anderson.

"Q. In what cases, if any, did the Crown secure a conviction ?-A. The case of
George W. Saunders. On one of the other cases the jury acquitted the accused and in
the remaining two they disagreed. In one of these cases they disagreed twice.

"Q. In what cases, if any, did the Crown fail in securing convictions ?-A. The
only conviction obtained was that in the case of Queen vs. Saunders. See answer to
last question.

" Q. What moneys have been paid in connection with these prosecutions for witness
fees to date ?-A. The government of Manitoba paid nothing for witness fees in the
above mentioned cases except in the Saunders case, where $90,40 was paid for witness
fees.

" Q. What moneys have been paid for counsel fees to date ?-A. The government
of Manitoba paid nothing for counsel fees in above cases.
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" Q. What is the total amount which these prosecutions have cost to date '-A. The
total amount which the above prosecutions have cost the government to date is the sum
of $270 and a proportionate part of the jurors fees in such cases as were tried at Portage
la Prairie. Further information on the subject must be obtained from the Departrent
of Justice, at Ottawa."

Now, Mr. Newcornbe, you have practically told us that Vour department had known
so little of the instructions regarding the conduct of this prosecution that it would be
impossible for you to give me all the information the Attorney General of Manitoba
gave the legislature the other day ?-A. Our department had nothing to do except as to
the taxation of these accounts, so far as I know of.

By Sir Louis Davies :

Q. In the St. Louis prosecution that you had in vour department who were the
counsel enployed ?-A. Mr. Osler was leading counsel, and Mr. Hogg the solicitor.

Q. Did Mr. Hogg act as counsel too?--A. Yes, he continued at the trial.
Q. As one of the counsel ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did Mr. Hall act as counsel?-A. I do not think that Mr. Hall was at the

trial.
Q. Are you sure ?-A. I an not certain.
Q. Well, was Mr. Atwater ?-A. Mr. Atwater was engaged before the commis-

sion but not in the criminal proceedings.
Q. Where was Mr. Hall engaiged ?-A. In the criminal proceedings at Moutreal,

but not at the saine time as Mr. Osler was engaged. You see there were a number of
suits.

Q. I do not want to prolong the subject, but take this case ; Mr. ()Sler received
how much a day ?-A. Speaking without the accounîts I presume :100 a day.

Q. For every day? A. Yes.
Q. What would you pay Mr. Hall ?-A. We would probably pay him $25 or $30

a day. These were the proceedings before the magistrate.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tnpper:

Q. This is in the case of Hall?-A. Yes, Mr. Hall was on the preliminary pro-
ceedings.

By Sir Louis Dacies:

Q. How much did Mr. Atwater receive ?-A. $35 a day.
Q. And Mr. logg ?-A. He probably got ,30 a day.
Q. Now in the case of Mr. Connolly you had Mr. Osler and Mr. Henry '-A.

That was before my time.
Q. Do you know what they were paid ?--A. No.
Q. Mr. Osler got $100 a day ?-A. I presurne he did, he never gets less.
Q. Anl Mr. Henry got $75 ?-A. I do not know.

The committee adjourned.
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HOUSE OF COMIONs,
FRIDAY, May 13, 1898.

Committee met. Mr. McMullen in the chair.

Mr. W. E. HOnGINS was called, sworn and examined.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Mr. Hodgins, you are an oflicer of the Department of Justice, are you not ?-
A. Yes.

Q. Have you anything to do with taxing accounts ?-A. I have, sir.
Q. And did you, as a matter of fact, tax the accounts in connection with the

Manitoba election cases, so called ?-A. Yes, sir.
Q. In connection with taxing the accounts do you receive the papers or records

in the matter, the departmental record ?-A. Not always, sir.
Q. As a rule ?--A. Where accounts are taxed in cases where the instructions are

giv-en by the department direct of course we see them, but where they are referred by
other departments it is very rarely I see the papers connected with a case other than
the account itself.

Q. In this particular case I would ask you to look at a letter to refresh your recol-
lection. It is a letter of the 7th December (exhibit " D"); do you recollect taxing
these accounts that are mentioned in that exhibit ?--A. I do.

Q. Was this a case over which your department had the previous management, or
had it come from another departmnent ?-A. Well, that I do not know. The accounts
were taxed by me under instructions from the Deputy Minister, and I did net see any-
thing on the papers to indicate where they came from at all.

Q. Had you not the correspondence f rom the solicitors, the reports and correspond-
ence f rom the solicitors before you?-A. I had some letters tran-mitting the accounts.

Q. Did you see the correspondence between Mr. Sifton and Sir Oliver Mowat in
this connection, in connection with this account particularly ?-A. I saw some letters,
I think, but 1 did not see the correspondence between them; no.

Q. You saw some letters relating to the matter ?-A. There were a file of papers
that I did not read at all. They did not appear to me to have any bearing on the case
at all.

Q. Was that before you read them or after ?-A. I never read them.
Q. How did they appear to you not to have any bearing on the subject ?-A. I

just glanced over them. They were transmitting the accour-ts and had not any partie-
ular bearing on the matters under discussion and I did not read them.

Q. Did you see a letter fi om Sir Oliver Mowat to Mr. Sifton, criticising the bills
rendered ?-A. I saw there was one on the file; yes.

Q. And I suppose the opinion of Sir Oliver Mowat in regard to the charges would
have been a very material thing for you as a taxing officer to consider ?-A. Well, it did
not affect my judgment in the least, Sir Charles, because I had looked at the bills and
I had formed my own opinion before I saw that.

Q. To what extent did your opinion differ from that of the Minister ?-A. Well, it
actually did not differ very much, because I favoured the view of the deputy, that the
costs should be taxed down a good deal in accordance with the usual practice of the
department.

Q. Have you seen an office copy of the letter of Sir Oliver's lately ?-A. No, sir.
Q. Did you see it on the file or on the copy book ?-A. On the file.

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q. Was ir a private or public letter ?-A. It was not marked private, but I
gathered it was.

A. 1898
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By Sir Charles Hibbert T'upper.

Q. You have told us it was dealing with the public account ?-A. It certainly had
to deal with the accounts placed in my hands for taxation.

Q. And although you taxed the account you say that your opinion and that of the
Minister were pretty much the sane in regard to the account ?-A. I am bound to say
it was. Of course, that was only my individual opinion as to the account.

Q. Do you remember whether you had before you, in order to enable you to tax
these accounts, the instructions given to the solicitors acting in the first place ?-A. I
never saw these at all.

Q. Did you ever ask for them ?-A. No.
Q. Did you not consider them material ?-A. No; only the instructions fron the

deputy.
Q. What were they 9

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q. Were they in writing ?-A. They were simply handed to nie to be taxed with-
out any reference to the instructions or anything else.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Without any information ?-A. Without any information at all so far as I
recollect.

Q. How could vou judge of the importance of the cases without any information,
and as to whether the charges were high, or low or fair ?-A. Well, I gathered that
the accounts in most instances were for services before justices of the peace and
magistrates, and I think that in only one case was there a Superior Court proceeding,
and therefore I did not think that the charges should be on the very highest scale
allowed.

Q. Were there not a whole lot of charges wholly outside the contentious work,
prelininary to that ?-A. Yes, a good deal of investigation.

Q. How coull you deal with such items as relate to solicitor's fees in Winnipeg
before anything was done, attendance and arrangements to engage Pinkerton's detectives
and so on, without knowing wnat the instructions were ?-A. It is a difficult matter to
decide these charges correctly, but we are so accustomed to deal with cases where there
are no previous instructions given, that we have formed a scale of what we think is fair
to allow.

What class of cases would you deal with in which there are not previous instruc-
tions ?-A. Inland revenue prosecutions for instance.

Q. Are not instructions given by the Inland Revenue Department ?- A. Yes, but
we know nothing of them.

Q. You me 'n not given by your departient ?-A. Yes, there are instructions

given by others, and we are not aware of the amount of time and services required.

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q From long practice you have got the thing down to such a state that you can
tax them pretty well?-A. I have formed my own opinion of it.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. At any rate you have never seen the instructions ?-A. No.
Q. You know as a matter of fact that your department gave none ?-A. I know of

lone being given, and I think I should know if any were given at al.
Q. Do you not know as a matter of fact that they got their instructions such as

they were from Mr. Sifton?-A. That I do not know, sir.
Q. Do you not remember that this first item is (exhibit " C ") "attending Mr. Sif ton

two hours going fully into the irregularities of the deputy returning officers and others
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as to the balloting in the last election and received instructions from him to investigate
the various acts of the various deputy returning otlicers,"-and you are allowing $5 for
that item ?-A. Yes.

Q. You remember that ?-A. Yes.
Q. Outside of thàt you got no instructions ?-A. No, sir.
Q. Do you remember seeing that bill dated 27th March, 1897 ?-A. I cannot say

that I have seen this exact bill but I saw a similar bill.
Q. The papers that go to you as a rule go afterwards to the Auditor General?-A.

Yes.
Q. I will read this bill:

EXHIBTI "G."

WINNIPEG, MAN. 27th March, 1897.

T'he Dominion oJ Canada.

In account withf Archl>ald & Howell, Barristers and Solicitors.

March 27, 1897.-To our charges investigating and prosecuting ballot box
cases, particularlars of which are hereto annexed .............. . 5,000 00

Q. Would you look at exhibit " C." Is this that document containing the parti-
culars referred to in this account .-- A. Not altogether, so far as I can see, this i, for only
$1,248. This certainly embraced the items for the S5,000 charges as I understood at
the time.

Q. Now, Mr. Hodgins, do you recollect at this time the difficulty in getting the
particulars ? Do you recollect the fact, or is it a fact that at first there were no particu-
lars whatever, and it was on request that the particulars were furnished ?-A. I do not
recollect that ; my impression is that they were pretty nearly all before me when I got
the accounts to tax. J am not certain, but I think so.

Q. You think the particulars were there when they came to you ?-A. J certainly
know of no difficulty in getting the accounts.

Q. The date of that account is the 27th March, J think, that is the first, the lump
sum ?-A. The 27th March, 1897, is the first account here.

Q. Was exhibit " A " before you in taxing the account ?-A. Yes, sir, that was.
Q. I will read froin exhibit " F " a letter from Mr. Howell to Mr. Sifton, in which

he says: "I was surprised to get your letter of the 12th, inclosing a letter from Sir
Oliver Mowat complaining of Richards & Bradshaw's bill and also of ours." Is that
the letter of Sir Cliver Mowat to which you referred this morning ?-A. I do not know.

Q. At any rate you saw a letter of that character ?-A. I did, unquestionably, on
the file.

Q. Was exhibit " B " before you, Mr. Hodgins, in connection with the taxation of
that account?-A. To the best of my recollection, it was.

Q That is a report of the cases tried at the assizes ; at least, it is headed so
A. Yes.

Q. Can you remember what vouchers you had for the item " witnesses' fees, includ-
ing railway fares, $4,405.60," of which you allowed $4,405.60, the whole sum h-A. No.
The vouch-rs submitted were very imperfect, and I could not make them agree with
Mr. Howell's account at all.

Q. Well, how did you come to allow the total amount ?-A. I think we allowed it
subject to a certain reservation as to the accounts being correct, as they were looked upon
as disbursements and not legal fees to be taxed.

Q. And how did you get over the difficulty of the vouchers ?-A. I think there was
some reference made to it in the letter.

Q. Well, as J understand it, in taxing you allowed that amount ?-A. Yes, allowed
it as disbursements.

Q. Well, on what evidence did you allow that item of $4,405 as witness fees ?-A.
I remember now we did not get the full vouchers for this 84,405, but Mr. Howell stated
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that he had paid that amount. In Mr. Newcombe's letter to the Auditor General he says,
" Most of these are certified as correct by Mr. H. M. Howell, whose certificate I have
no doubt is entitled to every credence." 1 assumed that Mr. Howell's statement of the
moneys disbursýd would be correct, as I knew Mr. Howell personally, and therefore I
did not have much doubt they were right.

Q. Did this sentence strike your eye in exhibit "A ": "In the case of the wit-
nesses before the magistrates, I made it a point not to pay then except where they had
to take railway journeys or where they had to drive long distances at great expense. In
all these matters, 1 used my own discretion. Where we could not get the witnesses
without paying them I paid them. In sone cases I had to pay for teams to bring them
in. At the assizes the Mawhinney case alone cost us over $1,500 for witness fees, and
yet it was the very best I could do. The witness fees paid by me amount to 84,105.60.
This includes payments to Freeborn, and he had to be looked carefully after." Did that
sentence strike your attention in taxing the account?

Sir Louis DAVIEs-Who was Freeborn?
Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER-An informer.
The WITNEss-I remember that sentence, and it did influence me in coming to the

conclusion that the amounts stated were correct.
Q. When Mr. Howell says this included the payment of Freeborn, and he had to

be looked carefully after, did you suppose that was for witness fees ?-A. Yes. I did not
know who Freeborn was, and supposed he was a witness who had to be looked after. I
did not know Freeborn was an informer.

Q. So the information given to you was so scant that you had not the slightest
information as to who Freeborn was and the importance of looking after him and paying
him generously ?--A. I had not, sir.

Q. Did you attempt to get any other information than Mr. Howell's information of
that outlay?-A. No.

Q. Did it not occur to you that you should, in the ordinary course, for the pay-
ment of 84,405 for witness fees ? In other words, are you satisfied in taxing accoutts
in connection with the statements of an agent that he has disbursed so many hundreds
or thousands of dollars?-A. Not as a rule.

Q. Can you recollect a case where you passed an item of thorsands of dollars for
witness fees ?-A. No, I do not now, but I can say there is a great deal of difficulty in
getting these vouchers from agents who are not instructed by the department on account
of the length of timýe it takes and the amount of correspondence it involves ; it lias not
been found practicable.

Q. Referring again to the manner in which you were handicapped in taxing this
account,seeing your department had not been given exclusive control, had you information
as to whetherit was necessary to employ so many counsel, beginning with Mr. Howell and
following up with Perdue, Clark, Metcalfe and Wade; had you any information whether
the discrimination exercised by Mr. Howell in the num ber of men retained was reason-
able ?-A. I had nothing before me, but my impression at the time was that these
prosecutions were widespre ad, and it was necessary to employ a large number of counsel
to cover the territory within a limited time.

Q. Where did you get the idea ?-A. It was entirely my own.

Dy Sir Louis Davies:

Q. I understand you to say that exhibit " B " was in vour hands ?-A. Yes.
Q. That gives a summary of the cases tried ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Did you know Mr. Perdue, who he was ?--A. Yes, I did.
Q. And Mr. Clark, did you know him ?-A. No.
Q. Did you know Mr. Metcalfe ?-A. No.
Q. And Mr. Wade ?-A. No.

15
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Q. Had you any information given to you to enable you to judge what was a
reasonable fee in their cases ?-A. Nothing except a general impression I had as to their
standing at the M4anitoba bar.

Q. For instance, you make a difference between the allowance to Mr. Howell and
to the others ?-A. I think I went on the class of work. I think they are all allowed
the same amount for the sarne class of work.

Q. Did you make any inquiry to guide you or assist you in connection with these
allowances ?-A. Did I what?

Q. Make any inquiry for assistance in the way of information as to wliat they were
entitled to charge for ?-A. No, J took it as it stood.

Q. On what principle would you allow S. to Mr. Howell for consultation with the
Attorney General of Manitoba, and receiving instructions from the Attorney General
of ?lanitoba ?-A. The importance of the case involved and the length of time it took.

Q. Does this element not come before you, where an item is charged on the
Federal Government as to whether the Federal Government is properly liable for such
a charge ?-A. I did not examine into that question at all. I simply looked at it as to
the actual value from the legal point of view.

Q. Assuming there was authority ?-A. Yes.
Q. Take a case of this kind. Suppose you get a reference file from the Depart-

ment of Inland Revenue to tax a bill, and you find a date with instructions that came
from that department to the solicitor or agent of the department, and on file you also
find, before that instruction was sent f rom the federal office, that some outside party, or
local government if you like, had given instructions in this, would you pass that item
and call no attention to the fact that charges were there in connection with parties out-
side the federal authorities altogether ?- A. Well, J think it would depend on the cir-
cumstances of the case. I have looked upon these accounts on the basis of solicitor and
client, and any reasonable charge made by a solicitor ought to be allowed if the work
was done bona fide, and if the services he had done subsequently were ratified bv the
departiment.

Q. You are aware that in June, 1896, Mr Sifton was Attorney General of Mani-
toba ?-A. I am now.

Q. It did not occur to you ?-A. No.
Q. These instructions purporting to come fromn Mr. Sifton to Mr. Howell did not

attract your attention ?-A. No, I looked at the items chiefly.
Q. Look at this bill (exhibit " H ") and say whether that is the Perdue referred to

in exhibit " B " of 7th December ?-A. Yes, it is.
Q. Do you know by whose authority he was retained ?-A. No, sir, I do not.
Q. His bill amounted to $541.15. I see you taxed off that or deducted from it

S228, leaving a balance of S313.15. At the bottom of this do you remember observing
this note :-" The above counsel fees include many consultations with Mr. Howell and
other counsel, many consultations with the Attorney General and preparation of necessary
papers, also advising the Attorney General in the Hammond case and attending on the
13th of February and the 15th of February before magistrate "?-A. I do not think
I did.

Q. As a matter of fact that Attorney General is the Attorney General of Manitoba,
is he not ; have you any doubt that it was the Attorney General of Manitoba and not
the Attorney General of Canada ?-A. Yes, the Attorney General of Manitoba. I do
not recollect seeing that at all.

Q. In this bill you allowed an item, 821 expenses paid Alexander Cable from Ste.
Rose du Lac ; what do you suppose this disbursement was for ?-A. Let me see the
account. (Account handed to witness.) I do not know what that was for or what I
thought at the time about that. I made a very full raemo. about all these things and
went over them with the deputy and discussed them with him, and when he came to the
conclusion that my view was right J am sorry to say J destroyed that. It was merely
a memo. to enable me to reach my conclusion. I do not remember now.

Q. Is that F. C. Wade's bill ?-A. Yes, that bill was before me.
Q. Had you vouchers in connection with that bill (exhibit "I ") ?-A. I do not

think I had.
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Q. Do you know anything about this man's standing at the bar ?-A. No.
Q. I see you cut down his bill from 8960 to 8480 ?-A. I may have done so.
Q. Did you know anything of his standing ?-A. I took the length of time he was

engaged.

By Sir Louis Davies:

Q. And the court he was engaged in t-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tipper

Q. What information had you in support of such a charge as this in exhibit "I H
"Fees and counsel fees for all services in Winnipeg from 19th December to 7th March,
say two days counsel fees; counsel fees assizes, central judicial district, when necessarily
absent from Winnipeg at assizes and going and returning March 2nd, 3rd, 4th, )th, 6th
and 7th, six davs ?" What was he doing as counsel ?-A. I fancy that he was looking
after evidence, examining witnesses and preparing information that was necessary to
send out to distant points.

Q. You imagine that. You do not know what court he was in, whether it was the
assizes or the magistrate's court, but from the information before you you could jnot
state that it was the magistrate's court or the assizes ?-A. No, I could not tell.

Q. You had no other information at that time to go on ?-A. No, sir, none at all.
Q. Mr. Wade asked for disbursements, $280.60. Had you any vouchers for each ?

-A. I cannot remember that I had any from him at all ; I do not think so.
Q. Do you know Mr. O. H. Clarke ?-A. No, I do not.
Q. You do not know his standing at the bar ?-A. No.
Q. Do you know whether he acted as solicitor or counsel with Mr. Howell ?-A. I

could not say unless I saw his account.
Q. Judging from his account ?-A. My impression was that he acted as solicitor,

not as counsel.
Q. But you know nothing about it ?-A. No, sir.
Q. His account was reduced and $482.50 was deducted. Did you have any

vouchers for his disbursements ?-A. No, I think not.
Q. I observe that most of the counsel, outside of Mr. Howell, or solicitors, what.

ever they were, were engaged a good deal later on than Mr. Howell, in December, '896,
but none of these gentlemen, as I understand it, received instructions from your depart-
ment ?-A. None whatever that I know of.

Q. With regard to this account (exhibit "J"), did you ever see the authority or
ascertain that there was an authority for Mr. Howell to retain such solicitors as he
pleased ?-A. No, sir.

Q. You do not know who actually retained these gentlemen ?-A. No.
Q. This is Mr. Metcalfe's account. Is that the account that was before you? (Ex.

hibit "K")--A. This is the account I have.
Q. Do you know anything about him ?-A. No.
Q. Did you have any vouchers for the disbursements in his account amounting to

$233.75 ?-A. No, I do not recollect having got any.
Q. This is Richards & Bradshaw's account that was criticised by Sir Oliver ?lowat,

is it not? (Exhibit "L")-A. Yes, I taxed that account.
Q. Have you any doubt that this is the account referred to in this letter of Mr.

Howells to Mr. Sifton, which reads as follows:-

Re Ballot Bo.x Cases.

WINNIPEG, MAN., 18th May, 189-

MY DEAR MR. SIFTo,-I was surprised to get your letter of the l2th, enclosing a
letter ftrom Sir Oliver iMowat complaining of Richards & Bradshaw's bill, and also of ours.
The former is made out on exactly the sanie rates as all the other bills, namely, Clark,
Wade & Perdue, and in conformity with the consultation of all. They charged exactly the
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rates w'hich the Dominion Government allow for their cases here, exactly the rates charged
by Martin & Mather. If Richards & Bradshaw's bills are excessive, then all the others
are the same." (Exhibit " F.")

Have you any doubt that that is the account referred to ?-A. I could not say ;
fancy it is the same one because it is the only one I saw in connection with the prosecu-
tion.

Q. You allowed $754.22 whereas Richards & Bradshaw charged $1,029.22, accord-
ing to the report of the 17th December, 1897 2-A. Yes.

Q. Are you aware, as a matter of fact, that there was another bill before that from
Richards & Bradshaw ?-A. I do not remember any.

Q. You do not remember seeing two bills ?-A. No.
Q. Then apparently they persisted in pressing the bill that Sir Oliver Mowat

criticised. Is that vour recollection?-A. No, sir, f do not know anything of that
at all.

Q. You cannot say ?-A. No.
Q. You have not deducted from many of these items. You would not agree with

the statement as correct, that the bill is made out according to the regular charges of
your agents in Winnipeg?--A. Well, I do not know how they arrived at that at all.

Q. You do not agree with that statement ?-A. No, we never had cases of that
sort before. The cases have chiefly been the acquisition of property on the Canadian
Pacific Railway line for which a certain definite sum is allowed.

Q. How do you explain that if Richards & Bradshaw's bill is excessive all the
others are the same, whereas you allowe i the full amount of Mr. Metcalfe's bill ?-A. I
think they were made out on different scales. If I recollect, Mr. Metcalfe's bill was
made out on a scale that commended itself to my mind as a reisonable per diem
allowance for the service. It was $20 a day, while I think the others were $40 a day.
The general principle on which these bills were taxed was $20 a day for working up
evidence and arranging for the witnesses, and 830 a day when a man was engaged in
court, speaking generally.

The conimittee adjourned.

HOUSE OF COMMONs,
TUESDAY, 17th May, 1898.

The Committee met, Mr. McMullen in the chair.

Mr. W. E. HODGINS recalled.

By Sir Charles Hibbert fupper

Q. Mr. Hodgins, do you remember that hills were made out to the Manitoba
Government and bills to the Dominion Governinent every now and again? For
instance, take a voucher like this : Here is a memorandum, which I will read. Mr.
Metcalfe, one of the solicitors, writes : " Make out a bill of your expenses and send to
Attorney General's Department, Governme-nt Buildings, W innipeg.

THOS. L. METCALFE."
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Then another voucher reads :

"BRANDON, MAN., 30th January, 1897.
Manitoba ('overrnent,

To W. H. Bovd, Dr."

This bill is certified to by Mr. Howell as being correct.

"Manitoba Government,
" In account with A. Campbell, constable,"

certified to by Mr. Howell again. Some of them are rendered t: the Government and
sone of them to Mr. Howell. Here is one made out to him and rtified bv him:

"To H. M. Howell, Q.C.,
"In account with E. J. Elliott, Dr.,

" Chief, Provincial Police."

These are simply examples of soie accounts being made c. t to the Dominion
Government, of some being sent to the Provincial Government, and some to the solicitors.
How did you deal with these vouchers ?-A. In examining the vouchers, I came to the
conclusion that I could do nothing at all except refer them to Mr. Newcombe, as the
expen-es having been inicurred apparently, I had no nieans of saying whether they were
reasonable and proper, and no means of certifying them at all. I did not examine into
the question as to how they were made out.

Q. It is a fact that some of the accounts appeared to be chargeable to the Manitoba
Government ?-A. Yes.

Q. Acting on instructions which you got, you as-umed that the Dominion Govern-
ment were going to pay theni -A. I never got any instructions as to that, but in
examining accounts referred by other departments, I have never heretofore taken into
account as to how the accounts were made out. I was simply ordered by the deputy to
examine certain accounts, figures and items, without reference to how they were made out.

Q. If a bill is handed over to you in the ordinary course and the vouchers in con-
nection with it appear to show charges against other governments outside of the Federal
Government, do you mean to say your usual course would be to ignore that fact and not
brinig it to any one's attention that vouchers against another government were being
used against the Federal Goverrment ?-A. Oh, no; if I saw that I would certainly, if
I had reason to think that the deputy was not aware of it, bring it to his attention, but
I assumed that Mr. Newcombe knew ail about it, although I do not know that he knew
it at ail.

Q. In explanation of these peculiarities, as they are, you spoke of having made out
a memorandum in pencil, commenting on these charges, which was submitted to Mr.
Newcombe, and afterwardsyou said you tore up the memorandum?-A. Yes; Idestroyedit.

Q. Can you tell us the nature of these criticisms, generally 2 What did you bring
to his attention 2--A. I brought to his attention the per diem of $40 on account of work
that was charged for-I do not remember now, because they have escaped my memory-
the various items in the bill that seemed to call for some explanation.

Q. Was it a lengthy document ?-A. Not over four or five pages of foolscap closely
written. I took two evenings to do it at home. As Mr. Newcombe agreed with me,
and after the account was settled, and after it was ail over, I tore it up as I do with all
my memuranda and the thing passed out of my mind. I did not know it was necessary
to retain it.

Q. You cannot tell me anything more than that as to its contents ?-A. No, sir,
there was no more.

Q. Did you draw his attention to the fact that some of the vouchers appeared to
be really a liability of the Manitoba Government ?-A. No, sir. I told him that the
vouchers and accounts as sent in by Mr. Howell did not seem to agree. I did not see
how they were going to reconcile thein and I said "I suppose the only thing is to
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assume that they are correct because there are no means of checking them." Really all
I was concerned about was to see that the legal charges were correct.

Q. Did you bring to the deputy's attention the fact that Freeborn was getting an
allowance to an extent to which you could not tell out of that four thousand dollars.
Did you know anything about Freeborn ?-A. No, sir, I did not know who Freeborn
was when I taxed the account.

Q. Do you mean to say that, as taxing officer, when you saw in an item of four
thousand and odd dollars for witnesses fees an allowance to Freeborn, not supported by
vouchers, that your attention was not drawn to the peculiarity of that charge or that
your official curiosity was not excited as to what this allowance to Freeborn amounted
to 9-A. No, I looked upon that as disbursements by this man that would have to be
supported in some way. It was a legal charge and I treated it as general disbursements.

Q. But general disbursements without vouchers are rare things ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did you not draw attention to that item ?-A. No, sir.
Q. Had vou any instructions that warranted you in slipping over it ?-A. No, I

had not. Nobodv spoke to me about the accounts except the deputy.
Q. Do you say that this large item for disbursements which was not accompanied

by vouchers did not excite any particular attention on vour part ?-A. I do not think
it did.

Q. You made no inquiry as to whether Freeborn should be given an allowance or
how much he should be paid ?-A. No, I did not.

Q. Is it not your duty, if items not supported by vouchers come before you, to
report the fact to someone as taxing officer ?-A. I do sometimes and sometimes I do
not.

Q. Well, there must be a rule ?-A. With accounts referred for taxation to us by
another department, we assume that another department before paying then will see as
to the vouchers being correct. I have always felt that it was impossible for me as tax-
ing officer to be satisfied as to payments.

Q. The distinction you draw in regard to looking at every voucher is that when
you are taxing accounts is between accounts rendered for services performed under the
direction of your own departnent and accounts f rom another department ?-A. Yes. I
am most particular about that, because in the former case there is more responsibility
upon us.

Q. These you understood to come from the Department of the Interior ?-A. Yes.
Q. As a matter of fact the papers show that they came from Mr. Sifton ?-A. I

think it was the Departnent of the Interior, because they come addressed every way to
our department. I think the account would have gone to them and they would have
been satisfied as to the vouchers, because all I felt concerned about was as to the legal
charges.

Q. Are you able to produce the letter of Sir Oliver Mowat to which you referred
in your examination on the last occasion ?-A. No, Sir Charles, I have never seen it to
my recollection since I had the vouchers put into my hands.

Q. Whei ?-A. I do not remember.
Q. Did you see it this month ?-A. No, sir, I have not seen any of these accounts

since I handed them in.
Q. Did you make any inquiry since you were here last ?-A. I asked Mr. New-

combe if he had seen the letter referred to in his correspondence, and he said he did not
remember that letter at al].

Q. You asked your deputy if he had seen the letter referring to Richards & Brad-
shaw's account ?-A. If he knew of any such letter, and he said he never recalled seeing
any letter of that kind.

Mr. McDoUGALL.-This is not the letter I handed back to Mr. Sifton. That letter
referred to nothing about Richards & Bradshaw. I told you I had handed back a
letter, it was a private letter.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Was there another letter about Mr. Howell's account?
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"Mr. McDoUGALL.-I cannot sav anvthing about that, but it is not the one to which
you refer.

By Sir Charles IHiblrt lupper:

Q. You failed to obtain that f rom the department?
Mr. HODGINs.-Mr. Newcombe says be knows nothing about that letter at alil.
Q. When you exanined the Howell account had vou the letter book? Do you

remember speaking about the letter press book the other day ?--A. Yes. This is a type-
written letter that I saw. I presume it came from the -Minister's office and I have
rmade no special effort to see it.

Q. Have vou searched your official books ?-A. No, sir.
Q. Will you be good enoug h to do so? 'i lie impression you left on iy mind vas

that vou saw a letter from Sir Oliver Mowat in reference to this account, criticising it.
The impression you left on my mind was that you saw that on the official file. -A. I
saw a letter certainly. I think I saw it on the file of papers handed to me at the time
that the accounts came up.

Q. Since then vou have asked Mi. Newcombe if you can bring it to the comnmittee?
-- A. No, sir I understood that I was to bring a letter from Mr. Newcombe from Sir
,Oliver Mowat. where lie referred to Richards & Bradshaw's account and also to Howell's
account, and neither of us remember seeing such a letter.

Q. Have you inquired for the letter you did see ?-A. No. I did not understand
that 1 was to do that at all.

Q. This cannot be found, according to Mr. Newcombe -A. No, lie never saw it.
Q. Do you know how much of this account that was taxed by your department bas

been paid ?-A. No, sir ; not at all.
Q. Had you anything to do with thee drafts that were drawn by the solicitors at

two months and one month on Mr. Sifton ?- A. No, sir: I know nothing of that at all.
Q. Did vou observe that in Mr. HowelI's report as to expenses charges of paving

magistrates 85 a day who were sitting and this observation in the voucher: "on the
advice of the Attorney General"? Do you remenber that ?-A. I do not.

Q. And do vou remember Dawson, a nagistrate being paid 810 a day on the

.ground that he was a barrister as well as a nr;îgistrate?-A. No, sir, I do not.
Q. These words "on the advice of the Attorney General," do they refer to the

Attorney General of Canada or to the Attorney General of Manitoba ?-A. Well, I can-
not say. I should say they referred to the Attorney General of Manitoba, as far as I
k now.

Q. You know of no advice from the Attorney General of Canada as to how much
should be paid ?-A. No sir.

Q. Did you see Mr. Sifton's letter on this subject of the 12th May to which
-exhibit "F " refers, Mr. Iowells letter of May 18, "I was surprised to get your letter

>f the 12th, etc. ?"--A. No, sir, I never saw that at all.
Q. That was not handed to you?-A. I do not think so I really did not pav any

attention to the bundie of letters handed to me, because I did not think they had any
bearing on the specific duty imposed on nie by the Deputy Minister of examining the
legal charges.

Q. Well, it is something of a surprise to you to find that your Minister some time
before you got the bills was complaining of the excessive charges ?-A. It is. I did not
examine the date of any of these letters at all, so I cannot say anything about that.

Q. You are unable to tell me, I think, whether there was an account in lump sum
first from Mr. Howell without any particulars?-A. Well, I cannot say that the lump
account and the detailed account were separated. I remember seeing both.

Q. You have no recollection of the fact, if it was a fact, that he first renidered a
lump charge andi furnished the particulars afterwards ? -- A. No, I saw the detailed
account ; I am quite sure, for I taxed that.

Q. I see on some of these papers, pencil additions. Here is one, S19 724.43.
Have you any recollection of that calculation ?-A. I have not. I made a good many
because the accounts were very difficult to understand wlen I first got thei.

21
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Q. Do you remeu oer such a charge as this or such a document as this : " Receipt
from Sarah Jane Smita, $50 in full of extra expenses incurred by her late husband in
going from Ontario to give his evidence as a witness and employing an attendant to
accompany him" ?-A. No, sir.

Q. Even if you had seen that voucher, I suppose, in regard to what you said as to
documents coming to you from other departments, you would not have dealt with the
explanation of that charge ?-A. Yes, I made up my mind that with the few vouchers
before me it was impossible to make these things out.

Q. Do you recognize this item, "O. C. Smith, account of Canadian Pacifie Railway
tickets forwarded at the request of the Provincial Government, $464.05" ?-A. No, I
remember seeing that but I dealt with it as a disbursement.

Q. The date of that is marked March 24, 1897 ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then I suppose it is unnecessary to examine you as to the result in these cases

You cannot follow the results of all this expenditure ?-A. No, I really know nothing
except the taxation of the legal charges.

Q. All I would like to know from you is for you to be able to say whether you
have made search of the official records in the department, and wvhether the deputy can
furnish you with a copy of the let ter of Sir Oliver Mowat to which I have referred ?-
A. Yes.

By Mr. Powell;

Q. How long have you been in the department ?-A. Since about 1882.
Q. During that time have you ever known an instance of a magistrate being paid

for preliminary examination unless it was under the direction of the Justice Depart-
ment in the first instance, except this ?-A. Oh, yes, the Inland Revenue and other
departments very often instruet our agents to conduct prosecutions, and we have taxed
these accounts and left it to the other department to say whether they should be paid
or not.

Q. That was with reference to matters regarding their departments ?-A. Yes.
Q. But in respect of purely criminal proceedings have you ever known a case ?-A.

I don't call to mind any instance, though my impression is strorigly that there are some.
I only see the aceounts from Ontario and Manitoba.

By Mr. Haggart :

Q. Is there any other account of this kind from Ontario you ever paid to an ordin-
ary magistrate ?-A. Oh, yes, in an Indian prosecution where a magistrate has tried an
offence under the Indian Act, and we have paid his charges.

Q. A Justice of the peace ?--A. Yes.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. That is a case under the Department of the Interior, but outside of proceedings
taken by direction of an officer of a Department can you recall an instance ?-A. No.

Q. That is, you do not recall, in your fifteen years' experience, any such prosecu-
tion undertaken by a common informer without the direction of an officer of your
lepartment, and the expenses paid by the Government ?-A. I do not say there has not
been, but at the present moment I do not recall any instance.

Q. And there is nothing special in this case to bring it under the Departmnent of
the Interior; it is a matter of the ordinary criminal law of the country ?-A. I suppose
it was.

Q. Could you regard.it as work as being in the Department of the Interior at all?
-A. I did not understand the transaction at al]. All I troubled about was the con-
sidering of the legal charges.

By Mr. Wood:

Q. What do you mean by legal charges ?-A. Charges made by a solicitor.
22
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Q. You have nothing to do as to whether the charges were right or not ?-A. No,
I could not express an opinion.

Q. What do you mean by legal charges 3-A. Charges of work dune in court and
for legal services.

Q. You certified for that '-A. That is all I had to de.

By fr. Powell :

Q. The expenses are left to be borne by the Provincial Treasury in all cases unless
the prosecutions are conducted by the Federal office ?-A. I do not know; I suppose
they are.

By M r. Vood:

Q. Did it not strike you as strange for this matter to cone before the Department
of Justice at all?-A. I could not understand it at first at all. I had a big contract to
examine the accounts and that was all I concerned myself about.

By Mr. Powell :

Q. It was a mystery about it getting there at all ?-A. Well, it never occurred
to me.

By 3fr. Wood:

Q. The charge was submitted to you and your duty was to ascertain whether that
was such a legal charge as the country should pay ; does that not bring it to your mind
as part of your duty to say that the Department of Justice should not recommend its
payment because it was the duty of Manitoba to pay it ?-A. Yes, if specifically re-
quested.

Q. Why did you not report against the payment of these charges ?-A. Because
my instructions were, and I understood it to be my duty, to tax those accounts.

Q. I do not understand your duties to be merely perfunctory. If I am an officer
of the Department of Justice and I am to recommend whether this country is to pay
that charge I think I should perforin my duty to say that charge is not legal and this
country should not pay it. Why did you not report that way ?-A. I cannot say. I
had no instructions on that point at all and I did not consider it part of my business to
say that to the deputy, when he gives me specific instructions to say whether the charges
are reasonable and fair.

Q. Then it comfes to this. You take instructions from the Deputy Minister as
sufficient for you ?-A. Yes, in cases of that kind, certainly.

Q. And you instruct the deputy whether these charges are of a legal nature ?-A.
Yes, and whether they are reasonable and proper according to the recognized tariff we
have adopted for doing Government work.

Q. Then you lef t it to the deputy as to whether it was right or wrong ?A. I do
not think I should interfere witli that.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Looking at this report of the Justice Department dated December 7th, 1897
(exhibit "D "), counsel and solicitors appear to have rendered accounts amounting to
S10,325.57 and the amount allowed is put down as S5,760.07, and the disbursements as
rendered foot up to $7,315.08, and as allowed to 87,146.33. That would niake about
$18,000, as the total amount of their accounts as rendered. I observe a letter f rom Mr.
Howell dated March 27th, 1897 (your report being December of the same year) in which
he speaks of having drawn on Mr. Sifton for all of these amounts and of drawing on him
for $16,724.43. Addede to that there is S3,000 in pencil, making $19,724.63. That
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addition is at the end of the statement. Then he says :-The drafts upon you, then,
are as follows:-

Hon. J. D. Cameron's first draft. ................... 1,000 00
Draft of Mr. Cameron and myself................... 6,428 08
Perdue................................ ........ 541 15
W ade.......................................... 1,270 60
M etcalfe............. ..................... ...... 823 o
Clarke ............ .................... ,... ..... 1,660 85
Our own................ ........... ............. 5,000 00

So, when this bill was really taxed bv you you were really taxing what the Minister had
allowed others to draw upon hin to meet. The point is, if this statement is correct, that
in March Mr. Sifton permitted drafts to the amount of 816,000, possibly 819,000, if the
pencilling is correct, to be made on him and the money had gone to these counsel who
drew, when you taxed these accounts were you aware of the fact that the Minister him-
self would have an interest in that if he had paid out this money ?-A. Well, it occurred
to me that lie would.

Q. That was present to your mind ?-A. Certainlv.
Q. That he had paid out a large amount of money and the question was how much

lie should be reimbursed by the Goveriment for his expenditure, that is the w ay it
stooci in December, apparently '-A. Yes.

By Mfr. Powell:

Q. Do you remember how much you taxed off these items ?-A. Not without refer-
ence to my letters.

Q. Well, approximately ?-A. About 87,000 I think, but I would not be sure till I
see that letter. I appear to have taxed off, according to this letter, 84,000. The ac-
counts amounted to $10,325.57 and I suggested to the deputy that he sbould allow
$5,760.07, which he did.

Q. Do you know what items you taxed off?- A. I could tell a good many of then.
I am sorry I destroyed that memorandum as it would show how I made theni up.

Q. lias the deputy a copy?-A. No, I just took each anountand said, rendered at
so much and should be taxed at so mucli.

Q. Is there a memorandum as to the amount they should be taxed at ?-A. Yes, a
letter to the Auditor General.

Q. Does that give details '--A. No, only the amount that should be paid and by
inference the amount struck off.

By Sir Charles Iiibbert Tupper :

Q. I put in evidence as exhibit " M" f rom the Auditor General's papers a draft
from W. E. Perdue dated Winnipeg, 27th March, 1897: "Three months after date pay
to the order of myself $541.15 and charge to the account of W. E. Perdue. To the Hon.
Clifford Sifton, Ottawa, Ont." That draft was accepted · 'payable at the Bank of British
North America, Ottawa," by Mr. Sifton, and on 2nd July, 1897, Mr. Sif ton draws a cheque
on the Bank of British North America to meet that for 8541.15 and endorsed " Perdue
draft." So according to that lie had paid a bill you taxed in December in July and which
you cut down to 8313.15 ?-A. It would appear so.

Q. On the same date 2nd July, 1897, J. D. Cameron and H. M. Howell of Winni-
peg drew on Mr. Sifton at three months. "Twenty-seventh March, 1897. Three
months after date pay to order of the Imperial Bank of Canada, $6,423.26," which is
accepted at the Bank of British North America by Mr. Sifton and a cheque drawn on
2nd July, 1897 : " Pay the Bank of British North America, S6,423.26 ; Cameron and
Howell draft." Would you look at that exhibit " N "; that bas reference to the legal
charges, lias it not ?-A. I could not say, Sir Charles, I have no J. D. Cameron in it at all.

Q. This report was before you, the drafts before you were for the draft of Cameron
and himself, $6,428.08 ; vou have no doubt that the draft had reference to that item ?-
A. It is the same.
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Q. Well, I tender in evidence as exhibit "O " the following: " Ottawa, 1Sthi June,
1897. Two months after date pay to the order of the Bnk of British North America
the sum of S2,093.75 and exchange, value received and charge to the account of
Clifford Sifton. To H. M. Howell, Esq., Winnipeg, Man." Did you ever hear of that
expedient of a Minister drawing at two monthsý on an agent or law officer ?-A. No,
but I would not be in a position to know that.

Q. That is not the style of doing business in that w ay ? -A. No.
Q. I put this in a,; exhibit "P":-"Winnipeg, 19th June, 1897. Two months

after date pay to the order of the Imperial Bank of Canada at Winnipeg, $1,027 with
interest and exchange, value received and charge to account of J. D. Cameron. To Hon.
Clifford Sifton, Ottawa, Ont." That is a draft of Mr. Cameron on Mr. Sifton ; do you
remember allowing him anything in this connection?-A. No sir, I never heard of him.

Q. I tender in evidence also as exhibit "Q " a telegran to the Auditor General
of Canada from Rat Portage, dated 10th December, 1897, as follows :--" The firm of
Archibald and Howell received from the Hon. Clifford Sifton the sum of $3,000 on
account of ballot box prosecutions last autumnu. H. M. Howell." I tender in evidence
an official cheque which the Department of Finance issued to cover two acceptances of
Mr. Sifton, which will be exhibit "R " Mr. Hodgins, I ask you as a formal witness,
in this file of papers returned in answer to the order of the committee with the vouchers
there are letters from Mr. Sifton to you, but the inclosures of these letters are missing;
do you know what has become of them ?-A. No.

Q. In a letter of the 22nd May from Mr. Sifton to the Minister of Justice, hesays
"My dear Sir Oliver, I inclose you a letter from Mr. Howell regardiug the ballot box
cases which explains itself," marked personal. Do you know anything of that ?-A.
No, I do not.

Q. Do you know anything of this letter on file dated 3rd May :-- "When writing to
you about the ballot box prosecutions I inadvertently made an error by reason of the
fact that ail the drafts had not come to hand. There is an additional draft for 81,029.22
which I have now, accepted. Please note this along with the others which I have
previously sent." It is May 3rd, 1897. Have vou had access to that correspondence ?
-A. No, sir.

Q. It is marked " personal," and for that reason it was not put on the official file?
-A. No, and it was not likely to come to me, because ail I got I got from the accounts.

Q. Then you cannot say you had any of this correspondence relating to these bills?
-A. No, sir, I never saw It.

Q. I called vour attention to a letter marked "personal " which reads as follows

"OTTAWA, 8th May, 1897.
The Honourable Sir OLIVER MOwAT,

Minister of Justice,
Ottawa, Ont.

DEAR SIR OLIVER,-- enclose you herewith letter from lessrs. Archibald & Howell,
of Winnipeg, covering the detailed bill of costs of Messrs. Richards & Bradshaw for
their fees in connection with the ballot box prosecutons.

Yours faithfully,
CLIFFORD SIFTON.

Did you get that or just the bill?-A. That is all.
Q. There is another letter of the 4th May, 1897, from Archibald & Howell, which

reads as follows:

WINNIPEG, MAN., 4th May, 1897.
The Honourable CLIFFORD SIFTON,

Minister of the Interior,
Ottawa, Ont.

DEAR SIR,-We inclose you lierewith detailed bill of the costs of Richards & Brad-
shaw for their fees in the ballot box cases. The bill as rendered amounted to 81,054.22.
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We have taxed off the sum of 825, leaving the sum of $1,029.22. For this sum they have
drawn upon you. With the bill we enclose vouchers for disbursements, which amount
to the sum of S549.22.

Yours truly,
ARCHIBALD & HOWELL.

That letter came with these papers. Do you know anything about it ?-A. No,
sir, I do not recollect it. I really did not examine the correspondence at all. All I
was concerned with was that the bill should be taxed.

Q. You taxed the bill which Richards & Bradshaw rendered for $1,029 at $754.22,
didn't you?-A. I did, sir.

Q. This is the same bill -A. Yes.
Q. You know nothing as to whether these people who drew for more than they

were allowed, have refunded the money ?-A. No, sir, I know nothing of that at ail.
Q. You don't know whether these drafts were paid? some of them were ?-A. I

know absolutely nothing of that case.
Q. You know Mr. J. D. Cameron. He is the present Attorney General of

Manitoba ?-A. I think he is.
Q. He succeeded Mr. Sifton ?-A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Powell

Q. W7as this kiting because the government required accommodation paper or was
it to accommodate Mr. Sifton ?-A. I am not able to give an answer to that question.

The witness retired.

Mr. A. C. ROWE being called and sworn testified as follows:-

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You are the accountant of the Bank of British North America ?-A. I am.
Q. Will you look at these two cheques dated July 2nd, 1897, for S541.15 and

$6,423.26 Àigned by Clifford Sifton ; these are paid by the Bank of British North
America at Ottawa, were they not ?-A. Yes.

Q. Were they paid out of Mr. Sifton's private account ?-A. Well, it was a special
account; it was money deposited by the Finance Department.

Q. How much was deposited ?-A. $6,964.41, the amount of these two cheques.
Q. What was the heading of the account ?-A. " Hon. Clifford Sifton No. 2

account."
Q. Then Pow many credits did you get ?-A. That one cheque for $6,964.41 against

these two cheques.
Q. And these were all that were drawn ?-A. That is all, I have a copy of the

account here.
Q. You might as well file it as exhibit " S." He drew the full amount of the

account ?-A. Yes.
The witness was discharged.

Mr. JAMES A. SMART was called and examined:-

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. Mr. Smart, you are Deputy Minister of the Interior, are you not ?-A. Yes.
Q. Can vou say whether this subject was deaIt with by the department the subject

referred to in that file, namely the Manitoba ballot box prosecutions, was it deait with
by the department or by the Minister personally ?-A. Altogether by the Minister.

The Committee adjourned.
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HOUSE of COMMONS,
THURSDAY, iMay 26, 1898.

The Committee met,-Mr. MeMullen in the Chair.

H. M. HoWELL, being sworn, testified as follows:-

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper

Q. Mr. Howell, you were the counsel employed in connection with the Manitoba
prosecutions, in the so-called ballot stuffng cases ?-A. Yes; I was employed, perhaps a
little more than as counsel, I was employed as solicitor too.

Q. To take charge ?-A. Yes.
Q. Wlbo employed you ?-A. The Attorney General's Department-well, Mr.

Sifton.
Q. I see in vour account you mentioned June 26th as the date when you received

instructions from Mr. Sifton ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is the date of your employmeLt; I suppose that is when this matter began.

A. It may have been that we had a conversation a day or two before that but that was
the first entry I made. We may have had a conversation; we had many conversations
that were not entered.

Q. You may have had a conversation before that ?-A. Yes a day or two before
before that possibly.

Q. Have you brought your books and papers with you relating to these accounts ?
A. Well, they are not mine any longer, and I have not brought them because my firm
is dissolved, and by the terms of our dissolution the books remain with my partner, but
the only entries I made in reference to this matter were in what I call just a little scrap
book which I kept for that purpose alone-just a blotter.

Q. Then the other books you refer to would not relate to these accounts ?-A.
Nothing except the ledger of the firm.

Q. And the ledger is where ?-A. It is in Winnipeg.
Q, In whose possession ?-A. In the possession of Archibald & Howell, in liquida-

tion; Mr. Archibald primarily has it. I think I have copies of it.
Q. You have made copies of the ledger ?-A. I believe so; I asked the bookkeeper

to do so that I might bring them here.
Q. And the first entry in any of these books, either the blotter or the book you

refer to, or the ledger, would be 26th June ?-A. Yes.
Q. Look at exhibit " C" which is produced by the Department of Justice and say

whether that is a copy made from any of your firm's books ?-A. No, 8ir Charles, it is
not a copy ; it is an account made from various entries from time to time. In my firm
I was given a wider latitude that the others. I kept a blotter of my own and noted
down what I did, sometimes in pencil and sometimes in ink, and from that this account
was built up.

Q. Are the different items copies of the original entries in your blotter ?-A. No
they are not exact copies. It is an account made up from information in that blotter.

Q. There never was a forma account made up ?-A. It was a formal memorandum
of what I.did, but it would not be in that language.

Q. Have you a copy of that memorandum ?-A. No, I have not.
Q. And this book, you say, is in Winnipeg ?-A. Oh, I do not suppose it would

exist, because I would hand them over every month or two months. I had different
blotters which I kept in my drawer and they were handed over to the bookkeeper.

Q. And the entries were made by him in the ledger ?-A. No, the accounts would
be copied into what we call a statement book.

Q. Where is that ?-A. It is in Winnipeg. The staterment book is an exact copy
of what you have. (Exhibit "C.")
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Q. When was the account in the statement book prepared relatively in regard to
the work ? Was it as the work went on or after the work was done ?-A. I would not
say that the whole of it was put in when the work was done. It may have been
that two months would go by before it would be transcribed and then two or three
months more might elapse and then another transcription would be made.

Q. Are you prepared to say that this exhibit " C*' is an exact copy of the state-
ment in the statement book ?-A. It is an exact copy of the statement in the statement
book.

Q. You are not prepared to say that that account was made up from time to time?
-A. Would you pardon me for one moment. I think I have a copy here, and if the
copy is the same as that it is an exact copy. That was prepared from the books by my
instruction before I came here. (Handing paper to Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper.)

Q. This is the same thing. I have no doubt it is the same. The first page is
exactly the same. You have no doubt that this is a copy of the statement which is
contained in the statement of Archibald & Howell?- A. Yes,

Q. It is in connection with that that I want to ask you whether you are prepared
to say that that statement was not made up after all the work was done ?-A. I could
not say that the whole of it was made up after the work was done.

Q. I put it the other way : can you say that the whole of it was not made up after?
-A. I cannot say that.

Q. So that it is possible the original statement in the statement book was made
after the whole of the work was done ?-A. It is possible ; the bookkeeper would do
whatever was clone.

Q. You looked at it recently, I suppose ?-A. I lookrd at this when this was
entered by him.

Q. Are vou prepared to say from that examination that the statenent was put in
at one time or from time to time ? Did you charge your menory with that ?-A. No,
I did not.

Q. I understand you to say that the original entries are possibly all destroyed in
the blotter ?-A. Very probably they are. They were handed to the bookkeeper and
they ceased to exist.

Q. It is a custom of yours that you do not retain these blotters?-A. It is a custom
of mine because I am a little slipshod. I make a little entry on a paper and then

come home and just lay it in the blotter.
Q. Coming back to the first matter what was the substance of vour first conversa-

tion with Mr. Sifton on this matter ?-A. I would not like to say exactly what the first
was but amongst the very first at that time was a convesation in which Mr. Sifton told
me that there had been a gigantic fraud committed in the riding of Macdonald and
that ballots had been stolen. I remembered very distinctly saying that I did not believe
it ; I thought people would not destroy a ballot any more than they would destroy the
Bible.

Q. That was anterior to your retainer ?-A. Well, at the time. Then he produced
to me ballots and admissions by deputy returning officers and it was a staggering blow
to me.

Q. What I want you to remember and fix is whether that conversation was before
or after vour retainer ?-A. Probably a little before or that day. We had a long con-
versation and I went away to look up the law in the matter.

Q. You said a little while ago you had several conversations on this subject before

June 26th, the first day of charge ?-A. I would not like to say whether June 26th
was the first time or whether I had been there several times and then stuck an entry

on the blotter.
Q. But as I understand it you are not prepared to say you had any conversation

with him on this subject before June 26th?-A. No, I would not swear that.
Q. And when you make an entry that you received instructions from Mr. Sifton

on June 26th are you clear that you got positive instructions on that day ?-A. No, I
would not say that, Sir Charles, because he might not have said "go on" on that

occasion.
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Q. And it was at that consultation that he told you of the gigantic frauds ?-A.
Possibly the interview of that day or the day before.

Q. What were the particulars he told you of the gigantic frauds ?--A. He told me
how it had been done, and so or.

Q. Did he tel[ you the source of his information ?-A. He said one of the men
engaged in the work iad given the information.

Q. Was that Freeborn?-A. Freeborn. I did not know it was Freeborn until the
next day he brought Freeborn into the office; and I still coulk hardly believe that a
voter could be deceived and that Freeborn could deceive me, making my hat a ballot
box, before my eyes.

Q. Did Mr. Sifton mention any specific case; how definite were his instructions on
the 26th ?-A. I would not like to say whether he entered into any particular cases.

Q. "Attending Mr. Sifton two hours, going fully into irregularities of deputy
returning offices and others at the balloting in last election, and received instructions
from him to investigate the various acts of various deputy returning officers." I call
your attention to the words "going fully " ?-A. That may be the language of my book-
keeper, I would not say that is my language.

Q. I understand though that these entries are taken from a blotter or memo. of
vour own ?-A. But ny own words would be something like " Sifton two hours re ballot
boxes".

Q. So this represents the ingenuity of your clerk ?-A. To a certain extent.
Q. What is tha name of your clerk ?-A. Mr. Shanks.
Q. Then you are not prepared to say now that Mr. Sif ton went fully into the irre-

gularities that day ?-A. Well, perhaps, not that day but he went pretty fully into it,
explaining how it was done ; I could hardly understand it, and I had to understand the
mechanical working of the thing before I could investigate.

Q. Did he name any returning officers ?-A. Not that day. I think Freeborn gave
me more information about naines.

Q. Did you see Freeborn on the 26th ?-A. I am inclined to think it was next day.
Q. Freeborn did not appear in this account until July 18 ; do you think you saw

him before that ?-A. Oh, ves, I am sure.
Q. Were you instructed by Mr. Sifton to employ Pinkerton ?-A. Yes.
Q. Were you instructed at the start !-A. Oh, it would not be as early as that.

Probably the employment of Pinkerton men would be at my suggestion, because I am a
great believer in detectives in the elucidation of truth in crimes.

Q. In these conversations with Mr. Sifton are you able to say from anything that
was said by Mr. Sifton as to the capacity in which he was acting ; was he acting as
Attorney General for Manitoba or personally ?-A. Well, I think, Sir Charles, at that
interview, or if not the first very soon after that we looked into the statutes as to what
part the M inister of Justice should have in the proceedings, who should bear the burden
of the cost, and we found that the Minister of Justice should, under certain circumstances,
where there had been personation or anything of that kind, instruct counsel and we
came to the conclusion that it was not wide enough to cover this case. Whether it was
at first he told me that the Dominion Government would face it or not, I cannot remember.

Q. To whom did you charge that entry ?-A. Oh ! no one, just in ny blotter.
Q. To whom is that entry charged in the ledger ?-A. I believe it is headed

"ballot box prosecutions; " is it not so in the account.
Q. No, there is no heading in the account ?-A. Well, I believe that is it, " ballot

box prosecutions."
Q You are not able to say in the absence of the book ?-A. No, but I am pretty

certain that is what it is.
Q. Did you bring your office copies of these letters that are referred to here; for

instance, the letter to Pinkerton & Co. ?-A. No, that would be sinply to send the
man.

Q. The letter to Pinkerton & Co. on June 27, for three men; you have not a copy
of that here ?-A. No, that is all it would be.

Q. But you have your letter press book ?-A. Oh, yes, that would be in the office,
but there would be no information in that.
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Q. Who is Shoemaker 7-A. He is a detective and a very good one.
Q. Well, then, in regard to these preliminary items you are unable to say to whom

you looked at that time for your fee ?-A. Well, I suppose I looked to Mr. Sifton and he
would see I was paid either by the local or the Dominion Government.

Q. Did you hold Mr. Sifton liable ?-A. I don't suppose the idea entered my mind.
I knew someune would pay me.

Q. Who did you regard as your debtor, the person retaining you, the Attorney
General of Manitoba or Mr. Sifton ?-A. I am inclined to think that I was looking to
the purse at Ottawa, for I remember very early we discussed the question of the Minister
of Justice paying it. If that was not at the first interview, then it was at the second
or third. Before I wrote Pinkerton it was arranged that the Dominion Government
was to foot the bill.

Q. By whom was it arranged ?-A. Mr. Sifton told me.
Q. How did he represent that, after any communication with the Dominion

Government ?-A. I do not think he explained that. simply saying the Dominion
Government would attend to this.

Q. Then you do not consider that the Manitoba Government retained you at ail ?-
A. Well, in acting I was acting within the control of the Attorney General of Manitoba.
In all public prosecutions he is the controller.

Q. Did you consider you were retained by the Manitoba Government ?-A. I was
retained by Mr. Sifton and I knew he would see that soniebody paid me, and he was
Attorney General of the province then.

Q. While you say that Mr. Sifton retained you he' was the Attorney General and
you knew you would get your money either from Manitoba or from the Dominion -you
say Mr. Sifton assured you the Dominion would pay you ?-A. Well, we discussed the
question of the Dominion Government taking it up, and we looked over the provisions
of the Dominion Controverted Elections Act, and I am sure he told me the Dominion
Government would pay the bill.

Q. Then, if Mr. Sifton told you the Dominion Government would pay the hill,
would you say that you could hold Mr. Sifton or Manitoba liable ?-A. Well, I always
held Mr. Sifton liable and the result bore out my confidence.

Q. How ?-A. He paid me.
Q. Not the whole of your bill ?-A. If he has not I should be surprised.
Q. According to the information before me, according to these papers, vou were

only paid half of your bill?-A. I was paid in full.
Q. May I ask where you got your paynient in full?-A. I do not know whether

I am committing a breach of confidence between solicitor and client in answering that
question.

Q. You say the Dominion was vour client and we are all representing the Dominion
here ?-A. I was paid.

Q. Not by the Dominion Government ?-A. No, I never got a dollar froin the
Dominion Government in my life.

Q. Who paid you ?-A. I drew on Mr. Sifton and the bank honoured the draft.
Q. Does that fact induce you to change vour idea of the liability of the Dominion

Government in this matter, as to whom you were looking for pay ; you did not look
either to the Dominion or to the Manitoba Government; you drew on Mr. Sifton and
%ou were paid?-A. Yes.

Q. Does that induce you to change your answer to the question as to who retained
you and to whom you looked for your bill ?-A. There was no written retainer. I did
not worry my mind about it.

Q. And you iooked to Mr. Sifton in the end ?-A. I drew on him. I was not
disposed to be banker for the Dominion Government and I told Mr. Sifton so. There
were large sums of money paid out.

Q, %Ir. Sifton drew on you occasionally ?-A. Well, my firm, perhaps. The
partnership was dissolved. I am not sure ; he might have done so.

Q. As a matter of fact, you retained other counsel or solicitors, perhaps, as you call
them ? The names are here, and you will remember them, I suppose-F. C. Wade, O.
H. Clark, T. L. Metcalfe, Richards & Bradshaw, and W. E. Perdue ?-A. Yes.

30
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Q. You retained them ?-A. Yes.
Q. What became of their accounts? Were they paid ?-A. I gave them a memo.

I looked over their accounts and tried to settle them on the basis upon which the
Dominion pay their agent there-so much a day when in town and so nuch when out
of town, and fixed their accounts at that.

Q. As a matter of fact, they were paid in the same way you were ?-A. I did not
know that.

Q. They got the amounts you certified ?-A. If you are willing to take what you
hear people say. Some of them told me they were paid in full.

Q. You are aware that some of their accounts were not taxed in full-not allowed
in full ?-A. I saw that in the newspapers, which was the first I had heard of it.

Q. Notwithstanding that, they told you they were paid in full ?---A. They were
paid previously. I advanced the money or my firm for them. They were young men
and niot able to pay out large sums for travelling and other expenses.

Q. Do you remember about the stage of the case when you retained these gentlemen?
-A. It was after I had accumulated the evidence and I saw that it was not possible
for ie to do it alone, and 1 had to have assistance, and I am inclined to think that I
discussed the matter with Attorney General Cameton, and I was told to retain what
assistance was necessary. The Attorney General had changed. Mr. Sifton had beconie
Minister of the Inter or.

Q. Then you retained these gentlemen under instructions from the Attorney General
of Manitoba ?-A. Well, if you put it that way. They told me to go on and get the
necessary assistance.

Q. If you were told by the Manitoba Attorney General to retain certain gentlemen
in the case A. Well, he told me to get what assistance 1 required.

Q. And you acted under his instructions ?-A. Of course; I would not go to that
expense without instruction.

Q. And vou got your instructions from the Attorney General of Manitoba ?-A. I
acted on his advice. I thought I should consult some justice department.

Q. And so the accounts came in somewhere about the end of 1896 ?--A. Likely.
Q. Now, you also consulted Mr. Greenway in this matter ?-A. Mr. Greenway ?
Q. Yes. I will refresh vour memory. In your account there is an item, July 7th,

"attending Mr. Sifton and Mr. Greenway at their rooms, discussing the matter, one
hour."-A. I presume I did if it is there, but I have forgotten it. I was very nearly
saying that I had not consulted Mr. Greenway.

Q. Would that be your clerk's ingenuity again ?-A. No, whenever a name is men-
tioned I put it down.

Q. Did you meet him as Premier or as a member of the Liberal party ?-A. I am
not sufficiently in the inner circle of the Liberal party to be always taken into their
confidence.

Q. Froin the nature of the interview you will be able to tell me ?-A. I would dis-
cuss it with him in connection with Mr. Sifton because, whenever I met anyone and
discussed the inatter, Mr. Sifton was present. I probably put the two there as the two
were present.

Q. You are not able to tell me in what capacity you met him ?-A. Mr. Greenway
gave me no assistance, le is not a lawyer.

Q. It would not be violent presumption on my part to say that he was there acting
as a Liberal ?--A. It may be.

Q. On July 9th you have an item "attending the Attorney-General with Shoe-
maker and Cooper." He is another detective, is he ?-A. Would you just let me see
the item. Oh, yes, he is a Winnipeg lawyer who was then assisting me.

Q. Was he retained ?-A. I think I was going to get him to take up the Anderson
case. I think Cooper was to take up the Anderson case. I saw that it was an impor-
tant matter Lnd got him to take the Winnipeg end.

Q. He dropped out, didn't he ?-A. I think so.
Q. He was a Liberal?--A. Yes, I think so.
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Q. Now vou will observe your charges for attending the Attorney-General. Do
you mean anything by that in your entry rather than attending Mr. Sifton? Did you
attend him then in his official capacity as Attorney-General ?-A. I do not know.

Q. These words have no significance. They do not change at any rate your answers
of a little while ago ?-A. No. I do not want you to think for a moment that I did
not expect that I was acting as an assistant in the Attorney-General's business because
I deemed it to be the Attorney-General's business. If it had been a counterfeiting case
which he had to take up I would be in the Attorney-General's service.

Q. I confess I am a little confused by your answers. I understood you to tell us
that you had regarded Mr. Sifton as the man liable to you and that he ultimately did
pay you your account in full which neither the Dominion nor the Manitoba Government
have paid in full. I assume that you held Mr. Sifton liable to you ?-A. The question
of legal liability never entered my mind.

Q. So sometimes you made the entry as regards M r. Sifton and other times as
regards the Attorney-General. Did he make the payments in the same way ? You
know there were difficulties, as the correspondence shows ?-A. There were no diffi culties
at all until after I was paid.

Q. You rendered your bills to Mr. Sifton you remember ?-A. Yes.
Q. Not to the Attorney-General of Manitoba, Mr. Cameron ?-A. No.
Q. That does not change your statement ?-A. I think we sent duplicates of these

accounts to the Attorney-Grneral.
Q. You think you sent duplicates ?-A. I think so, I remember seeing the book-

keeper's entry.
Q. Will you look at your books and see if you rendered accounts to the Manitoba

Government also ?-A. I have also a memo., I believe, but I sent a copy of the disburse-
ments to Mr. Cameron. When the prosecutions were going on it necessitated the expen-
diture of a great deal of money and my firm's bank account is not unlimited, and when
it became a question of $7,000 or $8,000 I got the treasurer to assist me and we put in
a joint note in the bank and discounted it, and took the money to Portage la Prairie
and I think I sent to him a statement of how I spent that money.

Q. The Manitoba Government have never at any time paid you fees in this connec-
tion or promised you fees ?-A. No.

Q. You did not as a matter of fact render it to them ?-A. No, I never rendered
it to them.

Q. You sent the account to Mr. Sifton I-A. Yes.
Q. And the Manitoba Government ?-A. I never sent in the account to them

marked exhibit " C." I do not think that went to the Attorney General's Department.
Q. Only the lump sum and the disbursements ?-A. The disbursements I spent for

witnesses. I think I gave a detailed statement of them.
Q. There is an entry here, l th July :-" attending the Attorney General, Watson

and Burroughs." Was not Watson a member of the Manitoba Government ?-A. Yes.
Q. What was he doing there, what department was he in ?-A. Public Works.
Q. Who was Mr. Burroughs, a member of the loal legislature ?-A. Yes.
Q. A Liberal ?-A. Yes.
Q. Holding any official position ?-A. No.
Q. What assistance could these give you, were they witnesses?--A. Yes, Mr.

Burroughs gave me a detail of the alleged crookedness of a ballot in one division, I
forget the name of it but it was where the deputy returning officer after the ballots
were marked, each time before he put the ballot in the box opened up the ballot to the
Conservative agent so that he could see which way it was marked, so that at the end of
the day he said to the deputy returning officer, "you need not trouble to count up the
votes, this is a statement of then," and that statement proved to be correct.

Q. Did Mr. Burroughs tell you this of his own knowledge ?-A. Yes.
Q. Was he used as a witness ?-A. I found out the facts of this from him.
Q. Was it of bis own knowledge or what he had been informed ?-A., What he had

been informed.

A. 1898
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Q. Was Mr. Watson able to assist you? Mr. Watson was a mermber of the govern-
ment. He told vou something too which he had heard ?-A. Yes. I think I gathered
information from all sources.

Q. Then on the same date 11 th July, " attending Shoemnaker, Ballantyneand Ferris,
as to Carberry polls," was Mr. Ballantyne a member of the House '-A. -He is a detec-
tive.

Q. And Ferris ?-A. He described tu me the way thev managed the ballot at
Pleasant Point.

Q. That is Mr. Ferris ?-A. les, he is the man who lived in Carberry, I think.
Q. A member of the Liberai party too ?-A. I presume so, but of course 1 (o not

know positively.
Q. Robertson, who was he'? There is a charge here on the 13th July, one aid a-

half hours with him ?-A. He is a detective.
Q. The charge was for instructing him to proceed to Carberry as a picture seller

with full instructions and letters of introduction to gather evidence as to Clarke and
Waller ?-A. That, I think, was what Mr. Watson told me.

Q. He is still a member of the local government ?-A. Yes.
Q. " Two and a half hours with Watson and Ashdown.' Who is Asldown Is

he a leading Liberal ?-A. He is a Liberal such as I am-not wholly in the fok.
Q. Was he assisting in this matter ?-A. I think Ashdown came to help me about

t4iis poll I have described-Hazard's.
Q. " Giving instructions to Ballantyne as to the irregularities of Wbe pol1 in

Dauphin ? "-A. Yes, that is Hazard's poll.
Q. Ashdown was the candidate against i1r. Roche for this House i-A. Yes, and

it was at one of these polls in Dauphin that this trouble took place.
Q. Then on July 17, I find Freeborn on the field. Ail afternoon with the

Attorney General and Freeborn 2 "-A. Yes.
Q. When did you first see Freeborn 2-A. 1 m.ust have seen him before that.
Q. The first time you have got him down is the l7th July ?-A. I saw him before

that and had many interviews with-him, because there are scores of things not charged.
Q. Do you know wvhen Freeborn left Canada ?-A. I have been trying to think

the last I can remember of him was a few days before Dr. Rutherford's last election.
He came into my oflice and asked for employment, and I told him I was done with him.

Q. Did the subject of his leaving Canada come up then ?-A. No, never.
Q. Did you ever lay any information or cause any information to be laid against

him ?-A. Yes.
Q. At that time ?-A. I think it was about the time the other informations were

laid.
Q. Have any steps been taken on that information since ?-A. No.
Q. Was any nolle prosequi entered ?-A. I could not speak of that.
Q. You do not know that any was ?-A. The information was laid, the warrant

issued, and the whole thing abandoned, I think.
Q. You would not say though, Mr. Howell, that the matter has been forrmally

ended as a criminal charge should be ended ?-A. No.
Q. It was never brought to trial and you know of no action taken by the Crown

to terminate the proceedings i-A. No, jqst as in a lot of other cases, we simîply dropped
out.

Q. In that connection, have you any reason to believe that Freeborn is out of the
country ?-A. I have every reason to believe he is out of the country, and I telegraphed
here to that effect. It is but fair to say this, that the next day after I telegraphed,
Mr. Colin Campbell, a very respected citizen of Winnipeg, came to me and told nie that
I was wrong, that he iad seen him in town three days before. Just for fear that it
might be said that I deceived this committee, 1 sent a man to hunt around Freeborn's
old haunts, and that man, after careful search, saüd that he had not been in the city for
months. I thought that Mr. Campbell might have him up his sleeve at Winnipeg.

Q. What is the character of these haunts ?-A. Boarding houses-respectable
3ouses.
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Q. Do you think he was a respectable style of man ?-A. He always stayed at
respectable places. I have nothing to say against this man's character.

Q. You caused an information to be laid and a warrant to be issued for his arrest ?-
A. Yes.

Q. On what charge ?-A. On the charge of inciting deputy returning officers to
stuff ballot boxes.

Q. So that on the 18th July, when you had this one and one-half hours with
Freeborn, Freeborn knew this warrant was out and these criminal proceedings had been
taken ?-A. That warrant was not out for months after that.

Q. You cannot fix the date ?-A. It was either in December, 1896, or January,
1897.

Q. About the time the other warrants went out ?-A. Yes.
Q. Will you please state your purpose in connection with that proceeding; in other

words, it was to keep him in hand was it not ?-A. No, it was perhaps not strictly what
it ought to have been. It was to protect him, I was afraid thev would kill him. I
had him under arrest and I had policemen go around several places to guard him
because he had been attacked and knocked down a couple of times, and I was afraid
they would kill him.

Q. Who laid the information ?--A. I am inclined to think it would be Elliott, the
man who laid most of the informations.

Q, Where did he get the facts on which the information was made out? Were the
facts sufficient to warrant his arrest ?-A. He told me them himself; he produced the
ballots.

Q. It was on information he gave you himself that you caused this information to be
laid ?-A. Yes, he applied first for leave to carry a revolver, and as I had a strong
objection he laid the matter before the Attorney General who agreed with me. I had
my mind made up that it would be better to arrest him.

Q. It was on the information that he gave to you. Do you recollect the substance
of the conversation when he gave you that information, and the condition that he
sought to impose upon you in connection with the use of that information?--A. This
information about the ballot boxes?

Q. Yes.-A. There was no condition; I think he gave me the information first
when he showed me how it -was done and told me the whole story, I think, in the
presence of Mr. Sifton. I am certain that it was in the presence of Mr. Sifton first.

Q. Is your memory suflicient to enable you to say positively that he did not at any
time in giving you information say that it was given on condition that you would use it
only for the purpose of unseating Boyd ?-A.: He did tell me that once when the trials
were going on at the assizes.

Q. About what time were the assizes?--A. They would be in April, 1897.
Q. But up to that time he had never made any condition ?-A. No, because lie

said when he was going before the jury: " I did not expect this; I thought that my
information was only to be used to unseat Boyd, and I did not expect that I would get
into all this trouble," because he had a pretty rocky time.

Q. You are quite clear that it was the first time that ever came up ?-A. That
was the first time.

Q. Did you ever tell Freeborn that these criminal proceedings would terminate in
the event of his giving his evidence satisfactorily ?-A. I do not quite understand you.

Q. We have spoken of criminal proceedings and of a warrant being issued 7-A.
That is against him.

Q. Yes. Did you at any time tell him that these proceedings would terminate,
that the Crown would put an end to them in the event of his giving satisfactory
evidence?-A. No.

Q. Nothing to that effect ?-A. Oh, nothing, because he knew as well as I why I
arrested him.

Q. To save him ?-A. Yes.
Q. How would that save hini ?-A. I had a man six feet four to go round with

him all the time.
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Q. Could you not have had the saviour with him without the warrant? In what
way did the fact of the man having a warrant protect him better than his six feet four
of a protector ?-A. It was an excuse for the man always to be with him. He wished
the man to be with hin always ; he had received threatening letters.

Q, My difficulty is why this strong man needed a warrant. The man would just
be as strong without the warrant ?-A. Yes. He had to give a reason to his friends
and the people around for the man being with him.

Q. But he would not wish then to know he was under arrest ?-A. He was in very
respectable company. There were scme very prominent men under arrest.

Q. That is the only reason you can suggest ?-A. Well, yes ; it may have been an
error of judgment.

Q. Did you consult Freeborn as to the advisability of his being put under arrest ?-
A. He came to me and asked to be allowed to carry a revolver, and we saw he was not
the man to give a revolver to, being a hot-headed man, and the only thing we could see
was to arrest hinm.

Q. Did he approve of that ?-A. Oh, heartily.
Q. Are you aware that Freeborn is keeping out of the country on account of this

criminal eharge ?-A. I believe if lie thought he would be paid to Ottawa and back he
would be only too glad to be here ; that is mv experience with hima.

Q. I an given to understand that he is in Buffalo ?-A. If you will allow me to
give you the result of mny inquiries, I think he is in Seattle. He lived in North Bruce.
I •now he did good work in North Bruce.

By 3r. Jilock :

Q. Had he a recommendation from North Bruce ?-A. Yes.
Q. Fron whom ?-A. From Birmingham.

By Mr. ontague:

Q. You know that is denied ?-A. It may have been.

By 3fr. Muock:

Q. What Birmingham is that ? Is his initial R.?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles fHibbert T'upper:

Q. H ave you reason to believe that the Crown authorities in Winnipeg were
besought by Freeborn to terminate these criminal proceedings ?-A. Oh, I do not think
so.

Q. Now, on the 18th, " one and a-half hours with Freeborn and the Attorney
General discussing matters fully," that again is Mr. Sifton ?-A. Yes.

Q. Who is Dr. Shaw that comes into the account on the saine day ?-A. Dr. Shaw
is a medical man living in Carberry

Q. Was he used as a witness 3-A. No, but he gave me a lot of information.
Q. And is he a leading Liberal ?-Oh, yes, he is a Liberal.
Q. In what case did he give information ?-A. The Jew, Finkelstein.
Q. Was there any conviction ?-A. He was committed for trial before the magis-

trate.
Q. But the case did not end in a conviction ?-A. No, we just got a commitment.
Q. Did the case in which you got information from Mr. Watson end in a convic-

tion ?-A. We did not lay information in that case because it was only the case of
exposing the ballot.

Q. Was a conviction obtained on the information you got from Ashdown ?-A.
That was at the same poll ; we did not proceed further than investigation.

Q. Was a conviction obtained on the information you got from Mr. Sifton when
he went fully into the irregularities ?-A. Well, the information I got from Freeborn in
his presence.
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Q. Then lMr. Sifton knew nothing but what MIr. Freeborn told hin ?-A. He only
knew what people told him.

Q. Did he give you anything ?-A. When I got information, I laid it before him,
Q. Then he did not give you very full information on 26th June ?-A. Well, as full

as lie had.
Q. You kept on getting information from time to time ?--A. Yes.
Q. You cannot tell whether any conviction resulted fron that information of 26th

June -A. I think al] the Attornev General went into then was as to the method of
the ballot stufling.

Q. Afterwards yo>u got the detectives ?I suppose they were to get evidence ?-A.
Yes.

Q. And I suppose your instructions from Mr. Sifton on 26th June were to get these
mien and send them out over the country to look for evidence ?-A. Yes.

Q. It was a sort of fishing inquiry 2-A. Well, ves ; all detective work is fishing.
Q. You did rot get mucli on that fisihing trip ?-A. I think they ought to have put

in jail fifteen men, and if it had not been a political matter, there would be fifteen men
in jail. Thev stole a constituency.

Q. That is your opinion ?-A. It lias got beyond an opinion. I am like other men,
but, oh, dear ; there is no doubt about that. There is not any doubt that 200 Liberal
votes were turned into Conservative votes ; perhaps 360.

By 11r. M4fulock :

Q. How was that done ?-A. 3y taking Grit votes and transforming them into
Tory votes. For instance, they made the Reeve of Lorne vote Tory for the first time
in his life.

By S'ir Charles Hiert Tupper

Q. How do you know ?-A. He told me so.
Q. But you, as a lawyer, would not like that statement you made a moment ago to

go down as evidence ?-A. Well, I think we, as lawyers, get evidence that is incontro-
vertible.

Q. You have made a strong statement that would not be allowed in a court ?-A.
Well, I think it would.

Q. And would not they be placed in the notes?-A. I don't know about that.
Q. I want to cal] your attention to a report in the Free Press of Winnipeg of 23rd

April, 1898, of a question asked in the legislature, and ask you whether it agrees with
your understanding of the affair ?-A. I was not there.

Q. Assuming it is correct, of course. Mr. McFadden asked: "Were the criminal
prosecutions in connection with the late Dominion elections instituted by the Govern-
ment under the advice of Mr. H. M. Howell ? " Would you agree with that 2-A. No;
I suppose the Attorney General instructed me instead of me instructing him.

Q. You would not say then, as he did, that the Attorney General did not institute,
on your advice, these prosecutions?-A. Well, they instructed me.

Q. I.t depends on the form of the question. They instructed you rather than you
advised *em ?-A. Oh, they asked me to find if there was ground for prosecution. I
gathered the evidence and they told m@ to go on and prosecute.

Q. Another question was :-" Were the criminal prosecutions instituted by the
Government under the advice of MNr. H. M. Howell ?" To that you would not say no,
as the Attorney General did ?-A. Well, I gathered all this information and laid it
before them, and said there is a case, and they said go on.

Q. Then the report goes on to give this question :-" Was Mr. Howell retained by
the government as counsel in said cases, and if so, what fees have been paid him or
promised to him for his services? " The answer was :-" Mr. Iowell was retained by
the government of Manitoba in said cases with the sanction of the Dominion Govern-
ment. He has not been paid any fees in connection with said cases by the government
of Manitoba, noc has he been promised any fees." Would you agree with that t-A. I
should thiink so.

A. 1898



Public Accounts Committee.

Q. Now, as a matter of fact, did you not know that the Conservative Government
was in power at Ottawa on the 26th of June 2-A. Well, I did not think anything
about that.

Q. You remember election day, June 23rd ?-A. I think it was.
Q. You also remember that the new government did not take office until July

13th ?-A. I do not remember the date.
Q. Assuming that, would you still say that the answer I have read, that Mr.

Howell was retained with the sanction of the Dominion Government, is correct ?-A.
You see at first I was retained not to prosecute, but I sinply gathered the evidence
and I think it was in the latter part of December they said "cause informations to be
laid and go on and prosecute."

Q. Who said that ?-A. Attorney General Cameron.
Q. Then you got your instructions from the Attorney General of Manitoba '-A.

He told me that and even if the Dominion Governinent instructed me I woulk not
proceed without instructions from the Attorney General of Manitoba.

Q. He gave you instructions in December ?-A. December, I think.
Q. I will refresh your recollection from your account. Here is an entrv :-

"iDecember 14th." Attending the Attorney General and Mr. Sifton, getting instruc-
tions to proceed-that is the date you got vour instructions to prosecute ?-A Yes,
they inust have been together.

Q. Up to that time you were getting informations for prosecutions ?-A. Yes, I
would not lay an information until they told me to do so. There vas soie delay, I
think, on account of the change in the department.

Q. Another question in this report of the proceedings of the Manitoba legi-lature
was, " What other counsel, if any, have been retained by the governient in connection
with these prosecutions, and what fees have been paid or promised them respectively ?"
and the answer was, -Messrs. Perdue, Wade, Bradshaw, Clark and Metcalfe were
retained to act with Mr. Howell. No counsel has been paid or pronised any fees in
connection therewith by the government of Manitoba, except as hereinafter mentioned
in the case of Queen vs. Anderson tried at Winnipeg." That is the answer '-A. Yes.

Q. What distinction as to instructions and authority and payment is there between
the cases you have been referring to and the case of the Queen vs. Anderson r-A. Well,
we got that case ready for trial and we ran out of lawyers and I got the Attorney Gen-
eral's Department to take that up thenselves and amn pretty sure the deputy took that.

Q. How did you run out of lawyers ?--A. Well, our constituency is so vast.
Q. You had not enough to go around ?-A. We had not enough to go around.
Q. Of your lot ?-A. Well, I suppose.
Q. Who is the Deputy Attorney General ?-A. In Ontario each county has its

county attorney, but with us the Deputy Attorney General administers justice all over
the province. We have no county attorneys and it is all done f rom the Attorney Gen
eral's Department, and I said to them, you will have to provide somleone for this Winni-
peg case as I cannot take it up.

Q. And that was managed by them 2-A. Yes.
Q. And were they paid ?-A. Of course 1 obtained the information that Anderson

iad schooled these deputies.
Q. Tnere is no other case that occurs to you ?-A. Was Matlher's name not men

tioned ?
Q. No.--A. Mather rendered me a bill in connection with the Winnipeg case after

I had finished up and I feared to add to the burden, and I think it was a long time
before he was paid.

Q. Mr. Cameron was not paid anything ?-A. No.
Q. Though he acted in one ?-A. No, his deputy acted as in an ordinary criminal

trial.
Q. Then this report goes on to give the following question "Against whoi were

informations laid in connection with the above offences ? " and the answer given was as
follows :-" Prosecutions were instituted against the following persons : Russell Herri-
man, Charles Brooks, Moses Finklestein, James Waller, Thomas Anderson, William
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Clark, Henry Waller, Fred. W. Brown, George Saunders, William Renwick, W. J.
Hamilton, Moses McFadden, William Mawhinney, Malcolm Orr, James McDole, Robert
Roberts, Abram Dennison, W. J. Parker, N. Scammeli." That is probably a correct
statement ?-A. Are there two Andersons there?

Q. Only one, I think.-A. There were two Andersons. I can correct it that far.
Q. Except that, the statement is correct ?-A. I think so.
Q. The report goes on with the following question: " In what cases, if any, did

the magistrates dismiss the charges?" and the answer was : "Queen vs. Herriman,
Queen vs. Fred. W. Brown, Queen vs. Robert Roberts, Queen vs. Moses McFadden,
Queen vs. Abram Dennison, Queen vs. W. J. Parker, Queen vs. James Waller. In the
case of Queen vs. Scammell the accused confessed his guilt." Is that correct, according
to your memory ?-A. Yes, with this variation, that in several of these cases I called
them off. I thought it would cost too much and told them to abandon them.

Q. Then the report goes on with the following question: " In what cases, if any, did
the Crown proceed against those committed at the assizes ?" and the answer given was:
" Cases were selected as representative of what had been done in Macdonald, viz., Queen
vs. Saunders, Queen vs. William Clark, Queen vs. Henry Waller, Queen vs. William
Mawhinney, and Queen vs. Thomas Anderson." Is that correct ?-A. I think so.

Q. "In what cases, if any, did the grand jury bring in true bills ?-A. Queen vs.
Saunders, Queen vs. Clarke, Queen vs. Mawhinny, and Queen vs. Thomas Anderson."

That is one, two, three, four. Is that about correct ?-A. There is only one
Anderson there, is there not ? But there are two Andersons.

By Mr. 31ulock :

Q. One is a Winnipeg case and may be answered later on ?-A. Oh yes, perhaps it
is there.

By Sir Charles Hzbbert JTupper.:

Q. The next question is, " In what cases, if any, did the Crown procure a conviction ?"
That was answered, " the case of George W. Saunders; in one of the other cases the
jury acquitted the accused and in the remaining two they disagreed. In one of these
cases they disagreed twice." Is that about right.-A. Yes, except of course the Ander-
son one in addition.

Q. Now can you tell me what system you adopted in connection with laying these
informations and bringing these people before a magistrate. Did you take them before
magistrates in the district where the accused resided q-A. Well, I think the plan I took
was this. There were so many prosecutions that I could not take them all at once and
I think I rather took the magistrate to the men than the men to the magistrate. I got
the best magistrates in the district. Police magistrates in every case. They were
Cameron and Dawson

Q. So far as my question goes you need not name them, but at any rate that was
an unusual course, was it not ?-A. I do not suppose it would be an unusual course if
there was an unusual amount of crime, all of the same nature.

Q. It involved a great deal of expense, did it not ?-A. No, it materially saved
expense. I put one lawyer with each magistrate.

Q. How far did the magistrates travel ?-A. I had one go down the Manitoba and
South-western line.

Q. How far did he go ?-A. He went to Glenborough, say about 120 miles.
Q. Were there magistrates in the district to which he went ?-A. I should think

there would be.
Q. Who usually deal with these cases ?-A. I think not. Our magistrates
Q. Is it, then, usual to travel 120 miles to lay a criminal information ?-A. He

took other cases on the road.
Q. But is it usual?-A. It would be unusual, but he took other cases.
Q. At any rate you took magistrates ?-A. Yes.

Q. And they were unquestionably good magistrates ?-A. Yes.
38
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By MVr. Foster :

Q. I would like to have that sentence finished. I would like to have the witness'
opinion of the magistrates ?-A. I have no objection. They are as good as any new
country can get.

By Sir Charle.-s Hibbert Tupper

Q. Who appointed these magistrates -- A. I suppose they were appointed by the
Government.

By Vr. Sijton:

Q. I think I appointed then -A. Were not there any old Nor(uay men there?

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. I see they say the Government of Manitoba paid nothing for witness fees in the
above mentioned cases, except in the Saunders case where $90.40 was paid for witness
fee. Why did they pay in the Saunders case ?-A. I did not pay all that. I paid an
enormous sum, but I did not pay one half of the witnesses nor one-quarter of then.

Q. Why did they pay them ?-A. They threatened to sue me or somebody else and
they paid the amount in order to settle the squabble.

Q. Then this answer would be correct? " Q. What monies have been paid in con-
nection with these prosecutions for witness fees to date ?-A. The Government of
Manitoba paid nothing for witness fees in the above-mentioned cases except in the
Saunders case."-A. Yes.

Q. And this is correct: "Q. What monies have been paid for counsel fees to date?
-A. The Government of Manitoba paid nothing for counsel fees in the above cases."-
A. They did not pay me; I do not think they paid me.

Q. And this question : "Q. What is the total amount which these prosecutions
have cost to date ?-A. The total ainount which the above prosecutions have cost the
Government to date is the sum of $270 and a proportionate part of the juror's fees in
such cases as were tried at Portage la Prairie. Further information on the subject must
be obtained from the department at Ottawa." Now, you had no information whatever
that the Department of Justice here was the prosecutor ?-A. No.

Q. No instructions and no direct evidence ?-A. Well, I understood it. Once I
met the Minister of Justice here and discussed the matter with him.

Q. When was that ?-A. Just let me look at the account and I think I may be
able to tell. It would be between the convictions before the magistrates and the sit-
tings of the assizes at Portage la Prairie. I discussed the whole thing with the Minister
of Justice.

Q. About what date ; about what month say? -A. I would say in February.
Q. February, 1897 ?-A. I think I met you here.
Q. When you were arguing in the Supreme Court ?--A. Yes.
Q. That was Sir Oliver Mowat whom you met ?-A. Yes.
Q. Whats was the necessity to consult hin then ?--A. The appalling expenses that

I saw before me. I saw before me great expenses and hesitated to go on with it because
bringing witnesses in our province such vast distances costs so much money that I
hesitated.

Q. You saw Sir Oliver Mowat ?-A. I saw Sir Oliver Mowat, Mr. Sifton and
several ministers here and pointed out to theni the large expenditure already incurred,
and the question was whether we had better drop it.

Q. That is the consultation you referred to ?-A. Yes.
Q. You happened to meet them where ?-A. I met them by appointnent in some

office, Mr. Sifton's office, I think.

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. You met Sir Oliver Mowat, Mr. Blair and myself ?-A. Yes, Mr. Laurier w'as
there too, and Mr. Fielding.
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Q. I remember Sir Oliver Mowat, Mr. Fielding and myself. Sir Wilfrid Laurier
was there, was he ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You told these members of the Government that the expenses were going to be
enormous ?-A. Yes.

Q. And they had already had to pay very largely ?-A. Yes.
Q. And your suggestion, your advice to them was to drop the matter ?-A. No,

that was not my advice.
Q. What was it ?-A. I told them a great wrong had been committed, that a con-

stituency had been stolen, but I hesitated before the appalling expense.
Q. Was anything said as to who should bear that expense ultimately; the Mani-

toba Government or the Dominion Government ?-A. I am sure it was said in my pre-
sence that the Dominion G-overnment would stand it.

Q. So in February, 1897, it is clear that the Dcminion Government had assumed
the expense ?-A. I have no doubt about it.

Q. You are aware that anterior to that the Dominion Governmnent had supplied
some funds to meet these expenses ?-A. I think the Dominion Government had prior
to that. We had paid large sums of money out of our own pockets before we got any
back and I got $3,000 some time.

Q. There is no entry of that conference at Ottawa.-A. I dare say I did not
charge lots of things or make entries of them.

Q. You were here at the Supreme Court perhaps that w as your reason ?-A. It
may be that.

Q. You did not regard that as a charge ?-A. It may be that.
Q. Attending the Supreme Court for a private client ?-A. Yes.
Q. Sir Oliver Mowat was there on that occasion ?-A. Before the interview at

Ottawa I had received from MIr. Sifton 83,000, lie told me, from the Dominion
Government.

Q. How did he cone to tell you that it was from the Dominion Government. Did
you show any curiosity?--A. He said: " I have just got this fron Ottawa,' or ' from
the Dominion Government, and be careful and keep down expenses, or something of
that kind.

Q. Would you be able to say when that was 3-A. I can give you the exact date
if I can find the copy of my account.

Q. Perhaps this will assist you. Here is a telegram to the Auditor General

"'RAT PORTAG.E, 10th December, 1897.
"The Auditor General of Canada,

Ottawa.

"The tirm of Archibald & Howell received from the Hon. Clifford Sifton the sumn
of $3,000 on account of ballot box prosecutions last autuin.

"S. M. HOWELL.'
(Exhibit " Q.")

A. Yes, but that does not give you the date.
Q. It is December, 1897.-A. Yes, that is long afterwards. When the assizes

were sitting at Rat Portage I received a telegram from the Auditor General and I sent
this in replv to it. I got that money on the 23rd October, 1896-just so much then.

Q. This telegram is dated 1896 ?-A. No, it is 1897, a year afterwards. You see
the Auditor General wanted a voucher for the S3,000.

Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER to the Hon. Mr. SIFTON: Q. Was the 83,000
referred to in the telegram of the 10th of December, 1897, from Mr. Howell to the
Auditor General paid out of the S6,964.41 placed to your credit by the Government.

Mr. SIFTON-A. No, it was not. This S3,000 was sent to me while I was Attorney
General of the Province of Manitoba. It came from the Minister of Justice.
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Immediately upon receipt of it I sent for Mr. Howell, handed the money over to him,
told him it was a fund received from the Minister of Justice for the purpose of being
used in connection with the ballot prosecutions. I got a receipt from Mr. Howell, or
Mr. Howell's clerk, or bookkeeper, I am not sure which. I apparently forgot or
neglected to forward that receipt to the Department of Justice, and a considerable time
after I became a member of the Dominion Government the Auditor General called one
day, I think it was at my office, or saw me on the street, at any rate he saw me, and
said that this 83,000 had been charged against me and that there was no receipt or
voucher put in for it. I had supposed that I had sent the voucher forward. I said I
would possibly have some difficulty if I had not sent it and tlat the simplest way
would be to write or telegraph to Mr. Howell who knew about it and he would certify that
he had received the money. I subsequently saw the Auditor General. My recollection
is that he said that he had received the voucher or the certificate or w-hatever was
necessary.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. What was the total amount of the accounts that you rendered ? Cai you tell
me that

Mr. HOW- ELL-A. I think so. Do you want them in detail I can give them in
detail.

Q. No, the lump sum, showing what you rendered and whbat you were paid.-A.
Me, personally ?

Q. Yes, first. It is Archibald & Howell here.-A. Yes, I did niost of it. IMy
firm's rendering was 815,428.08.

Q. That is disbursements and counsel fees 'i-A. Yes.
Q. 85,000 for counsel fees ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the balance disbursements ?-A. Yes.
Q. How much of that was paid ?-A. Tlie whole of it.
Q. And when was the last of it paid; by whbat time was it all paid ?-A. 27tlh

Marci, 1897.
Q. And the accounts, it appears, were taxed on the 27th December, 18ý97, and you

were paid your full account in March that year ?-A. Yes
Q. So all this deduction did not affect you ?-A. I did not know of it until a few

days ago.
Q. You kiiew your bills were complained of ?-A. I did not know that till long

after it was paid, and I did not know there w-as any complaint then ; there was some
question about then, but they should not be complained of.

Q. Now, how much did you pay Freeborn out of all this noney ?-A. That was
entered in a general account among witnesses' fees.

Q. A " liberal allowance" you call it here ?- A. Well we had to give lim a pretty
liberal allowance.

Q. Why had you to give him a pretty liberal allowance ?-A. Well, lie was doing
nothing and he lad to live, and it was an everlasting fight between Freeborn and I as
to how muchli he could get fromu me and how little I could get him to take. le w-ould
go away and run up bills and then draw- on me, and I had to meet his drafts.

By 11r. Foster .

Q. Who came off best ?-A. I think he did.

By Sir Charles Hib1bert Tupper:

Q. What was lie doing for a living ?-A. I think lie was making a living out of
elections. He had been in the local elections previously and told me how lie made
mxonev out of that, and lie made some money out of Mr. Boyd.

Q. How much did lie get out of you ?-A. These are my bookkeeper's figures: In
the year 1896 lie got -185 from my firm ; I arn swearing to this by my firm's books,
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most of the payments were paid by my firm. He got $185 from Archibald & Howell
in 1896, and he got $269.35 from me personally in 1897 ; in 1897 I took the paying of
him because I thought he was bulldosing my bookkeeper.

Q. He did better with you ?-A. No, I paid him for a longer timne. And then
there is another sum of $350 that was paid him. Now, that is as near as I can tell, I
think it is absolutely all he got, 8804.35.

Q. Between what dates ?-A. That would be the first time I saw him, probably
some time in June.

Q. Say between the lst July, 1896, and when?-A. He caine to me after the
assizes with a bill for $54.35 which he showed he paid out for livery hire and other
things.

Q. What was the date of the assizes ?-A. Some time in March, 1897.
Q. Was he from December till March in the custody of the constable ?-A. Not all

that time. Some of that would be expenses.
Q. Was not that paid between December and March ?-A. No, considerable of it

was paid before that.
Q. You have not a copy of the dates ?-A. No, that is what my bookkeeper gave

but I have the receipts (produced).
Q. Are these the originals ?-A. That is the bookkeeper's writing, but I swear

that it is Freeborn's signature.
Q. This one is dated 26th December, 1896 ?-A. That is not the first one.
Q. You might just read those out so that they will go down in the evidence ?-A.

This is the receipt from Freeborn: " Received $30 on account, 26, 12, '96." The next
one is: " Raceived $25 on account, 8, 1, '97." The next is of the 15th of February,
1897, "IReceived $15 on account."-" Received $20 on account, Feb. 23, 1897."-
"Received 815 on account, 30, 1, '97."-" Received 815 on account, March 26, 1897."
-" Received 830 on account, March 1, 1897."-" Received $20 on account, March 19,
1897."-" Received $20 on account, March 10, 1897." April 13, 1897. The sum of
$54.35 in full of balance due for witness fees in ballot box cases. J. A. Freeborn."
The receipts before that are all here, I think.

Q. Why did you not send these forward ?-A. You will have to ask my book-
keeper. I was surprised to find they were not sent forward.

Q. In your letter of the 27th March, 1897 (Exhibit "A") you say, " the witness
fees I cannot give vouchers for "?-A. Those were paid in Portage la Prairie by me and
a lot of other witness fees. The only man I took receipts from was Freeborn, because
I did not want to have any trouble with him, and I said there were no other vouchers
with reference to others.

Q. But your books will show all amounts paid to Freeborn and the others ?-A.
Yes.

Q. These receipts do not make up the full payments to Freeborn ?-A. The rest of
them are on file here. You see these are only vouchers for what I paid personally.

Q. I do not think there are any vouchers of Freeborn's on file 2-A. I can give
you the information, I arn sure of that. Here they are. I could give you the details
since the first of January exactly.

Q. Give us the particulars ?-A. Of the Freeborn ones?
Q. There are none here ?-A. When I went to Portage la Prairie, I took a sum of

money with me and one of those pocket receipt books. I was short-handed and any
man I was afraid of I took a receipt from him, and I have here a return I made to my
office which I think is correct. The Freeborn ones are :-lst January; 830 ; Sth Janu-
ary, 825 ; 15th January, S15 ; 23rd January, $20; 30th January, 815; 6th February,
$25 ; 26th February, 815 ; 1st March, 830 ; 10th March, 820; 19th March, 820. and
then that final payment in full. Then there are certain railway tickets. I may have
got them for him because I would not give him any money to pay his way because he
would spend it and I would have to buv his tickets for him.

Q. Was he drinking 2-A. Yes. I had to be careful of him, so that there is a
charge for railway tickets, S32.50, which may be for him. 1 could not say. The date
is lst February, C. P. R. tickets, $32.50. The year in all these cases is 1897.
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By Mr. Wood:

Q. What is the date of that final payment ?-A. 13th April.
Q. That was the last payment ?-A. Yes. He came in afterwards and tried to

show me that I had made a inistake, but I would not pay him any more.

By Sir Ch arles Hibbert Tupper

Q. How ?-A. He said he had hired a livery team which he had forgotten in his
accounts, but I would not pay him.

Q. Have you any other vouchers for witness fees ?-A. Yes.
Q. What you have read off are not vouchers but are simply taken from the books ?-

A. I have receipts for them.
Q. Will you give us the items paid to other witnesses ?-A. G. H. Walker, $25.

i may explain that he was the prothonotary of the court and to him the ballots and
election papers were sent by the Clerk of the Crown in Chancery, and it was necessary
that he should go round to the courts with these original documents to produce them
before the magistrates. He was paid as follows

January 11.,................ ..... ............. .$25 00
19....... ............................... . 15 00
29...................................... 10 00
29....... ............................... . 5 00

February 2....................................... 10 00
"4 17..................................... 12 00

Q. What were these paid for ?-A. He had to go to the magistrates' trials to pro-
duce the original papers.

Q. But these are not witness fees ?-A. Yes. I paid his expenses to get around.
Q. But this is a prothonotary, not a witness ?-A. Yes. The Prothonotary of the

Court of Queen's Bench was made the custodian of these papers by your Clerk of the
Crown in Chancery and he would not let them out of his custody, and that is all his
witness fees at the magistrates' trials. That is in addition to his witness fees at the
assizes that I have not a voucher for. I kept a memorandum of everything I paid in
my pocket-book as I paid it. I kept the names and checked them over.

Q. Were these entries in ?-A. I have not got them. I simply returned them to
my office. There was a man named IMcDonald in Portage la Prairie who purchased
railway tickets. I gave him $500 at a time and checked his paymnents.

Q. There is an amount to some one. Didn't you keep account of the bills as they
came in ?-A. I rendered them to my bookkeeper.

Q. The details ?--A. Only the gross sum. I checked all McDonald's figures each
day.

Q. So that all the books show will be the bulk sum entered by the clerk ?-A.
There is no memo. now made out. The amount was S3,533.20.

Q. And there is no memo. outside of that to show how it is made up ?-A. There is
no memo. outside of that. You have to take my word for them. I checked over the
payments of McDonald and others who made the payments and I checked them over
to see that they were right. No doubt the sheriff's office paid some of them. We paid
over $1,200 witness fees in one suit. We had to bring the witnesses, about 100 witnesses,
from Treherne to Winnipeg and froin there to Portage la Prairie for two sittings, and
when they appeared before the grand jury and before the petty jury in two cases.

Q. Can you give the dates of the Freeborn payments ?-A. I think I can give
them. My firm paid Freeborn on the 12th September, 1896, $160 and sonebody must
have told me to pay it, because no payments were made without my direction by my
bookkeeper.

Q. Who was the person ?-I think it must have been Mr. Sifton. Prior to that
there was a payment made to him that Mr. Sifton will give you the particulars of.
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By _&r. Sgtfon :

Q. There was no payment made by you prior to that ?-A. No.

By Sir Chiarles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. But he was being paid by someone ?-A. Yes. There is the entry of the 24th
October.

Q. Were anv made previously ?-A. I cannot tell how long previously but I know
payments were made.

Q. What is the amount of that payment of the 24th of Octoberý -A. e350.

The committee adjourned.

HOUSE OF COMMONS,
FRIDAY, 27th May, 1898.

The Committee met,-Mr. MeMullen, Chairman, presiding.

MU. HOWELL, recalled, vas further examined by Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper, as
follows:-

Q. When we stopped yesterday you said you thought you could give the dates of
the Freeborn payments. Would you continue ?-A. According to my notes, which I
think are absolutely correct

Q. Taken from your book ?-A. Fromn our ledger. I have no doubt it is accurate.
On the 12th of September, 1896, there is a payment of 160, and on 24th October, 8350.

Q. That is ail ?-A. That is all. I have a detailed statement of all his payments
made up. Yesterday I gave you a detailed statement which my bookkeeper made up
of the total amounts paid in 1896 and 1897.

Q. Yes, and I put the question: can you give dates ?-A. I think these payments
of 8160 on 12th September, and of 8350 on 24th October, were all in 1896.

Q. Then the only other dates you know of are those you gave in connection with
the vouchers produced ?-A. I think after lst January I paid every payment myself,
and I can speak for those. The last receipt is in my own handwriting.

Q. Did you bring with you copies of letters written by you to Mr. Sifton, for
instance, in connection with this matter ?-A. I do not think I did.

Q. Did you bring with you letters from Mr. Sifton to vou in connection with this
matter ?--A. No, I do not think there are any, unless a formal letter acknowledging
receipt or something of that kind.

Q. I call your attention to a letter which indicates that there was correspondence,
not during the progress of the thing, but in connection with the bills ; for instance,
there is a letter of yours on file written in May, 1897, to Mr. Sifton, and you 1efer in
that to his letter of 12th May (exhibit "F" handed to witness)?--A. Oh, yes, that
letter was -

Q. T did not ask you what it was. Have you a copy ?-A. No.
Q. Have you Mr. Sifton's letter of 12th May referred to in your letter of the 18th

of May ?-A. No.
Q. You mean you have not it here ?-A. No.
Q. Have you it under vour control?-A. It would be either among tie papers I

carried to my own office or in the firm's office. I can tell you the contents of that
because I remember it distinctly.

Q. You understood you were to bring all correspondence touching these accounts ?
-A. The telegram said all books, papers and accounts.

Q. Relating to these prosecutions ?-A. Yes.
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Q. And you did not hunt for the letters you had ?-A. No, I did not think that
could possibly arise.

Q. What did you bring ?-A. Copies of every entry respectingthe money inatters
and I assumed that that was all you wanted and that was everything I could think of.

Q. But no letters ?-A. I do not think I brought any letters.
Q. You renember then you had sone correspondence with M r. Sifton ? You

remember that now having looked at that letter 2-A. I know that Mr. Sifton se(nt le(
a letter from Sir Oliver Mowat.

Q. Have vou that letter ?-A. No.
Q. Is it in your control ?-A. I can get it, I have no doubt.
Q. But you have not brought it with you ?-A. No, I have not. It is simply a

letter inclosing one from Sir Oliver Mowat. I am quite sure of that, sir.
Q. On this question of correspondence I suppose that letter of May the 22n fron

Mr. Sifton to Sir Oliver Mowat (exhibit "T") refers to that letter of May 18th?-A.
I suppose so, yes.

Q. You know -f no other letter it would likely refer to "-A. I know of no other,
Q. Now, would you look at this letter signed by Mr. Sifton (exhibit "U)?A

That letter reads

(Personal.) OTTAWA. th May, 1897.
The Hon, Sir Oliver Mowat.

Minister of Justice.
Ottawa.

DEAR S1R OLIVER,-I inclose you herewith letter from Messrs. Archibald & Howell
of Winnipeg, covering tUhe detailed bill of costs of Messrs. Richards & B3radshaw for
their fees in connection with the ballot box prosecutions.

Yours faithfully,

CLIFFORD SIFTON.

Q. What is the date of that ?-A. 8th May.
Q. What does this second letter refer to'? I thought at first it referred to exhibit

"A" of the 22nd March.-A. This is evidently a bill of costs of Richards & Bradshaw.
Q. Would you read it ?-A. The letter reads:-

WINNIPEG, MAN., 4th May, 1897.
The Hon. Clifford Sifton,

Minister of Interior,
Ottawa, Ont.

DEAR SIR,-We inclose you herewith detailed bill of the costs of Richards &
Bradshaw for their fees in the ballot box cases, The bill as rendered amounted to
81,054.22. We have taxed off the sum of $25, leaving the surn of '1,029.22. For this
sum they have drawn upon you. With the bill we inclose vouchers for their disburse-
ments which amount to the sum of $549.22.

Yours truly,
ARCHIBALD & HOWELL.

That would probably be written by my bookkeeper.
Q. I now find on the file the letter evidently to which that refers 9-A. I do not

suppose I ever saw this before.
Q. Whose signature is that ?-A. Mr. Shanks', my bookkeeper.
Q. The same gentleman who made the entries you spoke of yesterday in the ledger ?

-- A. Yes, 1 may say that I examined Richards & Bradshaw's bill before it was sent.
I examined, myself, each one, and so made it certain that they were correct and just.
No doubt the bookkeeper sent them down.

Q. Exhibit " B " is a report of the cases tried at the assizes ?-A. Yes ; that is one
drawn up by myself.
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Q. Did you prepare that ?-A. Yes, I prepared that. There are some other cor-
rections on it in my own handwriting.

Q. Now, wili you kindly state which trials you were present at ?-A. I was present
of course at all the assize trials.

Q. Will you kindlv state them ? I will give you the list. You can tell probably
from your report. It does not state here specifically ?-A. I was present personally at
the trial of all the cases at the assizes, and I conducted all those before the grand jury
that I could conduct.

Q. That is what I want to get more definitely, if I can. You were present at all
the trials before the assizes?-A. Yes ; before the grand jury also. The grand jury
room immediately adjoins the assizes room, and I frequently left the assizes court and
would run into the grand jury. Sometimes I appeared before the grand jury all the
time.

Q. Can you state which cases you personally conducted before the grand jury ?-A. I
conducted the first one I know, because there was no other to go on with ; and the
Saunders case, 1 conducted that.

Q. The Queen and Saunders ?-A. Yes. Then the Queen and Clarke, I was pre-
sent during the most of that, but I will not say that I was present for the whole of it.
The Queen and Henry Waller, I was there before the grand jury and explained some
principles of law. I was called in for that purpose. The grand jury would not take
the law of my junior. The grand jury were a little bit troublesome. Mr. Boyd's
brother was on the grand jury.

Q. Will you answer as to which cases you attended the grand jury ?-A. The case
of Henry Waller. I explained the questions of law, those questions that troubled
lawyers as well as jurors. The chief question was whether a voter should be permitted
to say how he voted, and second, whether he could be compelled against his will to say
how ie voted. Then came the question of how a man voted. That is his ballot.

Q. Unless some other member of the committee wants you to amplify your answer,
Mr. Howell, the answer to my question would be short, simply the cases before the
grand jury ?-A. Yes.

Q. I mean where you would be familiar with the matter. The cases before the
grand jury where you took charge ?-A. I was before the grand jury in every case.

Q. That is part of the time ?-A. Part of the time, yes.
Q. You began telling us the cases that you conducted ?-A. The Queen and Saun-

ders entirely. The Queen and Clarke chiefly. The Queen and Waller, I was there a
portion of the time, I would not say how much. The Queen and Mawhinny, I am
pretty sure I was there pretty well through it all.

Q. The next one ?-A. I do not think I had much to do with the others except
looking in and out.

Q. How many cases did you conduct before the magistrates ?-A. I do not think I
conducted wholly and completely any one, but I was present I think at stages of every
one.

Q. For any time or just putting in an appearance ?-A. Sometimes for a day, for
instance if there was a tangle they would telegraph for me. I was going all the time,
either driving or by train, and I took with me Mr. Walker who carried the election
papers. He had to give evidence in every case.

Q. But you conducted none of them all through ?-A. I do not think J did wholly.
Q. That is all I have to ask you.-A. In justice I think I should make an explana-

tion if you will allow me. We have charged for the payment of two dollars, which is a
small sum, but still it had better be made straight. That was paid by remitting a money
order and that money order since then bas been returned to us and I have the money
order here. We do not own it but it belongs to someone.

Q. Who owns it ?-A. I think the man who paid the bill ought to own it. You
can settle for yourselves who that is. Another thing; I find I have a voucher here. I
said I had no voucher but I did not remember the voucher that was obtained afterwards
for monies that I paid the railway company for tickets. I wanted to bring all the
witnesses from some point and I became personally responsible for the price of the
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tickets. I paid it and then subsequently got a receipt. I did not know that the book-
keeper had this voucher. It is for 8464.

Q. You have referred to Mr. Boyd. He was the member for what constituency
after the last general election in Manitoba ?-A. For Macdonald.

Q. There was a petition filed against him --A. Yes.
Q. You conducted the petition proceedings ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you remember the manner in which that petition came to the end in the

court ?--A. Yes.
Q. What statement did you make in court ?-A. Really I do not recollect.
Q. Do you recollect ?-A. If you will tell me on what line.
Q. What was done with the petition ?-A. The prayer of the petition was granted.
Q. But did not the prayer of the petition ask for his disqualification ?-A. Yes.
Q. What that granted ?-A. No.
Q. What was said by you in reference to Mr. Boyd's personal conduct in that

election, as counsel for the petitioner ?-A. I never took note.
Q. How was the matter settled in court. Was it tried out ?-A. Mr. Tupper, I

think said that they admitted bribery by agents.
Q. Without the knowledge of Mr. Boyd ?-A. Of Mr. Boyd ; as that was suficient

to get the seat I accepted it.
Q. But what was your statement made in court in regard to IIr. Boyd's personal

conduct in that election ?-A. I do not think I made any. Certainly I did not say
that I thought he was guiltless. You can depend upon that because I could not do so.
I probably said that I accepted that.

Q. What was done with the petition ?-A. It was granted.
Q. What about costs ?-A. There were no costs. Now that vou remind me I think

Mr. Tupper and I had agreed that in all three cases Marquette, Winnipeg and Mac-
donald, the petitions should be discharged without costs.

Q. So it was voided without costs and the personal charges withdrawn ?-A. Well
I did not withdraw them.

Q. They were not upheld ; there was no evidence given ?-A. No, I did not give
anv evidence. The court requires some evidence and they furnished me with that evidence.
They produced witnesses for me.

Q. You mentioned yesterday the name of a gentleman who is not here and as it is
so near the end of the session perhaps there is no time to get him here now--Mr.Robert
Birmingham. What is your personal knowledge of Mr. Birmingham's connection with
Freeborn ?-A. I do not know the man.

Q. You introduced his name yesterday ?-A. Someone asked me 1 had a telegram
from Birmingham addressed to Boyd.

Q. You would not undertake, after what you know of Freeborn, to swear that that
was a genuine telegram written by Birmingham to Freeborn ?-A. Well, I think

Q. Would you swear from what you know ?-A. I think I took the trouble to find
out that it was so.

Q. Would you undertake to say on your oath that it was a genuine telegram ?-A.
I think so.

Q. Will you undertake to swear that it was ?-A. I would not swear from any
man's word, but I will say that Freeborn, from the beginning to the end of these
prosecutions, never once lied to me.

Q. Did the jury believe him ?-A. The Conservative jurymen did not believe him.
Q. As a matter of fact you could not get a jury in Manitoba to believe him ?-A.

Oh, yes, one jury believed him because they convicted.

By fr. Foster :

Q. Was the majority of that jury Grit ?-A. No, I think it was about evenly
divided, but they had not got pulling the lines at that stage.



61 Victoria. Appendix (No. 2E.) A. 1898

By Mr. Hughes :

Q. My recollection is that it was distinctly denied at the time. What was the date
of the telegram 1-A. If I had the election papers here I could tell you. Speaking
from memory-the elections were on the 23rd June-it was dated the day before Mr.
Boyd employed Freeborn.

Q. And what was the date on which you saw it ?-A. I must have seen it in July,
I think. I think that Boyd employed Freeborn on the 23rd May, just one month
before the elections.

By Sir Chiarles Hibbert Tupper

Q. Do y ou say that Boyd employed Freeborn ?-A. I only say what Freeborn told
me. I should make this correction that Freeborn told me that Boyd employed hii on
the 23rd May.

By Mr. Julock :

Q. For what purpose ?-A. In the election. A day before that le received this
telegram. What Freeborn said was this-I am telling now what Freeborn said. He
went to Boyd for employment. Boyd said "I do not know you;" Freeborn said: "Bob
Birmingham knows me." Then the next day he said : "Boyd came to me with this
telegram and he produced the telegram and he handed me that telegrani and le said.
'you will do.'

By Mr. Lister:

Q. What was the telegram ?-A. "He was a good man in North Bruce."

By M1r. Si fton :

Q. "A first-class man ? "-A. Or "a first-class man "; I have the language here
somewhere. It was lithographed in some of the local papers.

By 3fr. Hughes:

Q. The impression I got from the evidence was that Freeborn had a telegram from
Mr. Birmingham .- A. No ; I was wrong if I said that. Boyd was going from Carberry
to Neepawa; Freeborn intercepted him on the way and applied for employment. Boyd
said : " Meet me at Carberry next night." In the meantime Boyd had gone to Neepawa
and the telegram had apparently reached him there. Freeborn met Boyd at Carberry
and Boyd handed him this telegram and said " you will do."

By Sir Charles Hibbert 1T'upper:

Q. That is what he told you ?-A. Yes.

By 3r. Clancy :

Q. Heve you any evidence except what he told you ?-A. None except what he
told me.

B3y 3fr. Sutherland:

Q. Was it given in evidence that this man was an expert at changing ballots before
putting thein in the boxes ?-A. Well, my instructions were

By 3fr. Hughes:

Q. From whom ?-A. First from, I think, Mr. Sifton ; he told me generally what
was done and then he brought me in contact with Freeborn, who explained it all to me.
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By Mfr. Sutherland :

Q. Explained what ?-A. That he was an expert and that he and Waller worked
it out between them.

By Hr. Lister:

Q. Worked out what ?-A. This plan of manipulating ballots; that is, when you
would hold the ballots

By Mr. Hughes:

Q. It was currently said that this man Freeborn was a Conservative trained in
Winnipeg by Liberal experts there and sent out as a decoy ?-A. I never heard of such
a thing.

At the request of Mr. Sproule, the following telegram summoniig Mr. Howell was
read by the Clerk of the Committee:-

"OTTAWA, 17th May, 1898.
" H. M. Howell, Q.C.,

" Winnipeg.

Take notice that you are hereby summoned and required to appear at Ottawa
forthwith and give evidence before the Public Accounts Comnittee, House of Commons,
respecting accountb relating to ballot box prosecutions, and to bring with you all letters,
books, papers, documents relating to said prosecutions and accounts in your possession
or under your control."

By Mr. Wood:

Q. Had you any other evidence than that of Freeborn to begin the prosecution of
these cases ?-A. Yes.

Q. A large amount of money was expended. We say a large auount of this should
not have been expended. I deem it right in laying a foundation to this question to say
that you know as a lawyer that if there was only the evidence of an informer to rely on
you would not bring the prosecution at all ?-A. Probably not.

Q. I ask you do you think you had evidence, apart from that, to justify you in
incurring this large expenditure ?-A. Yes, and I would have been justified before a
jury if it had not been for party feeling.

Q. Can you give me the nature of the evidence, apart altogether from Freeborn,
the evidence you had upon which you relied for conviction ?-A. Pardon me if I make
an explanation. I submitted it all to Sir Oliver Mowat, and he thought there would
be convictions, but I questioned it on account of its political nature.

Q. You questioned it yourself ?-A. On account of its political nature the jury
might disagree.

Q. Can you give me an idea of the character of this evidence I-A. Take the
Saunders case. We bad ballots initialled by Saunders. We had the actual ballots.

Q. Take other cases 1-A. We believed we would have the ballots in two other
cases, but we did not get them.

Q. Did you not know that before the indictment was drawn ?-A. No.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Do you mean to say you had evidence other than Freeborn's in other cases ?-
A. I had Scammell, who was one of the deputies instructed how to thimble-rig the
ballots. He made the reeve of North Norfolk vote Tory.

Q. What other evidence had you I-A. J think I had the evidence of the men who
gave him the ballots.

Q. You heard this evidence: Saunders went into the box and swore that he was
lever instructed by either Freeborn or Waller, and that he initialled those ballots to
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enable Freeborn to get money from Boyd. That is your own report ?-A. I did not
know that until after the trial at the assizes.

Q. Don't you think that evidence helped to conviet himn ?-A. I do not think it
did. There was incontrovertible evidence that that was untrue, because there was one
btllot too many in the box.

Q. How many cases did you lay before the magistrate ? -A. I think fifteen.
Q. And you have now given me your strongest evidence, apart from Freeborn ?-

A. I have others.
Q. Name any others that would warrant you in advising the Crown to enter suit

against these people ?-A. I had the evidence of Anderson, a deputy returning officer
at Arizona.

Q. That was in one of the local elections, was it not?--A. No, there were two
Andersons. This is Anderson of Arizona. He swore in the magistrate's trial, I called
him as a witness in another case, and he swore he took money through the riding and
paid it to deputy returning officers.

Q. Is that all you had apart from Freeborn's evidence ?-A. That is some; I had
more than that.

Q. Your first interview was with Mr. Sifton ?-A. Yes.
Q. On that occasion you did not see Freeborn ?-A. No. I had not seen him when

I first saw Mr. Sifton.
Q. But Mr. Sif ton told you lie had seen Freeborn ?-A. I will not say he had seen

him at that time.
Q. You could not remember yesterday when you saw him first ?-A. I cannot say.
Q. You said yesterday it was sometime in June. The elections were on the 23rd

June, so that it must have been between the 23rd June and the 1st July, if in June at
all ?-A. It was iii June. Mr. Sifton gave me the evidence that there had been a
conspiracy in Winnipeg to instruet deputy returning officers to do something crooked
with the ballots. They got that tw, or three days after the election.

Q. You mean that Mr. Sifton said that he heard there was such a conspiracy ?-
A. Yes.

Q. But that is not giving you evidence of it ?-A. Mr. Sifton, or someone for him,
gave me written instructions assumed to be given to one of the returning officers of how
to cheat the voter out of his ballot.

Q. If Mr. Sifton gave you instructions or evidence, you could not have considered
that sufficient, for you at once went on a fishing expedition by employing Pinkerton
detectives, and so on ?-A. Yes.

Q. If you are going to have a protest I suppose it is well to have detectives and
make sure ?-A. Yes. I wanted to find out who it was who gave these instructions.
We had a great deal of trouble in comparing handwriting of persons of whom we were
suspicious.

Q. You said yesterday, that you looked up the Act and found that the Dominion
Act did not cover the case ?-A. Yes.

Q. Did you then come to the conclusion that you would have to look to the
Attorney General of Manitoba and the Manitoba Government for this ?-A. I do not
think I thought who was to pay me.

Q. You said yesterday. if my memory serves me, that notwithstanding that you
thouglit the Dominion Acu was not sufficient to cover the case, you to some extent
relied on the Dominion purse ?-A. I do not think I ever relied on the Dominion purse.

Q. But while this state of doubt and uncertainty existed you drew upon the Minister
of the Interior ?-A. No. I did not draw upon the Minister of the Interior until long
after he had given me money that he said came from the Dominion Government.

Q. What was the date of the first cheque ?-A. The monev was handed to me.
Q. That is the $3,000 ?-A. Yes, on the 23rd October. Would you permit me to

say that on the 23rd October my firm had already advanced in hard cash twenty-two
hundred and sone odd dollars.

Q. Were you paid the discounts for which charges were made on the drafts on
Mr. Sifton ?-A. Well, I cannot tell you how that was. Probably my books if they
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were here would tell me that. I think I drew-yes, I am quite sure 1 drew for the
$5,000, and of course the drafts were discounted.

Q. Have you ever done any work for the Dominion Government before ?-A. I
have not-never. I never got as much as a postage stamp from them before.

Q. Did you ever perform professional services for the Manitoba Governnent ?-A.
Many a time.

Q. Were you ever paid before personally by the Minister of a department who had
happened to employ you or instruct you ?-A. I do not think I was ever so paid by this
Government, but I think that Mr. Norquay used to do so.

Q. Tsed to pay you personally ?-A. Yes. He was provincial treasurer and he used
to give me cheques.

Q. But it would be first approved by Council in the regular way ?-A. No; I think
we were primitive in those davs.

Q. Did it occur to you that this was an extraordinary and unusual proceeding for
you to draw directly on the Minister of the Interior ?-A. He was not Minister when
he gave me the inoney. The course was not extraordinary.

Q. But there are other monies besides that ?--A. That is when I made the drafts.
These drafts were made two at a time, you know. We paid money out of our own
pockets until we got it all closed up, and then I drew two different drafts, one for dis-
bursements and one for our own accounts.

Q. Here is a draft (exhibit M): " March 27. Three months after date pay $541
to the order of myself, Mr. Perdue." What is that ?-A. That is for disbursements;
that was sent to Mr. Sifton.

Q. He was Minister then ?-A. Yes.
Q. Didn't it occur to you that it was a most extraordinary and unusual proceeding

for a counsel employed by the Government, not by a Minister? If you had any claim,
it was against the Government as a whole, and yet you charged the Minister just as if
he was a private individual ?-A. We paid $6,000 or S7,000 out, and I wanted the
money and didn't think the Government would accept my draft.

Q. I have not got that answer f rom you yet. Didn't you know that this was a
very unusual proceeding ? In al) your experience with the Manitoba Government
before, you never had anything of this kind ?-A. No; I never had a cheque from the
Manitoba Government in my life. My bookkeeper got these.

Q. But they passed in the usual way through the regular channels ?-A. I daresay.
Q. Can you tell me when it was that you had the first interview with Freeborn ?-

A. Well, I canno'.. If you ask me to guess, I would say within three weeks of the
time I saw Mr. Sifton.

Q. Who was there ?-A. Mr. Sifton.
Q. Anyone else ?-A. No; I think I saw hiin alone in Mr. Sifton's room.
Q. That is three weeks after you saw Mr. Siftoi ?2-A. I think it was three weeks.
Q. Can you tell me what arrangement was there made with Freeborn as to remune-

ration for his services ?-A. I had no knowledge of that at all.
Q. Was there no word spoken by Freeborn, or by any person there, as to how much

money he was to receive ?-A. No; not a word.
Q. You are aware that he received over 8800 ?-A. I know froin time to time

afterwards, but I did not krow anything about it. During the first year, only two
payments were made, and these were made according to directions given by Mr. Sifton.
After that, I just kept him going, giving him as little as I could to keep him going.

Q. In your examination yesterday, in answer to the question, " who did you regard
as your debtor, the person retaining you, the Attorney General of Manitoba, or Mr.
Sifton ?" vour answer was, " I am inclined to think that I was looking to the purse at
Ottawa, for I remember very early we discussed the question of the Minister of Justice
paying it. If that was not at the first interview, then it was at the second or third.
Before I wrote Pinkerton, it was arranged that the Dominion Government was to foot
the bill."-A. Yes.

Q. I was right a moiient ago. Then you said " I remember very early we discussed
the question of the Minister of Justice paying it. If that was not at the first interview,
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then it was at the second or third. Before I wrote Pinkerton, it was arranged that the
Dominion Government was to foot the bill."-A. I may be wrong as to that, as to its
being before the Pinkerton men were written Io. I would not like to say.

Q. How did you get over that when you found out that the Dominion Election
Act was not wide enough to cover this ?-A. Mr. Sif ton was going to write to the
authorities.

Q. And you relied on him to square it ?-A. J was not worrying about that.
Q. Most lawyers are not so indifferent about their fees ?-A. My experience has

been with Mr. Sifton that when he said "go ahead and do this," we might do it and I
would run the risk.

Q. I suppose they were turning generous in office ?-A. We'advanced $2,200 with-
out inquiring who was going to pay us.

Q. This $800 paid to Freeborn was paid by the Dominion Government ?-A. It
was paid by me and charged. I was reimbursed by the $3,000 and the subsequent
drafts.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. How long have you been practicing in Winnipeg ?-A. About 19 years.
Q. You say you have been practicing in Winnipeg about 19 years ?-A. Yes.
Q. What is the length of your experience as prosecuting counsel ?-A. For about

19 years I have been prosecuting counsel for the Crown in Manitoba, practically ever
since I have been there.

Q. You say you have been prosecuting counsel for about 19 years ?-A. Yes.
Q. During that time there have been a number of changes of government ?-A. Yes.
Q. During that time you have enjoyed the confidence as prosecuting counsel of the

successive governments that have been in power there ?-A. I think so.
Q. While I was the law officer of the Crown there you were constantly connected

in important criminal prosecutions with the Manitoba government ?-A. Yes, in im'
portant cases.

Q. When I consulted you in regard to criminal matters were you in the habit of
asking me who was going to pay you ?- A. No, I never asked that qucstion.

Q. Never asked any question of that kind ?-A. No.
Q. You supposed that when a responsible person sent for you, your fees would be

paid ?-A. Yes, [ was not afraid of that.
Q. You will remember that several conversations took place between yourself and

myself in regard to the prosecutions which are now the subject-matter of this investiga-
tion 7-A. Yes.

Q. Running along from, as you said, a date early after the election for some
months ?-A. Yes.

Q. I understood from listening to your examination that you are not very clear as
to the first date upon which I opened the subject of the ballot box frauds to you ?-A.
No, I am not clear, but I feel certain it was in June, very soon after the elections, and
I am pretty sure it was respecting the Winnipeg election in regard to the interview
that Anderson had with these half dozen deputy returning officers upstairs in the
Leland House. I think that was the first conversation.

Q. Then there were subsequent interviews ?-A. Yes.
Q. You have stated that at one of these interviews I gave you sone lengthy

instructions in regard to what ý ou werc to do ?-A. Yes.
Q. I intimated to vou that I had received information to the effect that there had

been extensive frauds practised in connection with the elections ?-A. Yes.
Q. And instructed you to proceed in the investigation of them ?-A. Yes.
Q. How did that canipare with the action which would be taken in any other

criminal case ?-A. I think it was practically the same. I am usually brought into
criminal cases at a very early stage and evidence is gathered very often subject'entirely
to my direction.

Q. The Attorney General, as well as counsel and others, might have charge of the
prosecution before the case is prepared for trial and before the information is laid. It
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is usual to employ detectives and work up the case, as detectives say ?-A. Yes, quite
so. I think I have done it under your instructions before.

Q. Yes, I think so several times. The crown does not wait as a rule according to
your experience until there is evidence enough to convict a man before a jury before it
starcs to make inquiries ?-A. No that has not been mny experience. When we( get a
suspicion we start and I may say it is perhaps different in MJanitoba froim what it is in
other places certainly different fron this province because there are no county attorneys
in Manitoba as there are liere and the prosecuting counsel in Manitba has to take a
burden that is not taken in Ontario.

Q. Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper seems to think that there was sone discredit to be
cast on the proceedings because it was, as he said, a fishing excursion, that you sent out
detectives. Did the proceedings differ in any respect whatever froi the ordinary
proceedings in any criminal case ?-A. No, I have fisled just the saine in this catse as I
did in the Holland murder case under your dii ection.

Q. Having regard to your experience of 19 years as prosecuting counisel what
would you say in regard to the method in which you received your instructions and the
method in which vou carried them out compared with other crininal cases?-A. I
proceeded exactly as I would in other criminal cases and I would not allow other influ-
ences to interfere with iy action in this case. I was asked to vary this case fiou the
ordinary ones and I refused to do so.

Q. Do you remember, Mr. Iowell. wltat it was that I told you, just sub-tantially,
at the interview where I gave vou the instructions, thte positive instructions, and if vou
will remember I produced to you a number of ballots that had been stolen fromt ballot
boxes and handed them over to you ; briefly tell the connittee what I toil you?-A.
You produced certain ballots, I think nine, ail initialled by deputy returning officers
and all folded and ail marked for Rutherford I think-I am not sure, but they were
not imarked for Boyd ; there may have been some for Braithwaite, the patron candidate
-initialled by deputy returning otficers, the coutterfoil torn off, and ready for the
ballot box.

Q. Do you remuember the general nature of the instructions I gave you at that
time ?-A. I know you told me to hunt it out and if it required a great deal of expense
to find it, to find it and bring the rascals to justice.

By MVr. Foster :

Q. Called him a rascal, eh ?-A. Well I think it was I who called him a rascal.
I think I can remind you, Mr. Sifton, that at the time I made the remark that I did
not believe a man could tear a leaf out of the Bible and I did not believe he would
steal a ballot.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper

Q. Is that your experience in criminal cases ?-A. I believe till tien, I was
innocent enough to believe that the ballot was sacred.

By Mfr. Sifton :

Q. You changed your mind since ?-A. Yes. I believed it was possible to buy a
man's vote but I did not think a man would steal a ballot.

Q. We have had a considerable number of questions asked, Mr. Howell, as to who

you thought you were acting for; did that affect your mind at all ?--A. I knew it

would cone and pay the butcher and the baker, whether it came from the Dominion

Government or not.
Q. You proceeded, after I had had that interview with you, to take the necessary

proceedings ?-A. Yes.
Q. Will you explain to the comnmittee what they were ?-A. Well, I exhausted every

means that I could and incurred a great deal of expense-perhaps toot much, though I
don't think I did. I thouglit it was as vile a thing as half a dozen murders, and I spent
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money accordingly. Having got all the information I could, I laid it before you and, I
think, Mr. Cameron; I think I did not lay the final report till he was Attorney General.

Q. Will you explain now in detail what that information was thus collected, upon
which you subsequently laid the informations and instituted the prosecutions?-A. Well,
to go into it fully would be very extensive ; I have a detailed statement of all the cases
here.

Q. What is this paper ?-A. It is a sort of epitome I have among my papers of what
I gathered during these investigations, and attached to it are some confidential letters
written to me by people who might not want to have their names known. I do not
think it would be fair to thenm that those letters should be made public property.

By Sir Charles Iibbert Tupper:

Q. What is the nature of the particular letter you have under your hand now?-
A. Well, it is a letter-I think a letter, from what I see, ,w hich is a confidential letter-
written by a certain gentleman telling me what took place at one of the polls, which I
have no objection to let you, Sir Charles, see. This document, I see now, is rather a
compilation of my own f rom the material which came to hand froin time to tii-e, and I
used it as a brief from which to make out indictments and, subsequently, to subpæna
witnesses. But I had far more than that. I have no objection to put it in.

By Mr. Sifton ;

Q. iMy question was: What was the information which resulted from the inquiries
that you had made and on which subsequently you decided to take or not to take legal
proceedings, as the case might be; what information did vou collect ?-A. Information
I collected was that a gigantic seheme had been planned to carry that election by the
assistance of deputy returning officers, and in order to get pliable deputy returning
officers amenable to teaching there were changes made as many as two or three times in
the deputies. li two or three cases deputy returning officers were appointed and their
appointients cancelled and others were appointed until they got a fitting tool, I can use
no other term.

Q. What was the result of your inquiries with regard to irregularities in Winnipeg,
I mean of a criminal character?-A. I convinced myself beyond any doubt that a man
named Anderson cime to the Leland House two or three days before the election and
met deputy returning officers there and instructed them to obtain a ballot of a well known
supporter of the opposition and substitute for it a ballot already marked for a supporter
of the government. Let me here rem irk, and I have no hesitation in saying, that Hugh
John Macdonald had no knowledge of it whatever.

Q. Was Anderson a deputy returning officer -A. No; he was a horse dealer who
lived at Glenboro', and I believe, from the tracing of the detectives, that he was instructed
in this method at Carberry. Glenboro' is nineteen miles south of Carberry, and he came
from Glenboro' to Winnipeg, and certainly met five or six deputy returning oficers ; I
cannot say how many more, but he certainly met five or six and produced a form of
ballot and instructed them how to manipulate it and told them there would be extra
ballots in the polling booths for them, and there were extra ballots there for them. That
is the information sworn to, and I think it cannot be gainsaid.

Q. I am asking you, Mr. Howell, as to the information upon which these prosecu-
tions were instituted ?-A. Further, I found this, from the returning officer himself,
that the ballots necessary in Winnipeg to go around numbered about 5,000 or 6,000,
and he told me he printed over 10,000 ballots and the ballots ran dry at 2 o'clock, and
we had to close the polls and wait until some more were printed.

Q. That shortage of ballots were at a poll where it was known Martin had a large
majority ?-A. It took place at several polls, but it took place mostly at polls where
Martin was supposed to have a majority.

Q. That, briefly stated, was the information you procured i-A. More than that, I
got from some one you sent me, the written instructions given to one of the deputy
returning officers how to do it. I employed detectives and spent a great deal of money
trying to find out whose handwriting it was, but I never found out.
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Q. Explain what these instructions were ?-A. It was headed "IHow the Grits
carried an election."

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper;

Q. Have you got that document ?-A. I would not swear. It would be in my
private safe at Winnipeg. I am inclined to think I have it. I did not think i would
be called upon for it.

By Mr. Si/ton:

Q. You have it in your possession at home ?-A. I cannot say as to its possession.
I may have left it with Shoemaker the detective.

Q. You will send it if you can find it?-A. Yes.
Q. It was headed " how the Grits carried an election ? "-A. Yes.
Q. It contained what ?--A. That is the way it was headed. Then it said by put.

ting a piece of lead under your thumb nail you can easily put a cross where it ought not
to be, in opening up the ballot and bring your thumb across it. That was one of the
things. Then it went on to describe how you can mark the ballot and have one ready
in your hand this way and then when the other ballot is given to you by the voter you
can put it well in your hand and fold it crosswise so that pulling off the counterfoi.
you can substitute the marked ballot and put it in the box retaining the voter's ballot
in your hand.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Who was that signed by ?-A. It was not signed.

By M1r. Sifton:

Q. The officers who had charge of that election were hot Grits ?-A. I think not.
Q. So that the Giits would hardly pull that election by following that procedure?

-A. Not that election.

By Mfr. Foster:

Q. Was there anything to show the locus in quo where the Grits purported to
carry this election ?-A. No, it was just headed "how the Grits carry elections."

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q, W ho gave you this ?--A. I do not think I shouli give you this information.
It was confidential. J treat this comrnittee and the Dominion Government as a private
prosecutor.

By Mr. Si/ton:

Q. Will you recollect the individual whom you got that from ?-A. I did not get
it from you but my memory is that you told me where I could get it. I got it and I
think I am safe in saying this that when I got it I was told that if J ever divulged
where it came from a man would lose an important position.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:
Q. Did you pay for it ?-A. Not a cent. It came from a deputy returning officer,

who if I told where it came from would lose an important position and I am very
unwilling to give such information as that.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. You have stated in a general way but not in detail the information which came
to your knowledge of irregularities in the city of Winnipeg. That is that there had
been a night school held where deputy r3turning officers were educated in the m'Inner
of manipulating the ballots ?--A. Yes.
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Q. And then quite specifically you have spoken of this document and aiso the
payments made ?-A. Yes.

Q. Was there anything else in the city of Winnipeg that came to your know-
ledge ?-A. Nothing further than following up the inquiry to see what manipulation
was done by the deputies there.

Q. In a general way that covers it?-A. Yes.
Q. Now, we have the electoral division of Marquette. You spoke yesterday of the

knowledge that you got of irregularities at the Dauphin poil ?-A. Yes.
Q. What was the information which came to your knowledge in the course of vour

investigation respecting the Dauphin poll ?-A. The Dauphin poil I think was presided
over by a man named Hazard. I think that was the name. The information I got,
and I may say I had it supported by aifidavits so that I think I was thoroughly satisfied
in mv own mind as to the truth of it, was that the returning officer, when a voter came
in, opeied the ballot that was brought to him closed. He opened it in such a wav
always and turned it down to tear off the counterfoil, that Mr. Glen Campbell who was
acting as agent or scrutineer for the Conservatives could see how each voter marked
his ballot. Glen Campbell kept an open tally and when he went out of the room to look
after other voters the returning officer kept the tally. He opened the ballot to see how
a voter lad balloted and kept a tally and at the end of the day when they commenced
counting the ballots Glen Campbell said "you need not go through the forni I know
the numbers," and he guessed it to a man.

Q. You were innocent enough to suppose that this proceeding was contrary to law?
A. I had not any doubt about that. I advised that the returning officer should be
prosecuted for exposing a ballot aAd that Glen Campbell should be prosecuted for
aiding and abetting him.

By Mr. Hughes

Q. What came of it ?-A. That was amongst the cases we did not proceed with
because of the colossal expense. The prosecution at Dauphin would have necessitated a
land journey of something like one hundred miles and the gathering of voters from that
country which is much larger than two counties here would have involved an expense
so great that I thought we had better give it up.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. The information which came into your possessiop in connection with that poll
was such that you advised a prosecution ?-A. Yes, I said that there was ample evidence
to convict, but the Crown officers after discussing it thought the expense was so grear
that it would be better to abandon it.

By Sir Chtarles HIibbert Tupper:

Q. What Crown officers ?-A. Mr. Sifton and Mr. Cameron. We did not lay
before the magistrates anything like the number of cases that we investigated. We
only laid a comparative few although we covered the ground. There was another irre-
gularity at Marquette. That was at Shoal Lake. Some employee of the Dominion
Government-I really forget his name-he was in your department Mr. Sifton-he was
caretaker of the old police barracks that were south of Shoal Lake when that was part
of the North-west Territories. He was receiving a sa ary for looking after three log
buildings and he was deputy returning officer. He left the poli and the poll box on
polling day when the train arrived and went down to the station. A messenger brought
him a lot of blank certificates signed by the returning officer and he filled these up with
the naines of different people that came on the train and some voted at this polling place
and some at other places. There were some other irregularities.

By fr. Sifton:

Q. Were they all voters who voted on these certificates ?-A. No, I think not. I
think there one or two that were not voters ; I am sure about that. Another irregu-
larity by the by was at Neepawa. The returning officer
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Q. Neepawa is not in that district. We are speaking of Marquette ?-A. At all
events it was some place near Neepawa then, because it was the place where a lawyer,
Mr. Howden, signed the returning officer's name to a great lot of certificates in blank
and handed them out. I believed it was unlawful for a man to sign the returning
officer's name to certificates. These certificates were filled out with the names of
different men and in one instance with that of a man who hadn't a vote and were used
in such a way that I thought Mr. Howden was liable and that the returning othcer was
liable.

Q. Did you find anything wrong in Provencher ?-A. Yes, I think at poll No. 4,
at all events at the poll where Miles McDermott, was deputy returning officer, there
were twenty-four agents who voted for Mr. LaRivière at one tine anongst others, Mr.
Ewart, Mr. Culver, and Mr. Aikens.

Q. How many does the law permit ?-A. Two.
Q. How many voted ?-A. Twenty-four-no twenty-three voted.
Q. You say agents; you mean that twenty-three or twenty-four m n voted for Mr.

LaRivière upon agent's certificates?-A. Yes. One would go in and take the oath as
agent and vote, then come out and another man would go in with a certificate and take
the oath as agent, vote and come out. I believe that was the process.

Q. Was the oath administered ?-A. I think it was.

By Sir Charles Hibbert T'upper :

Q. Who told you ?-A. The agent present.

By Mr. Wallace :

Q. Were these persons entitled to vote at any place in the riding ?-A. I think so,
although I did not look into that question. Mr. Culver, Mr. Aikens and Mr. Ewart
would be.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Who was the agent who told you this ?-A. It was Mr. Walton's agent who
told me.

Q. He had a certificate too ?-A. Yes, but he was there all day. I advised in that
case that I thought the returning officer was guilty.

By Mr. Sitton.:

Q. What I understand you to say is that twenty-three or twenty-four?--A.
Twenty-three.

Q. Twenty-three agents for Mr. LaRivière voted at a certain poil for Mr. LaRivière
upon certificates ?-A. Yes.

Q. That.is the information you received ?-A. Yes.
Q. Which I assume you, believed to be correct ?-A. There is no doubt about that.

The books in the possession of the clerk of the Crown in Chancery will show that.
Q. So that Mr. LaRivière's agents had great facility

By Mr. Wood: (Brockville).

Q. This case was not tried; what is it you are going on ?-A. I looked into it and
expended money upon it.

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. I was remarking to you Mr. Howell that Mr. LaRiviere's agents evidently had
great facility in using these certificates ?-A. Yes.

Q. Was a similar privilege extended to Walton's agent ?-A. No, I happened to
know because I was advocating Walton's interest on the stump, and I think I held a
meeting at Morris, and while at Morris the returning officer came along and Walton's

57



61 Victoria. Appendix (No. 2E.) A. 1898

friends told me he would not give them any facilities, that they could not get any
certificates from him. I said he would have to give them, and I took a bold stand with
him, telling him that he was bound to give the certificates. He said, " if you will give
me the names I will give them certificates, but it is unlawful to fill them up ir. blank,
and I have refused to give them to the other side," but that was not so.

Q. He was right as to his duty ?-A. Yes, and I said that he was, but he bad
filled them up for the other party.

Q. The other man had 23 ?-A. Not only that but my investigation showed they
had a sheaf of them and were filling them up at the polls as the men arrived. I said,
"give us two in blank," and he said, "no, you know I should not do it," and I admitted
that he was riglit; and he gave us two filled in ; but he seened to change bis mind
afterwards. Then at another poll I looked at, there were seven agents voted for Mr.
LaRivière in the saine way. I do not know as to the other polls. I think I only looked
into these two or three.

Q. So much for Winnipeg, Marquette and Provencher. Now, what about the
constituency of Macdonald ?-A. Well, that was the centre of attraction.

Q. Let us have the result of your inquiries at the polls where Scammell was deputy
returning officer?-A. Scammell was deputy returning officer at Rathwell; he was then
an officer in the Dominion Government service, and from my investigation there I found
that a great many ballots must have been tampered with, and I spent a great deal of
time and a great deal of ioney to get at the bottom of it. I traced Scammell's move-
ments for several days before the election and found that he had paid two or three visits
to Treherne and got a package of something on one of these visits; and I got the
information from the man who went ith him that he got a package of some kind and
seemed very well pleased with it. I learned also that he got nonev from the Anderson
referred to. I made an assault-a legal assault-on Scammell and had him arrested,
and he cried like an old woman and told me the whole story.

Q. What was the story ?-A. He told me that Waller, who was the registered
agent of Boyd in that election

Q. What do you mean by registere i agent !-A. lis regular agent under the
Election Act.

Q. What was his full name ?-A. Henry Waller-that Henry Waller met him one
evening, and the first thing he said to him was, " can you play cards are vou good at
cards ? Scammell said Le was, and Waller said, " you will do," and then he took him
up to his room and took the ballots and showed him how it was done.

Q. Show the committee how it was done ?-A. This would be about the size of a
ballot. He took an ordinary ballot, folded crosswise always, with the counterfoil and
all making it about as long as a sniall oblong envelope, and they were marked for Boyd;
and they would tear off the counterfoil and fold it up about that length and have them
in the right hand trousers pocket. When a well known liberal came in to vote, one as
to whose political convictions there was no doubt, the returning officer would put his
hand in bis trousers pocket and get a ballot paper in his hand thus. Then the voter
would come in with the ballot and counterfoil in his hand. He would refold it in the
presence of the voter, tear off the counterfoil and put in the wrong ballot.

Q. This man Scammell, then, Mr. Howell, who had told you this and displayed
this to you was actually a deputy returning officer ?-A. A deputy returning officer;
and there is no question he got money off Boyd, because Anderson, whom we prosecuted,
who was a deputy returning officer and as a friend of Boyd's, swore to it.

By Mr. Mulock:

Q. What did he get the money for ?-A. Oh, I cannot say. There is no question
from outside sources that Scammell got money of Boyd's and got ballot papers before
the election; that we know as we had it in evidence.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. In what case ?-A. In the case against Henry Waller for inciting Scammell to
commit election frauds.
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Q. What did the grand jury do?-A. They threw out the bill.

By Mr. Frost :

Q. Was not Mr. Boyd's brother on the grand jury ?-A. Yes, and they threw out
the bill. I said to the jury that I thought Mr. Boyd's brother should withdraw.

Q. Scammell was the deputy returning officer who gave you this information ?-
A. Yes.

Q. Did he give to you what was actually done in pursuance of this plan?--A. He
said he changed a number of votes.

Q. Let us get it clear. Scammell, who was a deputy returning ofiicer at Rathwell,
told you this plan had been arranged between him and Waller ?-A. Yes.

Q. Did he say what he did in pursuance of the plan ?-A. He said lie carried out the
plan at the election, and he told me he made Paul Kane vote Tory. Kane was one of
Dr. Rutherford's committee men, I think. He told me that he made Reeve Forbes
vote for Bovd.

Q. Did he say to you how many ballots he substituted in that way ?-A. I think
he told me six. I am not quite sure about the inumber.

Q. The man who told you this did it himself ?-A. Yes, but I had more evidence
against him because Anderson swore he paid him S25; that he (Anderson) paid
Scammell $25 a day or two before the election.

Q. What for ?-A. Well, he paid him that. Anderson was also a deputy returning
oflicer at Arizona, another poil. I also proved that Scammell got this package of
ballots before the election. He was a returning officer and as such got ballots to be
used which come with the poli books, but he got them two or three days before to
practice on and have them ready.

Q. Was there any other information about the Rathwell poil ?-A. Of course we
had evidence that different voters voted for Dr. Rutherford.

Q. Give us the substance of that ?-A. I will have to refresh my memory as to
figures.

Q. You need not give the exact figures '--A. Well, a very nuch larger nunber
came and swore they voted for Rutherford than there were ballots in the box for hin.

Q. There was another poli, Plea3ant Point, was there not?-A. Yes, that was
Clark's place.

Q. Tell us about that? Weil, Clark is one of the boys, a good fellow and handy
with his hands. We attempted to prove that Clark admitted he overdid it rather at
that poil. I think there were nineteen ballots in the box for Rutherford at the close
of the poli, and I think there were twenty Liberals there at the close of the poli, and
t-hey comenced counting noses. That was the place which started the cry.

Q. That made everybody satisfied that there had been fraud i-A. Yes. It was
from there I radiated, because Clark, who had kept the Normal School at Carberry,
overdid it. He only allowed Rutherford nineteen ballots there, and I think in the
magistrate's tria! I got thirty men who swore they voted for Rutherford, and I think
at the second trial I got thirty, but I did not get the same thirty each time.

Q. When we investigated that poil do you remember that there were a lot of
declarations filed by men who voted for Rutherford-was it thirty-five?-A. I had
forgotten about that. Within a few days after the election we got thirty-four or
thirty-five people who swore they voted for Rutherford at Pleasant Point.

Q. The organization seemed pretty good there ?-A. Well, there was a large
majority got with a small expenditure.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Clark denied ail this on oath, I suppose you know ?-A. Yes.
Q. And was acquitted ?-A. No, he was not acquitted.
Q. There were ten for acquittal ?-A. That was the second time. They jockeyed

me with the jury. I ought to have had a conviction. J had more evidence than that
against Clark. He told a man named Gorrell-I think his name was Gorrell-a
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prominent Liberal, the day before the election, saving, "You will vote for Boyd
to-norrov," and this made Gorrell very angry and he replied, "No, I will not vote fir
Boyd," but I think he did. Clark will not deny that, and this same witness says he
went to the poll on account of suspicions that were entertained, and that when the
ballot cane in, Clark's hand went down behind the ballot box, and, speaking from
menory, I am pretty sure Gorrell swore that the ballot which went into the box was
folded differently from the one he handed him, and Freeborn swore also that he was
told by Clark that the ballot racket worked well with him.

By Sir Charles Iibbert Tupper :

Q. Are you sure that was what Freeborn told you?-A. I think it was; it is hard
to remember.

Q In your report vou say, "gave them a pretty good dose ? "-A. Well, that may
have been it. At all events there was one ballot too many in the tox.

By M1r. Sifton:

Q. There were nineteen ballots in the box marked for Rutherford, and thirty-five
voters made declarations that they voted for Rutherford ?-A. Thirty-four or thirty-five.

Q. And when you called your witnesses on the magistrate's trial, there were thirty
or thereabouts wbo swore they voted for Rutherford ?-A. Yes.

Q. And when you produced your evidence at the Assizes there were thirty or there-
abouts ?-A. I got more than thirtv at the assizes. I got thirty each time.

Q. What is the explanation of the fact that you did not get them all each tinie ?--A.
Because they wandered about and after the first trial I let them go home. At the tine
of the second trial some were down here in Ontario on a visit and I felt I could not
afford to pay the expense of bringing them back. I should add that there was one
ballot too many in the box and our theory is that when he went to put his hand in his
pocket to draw out a ballot he drew out two.

Q. At the poll where this man Saundermz was deputy returning officer. Then
Saunders was ultirîately convicted was he not ?-A. Yes.

Q. He was deputy returning officer at what poll?-At Tupper, I think. I mean
the local name. I do not remember but I think he lives in Tupper.

Q. Was that about fourteen miles from Portage la Prairie ?-A. No, no, that is
away north of Gladstone.

Q. The Saunders case was subsequently investigated in court and Saunders was
convicted ?-A. Yes.

Q. At the poll where Saunders was deputy returning officer what were the results
there of your inquiry ?-A. The result was this. Freeborn told me that he instructed
Saunders and I think Saunders was not an apt pupil.

Q. What did Freeborn say he instructed him in ?-A. He showed him how to
manipulate the ballot as I have described.

Q. In the sarne plan as you have described to the committee ?-A. On the same
plan, yes. I do not know but what they may have had another. Saunders came into
town to get further instructions and he and Harry Waller together instructed him the
second time. Waller instructed him in Freeborn's presence. After the election was
over Freehorn came in and reported.

Q. You ascertained that Waller and Freeborn instructed Saunders --A. First
Freeborn and then Waller in Freeborn's presence. Waller had gone up to Gladstone
that day to attend a. meeting and that night I think it was he, with Waller, met Saun-
ders and he and Freeborn again showed Saunders how to manipulate the ballots.

Q. What followed ?-A. After the election Saunciers came into Gladstone to report
and Freeborn was in Gladstone and Saunders handed him over the ballots that he had
got for those he substituted.

Q. Saunders gave then to Freeborn ?-Yes.
Q. What was that for ?-A. Saunders admitted that he did that.
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Q. That is after the elections ?-A. After the election, ves. Freeborn further said
that he supplied Saunders with ballots.

Q These ballots then that were handed back, what ballots would they be ?-A.
Ballots of men who had not voted for Boyd.

Q. Just explain to the committee ; when the election is over the law provides that
the ballots remaining in the possession of the deputy returning officer shall be placed in
the box ?-A. Yes.

Q. And you say these were in his possession ?-A. Yes.
Q. And niot in the box ?-A. No, in his possession.
Q. He gave them to Freeborn ?-A. Yes. And I produced them in court. They

were initialled by Saunders.
Q. These were the ballots which had been given to the voters which they had

marked and given back to the deputy returning oflicer to put in the box, and which le
had abstracted ?-A. Yes. I may tell you that in that case there was a circumstance
which arose at the trial which bore out Freenorn's testimony. He told me that Saun-
ders said he put in ten but for sone reason we could only produce nine after the election,
and we could only explain that after we got the ballots from the Clerk of the Crown in
Chancery. We saw that he had made a mistake and put one in with them

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. What was the political complexion of the jury. How many Conservatives
were on that jury ?-A. I cannot tell at all.

Q. You only remember those in which there was no conviction ?-A. It didn't
occur to me to look into it, until they commenced disagreeing and tien some political
friends spoke of it and I looked into the matter.

Q. There were Conservatives on that jury when they convicted ?-A. Yes, I have
no doubt.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. This case of Saunders, Mr. Howell, is the case in which you got a conviction ?-
A. Yes.

Q. These ballots which were thus abstracted you will remember were given you by
me ?-A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember that I told you that Freeborn had given me these ballots ?-
A. Yes.

Q. And that I wanted you to investigate the truth of his story ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is that these ballots had been abstracted by Saunders e-A. Yes.
Q. You proceeded to investigate it ?-A. I did.
Q. You had Saunders indicted ?-A. Yes.
Q. First you brought him before the magistrate ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the magistrate committed him ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then you brought him before the grand jury ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the grand jury found a bill -A. Yes, after a big struggle.
Q. You had more trouble with the grand jury than with the petit jury ?-A. Yes.
Q. He was tried and convicted ?-A. Yes.
Q. Upon the charge that he Lad unlawfully abstracted these ballots ?-A. I made

two charges against each one. The difficulty was a legal one. It was the question of
whether Le was guilty of putting a ballot in the box that should not have been put in,
or was he guilty of destroying a ballot. One was almost a sequel or corollary of the
other. I really forget which one he was convicted of.

Q. Anyway, the gist of the offence was that he lad done what you have described?-
A. Yes.

Q. He Lad abstracted these ballots properly marked by the voters and put fraudu-
lent ballots in their place ?-A. Of course the legal difficulty in my mind was this:
.whether it was a legal ballot before it was put in the ballot box.

Q. The legal ditliculty will not trouble the committee much ?-A. No, I suppose not.
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Q. The gist of the offence for which he was convicted was that it was what you
have described here ?-A. Yes.

Q. The court, the magistrate, the grand jury, the judge and the petit jury ultimately
found and acted upon the finding that the information that I gave you when I handed
you those ballots was correct ?-A. Yes, there is no question about that.

Sir CHARLEs HIBBERT TUPPER objected to the question.
Question allowed.
Q. What answer do you make to my question ?-A. I would rather you would

repeat the question.
Q. My question waq this: At the interview when I gave you your instructions

originally, as now in evidence, I handed you some ballots, which have been referred to,
saying that my information was that these ballots had been stolen by Saunders and
that Saunders had illegally placed other ballots in the box in place of these, thus
fraudulently changing the vote of that poll. I instructed you to proceed and if this
was found to be the case to prosecute at whatever expense might be incurred. Now,
we have it in your evidence that you did proceed. You have told us what you found
out; you have told us that it came before the magistrate, the grand jury and the petit
jury. What I ask you now is, if as a matter of fact, the court found that the
information which I had given you was correct.

Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER objected to the question.
Question allowed.
Mr. SIFTON-Q. Did the court find what I stated to you was correct ?
Mr. QUNN objected to the question.
Question allowed.
A. The jury found him guilty: the trial judge reserved a case and our full court

approved of the finding.

By Mr. Mulock:

Q. What was he found guilty of ?-A. I will have to look.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. What does he want to look at ?-A. I want to see on which indictment the
conviction was ; I cannot answer from memory.

Mr. SIFToN-The indictment is a matter of record in the court.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. I want to know what he wants to look at.-A. Some gentleman asked what he
was found guilty of. I was answering that question.

By Mfr. Sifton:

. Confine yourself to answering mue.-A. There was some gentleman here who
asked me a question.

Mr. MULOCK-GO on and answer Mr. Sifton.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. You could not answer it without looking at some record ?-A. No.

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. You can answer the question I asked you without looking at a record ?-A. Yes.
Q. You laid a charge against Saunders, the result of which was that he was found

guilty î-A. Yes.
Q. He was convicted 2-A. Yes.
Q. And substantially-not in the technical nature of an indictment, but substan-

tially-what was the charge of which he was found guilty; what did he do?
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SIR CHARLEs HIBBERT TUPPER-I want it noted that I object to this sort of thing.
A. He was found guilty nf preventing the voters' ballots going into the ballot

boxes, and putting in place of them other ballots.

By Mr. Lister:

Q. That was what Mr. Sifton had told you?-A. Yes.
Q. And his information turned out to be correct on the trial?-A. Yes.

By M1r. Sijton:

Q. And that evidence came before the Court ?-A. The ballots were produced and
are there.

Q. They wvere identified ?-A. Yes, and the initial of Saunders proved.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. Is there a copy of the evidence here ?-A. No, I had not time to get it.

By M1fr. Sifton :

Q. It is all a matter of record ?-A. Yes.
Q. That was as far as the Saunders case was concerned ?-A. Yes.
Q. Now, we have gathered the facts in the Rathwell, Pleasant Point and Tupper

cases; were there any other cases where there were questions raised?-A. Oh, yes;
Anderson's case at Arizona; that is the man that paid the deputy returning officers.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Were you in this case ?-A. Yes.
Q. Was there a conviction?-A. He was sent up before the inagistrate; we had

several charges.
Q. The jury disagreed ?-A. Yes, in that case.

By Mr. Somerville:

Q. Is this Scammell a Dominion Government official?-A. Yes.
Q. What office did he hold ?-A. Well, soine office in the Department of the

Interior.
Q. At the time the frauds were committed ?-A. Yes.
Q. Is he an officer still?-A. Well, I do not think he is.

By Mr. Campbell:

Q. Where is he now ?-A. Living on the farm.
Q. The jury disagreed ?-A. No, he owned up the corn. He was arrested and I

told him-as I felt I had authority to do-that if he would turn Queen's evidence we
would not prosecute him.

The Committee adjourned.
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HOUsE OF COMMONS, COMMITTEE NOoM 49,
MONDAY, 30th May, 1898.

The Committee net-Mr. MeMullen, chairman, presiding.

H. M. HOWELL, being recalled, testified as follows:-

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. Mr. Newcombe in his certificate (Exhibit "D" ) says: "I am of opinion there-
fore that for these services and disbursements reasonable payment would be as follows:
-Solicitors' accounts, $5,760.07; disbursements, $7,146.33; total, $12,905.40; of which
as shown by the accounts there has been paid $1,000 leaving still $11,906.40." I can-
not make out what this $1,000 is as having been paid. Can you explain that Mr.
Howell ?-A. Really I cannot tell.

Q. Would your cash account show i-A. No, we only got two payments.
SIR CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER-There is no voucher showing the $1,000 that Mr.

Newcombe refers to.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. Mr. Newconbe must have taken that from the entry in Mr. Howell's accounts
because he says there has been $1,000 paid ?-A. We never got $1,000 separate. Ail
we got was $3,000 on the 23rd of October, 1896.

Q. That is the $3, 000 that I handed to you ?-A. Yes. Then while I was away at
court sonewhere there was a pressing need of $1,000 and Mr. Cameron handed into my
office $1,000 in my absence. But I did not know that that was got from the Dominion
Government.

Q. That was paid to you ?-A. Yes, but I credited that in my accounts, of course.
Q. That probably is this $1,000 ?-A. Yes, here it is.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. Let me see the paper you are looking at 1--A. There is a copy of this letter
filed.

Mr. SIFTON.-Yes, here it is.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper;

Q. You are referring to the letter marked "A" ?-A. Yes.

By Mlfr. Sifton :

Q. What I wanted to get at was that $1,000. You did not get the payment of
$1,000 referred to in Mr. Newcombe's certificate ?-A. No.

Q. Except as you got a payment from Mr. Cameron ?-A. Yes, of $1,000.
Q. Mr. Newcombe evidently misunderstood the account supposing you had got that

$1,000 from the Government ?-A. Yes, I put it in amongst the drafts and it is included
in the total I have referred to. Will you give me Richards & Bradshaw's bill; J have
no meinorandu.» of that.

Sir CHARLES IBBERT TUPPER-It is in Mr. Newcombe's letter.
The WITNEsS-My boo'z-keeper sent that here. Here it is (Exhibit " D ") $1,029.22.
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By Mr. Sitfon :

Q. Was there any statement showing the total amount of your receipts and disburse-
muents ?-A. Yes, I can give it to you exactly. Do you want my own or shall I put
them altogether?

Q. Showing the moneys which you received and paid out ?-A. Speaking for mnyself
alone and for my firm ?

Q. Crediting the $3,000 which you got ?-A. Here it is ; 810,428.08 was our total
bill.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper

Q. What are you referring to now ?-A. To the letter niarked " A." Disburse-
ments $10,428.08 paid out by my firn and myself.

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. These disbursements were paid out by you ý-A. A number of disbursementjs
were also paid out with my approval by other solicitors but my firm and myself paid out
$10,428 08.

Q. This $3,000 which was sent to me and which I handed to you was applied on
that ?-A. The way that gross sum was paid was $3,000 cash, which vou handed me
and the $1,000 from Mr. Cameron which I assume--

Q. You have stated the total amount ?-A. Yes, and I was going to give the ways
in which it was made up.

Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER-In your question, Mr. Sifton, vou said " $3,000
which was sent to me."

Mr. SIFTN-Yes.
Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER-We have no evidence about 83,000 being sent to you.
Mr. SIFTON-Except the statenenc that I made to you the other day that it was

so. I made a statenent that $3,000 was sent to me which I paid directly to Mr.
Howell.

Jjy Mr. Siton

Q. You gave the total amount of disbursements as $10,428.08 ?-The witness--A.
Yes, that I paid out.

Q. This $3,000 which you got from me was applied to that first ?-A. Yes.
Q. Leaving a balance of how much ?-A. $7,428.08. You will find it if you refer

to this letter. Our former account amounted to $3,000 and the first two drafts were
for our disbursements. The $1,000 draft was Mr. Cameron's draft and my draft to
cover the absolute balance, $6,428.08.

Q. So the first two drafts made on me, the first as shown by this list, were Mr.
Cameron's for $1,000 and the draft made out by Mr. Cameron and yourself for $6,428.08
so that the $3,000 which you got from me originally and these two drafts made up the
total amount of your disbursements ?-A. Yes, all the disbursements I paid out. I think
Mr. Cameron drew the draft of $1,000 and handed it into my firm and I took it as cash.

Q. That is immaterial; you got the proceeds ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the $3,000 and these two drafts paid the disbursements of $S10,428.08?-

A. Yes.
Q. Did you render a statement of these disbursements?-A. Yes.
Q. Have you got it there 7-A. The first rendering was the $3,000 you know.
Q. But I understand that was in a separate account ?-A. Yes.
Q. That explains it ?-(No answer.)

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You told Mr. Sifton that you had a statement there of the account rendered for
the disbursements ?-A. Yes.
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Q. You mean you have it in vour hand ?-A. Yes. But you must have a copy
here.

Q. I do not think it.

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. I do not think there is a statenient of the $3,000 ?-A. But it has been rendered.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. What is the paper you are reading from?-A. Just a copy of the account sent
down here and I sent all the vouchers.

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. The fact seems to be that the statement of the $3,000 is not on the file ?-A.
But it is here somewhere.

Q. You rendered it ?-A. Yes, and the vouchers were all sent with it.
Q. Of which that is a copy ?-A. Yes.
Q. Will you hand it to the clerk to be placed on file. (Document marked Ex-

hibit " V. ")
Q. What I want is a statement of the disbursement of the first $3,000 ?-A. That

first S3,000, well I will consult my notes for that. It is here with the vouchers attached.
Q. Then you rendered a statement with the $3,000 first?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. That is the S3,000 ?-A. Yes, but it must be here; I thought I saw it in your
hand.

TH E AUDITOR GENERAL-I may point out to the committee the statement at I 7,
of the Public Accounts:-

Archibald & Howell, J. D. Cameron and W. E. Perdue; legal services and
expenses in connection with prosecutions for election frauds in
Manitoba (including $4,000 transferred from unforeseen expenses). $10,964 41

This ý4,000 was made up of the $1,000 which he had handed to Mr. Cameron and
the $3,000 which was afterwards given to Mr. Howell and which was acknowledged by
him in the telegran froin him to me. The $4,000 was paid at one time under an order
in council f rom unforeseen expenses but it formed part of this $10,964; the whole of the
government money that was paid was $10,964. If there was any other money it was
not Government money because that represents every cent paid by the Government.

Mr. HOwELL-We paid out more than that.
Mr. McDoUGALL-But that was all the Government money that was paid, $10,964.41.

By Sir Chiarles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. That is up to that date ?
Mr. MCDOUGALL-Up to now. Nothing has been paid but $10,964. Of that

$4,000 was paid from unforeseen expenses.
Q. But the whole amount of the taxed bill is not yet paid ?-A. There is still

$4,000 unpaid of the taxed bill.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. You presented a statement first for the $3,000?
NIr. HowELL-Yes.
Q. Accounting for that ?-A. Yes, all for disbursements.
Q. Then you presented other accounts for disbursements ?-A. Yes.
Q. Which made the total disbursements up to the amount that you have just men-

tioned there in that letter -- A. Yes. But, Mr. Sifton, pardon me; I don't want it
understood that that was the whole disbursements.
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Q. These are the disbursements you are called upon to account for personally which
your book will show ?-A. Yes.

Q. When Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper was examining you the other day, Mr.
Howell, you were asked about disbursements about witness fees ?-A. Yes.

Q. There was a considerable ainount of these witness fees which you had no vouchers
for ?-A. Well, since I gave my evidence, (and I intended t i tell Sir Charles Hibbert
Tupper about this) I think I can give a list of the names of most of the witnesses to
whom it was paid; not receipts frein the witnesses but the names of the men, I mean.
I am quite sure I can get these, but of course that is not a voucher.

Q. Can you get them all 2-A. I night get the whole of thein.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You might get that ?-A. Yes, I will; the names of each of the witnesses and
the amount.

Q. Fron what ?-A. From memoranda which J am quite sure I have in my posses-
sion at home, but of course that is not a voucher, as it is not signed.

Q. Will you make an effort to forward a statement to the chairman of the corn-
mittee showing that ?-A. Oh, yes. I have already accounted for $464, paid to the
railway company for tickets that 4 had forgotten I had.

Q. The committee may not understand the general custom of solicitors in regard to
the payment of money for witness fees. When you as solicitor received Money from a
client to pay witness fees do you get vouchers from the witnesses ?-A. I never do. In
fifteen years I never did.

Q. What is the practice ?-A. They pay the amount and put in an affidavit of
disbur>ements.

Q. The practice is, then, when they get the money from their clients to pay witness
fees, to enter it up in their books and, when called upon to account for it, make an
affidavit ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Cochrane

Q. Do you pay money out up there without taking receipts ?-Yes. I do at all
events.

]y iMr. Sfion:

Q. If the Department of Justice asked you to make a declaration pointing out the
details of disbursements, as you would do in the case of any other client, would you be
prepared to do so ?-A. I think so.

Q. If, when the Deputy Minister of Justice was taxing these bills he had said he
wanted you to follow the usual practice of solicitors and give an affidavit of the expen-
diture for those witness fees, would you be prepared to do so ?-A. Yes.

Q. And have accounted in that way for this money ?-A. Unquestionably.
Q. There was nothing different then from the usual practice of solicitors in matters

of that kind, in your way of disbursing this money ?-A. Certainly ; no.
Q. The last day you were being examined we were proceeding to get at the grounds

upon which you advised the institution of these various prosecutions, and we had taken
up a number of cases-.Anderson of Winnipeg, the Dauphin case, the case of the poll in
Provencher ?-A. Two polls in Provencher.

Q. Two polls in Provencher, the case of Pleasant Point and the case of the place
where Saunders was deputy returning officer?-A. Yes.

Q. Were there any other cases in regard to which you got information bearing on
the frauds which had been practiced ?-A. Yes, many.

Q. Let us have them ?-A. Speaking from memory there was the case of McDole
f rom Cypress River. A great many more people swore they voted for Rutherford there
than there were ballots in the box for him.

Q. Where was that?--A. Cypress River.
Q. Who was deputy returning officer there ?-A. McDole was. He got $75 from

Anderson-that is the saine Anderson of Arizona-for electioin purposes.
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By ýSir Charles Hibbert Iupper:

Q. That is what vou were informed --- A. That is what was sworn to. Anderson
himself swore to this payment of 875.

Q. You cannot give us anything more than thamt you were inforied?- A. It is not

in dispute. It is sworn to
Mr. SIFTON-I am asking- Mr. Howell to give us the information lie got upon which

he advised the crown to proceed.

By fr. Hug1he.':

Q. It was not sworn to at that time ?-A. No, subsequently. I went on with the

proecution and it was borne out.
Sir CHARLEs HIBBERT TuPPER-If the witness is going to tell us what happened in

court this is not the regular way. I thought this information he received before insti-
tuting prosecutions.

Mr. SImTON-He said he liad certain information and whE n vou asked him lie said
it was afterwarls borne out by evidence in court.

By Sir Charles HJibbert Tupper :

Q. Is that in evidence before the trial?-A. The evidence before the trial was that

Anderson had gone through southern Manitoba along the Glenboro' branch and paid

money to deputy returning officers. Before McDole's case was completed, I examined
Anderson before the m agistrate at Carberry and got hin to swear he had paid money to
McDole and then I went on with it.

By Mfr. Silton

Q. What was the offence for which you prosecuted him ?-A. For taking a ballot
after a voter had given it to him and substituting another paper for it. and putting it in
the ballot box.

Q. What was the nature of your information as to what he had done in that regard ?
-A. My information was fron three sources : first, as to the number of men who
claimed they had voted for Rutherford as against the number of ballots in the box ;
second, that he had practiced substitution of ballots with another man in Cypress River

two days before ; and third, the payment of money by Anderson.
Q. Give us the details as to these three points, first as to your information as to

the number of people who voted ?-A. I brought evidence before the magistrate.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. You are referring to exhibit " B" ?-A. Yes, but he did not cone to trial ; it
would be in the second part of that report giving the cases before the magistrate. I
have forgotten till I saw my memorandum. I should say that Freeborn also gave evidence
in the McDole case, so that I had four sources from which to come to that conclusion.

I have not the number of ballots ; I think the witnesses were so scattered and that

borough was so wide I did not call them, but I had the payment of money, the conver-

sation with Freeborn admitting that he had substituted ballots, and the evidence of the

man before whom lie had practiced it.
Q. Who was that ?-A. I forget among all the men whom I saw.

By Mr. Fraser (Guysboro') ;

Q. He practiced this before the election?-A. Yes. He had practiced it before a
man in Cypress River.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper

Q. How many sources of information had you ?-A. I think four, but I am speak-

ing largely from memory, because McDole's case was not one of very much importance.
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Oh, yes, and another source I had quite forgotten in the McDole case : McDole sent a
petition to Boyd asking hii to resign. J believe it was clained that Boyd said that if
any of these men would prosecute lie would resign, and this man signed the petition.

By Mr. Hughes :

Q. Did you have that information before the prosecution ?-A. Yes.

13y 1r. Clancy :

Q. Did you have it proved that Mr. Boyd made that statement !-A. No.
Q. How did you connect him with it?-A. I had a report fron Glenboro, which is

near Cypress River, that he had said that if any of these men would prosecute lie would
resign.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You have not that in your report ?-A. Yru will find it, I think, in the Cypress
River report. I did not proceed against him before the grand jury as the witnesses
were so scattered and it would be so enormously expensive I did not take it up.

By Mr., Sinon :,

Q. He was committed for trial by the magistrate ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the reason you did not prosecute was that the expense would be so large?

-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles fibbert Tulpper;

Q. How nuch did the iMcDole case cost ?-A. I cannot remember.
Q. You had fifty witnesses ?-A. I cannot remeiber how much it cost. Sir Oliver

Mowat told me when I was in Ottawa to take four or five cases and abandon all the
rest.

By 1r. Si/ton:

Q. Were there any other cases !-A. I have not said anything yet about
Herriman.

Q. Who is Herrim in '-A. Ris profession is a gambler, the saine as mine is a
lawyer, and as well known.

By Mr. H ughes :

Q. What is his occupation ?-A. He is chief gambler of Winnipeg.

By Mr. Siftou:

Q. What was he -A. A deputy returning ofleer.
Q. Where A. Beaver Creek, I think.

By Sir Chariles Ilibberf Tupper:

Q. You are referring again to your notes ?--A. Yes You will find Russell Herri-
man there. I know that man was convicted for gambling, because he and his chum
were arrested for vagrancy, the only way to punish gambling, and I defended his chuni
and Heyman defended him, and he got three months.

By Mr. S/fon;

Q. That was before he was appointed deputy returning officer ?-A. Yes.
Q. Herriman had been convicted before the appointment ?-A. Yes.
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Q. He was appointed deputy returning officer for what poll ?-A. Beaver Creek,
about nine miles from McGregor in the country. He was not orginally appointed in the
warrant appointing a deputy returning officer and signed by the returning officer. A
man by the name of Eaton was made deputy returning officer and his name was scratched
out. You will find it in the report of the Clerk of the Crown in Chancery. Russell
Herriman's name was written in and he went up there.

Q. Who acted?-A. Russell Herriman acted.

By Mr. Rutherford ;

Q. Do you remember how that change was macle ?-A. The returning officer did not
know Russell Herriman but some of Mr. Boyd's friends recommended him as a good man.

Q. Which one of Mr. Boyd's friends ?-A. I think it was his brother.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. In your report you say that " The returning officer swore that he did not know
Herriman before he was appointed, but that he acted upon the recommendation of some-
one believed to be Boyd's brother ?"-A. Yes, that is all I mean by that.

By Mr. Si/ton;

Q. The returning officer was Mr. Richardson ?-A. Yes.
Q. Of Portage la Prairie ?-A. Yes.
Q. Hugh Boyd, of Carberry, is known to be Boyd's brother ?-A. Well, I cannot

remember whether it is Hugh or not. It is the blacksmith who was on the grand jury.
Q. Mr. Richardson would be likely to know who Boyd's brother was ?-A. Yes.
Q. If he believed him to be Boyd's brother it would be pretty sure to be correct?=

A. I believe there is no doubt of that.
Q. You say this other man, Dr. Eaton, was appointed in the first place by warrant'î

-A. Yes, and that name was struck out.
Q. And the name of this gambler Herriian was put in ? A. Yes, I am confident

of this, that it was not in the handwriting of the returning officer.
Q. Herriman acted ?-A. Herriman acted. Herriman went from Winnipeg nearly

100 miles to take that poll.
Q. What is Herriman's usual place of residence?-A. Winnipeg.
Q. What was the information which you got as to what transpired at this poll at

which Herriman was the deputy returning officer ?-A. Fron my reports made by friends
of the Liberal party I thought there was something crooked, and acting upon that, and
upon the change which by a search I had made here in the department I found to have
been made in the warrant of appointment and from his known character-I acted prac-
tically upon that alone and arrested hima. I did not think he was a proper man to be
deputy returning officer in a locality where there were plenty of respectable farmers.

By Mr. Sutherland:

Q. He did not live in the constituency ?-A. No, he did not live in the constituency
or near it.

By Mr. Sift on:

Q. What further information did you get about that ?- A. I do not know that I
had anything more about that one.

Q. At that time ?-A. At that time.
Q. What information did you get subsequently ? Did you go on with the proceed-

ings '-A. No, I abandoned them.

By Mr. Hughes :

Q. It is wonderful that you let that fellow off. That was a splendid case to push ?
-A. The number of witnesses would have been large. The numbers were 49 Braith-
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waite: 27 Boyd ; and 49 ]Rutherford. It was necessary to cal] these witnesses to prove
the three cases, and you could not tell who were the Braithwaite witnesses, and I thought
we had enough. It was a question of expense and I abandoned it. I directed the
solicitor who had been acting in that case for some time, to abandon it.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. You said in your report that the proof was not sudlicient to justify a commit-
ment ?-A. I went up to where this magistrate's trial was going on to look into it my-
self personally as I felt I was personally responsible, and seeing the number of wit-
nesses

Q. One hundred and five do you say ?-A. Yes. We were holding court in Mc-
Gregor; it was in the depth of winter and we had to bring them from Beaver Creek

Q. You got them, though ?-A. Some witnesses had to be brought 40 miles from a
district as large in area as many of your counties.

By Mr. Rutherford :

Q. Were not a number of these witnesses in Ontario ?-A. Yes ; in Manitoba we
have winter excursions to Ontario and the old Ontario men who have gone up to that
country are given cheap return tickets by the Canadian Pacific Railway and they take
advantage of them in the winter.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. With those 105 witnesses you could have got evidence enough to warrant you
in going ahead ?-A. I think we got more that voted for Mr. Rutherford than 105.

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. You say at this poll where Herriman acted " at the close of the poll the follow-
ing ballots were found in the box :-Rutherford, 49 ; Boyd, 27 ; Braithwaite, 49 ; rejec-
ted, 4. The rejected in no way relate to Rutherford "?-A. Yes. There was no attempt
to work them for Rutherford.

Q. You say " there were about 105 witnesses examined and 50 witnesses swore
that they voted for Rutherford " ?-A. Yes.

Q. That would be one more than there were ballots in the box ?-A. One or two
we did not count.

Q. " And 50 swore that they voted for Braithwaite " ?-A. Yes.
Q. That would be one more then there were in the box ?-A. Yes.
Q. "And several known opponents of Boyd's could not be got." What do you

mean by that ?-A. They were far away or in Ontario.
Q. What do you mean by " known opponents " -A. Men of well-known Liberal

proclivities who were either in Ontario or in distant parts of Manitoba.
Q. You are referring to men that voted in the election ?--A. Yes, that we could

not get.
Q. Whom, you are satisfied, did not vote for Boyd ?-A. Yes, I was satisfied but

we had enough cases outside of that.
Q. What you mean is that you got 50 men in each case who swore that they voted

for Rutherford and Braithwaite and there were others who could not be got whom every-
body was satisfied voted for Braithwaite or Rutherford ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. You could hardly know that everybody was satisfied that they did not vote for
Boyd ?-A. Well, I should not say " everybody"; I was satisfied from the evidence I
g.ot.
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By Mr. Sijton:

Q. You say " everybody " ?-A. I only meant myself I should not say that. I
was satisfied that they did not vote for Boyd.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You were also satisfied that very little crooked work was done at that poll ?-
A. I was satisfied with this.

Q. Is that right ?-A. I think it is right because they had two detectives watching
them. I think he probably got away with seven or eight votes.

By 3r. Sifton :

Q. You say in your report to the Minister of Justice: " From information I had
received before the charge was laid I had every reason to believe that ballots had been
substituted. A number of our witnesses could not be obtained. I think ballots were
substituted to the number of seven or eight "?-A. Yes, I am satisfied of that.

Q. " But the proof was not sufficient to justify a commitment and lie was not coi-
mitted "?-A. Yes.

By 3fr. Hughes:

Q. You examined 105 at that poll?-A. Yes.
Q. Onlv 105 votes were cast there, so that there could not be very many from

Ontario ?-A. There were more than that.

By Jr. Sifton:

Q. You say that 105 swore that they voted ?-A Yes.
Q. 50 for Boyd and 50 for Braithwaite, that is 100 at the trial ?--A. Yes

By fr. Hughes

Q. A hundred and twenty-five votes were cast altogether, from what Mr. Sifton
told me ?-A. There were more than that.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. He said 105 witnesses not that 105 had voted ?-A. I should say to Mr. Hughes
that I do not think that Boyd had 27 votes there.

By Mfr. Hughes

Q. I am asking vou how many polled there ?-A. 129.
Q. Then you didn't call any Boyd men at al, and you examined 105 and say there

were a lot off in Ontario who you could'nt get ?-A. Yes.
Q. That doesn't look as if your story holds together at all ?-A. I do not think that

Boyd had any more than 20 votes.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. What makes you think that ?-A. I have the opinion still that Russell Herri-
man got away with seven or eight votes.

By 3fr. Sifion:

Q. What other cases are there ?-A. We referred to William Clark, I think, before.
Q. No.-A. Clark of Pleasant Point? Oh, yes, we referred to him.
Q. Now, what other cases were there? We have completed what you have to say

of the Herriman case ?-A. Then there is the Mawhinny case.
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Q. Who was Mawhinny ?-A. William Mawhinny of Holland.
Q. Is that his residence or is that where he acted '-A. His residence was at

Portage la Prairie. He is an insurance agent. He was deputy returning otlicer at
Holland. There were nine affidavits before the information was laid. I had the sworn
evidence of 47 or 48 voters; I am not quite sure whether it was 47 or 48 voters, who
swore they voted for Rutherford, and there were 38 ballots for him in the ballot box, I
think, and I got just ten more than were in the ballot box. I laid an information
against him. I also had the evidence of Mawhinny who was the man who took the
ballot boxes around to the different deputy returning officers round in that locality. He
took the box for Scammell, and I think the one for Parker. Mawhinny also had a
conversation with Freeborn respecting this dealing with the ballots. He told Freeborn
according to Freeborn's testimony, they discussed the question of the ballot box stuffing,
and Mawhinny told Freeborn that he had been instructed how to do it, and got the
ballots for this purpose from a man named Edward Clark, I think it was, and Freeborn
said Mawhinny told him Clark had got the information from Waller-the Waller I
referred to before. At the trial Mawhinny swore he never spoke to Freeborn, and we
did not get a verdict. I am satisfied he did converse with Freeborn, and if there was
another trial I could prove it.

Q. Why ?--A. Because two witnesses told me they saw Freeborn and Mawhinny
talking together in Holland the night Freeborn said he was there.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. What are their names ; are they any more respectable than Freeborn !-A. Ohi,
respectable farmers in the locality. I think I have the iames here in my report. I say
in my report: " After the trial was over two witnesses appeared and said they were
prepared to swear they saw Mawhinny."

Q. What poll was that ?-A. Holland, and M awhinnv's name is William.

By Mfr. Wood (Brockville) :

Q. Have vou the names of these two men ?-A. I have it on my brief. i have not
got it here.

By Mfr. Clancy:

Q. Do you know the political leanings of those men ?-A. No. They just came up
and told me what they were prepared to swear.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper.:

Q. You are a strong politician yourself ; you are a stumper ?-A. Yes, I ai a
stumper.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. What did they say to you ?-A. Thev told me they saw Mawhinny talking witih
Freeborn at Holland.

Q. Was this in the trial ?-A. No, after the trial. It was too late.
Q. These men volunteered the stateiment?-.A. They volunteered the stateient to>

me.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. Did they give you any reason why they did not approach vou before the trial!
-A. Well, this was a matter of public notoriety; only this, Mawhinny gave his evidence
last, and I had no idea he was going to swear that way.

Q. They were in the court room and heard the evidence given, and thev waited
until the trial was over before they came to you?-A. Yes.
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Q. What surprises me is that after making up your brief to justify you in your
course you did not think that was very important?--A. I did not think I would be
called on to justify it. I think I was justified and I am willing to take the respon-
sibility.

(Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper objects to the evidence, pointing out that the witness
had not brought his brief here.)

By Mr. Foster:

Q. You swore as the evidence was read that after Mawhinny was acquitted?
-A. Well, I would not say after he was acquitted, while the jury was out.

Q. After the evidence was all in ?-A. Yes.
Q That two men approached you and gave you information ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you swear positively you could prove he was guilty ?-A. No, I believe I

could prove he was guilty.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You thought he was guilty ?-A. I say so still.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Do you think that after a conversation outside the court with two men, that
the case is proven ?-A. Certainly not. I have to size up the men, I have to read them
as lawyers read every man to see if they can believe them.

By Mr. Clancy :

Q. Were these men introduced to you?-A. I think the sheriff brought these two
men to me and said there were two men who said that what Mawhinny said was untrue
and what Freeborn said was true ; I saw it was too late to get it in and I discussed it
with Freeborn, I think. I still thought that the jury would give me a verdict.

By Mr. Wood (Brock.ille):

Q. Don't you think you have a straight case of perjury against Mawhinny ?-A.
Yes, and I went so far as to report that case of perjury to the Attorney General, but
he thought we had enough cases.

By Sir Charles Hibb)ert Tupper:

Q. But the perjury has nothing to do with the other cases ?-A. I certainly
discussed the question of that perjury with the Attorney General.

By M!r. Sifton:

Q. But perjury is not a Crown case in the true sense of the term ?--A. No.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville) :

Q. You must have discussed the matter with the view to proceeding, but the
Attorney General advised you not to proceed ?-A. Well, they were treated as every
perjury case is, leaving it to a private prosecutor to get a commitment and then the
Crown takes it up.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. What is the next case ?-A. Did.I give you Thomas Anderson of Arizona?
Q. No.-A. He was deputy returning officer at Arizona, but he lives at Carberry,

and he was the man who paid Parker, one of the deputy returning officers, S100.
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By Mr. Wood (Brockville) :

Q. Just give. the evidence which you had to go on in the first case ?-A. I know
we got this information before we went on with the trial ; we had Anderson in another
case and from the evidence he gave then we went on with that against him.

By Mfr. Hughes :

Q. I want to ask a question before the witness passes away fron the Holland
polling division. The witness says they got affidavits fron men who had voted for
Rutherford ; that there were ten more than there were ballots for A. I think it was
ten; they were aflidavits I caused to be procured before the magistrate's case went on.
I sent out canvassers to get them.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Did they pay for these certificates ?-A. I paid the men for getting them but
they did not give anything for them.

By Mr. Hughes:

Q. Did the people know what they were signing ?-A. Oh, 1 was not there, and
cannot say what they thought they were signing.

By Mr. Sifton;

Q. The affidavits were apparently in regular form ?-A. Yes.
Q. They were submitted to you as evidence ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. You had examined Anderson in previous cases ?-A. Before Anderson came up
for trial before the magistrate I had examined him in a previous case and he swore that
he had paid McDose, the deputy returning officer at Cyprus River, S75 ; Uriah Scam-
mell, deputy returning officer at Rathwell, 125; and Parker, the deputy returning officer
at Treherne, S100. fle swore that these were campaign monies which he got fron
Boyd's Committee or Boyd's treasurer and that he paid them to these men.

Q. This was all gathered from him on his examination ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. Give us as briefly as you can the nature of the information on which he was
prosecuted. What was the information which you received upon which you felt justified
in prosecuting him ?-A. I received information that there were a great many more
voters who voted for Rutherford than there were ballots in the box.

Q. In favour of Rutherford ?-A. Yes The proportion was rather strong there.
Rutherford got but 15 ballots at that place. Before the magistrate 23 men swore that
they voted for Rutherford, and at the assizes 24 men swore that they voted for
Rutherford. Of course I do not know whether I got them all.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville) :

Q. Before the magistrate how many swore ?-A. 23.
Q. And at the assizes ?-A. 24. I am not sure but that my report is a little

different from that; I may have made a inistake. In addition to that, he had a con-
versation with Freeborn. He came down to Winnipeg about the time the prosecutions
were threatened and had an interview with Freeborn. He admitted, and my instructions
from Freeborn were, that he tried to induce him not to give evidence against him.
Freeborn reported to me that he had a conversation with Anderson after the election
and discussed with him how the "ballot racket." as he called it worked in Anderson's
locality and Anderson told him that he had no difficulty in pulling the wool over their
eyes there. I think the jury disagreed in that case.
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By Mfr. Sifton ;

Q. Did the information which you received and upon which you advised the pro-
secution turn out at the trial to be substantially correct ?-A. Yes.

Q. I do not mean that the jury did not find it correct; but, substantially, was it
what you tried to prove to the jury ?-A. I proved to the jury fully all the information
I received before the trial.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. What was the result ?-A. The jury disagreed, I think.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. In all these cases Freeborn was examined very fully as to his character, was he
not ?-A. Very fully.

By MIr. Silton:

Q. Just read from your report on the Anderson case to the committee ?-A. My
report on the Anderson case is as follows -

"Thomas Anderson, Poll No. 28, Arizona.
"Anderson was deputy returning officer at this poll. At the close of the poll the

following ballots were found in the ballot box:-
"Boyd, 49; Braithwaite, 29; Rutherford, 15.
"No rejected ballots.
"This man was indicted before the grand jury, who found a true bill. At the

trial b4fore the jury 23 voters." Sir Ch trles Hibbert Tupper, I think I reported 23
voters before the jury ; that should be 24. At the trial before the jury 24 voters appeared.

By Sir Charles fibbert Tupper:

Q. What do you correct that from ?-A. From iy notes on the margin; I found
I had made a mistake.

Q. When ?--A. It must have been immediately afterwards.
Q. What did you correct it from; from a memorandum ?-A. After the trial I

made this report and then I went over it again before I put my papers away in this
case to verify everything before I sent it to oblivion :-

"At the trial before the jury 24 voters swore they voted for Rutherford, and at
least three others are known who are pronounced Rutherford men aid who we believe
beyond doubt voted for Rutherford but whose evidence we could not get.

" Anderson bad the ballot box either on a small table or a large box quite away
from the poll clerk and upon a platforin at the end of the schoolhouse. The scrutineers
sat at the school desks in front of the deputy returning officer and the poll clerk had
another table. Voters in coming up to receive their ballots and to hand them back
again stood between the scrutineers and the deputy returning officer.

" Freeborn swore that he had a conversation with Anderson shortly after the
election, in which Anderson said it was a pretty good scheme and that lie had no difficulty
in pulling the wool over their eyes at his place. He told Freeborn that a day or two
before the election he had gone through Glenboro', Holland, Treherne and Rathwell to
fix up the deputy returning officers.

"Freeborn swore further that Anderson commenced the conversation by asking
him (Freeborn) how the ballot racket had worked where lie was. Freeborn further
swore that when the informations were first laid before the magistrate, Anderson came
down to Winnipeg and endeavoured to persuade Freeborn from giving evidence against
him.

" Anderson went into the box and denied his guilt and denied the conversations
with Freeborn. He admitted that two or three days before the election he went to
Glenboro' and left $100 there for election purposes ; on to Cyprus and left $75 with
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McDole, the deputy returning officer there ; at Holland he left $100 with Dr. Lipsett ;
at Treherne he left 8100 with Parker, the deputy returning officer, but he savs he
instructed him to hand that $100 to Alexander, the postmaster, to be used for election
purposes ; he then went on to Rathwell and left ,25 with Seamnell, the deputy return-
ing officer there.

" After a long delay the jury disagreed and I adjourned any furtber hearing until
next assizes."

By fr. Wood (Brockviile):

Q. Apart from the leaving of these nhonies, you had only the evidence of Freeborn
upon which to go r-A. I had more than that-I had these 24 voters. Thee 24 men
went into the box, faced cross-examination and swore that thev voted for Rutherford,
yet there were only 15 ballots.

Q. But you had only the evidence of Freeborn as to what Anderson said. Suppose
these 24 men did not vote for Rutherford ; suppose 5 or 6 voted for Bovd and not wishing
Rutherford to know that, swore that they voted for him. Apart from that vo had
nothing but Freeborns statement ?-A. That is a]l. I had only these facts and the
admission he made.

By Mr. Wood (Hamilton)

Q. What was that mnoney paid to the deputy returning officers foi ?-A. I do not
know.

By Mr. Siton:

Q. Well, now we have got that case pretty fully, what is the next ?-A. Well. there
is George Anderson of Winnipeg, but we have discussed that.

Q. That is the case of teaching the deputies --A. Yes, and then the Clark case we
have had.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville)

Q. Was that the case where you got the conviction ?-A. No, they disagreed there.
There were two trials and the jury disagreed both times.

1y Mr. Sifton :

Q. What is the result of the trial in thar case l-A. The jury disagreed.
Q. So he was tried twice ?-A. No, Clark was tried twice.
Q. Than there is the Henry Waller case ?-A. Henry Waller lives in Carberry.

He was the legal agent, the statutory agent of Boyd.
Q. The election agent 9 -A. Yes, the election agent of Boyd. Freeborn told me

that Waller assisted him in instructing Saunders.
Q. Saunders was the man that was convicted ?-A. Yes. At the trial of Saunders

before the magistrate at Gladstone, Waller was not called ; he was not there. At the
trial of Saunders before the jury Waller was present and heard Freeborn's testimony
and did not go into the box.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. Don't get on to the trial until you first exhaust any knowledge on which you
based your indictment before the magistrate. You see you jump from one t o the
other so quickly ?-A. We can get on so much more quickly by going straight on with
the trial. Uriah Scammell reported that Waller taught him how to manipulate the
ballot,, first asking him if he could play cards.

Q. Did Scammell report that to you ?-A. Yes.
7"6
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Q. Waller paid money to Freeborn and also instructed Freeborn to g up and
down the Manitoba and North-western Railway and there instruct deputy returning
officers in this art.

By Mr. /lughes;

Q You have only Freeborn's evidence for that ?-A. I have only Freeborn's
evidence for that but Waller never contradicted it. Scammell aiso said that when
Waller instructed him in the manipulation of the ballots he promised him money and
that shortly afterwards Anderson came to him and gave him noney, but Waller
did not give Seimnell any noney. Sc immell said that Waller promised hin money.

By Sir Charles Ilibbert Tupper :

Q. Was this after his arrest that he told you this ?-A. Before, I think.

By Mfr. Si/ïon:

Q. Scammel, told vou himself?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. What did you say was this information giveti to you by Scammeil after his
arrest and after your assurance of protection ?-A. I think it was reported to me first
that Scammell told this story and that after the arrest Scammell told me.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. You think he told you this after the arrest ?-A. I think so.

By Sir Chtarles FIibbert Tapper;

Q. Was it after you had told him as a Crown officer that indulgence would be
shown to him by the Crown that he confessed to you these things ?-A. Well, it is very
difficult for me to answer that because I think I told him that if he told me the whole
story and I was satisfied of its truth and with iim I would treat him as many others
are treated; I would give him iinmunity.

Q. He confessed his guilt and then you talked with him after his arrest ?-A. I
did not have a conversation with him until after his arrest. I think it was at the same
tiine I gave him the promise.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. He was promised immunity if lie would tell the truth ?-A. If he would tell
the whole story.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. There is no dispute about that he was promised immunity if he would turn
Queen's evidence and give his evidence ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. Where is he now inay I ask, has he got a position ?-A. I think he has lost it since.
Q. Did he get one since ?-A. He was an officer of the Dominion Government and

as I understood he lost his office since, but perhaps the Minister of the Interior can tell
you. He is a farmer.

By Mr. Fraser (Guysboro'):

Q. He was a Dominion official at that time ?-A. At that time, yes.

A. 1898
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By Mr. Sifton:

Q. Let us get on with the others ?-A. I think that is all. Just ]et me see the
report of the trials before the magistrate.

Q. What other cases were there, what became of Waller's case before the jury ?-
A. It was thrown out by the grand jury--that is the one case that they did not find a
bill, in the case ot Henry Waller.

Q. He was charged with inciting others to improper conduct?-A. Freeborn swore
also in the magistrate trial, one of the trials before Harry Waller's came on, that it was
Waller who first interviewed him, Freeborn. Boyd saw him at night in Carberry after
having received this telegram saying that lie was a good man. After receiving that
telegram Bovd said "a man will see you " and that night Harry Waller saw Freeborn
and they made their bargain and went on with their work. They used the jug in a
bedroom for a ballot box to practice on.

Q. You have told us substantially the nature of the offence for which Waller was
prosecuted ?-A. Yes.

Q. Get on to the next case now.-A. Charles Brooks, who lived near Carberry.
Q. Was he a deputy returning officer?-A. Yes, at poll 41. I do not know much

about this Brooks matter because I think I was only ten or fifteen minutes in court
while it was going on, and I sinply say in my report that there were a number of
suspicious circunstances surrounding this case. Several people swore thev voted for
Rutherford.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. How inany swore they voted for Rutherford 9-A. Forty-one.
Q. How many ballots were there !-A. Thirty-six. That was in a sparse neighbour-

hood and it was difficult to get witnesses. There were also a number absent and it was
difficult to get then. Forty-one swore and there were 36 ballots in the box for Rutherford.

By Mr. Sf/ton :

Q. In that case on account of the expense you did not go on ?-A. On account
of the expense.

By Mr. Wood (Brockrille):

- Q. Everv man sbould make an affidavit in order to get at the exact number of
votes ?-A. I was satisfied if I got up to the number of those who voted and a few more.

Q. In the case of Brooks did the jury bring in a bill ?-A. I did not indict him.
I dropped him.

Q. Why ?-A. Because Sir Oliver Mowat told me that if I got a few it would be
enough.

By Mr. Clancy:

Q. You took the strongest cases ?-A. Well, I took them froni different parts of
the country. I thought they were all equally strong.

By Mr. Sifton;

Q. Will you go on?-A. The next case is Moses Finklestein. lie is that Jew
inerchant in Carberry. He was deputy returning officer at Carberry. There were 38
ballots in the box mîarked for Rutherford and after we had sworn 42 witnesses who
swore they had voted for Rutherford I cried a halt and the magistrate committed him.

By 3r. Wood (Brockrille) :

Q. Was that one of the cases you proceeded with at the assizes ?-A. No, I did
not proceed. I took one from Carberry.
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Q. You dropped this ?-A. Yes, on account of the expense.

By Mfr. Sitton ;

. Please go on ?-A. I may say this in that case: I was present at the trial and
was particularly struck with the fact that many of the witnesses swore to the suspicions
way in which he held the ballot when tearing off the counterfoil. They did not know
wha.t was going on. but they were suspicious. He generally held the ballot behind the
box to tear off the counterfoil. They could not see what became of the ballot and then
something would go into the box.

By 1fr. Wood (Brockville)

Q. What was done with Finklestein, was he committed ?-A. Eventually. I took
only one froin that district. He was committed to trial for receiving ballots f rom
voters and not putting thein in the box but putting in others. Then there was the case
of James Waller. I arrested hlim but J did not go on. I dropped that case. We had
so many. and the fact was we could not get constables to serve the subpætnas.

Q. You dropped James Waller ?-A. Yes.
Q. Why did you drop that case ; give me the evidense you had. You are trying

to impress the Committee that you had a great many more cases that you might have
brought for trial. My information is that you brought everything in sight ?-A. Well,
I got 15 commitments before a magistrate.

Q. Of deputy returning officers ?- A. Yes.
Q. How many were there in the whole ?-A. I think there were forty odd

perhaps fifty-two.
Q. What about James Waller ; what evidence had you against him before you

went on ?-A. Some man, I forget his name, told me Waller said he had two sets of
ballots and could have electe-1 anybody he liked, and knowing the other facts, and
believing there was a shortage of ballots there I directed a prosecution. I was not

present at the trial. I may have looked in. After going on a little while I directed
them to drop it.

Q. As a matter of fact you had no evidence against Waller; if you had not, say so ?
-A. I can say this, we did not think we could get evidence in that case that would
make out a flagrant case.

Q. Let us have any evidence at all you had ?-A. There was evidence that he had
two sets of ballots.

By Mr Sifton:

Q. I see you have in your report the following -" James Waller, poil 42. Was

deputy returning officer. Fifty-one voters were examined in this case, and amongst

other witnesses one swore that Waller told him shortly after the election that he had

two sets of ballots and could have made a majority as he liked, and showed the witness

how the ballots were manipulated "?-A. Yes.

By 3fr. Wood (Brockville)

Q. What was the name of that witness?-A. Really I forget. There was a
witness who swore to what I have said.

By Mr. Hughes :

Q. What is his naine ?-A. I cannot remember it. The magistrate has it.

Q. I would like to know the names of the magistrates before whom the commit

nents were made?-A. James Waller was brought before Mr. Campbell, of Brandon.

Q. Appointed by the local government ?-A. Oh, yes.

Q. Now, who were the other magistrates who heard these cases ?-A. Well, Mr.

Campbell took all the main line; no, not ail, because Mr. Cory, of Gladstone, took the
80
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McGregor tril, that is ion the main line, -but not far f rom where Mr. Cory lives. Then
Mr. E. F. G. G. Hlay, police magistrate of Portage la Prairie, took the cases up the
Manitoba and North-western Railway,

Q. You say there swas an awful distance between the places ; that is a long way.-
A. There is a road :np the prairie, lie took that for 60 or 70 miles. Then Mr. Dawson,
police magistrae of Winnipeg, took the Canadian Pacific South-western line, Glenboro
Cypress River, Treherne and Rathwell.

Q. How many of these lived in Macdonald county ?-A. AIl, I think, but Mr.
Dawson.

B y Mr. Freer:

Q. All were polioe magistrates ?-A. Yes.

.By Mfr. siera :

Q. Mr. Hughes has brought up the question of the personnel of these magistrates;
'you appear to bave taken the police magistrates ?-A. Yes, men of unquestionable
.ability and integrity.

By Mfr. HngheS :

Q. In your opinion ?-A. In everybody's opinion in the North-west.

By fr. Sifton:

Q. There is no magistrate specially commissioned for this work ?-A. No.

By Mr. Clancy :

Q. Of the .51 witnesses at the magistrate's examination you had only one at the
rüial ?-A. Oh, ves, they were called largely to say they had voted for Ruther-
ford, but there was only one to say he had a conversation with Waller. Then
there is the case of Fred. Brown, who, I think, lives at Blake, as distinct from
Tupper. I think there I only called four or five witnesses. He was at Macdonald
potling subdivision, I think.

By fr. Si/ton:

. You did not go on with him ?-A. No, he was not committed.

By Mfr. Wood (Brockville) :

Q . What evidence hai you against Fred. Brown at all ?-A. Freeborn got the
ballots that he handed to Saunders from Fred. Brown. Freeborn was told in Portage
la Prairie to get the ballots from him; I think he went to the returning officer's and
someone, I will not say it was the returning officer, referred Freeborn to Brown, who
seemed to be the custodian of the ballots, and f rom him he got the ballots that were to
be distributed to deputy returning officers.

Q. You had no other evidence that Freeborn was there ?-A. No.
Q. How many witnesses did you call? -A. One or two and the case was dropped.
Q. But you had no ground for incurring the expense ?-A. I was told by someone

in Portage la Prairie that it was believed through the county that there were many
changes of ballots in that division, and then I had the evidence of Freeborn that it was
Brown who handed out the ballots for the deputy returning officers. When I went out
to examine the case a great many of the voters had gone on an excursion to Ontario.

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. As you did not proceed you do not claim there is anything against him i-A. No.
81
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By Mr. Wood (Brockville).

Q. But you got paid for it ?-A. Whatever there was. Then there was the case
of Renwick at poll 45. There were 32 voters swore they voted for Rutherford and
there were only 27 ballots for Rutherford.

By Mfr. Sifton :

Q. He was committed for trial ?-A. Yes. There were several witnesses there I
see absent in Ontario.

By fr. Hughes :

Q. How many voted for Rutherford ?-A. Thirty-two, and I see from my notes
there were several absent in Ontario.

By 3fr. Wood (Brockrille) :

Q. That doesn't cast any suspicion on the deputy returning officers ?-A. I think
that was the case ; I am inclined to think that was the case where the certificates were
signed by Howden. It showed me there was a clear irregularity, because voters voted
on certificates signed in the returning offBcer's name by Howden.

Q. But suppose there was a vote out in Carleron and the one man gets 47 and
another 50, and soneone swears that there should be 60 where there are only 50 ballots
to show, there will be nothing to show that the deputy returning officer bas done any-
thing wrong ?-A. I think if in the same riding the manipulation of ballots was practiced
universally-

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper

Q. That is not the same in this case ?-A. 1 think it was.
Q. Did you in any of these cases go on the assumption that you had evidence to

commit a man if you proved that more voters voted for Rutherford than the deputy
returning officer's return showed there were ballots ?-A. I would have, unquestionably,
asked the magistrate to commit if there was any material number in excess. In all
these cases where there was a material excess, I could not believe that 10 or 15 men
would go there and swear to a lie.

Q. Without other evidence of any kind ?-A. No other evidence but knowing what
was goinz on in the riding.

Q. You have added that. That " knowing " must depend on the evidence ?-A.
It might be beyond question of doubting.

Q. Just come to my question, please. I ask you if you had nothing else than the
evidence of this disparity in the officer's statement, if you would ask for a commitment ?
If you had so many witnesses who said that they voted and so many less voters' names
recorded, on that evidence would you have asked for a commitment? Did you proceed
on that reading of the law ?-A. I could not disassociate these circumstances in my
mind. I knew what had been done.

Q Are you able to give me an answer to my question, yes or no ?-A. I had the
ballots in my possession.

Q. Is that the only answer you can give ?-A. It seems to me to be the only
answer I can give.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. You did not expect a commitment at the assizes on that ?-A. I certainly did.
I believed that if I produced the stolen ballots, together with the evidence I had in
other cases, I should obtain a conviction.



Public Accounts Committee.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. I did not say anything about stolen ballots. What evidence have you of stolen
ballots ?-A. I had them.

Q. You understand that that was not my question ?-A. But I had thein.
Q. You understand I did not refer to stolen ballots ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville)

Q. Did the grand jury bring in a bill in the case of Ilenwick ?-A. I did not
indict him.

Q. You did not proceed in that case ?-A. No, there was nothing more done.

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. Go on to the next case ?-A. W. J. Hamilton I think is next.

By Mr. Wood, (Brockvile) :

Q. Where was be deputy returning officer ?-A. He was deputy returning officer at
poll No. 47. One of the reasons why I proceeded in that was on account of the poll
clerk Goodwin. He was a stranger in the municipality and in the riding but Hamilton
made him poll clerk. Ail that Goodwin did was to write down the first naine and
after that the returning oflicer acted entirely as poll clerk. Goodwin had no vote in the
riding at all but Hamilton took his name, recorded his vote and pretended he had a
certiticate. He had no certificate and none was ever produced. He took the vote
though the man had no more right to vote than the man in the moon.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Where did you get the information that there was no certificate. You do not
say that in your written report. You say there was none produced ?-A. I mean there
was none found in the ballot box, and he could not get one because the man was not a voter.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. There was none where it ought to have been ?-A. No. He pretended to
Rutherford's agent that he had a certificate for him. In that case we had thirty-nine
men who swore that they voted for Rutherford and there were but thirty-one ballots.

Q. Was he committed for trial ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did you proceed at the assizes ?-A. No, I did not proceed. If not in this

case, at all events in several cases, constables voted on certificates, which was a clear con-
travention of the law. The next case is that of Moses McFadden. I think I abandoned
that case.

By Mr. JWood (Brockville):

Q. You had no evidence of an excess of voters ?-A. Well, there was some trouble
about a voter there who I think had no vote. There was a man named McKenzie who
voted there and there was no certificate in the ballot box and none produced.

By Mr. Hughes:

Q. Was he sworn ?-A. I could not tell you f rom memory, but you can tell f rom
looking it up here.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. Had you any investigation in the case of Moses McFadden '-A. Yes.
Q. What was the evidence there ?-A. The evidence was that votes were recorded

without certificates.
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B3y Mfr. Sifton :

Q. Contrary to law ?-A. Yes, and it was believed that there was a general
shortage of votes there, f rom the best investigation I could make.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tuper:

Q. Do you remember the date of this investigation before the magistrate ?-A. It
would be in January.

Q. 1897 ?-A. Yes.

By Yr. Wood (Brockvile).

Q. Had you any evidence in connection with McFadden further than that he had
received votes without certificates ?-(No answer.)

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. How long before January, 1897, did you get information touching him ?-A. I
got it all along during the autumn, I was gatliering it from all sources and sometime in
July.

Q. Was it in July or August ?-A. It would perhaps not be long after August:
it might be in August or September.

By Mr. lood (Brockville):

Q. How many polling subdivisions did you call in question ?-A. I think there
were 15 deputies I laid informations against

Q. How many cases did you investigate ?-A. I suppose about 20 or 25.
Q. I would like·to know exactly ?-A. I could not tell you.
Q. Oh, yes, investigations are pretty serious things ?-A. That is to hunt up and.

find out what is against this man and tSat one.
Q. How many cases did you actually take before the magistrates, open proceedings.

and investigate ?-A. I laid 15 informations altogether.
Q. How many prosecutions were there altogether ?-A. There were 15 deputy re-

turning officers. And then there would be Henry Waller, which would be 16.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. There will be 21 cases in these papers ?-A. There could be hardly so many as
that: perhaps so ; there was Henry Waller, that tavern keeper at Glenboro', Abram
Dennison and Robert Roberts.

Q. Is this right in your letter: "There were nine indictments preferred in
Portage la Prairie, upon seven of which the jury returned true bills. Fifteen deputy
returning officers had informations laid against them-two against each ; ten were
committed for trial ; Scammell confessed and four were abandoned. Informations were
also laid against Henry Waller and George Anderson, who were committed, and against,
Dennison and Roberts of Glenboro' whose cases were not proceeded with." That is the
sum total?-A. Yes.

Q. Did you make any enquiries into the conduct of the balance of the deputy
returning officers ?-A. I did into some of tbem.

Q. Into how many ?-A. It may have been some slight matters.
Q. It is important because the money went there as well as in others ?-A. I do

not think it would be much.
Q. Did your investigations go into districts where others than Conservatives were

returned ?-A. There was Boyd's case, of course.
Q. I mean investigations as against deputy returning officers ?-A. I looked

carefully into the elections of Mr. Boyd, Mr. Hugh J. Macdonald and Mr. Roche. I
looked into others and into Mr. LaRivière's to a certain extent, and in Lisgar there
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were one or two things brought to my attention but it was just cases where deputy
returning oflicers had allowed voters to vote on certificates to which they were not
entitled.

Q. But did you send detectives in to work at any constituency which returned
others than Conservatives ?-A. They all returned Conservatives except one. J do not
think I sent any detective into Lisgar.

Q. Brandon, did you send any there ?-A. No.

By Mr. Sutherland:

Q. Had you any information to indicate that any person connected witli the
Liberal party had practised this system of jùgglery with ballots ?-A. Not at all. Oh,
Sir Hibbert, I am wrong. I did investigate a case in Brandon, I forget what the naine
was.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. Do you remember, Mr. Howell, whether you made any investigation in any
counties where Liberals were returned ?-A. Yes.

Q. Mr. Macdonell was elected in Selkirk ?-A. I investigated in his constituency.
Q. Then in Lisgar, Mr. Richardson was returned ?-A. Yes, I looked into that.
Q. In Brandon, Mr. McCarthy was elected ?-A. I bad a case there.
Q. In Provencher, Mr. LaRivière was elected ?-A. I had two cases there.
Q. Then in Macdonald, the Boyd case; we have mentioned that case. Then in

Marquette was Roche. You had the seven constituencies. Now, following out what Sir
Hibbert Tupper asked you, did you make any investigations in Seikirk ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. What were they ?-A. A man by the naine of Lundy or from Lundyville.
Lundy from Lundyville let people vote that had no votes.

Q. How did you find that out ?-A. I investigated it and found it out
Q, From whom did you get the information you say you investigated ?-A. I did

n-ot send a man up there.
Q. This was information brought to you ?-A. Yes, but we looked into it to some

extent.
Q. To what extent ?-A. We made inquiries and wrote letters. I am not sure but

that I sent a man up there.
Q. You did nothing with it ?-A. I re.ported on it.
Q. Where is that report ?-A. I sent it here, at least J think J did. Yes, here it

is. Lundy at Selkirk. The report reads

"J. F. Lundy, Lundyville.
" This man is a postmaster and was deputy returning officer at this pol.
" He acted in a nost arbitrary manner. He allowed G. Kerr and G. Cartwright

to vote. They had no votes in that polling district, and there were no returning officer's
certificates, and it is believed that they have no votes in the electoral division.

"Lundy constantly left the poll and went outside canvassing voters, and would
corne in with then when they came to vote."

By fr. Clancy :

Q. Is he still postmaster ?-A. I do not know.

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. You got that information ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did you make any other investigation into counties into which Liberals were

elected ?-A. Yes, I looked into Lisgar. I am sure there is Lisgar.
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Q. Then in Lisgar, what did you discover ?-A. Here is my report.

" Lisgar, W. O. Taylor, Barnsley.

"The returning officer granted free certificates to agents for Rogers to vote at this
poli. This was objected to by Haverson, Richardson's agent, but the votes were recorded
by the deputy returning officer.

"Arthur C. Hawkins, Poil No. 58, Swan Lake.

"The returning officer granted four certificates to agents for Rogers to vote at this
poll, and all four were allowed to vote although objected by George -H. Gordon the
agent for Richardson."

Q. The evidence there was that these men were illegally allowed to vote ?-A. Yes.
Q. The returning officer himself acted illegally?-A. Yes.
Q. Then you thought there was a case at Brandon, you said ?-A. I have not ap-

parently any report on that; it was a case where I got information by letter from the
Attorney General.

Q. Now, are those all the cases you have to call the attention of the Committee
to ?-A. Yes, all those that are in my report I have called the attention of the Com-
mittee to.

Q. Where is your summary report? (Letter of March 27, Exhibit "A.") You
say there were examined before the magistrates 774 witnesses. niany of whom were
brought long distances, and at the assizes there were exainined before the Grand Jury,
150 witnesses and 176 before the Petty Jury, and that there were nine indictments pre-
ferred in Portage la Prairie, on 7 of which the jury returned true bills-that would be
the Grand Jury ?-A. Yes.

Q. You say also that fifteen deputy returning oflicers had informations laid against
them, that ten were committed for trial, that Scaminell confes-ed and that four were
abandoned, and that informations were also laid against Anderson, Waller, Dennison
and Roberts, of Glenboro', whose cases were not proceeded with. Now, there were
fifteen deputy returning officers against whom informations were laid ; were ail of them
committed ?-A. Ten were committed, one confessed and four were abandoned.

Q. That made the fifteen ?-A. Yes.
Q. There were ten committed for trial ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. How many were committed finally ?-A. Saunders, one.

By 3fr. Sifton:

Q. There were ten committed for trial ?-A. Yes.
Q. You sav fifteen informations were laid agaqinst deputy returning officers and

that ten were conimitted, four abandoned and that Scammell confessed ?-A. Yes.
Q. Ten were committed for trial ?-A. Yes.
Q. How many of these were indicted ?-A. I only indicted five persons. I think

there were nine indictments. Of the ten, I threw off half.
Q. Ten having been committed for trial, you caused indictments to be laid against

five of these ?-A. Yes.
Q. Upon what principle did you proceed ? Why did you not proceed against then

all ?-A. I selected localities rather than men. I took one from the Manitoba South-
western Railway. I did that for the purpose of showing that what was complained of
was universal. If I took them all from Carberry, it might be said that the irregularities
were all from that locality. I took them from different parts of the country,
geographically.

Q. You pressed them sufficiently to make an example and to expose the conspiracy
-A. Yes.

Q. In vour former evidence you spoke of coming to Ottawa on other business, and
while here, of having had an interview with members of the Government ?-A. Yes.
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Q. That would be before the trials took place ?-A. Yes, and before all the magis-
trates' trials were completed. One or two were going on before I left Winnipeg.

Q. Being here, and being the counsel in charge, you were asked to come before a
Committee of the Government ?-A.. Yes.

Q. Do you remember who the members of that Committee were?-A. I think I
can name niost of them. There were Sir Oliver Mowat, the Premier, yourself, Mr.
Blair, Sir Richard Cartwright, and I am not sure whether it was Sir Louis Davies or
Mr. Fielding. I am inclined to think it was Sir Louis Davies, because I think Mr.
Fielding was in Winnipeg while I was here. I (o not remember any others. I had a
memo. of expenses incurred up to that time. The probable expenses I could not tell
exactly, and I showed them how enormous they were, and sid that to go on before the
assizes, and bring witnesses so far, would be an enormous expense.

Q. What were you instructed to do ?-A. I do not know wvhether I should tell here
what transpired there. It is for you to judge.

Q. You can say what you were instructed to do ?-A. I was instructed to go on
and take a few cases from different parts ; use my own judgment, and spend money
enough to secure conviction, if I thought there should be conviction, and go on with
them. I remember one of themi telling me they thought their liberties were invaded.
I think Mr. Tarte was present.

Q. The Minister of Justice gave you instructions ?-A. The Minister of Justice
told me to go on.

Q. The Minister of Justice did the instructing ?-A. He did the instructing.
Q. That was Sir Oliver Mowat ?-A. Yes.
Q. And in the proceedings you took subsequently, did you to the best of your

ability follow the instructions of Sir Oliver Mowat 7-A. J did, and did it just as cheaply
as I could.

By fr. Wood (Brockville)

Q. At this time, how rnany investigations had been held ?-A. I think we had-
oh, we must have had six or seven ; perhaps seven or eight commitments.

Q. Had you not more than that 9-A. There were some going on.
Q. Some were going on before you consulted the Minister of Justice ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Iibbert Tupoper:

Q. This interview was in February, 1897, and then the vast bulk of these cases
were over ?-A. But the assizes had not begun, and that wvas the chief expense.

By 3fr. Sifton :

Q. You proceeded then, you state, Mr. Howell, to carry out, to the best of your
ability, the instructions you got from Sir Oliver Mowat and laid five indictinents?-A.
Well, I laid indictinents against five pet sons.

Q. All at Portage la Prairie?-A. Ail at Portage la Prairie, yes.
Q. Who were these five ?-A. George Saunders, William Clark, Henry Waller,

William Mawhinney, Thomas Anderson. George Anderson was indicted at Winnipeg.
Q. The five men were indicted at Portage la Prairie ?-A. Yes. Except that

four only were deputy returning officers ; Henry Waller was not a deputy returning officer.
Q. There were only four deputy returning officers, George Saunders, William Clark,

William .\I awhinney and Thomas Anderson, indicted at Portage la Prairie, and Henry
Waller indicted, but not a deputy ?-A. Yes; he was indicted for inciting the others.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. What were the deputies indicted for?-A. There were two indictments against
each of them.
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By Mr. Sifton :

Q. Saunders was indicted for what ?-A. He was indicted under the Code andl
under the Election Act; it was difficult to teh which way to proceed.

Q. For what ?-A. One was for destroying a ballot, for we believed that taking a
ballot f rom a voter and not putting it in the box was destroying it, and the other indiQt-
ment was for putting a paper in the ballot box which was not the votees ballot.

Q. Let us have thein in order ; what was William Clark indicted for r-A. The same.
Q. And William Mawhinney ?-A. The same.
Q. And Thomas Anderson ?-A. The same.
Q. And Henry Waller?-A. He was indicted for inciting deputy returning ofeicers

to commit this breach of the law.
Q. Were indictments found in all these cases by the grand jury ?-A. it those

of the four deputies.
Q. But in Waller's case '-A. No bill was found.
Q. In Saunders' case -was there an indictment ?-A. Yes.
Q. And what was the result of the trial ?-A. He was found guilty and the judge

reserved the case and the full court affirmed the finding.

By Sir Char-les Hibbert Tupper

Q. What was the point reserved ?-A. Whether a voter, first, would be pernitted
to give evidence as to how he voted, and second, as to whether he could be compelled.
The court held, following the English case, that the voter had a right to give evidenice
and could be compelled to give it.

By 3r. Sifton:

Q. In the William Clark case what was the result there ?-A. The jury disagreed
in two trials.

Q. William Clark was tried twice ?-A. Yes, and the jury twice disagreed.
Q. In Thomas Anderson's case ?-A. The jury disagreed, and I only tried him ouce.

By Sir Charles Hibbert TUpper:

Q. In your eighteen years as a Crown prosecutor how many times have you tried a
prisoner twice ?-A. Several times.

Q. IHow many times ?-A. I cannot just remember.

-By fr. Siftou :

Q. You tried a man named Chamberlain twice ?-A. Yes, I think the first time
the jury disagreed. I remember a murder case where I had two trials, that man that
was killed in Winnipeg; the man is now in the penitentiary for it.

Q. It is not unprecedented by any means ?-A. No.
Q. Then in the Mawhinnev case, what happened ?-A. The jury acquitted him.
Q. In the Waller case ?-A. There was no bill found by the grand jury.
Q. Now, I want you to give the Committee your opinion, Mr. Howell, as to whether,

upon these four cases upon which a conviction was not secured, you now think as a
Crown counsel after what transpired on the trial that you were justified in bringing the
prosecutions ?-A. I have no hesitation in saying so, and 1 have no hesitation in saying
that the Chief Justice, who was the trial judge, agreed with me. If there was a hint
that the evidence was not sufficient I would have dropped them.

By 3fr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. How do you know ?-A. Because I intimated to the Chief Justice in at least one
case, and perhaps in two, that if he thought there was not enough evidence I would
drop it. At all events, in my opinion there was no doubt about it.
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By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You are not saying that the Chief Justice agreed with you in every case 3-A.
I say the Chief Justice charged in my favour every time.

By Mr. Si fton :

Q. You had serious difficulties in getting on with these prosecutions, Mr. Howell ?-
A. Yes; I had great difficulties.

Q. Difficulties arising from obstacles being thrown in your way ?-A. Well, I
think so ; of course I may be wrong, but J was not assisted.

Q. It was currently reported-I was away, of course, and do not know what took
place-it was currently reported that determined efforts m ere being made to call off the
prosecutions ?-A. Well, I know inducements were held out to me to stop them.

Q. What were they ?-A. Well, when I made the arrests in Carberry, J was
asked to bargain them off.

Q. By whom ?-A. By Mr. Gregory Barrett.
Q. Who is Gregory Barrett ?-A. He is a solicitor in Carberry. I think he is Mr.

Boyd's solicitor.

By M1r. IIugles :

Q. Do you know that ?-A. I think he was the solicitor of record in the election,
but I will not say so.

By M1fr. Siton:

Q. The point is that Gregory Barrett came to you in regard to the suppression of
these prosecutions ?-A. Yes; Le waked me up in bed, in Carberry, between two and
three in the morning.

Q. Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper suggested, when vou were being examined as to the
numoer of persons you were consulting with, that thev were Liberals, and you said they
were ?-A. Yes.

Q. Barrett is not a Liberal ?-A. No.
Q. Is he the same gentleman who was the revising oflicer under the Dominion

FranchiseAct for Marquette ?-A. For Marquette or Macdonald J I think it is Marquette.
Q. Then he is a prominent member of the Conservative party ?-A. Yes.
Q. What took place between you ?-A. He offered, if I would drop the prosecutions

to unseat Boyd and disqualify him. I let it go far enough for that, and then J called
his attention to the fact that I could not consent to such a thing, that you could not
disqualify him by consent. Then le offered to produce the evidence in order to dis-
qualify him if I would drop the proeecution. I told him I could not consider it; in
one case I was employed by the Crown, and I happened to be employed as Attorney on
the record on the other case, but I could not consider the two together.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. That is what you mean by bargaining ?-A. Yes.
Q. I thought it was some money offer ?-A. They have never approached me in

that wav.

By Mr. Sifton:

Q. You regarded the duty in which you were engaged in these ballot box cases to
be the duty of a Crown officer in criminal cases ?-A. Yes. And J toid him that they
must not be considered together at all.

The Committee adjourned.
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HOUSE OF CoDIoNS,
TUESDAY, 3ISt May, 1898.

The Committee met ; Mr. McMullen, chairman, presiding.

Mr. H. M. HOWELL, recalled, testified as follovs

By Sir Charles Hibbert Ttpper :

Q. Mr. Howell, will you state shortly what documents you brought with you to
this examination or what papers or books ?-A. Do you mean besides what you have got?

Q. I would like you to state shortly what you did bring, what you looked up and
what you brought with you ?-A. I brought with me a copy of what I might cal[ my
account, that you already have ; a copy of the letter which accompanied it; a copy or
rather, perhaps, the draft of the report upon the cases that I made, and a lot of vouchers,
and a package of letters f rom the various attorneys who rendered accounts to me, and I
think that is all. Oh, I have copies of some evidence given at the trial.

Q. In what case ?-A. I will look at it. The cases are the Queen vs. Anderson,
Queen vs. Mawhinney, Queen vs. Saunders, and Queen vs. Clark.

Q. What is that a copy of ; what do you mean by a part of the evidence ?-A. J
think I have only the evidence of Freeborn.

Q. Not a complete copy of the evidence taken at the trial ?-A. Oh, no ; not al;
I could not get that in the time.

Q. What you have is about all ?-A. I would not like to say that is all. I have
got copies, I say, of some of the things. I would not say all.

Q. Have you copies of the informations laid ?-A. Yes.
Q. Of what date is that one in your hand ?-A. This one is dated-the one against

Thomas Anderson is dated 22nd December, 1896. I brought everything that I thought
would

Q. Have you named about everything now ?-A. Well, I think so. For instance,
I have some notes here, I see. I just picked up anything I thought would refresh my
memory. These are notes I have evidently taken at the trial in some cases heard.

Q. Have you named everything ?-A. I think so. Oh, pardon me one minute. I
have got some reports fi om some other solicitors whom I employed. I asked them to
report to me in some cases what their evidence was. I have some of these, I see.

Q. Is that all ?-A. Yes; that is all.
Q. You had in your hand, when Mr. Sifton was examining you, a document, and

attached to that was a letter. Do you remember that document ?-A. That was the
document I showed you.

Q. What was that document ?-A. That is what I have in this bundle of papers
here. It is a great collection of what I have named.

Q. A general collection of papers ?-A. Yes.
Q. With no arrangement whatever ?-A. I can arrange them, of course.
Q. I didn't ask you if you could arrange them, but what J wanted to get is, was it

any document that you used in connection with the trial ?-A. Well, I used them as an
epitome of what I had, to a certain extent, at all events.

Q. In the trials ?--A. Yes, and perhaps in work preliminary to the trials.
Q. When was the bulky document you hold there prepared 7-A. I take it it would

be prepared from time to time and stuck together.
Q. But when ; before the informations were laid ?--A. Before the informations

were laid ; some of it.
Q. Can you fix the date; the informations were laid in December, 1896 ?-A. It

would be before that.
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Q. About what tiie ?-A. It must have been during October and December, or
perhaps September.

Q. What was it prepared from ?-A. From all information I had gathered.
Q. Therefore it is a sort of brief of facts ?-A. Or a history, perhaps.
Q. Ba'sed on the information you had collected ?-A. Yes. When I would get a

great mass of information together I would call in the shorthand writer, and get that
together in that shape.

Q. Was it prepared before any of the parties were arrested ?-A. I think the
whole of it was collected then.

Q. Would you allow me to see it ?-A. Well, there is this objection: the position
I take is a trying one. The Dominion Government is the private prosecutor.

Q. We have nothing to do with private prosecutions, this is an inquiry by the
Parliament of Canada.-A. There are confidences reposed in me, and I see private
letters in here.

Q. The last letter you showed me had nothing in it that might not be made public,
and it may be the saine with these 2-A. I see a telegrain here, which is certainly
private.

Q. Is that awkward ?-A. It might compromise some one.
Q. Is that the only thing you object to having shown ?-A. I have not looked at

these papers for a year and a half, and it would be impossible without going over them
to sav whether there is anything.

Q. This is in connection with all the cases 2-A. Yes, it is part of the memo. I had
at the time. I feel that my client in this matter is the local government, and it is just
as if the Dominion Governinent cannot occupy any other position than private
prosecutor. If you had a coinage case up there the Attorney-General could stop it ; that
is my idea of the law.

By _1r. Wood (Brockville)

Q. Well, if they were your clients, Mr. Howell, would not they pay you ?-A. I
never stopped to think. At any rate the Attorney-General of Manitoba authorizes
every prosecution, whether the Dominion Government or John Smith is the private
prosecutor.

Q. That being so, why should there be a change and the Dominion Government
pay for prosecutions initiated and carried through by your clients ?-(No answer giv en).

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tujper:

Q. I ask you now if you will produce that document ?-A. I do not want to refuse
to, but--

Q. Then you will save time if you hand it over.-A. Well, let me take out these
letters and telegrams.

By 11r. Morrison:

Q. Do you object to produce thein ?-A. I do not object to produce anything I
have here.

By Sir Charles Riibbert Tupper.:

Q. For whom were you acting in these cases?-A. I was acting under instructions
from the Attorney General and had to do what lie said.

Q. The IManitoba Government denied that ?-A. I do not care ; I was under the
control of the Attorney General.

Q. They denied you acted for them ?-A. Well, I got my instructions from the
Attorney General of Manitoba.

Q. Do you object to producing that document or not ?-A. Before I do that will
you let me read something, leaving out names, and ask you whether I amn to make
public a document that vilifies a man ?
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Q. I don't want you to read anything : I ask you do you object to produce the
document ?-A. Yes; because I find here statements which would be very damaging,
such as this: "This man is absolutely unreliable." I do not want that to come f rom
me.

Q. You have made some unpleasant remarks in another case ?-A. Where I had
evidence. I do not want to make mistakes, and when I see here a statément that a
man is absolutely unreliable I do not want to have that document made public.

Q. Are you willing or unwilling to produce it ?-A. I am most unwilling.
Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER-I move that the witness be directed to put the

document in.
A discussion among members of the Committee ensued.
Mr. McMULLEN- In the first place, Mr. Howell in his evidence bas outlined very

clearly and distinctly some fifteen or sixteen cases in which prosecutions
were had, and the basis on which these prosecutions were conducted ;
he bas also given the results. Now, I think that to put a stop to all this business should
be the chief object both of the Parliament and this Committee. If, for instance, Mr.
Howell is compelled to lay before this Committee every note, that is every item of in-
formation that he may have got privately and promised to keep as private even although
it was a basis on which he proceeded, the result will be that the names of all people who
gave Mr. Howell information will be given out to the public and how will you ever in
future get any man to aid in putting a stop to these things, and then how are we going
to put a stop to this sort of thing in elections when no man will give information ? Our
zbject is to find out if lie had sufficient basis to go on. He has outlined very clearly the

basis on which he proceeded. If Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper thinks he can in any way im-
prove the evidence with regard to that and he states what additional evidence lie hopes to
bring out, then it might be right to compel the witness to produce certain portions of it
but to produce all these memos. of the counsel, to compel them all to be exposed as
exhibits will be wrong.

Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER moved the following motion : "That Mr. Howell be
directed to produce his brief, or the memo. that he has made with regard to these
prosecutions in Manitoba."

The motion upon being put to the Committee was lost on division-Yeas 4, nays 13.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. Will you take out of that the document entitled "l How the Grits carried the
elections ? "-A. That was never in this document, I kept tha-t locked away in my private
files while I had it.

Q. You spoke of evidence gathered suggesting a gigantic scheme; and you
remember speaking of the impression this evidence made on your mind ?-A. Yes.

Q. At what time approximately was that ?-A. That it worked to that vastness ?
Q. Where you considered it suggested a gigantic scheme ?-A. It would be as

early as July, 1896; it might have been August, but I think it was July.
Q. Who gave you the information as to this idea of the night school in Winnipeg,

what you call the night school in connection with frauds ?-A. That is to say, who gave
me the first hint about it?

Q. You gave the Committee a description of what you called the night school for
schooling up officers in fraud -- A. I tiink Mr. Sifton told me be had gathered

Q. I don't want to know what Mr. Sifton gathered ; do you remember who gave
you that information ?-A. It would be a gradual collection of hints till I got the evidence.

Q. Now, at what time did you get information which enabled you to describe to
the Committee what this night school in Winnipeg was ?-A. It would probably be
in July, 1896, when I got the positive evidence that satisfied my mind.

Q. Was that in writing?--A. No.
Q. Did you have a written memorandum ?-A. No.
Q. Not a scrap of writing ?-A. No.
Q. Had you a note of that scheme outlined in the shape of a brief ?-A. Oh, of

course, I suppose I could not carry it all in my mind.
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Q. What has become of it ?-A. A good deal of it is epitomized in this document
I declined to produce.

Q. Now, what I ask you is, who were your informants in July, 1896 7-A. Mr.
Sifton put me on to it.

Q. What do you mean by " put you on to it?" what did Mr. Sifton tell you ?-A.
Mr. Sifton told me he was convinced there had been a scheme to educate the deputies
in Winnippg to defraud the electors of their votes.

Q. Did he give you any reason for that belief ?---A. He probably
Q. Not what he probably did; I ask you as a matter of fact if he gave you any

grounds for the belief ?-A. I am inclined to think he told me they used to meet in the
Leland House.

Q. I am not asking what you thought; I ask if Mr. Sifton gave you reasons for
his belief that there was general fraud ?-A. I cannot say he did.

Q. Can you say that he did at any time ?-A. I can say this, he told me to
investigate it.

Q. But did he name a single individual who oould prove it ?-A. Well, he might
have given me Anderson's name.

Q. I am not asking you what he might have done but whether you can state posi-
tively ?-A. I cannot say positively. I am inclined to think he suggested Anderson's
name.

Q. Did he suggest Freeborn's name ?-A. Freeborn was not connected with Win-
nipeg. That was out of his jurisdiction.

Q. But before that did he suggest the use of Freeborn's name 7-A. I cannot
remember. I cannot fix the time.

Q. Do you remember any definite information that Mr. Sifton gave you before
starting you on this fishing excursion which you describe ?-A. As to Winnipeg?

Q. Take the information as early as July, 1896, any information that you can state
positively Mr. Sifton put in your possession--what you can positively state ?-A. I
think I can state positively that he gave me the fraudulent ballots in July.

Q. Are you able to say that without qualification ?-A. Oh, I think so. He gave
me the ballots in July.

Q. Were these the stolen ballots ?--A. The stolen ballots, yes.
Q. Where did he tell you he got them ?-A. My memory is that he did not tell me

at first who he got them f rom. He said, " There, if you don't believe that they are
stolen ballots, there they are."

Q. How many were there ?-A. There were nine marked and a great sheaf of
unmarked ones.

Q. And he told you they were stolen ?-A. He said, " There are the marked ballots."
Q. Did he tell you they were stolen ?-A. They were initialled.
Q. Did he tell you they were stolen or did you infer that ?-A. He told me they

were stolen.
Q. Did he tell you how he got them ?-A. I am inclined to think that he told me

it.was from Freeborn. I am not sure that it was that day.
Q. Did he tell you of any other case of stolen ballots except those connected with

Freeborn 7-A. Not stolen ballots.
Q. What time was that ?-A. Again I would have to be very general; I think it

was in July.
Q. You think so?-A. I think so.
Q. Who gave you the information respecting the Dauphin poll?-A. Well, I think

Mr. Burrows gave me some.
Q. Do you know as a matter of fact who gave you the information concerning the

Dauphin poll -A. I think Burrows directed my attention to it.
Q. You are not able to say positively ?-A. I think I am able to say that he

directed my attention to that poll and I investigated it for myself.
Q. You are not able to give me any other more positive answer -- A. No. He

directed my attention to it as something very crooked.
Q. What time was that ?-A. It is very hard to say.
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Q. What month was it in ?-A. As early as June or July.
Q. You cannot say positively ?-A. i cannot say positively.
Q. Was that in writing ?-A. No.
Q. Was it reduced to writing ?-A. I would take notes of it.
Q. Did you as a matter of fact reduce it to writing?-A. I am sure I did.
Q. What has become of that ?-A. Like all other inemos. taken by iawyers it may

be in existence but it is very questionable.
Q. You have some papers in existence now ?-A. Oh, yes.
Q. Is it c>rntained in that document which the Coimmittee ordered you to refuse to

produce ?-A. Some of it in there, no doubt. I will read that part of it.
Q. I do not want you to read it ; I want the whole of it or none ?-A. I do not

want to make inyself liable to libel suits.
Q. Your recollection is faulty about a great many of these things ?-A. I suppose,

like the average counsel, where they have a thousand witnesses.
Q. You are quite liable to be mistaken ?-A. Yes, quite liable.
Q. Do you remember bringing in the name of Mr. Barrett in your evidence here ?

-A. Yes.
Q. You did not hesitate to suggest some very unpleasant things in connection

with that gentleman yesterday ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you think that was an honourable proposition he made to you which you

told us of ?-A. I do not think it would have been honourable for me to accept it acting
for the Crown.

Q. The proposition practically was, to compound these offences ?-A. Well, to drop
them. That was his proposition.

Q. I don't suppose you had much worse statements in that document about other
individuals in Manitoba than the statement you made about a brother barrister ?-A.
I am afraid I have.

Q. Are vou able to say positively that Mr. Barrett was acting in connection with
the election petition at all ?-A. I think at the trial he was assisting-he was certainly
present, and I think he was assisting.

Q. Was his name on the record ?-A. It was either Willie Tupper or Colin Camp-
bell on the record. I would not like to say which.

Q. Are you able to say positively that Mr. Barrett was engaged in that case at all
-are you able to say that without qualification ?-A. I think I can say this, that Mr.
Barrett supplied

Q. I would rather you would use the other term. I am asking you whether you
have that fact, or is your mind clear on the point, so as to enable you to say positively
whether Barrett was in that ?-A. I am sure that Barrett supplied me with the evi-
dence that unseated Boyd. One of the stipulations was that they should supply me
with that evidence and Barrett produced it.

Q. Is that the best answer you can give ?-A. 1 think that is most complete.
Q. Now, do you think the same charge involved in the case of Mr. Barrett was

made in reference to Colin Campbell ?-A. Yes.
Q. And that was made in the Winnipeg Tribune of January 19th, I believe ?-

A. Yes, I remember that.
Q. Look at the article (Exhibit X) which states that Colin Campbell, Q.C., made

the proposal to drop the prosecutions-you saw that ?-A. Yes, and saw it at the time,
and felt very sorry that it was published. At the saine time I am sorry to say I believe
it to be true.

Q. You volunteer that statement now ?-A. I am bound to say so, because it
involves another gentleman. I think I am entitled to make a statement with regard to
that. Mr. Colin Campbell came to my office when these prosecutions were going on and
while the election trial was going on and had a ccnversation with me. It was a con-
versation between two gentlemen and I am not in the habit of repeating these. After
this conversation was had between us J went to the Attorney General, as I felt it my
duty to do, and I reported to him what I thought Colin Campbell said and, I may sav,
what I bave no doubt he said and that was this: " If we disqualify Boyd will you stop
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these prosecutions ?" I thought he said that. I went straight fron that conversation
and reported it to the Attornev General and the Attorney General told me of course
that we could not do that.

Q. Do you state on your oath that he said that to you ?-A. I state that I thought
he said that.

Q. I am asking you whether you are going to give us what you thought he said or
whether you are willing to take the responsibility of saying that he did say so? Give us
his actual language ?-A. It was so extraordinary that I went at once to the Attorney
General and that is what I reported to the Attorney General. I supposed it was a
private conversation between us, and when it got into the newspaper Colin Campbell
came to me. 'He was very much offended, and I was sorry that it had got into the
newspaper and I said that I was perhaps mistaken.

Q. When you said that you were perhaps mistaken was that a sincere stateient ?-
A. No, it was not. But Mr. Campbell said I was mistaken, and I make mistakes like
other people.

Q. Look at the Winnipeg Daily Tribune of Tuesday, the 26th January. and see
this paragraph. I will read it:-

"A week or so ago in the course of a report pertaining to the electi on trials the
statement was printed that Mr. Colin H. Campbell, Q.C., had made the proposition to
the lawyers on the other side, that if the prosecutions were dropped Boyd would vacate
his seat. Mr. Campbell explains that while he acted for Mr. Boyd in the protest, he
was careful not to mix himself up in any way with the criminal prosecutions and the
lawyers on the other side, while at first under the impression that Mr. Camphell had
acted in all cases, quite see how matters were confused and how, especially in view of
Mr. Campbell's positive statement to the contrary, it must doubtless have been another
lawyer that made the proposition ? "-A. Exactly, yes.

Q. Before that went into the paper did Mr. Campbell come and see you ?-A. Yes,
and we had a long chat.

Q. And did you see the people connected with the Tribune ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did you know as a matter of fact, Mr. Campbe'l had threatened the paper with

an action for libel ?-A. I did not know that.
Q. Did vou ever hear that ?-A. No; but I did try to help a brother professional

man.
Q. You did not ask him if he had threatened a libel action ?-A. No.

By Mr. Sifton

Q. Do you think it is likely that he did ?-A. I do not think so or I would have
known of it.

Bu Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. I am informed that he did and as you have no knowlege it is perhaps just as
well that you should not be so sure on the point ?-A. No; I told Mr. Richardson that
I was exceedingly sorry that the article went in.

Q. Willyou say that you did not admit to Mr. Campbell that the charge in the
Tribune which I just showed you and which has been put in evidence was founda-
tionless ?-A. He came to me and discussed that with me, and I said "Colin, I could
not have made a mistake," because 1 went to the Attorney General right away and
reported it.

Q. I ask you whether you did or did not admit that the charge was without foun-
dation ?-A. Certainly not.

Q. Never on any occasion ?-A. No.
Q. To any one?-A. No.
Q. Are you positive ?-A. I may have told the Tribune man that lie was mistaken

in order to get them to correct it in the paper, but I certainly told Mr. Campbell that
I was confident that he made that statement to me; but I would do anything to right
him in the newspaper.
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Q. Did you ever suggest to anyone else this story about Barrett? Did you ever
mention his nane in Winnipeg ?-A. I reported that to the Attorney General.

Q. To anyone else?--A. I do not think I would, but probably I told Colin Camp-
bell; I am not quite sure.

Q. Will you say positively that it was Barrett ?-,A. That Barrett had made such
a proposition?

Q. Yes ?-A. Barrett had iade such a proposition some time before.
Q. Will you say that positively ?-A. Yes, I think so.
Q. I am not asking you whether you are giving us simply what you think; are

you clear enough that you can say as a matter of fact that it is so ?-A. I am positive.
I told Mr. Campbell that Mr. Barrett had made a similar proposition to me.

Q. When did you tell him that ?-A. It would be at one of the two interviews.
Q. Let us get the month in which you told hin that ?-A. What is the date of the

Tribune?
Q. The first one is dated January 19 ?-A. It would be along ab, ut that date.
Q. You tell that from the newspaper reference ?-A. Yes.
Q. Where did that conversation take place ?-A. Which one?
Q. The conversation in which you told Campbell that Barrett's proposition had

been made.-A. In my office.
Q. Was anyone present ?-A. I do not think so.
Q. Are you sure ?-A. Oh, yes, there would not be any person present at a con-

versation of that kind.
Q. What time of the day was it, morning or afternoon ?-A. I could not say that
Q. Nor the week ?-A. No.
Q. And you can only fix the date by looking at the paper ?-A. Yes; because

shortly after it appeared in the paper we tried to correct it.
Q. What did you tell Mr. Campbell, giving us your words 3-A. I could not give

the language.
Q. Do you say positively that that was what you told him 3-A. I can say positively

that Mr. Barrett made a similar proposition and I would not consider it for a monient.
Q. Did you tell him where that proposition was made ?-A. I do not suppose I

did; I may have told him though.
Q. Did you tell him that Barrett purported to he acting in the matter of one of

these petitions ?-A. I could not have told Mr. Colin Camnpbell that.

By Mfr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. The Court could not consent to the disqualification of a man 3-A. No, they
would have to give evidence. I told him: " You have to produce evidence of that."

Q. Did you say that to Mr. Campbell ?-A. I do not know whether I said it to
Mr. Campbell. I said it to Mr. Barrett. I told him that "you cannot consent to it
because the Court would not do it without evidence."

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tuppr.-

Q. Do you remember very clearly the trial of the election petition against Mr.
Boyd ?-A. Oh, yes, I remember it thoroughly well.

Q. You drew the petition, didn't you ?--A. Yes, I must have.
Q. Do you recollect that you had a clause in the petition covering these frauds

you have referred to so far as this constituency was concerned ?-A. I cannot just
remember; I have no doubt of it.

Q When that came up for trial you said that you had a settlement of this case
with Mr. Tupper ?-A. I do not think we mentioned a settlement to the judges. I am
quite sure I would not have said that to the Court.

Q. Are you quite sure that Mr. Tupper settled this case with you ?-A. Colin
Campbell settled it, I think.
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Q. You have told us that it was settled with Mr. Tupper ?-A. Marquette was
settled with Mr. Tupper. I think I discussed it perhaps with Mr. Stewart Tupper,
hecause I think Mr. Stewart Tupper was counsel.

Q. But we were speaking of Mr. Campbell. His name was on the record as
attorney in this case ?-A. Yes.

Q. And he was at the trial ?-A. Yes, I think Stewart Tupper was there also.
Q. Mr. Campbell was at the trial ?-A. I think so.
Q. Are you clear enough to remember that -- A. I do not renienber that.
Q. Do you remember that you were at the trial ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you remember that you stated to the Court that you had no evidence to

offer in support of the personal charges against Boyd ?-A. Yes.
Q. And they were therefore withdrawn ?-A. Well, we did not go on.
Q. You remember that ?-A. Yes.
Q. But as to who was acting for Boyd you are not able to recall ?-A, I think his

counsel was Stewart Tupper.
Q. But you are not able to say positively ?-A. Not positively.

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. What became of the petition ?-A. The praver of the petition was granted so
far as bribery by agents was concerned.

Q. By that did you have to produce evidence?-A. They gave me evidence.
Barrett produced a man by the name of Woods.

By Sir Charles Ilibbert Tupper:

Q. In all these cases you incorporated the charges in regard to the irregularities
you have been discussing ?-A. I am not sure that I did in Marquette.

Q. With the exception of Marquette you are pretty sure of the others ?-A. I
think it was so in Winnipeg.

Q. Yes, and in all the others ?-A. I was only counsel in Winnipeg.
Q. You know that the other petitions followed your drafts ?.-A. Yes.
Q. And none of these charges were proceeded with before the election court ?-A.

None of them.
Q. Can you tell when these petitions, Winnipeg for instance, were fyled ?-A. Oh,

I could not. I could tell by inference.
Q. It would be up to 60 days from the 23rd of June ?-A. Forty days.
Q. Yes, 40 days q At what period were they filed ? as a rule vou take the final

period do you not ?-A. I think it would be pretty well on towards the end of the 40
days.

Q. That would carry you into the middle of August ?-A. About the end of July.
Q. You were Counsel in all the cases against Qonservative candidates ?-A. Yes.
Q. Who were associated with you ?-A. I was alone in Macdonald and Marquette,

and another, and I had Mr. Martin with me in Winnipeg.
Q. Any other counsel 3-A. No, I think not; Mr. Mathers, Mr. Martin's solicitor,

would be with nie in Winnipeg. I had grave doubt whether ballot box irregularities
would unseat a candidate, and I have that doubt still.

Q. What is that àpropos of ?-A. You asked me if I proceeded with these
charges ?

Q. Will you undertake to say that it was on account of that doubt that you did
not proceed with the protests ?-A. I do not think so; I think I advised in all that an
election trial is a most expensive matter and if you can unseat a man do so at the least
possible expense.

Q. You told Mr. Sifton that you submitted the evidence to Sir Oliver Mowat before
proceeding further. Was that the February meeting that you spoke of when I was
examining you ?- A. Yes.

Q. That was in February, 1897 ?-A. I just cursorily ran over it in conversatioa.
I did not give him any voluminous documents to read.
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Q. How long did this conversation last ?-A. About an hour, perhaps a little more.
Q. And what material did you submit to him --A. A vast amount of stuff, notes

and everything.
Q. Did you show him that document you had here that you did not produce ?-A.

I may have had that and the reports from the other cases of the attorneys. I got the
attorneys to report very fully before I came down here.

Q. To whom else did you submit that ?-A. No one else.
Q. What did Sir Oliver Mowat tell you ?-A. He told me to select a few cases and

indict them and go on.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville)

Q. A few cases ?-A. A few cases.

By Sir Charles Iibbert flupper:

Q. Did you in these matters pretend to act under Sir Oliver Mowat at any time ?-
A. Not unless what I told you is acting under him.

Q. You are aware that the Department of Justice have explained that they knew
nothing about the matter until asked to tax the costs ?-A. I did not know that before.

Mr. Sifton objected to this question as being misleading on the grounci that it was
the Minister who would give the instructions and that a subordinate official could not
come here and say that instructions were not given.

]]y Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. My question did not mislead the witness a bit; it is this, and will serve my pur-
poses as well in this form--if the officers of the department have stated here that they
had no knowledge of this prosecution business until they were asked to tax the bill of
costs and knew of no instructions whatever excepting that, would that surprise you ?-A.
It would, because I had talked with Sir Oliver Mowat.

Q. Had you an interview with the Minister besides that one day with him ?-A.
No.

Q. You corresponded entirely with Mr. Sifton?-A. I do not think I ever wrote
to him about it.

Q. But I have produced a letter from you. You never drew on Sir Oliver Mowat?
-A. No, I did not suppose Sir Oliver Mowat would accept the draft and I wanted the
money powerful bad.

By Mr. Campbell:

Q. You did not go round talking to the officials ?-A. No.

By Sir Charles flibbert Tupper :

Q. And when you sent in your account you sent it to Mr. Sif ton, did you not?-
A. Yes.

Q. At that time you would suppose you were acting under Mr. Sif ton rather than
under Sir Oliver Mowat, would you not ?-A. Well, as I said before, I do not thînk the
question of money troubled me at all.

Q. I am not talking about money, I am asking who you were acting under ?-A.
Let me answer it in this way, that in February after this conversation I went to Mr.
Cameron and asked him should I proceed ? and he said yes.

Q. Drawing on Mr. Sifton for money, sending accounts to Mr. Sifton, sending no
communication whatever to Sir Oliver Mowat as you have explained, you still maintain
that you were acting under instructions from Sir Oliver Mowat and considered yourself
to be acting under him rather than under Mr. Sifton ?-A. I considered myself to be
acting rather under the Attorney General of Manitoba as the man who alone could con-
duct that prosecution.
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Q. That is to say, technically, and professionally, if we may so use the terms, you
were acting for the Attorney General of Manitoba and looking to Mr. Sifton for your
monev ?-A. Well, perhaps that was the way.

Q. And you got the money from Mr. Sifton ?-A. Yes.
Q. You got 819,000, you and the other counsel ?-A. More than that.
Q. Well, how much did you get from -Mr, Sifton ?-A. Well, Sir Hibbert, the total

in Exhibit " A " is S19,724.63, and that does not include Richards and Bradshaw's bill.

By Mfr. S!Iton :

Q. That includes the $3,000 you were paid in Manitoba ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Outside your papers have you anything, outside of Exhibit " A," as to the dates
of payments ?-A. T can give you the exact date.

Q. The 83,000 was paid in Decenber ?-A. Yes. The other items would be all
either shortly prior to or upon March 27th.

Q. Have you any accounts ?-A. No.
Q. Would your book show it ?-A. My books would show only what I got, the

other counsel drew separately on Mr. Sifton, as I understand, but with iy sanction. I
looked over their bills and saw that the fees and disbursements w'ere on a certain
standard-well, I understand the disbursements are not disputed, I saw that the fees
were on a certain standard.

Q. I am asking you for the dates ?-A. Upon or about 27th March.
Q. What portion of the money ?-A. All except Richards and Bradshaw's bill.
Q. All the $19 000 except Richards and Bradshaw's bill ?-A. No. These were all

of the drafts mentioned in Exhibit " A," and were drawn on 27th March. The $3,000
which is in pencil at the bottom of Exhibit "A" was received in October, 1896. Rich-
ards and Bradshaw's bill which is in Exhibit "A " was rendered and drawn for shortly
after Exhibit "A" was written.

Q. Where did you suppose the $19,000 was coming from? -A. I thought Mr.
Sifton would get the money from the Dominion Government.

Q. You supposed he would get it ?-A. 83,000 had already come from them.
Q. How did you arrange this draft with Mr. Sifton ?-A. Mr. Sifton was in Winni-

peg.
Q. Was that arranged in July 2-A. Yes, Mr. Sifton was in Winnipeg and we

arranged it.
Q. How was it arranged ?-A. These young men who were conducting the cases

wanted money and they came to me and I advanced them money. I drew on Mr.
Sifton; I told him J must have money and he told me to draw on him.

Q. Did he tell you there was no appropriation ?-A. I think so, and to draw on him.
Q. You remember that petition; don't you remember this ?-A. Well, he told me

to draw on him, and I think he told me that it was because there was no appropriation.
Q. And he drew on you ?-A. I think he drew back once.
Q. Did you dishonour his draft once ?--A. I do not think I did. If he drew on

,me it might have come while I was out on circuit.
Q. And you did dishonour it ?-A. No, I did not dishonour it, but it might have

been delayed by my being away. He may have drawn on my firm.
Q. So the S19,000 was paid on March 27th ?-A. On or before.
Q. You stated to Mr. Sifton that you proceeded in this matter as you had done for

the long period of years during which vou were the Crown prosecutor in Manitoba ?-
A. Yes.

Q. You acted under the Norquay Government and the Greenway Governient ?-
A. Yes.

Q. And supported both politically ?-A. Yes.
Q. And continued on as Crown prosecutor ?-A. Well, I was opposed to the Green-

way Governnent until after Mr. Norquay's death, but I prosecuted for every Government.
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Q. Prosecuted and supported thein ?-A. I opposed them part of the time.
Q. You support Mr. Greenway now ?--A. Yes.
Q. Is it usual to employ Pinkerton detectives in hunting up crime in Manitoba ?-

A. Yes.
Q. In what class of cases ?-A. In murder triais, and also in sexual crimes.
Q. You have done that how many times, twice ?-A. Oh, I think more than that.

You see they are very convenient to us.
Q. How many can you name ?-A. I think four or five besides this.
Q. This will be the fifth?--A. I an speaking roughly.
Q. Did you ever order three men in these cases ?-A. No, but sometimes we change

theni. Sometimes we get a man who is utterly unfitted for the work and we have to
get another.

Q. I ask you if you ever ordered three ?-A. I think I never had more than two
at a time, though I have changed them ; when I found a man unfitted for the particular
work I got another.

Q. In all the 18 years of your prosecutions as a Crown Counsel in 'Manitoba you
never had such a large bill of costs ?-A. No.

By fr. food (IIamilton):

Q. You never had so nany witnesses ?-A. I never had 1,000 witnesses in a case
before.

By Sir Charles ILbbert Tupper:

Q. You prosecuted uiider two sections of the Code ?-A. One section in the Code
and one in the Election Act.

Q. Was it section 329 of the Code, regarding the stealing of election documents, is
that it ?-A. I do not think that is the clause. I think it was under section 503 of the
Criminal Code.

Q. Mr. Howell, you did not charge any of these parties for a conspiracy of any
kind, or if so, which ?-A. I do not think so; I was just hesitating whether Waller was
charged. No, Waller was charged for inciting, and aiding and abetting.

Q. And this man Saunders, who was convicted, he was bailed by Rutherford
during the trial?-A. For one night, I think.

Q. And he was appointed a Justice of the Peace by the Manitoba Goverunient
after his conviction, was he not?-A. No, I do not think he was; I would be surprised
if it was so: Mr. Rutherford bailed hin for one night until he could get bis friends in.
He had to go to gaol or get bail for that night.

Q. You are not aware that Saunders was appointed a Justice of the Peace ?-A. No.
Q. What sentence did he get ?-A. I do not know. A case was reserved and he

was let out on bail until the reserve case was disposed of, and the sentence was not
my business.

Q. I supposed you would take a great interest in these cases. You had said these
offences were so rank that they were worse than seven murders; were yo not interested
in seeing that the proper sentence was imposed ?-A. Once I get a conviction I am only
too glad to see a poor devil get off as easily as possible.

By fr. Sifton:

Q. It is the Court generally that sentences the prisoners ?-A. I should think so.

By Mr. Borden (Hahjax) :

Q. Are you not usually present when judgment is given by the Court ?-A. Yes, I
was present when judgment was given on the reserve case but not on the sentence.
This was at Portage la Prairie.

Q. I am asking you if it is the practice to be present ?-A. If I am in Court, I am;
if not, I arm not.
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By Mr. Wood ( Brockville ):

Q. You are usually present ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you are asked if there is anything further against that prisoner ?-A. Yes.

By 1fr. Sifton :

Q. As a matter of fact you were present ?-A. I was present when judgment was
given on the reserve case.

By 3fr. Borden (Halifax):

Q. When judgment is given, or sentence, as you call it, is it not the practice of the
prosecuting lawyer to be present?-A. Yes.

Q. That is vour practice ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tapper :

Q. You do not know the sentence ?-A. -No.
Q. You do not know whether it was a heavy or a light one ?-A. If you will allow

me to speak from memory, it was six months in gaol, I think. It w- Pretty nearly the
maximum. You can steal a horse and get tive years in the peiîcztimry, steal a
constituency and get one year at nost.

Q. Did you expect to get the jury, when you went into these cases, devoid of
politics ?-A. Certainly not.

Q. You have referred here as a reason for acquittal to the fact that these cases
were political?-A. Yes.

Q. Was it a surprise to you to find both Liberals and Conservatives on the juries?
-A. I expected that and so reported to Sir Oliver Mowat that it would be a inatter of
difliculty to get convictions no matter how flagrant the case might be. I am an old

jury lawyer and know how it would be.
Q. You had a jury the same as in the others in the Saunders case ?-A. Yes.
Q. That did not prevent you getting a verdict in that case ?-A. No.
Q. Yoi are aware that Saunders while denying the charges in connection with the

ballot business admitted that he had conspired with Freeborn to rob the Conservative
committee, that he stated so before the jury ?-A. Yes.

Q. That was used against him on the charge for conspiracy, was it not, and led to
his conviction ?-A. I think he would have had a better chance if it had not been for
that evidence.

Q. Freeborn was examined extensively as to character, was he not ?-A. In the
first place he was.

Q. Did it not corne out in testimony that he had been guilty of crime before lie
came to Manitoba ?--A. No.

Q. Was there nothing about burning a bouse down in Seattle ?-A. No.
Q. Are you quite positive about that ?-A. Yes.
Q. What did corne out about his character ?-A. Well, I do not like men who will

be with one party and then give away the information he obtains. I do not like
informers.

Q. He was discredited by the juries ?-A. Oh, I would not admit that.
Q. You think they believed him ?-A. Very largely, and I think the Chief Justice

was impressed with his evidence. Of course he had to take the part of an informer.
There was no other for him.

Q. What came out about his character ?-A. That he had not been successful in
business matters.

By fr. .Rutherford:

Q. What came out about North Bruce ?-A. No, I did not think it fair to bring
that out. It was brought out otherwise.
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By Sîr Cliarles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. What was brought out ?-A. That he was unsuccessful in business ventures.
I think that was the utmost brought out.

Q. You think he was believed by juries ?-A. Oh, I think so. I have had many
times to put informers into the witness box, and as an informer I think he gave his
evidence wonderfully well.

By Mr. Somerville

Q. Were you present at the preliminary trial at Carberry when Freeborn gave his
evidence ?-A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember the nature of the evidence he gave there ? There is a report
of that evidence in the Winnipeg Daily Tribune (14th January, 1897), which reads as
follows: " Freeborn stated that he was seen by Mr. Boyd, one of the candidates, at
Carberry about 22nd May, and was told not to go out of town next morning as a man
was coniing to see him. Next morning before the witness was up Waller came to his
room and told hini about the proposed manipulation of ballots, and showed him how it
was done. Witness said Waller stated he had got the scheme in a letter from Mr.
Birmingham of Toronto, the Conservative organizer for Ontario. Waller asked him to
go out along the line of the Manitoba and North-west Railway and educate the deputy
returning officers. Witness said Saunders at Gladstone was one of his students, but did
not learn the trick as quickly as most of the others, and had to get two or three extra
lessons. Witness was present while Waller gave Saunders a lesson in manipulating the
ballots. Freeborn stated that he was named as a returning officer, but declined to act
just before the election. He stated his instructions were to substitute ballots for those
handed in by GTrit voters or by Patrons to take f rom the other sides whichever might be
strongest."' You were under the impression, Mr. Howell. from what you heard of this
preliminary trial that the conspiracy was not altogether hatched in Manitoba ?-A.
Freeborn told me it had its origin in the East.

Q. In Ontario, and that Birmingham was the man who sent Freeborn out to mani-
pulate the elections ?-A. No, but that Birmingham gave Boyd a certificate of character
for Freeborn.

Q. Did you ever see that document before ?-A. This telegram, yes.

By 3fr. Richardson :

Q. In saying that he gave him a certificate of character you mean a certificate of
his aptitude for carrying on this crooked work ?-A. This telegram which is here pro-
duced is one that Freehorn handed to me. He handed to me the original telegram ; I
took pains to see that it was the original telegram. It reads :-" He was a first-claSs
man in North Bruce." It is directed to N. Boyd, Neepawa.

By MVr. Wood (Brockville) :

Q. Do you know that Mr. Birmingham has denied that ?-A. No.
Q. Was it not stated here by Mr. Montague and Mr. Hughes that he had denied

it? Did you hear that evidence given ?-A. I was present when it was given.
Q. This is a newspaper report that you are referring to now ?-A. This is a copy of

the telegram.
Q. This is what purports to be a copy of what is printed in the paper ?-A. I

think it is a lithograph I think it is an exact copy.

By Mr. Somerrille:

Q. You saw the original telegram l-A. Yes.
Q. And this is a correct copy of the original telegram? A. I have no doubt about

that because I saw this paper with it in.
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Q. You say that it was sent f rom Toronto on the 20th May, and that it was sent
to Boyd at Neepawa.-A. Yes ; Boyd lives at Carberry, and Neepawa is north of that.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. What is the telegram ?-A. It reads: " He was a first-class man in North
Bruce."

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. Is that the whole telegram. Read it all.-A. It reads

May 2Oth, 1896.
From Toronto, Ont.

To N. Boyd, Neepawa.

He was a first-class man in North Bruce.
ROBERT BIRMINGHAM.

That telegram Freeborn swore Boyd handed to him.

By Mr. Silton :

Q. Where ?-A. At the Magistrate's trial.
Q. That was produced in court ?-A. Yes; he swore that Boyd handed him that

telegram in Carberry and that upon that night Waller taught him and went over with
him the manipulation of the ballot.

By fr. Wood (Hamilton)

Q. Did you see the original of this telegram -A. Yes.
Q. And this is an exact copy of it ?--A. Yes ;I think it is an exact copy.

By fr. Somerrille

Q. Taken in connection with this evidence by Freeborn, what was your idea in regard
to his instructions when he went up there ?-A. I certainly thought that Freeborn was
instructed to go up on the Manitoba and North-western Railway and teach the deputy
returning officers how to manipulate the ballot.

Q. And that lie was certified as a good man by Robert Birmingham ?-A. Well, he
produced that telegram.

By Mfr. Borden (fHaljax):

Q. Have you any personal knowledge that Mr. Birmingham sent that telegram ?-
A. I do not know Birmingham. I did not know there was such a man until I saw
this telegram.

Q. When you speak of the original telegram you mean what ?-A. It was not in
his writing, of course, it was in the telegraph operator's writing. I satisfied myself
that there was such a telegram came from the telegraph operator at Neepawa.

Q. How? -A. I either sent up there to make inquiry or did something of that
sort.

By .Mr. WVood (Brockville):

Q. What did you do?--A. I took that telegram to the telegraph office at Winnipeg
and asked the clerk there " Is that a genuine telegram ?" They can tell by the initials
of the receiver. He said " Yes, that is a genuine telegram," and I think he gave me
the naine of the operator. I made further inquiries to see that it was a genuine
telegram.
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By Mr. Borden :

Q. You satisfied yourself that a telegram, sent by whoin you do not know, was
received ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles. Hibbert Tupper:

Q. What is the name of the operator ?-A. I cannot remember now.
Q. Do you know the office ?-A. It was Neepawa.

By Mr. Sutherland:

Q. Had you evidence to show thbat Freeborn was an active and well known
operator in Ontario ?-A. I knew nothing further than what Freeborn told me and
that telegram.

Q. You did not know of your own knowledge whether, as a matter of fact, he was
a well known political worker in the province of Ontario ?-A. No.

By Sir Charles Ilibbert Tupper :

Q. He lived in Seattle ?-A. Yes. I think he was there about a year and then he
came back to Winnipeg, or rather to a place north of Carberry. He has a brother
living north of Carberry, and he took part in the local election about nine months
before this general election.

The Committee adjourned.

HOUSE OF COMMONS,
COMMITTEE RooM 50,

WEDNESDAY, June 1st, 1898.

The Committee met-Mr. Wood (Hamilton), in the absence of the Chairman,
presiding.

Mr. SIFTN.-I want to put in a couple of letters. I have searched through my
private correspondence between the 23rd of June and the time I was sworn in as a
member of the government to find if I had any correspondence in regard to this matter
and I have found a letter I wrote to Sir Wilfrid Laurier on the 17th July. I cannot
put in the letter book of course, because it is a private letter book, but I have brought
the letter book so that the copy can be verified.

Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER.-This is a copy taken froni your private letter
book.

M1r. SIFTON-Yes; I have no objection to your verifying the copy if you wish.
Sir CHARLES HIIBBERT TUPPER.-I have no doubt it is a copy.
Mr. SIFTON.-I put this letter in (Exhibit " Y.")

[Confidential.]
WINNIPEG, July lth, 1896.

Hon. WILFRID LAURIER,
Ottawa, Ontario.

DEAR MR. LAURIER,-The result of the late elections in some of the c>nstituencies
in Manitoba indicated to me that a fraud of some kind had been perpetrated in the
interest of the government candidates. I at once placed skilled detectives at work and
have now in my possession conclusive evidence of an organized system of tampering
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with ballots which constitutes the most colossal crime against honest elections whicli I
have ever had any knowledge of. I now know that two constituencies were secured
by means of these practices. I think it can be proved eventually that others were
secured in the same way. I am almost in a position to say that there are strong indi-
cations that the same practices prevailed in Ontario. As I have said above, detectives
are now at work and my purpose is to promptly but secretly push the inquiries and
secure evidence upon which to convict the guilty parties.

It is also most important that no means be left untried to unearth the-se frauds in
the province of Ontario and punish everyone guilty of complicity. The bearer will
explain the matter somewhat in detail.

The expense of such an investigation here is altogether beyond the financial com-
petency of my department, although I have assuined the responsibility of inaugurating
the work and carrying it on so far, from my conviction of its far-reaching importance.
I now think, after careful consideration, that it is the plain duty of your governnent
to furnish the necessary funds for the service in order to carry on this work here, and
to take the matter in hand in Ontario yourselves. I therefore request that the expense
of conducting these inquiries and prosecutions should be borne by the federal govern-
ment. The money will be duly accounted for in detail by me as the oflicer having
charge of the administration of justice in this province. I have spent a considerable
portion of my time since the elections in connection with this inatter and I cannot
conceive any more urgent public duty resting upon you as Premier of the Dominion,
than to leave no stone unturned to expose these frauds and punish the perpetrators.
You must be aware that representative government and vote by ballot are simply
a farce if such practices are permitted. In view of what I now know I am almost
surprised that any Liberal was returned in a close constituency.

I cannot impress upon you too strongly the necessity of an immediate and favour-
able reply.

Yours faithfully,
CLIFFORD SIFTON.

In reply to that I got a letter from Sir Wilfred Laurier. The letter which Sir
Wilfred Laurier wrote me was marked confidential. It refers to other inatters, and I
want to file a copy of that portion of the letter which refers to this matter, but I have
no objection to the rest of it being verified.

Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER.-YOU state that the rest of it does not refer to this.
Mr. SIFTON.-No, it refers to other matters, and as it is marked private and confi-

dential, I do not think I should put it in. I put in the portion relating to this matter
(Exhibit " Z.")

24th July, 1896.
The Hon. CLIFFORD SIFTON,

Winnipeg, Man.

I feel confident that you will unearth the most odious conspiracy that has taken
place for many long years, and we will most willingly furnish the necessary funds for
the service, in order to carry on the work in which you are engaged.

WILFRED LAURIER.

105



61 Victoria. Appendix (No. 2E.) A. 1898

Mr. H. M. HOW ELL. recalled, testified as follows

By Sir Charles Iibbert Tupper:

Q. Mr. Howell, in your evidence you stated either to Mr. Sifton or to myself, I
think it was to me, in referring to your first conversation with Mr. Sifton in answer to
the following question :--

" Q. That was anterior to your retainer? "-" A. Well, at the time. Then he
produced ballots and admissions by deputy returning officers, and it was a staggering
blow to me.

Q. Did he produce the admissions of the returning officers ?-A. That surely must
be wrong; he could not have done so.

Q. Is that correct ?-A. Oh, no.
Q. He did not produce the admissions of the deputy returning officers ?-A. No,

there must be a mistake somewhere.
Q. In the latter part of your exanination you say that Mr. Sifton produced to you

ballots which he said had been stolen ?-A. Yes.
Q. You spoke of the Holland murder case as an instance where you had proceeded

somewhat in the same way ?-A. The Holland murder?
Q. Was it not the Holland murder? You remember that case ?-A. Yes.
Q. You say that was a case in which you had employed detectives and proceeded

in the sane way. Do you remember the reference you made to it ?-A. Yes, I was
retained in the Holland murder case.

Q. You remember it ?-A. Yes.
Q. In that case vou acted for the local government ?--A. Yes.
Q. Which cost the province $3,000 ?-A. I could not tell that, because the Depart-

ment spent all the money there. I was simply the counsel, and they paid what I
directed them to pay.

Q. In that case you spoke of fishing for evidence. We know what that means?-
A. Yes.

Q. In that case you proceeded as in these to get evidence to convict ?-A. Yes, of
course.

Q. What did the jury do on that case ?-A. There were two Holland murder eases.
In the last case they did not convict.

Q. Was there a political jury ?-A. No.
Q. When you spoke so frequently as to politics preventing your success in these

cases am I to understand you as merely giving your opinion or stating what you know
to be a fact ?-A. It was only my opinion, of course.

Q. The evidence would read very differently ?-A. It is only my opinion.
Q. You were merely volunteering your opinion because there tiappened to be

political aspects in the case ?-A. Yes. When I lose a case I attribute it in my own
mind to a cause ; for instance, in the Holland murder case I did not get a verdict
because 1 thought the jury were hardly justified in giving a verdict. I was perfectly
satisfied with the result.

Q. Although you bad proceeded in that case on information given to you by
detectives ?-A. I am not sure whether we had a Pinkerton detective in that case or
the local detectives.

Q. Still on the information produced you felt justified in putting the case before a
jury ?-A. There was a woman murdered in the open field and I thought it should be
investigated.

Q. You spoke of having followed your usual practice, not the usual practice of
solicitors, in regard to keeping no account of the witness fees.-A. I could not say I
kept no account, but I did not myself take receipts from the witnesses, and 1 do not
think any of the other solicitors did.
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Q. As a leader is it your practice usually to look after that part of it at all? Do
you disburse witness fees ?-A. Never in my life have I done so, or at least never for
many years paist.

Q. Did you in this case ?-A. Not in this case.
Q. Not a dollar of them ?--A. I do not think I paid 500 out of S3,000.
Q. Who did pay out the money ?-A. I think several young men paid it. I think

the sheriff's office disbursed a certain amount for me.
Q. What sheriff ?-A. The sheriff at Portage la Prairie.
Q. What is his name ?-A. I do not mean the sheriff himself, but his officers.

His name is Sheriff McLean.
Q. You do not know whether he paid it out personally or wvhether it was his

officers ?--A. I do not suppose he did it personally. I checked off everything at night
afterwards.

Q. On what these people told you. They did not produce vouchers ?-A. No : but
I knew the names of the witnesses, and we left it to them to calculate the mileage.

Q. I understand that you did not get vouchers from them ?-A. No : they gave me
statements, which I verified.

Q. ln crown cases in Manitoba is it the custom to pay witness fees for the crown'?
A. Always. For witnesses attending the Assize Court they pay always, but witb wit-
nesses attending magistrates trials the crown does iot usually do that because usually
a magistrate's trial is brought on by a private prosecutor.

Q. Is it the custom for officers in crown prosecutions in lanitoba in paying witness
fees to obtain vouchers?-A. I do not know at al]. I have never done that part of it.

Q. You know so little of the actual handling of cash for witnesses that vou cannot
say whetber it is the practice to take vouchers or not ?-A. I cannot.

Q. Don't you think it is the practice to take vouchers ? Would it not be exceed-
ingly careless on the part of a sheriff or officer to handle witness fees without obtaining
vouchers ?-A. I certainly think not. I know that in civil practice we never take a
receipt from the witness. I never have.

Q. However, you did not personally disburse this money and have no voucher for
it ?--A. I did not personally disburse it and have no vouchers further than the names
of the witnesses and amount paid to each.

Q. Are you able to tell the Committee what was spent? I suppose you are not but
I want to put it to make it clear, what was spent on each. witness in the nature of fees
or allowance. Some got allowances, did they not ?-A. What do you mean ?

Q. Take the case of Freeborn, mentioned as a man who received an allowance and
you gave the ainounts. Can you tell if other witnesses got them also ?-A. Perhaps
Mr. Walker, prothonotory of the Court. I discussed the matter with the Attorney
General and I think we allowed him more than the witness fees regarding bim in the
light of a professional man. He was the custodian of the books and papers and had to
carry a large trunk of them around with him.

Q. Can you tel, us of your own knowledge that other witnesses were not given
allowances as well as fees ?-A. I do not think there was a single allowance.

Q. I do not mean what you think. Are you in a position to sav positively that
the other witnesses were not paid more than their mileage and fees -A. i think that
not a single witness was paid more than that.

Q. You have told us what your belief is. Are you able to say whether they were
not? Will you say positively that they were not paid more than witness fees and were
paid a liberal allowance ?-A. I think I can say that there was a single one.

Q. You have said several times that that was your thought or belief. I want to
know whether you of vour own knowledge are able to say positively that these wit-
nesses outside of Freeborn and Walker did not receive allowances ?-A. I will give this
explanation--

Q. Will you say of your own knowledge that no other witness than Walker or
Freeborn received liberal allowances? Outside of these will you say of vour own know-
ledge that no other witness had a liberal allowance as well as travelling fees ?-A. I can
say of my own knowledge that none got them through me or by my direction, but I
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would like to make this explanation, that other solicitors had paid out money fron time
to time for witnesses and all of these 1 approved. Some submitted them to me before-
hand if they had to send long distances off for a man.

Q. I suppose they pursued the sanie course as you did and instructed the Sheriff's
office did they for witnesses ?-A. They would send a subpena and so on.

Q. But you don't know how they managed the money ?-A. But thev brought me
a statement and I approved of it.

Q. I think vou have told me that you are satisfied that this money was for witness
fees pure and simple, but of your own knowledge you are not able to say whether it also
went for liberal allowances ?-A. I think I can say that it did not go for liberal allow-
ances.

Q. I think the Committee can tell what you think and believe that. I am only
pressing you to say what you can say personally about it ?-A. I cannot speak for what
I did not pay, only that I went into it all.

By Mfr. Fraser (Gtuysborough):

Q. Were all bills submitted to vou ?-A. All bills paid with the names of the
witnesses were submitted to me and approved.

Q. Would any of these show that special amounts were paid for witnesses ?-A.
They would be shown in the accounts that must be already here on file.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. As vou told us, these vouchers were not obtained and are not on file ?-A. I
think there are some on file.

Q. I know there are some but you explained to me that in the cases at the Assizes
you did not charge yourself with the particular witness fees. You simply gave the
instructions for the officers to niake the disbursements and charge the lump sum up ?-
A. Yes.

Q. $3,000 you mentioned ?-A. Yes.
Q. Can you produce vouchers for that ?-A. I produced vouchers for $400 the

other day. I can produce statements of those who received the money.
Q. But not receipts ?-A. Not receipts. I telegraphed some of the money away,

some to Port Arthur to biaing witnesses.
Q. We had all of that. I was only reminding Mr. Fraser who was not present

how it was that you could not get the vouchers.

By-Jfr. Fraser (6Guysborough > ;

Q. I was asking whether the statement as to witnesses would show that there was
no special amount more than witness fees paid ?-A. I have no doubt they would.

By 31r. Sifton :

Q. Did you check over the amounts that you were asked to pay in that way?-A.
Yes.

Q. And you were satisfied in each case that they were all right before you paid
out the money ?-A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Is that statenient that you make that'you investigated each case before the
money was paid out in reference to the Assizes ?-A. No, not at the Assizes. I inves-
tigated them at night.

Q. After the money was paid ?-A. Yes. I left the money with men I could
trust, anJ checked over the payments.

Q. Who were they ?-A. One was Mr. Walker, Mr. G. F. Walker, Prothonotary
of the Court of Winnipeg.
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Q. How much money did you leave with hini ?-A. I should think he must have
paid out a couple of thousand dollars.

Q. At what time ?-A. At different times. I would leave him $100 or $200.
Q. How much at a time ?-A. $200 or 8300.
Q. Have you receipts from him for the monies you paid him ?-A. I an inclined

to think I had.
Q. Have you rhem ?-A. I have not them now.
Q. Do you kriow where they are ?-A. No.
Q. When you handed him this money from time to tine would you specify the

man to whom it was to go ?-A. I left it to hin and then at night he would give me a
statement and we would settle things up and begin clear again the next day.

Q. You gave him lump sums from time to time ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you took receipts you think ?-A. I think I did.
Q. But you do not know what became of them ?-A. No, when we settled up their

mission was gone.

By Mr. Fraser:

Q. You would have the sum total you paid him and compared it with the amounts
he had paid out and when that was done you were satisfied -A. Yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. What was the case in which you got affidavits before going on ?-A. I think it
was in the Clarke case.

Q. In the Clarke case ?-A. Yes.
Q. How many had you?-A. Well, I think that was at Pleasant Point. I think

I had 34.
Q. You had 34 ?-A. I think so.
Q. What was your object in getting these declarations ?--A. To show that so

many more men voted for Rutherford than there were ballots in the box.
Q. Now, where are these affidavits -- A. Oh, I do not know.
Q. When did you see them last?-A. I should think it would be before the infor-

mation was laid.
Q. You do not recollect seeing them since ?-A. No.
Q. Did you take them in other cases ?-A. Yes.
Q, How many ?-A. I think in Mawhinny's case there were eight or ter more

than in the ballot box.
Q. In what other case!-A. I think in Scammell's case.
Q. In what other case ?-A. IL am not sure I had them in the McDole case. It

strikes me I had them in the Anderson case.
Q. You think so ?-A. In some cases I had simply the list of those who said they

voted for Rutherford.
Q. Who got these affidavits ?-A. Various persons.
Q. You cannot give me the names now ?-A. I think Paul Kane got some.
Q. Was Kane a lawyer?--A. No, he was a constable or bailiff.
Q. Was that the character of the men who got these affidavits ?-A. I cannot say.

By fr. Fraser:

Q. Were they prepared ?-A. I think they were prepared.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. What time was it-in July ?-A. I think it was a day or two after the elections,
Q. It was an early day ?-A. Yes, early.
Q. And from these declarations you felt justified in going on ?-A. Yes, that was

one of the things. 109
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Q. I am going to read you an extract from Mr. Sifton's speech in the House of
Commons (June 14, 1897) and see whether you agree with what he there says, as
follows :-" Why, even where the nost honest men make affidavits you cannot abso-
lutely rely upon them as full and correct statements of facts and we have therefore
provided for cross examination. Our law provides that any man who makes an affidavit
inay be cross-examined about it. There is no lawyer of the least experience who does
not know thitt it is of every day occurrence for men who have made affidavits to be
cross-examined and to find out that they have made misleading afidavits without perhaps
having had the slightest intention of so doing, and to lay down the dogma that a man
who makes an affidavit under the advice of his solicitor and who under cross-examination
the court decides had not sufficient grounds for making it, is a wilful and corrupt per-

jurer, is to lay down a dogma which has not the slightest foundation, and I do not
think that any member of the legal profession in a calm unbiased fraine of mind, not
desirous of making a political point against an opponent, would think of submitting a
proposition of that kind." And also:-" And I put it to any lawyer in this committee
if it would not be a most absurd and ridiculous coutention to hold that any man who
makes an affidavit and who should upon cross-examination be shown not to have been
fullv aware of all the facts which would furnish sufficient ground for that atlidavit, was
a wilful and corrupt perjurer? There is no lawyer who knows anything of the proceed-
ings of the courts who does not know that it would be perfectly absurd to lay down any
such doctrine. No doubt Mr. King was culpably careless in connection with the matter,
but every lawyer who has any practice knows that under those circumstances the blame
would very largely lie, not with the man himself, but with the solicitor under whose
advice and direction he gave the affidav'it." Do you agree with these statements -- A.
Quite so.

Q. Mr. King made an affidavit in support of one of these petitions, did he not? -
A. Yes.

Q. Now, Mr. Howell, you know from hearsay, at any rata it reached your know-
ledge as counsel, that he made that affidavit without having read the petition-the
afidavit verifying the statements in the petition -- A. Well, I did not know before.

Q. You agree with this statement?-A. Oh, yes.
Q. Then the affidavits in these cases would not go for much ?-A. If it was an

affidavit with regard to an isolated fact such as "I voted for -Rutherford," I do not see
how a man could make a mistake; but if it was in relation to a chain of circumstances,
why, be might possibly make a mistake.

Q. You felt that these affidavits were reliable ?-A. Yes.
Q. Are you aware that there are no charges for getting these affidavits ?-A. There

are a number of things not entered there.
Q. Not entered anywhere ?-A. I think I am probably like yourself, careless in

making charges.
Q. Then you do not pretend to keep an account of your work ?-A. Not in that

case any more than in any other. I charge a lump sum and my clients pay me.
Q. Would it not be extraordinary not to find accounts for all these bailiffs' trips?

-A. I venture to say that the bailiffs have it.
Q. You think the bailiffs' charges will be found ?-A. They may have done that

for nothing ; I do not know.
Q. Did you keep these affidavits until they were destroyed or put away ?-A. I

certainly nay have had them, but J may have handed them to the solicitors in charge
of the other cases. I probably would.

Q. From what material was this report we have been looking at and you have
been referring to (Exhibit " B ") made up ?--A. That was made up after the trials.

Q. Who made it up ?-A. J did.
Q. From what material did you make it up?-A. I made it up from notes,

memoranda, from my memory and f rom all sources.
Q. From notes in bhat document you had on the table ?-A. No, from my briefs.
Q. From that document too ?-A. No. That document was not used at the trials.

It was rather information for the prosecutions at the beginning.
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Q. You have not the material f rom which you made this report up ?-A. 1 must
have some of it.

Q. Have you it here ?-A. I could not have all of it because I made it largely
from my notes and my memory of what took place at the trials.

Q. Have you notes of what took place at the trials ?-A. No.
Q. Where are they ?-A. I suppose they nust be at home.
Q. You were asked to bring those here ?-A. No, I did not read mv subptna in

that way. I certainly did not bring ny brief.
Q. Have you refreshed your memory from anything lately?- A. No.
Q. You are speaking fron memory, then, in speaking of these trials?--A. I am one

of these lawyers who depends upon memory very largely and rarely take notes. In
speaking to a jury I speak entirely from nemory, so ny notes are a very small matter.

Q. In that Herriman case you admit that the proof was not sufficient to justify a
commitnent ?-A. Oh, I think the magistrate was justified in not convicting.

Q. What were the cases that you selected after Sir O iver Mowat told you to take
four or five and leave the rest ?-A. They were Saunders, Clark, Anderson, Mawhinney,
that is four deputy returning officers, and Harry Waller, Boyd's agent, for inciting.

Q. And that is the same conversation as you before referred to, February, 1897,
when Sir Oliver told you to do that ?-A. Yes.

Q. Did he suggest to you to do that or did he instruct you, acting for the Crown,
not to exceed four or five ?-A. Well, after a considerable conversation and after point-
ing out the large expense that must necessarily be incurred, the question discussed was

shall we go on," and it was decided that we should. Then Sir Oliver Mowat in his
courteous way did not command me but said it was best to go on with a few cases.

Q. You agreed with him ?-A. Well, I did not quite agree; I was willing to do
anything lie said. After that I went to Winnipeg and told the Attorney General what
.Sir Oliver Mowat told me and asked if I was to proceed ?

Q. You know the difference in ny question between suggestion and instruction;
was this a suggestion from Sir Oliver Mowat or an instruction ?-A. I took it as an
instruction.

Q. Did he instruct you to go on with the cases ?-A. How can I answer that ?
Q. Put it in other words did he instruct you to go on or did he leave it to your

own judgment?-A. He did not direct me, but I certainly took what he said as a direc-
tion as to the course of proceeding.

Q. But you are not able to answer the question more directly as to the conference,
the nature of it, the result of it, and finally, were there instructions ?-A. There must
have been instructions, because finally they decided that we should go on.

Q. Who was it decided that ?-A. The whole of the Ministers talked about it and
decided that we should go on.

Q. Then it was not Sir Oliver Mowat ?-A. Al the Ministers decided.
Q. Then it was the Ministers as a whole ?-A. Well, Sir Oli ver told me, " you had

better go on with a few cases."
Q. Now you mentioned in one case about two witnesses coming to you after you

failed in the trial to secure a conviction ?-A. Yes, that was in the Mawhinney case.
Q. Where was that trial ?-A. At Portage la Prairie.
Q. Where did the witnesses come to you ?-A. In the court house.
Q. Where is Holland ?-A. Some distance south of Portage la Prairie.
Q. Where is Treherne ?-A. Near Holland.
Q. Did the wmitnesses cone to you at Holland, Treherne or Portage la Prairie ?-

A. At Portage la Prairie. It seems so strange that these people should come to me ;
I had the whole country side from Hlolland and Treherne there; the cost of the
Mawhinney trial was S1,200. These two men were part of the crowd that were there.

Q. Where did you enter the names of these witnesses, did you make any entry of
their names at any time ?-A. I probably did.

Q. You are not certain you made any entry ?-A. I could not swear.
Q. On direct examination you said that you probably put them on your brief ?-A.

Well, I might have.
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Q. Have you your brief here ?--A. No.
Q. You do not know their names ?-A. No.
Q. What did they tell you ?-A. Well, they told me that Mawhinney was not tell-

ing what was right when he said he did not talk to Freeborn.
Q. Where did they say they saw him talk to Freeborn ?--A. At their town.
Q. Where was that ?-A. Treherne or Holland:
Q. Which was it ?-A. I think Holland, but I am not certain.
Q. They said they saw Freeborn talking to Mawhinney at Treherne or Holland,

and told you this. you do not know whether before the verdict or not ?-A. I think
before the verdict was given. I think the sheriff brought thein inside the bar. I an
so much more impressed because I reported the matter to the Attorney General.

Q. Did you report the naines ?-A. I must bave.
Q. Have you a copy of that report ?-A. It was verbal.
Q. You told him two men came and told you that after the trial ?-A. Yes.

By Mfr. Sifton :

Q. You referred to this fact in your former report to the Minister of Justice ?-A.
Yes.

By Sir Charles HJibbert Tupper

Q. In Exhibit "B" this is the statement:-" After the trial was over two wit-
nesses appeared who are prepared to say that they saw Mawhinney conversing with
Freeborn at Treherne about the time Freeborn swore to." In the Arizona case where
did you find that the report here had made a inistake in the number of voters, that you
corrected the other day ?-A. Well, I cannot tell, but here is a change in my own hand-
writing in the report that I have.

Q. You do not know f rom what materials, or when, you changed it 1-A. No.
Q. Having corrected it, you think the one you sent to Mr. Sifton was inaccurate

in that respect ?-A. Yes, but it could have been readily checked from the evidence.
Q. You made a statement in regard to the Chief Justice ? Do you mean to say on

your oath-I do not put that question offensively; you know what I mean-that the
Chief Justice agreed with you in every instance, in every case ?-A. No, I do not.

Q. I was led to that conclusion by the way in which vour evidence was given, and
I thought you were being led into a statement you would not like to make ?-A. I do
not think he agreed with me in every aspect of it.

Q. You are merely giving your impression as I would have given mine after an
argument before the full court ?-A. After hearing his charge to the jury.

Q. That was your impression ?-A. Yes.
Q. You won't undertake to tell the committee that in this case he told the jury to

find a verdict of guilty ?-A. No, he is too good a lawyer for that.
Q. The committee might have inferred that if you had not qualified that state-

ment ?-A. No, I would not say that.
Q. Yeu gathered from his charge that he was impressed with the guilt of some of

these men --A. In my opinion he charged in favour of the Crown.
Q. In this all you mean to do is to express your own opinion ?-A. Certainly.
Q. What cases did you particularly refer to ?-A. The Clarke case.
Q. Where the verdict was what ?-A. Disagreement of the jury.
Q. Was that all ?-A. In both of the Clarke proceedings. In the Alexander case

and the Saunders case.
Q. Where the verdict was "guilty ?"-A. Yes, where the verdict was " guilty."
Q. I think you admitted, Mr. Howell, that Saunders' own statement as to his

having conspired with Freeborn, would have gone a long way towards a verdict of
guilty 1-A. Well, I think it was impossible for him to clear himself unless he could
account for these ballots being in his possession.

Q. I want to get at whether your idea of fairness in this matter is the same
as mine ? I repeat to you this : he admitted on the stand, after denying his guilt of the
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technical charge, that he had conspired with Freeborn to rob the Conservative committee
of $800 ?-A. He did not use that language.

Q. That, I think, is the language of your report ; it is pretty near that ?-A. He
simply said, to accommodate Freeborn.

Q. Your report reads : " Saunders went into the box and swore that he was never
instructed by either Freeborn or Waller, and that he initialled those ballots merely for
the purpose of assisting Freeborn in getting money from Boyd, in which he, Saunders,
was to have a share," which is a conspiracy to rob Boyd. I ask you f rankly, for the
purpose of seeing how fair you are to all concerned in the evidence you have given
here, whether that in your opinion would not have gone a very long way to secure the
conviction of Saunders ?-A. Certainly. There were ballots initialled by him and he
had to account for them.

Q. That statement would have gone a long way to secure his conviction ?-A. He
had to say something about that, and that was the least he could say.

Q. I did not ask you that ?-A. How else could I put it?
Q. I will take your answer ; I am content with that if you are ?-A. I an content.
Q. The only inducements that were held out to you to stop the prosecutions was

this case of Barrett, or have you any other to mention ?-A. Inducenients to stop the
prosecutions ?

Q. You mentioned that there were inducements held out to you to stop the prose-
cutions and you went on to speak of what happened at Carberry, where you said
Gregory Barrett approached you with a proposition ?-A. If you call it an inducement.

Q. It was, your own terni. I want to know if you have any other cases ?-A.
None. Of course, there was that conversation I had with Mr. Campbell-that is, my
view of that conversation.

Q. Is there anything else ?-A. I think there is nothing else.
Q. You spoke of the great difficulties you encountered in going on with the trials ?

-A. Yes.
Q. Have these all been described by you or have you any additional diticulties to

mention ?-A. There were the difficulties of getting men to go there after the election
is over to swear how they vote, because they do not want to see any man get into
trouble---a neighbour who is a deputy returning officer, they do not want to get into
trouble.

Q. And there is the difficulty of knowing whether a witness voted as le swore ?-
A. It is a difficulty, but there was a greater difficulty which I do not care to go into.
It must be apparent to your mind.

Q. I want to know if there were any more difficulties than those which you have
mentioned ?-A. There is a difficulty we always have under our jury system, and I
have nothing to say against the jury system.

Q. Is it a difficulty that applies to every jury trial ?-A. No, it is a difficulty that
applies to every jury trial where politics are involved because these jurymen came there
with political bias, and Portage la Prairie swarmed with politicians, and it would apply
to these jurors.

By Mr. Clancy:

Q. Was that on both sides ?-A. I have no doubt that it was on both sides. I do
not think that the angels are all on one side.

By Sir Charles JJibbert Tupper:

Q. Have you any partiçulars to give to this committee to warrant you in making
this positive statement ?-A. No.

Q. You could not give them? Then it is just your opinion ?-A. Oh, yes; it is
beyond an opinion.

Q. How far beyond an opinion 2-A. I could not shut my eyes to the fact that
certain classes of jurymen associated in one place, and certain other classes associated in
another place.
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Q. With their friends in each case ?-A. With their political friends.
Q. Political more than personal ?-A. I fancy more political.
Q. Are you speaking as a witness or as a gentleman who bas been a counsel in

the case and who has got a certain impression ?-A. It is more than that, I know it.
Q. Are you speaking as a matter of fact; are you making this statement in such a

way that you can prove it ?-A. I know this, that the jurymen were divided into
two camps.

Q. Can you speak without giving us generalities?-A. I knew it because I had
seen them coming to the court house in that way. They would come in swarms. The
Conservative jurymen went iii one pack, and the Liberal jurymen in another pack.

Q. Where did that occur ?-A. When they went to the court house in the
morning.

Q. What court house ?-A. The court house in Portage la Prairie.
Q. Who were the Conservative jurymen ?-A. I cannot tell you. I do not think I

can tell you the name of one of them.
Q. Did you know them all ?-A. I knew them pretty well.
Q. I want to know whether you knew thein when they came into the court house,

when they were coming, the Conservatives in packs and the Liberals in packs ?-A.
Certainly.

Q. What were their names ?-A. I do not know.
Q. You cannot give their names ?-A. No.
Q. At that time how many Conservative jurymen had you coinflg in with the

Conservative portion ?-A. I do not know, but they came in packs.
Q. Can you remember ?-A. There were eight or ten or twelve together oi more.
Q. Or more, you say ?-A. Yes. That is so.
Q. You cannot give any more particulars ?-A. No.
Q. Will you undertake to say that eight jurymen came together, to the Portage la

Prairie court house ?-A. Yes ; I think I can say that and more than that together.
Q. You say that ?-A. More than that.
Q. And these eight were all Conservatives.-A. I think so.
Q. Will you swear to it that there were eight Conservative jurymen that came

into the Portage la Prairie court house together ?-A. They were reputed to be Con-
servatives.

Q. You will swear that positively ?-A. Yes.
Q. Were there more than eight ?-A. Yes.
Q. Were there more than nine ?-A. Yes.
Q. Were there more than ten ?-A. Yes.
Q. Were there more than eleven ?-A. Yes.
Q. Were there twelve ?-A. I think I would go up to twelve.
Q. How many were there altogether ?-A. Forty-eight.
Q. Forty-eight Conservative jurymen ?-A. Forty-eight jurymen on the full panel.
Q. How many Conservatives and how many Liberals were there ?--A. I think it

was pretty nearly evenly divided.
Q. Did you know that of your own knowledge ?-A. I did not know the political

bias of a single juryman there-not a single one, only just as it was reputed, and by
their actions I gathered that.

Q That is all you mean when saying that they came in packs and that they were
politically biased ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Clancy :

Q. You concluded that when a man did not agree with you he was a Tory ?-A. I
cannot say that they differed with me, but I gathered that those who went together
with their political friends were Çonservatives and those who went in another way were
Liberals.

Q. Referring to Exhibit "V," the statement of disbursements, there is an item:
October 2nd, J think it is, for " evidence, confession, $350." What is that ?-A. That
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was money paid to Freeborn, and that is evidently the way the bookkeeper took to enter
it. I did not miake the entry.

Q. How do you know that?-A. I directed that payment I know.
Q. S350 to be paid to him on October 2nd, 1896 ?--A. I think that was about the

date.
Q. And it is charged to his evidence ?-A. That is the way it is entered.
Q. The next charge is Freeborn, S25. There does not seem to be any trouble about

entering his name there. What is the difference between charging Freeborn in this
way for " evidence, confession, 8350 " and "J. A. Freeborn, $25." Why distinguish the
two cases?- A. I'do not know ; it is my bookkeeper's writing.

Q. On September the 12th he is charged direct, $160. You do not know why that
is put in for evidence and confession?-A. No.

Q. As you read it there and see the date J suppose it is clear that he was paid
that much for his evidence i-A. [ think it is. I think I likely told the bookkeeper
that it was paid for that purpose. J think it would have been better to put Freeborn's
name.

Q. Whatever you told him was correct ?- A. I have no doubt.
Q. Freeborn rendered no other services except such as you have mentioned in

assisting in prosecuting these people ?-A. That is all.
Q. I asked you as to the sentence in the Saunders case, and you didn't remember

it. Do you remember any sentences in the other cases ?-A. There was only one other
sentence. There were no others.

Q. J think there was another ?-A. No, Saunders was the only man convicted you
know.

Q. Oh, I thought one of the Andersons was ?-A. No, the jury disagreed.
Q. Then there was only one conviction and you do not know the sentence in that ?

-A. Yes ; the jury disagreed in both the Anderson cases.
Q. The evidence at these trials, was it taken by the judge or was there a stenogra-

pher, was the evidence preserved ?-A. We had a stenographer and the evidence is
preserved. The notes were preserved but they were not transcribed.

Q. And you can get the notes ?-A. The notes exist.
Q. Who had charge of these notes ?-A. The stenographer.
Q. He is a government officiai 1-A. Yes, and I could have got then now if we

had wanted them, but I had not time to get a copy made.
Q. You will be good enough to see that they are not destroyed because they may

be wanted ?-A. Oh, they would not be destroyed.
Q. I think it would shorten a great deal of the questions I propose to put. I do

not think iýwill bother you with the incidents of the trial. The committee ultimately
will have all these reports extended. And nothing occurs to me to ask you further.

Witness discharged.

The committee adjourned.
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HOUSE OF COMMONS, Friday, June 3rd, 1898.

The Committee met.-Mr. McMullen, the Chairman, presiding.

Sir Louis DAVIEs being called, testified as follows

By Mr. Sifton :

Q. I just want to ask Sir Louis to state what he knows about the authorization of
the payment of the expense of these prosecutions by the government ?-A. I connot
recall the exact dates but I remember after the government was formed and many
months before Mr. Sifton came down, as Minister of the Interior, I was asked by the
Premier to serve on a .sub-committee of council on this matter of the Manitoba
election frauds, as they were termed. I cannot remember all who were present besides
the Premier, myself and Sir Oliver Mowat, but I do remember that either one or more
members of the government than these three were present. We three were there at
any rate and the Premier submitted to us certain letters and information lie had
received in respect to the;.e alleged frauds. Of course the facts as lie gave them were
very bad.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. As he gave them "-A. Yes, as the Premier stated them to us.

By Mr. Lister:

Q. And as they have been given here ?-A. Yes, as they have been given here.
And I came to the conclusion that it was one of the most wicked conspiracies ever
attempted in any part of the world against the liberties of the people. I was asked, as
a member of the sub-committee, whether I thought the Government would be justified
in undertaking the responsibility of incurring the expense of these prosecutions, and I
unhesitatingly joined with the others in saying that we would be and I had no doubt
about it at all.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Was this a sub-committee of the Privy Council ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you feel at liberty to state to this committee what a sub-committee of the

Council said ?-A. I did not say what we said. I only stated what took place before
the committee and what evidence was given. The result of it was that the Premier
was authorized to write a letter to Mr. Sifton.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. At what date was the sub-committee formed ?-A. I cannot remember the
date; it was a long time before Mr. Sifton came down here.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper.:

Q. Just state the result of it ?-A. The result of it was that the Premier was
authorized to intimate to the Manitoba authorities that the Dominion government
would undertake the responsibility of prosecuting these parties.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Was it before Mr. Sifton was taken into the Cabinet ?-A. Yes, long before.
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By Mfr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. Is there anything by which vou can ascertain the date of that meeting, because
it has an important bearing on the matter ?-A. No, I made no memorandum at the
time, but it was a long time before Mr. Sifton came in.

By. Mr. Fraser:

Q. What was the date of the letter that was sent 2-A. I do not know.

Ry Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You speak of this as a sub-committee of council. Was it appointed by order
in council ?-A. No.

Q. Did the sub-committee make a report to His Excellency ?-A. No.
Q. No order in council was passed on the subject ?-A. No; we were simply asked

by the Premier to meet as a sub-committee of council and consider certain information
he had received.

Q. In other words, it was an informail conference of the members of the govern-
ment 2-A. You may describe it in that way-a meeting of the memb rs of the govern-
ment called at the request of the Premier to act as a sub-conimittee.

Q. But no executive action was taken ?-A. No: we simply requested the Premier
that lie would take the necessary action to carry out our decision.

Q. Was it reported to His Excellency ?-A. Not formally reported.
Q. No order in council passed ?-A. No order in council until later on when

authority was given to make payments.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. Do you know, as a niatter of fact, >f pavments having been made before that
meeting of council was called ? As a matter of fact, they were 9-A. Before the meeting
of the sub-coimittee to which I refer?

Q. If the meeting was held a long time before Mr. Sifton was sworn in as Minister
of the Interior, then I say there were some payments made before that meeting ?-A.
I know nothing of it. I cannot think that it is possible that at that time payments
were made by the Dominion government.

By Sir Chiarles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. How many letters did the Premier submit to the sub-committee 2-A. I do not
think lie submitted more than one, but he stated the substance of what had taken place.

Q. Is that the letter Mr. Sifton put in ?-A. I have not seen it.
Q. Mr. Sifton offered in evidence a letter of which this is a copy. Ilere is. the

letter:

" WINNIPE(G, July I7th, 1896.
"Honourable WILFRID LAU.KILR,

" Ottawa, Ontario.

"DEAR Mn. LAURIER,-The result of the late elections in some of the con-
stituencies in Manitoba indicated to me that a fraud of some kind had been per-
petrated in the interest of the government candidates. I at once placed skilled
detectives at work, and have now in my possession conclusive evidence of an organized
system of tampering with ballots which constitutes the most colossal crime against
honest elections which I have ever had any knowledge of. I now know that two
constituencies were secured by means of these practices. I think it can be proved
eventually that others were secured in the same way. I am also in a position to say
there are strong indications that the same practices prevailed in Ontario," and so on.
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Do you recognize this ?-A. That is the substance of the information, but I thought
it went more into detail to show the alleged frauds that were perpetrated in Manitoba.

Q. Did you have others than this before you ?-A. I do not know if that is the
letter.

Q. You cannot say that this is the letter ?-A. I cannot say positivelv. I cannot
recognize it except that the letter you read contains information of the sane character
as the Premier gave us.

Q. Had you affidavits before you, at that meeting?-A. Sir Wilfrid Laurier gave
us to understand that he had more information than he gave us, that he had letters; I
do not know if he had affidavits.

Mr. FRASER (Guysboro').-What was the date of that letter ?
Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER.-The 17th July, 1896.
Mr. FRASER.-And the date of the reply ?
Sir CHARLES HIBBERT TUPPER.--The 24th of July.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Can you say whether that conference took place in 1896 or 1897 ?-A. I can-
not say ; it was before Mr. Sifton ever came down to join the governinent. It must
have been before 1897.

Q. That is not the conference which Mr. Sifton attended ?-A. He was not there
at all.

Q. Was that the only conference you had ?-A. The only formal one, although
there were conferences of an informal character between the Premier and myself.

Q. At that time did the subject come up as to where you would get the money to
pay for this expense ?-A. No : not specifically, only the question as to whether
we should comply with the request.

Q. The question af assuming it ?-A. The question of whether we should authorize
these trials and apply to Parliament for payment of the money.

Q. Was a decision reached that the Dominion government should bear the
expense ?--A. Yes.

Q. Was that communicated to the Manitoba government ?-A. The Premier was
authorized to communicate, or the government was authorized to communicate that we
would defray the cost of the prosecutions.

Q. Who was Minister of Justice at that time ?-A. Sir Oliver Mowat.
Q. Do you know why he was not made the means of communication in regard to

egal matters ?--A. I do not know whether he was or was not made the means of com-
Imunication, but I know that this informal meeting came to this conclusion, and we coin-
mur.icated it through him or the Premier to the Manitoba government.

Q. You distinctly recollect that the Premier or someone was authorized to notify
Mr. Sifton that the Dominion government would bear the expense ?-A. I do not know
that it was Mr. Sifton, but the Manitoba government.

Q. The whole of it?-A. There was not a word said about the whole of it or the
small of it. We were to authorize them to go on with the prosecution and we were to
bear the expense.

Q. There was no question of sharing part of the expense or anything of that kind?
-A. No.

Q. You were to bear the whole of it ?-A. My impression is that we were to bear
the legitimate expense. I think Mr. Sifton was instructed, pursuant to the letter the
Premier submitted to us, or letters he had received and other information. I do not
know if that was the letter, but I understood that one of the letters was in the form of
a letter from Mr. Sifton.

Q. How did you associate it with the Manitoba government ?-A. Mr. Sifton was a
member of the Manitoba governiment.

Q. He was Attorney General of the Manitoba government, was he ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is the only way in which you fixed the date ?-A. I feel absolutely sure.
Q. You are positive it was before Mr. Sifton left the Manitoba government ?-

A. Yes.
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By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. I want to ask you one question. Is it not very probable that the Premier did
not carry that letter around in his pocket, but that he consulted you and that this
meeting was held shortly after its receipt ; inasmuch as you cannot remember the tiine,
is it not probable that the meeting took place shortly after the Premier received that
letter, that would be some time in July or August ?-A. It is possible I have no
means of fixing the date.

Q. But that letter, I think, fixes the date ; I do not think the Premier would hold
that letter, which be considered so important, long after be received it ?-A. Your
suggestion seems very probable ;I should say it was probable.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. As a result of that conference, what did be reply to Mr. Sifton ?-A. I do not
know. There is a letter here from the Premier to Mr. Sifton, they tell me.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

Q. You had no letters yourself ?.-A. No, I was merely called in by the Premier
to hear the facts as he had them and advise whether in my opinion it was advisable to
pay for this work from the Dominion treasury.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville) :

Q. You do not know what date that was ?-A. No, I have no means of fixing the
date.

Q. I consider it of some importance as bearing on the investigation ?-A. I did
not follow the investigation.

The Committee adjourned.
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EXHIBITS REFERRED TO IN THE NINTH REPORT OF THE PUBLIC
ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE.

(Exhibit A.)

Re BALLOT BOX PROSECUTIONS.

OFFICES : 411 MAIN STREET,
WINNIPEG,.MAN., 27th March, 1897.

The Honourable CLIFFORD SIFTON,
Minister of the Interior, Ottawa, Ont.

AMY DEAR SIR,-I am now in a position to close up this matter. The chief disburse-
iments were paid by me from funds raised by Mr. Cameron and myself in the bank here.
Some of the disbursements to witnesses and the police and for incidental purposes were,
however, paid by the various counsel whom I employed. The details of their payments
are in their bills. I have examined them and find them correct. I have given authority
to draw on you as follows

Perdue.... ................................. .. S 541 15
O. H. Clarke ........ .................. ........ 1,660 85
Metcalfe....... ................................. 823 75
Wade, ...................................... 1,270 60

These are the bills of the various counsel engaged by me, with their disbursements.
In addition to those bills my firm have paid those men a few hundred dollars, which is
shown in the general statement which 1 also inclose, and it is also credited in their
various accounts.

I have also paid magistrates and their clerks the sum of $902. The details of
those bills I also inclose you. The magistrates have made a strict account of their
actual expenses, and on the advice of the Attorney General I have allowed them 85 a
day, which I think is reasonable, except in the case of Mr. Dawson, a barrister, who
insisted on a much larger payment, and he was paid at the rate of $10 a day.

I have paid constables and bailiffs and their livery charges in serving subpænas,
arresting prisoners and attending courts, the sum of $1,230.35. Owing to threats it
became necessarv several times to send constables with Freeborn. I inclose you
vouchers for, I think, the whole of these accounts. You will see I had in sone cases to
very considerably cut them down. I have allowed them at the rate that the local gov-
ernment pays for similar services.

It was necessary in various places to hire halls for the trial of cases before magis-
trates. This I have paid, which amounts to $94.60.

In many cases it became necessary to write to solicitors in different towns and
villages to see about getting witnesses and other matters incidental to the transactions.
Those charges I have examined carefully, and they amount to $44.83.

In the case of witnesses before the magistrates I made it a point not to pay them
except where they had to take railway journeys or where they had to drive long distances
at great expense. In al] these matters I used my own discretion. Where we could not
get the witnesses without paying them, I paid them. In some cases I had to pay for
teams to bring them in. At the assizes the Mawhinney case alone cost us over $1,500
for witness fees, and yet it was the very best I could do. The witness fees paid by me
amount to $4,405.50. This includes payments to Freeborn, and he had to be looked
carefully after.

I inclose you with this letter a consolidated memorandum of the disbursements paid
out by me f rom moneys raised by Mr. Cameron and myself on discounted paper. The

120



Public Accounts Committee.

total amounts to'$7,315.08. One thousand dollars was provided for by draft of Mr.
Cameron on you, less the discount, and the balance by paper of Mr. Cameron's and my
own, which we discounted; and hence the last item of "paid discount, $28.15."

I send you herewith by concurrent post vouchers for all the payments shown in
the inclosed statement except witness fees. The witness fees I cannot give vouchers
for. They were paid at all odd times, some by maiiing, some by cheque, and a large
portion in cash. It was impossible to get vouchers for the various payments. I think
under the circumstances the department must take my affidavit that those moneys were
paid for witnesses.

Mr. Cameron has drawn on you for $6,315.08 at three months, plus the cost of the
discount, which is something over $100.

You will observe that there is still outstanding the account of Richards & Brad-
shaw. I have not yet got this accoùnt, owing to Mr. Bradshaw being in British
Columbia. I fear it will amount to in the neighbourhood of S1,000. That I hope,
however, is the last.

There were examined before the magistrates 774 witnesses, many of whom were
brought long distances; and at the assizes there were exanined before the grand jury
about 150 witnesses and before the petit jury 176 witnesses. There were nine indict-
ments preferred in Portage la Prairie, upon seven of which the jury returned true bills.
Fifteen deputy returning officers had information laid against them, two against each;
ten were committed for trial ; Scammell confessed and four were abandoned. Inform-
ations were also laid against Henry Waller and George Anderson, who were committed,
and against Dennison and Roberts of Glenboro', whose cases were not proceeded with.

When all this is considered, the costs after all are perhaps not so extraordinarily
heavy.

To recapitulate:-The disbursements paid out by me are shown in the inclosed
statement. The small amounts paid out by the other counsel are shown in their
statements. Separate drafts have been drawn upon you by the various other counsel
for their bills, and they have drawn for their bills, less the 8140 paid by ne to them, as
shown in the inclosed statement. I have joined with Mr. Cameron in a draft on you
for the inclosed bill of disbursements, which is the amount paid out by me, less the
81,000, Cameron's first draft on you.

And now as to my own bill, I inclose you with the vouchers a memo. of sone of
the things I have done in connection with this matter. A great deal has been done
that is not entered and I do not see how I can do otherwise than make a lump charge.
I have made up my mind that my fees should be the sum of $5,000, and I have made
out my account in that way ; and believing that would be satisfactory, mny firm have
drawn on you for that sum at three months. This fee is not merely for my own
services, but it involved a large amount of clerical work.

By concurrent post are the various vouchers for the solicitors' bills, including our
own bills and all other accounts, except the witness fees ex[lained as above.

The drafts upon you, then, are as follows :-

The Honourable .T. D. Cameron's first draft ..... .... 81,000 00
The draft of Mr. Caneron and myself............. . 6,428 08
Perdue..................................... 541 15
W ade. ........... ................. ......... , 1,270 60
M etcalfe..................... ......... ........ 823 75
Clarke...... .... ...... ...................... 1,660 85
Our own ........... .......................... 5,000 00

$16,724 43

I enclose you with the vouchers a report of the cases made up in two sets. The
first is a report of the cases tried at the assizes and the second the report of cases
tried before the magistrates; and at the end of this second series I have appended report
as to certain other deputv returning officers against whom no proceedings have been
taken.
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I laid two informations against each of the Deputy Returning Officers-one under
section 100 of chapter 8 of the Revised Statutes of Canada, and the other under sec-
tion 503 of the Code. The first one was for putting into the ballot box ballots not
marked by the voter, and the second was for destroying ballots which voters had handed
to them.

You will find by looking at the last page of my report on cases tried at the a-ssizes
some general remarks showing that throughout the riding there seemed to be a general
disregard of the law : and you will find at the end of the second report that I remark
upon some of the irregularities in Marquette, Lisgar and Provencher.

Believe me, yours sincerely,

H. M. HOWELL.
Ene].

P.S.-The vouchers and report are enclosed with this letter.

(E.xhibid B.)

REPORT OF CASES TRIET) AT THE ASSIZES.

Pursuant to instructions I brought before the grand jury at Portage la Prairie
only a few of the cases of the parties who had been committed for trial. I selected one
on the Manitoba and Northwestern Railway, one from Carberry on the main line, one froin
Arizona, situate near the Assiniboine River, and Mr. Henry Waller, the chief agent of
Boyd at the election. 1 took this course because of the enormous expense which would
be incurred in calling witnesses. The electoral division of Macdonald contains an
area of about 7.000 square miles and is traversed across by three railways and diagonally
towards its north limit by the Dauphin Railroad. The southern half of this riding is
the most thickly inhabited, but there are polling places in the extreme north and many
of the polling places are long distances from railways. To bring witnesses from the
Manitoba South-western it necessitated driving across to Portage la Prairie, a distance
of about forty miles, or taking the train to Winnipeg and then by the main line to
Portage la Prairie. To prosecute Saunders it became necessary to bring witnesses from
Tupper, a distance of about eighteen miles north of Gladstone, and then by rail from
there to Portage la Prairie. The Arizona and Carberry witnesses were brought in from
various points in the country to the main line of the Canadian Pacifie Railway and then
f rom that to Portage la Prairie, and the expense was enormous.

'H E GRAND JURY.

By the accident of ballot Mr. Hugh Boyd, the brother of Nathanial Boyd. got on
the panel of the grand jury, and it requires, according to the laws of this province,
twelve to find a true bill. I am not at liberty to state what took place before the
grand jury, but you may perhaps imagine that bills were not obtained without diffi-
culty.

GEORGE SAUNDERS.

The grand jury found a true bill in this case. It was proved on the trial before
the petit jury, by the poll clerk and the scrutineers, that upon the close of the poll one
more ballot was found in the box initialled by Saunders than there were names on the
poll book; and it was further proved that the naines on the poll book covered all those
who voted, and no explanation was offered by Saunders or by any one to account for
this extra ballot.
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The state of the poll as declared by the deputy returning officer, was as follows:-

Boyd ........... ..... .............................. 42
Braithwaite.................. .......................... 29
Rutherford........... ................................ 16
R ejected .......... . ............. ........... ... 1

There were, in fact, two rejected ballots, but in order to make the ballots correspond
with the names on the poll books, all present at the count of the ballots agreed thiat
one of the rejected ballots should be destroyed, and one was destroyed, and this rejected
ballot was marked for both Boyd and Rutherford.

Twenty witnesses at the trial swore that they marked thteir ballots for Rutherford.
Freeborn was then called, and he swore that he was spoken to by Boyd one night

and engaged to work for him in the election, and Boyd told himi that the next morning
a man would see him Accordingly the next morning Waller caie to Freeborn's roon
and showed him how to substitute ballots, telling hii that he had got the idea front
Birmingham in Ontario. Waller instructed Freeborn, he swore, to go up the Manitoba
and North-western and show the deputy returning officers how to manipulate the
ballots. Freeborn swore he did so, and anongst others instructed Saundeis, and that
afterwards Waller also assisted him in the instruction. Freeborn swore he gave
Saunders ten blank ballots with his last instructions, and that the day after the election
Saunders returned nine ballots to him and said that he could not account for the (ther
one unless he had made a mistake when he was substituting the ballots and put in two
at a time. These ballots we produced at tlhe trial. They were all initialled by Saunders
and were marked some for the Patron and some for Rutherford.

Saunders went in the box and swore that he was never instructed by either
Freeborn or Waller, and that he initialled those ballots merely for the purpose of
assisting Freeborn in getting money from Boyd, in which lie, Saunders, was to have a
share.

It is significant that Waller was at Portage la Prairie awaiting his case when
Freeborn gave this evidence, and yet he was not called upon to contradict the statement
by Freeborn that he (Waller) instructed Saunders. The jury found Saunders guilty.

There were twenty-three witnesses called at the assizes, the case lasting a long
time. The defence made a great struggle to prevent the evidence of voters being given
as to how they marked their ballots. The Chief Justice ruled with me on that point,
and said that he had discussed the matter with his brother judges, and they agreed
with him.

WILLIAM CLARKE, PLEASANT PoIZT.

This man was Deputy Returning Officer at Pleasant Point. At the close of the
poll there were found in the ballot box ballots marked as follows:

Boyd ....................... .. ........... ......... 3
Rutherford ........................... ........ .1....19
B raithw aite .................. .......... ...... ........ 10
Rejected ........... .......... 9

Total ...................... .... .......... 121

Eight were initialled by D.R.O.

The poll book showed that 119 persons voted and the scrutineers swore that the poll
book agreed with their tally, and no pretence was made by the defence that more men
voted.

Of the nine rejected ballots, one was not initialled, marked for Boyd, so in any
event we found one ballot duly initialed by the returning oflicer, more in the box than
there were voters, and all the counted ballots were marked in the dise.

Of the rejected ballots one was marked for Rutherford in the name space, two
were marked for both Boyd and Rutherford. If then we state that Rutherford had
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marked for him in some way 22 ballots-that is 19 in the dise, one in the name space
and two for both Boyd and Rutherford-that is the utmost the defence can make any
claim to.

In the first trial before the jury thirty men swore they marked their ballots for
Rutherford and one swore he marked for Boyd and Rutherford both, and three or four
well known voters of Rutherford's could not be got. One we know of was really
evading service ; one was in Dauphin and a couple were in Ontario. Thus at the first
trial there were nine men at least who swore they maried their ballots for Rutherford,
for whom there were no ballots in the box. It was proved at the trial that the return-
ing officer sat in a corner of the room and that the scrutineers sat at another table.

Freeborn was called and he swore that he met Clarke at Carberry; that Clarke
asked hin how he (Freeborn) got on with the ballots where he was, and then in reply
to a similar query from Freeborn he said, " We gave them a pretty good dose, or a
pretty good shot of it here."

After a long trial the jury disagreed-8 for conviction and 4 for acquittal.
After the case was over, from furtber information I got, and which one often gets

after a case is closed, I made up my mind that a second trial should be had and that I
could make a still stronger case. The witnesses had all been sent home, but I decided
in the interests of justice that I should send for them and bring the case on again.

At the second trial one of the witnesses which I had at the first trial evaded
service and the one that had evaded service before still kept out of reach. I however
got a witness f rom Dauphin who swore he voted for Rutherford. I had expected to get
the evidence of Elmhurst, who was in Ontario on a visit and was expected back before
the trial. He is of a family of four- a father and three sons-auid there is no question
that he voted for Rutherford as all the others of the family had done. At least two
other men we are sure voted for Rutherford, but they could not be got. Of the known
voters I have no doubt there were 34 . of the unknown voters it is difficult to speak.
The result was that at the second trial'I had exactly the same number of voters as at
the first trial-one new one only and one which we did not catch that we had at the
former trial.

In addition to the evidence given at the former trial I produced the witness Edgar,
who said that he was walking with Freeborn in Carberry the day the conversation
Freeborn referred to with Clarke and he (Edgar) stepped back as Clarke joined them,
He heard themn talking and he swore be heard Freeborn say to Clarke, " We gave it to
them good and hot,"'-and Edgar is a man to be believed.

In addition to this evidence John Gorrell, a highly respectable farmer, swore that
the day before the election he was walking down the street of Carberry, that he passed
Clarke, who was walking with one or two others and as Clarke passed him he iaid,
"Gorrell will vote for Boyd to-morrow," and Gorreil swore he at once contradicted it.
And lie further swore that on election day when he handed Clarke the ballot it was
folded the long way-the natural way to fold a ballot-that Clarke put his hand down
behind the box and that when he put the paper in the ballot box it was doubled up to
make it only half the length and was wider; and Gorrell says he complained about it to
the Liberal scrutineer soon afterwards.

Clarke went into the box, and swore to his innocence, but said nothiing about the
Gorrel] transaction. On the second trial of Clarke the case was made materially
stronger than the first ; then the jury disagreed, and this time there were ten for
acquittal and two for conviction. Ten of the jury were Conservatives, one Liberal and
one Patron, at least so I am informed.

HENRY WALLER.

For the particulars of this matter see the report of what took place before the
magistrate.

We laid this matter before the grand jury and called before them Freeborn and
Scammell.

Freeborn swore that he was instructed by Waller to incite deputy returning
officers and to his being so instructed by Henry Waller ; also that Waller instructed
Saunders in his presence.
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We also brought Scammell, who swore that Waller had shown him how to mani-
pulate the ballots; that he had promised him money and that subsequently Anderson
gave him $25 ; and we also proved that 8cammell received a bundle of blank ballots
from Parker.

The grand jury threw out the bill.

WILLIAM MAw HINNEY.

Mawhinney was deputy returning officer at Holland, although he resides in Portage
la Prairie: At the close of the day the following ballots were found in the box

Boyd ................... ........................ 84
Braithwaite.... ....................................... 34
Rutherford................................... .......
Rejected...................................... ........ 4

-None of the rejected ballots were in any way pretended to be marked for Ruther-
ford. One was narked in the name space for' Boyd, one for Braithwaite, and two
were blank.

At the magistrate's trial 41 voters were procured, who swore thev voted for
Rutherford, and at the assizes 47 voters swore they marked their ballots for Rutherford.
Nine ballots were, therefore, wholly unaccounted for. There were a number of other
voters, who beyond doubt, voted for Rutherford, but who could not be found, or who
were out of the country.

Freeborn was called, and he swore that he was known to Mawhinne iii his con-
nection with the ballot stuffing, and that shortly after the election lie liad a conver-
sation with Mawhinney at Treherne, in which iMawhinney admiitted that be hîad mani-
pulated the ballots, and had substituted a good many Boyd ballots for the R1utherford
ones ; and he said further that he was not afraid of being found out unless Ed. Sharp
gave him away.

In answer to this evidence Mawhinney went into the box, and swore that he never
had any conversation of any nature or kind with Freeborn, either at Treherne or at any
other point. After long deliberation the jury acquitted the prisoner.

After the trial was over, two witnesses appeared, who are prepared to swear that
they saw Mawhinney conversing with Freeborn at Treherne about the tine Freeborn
swore to. I have no doubt in my own mind of Mawhinney's guilt.

TromAs ANDERSON--POLL No. 28-AIZONA.

Anderson was deputy returning officer at this poll. At the close of the poll the
following ballots were found in the ballot box

Boyd ........................ ......................... 49
Braithwaite............................................. 29
Rutherford............. .............................. 15

No rejected ballots.

This man was indicted before the grand jury, who found a true bill. At the
trial before the jury, 23 voters swore they voted for Rutherford, and at least three
are known, who are pronounced Rutherford men, and who, we believe beyond doubt,
voted for Rutherford, but whose evidence we could not get.

Anderson had the ballot box either on a small table or a large box quite away
f rom the poll clerk and up on a platform at the end of the school-house. The scrutineers
sat at the school desks in front of the deputy returning officer, and the poll clerk had
another table. Voters in coming up to receive their ballots and to hand them back
again stood between the scrutineers and the deputy returning officer.

Freeborn swore that he had a conversation with Anderson shortly after the election,
in which Anderson said that it was a pretty good scheme and that "lhe had no difficulty
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in puiling the wool over their eyes " at his place. le told Freeborn a day or two before
the election he had gone through Glenboro', Holland, Treherne and Rathwell to fix up
the deputy returning officers.

Freeborn swore further that Anderson commenced the conversation by asking him
(Freeborn) how the ballot racket had worked where lie was ? Freeborn further swore
that when the informations were first laid before the magistrate, Anderson came down
to Winnipeg and endeavoured to persuade Freeborn from giving evidence against him.

Anderson went into the box and denied his guilt and denied the conversations with
Freeborn. He admitted that two or three days before the election he went to Glenboro
and left $100 there for election purposes; on to Cypress and left $75 with McDole,
the deputv returning officer there ; at Holland he left 8100 with Dr. Lipsett ; at
Treherne he left S100 with Parker, the deputy returning officer, but he says he
instructed him to hand that S100 to Alexander, the postmaster, to be used for election
purposes; he then went on to Rathwell and left S2 with Scammell, the deputy return-
ing officer there.

After a long delay the jury disagreed, and I adjourned any further hearing until
next assizes.

WINNIPEG.

GEORGE B. ANDERSON.

This man lives in Glenboro. The night before the election in Winnipeg he called
together, at the Leland House in Winnipeg, five or six deputy returning officers and he

gave them certain instructions. An information was laid against him for inciting deputy
returning officers to destroy ballots and to put in the ballot box ballots other than those
marked by voters and lie was committed for trial.

The matter was laid before the grand jury at Winnipeg and a true bill was found
against himi. When the matter came up before the petit jury they disagreed, and a
new jury being called, they again disagreed. It was proved, however, that he did
instruct the deputy returning officers to do something wrong with the ballots.

I attach hereto the report of the Deputy Attorney General to the evidence on
this trial.

The result then of the assize work at Portage la Prairie is that out of five indict-
inents the grand jury found four true bills, and of the four true bills the petit jury con-
victed one, acquitted one and disagreed in two, and in one of the two there were two
trials. And at Winnipeg, one case of jury disagreement.

At the beginning of the assize where Saunders was tried, the jury seemed fairly
free from political bias; but every possible influence was used I believe to inflame their
political passions, and as the assize went on it became apparent that there was no use
in asking for conviction from the Conservative element of the jury.

I think under the circumstances I made a mistake in bringing on Clarke's trial a
second time. During the whole of the trials Boyd was in constant attendance.

I may further add that at the trials, at the assizes and at the hearings before the
magistrate, we met with great difficulty in getting all the reputed Rutherford men
because of the influence brought to bear upon some of them by the defendants, and on
account of the wandering habits cf our people, shifting from place to place, it being
almost impossible to get all of any one class of people to attend as witnesses.

It must be further considered that no doubt many voters who were commonly
known as Boyd voters did vote secretly and quietly for Rutherford; but it would be
impossible to get these without calling all the voters-a task which I felt should not be
attempted.

In addition to the charges laid before the magistrates, I looked into a large number
of others, and I have no doubt that in a considerable number of other polls in Macdon-
ald there were grave irregularities and that ballots were manipulated ; but I did not
deem it wise to proceed upon them. Should you desire the names of the various polls
which were exceedingly suspicious, I can give them to you.

126

A. 1898



Public Accounts Committee.

In a very great number of the poils there seemed to be a reckless disregard of the
law. Votes were recorded for parties who had no votes in the particular polling district
where the vote was taken, and yet no certificate of the returning officer was produced.
In a number of the polis constables voted on the certificates of the returning otticters,
which is clearly contrary to the law.

MAGISTRATE TRIALS AND OTHER MATTERS.

CHARLEs BROOKS-Poll No. 41.
State of poll-

Boyd................................................ 73
Braithwaite ..... ...................... . .. . ........... 57
R utherford ..... ........... .................... ....... 3G
R ejected .................. ................ ............ -

Brooks was deputy returning officer at this poli. The rejected ballots were not
in any way marked or intended to be narked for Rutherford, and so they need not be
considered.

An information was laid against this man, and at the preliminary trial before the
magistrate forty-one witnesses swore they voted for Rutherford. 105 witnesses in all
were examined at the preliminary trial, being chiefly the Rutherford and Braithwaite
voters. There were many suspicious circumstances surrounding this case, and the
magistrate committed him for trial.

MoSEs FINKELSTEIN-PoIl No. 39.
State of Poll-

Boyd................................................ 53
R utherford ..................... ........................ 38
B raithw aite ................................. ........... 5
Rejected ............ .................................. 1

Finkelstein was deputy returning officer at this poll. The rejected ballot was
marked for ail three candidates, and witness was called and practically admitted that
he thus marked his ballot. At the preliminary trial before the magistrate, forty-two
witnesses swore that they marked their ballots for Rutherford. Many of the witnesses
described the suspicious way in which the returning officer tore off the counterfoils,
and some complained at the time. Several witnesses whom we called refused to answer
how they voted, and many were manifestly tampered with. Fifty-two witnesses were
examined at the preliminary investigation. He was committed for trial.

JAMES WALLER-Poli No. 42.

This man was deputy returning officer at this poll. Fifty-one voters were examined
in this case, and amongst other witnesses one swore that Waller told hin shortly after
the election that he (Waller) had two sets of ballots and could have made the majority
exactly as he liked, and showed the witness how the ballots were mnanipulated.

In the Brooks case this same Waller was called as a witness, and he admitted that
the next day after the election people were showing one another in the bar-rooms in
Carberry how the ballots had been manipulated at the election, and he seemed to know
all about it. Owing to the difficulty of getting enough witnesses together who had
voted we abandoned this prosecution.

This Waller is a brother of Harry Waller, and lives near Carberry.

THOMAs ANDERSON-PolI No. -, Arizona.

For particulars of this case see report on the trial at the Assizes. He was com-
nitted by the magistrate. There were twenty-eight witnesses examined at the
magistrate's trial.
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WILLIAM CLARKE-Poll No. -, Pleasant Point.

For the particulars of this matter see the report of the assize trial. There were
thirtv-six witnesses examined at the hearing before the magistrate.

HENRY WALLER.

This man was Boyd's general agent and handled his money during the election con-
test. I laid a charge against him for inciting deputy returning officers to fraudulently
place ballots in the ballot box and for destroying ballots.

At the preliminary trial Freeborn swore that Boyd and Waller met him first in the
country and Boyd approached him for the purpose of getting his services. A couple of
days later Freeborn saw Boyd in Carberry and the latter showed Freeborn a telegram
respecting him (Freeborn) which he got from Birmingham. That telegram Freeborn
produces.

Boyd at the sane time engaged Freeborn to work for him in the election contest,
and told him that a min would see him the next morning. Accordingly the next
morning Harry Waller, the accused, went up into Freeborn's bedroom and there showed
him the trick of manipulating ballots, using a jug that was on the table as a ballot box.
Waller then instructed Freeborn to go by the Manitoba and North-western Railway,
and show deputy returning officers how to manipulate the ballots, and this he did.

He further swears that he instructed George Saunders how to manipulate the
ballots and that afterwards Waller visited that place and instructed Saunders in the
presence of Freeborn; and this same Saunders has beei found guilty by a jury, and it
was from this mian that Freeborn after the election obtained the ballots which had been
given to Saunders by voters and in lieu of which be had substituted Boyd ballots.

Uriah Scammell, a deputy returning officer, at Bathwell was arrested on one of these
charges and he confessed his guilt and admitted that he substituted Boyd ballots for
those of well-known Rutherford men. making the reeve of the municipality, Paul Kane
and other well-known Liberals vote for Boyd. And this man was called as a witness
against Waller, and he swore that Waller first asked him if he knew how to play cards
and if he was quick with cards, and having found that he was, he showed him how to
substitute the ballots and promised him money for doing it.

Upon the evidence of Freeborn and of Scammell, Waller was committed for trial.

FRED. W. BRoWN-Poll No. 8.

Brown was deputy returning officer at this poll. Freeborn was called as a witness
and swore that he went to Portage la Prairie to get the blank ballots which each deputy
returning officer was to have, in order that he should substitute ballots more freely.
He says he saw the returning officer Richardson, wbo directed him to Brown; that he
saw Brown and got thirty blank ballots from him, ten of which he gave to Saunders.

Brown was arrested for manipulating ballots at his iown poll, but owing to the
absence of a great number of voters on the excursion to Ontario, it was deemed advisable
not to call any further witnesses and Brown was not committed.

GEORGE SAUNDERs-Poll No. 19,

For report of this matter see report of the trial at the Assize. There were 25
witnesses called at the preliminary hearing before the magistrate.

WILLIAM RENWICK-Poll No. 45.

Renwick was deputy returning officer at this poll. At the close of the poll
there were found to be the following ballots in the box :-

Boyd............... ... ......... ................. 56
B raithwaite................ ............................. 51
Rutherford................................... ........ 27
Rejected............................................... 1
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The deputy returning officer voted on certificate which was not signed by the
returning officer at all but was signed by J. H. Howden, under a letter from the
Returning Officer which he claimed authorized him to do this.

Thirty-two voters appeared and swore that they voted for Rutherford. McNair,
Rutherford's agent, is away in Ontario, and there are several other witnesses who are
absent, who undoubtedly voted for Rutherford. He was committed for trial.

Thirty-seven witnesses were examined before the magistrate.

W. J. HAMILTON-Poll No. 47.
State of poll-

B oyd.... .............. ...... .. ................ ...... 46
B raithw aite ........ ... .................. . ........... 36
Rutherford................... .................... ... 31
Rejected....... . .. .................. ............. 2

Hamilton was deputy returning officer at this poll. One William Goodwin was
appointed poll clerk at this poll. He had only recently arrived from Ontario and was
a stranger in that locality. Beyond recording the first name in the poll book, Goodwin
perfornied none of his duties of poli clerk. All the rest of the names were recorded in
the poll book by Hamilton himself and he did all the clerical work.

He allowed Goodwin to vote on what he said was a certificate from the returning
officer. There was no certificate produced and Goodwin's name does not appear on any
of the voters lists in the electoral division, and he is undoubtedly not a voter and was
merely brought in to steal one more vote. No certificate authorizing him to vote was
returned by the deputy returning officer and none bas ever been found in the posses-
sion of the Clerk of the Crown in Chancery. When Goodwin got his ballot he was
hurried into the voting compartment before an objection could be made and the re-
turning officer stated that Goodwin's name was on the list for Glenboro--which is
untrue.

The deputy returning officer had his table in a corner of the room and a great
niany of the voters swore that they could not see their ballots when the counterfoil
was torn off, as they disappeared beneath the table.

Thirty-nine voters swore they voted for Rutherford. Of the rejected ballots one
only nay have been intended for Rutherford. So that in any event there were seven
ballots unaccounted for. The deputy returning officer had not a vote in that division,
and he voted on a returning officer's certificate which had been signed by Htlowden. He
was committed for trial by the magistrate. There were 45 witnesses examined before
the magistrate.

MosES McFADDEN-Poll No. 49.
State of poll-

Boyd............... .............. ... ........... 36
B raithw aite ........................................... 72
Rutherford ........................... ............. 15
Rejected ...................................... ....... 1

The deputy returning officer at this poll acted in a most arbitrary manner, and
when W. J. Currie, the scrutineer for Rutherford, objected to the vote of Alexander
McKenzie, the deputy returning officer threatened to arrest him. This McKenzie was
not upon that poll at all and there does not seem to be any certificate for him, and it is
very doubtful if he is the man who is on poll 52. The McKenzie who voted is a
labourer in the employ of McFadden.

One John Robertson voted at this poll also. He is not on the list and there is no
certificate. No objections of the agents, however, could prevent McFadden taki'ng these
votes.

The returning officer made no statement at the end of the poll book, and there
does not appear to be ary statement sent to the returning officer. It is difficult to tell
how he arrived at the numbers to be counted at that poll.
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The rejected ballot was not attempted to be marked for Rutherford and so is not
to be considered.

Fifteen voters were called who swore they voted for Rutherford. A man named
-Munro came f rom Wabigoon too late to give his evidence, but before the decision in the
case-an affidavit of his was presented to the magistrate, but would not act upon it.

Thomas Roberts, a well known Liberal, who undoubtedly voted for Rutherford, is
at present in Wales. Two or three other witnesses have moved to distant parts, and
under the circumstances the magistrate was not asked to commit. Twenty-one
witnesses were examined before the magistrate.

WILLIAM MAWHINNEY--Poil No. -.

This man was deputy returning officer at Holland, but, although the polling place
was fixed in the town of Holland, the vote was entirely a country vote, brought in from
the outside. There were fifty-one witnesses examined before the magistrate, and he was
committed for trial. For full particulars see report of assizes.

MALCOLM ORR-Poll No. -- , Glenboro.

Orr was deputy returning officer at Glenboro. The ballots found in the box at
the close of the poll, were as follows :-

Boyd .............................................. 121
Rutherford ....................................... 70
Braithwaite......................... ................. 2
R ejected ................... ................... ..... 5

The five rejected ballots were as follows:-
1 marked for all three candidates, initialled.
1 marked For both Boyd and and Rutherford and initialled.
1 marked for Rutherford and initialled, with counterfoil on.
1 not marked, but initialled.
1 with four lines across the face and initialled.

Seventy-eight voters swore they voted for Rutherford, but one of these (Ashley)
voted for both candidates. Four other witnesses were ealled, all of whom no doubt
voted for Rutherford, but all of whom refused to give evidence and we did not deem it
worth while to compel them.

Orr is a popular man in the locality and belongs to some of the secret orders, and
every influence that could be brought to bear against our witnesses was used to either
get them to evade service or to refuse to answer.

W. H. Robertson is in England, R. Steele in Ontario, Thomas Kenyon in England,
H. Thornborough is at McGregor, William Robinson in Brussels, Ontario, S. Egan
and R. J. Davidson in Detroit, L. F. Kingsley, whereabouts unknown. All of these
men are known to be Rutherford men, but cannot be got. The witnesses who refused
to give evidence were otlèred almost any inducement and free defence if they would
persist in their refusals.

There being six more votes sworn to than there were ballots in the box, notwith-
standing the refusals and absentees above mentioned, the magistrate did not hesitate
to commit. Eighty-sevcn witnesses were examined in the case. The deputy returning
officer, and probably the scrutineers were considerably unider the influence of liquor
during the who'e of the day.

JAMES McDOLE-PolI No. -, Cypress River.

It was reported to me by the secret service that this man had been practising the
manipulation of ballots before the election, and it was sworn to by Anderson in one of
the other cases that a few days before the poll opened lie paid McDole $75.
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Shortly after the election was over McDole signed a petition to Boyd asking him
to resign on account of threatened proceedings which were feared against deputy
returning officers ; and this was proved at the trial.

Freeborn was called as a witness and he swore that McDole admitted to him that
he had manipulated ballots in favour of Boyd and had suppressed Rutherford ballots.
About 50 witnesses were subpænaed and attended court, but the most of thein were not
called and McDole was committed for trial.

ROBERT ROBERTS.

This man was Boyd's scrutineer at Glenboro and from investigations made by the
secret service it was believed that he was in the conspiracy and owing to certain state-
ments made by one Sanders I felt justified in laying an information against him ; but
after the evidence was given in the Orr case, I deemed it advisable to abandon the pro-
secution, and it was abandoned.

ABRAM DENISON.

This man is the hotel-keeper at Glenboro and on election day he seemed to have
great control over the returning officer. It was reported to me by the secret service
that at that close of the poll the parties were all drunk and Denison broke into the poll
and carried away the ballot box and helped make up the returns. The parties certainly
all did go to Denison's hotel, and they apparently had the ballot box with them ; but
after the evidence was taken in the Orr case, I deemed it advisable to abandon the pro-
secution of Denison.

URIAH SCAMMELL-Poll No. - ,Rathwell.

This man was deputy returning officer at Rathwell and the result of his poll was
so outrageous that he early came under consideration. It seenied impossible for nie to
get any evidence against him. It was apparent by statements got from the various
voters that a large number of ballots marked for Rutherford had been suppressed and
ballots in favour of Boyd had been used in their place. We however succeeded in get-
ting one of his confederates to give us some information and we then arrested Scainmnell.
As soon as he was arrested he made a full confession and became a witness for the
Crown.

He confessed that he was appointed deputy returning officer. That shortly after-
wards, pursuant to an appointment, he met Henry Waller, who enquired if lie (Scammell)
could play cards and having found that lie could, he said " You will do " and he was
then shown how to receive a ballot f rom a voter and put a different one in the box; and
he was then promised by Waller money. Soon after that Anderson, in company with
Parker, the deputy returning officer at Treherne, visited Scammell and gave hin $25,
and two or three days before the election Scammell was sent for to go to Treherne and he
there met Parker, a deputy returning officer, and from him obtained 24 blank ballots.

He further confessed that on polling day he did suppress many of the ballots of
well-known Liberals and in their place put in the ballot box ballots which he had
previously marked for Boyd and had initialled and from which he lad removed the
counterfoil.

This man, having given evidence at the trial as evidence for the Crown, was not
prosecuted.

W. J. PARKER-Poll No. -, Treherne.

This man was deputy returning officer at this poll. There were in the ballot box
at the close of the poll the following ballots :-

Boyd.. ............... .......... 52
Rutherford............ ............................... 46
Braithwaite............. ...... ....... ....... . .... 16
Rejected............ .. .. .......................... 92
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The two rejected ballots were apparently intended for Rutherford, so that it nay
be said 48 men voted for Rutherford. Forty-nine voters before the magistrate swore
that thev voted for Rutherford. There were a number of absent voters who could
not be got, just as at all other trials. Many were in Ontario on the winter excursion.

This man was also charged with inciting Uriah Scarnmell and it was proved that
he was present with Anderson when he paid Scammell the $25, and it was also proved
that Parker took Scammell upstairs in his (Parker's) hotel and there gave him the
ballots which ScimmelI was to use. But considering al] the evidence, the magistrates
did not think they were justified in committing for trial, and so he was let go free.

I feel certain in this case that ail the evidence was not got that exists, and I
greatly fear that we have missed punishing some men iii Treherne who had largely to
do with spreading this fraud throughout the southern part of the riding.

This same Parker received from Anderson, who was the deputy returning officer
at Arizona, a few days before the election, the sum of $100 ; but Anderson swears
that he intended it for Alexander, the postmaster at Treherne, and that Parker agreed
to give it to him for election purposes.

RUSSELL HERRIMAN-Poll No. 24.

This man was deputy returning officer at this poll. At the close of the poll the
following ballots were found in the box:-

Rutherford............... ...... ....................... 49
Boyd................................ ............... 27
Braithwhite.. ....................................... . 49
Rejected..... .................... 4....................4

The rejected in no way relate to Rutherford.
This poll is situate at a place near Beaver Creek, about nine miles from McGregor

Station. Beaver Creek is in the centre of a fairly well settled farning community con-
taining plenty of men quite fit to be deputy returning officers. When a commission
of the deputy returning officer was produced it was found that originally Dr. Eaton
was made deputy returning officer and his name was struck out in the Commission
and R. D. Herriman substituted.

Herriman is a gambler and bas served a term of three months in jail at Winnipeg
on this charge. He has no real means of support and is generally known and reputed
as a gambler. He ostensibly keeps a boarding-house, but it is generally believed that
this is done merely to avoid another charge under the Vagrancy Act. He bas no vote
in the electoral division of Macdonald and it is curious that a man of this character
should by taken eighty miles or more to hold a poll in a locality where there are plenty
of men amply fitted for the position.

The returning officer swore that he did not know Herrinan before he was ap-
pointed, but that he acted upon the recommendation of some one believed to be Boyd's
brother.

The voters in the locality of Beaver Creek having found out in some way the night
before the election the character of the deputy, caused a couple of special constables
to be sworn in and the utmost care and watchfulness was used at this poll; and after
the investigation before the magistrate had gone on at some length I came to the con-
clusion that but very little crooked work was done.

There were about 105 witnesses examined, and fifty voters swore that they voted
for Rutherford, and fifty swore they voted for Braithwaite, and several known opponents
of Boyd's could not be got. The poll was held at a school-house, and the scrutineers
for Braithwaite and Rutherford watched Herriman with the utmost care.

From information I had received before the charge was laid, I had every reason to
believe that ballots had been substituted. A number of our witnesses could not be
obtained. I think ballots were substituted to the extent of seven or eight, but the
proof was not sufficient to justify a commitment and he was not comitted.
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LISGAR.

W. O. TAYLOR-PoIl No. 46, Barnsley.

The returning officer granted three certificates to agents for Rogers to vote at this
poli. This was objected to by Haverson, Richardson's agent, but the votes were
recorded by the D.R.O.

ARTHUR C. HAWKINS, Poil No. 58, Swan Lake.

The returning officer granted four certificates to agents for Rogers to vote at this
poli, and ail four were allowed to vote, although objected to by George B. Gordon, the
agent for Richardson.

PROVENCHER.

E. J. C. BURON-Poil No. 1.

The returning offlcer granted seven certificates to agents of Mr LaRivière to vote
at this poli, and al] voted, although objected to.

MILES McDERMOTT-Poll No. 4.

The returning officer granted twenty-three certificates to agents of LaRivière to
vote at this poil. These were objected to, but the votes were taken.

SELKIRK.

J. F. LUNDY-Poll No. -, Lundyville.

This man is a postmaster and was deputy returning officer at this polil.
He acted in a most arbitrary manner. He allowed G. Kerr and G. Cartwright to

vote. They had no votes in that polling district and there were no returning officer's
certificates, and it is believed that they had no votes in the electoral division.

Lundy constantly left the poli and went outside canvassing voters, and would come
in with theni when they came to vote.

WINNIPE(G.

GEORGE B. ANDERSON.

This man lives in Gienboro. The night before the election in Winnipeg he called
together at the Leland House in Winnipeg five or six deputy returning officers and he
gave them certain instructions. An information was laid against him for inciting the
deputy returning officers to destroy ballots and to put in the ballot box ballots other
than those marked by voters and he was committed for trial.

The matter was laid before the grand jury at Winnipeg and a true bill was found
against him. When the niatter came up before the petty jury they disagreed, and a
new jury being called, they again disagreed. It was proved however, that he did
instruct the deputy returning officers to do something wrong with the ballots.

I attach hereto the report of the Deputy Attorney General as to the evidence on
this trial.
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MARQUETTE.

HAZARD-Poll No. 18, Lake Dauphin.

This man was deputy returning officer at this poll. During the entire day while
the vote was being taken when the deputy received the ballot from the voter he
invariablyýopened it when he was tearing off the counterfoil in such a manner that
Glen Campbell, the agent for Roach could see how the ballot had been niarked; and
Campbell kept a tally and when voters came in to vote he announced from time to
time how the poll was standing. A few times Campbell went out of the poli, and while
he was away the returning officer examined the ballot and kept the tally for Campbell;
and when the poll was closed Campbell announced the state of the poll before the
ballots were counted. These facts can be proved, I believe, beyond reasonable doubt
but would a political jury convict ?

DANIEL WILsoxN-PolI No. 15, Shoal Lake.

This man is a Dominion civil servant in charge of the old police barracks at this
point, and he is also the postmaster.

Wilson refused to open the poll until ten o'clock, so that he could have an excuse,
it is believed, to keep it open an hour later at night, in order that the special Conserva-
tive train might get in in time. When the Conservative train arrived late that evening,
Wilson and Greenshawe (Roach's agent) left the polling booth and went to the railway
station, and they there filled up certificates which had been signed by the returning
officer, but which were blank, with the names of several persons who arrived there,
appointing them agents at the different polls in that locality in order to vote. Roach
had two agents acting with Wilson at that time, but they withdrew, and two men
having these certificates which had been filled up, took their places and voted at
Wilson's poll.

A charge has been laid against him that he substituted a blue pencil once in the
polling booth and that two Liberal voters who were then going in used this pencil. The
pencil was then removed by Wilson and when these blue pencil marked ballots came to
be counted in the evening, Wilson rejected them. I believe the charge is true and I
think it can be proved.

No informations have been laid against any of the deputy returning officers in
Marquette, Lisgar or Provencher. I am firmly convinced that what took place in polls
1 and 4 of Provencher was very general throughout that riding.

(Exhibit C.)

ACCOUNT OF H. M. HOWELL.
1896.

June 26. Attending Mr. Sifton, 2 hours going fully into the irregularities of
the dep. ret. officers and others as to the balloting in the last elec-
tion and received instructions from him to investigate the various
acts of the various dep. ret. officers. . . . ................... 5 00

27. Letter to Pinkerton & Co., of Chicago, for 3 men ..... ...... ... 50
July 3. Attending Mr. Shoemaker, going over the whole field with him and

laying out a plan of action, 2 hours........... ......... .. 5 00
4. Attending Mr. Shoemaker with Mr. Cooper going over the question

of the irregularities in the Winnipeg ballot, 2 hours ....... 5 00
7. Attending Mr. Sifton & Mr. Greeniway at their rooms, discussing

the matter, 1 hour.. ..... .... ............. .. ...... 2 50
8. All day going over the evidence with Shoemaker and his assistants,

and laying down a plan of action and sifting the evidence
already brought in........................... .......... 25 00
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July 9. Attending the Attorney General with Shoemaker & Cooper, 1 hours 3 75
" 10. 1 hour with Shoemaker. . . . . .. .. . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . , 2 50

11. Attending the Attorney General, Watson & Burrows, 13i hours..... .. 3 75
11. Attending Shoemaker, Ballantyne & Ferris as to Carberry polls,

1½ hours..... ........................... .............. . 3 75
" 13. 1½ hours with Shoemaker & Robertson instructing the latter to

proceed to Carberry as a picturej'seller and with full instructions
and letters of introduction to gather evidence as to Clarke and
W aller........... ................. . ....... .. ....... 3 75

" 13. 21 hours with Watson & Ashdown giving instructions to Ballantyne
as to the irregularities of the polls in Dauphin............ . 6 25

" 14. Attending Shoemaker, 1 hour, and with final instructions.. . . .. . 52 30
" 17. Ail afternoon with Attorney General & Freeborn and arranged with

Shoemaker and one assistant to leave to-morrow. ......... 12 50
" 18. 1½ hours with Freeborn and the Attorney General discussing matters

fully.............. .. ....................... 3 75
" 18. From 3 o'clock to 5.50 with Freeborn & Dr. Shaw getting their

evidence ............. ..... ............ ...... ... 7 50
"20. Attending Watson & Burrows instructing Robinson to go to Dau-

phin and continue eviden ce Ballantyne began ... ........... 2 50
" 22. Called in Robinson from Carberry and sent him home. Long inter-

view with Freeborn, 2 hours...... ......... . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 00
" 23. Attending Freeborn, 1 hour .............. ..... ....... 2 50
" 24. Attending Attorney General's otfice with Ferris and Attorney Gen-

eral, 2 hours..... ... ....... .................. 5 00
"27. Attending Foeeborn, 1 hour and arranging to have him cone back

to-norrow ............. 2 50
28. Attending Freeborn & Ballantyne, 2 hours instructing ther to go to

the country and follow out directions.. .... 5 00
"29. Attending Ballantyne, giving hin letters to parties with private

instructions, 1 hour ...... ........... 2 50
" 29. Telegram to the Attorney General as to the Glenboro inatter.. ..... 50
" 29. Letter to Smith.... ...... .. . .. ... . ...... .... ... .50
" 31. Having heard about irregularities at the R1athwell poll-Drawing

up forns for 37 affidavits and long letters to Forbes for parti-
culars ... .................... . ...... 10 00

Aug. 3. Having received the written instructions that were handed to certain
Winnipeg deputy returning oflicers, searches of handwriting
and interviews with many parties to get evidence as to who
w rote it. ........... .... ..... .. .... ..... ............. 2 50

" 4. Letters to Smith and others Glenboro', re Nesbit and letters from
Forbes as to Scammell............................. . ._... . 1 00

5. Ballantyne'having returned from Dauphin, attending him one hour
to get his report, when arranged to meet him rext day ........ L.2 50

6. Attending Ballantyne & Freeborn 3 hours, finishing the report of the
former as to Dauphin and instructing both to go to Rathwell
and endeavour to get evidence of irregularities at Scammell's poll. 7 50

" 6. Gave Ballantyne private letters to Forbes and Kane.......... ...... 50
" 7. Robinson having returned from Dauphin, finishing Ballantynes wor k;

receiving his report, 2 hours. ................ . ........ ..... 5 00
" 7. Interview with Freeborn as to Scott, 1 hour....... ............ 50
" 10. Ballantyne returned with Freeborn, reporting what had been done, 2

hours. .. .. ...... .... ............... ............ . 5 00
" 13. Long interview with Paul Kane and I decide to send Ballantyne to

Holland, 3 hours.................................... 7 50
" 15. Attending Ballantyne, and receiving his report and arranging an

interview with him next day and with Freeborn . ... .... 2 50
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Aug. 15. Having considered it proper to get a gambler to en<leavour to gather
the evidence in Treherne. Letter to Pinkerton & Co. for a ian
who could assume the role of gambler and tough. ............. 50

17. Attending Ballantyne & Freeborn instructing them to proceed by the
Manitoba and North-western Ry. to find what had been done
as to the ballot boxes along that line, both in Macdonald and
Marquette, and drawing letters of introduction to various parties
to be used on the journey, 3 hours............. .......... 7 50

" 18. Oaks, an operator sent by Pinkerton & Co., to work in Treherne,
arrived. Attending him going over the ground fully, two hours,
and arranging for him to leave on the 19th ........ .......... 5 00

" 19. Final instructions to Oaks, and making him the necessary advances 2 50
" 21. Attending Paul Kane, discussing the various polls on the Glen-

borough line, and long letter to him giving him instructions how
to proceed, two hours. ....................... . ......... .. 5 00

21. Attending Ballantyne, getting return as to his investigations in
Arden and other places up the Manitoba and North-western,
one hour..... ......... .......... ................. 2 50

22. Attending Ballantyne, again discussing his report and instructing
him to continue the work, two hours...... ............. ... 5 00

24. Interview with Freeborn as to certain irregularities reported from
Assiniboia, supported by certain conversations heard by Ballan-
tyne, leads me to believe that at least three polls in the Regina
constituency had been tampered with, one hour....... ...... ... 2 50

25. Attending the Attorney General as to the various proceedings taken
thus far, two hours... ............ .......... 5 00

25. From 6 to 7 p.m., with Oaks and Ballantyne, receiving the report
of the former as to Treherne, and arranging a meeting the next
day with the Attorney General. .......................... 2 50

26. Attending the Attorney General with Oaks and Ballantyne. It
was arranged that the former should return to Treherne and
follow up the evidence that lie had thus far obtained, and that
the latter should go to Regina and look into the irregularities
reported from several polls there, one hour ................ 2 50

Sept. 1. Long interview with Ballantyne, getting report of his investigations
in Regina, three hours........ ................... ........ 7 50

2. Attending Oaks and Ballantyne, and getting-final and full reports
of all their proceedings and sent them home, two hours.. ...... 5 00

9. Examination of all the reports of Ballantyne in Regina. Sent them
with letter to Robson and advised him fully, two hours........ .. 5 00

12. Attending Attorney General as to Freeborn going to Ontario.
Telegram to Pinkerton as to Ballantyne, and long interview
with Freeborn giving instructions. Letter to Ballantyne and
letter to Sutherland. Gave Freeborn letter to Sutherland by
way of introduction and sent Freeborn away, three hours... . . . 7 50

Dec. 14. Attending the Attorney General and Mr. Sifton, getting instructions
to proceed and discussing the law, two hours........... . 5 00

15. Drawing up forms of information and warrants and looking into
the law, three hours..... .............................. 7 50

15. Called in O. H. Clarke and went over the facts and law with him,
and gave him full instructions as to what cases he was to take
up, and arranged with the Attorney General to have the ballots
and other papers sent to the Prothonotary here, all day... . . ... 25 00

16. Spent the entire day with Clarke going over the poll bookF and other
papers in M r. Walker's office, and examining the evidence.. . . . . 25 00

18. Half a day at Walker's office finishing the examination of the poli
books, commissions and affidavits, and settling the form of the
affidavit for the order to get the ballots... ....... .. ..... 12 50
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" 19. Drew up warrants and informations, six charges against Walker,
four against Anderson, and two charges each against eighteen
others, and exanining the saime with warrants... ........... 10 00

4 21. Al] day with Clarke, Wade, Metcalfe and Perdue, discussing the
whole matter, and arranging who should swear out the informa-
tions.............. .................................. 25 00

22. Attending the Attorney General as to the police constables for
making the various arrests, and arranging about nagistrates,
half a day.. .... ....................... 12 50

" 23. Went to Carberry. Up all night arranging about arrests. lie-
turned home the next day....... ....... ........ ..... 25 00

26. Attending Mr. Wright and others f rom Carberry, and the Attorney
General and Mr. Wade, three hours. .................... 7 50

" 28. Herriman having been arrested, attending police court, adjourning
and attending half a day with Bradshaw, going over Herrinan's
case and instructing him, and attending the Attorney General,
Perdue and Metcalfe... ......... ...... ...... 25 00

" 29. All day at Carberry examining witnesses in the Clarke case. Re-
turned next day ..... .......... ............ 25 00

1897.
Jany. 2. Attending Wade and Clarke, discussing the various prosecutions

conducted by thei and advising as to notices to produce and
attending the Attorney General, getting the ballots in the
Saunders case...... ..................... ... 2 50

" 3. Left by Western train in order to be in Gladstone by Monday ....
4. In Gladstone all day in the Saunders case. Returned to Portage la

Prairie the next day ..... ............ 25 00
5. AIl day in Portage la Prairie discussing the Brown case and the

McCuaig case with parties familiar with the evidence. ........ 25 00
" 8. Took freight train early in the morning to McGregor with Walker

and the ballots, and examined him and other witnesses. Re-
turned home next day ........... ......... ...... ...... . 25 00

" 11. Attended the Attorney General with all the solicitors and arranging
a line of action for next week, two hours.. . .............. 5 00

4 11. Attending Paul Kane and arranged with him> to take Scammell to
Carberry, and had him sworn in as a special constable for this
purposse. Arranged with Elliott as to arrest of Freeborn, and
got a man to go with Freeborn to Carberry................. 2 50

12. Went to Carberry with Freeborn and constable ... ..........
13. AIl day in Carberry examining witnesses--Scammell and Freeborn

in particular-three of the accused sent up .... 25 00
" 14. Returned home from Carberry .......... .. . ............. 25 00
" 16. Long interview with the Attorney General and with Mr. Perdue

reporting progress and taking further instructions .. ....... . 5 00
" 23. Attending the Attorney General with Mr. Clarke to decide as to

what course we should take in the Brown matter and arranging
with Freeborn to go to Portage la Prairie and give evidence ... 5 00

24. Attending the Attorney General, Perdue and Metcalfe, as to pro-
ceedings against Finklestein. . .. .. ..... 2 50

25. Attending the Attorney General, Wade and Kane, as to further
proceedings against Dennison and Roberts ........... .L. . 2 50

Feby. 26. All afternoon discussiug the cases that are to be tried at the assizes
with various solicitors. . . . . . ............. . . ............. 12 50

" 27. Al day going over cases with witnesses and preparing indictments. 25 00
March 1. All day going over cases with witnesses and preparing indictments. 25 00

" 2. Thirteen days at the assizes, Portage la Prairie, prosecuting the
various cases........... ................................ 520 00
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" 24. Four days going over the various accounts, settling sane and draw-
ing up report of the various proceedings ... .... .......... .. 80 00

Attending Ottawa. Several ministers discussing the prosecutions
and reporting the results of the magistrates trials,

Total........................................ 1,248 00

(Exhibit D.)

Re MANITOBA ELECTION CASES.

I have examined the accounts and memo. of expenses (herewith returned) in con-
nection with the above matter subnitted for examination and approval.

The foliowing are the solicitors' fees with the amounts, which I consider reasonable
for the services therein stated.

Rendered at. Allowed at.
Archibald & Howell ..... ...... ..... .5000 00 $2,000 00
F. C. Wade ..... .............. ........ 1,270 60 690 60
0. H. Clarke.. . . .................... 1,660 85 1,178 35
T. L. Metcalfe ........ ............ .... 823 75 823 75
Richards & Bradshaw .... ... ..... . 1,029 22 754 22
W. E Perdue ............ .... .... 541 15 313 15

$10,325 57 ' .5,760 07

With reference to the memo. of disbursements submitted, I have examined them as
far as possible with the accounts or vouchers which have been produced.

Most of them are certified as correct by Mr. H. M. Howell, whose certificate, I have
no doubt, is entitled to every credence. In some few cases the disbursements have
been reduced in amount, and I submit the list of accounts of disbursements with the
amounts which I find to have been paid for the expenses mentioned.

Amounts paid to Constables,
Bailiffs, &c. Rendered at. Allowed at.

Accounts ..... .S.l................. .1,230 35 $1,230 35
Witnesses, including railway fares.. ..... 4,405 60 -4,40.5 60
Rent of halls for courts .............. 94 60 50 60
Magistrates and clerks........ ..... ... 902 00 781 25
Solicitors' fees and printing........... 43 83 40 83
Counsel fees and accounts to Wade &

Clarke ........... .......... ...... 440 00 440 00
Mr. Howell's expenses ...... ........ .. 164 36 164 36
Discounts and drafts....... .... ...... 28 15 28 15
Balance from 1896 ................... .. . 5 19 5 19

$7,315 08 $7,146 33
I am of opinion, therefore, that for these services and disbursements reasonable

payment would be as follows:-
Solicitors' accounts ............. .............. .. 85,760 07
Disbursements. . ... .............. ...... ... 7,146 33

$12,906 40
Of which as shown by the accounts, there has been paid 1,000 00

Leaving still. . ..... ... ................ ....... . 811,905 40
E. L. NEWCOMBE.

N.B.-In certifying these costs as above I have allowed the same fees as would have
been allowed had the work been done by agents of the Minister of Justice.

E L. N.
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(Memorandum.)
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,

OTTAWA, J une 30, 1897.
M. J. wants Mr. Siftonito get this cheque on Friday.
Four o'clock. Have seen Mr. McGee and told him M. J. wishes Mr. Sifton to

get this money on Friday.
J. LESLIE.

(iMemiorandum.)
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,

OTTAWA, July 2, 1897.
J. J. MCGEE, Esq.

Has this matter passed Council ? Has it come from His Excellency yet?

E. L. NEWCOMBE.

D. M. J.
Draw report for my signature to pay Mr. Sifton towards expenses of prosecutions

for election frauds in Manitoba to be accounted.
E. L. NEWCOMBE.

30th June.
To His EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL

The undersigned has the honour to recommend that in connection with the recent
prosecutions for election frauds in Manitoba an advance of S6,964.41 be made to the
Hon. the Minister of the Interior to enable hini to make advances on account of the
several agents pending the taxation of their bills, which amount in the aggregate to a very
much larger amount ; such advance to be charged to the vote for miscellaneous justice
and to be accounted for.

Respectfully submitted,
0. MOWAT,

inistor of Jstice.

(R/kibit F.)
(Private.)

WINNIPEG, IAN., May 18, 1898.

Re Ballot Box Cases.

MY DEAR MR. SIFTON,-I was surprised to get your letter of l2th inclosing letter
from Sir Oliver Mowat, complaining of Richards & Bradshaw's bill and also of ours.

The former is made out on exactly the saine rates as all the other bills, nanely
Clarke, Wade & Perdue, and in conformity with a consultation of all-they charged
exactly the rates which the Dominion Governnent allow for their cases here, exactly the
rates charged by Martin & Walker. If Richards & Bradshaw's bills are excessive, then
all the others are the same. With regard to our bill I was compelled to make a lump
charge as work was done of which no record really could be kept. I merely set down a
sort of history of what I did in this matter. I do pose here as leading counsel (perhaps
undeservedly) and I charge and obtain fees as a leader and always get far more than '40
per day. The local government pays nie when employed $75 per day, and I will ven-
ture to say that Sir Oliver pays more than that to leader.

Believe me,
Yours truly.

H. M. HOWELL.
To the Hon. C. SIFTON,

Minister of the Interior, Ottawa.

P.S.-I do not quite like to write to Sir Oliver in this matter as he has not invited
remarks from me.
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( Exhibit G.)

WINNIPEG, Man., 27th March, 1897.

The Dominion of Canada, in account with Archibald & Howell, Barristers, Solicitors, &c.

1897.

March 27. To our charges investigating and prosecuting ballot box cases,
Particulars of which are hereto annexed ..................... 5,000

(Exhibit Il.)

WINN1PEG, Man., 20th March, 1897.

The Department of Justice in account with W. E. Perdue:

Re prosecutions against parties charged with abstracting ballots and improperly
placing ballots in ballot boxes, in the electoral district of Iacdonald.

Dec. 23, 1896. Attending at the police court, when Herriman was
brought before the police magistrate ; settling
amount of bill; approving sureties and seeing to
correctness of recognizances ................... 10 

Dec. 28, 1896. Attending in police court when Herriman again re-
manded ......................... ....... . 5 00

Jan. 5 to 6, 1897. Two full days at Carberry-went on afternoon of
4th and returned on night of 6th : $40_er day, as
per Dominion tariff ......... 40 GO
Expense..................................il 50
To paid telegrams to Mr. Howell . 65

Jan. 10 to 15, 1897. 4j days at Carberry, engaged in prosecutions.. 180 00
Expenses............................... . . 00

Jan. 21 to 23, 1897. 1 day and at Carberry, engaged in prosecu-
tions .... .................................. 60 G
Expenses ........................... il 00

Jan. 28 to 30, 1897. l days at Carberry, engaged in prosecutions.. 60 GO
Expenses....... .................... 12 0O

Feb. 4 to 6, 1897. l days ait Carberry, concluding case against
Brooks and ccntinuing case against Finklestein. 60 GO
Expenses. ...... ... ...... ...... 0
Paîd Alex. Kabel expenses fron Ste. Rose du Lac. 21 GO

$455 00 $86 15
86 15

$541 15

The above counsel fees include many consultations with Mr. llowell and other
counsel, many conferences with the Attorney General, and preparation of necessary
papers ; also, advising with Attorney General as to Herriman case and attending on
1 3th February and 1 Sth February, before magistrate.

Correct.

H. M. HOWELL.
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( Exhibit I.)

Department of Justice, in account with F. C. 'Wade, Barrister:

Counsel fees.-Counselling fees conducting Orr, Dennison, Roberts, Scam-
mell, Mawhinney, MeDole and Parker cases at Glenboro and Treherne,
requiring absence from Winnipeg, Dec. 23, 24, 30, 31. Jan. 1, 6, 7, 8,
9, 13, 14, 20, 21, 22, 28, 29. Fe b. 3, 4, 8, 9, 15, 16, 24, 25.... ..... . $960 00

Fees and counsel fees for all services in Winnipeg from Deceniber 19th to
March 7th, say two days counsel fees.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . ............ 80 00

Counsel fees assizes. Central judicial district when necessarily absent from
Winnipeg at assizes and going and returning March 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7,
6 d ays ..... ..... ..... ......... ..... ...... . .... .... .... 240 00

1,280 00
Disbursements as per details attached ....... .............. ...... 280 60

1,560 60
Credit by cash from Archibald & Howell and others.................... .290 00

Correct, 
$1,270 60

H. M. HOWELL.

Department of Justice in account with F. C. Wade, Barrister, etc.

DISBURSEMENTS.

1896.
Dec. 21. Paid cab hire home at 2 a.m. from magistrate's quarters.. ......... $1 00

23. Paid return fare to Glenboro ....... ....... ................. 5 20
Wire to home... ................... ............. ...... 0 25

" Smart............. ....... ... ,........... 0 25
Hotel and other expenses at Glenboro, Elm Creek and Holland, 23rd

and 24th....................... .................. 5 00
28. Wired Kane and paid.. . . . . ..................... ... .... , 0 25
30. Paid return fare to Glenboro ............. ..... ...... . 5 20
31. Hotel and other expenses at Glenboro, 30th, when drove 35 miles

to Treherne..... ........... ... ................... 2 50
Wire to McAdam, J.P., at Treherne .... ....... .... ....... 0 60
Paid for his reply... ......... ............... . .......... 0 25
W ired Andrews from Holland........................... .... 0.. 25

1897.
Jan. 1. Hotel and other expenses at Treherne and to Winnipeg, Dec. 30th

and Jan. 1st. . . . .... ...... ........ .......... .. 5 00
"' 2. Paid wire to Oxford. .......... ........................ 0 25

6. Fare to Glenboro.............. ....................... 4 00
Telegrams, Kane and Parker ....... ........ .... ........... 0 60
Wired Anderson, J.P., Hon. J. D. Cameron and Mr. Tait. ...... 1 25
Hotel and other expenses, Glenboro, Jan. 6, 7 & 8 ............ . 7 50
Paid return fare .............. ... ................ ....... 4 00

Jan. 13. Fare to Glenboro ........................... ...... ..... 4 00
Hotel and other expenses, Jan. 13th & 14th Glenboro, Holland &

Elm Brook........... ................................ 5 00
Fare home.. ..................... .............. 4 00
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Hotel and other expenses Jan. 20th & 21st reached home 5.30, a.m.
Jan. 22nd................. .......................... 5 00

Fare home.......................................... .. 0.. .4 00
W. G. Livingston to Glenboro, and return ..................... .. 8 00
N . M cDonald... . ..... .... .... ........................ 8 00
Thos. Holgate ... .. ..................... ............ 8 00
Saml. Holgate........ ............... ............ . ..... 8 00
John Williams.... ............ ......... ............. 8 00
James Roden... .............................. ........ 8 00
J. F. K inley ...... ... .. .... ........................... .... 8 00
W . Nevins, hotel.......... ....... .......... ........... . 7 2) 5
Lunches, Elm Creek, 8..... ................................. 2 00

e Holland, 8...... .... .......... ................. 2 40
Thos. Ho]gate, for time lost.. .................. ........... 3 70
J. F. Kinley, expenses...... .... ...... . ............... 1 25
W illiam Brow n.............................. ... .......... 25

Jan. 21. Nevins Hotel expenses..... ..... ........................ 6 80
John Leitch, constable............... ................... 10 00

" 27. W ire to Axford and paid .... ..... ... ...................... 0 25
27. W ire to Venner and paid.............. ..................... 0 50

Paid wire from Woodman. ................................ 0 25
" 27. Expenses with Saunders and Woodman., ........................ 1 00

Paid Saunders loss of time.................. ............. 1 75
Paid fare to Treherne. .. .. . ....... .... ........... . ..... ... 3 10
Paid fare home ........ . ............... ............ ... 3 10
Hotel and other expenses at Treherne, 27th and 28th............. . 5 00

Feb. 1. Wire to Venner........... ............. .................. 0 25
2. Wire to Mawhinney.. ... ....... .... .. ............. 0 25

Wife to Snart ................. ....................... 0 25
Wire from otlice to self paid ............................ 0 25

3. Paid fare to H olland ...... ................................ 3 40
4. Paid fare to Winnipeg .... ......... ........................ 3 50

Hotel and other expenses.. ........ ...... .... ......... 5 00
8. Paid luncheons for witnesses and self at Elm Creek. .... ... 1 00
9. Paid board, self and witnesses at Holland.... . .. . ... ........ 7 25

Paid for ambulance for witness and for telegrams . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 00
Paid lunches witnesses and self at Winnipeg late at night ........... 1 00

" 11. Paid James Roden expenses on Orr case.... .. . .. . ............. .. 2 00
Paid telegram to V erner........... ........... .............. 0 25

" " " Smart ................. .................. 0 25
" 12. " " " Sm art........................ ............. 0 35

13. Paid cash to J. A. Nubon... ..... ..... .. .. ............. 20 00
Paid Holgate expenses in Orr case ............................ 3 00
Paid Roden (Jr.) expenses in Orr case... .... .... ............. 2 00

14. Paid telegran to Smart. . ......... ..... .......... ......... 0 25
15 Paid fare to Treherne.... .................... ............... 3 10

Paid Walter Frost's expenses (witness).............. ........... 1 35
Paid telegram to Smart. ..................................... 25

16. Paid fare to Winnipeg ............... ..... .. .... ....... ... 3 10
Hotel and other expenses . . . . .. .......................... 5 00

18. Paid on account of hotel bÏl for witness and self at Cypress River
(Amount of account $8.75)....... ........... . ............... .. 4 00
Expenses Cypress River ..................... ...... ........ 3 00

22. Paid telegram to Deputy Clerk of Crown, Portage la Prairie..... .. 0 25
24. Paid cash to J. A. Freeborn............... ............. .. ... 5 00
25. Paid expenses of Davis, witness from Dauphin in Parker case ...... 10 00

Hotel and other expenses at Treherne ........................... 5 00
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Mar. 2. Paid fare to Portage la Prairie ......................... ....... 1 65
Hotel expenses at Portage la Prairie.......................... 10 00
Paid telegram to A. Dawson ....... ......................... 0 55

" 7. Paid fare to Winnipeg............ ................... .... 1 65
Postage on letters and parcels, from Deceinber 14th to March 7th. 1 50

8280 60
Jan. 12. Case from H. M. Howell... ... ....... ...... ... ...... .... 100 00

6. " " " " ..... .... . . ........ 100 00
24. " " Hon. D. J. Cameron.. . ......... .... ............. 25 00

M ch. 1. " " H . M. H owell........................... ..... ... 50 00
Feb. 3. " " M . Shand ........................ ............... 15 00

$290 00

(Exhibit J.)

Dominion Government, in account with O. H. Clarke, re Macdonald:
1896.

Dec. 7. To 41 days examining election returns and preparing order
for inspection of ballots, at ýl5 per day. . .. 67 50

" 12. To 4 days work, self and clerk, preparing informations and
duplicate warrants in 19 cases, at $15 per day . . . . ... 60 00

22. To amount disbursed in telegrais. .S 1. .
To 2 days to Neepawa and return when arrests made, at

$40 per day as per Dominion Government printed tariff 80 0O
Fare.... ............................... .. ..... 4 10
Meals, SI; hotel bill, 83........ ... ....... ....... . 4 0

29. To 2 days at Neepawa and return when adjournments
made, at S40 per day............................80 0O

Fare.... .............. ................................. 8 20
Hotel bill, 83; meals, $1.......... .. ............. 00

1897.
Jan. 3. To 5.i days to Neepawa when trials of Saunders, McFadden,

Renwick and Hamilton part heard, at S40 per day. 20 00
Board at Neepawa............................4 50
Board at Gladstone ................... .......... . 50
Board at Portage la Prairie. .1.... 50
Dinners at Gladstone......................... 10
Railway fare ........... ............. 20

15. To 3½ days at Neepawa when Renwick, Hamilton & Mc-
Fadden part heard, Saunders, committed, at $40 per
day. ........... . ..................... 140 00

Railway fare........ .... ......... .......... 8 20
Hotel bill and meals ................................ ...

25. To 1 day at Portage la Prairie, when Brown part heard. 40 00
Railway fare. . ............................. 3 80
Hotel. . . . .............. 2 50

29. To 2 days at Neepawa when Renwick, Hamilton &
McFadden heard, at $40 per day ................ 80 00

Railway fare...................................8 20
Hotel bil.....................................2 00
Dinner ..... .................. . ....... o0
Livery hire.............7 50

Feb. 4. To 2 days a t Neepawa when trials completed, at 840 per day 80 00
Railway fare. .... ...... ....................... 8 20
Hotel, $4; dinners, $1 .... ...................... . . 00
To paid Richardson's expenses ......................... 7 50
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1896.

To paid expenses of J. Munroe, attending as witness on
McFadden's trial, when he came from Wabigoon to
Neepawa ............ ........................

Dec. 31. To expenses of clerk serving subpenas, 6 days at $2.50 per
day............ ...........................

Livery hire paid M cMillan ..... ............. ......
Railway fare..................... ................
H otel bill and m eals ............ .... .............
Telegrams and stationery... ........... .. .......
To amount of McGuire's bill serving subpenas as per

account hereto annexed .... ....................
To ainount of McMillan's bill for livery for McGuire... .
To amount of Benson's Peters bill hereto annexed ...... .
To amount of W. A. Davis bill hereto annexed.. . .......
To amount of Thompson's bill hereto annexed. . . . . ....
To paid for copy of evidence re lcFa dden.. . ..........
To paid for copy of evidence re Saunders. .........

Feb. 19. To drawing 24 subpenas re Saunders................
To 8½ days at Portage la Prairie assizes on Saunders, Clarke

and Anderson cases, at $4 per day .................
Paid hotel expenses ............... ........ .......
Paid telegram from Burr ... ........ ........... ....
To paid Van Blaricom serving subpoenas re Hamilton case.
Re Renwick case............................. .. ..
To paid Stevens' bill for rig furnished to police constable at

Seepawa arrest Belford . ........................
To Lloyd's bill in re McFadden ........... . ..........
To McRae's bill livery hire driving magistrate to homes of

ill voters .................................
To G. G. Hall's bill in re Fred. Brown ......... .. ...
To J. G. Rutherford's bill printing subpænas in re Brown.

in re Clarke .
I. Garrioch, provincial constable, services rendered in re

Brown ........... . ...... ........... .......
To paid Fred. L. Davis, assisting at prosecutions re

Hamilton, Renwick and McFadden (off $14.25) . ...
To paid Mirs. J. Ritchie, Neepawa, livery bill, ...... ...
To 3 days at adjourned assizes at Portage la Prairie, at

$40 perday............. ......................
Hotel expenses ..................................

1

i
O ff.... ....... .............. . ...........

1
By received from Archibald & Hlowell. ... .. .. .. .

15 00

5 00

340 00

25 00

28 00
6 80
8 75
0 90

54 80
20 00
41 95
30 00

5 00
2 95
2 60

17 20
0 50

10 00
20 00

5 00
27 00

14 00
3 00
3 00
3 00

13 30

30 00
7 Co

120 00
8 50

,327 50 497 60
497 60

,825 10
14 25

,810 85
150 00

1,660 85
482 50

$1,178 35

Correct,
H. M. HOWELL.
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( Exhibit K.)

Doinmion Government in account with Thomas L. Metcalfe

Re MACDONALD.

1896.
Dec. 22. To 2! days, Carberry and return, when six arrests made

(Waller, Clarke, Anderson, Jaýxmes Waller, Finklestein
and Brooks), and stopping off at Portage la Prairie re
Brown and Mawhinney, at $20 per day............ 50 00

Expenses to and from .... .... .. .. ... . . . .. . .. . $ 8 90
Hotel............ .......................... ..... 3 00

" 28. Telegrams ................... .............. 1 00
1- day , Carberry and return on above case, at $20 per day. 30 00
Expenses to andfrom............................. . 8 90
H otel.. ..... . ........................ ... ....... 2 25
Telegram ........................... .............. 0 50

1897.
Jan. 3. Six days at Carberry on all the above cases ........ ..... 120 00

Expenses to and from............ ................... il 90
Paid printing.... ............................ 4 00
Telegrams. ..... ................. ... .. .. 1 00
Hotel ............................. .............. 9 00

" 10. 44 days at Carberry on above cases, at $20 per day, 90 00
Expenses to and from........ ..................... 8 90
Telegrams ......................... ............ .. 2 60
Hotel................. ........................... 7 50
Paid Duncan and McFarlane, witness expenses.. . . . .... 7 00

21. il days at Carberry .............. ..... .... .. ... . 30 00
Expenses to and from ................................ 8 90
Telegra.s ............................ . . . . . .0 50
Paid Dickson witness fees................ ..... .... 9 40
H otel .. ......................... . ..... ..... .:2 25

25. Paid telegrans ................................. 3 30
Jan. 26. Telegram.. .................. .............. ... 0 65

" 28. 1½ days at Carberry ...................... ...... 30 00
Paid sundry witness expenses .................... 9 00
Paid Hume. ....................... ........ 30 60
Telegram.... ................................. ... 0 50
Expenses to and from.... ................ ......... 8 90
Iotel..... .................................... 2 25

Feb. 4. 1- days at Carberry... ... ........ ........ ....... 30 00
Expenses to and from ........... ......... . ....... . 8 90
Hotel.......................... ................ 2 25

" 13. 1½ days at Carberry, whien Finklestein, the last of the
accused, committed for trial.. ............. .... 30 00

Expenses to and f rom....... ... ...... 8 90
Mar. 1. Preparing subponefs and indictments in the Clarke, Henry

Waler and Finklestein cases, four indictinents in the
Anderson case, two in the Waller case, and two in the
Clarke case, paid copies of evidence in the Clarke case.. 9 25

Paid copies of evidence in Anderson case ............... 5 75
Evidence in W aller case ........... ... .. . ....... 2 00

" 9. Sixdays at the Portage assize on the Mawhinney, Anderson.,
Clarke and Waller cases, at $30 per day ......... .. 180 00

Paid McCaskill, $30, expenses of bringing witnesses from
Arizona to Carberry on Anderson case ............. 30 00
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Paid hotel expenses.......... ...................... 10 00
Expenses to and from ....................... ....... 4 05

$590 00 $233 75
233 7t

$823 75

The above bill includes all fees for consultations, time given to the cases when not
away from home, drawing subpenas, indictments, letters, attendances, &c.

Correct,
H. M. HOWELL.

Department of Justice in account with Richards & Bradshaw: Re'
ELECTION PRoSECUTIoNs.

1896.
Dec. 29. Attending at police court, Winnipeg, arranging to have

case (Herriman case) remanded to McGregor for trial,
and getting new recognizances entered into for his
appearance there..............................$ 10 00

" 30. Fee attending at MeGregor l days, going into question
of witnesses to be subpenaed, drawing seventy-five
subpenas and arranging for service thereof.... ...... 60 00

1897.
Jany. Fee attending at McGregor from 4th to 10th January,

five days, taking evidence of fifty-six witnesses and
arranging for subpenaing eighty further witnesses,
drawing subpenas, &c. ............... ... 200 00

Fee attending at McGregor from 13th to 16th January,
three days, taking further evidence. . ........... 120 00

23. Attending at the police court, Winnipeg, case adjourned
for one week, and getting bail renewed.. ............ 10 00

Jan. 30. Attending forenoon at police court, Winnipeg, case re-
manded till afternoon to take the evidence of William
Rutherford, a deaf mute in deaf and dumb institute . 5 00

One hour attending on William Richardson and the
principal of deaf and dunb institute, going over his
evidence, and two hours in afternoon at police court
taking his evidence.................... .... ..... 20 00

Fee preparing papers for application to Court of Queen's
Bench for subpænas to witnesses in Ontario, and
attending court on motion for order. ,... 10 00

Paid disbursements on order answering three subpæenas. . 3 10
Feby. 6. Fee attending police court, Winnipeg, case remanded to

Adam Smith's house, north of Bagot, to take the evi-
dence of Smith who had just returned from Ontario,
but who was too ill to attend in Winnipeg .. ...... 5 00

7. Fee attending at Smith's place and taking his evidence,
case remanded to police court, Winnipeg, for 13th
February ... ... .......... .................. 40 00

13. Fee attending at police court, Winnipeg, hearing of case
concluded... .................................. 25 00

Paid telegrams to and from witnesses in Ontario and out-
side points in Manitoba to magistrates, bailiffs, &c.,
and postage (including $5.25 paid to William Cairns.) 17 07
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Paid travelling and other expenses of three trips to Mc-
Gregor, and one trip to Bagot, including amounts
disbursed for witness fees and expense of witnesses
coming from outside points, &c. .................... 76 80

Paid expenses of iHerriman and his counsel of special trip
to Bagot to take the evidence of Adamn Smith, including
fee to Herriman's counsel of $25 as per agreement to
get it adjourned .............................. 40 60

Paid costs of livery at McGregor and Bagot, driving out in
the country to take the evidence of invalid witnesses
who were unable to attend the court .......... 8 00

Paid costs of three witnesses coming from Ontario and
returning them............................... 190 00

Paid costs of W. Richardson coming from Portage la Prairie 5 50
Paid bailiffs at McGregor costs of the serving subpænas

and attending at court. .... ...... ........... 55 75
Paid agents' fees at Portage la Prairie attending on several

witnesses there, and subsequently getting subpenas
served there and getting witnesses living in the Elm
R iver district................ .... ........... 8 25

Paid clerk of court.. ...... ..... ...... 13 50
Paid rent of hall at McGregor. .. ............. 15 00
Paid to William Cairns to pay witnesses living in polling

district 24 $1 each, for expenses of attending at
McGregor to give evidence. . ............ 115 00

505 00 549 22
549 22

1,054 22
Taxed off Winnipeg fees and attendance. ............... 25 00

$1,029 22

The above charges include various consultations, clerical work, preparing summons
to witnesses, correspondence, &c., &c.

(Exhibit M.>
No. 1 061066.

OTTAWA, ONT., July 2nd, 1897.

The Bank of British North America, incorporated by Royal Charter.
Pay Bank of British North America or order, Five hundred and forty-one

fj- dollars.
$541.15.

Perdue's draft.
CLIFFORD SIFTON.

Bank of British North America, Paid July 2, 1897, Ottawa.

No. 819. Due 30th June,
WINNIPEG, MAN., 27th March, 1897.

Three months after date pay to the order of myself, $541 1, Five hundred and
forty-one 15 dollars and charge to account of.

W. E. PERDTE
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To Hon. CLIFFORD SIFTON,
Ottawa, Ont.

Accepted payable at the Bank of B. N. America, Ottawa.

CLIFFORD SIFTON.

Bank of British North Anerica.

Paid, July 2, 1897, Ottawa.

(Endorsement.)

Pay to the order of Perdue & Robinson.
W. E. PERDUE.

Pay to the Canadian Bank of Commerce or order.
PERDUE & ROBINSON.

For collection on account of the Canadian Bank of Commerce, Winnipeg.
F. H. MATHEWSON, Manager.

The Canadian Bank of Commerce, June 30, 1897, Ottawa.
R. GILL, Manager.

pr B.

Mr. Perdue's bill for fees and disbursements, ballot box cases, amount to $541.15
and is correct.

H. M. HOWELL.

(F E ibit N.)

No. § 061067-819.
OTTAWA, ONT., July ind, 1897.

The Bank of British North America, incorporated by Royal Charter.

Pay Bank of British North America or order, Six thousani four hundred and
twenty-three 16 dollars (Caineron draft.)

CLIFFCRD SIFTON.
86 423 2f.

Cameron & Howell draft.

Bank of British North America.

Paid July 2, 1897, Ottawa.

819. Due 30th June.
WINNIPEG, 27th March, 1897.

Imperial Three months after date, pay to the order of Imperial Bank of
Bank of Canada, Sixty-four hundred and twenty-three ni dollars, $6 ,4 2 3 2,
Canada, value received, and charge to account of

Head Office, J. D. CAýMERON,
Toronto. H. M. HOWELL.

To Hon. C. SIFTON, Ottawa.

Good for two days only from 30th June, 1897. Bank B. N. America.

Bank of British North America, paid July 2, 1897, Ottawa. Imperial Bank of
Canada, D. R., 1479. Winnipeg, Man., 5263.
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(Endorsement.)

Pay to the order of Bank of Montreal, for Imperial Bank of Canada, Winnipeg.
C. S. HOARE, Manager.

Bank of Montreal, Ottawa.
W. J. ANDERSON, Manager.

For deposit only to credit of Bank of Montreal, Ottawa, 30 June, 1897.

(Exhibit 0.)
2-62 Exch. Due Aug. 21st.

OTTAWA, June 18, 1897.
$2, 093 .75.--$2,096.37.

Two nonths after date pay to the order of the Bank of British North America the
sum of Two thousand and ninety three ) dollars and exchange, value received and

charge to account of
To H. M. HoWELL, Esq., CLIFFORD SIFTON.

Winnipeg, Man.

The Bank of British Nortlh Ameriea, Paid up Capital £1,000.000 Stg. Incorporated
by Royal Charter.

June 25, 1897, Accepted.

H. M. HOWELL.

Presented and protested for non-payment the 21st day of August, A.D. 1897, by
me. (Ottawa, R. B. 48). NOTARY PUBLIC.

( Exhibit P.)
No. 1042.35. Due Aug., 22nd.

Imperial WINNIPEG, June 19, 1897.
Bank of Two months after date pay to the order of the Imperial Bank of
Canada, Canada at Winnipeg ; one thousand and twenty-seven o Dollars,

Head Office $1,027, value received and charge to account of,
Toronto.

J. D. CAMERON.
To Hon. CLIFFORD SIFTON, Ottawa Ont.

( Endorsement.)

J. D. Canieron, $1027. June 19, 1897, pay to order of Bank of Montreal, for
Imperial Bank of Canada Winnipeg.

C. S. HOARE,
Manager.

Paid June 16, 1897. Imperial Bank of Canada D.R., Winnipeg, Man.

( Exhibit Q.)

CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAY Co-MPANY's TELEGRAPH,
Corner Sparks and Elgin Streets, December, 1897.

27. Collect. RAT PORTAGE, ONT.

To the Auditor General of Canada,
Ottawa.

The firm of Archibald & Howell received from the Hon. Clifford Sifton the sum of
three thousand dollars on account of ballot box prosecutions last autumn.

H. M. HOWELL.
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$6,964.41

To the Bank of Montreal, Ottawa.

(Exhibit R.)

FINANCE DEPT., CANADA,
OTTAWA, 3rd July, 1897.

Pay to the order of Bank of British North America, Sixty-nine hundred and sixty-
four dollars and forty-one cents.

Countersigned,
E. D. SUTHERLAND,

For Auditor General.

C. W. TREADWELL,
For Deputy Minister of Finance.

( Exhibit S.)

Bank of British North Ainerica in account with Hon. C. Sifton, Dr.

Date. - Amount.

1897.

July 2 ........ To 61,066 $ 541 15
61,067 6,423 26

$6,964 41

Date. -

1897.

July 3...... By cash (deposited by Finance
Departinent.

The Honourable
Sir OLIVER MOWAT,

Minister of Justice, Ottawa.
Enc.

W. E. PHILLPOTTS,
Manager.

( Exhibit T.)

OTTAWA, 22nd May, 1897.

MY DEAR SIR OLIVER,-I inclose you a letter from Mr. Howell, regarding
ballot box cases which explains itself.

Yours faithfully,

CLIFFORD SIFTON.

(Exhibit U.)
(Personal.)

The Honourable
Sir OLIVER MOWAT,

Minister of Justice, Ottawa, Ont.

OTTAWA, May 8th, 1897.

DEAR SIR OLIVER,-I inclose you herewith letter from Messrs. Archibald &
Howell, of Winnipeg, covering the detailed bill of costs of Messrs. Richards & Bradshaw
for their fees in connection with the ballot box prosecutions.

Yours faithfully,

CLIFFORD SIFTON.
150
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A. C. ROWE,
Accountant.

Amount.

$6,964 41

$6,964 41

(Personal.)
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WTINNIPEG, MANITOBA, 4th May, 1897.
The Honourable CLIFFORD SIFTON,

Minister of the Interior,
Ottawa, Ont.

DEAR SIR,-We inclose you herewith detailed bill of the costs of Richards &
Bradshaw for their fees in the ballot box cases. The bill as rendered amounted to
$1,054.22; we have taxed off the sum of $25, leaving the sum of $1,029.22. For this
sum they have drawn upon you. With the bill we inclose vouchers for their disburse-
ments, which amount to the sum of $549.22.

Enc. Yours truly,

ARCHIBALD & HOWELL.

(Exhibit V.)

Memo. of Disbursements, &c., &c.; Election Irregularities.

To paid A. Robinson..... ...............
A. Schu . .......... . .. ......

" A. Schumacher, P.N.D. . .... ,..
A. Robinson ....
L. Paschol ..............

A. Robinson ... . .........
R. Robinson, P.N.D.A ....
L, Paschol.............

"........... ...
R. D. Fry............
J. F. Ballantyne, P.N.D.A.
- Johnson ... .........
A Rbnsnrc

Expenses Carberry, H.M.H. .
A. Oakes, P.N.D.A. . . . . . . . .
J. F. Ballantyne ....... ...
Expenses Regina, H.M.H. ..
A. Oakes, P.N.D.A .........
A. Robinson...........
Pinkerton Co., Balce..
J. A. Freeborn..... .......
R . Paul..... .............
for evidence, confession.
Pinkerton, Martin acct ...
J. A. Freeborn...........
Paul Kane ...... ... ...

.......... $ 10 00
25 00

400 00
... ...... 25 00
.......... 2 00
. .... . ... 4 00

... . .... 75 00
.... 10 00

5 00
S1575

.. .. .... .. 2 75
100 00

.. .. . .. . 10 00

. .. .... 30 00
. ........ 30 00

15 65
100 00

50 00
. ......... 15 00

20 00
15 00

1,098 64
.... 160 00

.. ....... 50 00
.. ..... .. 350 00

.. ..... 251 40
25 00

.. ....... 150 00
3,005 19

Credit.

Oct. 23. By cash. ..... ................... .......... ....

Balance.....................--..... -........--

3,000 00

5 19
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1896.

June 26.
July 6.

13.
18.
18.
20.
20.

"22.
23.
25.
28.

Aug. 6.
6.
7.

15.
16.
19.
26.

Sept. 2.
2.

" 3.

16.
12.
17.

Oct. 24.
" 24.

Dec. 18.
" ' I

ARCHIBALD & HOWELL,
Winnipeg.

. . . . . . .
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(Exhibit X.)

THE ACTUAL FACTS.

Mr. Colin Campbell, Q.C., made the proposition to drop the prosecutions.
" If it had not been for its (the Free Press) protest it is quite possible the present

prosecution would have been dropped with the settlement of the Macdonald case."
The above appeared in the evening edition of the Free Press Monday niglit. Apart

from the superlative impudence and assurance of such a statement, there is the more
serious side. The Free Press has so persistently and shamelessly nisrepresented the
Department of Justice in connection with the prosecutions, no doubt inspired by its
political friends, that it becomes necessary in self-defence to make a plain, frank state-
ment about the matter. The decision to prosecute the deputy returning officers in
Macdonald whose offence was accentuated by the fact that they were officers of the law,
was reached weeks before Mr. Cameron became Attorney General, and was reached
after the most careful consideration and investigation, and after law officers had been
engaged for weeks in working up the evidence. The question of instituting proceedings
had also been submitted to the authorities at Ottawa and approved by those authorities,
so that there was nothing hasty or premature about the action. Mr. Cameron has been
acting with the approval of Ottawa, because all authorities of justice who were consulted
in the matter before action was taken, agreed that the crimes committed were of entirely
too grave a character to be overlooked.

The Department of Justice here never had any intention of dropping the prosecu-
tions than it had of promoting the appointment of Charlie Chamberlain as a judge. The
suggestion that they should be dropped came f rom the Conservatives. Shortly after the
prosecutions were instituted, M1r. Colin H. Campbell, Q.C., acting on behalf of Mr.
Boyd, approached either the Attorney General direct or his advisers, and in cold blood
made the proposition that if all prosecutions would be dropped, his client, Mr. Boyd,
would at once vacate his seat. The proposal was of course indignantly repudiated, as of
course it had to be if the Department of Justice hoped to preserve a semblance of
respect or dignity. That is the truth, the simple truth, and the whole truth, and it is
every atom there is to the oft repeated lie of the Free Press that the prosecutions were
to be dropped.-( finnipeg Daily Tribune, 19th January, 1897.)

(Exhibit Y.)

(Confidential.) WINNIPEG, July, 17, 1896.

Honourable WILFRID LAURIER,
Ottawa, Ont.

DEAR MR. LAURIER,-The result of the late elections in some of the constituencies
in Manitoba indicated to me that a fraud of some kind had been perpetrated in the
interest of the government candidates. I at once placed skilled detectives at work, and
have now in my possession conclusive evidence of an organized system of tampering with
ballots which constitutes the most colossal crime against honest elections which I have
ever had any knowledge of. I now know that two constituencies were secured by mearns
of these practices. I think it can be proved eventually that others were secured in the
same way. I am also in a position to say that there are strong indications that the
same practices prevailed in Ontario. As I have said above, detectives are now at work,
and my purpose is to promptly bit secretly push the inquiry and secure evidence upon
which to convict the guilty parties.

It is also important that no means be left untried to unearth these frauds in the
province of Ontario and punislh every one guilty of complicity. The bearer will explain
the matter somewhat in detail.
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The expense of such an investigation here is altogether beyond the financial com-
petency of my department, although I have assumed the responsibility of inaugurating
the work and carrying it on so far, froin my conviction of its far-reaching importance.
I now think, after careful consideration, that it is the plain duty of your government to
furnish the necessary funds for the service in order to carry on this work here, and to
take the matter in hand in Ontario yourselvez. I therefore request that the expense of
conducting these inquiries and prosecutions should be borne by the Federai Governmeint.
The money will be fully accounted for in detail by me as the officer having charge of
the administration of justice in this province. I have spent a considerable portion of
my time since the elections in connection with this matter, and I cannot conceive of
any more urgent public duty resting upon you as Premier of the Dominion, unan to
leave no stone unturned to expose these frauds and punish the perpetrators. You must
be aware that representative government and vote by ballot are simply a farce if such
practices are permitted. In view of what I know I am almost surprised that any
Liberal was returned in a close constituency.

I cannot impress upon you too strongly the necessity of an immediate and favour-
able reply.

Yours faithfully,

CLIFFORD SIFTON.

(Exhibit Z.)

24th July, 1896.
The Hon. CLIFFORD SIFTON, Winnipeg, Man.

I feel confident that you will unearth the most odious conspiracy which has taken
place for many long years, and we will most willingly furnish the necessary funds for
the service in order to carry on the work in which you are engaged.

WILFRID LAURIER.

153
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APPENDIX No. 2f.

COMMITTEE RoMR,
OTTAWA, FRIDAY, 3rd June, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee en Public Accounts beg leave to present as their
Tenth Report the report of their sub-committee, which they appointed to examine into
all differences, including the Treasury Board over-rulings shown by the report of the
Auditor General for the year ended 30th June, 1897, to have arisen between the
departments and the Audit Office.

REPORT OF THE SUB-COMMITTEE.

The sub-committee appointed on the 29th day of April last "to examine all the
differences, including the Treasury Board overrulings which the year's report shows to
have arisen between the departments and the Audit Office, with authority to report its
findings and recommeridations to the Public Accounts Committee," beg to report:-

That owing to the late period of the session at which this sub-committee was
appointed, and to the amount of business before your committee and other committees
of the House upon which various members of this committee were desirous of attending,
it has been four-d impracticable to secure satisfactory meetings of the sub-committee,
and there seems no prospect of your sub-committee being able in the time remaining
before the close of the session, to give proper attention,to the important matters referred
to them.

Therefore your sub-committee respectfully suggest that the matter be laid over to
the next session of Parliament, and i ecommend that at an early day in the ensuing
session of Parliament the subject be again taken up and a sub-committee appointed to
consider it.

Ail which is respectfully submitted.

JAS. McMULLEN,
Chairman.

2F-1
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APPENDIX NO. 2gé.

COMMITTEE RooM,
WEDNESDAY, 8th June, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts beg leave to present the fol-
lowing as their Eleventh Report

Your Committee have had under consideration certain correspondence had between
the Auditor General and the Deputy Minister of the Intterior and the Secretary of the
Treasury Board, and also a letter of Sir Oliver Mowat, Minister of Justice, ail set forth
under the heading "Interior Department: Grant to Lake St. John Railway Company,
without previous agreement," on paQes li to lviii, both inclusive, of the report of the
Auditor General for the year ended 30th June, 1897 ; and in cornection therewith have
examined witnesses under oath, and for the information of the House report herewith
the evidence given by such witnesses and one exhibit fyled during the said examination,
and your Committee recommend that the said evidence and exhibit be printed.

Ali which is respectfully submitted.

JAS. McMULLEN,
Chairman.

MIN-UTES OF EVIDENCE REFERRED TO IN THE ELEVENTH REPORT
OF THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE.

HoUSE OF COMMONS,
COMMITTEE RooM, THURSDAY, April 28th, 1898.

Committee met.-Mr. McMullen in the Chair.

The CHAIRMAN.-We have before us Mr Taylor's motion in regard to the payment
of $8,000 to the Quebec and Lake St. John Railway, which it was agreed we were to
deal with at this meeting. Is it the pleasure of the committee that we go on with this
matter l

Mr. FOSTER.-I would suggest to Mr. Taylor that as a resolution has been passed
to have a committee to deal with the overrulings he might leave this resolution over till
we have had a report from this sub-committee.

The MINISTER OF FiNANCE.-Why not go into it now that we are here and find out
what is in it ? Let us get to the bottom of it here.

Mr. FoSTER.-I have asked for the papers and I propose to go into it and produce
e vidence.

The MINISTER OF FINANCE.-BUt Mr. Foster is well aware that this was made the
first order, and the Minister of the Interior came here this morning to give evidence.

The CHAIRMAN.-An order of the House was obtained for the reference of these
papers to the committee and they are fôrmally before the committee for investigation,
and you cannot refer them to the sub-committee without a resolution, and it is my
opinion they will have to be investigated as the order of the House is here. Mr. Taylor's
resolution is as follows:-

" Resolved, That in the opinion of tlis committee the Auditor General is to be
supported in his contention that the sum of $8,000, paid to the Lake St. John Railway
out of the general vote for immigration purposes, should not have been made, but was

2-1 1
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made solely on account of bis having been overruled by the Treasury Board, although
after the payment was made the Minister of Justice gave it as his opinion that the
Government could construe the law to cover this case ; and that in future, if such a case
should arise, he be authorized not to make any such payment until after it had been
submitted to Parliament."

Sir Louis DAVIES.-I would just like to call attention to the very irregular manner
in which we are proceeding here. Here is a gentleman, Mr. Taylor, who may be an
excellent authority on many questions but is not considered an authority on law
or on constitutional law and he asks a committee of laymen to override the decision
of the Department of Justice. Here is a case where a disagreement occurs between
the Auditor General and a department and it goes to the Department of Justice.
The Department of Justice always have decided in the case of a vote made by
the House whether the expenditure is within the vote or not. The Minister
of Justice has decided it here. I say that this resolution should not be passed,
because it does not give a correct report of the facts. The Minister gave it as his
opinion explicitly that the Government might expend this money as they think best,
that is the opinion of the Minister of Justice. That is the law by which the govern-
ment is bound and by it the Auditor General is bound.

The AUDITOR GENERAL (Mr. McDougall).-Oh, no, I beg pardon.
The MINISTER OF MARINE AND FIsHERIE.-The Auditor General is no more

superior to, the law than the Minister of the Interior, and the sooner he and the members
of this committee understand that tbey must keep within the law the better. The
House votes a sun of money. The question very properly arises, is this within the law ?
The Auditor General says one thing, the department says another. It is left to the
Minister of Justice to decide. The Minister decides the expenditure is within the law.
The question then becomes one for the government as to policy. As to policy it may
scarcely be examined by this committee and they can do as they think best, but I for
one would object to a court of appeal of laymen to decide whether the Minister of Justice
decides correctly or not. I have no hesitation in saying here when a matter is referred
to the Department of Justice and it overrules the Auditor General, be is just as much
bound as I am, as Minister of Marine and Fisheries, because the Auditor General
cannot be allowed to be superior to the law of the land and there must be some one to
decide what the law of the land is and the Ministers must stand by the Minister of
Justice, even though they do not agree with him. He may be right or he may be wrong
and we must be bound by bis decision, and so must the Auditor General. It would be
.absolutely intolerable if we were to have an Auditor General who decided whether the
Minister of Justice was right or not.

Mr. TAYLoR.-The arguments would perhaps be right if Sir Louis took the facts of
thecase. The facts are that the Auditor General paid this amount long before the
Minister of Justice gave bis opinion.

Mr. FOsTER.-The Auditor General?
Mr. TAYLOR -The department. Long before the opinion of the Minister of

Justice was obtained the money was paid. If you read the report you will see that.
Sir Louis DAVIEs.-It was decided that the government could expend this money

in the manner they thought best.
Mr. TAYLOR.-NO one objects to that opinion. The department was authorized to

spend a certain amount for immigration, but here are a lot of old accounts trumped up
and paid out of this vote.

Sir Louis DAVIES.-No.
Mr. TAYLR.-Their claim was for moving people over their railway from one part

,of the country to another for several years. They claim for that and it was paid.
Sir Louis DAVIEs.-Not at all.
Mr. TAYLOR.-'l bese are the facts. Parliament was in session at that time and

,why was Parliament not asked to do it?
Sir Louis DAvIEs.-Why do you not bring your witnesses to prove this?
Mr. FoTER.--That is just what I was saying. What is the use of going over all

that now? We are not going to pass a judgment here to-day before you allow a gentle-
man to get bis papers and witnesses to prove the facts.
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Mr. FIELDNG.-It would have been all right to advance that argument when that
resolution was moved, but it was discussed here and Mr. Taylor made impressions on
this comnittee so far as he could make them. He said, here are the facts.

Mr. FOSTER.-It cannot he possible that the facts are all here because the com-
nittee passed a resolution to enable us to get other facts. There may have been enough

in it to influence Mr. Taylor's mind, but the committee think they should go further
than that, and the Auditor General's report, and applied for all papers in the case to be
brought down, and when they are brought down I propose to imake an investigation
nto it.

Mr. FIELDING.-What if Mr. Taylor presses his motion? You could not do it then.
Mr. FoSTER.-f Mr. Taylor presses hi- motion to day we will have to vote on it.

The only thing I suugested was that Mr. Taylor should defer his motion.
Mr. SIFTON.-Here is the resolution.

(This resolution is printec on page 1 of the evidence.)

That is totally unintelligible; it does not attack the policy of the Governnent in
doing this, but seeks in a roundabout way to lay down a rule for the Governmnent in
future. If that resolution is passed no Treasury Board or Minister of Justice could tell
what it meant. It seeks to say " that in future if such a case should arise, he be
authorized not to make any such payment until after it had been submitted to Parlia-
ment." That means that if Parliament votes money, and if the Minister of Justice
decides that it is applicable to a certain expenditure and the Government decides to
spend it in pursuance of this resolution, the Auditor General could refuse to Jet it be
carried out. In so far as the Government are concerned they arc perfectly willing to
be answerable to Parliament for the policy of the expenditure of the money they have
expended. It is a fair, proper, and legitimate question for the commnittee possibly, and
certainly for Parliament to inquire whether this was a proper expenditure to be made
in the interest of the country. It is quite a different question whether the expenditure
was illegally made and, as Sir Louis Davies says, it is not competent for this committee
to say. What I want to make clear is that in the first place the neaning of this
resolution cannot be made out. There are two divisions of the subject, one as to the
payment of the money, as to which the Minister of Justice is conclusive, and the second
the policy of the payment, as to which the Government is perfectly ready to answer.
If this committee desires to alter the method of payment of public money it cannot be
done in this way. It cati only be done by bringing in an amendment to the Revenue
and Audit Act.

The AUDITOR GENERAL.-I would like to explain what Sir Louis Davies and I take
different views of, and explain what I conceive to be the line of procedure. I have no
right to shield myself behind the opinion of the Minister of Justice, though he is a
distinguished lawyer and I am not. Under the Audit Act, I have to say whether in
my opinion a certain payment is a proper payment or not, unless there is an appeal to
the Treasury Board. If there is the Treasury Board can get the opinion of the Minister
of Justice, but the Treasury Board is not bound to follow him. They can either sustain
me or overrule me. I have no right to an opinion from the Minister of Justice, but I
have the right to get an independent legal opinion.

The MINIsTER OF THE INTERIoI.-Nobody in this committee has a higher respect
for the Auditor General than I have, but I submit that my friend the Auditor General
is confusing a question of policy and a question of law. The two things are distinct.
The Minister of Justice says that the Government were within their powers, that
Parliament had authorized the Government to spend a certain sum of money, and that
authorization permitted the Government legally to pass that Order in Council and make
the payment of money in pursuance of that. That is a question of law, but as to
whether the Government was following a wise policy is another question, and surely the
Auditor General will not contend that he is the person to say as to that.

The AUDITOR GENERAL.-What I say is that I was bound under the law to form
'ny Own opinion, and I formed my own opinion.
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The MINISTER OF PUBLIC WORKS.-As to the payment?
The AUDITOR GENERAL.-As to the payment. The Minister of Justice forms his

opinion in a different way. I have no right to give up my opinion because the Minister

of Justice bas a different opinion. Ministers of Justice before this have told me: " Why

come to me? You have no right to an opinion from me." But when it goes to the

Treasury Board they ask the opinion of the Minister of Justice, and they have a right

to follow it or not as they think best.
The MINISTER OF THE INTERIOR.-The Auditor General has proved what I say.

He is liable to be overruled or not, and the Treasury Board will submit to the Minister

of Justice. In the last resort the opinion of the Auditor General, however honestly

formed, and even if correct-the Minister of Justice nay be wrong and the Auditor

General right--does not rule, but there must be some one to express a decision on points

of law, and his decision as to legal questions must prevail. And while the Auditor nay

have his opinion on that, surely he bas no authority to speak as to the policy of the

Government.
Mr. TAYLOR.-If the Minister of Justice decides that an appropriation made by

Parliament bas a right to be used for certain purposes that would be all right, and that

is the argument the legal gentlemen on the Government side are trying to impress on the

committee as the point here. But that is not the case. On the 21st May, 1897, an

Order in Council was passed under which this sum was paid, and to this I ask the

attention of the Minister of Marine and Fisheries. Here is what the Auditor General

says :
s I have a copy of the Order in Council of the 21st of May, sanctioning a grant of

$8,000 to the Lake St. John Railway Company on account of efforts made by that com-

pany within the last two years in opening up to colonization the vacant lands in the

vicinity of the large district served by the railway."

This is for services that had been done with the Government or with any Govern-

ment. The greater part of this work, if any work had been done, had been done at

this time. Here is the motion that my hon. friend as a legal man criticises-and I was

glad to see the Auditor General, who is a layman, knock the legal gentlemen endwise on

this committee-
"In the opinion of this committee the Auditor General should be supported in his

contention that the sum of $8,000 paid to the Lake St. John Railway Company out of

the general fund for immigration purposes should not have been made, but was made

solely on account of his having been overruled by the Treasury Board, although after

the payment was made the Minister of Justice gave it as his opinion that the Govern-

ment could construe the law to cover the case, and that in future if such a case should

arise, he be authorized not to make any such payment until after it had been submitted
to Parliament."

That is the resolution, and I may say here while I am on my feet, that as we are

going to have a further investigation when these papers come down that I will, with

your permission, withdraw this motion and let the whole matter be opened up, because
we will have the full evidence as to the nonsense or sense of the resolution. Let any

person of this conmittee take the correspondence that is here between the Auditor
General and the Minister of the Interior and find the dates on which the circumstances
occurred, the date when the Minister of Justice was appealed to, and he will say that
this is well founded.

It is plain and simple that the $8,000 was for work done two or three years ago
and it should not have been paid when Parliament was in session at the time. The

policy is for a vote of the House placing it in the hands of the Government to do certain
work with it. There was an election down in Quebec about that time and the Govern-
ment thought that they would make this payment to the railway company.

Mr. FIELDING.-That is the old way. What is the use of speaking in this way.
Mr. TAYLOR.-But there is the fact, that $8,000 was paid by the Treasury Board

and the Minister of Justice was not asked an opinion until afterwards. Then he said
that in his opinion the Government could take the money to promote immigration. " It
was made solely on account of his having been overruled by the Treasury Board." The-
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Auditor General says that. The Minister of Justice gave it as his opinion that the
Governinent could construe the law to cover the case. No legal gentleman iii the House
not as prejudiced as my friend here (Mr. Sifton) will read Sir Oliver Mowat's opinion
without saying that it is the most wishy washy opinion ever given and that it was given
simply for the purpose of white-washing the Government. Then the resolution says:-
"In future if such a case should arise, he be not authorized to make such payment until
it had been submitted to Parliament." If the Government should call upon him to pay
an old account it should be brought up in the House.

Sir Louis DAVIES.-I feel deeply sorry for Sir Oliver Mowat to-day because after
the decision, the determination come to by Mr. Taylor, his legal reputation has been
very mnuch injured. I propose to read bis opinion given on the 9th of November upon
a reference contained in a letter of the Treasury Board of the 5th, with respect to a
proposed payment of $8,000 to the Lake St. John Railway.

Mr. TAYLOR.-But it hIad been paid.
Sir Louis DAVI:s. -The opinion is as follows
" An Order in Council of 21st Xi ay last, authorized the payment to the Quebec and

Lake St. John Railway Company of -8,000, in order to further encourage the operations
of the company in the promotion of immigration, which the Order in Council recites
had in the past proved of great value ; and by an Order in Council of the 15th July it
was provided that this payment should be made a charge upon the vote for general
immigration purposes.

Upon the passing of the latter Order in Council a cheque (Eihibit A) for the
amount of the grant was issued against the vote referred to

The Auditor General previously to such cheque being issued had pointed out what
he conceived to be objections to the proposed payment and, at bis suggestion, the matter
was referred to the Treasury Board.

Under these circumstances you ask for ny opinion, as Attorney General, under
section 32 (a) of the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act, as to whether there is, or is
not, parliamentary authority for the proposed payment.

The Auditor General states his objection in his letter to vou of the 4th ultimo, as
follows :-

'1. There was no legal obligation because the Government never authorized the
expenditure before it was made, was never even appiied to for authorization, or notified
that the expenditure was about to be made.

'2. There was no moral obligation. The company could bave no reason to expect
that it would be reimbursed any portion of the outlay, because the expenditure was
made with the expectation that the benefit to the conpany's business would repay the
outlay.'

The sole question with which I have to deal in this report is the question of law,
whether under the section of The Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act above referred
to, there is " Parliamentary authority " for the payment.

The " Parliamentary authority " is the vote for " Immigration expenses."
I think that the Government nay expend this vote for "Immigration expenses " in

such manner as they may think best adapted to promote immigration. A.G. Report
lvii.

That was the opinion laid down. I am sorry that Mr. Taylor differs from it, and
I am sure Sir Oliver would feel it keenly, if made aware of the fact. But what I rose
to point out to Mr. McDougall was this, that there nust be in the administration of the
Government some supreme tribunal, who will have control over him in legal matters as
well as over the Ministers.

iMr. McDOUGALL.-I agree as to that.
Sir Louis DAvIEs.-Sometimes matters have come up, which I have referred to

the Attorney General for his opinion. He bas given it, and I have disagreed with him,
but I was bound by his opinion, and the Auditor General may as well understand that
he is bound and must be bound in the same way.

Mr. MCDOUGALL.-I understand that.
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Sir Louis DAVIEs.-I will enter my solenn protest against the Auditor General
attempting to usurp a position superior to the Minister of Justice as far as legal things
aae concerned.

Mr. FosTER.-Has any such claim been made?
Mr. McDOUGALL.-I decline to be bound by the Minister of Justice because he has

nothing to do with me. I am bound by the Treasury Board because it bas a legal right
to overrule me.

Sir Louis DAIES.-The Treasury Board does not give weight to our objections
until the opinion of the Minister of Justice has been obtained. If any judgment arises
when the Treasury Board determines to overrule the Auditor General that will be dealt
with on its merits. The Auditor General savs " I challenge the policy of it." I re-
spectfully submit to the Auditor General that if be is going to occupy that position that
the Government had better resign. So far as the legality of the vote is concerned the
Treasury Board rode over the opinion of the Auditor General acting on the legal opinion
of the Minister of Justice, and so far as the policy is concerned the Treasury Board and
the Government are alone concerned, and I as one of them, challenge the right of the
Auditor General to determine it himself in the face of the policy of the Government for
the time being, and if he takes that position and occupies it, why, the wheels of govern-
ment will cease to work. It is not right that this kind of contest should go on con-
tinually.

Mr. POPE -You used to say it was all right.
Sir Louis DAVIES-No : I never said that.
Mr. FOSTER.-What right bas the Auditor General ?
Sir Louis DAvIEs-He bas the right to challenge.
Mr. FoSTER.-That is wbat lie has done here. The Auditor General is bound to

make up his opinion on the matter ; he makes bis objection, it goes to the Treasury
Board, and lie bas to put before the Treasury Board bis objections. He must be free
to frame bis reasons. His reasons in this case were that there was no legal obligation,
and he thought there was no moral obligation so far as the facts were before him. Is
any one to say that he was not free to express bis reasons? If the Government use a
vote in a certain way, and the Auditor General thinks they have no right there is a
generic difference in policy between the Auditor General and the government. The
Auditor 'General lias no right to come up and question the tariff policy of the Govern-
ment, and say " you should give free trade," but as to the expenditure of money the
Auditor General bas to give his opinion. You may say it was a question of policy, but
the Auditor General would be recreant if be did not give his opinion.

The MINISTER OF MARINE AND FIsHERIEs.-If the Auditor is to be above the Gov-
ernment, if it is bis opinion that the Government had no moral obligations to make this
payment, and he is to override the Government the sooner it is known the better and
Parliament will take care to alter that.

Mr. FOSTE.-Let me put one more question and you can answer the whole thing
at once. sYou are not bound by the Auditor General. The Auditor General is bound
by the ternis of the act whicl makes him Auditor General to proceed a certain distance,
and so far you are bound by him as to the payment of a certain sum; he can go so far
as to defer and deny payment. Then you have a remedy, which is to go to the Treasury
Board and have him over ruled, and tien the Auditor General will have no more to do
with it.

The AuDIToR GENERAL.-That is what I say.
Mr. FoSTER.-Can you find that the Auditor G-eneral bas raised any question of

policy ? He had to have a reasonable objection and it went before the Treasury Board.
They say the Auditor General bas no right to object to paymient, and the Auditor
General overrules no longer. The government then carries out its policy under the
powers given by the Treasury Board, and there is no longer any trouble. There is a
difference of opinion, because where the Auditor General is following up his duty and
says a payment should not be made be is bound to abide by that, but when it goes to
the Treasury Board he bas no further objection to urge against the government.

The MINISTER OF MARINE AND FISHERIEs.-Mr. Foster bas not put bis other question
and is trying to get away from the position. No one objects to the initial steps taken



Public Accounts Committee.

by the Auditor General. If he thinks a certain vote cannot be applied to a certain pay-
ment, it goes to the Treasury Board and froin thein to the Minister of Justice. If the
Minister of Justice overrules the Auditor General lie is bound by that. Mi. Foster says
he is bound here. I know that, but I complain that with the legal objection lie raised
the question of moral obligation. Do you w ant him to be constitited a moral supervisor
of the Government ? Has lie a right to say whether this money is morally to be paid?
Is that his duty ?I subnit, and we may as well have it out, that the A uditor General
went beyond his power altogether. When the Minister of Justice overruled himiî the
question was ended, and now it is brought up before Parliamient to ascertain whether
the Auditor General, in stating that there was no moral obligation, was right. Is that
what he is for? He says " there was no moral obligation " to pay this nimney. Whîere
did lie get the right to say that ? That is for the Governmient to determine, and the
Governmeit is answerable to Parliament. Let us have it out now whether tlie Auditor
General is greater than the Government or not. We have in this book, filled up so big
that we can hardly carry it

Mr. TAYLOR.-When vou were on the other side it was all right.
The MINISTER OF MARINE AND FISHEIEs.-Yes, so far as the reports of expenditure

go, but not if it is filled up with statements as to moral obligations wlien the Governîment
clearlv have the legal right to make the payments.

The CHAIRMAN.-This matter has to corne before the conunittee in another shape,
and I do not see any use in discussing it further at present.

Mr. HUGHES.-That is a point I was just about to raise This question lias to
come before the committee in a proper shape. Mir. Foster has given notice that lie will
call witnesses, and if it is to be discussed we can do it better after we have heard evi-
dence, but to my mind the question should be discussed in the House, and therefore the
whole thing is tine wasted here.

Mr. TAYLOR.--Then, Mr. Chairman, I will withdraw the motion.
The committee gave the hon. member leave to withdraw lis resolution.

HOUSE OF COMMONS.
COMMITTEE Roomi, WEDNESDAY, May 18, 1898.

Committee met. Mr. McMullen in the Chair.
Mr. JAMEs A. SMART, being called and sworn, testified as follows -

By Mr. Foster :

Q. What is your position, Mr. Smart ?-A. Deputy Minister of the Interior.
Q. How long have you been Deputy Minister ?-A. Since the lst of April, 1897.
Q. Are you conversant with the papers andi matters in connection with this pay-

ment of $8,000 to the Lake St. John Railway Company ?-A. Yes.
Q. These papers have been under your charge ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the payment and antecedent applications have passed through your hands?

-A. Yes.
Q. I asked that all the papers be brought down but I find that they are not com-

plete. For instance, I have a copy of a letter here, written by Sir Wilfrid Laurier on
the 19th January, 1897, to J. G. Scott, Esq.: " Dear Mr. Scott,-With reference to the
application of the Lake St. John Railway Company for an increased mail subsidy, the
Council has carefully considered the meniorial that you placed in my hands as well, as in

the hands of the Postmaster-General." I have not that application, it is in the depart-
ment ?-A. No.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. You say it is not in the department ?-A. Not in the Interior Department, no.
Q. Did you search for it ?-A. I went through all the papers and it is not there.

By Mr. Foster :
Mr. Laurier continues
" We came to the conclusion that arn increased mail subsidy would not, under

existing circumstances, be met with favour, but, considering the great efforts which the
7
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company has made and is making to promote colonization in the Lake St. John region,
we came to the further conclusion that the justice, of the case would be met if an extra
allowance to the extent of eight thousand dollars ($8,000) were given to the company.
We have not, at this moment, the money available, but if the proposition is accepted
by the Companv, I am authorized to say that the grant will be made good and the
money paid on the 1st July next. Let me know if this is satisfactory.

I have the honour to be, dear Mr. Scott,
Yours very sincerely,

WILFRID LAURIER.

So that the first application is intimately connected with the second, because
the grant was based on the application as a whole. You will notice, and I want you
to note this, Mr. Smart, that this was paid on the ground of the great efforts the com-
pany has made and is making to promote colonization in the Lake St. John region ?-
A. The application attached to that shows what they have done.

Q. I have a letter from Quebec from Mr. Scott to Mr. Sifton

QUEBEC AND LAKE ST. JOHN RAILWAY,
QUEBEc, 7th April, 1897.

The Hon. CLIFFORD SIFToN,
Minister of the Interior,

Ottawa.

SIR,-I beg to inclose a copy of a letter and statements which have been submitted
to the Honourable the Premier, showing the work which has been done by this company
for immigration and colonization purposes, in connection with the settlement of the
Lake St. John Valley. You will see from these statements that we have been very
successful in getting new settlers into this country.
Have you these statements ?-A. They are attached there, I think.

Q. The statement of the 5th of April is the statement referred to in this letter of
the 7th ?-A. I suppose so, yes.

Q. The letter continues,-
I understand it is the intention of the Government to devote a portion of the

money formerly applied for immigration purposes to assist colonization societies in
different parts of the country. I trust that we may have your sympathy and assistance
in the good work which we are doing in this direction.

Your obedient servant,
J. G. SCOTT,

Secretary.

Did you have an appropriation available under that specific head for assisting coloniza-
ticn societies in different parts of the country ?-A. W7e had the immigration appro-
piiation.

Q. But no specific appropriation for colonization societies ?-A. No. Evidently
fr<m Mr. Scott's letter he refers to an application made to the late Government and
which they promise to favourably consider. I think in one of the letters he--

Q. This says nothing of the late Government ?-A. But read on and you will see
ater on.

Q. This on the 5th of April is from Mr. Scott naking an extended statement
which I suppose is the statement referred to in his letter of the 7th of April, in which
he writes to Sir Wilfrid Laurier :

QUEBEC AND LAKE ST. JOHN RAILWAY,

QUEBEC, 5th April, 1897.
The Hon. WILFRID LAURIER,

Premier, Ottawa.

DEAR SIR,-Beferring to my letter of 1st asking to have the $8,000 promised us
for colonization purposes, placed in the estimates, I have now the pleasure to inclose



Public Accounts Committee.

some statements of the work done by the company on behalf of colonization during the
last few months, since we have been employing a colonization agent.

The reports of this agent-Mr. Réné Dupont-show that the number of bona fide
new settlers transported to the Lake St. John district by the railway on free settlers
tickets, from June, 1895, to December, 1896, lias been-

From Canada. ... .................... ......... .... 1,029
New England States and Michigan and Wisconsin. ..... 490
France ..... .......... .. ........ .............. 105

Total.. ... .......... ............. _ _. 1,624

We also issued a circular letter, as per eopy annexed, to each clergyman in the pro-
vince of Quebec, authorizing him to send two delegates from his parish to examine and
report upon the Lake St. John territory and its advantages for settlers.

The inclosed statement shows that during the year 1896, the clergy of no fewer
than seventy parishes availed themselves of this, and sent '125 delegates to Lake St.
John, who came from every section of the province, some of them from distant points,
and their reports are now doing a great deal of good in promoting settlement in Lake
St. John, in preference to emigration to the United States.

In addition to this, we have distributed an immense amount of illustrated coloniza-
tion literature, and Mr. Dupont lias been constantly employed in giving lectures in all
parts of the province and in the New England States, his lectures being illustrated by
limelight views of agricultural scenes and new settlements in the Lake St. John district.

As will be seen, these efforts are already producing very beneficial results. The
new townships, such as Normandin, Albanel, the Trappist settlement and Rivière a
Pipe district, are being settled with wonderful rapidity, and the new settlers find ready
employment in winter in the lumbering operations. The extent of these operations may
be judged when I say that the estimated number of saw-logs made on the line of the
railway during the past winter was 1,049,000, affording employment to about 4,000
men in the woods.

The directors feel sure that these very satisfactory results will convince you of the
magnitude of this work, and of the importance of extending the Government aid for a
period of years, so that the company may feel justified in enploying more men in this
good work, and in going to a larger expenditure in printing books and establishing
agencies for colonization purposes so that the progress of settlement may be more rapid
and on a larger scale.

From that statement you would infer, would you not, that Mr. Scott supposed
that the money that was to be devoted to his work was to be specially voted and placed
in the estimates ?-A. That would evidently be the supposition.

Q. Then in the first letter that I read, the letter of Sir Wilfrid Laurier in which he
says " that he has come to the conclusion that the justice of the case would be met if an
extra allowance to the extent of 88,000 were given to the company. We have not, at
this moment, the money available, but if the proposition is accepted by the company, 1 am
authorized to say that the grant will be made good and the money paid on the 1st of
July next." What would be your impression with reference to that ?-A. I think the
impression was that the immigration vote would not stand an extra vote of $8,000 and
that it would have to wait over until the 1st of July to come within the next year.

Q. How are you satisfied that the Premier had that idea ? Can you'swear that you
are satisfied the Premier had that idea ?-A. The matter was discussed with the
Minister and myself.

Q. Did lie inform you that Sir Wilfrid Laurier was satisfied ?-A. That is my im-
pression at any rate.

Q. But certainly Mr. Scott's application was on the supposition of a special vote
for colonization purposes ?-A. I do not suppose Mr. Scott knew anything about a
general vote or a special vote.
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Q. This again occurs in a later part of Mr. Scott's letter, he says:-
"I would therefore respectfully suggest that legislation may be introduced during

the present season to make the grant of $8,000 annual for a period of twenty years, as
was done in the case of the grant of $80,000 per annum to each of the railways in the
North-west Territories." Would that, in your opinion, indicate a special vote?

The question was objected to bySir Louis Davies.
Q. Mr. Scott writes as follows :-" I will, therefore, respectfully suggest that

legislation may be introduced during the present season to make the grant of $8,000
annual for a period of 20 years, as was done in the case of the grant of S80,000 per
annum to eaci of the railways in the North-west Territories, (see Act 53 Vic. chap.
5)." Mr. Smart, in view of that statement is it your impression that such a grant
should be taken out of the immigration vote ?

Question objected to by Sir Louis Davies.
Q. Mr. Smart, what applications were made to you by the Quebec and Lake St. John

Railway Company for assistance in this sense ?-A. There were no applications made to
me.

Q. You had no applications in your department ?-A. Nothing except what has
been put on file.

Q. There were no formal applications, which you bave not in these papers ?-A.
None, but this.

Q. All the papers you have seen in reference to the applications are these ?-A.
Yes.

By fr. Wood (Brock ville):
Q. Do you think that application was based on the application for the postal

grant ?-A. So far as my part in the thing is concerned it was simply this, and I might
explain it now it might shorten the examination.

Q. But answer my question ?-A. I do not know anything about the postal
application.

By 1fr. Foster:

Q. You did not know anything about that application ?-A. The application was
not made to the department in the first place.

Q. Where was it made ?-A. To Sir Wilfrid Laurier, and then evidently it was
brought ovei to the department, and the Minister told me that it had been decided to
make a grant of S8,000.

Q. Then you had no further applications before you than the papers I have in my
hauds-there is Sir Wilfrid Laurier's letter, Mr. Scott's letter to Sir Wilfrid Laurier,
and Mr. Scott's statement embraced in this letter ?-A. Yes.

Q. Now, you say your first intimation was ?-A. When the Minister brought that
statement, showing the work done by the cornpany in regard to colonization.

Q. And told you ?-A. To have a memorandum to Council prepared.
Q. For what ?-A. For the payment of 88,000.
Q. You are Deputy Minister ?-A. Yes.
Q. And had various officers under you ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did you make any report on this ?-A. No.
Q. As Deputv Minister you took instructions to carry out what was decided on

by the Government?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you know if there was any investigation by any one of these statements ?-

A. No.
Q. There was none by you or any officer of your department ?-A. No.
Q. Have you seen the application to the Post Office Department for a mail subsidy ?

-A. No.
Q- Do you know such a one exists ?-A. I do not.
Q. There is here a copy of an extract from a report of the Committee of the Hon-

ourable the Privy Council, approved by His Excellency on the 21st May, 1897. Were
there any further Orders in Council ?-A. Yes ; there was a subsequent one.

A. 1898
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Q. Of what date ?-A. I cannot remember.
Q. There is one here of 15th July, 1897:-" The Committee, on the recommenda-

tion of the Minister of the Interior, advised that the grant of $8,000 authorized to be
made to the Quebec and Lake St. John Railway by the Order in Council of the 21st
May, 1897, be made a charge upon the moneys granted by Parlianient for general imi-
migration expenses,' but there is one mentioned in the Auditor General's report of the
17th July ?-A. There were only two.

Q. You are sure there were only two ?-A. Yes.
Q. This report reads as follows :
" Extract from a report of the Conmittee of the Honourable the Privy Council,

approved by His Excellency on the 21st May, 1897.
"On a report dated 20th April, 1897, f rom the Minister of the Interior, submit-

ting that representations have recently been made to vour Excellency in Council by Mr.
J. G. Scott, secretary and manager of the Quebec and Lake S-. John Railway Company,
to the eflect that as a result of the efforts of this companv within the lst two years in
opening up to colonization the vacant lancis in the vicinity of the large district served
by the railway, they have succeeded since the month of June, 1895, in placing over
1,624 bona pde new settlers on farms in that locality. These set tlers have been granted
free transportation over the road to their respective places of destination, and were
induced to locate there largely through the instrunentality of various del-gates who,
at the instance of the company, have visited the Lake St. John district, and whose
reports are now doing a great deal of good in promoting settlement in that very desir-
able region.

The Minister observes that it further appears that the company distributes a
large amount of illustrated colonization literature and have a permanent colonization
agent employed in giving lectures in all parts of the province and in the New England
States, his lectures being illustrated by limelight views of agricultural scenes. As a
result of this systenatic work of the company the new townships in this district, such
as Normandin, Albanel, the Trappist settlemnent, and Rivière a Pipe district, are being
settled with great rapidity and the new settlers find ready employnent in winter in the
lumbEr operatious. The extent of these operations may be tested from the fact that
the estimated number of saw-logs made on the line of the railway during the past
winter is 1,049,000 affording emplovnent to about 4,000 men in the woods.

"The Minister states that the company submit that under the circumstances they
are entitled to receive assistance at the hands of the Dominion Government, as the work
which they are prosecuting is of a national character and one of the most potent ineans
to check the expatriation of Canadians to the United States.

"The Minister further states that the above representations having been referred
to him, he is favourably impressed with the result of the work accomplished by the
Quebec and Lake St. John Railway Company, and in order to further encourage their
operations in this respect, lie recommends that a grant of 88,000 be made to thein."

After that, the Order in Council of the 15th of July, saying that this shall be
paid out of moneys granted by Parliament for general immigration expenses, that is the
authority for the payment of $8,000 to the Lake St. John Railway Company ?-A. Yes.

Q. That, then, was the ground upon which this payment was made ?-A. So far as
I was concerned the Order in Council was the authority.

Q. As stated here " on account of eforts made by that company within the last
two years in opening up to colonization the vacant lands in the vicinity of the large
district served by the railway." These words purport to be words from the Order in
Council, but they are not in the Order in Council. Did you accompany this, when you
sent your letter to the Auditor General, by a covering letter of your own? or was this
Order in Council sent by you ?-A. I think the order was sent direct by the Privy
Council.

Q. And you recollect no order sent by you?-A. No. I am sure there was none
sent by me.

Q. Well then, Mr. Smart, what do you understand to be the reasons upon which
or the grounds upon which this vote was paid ?--A. Simply for the work done and
being done by this company.
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Q. Work of what character ?-A. Of a national character. Of a national character
and having a tendency to save our own people.

Q. Yes, and to check the expatriation?-A. Yes.
Q. Did you in your correspondence advance any other grounds as to why this pay-

mant should be made ?-A. I cannot say that I did.
Q. In your answer to the Auditor General, who wrote you a letter on the 3rd of

June, you answered, but the date is not here. It is apparently in June and shortly
after. In that letter you state :-" In the present instance there is no question but
that the service for which this payment of $8,000 is to be made has been very satisfac-
torily rendered ; in fact when fixing the amount of the grant it was acknowledged that
the company would be entitled to a larger ainount if paid by results." You say you
made no investigation as to this matter ?-A. Not as to the statements that are made.

Q. You didn't have an oflicer examine and verify these statements ?-A. No.
Q. Simply took the word of the Minister to facilitate the payment ?--A. Certainly.
Q. How then can you state in your answer to the Auditor General in the present

instance, " there is no question but that the service for which the payment of $8,000 is
to be made bas been very satisfactorily rendered ?" Could you state that of vour own
knowledge ?-A. Well, I believed it at the time.

Q. Could you state it of your own knowledge, had you examined it yourself ?-A.
I had never been to Lake St. John.
e Q. Did you verify these statenents ?-A. I did not

Q. Do you know of your own knowledge that they had brought in a single
immigrant ?-A. No.

Q At the same time then you could hardly make that statement of your own
personal knowledge ?-A. I accepted the statement of the company as being true.

. Q. And did more than accept it, endorsed it as Deputy Minister without examina-
tion by you or any officer of your department ; and then you say, "in fact when fixing
the' amount of the grant it was acknowledged that the company would be entitled to a
larger amount if paid by results." How did you account for that ?-A. I so understood.

Q. Your first intimation was from the Minister that the grant was fixed ?-A. Yes.
Q. And in fixing the amount it was acknowledged that the company would be

entitled to more if paid by results: was that to your own knowledge ?-A. I must have
got that from some one, I cannot say.

Q. But you did not know yourself, by investigation by yourself or officers ?-A. I
did not.

Q. You go on: " I may also state that while it bas not been the policy of the
Government to meet expenditure connected with the removal of the residents of Canada
from one part to another part of the Dominion, you will acknowledge that the Govern-
ment has power to decide whether such work is valuable from an immigration stand-
point or not. And that if it be decided that it is, and that it bas been done in the
general interests of Canada, it bas power also to estimate the value of the work, and to
pay for it out of the vote. That the work in question is a matter of immigration in
the welfare of Canada cannot be denied, and this being acknowledged, it is surely
unnecessary, since we have a sufficient amount to the credit of the immigration appro-
priation, to ask Parliament to specially vote the amount." Did you have any objection
from the Auditor General as to the payment of that amount ?-A. The oly objection
is contained in the letters he wrote me.

Q. His letter of June 3 contained an objection, and your answer was to remove
that objection; was it successful?--A. He replied again to that.

Q. And did he approve of the payment ?-A. No, he did not.
Q. And when was the payment made?-A. About the end of July.
Q. On the 28th July ?-A. Yes.
Q. That is, you made payment in opposition to the objection of the Auditor

General?-A. Yes.
Q. And before vou made appeal to the Treasury Board ?--A. Yes.
Q. Why did you not decide to have the matter settled by the Treasury Board

before making payment?-A. I pointed out that it was a matter of policy for the
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Government to decide, and after hearing from him two or three weeks after his last
letter I spoke to my Minister with regard to the inatter, and told hii what was said by
the Auditor General, and lie simply instructed me to issue a cheque, which I did.

Q. You simply told him and he instructed you to go on and pay the cheque
(Exhibit A), and the Government would take the responsibility, which you did ?-A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember whether you had any vote in your estimates, any special
votes for colonization purposes? -A. No.

Q. Do you remem ber whether you have any vote for removing Canadians fromn one
part of the Dominion to another ?-A. No, we have not.

Q. Did you read Mr. Scott's statement and read fromi that statement that part of
the alleged work was in placing residents of Canada in the Lake St. John district?-
A. Yes, I understood that was part of it.

Q. The larger part of it?-A. No, but part of it anvway.
Q. I take the statement as made by Mr. Scott that lie submitted that the numuber

of bonafiide settlers transported to the Lake St. John district biy the railway on free
settlers' tickets f rom J une, 1895, to December, 1896, was : from Canada, 1,029 : from
New England, 490 ; and frorn France, 105, making a total of 1,624. That is, the
proportion of removals of Canadians from other parts of the Dominion was as 1,029 to
the whole numb-r of 1,624 ; three-quarters of the total number, or certaiily five-eighths.
That is, in paying this claim you are paying out of the immigration vote wvhat from the
papers appears to be, as regards five-eighths of the settiers, reiovals of Canadians from
one part of Canada to anotier ?- A. Yes.

Q. And did you think you had authority to do so?-A. We h)ave used the vote in
other cases, not to a large amount, in endeavouring to hold Canadians who were
threatening to leave for the United States.

Q. Were these people threatening to leave ?-A. I understood so.
Q. How (id you understand so ?-A. I knew others had left, and probably these

were going to leave, too.
Q. Do you hold, as Deputy Minister of the Interior, that when you get a vote for

immigration purposes, you can spend it for something which is not immigration ?-A. It is
not the rule to do it, and in many cases we have had various applications to spend money
for that to which I have sent refusals.

Q. And what was the ground of your refusal ?-A. That the Government could not
remove people f rom one part of Canada to another.

Q. And yet you paid five-eighths of this money for work which was for the removal
of Canadians from one part of Canada to another ?-A. Yes.

Q. Then that is unusual 1-A. It is work which has been done by colonization
societies in Montreal and elsewhere.

Q. There is a special vote for the colonizqtion society in Montreal. You say it is
not usual to do so2-A. Not usual, but it is done in a number of cases.

Q. You did it because you were instructed by the Minister ?-A. Yes.
Q. Has it been usual, or has it ever been done, to pay out of that vote for settling

up waste lands ?-A. In what way ?
Q. Suppose a tract of land is unsettled and you pay out of that vote 8400,000 or

$500,000 to put settlers on waste land -A. I think we could.
Q. That you might use immigration votes for settling up waste lands ?-A. For

sufficient reason.
Q. What do you consider sufficient reason ?-A. If we thought certain people were

going to leave for the United States, we might use the money to hold them back.
Q. If they did leave, would it be immigration or emigration ?-A. Emigration.
Q. If they did not leave, would it be either immigration or emigration ?-A. I

suppose it would not be either, but I cannot see the force of allowing people to go when
we pay money to get people in.

Q. But your ground is, as Deputy iMinister, not to have the slightest idea as to
Policy ; that is for your Minister. You are to recommend payments as Parliament has
voted ?-A. I think it would be a very exceptional case where this would be done.

13
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Q. Was there any previous agreement with this company with the Department of
the Interior that they should go on and settle up their lands in this way and be paid
for it ?-A. Not that I know of.

Q. Were any instructions issued by your department at all as to how this work
should be conducted ?-A. No.

Q. Did you appoint their immigration agent or have any supervision over him ?-
A. No.

Q. That is, the company did this work without previous authorization, and without
any instructions or supervision from your department ?-A. So far as I know.

Q. Therefore it was entirely an unauthorized work until you took it in hand ?-
A. Yes.

Q. Have you satisfied yourself that from June, [895, to December, 1896, 1,029 per-
sons were taken from one part of Canada and put upon these lands ?-A. No.

Q. Is there any proof of it in the department that this statement of the company
is true ?-A. No.

Q. Is the same true with regard to the 490 from the United States ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the 105 from France ?-A. Yes.
Q. So it is true of the whole 1,624?--A. Yes. I know since that they did take in

a great many settlers.
Q. Do you happen to know whether the lands they have settled up there belong to

the company ?-A. I think they belong to the Province of Quebec.
Q. Are you certain, I want you to be sure that they were provincial lands ?-A. I

do fnot know.

By Mr. Jood (Brockville)

Q. Did you iake any inquiries Fpecifically upon that point ?-A. No, not directly.
Q. Then how did you know ?-A. Because I know the Government of Quebec

agreed to pay these men last year for making roads through these lands.
Q. That would not be evidence ?-A. It would be, I think.

By Mr. Foster :
Q. Do you know that the company got a large subsidy in land ?-A. I do not

know.
Q. You have positive knowledge that these lands did not belong to the company ?-

A. I understood they belonged to the province.
Q. Is it usual for your department to give grants from a vote for which it has not

received authority previously ?-A. I cannot say that.
Q. You do not know the practice of your department in that respect ?-A. I can.

not -answer.
Q. You understand what I mean by that 2-A. Yes, for work al ready done.
Q. Suppose that someone has gone to work without authorization or agreement or

anything of the kind and does a piece of work and then comes to you and says "I want
payment," is it usual to make these payments ?-A. I understood there were cases, not
necessarily grants of money, but of land which were given in that way in the North-
west.

Q. Can you say whether it is usual ?-A. No, I cannot. It is usual to authorize
the expenditure, certainly.

Q. Do you know of any case in your department where payrnents are made for
work totally unauthorized, after it is done, without getting a special appropriation from
Parliament?-A. I cannot say that I do, I cannot recollect.

Q. Was the House in session any time while these negotiations were going on ?-
A. Yes, the House was in session when the first Order in Council was passed.

Q. It would have been possible to have had the sum submitted to the House in an
estimate ?--A. Yes.

Q. Did vou canvass that with the Minister ?-A. Yes, we discussed the matter.
Q. And what was the opinion of your Minister, that an estimate should be asked

for or that you should take it out of the general vote ?-A. I cannot say.
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Q. You did not put it in the estimates as a matter of fact ?-A. No, we did not. I
think I suggested myself that it might be taken out of the immigration vote.

Q. You submitted that ?-A I think so.
Q. Are you clear that you are fulfilling your duty to the country when vou suggest

that a vote for money should be devoted to purposes alien to the purpose for which it
was voted?

This question was objected to by Sir Louis Davies.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Have you made any inquiries since the time of the payment of this money with
reference to the statements made by Mr. Scott as to whether many persons were taken
in and whether their fares were paid or not ?-A. No, except the discussions I have
had with Mr. Scott on the question. le has repeated the statemnents to me.

The Committee adjourned.

HousE OF CoMMONS,
COMMITTEE Room, FRIDAY, May 20, i898.

The Committee met.-Mr. James McMullen in the Chair.
Mr. JAMES A. SMART, being recalled, testified further as follows

By the Minister of Marine and Fisheries :

Q. Was this private letter in your department or how came it here ?-A. It was
attached to the letter from Mr. Scott to Mr. Sifton.

Q. What letter ?-A. The official letter to the Minister.
Q. It was not in the department except as an official letter, but Mr. Scott sent this ?

-A. Yes, or at least a copy of it.
Q. What I want to get on record is the letter from Mr, Scott to Sir Wilfrid

Laurier with the facts as to the numiber of immigrants carried by his company, the
Quebec and Lake St. John Railway, from New England, Michigan, Wisconsin and
France to the Lake St. John district; will you kindly take that letter and read it as
evidence ?-A. This is the letter:-

"QUEBEc & LAKE ST. JoHN RAILwAY,
" QUEBEc, 5th April, 1897.

"The Hon. WILFRID LAURIER, Premier,
" Ottawa.

"DEAR SIR,-Referring to my letter cf lst, asking to have the $8,000 pronised us
for colonization purposes placed in the estimates, I have now the pleasure to inclose
some statements of the work done by the company on behalf of colonization during the
last few months, since we have been employing a colonization agent.

The reports of this agent-Mr. Réné Dupont-show that the number of bona
/ide new settlers transported to the Lake St. John district by the railway on free settlers'
tickets, from June, 1895, to December, 1896, has been:-

From Canada ............... ... ............. .... 1,029
" New England States, and Michigan and Wisconsin ... 490
" France.. .................................... 105

T otal...... ................. ............. 1,624

"We also issued a circular letter, as per copy annexed, to each clergyman in the
province of Quebec, authorizing him to send two delegates from his parish to examine
and report upon the Lake St. John territory and its advantages for settlers.

" The inclosed statement shows that during the year 1896, the clergy of no fewer
than 70 parishes availed themselves of this, and sent 125 delegates to Lake St. John,
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who came f rom every section of the province, some of them from distant points, and
their reports are now doing a great deal of good in promoting settlement in Lake St.
John, in preference to immigration to the United States.

"In addition to this, we have distributed an immense armount of illustrated colo-
nization literature, and Mr. Dupont has been constantly enployed in giving lectures in
all parts of the province and in the New England States, his lectures being illustrated
by linelight views of agricultural scenes and new settlements in the Lake St. John
district.

" As will be seen, these efforts are already producing very beneficial results. The
new townships, such as Normandin, Albanel, the Trappist settlement, and Rivière a
Pipe district, are being settled with wonderful rapidity, and the new settlers find ready
employment in winter in the lumbering operations. The extent of these operations may
be *judged when I say that the estimnated number of saw logs made on the line of the
railway during the past winter was 1,049,000, affording employment to about 4,000
men in the woods.

" The directors feel sure that these very satisfactory results will convince vou of
the magnitude of this work, and of the importance of extending the Government aid for
a period of years, so that the company may feel justified in employing more men in this
good work, and in going to a larger expenditure in printing books and establishing
agencies for colonization purposes so that the progress of settlement may be more rapid
and on a larger scale.

"I would therefore respectfully suggest that legislation may be introduced during
the present season to make the grant of $8,000 annual for a period of twenty years, as
was done in the case of the grant of $80,000 per annum to each of the railways in the
North-west Territories. (See Act 53 Vic., Chap. 5.)

" Of course if the grant could be made $14,000 per annum, as was promised by the
late Administration, instead of $8,000 it would enable the company to carry on these
colonization operations on a much larger scale.

"Yours respectfully,
"J. G. SCOTT,

"Secretary & Manager."

Do you want the schedule read?
Q. Yes, let us have the schedules.-A. It reads as follows

REPORT of free colonization tickets issued to new settlers who went to settle in Lake
St. John country, from lst June, 1895, to 31st December, 1896.

FROM PARISHES IN CANADA.

CHAMBLY-
St. Lambert ............................

CH A RLEVOIX.-
Bay St. Paul ...........................
Ebouleients...........................
Isle aux Coudres......................
Murray Bay..........................
S. Agnes..............................

do .
St. Siméon............................
St. Irenée.............................

CHîcouTîIi-

Chicoutimi............................
CHATEAUGUAY-

St. Chrysostôme...................
CHAMPLAIN-

Ste. Anne de la Pérade...................
Ste. Geneviève.........................
St. Tite..............................
St. Prosper............................

BELLECHASSE-
St. Valier............................

DoRcHESTER-

Ste. Claire.............................

7 HOCHELAGA-
Notre Damue De Grâce...................

30 Hochelaga .............................
12 JOLIETTE-
36 Joliette ................................
20 St. Thomas...........................

5 KAMOURASKA-
9 St. André.......... ...................

15 LIsLET-
14 L'Islet ................................

LÉvis-
22 Lévis.................................

St. David .......................
14 St. Romuald.........................

LAKE ST. JOHlN-
14 Hebertville..... ...................
4 MONTMORENCY-
7 Chateau Richer ......................

13 St. Jean, I. O........................
St. Tite des Caps.......................

8 Montmorency ..........................
MONTREAL .................

il Sacré-Cœur ..........................
16
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FROM PARISHES IN CANADA--Concluded.

MEGANTIC-
Somerset .
Lyster................................

NICOLET-
St. Bridgett...........................

ONTARIO-
Mattawa.............. . ......
North Bay........................
Bradford ............................
Sudbury..............................

OTTA'A-
Buckingham ...........................
East Templeton.......................

PORTNEUF-
Portneuf .............................
Cap Rouge............................
Grondines .........................
St. Bazile.............................
St. Casimir........................
St. Rayinond ..........................

QUEBEC-
13 St. Foye......... ........................ 7
il Beauport . .... ........................... 20

Charlesbourg........ ................... 7
8 Hedlevville......................., . . .

Laval .. ................. 4
13 L orette .... ....... ............ ......... 13
6i Quebec.. ............ ........ .... ... 194
4 ST. HYACINTHE ... ................. ...... . 28

27 SAG UEN Y
Mille Vaches ......... ........... ... :32

14 TEMISCOUATA-
8 St. Cyprien . . ........................ ... 14

THREE RivES.. ........ ......... 11
34 Two MOUINTAINS-
6 Oka ................................ 7

17 WOLFE-
7 Tudswell .. ....................... 15

11 Lake Weedon......................... . 7
27

Total ..... ...... .... ........ 1029

Then there is a copy of free settlers' tickets issued froin the United States.
Q. Read that ?-A. It is as follows :-

REPORT of free colonization tickets issued to new settlers who went to settle in Lake
St. John country, from 1st June, 1895, to 31st December, 1896.

FROM UNITED STATES.

CONNECTICUT-
W instead.... ..... ... ............... .
M eriden ........... ........... ...... .....

ILLINOIS-
T atlow . ...... ........ . ................

MASSACHUSETTs-
Lowell..... ..... ......................
Taunton ......... . ....................
A n esbury... .......................
Anesdale..... .........................
B oston ... . ..... ..... ..................
Lawrence .... ..... ........ .... . .. ..
Springfield. ......... ....... . ..... .... .
Fall River ............... ... ..........
H olyoke ................... .. .. . .....
Taunton....... .. ......... .. . ..........
Salemi......... .......................

MAINE-
S a ce .... .... ..... ... .... .............. ....
Biddeford. .......................... ...
Brunswick ........ ....... ... ... .....
Lewiston........................... ..

MICHIGAN-
Escanaba .... ............. ............
M enominee......... .. ........ .........
Muskegon ...........................

NEW HAMPSHIRE-
8 Berlin Falls ... .......... ............ 14
6 Pattonville.......... ...... ......... .... 3

Lincoln .. ........ .......... 3
1 M anchester ... .... ... ............... 63

Red Stone ............ .................. 13
27 R ochester. .... .................... .... 10
10; NEw YORK-
17 Fall Ravin. .............. ............... 4
19 Ogdenshurg ... ........ ................. 9
14 Brandon ...... ................. ..... ... 7
13 Buck Mountain . , . ... .............. 8
9 New York ... .... .. ... .......... 3

24 Tupper Lake ...... ........ ........... 16
5 NEW JERSE-

10 Patterson.... ........ ....... ....... 21
17 RHODE ISILANIo-

Woonsocket......... .. . ......... 5
5 VERMONT-

14 St. Albans ........ ...... . ............. 5
31 Barre .... .. ....... .................... 12
25 WIscONslN-

Supîerior..................... ........... 14

Total ...................... .. 490
12 FRANCE .. .. ..... ........... ...... 105

RECAPITULATION.

From Canada....... ............... ........ . ....... . ... . 1,029
United States .................... ... ........ ...... 490
France ...... . .............. ........... ...... .. _ _. 105

Total. ............................ 1,624

RENE DUPONT,

QUEBEC, 2nd April, 1897.

Colonization Agent, Quebec and Lake St. John Ry.
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By Mr. Haggart:

Q. Who issued these free tickets ?-A. The railway company.
Q. They were not indemnified in any manner ?-A. No; that is why they asked

this grant. Mr. Foster asked me the other day if I knew of any case where moneys
had been expended by the Government in the Department of the Interior for inducing
settlement from one part of Canada to another, and at the time I could not recall any par-
ticular case, but I do now, and I would like to state that it was in the year 1895, I
think, when a large number of settlers were moved from Parry Sound to Edmonton.
Mr. T. G. Pearce was paid for services about $300, besides his passage being paid.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Who was Mr. Pearce ?-A. A settler of Parry Sound, who moved to Edmonton.

By Mr. Macdonell (Selkirk):

Q. His fare was paid ?-A. His was, but I don't know that the settlers' were.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Out of the immigration vote 7-A. Yes.

By Mfr. Foster:

Q. How many settlers were there 7-A. I do not know.
Q. But you have the information in the department ?-A. Yes. Then I was

going to suggest, too, the other case of the colonization company, which I mentioned in
my evidence the other day ; they also have been paid for the past three or four years
for doing the same work.

Q. What company is that ?-A. The French Canadian Colonization Company of
Montreal.

By the Minister of Marine and Fisheries:

Q. Out of the same fund ?-A. From the immigration vote, not a special vote.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. For what were they paid ?-A. They were paid for an office in Montreal, and
the salary was paid to Dr. Brisson, who was secretary of the Society for the repatriation
of French Canadians f rom New England ; and also for this office in Montreal.

Q. Will you make yourself thoroughly acquainted with both these cases, as to the
number of settlers, date of payment, out of what vote it is taken, and the like of that
and bring us the information ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Macdonell (Selkirk):

Q. Did that French Colonization Company transfer settlers from one part of Canada
to another in a similar way ?-A. It was a similar work.

By Mr. Wallace:

Q. Were they paid for bringing these in from the United States ?-A. They were
paîd a certain grant.

By Mr. Macdonell (Selkirk):

Q. Also for the transfer of settlers ?-A. Yes.

By the Minister of Finance :

Q. It was a joint work, partly repatriation and partly removal from other parts of
Canada ?-A. Yes. I was going on to say that in their report the other day they give
the amount of people who called at the office, and were sent forward to Lake St. John.
and Labelle.
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Q. Then it was a mixed work, as this was partly repatriation and partly removal ;
and was paid for out of the general immigration vote as was this ?-A. Yes; and the
fact is, two or three priests are still engaged in the work of removing people from Quebec
to Manitoba.

By Mr. Macdonell (Selkirk):

Q. And they are paid salaries ?-A. Yes.
Q. And expenses ?-A. Na; sometimes expenses are allowed.

By the linister oj Finance :

Q. They are still doing the work ?-A. Yes.
Q. And how long have they been doing it ?-A. For a number of years.
Q. More than two ?-A. Yes.
Q. And paid out of the general vote ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Wallace:

Q. They are employees of your department ?-A. Yes.
Q. Not the railway company's ?--A. No.
Q. Have you any knowledge of a letter written by Mr. Angers, ex-Minister of

Agriculture, to Mr. Scott, secretary of the Lake St. John Railway Company, in 1896,
to this effect, that he was authorized by Sir Charles Tupper, to make an offer about
that subsidy ?-A. No, I have not.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville);

Q In the case of the immigrants sent to the Parry Sound district, taken up by
Mr. Pearce, was that not done in pursuance of an arrangement with the Government
beforehand ?-A. Yes, at least I think so.

Q. Yes, there is no doubt of it. In the case you just spoke of-the Montreal case
-the repatriation of persons who were sent on to Lake St. John region, was that done
in pursuance of a previous arrangement ?-A. No.

Q. Was this $8,000 paid out in pursuance of any previous arrangement before the
work was done ?-A. I understand not. In connection with that point Mr. Foster also
referred to that in his examination, where he asked me the question, if I knew of any
case where moneys had been paid for work that had already been done without any
previous arrangement? I answered that I believed there were cases, because in my
letter to the Auditor General J referred to them ; but immediately after I left the com-
mittee a case occurred to me in which this was practically done some vears ago. In the
case of the settlement between the Government and the colonization companies, the
companies were allowed $160 a head for every settler taken into the country, this could
not have been by arrangement before. They were also granted a certain allowance for
expenditure on roads and bridges constructed in the district where their lands were
situated.

By Mr. Foster:

Q. That was in.connection with the North-west colonization companies ?--A. Yes.

By Mr. Wallace :

Q. Do you say that that was an arrangement that was not made beforehand ?-A.
That they were to be paid $160 ?

Q. That they were to be made an allowance ?-A. I understand not.
Q. If you read the agreement you will find that they were to be allowed a rebate

of $2 an acre for bringing in settlers, so that your statement will have to be revised ?-
A. I am speaking of settlers.

Q. It is the one question. The colonization companies were under agreement with
the Government ?-A. Were they to be paid for improvements ?
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Q. For all the improvements they made, that is the agreement. And that
there was no payment made to them, but they bought the lands for $2 an acre cash ?-
A. And they were given a good deal of scrip?

Q. And were to be allowed a rebate on that price for bringing in settlers and
making imgrovements, so that in that case there is nothing parallel.

By fr. Haggart :

Q. Was there an arrangement beforehand in the case of Pearce ?-A. I do not think
there was any previous arrangement with Pearce.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. You read at the request of Sir Louis Davies, from a statement made by Mr.
'Scott, in which he declares that one thousand and odd persons were placed from some
part of Canada on these lands, and four hundred and ninety from the United States,
and one hundred and five, I think it was from France, that they paid the fares of these,
and the like of that. I want to reiterate a question which I asked you before and have
the answer placed at this part of the evidence. Did you, or did the department take
any steps at all to verify for the previous year the expenses in connection with these
transferrals of immigrants ?-A. No, we simply accepted the statement of the company
as true.

Q. And you had no previous arrangement with the company that they were to do
tbat work ? You exercised no supervision over them ?-A. No arrangement, as far as
I know.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper

Q. When were these things done ; before the arrangement for the appropriation of
the money or after; that is, the payment by the present Government ?-A. It was af ter
the work had been done.

By .fr. Jood (Brockville).:

Q. Did you get a postal application that was made and which was referred to in
Sir Wilfrid Laurier's letter ?-A. No.

The witness retired.

Dr. R. M. COULTER being sworn, testified as follows:-

By fr. Foster:

Q. What is your position, Mr. Coulter?-A. Deputy Postmaster General.
Q. How long have you been Deputy Postmaster General?-A. Since the lst of

August, last year.
Q. Whom did you succeed ?-A. Lt.-Col. White.
Q. Have you become acquainted with the records of the department and the his-

tory of the department, so far as is applicable to this case at the present time before the
committeel-A. I have endeavoured to do so.

Q. Do you know of any application made to your department by the Lake St. John
Railway Company for aid in any way 7-A. There is not on record in the department
a reference to it although I understand from departmental officers that the railway
company did make such an application to the Postmaster General.

Q. For what ?-A. An increased subsidy.
Q. What kind ?-A. A mail subsidy.
Q. They are at present carrying the mails ?-A. Yes.
Q. Were they at the time ?-A. Yes.
Q. What are thev receiving now, the regular rate ?--A. Yes.
Q. For a postal car service ?-A. For a mixed service, postal car and baggage car

service.
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Q. And they made application for what ?-A. An increased mail subsidy.
Q. Have you that ?-A. No, there is no record of it in the department whatever.
Q. It is just a matter of meinory with your officials ?-A. There are letters

previous to the present Government coming into office, but they are letters of a private
nature.

Q. With reference to that ?-A. Yes.

By the Minister of Marine and Fisheries

Q. From whom?-A. The Postmaster General of the day.
Q. But froma whom ?-A. From the company and persons interested.

By the Jlinister of Finance :

Q. Who was the Postmaster General of the day ?-A. Sir Adolphe Caron.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. What time was that application made for a mail subsidy ?-A. Previous to my
becoming Deputy Postmaster General.

Q. Can you fix the date ?-A. No.
Q. The officials did not remember ?-A. No.
Q. But they remember generally there was an application -A. I understand themn

to say there was some delegation which waited on the Postmaster General with refer-
ence to it.

Q. But no written application ?-A. None on the file of the department, none
ever received by the department.

By the Minister of Marine and Fisheries:

Q. Were these letters departmental or private you speak of ?-A. I think the
letters on file are private.

Q. Are they on the departmental files ?-A. I understand so, yes.
Witness discharged.

HOUSE OF COMMONS, COMMITTEF ROeM,
WEDNESDAY, May 25, 1898.

Committee met.-Mr. McMullen in the Chair.

Mr. J. G. SCOTT being called and sworn, testified as follows:

By the Minister oj Public Works:

Q. Mr. Scott, would you kindly tell me if you have seen this letter before ?-
A. Yes.

Q. Would you kindly read it ?-A. This is a letter from Mr. Angers, addressed to
Mr. Frank Ross, President cf the Lake St. John Railway:

"QUEBEC, May 20, 1896.
"FRANK Ross, Esq.,

" Quebec.

"DEAR SIR,-I had a conversation with Sir Charles Tupper, and laid before him
the claims of the Lake St. John Railway for additional subsidy to carry the mails, and
brought to his knowledge the fact that you carry free of charge a large number of

21
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immigrants to that section of the country. He thought the additional amount of
compensation to the railway might be allotted between the Post Office Department and
immigration. The amount of $14,000 did not seem to him exaggerated.

"I remain,
"Yours truly,

"A. R. ANGERS."

Q. As a point of practice did you not consider you were promised by the late
Government that additional sum ?-A. Yes, we certainly depended on that money.

Q. In the way pointed out in Mr. Angers' letter?-A. Exactly.
Q. Mr. Scott, would you tell us how many settlers vou carried free during last

season?-A. 1,272.
Q. A good many of these settlers have come from the United States ?-A. Yes,

there were 462 from the United States.
Q. And how many from Europe 3-A. Eighty-three from Europe.
Q. Now, did you not also carry free delegates from the United States ?-A. Yes,

we carried 191 delegates altogether from all parts of the country, representing thirty-
two counties and six states.

Q. During this year how many new settlers have you carried to this district ?-A.
Well, this spring we have carried so far about 400, but we expect a much larger number
than last year.

Q. All these people have settled there ?-A. Yes.
Q. Your company then is a regularly organized immigration agency ?-A. Yes, we

have a colonization and immigration department specially with a staff organized for
that purpose.

Q. Have you not a line of steamers running on the lake for immigration purposes,
for the purposes of the settlers?-A. Yes, there are practically three lines of steamers
that run to different points on the lake, carrying settlers.

Q. You know that district very well?-A. Oh, yes, intimately.
Q. Can you tell us what the population is now <-A. In the neighbourhood of

40,000.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. Mr. Scott, when you refer to the expectations your company had from the late
government, I suppose they were based on that letter ?-A. Based on that letter, yes,

By the Minister of Public Works:

Q. Did you not have conversations with members of the late Government apart
from that communication ?-A. Oh, yes, we had frequent interviews.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You say " we "; he asked you ?-A. I am speaking of myself and the directors.
Q. You are speaking only of conversations you know of ?-A. Yes.

By the Minister of Publie Works:

Q. About that matter ?-A. Yes.
Q. Who were the members of the Government ?-A. Sir Adolphe Caron, who was

Postmaster General, I think, at the time, Mr. Angers, Sir Charles Tupper.
Q. And from these conversations you drew the conclusion that you would get that

subsidy of $14,000 for immigration purposes as stated in Mr. Angers' letter ?-A. Yes.
Q. Taken part from the immigration fund and part from the mail services ?--A.

Exactly, that is what we understood.

By Sir Charles Jlibbert Tupper:

Q. When had you the conversation with Sir Charles Tupper ?-A. When he was
in Quebec about the time that letter was written.

22
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Q. Where ?-A. I think it was at Judge Caron's residence.
Q. Who were present ?-A. Mr. Chateauvert.
Q. And who else ?-A. Myself.
Q. No one else ?-A. I do not think so.
Q. Wliat did he say ?-A. As well as I remember he was very favourable.
Q. Is that all you remember ?-A. Yes.
Q. It is just your impression ?-A. Yes.

By the Minister of Public Works:

Q. And after that conversation the letter you have read was written?-A. Yes.
Q. As confirmation?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. When was that, Mr. Scott?-A. In May, 1896.
Q. That is the only assurance you ever had that you would get that subsidy or

grant from the late Government ?-A. That is the only official assurance.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper:

Q. You told me to-day before going on the stand that you had a recent letter from
Sir Charles Tupper ?-A. Yes.

Q. Will you read that ?-A. It was written to Mr. Gagné who handed it to me.
It is as follows:-

"HousE OF CoMIONS, OTTAWA, May 17th, 1898.

"J. A. GAGNÉ, Esq.,
" Chicoutimi.

"MY DEAR SIR,-In reply to your letter of the 10th instant, I beg to say that no
objection was made by our friends to the appropriation to assist the Lake St. John
Railway, but to the mode in which it was done. No action will be taken that will.at
all interfere, so farlas I am able to say, with the interests of the road.

"Yours faithfully,

" CHARLES TUPPER."

Q. To whom is that addressed ?-A. Judge Gagné, of Chicoutimi.

By the Minister of Public Works :

Q. Have you Mr. Gagné's letter also ?-A. No, J have not.

By MVr. Poster :

Q. Mr. Scott, did you have any conversation with Mr. Angers or any member of
the late Government as to the mode in which this money was to be paid; that is, as to
what vote it was to be paid out of or whether it was to be estimated specially ?-A
Well, Mr. Angers' letter fixes that. After conference with Sir Charles Tupper they
decided half was to come from the Post Office Department and half from immigration.

Q. That would fix the distribution as to departments, but what I want to know is
whether or not you got the impression that the money was to be paid to your company
our of existent votes or whether a vote would have to be brought down ?-A. Nothing
was said about that, to my recollection.

Q. In your application to Sir Wilfrid Laurier did you not suggest the placing of a
sum in the estimates ?-A. We requested that $14,000 should be voted to us, but we
did not specify in what manner.

Witness discharged.
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HoUSE OF COMMONS,
COMMITTEE RooM, TUESDAY, May 31, 1898.

Committee met.-Mr. iMcMullen in the Chair.

Mr. J. LORNE MCDOUGALL, Auditor General, being recalled, testified as follows

By Ir. Foster:

Q. You are conversant with the communications that went on with reference to
the payment of this $8,000 ?-A. Yes, that is what went on with myself.

Q. I believe you took objection as soon as the payment was contemplated ?-A.
Yes, I took objection to the Order in Council.

Q. Was payment made after you objected and before an appeal was taken to your
objection ?--A. Yes.

Q. It was paid out of the credit of the department ?-A. Yes.
Q. Are you in a position to know whether the Deputy Minister was aware of the

objection you had made ?-A. Yes, he was, I think.
Q. As a matter of fact Mr. Smart did know. Mr. Smart says this was paid on the

order of the Minister ?-A. Yes, on a second order-in-council.
Q. Now, is it usual in cases of that kind, where the Auditor makes objection, to

defer payment until the appeal has been decided or to go on and make the payment ?-
A. It is not very often an objection like I made is made; here the Order in Council was
passed and a cheque issued.

Q. Well, has there been any other case of that kind ?-A. I cannot recall such a
case, but such a case may have arisen.

Q. Have you any objection to giving the grounds of your objection to that pay-
ment ?-A. I have no grounds except the grounds that were in my letter, and I can
read this if you wish. This was the first letter that I wrote and it contains, I think, part
of the objection ; written on the 3rd of June last and addressed to Mr. Smart :-"I have
the copy of the Order in Council of 21st of May, sanctioning a grant of $8,000 to the
Lake St. John Railway Company, 'on account of efforts made by that company within
the last two years in opening up the colonization of the vacant lands in'the vicinity of the
large district served by the railway' "-this was a quotation from the recommendation to
Council.-" It does not appear that before the efforts referred to were made there was
any understanding with the Government that the railway company should be reim-
bursed for its expense, nor is there any evidence of what the expense was for, whether
the settlers were mainly f rom other p rts of Canada or from the United States, where
one at least of the agents of the railvay laboured. I don't think that the words of the
immigration vote, from which I presume it is intended to make the paynent (although
the Order in Council does not specify the appropriation), warrant the making of a grant
from that appropriation. It would lead to great difficulties if companies or individuals
would first make expenditure and particularly expected to find full remuneration from
the results without the Government's assistance and had ground for hoping to have
claims for reimbursement grant. Without further explanation I see serious objection to
this payment, and request that in the meantime it may not be made from the credit.
And unless there are much stronger grounds for recognizing this claim than the Order
in Council indicates, the recognition of it could not fail to open a very wide door for
numerous other large claims, which it will be very difficult to logically reject while
maintaining that the intended action in this case is correct."

Then there were some other objections that followed the reply to this. Would you
like me to read them ?

Q. I think that states the grounds of your objections ?-A. I think this went more
largely into the question of what should be used from the immigration vote. I stated
my objection to the Treasury Board.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. What is the other objection to which you refer ?-A. Perhaps it would not be
fair to read that letter of mine to Mr. Smart without first reading the letter from him
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to me, which is as follows:-" I am in receipt of your letter of the 3rd instant having
reference to the Order in Council of the 21st May last, granting -8,000 to the Quebee
and Lake St. John Railway Company on account of services in connection with irmi-
gration. In reply I beg to state that while I thoroughly appreciate vour kindness in
promptly drawing my attention to action which you consider is not within the power
of the Government, and which may cause the Government trouble in dealing with
similar claims in future, I hold to the opinion that the Government bas the authority
to make any grant, such as that mentioned in the Order in Council, even though the
service to be paid for by the grant bas been performed without any distinct arrange-
ment having been entered into beforehand as to the amount that would be allowed for
the service, so long as there is a fund or vote from which the pavnent may be made.
Why you fear that the recognition of this claim in the manner it is being dealt with
under the authority of the Order in Council above mentioned, will open a large door-
to use your own words-for other claimants which you evidently think should properly be
rejected, I must confess I do not understand. Surely, nany payments w' re made by
the former Government and properly made, although no previous understanding
existed that the service would be paid for. In the present instance there is no question
but that the service for which this payment of $8,000 is to be made, lias been very
satisfactorily rendered ; in fact, wlen fixing the amount of the grant it was acknow-
ledged that the company would be entitled to a larger amount if paid by results. I
may also state that while it bas not been the policy of the Government to meet ex-
penditure connected with removal of the residents of Canada fron one part to another
part of the Dominion, you will acknowledge that the Government has power to decide
whether such work is valuable from an immigration stan point or not ; and that if it
be decided that it is, and that it has been done in the general interests of Canada, it
bas power also to estimate the value of the work and to pay for it out of the vote.
That the work in question is a matter of immigration in the welfare of Canada cannot
be denied, and this being acknowledged, it is surely unnecessary, snce we bave a
sufficient amount to the credit of the immigration appropriation, to ask Parliament to
specially vote the amount. In this case mîany of the settlers who have been placed
on lands in the Lake St. John district are repatriated French Canadians. The coin-
pany is still continuing this work, and this grant of $8,000 is but a small amount of the
expenditure the company bas incurred in connection witl it. I regret tlat the im-
migration vote was not specified in the Order in Council as the one fron which this
grant is to be paid. The ommission is not however, material, I think, as of course the
wording of the order implies that it is from that vote the money is to be taken. At the
same time future memorandums to Coutncil from this department will be free from this
objection." This is signed by James A. Smart, Deputy Minister of the Interior.

Then my reply dated July 3, 1897, is as follows:- -" I have your letter, undated,
in reply to mine of the 3rd ultimo regarding the intended grant to the Lake St. John
Railway Company of S8,000 from the immigration vote. I cannot recollect that any
grant was made from a usual appropriation under the late Government. The differences
between such a grant and the usual payment seem very clear. The railway comîpany
went into this expenditure on its own account, without any expectation that any
portion of it would be paid by the Government, and because there was a belief that the
railway company would make a profit by the outlay. It may be quite true that the
Government got a benîefit from the expenditure just as the owner of what turns out to
be the site of a flourishing town, through the building of a Government railway, gets a
benefit from the expenditure of public money, but the Government does not make a
claim on hini for a portion of the profit. Assistance was given from a vote for
improvements of navigation of the St. John River, N.B., while the late Government
was in power, for wharfs at various points on that stream. I interpreted the authority
of Parliament as being confined to the paying of expenditure which was made after
instructions were given to go on with the work. I presume that you do not contend
that the Lake St. John Railway Company bas a claim that would be recognized in the
Exchequer Court. Does it not appear to you to be opening a rather wide door when
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you are ready to consider the application for even partial reimbursement of any expendi-
ture which was made without the knowledge of the Government, and therefore as a
purely business speculation? If one claimant meets with success, it is to be supposed
that every other who thinks he has worked even an indirect advantage, or can induce
someone to pretend he has, will not press for a payment from the Government? It
seems to me that there are not many cases where a claim against the Government is not
a legal one, but is one that the Government should pay. It may be often different
where both parties are private individuals. I am inclined to think that the Government
bas not power to pay from the immigration vote the expenses connected with moving
residents of Canada from one part of the Dominion to the other. That is not immigra-
tion in my view. It may be that Canada is benefitted by the removal; but, as it appears
to me, the expenditure requires other authorization. My gravest objection, however, is
the recognition of unauthorized expenditure."

By Mr. Foster:

Q. In that letter you have fully set forth your objections ?-A. Yes. I would like
to read a very short letter which I sent to the Treasury Board, to Mr. Courtney, the
Secretary, dated October 5, 1897. It is as follows:-" I have your letter of the 30th
ultiio inclosing the appeal by the Department of the Interior from mv decision in the
matter of the $8,000 payment to the Lake St. John Railway Company. The correspon-
dence shows my reasons for declining to sanction the claim, which may be recapitulated
in this way : (1.) There was no legal obligation, because the Government never authorized
the expenditure before it was made, was never even applied to for authorization, or
notified that the expenditure was about to be made." Then these are the words Sir
Louis Davies did not like: "(2.) There was no moral obligation. The company could
have no reason to expect that it would be reimbursed any portion of the outlay because
the expenditure was made with the expectation that the benefit to the company's
business would repay the outlay." Of course my object in putting this in was that the
Treasury Board might have said: The Auditor General has made out a good case to show
there is a good legal objection, but has not dealt with the other point, tbat there is what
we call a moral obligation. I did not like to use the word " equity " because that has a
well understood sense, but I thought the expression " moral obligation " would be under-
stood. Then the letter goes on: "There is no justification for paying this claim unless
the company has a right to be paid. If this company has a right to be paid, then every
other company and every person who make expenditure from whicb the Government
receives a benefit have a right to be paid, and therefore, the Government does wrong
unless it pays them."

By Mr. Foster:

Q. Your objection then was based on these lines, first, that there was no previous
authorization of the work, and in the second place that there was no proper evidence as
to what amount of the expenditure claimed should be paid?-A. Yes.

Q. And that there was no evidence satisfactory to you that these parties who had
been settled there were f rom the outside ?-A. Yes.

Q. And in the third place that the vote, in your opinion, did not contemplate such
expenditure ?-A. Well, I did not see that particular point.

Q. Well, the letters formulate the objections ?-A. Yes. Of course it sbould have
been actual immigration to come under that vote.

Q. Has it been the custom to pay out of bulk votes for immigration, or for other
purposes, sums such as these without the special authorization of Parliament ?-A. Do
you mean something not contemplated before? There would be no reason for special
authorization by Parliament, so far as I can see, if it was for actual immigration.

Q. But this impinges on immigration, they say ?-A. Are you speaking of the trans-
portation of people f rom one part of Canada to the other?

Q. Yes ?-A. There was no ground for that at all, but railway immigration I thought
might be paid out of that.
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Q. Has it been the usual practice in the case of the payment of claims unauthorized
that they should be paid out of bulk votes, or to specially submit them to Parliament ?-
A. Back claims unauthorized before they were made?

Q. Yes ?-A. Oh, no.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. Do you know of any such ?-A. No.
Q. One was mentioned by Mr. Smart ?-A. That mav have taken place ;I do not

mean to say that some may not have escaped me when the accounts came in.
Q. He spoke of one case in which a number of parties were removed from Algoma

district to Saskatchewan, or some place in the North-west. Do you rememnber that ?-
A. I do not remember, but such things may have occurred without iny knowing it.
Our system is to examine our accounts by one of the clerks in the department and it
may have been that it may have escaped his attention, but I do not know of any such
case. Certainly if I had noticed it I would have objected to it.

By Mr. Wood (fHanilton) :

Q. If they had been really parties fromn the outside of Canada, friom the States or
any other country you would have been perfectly justified in paving that S8,000 out of
this appropriation ?-A. No, not unless there was an arrangement beforehand. To my
mind that is the greatest objection, the fact of persons going on making an expenditure
for their own advantage and afterwards coming to the Government to press for it.
Though people probably do not seem to think so it appears to me that this is a great
objection. I see more serious consequences in the future from that than froi anything
else.

By Sir Charles Hiblbert Tupper

Q. You evidently do not agree with the Minister of Railways in the broad propo-
sition that whether a claim is legal or not the Minister may in the exercise of his dis-
cretion pay it without an Order in Council?--A. No, I do not agree with that at all.

Mr. J. A. SMART, Deputy Minister of the Interior, recalled, testified as follows.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. You mentioned when you were here the other day that you thought there were
-other cases parallel to this ?-A. That I mentioned to the Auditor General in my letter.

Q. I asked you to look up the case and let me have a copy of the papers in refer-
ence to the Parry Sound settlers being located in Edmonton ?-A. Yes, north of
Edmonton.

Q. These are the papers you have subnitted in that respect ?-A. Yes. It is
stated here by Mr. Pearce that I the Perry Sound colony consisting of 298 persons, 86
horses, and 170 cattle has arrived safely at Edmonton. I was disappointed in finding no
immigration sheds and no stakes marking sections. My people are disposed to censure
me for this, but I must repudiate all blame in the matter, as 1 notified Mr. Royal of the
necessity of making an arrangement." Ur. Pearce had been instrumental in inducing
this colony to go from Parry Sound to the Edmonton district ?-A. That is what I un-
derstand f rom the papers.

Q. And the service was performed as it is mentioned here ?-A. I presume that is
correct, but there is nothing to show that it was performed in that way.

Q. How much was paid to Mr. Pearce for the service, as appears by this account ?
-A. $150.

Q. When the claim was first brought before the Minister does it appear from the
papers that the Minister approved it J-A. He did not.

Q. No ; this is the Minister's writing (Mr. Dewdney) in which he says: "I do
not think we should pay Pearce. E. D."
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The reason which seemed to influence him, f rom the papers, was, that the payment
was asked for transferring people from one place in Canada to another, was it not ?-A.
I presume that was it.

Q. However, ultimately upon the strong recommendation of Mr. Burgess, the
Deputy Minister, it appears that the S150 was paid ?-A. Yes.

Q. Now, this $150 is the only amount which is paid in so far as his services are
concerned, which was previously unauthorized ? Do you remember that this is so ?-
A. I fancy it is.

By Mr. Wood (Brockville):

Q. This is the only claim that vou know of in the department ?-A, No ; Mr.
Foster asked me if I knew of any other cases where such a claim had been paid. I had
forgotten at the time, and afterwards the Pearce case came to my memory. I do not
know ; there maty be hundreds of cases, but this is the only case that I brought.

By Mr. Foster :

Q. Were you not asked to bring such cases as you knew ?-A. No; you mentioned
this case.

Q. You were required to bring any cases, and this one was mentioned during the
examination ?-A. This was mentioned, and that was the reason I brought this one
particularly.

Q. After this first payment of $150 to Pearce for his services in this matter there
was an authorization for the payment, was there not ?-A. For a further payment ?

Q. For further services ?-A. Yes.
Q. And with the authorizition Mr. Pearce carried on similar services, and was

paid in 1892-93, how much ?-A. Something like 81,100.
Q. $1,104.45 ?-A. Yes ; that was the first payment; I cannot say definitely

whether this was the only amount paid.
Q. There is a letter of the 26th August, from Mr. Burgess, the Deputy Minister of

the Interior, to Mr. Pearce, in which Mr. Burgess says:-
" As to the last two paragraphs of your letter, which have relation to the business

of this departnent, and in which you make inquiry as to whether the Government
will recognize your services in any way if you organize another colony of the same kind
as that which vou have already taken to the North-west from Parry Sound, I am
authorized to say that for the same kind of colony (about 200 settlers) organized next
spring, the Government would be prepared to pay to you personally the same remuner-
ation as you have already received, namely $1 50, with a per diem allowance of $2.50 for
each day in which you may be engaged in conducting and settling colonists in the
North-west, not to exceed $150 more."'-A. Of course that statement will show exactly
for what the payments were made.

Q. That is an authorization of the 26th August for this work and for future pay-
ments ?-A. Yes, I have no doubt it is.

Q. And in 1892 with these payments there were paid, as you say, other accounts.
It is stated here that " the above item for expenses includes the sum of $60, which was
paid to Mr. Pearce for selecting locations for settlers." That, of course, would be a
legitiinate pavment without authorization. It is a duty of the men up there to per-
form?--A. Yes; but Mr. Pearce was not really in that position. He was not an
officer of the department.

Q. Do you pay any but officers of the department ?-A. Yes; we pay men who,
are familiar with the country, $2 a day

Q. In this case Mr. Pearce was paid 8150 for an unauthorized piece of work ?--A.
He was paid for work similar to this only on a smaller scale.

Q. Unauthorized ?-A. Yes : unauthorized when the work was performed.
Q. After that an authorization for succeeding work was made as appears by this

letter, and he was paid.-A. Yes; and for removing people from one part of Canada to,
another.
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Q. But there does not appear to have been any payment to any railway organ-
ization for tickets for settlers, or the carriage of settlers or anything of that kind ?--
A. No; not from that statement.

Exhibit A.

LETTER OF CREDIT CHEQUE. 1897-8.
No. 5106.

$8,000.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, CANADA,
OTTAWA, 28th July, 1897.

E. Pay to the order of the Quebec and Lake St. John Railway, the sum of Eight
thousand dollars, being a payment authorized by O. C., 17th July, 1897, to aid the
.company in their efforts in connection with the repatriation and colonization of Cana-

O dians during the past two years.

JAS. A. SMART,
Deputy of the Minister oj the Interior.

J. A. VIVAU,
Accountant to the Bank of Montreal.

Credit Quebec Branch.
Bank of Montreal. Paid 2nd Aug., 1897.
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REPORT
The Select Standing Conmittee on Agriculture and Colonization present their

Fifth and Final Report, as follows:-

The Committee have had under review matters affecting the interests of Agri-
culture throughout the Dominion of Canada, constituting the first division of their
investigations; also, Immigration and Colonization were considered, and formed
Fifth and Final Report, as follows:-

Under the head of Agriculture, the following witnesses were examined in rela-
tion to the several branches included in their respective official spheres of labour.
These were: Professor James W. Robertson, Commissioner of Agriculture and
Dairying, and Mr. W. T. Crandall, Agent of the Department of Agriculture; to-
gether with the several officers stationed at the Central Experimental Farm, viz.:
Mr. William Saunders, Director of the Dominion Experimental Farms; Mr. James
Fletcher, Entomologist and Botanist; Mr. Frank J. Shutt, Chief Chemist; Mr. T.
W. Macoun, Horticulturist; and Mr. A. G. Gilbert, Manager Poultry Branch.

On the subjects relating to the second division-Immigration and Coloniza-
tion-Mr. J. A. Smart, Deputy Minister of Interior, was heard in evidence.

GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE TO AGRICULTURE.

Mr. James W. Robertson, Commissioner of Agriculture and Dairying, appear-
ed before the Committee on five different dates, and submitted valuable evidence
on the various branches of agriculture coming under his supervision as Commis-
sioner to the Department of Agriculture.

On the occasion of his first appearance before the Committee, his evidence
dealt mainly on the means by which the Department of Agriculture has given and
is giving direct assistance to farmers, through (1) Dominion Dairy Stations, (2) Cold
Storage, (3) by obtaining and furnishing information on markets for farm products,
including a brief statement of his observations while on a visit to Great Britain and
Ireland in 1897.

On the subsequent appearances by Mr. Robertson before the Committee, lie
submitted valuable evidence, furnishing details on various subjects of superlative
interest to agriculture, in both the productive and commercial phases of the in-
dustry, viz.:-The establishment of Illustration Stations for farmers; the export
trade in fruits, and on the trial shipnent of tender fruits to Great Britain from
Grimsby, Ontario; the poultry and egg trade, indicating how an extension of both
might be made, with much advantage to the producers in Canada; the present
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standing of the Dominion dairy stations and the directions in which they have pro-
moted the interests of agriculture; and the value of cold storage when applied
locally and to the export of readily perishable food products.

Dominion Dairy Stations.-Mr. Robertson detailed the objects in view in the
establishment of these by the Department, and with other functions performed by
them was, incidentally, that of dairy schools. At one station, St. Hyacinthe, Quebec,
the average attendance for four years was two hundred and seventy-one pupils. He
submitted tables showing the number of dairy stations under charge of the Depart-
ment of Agriculture, in different vears, and also stated that the Department had now
withdrawn from that work, except in the North-west Territories. In the case of the
Territories, a statement submitted shows that the dairy stations there, in 1897, were
patronized by 1,148 farmers, and during the summer, up to the end of October,
butter had been manufactured to the value of $85,264, and shipments of butter from
those creameries have been made to Japan with good prospects of the development
of a large and profitable export trade. The dairy stations in the North-west have
also given valuable service as illustration stations, in demonstrating the capabilities
of these Territories to delegates representing possible or intending immigrants.

Shipments of butter have been also made from the dairy station at Nappan,
Nova Scotia, to Bermuda and the West Indies, and, as a whole, the prospects
for Canadian butter in outside markets, to the West and to the East, are good.
Directions for the packing of butter, in the nianner best adapted to the several
markets, are fully furnished in Mr. Robertson's evidence, appended.

Cold Storage.-Upon this subject, Mr. Robertson furnished most valuable
evidence, both as to the methods of providing cold storage and its value in practical
application. In connection with the latter he instanced a case in which 267 barrels
of earlv Fall apples, sent in cold storage, sold in Great Britain at an average of 18
shillings per barrel, while 325 barrels of the same lot, sent in the usual way, without
cold storage, sold at an average of 8 shillings per barrel-63 per cent of the latter
being reported as " wet " or " slack," when landed.

Ocean Transports.-He said the Department was now in correspondence with
Steamship Companies in order to perfect arrangements, of which he gave details,
with a view to securing an enlargement of the cold storage system, by means of
improved methods of keeping, cold the holds of ships, to assist the export and
arrival in good condition, of such products as apples, eggs, fruits and cheese; and
he also furnished directions for the proper treatment of such products after landing.

In connection with the cold storage system on steamships, he made the im-
portant statement that it was most desirable to have the perishable food products
from Canada landed in Great Britain regularly on stated days of the week, because
regularity in delivery facilitates trade and helps to retain customers who can
depend upon receiving a supply of butter, eggs, bacon or fruits every week in their
season.
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Creameries.-On the matter of cold storage annexed tc. creameries, Mr. Rob-
ertson stated that sixty-nine creameries have availed themselves of the Government
bonus in 1897, that a large number of applications for plans during the winter of
this year had been received at the Department, and that the Minister of Agricul-
ture had decided to continue the bonus for the current year, 1898.

British Markets.-The Commissioner made a brief statement of his observa-
tions in the markets of Great Britain during his visit last year, stating that Cana-
dian products are now being more generally sold under their own name, but that
beef from Canadian-fed cattle is still often sold in the retail shops as " Best Eng-
lish," or " Best Scotch" and that the finest British-made cheese sell for higher
prices than Canadian cheese, mainly because the former are cured at a lower and
more even temperature.

ILLUSTRATION STATIONS.

Illustration Stations for Farmers, as authorized by the ?\inister of Agriculture,
vas a subject upon which Mr. Robertson furnished important information in detail,

and as to the ends in view for their establishment, which he said were much of the
same character in relation to the cultivation of the soil and the growth of crops,
as the establishment of dairies under Government aid and supervision had filled in
relation to the production of butter and cheese, viz., the production of larger
quantfties of improved quality, and with profits enhanced to the producers. They
were intended, he said, to educate the farming population in their industry bv
furnishing examples of operations and results obtained.

He said that much greater progress had been made in Canada in the making
and handling of animal products than in the growing of crops. That the aver-
age vield of most crops in Canada was not equal in quantity, per acre, to the
same kinds of crop in Great Britain and France, but that he believed that through
these illustration stations the practices of most of the farmers of this country could
be so much improved as to result in a tremendous increase in the yields of crop.
He cited France as an example. There over four thousand " example plots " are
maintained by the Government, and these are acknowledged to have been very use-
ful in improving the methods of agriculture in that country.

A perusal of Mr. Robertson's evidence will furnish the details of the plan upon
which it is proposed to conduct these illustration stations.

Also the statement to the Committee on the 4th May, by the Honourable Mr.
Fisher, Minister of Agriculture, on his views and policy in relation to illustration
stations and the objects intended to be accomplished through them, furnishes addi-
tional valuable information on this point of the Committee's investigations.

Mr. W. T. Crandall, Agent of the Department of Agriculture, was before the
Committee, and furnished information of importance to both farmers and exporters
of Canadian animal products and fruits to Great Britain. His statements were
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mainly in regard to comparative prices there realized for these classes of products
from the Dominion, and those of other countries in competition. He made state-
ments, also, of value in relation to the conditions of preparation, shipment and
delivery of these products, necessary to insure them a ready reception at paying
prices in the leading market cities of the British Islands.

THE DOMINION EXPERIMENTAL FARMS.

Mr. Saunders, Director of the Experimental Farms, submitted a large amount
of evidence of much interest and value to the practical farmer whose aim it is to con-
serve and increase the fertility of his soil, and simultaneously increase the crop yield
per acre. He stated there is a manifestly increasing interest on the part of agricul-
turists in the test work of the Experimental Farms, and a widely increasing desire
to profit by them.

Manures.-The Director furnished interesting details of the experimental lines
pursued upon the Dominion Farms, and supplied easily-understood directions on
the methods of conducting these experiments. Experiments are still continued to
ascertain the best methods of handling barn-yard manures; and also in ascertaining
the value of green manures and artificial fertilizers. Of the two latter, clovers are
found to take first place in fertilizing value.

Fodder crops, he said, continue as a subject of experimental investigation, and
that the great value of Awnless Brome Grass, particularly on the prairies, might
now be considered as established, especially as the experiments of last year demon-
strated that it thrives on the saline soils of the North-west Territories, and there has
arisen a general inquiry for it all over the Dominion.

Cereals.-Mr. Saunders presented a number of valuable facts in relation to
tests made to ascertain the best species from among the various cereals, in point of
productiveness and adaptation to given locations. This, he said, was the next
point of importance to the farmer. following the fertility of the soil. He also ex-
hibited varieties of grain, produced from cross breeding, and stated as his conclu-
sions from repeated experiments in test growing, that some of these new varieties
would prove valuable in agriculture, both as to quality and prolificness.

Fattening Animals.--Mr. Saunders furnished, also, very full details of experi-
ments carri.ed on at the Central Farm last year, in the lines of fattening groups of
steers and hogs, respectively. The gain in weight by these groups, from stated
rations, the effects of different kinds of rations and their comparative cost and re-
sults, all form matters of material interest towards aiding farmers to obtain the
best results from feeding, at the minimum of cost.

SAN JOSE SCALE.

Mr. Fletcher, Dominion Entomologist and Botanist, in the course of his evi-
dence, gave valuable information of practical use to all cultivators, whether of field
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or orchard, in reference to insect pests and how to overcome them. His evidence
will be found to have dealt pretty fully with the recently-appeared fruit pest in
Canada, known as the San José Scale, which he says is the most devastating to fruit
trees that has yet appeared in this country. He strongly commended the legislation
recently passed by this Parliament, to prohibit importation of fruit trees and nursery
stock from States in which the San José Scale is known to prevail, adding that
urgency demanded prompt legislative action to protect the fruit industry and to
save the capital invested in it, within the Dominion. He said also that the nursery-
men of Canada had proved equal to all demands made upon them for local supply,
and that they had done so without undue increase in their prices. He gave also a
presentation of the most efficient means and preparations to overcome this pest.
His evidence constitutes a valuable economic guide to overcoming other crop pests,
and to the preparation and application of insecticides.

FERMENTATION OF MANURES-FERTILIZATION.

Mr. Shutt, Chief Chemist at the Central Farm, was examined by the Coin-
mittee on the elementary constituents and the handling of barn-vard manure and
other fertilizing media, and the changes produced in the relative quantities of the
normal element present, produced bv fermentation under cover, and also by ex-
posure, by which the agricultural value of these manures is affected. The informa-
tion furnished by the Chemist under this head of inquiry is of much practical value
to farmers.

He also submitted samples of a recently-discovered product extracted by
clemical process from the nodules of leguminous plants, and applicable as a ferti-
lizer to either the seeds of plants or to the soil.

FORESTRY.

Mr. Macoun, Horticulturist, was examined in relation to the success of the
trial cultivation of forest trees, on the Central Farm. He produced numerous
specimens of woods which showed a healthy and rapid growth, and which demon-
strated that in Eastern Canada, at least, manv of the woods esteemed valuable for
manufacturing purposes as well as coarser grained species useful for fencing,
shelter-belts and ornamentation can be grown with success. His explanations of
the methods employed at the Central Farm in the department of tree cultivation
vil be found useful at the present time, when attention to general and dormestic

forestry is being attracted, over a large portion of the Dominion.

POULTRY RAISING FOR THE MARKETS.

Mr. Gilbert, Manager of the Poultry Branch at the Central Farm, was ex-
amined upon the work conducted under his direction, and he submitted evidence of
value, as the result of some of his experiments of last year, in the direction of dis-
covering the minimum of cost at which laying hens could be fed consistently with
the conditions necessary to sustaining egg-producing power. He presented the

5
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figures of cost and material of rations in this experiment, which considerably re-
duce the cost of egg production, by a lessened cost of rations.

This point, together with other information of practical value submitted by
Mr. Gilbert, lends importance to his evidence in the direction of assisting farmers

who are turning their attention to the opportunity now available for a vast expan-
sion of the Canadian production of poultry and eggs, for export to Great Britain.

INCEPTION OF CO-OPERATIVE DAIRYING IN CANADA.

Mr. W. H. Lynch, a Canadian pioneer in improved methods of butter-making
in private and public dairies, submitted an interesting statement of the steps that
led to the development of the dairying industry in its early stages, that finally led
to the present effective system of co-operative dairying which has proved so suc-
cessful in the Dominion; and in view of the value of this document, as an historical
record of the period, the Committee have annexed it to their report.

The Committee recommend that each member of the official staff at the Cen-

tral Farm be granted five hundred copies, in pamphlet form, of his evidence re-

ferred to in this report, for bis personal use in distribution.

IMMIGRAXTION AND COLONIZATION

Constituted the second division of the Committee's investigations, and Mr. lames

A. Smart, Deputv Minister of the Interior, submitted evidence on the means em-

ploved bv the Department in Great Britain, Ireland and upon the continent of

Europe, to promote emigration from these countries to Canada. The matters of

interest in relation to this subject w-il1 be found stated in detail in \Ir. Smart's evi-

dence, hereto annexed.

The evidence laid before the Committee upon the varions subjects which en-

gaged their deliberations in the current Session of Parliament is hereto annexed as

a part of this report.

All cf which is respectfully submitted.

THOS. BAIN,
Chairmacn.

House of Commons,
6th June, 1898.

A. 1898
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COrMMITTEE Roo\ No. 46.
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

April 20th, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met at II
a.m. to-day ; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. JAMES W. ROBERTSON, Commissioner of Agriculture and Dairying, was
present by request of the Committee, and made the following statements

GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE TO FARM INTEREÉTS.

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen of the Committee,-The Department of Agri-
culture is giving direct assistance to farmers in several ways. One of these is by
carrying on investigations to find out the principles and methods that may be
applied in their own work on their own places. Then the Department is also giving
illustrations in various ways as to how these principles and methods can be carried
on economically. Our Dominion dairy stations, from their very beginning, and in
every province and territory, have been illustration stations-not research stations
-to show the farmers how a particular thing can be done to get the best return in
product at the lowest cost to themselves. The Department has added to that work
a cold storage service, which is intended to furnish the best class of transportation
facilities for perishable products. The Department has also been looking into
markets for these products and by trial shipments finding out how much might be
gotten back for the farmers, for kinds of products that they have not been sending
to these places. The imparting of inforrration to the farmers about these markets
and the conditions existing in them has been done to make their labour on tlieir
farms more profitable to themselves. That leads me this morning, to give a very
brief summary and review of the illustration work of the Department in connection
with the dairy stations.

I would like to make it quite clear at the beginning that an illustration
station is different from a research or experimental station. The Government,
all governments, maintain research stations for finding out things; these have to
be conducted in scientific ways, and the work carried on regardless of expense,
so far as immediate revenues are concerned; but that is quite different from
the work of illustration stations, which are always to be conducted with an eve to
the cost and the revenue, conducted for a return, and an immediate return at that.
Dominion dairy stations which are illustration stations-not research stations to
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find out things, but illustration stations-have been provided so that what we know
can be put into operation and produce a return at once. I will not burden, my
statement with many details. Dominion dairy stations were started for a definite
purpose; we had a particular plan and object in view. The first object was to in-
troduce the making of butter through the winter at cheese factories; the second
object was to introduce co-operative dairying in large districts where the farmers
did not know how to conduct that system; and the third object was to grade up
the quality of butter and cheese in all the provinces. Working towards the realiza-
tion of that plan, these have been the results so far:

We are now out of that business in Eastern Canada, excepting that we have one
little station at Nappan, Nova Scotia. The Departmuent has done what it started
out to do, with the result that this winter there were running in Canada more than
150 crearneries, making butter all winter and turning out about $10,ooo worth of
butter, each. The Department has no further expense in that work. The illustra-
tions were so successfully carried out that they resulted in that short time in found-
ing an industry which mnust become increasingly profitable to the farmers through-
out Canada.

DAIRY SCHOOLS.

The dairv stations were used also, incidentally, for dairy school purposes. Par-
ticularly in Quebec was that kind of work needed-not schools to impart general
information or even to turn out men who would be skilled or learned in what vou
muight call dairy or agricultural lore, but schools where a man would have object
lessons, illustration schools where he would see for a short tinie in practical opera-
tion the best methods of carrying on his work. To indicate the success of this work
in Quebec, I may say that at the school of St. Hyacinthe there were. during 18g2
93, the first year of that work, 214 pupils; 1893-94, 268 pupils; 1894-95, 328 pupils;
1895-96, 274 pupils. Since that time the Department bas dropped that work and
given it over to the charge of the Provincial Dairymen's Association. After having
got it well going, and it perhaps would not have been started at all otherwise, the
Department properly leaves to the provincial authorities the provincial work of
education. Tha was an incidental work of the dairy stations. They were not
organized for that purpose because we had a specific object in view, but, as the
opportunity for doing other good work presented itself, we availed ourselves of it
and tried to do that work.

PROGRESS OF CO-OPERATIVE DAIRYING UNDER GOVERNMENT SUPERVISION.

An effort was made to introduce co-operative dairying in the provinces where
that had not been carried on before. That work was taken up in all parts of Can-
ada, and perhaps a summary of the operations in Prince Edward Island will show
what was done and how the Department can easily do a lot of work, and then. at
the proper time, drop it. I am saying this because I think a great many Members of
Parliament have a feeling that when a rew plan is adopted by which the Govern-
ment can give assistance to farmers, the countrv is being saddled permanently with
expenses which muav go on increasing from year to vear. On the contrarv, I may
tell vou that a good deal of this work need not be alwavs maintained bv the Gov-
ernmient. Wlien we have completed a certain work, have stuck to and followed
out the plan laid down, the countrv may have confidence that when anv further
newx- plan has been proposed, it will be carried through to a successful conclusion.
I beg to submit the following statement:-

10
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STATEMENT showing Progress of Dairying in Prince Edward Island in Stations
under control of the Department of Agriculture.

Year.

S.....r S. .. on.

1892 ... .. .. .. .. . . . . . .. . . .. .. .. . .. ..

No. of N(o. of
Station-,. P trn.

Lbs. Lbs.
of Butter of Chee Pmnade. nimade.

1 143 . 3,018 ;,381 98

Il 1,187 ... . ...

185 5...... . ..

Winote r Seuo.

1894 5..

1897 - 8 .......... ........ .....

457,224 48, 168 79

1$ : 1.50.- 44,512 8 02, 418 86,242 î7S

30 2,957 68,6î14 1,737.269 159, 650 47

13 739 .... . 33,289 30,885 81

3 206 28,91

21,0.-3 9S

18 65sî

Nie of these were separating stations onfly.

In 1897 there were no dairy stations managed by the Government in Prince
Edward Island, but the people themselves carried on these cheese factories and
cîeameries. They turned out about 40,000 boxes of cheese and had in operation
thenselves this past winter no less than 19 creameries running ail winter, on a sound
commercial basis.

A similar work wvas begun in regard to winter dairying in Prince Edward Is-
fand in 1894. The Department has dropped out of that also with the result I have
mentioned, of there being no less than 19 creameries in operation during the whole
of last winter. That is a very fair record of work for one pro nce since 1892.

By Mr. Macdonald (King's)

Q. Have you the value of the output for each factorv?
A. I have not the value, but I assume that the value of the output of the

factories for the vear would be about $250,000. I have no means of getting the
figures as to the output, because we have now no responsibility for these factories.

GOVERNMENT DAIRIES TO ASSIST FARMERS OF THE NORTH-WEST TERRITORIES.

That work led to the application of a similar system of giving assistance to
farmers in the North-west Territories. That work has been verv successful in the
Territories, considering all the drawbacks. Last season there were in operation in
the Territories 16 fully equipped creameries. I shall put in the following state-
m ent:-
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SUMMARY of the Business for the Season of 1897 at the Dominion Experimental
Dairy Stations in the North-west Territories.

Nane of Station.

;zIZ - oeý Z ':

Cts. Cts. Cts. 1 ets.

Calgary.....................31 7,065 168, 97 14,071 19·4 15 4 4 143 2,7 9 80
Edmonton.... ...... . ,... 90 13,901 327,451 27,364 17-62 12-68 4 148 4,840 26
Grenfell ............ ...... . 80 35,319 . . .... 39,706 17-64 11 -50 4 120 7,047 20
Indian Head . .............. 61 20,362 ........ 22,715 17·33 13-43 4 156 3,959 21
Innisfail . . . . . . .. ...... .. 81 19,143 390,65 38,621 18'87 13 91 4 150 7,304 36
Maple Creek . ......... .. .. 21 9,943 ....... 9,921 20·28 12 ·7 4 100 2,033 99
Moosejaw. .... .... ....... . 57 35,277 191,077 49,265 17-86 14-04 4 168 8,887 74
Moosoinin ............. .. 113 35,331 ........ 31,583 17-48 12-68 4 135 5,586 09
Prince Albert .. ...... .... .. 43 8,601 261,891 20,104 16·95 12·95 4 144 3,409 34
Qu'Appelle ... ......... .. .. 97 27,020 ... .... 25,960 18-52 1352 4 127 4,808 85
Red Deer. .... .... . .. 66 22,079 225,067 30,148 18 59 14·70 4 150 5,639 83
Regina.. ................. 74 31,864 ......... 30,502 17-56 13-65 4 150 5,383 63
Wetaskiwin................. 47 2,669 342,980 17,691 18'49 1368 I 4 122 3,306 13
Whitewood................. 131 48,908.........46,871 17 77 10'50 4 120 8,340 03
Wolseley...................47 5,888 339,330 20,029 17«93 13- 09 4 122 3,624 91
Yorkton. . ............... .109 54586 ....... 49,352 16-74 9-94 4 144 8,362 48

We had experimental dairy stations at Calgary, Edmonton, Grenfell, Indian
Head, Innisfail, Maple Creek, Moose Jaw, Moosomin, Prince Albert, Qu'Appelle,
Red Deer, Regina, Wetaskiwin, Whitewcod, Wolseley and Yorktcn, at which we
had in all 1,148 patrons. These turned out creamerv butter up to the end of October
to the value of $85,264. The prices of dairv butter were good and farmers sold
dairy butter readily, all the way from 18 cents to 25 cents, whereas two vears ago,
when butter sold readily down here, it wvas not more than seven or eight cents a
pound out there.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Do the gold fields take to that butter?
A. Yes; but they prefer creamery. Incidentally, the sale of dairy butter is

important, as men owning dairy farms write to friends and say " We get so mucli."
In that way information about that country as a dairy country, and the locali-
ties suitable for cattle, gets conveyed abroad. To each of the patrons of these
creameries we send a statement of business, which shows every farmer's account,
and he learns what every other farmer's herd realized. These statements are of
great educational value. If one man's yield of butter is smaller than others, he
looks after getting better cows and giving them better management.

I sent trial shipments from the creameries to Great Britain, partly to test the
market and partly to advertise the country. The results in that latter sense were satis-
factory though the prices were not, for the reason that in England, owing to the
engineers' strike and the mild weather of last fall, prices dropped four cents a
pound while our butter was on the ocean. Canadian creamery sold better last
winter, in proportion to Danish, than ever before. In January the quotations of the
Danish were from 98 shillings to 104 shillings, while Canadian were from 98 shill-
ings to 102 shillings. Four years ago our butter was 20 shillings below theirs.

Q. I saw there had been a shipment from St. Mary's which brought one and
sixpence above the best Danish.
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A. That is very satisfactory. A circular letter was sent to the patrons of all
creameries giving a summary of all the business; and from the reports I have re-
ceived the business was satisfactory to the farmers with the exception of two
creameries where they expected more than they got, but even there they could not
have got more than they did. We expect to get more this year. We are running
two creameries all winter in Alberta to get winter dairying founded, and the farm-
ers are thoroughly satisfied with their operation.

BUTTER FOR JAPAN AND WEST INDIES.

We have been shipping butter to Japan, from themi, and the last letter which I
received-it was last week-from a large firm in Yokohama, tells of the resuilt, and I
will read it to the Committee. They say: " The butter in boxes exm'Enipress of India'
is excellent, and if you send us the same quality in tins we car do most of the butter
trade in japan. We trust that the packers will send nothing but the best quality,
otherwise the trade will be lost. I may remark for your information, that after twentv
years' experience we find that butter packed in tins, henretically sealed, arrives in
good condition; but if packed in so-called patent tins, which are opened by tearing
off a strip of tin round the top, the butter is too frequently bad, owing to defective
soldering of the strip. We should be glad to know the best time of year to order butter
in tins and wood boxes. In wood boxes we can only order for our winter trade, sav
October to April, and in tins for the summer, May to September." Another firni
in Kobe, Japan, writes as follows :--" Consignment per ' Empress of China' re-
ceived in good order and disposed of at once. We shall be able to pay you your
invoice price of 24 cents. If you feel disposed to send another shipment by next
steamer, we should be pleased to receive the same, but are somewhat afraid of such
large packages in warm weather."

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. How much was the net price?
A. The price I have given you was net. Butter tins cost about 3 cents a pound

for small sizes in addition to the cost of an ordinary package. These are better
than the ordinary packages, and they are very satisfactory. Here is five-pound
tin, and I will spoil one of them to show the Committee how they are opened. With
an instrument which is sent for that purpose the tin cover is punched through and
pulled out. The slight bulging up of the centre loosels the tin all round and it
slips out, whereas it cannot be pulled out or up by the edge. Other tins have the
covers soldered on and the bottoms are put on by machinery after the butter is
filled in from the bottom. This other style, with pressed-in cover, will be satisfac-
tory for the Klondike trade, but they stick so to forms over in Japan that it would
not be wise to risk using them for that trade, for the present, at all events.

By Mr. McNeill :

O. What did you say it would net per pound in tins in Japan?
A. The winter price was 26 cents, 25 cents and 24 cents a pound put on the

cars at Calgary station.

By Mr. MacLaren:

Q. What sized packages do you use?
A. We put the butter up in 14-1b. and 28-1b. wooden boxes, and they please

well in winter; but in summer the warm weather brings a risk of the butter being
melted, and we use tins of 2, 5 and io-1b. sizes.

13
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By Mr. Clancy:

Q. How is the butter put in?
A. It is packed in, with a circle of butter paper in the bottom and over the top.

By Mr. MacLaren :

Q. Have they a system of cold storage?
A. Yes; but there is little cold storage in Japan, and when being distributed

the butter gets damaged if not in tin packages. They prefer small packages. These
packages also do well for butter sold to miners, as they can throw them in the
bott~om of the creek, and the butter keeps well all summer. We are putting up a
lot of butter that wav.

SALES OF CREAMERY BUTTER IN THE BRITISH WEST INDIA ISLANDS.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Have you any knowledge of the markets in the West Indies ?
A. We sent some from the dairy station in Nova Scotia last year to Bermuda,

and I have a letter from a merchant there which I have just received. He says:
" Herewith I beg to enclose vou cheque for $69, being amount of bill of butter
shipped from Nappan station." This butter brought 24 cents, 23 cents and 22
cents a pound. He continues: "This butter turned out very satisfactorily, and as
soon as new butter is being made I would like to commence a regular trade for it.
Mr. S. C. Logan writes me from Nappan station asking me to advise as to the
requirements of the market as to salt and colour. I may say that the colour of this
is very satisfactory, but I hardly think that it was quite salt enough. This, however,
is a point which has to be very carefully guarded, because if too much salt is put in,
it wouild not be satisfactory to the consumers, but there is a medium which, if care-
fully observed, meets the requirements of the place very well." We also sent some
to Kingston, jamaica. The Maritime provinces are in a fair way to get that trale
with the West Indies.

By the Chairman:

Q. Where is the butter shipped from?
A. Halifax. They get the very best Danish by way of England.

DAIRY STATIONS COMMENDING THE COUNTRY.

There is one thing more about dairy stations I wish to bring to your attention.
Where dairy stations are doing this work in the way of increasing production and
extending a knowledge of the best methods of making butter, they very often serve
this other turn also; and to show what I mean I will read a paragraph from a Cal-
gary paper, which came in last week, recounting the visit of the representatives of
i,ooo families looking over Alberta to see whether it was suitable for settlement.
After visiting the creamery at Calgary, managed by the Government, the article
says this: " Their next visit was to the creamery and cold storage, where the super-
intenlent, Mr. MacDonald, took them in hand and explained thoroughly the Gov-
ernment system of working the creameries and the success that had been achieved
during the last season, where the butter was marketed, &c., &c., and that the
patrons had received i54 cents net for their butter."

14
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By Mr. McMullen :

Q. They were from the States?
A. Yes, from Kansas and Nebraska. The article continues: " They pronounced

the creamery and cold storage the best they had ever seen, and very far ahead of
any in operation in their country. A number of their friends will, when they come
here, go largely into the dairying business, and they were delighted to know that it
was on such a favourable and solid basis. They were thoroughly convinced that
Mr. MacDonald, besides being courteous and obliging, w-as thoroughly master of
his business." It is of interest to anyone visiting the country tc see a business in
actual operation, giving farmers as good revenue as in any part of Canada.

By Mr. Clancy :

Q. Are these creameries side by side with the cheese factories?
A. There are no cheese factories in the North-west Territories. Many of

those creameries now managed by the Government were started by private enter-
prise and afterwards got stuck and broke down. They got into a bad financial con-
dition. The men who started first had little experience, got into a poor way, and
the farmers were afraid that their money would be taken to pay other people's debts.
When the Government took hold, however, the farniers readily agreed to send all
the milk they had, because there was no danger of loss. Once these creameries
were put on their feet, the farmers were no longer afraid to patronize them.

Bv Mr. Talbot :

Q. Does 4 cents a pound for butter cover all your expenses?
A. It does in the large creameries, and leaves a balance to the company; but

not in the smaller ones. Last year, particularly, the expense was very large, because -n
some instances we did not start until July ; there was a very small make, and we
had all the expenses of a butter-maker to meet. In some instances, the revenue
fron manufacturing charges met expenses, but the small creameries entailed a loss.

By an hon. Member:

Q. How long were these kept in operation?
A. Until about the middle of October; two were in operation all winter. The

dairv season in Assiniboia can be said to last from the end of April until the middle
of October. In Alberta they will run all winter.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Do you follow the practice of the Danish butter, which is put up in smaller
packages?

A. Not for butter that goes to England The Danish is put up in 112-1b.
firkins, lined with cloth inside. Our square boxes have been found better than the
Danish firkins. They hold 56 1bs. net.

COLD STORAGE IN AID OF EXPORT TRADE.

The next matter I wish to bring before the Committee is that of cold storage,
that is the system of providing safe transportation for our perishable products. I need
not detain the Committee with a long explanation of this. I think the public are in
possession of as much information as they can use as to how to construct and man-
age cold storage warehouses. In my annual report, I have put illustrations of cold
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storage buildings, from the snall ice-house for the farmer up to the large cold stor-
age warehouse for the merchant, with full details in each case, so that they can
build from the drawings. Merchants who have been holding perishable products in
poorly-constructed cold storage buildings have complained of dampness; and we
have given them information how to keep their cold storage buildings dry and cold.
In the cold storage buildings at the creameries there is no trouble in keeping the
temperature in summer at 34 degrees Fahr., and the walls so dry that a man may
strike a match anywhere on the floor. In my report I point out clearly the methods
by which the building is kept dry. It should be dry. Explanations and line-cut
drawings are printed in full in the report.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. How are these to be distributed?
A. We have had no general distribution vet. We have sent out blue prints

only, and those only in reply to applications for them. We have a mailing list for
the report with about 15,000 names; and in former years the Conmittee have
recornended an extra edition for use of Members of Parliament.

By 1fr. McMillan :

Q. What is the best material to put into a cold storage building ?
A. Spruce and odorless paper for insulation. The best insulating substance is

still air, and we use the paper to confine it within the hollow spaces in the walls and
to prevent circulation. The best odorless lumber is spruce.

Q. Have you ever tried cernent ?
A. No; that would require further insulation by hollow spaces inside. There

must be at least two hollow spaces in the walls. That the building can be managed
without waste, the insulation must be thorough.

Q. We found last year that cement buildings would keep out frost and that a
cement building would keep out heat?

A. Take this illustration. To build a cold storage building with regard to
economy, the room must be large enough to hold half a carload of butter. This is
cooled by ice. The great loss is from the penetration of heat from the outside.
Seven-eighths of the ice will be consurmed in taking up the heat which cornes through
the walls; and only one-eighth will be required to cool the butter in the building.
Ice has a wonderful cooling power; and in melting, a great capacity for absorbing
heat. Take a pound of water at a temperature of 320 and a pound of water at 142°.

Put these together and you get exactly an average of the two, 32° and 142°, viz.,
87°. Take a pound of ice at 320 and put it in a pound of water at 142°, and when
the ice is melted the temperature will be 32°. The water has not raised the tem-
perature at all. In changing from a liquid to a solid it gives off heat; and in
changing from a solid to a liquid it absorbs heat.

By the Chairnan :

Q. What has been the cause of the most conspicuous failures in putting up
cold storage buildings?

A. Failure to effectually insulate the chamber. Any warrn air from outside
will deposit moisture on the walls and produce dampness.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. If you went in from the top would it not be better?
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A. The cold storage should not be ventilated at all; there should be no pro-
vision for letting warn air into a cold storage building.

Q. But if a person wanted to enter the room, would it not be better to go in
from the top?

A. The best way to protect the building from the admission of warm air is to
have a receiving door or ante-chamber, so that the inside door would be closed
when the outside door was open. The door of the cold storage room should be a
foot above the floor, and a heavy curtain of canvas should be hung in the doorway
so that a person passing in or out could push that aside. This would check the
exit of cold air and the entrance of warm air. When warm air gets into the cold
storage room it produces dampness.

Cold storage on steamships, largely, with other cold storage service, has re-
sulted in this,-that while in 1894 the shipments from Montreal were 32,000 odd
packages of butter, last season the shipments were 220,000 packages of butter.

EARLY APPLES IN COLD STORAGE.

In regard to the use of cold storage for the shipment of other products, let me
give this one illustration: A shipment of early soft apples that would not have kept
well was made from western Ontario early in the season. There were 592 barrels in
the lot; 267 of these barrels were sent in cold storage and the remainder, 325 barrels,
were sent in the usual way, without cold storage. Let me explain this point. I am not
speaking of late fall or winter apples ; I am referring to perishable apples that do
not keep long, but which can have a good market in England. These apples which
went in cold storage brought 18 shillings a barrel, and there were no damaged
barrels in the lot-none reported wet or slack. Of the 325 barrels that went, not in
cold storage the average price was 8 shillings a barrel, and no less than 205 barrels
were reported back, "wet or slack," or 63 per cent. The salesmen in England said
that they were badly packed. The complaint in England all along has been that
apples are badly packed.

Q. You said they were taken from the same orchard?
.A Yes, but the salesmen said the packing was the cause of their condition. As

a matter of fact, the injury is not done in the packing, but in the shipping. These
apples were put in a warm hold where they got warm and slack. This is a simple
instance of the possibilities of cold storage on ships for carrying early fall apples.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. What prices were received for the different lots?
A. Those that went in cold storage brought 18 shillings, and those not in cold

storage, 8 shillings a barrel. These prices were not so high as those obtained for
later shipments of winter apples which were of a better variety.

Q. What was the variety of the shipment to which you referred ?
A. I do not know that.

Q. What was the difference in the cost of shipment between those in cold
storage, and those out of cold storage?

A. Twenty-three cents a barrel.
17
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By Mr. Clancy:

Q. Were those sold at a low price in bad condition?
A. Yes, in the proportion of 63 per cent being reported back, as " wet and

slack." There was no damage from breaking at all. I think at least 30 per cent of all
the apples that have gone from Montreal in past years have been reported back like
that, and the fruit packers and shippers have said: " These> men over there are
thieves, because our apples are packed all alike and there should not be any wet or
slack apples in ours." They could not understand how it occurred. The injury
is caused between the point of shipment here and the destination, and by removing
the cause of that injury the shipments will arrive in better condition.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Was the cold storage space all taken at the time that shipment was made?
A. At that time of the year it was all taken. There has been great difficulty

in securing space in August and September. There is a great congestion of traffic
for cold storage in these two months.

VENTILATED COOL STORAGE.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Are they proposing to increase the space?
A. Some of the steamship companies are enlarging their space, and the Gov-

ernment has arranged for four new steamships from Montreal. With the view of
making provision for later shipments of apples, a circular letter was sent to the
steamship agents in regard to the ventilation of the holds of their vessels. It was
suggested that they should provide ventilating shafts to the bottom of the holds,
and electric fans, in order to suck the air out through the top. For late apples I
think this is as good as cold storage-keeping the hold of the vessel at a tempera-
ture of 40 or 50 degrees. One thing that has received attention is the treatment of
products after they have left the cold storage compartments. One shipper who had
sent eggs across in cold storage was informed that they looked sooty when they
came out. That shipper sent word across to his consignees in England to keep the
eggs closed up in the cases for two days after they came out of the cold storage.
When taken out of the cold storage immediately the surface of the eggs became
coated with moisture, condensed from the air, which produced discoloration.
These eggs were reported as sweating from within, but the fact is that there was
sinply a condensation on the outside of the eggs. Shippers were advised to keep
the cases closed for two days after being removed from cold storage; and after that
thev were found to be in faultless condition. Mr. Wilson, of Seaforth, one of the
largest egg shippers said that there was not a single complaint when that practice
was followed.

By Mr. MacLaren:

Q. In putting the eggs into cold storage would that apply ; do you think it is
advisable to place them in the cold storage at once?

A. I think it would be a good plan to put them in a cooling room for a day
and then put them into the cold storage.
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By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Is it not a fact that instances have occurred that the temperature was so
low that the eggs became partially frozen during shipment?

A. It is so reported, and that was the cause of nearly the total loss of one of
our trial shipments of fruit. It went with a shipment of egg}s. A former shipment
of eggs had been reported as arriving with some of the cases frozen. When the
steamer was leaving the wharf instructions were sent to the engineer to take no risk
on those eggs, and to keep the temperature of the cold storage at 48° Fahr. That
practically spoiled the tender fruits.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Have you made any trial shipments of meat in cold storage?
A. One shipment of beef went on the steamer I crossed by last year, but I will

touch on that later. Butter and fruit and eggs are three things the packages of
which should be kept closed for one or two days after being taken out of cold
storage, otherwise condensation spoils the surface, and it is by the surface appear-
ance and condition that they are tested.

COLD STORAGE ARRANGEMENTS FOR OCEAN TRANSPORT.

I now come to cold storage on steamers. We have cold storage on seventeen
steamers sailing from the port of Montreal, to Bristol, to London, to Liverpool,
almost weekly, and it will be weekly this year by an additional steamer being put
on to Liverpool and to Glasgow fortnightly. Arrangements are being made for three
steamships from Halifax and St. John. Last summer they would have been' put
on but they could not get the machinery for them owing to the engineers' strike.
Then there is the "B eta" plying from Halifax to the West Indies. In steamship
service, what is needed most in addition to cold storage is regularity in delivery in
Great Britain, not so much the getting of our products there sooner or later, but
getting them there on the same day of the week, every week. It was only yesterday
that I had a merchant in to see me who is over here looking for business, and he
said to me that one thing they found difficult was to get Canadian goods in Cana-
dian vessels to arrive on a known day; and so they ordered their goods to come by
New York.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. There would be a difficulty any way ?
A. No, because from New York they land their goods on Tuesday or Thurs-

day every time. I may say this, without breach of faith, that the William Davies
Packing Company, of Toronto, the largest pork packing firm in Canada, send,
weekly, one train load of bacon by way of New York because they are accustomed
to have them arrive on a certain day in the week.

Q. Have strong representations been made to our shippers to that effect?
A. Last year there were.

Q. What reason was given for their not doing so?
A. They had several reasons.

Mr. MCMILLAN :-Fog is one reason.
Mrr WILSON :-There is no reasCn why it should cause a delay.
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The MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE :-The facilities in Montreal for loading are
not sufficient ; that is the largest reason.

COLD STORAGE ON RAILWAYS.

Mr. ROBERTSON:-The next point in relation to cold storage is that provided
on the railways. We have ten routes on the Canadian Pacific Railway, and eight on
the Grand Trunk Railway leading to Montreal. The financial arrangements are,
in brief, that the railway companies have a guarantee fron us that every car shall
earn two-thirds of a carload rate, and then every shipper along the line can get his
products carried at the usual less-than-carload rates. The earnings on freight
carried are deducted from what would be two-thirds of a carload rate, and the Gov-
ernment pays only the difference. On some of the routes the Government has no
responsibility now, as they are self-sustaining; but on others the Government still
has to pay sornething. It is not possible, apparently, to get business until these
cold storage facilities are given.

By Mr. Wilson :

Q. Has the loss been heavy?
A. The payment to the Canadian Pacific Railway in 1896, was $8o5.08; and

to the Grand Trunk Railway about $250 more. The accounts for 1897 are not.
settled yet.

By the Chairman:

Q. And they find their own cars?
A. Yes.

Q. And control the kind of cars?
A. Yes. All we did was to give them plans by which they could alter common

cars into cold storage cars, and they did so with a number of cars. That cost then
about $200 per car. The Government keeps a cold storage inspector at Montreal
and he examines the refrigerator cars and contents. We had complaints that some-
times there was not enough ice in the ice-chamber, or that the doors had been open;
and the result of the appointment of this inspector has been very satisfactory.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. It is an important point that goods by Canadian lines should be landed
upon the same day as via New York; is anything being done in that regard?

A. This will be done. Some of the companies are now keeping cold storage
warehouses on the wharfs at Liverpool, and also at Bristol, and they can get ship-
ments in one day ahead sometimes and keep them there. It is only in the last few
years that this great demand for regularity of arrival has arisen in England, and the
demand that goods should arrive on the same day every week. The vessels which
are supplying cold storage are: To Bristol, the Elder-Dempster line; to London, the
Allan and Thomson lines; to Liverpool, a joint service by the Allan and Domin-
ion lines; to Glasgow, a joint service by the Allan and Donaldson lines; and the
service from Halifax and St. John will be by the Furness line.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. Do I understand you to say that for soft early apples there is a big market
in England, in cold storage?

A. I do; there was a capital demand.
20
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COLD STORAGE AT CREAMERIES.

Then another part of the cold storage service is that of assisting the owners to
put up cold storage chambers at their creameries. It is no use having cold storage
cars on the railways and cold storage chambers on steamships, unless the butter
is kept in good condition from the time it is made until it is put upon the market,
and so illustrations and plans have been gixen, showing the methods of improving
and of putting up cold storage chambers. Last year the bonus was paid to sixty-
nine creameries.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. Out of how many ?
A. There are some 300 altogether, I think, and Quebec has the largest share

of them. A bonus of this character was offered, amounting to $1oo, of which $50
was payable the first year and $25 in each of two succeeding vears if the owner kept
the building in use, and according to regulations. It is hard to get a new' thing into
practice, or even to have it understood: and so, by sending out circulars, just sixty-
nine availed themselves of the information last year. But there were 107 applica-
tions from Quebec alone, by the end of November last, asking for information.

By Mr. Parmalee:

Q. These will get the full bonus?
A. Yes, they will get the full bonus, if they fulfil the conditions. They will

receive $5o, and $25 a year in two succeeding vears. By the end of this year we
expect that more than two-thirds of the creameries will have put in cold storage.

By Mr. MacLaren :

Q. Have you any system of keeping butter cool between the creameries and
the stations; that is a place where it is often injurel?

A. The only thing we did was to send notice to the creamery owners to bag
the boxes and cover them in the wagons. With canvas bags on the boxes and
wooden boxes on the butter it should stand two hours' exposure, at a summer
temperature, without harm.

Mr. TALBOT :--We treat our butter that wav in Ouebec.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Seeing the benefit of these bonuses in encouraging the construction of cold
storage in creameries it would be well to extend it for another year?

A. It has been extended for this vear.

By Mr. Wilson :

Q. These people will have to use the cold storage at their creameries to get
the frll bonus?

A. Yes, they get $5o at once if thev provide it, and the rest in two payments
of $25 each. Each creamery owner must send in a report of the daily temperature.

Q. He keeps a record, and how often does he send it in ?
A. At the end of every month.
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By 1Mr. Stenson :

Q. Only sixty-nine creameries have taken advantage of this bonus?
A. Sixty-nine had cold storage in operation at the end of 1897 and were paid

the bonus, but this last winter some 140 altogether have applied for plans, saying
tiat they were going to put cold storage in.

Q. That is apart from these sixty-nine?
A. Yes.

Q. And the total nuniber of creareries is about 300 ?
A. Yes. They are mostly in Quebec, and some sonetimes make butter and

sometimes cheese.

Q. So that nearly the whole number made application?
A. I think by the end of 1898 that two-thirds of all the creameries in Canada

will have cold storage rooms in use. Then, to complete the chain from the railway
to the steamships there was a cold storage guarantee for a warehouse at the differ-
ent ports. Quebec was the only port that availed itself of the offer. Nothing was
done at Halifax, Charlottetown or St. John.

Q. Have they a cold storage building at Quebec?
A. Yes.

Q. And in Montreal?
A. Yes, M\lontreal has sufficient cold storage accommodation.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. What is the difference in the price of butter at, the creamery with cold
storage and at creameries that ship without cold storage ?

A. I have no means of getting at that, except that the Montreal buyers insist
on creameries having cold storage even if they ship every week.

Mr. McMILLAN :-I am told that a shipper averages I cents a pound more
for his butter on account of having cold storage.

Mr. ROBERTsON:-Butter begins to change from the time it is one day old, if
it is kept warm; wlhen it is kept at a low temperature, the different forms of low
life in the butter cannot act.

Q. How many make both butter and cheese?
A. Very few make both at the same time. There are between 150 and 165

creameries that make butter all winter, and most of them make cheese in summer.
In addition to those there are about 300 creameries making butter in the summer.

By Mr. Talbot':

Q. Is the butter made in the winter as good as that made in the summer?
A. Butter made in winter can be made quite as nice, but more care is required.

I have put directions in my report on winter dairyîng-instructions as full as
possible, how to feed the cows, handle the milk, make the butter, and so forth.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. How much can an ordinary farmer put up an ice-house for in whichto cool
his own milk?
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A. A cold storage building to hold twenty tons of ice, with a cold storage
chamber fit to hold the milk, and about a ton of products, would cost, complete,
about $120.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. Is that the kind you give a bonus for?
A. No. We give a bonus for a creamery only.

Q. Could you put up a building similar to what you give a bonus for, for the
same price?

A. No, because that would require about 50 tons of ice instead of about 20
tons, and a creamery would need enough space to hold abou 5,ooo pounds of
butter. The other building is similar to a small skimning station.

By Mr. McNcill :

Q. What would be the dimensions of that farm building ?
A. The dimensions would be about twenty-four by sixteen; that is with ice in

one end and cold storage in the other.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Does your report give an explanation of this building?
A. Yes, we have gone to a little expense to make drawings and plans of build-

ings so as to have everything plain.

Q. Do you deal with a cheese factory also?
A. Yes, in a special bulletin.

Q. How about a refrigerator for groceries?
A. Yes; we have one suitable for that too. One end would have accommoda-

tion for about three carloads. We have plans for a building with ice overhead,
suitable for holding two carloads of miscellaneous products.

Q. Have you any designs for small refrigerators?
A. Yes, we have what is meant for that purpose, with a caparcity of less than a

carload. We have the drawings, and if anybody wants them in the meantime, be-
fore the report is printed, we have blue prints and can send to anyone who really
wants to use them.

By Mr. Sienson

Q. As I understand, there are 300 creameries making nothing but butter, and
165 besides making butter and cheese ; that will be a total of 465?

A. Yes, that is, the two together; but the figures are not exact, for the number
of creameries varies from time to time. Of cheese factories, there are altogether in
the Dominion about 2,700.

By Mr. MacLaren:

Q. What is the difference between the quantity of cheese produced in Ontario
and the quantity produced in Quebec?

A. The quantity of cheese made in Ouebec is now quite as large as the quan-
tity made in Ontario.
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Q. How is it with regard to butter?
A. The butter made in Quebec in creameries in the summer time is about

three times as much as the butter made in Ontario. There are more than three
times as many winter crearneries in Ontario as in Quebec at the present time.

By Mr. Clancy :

Q. How do the proportions stand between that made in winter compared with
summer?

A. Speaking subject to correction, I would say that butter made in creameries
in Quebec in summer time would be about three and one-half times the quantity
made in Ontario in winter creameries.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Is it a mistake to make cheese too early in the season?
A. I took the liberty of giving an interview to the press last week on that

subject. One of the greatest mistakes dairymen could make this year would be to
open cheese factories in April or May. I am of opinion that they should hold off
till after May, and make butter, raise pigs and calves. They would get more money
for their cheese than if they started the factories earlier.

By MIr. MacLaren :

Q. How long would you bave the factories closed in that case?
A. We should keep cheese factories closed from the middle of October to the

end of April as a rule.

By Mr. Stcnson:

Q. What is the proportion of cheese made in Quebec?
A. I believe now that the quantity made in Quebec is a little larger than the

quantity made in Ontario.

By Mr. Mf acLaren:

Q. That is within recent years?
A. Within the last four years, largely. I have made an examination of that in

this way: I take the total exports from Canada, then I take the statistics of Ontario,
which are pretty accurate. I take off the maritime provinces product and credit
Quebec with the balance. In that way I find that Quebec turns out a little more
than Ontario.

Q. We have better cheese factories?
A. Oh, yes, bigger ones.

By Mr. Wilson :

Q. You have said something about the proper care of butter from the day it is
made. I understood you to have made the staternent that you could keep butter
without losing its flavour for two or three months, after its production, if properly
kept?

A. Yes, it is quite possible to do that. If butter is to be kept for three months it
should be kept at a temperature of 20 degrees Fahr., which is 12 below the freezing
point of water. I had some butter made at Moose Jaw, N..WT., in May of last
year, and May butter is not supposed to be the best keeping butter; it is supposed
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to be about the worst for keeping purposes. That butter was put in cold storage
and shipped to Montreal. I held it, instead of sending it on with the first shipment,
until the last shipment at the end of October. Somle of that butter was sold for
102 shillings in November, in the market in which the best price was 104 shillings.

I may add to what I have said in regard to cold storage, that the Government
provided a cold storage building at Revelstoke, B.C,. chiefly for the purpose of as-
sisting the farmers of Manitoba and North-west Territories, and to facilitate the
delivery of their products in the Kootenay country in good condition, and the
results have been most satisfactory. It gave the Canadian dairynien an opportu-
nity of sending butter and other things into the mining country. These used to
come from Spokane Falls; and now some of the merchants themselves offer to
lease the cold storage building there and take it off our hands. If desirable, that
may be done this year or next year, it having served its purpose.

.B 1U r. Sproule :

Q. I understood you to say there were nine routes on the Canadian Pacific
Railway on which cold storage cars were run ?

A. Ten, I think, on the Canadian Pacific Railway. I have not the list, but I
will try and give them to you from memory. There is one from Windsor, Ont., to
Montreal. There is one from Owen Sound and Teeswater on alternate weeks.

Q. They run weekly fron Owen Sound?
A. They run alternately from Teeswater and Owen Sound, and that gives you

a weekly service from Orangeville. Then there is cold storage from Cookshire
way. There is one from Pembroke, via Ottawa, to Montreal; from Labelle to
Montreal ; from Quebec to Montreal.

Q. That is weekly?
A. Yes. Then there is a cold storage service from Scotstown, Warden and

Mansonville to Montreal.

By Mr. Stenson

Q. Have you any cold storage service on the Quebec Central?
A. I had an inquiry in respect to that last week, and I was instructed to write

to the manager saying that we would be prepared to make the same arrangement
with that road as with other railways. Then there is a service from Edmundston,
New Brunswick, to St. John. As to the Grand Trunk, there is a weekly service
from Sarnia via London, Hamilton and Toronto to Montreal, and an alternate ser-
vice from Wiarton and Goderich via Stratford. From Meaford via Allandale,
weekly: from Orillia via Belleville, weekly; from Chaudière junction, weekly;
from Massena Springs, weeklv; and from Coaticook, weeklv.

Bv Mr. McNeill:

Q. Did you say alternate weeks from Wiarton and Goderich?
A. It starts from Wiarton one week and Goderich another, and is consolidated

at Stratford.

Bv Mr. Calvert:

Q. There is a weekly service from Sarnia?
A. Yes. Circulars are sent out to ail the shippers stating the day upon which

the cold storage cars will pass their station.
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By Mr. MacLaren :

Q. Have you an inspector at the different wharfs where shipnents are made?
A. We have an inspector at Montreal, who makes an examination of refrig-

erator cars and cold storage chambers on steamships.

Q. How about Halifax and St. John?
A. We have only had one car running to Halifax because there is not cold

storage building at that place yet. If anyone sends a shipmient to go into cold
storage the inspector will look after the shipment from the time it gets to Mont-
reai until it is put on the ship. If it misses the steamer he is auth,orized to have
it put in a cold storage warehouse. Nothing has been done at Halifax or St. John.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Have vou not made sone successful attenpts with the shipment of toma-
toes?

A. Yes; I have a statement to make on the trial shinipent of fruits.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. What are the possibilities for securing a market for condensed milk?
A. In condensed milk there is a fair demand in England. The importation

amounts to $6,8o5,ooo worth, but I do not think that Canada can compete in Eng-
land in sending over condensed milk. That is a conclusion which I have arrived
at after looking into the question. First of all, they can get sugar in England much
cheaper than we can, and they can get tin cans cheaper than we can get them made
here. These two things are against us; there is the freight charge against us, and
there is also this, that in only a few places in Canada can large quantities of milk
be delivered to condensing factories twice a day. Unless it can be got twice a day
milk is not so nice for long keeping.

Q. Have we any market in South America ? In Brazil, for instance ?
A. I think not. So far we have not had much trade with Brazil. Some vears

ago we did sonie trade in cheese and butter, but the want of commercial agencies
made collections slow and difficult, because the consignments were sold on nmre
months time.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. Where does the main supply come from ?
A. From France, Switzerland, Sweden and Norway.

Q. How about the cost of tins ?
A. They are made cheaply in France. There is one place outside Paris where

they are made very cheap. I bought some last year for butter.

PERSONAL INSPECTION OF THE BRITISH MARKET.

I would like to say a few thingsi about my visit to Great Britain last year,
and I might give a stateiment ýof thd chief objects of my visit, leaving a statement
regarding the products to Mr. Crandall, who joined me there and stayed after I
left, as a special agent to look into the market for farm products. I went, first to
observe the conditions of the markat in regard to al thirgs that went from'
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Canada ; to learn the latest preferences for packages, which is an important point
in marketing things, and then to give information on cold storage, so as to attract
attention of consumers and excite expectations of getting cur products in better
condition ; and also to give information through the press and at meetings, and to
plan for the work of our agents. I had only a month over there, landing at
Liverpool on the 5th July and leaving Londonderry on the 6th August. I at-
tended a large educational ,congress in London and gave an address on agricul-
tural education in Canada. As the report was published widely it may do service
for those who are thinking of emigrating. I was called before the Parliamentary
Committee on the Agricultural Products (Marks) Bill, and gave evidence along
the line that Canadian products if sold in their own narne could do the British
farmer no injury. The unfairness now was because our products were named
" Best English " and " Best Scotch " to their injury and our loss. By correcting
the impression we have removed soie hostility among the British agricultural
class to Canadian products. Because our products get in there in good condition
they do not injure the reputation of theirs ; and the British consumers must get
from somewhere more than the home grown foods.

By an hon. Menber:
Q. How is it Our loss ?
A. In this way. So long as Canadian cheese is sold as " Best English " and

there is a demand for it the grocer keeps that with the extra price to himself,
whereas if the cheese was sold as " Best Canadian " it would create a demand for
"Best Canadian " under its own name. One good thing was accomplished by
legislation last year, that is getting registration numbers for tfhe cheese so that
one cannot help seeing it on the face of the article.

Tien I addressed a meeting in Manchester, and a meeting in Dublin, at the
Mansion House, the Lord Mayor in the chair. I wish to say that while the Irish
are hostile to any emigration to Canada, because they want to keep their on
people in their own land, no man ever got more courteous considerationi in Dublin
than I did, because I was Canadian.

I had a good many conferences with business men, making plans for the
disposal of North-west butter, for trial shipments of fruit from Grimsby, and other
business matters. I gave a good deal of time, thought, and labour to interest the
newspaper men and women in Canadian resources, products, and in Canadian
methods. There is great difficulty in getting matter into the British press owing
to the exclusiveness of their columns. For example, the London " Times " and
the Manchester "Guardian " would not accept £50 a column for matter they did
not want. Nevertheless, in order to give the Committee an idea of the results of
mv labour in this direction, I have here a large number of clippings from some
of thé best newspapers in Great Britain, which did not cost us anything. I secured
the publication of a great many articles and the insertion of some paragraphs
about Canadian butter, bacon and poultry, with the hope of granting informa-
tion about these-subjects into the common talk of the people, which I find is a
very effective method of disseminating the knowledge we want to circulate. I an
going over again this summer to do the same thing. In my opinion that kind of
thing is one of the best ways of getting the people to talk among themselves cf
our products. The grocer speaks to his customer, and the customer to his neigh-
bour, and so on, and so you get a circulation of comment which cannot fail to
redound to our advantage.

By Mr. McNeill:
Q. Do you think from what vou have seen over there that there is an opening

for a finer grade of cheese if we could get the manufacture of that ?
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A. I am quite sure there is ; because last season when over there I found the
price at which the finest Scotch Cheddars were selling in London was 62 shillings
per cwt., while the finest Canadian sold in the same warehouse at 42 shillings. It
is true that the Scotch Cheddar was a little finer than the Canadian, due to its
being kept cool the whole time.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Does it cost much, more to make the finer grade here?
A. Only the extra cost of constructing better curing rooms.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. I went into one of the largest shops in Belfast and I saw the best Cana-
dian Cheddar and the best English Cheddar, the latter being put up with a label
as they do, the one being sold at one shilling a pound and the other at ninepence
per pound, the Canadian product being ninepence. I took home some of each.
I had several people taste each sample without letting them know which was
which, and they all pronounced the Canadian cheese better than the English
cheese at a shilling. But what I wanted to refer to was rather such classes of
cheese as the Stilton cheese. We have a superior grade of cheese put~up in little
pots. I would just say in regard to that inferior (?) cheese that I have brought
it to the notice of sorme of the people in the old country who have received it
with the greatest possible satisfaction. They think so much of that cheese that I
am speaking of.

A. Yes ; several of our friends from Great Britain have been making inquiries
about potted cheese, having got it on the railway cars here. Having been the
judge at Chicago, at the World's Fair, of what they called foreign cheese, my
Scotch conscientiousness compelled me to score that cheese one hundred points
and that was the only cheese I scored in that way-Imperial cheese.

I am authorized to say that while results have proved the value of illustration
work as applied to dairying, there are many other parts of farm work in regard to
which illustrations can be equally useful, and I shall be prepared to put before the
Committee at its next meeting, a plan for getting a great deal of illustration work
started through different stations all over Canada, which I think will have the
effect of increasing the yield frorn farms perhaps more than anything we have yet
done.

1r. FisiHR, Minister of Agriculture. I would like to say to the Com-
mittee, lest I should not be able to attend another meeting, that the report of
Professor Robertson, the first complete one he has made in some vears, will shortly
be ready for distribution. That report will be a compendium of information for
the farmers of Canada such as was never put forward before in Canada. It is a
report that deals with all the work done in the last two or three.years. It makes
a large number of suggestions to our farmers which I think it is of the utmost
importance should come before them, and gives details of the work which is
necessary for our producers in Canada to do, if they are going to take advantage
of the tremendous stimulus to the export trade now possible in the English
market. The attention of England is turned to us. Englishmen are demanding
to know what they can get in Canada and Englishmen are coming out to Canada
by the score, possibly by the hundreds, searching for our products ; and if we are
to capture that market it is necessary for producers to understand how to prepare
the products for the English market, and it is of the utmost importance thaf in-
formation should be forthcoming as soon as possible. For the departmental dis-
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tribution we have a mailing list of 15,ooo or 16,ooo, but I would suggest that a
large number of that report should be ordered by this Committee in the usual
way for ordering such special reports, and that thev should be distributed from
the House of Commons. Members could do nothing better in the interests of
their constituents.

COMM1TTEE Rooi No. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONs,

FRIDAY, 22nd April, 1898.

The Select Standing Comniittee on Agriculture and Colonization met at I
o'clock a.m., this day ; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. JAMES W. ROBERTSON, Commissioner of Agriculture and Dairying, was
invited to continue his statement to the Committee.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. Does that $130,500,000 of imports of dressed meats by Great Britain dur-

ing 1897, shown on your chart, include tinned meats?
A. It includes all meats, beef, mutton, bacon, tinned meats and nieats pre-

served in any way.

Mr. ROBERTSON proceeded as follows

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen:-I am authorized to put before the Committee
this morning a possible plan for enlarging the work of the Department of Agricul-
ture. In doing that I would like to present a very brief statement of the main
Unes along which the Department of Agriculture is helping the farmers now-just
a statement, without explanatory elaboration. The Department is helping the
farmers directly through the establishment and maintenance of dairy stations and
illustration work, not necessarily by experimental research but by illustrations of
how things can be done profitably. The Department is helping agriculture by cold
storage, by providing for the safe carriage of perishable products after they are
made. It is helping agriculture by carrying on investigations into markets and
getting information as to what certain markets can give and what they want. It is
maintaining experimental farms. It is giving some help to agricultural societies,
especially in the North-west Territories; and it is giving protection to live stock
interests by veterinary service and quarantine. These are the big branches in which
the Department is now giving practical aid to agriculture. During the past ten or
fifteen years there has been a very marked iniprovement in the way of handling
the manufactured articles of the farni. The cheese trade of Canada has been in-
proved in quality at least 50 per cent ; that is the quality of cheese on the average
made ten or twelve years ago would fetch only two-thirds the price in the market
to-day that the average of cheese brings. The quality has been graded up. The
same is true of our butter. There is a better understanding in the country of h:,v
to feed live stock profitably. A great many farmers now know what only the best
men knew ten or fifteen years ago.
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INSTRUCTION BY OBJECT LESSONS.

There has been very much less progress in the methods of tilling the soil, in
the selection and general use of the varieties of seed, and in maintaining the fer-
tility of the soil. In these three respects we have made very little progress except-
ing in a f ew of the leading localities. I think if we do not make progress in these
directions that agriculture cannot be as prosperous as it might be, because, before
you can get finished animal products at the lowest rate of cost, the farmer must be
able to grow the largest possible yield of crops at the least expenditure of labour,
while still maintaining the fertility of his soil. We all know that every experiment
has two possible purposes, that of research-to find out something which is not yet
known ; and that of illustration-to show how what is known can be applied
economically. I do not think it is desirable to try to do these two things together
under the name of experiment. When Edison was working at the improvement of
the telephone, I dare say he must have spent more on one telephone instrument
than the cost of putting in the whole telephone system of Ottawa. It is needful to
spend money in research work; it is not needful to spend money in the same way
on illustration work. If an experiment combines the two purposes in one the
people are apt to be left between two stools, and not get much service. I think
they should be kept separate. There should not be a multiplication of experiments
under Government control, except under a clear, definite plan, looking towards
the gaining of some knowledge. There is a tendency, particularly noticeable to
one who looks at the agricultural institutions of the United States and Canada, to
make show places of experimental stations, where people go and see things which
nake them think it all verv marvellous, but from which they are not able to get
much helpful information for their own work on their own farms.

ILLUSTRATION STATIONS.

I think there is need for the Department of Agriculture to give farmers infor-
mation of a simple illustrative sort which they can take into their farm practice.
Information should be given in a taking way-as far as possible, in a way that will
take a man so much into the illustration that he will gain something for himself
out of it, and use it afterwards. The information should be given in a taking way;
it should not be confined to printed reports, otherwise the information would often
be-buried beyond hope of resurrection. I read my own report through twice after
having written it, and then, thank the Lord, I do not have to do it again. The
farmer is not a man, except to a limited extent, to learn by his reading.

Men engaged in handlinug farm tools and farn products should get their illus-
trations in this way: First, where they can see them. In meetings where I had the
good fortune to address farmers, I have conveyed more information through
coloured charts than in any number of words I could put together. In this way
I could leave an impression on the minds of the farmers which I could not impart
by spoken language only.

Second, in such a manner that they will readily understand then. Men who
handle material objects should have material object lessons, and thus learn to put
the ideas into practice. Take another illustration. There was no winter dairying
at creameries in Canada a few years ago. I had been called at the Agricultural
College a winter dairying crank. By giving illustrations at the Dominion dairy
stations of how it could be done in a few places, the farmers saw how it could be
done, and did it; and there are now 150 of these winter dairying stations in opera-
tion. The movement started with illustration stations, and they copied them.

In starting illustration stations for farmers if seems desirable to get local
organizations to co-operate with the central authority; because, if one tries, in a
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big country, to manage anything in all its details from the central authority, the
management is less efficient and a good deal more expensive than under local direc-
tion. In France they have no less than 4,ooo " Example Plots " spread over the
country. In twenty-five vears the yield of wheat per acre has been practically
doubled in a country said to be cropped out. They have doubled the yield per acre
in about that time; and the example plots were not the least valuable agencies in
bringing that about. Then, if in any or every county a Farmers' Institute or Farm-
ers' Association, dr an Agricultural Society, or a Farmers' Club would provide the
land for an illustration station, or illustration field, the organization could be utilized
to secure the co-operation of the people most directly interested in promoting the
improvement of agriculture. In any cotnty, if the Farmers' Institute would not
take it up, perhaps the Agricultural Society or the County Council could get the
necessary assistance to provide an illustration station. I think that no property
should be purchased by the Government; and the local superintendent should not
be put on salary.

SIMPLICITY AND DIRECTNESS OF PURPOSE.

I think the station should be of a size between ten: acres and twenty acres,
neither less nor more. It should be beside a public road and near the market
town ; and, if practicable, close by a school-house. That plan would give
the people a chance to see whatever was done there. The land itself should be
iairly uniform in character. The Farmers' Institute, or Society, or Farmer's Club,
might arrange with the occupier of such a piece of land and choose either him or
some other man reccgnized as a competent good farmer, to conduct a certain
amount of work under the directions he would receive. The directions and plans
shouid be made so clear-that he could do it and do it exactly without any risk of
failure, except from causes beyond human control.

The illustration station need not be permanent in any place. It might be for
one or two years in one part of the county and then, after serving its use in the first
place, for a few years in another part. No loss would be entailed by quitting such a
place. The Government would not own the property; and there would be no loss
of capital by stopping at any time after the station has once served its purpose.
The Government should provide a plan for each station that would be definite
towards doing something that the locality needs, and doing it in such a way that
the farmers would get the advantage and benefit at once. I mean the illustration
stations would not be to experiment as to whether a certain crop might or might
not grow in that locality. The object would be, in a locality where oats are an
important crop, to give illustrations of the best sort of oats and the best way of
growing oats; in a locality where carrots grow, to give illustrations of the best
kind of carrots-which is one of the crops lamentably mismanaged in many parts
of the country. There is not one farmer in a hundred who manages that crop right.
It gives excellent cattle feed, excellent horse feed, and is a good root for sheep.
Take an illustration of the kind of work that might be done at an illustration sta-
tion in varieties of grain: Grow four varieties of oats side by side on plots of one-
fourth of an acre each, and never more than four varieties of any one kind of grain.
If you give a farmer an illustration of fifty varieties of grain he will be at a loss
which to select. Here is where the experimental farm system would be of value to
the country in rather a new sense. After the experimental farms have discovered
bv scientific experiments and comparisons four of the best varieties of each kind of
grain, illustrations of how these grow might be given where the farmers could see
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for themselves, and in that way learn from these illustration stations. In that way
the illustration stations would give farmers a large amount of practical informa-
tion. The same may be done with other crops; but I need not enlarge upon them.

CULTIVATION OF THE SOIL.

Another matter of farm practice that needs improvement is, tillage or cultiva-
tion for the production of the best crops. I am not going to complain that the
farmers are behind the age, but I am stating that the average yield of many crops
in Canada is rather less than one-half of the yield of the same crops in England and
in France, where they have no better soil, and not quite as good a climate. While
we have virgin soil they have what is called played-out soil. For illustration of
methods of tillage, this might be done: Take some suitable variety of Indian corn
for fodder purposes-a crop that should be grown much more widely than it is in
Canada. Take one-quarter of an acre and sow it broadcast as is still done in some
places; one-quarter of an acre and plant it in rows two feet apart, with the seeding
quite thick in each row ; another fourth of an acre with the corn in rows three feet
apart and cultivated according to the best known methods; and a fourth one-
quarter of an acre with the corn three feet apart, but left uncultivated. Such an
illustration of methods of corn-growing would result in a general adoption by the
farmers of the best methods. Similar illustrations should be given of methods of
cultivating other crops. Similar illustrations could be applied to potatoes. You

,could have a spraying scheme with half an acre of potatoes to show how to keep
blight from the leaves and rot from the roots. The farmers would be able to see it
and would be able to appreciate the value of the work.

AN ESTIMATE OF COSTS.

The Department of Agriculture should do one thing more, it should provide
for the expense incurred by the local superintendent who would be the occupier
of the land, in the extra labour of cultivating and sowing these comparatively
small plots. The man would own the crops, but for the extra work he should get
some compensation. I estimate that the expense to the Government, for the seeds
which would be furnished free, in order to have them of the right sorts, and con-
pensation for labour would amount to from $50 to $Ioo per illustration field accord-
ing to the size and work. The man who got the seed free from the Government
would not need much compensation for his extra labour. I am confident that
that could be done for from $5o to $ioo per station. This is not a large expen-
diture considering the amount of information that you will be able to give to the
farmers.

By Mr. Erb:

Q. Would that cover the expense the farmer was put to for threshing out the
different kinds of grain separately ?

A. It would be expected to cover everything.

Q. That would be an important part of the work ?
A. That is an important part of the work, but I would not say that it is the

most important.

By Mr. Richardson:

Q. He could sell the product ?
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A. Yes, and he would be able to sell the seed grain for twice the price
of common grain.

By Mr. Erb:

Q. I meant that it would be the most expensive part of the work.
A. Yes, and it is most important to keep the records accurate. But you

would find that the man who only read the records would not have as useful an
impression as the man who had visited the station. Take the case of the corn
crop which I mentioned by way of illustration. The impression from seeing the
crops grow would be most lasting and instructive.

By Mr. Rogers :

Q. I think the best medium for disseminating information about methods and
results would be the local papers ?

A. Yes. This is a plan which would give us a large amount of volunteer
service by the leading farmers of Canada in their own localities. I do not think
that $5o would pay the occupier of the land who would be local superintendent
for the extra time he would have to give to the work ; but a farmer would give
a large measure of volunteer service free if he were recouped for his actual ex-
penditure. This compensation might be supplemented by local Institutes, and I
would prefer that the local Institute should bear some part of the expenditure.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Would he not have to give a lot of time to explaining the work ?
A. He would have to give some time to explain it ; but in each case a placard

would be put up as they do in France. A simple statement of varieties and me-
thods of culture would be on a placard on the roadside so that any one seeing
could understand it for himself.

INSPECTION.

There would need to be a number of travelling inspectors and lecturers who
would be in the employ of the Dominion Department of Agriculture. I regard
very highly the good work that is being done by the Provincial Farmers' Insti-
tutes ; but the tendency of late years in these Institutes is towards a repetition of
what has already been said. In many Institutes now you will hear the very same
statements about the very same things; there has been much exchange of opinion
and little progress in getting new information from the locality and for the
locality. Even the stories to illustrate the points are nearly the same at all
Institutes. These Institutes have done good work, and they will do good work
in the future if they continue to advance. The illustration stations will furnish
new information and new ways of presenting it. A practical farmer with a good
knowledge of business methods, and ability to express himself in writing and in
public speaking, should be secured as travelling inspector and lecturer for each
group of twenty or twenty-five illustration stations. The information which he
would gather at these stations during the summer, would furnish most useful
material for meetings of farmers held to discuss agriculture during the winter
months. Such men would furnish some material for all Institute speakers in the
locality which would be valuable io them and which they would pass on to other
people.

33
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By Mr. Douglas:

Q. Is it not a fact that the superintendents of our experimental farms do a
large part of this work now ?

A. They do ; but the superintendent of an experimental farm has not time
in the summer by reason of his research work.

Q. But he has in the autumn and winter ?
A. Yes, he does a great deal of it then. But in Ontario and Quebec and the

Maritime provinces one man cannot cover the ground, especially in the Maritime
provinces. He could communicate wifh the Inspectors, give them the benefit of
his researches and in that way the information would be passed on through them
to the different localities.

Q. A great deal of good work is done in the North-west Territories by our
superintendent of experimental work along these lines ?

A. It is very valuable. I estimate that if 1oo illustration stations were in
existence in Canada at suitable centres, each would be visited during the year by
from 500 to 1,ooo farmers who would examine the work carefully for the purpose
of learning all that could be transferred into the management of their own farms.
The Dominion Dairy Station at New Perth, P.E.I., was visited by over a thou-
sand farmers during the first summer. If from 500 to 1,oo men visited each of
the illustration stations that would not interfere with visits to the Experimental
Farms of those who could reach them. I would like to see the excursions to
the Experimental Farns become larger than they are ; but fifty people will see
these illustration stations to one who visits Ottawa, or Brandon, or Indian Head,
or Nappan, or Agassiz from outside places.

I think the cost for travelling expenses of inspectors and of administrati'n
would be just as much per station as the expenditure on the land and the cost of
the seed.

PROBABLE BENEFITS TO AGRICULTURE.

From that work, I do not think I am too sanguine in saying that it is
quite reasonable to expect an increase of 25 per cent in the yield of crops in
Canada in less than 1o years. If we had an increase of 50 per cent we would
still be a long way below other countries that have no better soil or climate. An
increase of 25 per cent in the yield of crops in Canada means a great deal. First,
you have an annual increase established for all time without further expenditure
of time, labour or money. If farmers once get into the methods of cultivating
and selecting seeds, it become traditional in the family and you have to spend
nothing to keep that up. The value of these Illustration Stations, from an educa-
tional standpoint, could not be estimated in dollars and cents. The educational
value on the boys and girls will be very considerable. It will lead them to learn
and to do many useful things they otherwise never would take up-unless they
got started by something like this. The annual value of the field crops of Canada,
leaving out cattle and their products, is estimated, by three different methods of
arriving at it, variously from $220,000,000 to $27o,ooo,ooo a year-taking crops,
rereals and hay, not counting pastures or gardens, but including fruit.

Mr. MCMILLAN :-In Ontario where they have a system of statistics the
whole field crops in 1896 were in value estimated at $88,ooo,ooo and from an ad-
vance report I have, they are estimated in 1897 at something like $99,ooo,ooo.

Mr. ROBERTSON :-Taking, in the whole of Canada, the acreage under* culti-
vation, taking the average yield and figuring at market prices, it comes to
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about $27o,ooo,ooo. If even 10 per cent of an increase in the crops can be got,
there is an increase of $27,000,000. In 10 years the increase will be, I think, at
least 25 per cent, and that estimate is founded on what we have been able to do in
other illustration work. The total cost of these illustration stations will be from
$ioo to $200 a station ; and in 3 years time there should be at least one illustration
stations in every county in Canada, so that people would be able to see it for
thenselves.

As a matter of expenditure and revenue, I have this to say with regard to that
part of the country which is being stupendously advertised all over the world
at the present time. The Klondike may yield Canada $30,000,ooo of gold a year. It
may do that by a tremendous expenditure by the people who go in, and a large
initial expenditure by the Government. If you can increase the yield of crops in
Canada by 10 per cent you have $30,ooo,ooo a year in round figures for all tinie
from inexhaustible resources. So, as a means of increasing the national wealth uf
the country, the Klondike would not be in it with these illustration stations.

In all the different walks of life appreciation from one's neighbours is one of
the strongest forces making for progress in civilization. If a man be selected by
his fellows in a county, by a local organization for a position of honour and re-
sponsibility, he will do a great deal in consequence of that. I would recommend
gold medals, which mean a tremendous lot to farmers-if you have talked to a
man who lias won a gold medal with his cattle or other products, you will find
him very proud of it, proud to hand it down to his boys-I would recommend a
gold medal for every group of illustration stations in each province ; and a
bronze medal for every single station where the work was well done. Then I
would have one provincial medal for the best kept station in the province. A man
would prize that, I warrant, having won it on the merit of work done at his
station. Then, there rnight be one grand medal and diploma each year for the
whole Dominion, for the man who did the work on his Illustration Station in the
most careful and exact way, presenting the best record, and in every way carrying
out his part faithfully.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Who would be the judge?
A. Perhaps a report from the inspector and reports of the men in charge of

each station could be laid before all the inspectors as a jury of award. The De-
partment might give the final award on the nedals for the provinces, or some other
method might be devised.

After two or three years there could be joined to that variety of seeds and cultiva-
tion work, some illustrative work in regard to maintaining fertiity, not so much by
the application of fertilizers, which are costly, as by growing such crops as clover,
pease, and other nitrogen collecting plants, and ploughing the roots under. One of
the wisest men, at all events one of the most sagacious statesmen in the world, I
think, is Lord Salisbury, who is a renowned chemist, and who said lately that the
problemn of humanity was how to maintain fertility of soi] by making plants or bac-
teria gather the elements of it from the air. In that way the illustraion stations could
show how plants do gather those and maintain fertility. That could be joined to
the other two things, and you would have variety of seeds, tillage and fertility illus-
trations. When the farmer saw the actual application of the best methods in these
three regards, and saw those methods often, he would become a more competent
farmer than if he had not had that opportunity. I would not at first encumber the
scheme with any plan for carrying on illustration work with live stock, with the
exceptions of poultry and swine. With simple modifications suited to the needs, I
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think illustration could be given in live stock management of pigs and poultry-
these two only. When you come to carry! on illustration work with cattle and
horses, I do not think the illustration stations of which I am presenting an outline
to-day could be made serviceable to the country. These two branches of live stock
can and would yield large results, and illustrations in their management could be
made serviceable to the people. This is the outline of a plan which will yield more
material benefit to Canada at this present stage of our history than anything I
know of in connection with agricultural movements. It is not new-that is, I did
not think out all of it myself, nor did I think of it only last week. It has been grow-
ing for several years, waiting for a favourable timhe in our progress when this step
could be taken. It could not have been taken years ago, without some research
work from experimental stations behind it ; but now I think that it can be taken
successfully and economically, and with great benefit to the Canadian farmers.

By Mr. McLennan:

Q. Do I understand that one Dominion experimental farin would suffice when
these illustration stations have been established?

A. I have not considered that matter, nor have I made any statement about it.

Mr. MCMILLAN :-Before you introduce illustration stations, I think a part of
the experimental farm here should be set apart and conducted entirely as a farm, so
that the farmers of Canada may know the exact results that it is possible to obtain
from the crops put under cultivation in the different fields. I believe myself that
you want to bring the farmers to the experimental farms before you undertake to
establish separate experimental stations throughout the country. This may not be
as pleasant a statement to make as the statement to which we have just listened,
but the farmers who get their reports from the experimental farms, do not get
that amount of information that thev should get. We are put to a large cost in
obtaining information and in sending out reports, and I think that these reports
should contain records of the amount of labour employed, the amount of manure,
and everything elsc of that kind, so that people would know from the Govern-
ment what the Government was in reality doing for the farhters. A portion of the
farm should be set apart and carried on in the same manner in which one of the
most advanced farmers in the country would carry on his own farm, and the actual
resuilts of the expenditure of labour and everything else in each particular field
should be given.

Mr. COCHRANE:-It seems to me that the experimental farm should be ahead
of every farm in this country. I am not complaining of the expenditure on the ex-
perimental farm at all, but it appears to me that it should be ahead of any other farm
in Canada. We shoild have some w-ay of showing that they can make the farm
pay. I understand that the farm can be made to pay frorn a scientific point of view,
if the science is properly applied. I am willing to pay all necessary monev for ex-
perimental purposes ; but I think that part of the farm should be run on the lines
that Mr. McMillan has suggested so that we may see if, with the application of
science, it can be made to pay. I agree with Professor Robertson that there is a
good deal ii this proposition if you can put it into effect upon lines that will not
arouse prejudices in the minds of the people. I agree, as far as illustration wirk
is concerned, that it will be practical and do a lot of good, but Professor Robertson
must take into his serious consideration that it is possible that other things may
become mixed up with it that niay interfere with its success. It appears to me
that the farm should be separated. I suggest that, with a pracrical man at the head
of it, an effort should be made to run a part of the farni on practical lines and imake
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it pay, if possible. There is no experiment now about making butter. You know
what strain of cows you require.

Mr. ROGERS:-What percentage would you want on your capital invested ?

Mr. COCHRANE:-I am not talking about capital, but I am talking about taking
the expenditure upon the experimental farm, charging it up anid seeing if we can
make that farm pay. It may be all wrong, but it strikes me that we can do it, and
if we can it vill do more for my boys than anything that has been done in Canada.
You will show them by practical illustration that farming can be made to pay.
There is no experiment to my mind about making butter. You have the cows and
the appliances; and if you can show me that you can take these cows and appli-
ances and make them pay, you convince me that I can nake that industry pay on
my farm. You can take a piece of the experimental farm, set it apart, and show
me by your report of results that vo can make it pay outside of your experim ental
plots.

Mr. ROBERTSON:-I would ask the Committee to bear this in mind, that any
discussion of the policy or the management of the experimental farms does not
touch this plan for establishing illustration stations. Even if a part of these farms
were made to pay directly and made to pay handsomely apart from research work,
vou will remember that in mv statement I said that it would be well to keep re-
search work apart from illustration work. If part of the experimental farms were
made to pay well, that would not take the information of varieties of seeds and
methods of culture to the farmers as mucih as the illustrations in their own locality.
I would not like to be considered as exciting any discussion of the plan and policv
of the experimental farms. That is an entirely different matter and is not part of
the plan for illustration stations in different localities.

Mr. DOUGLAS:-I may say, from the North-west standpoint and in the light of
the results of the experiments conducted upon the farms in the North-west Terri-
tories, that the scheme that is proposed by Professor Robertson is, to my mind,
highly commendable. I have noticed that in the neighbourhood of Indian lead
and Brandon the farmers are away in advance of people generally. They observe
what is taking place upon the experimental farm and they follow out the instrue-
tions that are given to them. It seems to mue that this scheme is just extending
the benefits of our experimental farms to the country generally, and that is what is
needed. I see a great deal in the scheme to commend it. It need not cost much.
I have no doubt about the result. I have attended some of those méetings where
our superintendent gives a lecture. They are interesting gatherings attended by
the farmers, their wives and daughters; and in connection with these they have a
pleasant entertainment and some tea, a nice programme and, altogether, the one
which I am referring to was one of the finest meetings I attended during last
vinter. I was present and spoke at the meeting. They really enjoyed themselves.

Well, we want new life put into our agricultural societies. And if we could
operate through agricultural societies in the North-west and carry out such ideas
as submitted here in establishing illustrative plots, it would put new life into these
agricultural societies in the North-west. These societies are too weak and the
prizes they are able to award too small to pay men to spend time preparing their
animals and farm products for exhibit, so that the work of these societies is verv
largely lost. This scheme would put new life into them. Again, we have a large
class of people trying to make a living by farming who have had little experience,
many of them are foreigners who have settled down amongst us. I met an English-
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man in the North-west who said to me: " I have now got to the bottom. I have
spent $8,ooo in experiments, and now I am rising." There was a waste of money
and time, and if he could save that by illustrative nethods it is the quickest way of
reaching results. I sec a great deal in the scheme which commends itself to my
judgment.

Mr. TALBOT:-I entirely approve of the idea contained in Mr. Cochrane's re-
marks. It is really wonderful what questions are asked in the province of Quebec
about the experimental farm here. In the course of a single evening they persist in
asking you the details of the work of the Experimental Farm at Ottawa, and there
is hardly one of them but asks if they have some part of the farm where they prove
that these experiments are profitable to the farmers, and I think this is proof of the
value of the plan submitted by Professor Robertson here to-day.

Mr. EDWARDS:-I am in accord with this scheme. I do not agree wfth some
of the other members of the Committee with reference to the experimental farm.
It is too large. There is a great big farm there. I have thought this matter out,
and the views I entertain are very much those put before you to-day by the Pro-
fessor. I believe, being an experimental farm, it should be confined to experiments.
A very small farm will do for that; and very large experiments have taken place on
that farm which have not been very beneficial to Canada. Mind, I do not condenn
it, for while muchli has been done of no utility, much has been done that has utility,
and the experimental work has been of the greatest utility. With regard to the
farm itself, suppose we could make it scientifically a success and bring it down to
that, how many farmers in Canada could see that? In my view, it would be better
in the interest of the farmers if there were smaller farms distributed throughout
Canada. Professor Robertson's suggestion disposes of the difficulty and puts the
thing in a nutshell. If carried out on the lines he has suggested it will do immense
good for Canada. I am in perfect accord and sympathy with the scheme, though I
think it requires great care in thinking out-evolving a perfect system before put-
ting it in motion. I am not in accord in carrying on the experimental farm as a
farrn; but I am in perfect accord with reducing its proportions and carrving it on
as an experimental farm.

Mr. FISHER, Minister of Agriculture :-I am very glad that the Commit-
tee lhas practically decided to further discuss this plan which Professor Robert-
son has put before us. I will not say anything about that now, though I
hope to do so at the next meeting. Neither will I go into the matter of experi-
mental farms, which I think is a little apart from this proposition laid before you
to-day. It is better not to mix the two subjects up. I will be very glad to receive
hints or suggestions in regard to arrangements at the experimental farm, and if the
Committee wishes I will be pleased to say something about that on another occa-
sion.
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COMMITTEE RooM No. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

WEDNESDAY, 4th May, 1898.

The Committee met at i i o'clock a.m. ; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

The CHAIRMAN:- We have the Minister of Agriculture with us this morning,
who desires to make a few statements to the Committee concerning the Illustra-
tion Stations, the plan of which was explained to the Committee the other day by
Professor Robertson.

Mr. FISHER, Minister of Agriculture:-

Mr. Chairman, I do not wish to make any prolonged statement in regard to
this matter, which was so clearly put before the Committee a little while ago by
Professor Robertson, but perhaps it is just as well for me to state shortly how
that was come to. Ever since I have been in office there have been received
applications from various parts of the country for some sort of extension of the
Experimental Farm System. These applications, in a general way, have stated
that the Branch Farms have been hardly sufficiently within the reach of the ordi-
nary farmers of the country ; that while most of the intelligent and best-to-do
farmers visit these Branch Farms in their districts-and we know that a great
many farmers come to the Central Experimental Farm at Ottawa on excursions
arranged for that express purpose-still a great number of those most in need of
assistance and lacking the information which can be given to them at these farms,
and which they could obtain for themselves there, are not able to see then.
Applications of this kind have been received from Prince Edward Island, from
Cape Breton, and frorm New Brunswick, stating that the Nappan Farm was really
of no great use to the people in those districts. Applications have also been
received from the province of Quebec, urgent applications from the Lake St. John
district away to the north of the city of Quebec, and from the section away in the
direction of Gaspé, where the farmers find it very difficult to visit the Central
Farm. Urgent applications have also come in from what is known as the new
Ontario, that portion of the province lying north and west of Lake Superior ; also
from the eastern part of Manitoba, saying that the Brandon Farm is not easily
visited by farmers east of Winnipeg. From Alberta we have been asked to estab-
lish some sort of experimental station there, and in British Columbia the people
there seem to think that the Agassiz Farm is only of use to certain sections of the
people. On the Island of Vancouver especially, they think that a farm on the
mainland is not of much use to them. All this indicates a desire on the part of
the people of the country to see for themselves and study the grand work out-
lined by Professor Robertson in his scheme. We also have had applications for
special stations. For instahce, the fruit men in southern Ontario have earnestly
desired the establishment of fruit experimental stations in that part of the province,
which is adapted to fruit growing, about which, they say, they get no information
from the Central Farm at Ottawa, the climate and other conditions being so
different. In the province of Quebec, around the city of Quebec especially, where
they grow varieties of fruit under conditions different from those which exist at
Ottawa, the same idea exists. Since the stimulus given last year to the growth
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of tobacco, invitations have been received for illustrative stations for those who
desire to go into the successful cultivation of that plant, in order that tney mighit
see how it can be cultivated and how they might best undertake that new work.
These things have led me to believe that something which would illustrate to the
people in the different sections of the country the best system of dealing warh
certain plants and cultivating certain crops would be advantageous. I might say
that long ago, in the inception of the experimental farm system, as is well known
to those who were in the House then, I, a member of the then Opposition, strongly
supported and endorsed the establishment of the farms. I upheld the hands of
Sir John Carling in all the work he then did, work which I believe has redounded
to his own credit and been of great service to the people of this country. When
the details of that work were being discussed at that time, it seemed to me that it
would be very advisable indeed if some effort was made to bring the work home
more to the different localities in various parts of the country, and I suggested
then, that, instead of establishing large branch farms, something like what Pro-
fessor Robertson now suggests should be established in the different counties, that
is to say, experiments carried on here at the Central Farm should have been ex-
tended, on some cheap and informal plan perhaps, to every county in the Domin-
ion. The views I then expressed were not carried out. I have no complaint to
make of that, but at the same time after the successful operation of the Central
Farm and the branch farms that have been established, I think, perhaps a slight
recurrence to that original idea might not be out of place. Now a scheme has
been carefully worked out. I do not mean my scheme of that day. It was a
little different, being one of experimental stations in each county and not illustra-
tion stations. Still, I think, we have reached a point when we may make this
step in advance, and supplement the work done for the farmers of the country on
our experimental farms. I may remind the Committee of the fact, that these pro-
posed stations are illustration stations, because I see from some letters which
have been received, and from some statements that have appeared in the press,
that that character of the proposition has not been thoroughly understood. I do
not consider the scheme propounded by Professor Robertson as a scheme for
experiment or that the stations proposed for handling these crops, are experimental
stations. It is, as I understand it, to carry out what has been found by experiments on
the experimental farms and elsewhere, to be the best methods of handling certain
kinds of lands and dealing with certain crops in the way of illustration. Experi-
ments will still be carried on at the experimental farms by men with scientific
attainments who can elaborate experiments and carry them out, but the results
of these will be brought home to the farmers of the country by object lessons,
showing them the results which can be attained in the common and ordinary prac-
tice of the common and ordinary farmer. This is, I think, one of the chief and
main advantages in the proposition. I may say that in the great province of
Ontario there is an organization which is a most effective and useful organization,
that of the Experiniental Union, which is connected more or less with the Guelph
Agricultural College, a voluntary organization of the students and past students
there, who are carrying on constantly in their own practice experiments, the re-
ports of which are published annually by the Guelph Agricultural students. Sone
people seem to think that this scheme explained by -Professor Robertson would
duplicate or interfere with that work in Ontario. I do not think it would at all.
It is not the same kind of work, it has not the same objects in view, and I do not
think it can be held in any sense to interfere with or draw attention away from
the work of the Experimental Union. That work, if I may say a word about it,
is a most useful one, useful not only in the immediate results of the experiments
carried on by members of the Union in all parts of the province, but useful in
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keeping up the interest of the men who have studied in the college and who, when
they go out, instead of dropping away from the high standards they had at the
college, will be induced to keep up their standards of excellency.

This is a work which it would be a most deplorable thing that we should in
any way interfere with or minimize or draw attentioin from, but, as I understand
the scheme which Professor Robertson has put forward, I do not see how it can
possibly interfere with that work, or in any sense minimize it. We must not forget,
mvself as Minister for the whole Dominion, the Department dealing with matters
affecting the whole Dominion, or Parliament, or a Committee of Parliament which
deals with matters affecting the whole Dominion, that while this kind of work,
I have just alluded to, is being done in Ontario, it is, I believe, the only work of
that kind that is being done in the Dominion of Canada, and that other provinces,
at all events, have not even that aid in improving their methods of farming. I
would just like to say that I have been studying for a great many vears, everything
connected with agriculture in our country, partly because it is my own business,
and partly because my lot has called me to various public positions in connection
with farming. We have made enormous strides in this country in what I may
call the industrial or manufacturing side of our business. I believe that the dairV
industry in this country especially has made greater strides probably than it has in
any other country in the world and we have now reached a high point of excel-
lence in it. Our farmers have become eminent stockmen ; we have vastly im-
proved in the care of our stock, until quite recently, I regret to say, it lias rather
run down than otherwise, but we have obtained a great degree of excellence in the
feeding of our stock and the woi4c in connection with it is very good as a general
rule. ' I do not think, except in certain sections of the country, that quite so much
progress has been made in our treatment of the soil and in what may be called the
ordinary field operations of the farm. In the course of my travels around Canada,
which have been very considerable during a number of years back, the loose
methods of dealing with our land, the lack of clean culture, and the extraordinary
and very unfortunate mass of weed growth which is visible everywhere you go,
seemed to strike me as things that it is now time for us to combat and fight against.
I think the time bas arrived when, in our country, the attention of the farming class
must be more drawn to agriculture pure and simple, by which I rnean the treatment
of their soils and the management of their crops. I do not know any other me-
thod which would bring that about any better or any more quickly than by the
institution of such a series of illustration stations as Professor Robertson has here
outlined, and I feel that perhaps, somewhat, at all events, of a solution of what I
have long considered to be a great difficulty in our agriculture in Canada may
have been found. I will not detain the Committee longer ; I thought it well and
right that this short statement should be made before the Committee undertakes
to discuss this matter. I may say that I am simply searching for light ; I am
searching for the way in which the agriculture of our country may be improved
and benefited. It is a scheme that has occupied the thought of Professor Robert-
son for a while; he has worked it up to a certain point. Its details are not
fixed ; it may be that they may have to be modified in the working out of therm,
but there is one point in connection with the scheme which, I must say, appeals to
me very strongly, and it is this, that, if decided upon and if proceeded with, there
is no necessity of capital expenditure. A small vote would have to be asked from
Parliament for starting it and carrying it out for a year. If we found that it was
successful and that it seemed to meet with the approval of the people, if the people
showed that they appreciated it by coming to visit these illustration stations, and
showing their interest in them, it can be extended and continued; if not it can be
dropped and there will be no investment of capital, no property to be left idle on
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our hands or to be got rid of, and the commencement of the scheme does not
require any heavy investment. Professor Robertson has indicated that if the
scheme works satisfactorily, it ought perhaps to reach dimensions of having an
illustration station in every county in the Dominion, but there is no need of our
commencing in that way at all. We can make a modest commencement, see how
it works, and ascertain whether it seems to be meeting that demand of the people
which, as I pointed out at the commencement of those few remarks, appears to be
indicated bv the requests made to me as Minister of Agriculture for the establish-
ment of other and more numerous branch farms.

I would be glad indeed of a thorough, general discussion of the proposal before
the Committee, that the Committee should give us the benefit of their criticism, of
their views, and of any ideas which might add to the continuation or success of
the plan, and if it seems to meet with the approval of the Committee, I should not
at all hesitate to take the responsibility of asking Parliament to grant a small sum
for carrying out this plan in the season of 1899. Any preparation for it would
have to commence this fall. The arrangements necessary to put it into thorougli
operation would then have to commence, and therefore a vote would have to be
asked at the present session of Parliament if it were thought best to go on with the
mattr. Thanking you for this opportunity of putting the matter before the Coi-
mittee I will now leave it open for discussion.

Mr. SPROULE:-Do I understand that it is contemplated to put one station
in every county in the Dominion ?

The MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE:-Eventually, but not at present.

Mr. SPROULE:-Ilave vou any knowledge of the number of counties.

The MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE:-There are 213 members of the House of
Commons of whom about 50 or 6o represent ridings whi-ch are towns and cities,
and which could hardly be expected to have such stations as these. I should
think that probably 150 or 200 of such stations would eventually be required if
the scheme was elaborated to its fullest extent. But I have no idea of anything
of the kind as a commencement.

Mr. CALVERT:-You would not think it would be necessary to have one in
each electoral district ?

The MINISTER oF AGRICULTURE:-Hardly.

Mr. SPROULE:-Do I understand that these stations are to give the results of
experiments, but are not to do experimental work? What could be done without
actual experiments on these farms ?

The MINISTER OF AGRIcULTuRE:-What I mean is this: At the farms we
now have perhaps 30 or 40 different varieties of potatoes or grains or roots grow-
ing, side by side, to see which do the best.

Mr. SPROULE:-Is that not experimental work ?
The MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE:-Yes, that is what we are doing on the

farms. I would not think of doing that at these stations ; I would take perhaps
two of the best varieties that we have found by a series of experiments on the
farms, show them to the people and let them see the difference between these and
the ordinary kinds of grain or roots they grow on their own farms.

Mr. SPROULE:-You would grow them on these farms and show what could
be done with certain grades of grains and roots. I want to get at the distinction
between experimental and illustration work, because they become experiments in
my judgment, just as soon as you put them into the ground and try to show what
can be done with them.
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Mr. MCGREGOR:-Every farn is experimental to a certain extent.
Mr. MEIGS:-Would it necessitate buying a farm ?
The MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE:-NO ; I would make an arrangement with

some good farmer, who is noted for being intelligent and being a good workman,
that he would carry out certain instructions and directions for the treatment and
management of say, ten or twenty acres of his land, and that le should grow
certain things that the Department should supplv the seed for. He would own
the crops and the land. He would simply do the work and the work would be
inspected to see that it was properly done. The people of the neighbourhood
would see the difference between that kind of work and the common work of the
farms in the district.

Mr. DUGAS:-Would he be paid ?
The MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE:-He would be paid slightly for his time.

Mr. BURNETT:-If he is a good farmer, is he not doing that all right.

The MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE:-If he is doing it on a good system.
He may be a good farmer in his own neighbourhood, and yet in many cases not
be following the best system.

Mr. MCMILLAN:-The best farmers in Ontario are adopting a system of
their own. There are farmers who are leading not only their neighbours, but I
believe are leading some of your experimental farms.

The MVINISTER OF AGRICULTURE:-I do not say that we are going to teach
the best farmers of Ontario. There are some sections, however, where the farmers
do not know so much and who would like to have an opportunity of seeing in
practice the system of the best farmers in Ontario.

Mr. FEATHERTON:-Where do you find those weedy farms ?
The MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE:-Pretty nearly everywhere.

Mr. MCMILLAN:-Tie other day Professor Robertson told us that at these
illustration stations four or five varieties of grain would be grown and four or
five varieties of roots, and I would like to know would a farmer be expected to
keep these separate, thresh them separate and give the results of each?

Mr. RoBERTSON:-I think it would be exceedingly useful to have that in-
formation, but even if not obtained, the growing of these varieties, side by side,
would give much information. The intention is to keep each plot by itself and
have a record kept on forms furnished for that purpose so that they could easily
be collated afterwards.

FARMERS' INSTITUTES.

Mr. J. W. ROBERTSON, Commissioner of Agriculture and Dairying, was in-
vited to address the Committee, and in response proceeded as follows:-

If you will allow me a personal explanation, and I am quite anxious to make
one, I did not intend to be understood as uttering a single word or syllable in any
way reflecting upon the good work of the Farmers' Institutes. They are the
agencies in Canada which have done most good for the farmers. My own opinion
of them is that I do not know anything that the Government has done which has
benefited the farmers so much as the work of the Farniers' Institutes, particularly
in Ontario. Let me say further 1, myself, speaking at the Institutes, find myself
bare of information needful to help the farmers who attend them; and I said, in
addressing the Committee the other day, that these illustration stations placed
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around the country would furnish the Institute workers with the very information
they might give to the farmers; and the Institutes would be more useful than
ever. I did not, and do not, hint that these illustration station would displace them
anywhere.

THE PROPOSALS IMPROVED IlY DISCUSSION.

I desire to express my appreciation of the valuable information given by mem-
bers of the Committee who have spoken. The scheme, as outlined, was only a
skeleton, and the discussion to-day will enable those who are to put these stations
into operation to do so with the advantage of that information to make the scheme
more effective than it would otherwise be. The suggestions given here to-day are
all in the direction of improving the scheme. I have not changed my opinion of
the illustration stations being valuable and necessary to the farmers, although
doubtless there are many difficulties to overcome. No Government plan can be-
come a Providence to remove all the difficulties of climate and markets. The plan
may help the farmers to overcome them, and make them more capable in their
efforts; but it cannot remove all obstacles to success. There are difficulties in the
nature of droughts or blight, or something else, and everv farmer would be more
equal to meeting these difficulties incident to his calling, if he receives the assist-
ance we propose to give him. The poor farmer is the man we need particularly to
help; and this scheme will help the poor farmer. In going through the country I
find that the good farmers are willing to impart the information they have to their
neighbours. In my native country the farmers are very secretive and will not
readily impart information to their neighbours. For instance, a Scotch farmer will
not tell his neighbour his method of making cheese. In Canada the farmers are
different; and this scheme will encourage them to exchange information and secure
better results than they have hitherto been able to obtain. The part that is most
difficult in the whole scheme-and there will be difficulties, and because there are
difficulties it needs skilful planning and capable administration-the great difficulty
would be to find the right class of men to carry on the work. The great difficulty,
in most cases, is, not to make a plan, but to find men of the spirit and ability neces-
sary to successfully carry out the plan that is made. I do not fear that we shall not
find a sufficient number of men to carry out this idea. I do not know a county in
Canada where there are not ten men, each doing so well in methods of agriculture,
that if all farmers of Canada did as well, the improvement would be 25 per cent on
next year's crops, or about $67,ooo,ooo of increase in Canada's vield of farm pro-
ducts. I believe that we have men patriotic enough to undertake this work and
give their time and service without apparently being paid for all the volunteer work
they do.

I want to make another point from the discussion to-day. It would not be the
best plan to take varieties of seeds for illustration at these stations wholly from
the Experimental Farms. The inspector for the locality would learn from the
farmers of that locality the kinds of grain or roots that do best with them ; and
these varieties might be different from those that have given the best returns at the
experimental farms. Those found suited to the locality would then be given illus-
tration under their correct names for service of the people of the county.

SELECTION OF LOCATION FOR ILLUSTRATION STATIONS.

Another point is the selection of places for such illustration stations. That
would doubtless have to be carried out after full information of each localitv was
obtained. The proposal was that the fields, first of all, should be on the roadside.
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The experimental plots which are managed by the Ontario Experimental Union
are not necessarily on the roadside. That is another department of the work of
the province that is producing the most admirable results for the farmers: but it is
devoted chiefly to experiments and not to illustrations. These stations should
necessarily be near a market town or a central place. To some extent that would
obviate the difficulty which bas been pointed out and which might be a serions one
if the farmer had to entertain at his table all those who come to visit the illustration
stations. Most of us know that the farmers are not forgetful to entertain strangers;
but this is a characteristic virtue that should not cause them to be imposed on.
You are embarrassed in the country bv being pressed at every place von stop at to
stay for a meal. I do not think that the danger which bas been indicated will be
met with, if these plots are near a town where people can get their meals at a
hotel and get their horses put up. I think that each station should be visited at
least once a month by the inspector to see that the whole plan in that locality was
being carried out evenly. Twice a vear the visit from the inspector could, and should,
be made known beforehand to the farmers in the localitv. A Farniers' Institute
meeting held in the field in the summer time would give the farmers more informa-
tion than a two-day meeting in a hall, although in saving that, I do not wish to be
understood as saying a word in disparagement of meetings in a hall.

Mir. McGREGOR:-That is if the crop is good.

Mr. ROBERTSON:-Well, if the crop were poor it might show wrong variety
of seed or a wrong system of culture. It would be an object lesson for those who
saw it.

The next thing I wish to say is that it was suggested that the plots should be
near the school-houses. I know the predatory habits of boys; but you will imparr
more valuable information to country boys by showing them things growing, when
they are not taken there on purpose, than you will by taking them once a month to
the plots.

In France ,where they have made great progress in agriculture-and I say this
to relieve members of the Committee from the idea that these stations might be too
numerous to be useful-in France they have over 4,000 example plots, at a cost of
$6o each, paid by the Government. They are for work somewhat like this, and they
are put near the school-houses in order that the children may sec the crops growing.
By and by, in this country, I expect to sec illustration stations close to the school-
houses, and part of the school system so that the boys and girls, as they grow up,
will see the reality of things and know them by something more than mere names.
We will come to that in Canada.

Placards will be put up at these stations so that not only he who runs, but lie
who drives by, may read and be instructed. The cost will vary according to the
amount of work undertaken: and I hold that for every dollar spent in work that
gives the farmers practical information which they can turn to account, the country
will gain $ioo in return. I do not think this country can spend money more wisely
than by giving farmers the kind of information they can use in a wav they are will-
ing to receive it. Suppose this plan, when fully applied, should cost $30,ooo
annually. The vote for "Dairying Service " lias been $30,000 for several years;
and in a few more years, as soon as the service in the North-west Territories, and
perhaps one other district, is finished, there will be no further need of Government
dairv stations in Canada, where illustration lessons have been given. When the
Dominion Government has entirely gone out of that after having accomplished
the work of development, leaving the stations to be carried on by others, that ex-
penditure can be devoted to improvements in crop culture and tillage, thus carrying
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f orward on these lines the educational work so necessary to the progress and devel-
opment of agriculture. I desire to repeat that some of the considerations presented
this morning by members of the Committee will help materially in furnishing ideas
for the more efficient carrying out of the plan proposed.

Mr. FISHER, Minister of Agriculture:--I want to say two things: One is,
that I regret to hear the intimation that apparently this scheme was one which was
aimed at or was intended, or was in any way connected with the depreciation of
Institute work. I think that Professor Robertson has already explained his own
views in regard to that matter, and I want to say that the Institute work is some-
thing which I have been most enthusiastic about. I have been holding up to the
local Government of Quebec the Institute work of the province of Ontario, and be-
seeching and insisting that they should adopt such means of agricultural advance-
ment in Quebec. Since I have been Minister of Agriculture here I have come into
contact with the local Governments of New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince
Edward Island, and I have been urging this matter constantly upon them, and they
are taking steps to carry it out. There is no idea in any way whatever of depre-
ciating the Institute work. The Institute work in Ontario has been one of the
glories of that province, and the work which has contributed more than any other
thing to the splendid agricultural position of Ontario to-day.

The other thing I wish to say, is, that I do not want members of the Com-
mittee to go away with the impression that I am suggesting an immediate expendi-
ture of $30,ooo a year. Dr. Sproule seemed to hit upon that as a likelihood. It is
possible, in the event of the idea being successful and profitable, that it may develop
into an expenditure of $3a,ooo a year, but the idea I had in my own mind was a
modest one in comparison with that. I thought the other day, when talking the
matter over, that, as Professor Robertson suggested, if we started on a consider-
able scale, $1o,oo would be all we would think of asking this year, but if we started
on a more modest scale, perhaps $5,ooo would be sufficient. It would only be after
we had found it profitable and successful that any further sum would be asked.

Mr. BELL (Pictou):-These illustration stations would be distributed amongst
the different provinces ?

The MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE:-Oh, certainly, whether they were very
great in number or not they would be distributed in those parts of the country in
which it would seem they would do the most good.

Mr. CALVERT:-Those are the parts faithest away from the experimental
farms?

The MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE:-They should be established first, at all
events, where there seems to be the greatest need of them.
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COMMITTEE Room No. 46.
HoUsE OF COMMONS,

WEDNESDAY, 27th April, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this day
at II o'clock a.m.; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

MR. JAMES W. ROBERTSON, Commissioner of Agriculture and Dairying, ad-
dressed the Committee as follows:--I have to report a little upon the

TRIAL SHIPMENTS OF FRUIT

from Grimsby. These were not apples, but I might be pernitted to make two or
three remarks in regard to apples. On the whole, in England, I did not find more
than two or three per cent of the apples not honestly packed ; I mean by that,
barrels that are faced by fine apples and filled with poor ones. There has been a
large percentage of our apples landed in Liverpool in a damaged condition, by
heating on the voyage, or otherwise, but I do not think that more than two or three
per cent were packed dishonestly; but if you listen to all that the fruit buyers in
England say, they will tell you all the faults in connection with packing and with
the apples, and not any of the good things. The tendency to find fault is made too
conspicuous. To show you the standing of our apples in England, I need only say
that the prices last year of 20 shillings and 25 shillings a barrel were proof that
the apples were good--good right through in most cases.

In Great Britain, in the fruit trade perhaps more than other trades, the value
depends upon everything being in a faultless condition, because if that is not the
case the retail dealer runs more risks th.an he is willing to take, and he wants bar-
gains. That is the reason why tender fruits brought such low prices in England last
year. The retail dealers thought they ran risks and wanted to purchase at bargains;
and think they got them. At the end of the season they wanted more similar
fruit because it paid them handsomely. That is one of the results of our experi-
mental shipments. Fruit in Great Britain sells at high prices, if it is in good con-
dition; and some classes of fruit in doubtful condition will fetch ruinous prices.
The value is determined by three things: first, keeping quality, then the appearance,
and then the flavour. I do not think that for a long time to come the English
buyer will care to discriminate much between the flavours of the different varieties
of peaches. They will look to their appearance and condition. The fruit must
look nice, be sound and have a good flavour. In sending peaches, tomatoes, pears
and grapes, the first consideration is the packing. The package must be suitable
for safe carriage. The Grimsby fruit growers thought that the package must not
only be safe but suitable for a showy appearance in retail shops in England as well.
They bought 2,ooo cases made for safe carriage and strong to the extent that every
man who tried to open them was swearing mad, with his fingers torn. The very
strong package was one of the first points raised against them in England. The pack-
age should bé of a shape for convenient handling, and there is no one kind of pack-
age suitable for all kinds of fruits. The package we shall use this vear and used suc-
cessfully last year was a good deal like that (exhibiting a box to the Committee)
for peaches and pears carrying about 25 pounds of fruit, according to size, and
packed from the side so as to escape the need for facing a large surface. If you
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face a comparatively large surface of tender fruits and cover so as to hold them
tight, it will squeeze and damage some. If you pack from the side you face a
comnparatively small surface, and the spring of the side piece will hold the fruit
firmly in position. Last year shippers used boxes with four trays deep inside; and
the movement during transit ground the surface of the peaches and pears. Fruit
should be taken over wrapped in paper and packed in from the side. Each package
of warm fruit, when filled, becomes a slow burning stove. Each individual fruit in
ripening consumes oxygen, and generates heat. If you were to fill a cellar with apples
and close it up, and go back in two or three days you would find that the fruit had
raised the temperature from 3 to 15 degrees, by generation of heat in the ripening. In
cooling fruit, if the package be close, the fruit in the middle will generate so much
heat that it will take a week to cool a package twice as big as this box in a cold
storage room; whereas, if you have provision for ventilation it is cooled rapidly and
evenly, and the generation of heat is prevented. In one trial shipment last vear we
put fruit into the cold storage warehouse at Montreal whîere the temperature was
held at 360 Fahr., and after forty-eight hours the fruit in the middle of the packages
was quite warm, and still generating heat. Cold storage, in such a case, is like
throwing water on the outside of a building on fire where there is plenty of fuel in
the middle of the building which is keeping up enough beat to counteract the
water on the outside. There is need for having the package provided with
thorough ventilation, with room for the escape of hot air from the top. That we
learned thoroughly last year by our trial shipments.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Would apple barrels be better if they were bored on the top so that the
warm air would be allowed to escape?

A. Certainly; either that or using the packages constructed such as this one
I have been describing, or by having a little shaving taken oft each stave. There
is no safety for apples on board ship in the autumn unless that is done.

By Mr. MacLaren :

Q. Even that has not been done?
A. No, and that is why as many as 35 per cent of the apples sent over to Great

Britain have been reported slack or wet, even when well packed, because of the
generation of heat.

THE PACKING OF FRUIT.

I comîe next to say something about the packing of fruit-not merely the
package, but the packing of the fruit. For tender fruit to be carried a long dis-
tance, it is very important that it should be plucked and packed in a right condi-
tion of ripeness, and that can be learned only by experience. lI picking peaches
in warm weather a common practice seems to be to go around and feel the fruit
and leave the ones that do not vield a little bit when pressed. I held a few boxes
of peaches in cold storaget for two months after the others were shipped, and I
found that those which had decayed had decaved at the places where they had
apparently been pressed. There is no likelihoor! of having fruit treated in that way
landed in Great Britain in good condition, no matter how good the conveniences
for carriage may be. Then in Canada there is no accommodation for cooling
peaches before they are wrapped. In California the peaches are cooled before thev
are wrapped, while in Canada they have been wrapped immediately after they have
been taken from the orchard while in a warm condition. The wrapping keeps the
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peaches from being cooled and generates heat very quickly. In California they
have cold storage rooms at the orchards, and the fruit is cooled before it is packed.
So far, in Canada, we have been packing fruit warm and trying to cool it aiter-
wards, and have found it much more difficuilt. In packing there should be just as
little handling as possible. Last year we had the leading fruit growers in the
Niagara district making shipments. I found that peaches were, in most cases,
handled five or six times before they were put into the cases. You can understand
how the handling of delicate fruit in a warm condition increases the risk of injury.
Fruit should be cooled as soon as possible after it is picked, and it should be picked
firm, because that is the safer way to keep it until it gets to England, not in a
condition that is called " sleepy," but in a condition so green that the fruit will not
be fit to eat for several days. That will fetch twice the price of fruit that is in con-
dition to go on the table immediately after leaving the ship.

CAREFUL GRADING.

Great care should be exercised in selecting the specimens of fruit in order that
none may be sent from Canada that are not quite sound, of good shape, and of the
right size. I do not hint that the farmer should waste anything, but I think that
he should keep the inferior kind of fruit by itself.

By Mr. Rutherford :

Q. Send it to the North-west ?
A. It makes very good fruit for evaporating. By separating the grades of

fruit there will be more money obtained for the fruit that is sent to Great Britain,
and then the farmer may make what he can out of the smaller fruit in some other
way. He will really make more money by the separation. Another result will be
that the individual shipper in Canada will gain in reputation on the British
market, and his brand will be waited for and bid for in the markets. In the
markets in Great Britain men wait for a certain brand and they would give four
shillings a barrel more upon the brand alone although the fruit might not be any
better. In the fruit trade, which more than any other is risky, a retailer will buy
only what he can handle with the least risk.

I have one word onlv to say in regard to the size of the fruit. Every kind of
fruit that goes to Great Britain from Canada should be of the largest size we can
send, and reasonably uniform. The grading of apples in two sizes will make the
whole lot worth more money. An exception to this statement is tomatoes, because
in this class of fruit, the large sizes bring the low prices. Large tomatoes will sell
for smaller prices than small tomatoes. All the communications and advices that
we sent out last year were to send small-sized tomatoes to Great Britain.

Bv Mr. Bergeron:

Q. Why is that ?
A. We found bv actual test that of the tomatoes marketed in equally good

condition and from the same place the small size netted at Grimsby one-third more
than the large ones. The small size sold at 9s. 4d. per case, and from the same
ship tomatoes of a large size sold for 6s. 8d. per case, or nearly one-third less in
England, and there were the same freight charges across the Atlantic.

Q. Was the taste of the two sizes the same ?
A. They appear to have the same taste, but the small size is wanted.
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By Mr. Featherston:

Q. In apples the medium-sized Spies would not be better than large ones,
would they ?

A. I have found a preference for large apples, pears and peaches. But when
I say large pears I do not mean those of monstrous sizes. But the larger you
get the Bartlett or the Buerre D'Anjou the better.

QUANTITIES IN TRIAL SHIPMENTS.

That brings me to speak of the quantity of fruit we sent in these trial ship-
ments. We sent last year I,4oo cases of peaches early in the trial shipment season,
1,696 cases of pears, 638 cases of tomatoes, 47 cases of apples, 55 cases of plums, 3
cases of quinces and 2,700 cases of grapes.

By Mr. Bergeron:

Q. That is not the whole exportation of fruit for Canada during the season ?
A. That is only the fruit that was sent over as trial shipments to test the

methods of carrying these tender fruits. The shipments comprised pears, peaches,
tomatoes, apples, plums, quinces and grapes.

By Mr. Featherston :
Q. What varieties of apples did you ship in crates ?
A. The Duchess, the Mackintosh Red, and St. Lawrence, early ripening fall

apples.

Q. Was there any Duchess ?
A. They were scarce last year. Of these shipments there were three ship-

ments to Glasgow, three to Liverpool and four to London. The object was to
follow one shipment with another in two weeks, so that the men who got a bargain
the first time would pay better prices the next time. The first shipments were
chiefly peaches and pears, and later on grapes. Now, there were pretty heavy losse?
on the shipments of fruit for these reasons. The loss on peaches and pears was
due to two things, unsuitable packages, and want of experience of the cold
storage for tender fruits on the ships. When we got a knowledge of these the
season for shipping those two kinds of fruit was nearly past.

GRAPES DID NOT SUIT.

Mr. Crandall mentioned shipments of grapes which arrived in bad condition.
A few did; not more than 50 packages out of the 2,760 packages shipped. Some
shippers said: " Let us send a few cases in the first shipment to see how they will
carry." These grapes were pulled before they were ripe and they fell off the stems.
Grapes are not like pears, which ripen better off than on the stem. These grapes the
British merchants told us, they did not want as the people did not like the taste. Some
of them were put on the table in a hotel and the Americans and Canadians present
ate them readily, while the others would take a couple of grapes and spit them out.
But by the Saturday they were cleaning the plates off. An Englishman coming
out here does not like the taste of our grapes at first, but he does after he has
been here a short time. It is like the taste for tomatoes ; you have to cultivate
it. In response to strong representations from fruit growers the Government
sent over grapes to see whether we could create a good market. I think that
should be done this year again even if we have to give away some grapes. It is
good for the country, as it gives the people an object lesson of ouri climate and
what our horticultural and agricultural resources are.

50



Agriculture and Colonization.

AGREEMENT WITH THE SHIPPERS.

The arrangement with the shippers was that the Department would guarantee
the wholesale price at Grimsby and take the risk, as the shippers were not ready
to take it. At Glasgow, for instance, we made arrangements to distribute some
grapes to Newcastle, Carlisle, and other North of England cities, so that next
year we would know whether there was any market there. The loss was great,
because the grapes were practically given away. I don't think that was a total
loss to the country ; it was a loss on the shipments, but it made a beginning for a
business which may grow to large proportions. More grapes are grown than we
have a market for here, and we can well afford to give some of then away if
thereby we can create a market for future use. It already has resulted in this, that
one large maker of jellies, and you know that some of these businesses are very
large indeed in the old country, has made inquiries if he could get large quantities
of grapes from Canada. Any outlet in that way would be good for the country.

The next thing I would like to put before the Committee is a brief statement
of the returns of the several kinds of fruit that were landed in good condition,
together with the cost of shipping them. The statements are as follows :

SALES of some Fruit by Garcia, Jacobs & Co., London, England.

PEACHES.

XpelsS Net
Shipper. Price Realized. per Preceeds - ate

Case. per Case. of Sales.

s. d. 8 ets. $ ets. S ts.

Geo. Smith .... . .. .. ...... ... 21 15 4 3 68 0 88i 2 80 7 Oct. 15
C. W. VanDuzer ................ 7 12 0 2 88 0 84 2 04 7 15
L. Woolverton .. .. .... ............ 4 14 0 3 36 0 87 2 49 7 15
Geo. Smith .... .................... 10 12 0 2 88 0 84 2 04 7 15

PEARS.

L. Woolverton....... .............. O 16 0
D. J. McKinnon. ............... ... 14 0
C. W. VanDuzer. ........ ......... 3 12 0

TOMATOES.

3 84
3 136
2 88

0 89
0 87
0 84

Oct. 15
S15
S15

W. J. Andrews.... ............. 7 9 4
L. Woolverton. ................. . .. 3 9 4
E. J. Woolverton.................. 6 6 8

GRAPES.

D. J. McKinnon. .............. 5 4 o
L. L. Hagar. ....................... 14 3 8
D. J. McKinnon......... ........... 12 3 6

PLUMS.

A. H. Pettit & Son .... ...... ....... 2 15 6

2 24
2 24
1 60

0
0
0

3 72

0 81 1 43
0 81 1 43
0 78 ( 082

0 89 2 83

3-42

Oct.

96 0 74 0 22 8 Oct. 22
88 0 74 0 14 8 22
81 0 74 0 10 5 15

5 Oct. 15
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SALES of some Fruit by Thomas Russell, Glasgow.

PEACHES.

E ne Net
Shipper. Price Realized. per Proceeds

Case. per Case.

s. d. $ cts. S ets. ets,
L. L. Hagar................. ....... 13 4 0 96 0 67 0 29
A. H. Pettit & Son ...... ... ...... 6 4 0 0 96 0 67 0 29
L. L. Hagar. ............ ........... 13 3 6 0 84 0 67 0 17

PEARS.

K. J. W oolverton .......... ,........
W . J. Andrews .... .... ....... .
E. J. Woolverton ................
W. J. Andrews...................
L. Woolverton.................

2 04
1 98
216
3 60
2 64

0 74 1 30
0 74 1 24
0 74 1 42
0 82 2 78
0 76 1 88

TOMATOES.

C. W. VanDuzer ..................
L. W oolverton... ... ......... . ...
C. W. VanDuzer.............

5 2
5 0
4 1

GRAPES.

L. L. Hagar........ .. ..... ..... 2 3 9
1). J. M eKinnon .....-.... ........ 8 3 o
L. L. Hagai ....... ... ....... ... 88 3 0

1 24
1 20
0 98

0 90
0 72
0 72

0 67 0
0 67 O
0 67 0

0 67 0 23'
0 67 0 05
0 67 0 05

The Committee will bear in mind that I am not giving the averages because a good
deal of the first shipments landed were over-ripe before the people knew what
could be done. You will notice that 21 cases of peaches shipped by George
Smith, sold in one lot for 15s. 4d. a case, each case holding about 45 to 50 pounds.
This was equivalent to $3.68. The actual expenses per case taking, were 88 cents,
so that the tnet proceeds at Grimsby were $2.8o per case. From L. Woolverton
four cases were sold at 14s., or $2.49 net at Grimsby. Another lot from C. W.
Van Duzer sold for 12s. a case, netting $2.o4 at Grimsby. Another lot from
George Smith, ten cases sold at 12s., netting $2.04. The peaches that went to
Glasgow did not sell so well, because there were very few peaches sent to Glasgow,
the shipments there were chiefly pears and grapes.

By M'r. Parmalee :

Q. What was the cause of the fluctuation ?
A. It was a difference in the condition. I had these sales followed to some

extent by Mr. Crandall, and through some commercial connections I have on the
other side I received a report from the retailers. These said that the Canadian
fruits pleased their customers well, and said they could sell large quantities if they
got them in good condition. One object of my going over to England th:s
summer is to make further arrangements in this direction.
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By Mr. Featherston :

Q. You got good prices for peaches ?
A. Yes, for some of them.

By Mr. McMullen :

Q. Did you use boxes for them ?
A. The small packages, like this one I have siinown you :most of the pack-

ages last year were too large. There is no occasion for display or home-carrying
packages except for grapes. For these we use four small veneer boxes witli
handles and put them inside a case like this. We will have these this year. The
case with trays inside last year cost 46 cents a case ; that was the best price they
could be got for, the shippers got them themselves, although with the cost guar-
anteed by the Department. These cases which we have ordered for this year are
better every way, and cost 6' cents each. They hold about half the quantity of
those used last year.

By Mr. Cochrane

Q. That is for peaches ?
A. For peaches, pears, and also tornatoes. We have packages of different

depths in accordance with the kind of fruit. The intention being to have as nearly
as possible three layers of fruit in each case, packed from the side. In the case
of pears you will obsrve one lot of these cases sold for 16 shillings, that being
$2.95 net at Grimsby, Ont. Another lot brought 14 shillings, netting $2.49. Then
another brought 12 shillings, netting $2.04.

Q. How much would these packages be in weight ?
A. About 45 or 50 pounds. The weight was not ascertained in every case.

The fruits were in trays, and the numbers were stencilled on the ends. Generally
there were from 150 to 200 in each. I could not find that one variety of
pears was preferred to another. The great thing which applies to these is to
have them in good condition, of fine keeping quality, attractivýe appearance and of
good flavour. That appears to be the order they value the qualities in.

Tomatoes sold for 9s. 4d., netting $1.43 at Grimsby, while the large varicties
sold for 6s. 8d., netting 82 cents at Grimsby. The difference between these two
kinds was entirely owing to the size of the tomato without any regard to the
quality or flavour. These are very handsone prices, and pay well, because that
was getting at Grimsby $1.43 for rather less than a bushel. Growers can provide
them for 50 cents a bushel at a profit.

Mr. PETTET:-They sell them for 25 cents.

Mr. ROBERTSON:--Now, as to pilums, sorne sold at 15s. 6d., netting $2.83 at
Grimsby.

EXISTING COMMERCIAL AGENCIES TO BE USED.

For these perishable fruits there seems to be a capital opening, now
that we have discovered the best method of packing and shipping. I think we
can this year further improve the methods of shipping and of selling. In sending
fruit from Canada to England it does not seem advisable to antagonize any of the
wholesale people who handle our fruits and those of other countries. If we
open up new channels in direct opposition to them we would meet them at every
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point in such a way as to hinder us from getting the best class of customers' The
fruit is sold in auction markets and in some cases the ring of buyers is very small.
These buyers send it to the outside towns to supply the merchants there, and
some of thern are getting rich, almost as rich as those who handle our Canadian
cattle. There are no business men who have made so much money in the last
few years as those who have stood between the exporters of our cattle and the
consurmers of beef in England. I heard lately of men in it who in a few years
have rolled up fortunes. All we have to do to improve the channels for the sale
of our fruit is to get some of the fruit merchants in the surrounding towns to come
to the auction sales and buy direct, and if they do that we can get full value.
This year we hope to have the sales on certain days even if the fruit has to be held
in cold storage for a few days. If some 50 or 6o of these merchants come to the
sales then we will have better competition in the bidding and a largely increased
market. We do not want to ignore the existing channels of trade, and if we help
to widen then and the British merchants fight it out between themselves we can
get better prices.

By M1r. MacLaren :

Q. How about the system here ? Do you not think there could be an in-
proved method of handling the fruit ? Let the farmers pick it themselves at prices
agreed beforehand ; not have to fight for a price afterwards ?

A. There is this to say about that, that unless the farmer be a special grower
of fruit he has neither the time nor the conveniences to sort and pack well. If
the dealers will adopt better methods of sorting, the farmer will get more by
allowing them to do the picking. Take pears, for instance. A man not accus-
tomed to handling them will not put them up in the best shape for the English
market. The California fruit merchants have skilled men in their packing houses.

By 3r. Rutherford :

Q. Up in our country, our fruit supply comes from California and it seeirs
a strange thing that fruit should go from Ontario over to England and that just
on account of the ignorance of packing here our fruit in the west should corne
from California ?

SUPPLYING MANITOBA.

A. We are urging upon the railway companies to have a fast service for
cooled fruit from Ontario to Manitoba. The fruit growers at St. Catharines have
8oo tons of ice put up and with a good railway service should get the fruit into the
western markets in good shape.

Bv Mr. Bain :

Q. How do the plums stand ?
A. Very well, indeed. Sone of thern sold at 15s. 6d. I think hitherto, also,

we have had very serious difficultv because of the want of cold storage at certain
points and the want of a cold storage service on the railways. The fruit dealers
at Winnipeg give a decided preference to the California fruit because there is less
risk with it.

With the Ontario fruit thev sav "we have often one-half bad, and we do not
want that." Now that the cold storage system has been established and there is
a reasonably fast train service we should get it out there in good shape.
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By Mr. Rogers :

Q. Is their fruit as good as ours ?
A. The California fruit is tough in fibre and not nearly so tender as ours

nor so fine in flavour. Last year the average number of days in transit from
Grimsby to the port in Great Britain was 2o days, or, to bc exact, 19 9 days.
That is a great deal too long. The California fruit was landed there in South-
ampton in less than 12 days, while ours took an average of not less than
20 days from Grimsby to the sanie place. We expect this year to reduce
that by at least five days so as to have a fourteen days' service froin Grimsby to
the other side ; and with the improvements made in the cold storage service,
after seeing the needs of the business last year, I am confident fron the beginning
to end we can send over peaches, pears and tomatoes in good condition so as to
get the highest price going there.

NO MARKET YET FOR GRAPES.

I would recommend the sending of some grapes. I do not sec any prospect of
getting full value out of them yet. I will give vou an illustration of how difficult it
is to sell Canadian grapes in England. There is in Manchester a large co-operative
society that handles about £24,000,000 worth of stuff annually for its members.
When I was there I met the committee. My main business with them was to induce
the committee and buyers to use more Canadian flour, bacon, butter and cheese.
They handle a great deal now. I said to them: If you will arrange to receive one
or two carloads of choice grapes and will give us lwhat nmoney they will fetch, we
will send them. They politely told me tl.at thev did not wish to have anything ta
d owith grapes, that they could flot handle them.

By Mr. Featherston :

Q. Is there not a good deal of rivalry between that co-operative association
and others ?

A. Yes; but the Wholesale Co-operative Society do a large trade. They are
one of our best customers. Their turnover reaches about $120,ooo,ooo a year.
I offered this concern practically two carloads of choice grapes, to give us what
they would fetch, in order to introduce them to their customers, and the result
was as I have stated to you.

By Mr. Seiple :

Q. Would it not be unnecessary to ship these grapes over there merely in
order to cultivate the taste of the British people ?

A. Our grape growers cannot in many cases get two cents a pound for
their grapes, and verv soon they will not get even that unless there is anotlfer
opening. If by sending a few carloads of them to England we could create a de-
mand for them over there, such as has grown for tomatoes, I tbink it would be
a capital investment. A few years ago you could not get tomatoes in the market,
and now there is a large trade.

Ir. FEATHERSTON:-A great many of our grapes are scld here for $20 and
$25 a ton.

Mr. ROBERZSTON:---I dare say, and let me say this, while on the subject of
grapes-I would not mention it otherwise-that I think there is a promising
opening for grape juice, unfermented, to drink with such things as Radnor Water
or Apollinaris Water. No drink in warm weather is, in my opinion, more refresh-



61 Victoria. Appendix (No. 3.) A. 1898

ing or so soothing as that. I have been trying to get our grape growers to go
into it, as they have done to a considerable extent in California.

DAIRY LEGISLATION.

Mr. Robertson was invited by the Committee to make a statement in regard
to Bill No. 83, introduced by Mr. Parmalee, intituled "An Act to prohibit im-
proper speculation in the sale of' butter and cheese," referred by the House of
Commons to the Committee on Agriculture.

(For copy of Bill here referred to, vide Aýpndix to this report.)

Mr. Robertson said:-Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen: In offering some
evidence on the existing conditions of the cheese and butter business as this Bill
may affect it, I would like to say a few words in regard to the dairy legislation
that has been enacted. I think every one will assent to this proposition that ail
laws relating to commerce should aim at preventing fraud ; and in the second
place all such laws should aim to protect the public interest even if no fraud be
intended. Whether dealing in futures be fraudulent or otherwise, if it injures rhe
public interest I think it is a fit subject for such legislation as will prevent that.
In 1893 the Dairy Products Act was passed to meet an existing danger. At that
tirne a United States concern was going to make filled cheese in Canada and a
law was promptly put on a statute-book prohibiting that practice in this country.
I say that because it is not best to put any laws on the statute-book in reference to
dairying to meet purely theoretical evils ; but when you meet an actual evil that is
the time for action. At that time there was a good deal of fraudulent branding of
the word "Canada" on United States cheese going through Montreal. The fact
that that was very often done was verified by an actual examination of the goods,
and a law was enacted to prohibit the branding of the word " Canada " or " Cana-
dian " on any cheese not made in this country. This has helped the dairy business
a great deal. The same lavP required that the name of the country of origin
should be branded on all cheese coming into Canada, and now we keep an inspector
in Montreal to see that the brand of the United States is on all cheese from that
country going out from Montreal. This has all been useful although some ob-
jected at the time, fearing that it would be prejudicial to the cheese trade.

The Dairy Act of 1897 went a little farther and made provision for the regis-
tration of cheese factories and creameries. There were before the Committee on
Agriculture and Colonization at that time, persons who expressed different opin-
ions as to the need of that legislation. In the brief time that the law has been
in force over 6oo applications have been received at the Department and certifi-
cates have been issued to that number of cheese factories and creameries who
want registration numbers in order to preserve the identity of their goods. That
law provides penalties for misrepresenting the dates when cheese is made. The
practice that was carried on to some extent in Montreal, chieflv, by which cheese
made in August would be branded " September" or sold as the finest "Septem-
bers" was doing our trade some harm in Great Britain. That had the effect of
making the English importer rather suspicious of the superior quality of Septem-
ber cheese and entailed a good deal of annovance and some litigation. The law
further required the branding of the word " Canada " or " Canadian " on al] cheese
made in Canada for export before it left the factorv. That law is in force this vear
so that cheese from Canada will have the word " Canada " or " Canadian " branded
on it. That will make it difficult for our cheese to be sold as the best English or
Scotch or the best anything else except Canadian. I think you will agree with
me after what I have said in this connection that that legislation was alf verv
necessary and all very useful.
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By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Does it provide for compulsory registration ?
A. Not for compulsory registration. That is optional, but it provides fer

the compulsory branding of " Canada " or " Canadian " and the total prohibition
of misrepresentation of dates.

By Mr. MacLaren:

Q. They have all to brand the proper date?
A. Yes, if any date.

DIFFICULTIES OF ENFORCEMENT.

Some men in every business are usually reluctant to admit the need for any
legislation that touches it. The remark of old John Bright, when he said that
there were people who objected to the ten commandments as harassing legislation,
because they ran across their own practices too often, might be truc of some of
those in the cheese trade.

The only serious objection raised against a Bill like this from any quarter
has been that it will be difficult of enforcement. The leaders of humanity have
been trying for over 3,000 years to enforce the ten commandments, with only
partial success, but still they have been of benefit to the world. To some extent
it would be the same with this Bill.

All bargain making of the people should be touched by legislation in a very
careful way. That does not mean timidly; it means cautiously but not in a
cowardly way. There are too many of us frightened from doing things because
people say in awe-stricken tones we should be careful. In a case like this to be
careful means to be courageous and to put a wrong thing down. People say that
the sale of " futures " is common in Chicago and New York ; and perhaps that is
an intimation that it should not be put down in Canada; on the other hand the
fact that a practice is common in Chicago need not commend it to Canada.
Bargain making is commerce,-bargaining how things shall be exchanged, and
exchanging them. There is no other commerce except bargain-making for, and
the exchange of things. I can make a bargain with a man that if a certain horse
does not win a race I will pay him $io ; and perhaps I have a perfect right to do
so, but that is not commerce. Legislation that would touch and prevent that
would nct touch commerce, which deals only with the handling of things and
bargain making in connection with them.

In commerce there are three classes, producers, middlemen, and consumers.

Py Mr. Sproie :

Q. Have vou considered the question whether it would not be ultra vires f
Parliament to pass a law that vould interfere with the right of contract, that is
evidentlv the duty of the provinces ?

A. I would not express an opinion bevond saying that I understancd that any
legislation dealing with commerce which is interprovincial and extra-provincial
would be competent for the Parliament of Canada.

Q. But practically vou make a contract to sell or deliver so and so?
A. I am not Drepared to express an opinion of any value on that. If the

provinces have need of it and the provincial legislatures are the proper authorities,
let us press the matter there. The point is. not to allow a good thing to be left
undone if it can be done ; but to find out who should do it and have it done even
if there are difficulties in the way.
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By Mr. Douglas :

Q. The matter has been taken up in England ?
A. Yes.

Q. And also in the United States ?
A. With only a limited amount of success there.

By Mr. Talbot :

Q. What is the effect on the cheese trade by selling short ?
A. I am coming to that.

The CHAIRMAN :-Would not the Abbott Bill to suppress bucket-shops have
the same effect ?

Mr. SPRouLE:-The one thing is gambling in stocks, but this is distinct from
that.

The CHAIRMAN:-The one is gambling in stocks, while this is gambling in
cheese.

Mr. SPROULE:-It appears to me it would be important to have a competent
authoritv to express an opinion on the Bill.. I draw a distinction that so long as
gambling is practiced we have a right to interfere, but so long as the sale cf
futures is practiced it is a matter for the provinces.

The CHAIRMAN:-Sir John Abbott introduced legislation with a view to
suppress futures in other unes, what is popularly known as bucket-shops, and I
was suggesting to Mr. Sproule that this was the sane line in dairy products, andi
possibly the sane rule would apply in both cases. In the meantime Professor
Robertson might finish his statement to the Committee.

WHO WOULD BE AFFECTED BY THE ACT.

Mr. ROBERTSON:-It is thought that the middlemen are the people to be
affected by this bill. The man who is a middleman in commerce is a man who
handles things and facilitates trade. He is entitled to a fair profit for the handling
of things and no more. Just as far as he does his part in commerce he is as
necessary and useful as the producer and the consumer. It is all nonsense to say
that he is unnecessary. He is as necessary as the one or the other because he
makes it possible to get things from one to the other.

The selling of cheese and butter is done, in the first instance, by salesmen who
are appointed to represent the patrons of the cheese factories and creameries. These
salesmen mav sell direct to a merchant, who may export the cheese or butter, or
they may seli to an agent of such a merchant, or cheese buyer, who may in turi
sell to an exporter.

Manv of these salesmen belong to a dairymen's board of trade, which may
meet at some town or city in their district weekly or fortnightly. The cheese and
butter are sold by auction or otherwise at these boards.

In Western Ontario, cheese and butter are mostly sold subject to inspection
of quality at the factory before they are shipped. In Eastern Ontario and portions
of Quebec, cheese and butter are sold with the quality and weights guaranteed in
Montreal, which, means that they are subject to the inspection of the buver after
they are in warehouse in Montreal.

The factory salesmen do not as a rule sell any cheese or butter before these
are made, with the exception sometimes of cheese and butter, which may be made
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in the months of August, September, October, and later. Frequently the factory
salesman agrees to sell what is called the " fall make " at one time, and the contract
is often made before all of these fall goods are manufactured.

The exporters of cheese usually sell to merchants in Great Britain, by cable,
at a price, C.I.F., which means at a certain rate in shillings and pence per cwt. of
112 pounds, with cost, freight and insurance paid to the port designated. The ex-
porter may make a bona fide offer of cheese- or butter which le has in lus posses-
sion, or he may make a bona fide offer to sell cheese or butter -whicl le expects to
buy, after his offer is accepted.

When an exporter makes an offer of cheese or butter whicl are not then made,
offering to deliver them at some future date, he is said to be offering " futures " or
selling " short." A transaction of that sort, where the butter or cheese are not
then in existence, is quite different from that of an exporter offering to sell for
future delivery cheese which Le owns or which at any rate are then in existence
and cau be owned by him.

I want to make one illustration more. The handling of goods by the middle-
man who facilitates the exchange of things-that is commerce-is a distinct ser-
vice. Every man is entitled to his pay for just as much service as le renders, and
no more. If a man las goods in his shop, where I can get them as I want them
a pound at a time, le is entitled to profit for the risk le runs, for his time, for his
capital and for the rest of it, under any honest system of economics. The point
is as to whether any man has a right to stand on the avenues of commerce, with-
outL doing anything, and compel payment to himself for no value given. Take,
for instance, those engaged in carrying goods from Toronto to Montreal-the
cllecting merchant, his employees, the railway men, the brakemen, the book-
keepers and the other classes of labourers of all kinds do render some service.
Suppose at a certain point in the journey there came in certain men who held up
the train, saving "You cannot get by until you pay us." They do not handle any-
thing, they do not render any service to commerce or production, they do not
contribute anything. Thev obstruct ; they interfere with trade ; they make it
unsafe. Those men should be abolished whether on a railwav or in a counting-
house, if they block the exchange of goods and do not facilitate their exchange.
That is what a man who deals in futures does. A man sits in his office in Mont-
real, and in May Le will cable over to England offering to deliver Tooo boxes ot
July cheese to be delivered in August at a certain price. That las been done
often. At the time Le cables there is not a box of Julv cheese of that season in
existence. That man's offer will not be accepted in England; it verv seldom is;
but Le offers to deliver the cheese at a lower price than the existing price, and
every man who gets an offer of that kind says, " Well, I will not buy; the price is
evidently going down and I will wait." This was what the dealer in futures de-
sired. His object was simply to depress the market here. That is not speculation.

A DIFFERtENCE BETWEEN SPECULATION AND GAMBLING IN FUTURES.

When a man speculates Le hopes to gain something. When Le buys something
Le hopes to sell it at a better price; when Le buys what exists and puts his money
into it, Le hopes to gain something and has a right to do so. He is essential to the
safety of commerce, just as essential as the fly wheel on the engine to keep it going
steadily. But the man who does not contribute anything, but merelv threatens
that bv and bv Le will sell a thing cheaper than others, is not a desirable factor in
commerce. His object is to break the market down. The efforts of the other
men are directed towards holding up the price of the articles. The speculator is
steadying the market. On the other hand everyone who gambles in futures has
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a tendency to keep the price down and to break the market. His influence on
the trade is evil, evil only, and that continually.

Last summer when in Great Britain I went with the remembrance of what had
been dinned in my ears, for two years on this side of the water by exporters of
cheese, to the effect that we were miaking more cheese than the English market
could take care of, and that the consumption was going off to meats, tinned goods,
jams and jellies. Last year I went to the wholesale and retail dealers and they all
told me that the trade had been improving and they were getting rid of our cheese
as fast as we were making it here. Then there came two things, mild weather-
and we had admirable weather in August in Canada for making cheese-and the
engineers' strike. There came some offers that cheese would be delivered in Nov-
ember, and later, for less than it was selling for at that time. What was the result
of that? Everyone wanted to get from under. It produced a panicky feeling and
put the price of cheese down by three cents a pound. There was a first-rate con-
sumptive denand in England; and yet our producers or merchants lost three cents
a pound. That would not have come at that particular time or with so much
severity except through this practice of selling futures for the purpose of depress-
ing the market here. Take a man who is a large exporter of cheese and who was
last year president of the Cheese and Butter Association of the Board of Trade of
Montreal, a city where the bulk of this is done. In his annual report last fall lie
deplored this practice of selling futures, thought it was on the increase, was a griev-
ous injury to trade, and last year had done a great deal of damage. These words
also express my views.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. Who was the president?
A. Mr. Brice.

By Mr. MacLaren:

Q. Still, they make enough to get rich ?
A. We do not want them to get rich too fast. We want them to work. The Bill

deals with three things; first, a man shall not sell what is not in existence. That
does not interfere with a man's right to make a contract, because a man has no
right, natural or acquired, to contract to deliver to another man cheese and butter
whicli do not exist. The next thing is that a man shall not sell a thing that lie
does not own. That is a question that is open for debate. He should not, in miy
opinion, offer to sell what he does not own until he has some good prospect of
owning it. The Bill expressly exempts (clause 6) from that prohibition a man
who represents the material and means for making cheese and butter, so that when
a man represents the factory and the cows and the farms he has a right to sell
what these will produce, because the materials for making the products are in ex-
istence and subject to his action. That is quite different fron a man offering to
sell something that lie does not own, and that lie has no means of producing or of
acquiring. I think that the Bill must do good; and the only difficultv I see is the
difficulty' of administering it effectively. As to that point, if a copy of this Bill,
after it is passed, were sent to every importer in England thev would see that this
practice is illegal in Canada, and no one could tempt them in such a way as to
weaken the market by an offer of futures.

B ir. Frost :

Q. How can you tell the difference between a man offering to sell cheese as a
speculator and a bona fide producer?
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A. A man could not offer to sell July cheese until July cheese are rnade.

Q. Could he not make a contract?
A. The Bill would prevent it, unless he represented the patrons or salesman.

By 1r. Talbot :

Q. Suppose I want to make a contract with the leading hotel to supply five or
six thousand pounds of butter during the ensuing season, I am prevented from
doing so by this law?

A. No, not by this law. The last clause exempts that.

Q. Any person who offers to sell " any butter or cheese which at the time such
sale, offer or agreement is made has not been manufactured and is not his property
or the property of some person for whom lie is duly authorized to act, is guilty of
an offence " ?

A. But the last clause exempts the person who represents the producing
factors. Clause 6 provides: " Nothing herein shall be deemed to prohibit any per-
son who is duly authorized to act for the person or persons who supply milk to any
dairy or butter or cheese factory, from selling, or off ering to sell or agreeing to sell,
any butter or cheese to be manufactured at such dairy or cheese factory or butter
factory."

By Mr. MacLaren

Q. If I wanted to contract for.1,ooo boxes of July cheese, could I make that
contract under that Bill?

. You could with the salesmen of cheese factories, regularly appointed.

O. How would any person know whether I had that cheese sold in England
or not?

A. Because if the Bill were in force nobody in England would accept an offer
for this reason: He would say, " The Canadian law makes that illegal, therefore if
the price goes up the Canadian is not required to deliver the goods, but if the price
goes down he will hold me to the contract. Thank you, none of that for me."

Q. How are you going to know, supposing I cable from my office to ten men
in England offering i,ooo boxes of cheese; and if any of these offers are accepted,
how are you going to tell that I have done it when I am using my cipher?

A. The English importer would not accept the offers, or be affected by them
if he knew this law was in force.

Q. I think this will require some sifting out?
A. It is quite possible that this law might not be altogether effective in stop-

ping the practice which is acknowledged by everybody to be an evil one. If this
law is not sufficient, then let us make a law that will be sufficient, or let us confess
ourselves unequal to do the duty that lies upon us of protecting the farmers and
this large interest. Let us try this law for a year or two and if it is not sufficient let
us make it sufficient.

Mr. GILMOUR :-If the whole deal was in this country we could prevent
it, but seeing that the main portion of the deal is in another country-England-
we cannot prevent it. The only effect would be to remove the agencies to Eng-
land.
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Mr. SPROULE:-We could prosecute here but not in England.

Mr. GILMOUR:-And as a consequence the agencies in Montreal could remove
their place of action to England.

Mr. TALBOT:-But the people over there would not buy from them.

Mr. GILMOUR :-They could if they wished, through agents.

Mr. TALBOT:-But no one would sell, because tiiey would be equally guilty.

Mr. MCMILLAN:-The buyer on the other side would be very careful in buying
from persons here when he knew the law of Canada would not allow him to punish
the man, because the law prohibits that sort of thing here.

Mr. GILMOUR :-Business knows no law. If a man wants a thing he will
have it whether it contravenes the law or not. If I was in England and bought
something I would not care whether the seller contravened any law or not. Cheese
is a thing which has to be bought ahead, and this Bill acknowledges that when it
allows a man to sell ahead, through proper agents. It would break up trade alto-
gether if you could pass this Bill, but I tell you you cannot.

Mr. CAMPBELL:-Is it desirable to do so even if you can?

Mr. GILMOUuR:-No, I do not think so.

Mr. SPROULE:- Another thing that is growing up is for a man to go through
the country and contract to take milk from a number of farmers, and then to go
into the city and contract to deliver it. He does not own the milk, but he is acting
as a niddleman. That is the practice too in selling fish, but the men who sell do
not own them. They hire men to fish for thern.

Mr. CAMPBELL:-Through men selling wheat short millions of dollars have
been given to the farmers of Canada and the United States last year.

Mr. MCMILLAN:-As our time; is up, I move that the Chairman take the
advice of the Minister of Justice.

Mr. MAcLAREN:-With regard to asking witnesses to come here, is such
action before the Committee?

The CHAIRMAN:-That is for the Committee to consider.
Mr. MAcLAREN:-It would be a good thing to have dealers and salesmen

from different markets come here and give evidence.
Mr. CALVERT:-If the Bill cannot be put into effect there is no use having

anyone come here to (liscilss a.
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CDMMITTEE RooM No. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

FRIDAY, 29th April, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this
day at II o'clock a.m. ; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. J. W. ROBERTSON, Commissioner of Agriculture and Dairying, was called,
and in response addressed the Conmittee on the subject of poultry and eggs, as
follows :-

The poultry trade of Great Britain is a large trade. There are counties in
England where people are still growing rich from the enormous sales, particularly
of chickens. Great Britain imports altogether of poultry nearly three and a half
million dollars worth. In 1896 $30,000 worth were sent from Canada and about
$9o,ooo worth credited in the British returns to United States ports was actually
from Canada.

IMPORTANCE OF PROPER FATTENING OF POULTRY.

One defect in the management of this business is that people in Canada do
not properly fatten their poultry. So important is this considered in England
that the rearing and fattening of poultryl are carried on by two distinct classes
of people in most cases; therefore poultry is finished to a very excellent condition.
The fattening takes from three to five weeks time. With hens, cockerels,
pullets, it is impossible to get them into thei condition of fatness they require them in
across the water if they are allowed to run at large. They have to be penned up in
crates during the last three weeks. Our chickens do not compare favourably
with the home grown chickens and cockerels of Great Britain, or the birds from
France. It does not follow, however, that we cannot equal them. We are trying
to publish the details this year for the information of farmers here, and after the
home market is supplied I think we will have a large supply of chickens for ex-
port. In fattening turkeys we do not do as well as we might, though Canadian
turkeys that went to Great Britain compared very favourably with those there.
It should be remembered, however, that the choice birds are taken for export
and the best we had were sent there. But they were not as good as they might have
been, in many cases, if they had been fattened properly. In fattening turkeys it is
to be observed that sweet meals, such as sweet oatmeal, barley and rye meals only
should be used. They are best. Cornmeal should not be used because it has a
tendency to give the birds, 'turkeye particularly, a yellow colour to which the
English purchaser objects, but which people in the United States prefer. If you
ask about it in the United States they will tell you that they prefer the yellow;
but the English people object and are willing to pay a price proportionate to their
own taste being met. Mixed meals are best and they should get them both morn-
ing and afternoon in a soft steamed condition. If the meal is cooked it is pre-
ferable ; if not it should be steamed until soft during the fattening period. The
birds do not grow a soft flesh on whole grain fed raw. Turkeys cannot be fatten-
ed in coops like chickens, and in England they are put in a shed with a screen in
front. ten square feet being allowed to each bird. There is room for exercise and
also for letting in fresh air and sunlight.
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By Mr. Broder:

Q. A comparatively cheap shed would do, I suppose ?
A. Oh, yes.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Ten feet square ?
A. No, ten square feet ; so that ten feet square would give you room for ten

birds. Then one important thing that should be known about this is that feeding
skim milk sweet, or sour, with meal will add to the quality of the flesh and cause
a rapid increase in weight. It helps the colour very much also, and gives a white-
ness which is very desirable. I did not learn these points in England from the
dealers but from the men and women-and a great many women are engaged in
this business-who fatten poultry. One thing more, the best turkeys are fed with
nearly half an ounce per day of the' commonest fat that can be found. That is
fed to them during the last ten days of the finishing period. It has the effect of
softening the flesh and of giving it a juicyness that nothing else will give. That
is fed with the soft food.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. Scraps ?
A. Yes, they are sometimes fed lean scraps ; but that does not answer the

purpose. The fat is a good thing. It makes the flosh softer.

HOW THE BIRDS SHOULD BE KILLED.

Then in the killing of the birds dealers insist upon the birds being killed bv
wringing their necks instead of bleeding them. They would not buy them at alil,
except at half price, if the heads were chopped off.

Q. Is that the English market ?
A. Yes. I have an illustration here which is going to the printer now show-

ing how to kill a turkey. We find that where we cannot have a dressed turkey
sent about the country to illustrate the idea, it is a good thing to publish illustra-
tions of every part of the process. I have said that the English people prefer
certain things without always having full information as to why they prefer them,
and consequently they very often give us mistaken advice as to their needs. A
service can be done to Canadians not so much by repeating what they say in Eng-
land as by analyzing what they say they want and supplving them with that. In
talking with English dealers I did not find a single man who wanted turkeys bled
in the mouth. They wanted the neck wrung and the birds hung up by the legs,
letting the blood coagulate. Now I did not find one who did not want the
whitest of white flesh. It seemed to me to be incompatible that thev should want
the whitest of flesh and yet want them killed without bleeding. When I came
home I had turkeys killed both ways, cooked at my house. and served on my
table together. I had some friends in. The turkey that had its neck rung hadl
a pinky white flesh. and a higher flavour, and the men liked that turkev the best.
The ladies decidedlv preferred the whiter colour and the more delicate flavour of
the other bird. Of course that was not an absolute test, because vou never can
tell whether the two birds have been brought up under identical conditions and fed
in the same manner. However, I repeated the test with the same result. There
is no doubt but that a certain amount of blood is left in the flesh in the one case
causing a decidedly pinky shade. So I an modifving the bulletin in this respect.
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By Mr. Moore :

Q. If you treat one-half in one way and the other half in the other you will
suit both preferences ?

A. I am afraid you could not separate the two classes in England very well.
I mention that for this reason : We find that the English importer gives you the
most emphatic advice without having analysed altogether the causes of what he
desires.

SUPERFICIAL INFORMATION MISLEADING.

The other night in the House of Commons we had a very important im-
porter of eggs who is in this country making his plans for getting shipments
from Canada. He said : " We don't want cold storage on the ship for our eggs,"
and he was very emphatic about that. When we came to analyse the question
raised by this statement, he said : "We do not want to keep eggs in England at
all, but we want to sell them immediately." When we came to analyse it we found
that every lot of eggs sent to England were usually 12 days in process of distri-
bution before they were consumed and that these eggs could not be so good if
they have not been kept cool on the ship. He said that eggs that did not conie
in cold storage had sold for the best prices over there. When we came to talk over
the subject he said that one lot that were not in cold storage came from one part
of Canada and that the other lot in cold storage came from another part of Canada.
You see there was no comparison there. Some of the eggs in cold storage he
said were rotten. Cold storage does not make eggs rotten, but it prseerves them
if they are originally in good condition. He came to the conclusion that because
in some cases eggs not carried in cold storage had been sold for higher prices than
eggs carried in cold storage, that, therefore, cold storage was not necessary. A
great many men in England arrive at conclusions without analysing the causes
which have produced them.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Are the eggs taken out of cold storage right away when they arrive ?
A. That is one of the causes of the sweating of eggs. We propose to advise

shippers to put a label on every case on which the following direction is given :
" Please leave this case closed for two days after being removed from the
ship." During that time the eggs become warm and there is no condensation
on the surface. They do not sweat by exudation ; it is condensation on the sur-
face. I need not detain the Committee on that subject, because illustrated direc-
tions for packing poultry will be foun'd in the report to be issued.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. When will this be out ?
A. The Queen's Printer promises that it will be out about the middle of May.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Would you advise wringing the neck instead of bleeding ?
A. I find that the turkeys that pay best are the English killed turkeys, and

they are killed by striking the fowl on the head with a stick; first stunning it and
then bleeding it by cutting a deep incision through the roof of the mouth into the
brain, lengthwise and crosswise. By stunning the fowl there is no spluttering of
blood over the feathers, and by cutting a slit in the roof of the mouth there is no
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mutilation of the head. You have the head as they want it, and the flesh as they
want it, white.

Q. Will a stunned bird bleed quite well ?
A. Quite. That is really all I want to say about poultry. There are a good

many things about packing poultry which are important, but we have given very
full information about this in the bulletin sent out last fall and republished now.
The three things of importance are that the birds oughf to be defeathered, that
is that the feathers should be taken off.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Would you prefer taking them off cold or after they have been dipped in
warn water?

A. They should not be put in water at all; dry picking is best, and it should
be done at once.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. Does it make any difference whether the bird is warm when picked or not?
A. It should be picked immediately after being killed. The feathers come out

easier, it gives the skin a nicer appearance and there is far less risk of tearing the
skin. There is a limited demand in a few places for birds in feathers, particularly
in Liverpool. A few people who were familiar with Canadian poultry will take
them in that way when they can get them in barrels; but poultry dealers, as a rule,
will not take birds in feathers now, except at bargain prices, for they have no time
or conveniences for plucking them, and housekeepers do not want them with their
feathers on.

BIRDS SHOULD BE SORTED INTO SIZES.

The next thing of importance is to sort the birds into sizes, allowing no
greater difference in weight than two pounds per bird. In one case birds weigh-
ing from ten to twelve pounds should be packed; in another, birds from twelve to
fourteen pounds; and in another, birds from fourteen to sixteen pounds; and the
weight should be labelled on each. The birds should be sorted as to sex, the cocks
and hens being separated. The third point is that big birds ought to be sent before
Christmas time. A turkey weighing as much as eighteen pounds will sell for twice
as much by the pound as the bird that weighs nine pounds, whereas, later on, after
the festival season has passed, there is a good demand for smaller-sized birds, weigh-
ing from eight to twelve pounds. I am confident that sending over birds of this
size at the proper season to Great Britain will create a demand on the part of a
class of people there who have not been using poultry, except in feast times. Our
turkeys will go to supply the artisans who have been consuming lamb and other
meats. This will result in an enormous demand for as many turkeys as we can
send them in good condition.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Is there any difference in the breed?
A. The large Bronze is the one that we recommend for use in Canada. It

gives size and a good quality of flesh.

Q. And just as hardy?
A. Yes. There are a few places where they have white turkeys, but they are

not preferred to the others. The preference that used to exist for colour in the legs
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has disappeared and now they are willing to take even the black-leg birds. Some
of the finest birds in France have yellow, bronze and even black legs.

By the Chairman :

Q. Does France supply a large share?
A. Yes, a large share of the poultry that goes to Great Britain.

Q. How about Denmark?
A. I will just give you a statement of the imports of poultry into Great Britain,

and the countries from which it came, for the year ending December 31, 1896;

From Value.
Canada......... ... ........... $ 30,504
Other British possessions........................ 25,472
United States................................. 92,564
Russia......... .......... ................... 698,775
Norway..... ............... ............ ..... 31,901
Denmark...................... ............... 59,728
Germany...... ........................ ...... 102,049
H olland................... ........ .......... 208,147
Belgium ........ ...................... ....... 697,821
France................ ..... ................. 1,474,122
Egypt........ .......................... ..... ,561
Other foreign countries......................... 1,682

Total............................. $3,433,326

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. The United States only shipped $9o,ooo worth ?
A. Yes, and the practice is to put in the trade returns in England the last port

of shipment, and most of that $9,0ooo worth of poultry credited to the United
States was doubtless Canadian, shipped through the United States in bond.

By the Chairman :

Q. Did you ever see Egyptian poultry?
A. No, I did not. There is likely to be an enlarged consumption of poultry

during the next few years in England. It is one of the things in which I think
there is going to be a very large trade. That is the reason that we are trying to
encourage the farmers to give attention to it and why we are giving all possible
information that we can gather,, particularly as to fattening them properly after
they are grown.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. Would it be a good thing to buy them grown, fatten them, and ship them
afterwards?

A. It might be a good thing in the case of pullets and cockerels ; but I doubt
if it would be the best plan with turkeys. I think turkeys should be fattened by
the farmers who raise them.

Q. There is a man in Boston who has a place three or four miles from the
city to feed them and after taking them there he gets the biggest price. He will
take a goose, soak it over night, and put it on the market as white as a turkey?
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A. There is certainly room for improvement in the way of treating our poultry
in preparing them for the market.

EGGS.

Great Britain imports eggs to the value of $2o,ooo,ooo a year, or nearly six
times as much value as poultry. Of that Canada sent $870,000, or less than one
million dollars' worth in 1896. The returns for last year, 1897, up to the end of
December are not yet available.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. We dc. better in eggs than poultry?
A. Yes, thev are gaining in favour.

By Mr. Ratz:

Q. Do the Americans not pay duty on our poultry?
A. Yes, but not when they go through in bond on the way to England, where

they are credited to the United States, just as we get the credit in the British re-
turns for their shipments of cheese or cattle via Montreal or St. John, N.B.

By Mr. Parmalee :

Q. Do they, as a general practice, sell eggs by weight in England?
A. No, it is a very rare practice. They are sold wholesale, according to grade,

which has a basis in weight; but they are sold wholesale by the case, and a case
contains 120 dozens. A long hundred, or great hundred, is 120 eggs.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. When they sell on the standard, don't they weigh them?
A. They have a certain egg grade, extra quality, 17 pounds to the long hundred

They test them for that; 15 pounds per 120 eggs is the average. There are 120 eggs
to the long hundred; that is i½ pounds to the dozen, or two ounces to the egg.
When they get a smaller size than 15 Ibs. per great hundred, for every half pound
of weight less than 15 pounds per great hundred they are worth one cent per dozen
less. You lose 1o cents on the lot by the half a pound in weight. There is a very
much larger percentage of broken and rotten eggs among small white shell eggs
than is the case with the large eggs. They all say that the albumen of the large
eggs is thicker and more likely to keep than the smaller eggs. I have no informa-
tion as to percentage, but that is the opinion expressed by every dealer.

By Mr. Moore :

Q. Is there any difference in the flavour between the large and the smaller
ones ?

A. I do not know. The opinion is that there is more water in the smaller
eggs and that they therefore spoil more readily.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. Do they separate these or average them ?
A. They try to make three grades, which are called "extras," ' bests" and

"seconds." In England the " extras " are very large, the "bests » are 15 pounds
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and the " seconds " are smaller than this. I can give you the prices last winter
that were quoted in Great Britain about December, per dozen :- .

Country. Cents.

French, extra.......... ....................... 31 to 34
"4 best........ ................ ......... 28 to 30
" seconds............ .............. .... 24 to 26

D anish .................... .................. 26 to 31
Italian, extra.............. .................... 29

"c best .................................. 23 to 26
H ungarian ................... ................ 16 to 22

R ussian ......................... ............ 18 to 20

Canadian ..................... ............... 20 to 22
"i pickled.............. .......... ...... 17 to 18

By Mr. Broder:

Q. The Danish quotation, that is for best ?
A. There is only one quotation for Danish.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Why is there that difference between the eggs of different countries ?
A. The French eggs are fresher, more uniform and put up better for the

market. The Italian and Russian eggs are more like Canadian.

By Mr. Parmalee:

Q. The trouble is our people are not educated up to sending their eggs in a
fresh condition. The country merchants are in the habit of keeping them on hand
io: some time, and taking it altogether the eggs have a very good chance of going
off flavour ?

A. That is no doubt so in many cases.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. If people were to kill off the cocks early, would the eggs not be better ?
A. If the cocks and hens were kept separate they would be better.

By Mr. Broder :

Q. The hens run about the barn and lay here and there, and everywhere, and
sometimes the eggs are not found for two or three days. Instead of having the
hens shut up and the eggs gathered every day the hens are allowed to run at large ?

A. The eggs should be collected every day and placed by themselves when
they are to be sold for export. Those that are found out of the regular nests
should be kept for home consumption.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Don't you think they are usually taken to the store ?
A. I dare say they are.
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INFERTILE VS. FERTILE EGGS.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Would there be any benefit in keeping the male birds shut up, away from
the others ?

A. It is claimed that the egg that is not fertile will keep much better, and
they say that if kept apart from the male birds the hens will usually lay more eggs.

By Mr. Parmalee :

Q. Did you find that the case at the farm ?
A. They all kept well there so that there was no difference between fertile

and infertile eggs. It is said that hens kept apart from the male birds will lay 20
per cent more eggs.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. Is there any difference in the price between fertilized and unfertilized
eggs ?

A. There is no difference in the quotations.

Mr. PARMALEE:-It iS the general impression that fertile eggs do not keep as
well as infertile.

By Mr. Stenson:

Q. Did you prove at the farm that hens would lay 20 per cent more if they
were kept apart from the male birds ?

A. I do not know whether the experiment was continued long enough to
ascertain that. That statement is made by ordinary poultry men and egg gather-
ers, but I do not know the exact experimental data to support it.

Q. They are the only authority you find for it ?
A. Yes.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. That is a point that should be taken up and settled ?
A. The next question that I want to speak of is the question of the colour

in eggs that is preferred. In every case they prefer a brownish egg to a white
une.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Is there not something in the feeding of the chicken in producing the
colour of the shell ?

A. I think it is in the breed.

By Mr. Stenson :

Q. Is it not a fact that white shells are thicker than brown ones ?
A. No ; the dealers say there is a larger proportion of white eggs broken

than brown ones. If there was more brittleness about the brown eggs there
would be more broken and there is no evidence of that at all, they say. Of course
the thickness of shell depends upon the fowl having access to enough lime to make
shell.
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I come now to

THE PRESERVATION OF EGGS.

The egg will change unfavourably for food purposes in one or two ways;
either by putrefaction from fermentation or by the process of hatching. The two
are entirely distinct. The object of preservation is to prevent both of these chan-
ges from occurring. Cold storage will entirely prevent fermentation. So long
as the egg is kept in cold storage it may evaporate but it will not spoil by putre-
faction. Hatching will take place only when the egg is kept at a temperature of
about 96° Fahrenheit. In this country there are times when the atmospheric
temperature is about that, and then the eggs get warm and if fertile they will go on
hatching.

Q. Supposing they are not fertile ?
A. Thev would not spoil unless there had been handling so that germs from

the atmosphere or elsewhere got on the shell and caused fermentation.

Q. Therefore, heat will not spoil the egg unless it is fertilized ?
A. No, unless contaminated from the outside through the shell.

Q. Heat itself will not spoil it ?
A. It will hasten decay when any germs get on the egg and through its shell.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Would you advise that eggs should be kept in a cool place in order to
protect them from the air ?

A. Yes, as cool a place as they can be put into immediately after they are
collected. A great many methods have been tried for preserving eggs, but only
three can be recommended. Cover the shell with vaseline which prevents the
germs from getting upon it. Then eggs can be kept in lime-water, which is the
usual method of keeping pickled eggs, and eggs have been kept in a solution of
what is called water glass or silicate of soda. The pickling of eggs does not
mean putting them in a pickle of salt, because that would spoil the eggs utterly.
When you speak of pickling eggs you mean keeping eggs in lime-water, which
does not impart any flavour.

Q. There is a good deal of salt in it?
A. A little, but not enough to impart a flavour.

Mr. MCMILLAN:-There is lime, a certain quanlity of salt, and some other
ingredients which I do not know anything about.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. Do you believe that the eggs should not be packed in salt?
A. If that is done, the eggs will taste decidedly salt inside.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. What method would you recommend in keeping eggs )ver winter for
home use?

A. The best way is to keep them in as cold a place as you have, down to 34°
Fahr., and to wrap each egg in tissue paper.
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Q. What about putting them in bran?
A. If you put them in bran there is a risk of the bran becoming slightly damp

and mouldy, and if so the eggs will tasty musty and mouldy.

Q. If you put them in oats?
A. The same thing happens; the oats are not so apt to become mouldy, but

there is no use putting them in oats unless to prevent the breaking of the eggs.
The safest plan is to wrap each egg in tissue paper or when they are gathered fresh
to rub them with vaseline and keep them in a cold place.

Dv Mt. Stensan

Q. Is there any degree of strength which should be given to the lime-water to
make it most useful for the preservation of the eggs?

A. Yes, but the shippers and dealers have their own private formulæ for
making that.

Q. But wlhen farmers want to keep their eggs themselves, what are your in-
structions to give them in order to preserve them in lime-water?

A. The better plan is to wrap each egg which the farmer wishes to keep for
his own use in tissue paper and keep it in a cold place. Those men who keep eggs
for export have their tanks in which the eggs are placed in cold storage so that the
lime-water itself is cooled down as Iow as 40°. The lime-water keeps the air from
the eggs and the low temperature keeps fermentation from going on.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. Would a newspaper answer as wvell for wrapping the eggs in?
A. Yes, but it is a little stiff, and does not conform to the shape of the egg as

well as the tissue paper.

By Mr. Stenson:

Q. Probably the ink would have an effect?
A. It would if it were damp, and it might impart an odour to the egg. If eggs

are carried in cases in the hold of a ship along with apples, the eggs would absorb
the apple flavour.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. The pores of the pickled eggs are closed up, I suppose?
A. They are less susceptible than other eggs.

By Mr. Stenson:

Q. How much lime would it take to prepare the water to a sufficient strength
to treat a certain quantity of eggs?

A. The formula is as follows :-
Dissolve 1 lb. freeh slaked lime, 2 oz. sait, 1 oz. saltpetre in one gallon of boiling watqr.

The soluilon is to be thoroughly cooled before the eggs are put in it ; and afterwards kept at a
temperature as near 350 Fahr., as practicable.

The next thing is to have eggs collected frequently from the nests and taken to a
cool place, either a shop or the storehouse of the exporter. We have prepared
drawings and will publish them, that will give the farmers and the ordinarv coun-
try tnerchant information as to how best to provide a cheap cold storage ware-
bouse.
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Q. Do you mean to have them taken warm from the nest to a cold place?
A. Yes, collected once a day and placed immediately in the coolest place you

can have.

Q. There is no danger of any detriment to the egg from the sudden change of
temperature from the heat to the cold?

A. None whatever. A moment ago the question came up as to the eggs ot
pullets and hens. One of the drawbacks is that the farmers do not ring their
pullets to tell which are pullets and which are old hens. After three years old the
hen does not give any profit fron egg-laying. It is not casy to tell unless a ring is
put each year, one year on the right leg of all the pullets, and next year on the left
leg of all the pullets. There is going into my report this year the report of a piece
of experimental work done at one of the experimental stations in the United States
by a Canadian over there in charge of the work. It struck me as good work and
I have transposed it to my report, giving him credit for it. I thought it a most
creditable piece of experimental work, done by a boy from Galt, Ont., who is doing
this work in Utah, United States. I have taken about two-thirds of his bulletin
and I am embodying it in my report. It is one of the best pieces of experimental
work with poultry I have ever examined for comprehensiveness of plan, thorough-
ness of execution and vividness in presenting results.

Q. Do they give the food in that report?
A. Yes, but the experiment was not to discover the difference between differ-

ent kinds of food, though that is given with the actual cost in each pen, the
number of eggs, and the price per dozen. I think the country will be very much
served by it, and I had no trouble in getting permission from the director of the
station to publish it in Canada.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. What is his name?
A. James Dryden, formerly of Galt, Ont., and it was intimated that if there

was a good chance he would not be unwilling to return to Canada.

Having examined the preceding transcripts of my evidence of April 2oth,
April 22nd, April 27th, April 28th, and May 4th, 1898, I find them correct.

JAS. W. ROBERTSON,
Commissioner of Agriculture and Dairying.
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COMMITTEE RooM NO. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

FRIDAY, 22nd April, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this
day at ii o'clock a.m. ; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

The CHAIRMAN :-We will now hear Mr. Crandail according to arrangement.

Mr. WEBSTER T. CRANDALL, Agent of the Department of Agriculture, testi-
fied as follows :-

This is the first time in my history that I was ever called upon to address such
an important body of gentlemen as the Legislators of the Dominion of Canada,
and I sincerely trust that you will extend to me some measure of indulgence, if
I fail to interest you, as I am certain Professor Robertson did not fail on Wed-
nesday last, in his practical and business-like address before this Committee. What
I say to you to-day will be a short review of my work and experience in Great
Britain, and in doing so, I have placed a few of my thoughts, as an introduction,
on paper which I trust you will pardon me for reading before I attempt to take
up and discuss with you the general outlines and phrases of my observations
relating to the principal exports of Canada to the market of Great Britain.

When the Honourable the Minister of Agriculture offered me a position as
agent of the Department in Great Britain, the past season, I did not accept it with-
out fully realizing its responsibilities, and all that it implied. My greatest care
and anxiety was to make my mission a success, see the fruit of my labour, and
have the people of Canada realize that my work had not been in vain, also the
Department of Agriculture satisfied and pleased with my efforts. After visiting
a few points, and consulting with a few firms in Canada, I left here, arriving in
Liverpool on the 13th of July. For a short time I had the counsel and advice of
Professor Robertson, our Commissioner of Agriculture and Dairying, and w,,hc
is well and favourably known in that country, especially among those whose in-
terests are in any way allied with his department. I at once commenced looking
over the great field of my work and the extent of its operations. I felt almost
lost in its magnitude, and had my moments of discouragement, over-anxious, pos-
sibly, to make my work a success and receive the approval of the Honourable the
Minister of Agriculture and the people of Canada.

In entering upon that work, I commenced at once to study the markets, and
when I saw the great whirlpool of Britain's consuming power my attention was
at once drawn out to see what Canada was doing in supplying that market with
the productions of our Canadian farms. I very soon met the agents and repre-
sentatives of nearly every country in the world, looking after the interests of their
respective countries, developing their trade, and studying the requirements of the
British market in all of its various details. I felt that Canada to some extent had
neglected this work in the past, and that we were not taking our place among the
countries of the world in supplying Britain's requirements and catering as we
should to that market, which is the great market of the world, and in which we must
of necessity compete, and can compete favourably, if we make use of the means
in our reach and do it intelligently. If not, we must of necessity take a back seat,
and suffer the consequences of our indifference to a matter in which, and upon
which so much depends in relation to the future prosperity of this country.
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INQUIRY IN GREAT BRITAIN TO LEARN THE RESOURCES OF CANADA.

I was more than pleased when I arrived in Great Britain to see, and realize, that
Canada as a colony of the British Empire was standing out so brightly and occupy-
ing the attention of the commercial people of our Motherland, and more promi-
nently than ever, I presume, in the history of our country. It seemed as if the eyes of
Great Britain were upon us, and looking across the sea toward us, manifesting a
degree of pride that Canada was a very important part of the great British Empire,
a great country, with a bright and brilliant future before it. There are no doubt
certain causes which had a tendency to produce this feeling-and which was very
largely the outcome of the Jubilee year, the assembling together of the represen-
tatives and premiers of the various colonies, the fine appearance made by the
colonial troops, and especially our Canadian contingent, of which we should and
must be proud. This with the excitement of the gold fields of Canada, and the
extent of her mineral wealth, produced a feeling of excitement and anxious in-
quiry very noticeable wherever I went, and which made my work more easy than
it would otherwise have been. It seemed that everyone you met was so anxious
to seek information along certain lines in which they probably had special interest,
and in canvassing the commercial and business men of that country I found a
strong sentiment prevailing in favour of giving the colonies (and especially Can-
ada) a preference in trade, more especially all things being equal. This sentiment
I did not discourage but claimed it as a right, and a judicious thing to do as
we were all members of the great British family, Anglo-Saxons and British. I
vas very much pleased to realize the interest taken by the business men in Cana-

dian products, and the great desire to not only handle our products, but to make
business connections with the producing and commercial class in Canada-pre--
ferring, as they said, to handle our products direct, placing their orders with us
in many lines in which we are making a reputation for ourselves, rather than get-
ting their supplies from continental countries, and more than anxious to get in
touch with the commercial and business men of Canada. This desire on their
part seemed to be universal, and I regret to say, that I was not in a position to
give them as much information and aid as I desired, in consequence of not having
that information at my disposal. I felt very much the loss of this feature of my
ývork, but presume it will be forthcoming in the future. Our prompt attention to
this part of our development work is worthy of our prompt consideration, and I
cannot emphasize the fact too strongly that the sooner we introduce the business
men of Great Britain to the business men of Canada and " vice versa " will we see
the fruits of our labour, and the prosperity of this country. The trade now open
to us is a matter of immense development, and with the increased facilities we
now enjoy in the way of cold storage warehouses-on this side and in Britain-
with the cold storage facilities we have in shipping, giving us the opportunitv of
landing our products of a perishable nature, upon the British market as clean and
as fresh as they were at the points of production, should inspire us with confidence
and stimulate us to greater activity in pushing our trade with the mother country.
I gave special attention while in England, to the principal articles of which we
produce large quantities and especially cheese, creamery butter, eggs, bacon, poul-
try and fruit.

I have prepared my report for the Department which I now have in type-
written form, giving the result of my experience in connection with some twelve
of the various productions of our farms. Some of them we are exporting in large
and increasing quantities. I regret to say that in some things we are making a
miserable failure, the result largely of our inexperience and in some cases the
result of our stupidity and folly.
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In that report I have referred to our failures, and the principal causes of
failure, and as far as in my power, recommended what we should do to improve
our prospects for the future. They are matters which demand our serious con-
sideration and prompt attention, and in which the agriculturists of Canada are
deeply interested.

My life work in connection with raising and producing the various products
of the farm, together with my commercial experience of twenty-five years in hand-
ling nearly all of its various productions, have given me an experience that causes
me to know something of the needs, the toil, the trials, the reverses, the successes
not only of farm life but of commercial life and the great importance of the tillers
of the soil securing the best possible results as a reward for their labour. To-day
the doors of the British market are wide open to receive what we produce and it
now remains with us to improve the golden opportunity and seek to build up our
national prosperity upon the great corner stone of agriculture, the greatest of all
in our national structure.

ADVANTAGES GAINED BY PUBIUICITY.

I consider that it would be out of place in me to outline to any extent, the
policy of the Department, but as my work was purely of an experimental char-
acter with no general defined outline of procedure, I might be permitted to say
that in entering upon it I would recommend that a certain amount of publicity
should be given in that country as to your appointment and mission and let the
rpeople of that country know where you are, where you can be found, that you are
a live man. I found the British people anxious-to seek for interviews and also
the press of that country ; I am a firm believer in the use of printr's ink, especially
'when supplied gratuitously. Appointments of this kind should be arranged for
and everyone made to feel welcome and at home, giving them the fullest informa-
tion sought for by them. In doing this you make them feel that you are their
friend, and not only interested in Canada, but in their welfare and prosperity.
They all leave you pleased and benefited by the interview, and they go away filled
with a degree of enthusiasm and become advertising agents for us among their
personal friends generally. By doing this we are casting bread upon the waters
and sowing seed that is certain to bear fruit in the near future.

FACILITIES FOR EXPORT OF FARM PRODUCE.

Now, Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, let me say that I shall be pleased to give
you what information I can and reply, if possible, to any questions presented re-
lating to any of our export productions which may be of special interest to you,
and if I am allowed to make my selections, I would prefer talking to you of our
bacon, cattle, cheese, butter, eggs, poultry and fruit trade, and before doing so will
refer very briefly to our general transportation facilities. I realize that the time
which you are able to give me is necessarily limited, but I should like to say, so
far as our transportation facilities are concerned that we are well supplied with
cold storage in many of our vessels plving between Canada and the Mother coun-
lry. There is a great loss, however, in the transport of many of our perishable
goods to that country in the ordinary holds of vessels. My attention was drawn
¶nore especially to that in the case of shipments of fruits than perhaps in regard to
anything else. There are losses sustained in shipping other articles of our pro-
duction. In looking up the results of some of our cargoes of fruit that came to
Great Britain between the middle of September and the end of November I found
the losses immense. This results very largely from the want of proper precautions
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being taken to keep the holds of the vessels cool so as to prevent heating and
moisture. Of course the fault is perhaps not altogether with the vessel, but it is
the fault perhaps very largely of our shippers who are little aware that in picking
their fruit in the early autumn when the air is hot, and everything is hot, shipping
it in a warm condition and placing it in the hot hold of the vessel, the hold of the
vessel becomes a veritable oven and they do not realize perhaps that the fruit is
degenerating as the temperature increases while in transit. I know, as Professor
Robertson remarked the other day that a great many of our shippers, and I have
had experience along that line myself, feel that the consignees to whoim thev send
their goods on the other side are not honourable or honest. and that whatever
degeneration is reported is not the result of sending fruit in bad condition or of
bad packing and who believe that thev are robbed in that country. I must give
the people over there credit for one thing, and that is that respectable firns as a
rule give honest reports of what the goods fetch in the market.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. So that your remark does not apply to dealers generally that they are
dishonest ?

A. No.

Q. I understood you to say that ?
A. No ; it is the very opposite.

By Mr. Pettet :

Q. You think it is not the fault of our cold storage system, but it is some
fault in the packing ?

A. It is not altogether the fault of our packing. Our shippers of fruit espe-
cially should be a little more careful about picking it. The injury results from
picking the fruit in the hot weather and placing it in the hold of a vessel where
the temperature is too high.

by M4r. Sproule :

Q. That could be got over with cold storage, could it not ?
A. That difficulty will very largely be overcome with cold storage, because I

am satisfied that in the near future competition among the vessels of the country
will produce more cold storage without any further expense to the Government.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Is there anything in fruit being packed away and allowed to lie in heaps
and the natural heat which will spring up being evaporated before the fruit has
been packed ?

A. I would recommend that fruit be packed in the cool of the day, not in the
heat of the day, and put in some place to cool.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. Would you have fruit put together in heaps ?
A. In small heaps.

THE EXPORT CATTLE TLADE.

I will refer briefly to the cattle trade, which is becoming a very important
matter to Canadians. By looking at that chart on the wall you will see what
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we are doing in the way of supplying live cattle to the British market. The
imports into Great Britain are between five hundred and six hundred thou-
sand head, and Canada is supplying a very small quantity of that,-99,188 head.
The largest exporters of live cattle to the British market are the United States and
the Argentine Republic is becoming a very strong competitor with us and the
people of the United States. While in England my attention was called to a matter
n which we are specially concerned and which is of interest, that is that it is to

the interests of the people of this country that Canadian goods of all kinds should
be sold as Canadian and not sold under any other name. I drew the attention of
the English people and the people on that side of the water to this fact and said
it was a matter in which we are deeply concerned and that we were anxious, if
we did not cater to the taste of the British consumer to know it and realize it. I
said that we wanted our goods sold on their merits and if our goods did not com-
pare favourably with the goods of any other country, we were anxious to know
it and take our medicine. Professor Robertson, in his report for 1892 or 1893,
did refer to the fact that a good deal of Canadian and American beef was sold as
English beef. I investigated that matter to some extent, and one day standing
in St. John's Market, Liverpool, one of the largest meat markets in England, I
asked a very prominent dealer, what proportion of the beef hung up there-
and there were a great rnany hundred weights of very fine beef too-what propor-
tion of that beef was English ? He replied, I must tell you that I do not think
there is any. I then asked hin what country produced it, and he replied, that it
was principally Canadian and American beef and Argentine Republic. I must
say it was very creditable to those countries the exhibition made there that day.
Going into the meat stalls and smaller places, while there was no English beef
offered for sale in that large market, there was English meat offered for sale in the
small shops of the city, meat cut up, small roasts, and so forth, and ticketed and
called English, and the price put at one and three, and one and six, as the case
may be, but if it was inferior meat it was ticketed " Canadian " or " American,"
and marked at a much lgwer price, and it is not only in the matter of beef but in
the matter of bacon and many other of our productions the same thing is prac-
ticed, very much to our detriment and loss ; and I only trust that if you legislators
in this country can do anything along that line to prevent that, something !of that
kind should be done. I do not know if it is possible, but the sentiment of the
British people and the legislators there feel as we do and they would like to put a
stop to it, as well. There is where a large part of the commercial dishonesty comes
in so far as dealers are concerned, and it is a detriment to us and also a detriment
to the consumers of that country.

By Mr. Featherston :

Q. How would you overcome that difficulty?
A. Well, I am not a legislator.

Q. You have thought a little?
A. (No answer.)

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. You are an expert?
A. There is a company called the Bacon Curers' Association for the protection

of their industry. They are backed up by law against fraud and when I come to
speak of that trade I will give you an idea of how that law is applied.
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By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Would it be possible for Canadian legislation to reach Canadian goods on
the British market, goods sold by British dealers?

A. No, Sir, I think not, but you may have some influence with the legislature
in the other country.

Now, while my attention was drawn very largely to the cattle trade in that
country it was also drawn to the fresh-meat trade of that country, and I arn only
going to give you my private opinion. One of the results of our cold storage will
be, in a very short time, that our cattle instead of being shipped alive will be killed
here and sent over in a chilled condition, and I see no reason why, if that is done,
this is not going to be a great opening to a large number of persons in this country.
So far as our exports of sheep and lambs are concerned, there is no use dwelling on
that matter only for one moment.

AUSTRALIAN MUTTON IN THE BRITISH MARKETS.

I do not think that Canada can compete with the Australian colonies in the
production of mutton, and while I had my prejudices before I saw the Australian
products, my prejudices were wiped away. There is an object lesson for us in that,
so far as the success they are making of it is concerned, and that is, if the Australian
people can send chilled or frozen mutton to that country, nearly 12,ooo miles
through a hot climate and make a success of it, there is no reason why we, at a
distance of 2,500 miles, should not send our fresh meat over in a chilled or frozen
condition, and make a success of it as well.

By Mr. Talbot:

in You consider the shipment of mutton from this country not to be profitable
in competition with the Australian producers?

A. I fancy they can produce mutton so much cheaper than we can in Canada
that they can export it with a profit, whereas we could not do it.

Q. Have you any figures as to the cost of mutton in Australia?
A. No, I have not the figures. I have some figures as to the amount they

export, and if necessary I can give them to you.

By Mr. Feathersion :

Q. Have you any figures as to the cost of transporting mutton?
A. No, I have not. I wish to say that while in London I met a committee of

three gentlemen who were sent over from the New Zealand and Australian colonies
to conduct an investigation in regard to the mutton trade of their country. The
trade there is handled by large companies who own the cold storage warehouses,
who ship the mutton and to whom the farmers sell. The farmers were complaining
that they were not getting enough for their mutton in that country. The pur-
chasers were saying that they were giving them all they could afford and more
too, and this committee was sent over to investigate the matter. They found upon
examination when they got to Great Britain that the mutton trade of the Ausralian
colonies was handled, to some extent, by a butchers' combine in the old country,
and that it was not bringing what they should get for it.

Q. What prices were they realizing?
A. Australian mutton was sold wholesale at from four cents to five cents per

pound.
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By the Chairman:

Q. By the carcass?
A. By the carcass.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. That is a pretty good price for it there?
A. Whereas the retailer was getting from eightpence to tenpence per pound

for it. The committee finally decided, in order to protect the colonies from the
combination, that they would recommend when they returned to their own
homes, that the companies or the government should establish governmental stores
and sell their own mutton. I believe that was the result of their investigation, or
what they intended to recommend.

By Mr. Talbot :

Q. Has it been done?
A. I do not know what the restilt has been. I had the pleasure of meeting the

committee when I was there.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. Did you hear what the farmers were getting for their mutton in Australia?
A. No, I did not.

By Mr. Stenson:

Q. Is it superior in flavour and quality) to Canadian mutton, or is it better
suited to the English taste?

A. So far as the Australian or New Zealand mutton is concerned, I never saw
finer mutton in my life than I saw produced in and shipped from that country.

By Mr. Wilson :

Q. How did you like the flavour?
A. I could not answer that, because when it is placed on the tables it is

usually called British mutton. The inferior mutton we eat there is usually cailed
Australian mutton.

Q. You might have had a piece of that mutton cooked specially for you?
A. I did not take that trouble

By Mr. Stenson:

Q. How do the English people like it; do the English people consider Aus-
tralian mutton to be as good as Canadian mutfon?

A. I think it meets with great favour among the English people, and they
realize this because English gentlemen have told me that they considered that the
most of the mutton they were eating was Australian mutton.

Q. They did not make any comparison with Canadian mutton?
A. No, I did not hear Canadian mutton talked much about over there. It

does not figure very largely in the meat trade in that country.
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By Mr. Talbot :

Q. How did vou come to your conclusion that we could not ship mutton in
competition with Australia?

A. They can produce their raw material so rnuch\ cheaper than we can. I
think that we can make a greater success of cattle than sheep and lambs.

By Mr. Richardson:

Q. What is the difference in freights?
A. I am not in a position to give you that information.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Were you able to ascertain at what rate the mutton was prchased fron
the producers?

A. No.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. When you speak of the Australian mutton looking very fine, do J under-
stand you to mean that their carcasses were very large or very sinall generally.

A They were fine large carcasses, as a rule. The lambs were very fine, in-
deed. They were very finely dressed; they were shipped to Great Britain in canvas
and kept in a neat, clean condition, and immediately upon their arrival they were
put into cold storage and taken out as they were required.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. You say the carcasses were large ?
A. Yes.

Q. Were they fleshv or fat?
A. Fleshv, fat, fine carcasses.

Q. That is not good rnutton?
A. That is a matter of opinion.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. Leicester sheep are very fine looking carcasses, but they would not sell in
England in comparison with Hlighland Black Faces or Welsh mutton or South-
downs?

A. No, I am aware of that.

By Mr. Stenson :

Q. I have been told that the English people do not like Australian mutton be-
cause it is too fat and oily and that they prefer our Canadian mutton to Australian
mutton on account of its flavour being more palatable, it not being so oily or fat.
Has that come under your observation ?

A. No, it has not. In fact, I did not give that question sc nuch attentio:i, be-
cause there were otber things in w'hich we were riuch more interested, and I did
not have but verv litfde timie to give to that question while in England.
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CANADIAN CHILLED BEEF IN THE BRITISH MARKETS.

By Mr. Calvert :

0. You said vou thought ir advisable to have the cattle slaughtered here and
sent over chilled. Have you made any estimate of the probable difference of cost
between the shipping of live and dead meat?

A. I have not. It is only an opinion of my own, and there is no per-m 'e-
sponsible for that opinion but myself. I cannot give you the actual saviiig or the
actual cost of shipping, but I have done some shipping myself, and in looking over
the matter hastily and hurriedly I said to myself, "fThere is going to be a saving in
insurance, a saving in freight, a saving in feeding the cattie, because, as a rule, they
do not gain during the journey, a saving in sending over parties to look after them,
and a saving in many ways." If we can slaughter our cattle here and send thei
over in cold storage in a chilled condition-it is not necessary to send them in a
frozen condition-I am satisfied there will be a great saving to the shippers in this
country. I understand that two or three firms in Canada have been doing it this
year and that they have met with splendid success.

By Mr. MeMillan :

Q. Did you see any beef that had been sent over chilled?
A. Yes.

Q. How did it compare with that which was slaughtered in the old country
and put on the market ?

A. It compared very well, indeed.

Mr. STENSON :-In regard to this question of mutton,,Mr. Crandall bas told
us that we cannot compete with Australia. I was under the impression that we
could compete, that we would be in a position to send our mutton to the British
market as the Australians have sent theirs. I was led to believe that our mutton
is preferred by the English people to the Australian mutton, to a great extent, on
account of its superior flavour and being more suited to their palate, but the great
difficulty we had to contend with, was this, that our mutton had to be sent over
without being properly cared for on board such vessels as Mr. Crandall has pic-
tured to us as being real ovens. Of course if we were sending our mutton in
those vessels, and the Australians in cold storage, we could not be expected to
compete favourably with them, but now that we are going to have a system of
perfect cold storage this question is worthy of consideration and worth our while
looking into it, and not take a mere opinion, not founded on experience and not
supported by figures. Mr. Crandall admits that his experience does not prove
to him that the English people do not take to our mutton.

Mr. MCMILLAN:-I think if gentlemen were to inform themselves of the ori-
ginal cost of mutton in the Australian colonies, and if they have no other means,
go back to the original report of the Australian delegates here four or five years
ago, the information as to the cost of mutton will dispel the idea of Canada com-
peting with Australia in that respect. The cost is only two or three cents a pound
at the sea coast and the cost of preparing for cold storage is as much as the ori-
ginal cost of the mutton.

Mr. CRANDALL:-Perhaps I should not have made the statement I did with
reference to the mutton trade. I merely threw it out as an idea of my own. Per-
haps it is not practicable as I had no special figures. If I am wrong I will be
happy to know I am wrong.
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THE TRADE IN BACON.

I will now refer briefly to a trade in which we are ver much interested, and
that is the ham and bacon trade. The British imports in hains and bacon is some-
thing over £1o,ooo,ooo sterling worth, and in the exports to that country Canada
is making to-day a reputation for itself and we are at the present time, to a certain
degree, successful. The bacon trade in Canada is no doubt the outgrowth of the
dairy and creamery industry in this country, and as Professor Robertson has said,
our creameries are on the increase, and to the extent tliat our creameries are on
the increase, I arn satisfied our bacon trade will increase as well ; but there is one
very important feature in connection with this trade, and that is that we are not
receiving the credit we should for our Canadian bacon. I an satisfied and I
know it quite well that there is a great deal of our Canadian ham and probably
American hams sold in the old country as English.

COMMITTEE RooM No. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

WEDNESDAY, 27th April, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this
day at i i o'clock a.m.; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. W. T. CRANDALL, Agent of the Department of Agriculture in Great Brit-
ain, was recalled, and at the request of the Committee continued his statements of
the 22nd April inst., as follows:-

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen:-In coming before you a second time I shall
endeavour to take up as little of your valuable time as possible and confine my
remarks in as concise a forn as possible, to two of our special productions, namely,
Fruit and Poultry to which I was directed to give special direction. I will as
briefly as possible draw your attention in the first instance to our fruit trade which
is at present an important part of our export trade.

Possibly you are not all aware of the quantity of apples imported into Great
Britain. Take the official figures for 1896 and they show an importation of 6,176,-
956 bushels, costing £1,582,495. Of this quantity, Canada and the United States
supplied 5,256,557 bushels, leaving only 920,399 bushels to be supplied by all other
countries. Of the quantity shipped from Canada and the United States, Canada
shipped 27,779 bushels more than the United States, and received less money for
the total quantity shipped by £25,981 than the United States did for theirs. That
gives rise to the question as to why there is such a difference. I think it is uni-
versally admitted that Canada produces apples superior in flavour and keeping
qualities and which sell for more money per barrel in the British market as the
following figures demonstrate :

Take the quotations at Liverpool on November 6th, 1897. We will take
Baldwins for example. Canadian Baldwins were quoted at, for sound fruit, from
16 shillings to 24s. 6d. per barrel ; slacks from 15 to 20 shillings ; Baldwins ship-
ped from New- York, sound, 14S. 3d. to 21 shillings ; slacks, 12s. 6d. to 15 shil-
lings : Baldwins from Boston, sound, 12s. 6d. to 19 shillings ; slacks, 12 shillings
to 17 shillings ; Baldwins from the Western States, sound, 14 shillings to 20 shil-
linzs : slacks, 13 shillings to 18 shillings, while "wasty " sel] at 2 shillins.-s to 3
shillings under quotations for slack. Takinz these quotations for a guide. I think
we can corne to but one conclusion. and that is, that our shipments in 1896 were
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badly packed or that there must have been an immense loss to shippers by degen-
eration of the fruit in transportation. I am inclined to the opinion that a propor-
tion of the comparative loss in the receipts from Canadian apples is in some mea-
sure the resuit of improper packing, but is largely due to the want of care and to
the heated condition of our cars and the holds of vessels while in transit. In
looking over the returns of 29 cargoes of apples sold in Great Britain between
September 15 and November 24, 1897, we find that a large portion, especially of
the early shipments arrived out of condition. Taking the statistics of the port of
Montreal we find that in the year 1896 Canada produced in the vicinity of 3,000,000
barrels of apples. In 1897 Canada produced 3oo,ooo barrels, a great falling off
and a general short crop in most localities, following the year of over-production
which would naturally occur. Estimating a fairly good crop at 1,500,ooo barrels
in Canada, and putting the loss in transit only at 5o cents per barrel, which is a
very small average, it amounts to the startling sum of $750,ooo. It is not only an
individual but a national calamity. The report made by Professor Robertson
before this Comrnittte on Wednesday last, the facts of which come to my notice
while in Great Britain, of the trial shipments during the past season of fruit packed
at the point of shipment under the sarne conditions, the portion shipped in the
ordinary hold of the vessel realizing 8 shillings per barrel and that sent in cold
storage bringing i8 shillings per barrel should be sufficient evidence as to the
value of cold storage and as to the necessity of an improved system of carrying
all our fruit across the Atlantic either in cold storage or by sorne process of ven-
tilation whereby the hot air can be taken out and cool air inducted into the vessel.
I was present at the different sales and saw the condition of a good deal of our
fruit, and I regret very much to report the apparent dishonesty of some packers
placing fine fruit at the ends and culls in the centre of the barrel. The result of
this has brought a certain amount of discredit upon Canadian apples. If the
guilty alone suffered the individual would receive what he merited, but the honest
packer is made to suffer and the commercial honesty of the people of Canada is
questioned. There is another feature of our apple trade which should be brought
to the attention of our growers and shippers, and that is the impropriety of ship-
ping any second-class apples although honestly done and marked "Second-class
Fruit." These take the place of No. i stock and reduce the value in proportion
while it costs the same amount to handle theni. The second grade fruit should
be sold at home and evaporated as there is a great demand for these goods not
only in the North-west but in Europe. In connection with'the result of dishonest
packing let me read to you an extract from an article of one of our leading papers.
. only wish, gentlemen, that this article could be read by every grower and ship-
per in Canada, because it is something in which every person is interested, and
that is packing apples honestly and carefully. The extract is as follows :-" It is
generally admitted that Canadian packers practicallv had the apple markets in their
own hands at the beginning of the season, but lost it through the deliberate ship-
ping of inferior and badly packed stock. Culls were shipped in large quantiti es,
care being taken to put good apples both at the top and bottom of the barrels.
This old trick is still as much practised as ever. and all orchard-packed apples are
apt to be so put up unless it is carefully guarded against. The British apple
market has gone to smash several times during the season owing to the large
quantities of culls junped on the market by men who care nothing for the credit
of the business. Job lots are picked up by men on the market, to whom the real
quality of the fruit and the method of packing are nothing. so long as they can
readily sell to exporters, who in turn do not care what they ship so long as thev
can get the fruit on the market while the prices are high. Honourable shippers
are thus made to suffer on account of these discreditable practices. for dealers iii
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England who are once loaded up with unsaleable fruit of Canadian origin will not
buy again until confidence is restored. It is such men that bring the business into
disrepute and make the British public believe that knavery is rampant in this
country. It will end in dealers in England refusing to buy Canadian apples except
those of good recognized brands."

By Mr. Bergeron :

Q. What is that from?
A. It is an extract from one of our leading papers

Q. Which paper?
A. Well, really, I forget.

B ir. Acililan :

Q. From a Canadian paper?
A. Yes, it is.

By Mr. Bergeron

Q. Where published?
A. I think it is the "lail-Empire."

Q. You should have the naine of the papers quoted. It is most important if
we want to have the authority?

A. It is either from the " World " or the " Mail-Empire."

Mr. GILMOUR:-We know it is true.

Mr. BIERGERON:-I only mention the thing so that another time it wxill be re-
membered; it is important to have the name of the papers.

The CHAIRMAN:-I agree with you that it would settle whether the quota-
tion is worth anything or not.

Air. CRANDALL:-I will be happy to give it you; it is from either one of these
papers.

The necessity of carefully looking after our fruit trade is worthy of our
closest attention. The fruit industry of Canada is rapidly increasing, and is capable
of great expansion, and therefore if carefully guarded will gain a Stijl firier foot-
hold in Britain and Germany. When I was in London I was introduced to a
prominent gentleman from Austria who strongly urged me to go over there and
open up connections ito handle Canadian fruit, saying there was a good opening,
and tendering his aid. I will refer briefly to the shipment of perishable fruits in
cold storage, and regarding these I regret to report that the first consignments
were not a success, for want of sufficient experience of the proper kind of packages,
and handling at this end, and in transit. Our first shipments were a pronounced
failure, especially grapes. Later on there was a change in methods of packing, and
the fruit came in fairly good shape and realized prices fairly satisfactory. For in-
formation as to sales I will refer you to Professor Robertson, as all sales were sent
direct to the Department by the consignees. The greatest failure was in our ship-
mient of Canadian grapes, the first arriving being really useless. This cnndition of
things, and the prejudice of the British people against the flavour of our grapes,
destroyed our prospects for any immediate results which would be satisfactory. I
would recommend the shiprments of small quantities packed under more favourable
conditions, and not sold in the open market to the best bidder, but placed in the
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hands of some good dealers who will take the trouble to place them with the trade.
This may, at first, cause sorne loss, but as soon as we can overcome the prejudice
which exists against the flavour, and cultivate a desire for them as in the case of
tomatoes, we will find a good paying market for this industry. The English hot-
house grapes are very fine-all grapes grown in that country under glass-and sell
at one shilling to two shillings per pound, owing to quality and condition. Spain
and Portugal supply the larger part of the grape fruit to Britain. I presume you
all know the Spanish grape, as it is imported to some extent in this country. It is
a thick-skinned grape, very hardy and, to Canadians, very tasteless as compared
with our own. They are shipped in kegs, packed in cork dust, kegs containing
from 65 to 70 pounds, and are sold for from 8 shillings to io shillings in a whole-
sale way, and retail at 6 pence to 8 pence a pound, according to quality. I would
just say one thing in connection with this, and that is the great importance of the
fruit growers of Canada packing their fruit honestly and carefully, and placing their
brand upon their fruit. If a man places his branJ on any article in that country
and it becomes once known as being reliable in every sense there is no difficulty in
selling these goods. It is of the greatest importance that we should make a change
along that line and if we wish to obtain the best prices possible we can only obtain
them in that way. If I am in the habit, or any gentleman in this room, of shipping
400 to Soo barrels of fruit to that country and putting his name or brand on each
barrel, and a dealer comes into possession, and that the shipper is a regular shipper
and the goods turned out satisfactorily, he is sure to wait for these goods year after
year, and will pay a higher price for them than he will for goods that he knows
nothing of, and perhaps are not very reliable. There are many things I could say
to you gentlemen with regard to the fruit trade which might be interesing, but the
time will not permit, and I will pass on to speak of the poultry trade.

Bv Mr. McMillan :

Q. Were you able to ascertain whether it was in the goods of regular shippers
of apples or only in those who ship once in a while that the apples were in bad
condition, and had culls in the middle of the barrels, because, you know, there are
two classes of shippers, those who ship regularly and those who only ship occa-
sionally?

A. That occurred, I an sorry to say. Often a buyer, placing corfidence, per-
haps, in the producer. trusts him, or perhaps his own men, to pack the fruit and ;t
is not done properly. Generally the buver sent a man te pick, so that the gro\wers
had nothing to do with the packing of the apples. I do not wish to leave the im-
pression upon this Committee that it is the fault of the apple growers or the orchlard
men in this country who d. it. It is the packers and in many cases, of course, they
are men emploved bv the shippers.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Have yon any knowledge of where these apples came from?
A. The larger part of the apples I saw exported in that country: were from

Ontario.

Q. Speaking about grapes, have vou any knowledge of how Canadian grapes
take over there ? I understand there were some shipped over there in cold storage?

A. There is a preindice against the flavour of the Canadian grape.

Q. And therefore they did not take well. What kind of grapes took the best
there ? You know we have a great many varieties ?
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A. Concords, Niagara's grapes, and one or two other varieties. I did not see
a great deal of difference. They took more quicldy to a grape of green colour than
to our very dark grapes, but they seeni to be prejudiced against our grapes entirely.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Did you see any apples in boxes, not in barrels?
A. Yes, sir.

Q. How did they compare with those in the barrels?
A. I might just say that in our experimental shipments there were a few of

the most choice apples in boxes containing 45 or 50 pounds in square cases and
they sold for remarkably high prices.

Q. Would vou advise sending the choice varieties of apples in square boxes
rather than in barrels?

A. I have not had experience sufficient, perhaps, to give an opinion, but from
what information I gained, and fron what I saw personally I would say this, that
there is a market there for verv nice selected fruit done up in paper and sent in
square cases or boxes.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. These would be made open at the sides with slats, or were they tight
boxes?

A. They were open in the sides.

Q. So that you could see the fruit?
A. It was for the admission of air. One other thing that attracted my atten-

tion in England, and that was that the Tasmanian apples all came in boxes and
seemed to arrive in good sound condition.

Q. In these boxes are they tightened a little to keep them from moving?
A. They are filled full.

Q. Not loose so that they would rattle about?
A. No. I know that the idea of shipping in boxes would be an unpopular

thing with the exporters and importers at the present time. They think there is no
parcel so good as a barrel, but my own opinion is that apples can be shipped very
safely in boxes, because, instead of being rolled and tumbled about as barrels are,
those who handle them would pick them up and lay them down carefully.

By Mr. Bergeron:

Q. How would the steamship companies like that?
A. I presume the boxes would not take up as much space. They could be

packed together very closely, although, of course, it would be necessary to have air
spaces.

In reference to this fruit matter, I do not wish to say anything to wound
the feelings of any person, either farmers or fruit growers, but when I was
sent to England I was supposed to investigate matters of this kind and report
them to the Department. I would be sorry to think that I have said anything to
this Committee out of place, but I have investigated these things and stated the
facts honestly and as I believe them to exist, and if you had seen what I have in
the great fruit markets of the Old country you could not help coming to the same
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conclusion. When a large quantity of fruit is offered for sale on a certain day,
perhaps 4,000 or 5,ooo packages and there are 100 or 200 buyers there, and when
they sit around in the galleries of that fruit station and look down into the pit and
'à sample of fruit comes there with the head out and looks nice on top and is ex-
posed to the public gaze of those buyers, and they begin to shout " rats," it made
me feel almost like being ashamed of being a Canadian. These are the true facts
of the case, and while Canadian apples have a high reputation in that country the
only fault the British dealers have is that there are sometimes imperfections in
our packages in which we send our goods.

The CHAIRMAN:-We will ask Mr. Crandall to keep his further evidence until
later, as Professor Robertson has something he desires to say to the Committee
this morning.

COMMITTEE Room No. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

2 9 th April, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this
day at i i o'clock, a.m. ; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. W. T. CRANDALL, Agent of the Department of Agriculture in Great Brit-
ain, was recalled, and at the request of the Committee continued his statements of
the 22nd and 27th of April inst., as follows:-

EXPANSION OF POULTRY EXPORT.

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-I purpose calling your attention for a few
moments this morning to the development of our poultry trade in Great Britain,
to which the Honourable Minister and the Department of Agriculture are devoting
a good deal of attention in order to bring this branch of our Canadian industry
more prominently before the poultry buyers of Great Britain, studving the wants
and conditions of the different markets of that country and being in a position to
give our people such practical information as they require in order to secure the
best possible results. The raising of poultry and the British demand for it pro-
mise a steady increase although the trade at present is to a great extent in its
nfancy and experimental stage. I have no figures of our Canadian shipments
since the annual statement of the trade returns of the United Kingdom for 1896,
which give a value of £6,268 sterling. It is,.however, generally considered by the
trade that our exports to that market in 1897 were nearly double those of the
former year. This statement may not be altogether accurate. I am informed that
the returns in many cases were quite satisfactory. I made quite a thorough can-
vass in many of the markets, interviewing the dealers of poultry and game, calling
their attention to our trade and obtaining as much information as possible regard-
ing their ideas and requirements as to the best and most desirable way of pre-
paring our poultry for the British market. The best information I was able to
secure was forwarded to the Department and a bulletin was published by the
direction of the Honourable the Minister of Agriculture and supplied gratuitously
to any person wishing it. In that bulletin, prepared by Professor Robertson from
different sources, information which should be considered valuable to poultry
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dealers can be obtained as to the proper way and the nost improved methods of
killing, dressing, packing and shipping poultry to Britain in order to gratify their
wishes and cater to their ideas. There are two things that we should impress
upon the minds of our Canadian people, if we want to slip any of our productions
to that market and get satisfactory, results. We must send them a good article
and in such shape and form as they desire. We cannot afford to spend our tilme
and means trying to educate the British people up to our notions regarding what
they cansume in that country. If we wait for this we will never get there.

PREPARATION AND SELECTION OF POULTRY FOR EXPORT.

There is no doubt some difference of opinion as to shipping poultry in their
feathers, or plucking them, but strange to say the buyers I met were almost universal
in requiring them dressed and prepared for shipment as indicated in the instructions
given in the bulletin referred to. The steamer " Gallia " arrived at Liverpool a few
days previous to Christmas, with 1,857 cases said to contain in weight 1,200 tons.
About the same time the " Parisian " landed 720 cases. The larger quantity of
these birds came in the feathers packed in packing cases of different sizes, such
as could be secured at a country store and some were packed in barrels. These
cases contained different qualities and no attention had been paid, apparently, to
grading the birds as to sex numbers and weight, which is considered very essen-
tial in shipping. A large quantity of these shipments were consigned to firms,
quite outside of the poultry trade, dealing in other lines, and sold at public auction.
There was a large number of buyers, as no less than four advertisements appeared
in one of the principal morning papers of the very large arrivals of Canadian
turkeys, geese and other poultry, by four different firms of Liverpool. The sale
of these attracted a large number of buyers and turkeys sold at 4 pence to 4
pence halfpenny per pound. A few birds sold at first seemed to fix the value or
price of the whole lot. I must confess I was much surprised at the result. This
poultry although shipped apparentlv in such a careless manner, arrived in cold
storage compartments in good condition witri a few exceptions said to be the re-
salt of too many birds being closely packe 1 together. I followed portions of
ihis consignment to the retail shops and saw them exposed to sale hanging along-
side of British turkeys. The Canadian were sold at 7 pence per pound while the
Irish and English birds were selling at 1o pence to one shilling and three pence
for the choicest birds. My curiosity led me to inquire if there was any prejudice
against Canadian turkeys. The result of that inquiry wás to discover the very
opposite condition of things. Some dealers said they rather favoured Canadian
poultrv as it retained more of the wild and gamey flavour than their native or
Zontinental birds.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. As to the size of these birds, are ours as large as theirs ?
A. Yes.

By M1r. Stenson:

Q. Were the English birds plucked and prepared ?
A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the Canadian birds had their feathers on ?
A. Yes.
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Q. Do you think that made the greatest amount of difference ?
A. Yes. My next inquiry was " Why don't Canadian birds sell for as much

money ? " and the reply was " We always buy them much cheaper." One dealer
said : " We buy them in their feathers and undressed. Customers do not like the
trouble of picking and preparing them for the table. We are obliged to get this
work done, and it costs money and takes time," remarking also, that when the
birds were defeathered the flesh had not the same white, cleanly appearance as it
had when the animal heat was in the flesh. I canvassed another gentleman, a
,orn merchant, who received some 250 turkeys by the same steamers. I visited
aim. These turkeys came in their feathers also and were shipped in barrels. I
saw most of thern unpacked. The birds were all sorted over and were selling retail
at 8 pence to io pence per pound. Upon inquiry I learned that this gentleman
had been receiving quite a number of turkeys from a personal friend of his in
western Ontario for the past four or five years and that he handled them as a
personal favour, refusing any other consignments as it was outside of his line of
business. Parties who had bought them came to him yearly for their holiday
supplies, and while I was standing in his warehouse he called my attention to a
lady from Wales, who came yearly to' him to buy Canadian turkeys, and who,
preferring them, left her order on this occasion for forty birds. Another gentle-
man, receiving annually from 2,000 to 3,000 turkeys from a party in western
Ontario, informed me that he would insist on sending him his consignments of
turkeys in the feathers, although he advised him to pluck them and had given
him full instructions how to prepare them, at the same time stating that if his
consignment came properly dressed and packed the same as their native and
French turkeys, he could realize for his customers two pence per pound more for
his shipment. This being the case, on a shipment of say, 2,ooo turkeys of an
average weight of ten pounds only the shipper would realize on the average £166
13s. more money. A large number of cases were delivered at Liverpool dressed
and packed in cases holding from 20 to 24 birds according to English ideas and
the directions of the Department of Agriculture here. The majority of those went
forward to Birmingham. I was informed, I was not present, that the shipper, an
Oniario gent'eman, realized a handsome profit and that the Canadian turkey in
that city is not sold at a discount. I an of opinion that if our poultry shippers
would dress their poultry and ship it according to the instructions of the Depart-
ment, contained in a bulletin issued in 1897, for the dressing, packing and shipping
of Canadian poultry for the British markets, it would result to their advantage.

I would also recommend our poultry shippers to use, if possible, a little more
discretion in regard to the choice and selection of British markets, and select as
your agent or consignee a firm that has a large opening and makes a specialty of
poultry, and who is in touch with the trade of that country. The British mer-
chants as a rule deal in certain special lines and attend to them thoroughly. In
reply to my question a gentleman who makes a specialty of poultry, game and
eggs alone, told me that his turn-over in poultry during Christmas week was be-
tween eight and nine hundred tons. Possibly some dealer might contemplate
'shipping live poultry and feeding them in transit. A dealer in Liverpool told me
that he had received last season a consignment Of some 3,000 chickens from a party
in Montreal. It proved a failure as the fowls refused their food during the voyage
and pined away, resulting in a loss. It is reported that a prominent poultry firm
has been very successful in buying poultry, especially chickens, in Canada during
the winter months when prices are low, freezing them, placing them in cold
storage in Great Britain, and disposing of them in May, June or July when the
market is bare of poultry. A large trade is done in this way from Russia. I saw
Russian chickens on the London markets in August frozen, that were killed and
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frozen the preceding Christmas, bringing retail 6 pence and over per pound ac-
cording to quality. Geese should be shipped previous to the holidays. They are
bought principally by the working classes and usually sell, dressed, for from 5 to
6 shillings in price. Ducks, wholesale, are sold from 20 to 30 shillings per dozen,
and chicken from i to 2 shillings each according to size. Chickens with yellow
legs are preferred by some as they are supposed to be of purer breed varieties.
There is always a good demand for turkeys. Large turkeys should be shipped
early for Christmas week, and the smaller ones later on. To any person contemplat-
ing the shipment of poultry I would suggest that they should ax ail themselves to
the instructions supplied bv the Department and commence with small private
shipments at the start. With the advantage we now have in shipping our poultry,
cold storage placing them on the British market fresh and sweet in flavour, the
poultry trade of this country is capable of great expansion and wortlhv the atten-
tion of farmers and the poultry men of Canada.

By Mr. Broder :

Q. Did you see any Canadian game on the market ?
A. No; when I spoke of game I referred to birds from the Australian colo-

nies and those at home.

INQUIRY IN ENGLAND AFTER CANADIAN POULTRY, EGGS AND FRUITS.

In connection with my work in Great Britain I was instructed by the Depart-
ment of Agriculture to give special attention to our fruit and poultry interests. I
presume what this Committee is specially interested in, is the answer to the ques-
tion, have there been any results? If I were asked for an opinion I would answer
in the affirmative. The Honourable the Minister of Agriculture bas stated that
there is a large increase in the number of inquiries through bis Department. If you
will permit me, I will very briefly mention a few only, of the nany instances which
came under my personal observation, and which were, I think, largely the result of
my canvassing. A gentleman in the city of Birmingham who bas several supply
stores, told me after a few interviews, talking about Canadian produce and getting
such information as I could give him as to making business connections in Canada,
that he fully intended to buy a large proportion of bis fruit and poultry in Canada
in the future. His turkey requirements alone, for bis Christias trade amounted to
five or six thousand birds, hitherto placing his orders in foreign countries on the
continent. Three or four very large dealers in London who make specialties of
poultry, game and eggs only, after a few interviews resolved to try and make busi-
ness connections with some of our people at once. One of these firms has bis
agents in most of the countries on the European continent. His turn-over in eggs
in 1896 was 82,ooo,ooo dozen, and they told me that their requirements for the
Christmas trade in poultry was 50,000 turkeys and 20,000 geese, outside of other
poultry. To give vou some idea of the extent of one line of business by one firm,
the manager took me through their feeding and supply warehouse, where from 50
to ioo hands are employed during the season, feeding, killing, and preparing poultry
and game for the markets. It may seem almost incredible, but they told me that
their average daily kill of pigeons was 8,0oo, besides quail in large quantities dur-
ing the quail season, and the manager told me that at the time of my visit there
were some 25,000 quail in the warehouse that thev were feeding. The head of this
firm told me that he fullv intended coming himself or sending an agent or manager
to Canada for the purpose of establishing agencies for poultry and eggs this season.
Another firm in the city of Manchester doing a very extensive trade in dairy pro-
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ducts, buying previously from importers of Canadian cheese, but through an agent
i4 New York for American cheese, that firm purposes buying Canadian cheese
direct from the Canadian factory, and has now an agent in Canada to look after
his Canadian interests. I could mention other firms in those cities as well as in
Glasgow, Bristol, Hull, and other places, but I trust these may suffice to show the
importance of the development work outlined by the Honourable the Minister of
Agriculture and Professor Robertson, to open up new channels of trade for the
products of our country. I trust you will pardon me for reading a letter which I
received a few days ago, as it contains a reference to myself, which might be con-
strued as somewhat fliattering, but nevertheless his opinion should be of some im-
portance. I refer to Mr. W. D. Matthews, of Toronto, a past President of the
Board of Trade, and now, as for many years, a prominent member of the Council
of that Board and occupying a leading and honourable position in the business and
financial institutions in this country. The letter is as follows:-

TORONTO, 2oth April, 18)8.
DEAR MR. CRANDALL,-On my return home I find your le'ter of the i5th. I think your

energy and attention to promote the agriculture and produce interests of Canada, and other
duties pertaining to yoLur position, have borne good results already. I judge this by hearing
frequent references made to vou by those interested in doing business, not only residents in
Canada, but bv dealers who live in Great Britaýn visiting this country. If you can educate
our shippers how to pack their butter, eggs, poultry, fruits, &c., you will do much to increase
the volume of this trade, as this is one important feature in order to make it profitable, and
unless it is made so there cannot be any permanency to it. After this, the information who to
trade with wouid be a very proper thing to know, and I think this could be taken up by the
Department without giving offence merely by opening a directorv to enter names, the doing
of which could be done by voluntary requests on the part of shippers and receivers in Canada
and Great Britain. Your office should also be supplied with the latest and most reliable in-
formation about the routes, conveniences, and rates of freight, where shipments could be made
to and from. It is these small details that go to make business easy and, if once understood,
trade would very quickly corne.

As I have had such long and pleasant business relations with you I feel very nuch pleased
to know that your experience, so far, has been a success, and I shall hope for good results even
beyond present expectations, to follow in the future. With kind regards, I am,

Yours very truly,

(S gned) W. D. MATTHEWS.

It is somewhat cheering, I presume, to realize that the efforts of the Minister
and the Department are stimulating the commercial pulse of Canada, and will
redound to an increase of our trade with Great Britain. The results are certainly
gratifying for me to realize, that I have been instrumental in doing something,
small as it may appear, to contribute to these results, weak as my efforts have been.

By MIr. Stenson:

Q. You say that we should be careful in our selection of markets. Which are
the markets it would be best to choose for poultry?

A. It is generally conceded that for fine goods of any kind, poultry especially,
London is the best market in Great Britain.

O. Are the English poultry put on the market fully dressed, cleaned and
drawn?

A. Yes, they are dressed.

By the Chairman :

Q. Ours are drawn when thev are shipped in feathers, are they not?
A. No.
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By Mr. Stcnson :

Q. It would explain the difference in price considerably if thev were drawi.
Ours sell for only 7 pence and the English birdj for 1o pence. If the English
birds are all drawn and cleaned, of course, that makes a large difference in pricer

A. Birds shipped according to the directions of the Department of Agricul-
ture are to be drawn. English and continental birds are dressed and drawn ready
for the table. As a general thing the gizzard, giblets, and so on, are placed inside
the bird.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. But they ought to be selected uniform in size?
A. Yes, the cock birds should be packed by themselves and the hen birds by

themselves. Each case should contain twelve or twenty-four birds, and those from
10 to 12 pounds, 12 to 14 pounds, and 14 to 16 pounds should be put in separate
cases and the weight marked on the outside of the cases.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. What is the freight from Toronto to London or Liverpool?
A. That is a matter I am not conversant with in regard to poultry. It is not

very high.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. It would be higher at the time of year they are shipped than in the sum-
mer months. Freights go up in the fall and winter?

A. Yes.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. You spoke about one consignment of turkeys that brought from 8 to 10
pence per pound with their feathersi on. They brought pretty nearly as good a
price as the British turkeys?

A. Yes, that is the case I investigated where the birds were shipped in feathers.
They realized a good price.

By Mr. Broder :

Q. There was no retail profit at all?
A. No. The gentleman merelv handled them as a favour for a friend. When I

asked him if he would receive other consignments, he said, "No, this is quite out-
side my line of business." He was a large corn merchant, what we call a wheat
merchant. He said, " I am doing this as a personai favour for a friend." He had
placed the birds w'hich he had bcen receiving with a few of his personal friends, and
thev were so much taken with the Canadan turkey flavour that thev were accus-
toned to wait for this small yearly consignment.

Q. You spoke about wholesalers selling the first lot you mentioned at 4
pence halfpenny per pound. The price between the retailer and the manl selling
this special lot is rot so much. It would hardly be fair to compare the price that
that man realized for these special turkeys that he sold as a favour to a friend with
this wholesale price?

Mr. McGREGOR:-He was gettin a larger price because he had made a
niarket for a particular bird. After a little while we will make a market for our
birds and the people will be looking for them.
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By Mr. Broder :

Q. No doubt they were a good class of birds?
A. They were no better than the other birds.

Q. How do Canadian birds compare in flesh with English poultry?
A. If I were to give vou my opinion, honestly, without prejudice, I would say

that our Canadian birds are quite as good, if not superior to the general run of
birds that were raised and offered in Great Britain.

By Mr. Stenson :

Q. You spoke of turkeys. Are not chickens also sent from Canada?
A. There were very few chickens sent over. I did not pay so niuch attention

to the sale of chickens as I did to that of turkeys.

By the Chairman :

Q. Were there many geese?
A. Not many geese. The principal shipments were those of turkeys.

By Mr. Meigs:

Q. What time of the year were they shipped?
A. They were shipped the week previons to Christmas.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Don't you think that chickens can be sent over just as profitably as tur-
keys?

A. I think they can.

By the Chairman:

Q. Did you see any Australian turkey or game?
A. I saw rabbits, but no feathered game. I saw a rabbit from Australia taken

from a cold storage warehouse that contained some 20,000 of then which had been
bought the winter previous, about the holiday time, probably the end of 1895 or
the early part of 1896, which had been frozen and held over in that condition until
the rabbit season came on in the fall of the vear.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. What are they worth over there?
A. I did not inquire. I presume they are very cheap. I did not take much

interest from the fact that when I saw this dead rabbit taken from the warehouse I
made up my mind I did not care to eat any rabbit while I was there. Still, it was
fresh and perfectly good.

I wish to say, perhaps it would be for the benefit of the Committee, that in
conversation with a gentleman in Glasgow, a mechanical engineer who had charge
of putting up a large cold storage building there, that he had been out in Australia
and had had a good deal of experience in keeping poultry and rabbits in cold
storage, and he told me that he experimented with freezing a nice turkey. kept it
in cold storage four years, then had it dressed and cooked, and he said that vou
would not have dreamt that the turkey had been dead a week.
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By Mr. Meigs:

Q. Was it frozen or just in cold storage?
A. Yes, frozen.

By Mr. Stenson:

Q. That dead rabbit you saw, which you disliked, was it on account of its
appearance?

A. Yes, I did not like the way it looked. Of course, it was purely imaginary
on my part because, I presume, it was purely fresh.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence before the Com-
mittee on the 22nd, 27th and 29 th of April, respectively, I find it correct.

W. T. CRANDALL,

Agent Department of Agriculture.
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COMMITTEE RooM No. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

FRIDAY, 6th May, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this
day at i i o'clock a.m. ; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

DR. WILLIAM SAUNDERs, Director of the Dominion Experimental Farms.
was present by request, and gave evidence, as follows:-

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen of the Committee,-It gives me great pleasure
to be with you once more. These annual visits to this Committee are of great
advantage to the officers of the Experimental Farms, and to no one more so
than myself. By means of that privilege we find out to some extent the wishes
of the practical men of the Committee in connection with our work and we are
always pleased to have suggestions from every quarter which will aid us in im-
proving its character and general usefulness.

I may say that the useful work of the Experimental Farms has been continued
during the past year, and never before in the history of the farms have we had
so much commendation from the farmers of the Dominion, as to the beneficial
and practical character of the work which has been done. I could bring many
hundreds of letters received during 1897, commendatory of this work and showing
that it has the confidence and appreciation of the farming community, and that it
is regarded as helpful in every direction. There is no employment in the com-
munity requiring so much skill and general information as farming, and nowadays
when competition is so keen throughout the civilized world, the farmer must make
use of every fact lie can gain, bearing on the improvement of his work, if lie is
to maintain his position and carry on his business to the best advantage.

When the Experimental Farms were planned, it was intended that thev should
become eventually a bureau of information to which farmers could apply from
tirme to time for a solution of the difficulties which present themselves constantly
in the development of farm work. This idea has been carried out to a much
greater extent than was at first anticipated. During the last nine years we have
received on an average over 25,000 letters a vear, and last year, 1897, we received
over 4(,000, an average of 130 per day. of which 9o per day were answered
'irectly, and the others were answered by distribution of samples and publications.
In the distribution o fbulletins and reports, the demand has been so great that we
T;ave sent out an average of 953 per day for every working day of the year, show-
ing that, so far as the giving of information is concerned, the farms have done an
immense amount of good. This correspondence to which I have referred was
all carried on at the Central Experimental Farm. The branch farms also conduct
a large correspondence with farmers in their respective localities.

Among the many problems presented to farmers none is so important as a
knowledge of the best methods of maintaining the fertility of the soil, and that
is a subject about which many questions are asked and this matter is presented
'I'o us in almost every possible form during the vear. Farmers are anxious to be
armed with all available information, so as to take advanta- of everv -ethod likelv
to :<d ;n the attainment of this desirable end. The subject, however. is surr.-unded
bv difficulties. The results of the use of fertilizers are much influenced by the
character of the season, and when this is unfavourable a man will sometimes have
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unsatisfactory returns after a liberal use of fertilizers. On the other hand when
the season is favonrable the farmer may get better returns than he expected.

FERTILIZERS

The results of the experiments we have conducted with fertilizers point to
the importance of their long continued use. No experiments in this direction
that are not carried on for a nunber of years can be wholly satisfactorv, and the
experiments which have been made at the Central Farni have given much needed
information. In the spring of 1887, 11 years ago on the 2nd day of May, opera-
tiens were begun on the Central Experimental Farm. During that year a piece
of ground was selected for testing the influence of fertilizers on crops, a piece of
virgin soil that had never before been used. There was a second growth of tiiber
on it which was cleared during that summer and the land brought into such a
condition that the following season the work was begun. The area set apart for
these tests included 105 one-tenth acre plots 21 of which were devoted to experi-
ments with wheat, 21 to oats, 21 to barley, 21 to maize, and 21 to roots. Each
of the root plots were divided, giving half the area to turnips and the other half
to mangels. A good deal of careful thought was given to all the more important
aspects presented by this subject, and the experiments were so planned as to gain
information as to the action of many of the more important fertilizers, and nany
things were tried with the object of anticipating questions which were likelv to
arise as the work progressed. Thirty-six of these plots were got ready for the
spring of 1888, and in 1889 the whole series with the exception of six plots of the
roots were in a fit condition to carry on the work and it bas been continued each
vear since. It was decided that in each series of 21 plots two of the plots should
be left without any fertilizer; these were Nos. 3 and 12 in each series. These have
been cropped with the sanie crop every year since then without any fertilizer being
applied. Of the other plots one was devoted to the testing of the usefulness of a
given quantity of green manure from the barn-yard, and another to the testing of
a similar weight of rotted manure. These experiments have been carried on,
side by side, and the results which have been obtained from that test have been
nf very great value to farmers generally, and have thrown much light on the
subject of the most economical use of barn-yard manure. Other plots were de-
voted to the testing of crude mineral phosphate, which i y ears ago was verv
much advertised as a valuable fertilizer provided it was very finely ground. In
our experiments this material has been ground to about the fineness of flour, and
we have used it in quantities varying from 500 to 1,ooo pounds per acre ; have
applied it every year for nine and ten years without any perceptible effect. After
grain had been grown for three vears we found that the plots became so weedy
that it was almost impossible to keep them clean. It was therefore decided to
divide the grain plots into two halves and cultivate potatoes and carrots in one
half of each grain plot on alternate years, using the other half for the grain and
thus the weeds have been kept under, hence the reports on the grain from this
series of plots cover only one-twentieth acre instead of one-tenth acre plots. By
this arrangement we have secured some valuable information as to the action of
fertilizers on carrot and potato crops which would not have been had if the expe-
riments had been continued simply upon the basis on which they were begun.
The most economical method of treating barn-yard manure is one of the most im-
portant problems in connection with farming. When we consider the millions of
domestic animals that are kept and the fact that nineteen-twentieths of the farmers
of this country depend almost entirely on barn-yard manure as a means of fertili-
zing their land, if the fertility of the soil is to be maintained, the very best use
should be made of this material which is to some extent available to every farner.
Tlhe crops which we have had during the past ten years from experiments with
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that ranure fresh from the barn-yard, weight for weight, has done equally well in
the prc.duction of these crops as rotted manure.

By Mr. Featherston :

Q. Have you continued the use of rotted manure, year after vear ?
A. Both the rotted manure and the fresh have been continued from year to

year from the outset.

Q. You probably found better results from rotted manure in the first year as
tompared with green manure ?

A. I could not speak positively on that point without referring to the records
for tlat vear. For the first five years we did not publish the results obtained,
because they were very contradictory. Since then 1 think we have had slightly
larger returns each year from the fresh manure.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Do you recommend farimers to take it out of the stables in the winter time
and spread it on the land?

A. I would advocate that where it can be done judiciously. Where a man's
farm is undulating and he puts his manure on a hillside it is likely to leach. But if
the land is fairly level the plan we adopt is to spread the manure in small heaps,
about one-third of a cartload in each, iear together, so that there mayr be no chance
of its fermenting during the winter, and spread it in the spring. I think it is better
to leave it in small heaps in the winter than to spread it.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Even on the slopes?
A. Yes, I would prefer to use it in this way even on the slopes, provided they

were not very steep. The farmer must, however, use his own judgment, and where
he is satisfied that the manure is likely to waste by leaching he had better leave it
in his barn-yard and cart it out in the spring.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. Do not most kinds of grain become weedy when fresh rnanure is used?
A. In growing wheat, barley or oats on the same land from year to year, with-

out any change of crop, the land will become so weedy in three or four years that a
hoed crop becomes necessary and more especially so where the manure is used
fresh.

By 11r. McMilIan:

Q. What kind of weeds were they which you have usually found?
A. Manv sorts, more especially the common thistle and the sow-thistle. Birds

and the wind would carry the seeds of these weeds on the land and some of the
other weeds would no doubt come from the manure.

Q. How did you cultivate the land?
A. We gang-ploughed it as soon as the crop was taken off in the summer,

very shallow so as to cover any shed grain or weed seeds there might be. Then we
harrowed it so as to make that covering still shallower. It wvas ploughed later in
the season. about 8 inches deep, and allowed to remain in that condition during
th winter.
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By Mr. Cargill:

Q. On those plots where you used rotted manure, did y ou find the land be-
come as weedy as on the plots upon which you used fresh manure?

A. In using fresh manure we used it from our own barn-yard, taking half cow
manure and half horse manure, and as our grain is better cleaned for feeding pur-
poses than is usual with farmers, perhaps our experience would not be quite a safe
guide in this matter. I have already stated that we found the plots where the fresh
manure was used rather the more weedy of the two, and there is no doubt that the
use of fresh manure increases the chance of weeds and where cattle are fed on
weedy grain or weedy fodder, large quantities of weeds may, in this way, be intro-
duced into the soil. I would like to impress upon the minds of this Committee
that these experiments are not undertaken with the idea that they are such as farm-
ers should imitate, but rather to ascertain, if we possibly can, what are the actual
effects of these fertilizers or combinations of fertilizers on the crops referred to, so
that we can give such information to the farmer as will be a guide to him.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Is the manure taken right from the stables to the fields?
A. We usually take our manure out every three or four davs and regard it as

fresh if removed within that time.

Q. The only danger is from washing?
A. We are careful to avoid that. I quite agree with Mr. McMillan that we

cannot take too much care of the manure. If we allow any leaching, the value of
the manure is correspondingly lessened.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. Would you advise the hauling out to wheat land of fresh manure?
A. I would prefer putting it on land where a hoed crop is to be grown, and

follow this with wheat.

Q. What I want to know is, would it be of greater advantage if used on wheat
to spread it over the land in the fall, or winter time, than to put it on the land
in the fall and plough it under?

A. I should much prefer to plough it under in the fall wherever this is
praci:cable, and if not weedy, I should say fresh manure was more economical for
wheat than that which has been rotted. During the process of rotting you lose
fully 6o per cent of the weight of the manure, and incur the labour of two or three
times handling, and after it has suffered this loss we find it not more valuable, on
the average, than fresh manure for the production of crops. Such a statement, if
made ten years ago, would have been regarded as a visionary one. It is only by
repeated applications of such tests, and showing farmers the resulting crops, thus
submitting to them object lessons from year to year of the most convincing and
reliable character that we can induce them to practice what we teach.

By Mr. Cochrane :

Q. Is not there a difference in the way the manure is rotted-if covered,
would it lose 6o per cent?

A. In our experiments we have had it under a shed where it has been well
covered, and it has lost fully 6o per cent each time of trial.
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FRESH AND ROTTED MANURE.

I will now give you the results of the experiments on various crops of the
application of fresh manure as compared with rotted manure

TABLE I.

Fresh manure versus rotted manure, 12 tons used first year ; 15 tons
each year after.

Crops Grown.

Wheat, average for 10 years ...
Barley 9
Oats 9

Indian corn, 12 tons each year-
No. 1, average for ten years....
Ne. 2 I ..

Turnips, 9 years, 20 tons each vear
Mangels, 9 20
Carrots, 7 15

Potatoes, 4 years, 15 tons each
year-

After wheat........ ........ .
barley.... ... ........

Fresh Manure. Rotted Manure.

Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.

20 4 20 .... ...
34 45 33 42
>3 19 46 23

Tons. ons.

33 821 12 8
15 784 14 1,0

~ To 299

22 22 953
21 20 19 1,749

Bush.

279
252

Bush.

279
258

32
42

From Fresh Manure.
Less. More.

Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.

....... ......... ... .... 4

....... ........ 6 30

Tons. Tons.
...... ....... 1 787

1,965 ...
........ .... ... 1 084

........ 1,553 ...
.... ... ........ 1 271

Bush. Bush.

.... ... ... .. ... ... 13
6 15 .. . .

By Mr. Meigs:

Q. How do you apply that manure on the grain ?
A. It is spread over the plots evenly and ploughed under lightly with the

plougli just enough to cover it. I may say with reference to corn that on No. i
plot a Dent variety was grown, and on No. 2 one of the Flint varieties. It will
be noticed that the Flint varieties have produced the lighter crops. The crops of
turnips for three or four years during the earlier part of this period suffered from
a disease known as " rot" and were very light. This disease has since disap-
peared, but the light crops of these early years has reduced the average for the
whole time very considerably. Potatoes where grown after barley have given a
heavier crop in every instance than where grown after wheat, the difference being
6 bushels 16 pounds on an average for four years in favour of the barley. The
differences in the crops referred to are, however, comparatively small, and it would
not be safe to say that fresh manure is better than rotted manure, but they clearly
point to the fact that the fresh manure is, weight for weight, about equal in value.

By Mr. Cochrane :

Q. Were the two kinds of manure of the same quality as well as quantity ?
A. Yes, they were composed in each case of equal parts of cow and horse

manure and weighed carefully. It is only by persistent and long continued
experiments of this sort that you can get sufficient evidence to convince intelligent
farmers of the correctness of such statements, and while ten years of experience,
in such work, is exceedingly valuable to the country 2o years would be much
more valuable because there are circumstances arising from time to time in the
character of the seasons which will modify results, and we require to continue such
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experiments for a long time in order to eliminate all chances of error. Thev be-
corne the more convincing the longer they are continued.

Mr. FEATHERSTON:-I have been convinced of the usefulness of fresh manure
for over 20 years.

Mr. MCMILLAN:-And so we have. We have on an average 150 cattle
and there is not a bushel of our manure that goes into the barn-yard to lose weight.
It is taken right to the field from the barn and spread, and in that way we get the
best resuits.

Mr. COCHRANE:-YOu would fot advise that where the land is extrenely
rolling.

Mr. MCMILLAN:-NO ; our land is not very rolling.

Mr. McGREGOR:-Or where the land is not well drained.

Mr. McMILLAN:-If it were going to be washed off the surface I would not
advise it, but we have our land well drained.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Would you put the barn-yard manure on the surface of the experimental
plots ?

A. Yes, it is spread over the ground just before the time for seeding, and
ploughed lightly under.

By Mr. Stenson:

Q. Is that on ground that has been ploughed before ?
A. Yes, the land composing these plots is ploughed in the autumn and har-

rowed in the spring to level it, and then the manure is spread and turned under
about three inches with the plough so as to cover it.

Q. Then you seed on that and harrow it again ?
A. No, we do not in this case harrow after seeding as the harrowing would

be likely to drag a'portion of the manure to the surface.
I mentioned a few moments ago that fine ground mineral phosphate i i years

ago was very much advocated as a fertilizer, and it was stated that largely in-
creased crops were got by the use of this material in its natural state provided it
was ground sufficiently fine before it was applied to the soil. It was claimed that
the pl osphoric acid contained in this rock was thus made available to the growing
trops. We have now tested this material for ten vears on plots of the same size
as those on which barn-yard manure has been used, and the figures given below
'show the results.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Did you put the same kind of seed from vear to year in the plots ?
A. Yes; in these fertilized plots the same sort of grain runs through the whole

series of years.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Do you ever put your bedding through the straw cutter?
A. Yes ; and that makes the use of fresh manure less difficult to plough

under, the cut straw also absorbs the liquids in the manure more completel--
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where the straw is not cut the fresh manure is not always easily covered by the
'Plough.

By Senator Perley:

Q. How short do you cut it ?
A. About two or three inches long. The results of the experiments with

mineral phosphates are given in the following:-

TABLE II.

Mineral Phosphate, untreated, but finely ground, compared with average from
an adjoining unmanured plot for a series of years.

Crops Grown. Mineral Phosphate. Unmraur oUnmanured Plots.

500 pou nds per acre. Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.

Wheat, average of 10 years... .... ........ ............ 10 33 10 36
Barley 9 ..... ................. .. 14 26 14 14
Oats 9 . . .......... . .... .............. 30 18 30 32

800 pounds per acre. Tons. Tons.

Corn plot 1, average of 10 years. ................ . . 6 1,843 8 306
2, 10 .. . ..... .......... ......... 4 1,890 5 1,583

1,000 pounds per acre.

Turnips, average of 9 years.... .................. ...... 7 1,327 7 1,026
Mangels 9 years..................... ...... 8 1,351 9 525

500 pounds per acre.

Carrots, average of 7 years .......... ...................... 12 1,565 12 1,401
Potatoes, after wheat, average of 4 years........ . .... .... 96 50 102 20

after barley, 4 years............ ..... .. 103 50 123 30

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. What is the cost of this finely-ground mineral phosphate?
A. Usually about from $1o to $12 per ton. With all the crops named the

differences in yield between the plots fertilized with the fine-ground mineral phos-
phate and those which receivd no fertilizer is so slight that it is evident that the
fine-ground mineral phosphate, untreated, is of no value as a fertilizer.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. How do you account for the fact that it has no effect when put on the
land?

A. It is insoluble in water, and hence cannot be taken up by the rootlets of
plants.

Q. Why should you have a poorer crop?
A. Of course, it cannot be an injury to the land; these differences in yield

must be due to slight variations in the natural fertility of the soil.
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MINERAL PHOSPHATE, TREATED.

Another plot was manured with mineral phosphate, which had been treated
with sulphuric acid, which converts the insoluble phosphate into soluble; super-
phosphate, and the results are compared with the unmanured plots, showing a gain
in weight as follows:-

TABLE III.

Mineral Superphosphate-compared with unmanured plot.

Crops Grown. Mnera Unmanured Flot. Less. More.

500 pounds pr aecre. Bush. Lbs. Bush. Dis. Bush. Lhs. Bush. Lbs.

Wheat, average of 10 years....... il 48 10 36...............
Barley n 9 n..... 21 36 14 14 22
Oats n 9 35 12 30 32 14

Tons. Lbs. Tons Lbs To Tons Lbs.
Corn, No. 1, average of 10 years.. 13 1,082 8 306................. . 776

2, 10 .. 10 874 5 1583
Turnips 9 . 9 356 7 1,026............... I 1,33o
Mangels, n 9 n 9 1,014 9 ......... 489
Carrots 7 . 9 1,878 il !89 2 523
Potatoes, average of 4 years- Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.

After wheat............. .... 104 30 102 20. ......... . 10
1barley ... ... .......... 156 30 123 30

It will be noticed that the increase of crop is considerable in some instances,
showing the advantages of using the superphosphate as a fertilizer. The large
gain in the plot of potatoes after barley is very striking.

By Mr. Rogers :

Q. What is the cost per acre of that fertilizer?
A. The superphosphate, such as I arn speaking of now, costs from $12 to $16

per ton.

By Hon. Mr. Fisher:

Q. That is what we caîl in commerce the plain sup2rplîosphate?
A. Yes.

Q. Which is a combination of st!lphuric acid and minerai phosphate?
A. Yes, the acid acting on the cnde phosphate renders it soluble.

Q. There is no animal phospgate in this?
A. No, not usuallv.

Q. How much was applied in these experiments?
A. Five hundred pounds per acr .

By Mr. Sprouler:

Q. That is what we calli Capelton phosphate?
A. Yes, there are large quantities of this fertilizer made at the Capelton works.
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Q. I bought some and paid $23 for it?
A. Where did you buy it?

Q. I bought it in Toronto?
A. In that case there is the freight to pay from Capelton to Toronto, which

would add to the cost.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Would the increase in the crop pay the cost of the fertilizer?
A. Not in these particular experiments, because it has been used in unusually

large proportions to demonstrate what can be done with this single fertilizer on
these particular crops. We would not recommend farmers to try it in this way,
further it only supplies one of the fertilizing elements needed by growing plants.

The next plot was treated with a complete fertilizer, consisting of mineral
superphosphate 350 lbs., nitrate of soda 200 lbs,. and wood ashes 1,500 lbs. per
acre, in this the three important elements of plant food are supplied. In the follow-
ing table a comparison is made of the results of this complete fertilizer vith the
plain superphosphate, as follows:--

TABLE IV.

Complete Fertilizer-Mineral superphosphate 350 Ibs., nitrate of soda 200 Is..
wood ashes 1.500 lbs. per acre; compared with mineral superphosphate, 500
Ibs. per acre.

C ornplete Minerai

Crops Gyro-wni. sMo.CroieGrown Fertilizer. 1!Superphosphate. LesMo.

Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lb,. Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.
Wheat, average of 10 years. . 13 48 i 482
Barley 9 . . 13 21 3 .............. 4 25
Oats 9 .. . 6 1 35 12....... ...... 23

i Tous. Lbs. Tons. Lbs. Tons. Lbs. Tous. Lbs.
Corn plot 1, average of 10 years.. 16 492 10 1,453. ....... 5 1,039

2 H 10 12 1,152 8 215................... 4 937
Turnips 9 . 12 50 9 356... 2 1,694
Mangels 9 14 834 9 f , 4 . . . .

.
. .

.
4 1 , 8 2 0

Carrots 7 ... 1, 257 9 1,878.. 1,379
Potatoes- Bush. Bush Bush. Lbs.

After wheat, average of 4 years. 910 32 145 37..................64 55
barle 4 . 192 37 163 22 ............... 2 . 15

These results show a very substantial increase in most af the crops referred ta
where the three important elements of fertility are used, and ail in a soluble condi-
tion.

B2 r. 1 2 3 ...Il. .4i

Q.About what price do you pav for ashes?
A. We get most of the ashes we use fromn the public buildings, where we get

themn free of charge. They are usually estimated as worth about io cents a bushel.
A bushel would weigh from 35 ta 40 pounds, depending on the amou3t of moisture
ini them.

By Mr. Calvert o

Q.Is ashes a good thing ta spread around fruit trees?
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A. Yes, an excellent thing. They supply the land with potash, which fruit
trees draw largely from the soil.

Q. Would you put the ashes close to the trees?
A. There is no advantage in putting it close for the purpose of feeding the

roots of the trees, because they are always a good distance out from the trunk. I
do not know that any harm would result from putting ashes close to the trees in
the quantity you would ordinarily use. They would probably have the effect of
kill:. irjurious insects; but when using them as a fertilizer they will usually prove
more effective if scattered evenly over the whole surface.

GROUND BONES.

Another substance used as a fertilizer, but which we have not been able to get
the benefit from which some people claim to have had, is ground bones. Experi-
ments have been tried with this for ten years, using 500 pounds to the acre every
year. When the results obtained from ground bones are compared with those had
from the plot which has received no manure it will be observed that the advantage
derivcl from the use of the ground bone has been comparatively small.

TABLE V.

Bones, finely ground-5oo pounds per acre ; compared with a plot unnanured,
for nine and ten years.

Crops Grown. Bie ou Unianured Less. I M<ore.Finely Ground. Plot.

Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs. B u s h . L b s. B u s h . L b s .
Wheat, average of 10 years...... il 48 10 36 1 12
Barley If 9 I . .. . 14 7 14 14 ....... 7
Oats 9 , . 33 11 30 33 . 2 12

Tons. Tons. iTons. Tons.
Corn plot 1, average of 10 years... 11 1,402 s ........ ........ 3 1,0. 6

2 10 9.. il 108 5 1,3 ...... . ....... 3 525
Carrots l... 843 12 1,401 1 558 .
Potatoes- Bush. Bush. Bush. Bush.

After wheat, average of 4 years. 108 50 102 )0 .... . ... . 6 30
barley 4 . 116 10 i 123 30 7 20 ......

Ground bone was not used separately on the plots of turnips and mangels, but
was used in connection with wood ashes. That plot cannot, for this reason, be
used as a basis for comparison in this case.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. What do you pay for ground bone per ton ?
A. From $25 to $30 per ton, or about a cent and a half per poind. If we

are to judge by the results we have had it does not pay to use ground bone as a
fertilizer on the crops referred to.

COMMON SALT.

The next point I want to speak of is in regard to the use of common salt as
a fertilizer. We have used on one set of plots, each year, for rine and ten years
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300 pounds of common salt per acre. As compared with the unmanured plots
common salt has given results much better than were expected. It has increased
the yield of wheat 2 bushels and 59 pounds per acre for the whole period. It has
more than doubled the crop of barley ; whereas the unmanured plots have aver-
aged 14 bushels and i pound ; the salted plots have averaged 28 bushels and 38
pounds, an increase of 14 bushels 29 pounds as an average of nine years test, which
is a nost remarkable increase. With oats the use of salt has added an average of
nearly five bushels to the acre.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. What quantity did you use to the acre ?
A. Three hundred pounds.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. How do you apply it ?
A. We sprinkle it over the surface.

Q. When seeding ?
A. No ; we scatter the fertilizer over the surface and then run the seed drill

right through, leaving this fertilizer just slightly covered by the action of the seed
drill.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Could you tell us what the growth of straw was on these plots ?
A. The average weight of straw per acre on the plot of barley to which salt

was applied was 2,143 pounds, and on the unmanured plot 1,592 pounds, a differ-
ence in favour of the salted plot of 551 pounds.

Mr. COCHRANE:-My experience with salt is that when you have a great
growth of straw the crop is not so liable to be well filled as it is if the straw is not
so strong and greater results mav be produced from that fact than from the manu-
rial qualities in the salt.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. What is the character of the soil on which the salt was used ?
A. It is sandy loam with a little clay in it.

Q. A black loam ?
A. No, it is not black ; it is a fair, sandy loam ; not a very good quality of

'soil.

By Mr. Semple:

Q. How many years have vou tried these experiments with salt ?
A. Nine vears with barley and ten vears with wheat.

Q. I remember it was used a great many vears in Wellington County and the
results were not satisfactorv. I do not know if anv is used there now.

A. It seems to be a valuable fertilizer for the barlev crop, judging from our
exper*înents.
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By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Would you recommend it on black loam ?
A. We have had no experience with salt on black loam, and I should hesitate

to make any recommendations in this instance. I have given the results we have
had on sandy loam. They might have been different on another sort of soil.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. There is nothing that binds heavy clay like salt ?
A. Yes, I know it has a binding effect on heavy clay. With turnips there

has not been much difference between the unmanured and salted plots. The salted
plot showed an average of 67 pounds only of increase per acre, but with mangels
the increase was 1,314 pounds. With carrots the increase was 1,992 pounds in
favour of the salt as compared with the unmanured plot. With potatoes the un-
manured plot has given a larger crop than the salted plot.

By Mr. Rogers :

Q. Does not salt exhaust the fertility of the soil ?
A. Salt is said to have a direct action on the soil in liberating potash, convert-

ing the insoluble forms of this substance into soluble forms. It is difficult, how-
ever, to account in this way for the average good results we have had for ten
years.

By Mr. Featherston

Q. Does it not come a good deal from the atmosphere ?
A. We have no proof that the atmosphere contributes anything in this case.

By Mr. Cochrane :

Q. Is it not a fact that salt will attract moisture ?
A. Yes, that is quite true.

By Mr. McMillan :
Q. Will it not attract ammonia as well as moisture?
A. I do not think it has any special power of attracting ammonia. In absorb-

ing moisture it would probably take up the ammonia that was in that moisture,
but this would be so infinitesimally small in quantity that it could have no percep-
tible effect.

By Mr. Meigs:

Q. Do you mean to say that there was double the quantity of barley every
year ?

A. There was an average of this every year for nine years ; some years the
crop was larger than in others.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Did you use any other manure ?
A. We used no other manure.
I must not tax the patience of the Committee by giving further details. This

series of 105 plots gives much information as to the effects of simple fertilizers
and mixtures of fertilizers, and I have selected the few referred to in order to draw
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attention to the importance of this work. I regard the results obtained from
these plots as among the most valuable information gained at the experimental
farm, and sincerely hope that nothing will be allowed to interfere with their continu-
ance for many years longer. The longer they are carried on the more reliable will
be the conclusions drawn from them. We have very much yet to learn on this
subject.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. How much land do you occupy this year with experimental work?
A. There are ten and a half acres in this series of experimental plots, and pro-

bably 12 to 15 acres, otherwise, but I am not able to give the exact area without
reference to our books. The annual test plots have been reduced in size this vear.

By Mr. Cochrane :

Q. What do I understand by ten years in a series; do vou use the same plot
without manure ?

A. Yes, the same plot every year without manure.

By Mr. Parmalee :

Q. The comparison is with a plot with no manure at all?
A. There are two plots used in this comparison, on one of which there is no

manure at all, and on the other the salt has been applied each vear.

GYPSUM EXPERIMENTS.

Before leaving this subject I will submit the results of experiments with land
plaster or gypsum, compared with the unmanured plot, which were as follows:-

TABLE VI.

Land plaster or gypsum, 300 Ibs. per acre, compared with the unmanured plot for
nine and ten years.

Crops Grown. Lanc Plaster. Unmanured.

Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.

Wheat, average of 10 years. ..... .... ... . .. î 12 1 57 10 36
Barley 9 . . .... .................. 20 35 14 14
Oats 9 .. ... ,... ................ 33 6 30 32

Tons. Tons.
Carrots 7 . ........... ... ........ 13 1,355 12 401

Increase.

Bush. Lbs.

2 21
6 21
2 14

Tons.
........ 1,954

With potatoes after wheat the unmanured plot gave the largest crop, but with
potatoes after barley the plot treated with gypsum gave the largest return.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. How much do you use to the acre?
A. Three hundred pounds.
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By Mr. Calvert :

Q. What does it cost per acre?
A. Land plaster costs by the carload in Ottawa from $8 to $1o per ton. It

varies much in quality, containing from 10 to 20, and sometimes 30 per cent of
impurities.

By Mr. Richardson:

Q. Where is it got, and is it plentiful?
A. Very plentiful. It is obtained on the Grand River, near Paris. and in other

parts of western Ontario, and there are immense deposits in Nova Scotia and New
Brunswick.

Q. Has it to be ground up?
A. Yes, it is ground very fine, and is sold in bags of 200 pounds each.
The potato crop was not much improved by the use of land plaster. The

barley was influenced quite favourablv, and wheat, oats and carrots to some extent.

Q. Have you tried plaster on clover?
A. Yes, and we have found it very beneficial.
The facts and figures I have presented to you seem to show:

CONCLUSIONS DERIVED FROM EXPERIMENTS WITH MANURE.

(i.) That barn-yard manure used fresh on the crops named is about equal,
weight for weight, in effect, to rotted manure.

(2.) That finely ground, untreated mineral phosphate, when applied to the soil
is not available, to any extent, as plant food, and that no material effect is notice-
able even when applied in quantities of from 500 to 1,ooo pounds a year per acre
for ten years.

(3.) That when the same material is treated and converted into superphosphate
the effect is beneficial and most marked on crops of barley, oats, corn and turnips.

(4.) That a complete fertilizer, composed of 350 pounds of mineral superphos-
phate, 200 pounds nitrate of soda and 1,5oo pounds of ashes is much more effective
on crops than superphosphates used alone.

(5.) That finely-ground bone has not produced the resuilts in these experi-
ments, in increase of crops, which were expected, the beneficial action being most
marked on Indian corn, oats and wheat. Ground bone was not used alone on
roots.

(6.) Common salt has increased most of the crops materially, especially barley,
where it has doubled the crop for an average of nine years; it is also beneficial on
mangels and carrots and, to a less extent, on wheat.

(7.) Gypsum has also proved useful, especially with barley and, to a less de-
gree, on oats, wheat and carrots.

By Mr. Pettet :

Q. Did you ever use lime?
A. Yes, but not in this special series of plots. Lime is very useful when

applied to some soils. Where lime exists in the soil in the proportion of less than
one per cent, lime may be added with advantage, and will increase the crops, as a
rule; this result, however, is not always produced by any direct action of its own as
a fertilizer, but usually by its chemicai action on the elements of -fertility in the soi]
by which insoluble plant food is made soluble and available.
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By Mr. Stenson:

Q. You made a comparison between green and rotted manure, and found
them equally good one with the other?

A. Yes, we found that they gave crops equally good.

Q. And the rotting of the manure made it less in weight by 6o per cent?
A. Yes, over 6o per cent of the weight used was lost in rotting.

Q. So whoever gets his manure to rot will lose 6o per cent in quantity?
A. Yes, and will have to handle it twice.

Q. You have made this comparison between rotted and green manure. Now,
in proportion with these other fertilizers, what has been your experience on these
plots between manure and these other fertilizers?

A. The results are all given in the tables published in the Annual Report òf
the Experimental Farms. These experiments have not been undertaken with the
object of giving information on the economical use of manures. Unusual and
rather extravagant quantities have been used in order to demonstrate clearly the
action of each sort on particular crops. Speaking generally, we have not had the
results from the use of artificial fertilizers which was expected, when compared with
barn-yard manure. Still, I regard artificial fertilizers as exceedingly useful and
when judiciously used they present to the growing crops the plant food required
in soluble forms which are readily appropriated.

EXPERIMENTS WITH CLOVER.

Last year I referred to the subject of enriching the soil by ploughing under
leguminous plants, especially clover. This subject is of so much importance that
I venture to speak of it again, and to give you some details of the experiments
carried on during the past year. These experiments were begun at the Central
Experimental Farm in 1895 and continued in 1896 and 1897. They have shown
that clover can be sown with grain without lessening the grain crop for the current
year, and that when ten pounds of clover seed is used a fine even growth is obtain-
ed, which serves the purpose of a catch crop during the summer, absorbs a large
quantity of nitrogen from the air during the season and stores this up in its leaves,
stems and roots, that the roots range far and deep to gather food, going deeper
than most other plants can go in search of it, and that when subsequently this mass
of material is ploughed under, it is to the great advantage of the land, improving
its texture and adding materially to its fertility. During 1897 about thirty-six
acres of grain fields were treated in this way, all sown with ten pounds of clover to
the acre, and ploughed under at the close of the season, in October, when the
clover was ten or twelve inches high and the soil was filled with roots, and all
this mass of fertilitv has been added to the soil of these fields. The same land
has been sown again with other crops this year, using clover in the same propor-
tion, and we expect to be able to plough under a similar body of fertilizing material
during the coming autumn and shortly to demonstrate the usefulness of that
method of enriching the soil by the increase of crop gained.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Is the clover sown in the fall or the spring ?
A. It is sown in the spring with the grain, ten pounds of seed to the acre.
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By Mr. Featherston :

Q. Is that not pretty heavy seeding ?
A. That quantity has been found to give the best results.
Clover was sown in 1897 in plots, in different quantities-four, six, eight, ten,

twelve and fourteen pounds per acre, of Mammoth Red Clover ; ten pounds of
Common Red; fourteen pounds of Alfalfa, and six pounds of Alsike being used
on different plots. An average spot of four by four feet (16 square feetì was
marked out on the 2oth October about the time this would be ploughed under on
each plot and dug over carefully, gathering every fragment of leaf, stem and root,
which was weighed and the vield per acre calculated, with the following resuilt:-

TABLE VII.

Kind of Clover. Tons. Lbs.

4 lbs. per acre, Mammoth Red clover, yield of leaves, stems and roots............. 5 550
6 ............. 5 1,966
8 .. .... . . 6 974

10 one experinent, 7 tons, 293 lbs.... .......
10 second 7 1,399 I .............

Average. ...... 7 . . 846 , ....... ..... 7 846
12 lbs. per acre ... ......................................... 6 1,612
14 . . . ................. 6 506
10 Cominon Red clover ... .. ..... .. .......... ......... . 8 505
14 Alfalfa.... .............. ............. ......................... 3 1,317
6 Alsike.................... .. . .......... ................... . . . 207

It is estimated that one ton of clover, mixed leaves, stems and roots ploughed
under will add as much nitrogen to the soil as two tons of barn-yard manure. The
clover at the same time will gather, from depths which the roots of many other
plants do not reach, stores of the other important inineral fertilizers and place them
within reach of the following crop, so that thev may be said to enrich the land in
that way. No other class of plants can be used so economically and with so little
interference with the regularity of the farmer's crops.

Experiments are also being carried on at the branch experimental farms, in
the growing of clover for ploughing under, with the object of ascertaining how far
this crop cati be made generally useful for the purpose referred to.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. Is there any difference in the feeding qualities between common and Mam-
moth clover?

A. The Mammoth Red Clover is a stronger grower than the common red and
on account of its coarseness is more apt to be woody when curved. We have found
cattle eat the hay of both very readilv. The common red has given the largest
weight of roots and tops per acre for ploughing under, 8 tons 505 pounds, as
against an average Of 7 tons 848 pounds from the Mammoth Red.

By Hon. Mr. Fisher:

Q. But that includes roots, and it therefore would not necessarilv be a heavier
crop of hay?

A. No; yet I should think that the Mammoth Red would probably give the
heaviest crop of hay.
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By Mr. Calvert:

Q. You have a larger quantity of roots and tops from common than Mam-
moth, and I did not know whether there would be any difference in the feeding
qualities of the hay ?

A. I do not think there would be any material difference. Where a farmer
can turn in cattle to feed on these crops of clover, that is a more economical way to
use them, because he can get an additional profit from the animals, and the manure
which the cattle will drop will restore to the soil nearly all the fertilizing constitu-
ents which the clover has taken out. If the clover is cut and fed in the barn the
manure should be returned to the land.

Q. It would be more advantageous to feed it first to the cattle?
A. Yes, if the cattle were to pasture on it, but where a farmer has not the

cattle necessary for this purpose it will pay him well to grow it to plough under,
because every ton of this material turned under adds as much nitrogen to the soil
as two tons of barn-yard manure, so that a crop of 7'2 tons to the acre is about
the same as putting 15 tons of manure on the land, as far as nitrogen is concerned,
and it brings up a considerable quantity of potash and phosphoric acid from the
depths of the soil and places these within reach of the next crop so that it practi-
cally adds to the soil, as far as the next crop is concerned in these other important
constituents also.

By Mr. Cargill

Q. Do you think you would have just as good results by pasturing the clover
until late in the fall and then ploughing it down as you would by leaving the clover
to grow to a pretty full crop before ploughing it under?

A. I think so; there may be some kinds of soil in regard to which it will be
better to plough the full crop under, but, speaking generally, I think that pastur-
ing would be the better method to adopt.

SOJA BEANS.

There is one other plant I wish to refer to bearing on this subject, that is the Soja
Beans, a leguminous crop which, I think, is one of the most promising things we
have tested, and one which can be used for several different purposes. This (hold-
ing up a specimen) is one of the earlier varieties of the Soja bean, grown in Japan.
Last year we procured seeds of this variety from Peter Henderson & Co., of New
York, imported by that firm from Japan. It may be used as a soiling crop, or for
hay or ensilage, or it may be used for ploughing under, if desired. The varieties of
Soja beans heretofore tried at the Central Farm have been late in ripening :nd
have not yielded well, but this early variety was sown on the 25th May in rows
nine inches apart in a plot of 12 by 15 feet, gave well-podded vines by the time of
cutting, September 25th, with a yield of green fodder, from the plot, equal to i
tons 885 pounds per acre. As this plant is said to endure hot, dry weather, it is
hoped that it may be found useful to grow for ensilage, to mix with corn in those
districts where horse beans have not been successful. The crop from this bean last
year at the Central Farm was heavier in proportion than any crop of horse beans
we have grown there. A further supply of the seed of this variety has been secured
this season, and test plots have been arranged at all the branch farms, and plots of
the horse beans have been planted alongside of them. We hope next vear to have
fuller particulars to give regarding this promising plant. It will probably prove a
valuable plant for ensilage purposes, to mix with corn. and to give added nitrogen
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to improve the quality of that feed. An analysis of this Soja bean shows it to be
about as rich in nitrogen as the horse bean, and it would no doubt be as valuable
as a food for cattle.

By Mr. Stenson:

Q. Where can the seed of this bean be procured?
A. We get it from Peter Henderson & Co., of New York; the price at which

it is sold is $5 a bushel. We procured a sufficient quantity of this seed to admit of
testing it at all the experimental farms.

By Hon. Mr. Fisher:

Q. Does this seed ripen here
A. It has not ripened with us thus far.

By Mr. Cargill :

Q. You spoke of sowing clover in the fall. Does it do as well as in the
sprng?

A. I spoke of sowing it in the spring and ploughing it under in the fall.
In reference to the Soja bean, I thought of testing that for ploughing under in

the North-west. Clover is a difficult crop to grow there, as we grow it here. The
grain takes all the moisture out of the land, and there is never enough after growth
in the clover plants to make the crop useful for ploughing under. But where a
piece of land is intended to be fallowed if it is sown with a crop of this sort and that
ploughed under in the autumn, if it succeeds well there is a large quantity of
humus added to the soil, also a considerable addition of nitrogen which improves
the character of the soil and enriches it materially. We hope to try some experi-
ments in that line with these Soja beans.

By Mr. Stenson:

Q. In regard to the roots of clover, how far down do they reach ?
A. I reported last year to this Committee the results of some experiments in

regard to that question. We found the roots of clover that had been sown in the
spring of one year four feet deep on the 24th of May of the following year, and
some of the small fibres extended below that depth.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Was that in sandy soil ?
A. No ; in clay loam.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Did you ever try turning down buckwheat ?
A. Yes, we have, and have fpund some benefit from this practice, but the

difference between buckwheat and these nitrogen collecting plants is very great in
regard to the amount of fertility that is added to the land. Buckwheat merelv
restores to the soil what it takes from it, but it does restore it in a more readily
available form so that the next crop can feed on it to advantage. But these nitro-
gen collectors accomplish the same end, and also take nitrogen from the air.
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BROME GRASS.

I wish to make a remark or two here about Brome grass. The members of the
Committee were very much interested last year in some experiments I spoke of with
this grass, and I desire now to say a word as to how it has succeeded during the past
year. The one acre plot we had at the Central Farm gave last season one ton twelve
hundred and ten pounds of cured hay, of excellent quality. Our Timothy gave an
average of one and one-half tons, or a little less. At the branch Experimental
Farm at Indian Head, one acre of Brome grass gave three and one-half tons, and
22 acres of new crop, notwithstanding that the season was very dry and unfavour-
able in the spring, gave an average of one ton sixteen hundred and sixteen pounds
per acre, and from other fields of 20 acres in all, which have been cut for hay or
seed, for three, four and five years, an average of one ton six hundred and five
pounds per acre. The largest crop obtained from the several plots under test at
Brandon was three tons four hundred pounds per acre. More than 2,000 sample
bags of a pound each of this seed were distributed during the past season by mail
free, and the distribution that is going on this season is expected to be equally
large or perhaps larger. Large importations of this seed have also been made by
Canadian seedsmen and sold to farmers, especially in Manitoba and the North-
west Territories. The surplus seed produced at the western experimental farms
fias been sold to farmers in quantities of five, ten and twenty pounds to each indi-
vidual. During the past year experiments have been carried on in feeding Brome
grass hay to steers as compared with timothy at the Central Farm, and also at
Indian Head. It has been fed also to milch cows and to horses, and has been
found very nutritious and useful. Its value for feeding purposes seems now to
have been definitely settled. The advantages arising from the introduction of this
grass into the North-west country are so great that it may be regarded as inau-
gurating a new era in dairying and stock raising all through the west. There was
great need for a grass which could be cultivated for hay and which would
furnish good pasture when established, and this Brome grass fills the bill exactly.
It starts very early in the spring before any other grass, gives a good feed where
it is used for pasture and stands the extreme cold of winter and the dry weather in
the summer very well. It can be pastured up to November or December, and
gives feed much later than any native pastures in that country. It also promises
from its earliness, hardiness and strong root system to be useful in many other
parts of the Dominion. At first it was thought there might be some difficulty in
getting rid of the roots of this grass when it was desired to plough it under. Experi-
h-lents have been tried to test this matter and no difficulty has been experienced
in getting rid of them. In the North-west country this upturned sod is an advan-
tage as it gives a condition of soil similar to a new piece of prairie, and the crop
is not so liable to be injured by winds, and blowing there is a great detriment to
the crop : another advantage which bas been found for it is that it will grow better
on alkaline land than any other grass we have tried.

By Air. Rogers :

Q. Do animals like it as well as other grasses?
A. Yes, equally well.
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COMMITTEE Room No. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

WEDNESDAY, 11th May, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this
day at i i o'clock a.m.; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

DR. SAUNDERS, Director of the Dominion Experimental Farms, was pre-
sent by recall, and continued his statement of the 6th May, as follows -

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-When I had the pleasure of appearing before
you last Wednesday I discussed at some length the results of experiments with
fertilizers on different plots of land and with different crops, covering a period of
ten years. The results of the average crops obtained during these ten years was
presented, and also some particularsas to the advantage of adding to the fertility
of the soil by the ploughing under of green crops, especially clover. With this sub-
ject disposed of, and the land properly prepared for crop, the next important con-
sideration for the farmer is the selection of the best and most productive varieties
of grain to sow. In this work the experimental farms have been most lelpful.

UNIFORM TEST PLOTS.

All the most promising sorts of grain available have been brought together
from many different parts of the world and grown side by side on the experimental
farms, on what are called uniform test plots. In preparing for this uniform work of
testing, a piece of land has been selected on each farm as uniform as possible in its
character, and this has been laid out in plots of one-tenth or one-twentieth acre
each, taking care that different varieties of each grain shall be sown together on
one piece of uniform land, and the seed of all the different sorts sown on the same
day, or within two days. In this way all the varieties sown have the same advant-
ages as to the preparation of the soil, the quality of the soil, and the conditions of
climate. They are watched through the whole period of their growth, their relative
earliness is noted, and when the time for harvesting comes they are harvested
separately, threshed separately, and the yield of each plot carefully noted. The
results are published in bulletin form, as early as possible in the winter, so that they
may be sent to farmers throughout the Dominion in ample time to supply informa-
tion as to the best varieties of grain to select for sowing. This work has been
carried on at all the experimental farms for the past three vears. Before that
time these uniform tests were conducted at the Central Farm only for some two or
three years, but, having extended it to the branch farms, we can now. give the
average results for three years of the growing of many of the most important
cereals under the different climatic conditions which occur in the Dominion.
The length of time during which such experiments have been conducted has much
to do with the readiness with which the lessons they teach are accepted. You may
bring before the farmer the experience of any particular year and he may say :
" This is an unusual season in regard to the weather or in some other particular, and
that another year you may have to take all this back and give an entirely different
report," but when you get the results of three vears, or more, and average these,
the elements of uncertainty are eliminated to a large extent, and the results be-
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come, in the main, reliable.
these uniform test plots, and
have averaged best at all the
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About sixty varieties of oats have been under trial in
I submit here the results of the twelve varieties which
experimental farms.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Would it not be better for you, in speaking of the farms to locate the dif-
ferent farms and give the results of each?

A. That I should be very glad to do, but this is given fully in Bulletin 29. I
an submitting these particulars now with the view of showing the average results
obtained under the different climatic conditions throughout the Dominion.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. I think it would be better to publish the results of each farm located in the
different provinces?

A. If that is the wish of the Committee I will, with pleasure, include it in the
proofs of this evidence. The following are the particulars desired:-

THREE YEARS' EXPERIENCE WITH VARIETIES OF OATS.

The twelve varieties of oats which have averaged the heaviest crops at the
several experimental farms during the past three years are the following:-

CENTRAL EXPERIMENTAL FARM, OTTAWA.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

Banner........... ......... ........ 68 30
Golden Beauty...................... 65 15
American Triumph................. 65 13
Colum bus...... ........ ........... 65 12
White Russian.................... 65
Abundance......... ..... .......... 63 23

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

7. Golden Giant..................... 63 15
8. American Beauty................ 62 12
9. White Schonen . ................ 61 28

10. Improved Ligowo................ 61 18
11. Bavarian...... ........ ......... 59 22
12. W allis..... ..... ............... 58 23

An average yield of 63 bushels 15 Ibs. per acre.

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR THE MARITIME PROVINCES, NAPPAN, N.S.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

W allis..... ........ ............... 74 31
White Russian...................... 73 31
Banner......... .................. 71 13
California Prolifie Black............ 70 7
Columbus...... ........ ........... 70
Early Gothland..................... 69 13

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

7. Golden Beauty................... 69 7
8. Early Blossom................... 68 28
9. American Beauty................ 68 21

10. Abyssinia...... ........ ........ 67 15
11. White Schonen.................. 67 9
12. Improved Ligowo................ 65 17

An average yield of 69 bushels 24 Ibs. per acre.

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR MANITOBA, BRANDON, MAN.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

Banner......... ........ .......... 86 16
Early Golden Prolific............... 86 6
American Beauty..................85 20
Holstein Prolific.................... 77 25
Golden Giant....................... 77 15
White Schonen..................... 73 1

An average yield of 75 bushels 20 lbs. per acre.
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Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

7. Golden Beauty.................. 72 22
8. Rosedale......... ............... 71 26
9. Bavarian......... .............. 69 24

10. Improved Ligowo............... 69 4
11. Joanette........ ................ 69 4
12. Columbus......... ............. 68 il
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EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR THE N. W. TERRITORIES, INDIAN HEAD, N.W.T.

Per Acre. Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.

1. Columbus............ .............. 92 19 7. Improved Ligowo................ 84 29
2. Holstein Prolific.................... 91 3 8. Wide Awake..................... 84 21
3. American Beauty................... 89 1 9. Early Archangel................. 82 14
4. Abundance......... ................ 86 33 10. Early Golden Prcolific............ 83 8
5. W hite Schonen..................... 85 13 11. Abyssinia......... .............. 81 16
6. Golden Beauty...................... 85 3 12. American Triumph.............. 80 27

An average yield of 85 bushels 23 Ibs. per acre.

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR BRITISH COLUMBIA, AGASSIZ, B.C.

Per Acre. Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.

1. Early Gothland..................... 61 4 7. Columbus.............. ......... 56 9
2. Lincoln........ ........ ........... 60 18 8. Oderbruoh...................... 56 4
3. Bavarian........ .................. 58 28 9. American Beauty................ 55 33
4. Early Golden Prolific............... 58 16 10. Bonanza......... ............... 55 31
5. Golden Giant....................... 57 5 11. Hazlett's Seizure................ 55 23
6. Early Blossom...................... 57 4 12. Banner... ...... ........ 55 22

An average yield of 57 bushels 14 lbs. per acre.

The twelve varieties which have produced the largest average crops for the
past three years on all the farns, and hence mav, perhaps, be regarded as worthy of
being placed at the head of the list for general cultivation are:

Per Acre. Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.

1. American Beauty................... 72 10 7. Holstein Prolifle,................ 67 18
2. Banner........ .................... 72 7 8. Improved Ligowo................ 66 18
3. Columbus......... ................. 70 15 9. W hite Russian.................. 65 25
4. Golden Beauty..................... 69 1 10. W allis......... ................. 65 18
5. W hite Schonen..................... 68 7 11. Bavarian........... ............ 64 33
6. Early Golden Prolific............... 67 26 12. Early Gothland................. 64 22

An average yield of 67 bushels 32 Ibs. per acre.

The Abundance, which is also a very promising oat, averaged 64 bushels 17
1bs. per acre, within five pounds per acre of the Early Gothland.

THREE YEARS' EXPERIENCE WITH VARIETIES OF BARLEY.

Among the barleys fifteen sorts of two-rowed have been under trial at all the
experimental farms, and in the following table the crops obtained from the best
six of these are given:-

TWO-ROWED BARLEY.

The six varieties of two-rowed barley which have averaged the heaviest crops
at the several experimental farms during the past three years are the following:-

CENTRAL EXPERIMENTAL FARM, OTTAWA, ONT.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

Sidney..... ........................ 41 39
N ewton............. ............... 40 25
Bolton................... .......... 39 18

An average yield of 39 bushels 8 ibs.

4.
5.
6.

per

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

Canadian Thorpe................ 37 47
Beaver......... ........ ........ 37 37
Danish Chevalier........ ....... 37 27

acre

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR THE MARITIME PROVINCES, NAPPAN, N.S.

Per Acre. Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.

1. French Chevalier.................. 38 16 4. Canadian Thorpe............... 35
2. Danish Chevalier.................. S6 12 5. Bolton......... ................. 33 9
3. Prize Prolific..................... 5 13 6. Newton......... ................ ý2 37

A~n average yield of 35 bushels 6 ibs. per acre.
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EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR MANITOBA, BRANDON, MAN.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

1. French Chevalier................... 48
2. Sidney...... ....................... 48
3. N ewton............ ................ 42

4. Thanet............... .......... 40
5. Canadian Thorpe................ '
6. Beaver.......... ................ 0-

An average yield of 42 bushels 31 lbs. per acre.

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR THE N. W. TERRITORIES, INDIAN HEAD, N.W.T.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

1. French Chevalier....,.............. GO 23
2. Beaver............ ................. :.7 3
3. Canadian Thorpe................... 56 4

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

4. Danish Chevalier................ 55 47
5. Newton........ ................ 55 46
6. Prize Prolifc.................... 53 33

An average yield of 56 bushels 26 its. per acre.

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR BRITISH COLUMBIA, AGASSIZ, B.C.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

1. Canadian Thorpe................... 40
2. French Chevalier................... 39
3. Danish Chevalier................... 36

4. Kinver Chevalier................ 35
5. Beaver......... ................. 33
6. Prize Prolific.................... 31

An average vield of 36 bushels 22 lbs. per acre.

The six varieties of twc-rowed barley which have produced the largest average
crops for the past three years on al] the farns are:

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

1. French Chevalier................... 44 25
2. Canadian Thorpe................... 41 25
3. Danish Chevalier................... 40 42

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

4. Newton..... .................... 39 40
5. Beaver............ .............. 39 34
6. Sidney............... ........... 39 14

An average yield of 40 bushels 46 ibs. per acre.

SIX-ROWED BARLEY.

Twenty varieties of six-rowed barley have also been grown in these uniform
test plots, and the results obtained from the best six of these are submitted.

The six varieties of six-rowed barley which have averaged the heaviest crops
at the several experimental farms during the past three years are:

CENTRAL EXPERIMENTAL FARM, OTTAWA, ONT.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

1. Odessa............... .............. 56 44
2. M ensury...... ..................... 56 9
3. Royal................ .......... .. 53 39

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

4. Trooper.......... .............. 51 27
5. Oderbruch...... ................ 47 4"
6. Petschora...... ................. 47 )

An average yield of 52 bushels 12 Ibs. per acre.

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR THE MARITIME PROVINCES, NAPPAN, N.S.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

1. Mensury... -....... ............... 52 37 4. Oderbr
2. Surprise.......................... 46 5 5. Success
3. Trooper........... ................ 43 36 6. Vangua

An average yield of 44 bushels 28 lbs. per acre.
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EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOiR MANITOBA, BRANDON, MAN.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lhs.

1. M ensury......... .................. 54 il
2. Com mon..................... ...... 53 43
3. Trooper......... .................. 52 21

An average yield of 51 bushels i b. 

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

4. N ugent............ ............. 51 32
5. Surprise........ ............... 47 31
6. Sum m it............. ............ 46 15

er acre.

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR THE N. W. TERRITORIES, INDIAN HEAD, N.W.T.

Per Acre. Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.

1. Rennie's Improved................. 61 45 4. Common............. ........... 60 23
2. Odessa........ ..................... 61 35 5. Oderbruch........ .............. 5s 36
3. M ensury............ ............... 60 40 6. Trooper.... ..................... 57 1

An average yield of 6o bushels 6 Ibs. per acre.

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR BRITISH COLUMBIA, AGASSIZ, B.C.

Per Acre. Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lbs.

1 Oderbruch........ ................. 35 5 4. Mensury........ ................ 31 25
2. Odessa......... .................... 32 24 5. R oyal........ .................. 30 27
3. Common....... .................... 31 42 6. Petschora....................... 30

An average yield of 31 bushels 44 Ibs. per acre.

The six varieties of six-rowed barlev which have produced the largest average
crops for the past three years on all the farms are:

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

1. M ensury............ .............. 51 5
2. Odessa......... .................... 47 10
3. Trooper............ ................ 46 43

An average yield of 46 bushels 38 Ibs.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

4. Common........ ............... 45 42
5. R oyal..... ...................... 45 5
6. Oderbruch............. ......... 44 30

per acre.

THREE YEARS' EXPERIENCE WITH VARIETIES OF SPRING
WHEAT.

Thirty-eight varieties of spring wheat have been tested, and the variety which
heads the list is the Preston. This is one of the new cross-bred wheats originated at
the Central Experimental Farm. For the three years it has given an average of 33
bushels 4 Ibs. per acre (taking all the farms into account), which is two bushels and
two pounds more than any of the other varieties grown. The Preston is a cross be-
tween Red Fife and Ladoga, and is frorm three to five days earlier than Red Fife.

TABLE X.

The twelve varieties of spring wheat which have averaged the heaviest crops
at the several experimental farms during the past three years are the following:-

CENTRAL EXPERIMENTAL FARM, OTTAWA, ONT.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

Preston........... ................. 25 77
M onarch....... ............... .... 22 46
Colorado .......... ................ 22 32
W hite Russian............... ..... 22 31
Goose.............. ... ............ 22 25
Huron..... ....................... 21 53

An average yield of 22 bushels 8 ts.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

7. Wellman's Fife.................. 21 42
8. Pringle's Champlain............ 21 27
9. A lpha............... ............ 21 20

10. Advance........... ........... 21 20
11. Stanley....,...... .............. 21 18
12. Rio Grande......................21 13

per acre.
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EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR THE MARITIME PROVINCES, NAPPAN, N.S.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

Stanley............. ............... 35 40
Preston............. .............. 35 13
Wellman's Fife.................... 35 13
Red Fern........................... 34 47
White Russian..................... 34 20
Goose.............................. 34

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

White Connell.............. .... 33 53
H uron.............. ............ 33 7
Advance.... .................... 32 20
Old Red River................... 32 20
Rio Grande.................... 32
Campbell's White Chaff......... 30 27

An average yield of 33 bushels 37 lbs. per acre.

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR MANITOBA, BRANDON, MAN.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

1. W hite Fife ........................ 38
2. Preston (2 years only).............. 37
3. Red Fie........................... 37
4 Rito Grande......................... 35
5. Goose.......... .................... 35
6. Pringle's Champlain............... 35

7. Advance........... ............. 34
8. Crown. ......................... 34
9. Monaroh......... ............... 34

10. White Conn11.................. 34
11. Old Red River.................. 33
12. White Russian................. 32

An average yield of 35 bushels 28 Ibs. per acre.

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR THE N. W. TERRITORIES, INDIAN HEAD, N.W.T.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbe.

1. H uron................ ............. 44 20
2 Beaudry............,. ............. 43 37
3. Emporium ........... ............. 43 7
4. Red Fern........................... 41 27
5. Red Fife......................... 41 23
6. PrIngle's Champlain................ 41 23

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

7. Alpha................... ........ 41 13
8. Preston........... .............. 41 10
9. Rideau........... .............. 40 53

10. Wellman's Fife........ ........ 40 50
11. Crown.......... ................ 40 43
12. Herisson Bearded............... .40 40

An average yield of 41 bushels 44 Ibs. per acre.

EXPERIMENTAL FARM FOR BRITISH COLUMBIA, AGASSIZ, B.C.

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

W hite Fife......................... 26 38
Herisson Bearded.................. 26 20
Preston............ ................ 25 47
W hite Connell...................... 24 40
Old Red River..................... .24 40
Wellman's Fife.................... 24 20

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

7. Alpha................... ....... 24 10
8. Campbell'is White Chaff......... 24
9. Red Fife........................ 23 28

10. Admiral.............. .......... 23 27
11. Red Fern........................ 23 20
12. Monarch........ ............... 23 13

An average yield of 24 bushels 30 Ibs. per acre.

The twelve varieties of spring wheat which have produced the largest average
crops at all the farms for the past three vears are:

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

Preston........ ................... 33 4
Monarch..... ...................... 31 2
Wellman's Fife.................... 30 36
W hite Fife......................... 30 25
Rio Grande....................... 30 23
Old Red River..................... 30 17

Per Acre.
Bush. Lbs.

7. Red Fife........................ 30 9
8. White Connell.................. 30 S
9. Advance....................... 30

10. Goose..... ............. ........ 29 51
I1. Red Pern................,....... 29 49
12. Alpha...... ...... ............. 29 27

An average yield of 30 bushels 26 Tbs. per acre.

In addition to the Preston already referred to, two other of the cross-bred
varieties, originated at the experimental farms, Advance and Alpha stand well to
tie front in these tests.
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By Mr. McGregor:

Q. How about the quality of Preston wheat ?
A. It was only recently produced, and we have not yet been able to get a

sufficient quantity to give it a miling test. The demand for that w7heat has been
most surprising. We have had requests from many parts of the United States,
from the Argentine Republic, Russia, Great Britain, and France, as well as froni
Canadian growers for quantities of the seed which we have not been able to
supply, as we have had only enough to send out about i,ooo samples to our own
farmers. We have put a bushel of this wheat in the hands of each of three or four
of our Canadian seedsmen to start thern in growing it for the market.

By Mr. Rogers :

Q. Have you given any of these cross-bred wheats to foreign countries ?
A. We have sent some samples.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. You do not know anything about the milling qualities of the Preston
wheat ?

A. No. If, however, you chew it it is very glutinous and reminds you of Red
Fife. We have also another variety which originated from the same kernel, a
beardless sport called the Stanley. This variety does not produce crops as large
as those of the Preston, though it has yielded very well.

By Mr. Featherston :

Q. Have these experiments been carried on at this Experimnental Farn at
Ottawa ?

A. Yes ; all these varieties have been grown here in the uniform test plots.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Does the crop of Preston wheat on the Central Farm come up to the
average ?

A. No, it does not come up to the 33 bush,els. In the experimental plots
last year it gave 20 bushels and io pounds, while in a half-acre field plot, it gave
28 bushels 42 pounds, showing that differences in the soil often give different
results with the same variety of grain. The Preston compared with the Red Fife
during three years has given an average of 2 bushels 55 pounds per acre more
than the Red Fife under exactly the same conditions, sown the same day and
grown side by side. We have produced a large number of new cross-bred vari-
eties of grain in the hope that among them we may find varieties specially adapted
to the climatic conditions prevailing in different parts of this country. Some nev
crosses have been produced between the Colorado and the Gehun. The Colorado
is a good variety and yields well, but shells badly. The Gehun is a variety sent
over to Canada through the kindness of Lord Dufferin many years ago, from the
mountains of India, an early sort, and which now, when crossed with the Colorado,
ias given us several promising sorts, which are productive and early in maturing.

This year we have had a sufficient quantity of some of these varieties to make
comparative tests with other leading sorts at the Central Farm. One of these,
the Plumper, stands at the head of our list of 56 varieties, with a yield of 26 bushels
and 42 pounds; another, called Blair, produced 24 bushels and 1o pounds; a third
called Mason, gave 23 bushels and 20 pounds, and a fourth, Harold. gave 22
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bushels and 50 pounds. These are all crosses between the Colorado and the
Gehun, except the Harold.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Are they all bald ?
A. The Blair and the Mason are both beardless, while the Plumper and

Harold are bearded. The Harold, a cross between the early-ripening Indian
wheat, Gehun, and a very early sort imported nine years ago from Northern Russia,
called Onega, has ripened considerably earlier than any other variety tested. Last
year it matured in 89 days from the date of sowing, while the Red Fife sown along-
side required 102 days to ripen, a difference of 13 days. It is too soon yet to say
anything about what we may expect, but this is a very interesting result. This
vheat will be tested at all the branch farms during the coming season, and next

year I may be able to say something further about it.

By Mr. Featherston :

Q. That would be the wheat from Manitoba ?
A. Yes.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. It might be of interest to the Committee to know how these crosses are
produced ?

A. That was explained fully last year and illustrated by a diagram. (The
explanation is here reproduced). " When you wish to make a cross you take
a head soon after it has shot out and open one of the sections of a spike-
let by removing the outer chaff and pulling back the inner chaff, thus exposing
the flower. This is examined carefully to see that the fertilizing pollen in the
anther, is not shed or ready to be shed, and that the anthers are still green and
the pollen immature. You then pull off the anthers, as shown in the other drawing,
ieaving the pistils, pollen is then brought from the other variety you wish to act
as male, from anthers in the right condition of maturity. The anthers of one
variety, with the pollen on thern, is then applied to the pistils of the other sort,.
when the pollen sticks to the moist feathery pistil. The floral chamber is then
closed up, by turning back the chaff, so that no insect can get at it, and after
preparing a sufficient number of flowers, the head is wrapped carefully with a
piece of tissue paper tied top and bottom, so that no other pollen can find its way
in, and allowed to remain in that way until the grain is matured. Then the kernel
produced through the union of those elements is sown and you have your new
variety as the result.

By Mr. M1cMillan:

Q. Have you tried Goose wheat in crossing ? I find Goose wheat is gaining
in the estimation of buyers until it has got close to Red and White wheats in its
standing on the Toronto market. The millers seem to have formed a better opin-
ion of it. Possibly its character has become modified by the influence of our cli-
mate upon it ?

A. Goose wheat has usually been regarded as the poorest quality of wheat
grown in the country, and the millers have cried it down so much that we have
thought it best to avoid its use altogefher in this connection. The quality of the
gluten in Goose wheat renders it unsuitable for making good bread, but for bis-
cuits, pie crusts, macaroni and similar articles it can be used to advantage.
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By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Are you in your endeavours to originate new varieties keeping in view
the quality of our Red Fife, because it would make a great difference to us if the
quality of Canadian wheat were lowered ?

A. Our aim lias been to get varieties as good as Red Fife, and which are at
the sanie time earlier. Everything that lias been found inferior after one or two
years test, we have discarded. We have produced from 6o to 700 varieties and
have now over 200 still under test.

Q. How has Ladoga turned out ? I think you were anxious about it two or
three years ago ?

A. I have never had any special anxiety about the success of any particular
wheat ; but have used my best endeavours to obtain earlier and better varieties
than those now ini general cultivation. When the Ladoga wheat was introduced
it was submitted to some of the best judges of wheat in this country and pro-
nounced to be of first quality. Its earliness lias been proven by repeated tests
covering many years, and it bas been found to ripen about a week earlier than Red
Fife. It bas not, however, proven so productive and as soon as a milling test was
made it was ascertained that the flour was too yellow in colour to command the
best prices for export. Since then its general cultivation bas been discouraged.
It is, however, a good wheat for home use and is still much grown in the more
northern districts of the settled portions of the North-west. It is also cultivated
with niuch advantage on some of the Indian Reserves.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. With all of these varieties of wheat test should be made as early as pos-
sible to delermine the quality of the flour ?

A. To make such tests the large mills require not less than a carload of grain.
As each of these new varieties originates with a single kernel and samples of those
which are known to be most promising are in great demand for test by farmers,
there are great difficulties in the way of obtaining in a short time the large supply
needed for milling. I have every confidence that most of the wheats referred to
will produce excellent flour, though that cannot be proven without actual test.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. Is the Ladoga as early as the Harold ?
A. No. The Harold is the earliest variety we have tested. In the test

made last year the Harold ripened seven days earlier than the Ladoga and thirteen
days carlier than Red Fife. The crosses that have been made between Ladoga
and Red Fife have ranged in regard to the period of ripening from two or three
to five days (most of them four or five days) earlier than Red Fife. If the Harold
continues to hold this early ripening habit it may be of very great use to the
country.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Do you know how these earlier varieties compare with the later varieties
in respect to hardness ? Are the earlier varieties as hard as the later ones ?

A. Yes, these samples which I have here for your inspection were grown in
the North-west and they all look quite as hard and transparent as any saniples of
Red Fife I have ever seen.
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BARLEYS.

We have also originated quite a number of interesting varieties of barley by
crossing two-rowed with six-rowed sorts. These barleys which I am showing you
have been obtained by crossing the Swedish two-rowed with Baxter's six-rowed
barley. The kernel sown produced the first year only two-rowed heads and the
seed from these, sown the next season, sported and produced some six-rowed and
some two-rowed sorts. These varieties were carefully watched and the most pro-
mising forms selected, with the result that we have now got a number of six-rowed
and a number of two-rowed varieties from this one source. Some of these are
showing good qualities as to productiveness. Among the two-rowed varieties, the
Beaver and Sidney are included in the list of the six heaviest yielders which I have
submitted to you as grown on the several experimental farms, and among the best
of the six-rowed sorts are two others of these seedlings, the Royal and the Trooper.

OATS.

There lias not been so much crossing done at the experimental farms with
oats. I think 13 or 14 crosses are all that we have made, and we have not had
any remarkable results although during this last year one of the new cross-bred
varieties tested among the 65 different sorts at the Central Farm, comes out at
the head with a yield of 13 bushels 13 pounds per acre more than any other sort.
This variety which has been named the Holland gave a yield of 70 bushels 25
pounds per acre. The Golden Giant stands next on the list with a yield of 57
bushels 12 pounds per acre. The Holland is a cross between the Giant Cluster
and the Prize Cluster. The Giant Cluster is a sided oat and the Prize Cluster is
a branching one. This new seedling is a sided variety. It has been sown this
year at the branch farms as well as at the Central Farm.

PEASE.

I shall now say a few words with reference to pease. Out of about 130 cross-
bred varieties originated at the farms we are still cultivating from 30 to 40 differ-
ent sorts. I have four samples here from among the most promising of these, as
follows :-The Arthur, a cross between the Mummy and the Multiplier ; the
King, another of the Mummy crosses ; the Macoun, a cross between the Mummv
and the large white Marrowfat ; and the Agnes, a cross between the large white
Marrowfat and the Pride. Last season the Arthur gave a crop at the rate of 30
bushels and 20 pounds per acre on the uniform test plots, and on a half-acre plot
at the rate of 38 bushels and 14 pounds per acre, weighing 64 pounds per bushel.
The King in the test plots gave a crop at the rate of 29 bushels and 35 pounds
þer acre ; the Macoun, 27 bushels and 40 pounds, and the Agnes, 24 bushels and
45 pounds. On a half-acre plot the Agnes gave at the rate of 33 bushels and 24
pounds per acre. These promising sorts are being multiplied as.rapidly as pos-
sible, and a number of samples-have been sent out to some of the best farmers in
different parts of the Dominion for trial.

By MIr. Calvert

Q. Do these remarks you have made apply to the Farm here at Ottawa, or
are you including the results obtained at the other farms ?

A. I have been speaking of the results of last season at the Central Farm.
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IMPORTANCE OF CROSS-BREEDING.

In presenting this subject before you I want to impress on the minds of the
members of the Committee the great importance of this part of the Experimental
Farm work. It is generally recognized by competent judges, both in Canada and
in foreign countries, as one of the most important departments of the work in
progress here. I am sometimes considered an enthusiast in the matter of cross-
breeding, but those of you who have been engaged in stock-raising are well· able
to appreciate the usefulness of this process. Every kernel of grain is an individual
having its own peculiar characteristics, some may have tendencies towards pro-
ductiveness, others towards earliness, or both, and bv watching and taking advan-
tage of these tendencies farming may be made more successful. More of this
work in the cross-breeding of grain has been done here than anywhere else in this
country, and some particulars of what has been done were presented to the British
Association at its recent meeting in Toronto, which were verv favourably com-
mented on. A sub-committee was formed to consider the subject with a view (À
recommending to the British Government the establishment in Great Britain of
institutions similar to our experimental farms, where experiniental work could be
carried on for the benefit of farmers in the British Isles.

By! Mr. Semple :

Q. Do you find black oats to give a good yield ?
A. We have found the black oats to give a smaller vield than the white. Black

oats command a cent or two less in the market in price, and the oatmeal millers
are averse to black oats because of the fear of getting black specks in their oatmeal.
For these reasons we have not encouraged the growing of any large quantity of
black oats.

By Mr. McGrcgor:

Q. Were you materially troubled with bugs in the pease ?
A. Not much. There are means for keeping the bugs under. In the first

place the seed should be sown free from bugs by treating it with bi-sulphide of
carbon, which is a volatile fluid the vapour of which is poisonous. When this
fluid is put into air-tight vats where the pease are placed, the vapour permeates
the enfire mass and kills the bugs. The general adoption of this method has
lessened the trouble very much. Also by sowing later you can avoid bugs to sorne
extent, but not altogether. The best method we can suggest is the destruction of
the bug in the pea itself before the pea is sown.

By Mr. Martin :

Q. Are all the varieties of wheat shown here grown on the Experimental
Farm ?

A. Most of these were grown on the Farm at Indian Head, where wheat can
be grown much better in quality than we can grow it here. The pease were
grown here.

Q. Have you ever made many experiments in the exchange of seed grain
between Indian Head and the other experimental farms, and if so, what effect have
these changes had ?

A. We have tested that point largely by exchanging seed wheat between the
different farms, especially between those at Brandon and Indian Head. and have
found it a good thing ; but as wheat grown in Ontario is of a starchy nature it is
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not so desirable for seed in the North-west. Useful exchanges are, however, fre-
quentlv made between the Central and the other branch farms.

PRODUCTION OF SEED WHEAT IN THE NORTH-WEST.

While speaking on this subject I desire to draw the attention of the Committee
to the great importance of our North-west as a source of supply of seed wheat for
the North American continent. A large number of seed dealers in the United States
now buy seed wheat in the North-west to supply the more southern districts, as they
find the northern seed more vigourous, germinating in larger proportion, and giv-
ing stronger plants and larger crops. Last year the Russian Government sent to us
for a consignment of seed grain to go to Siberia. We could not supply all they
asked for, but we did the best we could. We sent from the North-west 6,ooo
pounds of hard wheat, 6,ooo pounds of oats, 4,000 pounds of barley, and 5,ooo
pounds of rye. These were shipped to Vladivostock on the Pacific Ocean, and
they were distributed from that point over the newer grain-producing sections of
that part of Russia. The Russian Government sent one of their Superintendents
of Agriculture here to examine our experimental farm system and report upon
it. I recentlv received his report, but unfortunately it is in Russian. I am sure,
however, that the gentleman who visited us was much impressed by the general
progress we are making in agriculture in Canada. In securing these varieties
of grain the Russian Government were acting upon the suggestions of their special
agent. No doubt these early-ripening and more prolific varieties will prove very
valuable to them.

By Mr. McMllan

Q. Do vou say that we have been fairly successful here with wheat from
the North-west ?

A. We have been so with Red Fife. We grew it for the first year fairly well,
better in quality than is usual in this climate. After the first year it became more
starchy and less glutinous.

Q. Is there any difference between different varieties of pease in respect to
the pea worm ?

A. That subject belongs to Dr. Fletcher's department. He will probably
bring it before the Committee, and I prefer to leave it for him to discuss.

Q. It is a orievous pest in some parts with us ?
A. Yes : it varies very much in different localities in its prevalence.

TIME FOR SEEDING.

The next point I wish to bring before the Committee is the important one of
ascertaining in each climate what is the best time for sowing the different varieties
of seed grain. This is a subject on, which there has been very much difference
of opinion. Eight vears ago a series of plots was planned at each of the experi-
mental farms to be used as follows:-A uniform piece of land was chosen large
enough to make 24 tenth-acre plots. These plots were divided into six divisions
of four each. Four of these plots were sown with wheat, barley, oats and pease as
early in the season as it was practicable to sow. The next four were sown a week
later, and so on, week after week, until six successive sowings had been made, the
last sowing being five weeks later than the first. Notes were taken of the date of the
sowing of each, and at the end of the season the crop of each plot was threshed
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separately and the yield estimated. This has been continued for eight years on the
different farms, and while I am not prepared to give you the average for eight
years at the branch farms I will give you the average for the Central Farm. This
bas given us from the first sowing for the eight years 54 bushels 31 pounds per
acre of oats, and from the second sowing 59 bushels 8 pounds. I should say that
the difference between the first and second sowings has generally been in favour
of the second. The explanation for this is that here we generally have a good
deal of wind shortlv after the first sowing. The strongr w inids carry with
them from other parts of the farm more or less sand and the voung plants are
cut and injured to such an extent that their growth is much retarded. We usually
have these windstorms shortly after the grain of the first sowing cornes up. The
later sowings have given smaller crops.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS OF EARLY, MEDIUM AND LATE SOWING FOR THE WHOLE
PERIOD.

The following are the average crops which have been obtained during the full
period these tests have been continued-that is, eight years with the oats, barley
and spring wheat, aind three years with the pease:-

Tests continued for eight years. Tis o for

Average Average rage Average
Oats. vielk Barlev. vield yield Pease. vield

per acre. pet acre. per acre. i r acre.

Bush. Lbs. Bush. Lb. Bush. Lbs. Bus. Lis.

lst sowing.. 54 31 1st sowing. 39 43 Ist sowing.. 18 23 1st sowving. 29 21

2nd do 59 8 2nd do 41 30 2nd do 19 23 2nd do ... 32 45

3rd do . 50 2 3rd do 32 29 3rd do 14 19 3rdl do ... 33 25

4th do 44 14 4th do 29 10 4th do 12 28 4th do .. 29 14

5th do 39 17 Sth do . 25 3 5th do 10 34 5th do 26 19

6th do 29 23 6th do 22 33 6th do 8 56 6th do ... 24 6

The sixth sowing of oats, which is usuallv made about the middle of May,
gives on the average for eight years only about half the anount obtained froni
the second sowing. That, of course, is a very serious falling off. The tiird
sowing, which comes more within the time that most farmers sow their oats,
shows a falling off as compared with the second sowing of over 9 bushels per acre,
as the average of eight years tests. In the fourth sowing the falling off is still
more marked.

The figures in regard to barley show a rapid falling off after the second seed-
ing. The longer a farmer defers his sowing the more he loses. With pease
these tests have only been continued for three years, and the figures given are the
average for thaf time. There does not seem to be the same rapid decrease in
regard to the pea crop that there is in the case of the other cereals named. The
results here given apply especially to the eastern parts of the Dominion. In the
North-west it is not so important to sow early, especially in the case of pease. lin
British Columbia we sometimes get the largest crop from the latest sowing so
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that these figures should not be taken as a guide for the whole Dominion. Re-
cords are published from year to year of the resulfs obtained at the branch farms.
These appear in the annual reports. This is a muatter to which farmers should give
more attention, and the only way to obtain satisfactory data is to continue this
series of plots long enough so that there may not be any doubt about the value of
the evidence which they afford. Eight years of test should afford very good testi-
mony, but I think we should continue the experiments for at least ten years, and
by that time errors due to seasonal peculiarities should be fairly well eliminated.

By Mr. Featherston :
Q. How late was the last sowing of pease ?
A. The first sowing of pease last year was on April 13, and the last on May

19.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. After farming for 50 years my experience is that as soon as the land is in
condition the grain first sown is the best ?

A. I endorse that heartily. I believe that the earlier the farmers can get
their grain in the more money they will get out of their crops, provided the land is
in proper condition.

ROOTS.

We shall next touch on the subject of roots. Many varieties of turnips,
mangels and carrots have been tested, probably 18 or 20. Txwo sets of plots were
sown in each case, the sowings being two weeks apart, and in every instance the
early sown plots averaged the heaviest crops.

By Mr. Burnett :
Q. How early were these sown ?
A. The first sowing of turnips was on the 1st of May, and the second on the

21st of May. This is earlier than the tine usually chosen bv most farmers. In
regard to the first two sowings of roots at the Central Farm the advantages last
Vear in favour of the earlier sown plots were as follows:-

Per Acre.
Tons. Lbs.

T urnips .................. .................. 11 466
M angels ................... ................. 8 1,688
Carrots ................... .................. 3 182

That is to say, taking the average of the 19 different varieties, the first sowings gave
the quantities mentioned over and above those obtained from the second. In the
case of turnips a third sowing was made at the Central Farm with less relative
advantages than the second.

While the larger part of these roots was pulled on the 13th and 14th of Oc-
tober, a portion of each sowing of each of the 19 varieties of turnips tested was
left in the ground until the 3rd of November to gain information as to what advan-
tage, if any, arises from leaving roots in the ground after the middle of October.
During the 20 days additional time given for growing, the average gains from
the 1q varieties were as follows :-

From those of the ist sowing, i ton 1,025 pounds per acre.
From those of the 2nd sow'ing, 2 tons 646 pounds per acre.
From those of the 3rd sowing, 9 tons 432 pounds per acre.
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By Mr. Featherston :

Q. That is for the 20 days ?
A. Yes. These experiments show that growth in turnips proceeds rapidly

late in the season as long as the weather remains open and point to the advantage
of allowing these roots to remain in the ground as long as is practicable, espe-
cially if the seed has been sown late.

Q. What was the total weight of roots obtained in each case ?
A. The average yield from the first sowing, first pulling, was 38 tons, 782

pounds per acre, and from the first sowing, second pulling, 40 tons, 807 pounds
per acre.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. From the same varieties ?
A. Yes.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. Is not the quality of the roots improved by the late sowing ?
A. Yes, I think the quality of the roots was improved by the late sowing.

With regard to the quality we have never found the cattle object to them in any
way, and an analysis would show, I think, about the same amount of nutritive
matter, but for table use the later sown roots ar eless stringy and woody.

By Mr. Semple:

Q. What time did the last sowing take place ?
A. The third sowing was on the 13th of June.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. I suppose you are not troubled with the turnip fly on the farm ?
A. We used to be, but we have not been of late years. It has been most

troublesome where the soil is heavy. We found when we were troubled with it
that dusting the plants lightly with a mixture of Paris green and plaster of Paris-
one part of Paris green to the roo-killed the insect very promptly and protected
the turnips.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Is there any good in soaking the seed ?
A. No, I do not think so.

DISTRIBUTION OF SEED GRAIN.

The distribution of seed grain was in progress when I was before the Com-
mittee last year. We sent out during that season 37,373 samples of three pounds
each of cereals and potatoes for test to 37,306 farmers. Besides these I,050 sam-
ples of the newer cross-bred sorts were distributed, making 38,423 samples in all.
We have reached about 120,ooo farmers with varieties of seed grain since these
distributions began. 129
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By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Are these not duplicated unless you get new lists ?
A. Our samples are sent to new lists every year. That should be distinctly under-

stood. We sometimes get letters from farmers complaining that they have nût
received samples as heretofore. Some of them think that if they report on the
samples already received they will obtain more ; but no samples are sent unless
specially asked for. The plan adopted this year is to send only in response to
individual applications. Last year many samples were sent out on lists furnished
by Members of the House of Commons, by Senators, by farmers' institutes and
agricultural societies, and on going carefully over the returns we found that the
proportion of replies received from those who had made individual applications
was about 25 per cent, while not more than three or four per cent of returns were
received from those whose names were sent in on lists. When these facts were
submitted to the Minister instructions were given to send, this year, only in re-
sponse to individual applications.

I got from the books this morning the condition of the list this year showing
the number thus far sent to individual applicants. Twenty-nine thousand nine
hundred and forty-eight samples have already been sent out-7,005 to Ontario,
11,652 to Quebec, 3,621 to New Brunswick, 2,969 to Nova Scotia, 1,037 to Prince
Edward Island, 2,044 to Manitoba, 1,299 to the North-west Territories, and 321
to British Columbia. At the branch farms in British Columbia, Manitoba and
the North-west, and also at Nappan, N.S., a good deal of this work is done. There
are still more than a thousand applications yet to be complied with. We hope to
finish with these during the present week. I may say that this part of our work is
more highly appreciated by a great many farmers than any other. They get a
good sample of grain and sow it, and in two or three years they have a fair stock
of a new and useful variety. Thus they can trace the benefits derived from that
sample without difficulty ; whereas in scme other branches of the work the prac-
tical bearing in their favour is not so easily discerned.

By Mr. Semple :

Q. One farmer told me that he got a three-pound sample and sowed it, and
that in the second year he had 6o bushels ?

A. We have a number of reports of a similar nature, and in the fourth year
iwe have had reports running as high as 400 bushels. Some farmers who have
taken good care of their samples have soon had a considerable quantity to sell to
their neighbours. Of course there are many instances in which these samples are
neglected and the product becomes mixed with other varieties and therefore d,
not produce the desired effect. But if, in a quarter of the instances, they are cared
for and multiplied, as they can easily be with a little attention, they must produce.
as in fact they are producing, a marked influence on the quality of seed grain
sown throughout the country. A single bushel added to each acre of the oat crop
would add fully a million dollars a year to the profits of the farmers of Canada,
and similar increases with the other cereals would give a very large sum of in-
creased profits. In some districts much advantage has already been had froii
these useful introductions, which, does much to compensate the country for the
outlay on this work.

Bv Mr. Ratz:

Q. Have you any variety of pease that is considered bug proof ?
A. No. I do not know of any such pea. The bug will, I think, lay its eggs

on the pod of one variety of pea as readily as upon that of another.
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Q. I understood the Prussian Blue to be bug proof ?
A. The Prussian Blue is a late xvariety and on this account may be less affect-

ed by the bug, but we have not found it free from 'attack. There are districts in
Ontario where the pease are practically free from bugs, and by obtaining seed
from these districts the proportion of affected pease would be reduced.

By Mr. Featherston :
Q. That is m ostly in the northerly districts, is it not ?
A. Yes ; the pea bug does not usually survive very cold weather

FEEDING OF STEERS.

Passing to the next subject I wish to call your attention to the experinents
which have been conducted in the feeding of steers. Last year I gave you the
particulars oi the work that was being carried on then. This year we have been
feeding ii groups of steers, two animals in each group, naking 22 steers ir. all,
with different quantities and cormbinations of grain, niost of them with the same
bulky fodder mixture of ensilage, roots, hay and straw. Two groups have been
fed on hay, one on Brome hay, and the other on Timothy hay, to ascertain
whether there is any difference in the nutritiVe value of these different kinds of
hay. It is not always safe to base conclusions on one experiment, but I may say
that wvhil the pair fed on Timothy hay up to this tirme has gained, in all, 147r
poundîs, the pair fed on Brome hay has gained 152'2 pounds, a difference of 5
pounds in favour of the Brome hay.

By Mr. Featherston :
Q. What do you call Brome hay ?
A. Hay nade from the Awnless Brome grass a sample of which I brought

before the Committee last Friday. The question is sometimes asked by farmers :
" Is this hay as good for feeding as Timothy ?" If it is so it has advantages in
regard to productiveness, long season of growth, and in regard to its root habit.
It does not form a crown on the surface of the ground like Timothy does aftcr
two or three years. It forms a thick spreading growth of roots two or three
inches below the surface, which is an advantage in pasturing.

The bulky fodder ration which formed the basis of the greater part of these
experiments with steers was the same throughout, and consisted of 50 pounds of
ensilage, 25 pounds of roots, 5 pounds of cut hay, and 5 pounds of cut straw. The
feeding period was 16 weeks, divided into four sections of 4 weeks each. The ex-
periments will be concluded to-day and the cattle weighed to-morrow. I am not
able to give the exact results just now, but I can include them if desired in the
printed report of my remarks to the Committee.

By Mr. McMillan :
Q. Did these animals eat that quantity of food clean ?
A. Yes. When beginning our feeding experiments animais are fed liberallv

and the quantity of food left each day weighed. In this manner the capacity < f
each animal is soon found, after which only as much food is given as will be
eaten up clean. The amount of food consumed per animal will vary from 6o to
5 pounds a day.

By the Chairman:

Q. It will be more satisfactory, without reviewing the details, if Professor
Saunders would simply insert the final statement in the corrected copy of his evi-
'dence ?

A. With the consent of the Committee I shall be glad to do that.
131
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By Mr. McMillan:

Q. I suppose you will give us the correct figures of each group with the
quantity of meal they got ?
' A. Yes. These experiments have been carried on with different quantities of
meal and some experiments have also been planned so as to ascertain the effect of
bran, oil cake and cotton seed meal, introduced into the ration, cotton seed and
oil cake replacing a part of the meal.

DETAILS OF EXPERIMENTS IN THE FEEDING OF ELEVEN GROUPS OF STEERS, 1897-1898.

Eleven groups of steers, each consisting of two animals, have been fed at the
Central Experinental Farm during the past year. The feeding period was divi-
ded into four equal portions of four weeks each. The meal referred to iii the
tables has been made of equal parts by weight of pease, barley and oats. In esti-
mating the cost of the rations, the mixed meal has been valued at the uniform rate
of one cent per pound, corn ensilage at $2 per ton, roots $2 per ton, hay at $8 per
ton, and straw at $4 per ton. Bran has been valued at $10 per ton, and ground
oil cake and cotton seed meal each at $25 per ton.

During the course of these tests the steers were given all the bulky fodder
they would eat up clean ; they were watered twice a day and supplied with salt in
a snall box at the side of the manger.

GROUP No. 1.-TWO STEERS.
FED AS FOLLOWS:

MEAL, &c I
Bulky fodder ration No. 1-

Ensilage, 50 lbs.. . . .......
Turnips, 25 lbs.. . .........
Hay, eut, 5 lbs............
Straw, eut, 5 lbs.. . . . . ..

. . Ist 4 weeks, no mneal.

. . 2nd 4 weeks, no meal.
. 3rd 4 weeks, 2 lbs. meal per day.

. . 4th 4 weeks, 6 lbs. meal per day.

Total Increase Average

consurned d incrase V h pe d p >er i0 bs. p oer (lbs.
e day. per daV. i Weight per day. ire fr

Weighit. P>er da. GoGroup.

Lbs. Lbs. Lbs. Lbs. Cts. S ets. 1 ets,

.......... ...... 25 -75 ... ... 15

... ... ... . 29-21 . . . . . . . .

Averages......... 2748 ........

..... ..... 25'39 ... .... 35
32-60 .... .. .. 35

Averages.... ... 2899 35

.... ............ 31·21 2
............. 36 60 2

Averages........ 33-90 2

. . .... ... . . 34-39 6

.... ..... . 38-82 6

Averages . .... .. 36-60 6

0'53 3-18 5 93
........ 360 5 93

.......... 3.39

1-25 3 13 2 50
1-25 4-02 3 21 2 85

1-25 3·57-

45 1-60 5-85 364
55 196 652 331 3-46

50 1ý78 6'18

77 2·75 10-24 3 72
49 1-75 10-79 6 16 4 67

63 225 10-51

132
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1st 4 week
No.
No. 2

2nd 4 wee
No. 1
No. 2.

3rd 4 week
No. 1.
No. 2.

4th 4 week
No. 1.
No. 2
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GROUP No. 2. -TWO STEERS.

FED AS FOLLOWS:

MEAL, &c.

Bulky fodder ration No. 1-
lst 4 weeks, no meal.
2nd 4 weeks, 1 lb. meal and 1 lb. cotton seed meal.
3rd 4 weeks, 2 lbs. meal and 2 lbs. cottonseed meal.
4th 4 weeks, 4 lbs. meal and 2 lbs. cottonseed meal.

Total Increase Cost Average

Steer.Meal increase in Cost per100 lbs p e s
per day. per day. in Weight per day. of perl00144.

Weight. 1per day. increase. Gop

Lbs. Lbs. Lbs. Lbs. Cts. ets. ets.
S- s-42-28 Ô-)
.... ........... 42 2 . . . . . . ....... . 5 22
. ............... 39 10 ..... 30 107 4-83 4 5O

Averages........ 40-69 .. .............. 5·02

ks- Meal, C.S.
........ .. ..... 42-00 1 1 65 2-32 7-43 320

38-42 1 1 1 65 2·32 6 99 3 01 310

Averages........ .4021 1 1

3rd 4 weeks-
No. 3... .. ... ... ...... 42-00
N o. 4.................... 40-00

Averages ........ . 41 00

4th 4 weeks-
N o. 3........... ........ 43·14
N o. 4.............. ..... 43-07

Averages........ .4310

2 2
2 2

2 2

4 12
4 2

4 2

65 2-32 7-21

65 2-32 9·68 4 16
35 1-25 9 -44 7 55 5 35

50 1 77 9 56

34 1-21 11-82 9 73
87 3-10 11·82 3 80 5-51

60 2-15 11-82

1st 4 week
No. 3...
No. 4..

2nd 4 wee
No. 3...
No. 4..
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GROUP No. 3.-TWO STEERS.

FED AS FOLLOWS:

MEAL, &c.

Bulky fodder ration No. 2-
Ensilage, 50 lbs .............. 1st 4
Hay, 5 lbs . ................ .2nd 4
Straw, 5 lbs ................. 3rd 4

4th 4

weeks, no meal.
weeks, 2 lbs. meal per day.
weeks, 4 lbs. meal per day.
weeks, 6 lbs. meal per day.

Steer.

1st 4 w'eeks-
No. 5........... ...
No. 6..., . .........

Averages........

2nd 4 weeks-
N o. 5.... . ..........
N o. 6............... ..

Averages........

3rd 4 weeks-
N o. 5 ............. .....
No. 6..... ........

Averages........

Fodder Meal
co sumed
per day, per day.

Lbs. Lbs.

29-64 ..........
28-96

29-30

Total
increase

n
Weight.

Lbs.

10

38- 2 50
35·42 2 45

36-71 2 47-50

38-60 4 55
37-67 4 50

38-13

4 weeks-
N o.5..... ............ 43-35
No.6.................. 38-57

Averages......... 4096

Increase Cost Average
in Cost per1001bs.p cost

Weight per day. of foer1001bs.
per day. increase forGroup.

Lbs.

3-94

1-78 7-06
1-60 6-72

1 69 6-89

1-96 9-14
1-78 9-02

Sets.

10 80

8 ets.

3 95
4 18 4 06

4 65
505 4 84

4 52-50 1-87 9-08

6 62 2-21 11-78 5 32
6 34 1-21 11-14 917 668

6 48 1·71 11·46

A. 1898
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GROUP NO. 4.-TWO STEERS.

FED AS FOLLOWS:

MEAL, &c.

Bulky fodder ration No. 2-
Ensilage, 50 lbs .......... 1st 4 weeks, no meal.
Hay, 5 lbs ............... 2nd 4 weeks, i lb. meal and i lb. oit cake.
Straw, 5 lbs ............. 3rd 4 weeks, 2 lbs. meal and 2 lbs. oil cake.

4th 4 weeks, 4 lbs. meal and 2 ibs oil cake.

Fodder M
consumed p day.
per day. per

Total
increase

in
Weight.

Increase
in

Weight
per day.

Cost Average
Cost per100 lbs. ost

per day. of per100 lbs.
increase. Gr1Croup.

Lbs. Lbs. Lbs. Lbs. Cts. $
4 weeks-
No. 7........... ....... 2957 . .35 . 125 394 3
No.8...................19·32 .. ....... ... 2-57

2nd 4 wee
No. 7
No.8

3rd 4 weel
No. 7.
No. 8.

4th 4 weel
No. 7.
No. 8

ets. $ ets.

15

Averages .. ..... 24-44 ... ....... ..... ..... 325

ks-. Meal, 0.C.
.33M50 1 1 60 214 6·98 3 25

. ........... 27"21 1 1 60 2-14 5'87 2 73 2 99

Averages.. ....... 3035 1 1 60 2-14 6·42

... 3600 2 2 25 89 930 10 41
...... 2914 2 2 4 160 838 5 21 7 07

Averages ..... 32 57 2 2 35 1·24 8·84

....... 3767 4 2 1 52 1-85 11-52 620

................. 3264 4 2 50 1-78 1085 607 613

Averages........ 35-15 4 2 51 1·81 11·18

136
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GROUP No. 5.-TWO STEERS.

FED AS FOLLOWS:

MEAL, &c.

Bulky fodder ration No. 1-
Ensilage, 50 lbs ......... lst 4 weeks, 2 lbs. meal
Turnips, 25 lbs ... ....... .2nd 4 weeks, 2 Ibs. meal
Hay, cut, 5 lbs ..... .... .3rd 4 weeks, 3 lbs. meal
Straw, cut, 5 lbs.......... 4th 4 weeks, 4 lbs. meal

Steer. consumed pea
per day.

Lbs.

1st 4 weeks-
N o. 9............. ..
N o. 10...... .........

Averages.

2nd 4 weeks--
No. 9...... ....... ..
No. 10.............

Averages........

3rd 4 weeks-
N o. 9........ ... ....
No. 10. ........

Averages........

4th 4 weeks-
N o. 9..,... .... .....
N o. 10.................

MbliM

Averages ....

28-07
28·03

28-05

32-42
34.39

33 *40

Lbs.

Total
increase

in
Weight.

Lbs.

2 2 35
2 2 20

2 2 27-50

2 2 50
9 2 55

2 2

36-57 3 3
39-64 3 3

38-10 3 3

38-82 4 4
39-17 4 4

39-49 4 4

Increase
in

perc ay.

Lbs.

1-25
0-71

0·98

1 78
1-96

cost

per day.

Cts.

Average
Cost cost

perloolbs. perl00lbs.
increase. for

Group.

8ets. S ets.

6·46 516
6-46 904 657

6-46

7-0 392
7-24 368 379

52-50 1'87 7-12 i

25 0-89 9-01 10 09
20 0'71 9·39 13 14 11 44

22'50 0-80 9'20

78 2-82 1091 3-86
55 1-96 10-83 551 454

67 2·39 10-87

136
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and 2
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and 4

lbs. bran.
lbs. bran.
]bs. bran.
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GROUP No. 6-TWO STEERS.

FED AS POLLOWS:

MEAL, &c.

Bulky fodder ration No. 1-
Corn ensilage, 50 lbs... st 4 weeks, 2 lbs. meal and 2 lbs. bran.
Turnips, 25 lbs ...... .2nd 4 weeks, 1 lb. meal, 1 lb. cotton seed and 2 lbs. bran.
Hay, 5 lbs . ........ 3rd 4 weeks, 1l lbs. meal, 14Jbs. cotton seed and 3 lbs. bran.
Straw, 5 lbs . ....... . 4th 4 weeks, 2 lbs. meal, 2 lbs. cotton seed and 4 lbs. bran.

Steer.
Fodder

consumed
per day.

Lbs.

Meal Total Increase
per ay. increase i in Weight

Weight. per day.

Lbs. Lbs. Lbs.

Cost Average
cost cot c<)st p er

per day. per l0lbs. 1001Ib8.mcrease. for Group.

Cea. $ ets. s ets.

Ist 4 weeks-
No. 11........... .... 4192 2 O 2 40 142 817 571
No. 12.. .. .......... 4100 2 0 2 60 214 813 37) 456

Averages............4176 2 O2 50 178 815

2nd 4 weeks-
No. Il..... .......... 4200 i 2 80 285 843 295
No. 12...... ........... 4200 11 2 55 196 843 429 a49

Averages...... . 4200 1 1 2 6750 240 843

- 71

3rd 4 weeks-
N o. 11 ...............
N o. 12 ................

Averages.........

4th 4 weeks-
N o. 11................
N o. 12 .......... ...

Averages........

42'35 1 1 3 85 3·03 10-10 3 32
42-35 1 1 3 55 1·96 10·10 514 4(04

4235 1 1 ' 3 70 2*49 10-10

43*78 2 2 4 12 0-42 11-90 2776
43-78 2 2 4 49 1·75 11-90 6 80 10 92

43·78 2 2 4 30-50 1-08 11·90
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GROUP No. 7.-TWO STEERS.

FED AS FOLLOWS:

MEAL, &c.

Bulky fodder ration No. 1-
Ensilage, 50 lbs ...... lst 4 weeks, 2 Ibs. meal and 2 lbs. bran.
Turnips, 25 lbs.,....,2nd 4 weeks, 3 lbs. meal and 3 lbs. bran.
Hay, cut, 5 lbs. ...... 3rd 4 weeks, 4 Ibs. meal and 4 Ibs. bran.
Straw, cut, 5 lbs. .. 4th 4 weeks, 6 lbs. meal and 4 lbs. bran.

Fodd TotalSouer Meal increase
Steer. consumed per day. inper day. Weight.

Lbs. Lbs. Lbs.

lst 4 weeks-
No. 13. ............ .... 43-21 2 2 20
No. 14 ............. .. .. 21-50 2 2 ........

Averages ........ 32-
35  

2 2 ......

2nd 4 weeks-
No.13................ .. 42-00 3 3 90
No. 14 .............. ... 39 14 3 3 105

Averages ........ 40-57 3 3 97 50

3rd 4 weeks-
No. 13................. 42-35 4 4 20
No. 14........ .......... 39»82 4 4 75

Averages. ...... .. 4108 4 4 47.50

4th 4 weeks-
No. 13................... 43·78 6 4 86
No.14................... 4253 6 4 57

Averages.....,.. 43-15 6 4 71-50

Increase Cost
in Cost per100lbs.

Weight per day. of
per day. increase.

Lbs. Cts. 8 ets.

0-71 8-33 Il 66
....... 5 65

Average
Cost

per 100lbs.
for

Group.

S ets.

. ._ 6 99- _

3-21 9 68 3 01
3'76 9'33 2 48 2 70

3'48 9-50

71 il 23 15 72
2-67 10.91 4 07 6 52

1.69 11-07

3-07 13-40 436
2·08 13-25 65 5 24

2-55 13-32
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GROUP No. 8--TWO STEERS.

FED AS FOLLOWS:

MEAL, &c.

Bulky fodder ration No. 1-
Ensilage, 50 lbs.. . 1st 4 weeks, 2 lbs. meal and 2 lbs. bran.
Turnips, 25 Ibs . .2nd 4 weeks, 2 ibs. meal, 1 lb. cotton seed and
Hay, cut, 5 lbs. . .3rd 4 weeks, 2 lbs. ineal, 2 lbs. cotton seed and
Straw, cut, 5 Ibs. . 4th 4 weeks, 4 lbs. meal, 2 lbs. cotton seed and

Steer.
Fodder j

consumed Mealp per day.per day.

Total
increase

I
Weight.

Lbs. Lbs. Lbs.

Ist 4 weeks-
No.15......... ... ... 2850 2 ... 2 40
No.16................. 26-71 2 ... 2 40

Averages........ 2760 2 ... 2 40

2nd 4 weeks-
N o. 15...... ..........
N o. 16..... ..........

Averages........

3rd 4 weeks-
N o. 15.......... ....
No. 16........ ....

Averages.,

4th 4 weeks--
N o. 15................
No. 16........... ... .

Averages........

3 65
3 75

3 70

4 40
4 50

4 45

4 44
4 45

4 44-50

Inerease
in

Weight
per day.

Lbs.

Cost Average
Cost perlO lbs. perOt

per day. of per10lbs.
mcerease. Gper

tt roup.

Cts. $ ts. S ets.

1-42 6-52 4 56
1-42 6-29 4 40 4 48

1·42 6-40

2-32 8-92 3 85
2-67 8'28 8 09 3 44

2-49 8-61

1-42 11·11 7 77
-78 1083 606 682

1-60 i 10-97

1-57 13-02 8-28
1-60 13-17 8-19 8'23

158 13-09

3 lbs. bran.
4 ]bs. bran.
4 lbs. bran.
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GROUP No. 9.-TWO STEERS.

FED AS FOLLOWS:

MEAL, &c.

Bulky fodder ration No. 3-
Hay, 20 lbs.. . . .st 4 weeks, 2 lbs. meal and 1 lb. bran.
Turnips, 40 lbs.. 2nd 4 weeks, 1 lb. meal, 1 lb. cotton seed meal and 2 lbs. bran.

3rd 4 weeks, 1 lbs. meal, 1 lbs. cotton seed meal and 3 lbs. bran.
4th 4 weeks, 2 lbs. meal, 2 lbs. cotton seed meal and 4 lbs. bran.

Steer.

lst4 weeks-
N o. 17 ................
N o.18 ................

Averages...

2nd 4 weeks--
No. 17...............,
N o. 18.................

Averages ........

3rd 4 weeks-
N o. 17.................
N o. 18.................

Averages........

4th 4 weeks-
N o.17.................
N o. 18................

- Averages........

Fodder Me
consmned Perd
per day.

ali

Lbs. Lbs,

28·00 2
38·50 2 ...

33·25 2 ...

2996 1 1
4000 1 1

34·98 1 1

36-80 1ý 1½

32-78 212
37-67 2 2

35-22 2 2

Total
increase

in
Weight.

.

Inerease
i-n

Weight
per day.

Lbs. Lbs.

45 1 60
45 1·60

Average

Cost Cost Cost
p per l0Obs. perO lbs.

increase. for
Group.

Cts. 8 ets.

8*10
102 û f

S ets.

04

1 45 1-60 9-15

2 35 1·25 9-24 7 39
2 50 178 1125 630 674

2 42'50 1-51 10'24

3 50 1-78 11 97 6 70
3 35 1-25 12 48 9 98 8 05

3 42-50 1·51 12-22

4 42 1·50 13-05 8 70
4 74 2-64 14-03 8 30 6 53

4 58 2 07 13'54
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GROIP No. 10.-TWO STEERS.

FED AS FOLLOWS:

MEAL, &c.
Bulky fodder ration No. 3-

Brome grass, 20 lbs. lst 4 weeks, 2 lbs. meal and 1 lb. bran.
Turnips, 40 lbs. 2nd 4 weeks, 1 lb. meal, 1 lb. cotton seed ineal and 2 Ibs. bran.

3rd 4 weeks, 1½ Ibs. meal, 1 Ibs. cotton seed meal and 3 lbs. bran.
4th 4 weeks, 2 Ibs. meal, 2 lbs. cotton seed meal and 4 lbs. bran.

Fed for twelve weeks only.

l'oddel* Ma
consinied pral
per day.

Total
ineaiie

Weight.

Increase

Weight
per day.

('it Gst
e v. per 10Olbs.

e iease.

Lbs. ILb.

lst 4 weeks-
No. 19 ...... 9........ 32·57 2 1
N o. 20..... .......... 32·64 2

Averages ........ 32·60 2 1

2nd 4 weeks-
No. 19............... 32-53
N o. 20. ................. 34-00

Averages ... ..... 3326

3rd 4 weeks-
No.19................. 35-85
No.20.... ............ 35-89

Averages........ 35-87

55
45

50

15

55

35

1 96
1 0

1 78

1 96

1 24

9*01

9101

975
1005

9 90

4 58
5 ]

18 20
5 12

50 178 1204 674
25 89 12-04 13 48

37-50 1-33 12-04

Steer.

A verage
Coist

per 100l.
per

Group 11.

s ets. $ ets.

5 04

7·92

Lb. Lbs. Cts.
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GROUP No. 11.-TWO STEERS.

FED AS FOLL WS:

Not on test for first balf of first 4 weeks.
Bulky fodder ration No. 1-

Ensilage, 50 lbs.
Turnips, 25 lbs.
H ay, 5 lbs.
Straw, 5 lbs.

The last half of first 4 weeks they also received 3 lbs. of meal per day, composed of
equal parts by weight of pease, barley and oats all ground. During the remainino 12
weeks each steer received 2 Ibs. of cornmeal per day, with a gradually increasing
quantity of a mixture composed of - ground oil cake, 1 cotton seed meal and i bran.4 C 4

Steer.
Fodder

conisumeud

Total Increase Cs >rage
a ease \n ght pra per100bs. perOObs.Per day. iii Weiglit per day. f? OlU.proOi.

Weight. per day.
Group.

Last hal
No. 21
No. 2:

f of 1st 4 weeks-
Lbs. Hay Lbs.

. ..... .. ... 22-14 3
. ........ 2214 3

22·14 3

2nd 4 w'eeks-
No. 21. .... .. .....
No. 22. .. ..........

25 -9 2
25192

251(2

3rd 4 weeks-
No.21.............. 2857
No22 28'à7

3 42
3 '42

3

3

Corn Mix'd
Meai. Meal.

2 2
2 2

342 2

4 2
4 2

. .... .. .. .. .. 4 2

Averges ... 28-57 4 2
4th 4 weeks-

No.21. ............. 29-03
No. 22.............. 29-03

Averages..... 29-03

4
4

4

Lbs. Lbs. Cts. 8 ets. S cts.

20 1·42 C-93 4 85
30 2'14 6·93 3 23 3 88

2n 1-78 6-93

20
60

2 40

-71 8-30 il 62
2-13 I 8·3 3 87 5 81

1-42 8-30

3 80 2·85 9.73
3 40 142 9-73

3 60 213-) 9-73

3·50 42 1·50 10·22
3-50 60 213 1022

3-50 51 1-81 10-22

3 40
6 si 4 54

6 81
4 76 561

The foregoing experiments show the following results:-

Group No 1............................... ...
2 .... ... .. .. ... ......... ... ..... ....
3 3 ..... .. .......... . .. . . . . . . .

S 4 ..... ..... ... ... ..... .. ..... .........o ........................ .. .... .... ....e 6...... .. . ......... .......... .. .
S 7 . ..-. . . . . . . . . .

9 9 .......... .. ...... ...... ..... ...... .. . ..
S 10, fed for twelve weeks only .... ... .. ....... .

i l 1 . . .. .... . ..... ... . . .. . . . . .. .......
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Total gain
per steer.

Lbs.

155Mk
188
1404
163L
169-1
218
216
199
188

198S

Average
cost per day
per Steer.

Cents.

5-91
8-40
7-85
7-42
8-41
9-65

10·22
9·77

11-29
10 -32
8-80

Cost per 100
ibs. of inereast

per Group.

S ets.

4 22
4 61
6 59
4 83
6 58
5 75
6 53
5 74
6 75
7 31
4 96

.
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It would appear from the above that the best results have been had from the
rations fed to Groups 1, 2, 4 and i i.

Q. Have you tried the experiment of putting the steers in box stalls to test
the difference between feeding in box stalls and tied?

A. We tried that some five years ago and it has some advantages, but our
accommodations at the Central Farm are hardly sufficient to admit of our using
box stalls for that purpose now.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. I was in Guelph, and they liad put so many steers into box stalls and so
many were tied, and the result was that at the end of a month the steers in the
Etalls, with the same quantity of feed, had gained 1o pounds more than those that
were tied ?

A. That is very interesting.

M\\r. FEATHERSTON :-I put 70 steers into a pen-yard last fall. They weighed
onu an average 1,140 pounds last fall, and i got a letter yesterday saving that they
now averaged 1,436 pounds. They were running loose and their horns were cut
off last fall.

EXPERIMENTS WITH PIGS.

Dr. SAUNDERS:-Some experiments have been tried with pigs during the
last season in feeding unground grain to see how it compared with grouînd grain.
The experiments covered oats, barley, corn unground, and a mixture of barley,
oats and pease, all unground. In all of these experiments the grain was soaked
.4 hours before feeding and the pigs all belonged to two litters and were as evenly

graded in groups as possible. They were given all tliey would eat of the particular
grain on which they were fed, with three pounds of skim milk per pig per day.
The quantity of oats consumed per pound of increase in live weight was 4-21
pounds and of skim milk 3-45 pounds. In order to find out what proportion of
me grain passed tirough the animals undigested the excrement was carefully col-
lected for 24 hours and washed. From: the pen fed with oats, about 14 pounds
of the grain being fed, 2 pounds 6 ounces of undigested oats were obtained which
when dried, weighed 22'2 pounds per bushel, and when tested for vitality germin-
ated in the proportion of i i per cent.

With the barley four pigs were fed the same way, namely, for 12 weeks on
unground barley soaked in water 54 hours, all they would eat, with three pounds
skim milk per day to each pig. It required 3 '32 pounds of barley and 1· 88 pounds
of skim milk for each pound of increase. From 17 pounds of barley fed in 24
hours, 2 pounds 2 ounces of undigested grain were separated, which, when dried,
weighed 35 pounds to the bushel, but when tested as to germinating power none
of these kernels sprouted.

Four pigs were fed for 12 weeks on unground pease soaked in cold water for
54 hours, all they would eat up clean, with three pounds of skim milk per day to
each pig. These pigs consumed 3-33 pounds of pease and 2-35 pounds of skii
milk for each pound of increase. From 17 pounds of pease fed in 24 hours, only
2 ounces of undigested grain were separated and none of the kernels sprouted.

Three pigs were fed for 13 weeks on unground Indian corn soaked for 54
hours, all they would eat up clean, with three pounds of skim milk per day to each
pig. They consumed 2-90 pounds of corn and 2-31 pounds of skim milk for each
pound of increase. From i i pounds of corn fed during 24 hours there were sepa-
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rated 8 ounces of undigested grain, which when dry, weighed 40/4 pounds per
bushel, and germinated in the proportion of 8 per cent.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Will you give the results of corn again ?
A. They required 2-90 pounds of corn with 2·31 pounds of skîm milk for

each pound of increase, indicating that less corn was required than of any other
variety of grain to produce a pound of live weight.
barley and pease soaked in water for 54 hours, all they would eat up clean, with

Three swine were fed for 15 weeks, a mixture of equal parts of undigested oats,
three pounds of skim milk per day to each. They consumed of this mixed grain
3-20 pounds and 2·6o pounds of skim milk for each pound of increase. From
about ii pounds of this mixed grain fed in 24 hours, 1o ounces of undigested
material was separated, and from 100 kernels tested for germinating power, two
of the oats only sproited.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Then the mixture was better than any one variety ?
A. Yes. At the same time it is very interesting to note what results may be

expected where only one sort of grain is available. Other experiments were made
of feeding with ground grain soaked -and with the same grain fed dry. The meal
in this case was composed of equal parts of oats, barley and pease with a half part
of bran.

Q. You did not try pure oatmeal and pure cornmeal against the whole grain ?
A. We tried in our experinients last year the oats, pease and barley ground,

both alone and mixed.

Q. That would be a good thing to publish in a bulletin and have these re-
sults brought side by side to show the difference ?

A. That is a very good suggestion, and I shall be very glad to take an early
opportunity of doing this. With regard to feeding the meal dried and soaked.
To the one pen the meal was fed after it had been soaked for 30 hours in cold
water ; in the other case it was fed dry and a tub introduced into the pen with
water so that the pigs could drink as often as they required it. Each pig was
given three pounds of skim milk per day as in the other tests, and all they
could eat up clean of soaked meal in the one case and of dry meal in the other
case. These pigs were from the same litter and they weighed very evenly at the
start, there being a difference of only three or fcur pounds in the total weight of
each pen. The four pigs fed on meal soaked made one pound of increase in live
iveight on a consumption of 4:69 pounds of meal and 3:61 pounds skimmed milk,
'whereas the four pgs fed on the sane meal dry made a pound of increase from
4:1Q pounds of meal and 3:20 pounds of milk. Those fed with dry food made 34
pounds less weight in the same time to the pen and they consumed 316 pounds
less of grain, so that it appears from this experiment that it is more economical to
feed meal dry.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. What age were these pigs ?
A. They were voung pigs of about 100 pounds each in weight. One lot of

four weighed 407 pounds, and the other lot of four a total of 403 pounds. At the
close of the test the first lot weighed 756 pounds, and the second lot 718 pounds.
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Those that were fed on the moist food did not do as well as those that were fed on
the dry food until the last four or five weeks of the feeding period. In the mean-
time they had grown a little more rangy, and during this latter period they put on
weight more rapidly than those fed cn dry meal, but there was more shrinkage
when they were killed. Those fed on the dry grain were shorter, more solid and
compact, and they made on the whole more flesh with the consumption of less
grain.

By Senator Perley

Q. Do not your experiments show that the pigs gained more on whole grain
than on ground grain ?

A. The results varied with different lots, but on the whole the advantage, I
think, was with the ground grain.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Would you advise persons to take their grain to the mill and pay for
grinding it rather than feeding it whole ?

A. I would not like to be very positive about that, much would depend cn
the cost of grinding and the kind of grain used.

Q. Have you tried sunflower seed in feeding hogs?
A. We tried that on one occasion, and I believe with favourable results, al-

though I cannot recall the exact particulars.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. You have tried the experiment of feeding part pease and part oats ?
A. Yes ; I reported that last year.

Q. What was the result ?
A. In this instance in addition to the oats and pease, 6 pounds of skimmed

milk were given to each pig per day. For each pound of increase in live weight
there were consumed three pounds of the nixed grain and 4·51 pounds of
skimmed milk.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. I was sorry I was not present to hear the whole of Professor Saunders
statement. I am very anxious to know the result of the last weighing of these
pigs in that interesting experiment with soaked and dry grain ?

A. The result of the last weighing showed that the four pigs fed on grain
soaked for thirty hours weighed 756 pounds. They weighed 407 pounds at the
start. Those fed with dry grain weighed 718 pounds at the finish, whereas they
started at 403 pounds. Those fed on moist grain were four pounds heavier at the
start, and they weighed about 38 pounds more at the conclusion of the experi-
ment; but they consumed 316 pounds more grain to gain that extra weight than
those fed with dry grain.

Q. How long did you continue the test ?
A. It was continued for 15 weeks.

By Mr. Semple :

Q. Do you think it is profitable to feed animals to such a heavy weight ?
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A. We usually feed them to from 180 to 200 pounds.
over i80 pounds as we do not find it profitable to do so.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. What age were the pigs ?
A. I have not the date of the littering of these pigs,

late litter in the season.

We scarcely ever run

but they were from a

Q. They were late pigs ?
A. Yes, and they were all from the same litter. The experiment began on

the 5th January. Although they were from one of the latest litters they had been
kept nicely growing from the time of their birth up to this date.

By 11r. Rogers :

Q. You would not reconimend dry feeding
A. I scarcely like to recommend anything.

mittce the results of our tests. I might change
different results.

for young pigs?
I simply bring before the Com-

my opinion next year if I found

By Ir. McMillan :

Q. Have you tried feeding pigs on clover with a little meal ?
A. No; we hope to try that experiment shortly.
Mr. McMILLAN:-This vear we were short of mangels and we fed the pigs on

clover hay put through the cutter, cut about an inch long and scalded, and we
never found mangels to do better.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Have you tried feeding them on ensilage ?
A. We tried pea ensilage one season, but they did not care to eat it. There

is no doubt that with all these animals there is an advantage in changing the diet
froin time to time, but we could not do that in such experiments as those just
4escribed, because it would interfere with the accuracy of the resuits.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. I was much struck with the appearance of the pigs that were fed on the
soaked grain. They seemed to be much more thrifty. Supposing that they had
been kept foi, a considerable time longer it looked as if they might develop better
than the others ?

A. I think if it had been profitable to carry them further, they probably would
have gained more in proportion where the meal was fed moist, because there was
a perceptible difference in the length of the pigs and apparently in the thriftiness
of their growth.

By AIr. Featherston

Q. Have they been slaughtered ?
A. Yes.

Q. What vas the result as to shrinkage ?
A. The live weight of -the first lot, fed on soaked meal, fasted 14 hours, was

743 pounds, and the dressed weight, 24 hours after killing, was 540 pounds. In
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the other case, where the pigs were fed on dry meal, the live weight, fasted 14
hours, was 690 pounds, and 24 hours after killing it was 545 pounds. There was
nearly 50 pounds less shrinkage with those fed dry. The difference in this respect
was quite remarkable.

By the Chairman:

Q. When you killed them you considered that they were in about the best
condition for the market ?

A. Yes ; we find that if we make them any heavier the extra weight is made
at a loss.

THE BRANCH FARMS.

Before closing I would like to make a few remarks with regard to the work
on the branch farms. At Nappan we have made some progress during the past
year in the improvement of the stock. The dairy station near by was in need of
milk to carry on operations during the winter, and about 20 good milch cows,
including several Guernseys, were added to the dairy herd, and with this addition
a regular supply of about 4,000 pounds a week has been kept up. This has been
a benefit to the dairy station and aided much in the carrying on of their work.
At the same time lessons have been furnished to the farners as to how the flow
of milk can be maintained during the winter by the use of ensilage and meal, and
some experiments were carried on along that line. A larger number of farmers'
meetings were attended by our officers during the past year. This has resulted in
bringing the work more prominently before the farmers. Special efforts have
been made by the officers of the Nappan farm to bring the work of that farm pro.
minently before the people of Nova Scotia, New Brunswick and Prince Edward
Island. In the horticultural branch new varieties of fruits were added, and a large
number of vegetables were tested.

In addition to all the grain experiments, including the uniform test plots,
which have been carried on at all these farms, there are a few points which occur
to me as worthy of special attention. In Brandon, Mr. Bedford, the Superintei-
dent, has carried on experiments in regard to the fattening of fowls, both confined
and running at large, showing that they can be fed with profit on the waste grain
and that this branch of agriculture may be developed in Manitoba with profit.
There were also some experiments with pease at this farm, showing that they can
le grown to much advantage in Manitoba. In regard to the growing of fruit, all
the small fruits, including the crosses I referred to last year, have done well there.
The first of the cross-bred apples derived from the small Siberian crab (Pyrus
baceata) were planted there this spring in a sheltered orchard, about 1o varieties,
and we are hoping in about two years more for interesting results from these. In-
creased interest is also manifested in the planting of forest trees, both in Manitoba
and the North-west. At the farm at Indian Head we have a remarkable illustration
of the advantage of shelter in growing grain. We had Banner oats in the test
plots last season where they were considerably exposed to the wind, and we got
only 52-2 bushels per acre, and this variety, instead of being near the top of the
list as to results comes second from the bottom. From the same seed planted not
100 yards distant from this plot, but within the influence of a shelter belt, the crop
was ioi -16 bushels per acre as against 52-2 in the exposed part.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. What is the shelter ?
A. It consists of a tree belt about 1o feet wide which extends the whole

'Sngth of the farm along the west and north margins, and there is a driveway along.
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side. The plot where the Banner oats were grown which gave 1oi bushels per
acre was about 20 feet from the road. The other plot was about 1oo yards away
on higher ground.

Q. Were not those beyond the influence of the shelter blown by the wind ?
A. Yes, they were blown considerably. That thinned them out and the re-

sult was as stated, that the plot unsheltered gave much the smallest yield. It is
evidence of this sort that is calling the attention of the farmers of the district to
the importance of planting trees, because their influence is thus directly~traceabie
in the increase of crops. Even where trees are planted along an avenue the course
of the wind is somewhat broken, and the beneficial effect is felt for a considerable
distance. The interest taken in this subject has been attended by a great demand
for tree seeds and young trees, which we have done our best to meet, especially
at Indian Head and Brandon, where the farmers are furnished with such material
free each year as long as our supplies last.

SMUT IN GRAIN.

Experiments have been continued with smut in wheat which is a live subject
in the Norh-west and Manitoba ; the results show the efficiency of bluestone as
a remedy. Smut in barley has also been under experiment at Indian Head where
good results from the use of bluestone have been oBtained, although the benefit
has not been so marked as in the case of wheat. In oats the ordinary Bordeaux
mixture has given good results. The grain is soaked for four hours in a liquid
made with four pounds of copper sulphate and four pounds of lime in a barrel
of water. That soaking is not sufficient to swell the grain so as to make it incon-
venient for sowing and it has practically annihilated the -mut. In a plot of 99
square feet which had not been treated there were 1,010 smutty heads, and in a
plot of the same size where the grain had been treated by this process only two
smutted heads were found in the whole area. Tests were also made with solution
of potassium sulphide and good results were obtained from this remedy when the
grain was soaked for 24 hours.

Experiments at Brandon, and Indian Head also, were continued with cattle
to gain information as to the results of feeding with Brome grass late in the
autumn as compared with the native grasses. Tests were also made in feeding
oat sheaves, wheat chaff and Brome hay with ensilage. A group of four steers
fed at the Indian Head Farm on wheat chaff and ensilage and grain for four
months gained in weight 1,025 pounds, a similar group fed for the same period on
Brome hay, ensilage and grain increased 1,015 pounds, and another lot fed on oat
sheaves with ensilage and grain gained 910 pôunds, showing the advantage of
feeding wheat chaff and Brome hay as compared with oat sheaves.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. What was fed along with the wheat chaff, Brome hay and oat sheaves ?
A. Six pounds of grain per animal per day, and two pounds of ensilage ta

each pound of dry fodder. During the last month each animal received eight
instead of six pounds of meal per day.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. What kind of grain was fed ?
A. It was a mixture of two parts of barley with one part of wheat ground
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At Agassiz, in British Columbia, while many experiments have been carried
on with wheat and other cereals, also with roots and fodder crops as at the other
farms, a larger portion of time has been given to experiments in fruit growing.
Many new varieties of apples, pears, plums and cherries have been brought under
test and much useful work has been accomplished in this branch. We have also
introduced bees which are prospering well. Many experiments have been tried
with clover, especially in ploughing it under with the object of adding to the fer-
tility of the land. We have also conducted many experiments in the planting of
timber trees to ascertain their growth for commercial purposes and their usefulness
for shelter. In the Agassiz Valley we are troubled with wind storms, which
during the winter months are sometimes quite severe and we have found the plant-
ing of trees for shelter very useful there.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. In regard to clover for fertilizing, I have been trying a little of that myself.
I think in one place where I have been trying it there is a probability that there
will be a good deal of heaving in the spring. Would it make much difference
were it allowed to stand over in the hope of ploughing down the second crop after
the roots were thrown out ? Suppose the roots were thrown out, if you ploughed
it all under afterwards, would the roots lose much in their fertilizing properties
from being exposed to the atmosphere ?

A. In our experience we have had the better results from ploughing the
clover under in the autumn than we have from ploughing under in the spring.
When turned under in the fall the texture of the soil is improved by the humus
which results from the decay of the mass of green foliage, whereas this is all
withered and much of it lost where the ploughing is deferred until the spring. I
would suggest that where there is danger of lifting in winter and where it is de-
sired to have the clover as a cover crop during the winter that a mixture be sown
of equal weights of red clover and alfalfa. The alfalfa has deeper roots and takes
a firmer hold of the soil while the red clover makes a good mat on the ground.
If you wish clover to remain over and grow until May when you want to use the
land for a corn or a potato crop, it is profitable to allow it to stand as you thus get
an increased growth and added fertilizing material by ploughing it about the 2oth
of May instead of turning it under in the autumn.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Is it an advantage to roll the land after sowing clover ?
A. It is a great advantage.

Q. What quantity of seed do you use in the mixture ?
A. We use 10 pounds where red clover is sown alone, but in a mixture of

alfalfa and red clover, as the seed of the alfalfa is larger, we use 5 pounds of red
clover and 7 pounds of alfalfa, making 12 pounds in all, which would be equal to
about 10 pounds of red clover in covering the ground.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. Do you find it better to sow the clover with other grain ?
A. So far as we can judge from the experiments we have tried we get a better

and earlier growth from the clover when we sow it alone ; but it is more econo-
mical to sow it with grain and a sufficient growth is obtained late in the season to
make it very valuable for ploughing under.
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Q. Supposing you sowed that grain this year and had a cut of clover in the
following spring and ploughed it down in the fall, have you then enriched your
land ?

A. Yes, you will enrich your land considerably by ploughing a heavy growth
of clover under in the autumn. You will then have considerably more roots and
about the same quantity of leaves as you would if the crop was ploughed under the
first season. A farmer can adopt either of these plans with much benefit and
should follow that course which he finds the most convenient.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence of the dates of 6th
and i1th May, I find it correct.

WM. SAUNDERS,

Director Dominion Experimental Farms.
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COMMITTEE RooM No. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

FRIDAY, 13th May, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this
day at II o'clock a.m. ; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

The CHAIRMAN :-We have with us this morning Dr. Fletcher, Entomologist
to the Experimental Farms. I introduce him to vou.

Mr. FLETCHER:-Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-There are many subjects
connected with the Entomologist's work which cannot be treated of before the
Committee. I can only refer to some of the most important subjects. The one
of the greatest importance, in that legislation has been enacted during the present
Session concerning it, is the San José Scale.

THE SAN JOSE SCALE IN CANADA.

This insect had been discovered in the western part of Ontario early last year,
and owing to the known injurious nature of this pest and the rapidity with which it
had spread during the year in infested Canadian orchards, some measures were ne-
cessary to prevent the further introduction of the insect and to provide for it de-
struction wherever discovered. Four years ago the San José Scale was discovered
in British Columbia and prompt action was taken by Mr. Palmer, of the Depart-
ment of Agriculture of British Columbia, to have it stamped out. I was sent there
by the Honourable Minister of Agriculture to investigate the matter, on account of
its importance, and found that Mr. Palmer had done his work so thoroughly that
there was no trace of the Scale to be found at the time of my visit. The frequent
intercourse between British Columbian fruit growers and those of California and
Oregon, and the large amount of nursery stock imported from these States have
resulted in the pest being introduced again into British Columbia. In December,
1896, undoubted specimens of it were sent to me by Mr. Palmer. Early last spring
I found through one of my correspondents, that the Scale occurred in injurious
numbers near Chatham, Ontario. The matter was at once attended to and inquiries
set on foot as to the occurrence of the Scale in other parts of Ontario. During the
month of June last the Minister sent me to the Niagara district to examine one
of the large orchards which was found to be infested. Several leading fruit grow-
ers accompanied me to the orchard of Mr. C. Thonger, at Niagara. Professor
Panton, of Guelph, was also invited to come with us. We examined Mr. Thon-
ger's trees and held a meeting in the orchard. We found that the scale had
spread through Mr. Thonger's orchard during the previous season and had in-
creased enormously on trees which had been found infested the year before. I
was deputed by the Minister to explain to the fruit growers present what the
nature of this insect was, and also to take their views as to what were the wisest
measures to adopt with regard to it. The Ontario Government has been taking
active steps to have this pest stamped out. An inspector of spraying has been
appointed, viz., Mr. W. M. Orr, of Fruitland, Ontario, who has pushed the inspec-
tion of the orchards of the province energetically during the year. Professor Panton
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promptly published an excellent bulletin on the Scale, and otherwise has done good
work in giving the fruit growers of the province information as well as by helping
to stamp out the pest, showing how important it was to have it attended to at once.

PERNICIOUS NATURE OF THE SAN JOSE SCALE.

Statements have appeared in the newspapers that the San José Scale is merely
an ordinarily injurions insect similar to many others we have had to deal with in
the past. I might as well deny this plainly at once. All those who know any-
thing of the subject acknowledge that this is the most serious pest that we as
entomologists have ever had to study. It has increased and spread with enormous
rapidity since its introduction into the States east of the Rocky Mountains, and
has been the cause of great loss. It is probable that the San José Scale is not a
native of America, although it was first discovered at San José, California, in 1870,
and by i88o it had done so much harm that it was described by the United States
Entomologist as Aspidiotus perniciosus, the Pernicious Scale, on account of its
injuries and the great difficulty of treating it. By the end of another decade the
Scale had spread all over California and through Washington Territory and Ore-
gon, and had done a great deal of harm. Indeed, the harm was so great that the
Los Angeles Horticultural Commission reported in 1890 that "if this pest be not
promptly destroyed it will utterly ruin the fruit industry of this country." Now,
it was only discovered as an injurious pest in the orchards of the Eastern States
in 189 3 -this is 1898-that is five years, and of course it has not been at work
vet this vear. Since its detection as a fruit pest in the orchards of the Eastern
States, therefore, it is simply a history of four years. In that time, it has spread
through the whole of the important fruit-growing States of the United States. It
is not confined to one State, but is found in every fruit-growing State that touches
our borders, and from which in the past we have imported a great deal of nursery
stock. I do not know for certain about the State of Maine, but in every other
State it has been detected, and it is known that wherever it occurs it has done a
great deal of harm.

Some recent writers in newspapers have said that the entomologists are mak-
ing a great hullabaloo about this insect, and they assert that there are no actual
instances we can give as to its ravages. I will give you, gentlemen of the Com-
mittee, one instance of several. Although I have not seen this orchard, I have
seen others in a similar condition, close to it and in the same State. This is a
photograph of an orchard which contained 28,ooo bearing trees which were so in-
jured in three years by the San José Scale that half of them were dead at the time
the photograph was taken, and the other half have since had to be cut down and
burned. A full grown bearing peach tree may be valued at from $5 to $15, if not
attacked by this insect. Now, if we value these trees as worth $1o, you will see the
large amount of money which has been actually lost in one orchard. In the States
of Maryland, Virginia, New Jersey, and many other States the San José Scale is
doing extensive injury at the present tii-e

LEGISLATION.

In regard to our Government's recent legislation looking to the control and
exclusion of the San José Scale, I believe that it was both wise and necessarv. Everv
care vas taken that all information concerning the insect should be gathered to-
gether. and the Honourable the Minister of Agriculture hesitated a whole vear
before putting the Act through Parliament. It was said by some to be done pre-
cipitately and forced through Parliament in a hurry ; but this was not the case.
We considered it carefully and the wideawake nurservmen and fruit growers of
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Canada demanded that the Government should do something. Last year letters
poured in to the Minister, demanding some legislation to protect Canada from
this insect which was doing so much harm to the south of us. There has been
some adverse criticism because the word fruit was omitted from the San José
Scale Act. This omission was made purposely. I do not believe that there is any
danger of the Scale being carried to Canadian orchards on fruit. The Act has been
made prohibitive. Prohibition was necessary. It was not a matter to hesitate
about. If we were going to carry any measure at all it had to be an extreme
measure. Our fruit growers recognized the importance of the case and were
ready for it. Our nurserymen stated that they would not increase the price of
their nursery stock, and I am happy to say that this has not been done to any
undue degree. The demand for stock has of course given the nurserymen sorne
trouble to supply it, but they have been able to meet all demands, and I know of
no detriment to our fruit growers from inability to get the stock they requirej.
Moreover, there is advantage to the buyer of fruit trees to get them from Canadian
nurseries, for not only is it certain that northern grown trees will be hardier, but
they will be free from this serious enemy. I have not been able to learn of a
single instance where the stock of a Canadian nursery has been found to be in-
fested by this Scale. It is different in the United States. I refer to the United
States as a matter of necessity, not because I wish to antagonize the nurserymen
of that Republic or run counter to their wishes, but because in the past so much
nursery stock has been bought of them every year, and at the present time they
are a source of danger to us. Not only has this action of the Government and
Parliament of Canada been popular in Canada, but in the United States as well; it
has been approved of By those people who think and who have expressed them.
selves without fear. Those who are best fitted to express an opinion are the
entomologists of the different States who have had to study this matter and who
know the gravity of the case. These gentlemen, almost with a single voice, have
pronounced in favour of the Act we have passe~d. It is extremely popular here,
and, as I say, extremely popular south of the border, except with a few nursery-
men in the United States who have taken orders for delivery this spring and were,
therefore, put to some small pecuniary loss. These orders were given by our
people who did notrecognize the serious nature of this insect pest and who did
not follow a wiser course and get their stock from their own nurservmen-a course
calculated to produce belter results in many ways. Some people, however, seen
to value things more the further they go from home to procure them. On the
whole, however, notwithstanding some little inconvenience to those who wished
to import trees and shrubs from the United States, the San José Scale Act has
been a decidedly popular measure, both in Canada and in the United States. It
has also had a very good effect on European markets where there is a recognition
of the fact that Canada has taken every precaution to grow the products of her
orchard of the very best quality and to protect them from the ravages of this ter-
rible pest.

I will speak now as to the difficulties of detecting this Scale. The insect is
very small and inconspicuous. Here are some branches which are affected, more
or less, by the insect. This, first, is a branch very badly infested indeed, and you
see the insect can be readily detected. Then there are branches less badly infested,
and here is one very little infested. When a tree is badly infested the fact is very
evident, and there is no difficulty in seeing the scales, but when it bas only a few
scales on it, it is almost impossible to detect them. On this verv slightlv injured
branch you will see how almost impossible it is to detect the infestation. In the
United States there is hardly a State that bas not passed or has under consideration
an Act prohibiting the importation of infested stock, but thev all rely on inspection,
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and I maintain that it is almost impossible to rely on any inspection that is practic-
able. It would be a most expensive business to inspect all trees that corne into our
countryand find out whether they have any scales on them or not. It would require
specialists to examine for the Scale and others to open and close the parcels, so
that the plants were not injured. This insect increases with such rapidity that if
you notice a single scale on a tree in the beginning of the season, by the end of
the same season the pest will most probably have spread all over the whole tree as
badly as on this worst branch. By the end of the next year it will have spread al!
over the orchard. That, at least, has been about its history since it was introduced
from California into the east. It is sometimes said that it does not spread rapidly.
It is true that it does not spread rapidly in an orchard at first, but at the same time
it must be acknowledged that it does spread widely and rapidly, as is shown by
its history east of the Rockies. From the time of its discovery, four years ago,
in one State it has now spread over thousands of miles of territory so that almost
every State is infested with it. Thus, both statements may, in a sense, be true.
It may not spread very quickly at first, but it spreads very rapidly after a while.
It is immensely injurious, killing trees in three or four years or rendering theia
so weak that although treated so as to prevent the spread of the Scale a tree once
badly infested is practically worthless, and it is generally acknowledged that it is
better, unless the tree is very valuable, to destroy it altogether so as not to run the
risk of letting the insects spread.

The Government of Ontario has been somewhat criticised for having passed
a Bill providing for the destruction of infested trees, and then paying 25 per cent
on the value of the trees. It is said that this was not compensation enough. I
think it is. A Government must help the country, but this must be done in rea-
son. If an epidemic occurs, the Government cannot prevent it and cannot be
held responsible for it, nor give bonuses to those who suffer. So, since the Gov-
ernment is giving this bonus, and it must be called a bonus, so that a serious in-
jury to the community may be obviated, the people should congratulate thein-
selves on getting anything at all, for it is a much more serious matter than the
generality of people think, and it might have been necessary for the Government
to demand the destruction of a source of public danger without giving any com-
pensation. The Honourable Minister was criticised for forcing his Bill through
Parliament so quickly. Everything depended on the measure being pushed
through at once and quickly. At one time it was thought the Ontario Govern-
ment were not doing as much as they ought, that they were not pushing the work
vigorously enough, but there are many things which Governments do in their
own ways that the public do not know about. In this case the Government was
having the country inspected and finding out to what extent it was infested before
carrying out these measures. It was found to be far more infested than people
thought, and it appeared to be a more serious thing the more it was investigated.
The Government of the Province of Ontario is now carrving out remedial mea-
sures with energy and doing the best possible for the province and for Canada at
large. I think the San José Scale has spread more and is likely to be more in-
jurious in the south-west part of Ontario than in the other parts of the country,
although we do not know for certain but that it mav spread in other parts of Can-
ada. The pest has occurred in Canada only in British Columbia and Ontario.
Its presence in our orchards is of such gravity that any extreme measures within
reason are justifiable and proper. Both of these provinces have acted promptiy
and decidedly. While, therefore, this has been done in Ontario and British
Columbia, where thev have passed and carried out stringent measures, it was, in
my opinion, eminently proper and extremely wise for our Minister to push his
Act through quickly, so as to proteci our important fruit industries from a serions
enemy and the country from a very certain menace to its trade.
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By Mr. Rogers:

Q. How far east has the disease spread ?
A. Only a few miles east of Hamilton, I believe.

Q. In British Columbia, was the latter outbreak near the same place as it was
the first time?

A. No. The first was in the Okanagan Valley ; the later ones, on Vancouver
Island. Mr. Palmer, the Inspector of fruit pests in British Columbia, had all the
trees destroyed. This officer is a very able man and one possessed of courage with
his convictions, who appreciates when a thing is of a serious nature, and not only
uses extreme measures when necessary, but afterwards follows these up bravely.
He has done good work in regard to this insect as well as with many other pests.

Reverting to my statements that this legislation was not unexpected and
pushed through precipitately and that the fruit growers, nurserymen and fruit
'rowers' associations of Canada had ample opportunities of knowing beforehand
that such action was likely ; let me say that not only were many letters received
from every province by the Minister of Agriculture recommending it, but so that
no step should be taken which was not backed up by public opinion, he sent me
to address meetings in all the provinces liable to be invaded by this insect. I
went first of all to attend meetings in Ontario, then held meetings in several loca-
lities in Quebec, New Brunswick and Nova Scotia, and at all these meetings. ex-
tending over some three months, the statement was made that efforts were being
made to get the Government to pass legislation of this kind, and that the Honour-
able Minister of Agriculture wished for advice from the fruit growers and repre-
sentative men of the associations before such legislation was enacted. Thus, all
the members of the leading associations had notice of it, and all the nurservmem
who attended the meetings or read the notices of them published in the press haï
an opportunity of knowing what was going to be done in the event of it being
found necessary to pass an Act. As I said before, representations were made te
the Minister over a year ago, pointing ont the wisdom of something being done
to safeguard our fruit interests against this enemy. It may seem, perhaps, that I
am giving undue importance to this matter, but I was asked especially to speak of
it by one of the members of the Committee, and there is no doubt that it is welli
that all the people of Canada should know why tiis Act was passed. Those who
were widcawake had ample opportunity to prepare for it, and as to rushing the
Bill through in a day or two, that was necessary because as soon as it became
known that there was a possibility of this Bill going into force, efforts were made
to rush in United States stock from, in some instances, States known to be ii-
fested. Some of this was stopped on the border. A small amount of stock got
ihrough and a great deal of indignation was expressed against the Act by those
United States nurserymen who were not lucky enough to get their plants entered
before the Act was enforced.

Now, we may ask, Why should we be afraid ? Simply because some of our
fruit growers have bought much cheap stock from the United States, and this
cheap stock is, as a rule, poor, badly grown stock. I have it from a leading nur-
seryman of the United States that after all American orders have been filled no
less than 8o per cent of the surplus remaining stock has in the past been sent to
Canada. There was a demand in Canada for this cheap and bad stock, and our
people have foolishly been buying and planting it in their, or what is more to the
ooint, our Canadian orchards. The people of the United States by the advice of
their official Entomologists are making great efforts to control this serious enemv
of fruit trees and ornamental shrubs and are going to much expense in the matter
as well as passing strict laws to prevent its spread.
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REMEDIES FOR THE SAN JOSE SCALE.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. When a limb of a tree is affected, would it be well to take that limb off ?
A. Certainly, but it is difficult to say whether you would remove all the scales,

and if any were left they would soon spread all over the tree again. If trees are
treated to free them from the scale this must be done in the winter and very tho-
roughly. The best treatment is to wash the trees with a potash whale-oil soap
solution. This must be a strong solution made with as much as two pounds of
the soap to each gallon of water. It must be a potash soap, else at the strength
mentioned the solution will not remain liquid enough to spray. The best soap
is Good's No. 3 Caustic Potash Soap made at Philadelphia. This firm, in con-
nection with the United States Entomologist, has carried on a great many experi-
ments to find out the best kind of soap. The firm has taken every care to prepare
this special soap properly. It is an admirable insecticide, and the makers have taken
everv carel in the manufacture, so that it gives the best results. Soap is a ma-
terial which may be used to great advantage against many injurious insects. The
chief difficultv is that it is not uniform in composition, so that you are not always
able to tell beforehand what result you will get.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Do you consider lye to be useful ?
A. It is of some use, but not so good as the whale-oil soap. The interest in

insect pests which has been aroused with regard to the San José Scale has natur-
ally had the effect of drawing the attention of many fruit growers and farmers to
other injurious insects, and a great many kinds have been sent in for examination,
under the impression that they might be the San José Scale. When the appear-
ance of the San José Scale is known it is very easily recognized as a scale insect,
but besides it there are one or two other scale insects which are not nearly so in-
jurious, but which may be readily confounded with it. These add somewhat to
the difficulties of carrying out the different Acts which have been passed, owing
to the difficulty of distinguishing the true San José Scale from the other kinds of
similar scales found on the same kinds of trees. As the Act demands that trees
shall be destroyed if the inspector says that they are infested with the San José
Scale, it becomes important to know, when a tree is infested with a certain scale,
if it is the San José Scale or not. As I have said, there are two others which are
extremely like it, and it requires very careful examination and a good deal of
special knowledge to distinguish between these different scales. For that reason
we have had sent into the department for examination and report a great number
of specimens of these different scale insects from fruit inspectors and owners of
orchards all through the country. This state of affairs has stirred up an interest
in injurious insects which I believe, in the end, will have a beneficial effect on the
whole country, because many people having now been frightened by this serious
pest are attending to their trees much better, and in a few years I think our
orchards will be in a far better condition than they are to-day or than they would
have been, had it not been for the advent of the San José Scale, of course pro-
viding that we are able to control it and prevent it from spreading injuriously
through our Canadian orchards. This insect is extremely inconspicuous, and that
is one of the principal dangers with regard to Rt, for it is liable to be introduced
on nursery stock even if the stock is inspected because it can be so easily over-
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looked. It has been stated that there are certain methods of treating the San
José Scale by which all stock can be disinfected by fumigation so that it would
be safe to bring it into the country. Fumigation with hydrocyanic acid gas is
probably one of the best methods of treating nursery stock, but unfortunately
actual results have shown us that where stock has been treated by nurserymei,
even professedly with great care in 'the past, there are instances where this treat-
ment has not been effective. Therefore, in view of the above facts, I could not
see my way to advise the Government to trust either to inspection or even to this
fumigation with gas which might, if thoroughly applied, be perfectly effective, but
which as practised by business men, past events showed us had not proved so
in some instances in which it had been tried before the stock was imported. Cn
the Pacific Coast the gas treatment for destroying insects is widely used and "s
found to be very satisfactory. There is also another method, namely, to spray
the trees with a nixture composed of lime, sulphur and salt, which is there clained
to be perfectly effective. This again has been tried in the East, but like the gas
treatment has not been nearly so effectual as in the West. Of the many remedies
.which have been tried for the destruction of the San Tosé Scale, whale-oil soap,
two pounds in one gallon of water will probably give the best results. This at least
is the experience of the experimenters in the United States, where many different
methods have been tried. If a tree is only slightly affected it may be treated if the
remedy is used as reconmended. If, however, it is badly infesfed it had better bc
dug up and burnt at once.

PARASITES.

Bv the Chairnian:

Q. Is there a parasite which follows the San José Scale and other insects
A. Yes, there are several parasites but they have not developed yet in suffi-

cient numbers in Canada to protect the orchards against the scale. In Cali-
fornia during the last year or two, this insect lias decreased in numbers and in-
jurious effects, a fact probably due to the attacks of sone parasite which, however,
has not yet been recognized. There is also a fungous disease which attacks the
scale in Florida. Professor Smith, of New Jersey, has successfully imported this
fungus into his State, and efforts are being made to import it into Canada, but uip
to the present they have not been attended with success. Mr. Craig last vear got
some of the fungus from Florida and tried to introduce it into the Niagara district
in some different localities so that it might spread amongst the nsects and de-
stroy them. So far there have not been any results that we have seen. In St.
Catharines, last autumn, I found in one orchard scales that had been destroyed by
another kind of fungus. This is now being propagated in the hope that it may be
ùseful in controlling the spread of the scale. In summing up this matter I must
say that I believe everything is being done and bas been done, which was dictated
by wisdom and common sense to protect Canada from the ravages of the San
José Scale.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Will there be any danger from this fungus ?
A. No. The fungi which are parasitic on insects are of a different nature

from those which attack plants, and are not in the least likely to leave their animal
food and attack vegetation.
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DISSEMINATION.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Is there any danger of bringing in the scale on imported fruit, such as
oranges and pears, from California and other districts affected by the scale ?

A. I believe there is no danger at all of importing the scale on fruit. The scale
does not occur on orange trees in California.

There are several points bearing on this question which may be considered. In
the first place fruit infested by the scale is conspicuously disfigured by purple spots,
so that it is not likely to be packed. It is easily detected, and there are laws in all the
infested States providing that fruit bearing scales shall not be exported, so that it is
unlikely that after a short time any infested will be exported at all, but, on the other
hand, it may be said that it has been expcrted in the past. That, however, was before
attention was so prominently brought to it as is now the case. Even if infested fruit
were imported into this country it is very unlikely that the scale would get from that
fruit on to the trees in orchards. The scale dies when once removed from the tree or
fruit; it is only the young that are born after the scale has been imported into this
country, that could possibly get to the trees. After the young are born they are able
to crawl, at the longest, for about two days only; they are exceedingly minute, it re-
quires a strong magnifying glass to see them at all. With good eyes you could detect
them as a fine powdery dust, but nothing more than that. On trees badly infested, in
the Niagara district, in June, one of my correspondents described the appearance of
infested trees at the time the young were hatching as looking as if they were covered
with powdered sulphur, because the yellow-coloured young bark-lice spread over the
trees in millions. These insects are so minute that they cannot travel very far. The
full-grown scales die very soon after a branch is cut from a tree, forty-eight hours
is perhaps the longest time they can live on a severed branch, because they re-
quire sap to live on all the time, and by that time the branch would have dried up
too much for then to get nourishment. The insect is attached to the tree by
means of a hair-like sucker or beak and it is only while the tree is living that it can
get the sap that it requires for its sustenance. If a bough were cut from the tree the
evaporation of the moisture within two days, and probably within a few hours,
would kill all the scales on the bough. It is only the young insects that are born
while thei bough is alive that can spread. On a dormant tree with a root like
nursery stock at the time of shipping, the scales are also dormant and can last
longer. Another point about bringing in the scale on imported fruit, the people
who grow fruit in this country are not those who are likely to purchase the import-
ed article. It would be bought chiefly in the towns and for the scale to get into
the country districts would be practically impossible. Should a farmer buy a box
of California pears it would be very unlikely that the peelings cf these pears, which
would dry up soon, would be carried into his orchard from his back yard or that
the young would be born in these few hours that the peelings remained moist, and
in that way be carried to the trees. I must say I can see no danger from the im-
portation of fruit under existing circumstances.

Q. Is there danger from birds disseminating the disease?
A. Yes, there is danger frorn birds; they are one of the usual means by which

the insect is disseminated. The minute young crawl on the birds which perch in
infested trees, and are thus carried from tree to tree, but the birds which carry
voung scales to orchards would be hardly likely to be hopping about where the
peelings were thrown during the short time that the young could be born. At a
meeting held last spring in Washington, of entomologists, nurserymen and fruit
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growers to confer with the Entomologist of the United States Department of Agri-
culture and to consider this matter, with the object of introducing a Bill into Con-
gress, I asked the question distinctly of the nurserymen and entonologists there, if
there was any single instance that had been put on record of the San José Scale
having been spread by means of shipments of fruit, and was told that there was
not. There is not a single instance known where infestation bas taken place from
fruit, and I cannot see how such a thing is in the least degree likely.

Q. You have done everything possible to have this pest stamped out?
A. I think so, and the British Columbia and Ontario Governments have also

adopted drastic measures with the same object in view.

Q. There are lots of inspectors with us?
A. And they are working well, I know, for I am in correspondence with nearly

all of them. Hardly a day passes that I do not get specimens sent in from some of
the inspectors in Ontario for examination. Mr. Fisher, -\Ir. Orr, '\Ir. Bennett, and
others, are doing everything in their power to make the Ontario Act effective and
to learn all that is to be known about the San José and other allied scale insects.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. I should have thought that the greatest danger in regard to pears and
apples would be that the scale would be on the short stems attached to them?

A. The stems dry up very quickly. As a matter of fact, although they are
frequently thick on the base or stem end of the pear I do not remember seeing
them on the stem; of course they would be there, but I do not remember seeing
them there.

By the Chairman:

Q. Have the States not legislated against each other on this subject?
A. Undoubtedly. Special Acts have been passed in many of the States, and

others have legislation now under consideration. Only yesterday I received the
new Act passed in New Jersey.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. New Jersey is the worst State in the United States?
A. They have done so much good work under their active entomologist, Dr.

Smith, that they are rapidly becoming one of the best States in the tnited States.
The pest is getting out of the orchards in New Jersey into the forest trees, and that
is another point of the many details I did not give in regard to this dangerous insect,
it will attack almost every known woody shrub or tree. Every plant which has a
woody stem this insect will attack, and if it once gets into our forests it will, be
simply a matter, then, of our having to trust to nature for its extermination, and
nature, although usually sure, is sometimes slow in carrying out her work. We
find in all branches of natural history where injurious species are studied that prob-
ably some remedy would be forthcoming in time, but as all our cultivated crops are
grown under artificial conditions we must make use of artificial measures to protect
our crops until such time as nature produces a remedy for those which increase
unduly in numbers.

Q. If parties could not get Good's Potash Soap, would you advise the use of
sulphur and common soap?
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A. No. I would advise them to do the best they could with the ordinary
whale-oil soap, which they can get in this country. Whale-oil soap is the material
which has given the best results. Kerosene emulsion has also given good results
and this well-known combination, which consists of coal oil and soapsuds is the
standard remedy against plant-lice and scale insects. But I should now say a
word of warning in regard to pure kerosene being used on fruit trees. This has
been advocated very widely in some of the United States, and has given some good
results when used carefully and upon some kinds of trees only.

Q. But it would kill the trees off?
A. Not apple trees, it would appear from experiment; but peach trees it has

injured. In my experiments it lias not been successful, but men in whom I have
every confidence have told me that they have secured good results from using pure
kerosene, spraying it on to the trunks on bright days when evaporation goes on
quickly. But I think that the safest treatment is with whale-oil soap or with the
kerosene emulsion.

By Mr. Rogers

Q. I see some trees at the farm with a bright coating on the trunks?
A. That is due to their being treated regularly every year with an alkaline

wash to prevent the borers in the trunks which kill so many trees in Canada. Our
trees are very clean, owing to the care Mr. Craig has taken with them for some
vears. The location of the orchard does not seem to be quite satisfactory, and we-
have lost some trees from time to time, but though our trees may die from other
causes we have verv seldom lost any from borers.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Would you wash them up as far as possible, even to the larger limbs?
A. Yes, for the borers; or do you mean for the San José Scale?

Q. Yes.
A. Oh, they should be sprayed. The potash soap I have mentioned can be

sprayed with a spraying pump; the trees should be sprayed late in winter, be-
fore the leaves open. There are four or five broods of the scales in summer and
that makes it difficult to destroy all in the summer when the trees are covered with
leaves, as there are some voung on the trees all the time. The covered scales are
difficult to get at with any of the treatments recommended, therefore it is neces-
sary to do very thorough work in winter when the whole tree can be covered with
the spray.

Q. What is the best time to spray?
A. Winter treatment is the best, and it must be very thorough; infested trees

should be sprayed after the leaves are off in the autumn, and again before the buds
open in the spring.

By the Chairman:

Q. You speak of kerosene, is that what we know as coal oil?
A. Yes, but in the United States, where there are a great many more people

than here it is usually spoken of as kerosene. It is simply the ordinary illuminating
oil such as is generally used in lamps.
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BORERS.

Q. What is the mixture for preventing borers in trees?
A. It is made with ordinary soft soap, diluted or made thinner with a strong

solution of common washing soda. You make the solution of washing soda as
strong as possible, and then thin the soft soap with that, and if this wash is painted
on the trees on a clear warm day it will leave a thin, varnish-like coating on the
trees which will stay there for a number of weeks, and will prevent the female
beetles from laying their eggs on the bark. The borers are the grubs of beetles
which hatch from eggs laid on the bark; if this coating of soft soap and soda is
painted on the trees the mother beetles will not lay their eggs there and the trees
are safe.

Q. That would be death to all that kind of insect?
A. Yes, because the trees are rendered obnoxious to the bettles when they go

to lay their eggs, eggs are not laid, and injury is prevented.

PEA WEEVIL.

Dr. Saunders told me, Mr. Chairman, that some gentleman in the Committec
wished me to speak to-day about the Pea Weevil or " pea bug," as it is frequently
called. The insect I refer to is the one which bores inside the pea and leaves a
small round hole in the seed pea, through which the beetle emerges. The pea
weevil we know does a great deal of harm every year. This harm, I think, is, on
the whole, less than it used to be, because better measures are now taken by seeds-
men and growers to disinfect their seed.

Remedy.-The bisulphide of carbon treatment is perfectly effective against
this enemy. By using this chemical all the weevils inside the seed pease can be
killed, and if clean seed, or seed in which all the weevils have been killed is sown,
and seed is now treated regularly by growers, by that means the insects must, in
time, be reduced. The trouble is, many of the weevils leave the seed in autumn
and hibernate about the roofs, shingles or rafters of barns. In some seasons the
proportion of the beetles that do this is large, but in other seasons the majority
remain inside the pease, when, if the seed is properly treated, the numbers are
much reduced, and it is in those years that we hear people say it is a " good year."
By remaining inside the pease the insects are destroyed when the seed is fumi-
gated, and therefore there are very few bettles left to lay eggs in the next year's
crop. In the big seed firms they have "bug houses," special places where they
can treat at once ioo sacks or more by putting them inside these air-tight cham-
bers and then putting bisulphide of carbon on the top in shallow open vessels, so
that evaporation may take place readily. When all the sacks are placed in the
bug house, the bisulphide is emptied into the pans at the top and the whole is left
tightly closed for forty-eight hours. The bisulphide vaporizes easily and the
heavy vapour falls down through the pease and as they are kept tightly closed in,
under the influence of this poisonous vapour all the weevils inside the seed pease
are destroyed. It is best to treat the pease as soon as possible after they are thresh-
ed, so that the weevils may be killed before they have consumed much of the inside
of the pea. The egg is laid on the green pod and the young grub hatches and eats
its way inside and then penetrates one of the pease inside which it lives until it is
mature. A very convenient way for farmers to treat their pease is to use an ordi-
nary 45-gallon coal oil barrel. Pour five bushels of pease into it and then put
three ounces of carbon bisulphide in a flat vessel on the top of the seed, close the
barrel tightly, first with a damp sack on the top and boards on the top of that so as
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to keep the whole tightly covered. If you buy seed from any large house you will
almost always find that the seed has been treated before you buy it; but, if not, tie
pease can be easily treated in this way by the purchaser.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. How many ounces of bisulphide did you say was used?
A. Three ounces to about five bushels of pease is the usual quantity used, or

one ounce to every hunderd pounds of grain. The bisulphide vaporizes readily,
becoming a colourless vapour. While I am speaking of it, I may tell you that this
liquid is extremely inflammable. It is a colourless liquid like water and vaporizes
at the ordinary temperature of the air. The vapour is very much heavier than the
air; that is the reason it is placed on top of the seed to be treated; as soon as the
liquid vaporizes, it sinks downward among the pease, destroying all the insects. It
is extremely inflammable, as I have said, and if a light of any kind, even a lighted
cigar or pipe, comes in contact with it a serious explosion may take place. It is
very dangerous, and should be used out of doors or in an pen shed, because out of
doors there will not be an explosion.

By Mr. Semple:

Q. Does the pea weevil extend far over Canada?
A. No, it does hardly any injury outside of south-western Ontario. Many of

our northern farmers are growing seed for United States merchants, because they
can grow them without any weevil. We never have the weevil here in Ottawa.
I once found one or two injured pease on the farm here, but that only showed that
they can be imported in the seed but will not increase here to any extent.

Q. Where I live, in Fergus, they used to be bad, but the insect appears to have
disappeared?

A. You are just outside its breeding range.

ANTS,

The CHAIRMAN:-That substance is useful for destroying ants.
Mr. FLETCHER:-As Mr. Bain says, this liquid is extremely useful for destroy-

ing ants, especially the Little House Ant (Monomorion pharonis) that sometimes
gives troubles in houses. It is very difficult to locate the nest, but if you can find
out where the nest is and pour in a teaspoonful of the bisulphide the vapour will
spread down into the nest and destroy the insects.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Will it be effective in destroying ants in the orchard?
A. It is the best method of destroying them. Make a hole down into the nests

and pour a little down the hole, then cover up with a little earth and press it down
with the foot.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. We find in Middlesex that where they refrain from sowing for a year the
weevils do rot come in ?

A. The weevils sometimes do a good deal of harm there I understand, but if
the seed is thoroughly treated there will be, vear after year, less difficulty.
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PEA BLIGHT.

By Mr. Penny:

Q. You made some investigations in Prince Edward County, did you not,
into the cause of pea blight?

A. Yes ; the opinion I came to some years ago on this subject was that from
the special adaptability of Prince Edward County for growing pease they had
grown them too long; as it is said, the ground was "tired " of that crop, and so
when there was a dry year the crop suffered, and what was called " blight " should
have been called "drought."

THE PEA MOTH.

Mr. McMillan asked about the Pea Moth in Ontario. We do not see much
of it here, but I understand that down in New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island
and Nova Scotia the loss from it is enormous, frequently 25 per cent of the crop.

Mr. McMILLAN:-Last year and the year before we had a good deal of it iii
Huron.

By an hon. Member:

Q. How is it injurious ; does it affect the life of the pea ?
A. No ; it is a little caterpillar which works inside the pod eating into the

seeds; you will sometimes find in a pod that four or five peas have been injured. In
some parts of Quebec, last year, this was very bad indeed. It is sometimes called
the " Weevil," but that is a mistake; this is the caterpillar of a small moth which
eats the green pea while it is still soft.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. This seems to be an insect that strikes the pea on the outside ?
A. Yes, it is a small moth which lays the egg on the outside. The caterpillar

eats its way through the pod and destroys the pease. During last summer I suc-
ceeded in breeding this insect and finding out the time when it appears. It is a
small noth that appears not later than the ioth or i2th of July. I found out from
the experience of my correspondents that the pease sown early succeeded best,
and in New Brunswick those that were sown early escaped, but in gardens people
must have the larger late varieties such as the Heroine, Telephone and Stratagem.
The only remedy is using the early varieties. One of my correspondents is going
to try spraying the pease at the time that the pods are forming. Some may say
that this is impossible, just as years ago they said that it was impossible to spray
a whole orchard, but we now know it is possible and must be done if we are to get
good crops of fruit. I think it is possible that good results may follow spraying
pease for the pea moth with Paris green in the same way as apples are for the
codling moth. This is very much like the codling moth in all its habits so that
we may be able to treat it in the same way.

Q. We found that by sowing late we got the best results ?
A. What would you call late ?

Q. The end of May ?
A. Was there no trouble from the pease mildewing ?
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Q. No ?
A. The reason early and late sowing are to a measure successful, probably is

because if you sow early your pea is so far ripe that the young caterpillar cannot
feed on it, and if you sow late it is not ready until the moth has disappeared.

By Mr. Bain :

Q. Its season is late, then. Is it as dangerous as the pea bug ?
A. I think not, but it is much more widely spread. It is not bad every year.

We have not seen it at Ottawa, for instance, for two vears. Four years ago it
was very bad indeed. The fact is that this has been in the country as far back as
we have any record of agriculture. One gentleman in New Brunswick, Mr. Wet-
more, has traced the mention of it back for Ioo years at least.

By Mr. Semple :

Q. I do nlot think it has reduced the vield very much ?
A. No; but it causes a great deal of expense by making necessary the hand

picking of seed. It is impossible to get a good sample without picking it over.

By ir. McMillan :

Q. It has been so bad with us that it has reduced the yild by one-third ?
A. Indeed. That is just as bad as in New Brunswick and Nova Scotia. I

hope that none of the members from those provinces will object when I say that
I have very seldom seen a dish of green pease in New Brunswick or Nova Scotia
without finding some of the little insects among the pease when they came on the
table.

THE CARROT RUST FLY.

I am sorry to say there is another new insect which after this will demand
attention, the Carrot Rust Fly, which has been very bad in New Brunswick for the
last two years and, before that, had been found at single localities in Quebec and
Ontario. It is of unusual occurrence although when it does appear it is a serions
matter. The maggot 'as soon as it hatches bores into carrots and burrows all
through them, entirely destroying them for the table. I suppose for cattle it
would not injure them, but of course it does injure them to some extent. There
are always a great many of these maggots in each carrot. It is a European
insect, known for many years in Europe, and a figure and description of it appear
in my forthcoming report. My reason for bringing it up now is so as to give ou-
experience in case any member of the Committee should hear of it in his district
before our Annual Report is issued. I should like to hear from any member who
finds it in his district, and also with regard to any methods adopted to try and con-
trol it. I find that for a crop of carrots for stock it is best to sow early, but for
the table you can get carrots of excellent quality even if vou do not sow before the
end of June.

By Mr. Calver:

Q. What would you call early ?
A. Just as soon as you can get them in. The attacks I have seen have all

been in the red carrots, but whether the large, short whites and others grown for
stock are attacked I do not know. If sown late, they are very apt to be exempt
from the attacks of this insect. Of course as a matter of precaution you should
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never use the same ground for carrots if in the previous year the crop has been
infested. The best method of treatment is to dust with carbolized sand along the
rows directly after they have been thinned out. This is made very easily by
putting a few ounces of carbolic acid in sand, mixing thoroughly and spreading
along the rows just after thinning. All insects are attracted by the special odour
given out by the crop. After thinning plants give out more of this characteristic
odour because they have been bruised. Consequently they are more liable to
attack after thinning or harrowing than at other times. By giving them a good
dusting with carbolized sand or coal oil and sand, a different odour is present, and
the insect is not attracted to the crop and consequently the eggs are not laid. This
treatment has given good results here and also in England where I have tried it.
Carrots when kept for household use are generally stored in sand in the cellar.
In cases where they have been attacked, this sand should be treated in some way
so that the flies may not hatch, either buried in a deep hole or put into the yard
where there is wet manure so that the insects will be destroyed.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Is not land plaster a good thing?
A. Probablv it is, for mixing with the carbolic acid or coal oil.

TENT CATERPILLARS.

Tent caterpillars were prevalent last year and have again been very abundant
this year. The best remedy is to collect the eggs during the winter or the
tents after the young caterpillars hatch in spring, this is generally before the leaves
have opened. The white tents are conspicuous and they can be easily seen before
the leaves have extended very much. These should be collected, because, although
the caterpillars are small, they soon grow larger and more destructive.

TURNIP APHIS.

Q. Turnips have been affected with us. You would find that the leaves would
assume a whitish appearance at first and they seemed to be affected by some little
insect?

A. Yes, that is the cabbage plant-louse. It attacks turnips and it has done a
great deal of damage in some districts; when it first appears in a crop it is in small
patches, but these rapidly increase in size. At the time the turnips are hoed and
thinned this insect generally appears and good work may be done by destroying in-
fested plants at that time. After hoeing and thinning the best results have been
obtained by spraying the tops with ordinary coal oil emulsion, the ordinary mixture
that is now well known, a dilution of one part of the emulsion to twelve of water.
Spray the mixture thoroughly beneath the leaves as well as on the top and in that
way you will destroy the pest before it has spread to the whole field. The effects
of the lice are very apparent on turnips, the leaves turn a greyish colour so that the
presence of the insects is easily detected; and they should be then treated promptly.

APPLE APHIS.

By Senator Ferguson :

Q. We have had experience of a plant-louse on apple trees, particularly on
the grafts and voung buds, in the early summer in Prince Edward Island. It
was very injurious to the fruit?
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A. The Apple Aphis is very injurious just now to apple trees. It was injurious
last year in August, but it is also injurious now when the buds are bursting. It is
an insect easily treated, the treatment simply involving the spraying of the trees
with whale-oil soap, one pound in eight gallons of water, or the ordinary kerosene
emulsion. The insects are easily destroyed and further injury to the trees is pre-
vented.

OYSTER-SHELL BARK-LOUSE.

The Oyster-shell Bark-louse is well known to everybody who has grown
trees, but there is never a year in which there is not a great deal of inquiry made
with regard to it. Its injuries every year are enormous all through the country.
It belongs to the same family as the San José Scale, but it is not so injurious in
its effects, in the character of being so widespread or in respect to attacking many
different kinds of trees. Because of this fact it is to a certain extent overlooked,
but it is widespread all through the country and it does a great deal of damage
every year.

Treatment.-The proper treatment of this insect is to spray the trees during
the winter with either whale-oil soap, the mixture recommended for San José
Scale, of one pound in two gallons of water, or with kerosene emulsion, one part
of kerosene emulsion to nine of water, the ordinary remedy which is recommended
and printed on our spraying calendars. There is one characteristic about or-
chards which are attacked by the oyster-shell bark-louse, and that is, we find in
nearly every instance that orchards are not taken care of as well as they might be.
It is now recognized in this part of Canada that it is a wise practice to cultivate
the land under the trees, and, where trees are regularly cultivated so that the
vigour of the trees is kept up, they throw off the attacks of many injurious insects.
In orchards where the oyster-shell bark-louse is found it is wise first to invigorate
the tree and in many instances the tree will throw off or outgrow the attack of the
insect.

CUT-WORMS.

By Mr. Pettet:

Q. What would you advise to destroy the grub that eats tomato plants?
A. These are called cut-worms.

Remedies.-I believe the practice in Prince Edward County is to make tin rings
which are put around the plants. These are made at the canning factories, and
they are a perfect protection, but the pratice involves a good deal of labour and
expense. The same purpose may be attained with an ordinary piece of paper. I
see that an enterprising firm in Ottawa has got up an excellent little device made
simply of cardboard, with a slot cut in one end through which a tongue passes by
which it is made into a ring to put around the plants. These are sold at go cents
a thousand; they are made of waterproof paper, and are certainly excellent things.
In crops such as onions and carrots, which are also frequently attacked by cut-
worms, the remedies which are most useful are as follows: (i.) Poison traps are
made by taking young succulent vegetation-weeds. grass, or clover, anything
will do if it is green and succulent. Tie these plants in loose bundles, dip them in
a strong mixture of Paris green, an ounce or two in a pail of water, and then dis-
tribute these bundles along the rows, every ten, fifteen or twenty feet in the field,
or in the garden every six or eight feet apart. Cut-worms, as vou are pro-
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bably all aware are the caterpillars of moths which hatch from the egg in autunn
and pass the winter as partially grown caterpillars, they come out in the spring at
night and attack any vegetation they can find. The bundles of vegetation men-
tioned are more conspicuous than the produce which they are designed to protect
and the worms being attracted to them poison themseives by eating this poisonous
food. (2.) Another remedy is bran or shorts poisoned with Paris green, which can
be applied moistened so as to be about the consistency of porridge and put in
small lumps along the rows of the young plants that require to be protected, or it
may be applied dry close to the drill. This mixture seems actually to be more
attractive than the green plants. Last year we saved several rows of onions and
carrots by this application where other rows not so treated were almost wiped
out by cut-worms. For tomatoes I think the rings would probablv be the best
remedy.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. You would put a ring around each plant?
A. Yes, at the farm we simply wrap a little piece of paper around the stem of

each plant at the time of setting out-the caterpillars walk about on the surface
of the ground and cannot climb up the smooth surface. As a rule, the plant pro-
tected with paper is protected until it has become strong enough to resist the
attacks of these insects, or until their season is past.

By Ir. MfcGregor :

Q. We are troubled by the attacks of cut-worms upon the corn?
A. The protection of corn is a more difficult matter. It is almost impossible

to treat a crop like corn which is grown in large areas. The best method is to
destroy the weeds and to keep the land very clean the autumn before, so that there
is nothing to attract the female moths when they are laying their eggs.

Q. They attack the corn very young?
A. This remedy is to be applied the year before. These cut-worms are the

caterpillars of moths which lay their eggs the vear before and are attracted to
the land by plants growing there. Of course, with a growth upon the land such as
clover, you cannot protect yourself. Fields of corn are also sonetimes attacked by
the White Grub and by wire worms. I do not think any practical treatment can be
adopted, except for small areas.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. My experience is that old sod is worse than clover sod?
A. Yes, that would probably be the case.

By Mr. McGregor :

O. We have used lime to some extent?
A. It would have no effect on the caterpillars. Of course, corn is a rass, and

insects that feed on grasses would be more liable to attack corn than those that feed
on clover, although there are certain kinds that feed on clover and attack grasses as
well.
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By Mr. Rogers :

Q. Is the application of coal tar a preventive?
A. Not against the eut-worm.

PLANT-LICE.

Q. What is the best remedy for plant-lice?
Renwdy. A. Kerosene emulsion, or whale-oil soap solution. A very good

mixture for treating plant-lice is four pounds of waste tobacco soaked in ten gallons
of hot water for five hours, one pound of whale-oil soap in one gallon of water,
strain the tobacco decoction into the scap and apply directly to the trees with a
spraying pump.

By Mr. Frost:

Q. Where do you get that whale-oil soap?
A. The demand has been so great that I think you can get it almost anywhere.

Whale-oil soap is simply the commercial name for fish-oil soap-any fish-oil soap
made with potash will do. It is not made from whale oil at all. A great many ex-
periments have been tried in the United States where entomologists have recom-
mended a particular brand as being made with great care. It is called Good's
Caustic Potash Soap No. 3. It is made by a Philadelphia firm, and it has given the
best results.

Q. What proportion of soap?
A. One pound of soap dissolved in two gallons of water.

THE COLORADO POTATO BEETLE.

By Mr. Semple :

Q. I would like to hear you touch on the best method of dealing with potato
bugs?

A. Paris green is undoubtedly the best method, but whether that should be
used in water or as a dry powder is a question that has given rise to a great deal of
discussion. No doubt it is slightly more effective as a dry powder, but it is cer-
tainly more dangerous to use. Although it is more effective as a dry powder, I
consider the best way is to spray it on the plants or to apply it as a liquid applica-
tion, so that it cannot be blown on to other crops. as it would if it were applied in
the form of a loose powder.

By Senator Ferguson:

Q. In large fields there would be no danger of it blowing on other crops?
A. Well. there have been instances where it has blown to other crops across

fences and poisoned stock.

Bv Mr. Calvert :

Q. What are the proportions of that mixture of soft soap and soda?
A. A saturated solution of washing soda, that is as much of washing soda as

the water will dissolve, then use that liquid for thinning the soft soap. It is then
about as thick as oil point. and can be applied easily with a brush.
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THE STRAWBERRY LEAF-ROLLER.

By Mr. Pettet :

Q. There was on the strawberries an insect that got into the leaf, in Prince
Edward County; how was that treated?

A. That was the Strawberrv Leaf-roller and it was treated with Paris green.
The Picton outbreak was the worst instance of injury by this insect which has been
reported to me in Canada. Last year, however, the fruit growers in that vicinity
did not report any injury at all by the Strawberry Leaf-roller.

Having examined the preceding transcript of niy evidence, I find it correct.

JAMES FLETCHER,

Dominion Entomoiogist.
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COMMITTEE RooM No. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

FRIDAY,. 20th M\Iay, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this
day at 11 o'clock a.n. ; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

The CHAIRMAN:-We have with us this morning the Chemist of the Experi-
mental Farni, Mr. Shutt, whom I now introduce to the Committee.

Mr. FRANK T.*SHUTT, M.A., Chief Chemist Dominion Experimental Farms,
addressed the Committee as follows :-

CHEMISTRY AS AN AID TO AGRICULTURE.

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-It may not be necessary for me to-day, per-
haps, to bring before you any detailed account of the character of the work under-
taken by the chemical division of the Experimental Farms. On previous occasions
when I have had the honour of appearing before this Committee I have laid be-
fore you statements regarding the varied character of that work and the means
we take to assist by chemical aid the farmers of Canada. It may, however, be
well for me to point out, in fact we have the very strongest evidences of it, that
our work is being appreciated by the farmers, dairymen, and the fruit growers of
Canada. The evidences I refer to may be enumerated as follows : First, increased
correspondence from farmers and others interested in agriculture, which generally
contain questions as to the nature and composition of soils, fertilizers, cattle foods,
and upon other agricultural matters; secondly, the larger number of samples sub-
mitted by farmers for examination in our laboratory ; thirdly, the greater demand
for our reports and bulletins and the more frequent quoting of these in the public
press. These are evidences that our work is being appreciated by the people and
that it has awakened a wide and lively interest in the value of this chemical know-
ledge in the every-day work of those engaged in agriculture.

In the matter of the examination of samples it is well for me to say that we
have at present a very large number awaiting our attention. The time at my
disposal has not permitted me to keep up with the work of analysing all these
samples, which consist of soils, marls, mucks, feeding stuffs of all kinds, sent in
for a report on their value. We have put these second to original investigation
and postponed their examination until time permits. With an increase in the
staff, which I hope to see i nthe near future, we shall be able to attend to more of
this work.

LECTURES.

There are two matters in connection with the general work of my department
of which I wish to make mention, first, in relation to lectures delivered in various
parts of the country at the larger agricultural conventions or Farmers' Institute
meetings. These I am led to believe are of great importance, because by this
means we are able to bring 'befor'e the people who are directly interested and
whom w-e cannot otherwise directlv and personally reach, the principles of agri-
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culture and the results of our experiments. These lectures advertise, if I may use
the term, the character of the investigations being carried on by the Experimental
Farms. Another benefit to be derived from these lectures by the farm staff and the
discussions that follow, is that it allows us to arrive at a better knowledge of the
needs of the farmers and the problems confronting theni which need immediate
solution. By reason of the discussion which follows the addresses at those neet-
ings we are enabled to learn, in a way that we cannot otherwise do, the wants of
the farmers. These meetings also give us the opportunity of leaniing the condi-
tions both of climate and soil that prevail in various parts of the Dominion, and
this information is of immense value to us in our work. These lectures on the
first principles of agriculture and on the results of our experiments are of great
usefulness, and I think the system of lecturing might with advantage be extended
so soon as time and money permit.

The second matter was the delivery of a special course of lectures to the
Normal School students at Ottawa by various members of the Farm staff. As
you are aware these students are to become the future teachers in the rural dis-
tricts and I consider this a very wise departure, because by this means we dissenii-
nate the work of the farm and a knowledge of agriculture throughout the pro-
vince of Ontario. I think we may expect very good fruit from these lectures in
future years.

It is my purpose to-day, with your permission, and if time permit, to bring
before you some of the results obtained during the last year on certain lines of
investigation. First, I shall lav before you the results of some elaborate-or rather
extensive-investigations in the matter of the preservation of barn-yard manure ;
and secondly, I shall speak of some results we have obtained in the use of a new
compound prepared in Germany known as nitragin ,of which I shall refer to at
some length later on, and which is used for the purpose of encouraging the growth
of such plants as clover, beans, and other legumes; and thirdlv, I purpose speaking
on the water supply of farms.

PRESERVATION OF MANURE.

These experiments in the matter of the preservation of manure were com-
menced in April, 1896. They constitute a series of experiments which are, I
believe, the first of their kind in Canada. As this work is only just finished. we
have to-day the first opportunity for presenting these experiments to the public.
They are, of course, only the beginning of further investigations of a like nature
which we hope to carry on; nevertheless thev give us some very important and
valuable information on this question, which is one that really lies at the founda-
tion of good farming.

Probably the questions which are most frequently asked of us on agricultural
platforms are : first, "Would you apply manure fresh or rotted ?" And then
the second question is : "If rotted, what is the best way to rot manure ?" Sorne
two years ago when speaking on this matter to this Committee, I pointed out that
it was absolutely impossible to reply to the first of these questions in a single
sentence unless indeed you were to say: "It all depends." That is to say, that all the
circumstances and conditions of soil and climate and the character or nature of the
crop to be raised have to be considered before we can advise as to whether it might
be advisable to applv manure fresh or rotted; nevertheless there are certain princi-
ples which we can master and which help us to apply an intelligent judgment in
coming to a decision. The questions which have to be considered in answering snch
a query are, first, the character of the soil-heavy clay soils and light sandy soils re-
quiring different treatment. We know that barn-yard manure bas two beneficial fune-
tions, one of which is mechanical and the other chemical. A heavy clay soil we seek
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to loosen or render more porous, while we seek to bind with light sandy soil and
render it more compact; consequently, considering the question from the mechan-
cal standpoint, we should apply fresh manure to the heavy clay soil, while to the
lighter soils we should apply rotted or partially rotted manure. Looking at it
from the chemical standpoint I again say that fresh manure should be applied to
the heavier soil, because clay soils are more retentive and consequently may be
used as a storehouse; but on the light soils I prefer to feed the crop rather than
manure the soil, because such light soils are leachy and cannot be viewed as
good storehouses in the same way that the heavy clay soils are. Then the nature
of the crop lias to be taken into consideration. If we have a short-lived crop it is
necessary to feed it with food more or less imediately assimilable-and it is in
such a forni that we find it in rotted manure. Such crops as cereals and the ordi-
nary grain crops are short-lived crops, but when we have a crop which grows
throughout the whole length of the season, as, for instance, root crops, we mav
feed them with food which is not entirely of an immediately available character,
and do so with advantage. The question of the foraging power of plants for food
is also one that has to be studied. We know something about that, but not very
much. Some plants can acquire food from a soil in which other plants would starve.

Having given these outlines in regard to the principles-I have merely stated
them in outline-Df the application of manure, I wish to say that intimately con-
nected with these questions is the one that takes into consideration the amount of
the fertilizing elements or constituents which may be lost during the process of
fermentation or rotting of manuring. This is a matter regarding upon which we
wished to obtain accurate knowledge upon before replying to the question as to
whether it is economical or not to rot manure.

The object of this investigation, then, was to trace the fertilizing constituents
during rotting, to ascertain what loss, if any, takes place under different systems of
fermentation, and also to learn the degree of availability of these constituents at
different periods of fermentation. We expected to find that during the rotting
of the manure certain of these elements or fertilizing constituents would be ren-
dered more available than they are in fresh manure, and if more available, conse-
quently more valuable. The question of availability of plant food is an important
one. For instance, the phosphoric acid in our ordinary mineral phosphate is
worth about two cents a pound, commercially; it is worth absolutely nothing
agriculturally, because it is insoluble and not available as food for plants. But
once that mineral phosphate has been converted into super-phosphate, once that
phosphoric acid has been converted into a water-soluble forim it receives a value
of 6 or 7 cents a pound, because it can then be utilized as a source of phosphoric
acid for our crops. Applying that same argument to the question of manure, we
wished to learn if through the rotting or fermenting of the manure any of its
constituents were converted into more valuable, because mor ereadily assimilable.
forms of plant food.

In April, 1896, we took fresh horse and cow manure and mixed them in equal
proportions-and I may here say that in all the experiments we carried on in regard
to the preservation of manure were made with manure composed of the mixed ex-
crement, solid and liquid, of the horse and cow together with the litter that has been
used for the bedding of these animals-and that constituted the manure experi-
mented upon.

By Mr. Stenson:

Q. Is that in equal parts in weight ?
A. Yes, equal parts in weight. Four tons of this mixed manure were

placed in a small wooden building which was practically weather-proof, and a like
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weight of four tons was exposed in an open bin constructed with double flooring
and sides. Ordinarily, we should have said that this bin was one in which manure
could be preserved without loss from leaching. I made photographs of this shed and
of the open bin in which these experiments were conducted, and they give a very
good idea of the conditions under which the experiment was carried on. You may see
here (exhibiting photograph) the shed in which the protected manure was pre-
served and also the open bi nadjoining it, in which the exposed or " outside "
manure was kept. These manures were weighed, sampled and analysed, month
by month, for one year, so that we have a record of the composition and the total
weight of these manures month by month for that period. Consequently from these
data we are able to trace up the varlous constituents as the process of fermenta-
tion proceeded. The analysis comprised in the determinations of the moisture or
water that is contained in the manure-ordinary fresh manure contains about 70
per cent of water-the organic or vegetable matter and the mineral matter or ash.
These three constitute the whole. We also determined the total nitrogen, and
nitrogen present as ammonia and as nitrates and nitrites, and the percentages of
potash and phosphoric acid, total and available.

By far the larger amount of nitrogen is contained in the organic matter, and
is therefore known as organic nitrogen. Nitrogen also is present in small quan-
tities as nitrates and nitrites and as ammonia. These latter are the results of fer-
mentation; in fresh manure there is no ammonia present and no nitrates. It has
been found that our farm crops take up their nitrogen in the form of nitrates,
hence the importance in learning the effect of fermentation upon their formation.
The nitrogen of the organic matter is converted by the aid of microbes, bacteria or
germs, into ammonia, nitrates and nitrites, and it is important, from an agricultural
standpoint, to trace the conversion of he nitrogen into these immediately assinil-
able forms.

We determined the phosphoric acid and potash dissolved out of the manure
by strong hydrochloric acid. Such would represent all the phosphoric acid and pot-
ash present in the manure: we also determined the phosphoric acid and potash that
was soluble in dilute citric acid. The reason for this latter determination is that
it has been found that the solvent action of dilute citric acid (i per cent solution)
is practicallv equivalent to the solvent action of the exudation of plant rootlets.
Any fertilizing material in the soil soluble in one per cent solution of citric acid, is
present in a form that is of immediate value to our crops.

These manures, both "inside " and "outside," were practicallv the same as to
composition and condition at the beginning. The mixing was carefully and
thoroughly done, and samples, as representative as could be obtained, were taken
and submitted to analysis. The composition as revealed by the initial analysis was
as follows:-

Per cent.
W ater .. .... . . ........ 68·61 Total nitrogen .. 1
Organic inatter . .................... . 2.. 4 23 Imnimediatelv available nitrogen .... 083
Ash ........................ .. 7- 16 Total phosphoric acid.. ................ 31

Immfl)ediately available phosphoric acid. -19
100-00 Total potash -- . . . .

Immediately available potash ......... . 68

The total nitrogen was -6o1 per cent and nitrogen as ammonia -083 per cent.
I would draw your attention to the very small amount of nitrogen which exists

in fresh manure in the form of ammonia. The total phosphoric acid was -31 per
cent, and the available phosphoric acid was -i9 per cent. The total potash was -76
per cent, and the available potash -68 per cent. To convert these into pounds per
ton, we have nitrogen amounting to 12 pounds per ton; the nitrogen existing as
ammonia and nitrates 1 -6 pounds (practically 1!,2 pounds); phosphoric acid, total
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6-2 pounds per ton, that part of it immediately available amounted to 3 -8 pounds
per ton. Respecting the potash, the amount would be 15 2 pounds per ton, and that
immediately available 13 -6. As I have already observed, in fresh manure a very
small proportion of the nitrogen is immediately assimilable; of the phosphoric acid
practically one-half is immediately assimilable, and in the case of potash a, verv
large proportion, between 9o and 95 per cent is immediately assimilable. Conse-
quently we cannot say that the process of fermentation increases the value of the
potash. I have termed this fresh manure with which we begain to work, but you
must understand that it took about ten days to collect the desired quantity namelv,
8 tons, and as a resuilt it had already begun to heat somewhat.

By Mr. Bell :

Q. What season of the year was it?
A. April, and despite ail precautions we could take, fermentation had begun

when the samples were taken. The reason I dwell on this point is that we find by-
these experiments that it is in the earliest stages of fermentation that the greatest
change in the composition of manure takes place, and probably such loss as did
ensue resulted more particularly during the earlier stages of fermentation. We shall
get data on that as we proceed. Now, having spoken of the composition of that
manure that we used in these investigations, it is right for me to draw your atten-
tion to the fact that this manure is of greater richness than that which we ordinarily
find in farm-yards in Canada. We have analysed a considerable number of samples
of barn-yard manure obtained from various sources and we have not found them to
be as rich in plant food as this manure made on the Central Farm. I will compare
our average Experimental Farm manure with the figures which may represent the
average on good, fairly well-kept farms. Of course, we understand that the com-
position of manure is variable. I am obliged, therefore, to take averages from num-
erous samples. I find the results as follows:-

Average obtained
Exp. Farm. from

other samples.
itrogen, per ton1................12o Ibs. 8 -o Ibs.

Phosphoric acid, per ton...........6-02 " 3·?8
Potash, per ton................... 15-2 " 9-0

It will be seen that there is in the ordinary manure only about two-thirds of
the nitrogen contained in that of the Central Farm, about one-half the phosphoric
acid and about two-thirds the potash. There are many ways in which we can ac-
count for these differences. I am of opinion after considering the question very
closely, that there are several factors which may account for these differences. First
of all there is the kind of food fed to the animals. We are aware that as the rich-
ness of the food so is the richness of the resulting manure. Foods rich in nitrogen
give manure rich in nitrogen. Similarly, foods rich in potash give manure rich in
potash. It follows that the manure from cattle living on the straw stack will con-
tain low values. Animals cannot create anything. They use their food to supply
their various needs-for development of vital heat and energy, for the repair of
waste tissue-to produce flesh, milk and wool. Consequently if the food does not
contains the necessarv constituents in large proportions, the animal having provided
for its maintenance, the restilting manure will be poorer than that produced when
the animal is fed stronger, richer food. Then the animal's age has something
to do with the richness of the manure. Young animals take more from their food
in order to build up their flesh and bone than mature animals, and therefore their
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manure is poorer than that from mature cattle. Dairy cattle necessarily take more
from their food than fat stock and consequently do not fumish as rich, manure as
fattening steers. Apart from that, there are other questions to be considered. Il
ordinary farm-yard manure probably there is not so large a proportion of horse
manure.

By Mr. Bell (Addington):

Q. In connection with the value of manures, comparing those of the Experi-
mental Farm with those of the ordinary farmer, does not the loss of the liquid
materially affect the value?

A. Very much so. I was just going to deal with that question and was about
to say that I considered this was a question of very great imprtance. I attribute
the very great difference which I have pointed out here, very largely on the one
hand, to the insufficient use of litter to absorb the liquid manure, and on the other
hand to faulty methods in the manure's preservation. I think we ought to take
every opportunity to point out to our people that greater care is necessary to retain
the liquid portion of the manure. We know that the potash of manure is practi-
cally all contained in the liquid portion. Over 90 per cent of the potash is present
in the urine. When this is lost the resulting manure must necessarily be poor in
potash, which is an important constituent for all crops, especially for leafy crops.
At the Central Farm we have a liquid tight gutter behind the animals, both horses
and cows, and we use plenty of litter, we therefore minimize the loss of the liquid
portion of the manure. The large percentage of potash in the Experimental Farni
manure is due, I believe, to the fact that there has been greater care in the pre-
servation of the urine.

By the Chairman:

Q. You think it is in the liquid part that the potash is ?
A. Yes, an din addition to that all the available nitrogen is present in the

urine. It readily ferments giving rise to ammonia which may then be further
converted into nitrates. These compounds, as we have already stated, are of rhe
greatest value as plant food.

PROTECTED MANURE.

Now, I shall speak first in regard to the manure which was protected or pre-
served in the weather-tight shed. We began the experiment with 8,ooo pounds.
At the end of one month the weight of the protected or inside manure was reduced
to 5,006 pounds. The total nitrogen in the 8,ooo pounds of fresh manure amount-
ed to 48 pounds, in round numbers. At the end of one month there were 42 pounds,
showing a loss of 6 pounds, which is equivalent to a loss of 13 per cent of the
amount of nitrogen originally present. There was no loss in potash or phosphoric
acid. There was, however, a very marked increase in the percentage of assimilable
phosphoric acid, that is to say, phosphoric acid soluble in this one per cent of citric
acid solution. In the fresh manure we found approximately 25 pounds of phos-
phoric acid, and of that 15 pounds were immediately assimilable. At the end of one
month analysis showed that there was no loss of phosphoric acid; there were still
25 pounds, but instead of 15 pounds being available there were 22 pounds of it
available, so that the fermentation during the first month had acted beneficially in
the conversion of this phosphoric acid from an insoluble form into a form which
was available for plants. This corresponds to an increase of 24 per cent in the
availabilitv of the phosphoric acid originally present. We found that in the 8.ooo
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pounds of fresh manure at the beginning of the experiment there were 61 pounds
of potash, of which between 54 and 55 pounds were immediately assimilable. At
the end of one month analysis showed that there has been no loss of potash; in-
deed, slightly higher numbers were obtained. It does not appear that fermentation
had any marked effect upon the solubility of the potash in the manure. These
facts, which are now first brought to light, are of great importance because they
point out that as regards the potash in the manure we cannot hope for any bene-
ficial action from fermentation, but we may rather expect, especially in faulty
methods of preservation, a loss, because potash is an exceedingly soluble constitu-
ent and apt to leach away. A remarkable feature in this connection, and one
worthy of note, is the very large proportion of potash in fresh manure which is
soluble and available. There were practically 55 pounds out of 6o pounds mime-
diately assimilable.

THE FUNCTIONS AND VALUE OF HUMUS.

The loss in organic matter during the first month amounted to 5oo pounds.
That is an important matter. There were in he neighbourhood of 1,940 pounds
to begin with, and at the end of one month there were 1,440 pounds of organic
inatter. I am not speaking of the decrease in total weight, but of the decrease in
the amount of organic or vegetable matter contained in the manure. Orgaruc
matter in barn-yard manure undoubtedly has several most valuable functions. It is
by the rotting of this organic matter that humus is formed, a term applied to the
semi-decayed, partially decomposed vegetable matter and is that which constitutes
the black material in fertile and all productive soils. We find that fertile virgin soils
almost invariably contain a large percentage of humus. We can consider this
question of humus from two points of view, the chemical and the mechanical. In
the chemical we find that it is a storehouse of nitrogen. It is the natural guardian of
nitrogen. Soils rich in humus are rich in nitrogen; those poor in humus are as a rule
poor in nitrogen. Then, again, it has recently been discovered from experiments
carried on abroad, that it is from the phosphoric acid and potash of the soil com-
bined with the humus that the plant rootlets absorb these mineral constituents.
The decomposition of humus acts beneficially in liberating soil plant, food. But
there are equally important mechanical functions of humus. It holds and retains
fioisture; it also opens up heavy soils and binds the lighter or sandy soils. Con-
sequently, we can see that the presenec of humus is of great importance and it is
generally to the advantage of the farmer to increase the percentage of humus in his
soil. Further, this humus or semi-decomposed organic matter is the material which
furnishes food for the germs in the soil, which germs or microbes do a vast amount
of exceedingly valuable work in preparing food for crops. It is thei efore a most
valuable constituent for all classes of soils. It is the storehouse of nitrogen. It
furnishes food for bacterial life in 'the soil, so necessary for the conversion of plant
food from its locked-up stores into assimilable forms. It regulates the moisture and
heat of the soil and it is from their combination with humus that phosphoric acid
and potash are taken up by plants. We see, therefore, the great value of humus in
soils. We should guard against excessive loss of organic matter from fermenta-
tion, for I am convinced that a considerable part of the benefit derived from ma-
nure is due to the humus it supplies.

The samples of the manures taken for analysis at the end of the second month
were, unfortunately, lost in the fire that nearly destroyed the laboratory. We can-
not, therefore, give analytical data of the manures at the end of the second month.
But we can discuss their nature at the end of the third month. The total weight of
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the protected manure had, by this time, been reduced to 2,980 pounds, the organuic
matter to 879 pounds. In other words, the rotting for three months under cover
had reduced the total weight 63 per cent. During the first month rotting under
cover had resulted in a loss of 26 per cent of organic matter. By the end of three
months the loss amounted to 55 per cent of organic matter. That is to say, the
rotting of the manure for three months resulted in a loss of something over one-
half of the organic matter. This rotting or fermentation is brought about by the
agency of germs or microbes, and it was due to their developnent, since they feed
upon organic matter, that this loss occurs.

The original amount of nitrogen was 48 pounds ; in the course of three
months fermentation had reduced it to 392 pounds, showing a loss equal to abo)ut
18 per cent of the total nitrogen. Practically we might say that the rotting, under
these circumstances (protected from the weather) had resulted, dluring thrce
mcnths, in a loss of from 15 to 20 per cent of the nitrogen.

With the mineral constituents the case was different. The phosphoric acid
and the potash practicallv remained stationary from the close of the first month.
That is, there was no further percentage of phosphoric acid rendered available
and the " totals " remained unchanged. Passing on now to the end of six months,
we find the total weight had been reduced to 2,308 pounds, a further reduction of
about 10 per cent during that second period of three nonths. The organic matter
was reduced to 803 pounds, this indicates a total loss of 59 per cent of the original
organic matter since the beginning of the experiment.

At the end of nine months the total weight had become 2,224 piounds, show-
ing a further reduction during the third period Of 3 per cent only. The organic
matter weighed now 760 pounds, representing a loss of 61 per cent of the organic
matter originally present, or a loss of 2 per cent during the third period of three
months. The nitrogen now amounted to 36' 2 pounds, indicating a total loss of
24 per cent during the nine months that fermentation had taken place. It also
indicates that a further loss of 6 per cent of nitrogen had occurred during these
last three months.

Bv Mr. Stenson

Q. You say that at the end of three months there was a loss in the protected
manure of 55 per cent of organic matter and a loss of 20 per cent of nitrogen. Now,
what would be the loss, taking it altogether, of the value of that manure ?

A. Yes. We can ascribe to these elements the price that we must pay if we
have to purchase them in the form of commercial fertilizers, 10 to 14 cents per
pound for nitrogen. From these data we can calculate the value of the loss in
dollars and cents which has disappeared through the fermentation. Though the
organic matter, as I have shown, is valuable, we cannot ascribe to it any market
price. In regard to phosphoric acid and potash this method does not lead to any
loss whatever. During the first months of fermentation there is a conversion of
part of the phosphoric acid from the soluble to the insoluble form, but we do not
observe any loss in these elements.

Q. No loss in these, but there is so much loss in organic matter. At the end
of three months you reduce the weight of the organic matter by 55 per cent. That
would be 50 per cent of the whole weight, would it not?

A. Yes, somewhat more, but I cannot ascribe any commercial value to humus.
It is not a marketable or purchaseable commodity though of great agricultural
value, but in regard to nitrogen we can easily estimate the value of the loss in
dollars and cents.
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Q. If von have lost 50 per cent of the weight of this protected manure, has
it lost 50 per cent of its value ?

A. No, we have all the phosphoric acid and potash practicaliy present in the
original manure. Then, again, we did not loose 50 per cent of the nitrogen. This
was reduced from 48 to 38 pounds, in round numibers. At the end of 12 months
there was onl.v 25 per cent of the original weight, but nevertheless that 25 per cent
-contained all the phosphoric acid and potash originally there and it contained 37%
pounds of nitrogen out of 48 pounds originally present, so that we lost during the
whole year practically 10%2 pounds of nitrogen by the process of fermenting.
Ten and a half pounds, if vou like to value it at 10 cents a pound, would amount,
sav, to a dollar. Against that you would have to put the greater availability of
the phosphoric acid, the conversion of the vegetable matter into humus, and the
snaller quantity which you would have to cart out to the field necessitating less
labour and expense of handling. These would have to be regarded as offsets
against the loss of nitrogen which has been dissipated in the proce- of fermenting.
At the end of 12 months the total weight was 2,185 pounds, a turther reduction
during the fourth three months of less than one-half per cent on the original
weight. The weights of organic matter, nitrogen, phosphoric acid and potash
were all very sirnilar to those at the end of nine monhs.

I will just summarize in a few words the more important facts brought out by
this experiaent. You will bear in mind that I am giving you merely the outline
of a large amount of data we have on this subject.

The first deduction is that fermentation during the first two months serves to
iender available a comparatively large aniount of the phosphoric acid. It increases
the percentage of imediately available phosphoric acid about 20 per cent.

The second decluction is that (Y) per cent of the potash in fresh manure ap-
pears to be available and that subsequent fermentation does not seem to increase
ta any extent the amount or proportion so available. In respect to this constitu-
ent there is nothing gained by rotting manure.

Third : That by this means of preservation (under cover) tiere is practically
no loss of phosphoric acid or potash.

Fourth : There is a large loss of organic matter, more especially during the
first months of rotting, 1,938 pounds of organic matter becoming reduced to 1,446
pounds in one month, to 879 in three imonths, to 8oo in six months, and to 76o in
nine months.

Fifth : The loss of nitrogen amounts to 13 per cent of the total during the
first month, to 16 per cent during the first three months, and there was very little
loss in nitrogen after this date.

Sixth : The maxinum benefit from rotting manure can be obtained in two
or three' mnths.

Bv Mr. Richardson

0. How did vou obtain your samples for weighing ? Did vou weigh the
whole thing ?

A. We weighed the whole mass.

Q. Did you turn it when you weighed it ?
A. Yes.

Q. That would make a great difference ?
A. We turned it 12 times during the whole investigation-once at each weigh-

ing and sampling.
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Q. That alters the value of the test altogether ?
A. We have another test, the results of which I shall give you, in which the

whole mass was.-eft unturned. The object of this investigation was to trace up,
month by nonth, iliese constituents and also to ascertain the condition in which
they existed.

Q. Yes, but the difference between manure turned twelve times in the year
and manure left lying in a covered shed for twelve months would be very great ?

A. It would be, certainly.
Respecting nitrogen our results showed that during the first month we lost

13 per cent of the nitrogen present, and this percentage of loss was increased to 16
per cent during the first three months and that there was very little loss of nitrogen
after this date. We cannot say from looking at all this that there is any benefit
to be derived from fermenting manure more than two or three months. The
changes that took place, took place during that period and there is no object to be
attained, at least I cannot gather from our data, that there is any object to be at-
tained in fermenting manure for a longer period.

" EXPOSED " OR " OUTSIDE " MANURE.

Now, I wish to bring briefly before you data of an analagous character re-
specting the manure exposed in an outside open box or bin, the flooring and sides
of which were practically water-tight. At the end of one month this expose(l
mianure had been reduced from 8,ooo pounds to 5,113 pounds. The organic mat-
ter was reduced from 1,938 pounds to 1,093 pounds. The loss of organic matter
in the covered manure you will remember amounted practically to 5oo pounds
during the first month or 26 per cent of the original amount contained. The loss
of organic matter in this exposed sample was 845 pounds, equivalent to 45 per
cent of the original amount during the sanie period. This is an important matter.

By the Chairman

Q. The shrinkage was more rapid?
A. There was a greater loss, both of organic matter and nitrogen. The total

w-eight at the end of one month was greater in the case of the exposed manure than
in the protected manure, but the shrinkage~in value, the loss of organic matter was
almost double, or as 26 is to 44. The greater weight is easily accounted for, from the
fact that the exposed manure was subject to every rain that fell. We found the
weights of the exposed manure at some weighings to be less than those the month
before, and again in some months a great deal more. These fluctuations in weight
were due largely to the amount of rain that fell during the preceding month and
to the extent to which evaporation had gone on.

The amount of nitrogen was reduced from 48 to 36 pounds. In the case of the
protected manure we found that the amount of nitrogen was reduced from 48 to 42
pounds. The loss of nitrogen in the exposed manure is equivalent to 25 per cent
of the total nitrogen present, as against a loss of nitrogen in the protected manure
equivalent to 13 per cent of the total nitrogen present. So that during the first
month we notice that with the exposed manure there was practically double the
loss in nitrogen and almost double the loss in organic matter, as compared with
the loss in protected manure.

In phosphoric acid there were 25 pounds to start with; at the end of one
month, according to our analysis, 20 pounds, in round numbers, of phosphoric
acid were present. This shows a loss that must have resulted from leaching, in spite
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of the fact that there was a practically liquid-tight floor, consisting of double board-
ing laid crosswise. It is therefore evident that the flooring was absorbent. The
rains falling upon the manure washed out the soluble portions of the manure, which
were absorbed by the wood or leaked out between the boards. We cannot, there-
fore, consider a wooden floor as an absolute preventive to leaching from manure,
and I came to the conclusion from this investigation that in order to prevent the
loss of certain constituents it would be necessary to have a concrete or cement
floor. Practically, as we saw, there were no losses in phosphoric acid or potash in
the covered manure, but in the exposed manure during the first month between 15
and 20 per cent of the phosphoric acid disappeared. Consequently, we only have 12

pounds available of phosphoric acid in this exposed pen as against 22 pounds in
the covered at the end of one month. Now it did not appear that after the first
month there was any further loss, that is any appreciable loss, in this matter of
phosphoric acid. It seemed as if this constituent remained pretty fairly constant
after the first month. I account for that in this way. It would only be the phos-
phoric acid soluble in water that would be leached away. It was in the first month uf
rotting that this conversion from insoluble to soluble phosphoric acid largely took
place, and it was this converted or soluble phosphoric acid that was leached away.
Consequently, it was the more valuable portion of the phosphoric acid that was
lost. The value of phosphoric acid in commercial fertilizers is dependent upon the
form or combination in which it exists, insoluble phosphoric acid is only worth
two cents per pound, but soluble phosphoric acid is worth six cents per pound.
This loss of 20 per cent in this experiment does not represent the lower-price phos-
phoric acid, but represents that which was soluble and valuable as food for crops.
and consequently worth six cents per pound. The amount of phosphoric acid
rendered available is considerably less than in the covered manure, or if there had
been as great a conversion the resulting soluble phosphoric acid had leached out.

While there was no loss of potash in keeping the manure under cover, there
was a loss of 20 pounds, or 33 per cent, in the first month by leaching in the ex-
posed manure. This is worthy of note-one-third of the potash lost bv leaching
during the first month's rotting, in spite of the fact that the flooring was thought to
be practically water-tight.

At the end of three months the organic matter of this exposed manure was
reduced to 790 pounds. This is equivalent to a loss of 6o per cent of the organic
matter as against 55 per cent in the covered manure in the sane period. The
nitrogen during the first three months was reduced from 48 pounds to 34 pounds.
This disappearance of 14 pounds is equivalent to a loss of about 29 per cent of
the total nitrogen present, as against a loss of i8 per cent during the same period
in the covered manure. That is an important matter for nitrogen, as I have said,
is the most costly element of manure, and I may therefore repeat that we find
during the first three months, the time when fermentation is most active, there
was a loss of 29 per cent in the exposed as against i8 per cent in the covered
manure. At the end of six months the total weight was 4,124 pounds, that is, it
was really 125 pounds heavier than at the end of three months. This increase is,
of course, due to the added water from the rain. The organic matter amounted
to 652 pounds, showing a reduction in six months of 1,286 pounds, stated other-
wise 1,286 pounds of organic matter had been used up by micro-organisms or
germs in the fermentation. This represents a loss of 66 per cent of the total
organic matter originally present. For the same period in the covered manure
we had a loss of 59 per cent, so there is a tendency to equalize the loss in tle
covered and exposed manures as fermentation advances. During the first three
months there was almost double the loss of organic matter in the exposed as in
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the covered, 26 per cent in the covered, as against 44 per cent in the exposed
manure.

At the end of twelve months the weight of organic inatter vas ù07 pounds.
That means a loss of 1,331 pounds of organic matter in the four tons of manure,
which is equivalent, practically, to 70 per cent of the organic matter originally pre-
sent. At the end of twelve months in the covered manure we find there had been a
loss of 1,i6o pounds, or practically 6o per cent of the original matter present, show-
ing that taking it over the whole experimental period of one vear there vas a
greater loss, by 10 per cent, in the organic matter in the exposed nanure than ii
the manure that was covered. During the first six months the loss, as we have seen,
was very much greater in the exposed manure.

The nitrogen during the twelve nonths' rotting was reduced from 48 pounds
to 31 pounds. In the case of the protected manure the weight was reduced from
48 to 37% pounds. This shows a loss in the exposed manture of 17 poiids, or
about 36 per cent of the amount originally present, as against a loss of 10o 2 pounis
in the covered, which is equivalent to 22 per cent during the sane period. There
is, therefore, the difference between 22 per cent and 36 per cent, or 14 per cent in
favour of the covered manure in regard to this costly eleme 11. The phosphoric
acid lost by leaching under the conditions observed was between 3 and 3'
pounds, or about 12 per cent of the total phosphoric acid. In avilable phosphoric
acid there remained, at the expiration of twelve months, 16':? poun1ds as against
182 in the covered manure. The loss, you see, although apparent is not consider-
able in the case of phosphoric acid. The niost serious loss was in potash. During
twelve months 24 pounds of potash were lost: it was reduced from 61 ponnds to 37.
These 24 pounds represent 40 per cent of the original potash which vas lost by
leaching, and this in spite of the fact that the bin was well constructed.

Bv the Chairnan :

O. Would a concrete bin have avoided that?
A. I think so : it would have been non-absorbent. I do not think it is pOS-

sible to preserve manure under such conditions as we did, that is to say, with a
board floor, without loss in potash.

By Mr. Rutherford:

Q. The location of the samples would affect the result. Possibly a sample
at the botton of the bin would contain more potash than at the top ?

A. It would. We took a great deal of pains to well mix the whole mass
before sampling, but we recognize that there were almost insurmountable difficul-
ties in getting a truly representative sample. Manure is an exceedingly complex
miaterial. It consists of litter, solid and liquid niatter, and to obtain a sample for
analvsis which would thoroughly represent the mass of eiglit tons is a matter

which requires a large amount of labour, and with the precautions that were taken,
I can only hope that we came somewhat near the truth. The figures contained in

our tables of data do not all fall into line, because of the fact that we have multiplied
the percentages into the weights obtained, month by month, in order to ascertain the
total amounts of the constituents present. You can readily understand that a small
error in the analysis, or in the weighing of these manures, would resuilt in a con-
siderable error when calculated on the whole mass; but nevertheless the whole of
the work has been done, I am assured, with sufficient care and the figures are such
that I bave no doubt the general results are correct. But the difficulty in thor-
oughlv sampling the manure, the unavoidable though slight errors of analysis and

any small inaccuracies in the weighings would necessarilv affect these resultant
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figures somewhat. This is only what might be expected. The general trend of
the results, however, is so apparent that one cannot miss seeing the conclusions
that are to be drawn.

By Mr. McLennan:

Q. Some farmers are in the habit of laying a flooring in their manure sheds
of earth and muck in order to retain this liquid manure. What would the value
of that be as a fertilizer ?

A. It would be very rich indeed. The use of peat or dry muck I have advo-
cated for this purpose for years. It is an excellent absorbent and holds in a way
that does not allow of dissipation these fertilizing constituents, more especially the
soluble nitrogen and potash of the manure.

By Mr. Stenson:
Q. In what way do you look upon sawdust as an absorbent ?
A. Dry sawdust is an excellent absorbent. It is rather a dangerous material

however in the manure pile on account of it being porous. It is difficult without
taking special precautions to check the fermentation of such manure. It is well recog-
nized, that although we wish to induce fermentation in order to render valuable
certain elements of plant food, yet we wish to have that fermentation well under
control, because excessive fermentation leads to the dissipation of valuable con.
stituents (organic matter and nitrogen), and there is difficulty in doing so when
you use sawdust. Unless the manure is kept compact so as to exclude the air
and unless it is kept moist, it being very porous, the air permeates the whole mass
and fermentation is so excessive that the greater part of the nitrogen disappears
as ammonia It is a better absorbent therefore for cow manure than for horse
manure.

O. Is tlc introduction of sawdust itself into the soil beneficial ?
A. That all depends on the character of the soil. If it were a heavy clay soil

I should imagine that it might be beneficial, but I would not advise the applica-
tion of sawdust manure to a light sandy soil.

FERMENTATION OF MANURE WITH AND WITHOUT GYPSUM.

The second series of investigations in this matter of preservation were also
with horse and cow nianure mixed in equal proportions. Three tons were
allowed to ferment per se, without the addition of any preservative and an equal
weight of the sanie manure was mixed with gypsum or plaster Paris at the rate
of 50 pounds per ton. Both of these lots were fermented inside a small building which
I have illustrated in a photograph (now exhibited) and exactly under the same condi-
tions of moisture and temperature. These manures were put in separate bins in this
covered shed on the i5th july, 1897, and they were allowed to remain untouched,
that is, they were not stirred or disturbed until the i 5th November of the same Vear.
when they were weighed and samples taken for analysis. I should mention, how-
ever, that from time to time these manures were moistened, because we thought
that there would be less loss of nitrogen if the fermentation were checked by the
presence of moisture, but as we moistened, as far as was practicable, both lots of
manure alike, the conditions of both were similar. The object of this experiment
was to ascertain if the presence of gypsum prevented the loss of nitrogen which, as
we have seen, resulted when manure was preserved under cover as well as that
exrosed in an open bin or box. We wished to learn if the zypsum would prevent
this escape of nitrogen as ammonia-the chief form in which nitrogen is lost from
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fermenting manure. By the action of gypsum or sulphate of lime the ammonia,
or rather carbonate of ammonia, is converted into a non-volatile form known as
sulphate of ammonia, and althougli the amount of nitrogen present as ammonia
is not large we wished to learn if we could prevent its loss by the presence of gyp-
sum. Omitting many of the analytical details, which will be published later on,
we may to-day compare results.

In regard to organic matter there were in each experiment 1,470 pounds ori-
ginally present. In that fermented or rotted w-ith gypsum, at the rate of 50 pounds
per ton, we find at the end of the experiment that there were 728 pounds. The dif-
ference, 742 pounds, had disappeared during the four months. This manure had
not been disturbed or turned. The manure without the gypsum contained at the end
of that period 68o pounds, so that there was a difference of about 50 pounds in
favour of the manure fermented in the presence of gypsum. The fermentation
had not been quite so excessive in regard to the destruction of the organic matter.
Whether this was altogether due to the presence of gypsum I am not at this ma-
ment prepared to state, because it imay be possible that it was partly due to the
presence of more water and the greater exclusion of air. The amount of moisture
present has very much to do with the degree of fermentation which follows. Pass-
ing on to the consideration of the nitrogen we notice that there were 34, polunds
in each lot as originally experimented with, each lot consisting of thrce tons (f
mixed manure. At the end of the experim ental period, that with gypsmn contain-
cd 31 -6 and that without gypsufm contained 31 -4 pounds. The loss in eac h case
was practically the same. This experirnent, therefore, did not show that unler the
conditions of this investigation that there was any fixation of the nitrogen by the
gypsum. The loss, however, was very smîall-only one pound nitrogen per ton of
nanure-and I am of the opinion that the plan 'was such that it was sufflciently
effective without the addition of gypsnm. There vas verv little loss )y this
nethod, which briefly I may point ont was as follows:--We put the nannre in a
bin, under cover, made it as compact as possible and kept it damp. Under these
conditions we found the loss in nitrogen with and without gypsum practically
identical.

By the Chairman:

Q. In other words, gypsum w'as no benefit?
A. Under the conditions of our experiment it apparently had no effect.
With regard to phosphoric acid we found that the available phosphoric acid

had been increased from 12-6 pounds to 18-6 pounds with gypsum and that with-
Out gypsum to 17 pounds. These figures arc so close that I do not attribute the
difference in favour of the former to the presence of gypsurm.

We may now discuss the amounts and condition of the potash present, with
and without gypsum. We began with 69 pounds of total potash in each lot. At
the close of the experiment that fernented with gypsnm contained 55y. poinds,
and that without gypsurm 57 pounds. Hre again the difference is so small that we
mav say there is practically the same quantity in each lot. The presence of gypsum
probably had little if any influence upon the potash contained. We did not expect
it would have, but the point to bc remembered in this matter, is, that there was a
loss of about 14 pounds of potash from each of these manures, namely, from the
three tons which were fermented under cover. I account for that loss in this way:
From time to time we watered the manures in order to keep them moist, and there
can bc no doubt that the continual moistening of this manure from the top lad
the tendencv to leach out a proportion of the potash which was gradually absorbCd
by the flooring or passed awav througlh the cracks between the floor boards. Potazh
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is so easily soluble that we thus lost 14 pounds out of 70. I an going to continue
this investigation of the preservation of the manure, altering the conditions some-
what in order to ascertain if their loss can be avoided.

Speaking of losses from lcaching of manure, I have some photographs here
taken on a farm not far from this city. The farner has drawn a large amount
of manure and stacked it in his yard, making a pile six or seven feet high. In
front of it there was a pool, or small lake, in fact, on which one might float a
rowboat. The loss from this treatment of manure or lack of care iust have been
excessive. (Photograph exhibited.) The greater part of the potash, instead of
being in the manure was in this pond, and a considerable proportion of the soluble
nitrogen also. That pond consisted entirely of the drainage or leachings formed
by rain that has fallen on the manure. It sank into the ground and the farmer
never recovered it.

By Mfr. Stenson

Q. Am I correct in stating that green manure is more valuable than rotted
except on very light soils, that is general results?

A. Yes, on heavy soils I should advocate the use of green manure and should
advise getting it into the soil at once, more especially if the farner has no means
of protecting it during fermentation.

Q. And loses less of its fertilizing elenents under cover than when rotted in
the open air?

A. Yes.

Q. What is the -\alue of clover ploughed under, compared witlh the applica-
tion of green barn-yard manure of equal weight ? Suppose there is a crop of clover
on the land and vou plough it in, what is the value of that as a fertilizer, compared
with an equal weight of barri-yard manure?

A. That is a very important question. It is necessary to understand what that
question involves. In the first place, the clover as taken from the sol phosphoric
acid and potash. Its nitrogen, for the most part, we may suppose it bas taken
froni the atmosphere. There is a clear gain, therefore, as regards this nitrogen.
Now, the nitrogen in a clover crop over an acre would be equal to the nitrogen
contained in from 10 to 15 tons of good average barn-yard manure. That 10 or
15 tons of manure would. however, contain, in addition to nitrgen, a certain quan-
tity of phosphoric acid and potash. which would be a distinct gain to the soil,
whereas in ploughing down clover we are only adding, as regards these two latter
constituents, what we have alreadv takei from the soil. An important point to
remember in this connection is that we mnust consider of value any method or
plan which converts material from a less soluble to a more soluble form. The
clver during its growth has not added to the soil's store of mineral elements, but
it has appropriated phosphoric acid and potash from the earth. Now, by the rot-
tiig of the clover in the soil this phosphoric acid and potash are liberated in more
stluble forms. so that they can readilv be used by succeeding grain crops. The
clover. therefore, bas done a considerable amount of valuable work in tiis nrocess
of conversion. but it is difficult to give von the corresponding value of this work
in dollars and cents. But if von were to ask me about the matter of nitrogen, we
conld sav that there we have a distinct and clear gain, because clover takes its
nitrogen 1 argely from the atmosphere and consequntelv is a gift, as it were.
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By Mr. Stenson :

Q. Is there not another advantage in connection with clover by 1eason of the
roots going deeply into the ground and taking the matter froin that portion of
the soil which does not give this nourisliment to the ordinary plant which goes
less deeply into the ground?

A. Yes, it is a deep-rooted plant and undoubtedly brings up mineral matter
from the lower layers of the soil and the sub-soil. Large amounts comparatively
of mineral food may thus be obtained. The rotting of these roots in the upper
layers of the soil increases the fertility of the surface soil.

By Mr. Rutherford :

Q. I think the experiments we have had explained to us here are very valu-
able in their way, but it seems to me from a practical point of view that thev lack.
If ordinary manure with the same proportion of liquid in it as that which formed
the subject of this experiment were put in a covered shed and left there a great
deal of it would burn from want of moisture. There is no farmer who can turn
his manure once a month, or even less frequently, than that; manure kept under
cover and kept dry almost invariably burns. What would be the proportion of
these various ingredients in manure that had been heated and burned ?

A. A great portion of its nitrogen and organic matter would be lost.

Mr. CHAIRMAN:-I suppose this manure having no moisture added to it.
wouild be what yo call fire-fanged ?

Mr. RUTHERFORD:-Not the manure which lie dealt with. If you turn your
manure you prevent it burning.

By the Chairman :

O. Did the fermentation occur uniformly throughout the mass ?
A. Long before we closed the experiments all fermentation had ceased and the

whole of the material was homogenous and dry to the touch, so that it crumbled
easily;it was not absolutely dry however, because it contained a fair percentage of
water. The percentage of water was reduced from 68 to 40 per cent. It lost 20
per cent of the water during the whole vear, gradually becoming dry until in
October of the year in which the manure was put in, the percentage had fallen to

42 per cent, after which it dried out very little. I take it that the matter of turn-
ing it in the way we did it really had the effect of drying it and arresting the fer-
mentation.

Mr. RUTHERFORD:--You can take manure treated as you treated it and it will
be perfectly dry, it may be black almost like rich soil, rich in colour, but if you
keep manure dry with just moisture in it to start the fermentation process it will
fang and then it turns white and there is no strength in it. That would be what
would happen to the ordinary farmer's manure if he put it in a shed and left it
there.

Mr. CHAIRMAN :-That was on account of the mechanical condition. Every
practical farmer knows that horse manure will fang in a pile, but if it is spread in
a shed where cattle are tramping steadily and mixed with cattie manure and they
tramp it over, the mechanical condition is that it is compacted and it prevents fire-
fanging.

Mr. RUTHERFORD:--You are introducing another feature altogether.
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Mr. CHAIRMAN :-We are speaking about it as it is on the farm. In addition
t, that the farmer who deals with box farming for his cattle has manure which is
perfectly colipact, and any practical man will tell you that it does not heat but
is kept moist.

Mr. RUTHERFORD :-That is not what I am referring to at all. I am speaking
of a shed in which the manure is put and left and where no cattle go.

Mr. SHUTT:-It must be kept compact, because the presence of air through-
out the mass, if the right degree of moisture be present, causes fermentation which
must be held in check. The first principles require that the mass should be kept
compact so as to prevent the air from too freely permeating the mass of it.

Q. In Manitoba we find it almost impossible to get manure rotted. Mr. Bed-
ford, on the Experimental Farm at Brandon, finds it necessary to put layers of
snow on his manure in the winter time to get it rotted. It is not moist enough.
In the summer time if it is left outside very often in a dry season you have the
same difficulty.

A. We have to intelligently apply certain principles, and a plan that is suit-
able here might not be suitable in British Columbia or in the North-west, and
what is the best plan for the former might not be the best for the latter.

In connection with the question of manuring by means of the clover crop,
which we have been discussing, it is important that I should refer to the large ad-
dition to the soil of organic matter, which subsequently forms humus in the soil.
Humus is a valuable constituent of soils and must be present in generous amounts
before a soil will give its maximum product. This organic matter is entirely
derived by the clover crop fron the atmosphere.

SOIL INOCULATION FOR THE GROWTH OF CLOVERS.

You will remember, gentlemen, that in the annual reports of the Chemical
Division for the last two years we have given some results as to the fertilizing
constituents in clover, advocating the growth of clover with the grains, this clover
to be subsequently ploughed under, thus enriching the soil in nitrogen and in as-
similable forms of plant food. The reason we advocated the employment of
clover for green mauuring is because clover belongs to a botanical family known
a- the Legumes, which solelv have this property of appropriating or as-
similating the free nitrogen of the atmosphere, building it up into their tissues.
By subsequently ploughing under the crop we can utilize that nitrogen for
tihe permanent enrichment of the soil. Further experiments have shown that such
plants as clover, pease, beans, and so forth, du not appropriate this atmospheric
nitrogen by means of their leaves, but by micro-organisms or germs, or bacteria
which exist in nodules which reside on their roots or rootlets. The growth of
these bacteria in these nodules helps the clover plant to absorb the nitrogen which
exists in the air between the particles of the soil. That fact having been proved, it
occurred to the practical mind of the German scientist that these germs might be
used in the practice of everv-day agriculture. The first work done was to take
the soil from a field which had grown clover and spread it over a field in which
it was wished to foster the more vigorous growth of clover. That, of course.
was soil inoculation, because the clover field contained in large numbers bacteria
cr germs. These when introduced into the field experimented upon, at once took
hold of the clover plants and assisted them in this matter of nitrogen appropri-
ation.
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By Mr. Rutherford :

Q. Has Mr. Bedford, the Superintendent of the Experimental Farn at Bran-
don, Manitoba, had an opportunity of trying this ?

A. Not yet.

Q. Because there is an impression among some people in kli\nnesota and
Manitoba that it is owing to the absence of those microbes that clover will not
grow, and not owing to the winter ?

A. In Germany on sandy soils upon which hitherto farmers were unable to
grow clover, they have by inoculating the soil induced clover to grow. This
nethod of soil inoculation is costly and cumbersome, and it therefore occurred
to a German firm to prepare a pure culture from a soil which contained these
germs, and to sell that culture in a transportable form so that the material could
be readily and easily applied wherever desired. In these bottles, one of which I
hold in my hand, we have this Nitragin-the nane given to the culture of bacteria
which exist, as I have said, in the nodules on the roots of the legumes. The
firm referred to has prepared Nitragins froi horse beans, clover, pease and
beans, and other leguminous plants, so that there are now for sale 17 differ-
ent cultures, or Nitragins froin the various geris and which can be used to pro-
mote the growth of the members of the leguninous family. Last year I procured
several of these Nitragins and experiments were made with them to ascertain
their effect. These experiments were carried on in specially constructed pots. I
tried four different cultures, but in two of them, the Alfalfa and the Vetches, the
growth was so poor I did not complete the work. The results might have been
misleading. But with the clover and the horse beans we concluded the investiga-
tion, the object of which was to ascertain if any increase of growth or assimila-
tion of nitrogen resulted in the clover growing in soil inoculated with clover
Nitragin as compared with clover growing in soil which hac not received this
material and consequently had not been so inoculated. Very briefly, our methods
of treatment were these. Seed was sown in two pots of untreated soil. These
ccnstituted the check or blank pots. In two other pots the soil was moist-
ened with a solution of the culture. That is the method known as soil inocula-
tion. In two other pots clover seed wvas sown that had been soaked in a solution
of the culture. That is the method known as seed inoculation. These are the
two methods of inoculation advocated and it was desired to ascertain which of
thern was the more advantageous to follow. The results froi these two plans as
tried upon the continent have differed. The results of our experiments are tabu-
lated in the annual report now in press. They are not extraordinary in character. We
did not find that any very large differences in the assimilation of nitrogen occurred.
But nevertheless we did find that there had been a certain beneficial effect both
in the case of the soil inoculated experiments and in those il which the seed was
inoculated. The photograph now exhibited shows this effect. The nots "D.D.
were untreated; in the pots "E.E." the soil was ino.culated. and in "F.F." the seed
was inoculated. Pots 'E.E." and "F.F." show more cron than "D.D." The same
is true in the case ot the horse beans. The same number of plants were grown
in each of these pots. At the close of the experiment the plants were carefully
faken up, weighed and analysed, and from the data se obtained we calculated the
amounts of the various constituents (nitrogen. etc.) under these different methods
of culture. We found in the case of the horse beans that there was a small but de-
cided advantage from soil inoculation. The seed inoculation while not giving such
marked results had nevertheless been beneficial in increasing growth. The
weight of these products. which include stems and leaves and roots, are as fol-
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lows :-In the case of the clovers, of which you have a photograpb before you, in
the untreated pots, the weight of the crop was 147 grammes. In the treated pots
in which the soil was inoculated the weight was 163 grammes, and the weight of
the crop where the seed was inoculated was 189 grammes. There was conse-
quently a marked increase in the total weight of the crop in which the plants had
been treated with this culture of nitragin.

By Mr. Sproule :

Q. Then the soil inoculation seemed to be the best?
A. It did in the case of the horse beans. In the experiments with horse beans

we found ten plants in the untreated pots weighed 127 grammes, in the soil
inoculated the weight was 227 grammes, and in the seed inoculated the ten plants
weighed 157 grammes.

By Mr. Stenson:

Q. Did you ise the same amount of this nitragin for the soil as for the seed?
A. The nitragin was diluted with a certain volume of water and the seed was

soaked in it for two hours, then taken out and allowed to drain. The seed was
then mixed with, dry sand and sown.

By Mr. Rutherford :

Q. Was the soil sterilized before you began?
A. No.

kQ. Then it is possible you had some of this germ?
Yes. Our method was adopted in order to get a knowledge of the facts

tried under conditions that would prevail on ordinary farms. I mav add that we
find it exceedingly difficult to get soil on the Central Farm that will not grow
clover. If I were sure that there were large areas in Canada that would not grow
clover I would undertake to sterilize soil and conduct experiments with it. In
fact, we may do it this year, but these experiments, the results of which I have
now been giving you, show that the nitragin assisted the clover in soils that we
nav suppose contain to some degree the clover germs.

By thc Cliairman:

Q.Will you try that on the branch farms?
A. Yes, we are sending out nitragin to item this year. The nitragin I have

here in these bottles I intend to use in my experirnents this vear on the Central
Farm. Other samples have gone forward to branch farms to be tried. These
will be used on small plots, not in pots.

Q. In the North-west you will have the effects on the soil there and a report
on the local conditions?

A. Yes, and the same at Nappan, N.S. These bottles of nitragin cost 8o cents
apiece and they are said to contain sufficient to inoculate one acre. These data
that I have brought before you, give you our results on this subject to date,
though I have only stated them briefly and in outline. I am led to consider the
method as one of much promise, and I purpose this vear pursuing the subject fur-
ther. The results of one year may be modified by those obtained in the future.
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By Mr. Rutherford :

Q. How is it in the case of foul weed seeds in barn-yard manure?
A. Of course, using green manure those seeds would grow. We miay sup-

pose that thorough rotting kills most of the weed seeds.

Q. Does the thorough rotting of manure kill most of those seeds?
A. I think it does. Thorough rotting of manure we may, at all events, saielv

say kills a large number of them, but I think before we can arswer that question
decisively we shall have to make some experiments.

Q. I think that would be a. very valuable experiment.
A. It would, but it would require several experiments; seeds differ greatly

with regard to vitality.

Q. Mustard seed and pennycress are weeds that are troubling us and if it were
a certainty that the thorough rotting of manure would destroy the vitality of the
seeds of these weeds it will be important for us to know it?

The CHAIRMAN :-Does your experience seer to justify a doubt?

Mr. RUTHERFORD :-YeS.

Mr. SHUTT:-It is so very hard to define what thorough rotting is. I an
inclined to think, however, that rotting in which the temperature assumes a con-
siderable height would destroy the vitality of a large number of weed seeds. Many
seeds, however, are on the outside of the heap, and these would escape, and there-
fore rotting as usually carried on would not be an absolutely reliable plan for the
destruction of all the weed seeds contained in the manure.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

FRANK T. SHUTT,

Chief Cimist, Doinùzion Experimental Farms.
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COMMITTEE RooM No. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

WEDNESDAY, 18th May, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this day
at i i o'clock a.m.; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. W. T. MACoiUN, Horticulturist at the Central Experimental Farm, was
present by request, and addressed the Committee as follows:-

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-Although this is the first time that I have
appeared, in an official capacity, before the Committee, I have been here several
tirnes with Dr. Saunders, assisting him in connection with the samples which lie
has brought before you, and have some idea of what is expected of me this morn-
ing on that account. I may say, as the Chairman has already remarked, that I was
appointed horticulturist at the farm quite recently and the work which I have done
since, in that branch of horticulture, of which Mr. Craig had charge, is not very
great. With your permission, I shall refer, on this occasion, to the work we have
done in connection vith forest trees at the Central Farm and afterwards, if time
permits, I shall be glad to go over that part of the horticultural work relating to
fruits, vegetables and flowers, which has engaged our attention during the present
spring.

TREE PLANTING AT THE CENTRAL EXPERIMENTAL FARM.

Ever since my connection with the farm I have thought that the subject
of planting forest trees was one of the most important lines of experiment that
could be pursued for the benefit of the farmer. We all know the con-
dition of the farms in the more thickly settled parts of Ontario to-day. In early
tirries when the settlers came in, there was an almost unlirnited supply of forest
trees. The farmers made their little clearings in the thick woods without any idea
that some day the population would grow to the proportions it bas attained to-day.
The result was that the intervening forests disappeared as the clearings were
widened, so that we now find, in many parts of the country, farms which have no
forest clumps at all, while others have only a small portion of wooded land which
is, as a rule, poorly kept. I may say that this work of planting trees was considered
by the Director, when the experimental farm system was started, to be one of the
most important features of work that the experimental farms could undertake.
Following ont this view, under his direction, forest belts were planted on two sides
of the farm, one on the Northern and one on the Western side. These belts
were planted with several objects in view, two of the principal being: First, that by
the growth of the best kinds of timber trees we might be able to demonstrate to the
farmers of Canada how quickly timber can be grown and the best methods by
which to grow it: and second, it was thought that by having forests belts along the
sides of the farm they would serve the purpose of wind breaks, thus affecting fav-
ourably the crops on the farm. The trees are not quite tall enough yet to show their
influence in that respect, but we are in hopes that before long, judging from the ex-
perience of others. that the results will be very marked. The growth that the trees
have made since they were planted is quite remarkable. i shall take up in detail the
different species that have formed the basis of our experiments and state how thev
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have succeeded. I would like first of all to explain that the s9il on which these trees
were planted was, for the most part, poor in quality. Those of you who have been
over the farm know that the land, along the western boundary, especially, is low
in the middle and that on one side the soil is sandy, while on the other it is gravelly.
None of this soil was really suitable for the growth of agricul tural crops. On the
North side of the farn part of the soil was good clay loam, another portion was
sandy, and yet another portion was black muck, so that you see we had all kinds
of soil on which to test these trees, yet comparatively little space wvas used on
which cereal crops could be grown successfully. These trees have been planted in
different wavs.

METHODS OF PLANTING TREES.

It was thought that it would be profitable and interesting to try several
methods so that it would be possible to tell the farmers which was thought the best.
On the western boundary of the farm the trees are planted in clunps of a single
species; for instance, we have a clump of white pine all growing together, the tree's
being planted 5 by 5 feet apart and 10 by 1o feet apart in different parts of the belt.
The belt is 165 feet wide. We have nearly all the principal native timber trees
growing in this way. On the northern side of the farm there are, in a belt 65 feet
wide, many kinds of trees growing mixed together; that is, maples growing with
pines, birch, larch, butternut, walnut, and other sorts; the object being to dei-
onstrate the method of planting under which they would succeed best. The results
have been very marked. For instance, it has been found that black walnut 5 by 5
feet apart is not close enougli to kill out the sod. You all know that black walnut
puts forth its leaves late in the spring and that they drop early in the autumn, so
that the sod has a very good chance to form. Another reason is that black walnut
is a very thin-foliaged tree and the light being allowed to get in, the grass grows.

By the Chairman :

Q. How many years' growth is that? (Referring to a sample of black walinut.)
A. It is between ten and eleven vears of age.

Q. You mean that the grass continues to grow?
A. Yes, the grass continues to grow. I may say that, with the average farmer,

the principal question of importance is that of expense, and it is very necessarv
that anv trees he may plant should be planted close together, because, after a few
seasons' growth, he wil not require the cultivator to go through and he may let
them alone, whereas, if they are planted wide apart, our experience has been that
we have had to use the cultivator for many vears. Black walnut, planted for nine
years, 1o feet apart, still requires to be cultivated, because otherwise sod is formed.
This could be obviated in beginning a plantation, by mixing with the black walnut,
thick-foliaged trees which will shade the ground; for instance, hard maple, which
has thick foliage, and box elder, which is not a large tree in this part of the coun-
try, are suitable for this purpose. They can be cut out as soon as they have served
their purpose. The seed of these thick-foliaged trees can be got by the million and
could be planted with this object in view. I would like to give you an idea of
some of the seedlings that are grown in the woods. I have here samples of box
elder and hard maple to show you how easily they can be grown. Box elder does
not grow in this part of the country naturallv, but so many trees have been distri-
buted bv the nurservmen that seed can be got quite readily.
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By Mr. Martin :

Q. Would you please tell us what system you would adopt for growing black
walnut from seed?

A. The nut trees require a little different treatnent from the other trees as
regards their seeds. We have found that one of the best methods in growing black
walnut seedlings is to mix the seed with moist sand in the autumn in a
barrel, place the barrel outside, keep it there all winter and let its contents freeze.
The result is that by spring the shell is cracked and the young seedling starts very
soon. We have had them come above ground in a very short time. Another
method is to plant the nuts before the permanent frost sets in, in the autumn, and
when springtime comes almost the same result will follow, but if you are in a part
of the country where squirrels are abundant they would be liable to take them out
and you may have your work to do over again. We plant them in the spring two
or three inches deep in the soil.

Q. Take spruce seeds for instance?
A. Seeds of evergreens require still anothcr treatment. Pines, spruce, hein-

lock, cedar and tanarac ail require a special treabnent and the method which we
have found best at the Central Farm is to prepare a bed of soil, very finely pul-
verized, sow the seed on the surface and rake it in. Then take laths and nail
thern together at right angles leaving a mesh of about one inch and a half so as
to allow the free passage of air. These laths are then placed about one foot from
the ground on pickets. This protection is necessary to prevent the young plants
from damping off which they are liable to do during the first season's growth if
left exposed to the full sunlight. It is absolutely necessary to do this to secure a
full crop of young seedlings.

Q. When do you take off the burrs ?
A. It requires the action of the frost first to open the cones. If you wanm to

collect themi before this time, that is late in the autumn, subject them to heat to
get out the seeds.

Q. Then how do you take the seeds off the cones ?
A. They shake right out.

By the Chairman :

Q. Would they not require to be gathered before the winter sets in; would
they not shake naturally ?

A. Yes ; they have been falling since March.

Q. Not earlier ?
A. Not much earlier as a rule. Of course it would be safer to gather thern

earlier in the winter. If you do that, subject them, pines especially, to heat.

By M1r. Martin:

Q. I have been trying for some years to raise trees from cones, is th'ere any
fertilizing element or sexual factor in regard to it ?

A. No ; if you have good seed you are all right.

Q. Would you please explain over again your method of treating the seeds ?
A. Certainly. For instance, you collect seed during the winter and shake
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them out in the house and you have pure seed. Prepare your bed in the spring.
Take the seed and sow thern broadcast on the bed. Rake them in gently, as you
do with any fine seed. Then take the laths, nail them together cross-wise at right
angles so as to make a mesh of an inch or more square. Then rest this on pickets
about one foot from the ground over the bed. This prevents the direct rays of the
sun, keeps the soi] moist and permits a free passage of air. There is always a
slight moisture over the surface, and you will be surprised to find how quickly the
seeds germinate. We have not grown nany white pine from seeds, but we have had
splendid success with Scotch pine and Norway spruce and the BuTI pine of British
Columbia. We have never had occasion to grow white pine yet, but I propose to
try some experiments with the different kinds so as to find which of them ger-
minate best under these conditions. I see no reason why the white pine should
not do as well as the Scotch pine and Norway spruce. While on the subject of
seeds, I do not see why every farmer should not have on his own place a nurserv.
By going out into the woods near by he could pick up young trees of elm, ash,
maple, birch and pine. By planting them in rows, far enough apart so that the
cultivator could go through, he would in another year have trees fit for the forest
clump. He could also raise trees from seed. The ash, oak, maple, elm and
birch seeds germinate very readily and they may be sown outside as soon as they
are ripe.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. What is the object of a forest clump, of which you are speaking ?
A. The idea is to grow these young trees and have them for stock. Of

course these young trees would grow nicely in the forest plantation, but they
would get more fibrous roots, become more stocky, and would not require so
nuch after cultivation by growing them in a nursery for a year, whereas, if you

put them out in a field in the condition they are taken from the woods they are
more liable to get injured. I may say it is not advisable to use large trees fr,
forest purposes. We have found young trees of from 12 to 18 inches in height
the best size to plant. You see, when a tree is taken up, its root growth suistains
a shock and the larger the tree the more the shock, so that in taking up a large
evergreen, for example, it will take some years to recover, whereas a small seed-
ling a foot high or so will grow rapidly. We have found that a white pine will
make a growth of from 2 to 2% feet in one year.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. What is the best time of the year to plant them?
A. Speaking from ten years' experience at the Farm at Ottawa it is best to

plant evergreens early in the spring, before growth begins. They get well estab-
lished then and start growth and make some progress from the first, whereas if
you plant them later, growth is severely cIiecked. A great many people recom-
mend planting evergreens in June or July. That is very risky, because it is then
usually very hot and the young roots will be more liable to be dried up.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. What is the best season to trim them ?
A. Opinions differ also in regard to that. From now till July is, I think, the-

best time as during that time growth is being made and the wound will heal up
quickly. Evergreens should not be pruned; there is rarely a necessity for prun-
ing them, except for hedge purposes.
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By Mr. Martin :

Q. What height should a hedge of spruce be ?
A. Young trees about one foot high are the best. The first year after plant-

ing they should all be made the same height. That would do for that year. Next
season when the growth is nearly made, clip off about one-half of their growth,
because in that way you make them throw out side branches and they get stocky
right from the ground. The trouble with most people is that they let their trees
grow for some years without trimming, and the result is that instead of developing
side branches they grow straight up. The best method is to cut them back when
young,

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. I thought they would not stand triming ?
A. For hedge purposes it does not matter. It checks their growth, but for

forest cultivation you want all the growth you can get.

By Mr. Carscallcn :

Q. You would not recommend planting in the fall at all ?
A. If I had not time in the spring I would put them in in the fall. We have

had good success planting in the fall and we have also had bad. In low ground
the action of the frost has made them heave out and we have found thern in spring
raised out of the ground.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Did you find that they stood better close to the drains than far from them?
A. This was not observed. The ground was porous there. They were in

black muck. Trees heave more in that kind of soil.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. What I had reference to, in speaking of trimming the trees, was ornamental
trees. Is this the best season to do that ?

A. In my opinion this is the best season to do it.

By Mr. Carscallen :

Q. Between now and July ?
A. Yes, when the growth is going on ; after the growth ceases I would not

like to do it, because you make a wound which does not heal up soon. If you
cut the tree now you will have that wound partly healed up by autumn.

By the Chairman :

Q. I see the fruit men do not practice that way. They do this work in winter
time ?

A. They work in the winter because they have more time then and that is a
great consideration, but where a man has time it is best to do it at the prope
ïseason of the year. I have got a little off the general subject.

Q. It is at these " off places " that we get the light because it is at these that
people's difficulties are?
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A. I was referring, when I diverged, to the necessity of planting thicker foli-
aged trees with black walnut, mixing with it box elder, birch and hard maple,
which are all thickly-foliaged trees, and, of course, evergreens too. It depends
greatly, however, on what you want to grow for timber purposes. If you want
to grow a black walnut plantation the trees should be so mixed that tlie black
walnut will take first place. The same rule applies to ash as to black walnut. We
have found that although planted five feet apart where they have been growing
for eight years the sod still forms. The cultivator was not put through recentlv
because the branches are all interlaced, but the foliage is so tliin that the sod stili
forms. If the sod grows the trees do not succeed well. By planting thick foli-
aged trees mixed with the ash better results would be obtained.

Q. Is the timber of the green ash as heavy as white ash ?
A. No, it is a softer wood than white ash. White and black ash are two (if

the best species. As regards the soils on which these trees grow, our experience
lias been that the black walnut does not succeed on all kinds of soils. We have
it growing on a cold, compact sandy soil, on a gravelly soil, and on a clay loam,
and it is doing best on the last; but that is not the best soil for black walnut. From
the trees I have seen I would say that black walnut would do best on a deep,
loamv and well drained soil. We have sorne trees in our nursery where the soil is
T>etter than in the forest belts and they have made wonderful growth. But in the
forest belts they have not made satisfactory growth because the soil was not suit-
able.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Does the black walnut grow successfully in the colder parts of the coun.
try ?

A. Yes, for instance, Sir Henri Joly has some large walnut trees in his plan-
tation near Quebec.

Q. Are they found in their natural state in the colder parts of the country ?
A. They are not found in their natural state. But we have found things froi

Japan and British Columbia which are not natural to this part of the country, but
which will grow readily here the same as black walnut will.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Do you say that black walnut will not grow in this part of the country?
A. It does not grow naturally.

Q. It seems to me that where I live we used to split it into rails ?
A. What part of the country is that ?

Q. Middlesex county ?
A. That is not this part of the country. It grows in western Ontario cer-

fainly. But I am speaking of eastern Ontario and the province of Quebec.

By Mr. Broder:

O. I know somrîe people whc have planted one or two of these trees south
of here on the St. Lawrence, and they are doing well ?

A. Sir Henri Joly could give you his experience which has been most suc-
cessful. I do not know what the diameter of the trees is which he has grown,
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but they are large. White pine we have found growing well on gravelly soil and
on nearly pure sand and on clay loam, so that it grows on a diversity of soils. For
that reason it is one of the most valuable trees for the farmer to grow, because il
he has poor land, not available for ordinary crops, he can readily utilize it for this
purpose. Scotch pine is another tree that grows readily on many kinds of soil.
It is a faster grower than the white pine.

By Ar. Carsrallen :

Q. What is Scotch pine ?
A. It is a European pine known to botanists as Pinus sylvestris, and is used

a great deal in Germany and other countries. This is black cherry (exhibiting
sample). We are growing it in our forest belts. They have not done very well,
but I do not think they were healthy trees, because this tree when grown in tel
nursery did very well indeed. The paper birch and the yellow birch are two trees
which should be grown on the farm mixed with other trees, because they grow
on almost any kind of soil and are good trees to mix amongst the lighter foliaged
sorts.

By the Chairan:

Q. This is the dark birch of commerce ?
A. Yes, this is the yellow birch.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Do they require a dark moist soil ?
A. The yellow birch grows in the swamps and in moist soil. The other

grows on nearly every kind of soil. This is the sycamore (exhibiting sample),
which does not grow naturally here. It grows in western Ontario, but it is hardy
here.

By the Chairman:

Q. Does it make a better shade tree than the maple when grown separately ?
A. I have never seen any large trees of it here, but in western Ontario there

are some fine specimens. This is the butternut (exhibiting sample), which grows
on wetter soil than black walnut. It is doing much better on the same kind of
soil than the black walnut.

I want those members of the Committee who come from the west to allow
me to draw their attention to the Box Elder, which is grown so extensively in
Manitoba and the North-west. It is a very hardy tree and of very rapid growh,
but it is not a tree I would recommend for planting in this part of the country,.
except for cover purposes, that is, to protect more valuable trees in the earlv
stages of their growth. Here is a sample showing the growth made in 1a years.
Here is also a photograph taken at the Brandon Farn of an avenue of these tree,
there.

Q. Do thev sow then right on the spot in the west or transplant them ?
A. Both riZht on the spot and by transplanting. Here we find where

planting is carried on on a small scale it is better to plant young trees well and
you are sure of quick returns.
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SPACING TREES WHEN PLANTING.

Now, I want to refer to the principal reasons why trees should be planted
close. A great many people have the idea because they sec trees growing well in
sod that they do best there and require no further attention than to be planted
and allowed to grow. There are four or five reasons why trees should be planted
close, which have been demonstrated very clearly at the farm. The first is that
by planting close the farmers' expenses will be sooner lessened. Fron three to
five feet apart each way would be a good distance. By planting this way the
ground would soon be covered and no further care will be necessary until a nuin-
ber of years afterwards when you require to thin the trees so as to allow the better
trees to get ahead of the others The second reason is that by planting close the
side branches of the trees are killed off because thev do not get sufficient light for
healthy growth. As vou know, it is through their branches the trees (raw much of
their nourishment. By planting close the side branches are killed and the result is
the trees are made to grow in an upward direction and the energy which would
otherwise be expended in supplying the horizontal limbs is concenftrated in the
main trunk which by this means becomes tall an.d straighit. This is one of the
principal reasons why trees should be plianted close. The third reason is tiat the
branches will die quicker and timber will be formed free from knots. The branches
begin from near the heart of the tree and the longer they live and the larger they
become the more knotty will be the future tinber, and unless the lower branches are
killed the knot gets to be so large that the timber is injured, and to-day timber is
not so valuable because our forests are being thinned and there are more knots in
the timber. Here is a specimen of white pine which grew on the Central Farm'
in the open, that is, it was not crowded and it shows thick branches quite close to
the ground. If planted three feet apart each way those branches would be cleared
off in the early stages of its growth and clean timber would be formed.

The fourth reason why trees should be planted close is that it has the effect
of making a more upward growth. The result is vou get a long slin trunk, but
very few branches, and the tree makes a far more rapid growth than it would
otherwise. There is one more reason, and that is they are not so much injured
by storms. We have found where they were planted ten feet apart that the leaders
were destroyed by storms. The resuit is that the limbs are thrown out horizon-
tally and you have not the tall straight trunk which is so desirable.

By Mr. Martin:

Q. Do you plant young trees always with the same side to the sun or to the
north ?

A. We plant so many we never stop to consider that point. In planting a
great many it is important to get them in in a short time, and we never stop to
consider that. I do no think it important at all events.

By Mr. Broder :

Q. You never observed it?
A. No, we have never observed it. Here is a sample which shows the knot

getting into the timber.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Pine trees should be planted three feet apart, you say?
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A. I would not plant pine trees alone three feet apart, but intermixed with
other trees so that all would be three feet apart. I should plant box elder with
them so they would kill the side branches of the pine and force the trees upward.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. How would you do with shade trees?
A. I would plant them not less than 30 feet apart, and 40 feet would not be

too much for large trees. I prefer 40 feet, and then, if thought best, other trees
could be planted between them which could be removed later on. There is no
doubt that the best avenues and streets are injured by planting the trees too close,
and the resuilt is that you have an avenue which is not at all beautiful. Any gentle-
man who has been at the farm will see in the elin avenue the advantage of planting
trees forty feet apart. In a few years that will be one of the finest avenues in Can-
ada because the trees have plenty of room. For shade purposes it is better to give
them plenty of room.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. For maple or for any tree?
A. Any tree. The trouble with most people is they want to make a show as

soon as possible, to make a show in their lifetinie, and the result is trees are planted
toc close, and the future generations suffer from it.

By Mr. Broder :

Q. Would vou cut the top off the tree?
A. I would, in some cases, for shade trees, becaise they are more liable to

live, as by doing this it counterbalances the injury to the roots when transplant-
ing, but for forestry purposes it is better to plant them young and not trim them
at the top. I will pass around a few photographs illustrating the subject. On the
backs of them vou will find explanations.

By Mr. Talbot :

Q. Did you lose many at the Central Farm of your ornamental or fruit trees,
the winter before last?

A. No, we did not lose so many a year ago last winter as we did two years
ago last winter. We lost, then, a good many apple trees.

Q. Can vou tell the Committee how those trees were killed? Were they
winter-killed or killed in the spring of the year?

A. Mr. Craig's opinion was, he being in charge of the orchard at that time,
that the trees were injured because of the great lack of snow. You know that an
apple tree is very near the limit of its hardiness bere, and the result in this case
that the frost was so severe that the roots were killed.

O. At my place I lost a crab apple tree when there were two feet of snow
about it. It was killed the sanie as the apple trees?

A. Was it killed at the root or the trunk? Mr. Craiz took our trees out and
iade notes as to the causes and he founrd the injury was due to root killing. Your
tree may have been killed by some other cause.
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By Mr. MacLaren :

Q. Have you had any trouble with mice eating around the trees?
A. Yes, we have had some trouble with our forest trees, some of whicli have

been girdled by the mice. You can protect them by putting tar paper around the
trees, but to do that would require a great deal of time.

Q. I find many liedges eaten by them?
A. The best way to protect them is by poisoning the mice.

By Mr. Richardson :

Q. What is the life of the box elder?
A. I would not like to rely on the box elder after it is about 30 years of age.

0. Do you think the tree is good for that time?
A. I think the tree is good for that time.

By Ar. MacLaren :

Q. In the case of hedges, is there any systen you would advise to protect
them?

A. The best way to protect them, in my opinion, is to kill the inice. This is
done by nailing two boards together at an angle and placing then close to the
hedge, making a run for the mice. Under these place a mixture of 3 parts corn
meal to i part arsenic. The mice eat this and die.

M\r. IMARTIN :-In cases such as this with fruit trees we wash thiem with lime
and use a mixture of Paris green. I found it a siccess. It killed them before they
had eaten the tree.

By Mr. Rutherford:

Q. I noticed that the professor recommended the planting of box elder along
with pine trees. I would like to ask hin if the planting of deciduous trees with
pine trees and other conifers is not detrimental to the latter. If deciduous trees
get above the conifers is not the effect on the conifers very bad?

A. It is very injurious to the evergreens if another tree crowds thei. We
had a few cases in our forest belts where we did fnot cut out the stronger growing
trees in time and the less vigorous trees were quite destroyed by the stronger-grow-
ing ones. That is a point that anyone planting trees must be very careful about. If
vou allow the leader to be smothered out by another tree the consequence would be
the same as if you had tised a knife or a storm had broken off the top, and the
strength would he thrown into the sde branches. Eventually, the tree would die
if the others were not cut away. Pine and spruce suffer in this regard, pines more
than spruce, and cedars least of all. In recommending that system of planting I
did not mention at the tire that it is also the practice when this is done to go
throug1h the rlaitation and with your band or a briish hook cut off the top of the
box elder. Then von will have the box elder throw-in branches which crowd the
pines on the side and which are then bound to 0 rew rimhtl up. Another reason
whv these trees should be mixed is that insects which are iniiirious, sometirnes are
not so liable to muiltinlv. Sunnose thev feed upon the white pine thev would not
be so liable to zet from one pine to anotber as thev would 1-e if the whole planta-
tion were composed of that svecies of trce Tn that wav vou mav save many trees.
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By Mr. Richardson:

Q. Is it the box elder tree that is used so largely among the Mennonites in
Manitoba?

A. I do not know that for certain, but I should say that it is. It is there that
this tree is most largely used. We distributed a great many seedlings of this tree
from the experimental farms in the west. There was a report recently that the
poplars distributed by the farni out there were not hardy As a result of that,
Dr. Saunders wrote to some of the papers in Manitoba and the North-west
Territories telling them that this was not true. In consequence, he heard fron
Mr. Bedford, who said that he had received 130 applications for poplars within a
week fron the time this contradiction was made.

By Mr. Rutherford :

Q. In regard to what has been brought out by Mr. Martin as to the trans-
planting of trees where there is a prevailing wind from one quarter, I suppose your
attention has not been called to that particularly. It is a well known fact that
where the prevailing storms are fron one quarter the roots on that side of the tree
become stronger than on the other side, and I should think that in transplanting
trees of any of these species it would be an important matter to have the strong
windward root turned to the prevailing wind?

A. The tree is so small when it is planted in the forest plantation that you
could not tell which was the windward side.

Q. I quite understand your position on the farm, but when vou get into a
prairie country and transplant trees it would be well to keep that point in mind?

A. I am sure it would be.

By Mr. Martin :

Q. I find, if the trees are of any size at all, if in transplanting them you turned
the north side to the south, the north side would be exposed to the fierce rays of
the sun, whereas it had not been so exposed before transplanting. When you re-
verse the condition under which the tree has grown and expose the north side to
the fierce rays of the sun, the tree will take some time to accommodate itself to this
changed condition. I have always marked the north side by making a little slit in
the bark, and planted it in the same way when transplanting.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

W. T. MACOUN,

Horticulturist, Central Experimental Farm.
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COMMITTEE ROOM No. 46,
HOUSE 0F COMMONS,

WEDNESDAY, I8th1 May, 898'.

The Select Standing Comnittee on Agriculture and Colonizatinu met this day
at i i o'clock a.m.; Mr. Bain, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. A. G. GILBERT, Manager of the POultry lirancli at the Central Experi-
mental Farm, was called and addressed thc (onumittee as follows

. Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-Allow me to express the pleasure I feel in
again appearing before your Committee in response to your suinmions. As the
time is limited I shall, with your permission, briefly glance over certain features of
the work of the past year which bas been along the line of feeding reduced rations
and noting the effects, all with the view of instructing farmers in the way of obtain-
ing eggs from their laving stock, during the winter season of higL prices, at the
least possible cost, a matter of no small import. Surely we have learned sonething
during the past ten vears, and I note sone points, as follows:-

TREATMENT OF FOWLS.

I must confess to you that I am tired of hearing people say that it does not re-
quire much knowledge, no great skill or effort to properly manage poultry in winter
so as to obtain eggs from them during that period. As a iatier of fact, the feeding of
fowls so as to obtain eggs from them in winter is one of the exact sciences. It is so for
the reason that what will cause the more active and nervous birds of the Mediterra-
nean class, namely, Leghorns, Minorcas, Spanish and Andalusians to lay well will
make the heavier and more phlegmatic Brahmas, Langshans and Cochins of the
Asiatic class so fat that they will not lay at all. Again, past experience bas proved
that hens and pullets require different treatment. A pullet is a hn of less than
twelve months of age. The rations which would cause the pullets to lay well would
make the hens too fat to lay at all, or to lay eggs with thin or malformed shells.
Experience has shown that if feed enough is not given to hens, or pullets, of any
class, they will not lay; if fed too much, disaster follows. Experience bas also
proved that early chicks are desirable and that to have them very great skill is re-
quired in the treatment of the laying stock in winter so as to have early fertile eggs
from fowls which have laid steadily from November and have been confined, mean-
while, to limited quarters. Where fowls do not lay in the winter months, but begin
to do so in springtime, it is not so difficult. Poultry-keeping is one of the best pay-
ing branches of agriculture, but it is, at the same time, one of thc most difficult to
successfully prosecute in those portions of the country where the winter is more
rigorous than others. The situation seems to be that where the climatic conditions
make the procuring of eggs in winter a matter of skill, effort and good manage-
ment, eggs are scarce because difficult to obtain, and are consequently high in price.
Where the winters are mild and the lavers can run ont. where the obtaining of
eggs requires less knowledge, less scientific treatment. if vou like--in other words,
where it is comparatively easy to obtain eggs thev are chieaner. hecause easier to
obtain. Poultrv-raising to be successful requires the factor- skilful manneem-r.
i.e.. scientific management, patience, perseverance and unceasing energv. Tt will be
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at once seen, then, how important is experimental work along the lines of expert
management, so as to secure cheap production without sacrifice of the health of the
stock or lessening the output.

EXPERIMENTS WITH RATIONS.

Now, to glance briefly over the work of the past year. It has been noted, in
previous years, that the feeding of three rations per day, namely, morning, noon
and afternoon, appeared to be too fattening, and they were, in consequence, reduced
to two in number, and were fed only at morning and evening. I wili briefly describe
to you the modified rations, when fed, and in what quantities. Previously we fed
liberally of mash in the morning, with occasionally a ration of cut raw bones. The
modified ration was fed in the following way:-Three mornings of the week, cut
green bones. The raw or green boues were got from the butcher shop and were
cut up by a bone-cutting machine. The other three or four mornings a warm mash
was fed composed of shorts, ground oats, ground barlev, ground rye, wheat bran,
steamed lawn clippings or steamed clover hay, the latter cut into short lengths. The
lawn clippings or clover hay were prepared by placing the quantity of either-
thought sufficient-into a pot containing boiling water the night previous, and
allowing it to stean all night. The rnash was mixed with boiling water. Some-
times, for a change, boiled turnips or small potatoes, were miixed into the mash.
No noon ration was given, but vegetables or roots were kept always before the
fowls.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. What were those vegetables?
A. Mangels, chiefly, because thev are the cheapest.

By Mr. McGregor:

O. Cabbages do well?
A. Yes, but they are soon finished. The mangels corne in well later in the

season.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. You have a preference for mangels?
A. Yes, because they are cheap and healthful. Now, a most important point

is the quantity in whicli to feed the different rations. We have found that cut green
bone should be fed in the proportion of one pound to every 15 hens, and no more.
The mash should be fed in quantities of one quart to everv 20 or 25 hens.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Do you feed bone alone?
A. Yes, we feed that alone for a ration.

Q. Why have you done away with the noon meal, if you only give them bone
in the mornings?

A. I will explain that, with vour permission, a little later on. Permit me to
say here that I know the rations will appear small, but you will not think so when
I explain the reasons therefor. The afternoon meal was 20 pounds of wheat or
buckwheat, sometimes oats mixed, for 204 fowls. We used, last winter, Mani-
toba frozen wheat. What I was aiming at was to incite the layers to greater
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activity and to secure as much variety in the rations as possible, in order to prevent
the development of vicious propensities, such as egg-eating or feather-picking,
and to avoid the laying of eggs with thin shells, or without shells, at the same time
to have cheap rations.

PROVIDING EXERCISE FOR FOWLS.

By Mr. Broder :

Q. Do you allow the fowls to scratch for this grain?
A. Yes, we throw it in the litter that is always on the floor. I may explain

that one of the factors in the winter production of eggs is exercise, which we tried
to induce in the following nanner:-Inmmediately after the morning ration a few
handfuls of grain were thrown in the litter on the floor of the pens, so as to start
the hens busily searching for it. The aim was to keep the layers, for the re-
mainder of the day, so busy searching for the scattered grain in the litter, that their
crops would be gradually filled by the time they went to roost. This is certainly a
more natural way than allowing the fowls to fill their crops with grain thrown
on a bare floor, or into a trough. The afternoon grain ration was always fed
early, so as to permit of the search being kept up. The object of the light morn-
ing ration will now be evident. Had the fowls been gorged by the early ration
they would not have been inclined to exercise. Too much importance cannot be
placed on the exercise part of the winter management. Following the mash and
green bone in the quantity named, we fed lawn clippings, which were gathered in
June or early July, cured and stored away. The steamed lawn clippings were fed
about 10.30 or i1 a.m.

Q. Alone?
A. Yes; what we aimed at in the composition of all our winter rations was to

utilize as much waste as possible. Last winter we utilized waste in threc forms. As
you are aware the butchers frequently give away or throw away the raw or green
bones. Occasionally they are sold cheaply to soap makers or glue manufacturers.
The lawn clippings are picked off the lawns after the mower lias gone over them.
Manitoba frozen wheat may not be a form of waste here, but it is in Manitoba. I
have had letters from a number of farmers asking if Manitoba feed can be used for
hen feed. I think I may be perniitted to count the raw bones, lawn clippings and
Manitoba frozen wheat as three forms of waste.

By M1r. H enderson :

Q. Would good wheat be better than frozen wheat?
A. The Manitoba frozen wheat we fed last winter answered the purpose just

as well as any we ever used.

By Mr. Broder :

Q. What would it weigh?
A. I cannot say about the weight. We had a quantity of it on the farni. You

can see that my aim was to make the rations as inexpensive as possible, and. in my
opinion, a large part of the waste of a farm can be converted into eggs by feeding
it to poultry.
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By Mr. Calvert:

Q. Was that wheat shrunken ? What would it weigh per bushel ?
A. It was shrunken. I cannot tell you the weight; I am sorry I did not

bring a sample with me. All I mean to say is that part of the food consumed was
composed of this frozen Manitoba wheat. I am simply pointing out at present
the effect of not feeding a heavy morning ration. Allow me to again explain
that we threw a few handfuls of grain amongst the litter on the floor, after first
ration, in order to start the hens searching for it. If the hens had been gorged
at the morning ration they would not have been inclined for exercise, and, as I
have said, exercise is one of the important factors in the winter production of eggs.
By throwing a handful or two of grain in the litter on the floor, the hens which
a-e not overfed, will begin to search for it and thus get exercise. One immediate
result of the reduced feeding was that more vegetables were eaten and a great
deal more grit in the shape of oyster shells, &c. Another result was a decided
improvement in the health of the stock and an increase in the output of eggs.
We reduced the quantity of food in the fall of 1896, by one-third, and got an out-
put of nearly one-third more eggs, which all goes to prove that as a general rule
overfeeding is not profitable. I find from my correspondence and speaking with
farmers, that as a rule poultry are overfed in order to get eggs in winter. In fact
I am safe in saving that most of the poultry in the country are overfed.

Bv Mr. Henderson :

Q. Don't you approve of feeding early in the morning ?
A. Yes, as early as the fowls can see to eat in the morning.

Q. I misunderstood. I thought you mentioned ten o'clock as the proper
hour?

A. No ; that was in reference to the feeding of the lawn clippings.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. The great majority of farmers simply feed their hens what they grow 'n
the farms. What would you say would be the best kind of food under these cir-
cumstances ?

A. I would take the ground grains which grow on the farm and which farmers
have most in abundance, and make a mash of them, mixing in clover hay.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. On the farms, hens have more liberty than at the Experimental Farm?
A. Yes. I am talking at present about winter laying in those portions of the

country where an artificial life is led from November until March or April, and
where the rations have to be as varied as possible, for we must not forget to supply
material for making shell as well as the egg during the winter.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Would gravel or sand answer the purpose instead of oyster shells ?
A. Yes ; what is wanted is some kind of sharp grit ; broken delf is a good

thing.

O. The farmers cannot always get raw bones. Can yon not suggest a sub-
stitute ?
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A. I have heard from farmers at Institute meetings that horse flesh is as good
an egg-producing food as vou can get if care is taken that it is sound. At a
meeting in Glengarry a farmer told me that he fed sound horse flesh with great
success, and sold his eggs in Montreal at 45 cents a dozen. As you are well
aware, horse flesh is an article of diet on many of the bills of fare in the restaurants
of Europe. I am of the opinion that many of the egg-producing patent foods,
so liberally advertised, are composed of horse flesh. I am under the impressibn
that sore of the patent foods I have tried have been so composed.

By Mr. Rogers :

Q. Was it fed cooked or raw ?
A. I prefer to use it in cooked mash.

By Mlr. Broder :

Q. The danger in feeding animal food is that you give iem too nuch?
A. Yes ; if you supply it in the shape of prepared food the fowls will take

more than is good for them if allowed.

Q. What about raw meat ?
A. If meat is given to fowls in limited quarters in winter a good plan is 10

bang a piece of raw meat up and let them help themselves. The supply, however,
must be regular. Experience bas shown thaf if there is an intermittent supply, it
will lead to egg eating.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. It creates an appetite ?
A. Yes. It creates such an appetite that if not always gratified, egg eating

will follow.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. Would it not be well to give bone food with other food ?
A. Yes, there are different ways of doing so. But meat is one of the essen-

tials in the winter production of eggs in the colder parts of Canada. We prefer
giving cut bone because it supplies material for shell as well as the egg. Farmers
who live in the neighbourhood of cities and towns and are close to the best markets
for their products have opportunity to procure raw bones from the butchers, ovster
shells, &c. They can really afford to get these things and not mind paying for
them, because if the price of their food is a little higher they receive higher prices
for their eggs.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. I think you spoke of eggs having been sold for 45 cents a dozen. Do you
mean to say that they sold at a higher price on account of being fed on horse flesh
rather than upon ordinary food ?

A. I do not mean to say so, but the eggs were sold to a club in Montreal.

By Mr. Richardson :

Q. Would you think that a horse that had died and which had not been
killed would be wholesome food ?

A. No; the animal should be healthy.
205



Appendix (No. 3.)

Q. It would be rather expensive, would it not, to kill horses for the purpose
of feeding them to fowls ?

A. Old horses that are healthy are often sold very cheaply.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. You said there were three factors in the winter production of eggs ?
A. The three important factors are feeding cut bone or meat and soft food

in the shape of mash, vegetables or roots and plenty of exercise. Those are the
great factors.

CHICKENS.

In the rearing of chickens we find that overfeeding is practised, in too many
cases, and is generally attended with disastrous results. There were fewer rations
given to our chickens last year than ever before with the result that there was a
great deal less mortality. Those gentlemen who, are conversant with the rearing
of poultry well know that as a rule the mortality among chickens is very great,
and in many cases is due to overfeeding. We hatched out 196 chickens last year,
out of which number we lost five by crows and by ill-health only three, so that we
raised 188 out of 196 chickens hatched. If these chickens had not been properly
fed such a large percentage would net have attained their growth. I should add
that the food was never allowed to turn sour and it was never fed in an improper
state.

REARING OF CHICKENS.

Let us now see what development was made the result of having rations regu-
larly fed; and not in excess. I mention these points becat:se copies of my evi-
dence will go abroad, and I am asked so frequently so many questions by farmers
as to the proper rearing of chickens. Our first food to the newly hatched chickens
is stale bread soaked in milk and squeezed dry, or dry bread crumbs. That is for
the first day. A little at a time. Granulated oatmeal is added on the second or
third day, or may be given on the first day.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Oatmeal dry ?
A. Oatmeal dry or mixed with bread crumbs, but oatmeal in some shape.

By Mr. Semple :

Q. What about egg for them ?
A. I believe that many chickens are lost from being over-fed on hard-boiled

eggs. It is, however, beneficial to turkeys in limited quantity.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Young turkeys ?
A. Yes, young turkeys ; but in the case of chickens it is a nistake to give

it to them. It is very liable when fed alone to cause acute indigestion which is
followed by dysentery which generally kills the chickens. We have fourrd the best
feed to be stale bread soaked in milk and squeezed dry, enough for them to eat so
heartily as to allow none to remain.
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Q. How often should you feed little chickens ?
A. About once every three hours or so. Perhaps when they are inclined

to eat, but not in too great quantitv. Then, after four or five davs give a less ex-
pensive ration in the shape of a mash of corn meal (which on no account feed raw
as in that shape it leads to fatal results). Mlix with shorts or any of the ground
grains, first cooking it well. I think boiled food for poultry is hetter than the
opposite.

By Mr. Rutherford:

Q. You would scald it, and cover it up ?
A. Yes, in order to get it as well cooked as possible. More chickens die

from acute indigestion caused by improper food than froni any other cause. Feed
ing whole grain too soon is frequently attended by disastrous results. Grain or
cracked corn may be fed at the end of io days with good results.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Is whey from the factory good ?
A. Yes, in small quantities. I would mix it up with the food. I prefer milk,

'but if whey is given I would mix it up with their food but in very small quantity.
By not giving whole grain until 14 days we found that the chickens made better
development. I have some notes here of the development made by different
breeds. A Barred Plymouth Rock Cockerel made the most satisfactory develop-
ment. It was hatched on the iith of March, and when shipped on the 26th of
October following, weighed 7 pounds 5 ounces, representing a development of
one pound a month or a little over. Frequently I receive letters frum farmers
asking the names of breeds that will make rapid flesh development, and I have
always recommended Plymouth Rocks for the reasons that they lay well in winter
and are rapid flesh formers. We have never liad any difficulty in having chickens
of that breed weigh four pounds each, or eight pounds a pair, at the end of four
months. I would just ask vou to consider what improvement there would be in
the quality of poultry furnished to the markets of our cities, if farrners would onlv
keep poultry which would make snch flesh development.

CROSS BREEDING FOR DEFINITE PURPOSES.

By Mr. Douglas :

Q. Plymouth Rocks crossed with Light Brahma would be a good flesh cul-
tivater ?

A. No doubt. But with some poultry raisers that is a moot question because
the Brahma lacks in breast meat. It is a bird of a large bony frame which is very
hard to get flesh on while it is growing. In crossing aim at a result. For instance,
cross a bird with plenty breast with a bird that lacks in that respect. A Dorking
crossed with a bird that laclEs breast meat would answer very well. A Dorking-
Plymouth Rock cross is a good one. A Light Brahma cockerel hatched on the 3rd
of May weighed on November 2nd following, when it was shipped, 6 pounds 12
ounces, a very satisfactory increase.

By Mr. Richardson :

Q. You mean these birds were drawn ?
A. No ; they were sent away alive for breeding purposes from the Central

Farm. Then we have a Barred Plymouth Rock cockerel which weighed after
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being killed and plucked 6 pounds 4 ounces. A pair of such chickens would have
made a weight of 12 pounds and 8 ounces, and would have been quickly bought
bv any leading dealer in Montreal at 10 cents per pound, or $1.2o per pair.

RECORD OF EGG YIELDS FOLLOWING DECREASED RATIONS.

The following figures show the results of the reduced ration. The beneficial
result we contend is apparent in the increased egg yield. I will now compare the
egg yield of the months of November and December of 1894, 1895 and 1896 to
prove my contention :-

Year. No. of Hens. November. December.

1894 .......... .............. 185 114 538
1895 .......... ........... . 218 160 943
1896 .......... ........... ... 204 508 1,466

By MUr. Broder :

Q. That is for the season ?
A. That is for the months of November and December of the years named.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Can you give us the number of eggs for the season ?
A. Yes. I have the figures and may as well do so now as later on. I men-

tion the results for the months of November and December to show the increase
we attributed to the reduced rations. I will now give you the totals for the differ-
ent years named and which I consider is a further proof of my contention. With
204 fowls we had the following return in eggs :-

1893 ............ .............. ............. 8,931
1894 .............. ............. .............. 9,661
1895 ............. .............. ............. 11,452

1896 ............... .............. ............ 14,408

1896 is the year following the reduction in rations.

RECORD OF COMPARATIVE EGG YIELDS, BY MONTHS.

The egg yield of the whole year, as compared with that of the three previous
vears, will best show any beneficial results from the decrease in quantity of food.
The year is dated from the beginning of November of one year to the end of
October of the year following, for the reason that winter laying has usually begun
in November. The figures are as follows:

November (1893)........................... 90 114 160 568
December (1893)........................... 250f 538 943 1,4e6
January........ ........... ..................... 777 819 1,469 1,b91
February.... ............................. ....... 791 1,080 1,411 1,351
M arch............. ........ ...................... 1,644 1,387 1,569 1,668
April..... ............... ............... ........ 1,939 1,823 1,934 2,-39
M ay.................... ....... .................. i 1,650 1,603 1 1,699 1,846
June.......... ........................... ........ 1 1,066 1,134 1 897 1,190
Ju ry .............. ................................ I 941 456 1 682 859
August............. ........... .................. 386 438 1 395 736
September.......... .......... ................... I 236 246 1 143 655
October.......... ......................... ...... 161 23 I 150 339

8,931 9,661 11,452 f 14.408
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The figures for the months of November and December of 1893 are estimated,
as the record book could not be found, but they are not much out of the way.

The table shows a large increase in the output of eggs Li the past year as com-
pared with the three previous years. It is also an object lesson to the farmers as
showing:-

i. Eggs were most in supply during the period of high prices.
2. During the spring months of comparatively low prices there were eggs

enough to sell and hatch early chickens from.
3. The male chicks would be valuable as early birds for market. The pullets

would be valuable as early layers.
4. That with proper care and feeding fowls will lay well during the winter

season.

EGGS LAID PER DAY IN WINTER MONTHS.

The following is the production of eggs per day in the winter months named
and the price of eggs during that time:-

December, 1896.--38, 36, 31, 39, 43, 29, 40, 41, 45, 42 42, 42, 42, 48, 47, 46, 50,
47, 52, 54, 57, 45, 54, 55, 55, 45, 64, 6o, 52, 68, 55=1466.

January, 1897.-52, 61, S3, 53, 52, 54, 45, 57, 42, 51, 48, 46, 44, 50, 46, 53, 43,
49, 50, 42, 54, 50, 53, 47, 50, 54, 44, 54, 52, 40, 51=1540.

February.-45, 57, 51, 42, 46, 51, 40, 52, 48, 46, 50, 43, 47, 48, 44, 44, 49, 58, 48,
45, 52, 51, 45, 52, 46, 43, 51, 56=z1351.

March.-45, 60, 44, 59, 47, 54, 55, 54, 58, 51, 48, 57, 64, 47, 56, 44, 50, 50, 61,
43, 59, 51, 61, 53, 59, 50, 52, 55, 65, 57, 6o=1668.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. You account for the increased number of eggs by the difference in feed-
ing?

A. Yes, and by the increased exercise, the result of not overfeeding in the
morning.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. And better stock?
A. Yes, to a certain extent. The birds were also in better health.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. What is the average of the eggs per hen for the -eason?
A. You have anticipated a point I was just going to touch on. The output of

eggs for the year, from 204 hens, might seem a small one, but my experience of ten
years has corroborated a statement made by Mr. A. F. Hlunter, the expert poultry
breeder, and editor of "Farm and Poultry," of Boston. I read some three or four
years ago, with a certain amount of incredulity, an article in his paper in which he
said that if 40 per cent of his hens laid in winter and he sold their product in Boston
in winter at the highest price, that his hens would represent a profit of $2 per fowl
per annum. That statement I have proved to be strictly correct.

By Mr. Broder :

Q. That is 40 per cent on the whole lot?
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PROFITS FROM WINTER LAYING.

A. Yes, for the whole lot. The system of feeding which we adopted gave us
an output of 14,408 eggs for the last year named, 1896. If you go into these figures
you will find that that only represents sixty or seventy eggs per fowl per year. But
we sold the eggs from these fowls at the highest winter price and that was how we
made money. Again, there was a certain number of fowls that practically did no-
thing but eat the profit the others were making, which goes to show the extra-
ordinary margin of profit there is to the farmers of the country if they will onlv get
the eggs in the season of high prices and sell them to the best advantage.

Q. If they all did that the price would not be high?
A. Well, then, aim to reduce the cost of production.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Did you make an estimate of the cost of keeping these hens and the price
you sold the eggs at so as to ascertain what profit you made?

A. Yes, I quote from my annual report:
Eggs were sold, in Ottawa, from Ist to i5th of December, at 30 cents per doz.;

during the latter half of that month at 35 cents per dozen. In January at 30 cents
per dozen in Ottawa. A shipment of eggs to Montreal during that month brought
40 cents per dozen. The express charges for the case of 18 dozen eggs were 36
cents.

During February continued mild weather brought the price down to 25 and
20 cents. March, the prevailing price was 20 cents per dozen, declining to 18 and
15 cents per dozen.

COST OF DAILY RATIONS.

The cost of the daily rations fed to the laying stock, numbering 204, was esti-
mated at 41 cents, as follows:

Cents.

18 Ibs. of cut green bone, at i cent per lb.......... ...... 18
20 Ibs. of wheat, buckwheat, &c., at i cent per lb......... 2 o
Grit and vegetables................................... 3

41

To this should be added the time of the man in cutting up the bones by the
machine, sometimes half or three-quarters of an hour. It should also be stated that
buckwheat was mostly used for cut rations during the winter nonths. To offset
this is to be considered the worth of the manure, which a bulletin from the Raleigh,
North Carolina, Experimental Station, values at half the cost of the feed of the hen
for the year, but which we allow to go for the trouble of the farmer in looking after
and feeding his fowls.

When mash was fed it was composed of ground grains in such quantity as not
to exceed the value of 18 cents.

The allowance of i cent per lb. for the whole grain is liberal, for bockwheat
sold in the fall and early part of the winter at 22 and 25 cents per bushel.
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EGGS SOLD AT THE HIGHEST PRICES.

Having obtained the new laid eggs in the season of highest prices, the aim was
to dispose of them to the best possible advantage. With a little effort the best re-
sults were obtained. The following is en instance:-

On the 3oth of December, as shown in the above table, the greatest number
of eggs laid on any day in that month were collected, viz., five dozen and eight (68).
These eggs were disposed of at the following prices:-

5 dozen and 8 eggs at 35 cents per dozen............ $1 93
Deduct cost of rations............................ .. o 41

Proceeds of that day ....................... $1 52

But as that was the day of the greatest production, it is but fair to give the
average of the month, which was 48, or four dozen per day.

4 dozen eggs at average price of 33 cents per dozen ..... $1 32
Deduct cost of rations............................. o 41

O 91

The lowest figure represents nearly ioo per cent profit. But you say that these
calculations are based on exceptionally high prices. Let us take the lowest figures
in June of last year. One day in June, Mr. Alexander McLean, President of the
North Lanark Farmers' Association, came to me and said : " r. Gilbert, you
have been in North Lanark attending institute and public meetings during the
past three years with the result that there has, been such an increased output of
eggs that the price has gone down to 8 cents per dozen." This conversation was
in June. I said : "Why don't your people get their eggs in the winter time ? "
He said "We have not all got that far yet, but there are some who are doing
so now." "As things are," he added, "the bottom bas fallen out of the market,
there is no profit in eggs at 8 cents per dozen." When he was gone I went
to my book and turned over to the rations fed to the 50 hens that I was ordered to
keep account of by your Committee of Agriculture of 1896, and I found that we
fed the 50 hens in the winter for ten cents per day. I looked at the rations which
cost the ten cents, and found that they were composed of :

Cents.

32 pounds of cut bone at i cent per pound .......... 3 2
5 pounds wheat or buckwheat.................... 5
Grit and vegetables ................................ 1 2

1o

Fifty hens running at large would supply themselves with insect life, green stuff
nd grit which would be half of the ten cents, leaving five cents to buy five pounds

of grain. At that time four cents would buy five pounds of grain. So that lie
would have his dozen of eggs which sold at eight cents at a cost of only four cents,
a margin of roo per cent profit on the dozen. But 5o hens running at large would
lav more than one dozen per day. I have submitted the figures named to many
farmers, and they have all said that they were correct. The farmers do not look
at profit from eggs in summer in that way. But they should. I have given you
the results of experiments at high prices in one case and at very low prices in the
other. Mr. McLean, whom I afterwards met, was perfectly satisfied that I had
shown him that there was a profit in eggs at 8 cents a dozen.
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When I had the pleasure of being in Mr. McMillan's constituency some few
years ago, I met Mr. S. J. Hogarth, then President of the South Huron Farmers'
Institute. Speaking of the figures eggs brought in the cities, he said : "I have
stopped selling my eggs in Toronto or sending a further distance, because I find
there is plenty of money in eggs for me at' 20 cents a dozen which I can get in
Exeter in winter time. He had Leghorns and had got the cost of feeding down
to a fine point.

One more point I wish to mention as showing the development of the poultry
industry of the country, a great impetus to which has been given, during the past
year, by the completion of a system of cold storage by car and steamboat by means
of which poultry can be exported to the British markets, or kept in preservation for
home markets. In connection with the cold storage system and by direction of
the Honourable the Minister of Agriculture, and under the auspices of the Con-
missioner of Agriculture and Dairying, Professor Robertson, a new feature of
work was successfully introduced last fall and winter, namely, the exhibition of

ressed poultry accompanied by addresses of explanation as to how to kill, draw
and dress the turkeys, geese, duck's and chickens exhibited. Instruction was a'!3o
given to the farmers as to the best breeds of turkeys, geese, ducks and fowls for
them to rear and breed. Information was also given as to the best methods of
'hatching, rearing and feeding of the young. The specimens were dressed by an
expert in the most approved methods. Addresses in this connection were given
at Smith's Falls, Lindsay, Cornwall, London, Peterborough, Owen Sound,
Cobourg and other places. Some of these meetings were special while others
were the regular Farmers' Institute gatherings, and some of the exhibits were
given at the poultry shows. It was admitted on every hand that the work had
'been a new and important feature and an object lesson of great value to the far-
mers, their wives and daughters. In view of the development of an egg trade with
the British markets (where eggs in order to bring the highest price should be large)
instructions to our farmers in the way of keeping the breeds which lay large
eggs is most important and necessary. Our reports from year to year have given
this information. The farmers of Ontario mostly want hens that will give flesh
development and lay eggs as well. This combination is hard to get. It is some.
thing like getting the cow that is good for beef and milk at the same time. We
come as near to it as possible in the Plymouth Rocks and Wyandottes. In this
connection allow me to read a letter which I received in March last from M. J. H.
Stewart, of Antigonish, Nova Scotia, as follows:-

" ANTIGONISH, N.S., March 10, 1898.
"Mr. A. G. Gilbert, Ottawa.

" Dear Sir,-I don't think it would pay me to take the trouble of getting the
farmers into the way of raising poultry for the English market. As they have had
no experience along this line, it would take them a long time to get into the way
of doing the business properly. For my own part I would sooner see them get-.
ting into the way of raising more eggs of a larger size than they are now doing,
and it is to help them in this that I want to get the best breed of hens to start with.
If the farmers could get into a strain of larger eggs I would pay two
cents per dozen more for them through the season than what I pay for the
run of eggs they raise now. Last year was the most successful year I ever had,
in the English market. My eggs gave very good satisfaction. One firm that I
shipped 40,000 dozen to did not have to allow any off for shrinkage. If the far-
mers would only improve their stock so as to have larger eggs for sale and market
them fresh, dealers would pay much more money for them for the English miarket.
Anv pointers you can give me along this line will be thankfully received. Any
pamphlets you send us would do much good."
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I have laid these matters before you in a hurried and I am afraid somewhat
incoherent manner, but I know that I an laying thern before practical men who
'have an interest in the poultry development of the country, and some of whom
have been kind enough to take a personal interest in my labours. I am sorry not
to have time to-day to give you more detailed information in regard to such
an important subject as the successful breeding of poultry.

By Mr. Calvert:

Q. You say it costs 41 cents a day to feed 204 hens and that they produced
14,408 eggs ?

A. Yes, for the year.

Q. Then there would be 1,4oo dozen eggs at an actual cost of 12y 2 cents a
dozen outside of any profit froni selling chickens ; where does the profit come in ?

A. Forty-one cents per day is what we calculate as the cost of the winter ration
for 204 fowls.

Q. This figures it out 12½2 cents ?
A. I have not had time to give the whole output for the season. I have

shown the winter prices of eggs in the colder parts of the countrv.

Q. Is this for a portion of the season only, the 14,o)o?
A. No, for the whole year, but when eggs became cheap in tle spring our

effort was to turn them into poultry. We raised 186 chickens bcsides. And we
sold eggs for hatching purposes.

Q. What profit did you have in selling eggs and poultry?
A. We calculated that we made $1.75 to $2 a head last year.

By Mr. Broder :

Q. And the eggs sold at 35 cents?
A. Yes, sometimes 40 cents in the winter season.

By Mr. Calvert :

Q. Eggs sold here during the spring and summer at from 8 to 10 cents a
dozen?

A. Yes, I know, but if you recollect I have made a calculation from the farrn-
ers' standpoint. Walter Paul, George Graham, Gatehouse & Lamb and other firns
have written me letters offering 45 and 50 cents for eggs in winter. If farmers
would send or bring strictly fresh eggs in the winter to these firms they would re-
ceive the monev.

O. What quantity of poultry did you sell?
A. I could not say, at the moment. We sold a large number of cockerels for

breeding purposes last fall and winter.

Q. What did the fifty fowls in the experirnent cost you?
A. The cost of 50 fowls per day was 1o cents.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. All the vear round?
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~A. This was the cost per day in winter, but it was cheaper in summer when
we let them run out.

By the Chairman:

Q. Have you the year's aggregate cost of these 204 fowls?
A. No, I have not got it here, but our winter ration was more expensive than

our summer feed, when our hens ran at large.

The CHAIRMAN :-When vou revise your evidence; for blue book, just add
the items which make up the cost for the year. Then vou would have a basis upon
which to go.

By Mr. ICndcrson

Q. You sav you have reduced the rations very much. Do vou think it pos-
sible, with practical results, to reduce it still more-have you arrived at a minimum?

A. No, our efforts are all in the line of experimental work. I wanted par-
ticularly on this occasion to prove the satisfactory results following the reduced
rations.

Q. And you are under the impression that you have not yet found the mini-
mum feed?

A. No, but we have found that if farmers would only house their poultry
comfortably and feed them properly they would have a much larger margin of pro-
fit from their fowls than thev have now.

By Mr. McMillan :

O. There wvas one thing you did not mention as essential in the production of
eggs, and that is pure water every day.

A. Yes, pure water is very essential.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Do you keep turkeys of any kind?
A. No.

Q. Or geese?
A. We have got a few geese.

Q. Do you find them profitable?
A. They were not in the way we have kept them. They have been too much

confined to quarters. It was not intended to keep them for profit.

Q. Do you keep ducks?
A. Yes, a few.

Q. Are thev profitable?
A. From what data we have I am inclined to say that ducks are more profit-

able than any other water fowls in limited quarters.

0. Farniers in the west do best with turkeys?
A. Yes, but turkeys are rangers, and we have not the range. There is an enor-

mous trade done in turkeys throughout the country. When I was at Smith's Falls
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last December, 8o tons of turkeys went out on one train from that town and dis-
trict.

By Mr. Rutherford:

Q. I have been greatly troubled witli my hens in two ways; in the first place,
they do not set steady and then after the setting season is over they are very broody.
It may be some error in the diet. I think it is but fair to mention thaL they are the
Black-breasted Red Game?

A. They are sonetinies a hard breed to make steady setters; they are an erratic
sort of bird under any circumstances. They have a way of following their own
sweet will. It is a peculiarity of the game family. But I will tell you what we have
found that will apply to other breeds, and that is, if your fowls are steady winter
layers they will become broody early in the season. Farmers, as a rule, do not
have early setters because their hens do not lay in winter. , Under such circuni-
stances fowls do not get broody before they have laid their quota. By the time they
have done so, it is perhaps, late in the season. Early chicks should be the aim of
the farmers.

Q. I suppose the solution would be a good deal in the line of what you have
told us in regard to reduced diet?

A. Reduced diet, more exercise, more vegetables. In other words, making the
artificial life as like the natural as possible.

Q. Of course, in Manitoba, where I live, we have artificial life. We have to
keep the hens in six or seven months in the year?

A. We have to do much the same thing here.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. If Mr. Gilbert had time it would be interesting if he could give us the
results in regard to the different ages of poultry, because 1 amu convinced a very
large number of farmers keep their hens until they are too old. It will be an
interesting experiment to try?

A. That is verv true, and I will do so with pleasure.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

A. G. GILBERT,

Poultry Manager, Central Experimental Farm.
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SUMMARY OF WORK BY WILLIAM HENRY LYNCH IN CONNECTION WITH THE

IMPROVEMENT OF THE DAIRY INDUSTRY OF CANADA, 1881-1889.

First Stage, 1881-84.

Visits to the Provinces of Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia, New Brunswick and
Prince Edward Island, giving lectures, demonstrations of methods of butter mak-
ing, writing for the press, urging upon public men the importance of improve-
ments in order to secure the splendid market afforded by Great Britain. The first
agitation began in the Maritime Provinces. The first public address given was in
Albert County, New Brunswick, being an unexpected call for a stump speech at
a local fair, in the afternoon, which was followed by a lecture in the evening.

Agitation, later, among the Commission men of Montreal and Toronto, ac-
companied by public demonstrations of the comparative simplicity of the improved
methods of butter making.

Visits to the New York Experimental Station, Cornell University, and the
home of the late Professor L. B. Arnold, of Rochester, New York, and carrying
on experiments in milk and butter making.

Efforts at formation of Dairymen's Associations, district or county, and in
some cases provincial, in Quebec and Maritime Provinces.

Publication of "Scientific Butter Making," by the Ontario Government, as a
result of agitation in Toronto in 1882. Petition to Mr. Mowat for the Ontario
Government to take action. It included such names as James Hedley, and Ed-
ward Trout, of " Monetarv Times"; J. Ross Robertson, " Evening Telegram";
W. F. Maclean, Toronto "World"; G. MacLean Rose, President Board of Trade;
E. A. Wills, Secretary Corn Exchange ; Christie, Brown & Company, Biscuit
Manufacturers, and the Commission merchants.

Among the contributions to the press, were a series of articles on "Scientific
Butter Making " in the " Canadian Farmer," and a series of articles in the " Mone-
tarv Times " on the phases bearing upon the trade and export needs of the coun-
try. These articles were widely copied.

This work led directly to Government action by the Province of Ontario, and
to the establisEinent of a Government creamery, and to the incorporation of dairy
work more specifically into the institution at Guelph-the Agricultural College.

In the book "Scientific Butter Making" will be found extracts from the
press of that time showing how Mr. Lynch's work led up to Government action.
Mr. Lynch gave an address in the rooms of the Toronto Board of Trade, October
18th, 1882. Professor Buckland was Chairman of the meeting, and he officially
represented there the Ontario Government.

On November 1st, 1882, Mr. Lynch addressed the Board of Trade itself, by
invitation, and in the official minutes is found the following :-

" Mr. Rose, the President, then closed with a few practical remarks showing
the importance of the dairy interests to the Province of Ontario and the Domini an
at large, and urging both the Government and the people to encourage and sup-
-port the proposed reform in the manufacture of butter."

The Commissioner, Mr. Wood, sent for Mr. Lynch and after an interview
expressed his desire to take some action in the direction indicated. He advised
the writing by Mr. Lynch of a book on butter making, which was afterwards
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written and published as "Scientific Butter Making " ; and later, as a result of the
agitation, Mr. Wood took the further action already referred to.

The matter was also brought before the Agricultural and Arts Associations
of Ontarie. Mr. Henry Wade, the Secretarv, in the " Globe " of December 16th,
1882, refers to the situation as follows

f The only question about which there could be any difference of opinion was
as toc the best method of carrving eut so desirable an object. One plan is that
suggested by the HIonourable Mr. Wood, namely, the establishment of creameries
where instruction could be imparted free of cost to all who chose to attend. An-
other scieme would be the employment of an expert to travel througlh the couvi-
try educating the people upon correct principles of dairying, and giving practical
instruction. Now, the fact is that the opinion of the Council was unanimously
in favour of the Governrnent making an attempt to imuprove tie manufacture of
the butter made in the 'private dairies.'

The worl of these four vears culminated in the warmi interest takun at ()ttawa
by the rnembers of the Dominion Parliament, whiclh was the beginning of the
second stage of the movement, and which led up to the most important resuilt of
all-the adoption by the Federal Government of the new policy of aid to agricul-
ture, as expressed by the establishment, first, of the Experinental Farms, and
afterwards the Dairy Commissioner's office.

The Second Stage, 1884-8o.

This stage of the movement began with a request from niembers of the Ctmiii-
mittee of Immigration and Colonization that Mr. Lynch would give evidence be-
fore them, also with a proposition for the publication by the Dominion Govern-
ment of his book "Scientific Butter Making." The suggestion of this action came
from the late Mr. Trow, and the carrying out of the suggestion hingedti upon ihe
accident of that suggestion reaching Mr. Lynch, through Mr. J. H. MacLeod, the
Secretary, then and now, of the Agricultural Comrnittee.

Mr. Lynch was accompanied at the time by Professor Arnold, whom he had
secured as a personal favour to aid him in organizing an Association in the Town-
ships, and he promised Mr. Trow not only to give evidence himself but to prevail
on Professor Arnold also to return to Ottawa and to appear before the Committee.
This offer was greeted by the Committee with the utmost cordiality. To the evi-
dence then given ; to its enthusiastic reception by the Committee ; to its publica-
tion as a separate pamphlet called " Butter and Cheese " ; and, above all, to the aid
given by the members of that Committee to Mr. Lynch in all his future efforts,
was due more than to all else, the ultimate success of this dairy movement. Among
tie names are a number of gentlemen who are still members of the House of
Commons, and they have much reason to congratulate themselves on the results
cf their untiring efforts to accomplish what they realized, even then, as a work of
utmost importance to Canada. It may seem now a little thing to have accoin-
plished ; but it is always easy to be wise after the event. These members do not
need now to be told that it was no easy task to press upon the Government of the
day what it was then regarded as a new and untried policy. It was an advance
movement. Perhaps no country except Denmark had gOne so far as it was pro-
posed then for Canada to go, by these members of the Agricultural Committce.
When the Agricultural Committee took up the work here, our Department cf
Agriculture was confined in its operations to Patents and Immigration. It was
the settled policy of that day that the Provinces should attend to matters agricul-
tuiral. The effort made by the members of the House, was in conflict with that
palicy, and their action naturally met with resistance. And it was this movement
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supported by these members of the House friendly to the work of improving dairy
agriculture that broke into the old policy, and inaugurated the day of Experimental
Farms, and of a special Dairy Department ; and it was in response to the urgenc3
of these enthusiastic members that the late Sir John A. Macdonald was led to see
the advantages of the new policy and to decide upon its adoption by the Adminis-
tration.

" Butter and Cheese " was published to the number of nearly 70,000 copies,
in French and English. It became immediately popular for distribution by the
members, and within one year the Distribution Office reported the edition ex-
hausted.

Then followed the publishing of the book "Scientific Dairy Practice," which
occupied over a year in its preparation. It, too, was popular ; but it was with
much difficulty that any assistance could be obtained to cover the cost of its pub-
lication. It became a white elephant in the hands of the author and publisher.
In a letter to the Department (June 13th, 1887) urging the purchase of the book.
as asked by the members of the House, Mr. Lynch suggested two alternatives-
one was that the members might possibly purchase part of the edition themselves,
and the other was the somewhat strange proposition, to make a gift to the country
of the balance of the edition-nearly 100,000 copies. This was followed eventually,
however, by the placing in the estimates of the sum of $4,500 for the purchase -,f
a portion of these books.

There stifi remained many thousand copies unpurchased that were stored in
the Department. The demand for these books led to a rapid exhaustion of the
stock belonging to the Government and it happened that by some misapprehension
on the part of the officer in charge of the books, the distribution continued until
all the copies belonging to Mr. Lynch had also been given out, when the whole
edition was exhausted.

At this time Mr. Lynch received an invitation to go to England to address
the British Dairy Farmers' Association. He went in May, 1888, and afterwards
spent four months abroad, studying foreign systems of production, manufacture
and marketing, and the needs of the English market. The results of this visit
were given to Canada in a series of letters which were published in 1888-89, in
over 100 papers, English, French and German.

The fifth letter of this series (published December 27th, 1888) was a call for
a Dairvmen's Convention at Ottawa, for the purpose of effecting a permanent
Domnion organization, and bringing about Federal Government action. Mr.
Lynch in that letter pointed out that his study abroad and at home had taught him
that organization had been the most effective factor in the improvement of dairy-
ing, and nothing in his foreign visit pressed upon him more as a need here than
such organization as a Dominion. The main idea of organization was a combin-
ation of forces for legislative and executive work. He proposed, therefore, the
carrying out of the idea of a Government Dairy Bureau under the Department of
Agriculture, such as he had already agitated when giving his evidence before the
Committee.

These letters were followed up by a special call sent out over his own signa-
ture to the principal dairymen of the country, and to the organized societies fixing
the date of the Convention for the 9th of April, 1889.

The Convention was duly held and was largely attended not only by leading
dairymen from the different provinces, but by members and senators. The meet-
ing was very enthusiastic and fully endorsed the unoflcial action that had been
taken by Mr. Lynch in calling the Convention.

After orgariizing for work, the first resolution that was passed was one calling
upon the Dominion Government to appoint a Dairy Commissioner. Following
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this were two nominations for the office, one of the names proposed being that of
the pioneer and founder of the movement, Mr. Lynch.

This action of the Convention made it difficult for Mr. Lynch to accept the
nomination without placing himself in the delicate position of having seemed to
call a Convention to create an office for himself. Fearing, therefore, that his
acceptance of the office would thus jeopardize the chances of obtaining Govern-
ment co-operation, Mr. Lynch declined the nomination, and left the field open for
the other nomination.

So it happened that (though he had once refused office in another country
from an unwillingness to devote himself to the task of building up a competitur
with Canada) Mr. Lynch found himself under the necessity of refusing the office
at home that had resulted from his many years of work, and at the very time when
his work was about to have official recognition and to be carried on by the Gov-
ernment.

From the foregoing will be iad some glimpses of the task which Mr. Lynch
took upon himself when he entered upon this work, of the number of years de-
voted to it, of the effectiveness of his work, and of the unremunerated and it imay
be said thankless character of that work.

How far this work has been remunerative will be seen from the following
Professor Robertson, in writing to Mr. Lynch, ist April, 1890, said: " I recog-

nize you can never be fully repaid for your earnest and disinterested effort on be-
half of dairying in Canada."

How far this work has been remunerative will be seen from the following:--
The time devoted by Mr. Lynch to this task was about eight years-from

1881 to 1889. His income therefrom was very slight. For writing "Scientific
Butter Making " he received the sum of $150. This amount covered about half
the cost of his agitation of the subject at Toronto, his demonstrations there of
butter making, &c., covering a period of about four months, in 1882. The time
afterwards devoted in writing the book was therefore altogether without remuner-
ation.

To the work of writing the book "Scientific Dairy Practice," publishing it,
securing advertisements, making sales of it to the various Governments, the time
devoted was at least three of the eight years mentioned. In return he received
from sales of the book and for advertising, about $1o,ooo. Out of that sum he
had to pay for publishing 116,ooo copies, in French and English. A reasonable
amount to place as the publishing cost of the book would be about $7,000 for the
whole edition; leaving for his services for three years about $i,ooo a year. This
net return, therefore, practically covered his income for eight years of public ser-
vice, not to speak of the large expenditure involved in the expenses of travelling,
&c. Half of that net income was expended in the foreign trip in 1888 made at
his own expense and in the interest of the Dominion, and which resulted in the
Dominion Convention and Government action.

At the end of this period he was left with practically nothing for his services
for eight vears, and with a burden of indebtedness to others-to public-spirited
men who had assisted him.

For his four months' visit abroad and the large expenditure involved in the
publishing of his letters to the Canadian press and the working up of the Conven-
tion in 1889, Mr. Lynch received only the amount he had advanced in connection
with the expenses of the Convention itself. This was secured to him about a year
later, through the kindly efforts of the present Minister of Agriculture and Pro-
fessor Robertson.
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Agriculture and Colonization.

COMMITTEE Room No. 46,
HousE OF COMMONS

WEDNESDAY, 25th May, 1898.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this
day at ii o'clock a.m.; Mr. Bain, Chairnian, presiding.

The CHAIRMAN:-We have with us this morning the Deputy Minister of the
Interior, whom I have asked to give us a short review of the immigration work of
the Department.

Mr. JAMES A. SMART, Deputy Minister of the Interior, addressed the Com-
mittee as follows:-

Mr. Chairman,-As I did not fully understand the invitation I had frorn the
Committee I did not prepare any statement in writing to submit to you. However,
I may be able to give you a short outline of the work we are doing at present both
in the old country and the United States, where our work is being largely carried
on. In England, as the Committee is probably aware, our work is carried on under
the direction of the High Commissioner, whoý exercises a general supervision of
the work, conducts correspondence with the agents in Great Britain and Ireland,
pays the salaries and expenses, and also communicates with and directs the actions
of agents on the continent.

By Mr. Wilson :

Q. Does that only apply to England?
A. To Great Britain and Ireland.

Q. To the whole United Kingdom?
A. Yes, and also, I may say, to the European work, which is comparatively

small so far as agents are concerned, and bas not, up to this present, assumed verv
large proportions. We have now Professor Oleskow working in Austria. He is a
gentleman who, some years ago, came out to Canada and interested himself so
much in the North-west Territories that he encouraged the emigration of Galicians
to Canada, and as a result of his work during the last few yars 5,ooo or 6,ooo, in
round numbers, of those people have been sent forward. He has not sent all of
these, but mostly people of the better class, and through this class coming there bas
been an encouragement on the part of the steamship agents to forward those not so
desirable, perhaps, as those sent by Professor Oleskow.

Q. He is our agent?
A. He was not at that time, but he was appointed agent for Canada during the

winter. Up to that time his work was done without remuneration of any kind.
Since then we have engaged his services to send out the most desirable of those
people who can be found in Austria and who are willing to move. Since his
appointment we have had 1,200 or 1,500 of these people, and I understand a large
number of them are now in Halifax, detained there on account of one or two cases
of sinallpox. They will be detained in quarantine possibly one or two weeks.
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By Mr. Sproule:

Q. They are Russians?
A. No, Galicians.
We have in France two agents, Mr. Bodard and Mr. Fourcin who have for

the past two years been doing work. While they have sent out a few'the work
has not been so satisfactory as we would like. I do not know the reason. I
suppose it is very difficult to get French settlers from France. They d ) not mo'e.
The same reniark might apply to Belgium, although we intend making a greater
effort there in the future. What we know of the Belgians is so favourable that
wc would like to encourage them also to come. We sent two agents to Norway,
and Sweden, Finland and Denmark, last summer, to report on the prospects of
work in those countries.

By Mr. Hughes:

Q. Who were those agents?
A. One was C. O. Swanson, a Swede himself, and Dr. H. Walton Jones, a

nian educated in the University of Sweden, and a linguist speaking all the languages
necessary for these different countries. Their reports were really not satisfactory.
The conditions in Sweden and Norway were such that it was thought that no immi-
gration to any great extent would take place during the present year. Times are
better there than they were formerly, and there is a desire among the authorities
to discourage emigration in those countries. In fact, we cannot do open work in
either Norway or Sweden.

By the Chairman:

Q. Can you in Austria?
A. Yes. The Austrian Government is not averse to allowing this work to be

done.

Bv Mr. Hughes

Q. But they do not allow you in Norway and Sweden?
A. They do not allow us to do work openly, but we can do work quietly, the

same as in Germany. Last year a Bill passed the German Parliament which would
permit certain work to be done in the way of emigration, but Canada was not one
of those countries that the German Govemment favoured in this respect. They
preferred their people moving to South America, where German settlers have pre-
ceded them. Then we have an agent in Switzerland. He only left late in the fall
iast year and we have not had an opportunity of hearing much about that part of
the work. I think that completes the continent.

BY y S2Prcile :

Q. Have you any knowledge of the total number from Europe, from the
different countries who have settled in Canada ?

A. We had a statement prepared, but I cannot remember at the present
moment. (See Tables A and B.)

Ry Mfr. Wilson

n. Will it be in vour reoort?
A. There are figures there, but they are not complete, although they are com-

plete so far as we can get them 1 can have a return prepared and forward it to the
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Committee. We are working now on a better system of preparing these statements,
at least a better system of getting at the facts in regard to immigration to Canada.
As there is such a long border between Canada and the United States it is almost
impossible to arrive at the exact figures as to the number of people who cross to ail.
parts of Canada.

By Mr. Sproule

Q. What is the system you refer to?
A. In Winnipeg we are working a systeni by whici we will have the nuibe:r

of immigrants to Ml anitoba and the North-west, where there is 1he largest part eÀ
the immigration. We are working a double system, one with the railway conduc-
tors, who report every day the number of ins and outs, and we propose to take the
difference betweeni those who come in and those who go out; the difference will
be those who have settled in the country. (Sec Table F.) Tiere will be no ques-
tion of that, so far as the railwavs are con cerned, but we know a great many drive
,kcross the line. We hope, however, to get track of themi through the Customs
ufficials.

Q. You cannot give an idea of the number brought in last year?
A. No, I cannot give the total from memory, but I will furnish a statement to

the Conimittee. I can send it. (Sec Tables A to F.)

The CIAIRMAN :-It will go into te report when Mr. Smart revises his e\i-
dence.

By 3fr. Sproule:

0. The countries from which tiey- come aInd the classes to w 1hich thie b
A. Yes, that is recorded.

By fr. Hughes:

Q. Have yNou anv record as to thie coutry that iurnishes the bkst class of imi-
migrants, outside of Great Britain, for Manitoba and the North-west ? Howv do
immigrants of the Scandinavian race get along?

A. They have dn verV Wr1 : the Swedes have done very well, and the Ice-
landers are remarkabiy good sctler-s.

O. That is the second e eneation
A. And the first generation as wei.

By Mr. Sproiule :

Q. How do you find the Galicians?
A. In sone districts they have done very well as far as our reports of them are

concerned. Of course, a great nanv of them came without means.

Q. I see reports that say that many of them were in a most destitute condi-
tion?

A. We have been looking after them. When these reports came to the office
at Winnipeg our men were sent out immediatelv to look after them and care for
therm.
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By M1r. Davin:

Q. What was done about the Galicians at Yorkton? Early in the Session I
called the attention of the Minister of the Interior to the well-defined reports that
came from there as to their destitute condition ?

A. We sent out Mr. McCreary, the Commissioner of Immigration, to look
iito the matter and report. He said that the reports which came in as to the con-
dition of these people wcre much exaggerated. But there was some want and he
imîmediately provided what was necessary for tlhern.

Q. There is another question I want to ask you. I find in looking over vour
report-I am speaking from memory now--that out of about 1o,ooo immigrants
who came from Europe more than 4,000 were Galicians. A little over a thousand
were from Great Britain, and a very small number, indeed, from Ireland. I think
it is in Mr. McCreary's report. I want to ask you how you account for such a
number of Galicians coming in ?

A. I explained that before you came in. It was through Professor Oleskow,
who visited this country five or six years ago. Being grcatly taken with what lie
saw in the Nortli-west le went home and set about a movement for the immigra-
tion-of those people from Austria to the North-west. He encouraged the better
class of Galicians to emigrate, and later on the steamship agents took advantage of
the fact that a great many of these people lhad gone to Canada and that some of
them had apparently done fairly well, and induced a great many others who had not
so much means to emigrate. These latter are the persons who were in this unfor-
tunate condition at Yorkton and in other districts, and with which poorer class
Professor Oleskow had nothing to do.

By Mr. Hughes:

C. Thev are of the Teutonic race, are tlev not?
A. Yes, I believe so.

By Mr. Daviz

Q. What language do they speak?
A. I do not know what langnage they speak.

Q. Thev came fron that part of Poland annexed to Anstria?
A. Yes.

Q. I think they would speak Polish, would they not?

Mr. OLIv SR:-They speak a dialect of Russian which is entirely distinct froi
German or Polish.

By Mr. Sproidc:

Q. Is any effort made by the Department to keep out undesirable people?
A. We made an effort last year. We undertook to prevent persons who were

not possessed of sufficient capital from coming in. but we found that the restriction

was going to have a bad effect upon all immigration. From the reports made by
the Austrian Consul at Montreal, we feared that the Austrian Government would
not permit any further emigration, even of the better class of immigrants to leave
that countrv, and so we withdrew the restriction.
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Q.'It seems to me that it was the lowest class of immigrants-the paupers of
that country-that were sent in here?

A. When every steamship with immigrants aboard arrived we investigated, as
nearly as we could, the condition of these people. We made an effort to ascertain
the amount of capital that each of these emigrants had, and I think, from menory,
that the total amount of capital brought in by all the Galicians who came last year
was $6o,ooo.

Q. How ma-ny people were there ?
A. About 5,ooo people. Some of them had as much as $2,000 or $3,000 each.

Q. Did you decide to settle them in colonies by theniselves or mix them with
other nationalities?

A. We are settling them in different parts of the North-west.

Q. What was your object in mixing them up?
A. In the interests of the country it is far better to have them separated.

Q. I saw a statement that if they were not mixed with English-speaking people
they would starve to death, because they were living on charity, and a great many
isolated cases in support of this statement were cited. I think in settling them it
would be wiser to have them distributed so that they will assimilate with the rest of
the population?

A. That is what we have done. We have a settlenent at Stuartburn, east of
Winnipeg; another north of Stonewall, and a great many went to Alberta. The
first of the arrivals went to Alberta, and that encouraged others to follow them
there. We are sending some this year up the Prince Albert line. We sent the first
party the other day and the intention is to distribute these as much as possible.

By Mr. Davin :

Q. There is a Bill passing through Parliament now which has a provision
in it for village communities. That is not for the purpose of the settlement of these
Galicians, is it?

A. No, that suggestion was from English-speaking people.

Q. Now, reverting to the question I asked you before, I find in the report of
Mr. McCreary that some 10,864 immigrants came into Manitoba and the North-
west. Of these 2,373 were Canadians. Taking away the number of Canadians, you
have a foreign immigration of a little over 8,ooo people. Of that 8,ooo there were
4,363 Galicians, which leaves you a very large proportion of Galicians?

A. There is no question that that is true.

Q. There are only 1,519 English, 69 Irish and 205 Scotch. Of course, the
Scotch are amongst our best settlers. The Germans count only 520 and the Scan-
dinavians 474. We arc spending a large amount of monev. In Ireland vou have
a very elaborate staff, and 69 immigrants is a very small return?

A. We have only been spending money there since last April or May. That
report is onlv for the vear, and applies to arrivals at Winnipeg onlv. The best
immigration work done in the old country is from the 1st November up to the
spring, so that the work done last vear was really preparatory.
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By Mr. Hughes:

Q. Have you made any change in your system of assisting immigrants?
A. We do not assist immigrants at all.

Byi Mr. Davin :
Q. I just want to make this plain so that it will not go on the record incor-

rectly. The heading is " Immigrant Arrivals," and it is the arrivals during the vear
1897, and it comes down to December They number 10,864. That is for the
calendar year?

A.That is what I said, for Winnipeg, for the calendar year. (See Tables C and D.)
There was practically little or no work done in Ireland intil last spring. The
arrivals, altogether, for 1897 number about 20,000.

Q. Was not Mr. Devlin at work there?
A. No, it was really after the season for immigrants to move that he began the

work in Ireland.

Q. I hope Scotland is not being neglected. Two hundred and five from Scot-
land is very small?

A. Yes, it is indeed.

Bv Mr. Clancy

Q. I want to ask you if this gentleman who is encouraging the immigration
of Galicians is being paid anything? A large number are being brought in of what
is thought now to be a doubtful class of settlers, and it is a question whether we
should pay for them. I arn told by those who know them that they are not a desir-
able class of settlers?

A. There is a great difference of opinion with regard to that. Our Immigra-
tion Commissioner in Winnipeg, Mr. McCreary, while he says there are a number
(as there will be in any class) who are, to his mind, practically useless, the bulk of
them have the making of good settlers.

Q. I have information from a more reliable source, that is, from those who live
among thern and know their daily habits and are therefore better judges?

A. Well, they may improve.

Bv Mr. Hughes :
Q. Take the Irish agent. There were 69 people sent here last vear fron Ire-

land; I suppose these agents induced them to come. Have vou any record of
those who came through the efforts of the agents and those who came on their
own account?

A. Yes. we can get that. The agents keep lists of all the people they send.
Of course, other people may come through their efforts, but possibly not direct
enough to have it on record.

Q7. Is there any assistance given then through the Governnent ?
A. No ; the only reduction is in the Canadian Pacific Railway rates.

Q. Then the Government pays nothing, either direct or indirect?
A. We pay to the steamship companies' booking agents a commission of £i

on each passenger booked on the Continent, and 7 shillings for each passenger
booked in Great Britain and Ireland.
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Q. Does the railway get any commission on immigrants from the United
States?

A. No.

Q. I understand that some assistance is given in the North-west
A. There is, through the local agent. I will explain that later on.

By Mr. Clancv :

Q. A portion of the passage of the Galicians is paid the same as the others
through this bo nus system ?

A. That is to the steamship companies' booking agents.

Q. That is paying a portion of the passage ?
A. I think not. It is bonusing people to work in the interest of Canada and

i. applics to all tickets purchased by people whose destination is Canada.

By Mïr. Wilson :

Q. I have alwavs felt that is wrong
A. We do not pay it to the immigrant.

Mr. OLIVER:-I want to make a statement in regard to these Galicians. Tuc
facts are that the Austrian Government is willing to assist or allow emigration
from among the Galician population, whereas they will not encourage but will as
far as possible prevent any emigration of their German population. Therefore,
the immigration we are getting of Galicians is not emigration in the proper sense
of that word. It is deportation rather than emigration. Galicia was at one time
part of Poland, and was originally settled by these people of Slavonie race. They
do not suit the Austrian Government, not being sufficiently progressive, and the
Austrian Government colonized this province with German settlers from the Rhine
provinces. These are facts which I have obtained from the Germans at Edmonton.
Now, the Germans being settled in Galicia, alongside the Slavonic settlers.
have progressed and increased in numbers. The Galicians have also increas-
ed, and it came to a matter of crowding, so that somebody hd to get out.
The Germans began to get out, and having means they were enabled to do so. A
certain proportion of them came tc Manitoba and the North-west Territories and
settled at various points, and some moved to Edmonton. Along with them came
two or three of these Galicians. In Galicia the German farmers employ the Gali-
cians as labourers. When the Austrian Government saw that it was a question
of either the Germans or the Galicians getting out, they resolved to hold their
Germans. They sent Professor Oleskow on a prospecting trip to Canada. He
found these few Galicians at Edmonton contented and suited, and reported to the
Austrian Government ; and whether that Government gave any actual assistance
or not, it certainly gave its hearty blessing to any country to which the Galicians
would go. That is not a reflection on the Galicians. It may be a matter of race
preference of the Austrian Governrnent for its German subjects in preference to
the Galicians. The Committee will see, therefore, how in the first place we got
German and now Galician settlers. The Galician will work as anv other man will
work, when he gets hungry. The people are right down to bed rock. They
never had anything. That is their position, and if they ever get anything tbey
will be better off than thev ever were before.
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Mr. STENSON :-Are they not improving?

Mr. OLIVER:-They certainly could not help but improve if they exist at all,
because they could not go back.

Mr. RICHARDSON:-In other words they started with nothing and they are
holding their own.

Mr. ROGERS:-Maybe their labours will assist their efforts to get on.

Mr. OLIVER:-I do not dispute that, but they do not bring in adequate means
to enable them to properly commence life in this country.

Mr. SxrAT:-There are plenty of Canadians who went to the North-west in
that sane position who are now doing well.

Mr. SPROULE :-From what I can learn the North-west is being made a
dumping ground for this undesirable class of people, because the reports of their
condition show that these Galicians are subjects of the most abject poverty. Thy
were unprovided with sufficient clothing for that country, some of them were
living in buts and they were living in such a condition as to generate disea-e
amongst them. It appears from the reports of their condition that our country
was just being made a dumping ground for these people.

By MIr. Davin :

Q. The Dominion health officer at Winnipeg in his report dated ist January,
1898, says that these people were in a bad state from a sanitary point of view. On
the 21St December, 1897, there were in the isolated building in connection with
the Winnipeg Immigration Hall 148 cases, and at an earlier period a large numb
of them were quarantined for smallpox. In the Winnipeg General Hospital there
were 14 suffering from diseases such as erysipelas, abscess and inflammation ?

A. Does he say that they were Galicians ?

Q. That would be interesting to know ?
A. I think they were all classes. There would be a larger proportion of Gali-

sians than any other class because there was a larger number of Galicians then in
the Immigration Hall.

Bv Mfr. Hughcs:

Q. How do they compare in stature and general appearance with the ordinary
immigiant frorn the north and south of Germanv ?

A. I cannot say exactly.

Q. Are they short and stubby in stature ?
A. Most of them are short, stout, but strong-looking men. I saw a nunber

of parties of them going through to the west.

Mr. HUGHEs:-While these Galicians speak a Slavonic language they are fi
a Teutonic descent.

Mr. RICHARDsON:-Last fall I passed through the Dauphin country where
a number of these people are settled, and the general impression I got from them
was that thev were making some progress. In a number of cases they had cleare-d
land and had erected neat little houses. I was told that the young men were tak-
ing up the manners of the country and that the girls were intermarrving with the

230



Agriculture and Colonization.

-ettlers of that country. The feeling in the Dauphin country was that they were
naking progress.

Mr. SPROULE:-What about the Yorkton district ?

Mr. RICHARDSON:-I do not know anything about the Yorkton district ?

Mr. SMART:-These reports i iegard to the Yorkton district were grossly
exaggerated. From what we gathered, there was no grotnd for statements made
in soie of the papers in reference to that Yorkton settlement.

Mr. ROGERS:-As regards immigration of any kind it seens to mue that the
question has not been thoroughly dealt with by the Government in the past.
There may have been money spent íoolishly ; at aiy rate the resuilts we have hiad
from the money we have expendcd have not been what we would like. I should
like to state that I have been an employer of immigrant labour for the last 3o
years. I depend entirely upon hired help on imy fari and I have givei empiloy-
ment to nen who have coume with their fanilies fromn the old cotntrv. Somte f
these people had practically nu lknowledge ut fart ning ii the old country, bu' I
took great trouble to teach thiei. There arc over 6o families iii Untario to-day
that put in their first year or two on ny fari, aind niany of iliese faniiies are
worth considerable money of their own eariing. I know of on1e familv in particu-
lar in Kingston that is worth $6,ooo, and this is but one instance which cai hie
duplicated by immigrant families scattered all over Ontario. In regard t(o these
Galicians it is probable that they will grov il witih the oilntry and bec le-
sirable citizens. I went dowvn to the -ation to sec four train-ltcus, starting for
the West, and I was surprised at observingî. how brighit and healthylooking the
young people and children w ere amongst them. It will pay ns t4 bear witli th&nm
and to go to sufficient expense to give tier a fo othold in t1is cutrv. If ol-
experience with thiese people is the sanie a, it is witl Irish, Scotch anl Engli-h
immigrants, wtith whoi I have had to deal. we should endeav nr to encourae
thern until their families grow tp. What we want in tIis counitry are tiuscle anid
health. We nitst have these, and especially is fetale ielp desirale in le rural
districts. The fact of the natter is that one of the greatest difficulties that we
experience in the rural parts of Ontario is in getting melp tf any kind at -11.
Monev is well expended in assisting tliese newl arriedl imirtgrants ititilmte
are able to take care of themselves.

Mr. OLIVER :-I do not wisi to raise an iestioi as t4) tlhe personal quali-
ties of these people, but there is a question as to- wiether it is (esirablIe to brinîg mI
people whîo have no me-ans. I would like to say, in regard to whxat lr. Rogers
lias stated, that the position in the North-west is that wlen you bring in a large
number of people who have no ncans of their own and who depend upon thir
hired labour in order to live, unless the labour and wages are available for themt
they simply cannot live. That is the misfortune of soime of these Galicians. Whiîle
some of them have means thev have been followed by their relatives and friends
who have no means of subsistence unless they hire out, and it is difficult if not
impossible for them to get sufficient employient at remunerative wages in order
to live. That has been the case during the last year or two, and if a still large-'r
number of people in the same condition are brought in I do not see where the
are going to get the required employmîent to enable theni to live. I would say
Don't place a lot of people there wtiiout means and withiout opportunitv of earn-
ing means to go on their own places.

Mr. SPROULE:-Are a large percentage of them nlot living on charit
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Mr. OLIVER:-I do not say there are. A great many are on the ragged edge.

Mr. SMART:-Are any of them in the Edmonton district living on charity ?

[r. OLIvER:-There are some.

Mr. TIALBOT:-Is it not a desirable thing up in the North-west for farmers io
get cheap labour ?

Mr. ODL IVER:-So far as these people are concerned there is a full supply
there already. They have already exceeded the demand, and the probability is
they will still further exceed that denand.

The CHAIRMAN:-I would remind that these questions will more appropri-
ately comne up in the Hoiuse.

By Mfr. Sproule :

Q. How many agents have we employed in European or foreign countries?
A. We have to-day in Europe three paid agents, that is, on the Continent.

With regard to the Galicians,'I do not know what truth there is in the statement
made to me, but I will repeat it to the Committee in order to give vou an idea of
the character of some of these people, at all eveats. I think it was the settlement
placed north of Winnipeg, and it was given to me as a fact that in one case after
these people were settled on lands, one farmer and his wife, without implements,
except spade and shovel, dug up seven acres of land for potato-planting last year.
That shows that they are willing to work, and if that statement is onily half true, it
is an encouraging report.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. If they are representative of their class?
A. Yes, if they can be taken as representatives. We have three agents on the

Continent, Professor Oleskow employed only for the last three months.

By Mr. Clancy :

Q. Is he temporarily employed?
A. Well, there is no permanent arrangement. He is now employed on salary.

By Mr. Davin :

Q. Was he paid a commission before?
A. No, he received nothing for his work. He is given an advance of £500 to

carry on his work for the present year. He is not, I believe, employed by the
Austrian Government. I think he is a gentleman of independent means, and used
the sun advanced to cover expenses. His work is confined to Austria.

By Mr. Sproule :

Q. And this is the class he is sending out?
A. Well, he is sending Galicians. He says a great many have come in spite

of him. All the people he has sent are of the better class, and are possessed of
sufficient means to make a beginning.
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By Mr. Stenson :

Q. Does he send any other Austrians besides these Galicians?
A. Not that I know of. There will, no doubt, be sorne others mixed Up vith

them. The other agents are the two agents in France, Messrs. Bodard and
Fourcin. These are the only three agents on the continent who receive rernunera-
tion from the Department for their services.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Are there any in Norway and Sweden?
A. No, we sent two agents iast vear to ascertain thc prospects there, but found

that they were not very bright, so we did not incur anv further expense.

By Mr. Davin:

Q. Do they put any difficulties in ycur way?
A. In Norway and Sweden, yes.

Q. I know they do in Gernany?
A. It is just about the sarne in Norwav and Sweden.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. You have two in France and one in Austria?
A. Yes.

Q. How many have you in Great Britain and Ireland ?
. We have the High Commissioner, who is in charge of the work generally.

We have in Liverpool working in Lancashire and Yorkshire, Mr. Alfred Jury. Mr.
Griffith in Wales. We have our Liverpool office, with staff, Mr. Mitchell being in
charge, with assistants distributing literature and giving information.

By Mr. Davin:

Q. Have you the same staff at Liverpool?
A.Yes, except Mr. Dyke.

Q. Who is in Mr. Dyke's position?
A. There is no one occupying the sarne position.

Q. Does Mr. Jury not fill Mr. Dyke's place?
A. Well, he travels through the districts named and lectures. M\r. Mitchell is

really in charge of the office work. He was chief clerk before, and he has, I think,
two assistants. Their work is chiefly looking after the passengers and their
baggage; and besides that, furnishing literature, and so forth. In Ireland we have
Mr. Devlin in Dublin and Mr. Webster. who is alwavs travelling. I think his head-
quarters are at Belfast: and there is also Mr. O'Kellv in Londonderrv. There
thev are all working together, not in various districts.

Bv Mr. Hughes :

Q. Where did Mr. O'Kelly come frorn before he was sent over to Trelani?
A. T think he carne from Pembroke.
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Q. He came originally from the United States, did he not?
A. No, I think, originally, he was a land commissioner or something of that

kind in Ireland before he came to Canada, at least I understood so from himself.

Q. How many agents are there in Scotland?
A. Mr. Murray, in Glasgow, who has full charge of the work in Scotland.

By M1r. Clancy :

Q. Has the province of Manitoba or the North-west any agencies of their own
there?

A. No, I think not.

MWr. CLANCY:-The province of Ontario has one, 1 think, in England.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. Is that all in Scotland?
A. No, we have, besides Mr. Murray, Mr. Duncan, of Manitoba, who went

there last stimmer, and Mr. Grant, who was formerly with the Governor General
here. and, up to the first of this month, we had Mr. Fleming in Dundee and Mr.
Stewart in Inverness. They are all on salary.

By Mr. Davin :

Q. What salary do you pay them?
A. Mr. Murray gets $2,ooo a vear; he is in charge. Mr. Duncan get $ioO a

month; Mr. Grant, $ioo a month, and Mr. Fleming and Mr. Stewart-I an inot
certain-but I think they get the same.

Q. What salary does Mr. Jury get?
$i,8oo a year.

Bv Mr. Vi!son

. Ir. Devlin's salarv is about the same?
A. His salary is S2,ooo a vear.

By M1r. ughes

Q. Are these agents in Scotland commissioned to look after inimigratior :n
a1 parts of that country?

A. They go everywhere.

Bv Mr.Davin

Q. Do they get their expenses besides the salarv ?
A. Yes, thev get travelling expenses.

Q. What work does Mr. Grant do that you pay $ioo a month for ?
A. He goes through the districts of Scotland, under the direction of \Ir. Mur-

rav, visiting places from which information comes to the office of persons likely
to move. He also visits the steamship agents and keeps in touch with them. I
thNink lie is working in Forfarshire more especially.
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Q. How do you pay his expenses, so much a day or does lie give you
vouchers ?

A. They all give vouchers ; we have no daily allowances.

By Mr. Wilson :

Q. I notice by the Auditor General's Report that there is quite a lot allowed
for living expenses and for travelling as well ?

A. Yes ; Mr. Duncan and Mr. Grant are allowed all their expenses.

Q. Whether at home or not ?
A. Yes ; they are really supposed to be travelling al] the time.

By Mr. Clancy:

Q. Have thev their families there?
A. Mr. Grant has ; Mr. Duncan has not. Mr. Duncani is not there at pve-

sent although he is going back shortly.

B' Mr. Davic

Q. Do I understand that Mr. Grant travels with his family ?
A. There is only his wife, but her expenses are not of course allowed.

By Mr. Clancy:

Q. You made some reference a moment ago to the sums paid to steamship>
agents as bonuses. Does that apply to the persons who have means and are sent
direct by your agents?

A. It applies to all tickets sold to persons going to \llanitoba and the North-
west.

By Mr. Hughes
Q. At these reduced rates ?
A. Yes.

Q. If a man buys a full fare ticket does the agent get a commission
A. I do not think so ; but I can hardly answer that.

By MIfr. Wilson :
Q. I see that three of these agents had a trip through the North-west before

thev started
A. Yes ; that was before they started.

Q. Is that a usual thing ?
A. It has been since I have been here.

Q. I find the following accounts : Mr. Devlin, $206 ;Mr. Jury, $234 and
Mr. O'KellV, S238, for trips through the North-west ?

A. Yes.

Q. I presume they had passes ?
A. Yes, thev had passes ad ilthe sums named simply cover their living ~ex-

penses.
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By Mr. McLennan (Inverness):

Q. There have been agencies in Scotland in years gone by, have there not ?
A. There has always been an agency in Glasgow for many years. Mr.

Grahame was there previous to Mr. Murray.

Q. The results for the last year have been very unpromising ?
Mr. CHAIRMAN:-We have not much time left to devote to

branch, which is of very great importance.

Mr. McLENNAN:-This is an important branch also. I think
tion from Great Britain and Ireland is as important as we can get.

By Mr. Hughes :

Q. Do vou ever receive any reports frorn these agents as to
doing ?

A. Yes.

Q. You receive a weekly or monthly statement of the places
literature they distribute, and so on ?

A. Yes.

the American

that immigra-

what they are

thev visit, the

Q. While in the old country I was around a good deal and I did hiot get track
of one of our agents there, except that I happened to see Mr. Devlin, and I also
happened to see Mr. Jury in Liverpool. These are the only traces I got of any (f
our agents while I was in the old country ?

A. We have no local agents in England at all.

Mr. HUGHES:-I do not think these immigration agents make themselves
known.

Mr. OLIVER:-I had a letter froni Mr. O'Kellv saving that lie was sending
out a man with his wife and family who had $7,ooo.

Mr. HUGHEs:-From Ireland ?

M\1r. OLIVER:-Yes.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. I suppose these publications are distributed in Great Britain and on the
Continent?

A. Yes.

Q. You have been buying some newspapers ?
A. Yes ; we distributed a great many of these papers.

Q. Your report and the report of the Auditor General do not agree in refer-
ence to these papers ?

A. Il what way ?

Q. As to the numbers. I see in the Auditor General's Report the number
of copies of the Winnipeg " Tribune " is given as 15.000, while vour report gives
it as 3,300.
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By Mr. McLennan (Inverness):

Q. I notice that the headquarters of all those agents in Scotland are in the
cities?

A. Yes, they travel out from them, visit the fairs and all that kind of thing.

By Mr. Wilson :

Q. I find an entry in the Auditor General's Report of a purchase of 12,oo
copies of the " Globe," and in your report you say io,ooo?

A. Those were sent to parts of the United States.

By Mfr. Sproilc:

Q. What literature are you distributing for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the country?

A. The High Commissioner bas authority to advcrtise and ptblislh anything
he may think desirable in the interests of emigration at any tii-e. We also send
fron this side sacks of anything published here. We have published a hand-
book this vear, and, in fact, different kinds of literature published in varions lan-
gua ges.

By MIr. Hughcs

Q. Have you received aniy suggestions from the Higli Commissioner recently
in the way cf immigration ?

A. We receive suggestions all the time.

Q. I mean in the way of getting people to write home?
A. Oh, that has been done all the time. One systen adopted is to get the

agents at Halifax and Quebec to interview all immigrants as they arrive to get the
names of their friends in the district from which they corne and who wc think miglit
be induced to move, and then we send literature to those.

By Mr. Davin :

Q. Would you send us specimens of the literature-I mean the renbers of
the Committee; will you send me some?

A. Yes, but if we sent each member of the Cornmittee it would make a large
number, and they are in different languages.

By Mr. Hughes :
Q. Would it not be a good plan, where a colony is established and doing we!l

to induce them to write to the local newspapers in the locality frorn which they
corne?

A. We are doing that all the time. We are trying all these things.

By Mr. Hurley :

Q. Do the Governent assist these children who are sent out here to the
Marchmont Home and other homes in Ontario?

A. There is a system by which the Government pay $2 a head to a certain
class of these people. I cannot give you the precise particulars off-hand. They are
inspected at Liverpool before being allcwed to sail and a medical certificate is re-
quired in the case of eaci one.
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Mr. HURLEY:-There is no doubt there is an improvement compared with
those that used to come, and they are very desirable now.

By Mr. Sproule :

Q. In regard to your immigration from the United Kingdom, taking the ex-
peuditure, there seems to be an expenditure of nearly $30,ooo to bring out 8oo
immigrants. Does it not appear that they are pretty costly to us ?

A. A great deal of the work and expenditure is always in prospect.

Q. And never realized?
A. Well, it may and it may not be.

Q. Then you intend to continue the work on the same lines you are following
to-day?

A. In the old country we are arranging for a different plan of advertising. We
have adopted a system in the United States which, if we can adopt in Great Britain,
will be a great improvement. We are using the newspaper press in the various
lc>calities. For instance, there is one agency called the Wesern Newspaper Union
Agency, of Chicago, which publishes 2,600 papers each week, having a combined
circulation of 1,175,000. During the present year we have had in that an adver-
tisement calling attention to Canada, and also a local notice, costing us, on theý
average, about $1 each. Altogether we have advertised in this way in about 6,oo

papers, with a circulation of fully i,ooo each. I went myself to the office in
Chicago and looked through their lists, and I came to the conclusion that there
was no better means of advertising, possible, than this. In this connection I may
say in regard to return from this advertising that we received in the latter part of
the winter and in the early spring 1,ooo letters a day from the United States asking
for information. That plan has not been adopted in Great Britain, but we hope to
secure something similar to it.

Q. That is a plan in contemplation?
A. Yes.

Q. Do you keep up the same agencies?
A. We have made a few changes in the agencies, but this question has not

been decided for the next year. Our work begins in the fall for the following year.

O. Yes. but there was work going on last fall that ought to bring results this
vear if we are to have any benefit from it?

A. We will know that this year. I rnay say in regard to immigration that all
immigration work is largely experimental. We have to try everv possible means
and plans must be changed continually to get at the results. After all, immigra-
tion work is not schenes and plans so much as actually getting people, and we are
attempting to get them in every possible wav we can at the least possible expense.

Q. The reason why I refer to this is that for several years it lias seemed to be
the sense of this Committee and of the House that the amount of money that we
were expending for bringing in immigrants was out of all proportion to the returri.
That amount has been cut down vearly until a couple of years ago when the
amount was increased very much. Now the question is whether we are going to
get resuilts sufficient to justify that increased expenditure?
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A. It may be that you do not spend enough to do the work as thoroughly as
it should be done. I believe that this expenditure is necessary to carry on the work
effectively.

Q. The present expenditure for immigration is $127,438, and the question is
whether we are getting a return for that expenditure?

A. I think $130,000 was the vote in 1896 for immigration.

Q. We have this year 1,519 English immigrants., 205 Scotch and 69 Irish?
A. Certainly, so far as Winnipeg is concerned, but the returns we have this

vear are most encouraging for the efforts that have been put forth. I have not the
exact figures with me, but there has never been a year in thie history of the North-
west since 1882 when there has been as large a number of people going in as during
this year. (See Table E.)

Q. It seems to me that it would be desirable in the interests of the Committee,
so as to enable them to report their observations to the Honse, that that informa-
tion, as far as it could have been available, should have been before the Committee.
The season is getting pretty well advanced for bringing in immigrants, and if von
have returns up to a late date it would be well that the Committee should have
them?

A. I thought it possible that the Minister might refer to the matter himself in
the Hlouse: that is the reason I did nîot bring any figures in regard to it.

Q. It would be desirable information for the Committee, because if thev have
any recommendation to make. it should be based upon certain information?

A. If vou think it advisable I w-ill add that to the report. (See Tables A to H.)

Q. As to the pamphlets that are being distribiited it sceec to m1e that wC
should have information as to these.

Mr. CHAIRMAN:-It was agreed ihai Mr. Smart should snd Sanples to the
Committee.

Mr. SPROULE:-I take exception to that, because when thev are sent here there
is no one to give us information as to the cost of these pamphlets so that the Com-
mittee may have an opportunitv of expressing an opinion when thev niake Up their
report. We will have no time to investigate the details so as to give an inteligent
expression of opinion upon them. I do not so nuch iblamne Mr. Smart becrause le
has never been here before and lbe did nut know what were the lines which had
been followed in the past, but this is ore of the lines in regard to whiclh the Con-
mittee are entitled to get information so as to be enabled to judge intelligentl- of
what is being donc in rference to European and foreign immigration.

Bv Mr. T'ilson :

Q. I would like to ask whether -Mr. Devlin is allowed a living allowance
besides his salarv?

A. Not in Dublin.

O. Do anv other of these Irish agents have a living allowance ?
A. Thev are travelling all the time.
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Q. These are travelling all the time and get an allowance ?
A. Yes.

By Mlfr. Dazn :

Q. You get the vouchers ?
A. Yes ; these come through the High Commissioner's office and we examine

them.

Q. I think in 1875 a great fraud was practised on the Government in that
way. Bills were sent in for travelling that had never taken place at all.

By 11r. McLcnan (Jinverness):

Q. Don't you reasonably expect that the work of these immigration com-
missioners, particularly in Great Britain and Ireland, will be facilitated during the
present year owing to the fact of the more satisfactory condition of affairs in re-
gard to education in the province of Manitoba than in past years ? Don't ye
think that it will be a great incentive to people to go to that province ?

A. It lias been asserted that the condition there prevented Roman Catholic
immigration. That, of course, is a matter of opinion.

Mr. McLENNAN (Inverness):-As a Roman Catholic I say at once that it was
a deterrent and a strong deterrent. For my part, if I had a family and I intended
to emigrate I am sure Manitoba would be the last place on this continent I would
go to, and I consider owing to the better conditions there in regard to educa-
tional matters that there is a niuch better prospect. I am watching with keen
interest the result.

Mr. DAVIN:-I think this attack on the Minister of the Interior is out of
order.

By Ar. McLennan (Inverness):

Q. It is no attack upon the Minister of the Interior, but it is bearing out the
policy of the Deputy Minister of the Interior and the Government that employ
him. There is a more satisfactory condition of affairs in regard to immigration.
Is that not the way you understand it?

Mr. SMART:-I think so.

Mr. CHAIRMAN :-These are discussions which properly belong to the House
of Commons and not to the Committee.

Mr. McLENNAN (Inverness):-I think they are proper to the Committee,
because the matter is one that bears directly on immigration.

Mr. CHAIRMAN:-I think we should have a summary of the system in a gen-
cral way which has been followed in inducing immigration upon the American
side.

Mr. SMART:-We have paid agents with headquarters at Detroit, Chicago,
Omaha, St. Paul, Stephen's Point, Reed City, and Bad Axe. Reed City and Bad
Axe are in Michigan.
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By Mr. Sproule :

Q. How about Illinois?
A. The Chicago agent has Illinois and Indiana. Omaha covers Nebraska;

Kansas City covers Kansas. These are all the paid agents we have now. That
is, they are all paid salary.

By Mr. Davin:

Q. What salary do you pay them ?
A. They are paid different salaries. Mr. McInnes, in Detroit, gets $i,500 a

year. All our literature is sent to him and distributed by him to the various agents.
Mr. Grieve has $i,200 a year; Mr. Caven at Bad Axe has $900 a year; Mr.
Broughton at Chicago has $9oo a year.

By Mr. Sproule :

Q. That is Mr. Grieve who used to be a member here ?
A. Yes ; he is at Reed City, Michigan. Mr. Bennett in Omaha gets $900;

Mr. Crawford in Kansas City $900, and Mr. Davies at St. Paul $i,500. There
are two ini St. Paul, in fact they both work from that office. The other one gets
$i,2oo a year.

By 11r. Wilson:

Q. What does Mr. Grieve get ?
A. $1,200. Then we have Mr. Swanson who travels.

Q. He gets travelling expenses, I suppose ?
A. Yes. I may say in connection with travelling expenses that we have en-

deavoured to make arrangements with railway companies to cover as much as
possible transportation over their lines for our agents, and with some lines we
have succeeded very well in getting transportation.

Q. You allow your agents so much per day?
A. No ; we allow them actual expenses.

Q. Do von make a maximum beyond which they cannot go ?
A. No ; we do not.

Q. The old Government used to ?
A. No, not latterly, I think. At one time they allowed $3 or $3.5o a day.

Q. You would be careful not to allow them too much ?
A. If they have to travel we pay their expenses. They have to certify that

the money was disbursed and that it covered actual expenses while travelling on
Government business.

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Have vou agents in the eastern part of the States ?
A. Mr. Swanson, a Swede, travels largely through the Swedish settlements,

and does very well. He is the same gentleman who went to Sweden last summer.
He gets $i,500. Mr. White looks after the agents generally and the advertising.
He gets $1,800. He travels all over the States.
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By Mr. Sproule:

Q. And Mr. Swallow, is there an agent appointed recently in his place ?
A. He is at Watertown, South Dakota. In addition to these agents we have

a number of land guides in the North-west who work during the spring and sum-
mer there and are sent to various parts of the States to work during the winter
months.

Q. What about Mr. Ritchie ?
A. He is paid $900 for expenses and a commission, the same we pay to

all sub-agents. Every agent is permitted to appoint a sub-agent who receives a
commission of $3 for each man and $2 for each woman, and $i for all others.
Mr. Ritchie gets allowance for expenses and the commission.

By Mr. Davin :

Q. Three dollars for each man ?
A. Yes, for each settler ; and $i for each child. We have two or three in the

same way. Parker, at Duluth, gets $25 a month and a commission. His $25 a
month allowance was done away with on the ist.

By Mr. Sproule :

Q. Broughton, Illinois, what does he get ?
A. $9oo.

By Mr. Davin:

Q. $9oo salary?
A. Yes.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. And Caven, what does he get?
A. $900.

Q. And Crawford, of Kansas?
A. $9oo.

Q. Then there is T. O. Currie?
A. He gets $1,200.

Q. Is that all your agents?
A. All except a few.

Q. What about Daly?
A. He is not employed.

Q. Miss Dass, is she employed?
A. Yes, she is a clerk in the office at St. Paul. Then we have the Reverend

Father Morin, who works in the Eastern States, who is paid $800.

By Mr. Wilson

Q. Have you any ex-members of Parliament except Grieve employed as immi-
gration agents?
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A. I do not think so. And we have Father Brousseau, who is paid $5oo.

By Mr. Davin :

Q. These are for repatriation?
A. Yes, and we had until recently Father Corbeil, but during the last few

weeks we have appointed Father Blais in his place. Then we make a grant to the
Colonization Society of Montreal for that work of repatriation.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. How much?
A. In round figures, about $3,000 a vear.

By Mr. Talbot :

Q. In connection with the Lake St. John Railway?
A. That is another thing. We gave a grant last year of $8,00o to the Lake St.

John Railway for repatriation.

By Mr. Sproule :

Q. Was there not a vote to Father Somebody for the Lake St. John district;
it seems to me there was something in the supplementary estimates?

A. I do not think so. Then Father Paradis was employed for a number of
vears establishing a colony at Verner on the line between here and Fort William;
he gets $600 a year.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. Have you an agent in St. Paul named Davies; is he a relative of the Min-
ister?

A. I think lie is a half-brother.

Q. What is his first name?
A. Benjamin.

Q. What is his salary?
A. $i,500. Now, these agents visit certain localities within a certain district,

as far as they can go, appointing sub-agents, who inform them when thcy know of
any person likely to move wanting information and the agent immediately for-
wards the information to the parties, and if they are induced to corne through the
efforts of a sub-agent lie gets a commission.

Q. How much is lie paid for commissions?
A. Not a great deal. Ritchie, of North Dakota, last vear received $1,200, but

that is as much as was paid to all the others almost.

By Mr. Sproule :

Q. Have you information as to results; how long has this work been going on?
A. We began last March, that is a year ago last March, with three agents, and

during the year these other agents have been added.
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Q. Then you have no specific resuits from the work so far?
A. No; of course we have a record.

Q. What has been the result, speaking generally?
A. It is turning out very well, so far. The last return gave us something like

i,8oo people as having moved from the States.

Q. Last fall?
A. No, this spring.

Q. Is it the intention to continue the same aid to these children who, were
brought into the country, the Barnardo Home children, and so forth?

A. Do you refer to the homes at Belleville and St. Catharines and Peterboro?

Q. Yes?
A. Whether it is the intention to continue the assistance in future as in the

past, I cannot say. That is a matter of policy for the Government. There has
been no suggestion so far.

Q. It is just rnning on the sane as before?
A. Yes.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. Have you any idea of what the immigration from the United States has
cost?

A. I cannot say now.

Q. The result has not been very heavy; 712 is all you report?
A. That is for last year. I may say in connection with last year's work, every-

thing was withdrawn so far as the agents were concerned up to March or a year
ago, so that anything accomplished last year was siiply from March, and not from
any previous effort.

Q. Prom the information you now have, are you getting good people from the
United States?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you getting a desirable class of people?
A. Yes, this work is very encouraging. We have been getting a great many

and we have spent some time and a little money in encouraging delegates to go
through the country and report. In every case, so far as I am aware, the reports
have been very favourable.

Q. That policy was pursued by the late Government, was it not?
A. I do not know, I am sure.

By Mr. Davin :

Q. You found a great deal of this work under way vhen you came into office?
A. Certainly there was money being spent.
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Q. And there were agents all over the United States?
A. I think there was only one agent when I came here, Mr. Daly, I think.

By Mr. Wilson :

Q. I think they havq laid off agents generally. I know there was Captain
Holmes who was laid off and not put on again.

By Mir. Davin :

A. You spoke about agents doing work in the United States. Do you know
anything of Mr. Rankin, of Regina. Where is he now?

A. He is now in St. Paul. He went down to Kansas.

Q. Was it by your instruction he described himself, when he went to Kansas,
as from Manitoba?

A. I never heard of that before. In connection with our agents in Canada, I
may say it has been the policy of the Department to do everything possible in the
way of encouraging people after they come here. We felt that that was one large
part of immigration work that was neglected, to some extent. We employed sev-
eral people to properly represent to persons coming here the conditions of the
various districts, to look after them, and to send then to the districts in which they
had decided to locate. There is no question about it that this part of the work is
important because the people are better satisfied, and I an sure the results will be
satisfactory.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. I see you have agents at Brandon, Calgary and Dominion City?
A. These men may come under these names, but they all travel.

Q. Here is W. Braun, of Brandon?
A.There is a building at Brandon, and he is in charge of it.

Q. B. Hogg, I see, is the caretaker. C. W. Spears, agent?
A. He travels.

Q. Is he the man who was a candidate for Brandon and who dropped out for
Mr. Sifton?

A. He dropped out for Mr. McCarthy.

Q. Where does he travel?
A. Al over the United States in winter time.

Q. He just goes wherever he likes?
A. No; wherever he is sent. Mr. McCreary has full charge.

Q. What does R. Alexander do?
A. He is no longer employed; he has not been employed for a vear.
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By Mr. Davin:

Q. Why was he dismissed?
A. He was intelligence officer. We did not put anybody in his place. We

have nobody but a caretaker at Calgary now. His office was practically abolished.
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TABLE A.

Showing sex, destinations and nationalities of the immigrant arrivals at Halifax,
St. John, N.B., Montreal and Quebec, for the years indicated.

A rrivals.

M ale adults.. . ........... .... ............ .... .. .................
Fem ale adults.......... . ...... ...... ..... ... ... ......... ........
Children under 12, male. ................ ..... ...... .........

do fem ale.. .. ............. ... ... ..... ... ......... .

Total .......... ... ..... .. ............

Jiestinatiofn.

For United States-
English..... ........... ... ................. ....... ....... ...
Irish .......... .......... ............... .... ................
Scotch........................... ........ ......... .....
Germans............ . .. ............................... ...... ..
Scandinavians ........ .......... .. .............
French and Belgians..... .....................................
Others. .... ... .... .... ....... -. .. ....... .......

Total ...... . ... ............ ........

For Canada-
English.................... ...-.......... ...............
Irish ... ........ - -........... ... . ..... ........... . ... .
Scotch .... ....... ..................................
Germans.. ......... .. ......... .......... . ...
Scandinavians........... ...... ·...·.... ............... ....
French and Belgians.......................... ..... ..........
Canadians ..... .... ........ ............ ............... . ·...
United States citizens ...................................... .....
Others..... .......... ..... ................ ... ........ ... ....

Total.. ..... .... .... . ........... . .... ..

1896. 1897.

13,151 12,842
6,740 6,944
3,021 3,786
2,566 3,497

25,478 27,069

1, 752 1,375
68 48
57 38

892 595
2,661 1,523

25 23
3,188 4,163

8,643 7,765

10,156 9,393
886 751

1,342 1,239
644 636
788 718
762 740
317 484
38 28

1,902 5

16,835 19,304
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TABLE B.

Showing sex, destinations and nationalities of the immigrant arrivals at Halifax,
St. John, N.B., Montreal and Quebec, from ist January to 30th May in each
year following:-

1896. 1897. 189K

Arrivals.

Male adults .................................... .. .... 
Female adults........... ........ ..................... ...
Children under 12,1nale.... .... ........... .

do fenale. .... ... .... .... ...............

Total... ..................

hestin(tions.

For United States-
English .. ...................... .... ..........
Irish. ............... .............................
Scotch...................... ..... .... ......... .......
Germans.... ............. ......................... ...
Scandinavians .. ................ ........ ..... ..
French and Belgians...... . .. .. . ....... .. .. ....
Others.... ........ ....... .. ...............

Total .... .................... . ..

For Canada
English ... .... .... ... ..... ........ ...............
Irish....... . ... ... ......... .... ............. . ..
Scotch...................... ....... .. .............
Gernians................. .. ............. . .... . ....
Scandinavians...... . . . ........ ........ . ........
French and Belgians. .......... .... . .. ....... ....
Canadians...... ......... ............ . .-.........
Tnited States citizens ... .... ...... ,....... .. ....
Others. .............. ... . ... ............... ......

Total .... .............. ........ .....

6,437 5,709 7,407
2,252 2,462 2,705
1,074 1,590 1,606

848 1,399 1,488

10,611 11,160 13,206

71
2

123
1,24

1,02

3,27

4,68
36
52
25
35
35

4
1

73

7,33

5 423 611
8 16 51
6 3 24
4 281 259
1 718 775
9 15 6
4 1,187 1,556

7 2,643 3,282

1 3,728 4,339
3 237 298
8 402 536
3 290 251
6 281 368
8 331 285
0 201 475
8 8 82
7 3,039 3,290

4 8,517 k 9,924
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TABLE C.

Showing destinations and nationalities of immigrant arrivals at Winnipeg in the
two years indicated.

I 1896;. I1897.

A rrivais.

From Eastern Canada.... ... ........... ................... ..... 249 2,579
do United State..... ............ .......................... ... .608 1,295
do Europe.. ........ ............................................ 2.963 6,990

Total ...... . ... ......... ....... . ..... . . ..... 3,820 10,864

Ontario...... .... ........... .............. .......
Manitoba..... ,77 .................. 2,
North-west Territories .......... ......... .. 939
British Columbia . . .............. ........ .......... ............ 9
U1nited States.............. ............ .. . .. ............. .......... .... ....

Total .......... ........................... 3,820

N2ationalities.

English ...... ................... ........ . .. ............
Irish............................. ........................ ....
Scotch..... . . ................. ... .........
Gernans.. ................ .. . ..... ...........-...............
Scandinavians .... ........ .......... .-...................
French and Belgians ..... .. .......... .. .....
United States ................
Canadians .... .... ........ -.... ...... ... .. ...................
Austrians and (alicians.... .-.... ............ ............
Others . ............ ..... .... .................

543
1 -3

,004
442
352

25

904
94;

Total .. ....... ........ .. ......... 3,820

122

:3,655s
1,01l3

24

10,864

1,519
69

205
520
474
383
712

2,373
4,363
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TABLE D.

Showing arrivals, destinations and nationalities of immigrants arrived at Winni-
peg, from Ist January to 3oth May, in each year indicated

1896. 1897. 1898.

Arrivals.

From Eastern Canada........... .,.. ............. .... . ..
do United States........ ........................... .
do Europe ...... ......... ... ................ .. .......

Total .. . ... .. ......................

Destinations.

Ontario................................................
Manitoba.............. ... ...... ...... ............... ....
N orth-west Territories................ ................... ....
B ritish Colum bia. . . ..... ............................ ....
Y ukon... ..... ....... ... ..............................
United States...........................................

Total...... .........................

Nationalities.

English........ .. .............. ..... ............... ....
Irish...... ... ...................................... ...
Scotch............. ....... .....................
Germoans....,.......... ....... ........ ........ .... .......
Scandinavians .... ... . .... .... ...... .... ... ........
French and Belgians....... ....... .............. ....... ...
G alicians ....... . ....... . .......... ......... ... ......
Canadians ................. .. . ........................
United States.... ... ......... .... ............... ...
Others. .... ........................... ................ .

Total...................... . ....... .

113 59 9,098
297 380 2,553

1,299 3,389 5,044

1,709 3,828 16,695

. . ..... . ............ 30» 1,128 2,831 5,637
534 932 4,152
47 64 3,827

. .. ... .... ... ... ... 2,835
1 214.... ....... 12 4

. 1,709 3,828 16,695

316 272 1,908
6 ........ 120

31 28 336
. 374 169 372
. 230 179 231

215 191 193
308 2,731 2,307
173 99 8,899

il 94 2,020
45 65 309

1,709 3.828 16,695
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TABLE E.

Showing total immigrant arrivals at Winnipeg, from 1882 to 1897, inclusive.

Year.

1882.... ..... ....................
1883.. .............. ....... ....
1884.......... ...... .........
1885...... ........... ...........
1886.... .... ..... ....... ....
1887.. ... .. ....... . . ... . ....
1888..,.... ............. ............
1889............ ................

Nuinher.

5,947
6,385 s
3,706
4,656
4, 13o
3,512
3,387
3,252

1890......... .. ....... ... ..... .
1891.......... . . .. .. .. .....
1892................ .......... ..
1893...................... ... ....
189 4. . .. . .. .. . ... .... . ... ... . .. . ..
1895...... ..... ........ ... .. ....
1896. .................. .
1897..... . .. ... ...... . ...

TABLE F.

Railway passengers to and from Manitoba and the North-west Territories, from ist
January, 1898, to 3oth May, 1898, both dates inclusive.

Inwards >Outwards
to from

Manitoba Manitoba
and North- and North-

west Territories. west Territories.

C outts ......................
Portal .... . ... . . .......... ........ ............
G retn a. .... .... . ...................... ........ . ... ........
Emerson, Canadian Pacific Railway ... ............. .. ..

do Northern Pacific Railway ........................ ... . ...
Ingolf................... .. ............ ...... ................
L aggan ....... .... .............. ..... ........ .... ... ... .

Total ..... . ............ ........... ... .....

Balance inwards .... ............ .... ..... ..

469
;, 23E;

1,261
13

3,874
32,462
10,342

54,657

468
3,426

983
31

2,877
10,304
20,853

38,942

15,715

r\unfbeI.

1,999

6,970
7,071
4,839
3,G38~
3,820

I0,86;4
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TABLE G.

Dominion lands homesteaded, and nationalities of settlers-Canadian and foreign-
making entries, in the vears 1896 and 1897.

Number Nuimber
of of

Entries, Entries,

Canadians fron Ontario.................. . ... .. ...... ...... ..
do Quebec ..... .... .... .... .. .........................
do Nova Scotia, ... .............. ............... ......
do New Brunswick...... ... ... .... ..... .................
do Prince Edward Island..... .... . .... ...............
(o British Columbia........ ....... ........... ..............
do M anitoba .. ...... .. ... ......... .. . .. ...........
do N orth-west Territories........ . ...................... .....

Persons who had previous entries ........... .......... ........
Canadians returned froin United States..... ...... ....................
U nited States citizens..... ............................ .............. . .
Newfoundland ........ ............ ................................
E nglish.... .... .. ... ....................... .... . .. ... .... .... ...
Iris......... .................. .... ............................
Scotch ............ ........ ......... ......... ... -............. ....
French . ........................................ .. .. ..........
Belgians .. .........................................................
Italians............................... ................. ..........
Austro-Hungarians.... ............... ........................ .......
Roumanians.. ....................................... ................
S w iss. ... ....... .. ......... ... ... .. ... .. ............ ... .....
Hollanders ........... .. .... .................. .... ............. ....... .....
Germans..... .......... ................. .. ..... ....................
Danes, other than Icelanders.... .. ............................. ..
Icelanders .... . .... ...... ...... ............. ...................
Swedes and Norwegians....... .. ............................. . ...
Russians, other than Mennonites and Poles............ ........ .........
Mennonites ....................... .... .... ........
Poles. ............ ............. ... ............ ... ........... ....

Numnber of entries....... ............ ............... 1

Nationalities.

1896. i 1897.

309 455
32 75
11 10

5 8
3 9
4

187 119
19 25

570 703

385 396
48 54

142 164

278 300
39 33
72 83
64 5o)
17 15
2 1

83 358
1

44 100
4 6

14 9
7 23

69 69
4 23

12 12

,857 2,406

Number of soils......... .......................... 5,556 7,404
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TABLE H.

Dominion lands homesteaded, and nationalities of settlers-Canadian and foreign-
making entries from ist January to 3oth May, in each vear indicated.

Nationalities.
Numiber

of
Enitries,

189W.

Canadians from Ontario ......... .... .............
do Quebec.. ...... ...... ...... .. ......... .
do Nova Scotia... ..... ....... .............
do New Brunswick.. ..
do Prince Edward Island .... ....
do British Columbia..... ........
do Manitoba. ..... .. .. ....
do North-west Territories ...

Persons who had previous entry. . ..........
Canadians returned from United States ..
United States citizens ........... ....
Newfoundland........................ ..
English ...... ......... .
Irish........... . ... ...................
Scotch -.......... . ............ ........
French .. ....... .............. .........
Belgians .......................... .......
Swiss ... .... ..........
Hollanders ..... ....... ..............
(ermans...... .... .. .. ........ ...
Austro-Hungarians .... ..
D anes ...............
Icelanders ... ...... ......... ............
Swedes ano Norwegians ....................
Russians ........ . .............................
Mennonites . . ............. ............
Poles. .......................
Italians .
Romnanians . .... .............................

Number of entries. ........ ..

Number of souI ........ .......

123
17

3

42

903

158~
19

s;'

117
12
3;

14

17
34

7

3

770

2,3<;);

of
Etries,

18~97.

163

52
'4

13

121
13
20

:1030
104

3

7

54

2,505

of

3-)
35
14

3

2<

241
70

20

17

174

30

17I

.1

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

JAS. A. SMART.

Deputy Minister of Interior.
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RECOMMENDATIONS BY THE COMMITTEE.

The following resolutions were adopted by the Committee as recommenda-
tions for the promotion of the agricultural interests of the Dominion:-

No. 1.-TO TAKE DOWN EVIDENCE.

Moved by Mr. Sproule, seconder] by Mr. Sutherland,-" That the Committee
ask authority from the House to employ a shorthand writer to take down such
evidence as they may deem proper."-Adopted.

COMMITTEE Room 46,
3rd March, i898.

NO. 2.-TO PRINT A SPECIAL ISSUE OF THE DATRY COMMISSIONER'S REPORT FOR

1897.

Moved by Mr. Sproule, seconded by Mr. Talbot,-" That the Committee
ask the House that it be authorized to have printed, in the usual numerical pro-
portions in English and French, one hundred and fifty thousand (150,000) copies
of the ' Report of the Commissioner of Agriculture and Dairying, for the Domin-
ion of Canada,' for distribution, this proposed number including the copies neces-
sary for use at the Department."-Motion adopted.

COMMITTEE Room 46,
22nd April, 1898.

No. 3.-IN REFERENCE TO BILL NO. II.

Moved by Mr. McGregor, seconded by Mr. Rogers,-" That Bill No. i i,
'An Act to amend the Criminal Code, 1892, with respect to cruelty to animals,' be
reported to the House without any amendment, no further action being contem-

plated this Session."--Motion adopted.

COMMITTEE Room 46,
6th May, 1898.

The following is a copy of Bill No. ii (1898)-read first time 9th Februarv,
on motion of Mr. E. G. Penny, M.P., Montreal.

Referred by Order of the House to the Select Standing Committee on Agri-
culture and Colonization, I7th March.
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No. 11.) BILL (1898.

An Act to amend the Criminal Code, 1892, with respect to cruelty to animais.

H ER Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Com-
mons of Canada, enacts as follows -

1. The Criminal Code, 1892, is hereby amended by adding the followIng section
thereto immediately after section 512 :-

" 512a. Every one is guilty of an offence and liable, on summary conviction before
two justiees of the peace, to a penalty not exceedlng fifty dollars, or to three months'
imprisonment wlth or without hard labour, or to both, who-

" (a.) without belng a duly qualified veterInary surgeon, or a student duly quallfied
and admitted to study and skilled in veterinary surgery, acting in the presence and un-
der the supervision of a duly qualified veterinary surgeon, docks, nicks or pricks, or un-
dertakes to dock, nlck or prick the tail of any horse, by any method or means ; or

" (b.) causes or knowingly permits this to be done by a person other than those men-
tioned in paragraph (a) upon premises of which he is the owner, lessee, proprietor, or
user ; or

" (c.) assists in or is present at such cutting.
" 2. If the horse Is found with Its tail so cut, and with the wound resulting from such

cutting unhealed, upon the premises of any person other than a veterinary surgeon or
student as aforesaid, such facts shall be prima facie evidence that the person who occu-
pies or has the use of the premises on which such horse is so found has commItted an of-
fence against this section, unless It Is shown that the cutting was doue by a qualified vet-
erinary surgeon or by a veterinary student acting under his direction.

" 3. Every veterinary surgeon and veterlnary student who docks, nicks or pricks a
horse or mare shall keep a record thereof, and of date of such operation, and the sex, col-
our, markings, breed, age, height and any special mark whlch may serve to identify the
animal, and he shall give a copy of such record, signed by hlm, to the owner of the ani-
mal."

No. 4.-TO ASCERTAIN THE COMPETENCY OF PARLIAMENT TO ENACT BILL NO. 83.

Moved by Mr. McMillan, seconded by Mr. Sproule.-" That the Chairman
obtain advice of the Department of Justice, as to the competencv of the Parlia-
ment of the Dominion to pass this Act."--Motion adopted.

COMMITTEE RooM 46,

27th April, 1898.

No. 5.-TO OBTAIN THE OPINIONS OF THE CLASSES OF PERSONS INDICATED IN

THE RESOLUTION FOLLOWING AS TO THE MERITS OF BILL NO. 83.

Moved by Mr. Parmalee, seconded by Mr. McMillan,-" Whereas it appears
desirable to obtain an expression of opinion from the salesmen of cheese factories
and creameries, the Presidents and Secretaries of Dairymen's Boards of Trade and
of Dairymen's Associations, the exporters of cheese and butter and others directly
interested, on the Bill No. 83, entitled 'An Act to prohibit improper speculation
in the sale of butter and cheese':-It is resolved, that the Clerk of the Committee
be instructed to send a copy of the Bill and a circular to those persons, as per
attached forms."-Motion adopted.

COMMITTEE RooM 46,
6th May, I898.

The following is the Bill referred to in above resolution No. 4, which
was introduced by Charles Henry Parmalee, Esq., Member of Parliament for

258



Agriculture and ColonizatioL

Shefford, Quebec. on 17th March, 1898, and referred bv Order of the House to the
Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization on the 30th March.

No. 83.) BILL. (1898.

An Act to prohibit improper Speculation ln the Sale of Butter and Cheese.

ER Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Com-
mons of Canada, enacts as follows :-

1. This Act may be cited as Butter and Cheese Sales Act, 1898.
2. This Act shall come Into operation on the first day of January, 1899.
3. Every one who, by hlmself or through the agency of another person, (a) sells, or

(b) offers to sell, or (c) agrees to sell, or (d) agrees to offer to sell, any butter or cheese
which at the time such sale, offer or agreenent is made, has not been manufactured and
is not his property or the property of some person for whom he is duly authorIzed to act,
Is guilty of an offence, and liable, on summary conviction, to the following penalties :-

(a.) For a first offence, to a fine not exceedlng five hundred dollars or imprisonment,
with or without hard labour, for not more than three months, or to both such fine and Im-
prisonment ;

(b.) For a second, and any subsequent off ence, to a fine not exceeding one thousand
dollars, or to imprisonment, with or without hard labour, for not more than six months,
or to both such fine and imprisonment.

4. Any pecuniary penalty hereby imposed shall, when recovered, be payable one-half
to the Informant, and the other half to Her Majesty.

5. The Governor in Council may make such regulations and appoint such officers as
he considers necessary ln order to secure the efficient operation of this Act ; and the re-
gulations so made shall be ln force from the date of their publication in the Canada
Gazette or from such other date as is speclfied in the proclamation ln that behalf.

6. Nothing herein shall be deemed to prohibit any person who is duly authorized to
act for the person or persons who supply mlik to any dairy or butter or cheese factory,
from selling, or offering to sell or agreeing to seil, any butter or cheese to be manufac-
tured at such dalry or cheese factory or butter factory.

FopMs ADOPTED, No. 1.

SELECT STANDING COMMITTEE OF THE HOUSE OF COMOlNS
ON AGRICULTURE AND COLONIZATION.

HOUSE OF COMMONS,
OTTAWA, 6th Septenber, 1898.

SIR,-I an directed by the Chairman of the Select Standing Connittee of
the House of Commons on Agriculture and Colonization, to inclose you here-

with a copy of a Bill introduced to the House of Commons by Mr. C. H. Parmalee,
M.P., and intituled: " An Act to prohibit improper speculation in the sale of butter

and cheese."
The Committee has resolved that it is desirable to obtain an expression of

opinion from the salesmen of cheese factories and creameries, the Presidents and

Secretaries of Dairymen's Boards of Trade and Dairymen's Associations, the ex-

porters of cheese and butter, and others directly interested.
I have been instructed to send you the inclosed sheet and copy of the Bill,

and to request that vou will answer the questions, also add any remarks vou may
desire to make, under the head of " Rernarks," and return it to me in the inclosed
envelope, or one similarly addressed, at your earliest convenience.

I have the honour to be, sir,
Your obedient servant,

J. H. MACLEOD,
Secretary to the Comnittee.
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FoRm ADOPTED, No. 2.

SHEET TO BE FILLED IN AND RETURNED.

Please answer the following questions, and return this sheet at your earliest
convenience, as directed in the accompanying letter.

Where the Bill and inclosed paper for return are given in two languages,
write answers on one paper only, either English or French, as most convenient.

Are you in favour of clause 3 of this Bill inclosed?...................
Are you in favour of a law to prohibit the selling of cheese or butter, not in

existence at the time when such sale or offer to sell is made?..................
(Name) .......................................
(Address).....................................
(D ate)..................................
Are you the salesman of a cheese or butter factory?......................
Do you officially represent any Dairymen's Board of Trade or other Dairy

Association? If so, give its designation....................................
Are you a cheese or butter exporter?........,.....................
or-
Are you industrially connected with dairy production, as a proprietor, mana-

ger or otherwise, if so, in what way?........................................

*REMARKS.

*Under this head write briefly any remarks you may desire to make on tme
subject to which the inclosed Bill applies.

No. 6.-cOMPLIMENTARY VOTE TO THE CHAIRMAN.

Moved by Mr. Sproule, seconded by Mr. Gilmour,--"That the thanks of
this Committee be now tendered to Mr. Bain for the care and ability with which
he has conducted the business of the Committee during the current Session of
Pàrliament."-Motion adopted, with applause.

COMMITTEE Room 46,
6th June, 1898.

The preceding resolutions are true copies as recorded in the minutes of meet-
ings of the Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization, on the
respective dates specified.

J. H. MACLEOD,
Clerk to Committee.
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INTERIM REPORTS.

FIRST REPORT.

Mr. Bain, from the Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Coloniza-
tion, presented the First Report of the said Committee, as follows:-

The Committee recommend that the House grant them authority to employ
a shorthand writer to take down such evidence as they may deem proper.

THOS. BAIN,
Chairman.

HOUSE OF COMMONS,
3rd March, 1898.

Concurred in by the House, 4th March.

SECOND REPORT.

Mr. Bain, from the Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Coloniza-
tion, presented the Second Report of said Committee, as follows:-

The Committee recommend that the House authorize the printing, in the
usual numerical proportions of English and French, of one hundred and fifty
thousand (150,000) copies of the " Report of the Commissioner of Agriculture and
Dairying for the Dominion of Canada," including twenty-five thousand (25,ooo)
copies necessary for distribution from the Department of Agriculture, by order
of the Minister.

THOS. BAIN,
Chairman.

HOUSE OF COMMONS,
26th April, 1898.

Concurred in by the House, 28th April.

THIRD REPORT.

Mr. Bain, from the Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Coloniza-
tion, presented the Third Report of the said Committee, as follows:-

The Committee have had under consideration Bill No. 11, an Act to anend
the Criminal Code, 1892, to prevent cruelty to animals, and have agreed to report
the same without amendment, no further action being contemplated with the
measure during the present Session.

THOS. BAIN,
Chairman.

HOUSE OF COMMONS,
6th May, 1898.

Concurred in by the House, 12th May.
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FOURTH REPORT.

Mr. Bain, from the Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Coloniza-
tion, presented the Fourth Report of the said Committee, as follows:-

The Committee have had under consideration Bill 83, intituled: "An Act to
prohibit improper speculation in the sale of butter and cheese," and recommend
that no further legislative action be taken on the said Bill, in the current Session
of Parliament, but with a view to obtaining fuller information than at present
available, that circulars inclosing copies of the Bill be issued under the authority
of the Committee, and sent to Boards of Trade, Dairy Associations, dealers in
dairy products, Salesmen and Managers of Cheese Factories and Creameries
throughout the Dominion, asking their opinion as to the probable effects upon
the Dairy industry, if the provisions of the said Bill were passed into law.

THOS. BAIN,
Chairman.

HOUSE OF COMMONS,
1oth May, 1898.

Concurred in by the House, i2th May.
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